Vol. 24, No. 5

Canada Gazette Part III



Gazette du Canada Partie III

OTTAWA, LE MERCREDI 13 FÉVRIER 2002

Statutes of Canada, 2001

Chapters 28 to 41

Acts assented to from 2 November, 2001 to 18 December, 2001

OTTAWA, WEDNESDAY, FEBRUARY 13, 2002

Lois du Canada (2001)

Chapitres 28 à 41

Lois sanctionnées du 2 novembre 2001 au 18 décembre 2001

NOTICE TO READERS

The Canada Gazette Part III is published under authority of the Statutory Instruments Act. The purpose of Part III is to publish public Acts as soon as is reasonably practicable after they have received Royal Assent in order to expedite their distribution.

Part III of the *Canada Gazette* contains the public Acts of Canada and certain other ancillary publications, including a list of Proclamations of Canada and Orders in Council relating to the coming into force of Acts, from the date of the previous number to the date shown above.

Each statute published in this number may be obtained by mail as a separate reprint from Canadian Government Publishing, Communication Canada, at a rate to be quoted.

The Canada Gazette Part III is available in most libraries for consultation.

For residents of Canada, the cost of an annual subscription to the *Canada Gazette* Part III is \$28.50 and single issues, \$4.50. For residents of other countries, the cost of a subscription is US\$28.50 and single issues, US\$4.50. Orders should be addressed to: Canadian Government Publishing, Communication Canada, Ottawa, Canada K1A 0S9.

AVIS AU LECTEUR

La Partie III de la *Gazette du Canada*, dont la publication est régie par la *Loi sur les textes réglementaires*, a pour objet d'assurer, dans les meilleurs délais suivant la sanction royale, la diffusion des lois d'intérêt public.

Elle présente en outre certains textes complémentaires, comme la liste des décrets d'entrée en vigueur et des proclamations du Canada ultérieurs au numéro précédent.

Les Éditions du gouvernement du Canada, Communication Canada met également en vente des tirés à part des lois publiées dans ce numéro, au prix fixé selon le cas.

Par ailleurs, on peut consulter la Partie III de la *Gazette du Canada* dans la plupart des bibliothèques.

Au Canada, le prix de l'abonnement annuel est fixé à 28,50 \$, et celui du numéro à 4,50 \$ et, dans les autres pays, à 28,50 \$US et 4,50 \$US respectivement. Prière d'adresser les commandes à : Les Éditions du gouvernement du Canada, Communication Canada, Ottawa, Canada K1A 0S9.

Vol. 24, No. 5

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1. Acts of the Parliament of Canada, from 2 November, 2001 to 18 December, 2001

TABLE DES MATIÈRES

1. Lois du Parlement du Canada : 2 novembre 2001 — 18 décembre 2001

Chap.	Title	Bill No.	Chap.	Titre	Projet de loi nº
28	Canada–Costa Rica Free Trade Agreement Implementation Act	C-32	28	Loi de mise en oeuvre de l'Accord de libre échange Canada-Costa Rica	
29	Transportation Appeal Tribunal of Canada Act	C-34	29	Loi sur le Tribunal d'appel des transports du Canada	
30	Income Tax Conventions Implementation Act, 2001	S-31	30	Loi de 2001 pour la mise en oeuvre de con ventions fiscales	
31	An Act to amend the Carriage by Air Act	S-33	31	Loi modifiant la Loi sur le transport aérien	S-33
32	An Act to amend the Criminal Code (organized crime and law enforcement) and to make consequential amendments to other Acts	C-24	32	Loi modifiant le Code criminel (crime organi sé et application de la loi) et d'autres lois er conséquence	1
33	An Act to amend the Export Development Act and to make consequential amendments to other Acts	C-31	33	Loi modifiant la Loi sur l'expansion des ex portations et d'autres lois en conséquence	
34	Miscellaneous Statute Law Amendment Act, 2001	C-40	34	Loi corrective de 2001	C-40
35	An Act to amend the Air Canada Public Participation Act	C-38	35	Loi modifiant la Loi sur la participation publi que au capital d'Air Canada	
36	An Act to amend the Parliament of Canada Act (Parliamentary Poet Laureate)	S-10	36	Loi modifiant la Loi sur le Parlement du Ca nada (poète officiel du Parlement)	
37	An Act to amend the Criminal Code (alcohol ignition interlock device programs)	C-46	37	Loi modifiant le Code criminel (programme d'utilisation d'antidémarreurs avec éthylo mètre)	_
38	An Act to amend the Aeronautics Act	C-44	38	Loi modifiant la Loi sur l'aéronautique	C-44
39	Appropriation Act No. 3, 2001-2002	C-45	39	Loi de crédits n° 3 pour 2001-2002	C-45

Vol. 24, No. 5

TABLE OF CONTENTS - Concluded

TABLE DES MATIÈRES — fin

Chap	o. Title	Bill No.	Chap	Titre	Projet de loi nº
40	An Act to amend the International Bounda Waters Treaty Act		40	Loi modifiant la Loi du traité des eaux phes internationales	
41	Anti-terrorism Act	С-36	41	Loi antiterroriste	C-36
ť	oclamations of Canada and Orders in Council of the coming into force of Acts — 22 November 19 December, 2001			ecrets d'entrée en vigueur des lois et p Canada : 22 novembre 2001 — 19 déce	

CHAPTER 28

CHAPITRE 28

CANADA-COSTA RICA FREE TRADE AGREEMENT IMPLEMENTATION ACT

LOI DE MISE EN OEUVRE DE L'ACCORD DE LIBRE-ÉCHANGE CANADA-COSTA RICA

SUMMARY

This enactment implements the Free Trade Agreement between Canada and Costa Rica (the Agreement), signed by the Minister for International Trade at Ottawa on April 23, 2001.

The general provisions of the enactment specify that no recourse may be taken on the basis of the provisions of Part 1 of the enactment or any order made under that Part, or the provisions of the Agreement itself, without the consent of the Attorney General of Canada.

Part 1 of the enactment approves the Agreement and provides for the designation or appointment of Ministers or other persons to carry out various functions of the Agreement, the payment by Canada of its share of the expenditures associated with the operation of the institutional aspects of the Agreement and the power of the Governor in Council to make regulations for carrying out the provisions of the enactment.

Part 2 of the enactment amends existing laws in order to bring them into conformity with Canada's obligations under the Agreement.

Part 3 of the enactment states that the Governor in Council may not issue an order bringing into force any of the provisions of the enactment until the Governor in Council is satisfied that Costa Rica has taken satisfactory steps to implement the Agreement.

SOMMAIRE

Le texte met en oeuvre l'accord de libre-échange (l'Accord) conclu entre le gouvernement du Canada et celui de la République du Costa Rica et signé par le ministre du Commerce international à Ottawa le 23 avril 2001.

Les dispositions générales du texte édictent qu'aucun recours privé ne peut, sans le consentement du procureur général du Canada, être exercé sur la base des dispositions de la partie 1 ou de ses textes d'application, non plus que sur le fondement des dispositions de l'Accord lui-même.

La partie 1 du texte approuve l'Accord et prévoit la désignation ou la nomination de ministres ou d'autres personnes pour exercer diverses fonctions dans le cadre de l'Accord, de même que le paiement par le Canada de sa part des frais liés à la mise en place du soutien administratif nécessaire; elle confère au gouverneur en conseil le pouvoir de prendre des règlements en vue de l'exécution des dispositions du texte.

La partie 2 modifie certaines lois afin de donner suite aux obligations prévues par l'Accord.

La partie 3 prévoit que le gouverneur en conseil ne peut prendre un décret pour l'entrée en vigueur de quelque disposition du texte à moins d'être convaincu que le Costa Rica a pris les mesures pour mettre l'Accord en oeuvre.

TABLE OF PROVISIONS

TABLE ANALYTIQUE

LOI DE MISE EN OEUVRE DE L'ACCORD DE

LIBRE-ÉCHANGE CANADA-COSTA RICA

TITRE ABRÉGÉ

CANADA-COSTA RICA FREE TRADE AGREEMENT IMPLEMENTATION ACT

SHORT TITLE

Regulations re Article III.8

Orders re Article XIII.18

17.18.

1. Short title 1. Titre abrégé INTERPRETATION DÉFINITIONS 2. Definitions 2. Définitions 3. Interpretation consistent with Agreement 3. Compatibilité PURPOSE OBJET Purpose Objet 4. 4. SA MAJESTÉ HER MAJESTY 5. Binding on Her Majesty 5. Obligation de Sa Majesté GENERAL DISPOSITIONS GÉNÉRALES 6. Causes of action under Part 1 6. Droits et obligations fondés sur la partie 1 7. Non-application of Agreement to water 7. Non-application de l'Accord aux eaux 8. Construction 8. Interprétation PART 1 PARTIE 1 IMPLEMENTATION OF AGREEMENT GENERALLY MISE EN OEUVRE DE L'ACCORD Approval of Agreement Approbation de l'Accord 9. 9. Agreement approved Approbation Designation of Minister Désignation du ministre 10. Order designating Minister 10. Désignation du ministre Administrative and Institutional Provisions Dispositions institutionnelles et administratives 11. Commission 11. Nomination d'un représentant à la Commission 12. Payment of expenditures 12. Paiement des frais Soutien administratif 13. Administrative support 13. Panels, Committees, Subcommittees and Working Groups Groupes spéciaux, comités, sous-comités et groupes de travail 14. 14. Appointments to roster 15. Appointments to certain committees 15. Nomination aux comités, sous-comités et groupes de travail 16. Costs 16. Frais Orders and Regulations Décrets et règlements

17.

18.

Règlements: article III.8

Décrets: article XIII.18

PARTIE 2

ANNEXES 1 À 3

PART 2

SCHEDULES 1 TO 3

60.

Coming into force

RELATED AND CONSEQUENTIAL AMENDMENTS MODIFICATIONS CONNEXES 19-25. Canadian International Trade Tribunal Act 19-25. Loi sur le Tribunal canadien du commerce extérieur 26-30. Customs Act 26-30. Loi sur les douanes 31-46. Customs Tariff 31-46. Tarif des douanes 47-50. Export and Import Permits Act 47-50. Loi sur les licences d'exportation et d'importation 51. Financial Administration Act Loi sur la gestion des finances publiques 52-53. Importation of Intoxicating Liquors Act 52-53. Loi sur l'importation des boissons enivrantes 54-59. National Energy Board Act 54-59. Loi sur l'Office national de l'énergie PART 3 PARTIE 3 ENTRÉE EN VIGUEUR COMING INTO FORCE

60.

Entrée en vigueur

49-50 ELIZABETH II

49-50 ELIZABETH II

CHAPITRE 28

CHAPTER 28

An Act to implement the Free Trade Agreement between the Government of Canada and the Government of the Republic of Costa Rica

[Assented to 18th December, 2001]

Loi portant mise en oeuvre de l'Accord de libre-échange entre le gouvernement du Canada et le gouvernement de la République du Costa Rica

[Sanctionnée le 18 décembre 2001]

Preamble

WHEREAS the Government of Canada and the Government of the Republic of Costa Rica have entered into a Free Trade Agreement having resolved to

strengthen the special bonds of friendship and cooperation among their peoples,

contribute to the harmonious development and expansion of world and regional trade and provide a catalyst to broader international cooperation,

create new employment opportunities and improve working conditions and living standards in their respective territories,

recognize the differences in the level of development and the size of their respective economies and create opportunities for economic development,

create an expanded and secure market for the goods and services produced in their territories,

reduce distortions to trade,

establish clear and mutually advantageous rules governing their trade,

ensure a predictable commercial framework for business planning and investment,

recognize the importance of trade facilitation in promoting efficient and transparent procedures to reduce costs and to ensure predictability for their importers and exporters,

build on their respective rights and obligations under the Marrakesh Agreement Establishing the World Trade Organization and other multilateral and bilateral instruments of cooperation, Attendu:

que le gouvernement du Canada et le gouvernement de la République du Costa Rica ont conclu un accord de libre-échange, ayant résolu ce qui suit :

renforcer les liens privilégiés d'amitié et de coopération entre leurs peuples,

contribuer au développement et à l'essor harmonieux du commerce mondial et régional, ainsi qu'à l'expansion de la coopération internationale,

créer de nouvelles possibilités d'emploi et améliorer les conditions de travail et le niveau de vie sur leurs territoires respectifs,

reconnaître les différences existant entre le niveau de développement et la taille de leurs économies respectives et créer des perspectives de développement économique,

élargir et stabiliser le marché des produits fabriqués dans leurs territoires et des services en provenant;

réduire les distorsions du commerce,

établir une réglementation claire et mutuellement avantageuse pour leurs échanges commerciaux,

assurer un environnement commercial stable et propice à la planification d'entreprise et à l'investissement,

reconnaître l'importance de la facilitation des échanges commerciaux dans la promotion de mécanismes efficaces et transparents visant à réduire les coûts et à assurer la stabilité pour leurs importateurs et exportateurs, Préambule

promote regional integration with an instrument that will contribute to the establishment of the Free Trade Area of the Americas (FTAA),

enhance the competitiveness of their firms in global markets,

ensure that the benefits of trade liberalization are not undermined by anticompetitive activities.

promote sustainable development,

undertake each of the preceding in a manner consistent with environmental protection and conservation,

preserve their flexibility to safeguard the public welfare,

recognize that States have the ability to preserve, develop and implement their cultural policies for the purpose of strengthening cultural diversity, and

recognize the increased cooperation between Canada and Costa Rica on labour and environmental cooperation;

WHEREAS the Government of Canada has entered into the Agreement having further resolved to

strengthen Canada's national identity while at the same time protecting vital national characteristics and qualities, and

strengthen the Canadian economy and Canada's competitiveness as a trading nation;

WHEREAS the Agreement applies generally throughout Canada;

AND WHEREAS it is necessary, in order to give effect to the Agreement, to make related or consequential amendments to certain Acts;

NOW, THEREFORE, Her Majesty, by and with the advice and consent of the Senate and House of Commons of Canada, enacts as follows:

faire fond sur leurs droits et obligations aux termes de l'accord de Marrakech instituant l'Organisation mondiale du Commerce et d'autres instruments de coopération multilatéraux et bilatéraux,

promouvoir l'intégration régionale à l'aide d'un instrument qui contribuera à l'établissement de la Zone de libreéchange des Amériques (ZLEA),

accroître la compétitivité de leurs entreprises sur les marchés internationaux,

veiller à ce que les avantages de la libéralisation des échanges commerciaux ne soient pas compromis par des activités anticoncurrentielles,

promouvoir le développement durable,

mettre en oeuvre tout ce qui précède d'une manière compatible avec la protection et la conservation de l'environnement,

préserver leur liberté d'action relativement à la sauvegarde du bien-être public,

reconnaître que les États ont la capacité de préserver, de développer et de mettre en oeuvre leurs politiques culturelles dans le but de renforcer la diversité culturelle.

reconnaître la coopération accrue entre le Canada et le Costa Rica dans les domaines du travail et de l'environnement;

que le gouvernement du Canada a conclu l'Accord, ayant en outre résolu ce qui suit :

consolider l'identité nationale du Canada tout en protégeant les caractéristiques essentielles de ses éléments constitutifs.

renforcer l'économie canadienne et la compétitivité du Canada en tant que nation commerçante;

que l'Accord s'applique à l'ensemble du Canada;

qu'il est nécessaire, pour donner effet à l'Accord, d'apporter des modifications connexes à certaines lois,

Sa Majesté, sur l'avis et avec le consentement du Sénat et de la Chambre des communes du Canada, édicte :

SHORT TITLE

Short title

1. This Act may be cited as the Canada—Costa Rica Free Trade Agreement Implementation Act.

TITRE ABRÉGÉ

1. Loi de mise en oeuvre de l'Accord de libre-échange Canada-Costa Rica.

Titre abrégé

INTERPRETATION

Definitions

2. (1) The definitions in this subsection apply in this Act.

"Agreement" « Accord »

"Agreement" means the Free Trade Agreement entered into between the Government of Canada and the Government of the Republic of Costa Rica and signed on April 23, 2001, and includes any rectifications to it made before its ratification by Canada.

"Commission" « Commission »

"Commission" means the Free Trade Commission established under Article XIII.1 of the Agreement.

"federal law" « texte législatif fédéral » "federal law" means the whole or any portion of an Act of Parliament or a regulation, order or other instrument issued, made or established in the exercise of a power conferred by or under an Act of Parliament.

"Minister" « ministre »

"Minister", in respect of any provision of this Act, means the member of the Queen's Privy Council for Canada designated under section 10 as the Minister for the purposes of that provision.

"territory" « territoire »

"territory" means

(a) with respect to Canada, the territory to which its customs laws apply, including any areas beyond the territorial seas of Canada within which, in accordance with international law and its domestic law, Canada may exercise rights with respect to the seabed and subsoil and their natural resources; and

(b) with respect to Costa Rica, the territory and air space, and the maritime areas, including the seabed and subsoil adjacent to the outer limit of the territorial sea, over which it exercises, in accordance with international law and its domestic law, sovereign rights with respect to the natural resources of such areas.

Publication of Agreement

(2) The Agreement shall be published in the *Canada Treaty Series*.

DÉFINITIONS

2. (1) Les définitions qui suivent s'appliquent à la présente loi.

« Accord »
"Agreement"

Définitions

« Accord » L'accord de libre-échange conclu entre le gouvernement du Canada et le gouvernement de la République du Costa Rica et signé le 23 avril 2001, avec les rectifications qui y sont apportées avant sa ratification par le Canada.

« Commission » "Commission"

« Commission » La Commission du libreéchange constituée aux termes de l'article XIII.1 de l'Accord.

« ministre » "Minister"

« ministre » Le membre du Conseil privé de la Reine pour le Canada chargé, aux termes de l'article 10, de l'application de telle disposition de la présente loi.

« territoire »

« territoire » "territory"

a) S'agissant du Canada, le territoire auquel s'applique la législation douanière de celui-ci, y compris le fond et le sous-sol — ainsi que leurs ressources naturelles — des espaces maritimes s'étendant au-delà de sa mer territoriale et sur lesquels il exerce des droits en conformité avec le droit international et le droit interne;

b) s'agissant du Costa Rica, le territoire et l'espace aérien, ainsi que les zones maritimes, y compris les fonds marins et leur sous-sol adjacents à la limite extérieure des eaux territoriales, de même que leurs ressources naturelles, sur lesquels il exerce des droits souverains conformément au droit international et à son droit interne.

« texte législatif fédéral » Tout ou partie d'une loi fédérale ou d'un règlement, décret ou autre texte pris dans l'exercice d'un pouvoir conféré sous le régime d'une loi fédérale. « texte législatif fédéral » "federal law"

(2) L'Accord est publié dans le Recueil des traités du Canada.

Publication de l'Accord Interpretation consistent with Agreement **3.** For greater certainty, this Act, any provision of an Act enacted or amended by Part 2 and any other federal law that implements a provision of the Agreement or fulfils an obligation of the Government of Canada under the Agreement shall be interpreted in a manner consistent with the Agreement.

3. Il est entendu que la présente loi, les dispositions d'une loi fédérale édictées par la partie 2 et tout autre texte législatif fédéral qui met en oeuvre une disposition de l'Accord ou vise à permettre au gouvernement du Canada d'exécuter une obligation contractée par lui aux termes de l'Accord s'interprètent d'une manière compatible avec celui-ci.

Compatibilité

PURPOSE

Purpose

- **4.** The purpose of this Act is to implement the Agreement, the objectives of which, as elaborated more specifically through its provisions, are to
 - (a) establish a free trade area in accordance with the Agreement;
 - (b) promote regional integration through an instrument that contributes to the establishment of the Free Trade Area of the Americas (FTAA) and to the progressive elimination of barriers to trade and investment;
 - (c) create opportunities for economic development;
 - (d) eliminate barriers to trade in, and facilitate the cross-border movement of, goods and services between the territories of Canada and Costa Rica;
 - (e) substantially increase investment opportunities in the territories of Canada and Costa Rica;
 - (f) facilitate trade in services and investment with a view to developing and deepening the relations of Canada and Costa Rica under the Agreement;
 - (g) promote conditions of fair competition in the free-trade area established by the Agreement;
 - (h) establish a framework for further bilateral, regional and multilateral cooperation to expand and enhance the benefits of the Agreement; and
 - (i) create effective procedures for the implementation and application of the Agreement, for its joint administration and for the resolution of disputes.

OBJET

Objet

- **4.** La présente loi a pour objet la mise en oeuvre de l'Accord, dont les objectifs, définis de façon plus précise dans ses dispositions, consistent à :
 - *a*) établir une zone de libre-échange conformément à l'Accord;
 - b) promouvoir l'intégration régionale par un instrument qui contribue à l'établissement de la Zone de libre-échange des Amériques (ZLEA) et à l'élimination progressive des obstacles au commerce et à l'investissement;
 - c) créer des perspectives de développement économique;
 - d) éliminer les obstacles au commerce entre les territoires du Canada et du Costa Rica et faciliter le mouvement transfrontière des produits et services;
 - *e*) augmenter substantiellement les possibilités d'investissement sur les territoires du Canada et du Costa Rica:
 - f) faciliter le commerce des services et des investissements afin de développer et d'intensifier les relations entre le Canada et le Costa Rica conformément à l'Accord;
 - g) favoriser la concurrence loyale dans la zone de libre-échange établie par l'Accord;
 - h) créer le cadre d'une coopération bilatérale, régionale et multilatérale plus poussée afin d'accroître et d'élargir les avantages découlant de l'Accord;
 - *i*) établir des mécanismes efficaces pour la mise en oeuvre et l'application de l'Accord, pour son administration conjointe et pour le règlement des différends.

HER MAJESTY

Binding on Her Majesty **5.** This Act is binding on Her Majesty in right of Canada.

SA MAJESTÉ

5. La présente loi lie Sa Majesté du chef du Canada

Obligation de Sa Maiesté

GENERAL

Causes of action under Part 1 **6.** (1) No person has any cause of action and no proceedings of any kind shall be taken, without the consent of the Attorney General of Canada, to enforce or determine any right or obligation that is claimed or arises solely under or by virtue of Part 1 or an order or regulation made under Part 1.

Causes of action under the Agreement (2) No person has any cause of action and no proceedings of any kind shall be taken, without the consent of the Attorney General of Canada, to enforce or determine any right or obligation that is claimed or arises solely under or by virtue of the Agreement.

Non-application of Agreement to water

7. For greater certainty, nothing in this Act or the Agreement applies to natural surface or ground water in liquid, gaseous or solid state.

Construction

8. For greater certainty, nothing in this Act, by specific mention or omission, shall be construed to affect in any manner the right of Parliament to enact legislation to implement any provision of the Agreement or fulfil any of the obligations of the Government of Canada under the Agreement.

DISPOSITIONS GÉNÉRALES

6. (1) Le droit de poursuite, relativement aux droits et obligations uniquement fondés sur la partie 1 ou ses règlements ou décrets d'application, ne peut être exercé qu'avec le consentement du procureur général du Canada.

Droits et obligations fondés sur la partie 1

(2) Le droit de poursuite, relativement aux droits et obligations uniquement fondés sur l'Accord, ne peut être exercé qu'avec le consentement du procureur général du Canada

Droits et obligations fondés sur l'Accord

7. Il demeure entendu que ni la présente loi ni l'Accord ne s'appliquent aux eaux de surface ou souterraines naturelles, à l'état liquide, gazeux ou solide.

Non-application de l'Accord

8. Il est entendu qu'aucune des dispositions de la présente loi ne doit s'interpréter, ni par ses mentions expresses ni par ses omissions, comme ayant pour effet de porter atteinte au pouvoir du Parlement d'adopter la législation nécessaire à la mise en oeuvre d'une disposition de l'Accord ou à l'exécution des obligations contractées par le gouvernement du Canada aux termes de l'Accord.

Interprétation

PART 1

IMPLEMENTATION OF AGREEMENT GENERALLY

Approval of Agreement

Agreement approved

9. The Agreement is hereby approved.

Approbation de l'Accord

PARTIE 1

MISE EN OEUVRE DE L'ACCORD

9. L'Accord est approuvé.

Approbation

Designation of Minister

Order designating Minister **10.** The Governor in Council may, by order, designate any member of the Queen's Privy Council for Canada to be the Minister for the purposes of any provision of this Act.

Désignation du ministre

10. Le gouverneur en conseil peut, par décret, désigner tout membre du Conseil privé de la Reine pour le Canada à titre de ministre chargé de l'application de telle disposition de la présente loi.

Désignation du ministre Administrative and Institutional Provisions

Dispositions institutionnelles et administratives

Commission

11. The Minister for International Trade is the principal representative of Canada on the Commission.

Payment of expenditures

12. The Government of Canada shall pay its appropriate share of the aggregate of any expenditures incurred by or on behalf of the Commission.

Administrative support 13. The Minister for International Trade shall designate an agency, division or branch of the Government of Canada to facilitate the operation of, and provide administrative assistance to panels established under, Chapter XIII of the Agreement.

Panels, Committees, Subcommittees and Working Groups

Appointments to roster **14.** The Governor in Council may, in accordance with a consensus reached under Article XIII.9 of the Agreement, appoint any person to be a member of the roster established under that Article.

Appointments to committees, subcommittees and working groups 15. The Minister may appoint any person to be a representative of Canada on any committee or subcommittee referred to in Annex XIII.2.2 of the Agreement or on any committee, subcommittee or working group established under Article XIII.1.5 of the Agreement.

Costs

- **16.** The Government of Canada shall, in accordance with Annex XIII.3.2 of the Agreement, pay the costs of or its appropriate share of the costs of
 - (a) the remuneration and expenses payable to panellists, members of committees, sub-committees and working groups, including persons appointed under section 15;
 - (b) the remuneration and expenses payable to assistants; and
 - (c) the general expenses incurred by panels, committees, subcommittees and working groups.

11. Le Canada est représenté à la Commission par le ministre du Commerce international.

12. Le gouvernement du Canada paie sa quote-part du total des frais supportés par la Commission ou en son nom.

administratif

Soutien

Nomination

Commission

Paiement des

frais

d'un représentant

13. Le ministre du Commerce international désigne un organisme ou un service de l'administration fédérale pour faciliter la mise en oeuvre du chapitre XIII de l'Accord et assurer le soutien administratif des groupes spéciaux constitués en vertu de ce chapitre.

Groupes spéciaux, comités, sous-comités et groupes de travail

14. Le gouverneur en conseil peut, une fois atteint le consensus visé à l'article XIII.9 de l'Accord, nommer les personnes à inscrire sur la liste qui y est prévue.

Liste

15. Le ministre peut nommer les représentants du Canada aux comités et sous-comités visés à l'annexe XIII.2.2 de l'Accord et aux comités, sous-comités et groupes de travail institués en vertu de l'article XIII.1.5 de l'Accord.

Nomination aux comités, sous-comités et groupes de travail

16. Le gouvernement du Canada paie, conformément à l'annexe XIII.3.2 de l'Accord, les frais ou sa quote-part des frais suivants :

a) la rémunération et les indemnités des membres des groupes spéciaux et des comités, sous-comités et groupes de travail ainsi que des personnes nommées aux termes de l'article 15:

- b) la rémunération et les indemnités des assistants;
- c) les frais généraux supportés par les groupes spéciaux, les comités, sous-comités et groupes de travail.

Frais

Orders and Regulations

Regulations re Article III.8

17. (1) The Governor in Council may, if the Governor in Council is of the opinion that, for the purpose of giving effect in a province to Article III.8 of the Agreement, regulations are necessary in relation to any matter dealt with by that Article, make regulations for that purpose including, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, regulations requiring or prohibiting the doing of anything in relation to which a regulation may be made under this subsection and prescribing penalties for the contravention of any such regulation.

Applicability of regulations in respect of a province (2) A regulation made under subsection (1) shall not come into force in respect of a province if the Governor in Council is of the opinion that the province has, by or under provincial law, enacted provisions or is carrying on practices that are in conformity with the portion of Article III.8 of the Agreement in respect of which the regulation was made.

Consultation with provincial governments

(3) The Minister shall consult with the government of a province before the making of a regulation under subsection (1) in respect of that province.

Expiration

(4) A regulation made under subsection (1) or any of its provisions ceases to be in force in respect of a province on a day or days to be fixed, in respect of that province, by order of the Governor in Council.

Binding on province

(5) A regulation made under subsection (1) in respect of a province is binding on Her Majesty in right of that province.

Orders re Article XIII.18

- **18.** (1) The Governor in Council may, for the purpose of suspending concessions or other obligations in accordance with Article XIII.18 of the Agreement, by order, do any one or more of the following:
 - (a) suspend rights or privileges granted by Canada to Costa Rica or to goods, service providers, suppliers, investors or investments of Costa Rica under the Agreement or any federal law;
 - (b) modify or suspend the application of any federal law enacted by Part 2, with respect to Costa Rica or to goods, service providers, suppliers, investors or investments of Costa Rica;

Décrets et règlements

17. (1) Le gouverneur en conseil peut, sur telle question prévue à l'article III.8 de l'Accord, prendre tout règlement qu'il estime nécessaire à la mise en oeuvre de cet article dans une province, notamment en ce qui concerne l'obligation ou l'interdiction d'accomplir un acte susceptible d'être réglementé aux termes du présent paragraphe et la fixation de peines en cas de contravention.

Règlements : article III.8

(2) Il ne peut être procédé à la mise en vigueur du règlement visé au paragraphe (1) si, selon le gouverneur en conseil, la province concernée a, dans le cadre de son droit, adopté des dispositions, ou applique des mesures, conformes à la partie de l'article III.8 de l'Accord visée par le règlement.

Application aux provinces

(3) Le ministre consulte le gouvernement de la province avant la prise, à l'égard de celle-ci, d'un règlement visé au paragraphe (1).

Consultation

(4) Le règlement visé au paragraphe (1) ou telle de ses dispositions cesse d'avoir effet à l'égard de la province à la date ou aux dates fixées par décret du gouverneur en conseil. Cessation d'effet

(5) Les règlements d'application du paragraphe (1) lient Sa Majesté du chef de la province concernée.

Obligation des provinces

18. (1) Le gouverneur en conseil peut par décret, en vue de suspendre les concessions et autres obligations conformément à l'article XIII.18 de l'Accord :

Décrets : article XIII.18

- a) suspendre les droits ou privilèges que le Canada a accordés au Costa Rica ou à des produits, prestataires de services, fournisseurs, investisseurs ou investissements de ce pays en vertu de l'Accord ou d'un texte législatif fédéral;
- b) modifier ou suspendre l'application d'un texte législatif fédéral au Costa Rica ou à des produits, prestataires de services, fournisseurs, investisseurs ou investissements de ce pays;

Period of

RS c 47

1997, c. 14,

s. 19(1)

order

- (c) extend the application of any federal law to Costa Rica or to goods, service providers, suppliers, investors or investments of Costa Rica: and
- (d) take any other measure that the Governor in Council considers necessary for that

(2) Unless revoked, an order made under subsection (1) has effect for the period specified in the order.

c) étendre l'application d'un texte législatif fédéral au Costa Rica ou à des produits, prestataires de services, fournisseurs, investisseurs ou investissements de ce pays;

- d) prendre toute autre mesure qu'il estime nécessaire.
- (2) Le décret pris en vertu du paragraphe (1) s'applique, sauf révocation, pendant la période qui y est spécifiée.

Durée d'application

PART II

RELATED AND CONSEQUENTIAL **AMENDMENTS**

Canadian International Trade Tribunal Act

(4th Supp.)

19. (1) The definition "textile and apparel goods" in subsection 2(1) of the Canadian International Trade Tribunal Act is replaced by the following:

"textile and "textile and apparel goods" means the textile apparel and apparel goods set out in Appendix 1.1 goods" c produits of Annex 300-B of the Agreement, in Aptextiles et pendix 1.1 of Annex C-00-B of the CCFTA vêtements » or in Appendix III.1.1.1 of Annex III.1 of

1997, c. 14, s. 19(2)

(2) Subsection 2(4) of the Act is replaced by the following:

the CCRFTA, as the case may be;

meaning

- (4) In this Act,
- (a) "CCRFTA" has the same meaning as "Agreement" in subsection 2(1) of the Canada-Costa Rica Free Trade Agreement Implementation Act; and
- (b) "Costa Rica Tariff" means the rates of customs duty referred to in section 49.1 of the Customs Tariff.

(5) For the purposes of this Act, goods are imported from a NAFTA country, from Chile or from Costa Rica if they are shipped directly to Canada from the NAFTA country, from Chile or from Costa Rica, as the case may be, within the meaning of sections 17 and 18 of the Customs Tariff.

20. The Act is amended by adding the following after section 19.012:

PARTIE 2

MODIFICATIONS CONNEXES

Loi sur le Tribunal canadien du commerce extérieur

19. (1) La définition de « produits textiles et vêtements », au paragraphe 2(1) de la Loi sur le Tribunal canadien du commerce extérieur, est remplacée par ce qui suit :

« produits textiles et vêtements » Les produits textiles et les vêtements qui figurent, selon le cas, à l'appendice 1.1 de l'annexe 300-B de l'Accord, à l'appendice 1.1 de l'annexe C-00-B de l'ALÉCC ou à l'appendice III.1.1.1 de l'annexe III.1 de l'ALÉCCR.

« produits textiles et vêtements > "textile and apparel goods"

L.R. ch 47

(4e suppl.)

1997, ch. 14,

par. 19(1)

(2) Le paragraphe 2(4) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

(4) Dans la présente loi :

- a) « ALÉCCR » s'entend de l'Accord au sens du paragraphe 2(1) de la Loi de mise en oeuvre de l'Accord de libre-échange Canada-Costa Rica:
- b) « tarif du Costa Rica » S'entend des taux de droits de douane visés à l'article 49.1 du Tarif des douanes.
- (5) Pour l'application de la présente loi, sont des marchandises importées d'un pays ALÉNA, du Chili ou du Costa Rica les marchandises transportées directement au Canada de ce pays ALÉNA, du Chili ou du Costa Rica, selon le cas, conformément aux articles 17 et 18 du Tarif des douanes.

20. La même loi est modifiée par adjonction, après l'article 19.012, de ce qui suit :

1997, ch. 14, par. 19(2)

Terminologie

Marchandises importées d'un pays ALÉNA, du Chili ou du Costa Rica

Goods imported from a NAFTA country, Chile or Costa Rica

Définition de

principale »

« cause

Definition of "principal cause" **19.013** (1) In this section, "principal cause" means, in respect of a serious injury or threat thereof, an important cause that is no less important than any other cause of the serious injury or threat.

Emergency measures — Costa Rica (2) The Tribunal shall inquire into and report to the Governor in Council on the question whether goods that are entitled to the benefit of the Costa Rica Tariff, other than textile and apparel goods, are, as a result of that entitlement, being imported in such increased quantities and under such conditions that they alone constitute a principal cause of serious injury, or threat thereof, to domestic producers of like or directly competitive goods, if the Governor in Council, on the recommendation of the Minister, refers the question to it for inquiry and report.

Terms of reference (3) The Tribunal shall conduct an inquiry under subsection (2) and prepare its report in accordance with the terms of reference established by the Governor in Council or the Minister, as the case may be.

Tabling of report

(4) The Minister shall cause a copy of each report submitted to the Governor in Council or the Minister to be laid before each House of Parliament on any of the first fifteen days on which that House is sitting after the report is so submitted.

Notice of report (5) The Tribunal shall cause notice of the submission of a report to be published in the *Canada Gazette*.

1997, c. 14, s. 23

21. Section 21.1 of the Act is replaced by the following:

Definition of "complaint"

- 21.1 In sections 23 to 30, "complaint" means a written complaint filed with the Tribunal under subsection 23(1), (1.01), (1.02), (1.03), (1.04), (1.05), (1.06), (1.07) or (1.08) and, for the purposes of those sections, a complaint is properly documented if the Tribunal is satisfied that it contains or is accompanied by the information required by section 23.
- 22. Section 23 of the Act is amended by adding the following after subsection (1.06):

19.013 (1) Au présent article, « cause principale » s'entend de toute cause sérieuse dont l'importance est égale ou supérieure à celle des autres causes du dommage grave ou de la menace d'un tel dommage.

Mesures d'urgence : Costa Rica

(2) Le Tribunal, saisi par le gouverneur en conseil sur recommandation du ministre, enquête et fait rapport au gouverneur en conseil sur la question de savoir si des marchandises — à l'exclusion des produits textiles et vêtements — sont, en conséquence du fait qu'elles bénéficient du tarif du Costa Rica, importées en quantité tellement accrue et dans des conditions telles que leur importation constitue à elle seule une cause principale du dommage grave porté aux producteurs nationaux de marchandises similaires ou directement concurrentes, ou de la menace d'un tel dommage.

(3) Le Tribunal mène l'enquête visée au paragraphe (2) et établit le rapport correspondant dans le strict cadre du mandat dont il est en l'occurrence investi par le gouverneur en conseil ou le ministre, selon le cas.

Dépôt au Parlement

Mandat

(4) Le ministre dépose le rapport devant chaque chambre du Parlement dans les quinze premiers jours de séance de celle-ci suivant sa transmission à son destinataire.

(5) Le Tribunal fait publier dans la *Gazette* du *Canada* un avis de transmission du rapport.

Avis

21. L'article 21.1 de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

1997, ch. 14, art. 23

21.1 Aux articles 23 à 30, « plainte » s'entend d'une plainte écrite déposée auprès du Tribunal en vertu des paragraphes 23(1), (1.01), (1.02), (1.03), (1.04), (1.05), (1.06), (1.07) ou (1.08). Le dossier est complet si le Tribunal est convaincu qu'il comprend les renseignements prévus à l'article 23.

22. L'article 23 de la même loi est modifié par adjonction, après le paragraphe (1.06), de ce qui suit :

Définition de « plainte »

Dépôt : tarif

du Costa Rica

C. 28

Filing of complaint — Costa Rica Tariff (1.07) Any domestic producer of goods that are like or directly competitive with any goods, other than textile and apparel goods, being imported into Canada and that are entitled to the Costa Rica Tariff, or any person or association acting on behalf of such a domestic producer, may file a written complaint with the Tribunal alleging that, as a result of that entitlement, the imported goods are being imported in such increased quantities and under such conditions as to alone constitute a cause of serious injury, or threat thereof, to domestic producers of like or directly competitive goods.

Filing of complaint — Costa Rica Tariff

(1.08) Any domestic producer of any textile and apparel goods that are like or directly competitive with any textile and apparel goods being imported into Canada and that are entitled, either under section 24 of the Customs Tariff or, in respect of goods that fall under the scope of the Agreement on Textiles and Clothing in Annex 1A of the World Trade Organization Agreement pursuant to a commitment made by Canada, under section 49.2 of the Customs Tariff, to the Costa Rica Tariff, or any person or association acting on behalf of such a domestic producer, may file a written complaint with the Tribunal alleging that, as a result of that entitlement, the imported goods are being imported in such increased quantities, in absolute terms or relative to the domestic market in Canada for the goods, and under such conditions as to cause serious damage, or actual threat thereof, to domestic producers of like or directly competitive textile and apparel goods.

1997, c. 14, s. 25

23. Paragraph 25(2)(c) of the Act is replaced by the following:

(c) in the case of a complaint filed under subsection 23(1.03), (1.06) or (1.08), send to the Minister a copy of the complaint and the information examined by the Tribunal in making its determination.

24. (1) Paragraph 26(1)(a) of the Act is amended by striking out the word "or" at the end of subparagraph (i.6) and by adding the following after subparagraph (i.6):

(1.07) Lorsqu'il estime que certaines marchandises, à l'exclusion des produits textiles et vêtements, sont, en conséquence du fait qu'elles bénéficient du tarif du Costa Rica, importées en quantité tellement accrue et dans des conditions telles que leur importation constitue à elle seule une cause du dommage grave — ou de la menace d'un tel dommage — qui lui est ainsi porté, le producteur national de marchandises similaires ou directement concurrentes, ou toute personne ou association le représentant, peut déposer devant le Tribunal une plainte écrite à cet effet.

Dépôt : produits textiles et vêtements

(1.08) Lorsqu'il estime que certains produits textiles et vêtements sont, en conséquence du fait qu'ils bénéficient, soit conformément à l'article 24 du Tarif des douanes, soit, en ce qui touche les produits tombant sous le régime de l'Accord sur les textiles et les vêtements figurant à l'annexe 1A de l'Accord sur l'Organisation mondiale du commerce en exécution d'un engagement contracté par le Canada, conformément à l'article 49.2 de cette loi, du tarif du Costa Rica, importés en quantité tellement accrue, en termes absolus ou par rapport au marché intérieur de ces produits, et dans des conditions telles que leur importation lui cause un préjudice grave ou menace réellement de lui causer un tel préjudice, le producteur national de produits textiles et de vêtements similaires ou directement concurrents, ou toute personne ou association le représentant, peut déposer devant le Tribunal une plainte écrite à cet effet.

23. Le paragraphe 25(2) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

1997, ch. 14, art. 25

(2) Dans le cas d'une décision positive, le Tribunal la notifie sans délai au plaignant ainsi qu'aux autres intéressés. S'il s'agit d'une plainte visée aux paragraphes 23(1.03), (1.06) ou (1.08), il transmet au ministre une copie de la plainte, ainsi que les renseignements et documents pertinents à l'appui de celle-ci.

24. (1) L'alinéa 26(1)a) de la même loi est modifié par adjonction, après le sous-alinéa (i.6), de ce qui suit :

Dossier

complet

(i.7) in the case of a complaint filed under subsection 23(1.07), the goods that are entitled to the Costa Rica Tariff are, as a result of that entitlement, being imported in such increased quantities and under such conditions that they alone constitute a cause of serious injury, or threat thereof, to domestic producers of like or directly competitive goods,

(i.8) in the case of a complaint filed under subsection 23(1.08), the textile and apparel goods that are entitled to the Costa Rica Tariff are, as a result of that entitlement, being imported in such increased quantities, in absolute terms or relative to the market in Canada for the goods, and under such conditions as to cause serious damage, or actual threat thereof, to domestic producers of like or directly competitive textile and apparel goods, or

1997, c. 14, s. 26(2)

(2) Subsection 26(2.1) of the Act is replaced by the following:

Copies to Minister

(2.1) Notwithstanding subsection (2), in the case of a complaint filed under subsection 23(1.03), (1.06) or (1.08), the Tribunal shall send to the Minister only a copy of its decision and a copy of any relevant information examined by the Tribunal in relation to the complaint that was not previously sent to the Minister under subsection 25(2).

25. (1) Subsection 27(1) of the Act is amended by striking out the word "or" at the end of paragraph (a.6) and by adding the following after paragraph (a.6):

(a.7) in the case of a complaint filed under subsection 23(1.07), the goods that are entitled to the Costa Rica Tariff are, as a result of that entitlement, being imported in such increased quantities and under such conditions that they alone constitute a principal cause of serious injury, or threat thereof, to domestic producers of like or directly competitive goods;

(i.7) soit, s'il s'agit d'une plainte déposée en vertu du paragraphe 23(1.07), que les marchandises sont, en conséquence du fait qu'elles bénéficient du tarif du Costa Rica, importées en quantité tellement accrue et dans des conditions telles que leur importation constitue à elle seule une cause du dommage grave porté aux producteurs nationaux de marchandises similaires ou directement concurrentes ou de la menace d'un tel dommage,

(i.8) soit, s'il s'agit d'une plainte déposée en vertu du paragraphe 23(1.08), que les produits textiles et vêtements sont, en conséquence du fait qu'ils bénéficient du tarif du Costa Rica, importés en quantité tellement accrue, en termes absolus ou par rapport au marché intérieur de ces produits, et dans des conditions telles que leur importation constitue à elle seule une cause du préjudice grave porté aux producteurs nationaux de marchandises similaires ou directement concurrentes ou de la menace réelle d'un tel préjudice;

(2) Le paragraphe 26(2.1) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

(2.1) Malgré le paragraphe (2), dans le cas d'une plainte visée aux paragraphes 23(1.03), (1.06) ou (1.08), le Tribunal ne transmet au ministre qu'une copie du texte de sa décision, ainsi que des renseignements et documents pertinents à l'appui de la plainte qui n'ont pas déjà été envoyés en vertu du paragraphe 25(2).

25. (1) Le paragraphe 27(1) de la même loi est modifié par adjonction, après l'alinéa a.6), de ce qui suit :

a.7) soit, s'il s'agit d'une plainte déposée en vertu du paragraphe 23(1.07), que les marchandises sont, en conséquence du fait qu'elles bénéficient du tarif du Costa Rica, importées en quantité tellement accrue et dans des conditions telles que leur importation constitue à elle seule une cause du dommage grave porté aux producteurs nationaux de marchandises similaires ou directement concurrentes, ou de la menace d'un tel dommage;

par. 26(2)

1997, ch. 14,

Copies au ministre

(a.8) in the case of a complaint filed under subsection 23(1.08), the textile and apparel goods that are entitled to the Costa Rica Tariff are, as a result of that entitlement, being imported in such increased quantities, in absolute terms or relative to the market in Canada for the goods, and under such conditions as to cause serious damage, or actual threat thereof, to domestic producers of like or directly competitive textile and apparel goods; or

(2) Section 27 of the Act is amended by adding the following after subsection (2.2):

Considerations

(2.3) In making a determination under paragraph (1)(a.8), regard shall be had to paragraph 2 of section 4 of Annex III.1 of the CCRFTA.

Customs Act

1997, c. 14, s. 35(3)

R.S., c. 1

(2nd Supp.)

26. (1) The definitions "free trade agreement" and "free trade partner" in subsection 2(1) of the *Customs Act* are replaced by the following:

"free trade agreement" « accord de libre-échange » "free trade agreement" means NAFTA, CCFTA, CCRFTA or CIFTA;

"free trade partner" « partenaire de libre-échange » "free trade partner" means

- (a) a NAFTA country,
- (b) Chile,
- (c) Costa Rica, or
- (d) Israel or another CIFTA beneficiary;

(2) Subsection 2(1) of the Act is amended by adding the following in alphabetical order:

"CCRFTA" « ALÉCCR »

"CCRFTA" has the same meaning as "Agreement" in subsection 2(1) of the Canada—Costa Rica Free Trade Agreement Implementation Act;

a.8) soit, s'il s'agit d'une plainte déposée en vertu du paragraphe 23(1.08), que les produits textiles et vêtements sont, en conséquence du fait qu'ils bénéficient du tarif du Costa Rica, importés en quantité tellement accrue, en termes absolus ou par rapport au marché intérieur de ces produits, et dans des conditions telles que leur importation constitue à elle seule une cause du préjudice grave porté aux producteurs nationaux de marchandises similaires ou directement concurrentes ou de la menace réelle d'un tel préjudice.

(2) L'article 27 de la même loi est modifié par adjonction, après le paragraphe (2.2), de ce qui suit :

(2.3) La décision visée à l'alinéa (1)*a*.8) est prise à la lumière du paragraphe 2 de l'article 4 de l'annexe III.1 de l'ALÉCCR.

Décision

Loi sur les douanes

26. (1) Les définitions de « accord de libre-échange » et « partenaire de libre-échange », au paragraphe 2(1) de la *Loi sur les douanes*, sont respectivement remplacées par ce qui suit :

« accord de libre-échange » L'ALÉNA, l'ALÉCC, l'ALÉCCR ou l'ALÉCI.

« partenaire de libre-échange » Selon le cas :

- a) un pays ALÉNA;
- b) le Chili:
- c) le Costa Rica;
- d) Israël ou autre bénéficiaire de l'ALÉ-CI.

(2) Le paragraphe 2(1) de la même loi est modifié par adjonction, selon l'ordre alphabétique, de ce qui suit :

« ALÉCCR » S'entend de l'Accord au sens du paragraphe 2(1) de la Loi de mise en oeuvre de l'Accord de libre-échange Canada—Costa Rica.

« ALÉCCR » "CCRFTA"

L.R., ch. 1 (2^e suppl.)

1997., ch. 14, par. 35(3)

« accord de libre-échange » "free trade agreement"

« partenaire de libre-échange » "free trade partner" "Costa Rica" « Costa Rica »

"preferential tariff treatment under CCRFTA" « traitement tarifaire préférentiel de l'ALÉCCR »

1997, c. 14,

s.35(4)

"Costa Rica" has the same meaning as in subsection 2(1) of the *Customs Tariff*;

"preferential tariff treatment under CCRFTA" means, in respect of goods, entitlement to the Costa Rica Tariff rates of customs duty under the *Customs Tariff*;

(3) Paragraph 2(1.2)(c) of the Act is replaced by the following:

- (c) preferential tariff treatment under CCRFTA; or
- (d) preferential tariff treatment under CIF-TA.

1997, c. 14, s. 38, c. 36, s. 163

27. Sections 42.3 and 42.4 of the Act are replaced by the following:

Definition of "customs administration" **42.3** (1) In this section, "customs administration" has the meaning assigned to that expression by Article 514 of NAFTA, Article E-14 of CCFTA or Article V.14 of CCRFTA, as the case may be.

Effective date of redetermination or further redetermination of origin of goods

- (2) Subject to subsection (4), a redetermination or further redetermination of origin does not take effect until notice of it is given to the importer of the goods and any person who completed and signed a Certificate of Origin for the goods if the result of the redetermination or further redetermination of origin made under subsection 59(1) in respect of goods for which preferential tariff treatment under NAFTA, CCFTA or CCRFTA is claimed and that are the subject of a verification of origin under this Act is that
 - (a) the goods are not eligible for that preferential tariff treatment on the basis of the tariff classification or value of one or more materials used in their production; and
 - (b) that tariff classification or value differs from the tariff classification or value applied to those materials by the NAFTA country from which the goods were exported, from Chile or from Costa Rica, as the case may be.

- « Costa Rica » S'entend au sens du paragraphe 2(1) du *Tarif des douanes*.
- « traitement tarifaire préférentiel de l'ALÉCCR » Le bénéfice des taux de droits de douane du tarif du Costa Rica au titre du *Tarif des douanes*.

« traitement tarifaire préférentiel de l'ALÉCCR » "preferential

tariff treatment

under

CCRFTA"

« Costa Rica »

"Costa Rica"

(3) L'alinéa 2(1.2)c) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

1997, ch. 14, par. 35(4)

- c) du traitement tarifaire préférentiel de l'ALÉCCR;
- d) du traitement tarifaire préférentiel de l'ALÉCI.

27. Les articles 42.3 et 42.4 de la même loi sont remplacés par ce qui suit :

1997, ch. 14, art. 38, ch. 36, art. 163

42.3 (1) Au présent article, « administration douanière » s'entend, selon le cas, au sens de l'article 514 de l'ALÉNA, à celui de l'article E-14 de l'ALÉCC ou à celui de l'article V.14 de l'ALÉCCR.

Définition de « administration douanière »

(2) Sous réserve du paragraphe (4), si, à la suite de la révision ou du réexamen, en application du paragraphe 59(1), de l'origine de marchandises qui font l'objet d'une demande visant l'obtention du traitement tarifaire préférentiel de l'ALÉNA, de celui de l'ALÉCC ou de celui de l'ALÉCCR et dont la vérification de l'origine est prévue par la présente loi, celles-ci ne peuvent pas bénéficier du traitement tarifaire préférentiel demandé pour le motif que le classement tarifaire ou la valeur d'une matière ou d'un matériel ou de plusieurs matières ou matériels utilisés pour la production de ces marchandises diffère du classement ou de la valeur correspondants de ces matières ou matériels dans le pays d'exportation — pays ALÉNA, Chili ou Costa Rica —, la prise d'effet de la révision ou du réexamen est subordonnée à leur notification à l'importateur et à l'auteur de tout certificat d'origine des marchandises.

Prise d'effet de la révision ou du réexamen

Réserve

C. 28

Limitation

- (3) A redetermination or further redetermination of origin referred to in subsection (2) shall not be applied to goods imported before the date on which the notice was given if the customs administration of the NAFTA country from which the goods were exported, of Chile or of Costa Rica, as the case may be, has, before that date,
 - (a) given an advance ruling under Article 509 of NAFTA, Article E-09 of CCFTA or Article V.9 of CCRFTA, as the case may be, or given another ruling referred to in paragraph 12 of Article 506 of NAFTA, paragraph 12 of Article E-06 of CCFTA or paragraph 15 of Article V.6 of CCRFTA, as the case may be, on the tariff classification or value of the materials referred to in subsection (2); or
 - (b) given consistent treatment with respect to the tariff classification or value of the materials referred to in subsection (2) on their importation into the NAFTA country, Chile or Costa Rica, as the case may be.

Postponement of effective date

(4) The date on which a redetermination or further redetermination of origin referred to in subsection (2) takes effect shall be postponed for a period not exceeding ninety days if the importer of the goods that are the subject of the redetermination or further redetermination or any person who completed and signed a Certificate of Origin for the goods establishes to the satisfaction of the Minister that the importer or the person, as the case may be, has relied in good faith, to the detriment of the importer or person, on the tariff classification or value applied to the materials referred to in that subsection by the customs administration of the NAFTA country from which the goods were exported, of Chile or of Costa Rica, as the case may be.

Denial or Withdrawal of Benefit of Preferential Tariff Treatment under NAFTA, CCFTA or CCRFTA

Definition of "identical goods" **42.4** (1) In this section, "identical goods" has the meaning assigned to that expression by Article 514 of NAFTA, Article E-14 of CCFTA or Article V.14 of CCRFTA, as the case may be.

- (3) La révision ou le réexamen de l'origine visée au paragraphe (2) ne s'applique pas aux marchandises importées avant la date de la notification dans les cas où l'administration douanière du pays d'exportation a, avant cette date :
 - a) soit rendu une décision anticipée aux termes de l'article 509 de l'ALÉNA, de l'article E-09 de l'ALÉCC ou de l'article V.9 de l'ALÉCCR, selon le cas, ou une décision visée au paragraphe 12 de l'article 506 de l'ALÉNA, au paragraphe 12 de l'article E-06 de l'ALÉCC ou au paragraphe 15 de l'article V.6 de l'ALÉCCR, selon le cas, sur le classement tarifaire ou la valeur des matières ou matériels visés au paragraphe (2);
 - b) soit effectué le classement tarifaire ou la détermination de la valeur des matières ou matériels visés au paragraphe (2) de manière uniforme au moment de leur importation dans ce pays.
- (4) La date de prise d'effet de la révision ou du réexamen de l'origine visé au paragraphe (2) est reportée pour une période maximale de quatre-vingt-dix jours, si le ministre est convaincu que l'importateur des marchandises ou l'auteur de tout certificat d'origine de celles-ci a démontré qu'il s'est fondé de bonne foi, à son détriment, sur le classement tarifaire ou la détermination de la valeur des matières ou matériels visés à ce paragraphe effectués par l'administration douanière du pays ALÉNA d'exportation des marchandises, du Chili ou du Costa Rica, selon le cas.

Report de la date de prise d'effet

Refus ou retrait du traitement tarifaire préférentiel de l'ALÉNA, de l'ALÉCC ou de l'ALÉCCR

42.4 (1) Au présent article, « marchandises identiques » s'entend, selon le cas, au sens de l'article 514 de l'ALÉNA, à celui de l'article E-14 de l'ALÉCC ou à celui de l'article V.14 de l'ALÉCCR.

Définition de « marchandises identiques »

Denial or withdrawal of benefit: NAFTA country, Chile or Costa Rica

(2) Notwithstanding section 24 of the Customs Tariff, the Minister may, subject to the prescribed conditions, deny or withdraw preferential tariff treatment under NAFTA, CCFTA or CCRFTA in respect of goods for which that treatment is claimed if the exporter or producer of the goods has made false representations that identical goods exported or produced by that exporter or producer and for which that treatment was claimed were eligible for that treatment.

(2) Par dérogation à l'article 24 du Tarif des douanes, le ministre peut refuser ou retirer, sous réserve des conditions réglementaires, le traitement tarifaire préférentiel de l'ALÉNA, celui de l'ALÉCC ou celui de l'ALÉCCR à des marchandises pour lesquelles ce traitement est demandé dans le cas où l'exportateur ou le producteur des marchandises a fait de fausses déclarations sur l'application de ce traitement à des marchandises identiques exportées ou produites par lui et pour lesquelles avait été demandé ce traitement.

retrait: pays ALÉNA. Chili on Costa Rica

1997 ch. 14,

art. 39

1997, c. 14, s. 39

28. Paragraph 43.1(1)(b) of the Act is replaced by the following:

(b) in the case of goods exported from a NAFTA country, from Chile or from Costa Rica, any other matter concerning those goods that is set out in paragraph 1 of Article 509 of NAFTA, in paragraph 1 of Article E-09 of CCFTA or in paragraph 1 of Article V.9 or paragraph 10 of Article IX.2 of CCRFTA, as the case may be.

28. L'alinéa 43.1(1)b) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

b) d'autre part, s'agissant de marchandises exportées d'un pays ALÉNA, du Chili ou du Costa Rica, sur toute autre question portant sur l'application à celles-ci du

paragraphe 1 de l'article 509 de l'ALÉNA, du paragraphe 1 de l'article E-09 de l'ALÉCC ou du paragraphe 1 de l'article V.9 ou du paragraphe 10 de l'article IX.2 de l'ALÉCCR, selon le cas.

1996, c. 33, s. 36(1)

29. Paragraph 74(1)(c.11) of the Act is replaced by the following:

(c.11) the goods were imported from Costa Rica or from Israel or another CIFTA beneficiary but no claim for preferential tariff treatment under CCRFTA or CIFTA, as the case may be, was made in respect of those goods at the time they were accounted for under subsection 32(1), (3) or (5);

29. L'alinéa 74(1)c.11) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

c.11) les marchandises ont été importées du Costa Rica, d'Israël ou d'un autre bénéficiaire de l'ALÉCI, mais n'ont pas fait l'objet d'une demande visant l'obtention du tarifaire préférentiel traitement l'ALÉCCR ou de l'ALÉCI au moment de leur déclaration en détail en application des paragraphes 32(1), (3) ou (5);

30. L'article 164 de la même loi est modifié par adjonction, après le paragraphe (1.2), de ce qui suit :

(1.3) Sur recommandation du ministre, le gouverneur en conseil peut prendre des règlements en vue de l'interprétation, de l'application et de l'exécution uniformes des chapitres III et V de l'ALÉCCR ou pour toute autre question dont peuvent convenir les parties à celui-ci.

1996, ch. 33, par. 36(1)

30. Section 164 of the Act is amended by adding the following after subsection (1.2):

Uniform Regulations

(1.3) The Governor in Council may, on the recommendation of the Minister, make regulations for the purpose of the uniform interpretation, application and administration of Chapters III and V of CCRFTA and any other matters that may be agreed on from time to time by the parties to CCRFTA.

Règlements uniformes: ALÉCCR

1997, c. 36

"Costa Rica"

« Costa Rica »

Customs Tariff

Tarif des douanes

1997, ch. 36

31. Subsection 2(1) of the Customs Tariff is amended by adding the following in alphabetical order:

"Canada-"Canada-Costa Rica Free Trade Agreement" Costa Rica Free Trade Agreement" Accord de libre-échange Canada-Costa Rica »

has the same meaning as "Agreement" in subsection 2(1) of the Canada-Costa Rica Free Trade Agreement Implementation Act;

"Costa Rica" means the territory and air space, and the maritime areas, including the seabed and subsoil adjacent to the outer limit of the territorial sea, over which it exercises, in accordance with international law and its domestic law, sovereign rights with respect to the natural resources of such areas;

32. Section 5 of the Act is replaced by the following:

Goods imported from a NAFTA country, Chile or Costa Rica

5. For the purposes of this Act, goods are imported from a NAFTA country, from Chile or from Costa Rica if they are shipped directly to Canada from the NAFTA country, from Chile or from Costa Rica, as the case may be.

33. Paragraph 14(2)(c) of the Act is replaced by the following:

(c) by way of compensation for any action taken under subsection 55(1), section 60 or subsection 63(1), 69(2), 70(2), 71(2), 71.1(2), 72(1), 75(1), 76(1) or 76.1(1) or under subsection 5(3), (3.2) or (4.1) of the Export and Import Permits Act.

34. (1) Paragraph 16(2)(a) of the Act is replaced by the following:

- (a) respecting the origin of goods, including regulations
 - (i) deeming goods, the whole or a portion of which is produced outside a country, to originate in that country for the purposes of this Act or any other Act of Parliament, subject to such conditions as are specified in the regulations,

31. Le paragraphe 2(1) du Tarif des douanes est modifié par adjonction, selon l'ordre alphabétique, de ce qui suit :

« Accord de libre-échange Canada-Costa Rica » S'entend de l'Accord au sens du paragraphe 2(1) de la Loi de mise en oeuvre de l'Accord de libre-échange Canada-Costa Rica.

« Accord de libre-échange Canada-Costa Rica » "Canada-Costa Rica Free Trade Agreement"

« Costa Rica »

"Costa Rica"

« Costa Rica » Le territoire, l'espace aérien et les zones maritimes, y compris les fonds marins et leur sous-sol adjacents à la limite extérieure des eaux territoriales, de même que leurs ressources naturelles, sur lesquels il exerce des droits souverains conformément au droit international et à son droit interne.

32. L'article 5 de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

5. Pour l'application de la présente loi, les marchandises qui sont expédiées directement au Canada à partir d'un pays ALÉNA, du Chili ou du Costa Rica sont des marchandises importées d'un pays ALÉNA, du Chili ou du Costa Rica, selon le cas.

Marchandises importées d'un pays ALÉNA, du Chili ou du Costa Rica

33. L'alinéa 14(2)c) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

c) en compensation de toute mesure prise au titre du paragraphe 55(1), de l'article 60 ou des paragraphes 63(1), 69(2), 70(2), 71(2), 71.1(2), 72(1), 75(1), 76(1) ou 76.1(1) ou en vertu des paragraphes 5(3), (3.2) ou (4.1) de la Loi sur les licences d'exportation et d'importation.

34. (1) Le sous-alinéa 16(2)a(ii) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

(ii) l'assimilation, pour l'application de la présente loi ou de toute autre loi fédérale, à des marchandises non originaires d'un pays et ne bénéficiant pas du traitement tarifaire préférentiel dont elles bénéficieraient autrement en vertu de la présente loi de marchandises produites en tout ou en partie dans une zone géographique de ce pays, sous réserve

- (ii) deeming goods, the whole or a portion of which is produced within a geographic area of a country, not to originate in that country for the purposes of this Act or any other Act of Parliament and not to be entitled to the preferential tariff treatment otherwise applicable under this Act, subject to such conditions as are specified in the regulations, and
- (iii) for determining when goods originate in a country for the purposes of this Act or any other Act of Parliament; and

(2) Section 16 of the Act is amended by adding the following after subsection (2):

Definition of "geographic area"

- (2.1) In subsections (2) and 49.1(4), "geographic area" means any area specified by the Minister of National Revenue after consultation with the Minister for International Trade.
- (3) Subsection 16(4) of the Act is amended by striking out the word "and" at the end of paragraph (a), by adding the word "and" at the end of paragraph (b) and by adding the following after paragraph (b):
 - (c) Chapters III and IV of the Canada–Costa Rica Free Trade Agreement and any other matters agreed on from time to time by the parties to that Agreement for the purposes of that Agreement.

35. Paragraph 24(1)(b) of the Act is replaced by the following:

(b) the goods are entitled to that tariff treatment in accordance with regulations made under section 16 or an order made under paragraph 31(1)(a), 34(1)(a), 38(1)(a) or 42(1)(a), subsection 45(13) or 49(2) or section 48.

36. Section 27 of the Act is replaced by the following:

Abbreviations

27. For the purposes of the List of Tariff Provisions and the "F" Staging List, the abbreviations "UST", "MT", "MUST", "CT", "CRT", "CIAT", "GPT", "LDCT", "CCCT", "AUT" and "NZT" refer, respectively, to "United States Tariff", "Mexico Tariff", "Mexico—United States Tariff",

des conditions précisées dans le règlement,

(iii) la détermination de l'origine de marchandises pour l'application de la présente loi ou de toute autre loi fédérale;

(2) L'article 16 de la même loi est modifié, par adjonction après le paragraphe (2), de ce qui suit :

(2.1) Aux paragraphes (2) et 49.1(4), « zone géographique » s'entend de toute zone spécifiée par le ministre du Revenu national après consultation du ministre du Commerce international.

Zone géographique

(3) Le paragraphe 16(4) de la même loi est modifié par adjonction, après l'alinéa b), de ce qui suit :

c) des chapitres III et IV de l'Accord de libre-échange Canada-Costa Rica ou pour toute autre question dont peuvent, en tant que de besoin, convenir les parties à cet accord pour son application.

35. L'alinéa 24(1)b) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

b) elles bénéficient du traitement tarifaire accordé en conformité avec les règlements d'application de l'article 16 ou avec les décrets d'application des alinéas 31(1)a), 34(1)a), 38(1)a) ou 42(1)a), des paragraphes 45(13) ou 49(2) ou de l'article 48.

36. L'article 27 de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

27. Pour l'application de la liste des dispositions tarifaires et du tableau des échelonnements, les abréviations « TÉU », « TM », « TMÉU », « TC », « TCR », « TACI », « TPG », « TPMD », « TPAC », « TAU » et « TNZ » désignent respectivement « Tarif des États-Unis », « Tarif du Mexique », « Tarif

Abréviations

"Chile Tariff", "Costa Rica Tariff", "Canada—Israel Agreement Tariff", "General Preferential Tariff", "Least Developed Country Tariff", "Commonwealth Caribbean Countries Tariff", "Australia Tariff" and "New Zealand Tariff".

37. The Act is amended by adding the following after section 49:

Costa Rica Tariff

Application of CRT

49.1 (1) Subject to section 24, goods that originate in Costa Rica are entitled to the Costa Rica Tariff rates of customs duty.

"A" final rate

(2) If "A" is set out in the column entitled "Preferential Tariff" in the List of Tariff Provisions following the abbreviation "CRT" in relation to goods entitled to the Costa Rica Tariff, the Costa Rica Tariff rate of customs duty that applies to those goods is the final rate of "Free".

"F" staging for CRT (3) If "F" is set out in the column entitled "Preferential Tariff" in the List of Tariff Provisions following the abbreviation "CRT" in relation to goods entitled to the Costa Rica Tariff, the Costa Rica Tariff rate of customs duty that applies to those goods is the initial rate, reduced as provided in the "F" Staging List.

"M" Staging for CRT

(4) If "M" is set out in the column entitled "Preferential Tariff" in the List of Tariff Provisions following the abbreviation "CRT" in relation to goods entitled to the Costa Rica Tariff, the Costa Rica Tariff rate of customs duty that applies to those goods is the initial rate, reduced to a final rate of "Free" when the Minister is satisfied that Costa Rica has eliminated all business income tax exemptions and other export subsidies in respect of goods produced wholly or partially within a geographic area, as defined in subsection 16(2.1).

Staging for CRT (5) If "N", "O" or "P" is set out in the column entitled "Preferential Tariff" in the List of Tariff Provisions following the abbreviation "CRT" in relation to goods entitled to the Costa Rica Tariff, the Costa Rica Tariff rate of customs duty that applies to those goods is the initial rate, reduced

Mexique—États-Unis », « Tarif du Chili », « Tarif du Costa Rica », « Tarif de l'accord Canada—Israël », « Tarif de préférence général », « Tarif des pays les moins développés », « Tarif des pays antillais du Commonwealth », « Tarif de l'Australie » et « Tarif de la Nouvelle-Zélande ».

37. La même loi est modifiée par adjonction, après l'article 49, de ce qui suit :

Tarif du Costa Rica

49.1 (1) Sous réserve de l'article 24, les marchandises originaires du Costa Rica bénéficient des taux du tarif du Costa Rica.

Application du TCR

(2) Dans les cas où « A » figure dans la colonne « Tarif de préférence » de la liste des dispositions tarifaires après l'abréviation « TCR » pour des marchandises qui bénéficient du tarif du Costa Rica, le taux final, la franchise en douane, s'applique.

Taux final « A » pour le TCR

(3) Dans les cas où «F» figure dans la colonne «Tarif de préférence » de la liste des dispositions tarifaires après l'abréviation «TCR» pour des marchandises qui bénéficient du tarif du Costa Rica, le taux initial s'applique, réduit par étapes selon le tableau des échelonnements.

Échelonnement « F » pour le TCR

- (4) Dans les cas où « M » figure dans la colonne « Tarif de préférence » de la liste des dispositions tarifaires après l'abréviation « TCR » pour des marchandises qui bénéficient du tarif du Costa Rica, le taux initial s'applique, réduit au niveau du taux final, la franchise en douane, si le ministre est convaincu que le Costa Rica a supprimé toute exemption fiscale pour les entreprises et autres subventions d'exportation relatives aux marchandises produites en tout ou en partie dans une zone géographique, au sens du paragraphe 16(2.1).
- (5) Dans les cas où « N », « O » ou « P » figure dans la colonne « Tarif de préférence » de la liste des dispositions tarifaires après l'abréviation « TCR » pour des marchandises qui bénéficient du tarif du Costa Rica, le taux initial s'applique, réduit par étapes de la façon suivante :

Échelonnement « M » pour le TCR

Échelonnements pour le TCR

- (a) if "N" is set out,
 - (i) effective on the coming into force of this subsection, to four fifths of the initial rate,
 - (ii) effective on January 1, 2003, to three fifths of the initial rate,
 - (iii) effective on January 1, 2004, to two fifths of the initial rate,
 - (iv) effective on January 1, 2005, to one fifth of the initial rate, and
 - (v) effective on January 1, 2006, to the final rate of "Free";
- (b) if "O" is set out,
 - (i) effective on the coming into force of this subsection, to seven eighths of the initial rate,
 - (ii) effective on January 1, 2003, to six eighths of the initial rate,
 - (iii) effective on January 1, 2004, to five eighths of the initial rate,
 - (iv) effective on January 1, 2005, to four eighths of the initial rate,
 - (v) effective on January 1, 2006, to three eighths of the initial rate,
 - (vi) effective on January 1, 2007, to two eighths of the initial rate,
 - (vii) effective on January 1, 2008, to one eighth of the initial rate, and
 - (viii) effective on January 1, 2009, to the final rate of "Free"; and
- (c) if "P" is set out,
 - (i) effective on January 1, 2003, to eight ninths of the initial rate,
 - (ii) effective on January 1, 2004, to seven ninths of the initial rate,
 - (iii) effective on January 1, 2005, to six ninths of the initial rate,
 - (iv) effective on January 1, 2006, to five ninths of the initial rate,
 - (v) effective on January 1, 2007, to four ninths of the initial rate,
 - (vi) effective on January 1, 2008, to three ninths of the initial rate,

- a) dans le cas de « N »:
 - (i) à compter de l'entrée en vigueur du présent paragraphe, aux quatre cinquièmes du taux initial,
 - (ii) à compter du 1^{er} janvier 2003, aux trois cinquièmes du taux initial,
 - (iii) à compter du 1^{er} janvier 2004, aux deux cinquièmes du taux initial,
 - (iv) à compter du 1^{er} janvier 2005, au cinquième du taux initial,
 - (v) à compter du 1^{er} janvier 2006, au taux final, la franchise en douane;
- b) dans le cas de « O »:
 - (i) à compter de l'entrée en vigueur du présent paragraphe, aux sept huitièmes du taux initial.
 - (ii) à compter du 1^{er} janvier 2003, aux six huitièmes du taux initial,
 - (iii) à compter du 1^{er} janvier 2004, aux cinq huitièmes du taux initial,
 - (iv) à compter du 1^{er} janvier 2005, aux quatre huitièmes du taux initial,
 - (v) à compter du 1^{er} janvier 2006, aux trois huitièmes du taux initial,
 - (vi) à compter du 1^{er} janvier 2007, aux deux huitièmes du taux initial,
 - (vii) à compter du 1^{er} janvier 2008, au huitième du taux initial,
 - (viii) à compter du 1^{er} janvier 2009, au taux final, la franchise en douane;
- c) dans le cas de « P »:
 - (i) à compter du 1^{er} janvier 2003, aux huit neuvièmes du taux initial,
 - (ii) à compter du 1^{er} janvier 2004, aux sept neuvièmes du taux initial,
 - (iii) à compter du 1^{er} janvier 2005, aux six neuvièmes du taux initial,
 - (iv) à compter du 1^{er} janvier 2006, aux cinq neuvièmes du taux initial,
 - (v) à compter du 1^{er} janvier 2007, aux quatre neuvièmes du taux initial,
 - (vi) à compter du 1^{er} janvier 2008, aux trois neuvièmes du taux initial,

- (vii) effective on January 1, 2009, to two ninths of the initial rate,
- (viii) effective on January 1, 2010, to one ninth of the initial rate, and
- (ix) effective on January 1, 2011, to the final rate of "Free".

Rounding of specific rates (6) If a reduction under subsection (3) or (5) results in a specific rate of customs duty that includes a fraction of one tenth of a cent, the rate shall be rounded down to the nearest one tenth of a cent.

Rounding of

(7) If a reduction under subsection (3) or (5) results in a rate of customs duty that includes a fraction of one per cent other than 0.5, the resulting percentage shall be rounded down to the nearest percentage that divides evenly by 0.5.

Elimination of rates of less than two per cent (8) If a reduction under subsection (3) or (5) results in a rate of customs duty that is a percentage of less than two per cent, the rate shall be further reduced to "Free" immediately.

Extension of Costa Rica Tariff **49.2** Notwithstanding any other provision of this Act and for the purpose of giving effect to Appendix III.1.6.1 of Annex III.1 of the Canada–Costa Rica Free Trade Agreement, the Minister may, by order, amend the schedule to extend entitlement to the Costa Rica Tariff to any imported goods under such conditions as are specified in the order.

Limits on reduction of duty **49.3** (1) The Governor in Council may, on the recommendation of the Minister, by order, specify limits on the aggregate quantity of goods of tariff item Nos.

1701.91.00, 1701.99.00, 1702.90.11, 1702.90.12, 1702.90.13, 1702.90.14, 1702.90.15, 1702.90.16, 1702.90.17, 1702.90.18 and 1702.90.30 that are entitled to the Costa Rica Tariff, and the limits apply during the periods and subject to the conditions that may be specified in the order.

Ceases to have effect (2) This section ceases to have effect on December 31, 2010.

Reduction of rate: "M" Staging **49.4** The Governor in Council may, on the recommendation of the Minister, by order, amend the List of Tariff Provisions and the "F" Staging List to reduce, subject to the

- (vii) à compter du 1^{er} janvier 2009, aux deux neuvièmes du taux initial,
- (viii) à compter du 1^{er} janvier 2010, au neuvième du taux initial,
- (ix) à compter du 1^{er} janvier 2011, au taux final, la franchise en douane.

(6) Dans le cas où le taux spécifique réduit en application des paragraphes (3) ou (5) comporte une fraction de un dixième de cent, il est arrondi au dixième de cent inférieur. Arrondissement des taux spécifiques

(7) Dans le cas où le taux réduit en application des paragraphes (3) ou (5) comporte une fraction de un pour cent autre que 0,5, il est arrondi au multiple de 0,5 pour cent inférieur.

Arrondissement : fraction autre que 0,5

(8) Dans le cas où le taux réduit en application des paragraphes (3) ou (5) est inférieur à deux pour cent, la franchise en douane s'applique immédiatement.

Suppression des taux inférieurs à deux pour cent

49.2 Par dérogation aux autres dispositions de la présente loi, le ministre peut, par arrêté pris pour donner effet à l'appendice III.1.6.1 de l'annexe III.1 de l'Accord de libre-échange Canada–Costa Rica, modifier l'annexe pour accorder, aux conditions qui y sont spécifiées, le bénéfice du tarif du Costa Rica à des marchandises importées.

Octroi du tarif du Costa Rica

49.3 (1) Sur recommandation du ministre, le gouverneur en conseil peut par décret, pour les périodes et aux conditions qui y sont spécifiées, limiter la quantité globale des marchandises des nos tarifaires 1701.91.00, 1701.99.00. 1702.90.11. 1702.90.12. 1702.90.13, 1702.90.14, 1702.90.15, 1702.90.16, 1702.90.17, 1702.90.18 1702.90.30 qui bénéficient du tarif du Costa Rica.

Limitation

(2) Le présent article cesse d'avoir effet le 31 décembre 2010.

Cessation d'effet

49.4 Sur recommandation du ministre, le gouverneur en conseil peut, par décret, modifier la liste des dispositions tarifaires et le tableau des échelonnements, aux conditions

Réduction par décret : échelonnement « M » pour le TCR

21

conditions specified in the order, the initial rate for goods of a tariff item entitled to the Costa Rica Tariff in respect of which "M" is set out in the column entitled "Preferential Tariff" in the List of Tariff Provisions following the abbreviation "CRT" in that tariff item.

38. The Act is amended by adding the following after section 71:

Bilateral Emergency Measures — Costa Rica

Non-application

71.1 (1) This section does not apply in respect of textile and apparel goods set out in Appendix III.1.1.1 of Annex III.1 of the Canada-Costa Rica Free Trade Agreement.

Order by Governor in Council

- (2) Subject to subsections (3) and (4), if at any time it appears to the satisfaction of the Governor in Council, as a result of an inquiry made by the Canadian International Trade Tribunal under subsection 19.013(2) of the Canadian International Trade Tribunal Act or further to a complaint filed under subsection 23(1.07) of that Act, that goods that are entitled to the Costa Rica Tariff are, as a result of that entitlement, being imported in such increased quantities and under such conditions as to alone constitute a principal cause of serious injury, or a threat of serious injury, to domestic producers of like or directly competitive goods, the Governor in Council may, on the recommendation of the Minister, by order
 - (a) suspend, during the period that the order is in effect, any reduction of the rate of customs duty with respect to those goods that would otherwise be made after that time by virtue of section 49.1;
 - (b) in respect of goods on which a customs duty is imposed on a seasonal basis, make those goods subject to a temporary duty, in addition to any other duty specified in this Act or in any other Act of Parliament relating to customs, at a rate set out in the order, but that rate, when added to the rate of customs duty set out in the List of Tariff Provisions that is in effect in respect of those goods at that time, may not exceed the Most-Favoured-Nation Tariff rate of cus-

qui y sont spécifiées, pour réduire le taux initial applicable aux marchandises à l'égard desquelles « M » figure dans la colonne « Tarif de préférence » de cette liste après l'abréviation « TCR ».

38. La même loi est modifiée par adjonction, après l'article 71, de ce qui suit :

Mesures d'urgence bilatérales : Costa Rica

71.1 (1) Le présent article ne s'applique pas aux produits textiles et vêtements figurant à l'appendice III.1.1.1 de l'annexe III.1 de l'Accord de libre-échange Canada-Costa

> Décret de mesures temporaires

Non-application

- (2) Sous réserve des paragraphes (3) et (4), si, à un moment donné, le gouverneur en conseil est convaincu, sur le fondement d'une enquête menée par le Tribunal canadien du commerce extérieur en vertu du paragraphe 19.013(2) de la Loi sur le Tribunal canadien du commerce extérieur ou en vertu d'une plainte déposée en vertu du paragraphe 23(1.07) de cette loi, que des marchandises sont, du fait qu'elles bénéficient du tarif du Costa Rica, importées en quantité tellement accrue et dans des conditions telles que leur importation constitue à elle seule une cause principale du dommage grave porté aux producteurs nationaux de marchandises similaires ou directement concurrentes, ou de la menace d'un tel dommage, il peut, sur recommandation du ministre, par décret :
 - a) suspendre, pendant la période de validité du décret, toute réduction du taux qui aurait pu être accordée ultérieurement à l'égard de ces marchandises au titre de l'article 49.1;
 - b) s'agissant de marchandises sur lesquelles est imposé un droit de douane sur une base saisonnière, les assujettir à un droit temporaire, en plus des autres droits prévus par la présente loi ou toute autre loi fédérale en matière douanière, au taux précisé, lequel ne peut toutefois, quand il s'ajoute au taux de droits de douane de la liste des dispositions tarifaires en vigueur à leur égard, excéder le taux de droits de douane du tarif

toms duty that was in effect in respect of those goods immediately before the coming into force of this subsection; and

- (c) in respect of goods other than goods referred to in paragraph (b), make those goods subject to a temporary duty, in addition to any other duty specified in this Act or in any other Act of Parliament relating to customs, at a rate set out in the order, but that rate, when added to the rate of customs duty specified in the Costa Rica Tariff that is in effect in respect of those goods at that time, may not exceed the lesser of
 - (i) the Most-Favoured-Nation Tariff rate of customs duty that was in effect in respect of those goods immediately before the coming into force of this subsection, and
 - (ii) the Most-Favoured-Nation Tariff rate of customs duty that is in effect in respect of those goods at the time the order is made.

de la nation la plus favorisée en vigueur à leur égard la veille de la date d'entrée en vigueur du présent paragraphe;

c) s'agissant de marchandises autres que celles mentionnées à l'alinéa b), les assujettir à un droit temporaire, en plus des autres droits prévus par la présente loi ou par toute autre loi fédérale en matière douanière, au taux précisé, lequel ne peut toutefois, quand il s'ajoute au taux de droits de douane de la liste des dispositions tarifaires en vigueur à leur égard, excéder le taux de droits de douane du tarif de la nation la plus favorisée applicable à leur égard le jour précédant l'entrée en vigueur du présent paragraphe, ou, s'il est inférieur, celui qui l'est à la date de la prise du décret.

Terms and

- (3) An order under subsection (2)
- (a) may not be made more than twice during the period beginning on the coming into force of this subsection and ending on the date that is seven years after the coming into force of this subsection in respect of goods of a particular kind and, if made during that period, remains in effect for the period, not exceeding three years, specified in the order; and
- (b) may be made after the date that is seven years after the coming into force of this subsection only if it is based on an agreement between the Government of Canada and the Government of the Republic of Costa Rica relating to the application of subsection (2).

Application of measures a second time

- (4) A measure referred to in an order made under subsection (2) may be applied a second time if
 - (a) the period of time that has elapsed since the initial application of the measure ended is equal to at least one half the initial period of application;

(3) Le décret:

a) ne peut être pris plus que deux fois à l'égard des marchandises d'une nature donnée au cours de la période commençant à la date d'entrée en vigueur du présent paragraphe et se terminant le jour de son septième anniversaire et, le cas échéant, demeure en vigueur pendant la période — d'au plus trois ans — qui y est spécifiée:

b) ne peut être pris, après le jour du septième anniversaire de la date d'entrée en vigueur du présent paragraphe, qu'aux termes d'un accord conclu par le gouvernement du Canada et celui de la République du Costa Rica portant sur l'application du paragraphe (2).

- (4) La mesure visée au paragraphe (2) peut être appliquée une deuxième fois, si les conditions suivantes sont réunies :
 - *a*) la durée qui s'est écoulée depuis l'application initiale de la mesure expirée représente au moins la moitié de la durée initiale d'application;

Modalités

Application d'une mesure pour la deuxième fois

- (b) the rate of duty for the first year of the second action is not greater than the rate that would be in effect in accordance with the Schedule of Canada referred to in Annex III.3.1 of the Canada—Costa Rica Free Trade Agreement, entitled "Tariff Elimination", at the time the first action was imposed; and
- (c) the rate of duty applicable to any subsequent year is reduced in equal steps such that the duty rate in the final year of the action is equivalent to the rate provided for in the Schedule of Canada referred to in Annex III.3.1 of the Canada—Costa Rica Free Trade Agreement, entitled "Tariff Elimination", for that year.

Rate of duty when order ceases to have effect

- (5) If an order made under subsection (2) ceases to have effect in a particular calendar year.
 - (a) the rate of customs duty applicable to the goods after the order ceases to have effect and until December 31 of that year is the rate that would otherwise have been applicable one year after the making of the order, as reduced in accordance with section 49.1; and
 - (b) the rate of customs duty applicable to the goods beginning on January 1 of the following year is the rate specified by the Minister under subsection (6).

Specification of applicable rate

- (6) For the purposes of subsection (5), the Minister shall, by order, specify that the rate referred to in paragraph (5)(b) is
 - (a) the rate of customs duty that would have been applicable on January 1 of the year following the year in which the order ceases to have effect, if the rate of customs duty had been reduced in accordance with section 49.1, reduced for subsequent years in accordance with that section; or
 - (b) the rate of customs duty that would have been applicable one year after the making of the order, reduced in equal annual stages beginning on January 1 of the year following the year in which the order ceases to

- b) le taux pour la première année de la seconde mesure ne dépassera pas le taux qui était en vigueur, conformément à la liste du Canada figurant à l'annexe III.3.1 intitulée « Élimination des droits de douane » de l'Accord de libre-échange Canada—Costa Rica, au moment de l'adoption de la première mesure;
- c) le taux applicable au cours de toute année subséquente fera l'objet d'une réduction progressive par tranches égales jusqu'à ce que le taux pour la dernière année de la mesure soit équivalent au taux prévu à la liste du Canada figurant à l'annexe III.3.1 intitulée « Élimination des droits de douane » de l'Accord de libre-échange Canada—Costa Rica, pour cette année.
- (5) En cas de cessation d'effet du décret :

Taux à la cessation d'effet

- a) le taux applicable aux marchandises est, jusqu'au 31 décembre de l'année en cours, celui qui aurait été applicable un an après la prise du décret, réduit en conformité avec l'article 49.1:
- b) à compter du 1^{er} janvier suivant, le taux applicable est celui que le ministre spécifie en vertu du paragraphe (6).
- (6) Pour l'application du paragraphe (5), le ministre spécifie, par arrêté, que le taux visé à l'alinéa (5)*b*) est :
 - a) soit celui qui aurait été applicable le 1^{er} janvier suivant la cessation d'effet du décret s'il avait été réduit en conformité avec l'article 49.1, lequel est réduit en conformité avec cet article pour les années suivantes;
 - b) soit celui qui aurait été applicable un an après la prise du décret et qu'il est, pendant la période commençant le 1^{er} janvier suivant la cessation d'effet du décret et se terminant le jour où le taux aurait été réduit en conformité avec l'article 49.1, réduit par tranches annuelles égales pour atteindre le taux final.

Taux précisé par arrêté have effect and ending on the day on which the rate of customs duty for the goods would otherwise be reduced to the final rate in accordance with section 49.1.

Definition of "principal cause"

(7) In this section, "principal cause" means, in respect of a serious injury or threat of serious injury, an important cause that is not less important than any other cause of the serious injury or threat.

Reference to customs duty in effect

(8) For the purposes of paragraph (2)(b), the Most-Favoured-Nation Tariff rate of customs duty in effect in respect of a fresh fruit or vegetable is

- (a) in respect of a fresh vegetable, the rate of customs duty applicable to that vegetable set out in the applicable tariff item referred to in Supplementary Note 2(b) in Chapter 7 of the List of Tariff Provisions; and
- (b) in respect of a fresh fruit, the rate of customs duty applicable to that fruit set out in the applicable tariff item referred to in Supplementary Note 4(b) in Chapter 8 of the List of Tariff Provisions.

39. The Act is amended by adding the following after section 76:

Bilateral Emergency Measures for Textile and Apparel Goods Imported from Costa Rica

Order by Governor in Council

76.1 (1) If it appears to the satisfaction of the Governor in Council, on the basis of a report of the Minister further to a complaint under subsection 23(1.08) of the Canadian International Trade Tribunal Act or as a result of an inquiry made by the Canadian International Trade Tribunal under subparagraph 26(1)(a)(i.8) of that Act, that textile and apparel goods set out in Appendix III.1.1.1 of Annex III.1 of the Canada-Costa Rica Free Trade Agreement and entitled to the Costa Rica Tariff are being imported in such increased quantities, in absolute terms or relative to the domestic market for the goods, and under such conditions as to cause serious damage or an actual threat of serious damage to domestic producers of like or directly competitive goods, the Governor in Council may, on the recommendation of the Minister, by order

- (7) Dans le présent article, « cause principale » s'entend de toute cause sérieuse dont l'importance est égale ou supérieure à celle des autres causes du dommage grave ou de la menace d'un tel dommage.
- (8) Pour l'application de l'alinéa (2)b), le taux du tarif de la nation la plus favorisée en vigueur à l'égard des légumes ou fruits frais est :
 - a) pour les premiers, le taux spécifié au numéro tarifaire mentionné à la Note supplémentaire 2b) du Chapitre 7 de la liste des dispositions tarifaires qui leur est applicable;
 - b) pour les seconds, le taux spécifié au numéro tarifaire mentionné à la Note supplémentaire 4b) du Chapitre 8 de la liste des dispositions tarifaires qui leur est applicable.

39. La même loi est modifiée par adjonction, après l'article 76, de ce qui suit :

Mesures d'urgence bilatérales visant les produits textiles et vêtements importés du Costa Rica

76.1 (1) S'il est convaincu, sur le fondement

soit d'un rapport du ministre établi par suite d'une plainte déposée en vertu du paragraphe 23(1.08) de la Loi sur le Tribunal canadien du commerce extérieur, soit d'une enquête menée par le Tribunal canadien du commerce extérieur en vertu du sous-alinéa 26(1)a)(i.8) de cette loi, que des produits textiles et vêtements figurant à l'appendice III.1.1.1 de l'annexe III.1 de l'Accord de libre-échange Canada-Costa Rica et bénéficiant du tarif du Costa Rica sont importés en quantité tellement accrue, en termes absolus ou par rapport au marché intérieur pour de telles marchandises, et dans des conditions telles que leur importation cause un préjudice grave ou menace réellement de causer un tel préjudice aux producteurs nationaux de marchandises similaires ou directement concurrentes, sur recom-

mandation du ministre, le gouverneur en

conseil peut, par décret :

Définition de « cause principale »

Mention du taux en vigueur

Décret

- (a) suspend any further reduction of any rate of customs duty in respect of the goods that would otherwise result under section 49.1; or
- (b) impose, in addition to any other duty imposed under this or any other Act of Parliament, a temporary duty on the goods at a rate specified in the order.

Limit on amount of temporary duty

- (2) A rate of temporary duty imposed under paragraph (1)(b) may not, when added to the rate of customs duty specified in the List of Tariff Provisions for the goods, exceed the lesser of
 - (a) the Most-Favoured-Nation Tariff rate for the goods in effect when the order is made, and
 - (b) the Most-Favoured-Nation Tariff rate for the goods in effect on the coming into force of this subsection.

Period

(3) Subject to subsection (4), an order made under subsection (1) remains in effect for a period, not exceeding three years, specified in the order.

Duration of order

(4) If an order is made under subsection (1) on the basis of a report of the Minister, the order ceases to have effect at the end of the one hundred and eightieth day after the day on which the order is made unless, before the order so ceases to have effect, the Canadian International Trade Tribunal reports to the Governor in Council, on the basis of an inquiry made under subparagraph 26(1)(a)(i.8) of the Canadian International Trade Tribunal Act, that the goods described in the report of the Minister are being imported from the country named in the report under such conditions as to cause or threaten serious damage to domestic producers of like or directly competitive goods.

Extension of

(5) The Governor in Council may, on the recommendation of the Minister, by order, extend the period of an order made as a result of an inquiry of the Canadian International Trade Tribunal made under subparagraph 26(1)(a)(i.8) of the Canadian International Trade Tribunal Act or an order that remains in effect by virtue of subsection (4) on the basis

- a) soit suspendre toute réduction d'un taux qui pourrait être accordée ultérieurement à l'égard de ces marchandises en vertu de l'article 49.1:
- b) soit assujettir les marchandises à un droit temporaire, en plus des droits prévus par la présente loi ou toute autre loi fédérale, au taux prévu par le décret.
- (2) Le cas échéant, le taux du droit temporaire, ajouté au taux de droits de douane de la liste des dispositions tarifaires, ne peut excéder le taux de droits de douane du tarif de la nation la plus favorisée applicable aux marchandises en cause à la date de la prise du décret, ou, s'il est inférieur, celui en vigueur pour elles à l'entrée en vigueur du présent paragraphe.

maximal

(3) Sous réserve du paragraphe (4), le décret pris en vertu du paragraphe (1) s'applique pendant la période — d'au plus trois ans — qui y est spécifiée.

Durée d'application

du décret

Application

du décret

- (4) Le décret pris en vertu du paragraphe (1) sur le fondement d'un rapport du ministre cesse d'avoir effet à l'expiration du cent quatre-vingtième jour suivant sa prise; toutefois, il s'applique pendant la période qui y est spécifiée si le Tribunal canadien du commerce extérieur fait, par suite d'une enquête menée en vertu du sous-alinéa 26(1)a)(i.8) de la Loi sur le Tribunal canadien du commerce extérieur, rapport au gouverneur en conseil l'informant que les marchandises faisant l'objet du rapport du ministre sont importées d'un pays que mentionne le rapport, dans des conditions telles qu'elles causent ou menacent de causer un préjudice grave aux producteurs nationaux de marchandises similaires ou directement concurrentes.
- (5) Sur recommandation du ministre, le gouverneur en conseil peut, par décret, proroger la période d'application du décret pris par suite de l'enquête du Tribunal canadien du commerce extérieur en vertu du sous-alinéa 26(1)a)(i.8) de la *Loi sur le Tribunal canadien du commerce extérieur* ou du décret s'appliquant encore au titre du paragraphe (4) par

Prorogation du décret of a report of that Tribunal, but the total period of the order may not exceed three years.

suite du rapport fait par ce tribunal, la période d'application totale du décret ne pouvant toutefois dépasser trois ans.

Rate of duty after order ceases to have effect

- (6) If an order made under subsection (1) ceases to have effect in a particular calendar year,
 - (a) the rate of customs duty applicable to the goods after the order ceases to have effect and until December 31 of that year is the rate that would have been applicable one year after the making of the order, as reduced in accordance with section 49.1; and
 - (b) the rate of customs duty applicable to the goods beginning on January 1 of the following year is the rate specified by the Minister under subsection (7).

Specification of applicable rates

- (7) For the purposes of subsection (6), the Minister shall, by order, specify that the rate referred to in paragraph (6)(b) is
 - (a) the rate of customs duty that would have been applicable on January 1 of the year following the year in which the order ceases to have effect if the rate of customs duty had been reduced in accordance with section 49.1, reduced to "Free" in accordance with that section; or
 - (b) the rate of customs duty that would have been applicable one year after the making of the order, reduced to "Free" in equal annual stages beginning on January 1 of the year following the year in which the order ceases to have effect and ending on the day on which the rate of customs duty for the goods would otherwise be reduced to "Free" in accordance with section 49.1.

Further orders

- (8) An order under subsection (1) may not be made more than once during the period beginning on the coming into force of this subsection and ending on the date that is seven years after the coming into force of this subsection in respect of goods of a particular kind.
- 40. Section 79 of the Act is replaced by the following:

(6) À la cessation d'effet du décret :

Taux à la cessation d'effet

- a) le taux applicable aux marchandises est, jusqu'au 31 décembre de l'année en cours, celui qui aurait été applicable un an après la prise du décret, réduit en conformité avec l'article 49.1;
- b) à compter du 1^{er} janvier suivant, le taux applicable est celui que le ministre spécifie en vertu du paragraphe (7).
- (7) Pour l'application du paragraphe (6), le ministre spécifie, par arrêté, que le taux visé à l'alinéa (6)*b*) est :
 - a) soit celui qui aurait été applicable le 1^{er} janvier suivant la cessation d'effet du décret, réduit en conformité avec l'article 49.1, lequel est réduit à la franchise en douane en conformité avec cet article pour les années suivantes;
 - b) soit celui qui aurait été applicable un an après la prise du décret et qu'il est, pendant la période commençant le 1^{er} janvier suivant la cessation d'effet du décret et se terminant le jour où le taux aurait été réduit à la franchise en douane en conformité avec l'article 49.1, réduit par tranches annuelles égales jusqu'à la franchise en douane.
- (8) Le décret visé au paragraphe (1) ne peut être pris qu'une fois à l'égard de marchandises d'une nature donnée pendant la période commençant à la date d'entrée en vigueur du présent paragraphe et se terminant le jour de son septième anniversaire.
- 40. L'article 79 de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

Taux spécifié par arrêté

Décrets ultérieurs

Marchandises

en transit

Goods in

79. An order made under subsection 53(2) or 55(1), section 60 or subsection 63(1), 69(2), 70(2), 71.1(2), 72(1), 75(1), 76(1) or 76.1(1) may provide that goods that are in transit to Canada at the time the order comes into force are entitled to the tariff treatment that was applicable to those goods immediately before that time.

41. The definition "customs duties" in section 80 of the Act is replaced by the following:

"customs duties" « droits de douane » "customs duties", other than for the purposes of sections 95 and 96, means customs duties imposed under Part 2, other than surtaxes imposed under section 53, 55, 60, 63, 68 or 78 or temporary duties imposed under any of sections 69 to 76.1.

42. Subsection 94(1) of the Act is replaced by the following:

Definition of "customs duties" **94.** (1) In sections 95 and 96, "customs duties" means customs duties imposed under Part 2, other than additional customs duties levied under section 21, surtaxes imposed under section 53, 55, 60, 63, 68 or 78 or temporary duties imposed under any of sections 69 to 76.1.

43. Subparagraph 99(a)(iii) of the Act is replaced by the following:

(iii) the circumstances in which, and the classes of goods in respect of which, relief of duties levied under section 21 or under the *Special Import Measures Act*, a surtax imposed under section 53, 55, 60, 63, 68 or 78, a temporary duty imposed under any of sections 69 to 76.1, a tax levied under the *Excise Tax Act* or a duty imposed under the *Excise Act* may not be granted,

44. Paragraph 113(4)(a) of the Act is replaced by the following:

(a) the circumstances in which, and the classes of goods in respect of which, a refund or drawback of duties levied under section 21 or under the *Special Import*

79. Il peut être prévu, dans un décret pris en vertu des paragraphes 53(2) ou 55(1), de l'article 60 ou des paragraphes 63(1), 69(2), 70(2), 71.1(2), 72(1), 75(1), 76(1) ou 76.1(1), que les marchandises en transit à la date de l'entrée en vigueur du décret bénéficient du traitement tarifaire applicable avant cette date.

41. La définition de « droits de douane », à l'article 80 de la même loi, est remplacée par ce qui suit :

« droits de douane » Sauf en ce qui concerne l'application des articles 95 et 96, les droits de douane imposés en application de la partie 2, à l'exclusion des surtaxes imposées au titre des articles 53, 55, 60, 63, 68 ou 78 ou des droits temporaires imposés au titre de l'un ou l'autre des articles 69 à 76.1.

« droits de douane » "customs duties"

42. Le paragraphe 94(1) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

94. (1) Dans les articles 95 et 96, « droits de douane » s'entend des droits de douane imposés en application de la partie 2 — à l'exclusion des droits de douane supplémentaires perçus au titre de l'article 21 —, des surtaxes imposées au titre des articles 53, 55, 60, 63, 68 ou 78 ou des droits temporaires imposés au titre de l'un ou l'autre des articles 69 à 76.1.

43. Le sous-alinéa 99a)(iii) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

(iii) désigner les catégories de marchandises qui sont inadmissibles à l'exonération des droits perçus au titre de l'article 21 ou de la *Loi sur les mesures spéciales d'importation*, des surtaxes imposées en vertu des articles 53, 55, 60, 63, 68 ou 78, des droits temporaires imposés au titre de l'un ou l'autre des articles 69 à 76.1, des taxes perçues au titre de la *Loi sur la taxe d'accise* ou des droits imposés au titre de la *Loi sur l'accise*, et déterminer les cas d'inadmissibilité,

44. L'alinéa 113(4)a) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

a) les catégories de marchandises inadmissibles au remboursement ou au drawback des droits perçus au titre de l'article 21 ou de la *Loi sur les mesures spéciales d'impor-*

Définition de

« droits de

douane »

Measures Act, a surtax levied under section 53, 55, 60, 63, 68 or 78, a temporary duty levied under any of sections 69 to 76.1, a tax levied under the Excise Tax Act or a duty levied under the Excise Act may not be granted under subsection (1);

45. Paragraph 133(j) of the Act is replaced by the following:

(*j*) for the purpose of tariff item No. 9971.00.00 or 9992.00.00, prescribing conditions under which goods that have been exported to a NAFTA country, Chile, Costa Rica, Israel or another CIFTA beneficiary for repair or alteration may be imported;

46. (1) The List of Tariff Provisions set out in the schedule to the Act is amended by

- (a) adding in the column "Preferential Tariff / Initial Rate", below the reference to "CIAT", a reference to "CRT:";
- (b) adding in the column "Preferential Tariff / Final Rate", below the reference to "CIAT", a reference to "CRT:";
- (c) adding in the column "Preferential Tariff / Initial Rate" a reference to "Free" after the abbreviation "CRT", and adding in the column "Preferential Tariff / Final Rate" a reference to "Free (A)" after the abbreviation "CRT", for all tariff items except those set out in Schedules 1 to 3 to this Act;
- (d) adding in the columns "Preferential Tariff / Initial Rate" and "Preferential Tariff / Final Rate" a reference to "N/A" after the abbreviation "CRT" for the tariff items set out in Schedule 1 to this Act; and
- (e) adding in the columns "Preferential Tariff / Initial Rate" and "Preferential Tariff / Final Rate" after the abbreviation "CRT", for each tariff item set out in Schedule 2 to this Act, the rates of duty and staging categories set out with respect to that tariff item No. in that Schedule.

tation, des surtaxes perçues au titre des articles 53, 55, 60, 63, 68 ou 78, des droits temporaires perçus au titre de l'un ou l'autre des articles 69 à 76.1, des taxes perçues au titre de la *Loi sur la taxe d'accise* ou des droits perçus au titre de la *Loi sur l'accise*, ainsi que les cas d'inadmissibilité;

45. L'alinéa 133j) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

j) pour l'application des n^{os} tarifaires 9971.00.00 ou 9992.00.00, fixer les conditions de l'importation des marchandises qui ont été exportées vers un pays ALÉNA, le Chili, le Costa Rica, Israël ou autre bénéficiaire de l'ALÉCI pour réparation ou modification:

46. (1) La Liste des dispositions tarifaires figurant à l'annexe de la même loi est modifiée :

- a) par adjonction, dans la colonne « Tarif de préférence / Taux initial », au-dessous de la mention « TACI » de la mention « TCR: »;
- b) par adjonction, dans la colonne « Tarif de préférence / Taux final », au-dessous de la mention « TACI » de la mention « TCR: »:
- c) par adjonction, dans la colonne « Tarif de préférence / Taux initial », de la mention « En fr. » après l'abréviation « TCR » et par adjonction dans la colonne « Tarif de préférence / Taux final », de la mention « En fr. (A) » après l'abréviation « TCR » pour tous les numéros tarifaires à l'exception de ceux figurant aux annexes 1 à 3 de la présente loi;
- d) par adjonction, dans les colonnes « Tarif de préférence / Taux initial » et « Tarif de préférence / Taux final », de la mention « S/O » après l'abréviation « TCR » en regard des numéros tarifaires figurant à l'annexe 1 de la présente loi:
- e) par adjonction, dans les colonnes
 « Tarif de préférence / Taux initial » et
 « Tarif de préférence / Taux final », après
 l'abréviation « TCR », en regard des

- (2) The Description of Goods of tariff item No. 9929.00.00 in the List of Tariff Provisions set out in the schedule to the Act is amended by replacing the reference to "imported from the United States, Mexico or Chile" with a reference to "imported from the United States, Mexico, Chile or Costa Rica".
- (3) The Description of Goods of tariff item No. 9938.00.00 in the List of Tariff Provisions set out in the schedule to the Act is amended by replacing the reference to "certified by the Government of Mexico, the United States or Chile or by any authority in Mexico, the United States or Chile recognized by the Minister of National Revenue" with a reference to "certified by the Government of Mexico, the United States, Chile or Costa Rica or by any authority in Mexico, the United States, Chile or Costa Rica recognized by the Minister of National Revenue".
- (4) The Description of Goods of tariff item No. 9971.00.00 in the List of Tariff Provisions set out in the schedule to the Act is amended by replacing the reference to "exported to the United States, Mexico, Chile or Israel or another CIFTA beneficiary for repair or alteration" with a reference to "exported to the United States, Mexico, Chile, Costa Rica or Israel or another CIFTA beneficial for repair or alteration".
- (5) The Description of Goods of tariff item No. 9990.00.00 in the List of Tariff Provisions set out in the schedule to the Act is amended by
 - (a) replacing the reference to "Commercial samples imported from the United States, Mexico or Chile" with a reference to "Commercial samples imported from the United States, Mexico, Chile or Costa Rica"; and
 - (b) replacing, in paragraph (i), the reference to "in Canadian, Chilean or Mexi-

- numéros tarifaires figurant à l'annexe 2 de la présente loi, des taux de droits de douanes et des catégories d'échelonnements correspondants.
- (2) La Dénomination des marchandises du nº tarifaire 9929.00.00 de la liste des dispositions tarifaires de l'annexe de la même loi est modifiée par remplacement de « importés des États-Unis, du Mexique ou du Chili » par « importés des États-Unis, du Mexique, du Chili ou du Costa Rica ».
- (3) La Dénomination des marchandises du nº tarifaire 9938.00.00 de la liste des dispositions tarifaires de l'annexe de la même loi est modifiée par remplacement de « certifiés par le gouvernement du Mexique, des États-Unis ou du Chili ou par toute autre personne autorisée de ces trois pays » par « certifiés par le gouvernement du Mexique, des États-Unis, du Chili ou du Costa Rica ou par toute autre personne autorisée de ces quatre pays ».
- (4) La Dénomination des marchandises du nº tarifaire 9971.00.00 de la liste des dispositions tarifaires de l'annexe de la même loi est modifiée par remplacement de « exportés aux États-Unis, au Mexique, au Chili, en Israël ou autre bénéficiaire de l'ALÉCI » par « exportés aux États-Unis, au Mexique, au Chili, au Costa Rica, en Israël ou autre bénéficiaire de l'ALÉCI ».
- (5) La Dénomination des marchandises du nº tarifaire 9990.00.00 de la liste des dispositions tarifaires de l'annexe de la même loi est modifiée :
 - a) par remplacement de « Échantillons commerciaux importés des États-Unis, du Mexique ou du Chili » par « Échantillons commerciaux importés des États-Unis, du Mexique, du Chili ou du Costa Rica »;
 - b) par remplacement dans l'alinéa (i), de « en monnaie canadienne, chilienne ou

can currency" with a reference to "in Canadian, Chilean, Mexican or Costa Rican currency".

- (6) The Description of Goods of tariff item No. 9992.00.00 in the List of Tariff Provisions set out in the schedule to the Act is amended by replacing the reference to "exported to the United States, Mexico, Chile, or Israel or another CIFTA beneficiary for repair or alteration" with a reference to "exported to the United States, Mexico, Chile, Costa Rica, or Israel or another CIFTA beneficiary for repair or alteration".
- (7) The List of Intermediate and Final Rates for Tariff Items of the "F" Staging Category set out in the schedule to the Act is amended by
 - (a) deleting tariff item No. 3921.90.12; and
 - (b) adding, in numerical order, the tariff items set out in Schedule 3 to this Act.

R.S., c. E-19

Export and Import Permits Act

47. (1) Subsection 2(1) of the Export and Import Permits Act is amended by adding the following in alphabetical order:

"CCRFTA" « ALÉCCR » "CCRFTA" has the same meaning as "Agreement" in subsection 2(1) of the Canada-Costa Rica Free Trade Agreement Implementation Act;

"Costa Rica" « Costa Rica » "Costa Rica" has the same meaning as in subsection 2(1) of the Customs Tariff;

1997, c. 14, s.70(3)

(2) Subsection 2(2) of the Act is replaced by the following:

Goods imported from a NAFTA country, Chile or Costa Rica

(2) For the purposes of this Act, goods are imported from a NAFTA country, from Chile or from Costa Rica if they are shipped directly to Canada from the NAFTA country, from Chile or from Costa Rica, as the case may be, within the meaning of sections 17 and 18 of the Customs Tariff.

1997, c. 14,

48. Subsections 5.2(1) and (2) of the Act are replaced by the following:

mexicaine » par « en monnaie canadienne, chilienne, mexicaine ou costa ricaine ».

- (6) La Dénomination des marchandises du nº tarifaire 9992.00.00 de la liste des dispositions tarifaires de l'annexe de la même loi est modifiée par remplacement de « exportées aux États-Unis, au Mexique, au Chili, en Israël ou autre bénéficiaire de l'ALÉCI » par « exportées aux États-Unis, au Mexique, au Chili, au Costa Rica, en Israël ou autre bénéficiaire de l'ALÉCI ».
- (7) La Liste des taux intermédiaires et des taux finals pour les numéros tarifaires de la catégorie d'échelonnement « F » figurant à l'annexe de la même loi est modifiée :
 - a) par suppression du nº tarifaire 3921.90.12;
 - b) par adjonction, selon l'ordre numérique, des numéros tarifaires figurant à l'annexe 3 de la présente loi.

Loi sur les licences d'exportation et *d'importation*

L.R., ch. E-19

- 47. (1) Le paragraphe 2(1) de la Loi sur les licences d'exportation et d'importation est modifié par adjonction, selon l'ordre alphabétique, de ce qui suit :
- « ALÉCCR » S'entend de l'Accord au sens du paragraphe 2(1) de la Loi de mise en oeuvre de l'Accord de libre-échange Canada-Costa Rica.

« Costa Rica » S'entend au sens du paragra-

« ALÉCCR » "CCRFTA"

phe 2(1) du Tarif des douanes.

« Costa Rica » "Costa Rica"

(2) Le paragraphe 2(2) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

1997. ch. 14. par. 70(3)

(2) Pour l'application de la présente loi, sont des marchandises importées d'un pays ALÉNA, du Chili ou du Costa Rica les marchandises transportées directement au Canada de ce pays ALÉNA, du Chili ou du Costa Rica, selon le cas, conformément aux articles 17 et 18 du Tarif des douanes.

Marchandises importées d'un pays ALÉNA, du Chili ou du Costa Rica

48. Les paragraphes 5.2(1) et (2) de la même loi sont remplacés par ce qui suit :

1997, ch. 14, art. 73

Addition to Export Control List or Import Control List

5.2 (1) If at any time it appears to the satisfaction of the Governor in Council that it is advisable to collect information with respect to the exportation or importation of any goods in respect of which a specified quantity is eligible each year for the rate of duty provided for in the Schedules to Annex 302.2 of NAFTA in accordance with Appendix 6 of Annex 300-B of NAFTA, for the rate of duty provided for in the Schedules to Annex C-02.2 of CCFTA in accordance with Appendix 5.1 of Annex C-00-B of CCFTA or for the rate of duty provided for in the Schedule to Annex III.3.1 of CCRFTA in accordance with Appendix III.1.6.1 of Annex III.1 of CCRFTA, as the case may be, the Governor in Council may, by order and without reference to that quantity. include those goods on the Export Control List or the Import Control List, or on both, in order to facilitate the collection of that information.

Addition to Import Control List (2) If at any time it appears to the satisfaction of the Governor in Council that, for the purposes of implementing NAFTA, CCFTA or CCRFTA it is advisable to collect information with respect to the importation into Canada of any goods listed in Appendix 1.1 of Annex 300-B of NAFTA, in Appendix 1.1 of Annex C-00-B of CCFTA or in Appendix III.1.1.1 of Annex III.1 of CCRFTA as the case may be, the Governor in Council may, by order, include those goods on the Import Control List in order to facilitate the collection of that information.

1997, c. 14, s. 74, c. 36, s. 210

49. Section 6.1 of the Act is replaced by the following:

Definition of "originating goods" **6.1** (1) In this section, "originating goods" means goods that are entitled under the *Customs Tariff* to the United States Tariff, the Mexico Tariff, the Mexico—United States Tariff, the Chile Tariff or the Costa Rica Tariff.

When Minister may take measures (2) If at any time it appears to the satisfaction of the Minister that any goods that are referred to in paragraph (a) or (b) and are not originating goods are being imported from a NAFTA country, from Chile or from Costa Rica, as the case may be, in such increased

5.2 (1) Lorsqu'il est convaincu qu'il est souhaitable d'obtenir des renseignements sur l'exportation ou l'importation de marchandises dont une quantité spécifiée est susceptible chaque année de bénéficier soit du taux de droits prévu par les listes de l'annexe 302.2 de l'ALÉNA conformément à l'appendice 6 de l'annexe 300-B de celui-ci, soit du taux de droits prévu aux listes de l'annexe C-02.2 de l'ALÉCC conformément à l'appendice 5.1 de l'annexe C-00-B de celui-ci, soit du taux de droits prévu aux listes de l'annexe III.3.1 de l'ALÉCCR conformément à l'appendice III.1.6.1 de l'annexe III.1 de celui-ci, le gouverneur en conseil peut, par décret et sans mention de la quantité, porter ces marchandises sur la liste des marchandises d'exportation contrôlée et sur celle des marchandises d'importation contrôlée, ou sur l'une de ces listes, pour que soit facilitée la collecte de ces renseignements.

(2) Lorsqu'il est convaincu qu'il est souhaitable, pour la mise en oeuvre de l'ALÉNA, de l'ALÉCC ou de l'ALÉCCR, d'obtenir des renseignements sur l'importation de marchandises énumérées à l'appendice 1.1 de l'annexe 300-B de l'ALÉNA, à l'appendice 1.1 de l'annexe C-00-B de l'ALÉCC ou à l'appendice III.1.1 de l'annexe III.1 de l'ALÉCCR, selon le cas, le gouverneur en conseil peut, par décret, porter ces marchandises sur la liste des marchandises d'importation contrôlée pour que soit facilitée la collecte de ces renseignements.

49. L'article 6.1 de la même loi est

remplacé par ce qui suit :

6.1 (1) Au présent article, « marchandises originaires » s'entend de marchandises passibles du tarif des États-Unis, du tarif du Mexique, du tarif Mexique—États-Unis, du tarif du Chili ou du tarif du Costa Rica sous le régime du *Tarif des douanes*.

(2) Lorsqu'il est convaincu que des marchandises non originaires mentionnées ciaprès sont importées d'un pays ALÉNA, du Chili ou du Costa Rica, selon le cas, en quantité tellement accrue, en termes absolus ou par rapport au marché intérieur, et dans des

Adjonction aux listes des marchandises d'importation ou d'exportation contrôlée

Adjonction à la liste des marchandises d'importation contrôlée

1997, ch. 14, art. 74, ch. 36, art. 210

Définition de « marchandises originaires »

Mesures ministérielles quantities, measured in absolute terms or relative to the domestic market, and under such conditions as to cause serious damage or actual threat of serious damage to domestic producers of like or directly competitive goods, the Minister may take the measures set out

- (a) in the case of goods listed in Appendix 1.1 of Annex 300-B of NAFTA that are imported from a NAFTA country, in section 5 of that Annex in relation to those goods;
- (*b*) in the case of goods listed in Appendix 1.1 of Annex C-00-B of CCFTA that are imported from Chile, in section 4 of that Annex in relation to those goods; and
- (c) in the case of goods listed in Appendix III.1.1.1 of Annex III.1 of CCRFTA that are imported from Costa Rica, in section 5 of that Annex in relation to those goods.

Factors to be considered (3) In determining whether the conditions referred to in subsection (2) exist, the Minister shall have regard to paragraph 2 of section 4 of Annex 300-B of NAFTA, paragraph 2 of section 3 of Annex C-00-B of CCFTA or paragraph 2 of section 4 of Annex III.1 of CCRFTA, as the case may be.

1997, c. 14,

50. Section 9.1 of the Act is replaced by the following:

Minister may issue certificate

- **9.1** The Minister may, for the purpose of implementing an intergovernmental arrangement with a NAFTA country respecting the administration of Appendix 6 to Annex 300-B of NAFTA, with Chile respecting the administration of Appendix 5.1 to Annex C-00-B of CCFTA or with Costa Rica respecting the administration of Appendix III.1.6.1 to Annex III.1 of CCRFTA, issue a certificate with respect to an exportation of goods to the NAFTA country, to Chile or to Costa Rica, as the case may be, stating the specific quantity of those goods that
 - (a) in the case of an exportation of goods to the NAFTA country, on importation into the NAFTA country is eligible for the rate of duty provided for in the Schedules to Annex 302.2 of NAFTA in accordance with Appendix 6 to Annex 300-B of NAFTA;

conditions telles qu'elles causent ou menacent de causer un préjudice grave aux producteurs nationaux de marchandises similaires ou directement concurrentes, le ministre peut prendre:

- a) dans le cas de marchandises importées d'un pays ALÉNA et énumérées à l'appendice 1.1 de l'annexe 300-B de l'ALÉNA, les mesures prévues à l'article 5 de cette annexe, relativement à ces marchandises;
- b) dans le cas de marchandises importées du Chili et énumérées à l'appendice 1.1 de l'annexe C-00-B de l'ALÉCC, les mesures prévues à l'article 4 de cette annexe relativement à ces marchandises:
- c) dans le cas de marchandises importées du Costa Rica et énumérées à l'appendice III.1.1.1 de l'annexe III.1 de l'ALÉCCR, les mesures prévues à l'article 5 de cette annexe relativement à ces marchandises.
- (3) Pour l'appréciation des conditions visées au paragraphe (2), le ministre tient compte de l'article 2 de la section 4 de l'annexe 300-B de l'ALÉNA, de l'article 2 de la section 3 de l'annexe C-00-B de l'ALÉCC ou du paragraphe 2 de l'article 4 de l'annexe III.1 de l'ALÉCCR, selon le cas.

Facteurs à prendre en compte

50. L'article 9.1 de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

1997, ch. 14, art. 77

9.1 Le ministre peut, pour la mise en oeuvre de tout accord intergouvernemental soit avec un pays ALÉNA concernant l'application de l'appendice 6 de l'annexe 300-B de l'ALÉNA, soit avec le Chili concernant l'application de l'appendice 5.1 de l'annexe C-00-B de l'ALÉCC, soit avec le Costa Rica concernant l'application de l'appendice III.1.6.1 de l'annexe III.1 de l'ALÉCCR, délivrer, pour l'exportation de marchandises vers le pays en cause, un certificat énonçant la quantité précise des marchandises dont le transport est visé par le certificat et qui est susceptible, au moment de son importation dans ce pays, de bénéficier :

a) dans le cas de marchandises à exporter vers un pays ALÉNA, du taux de droits prévu par les listes de l'annexe 302.2 de l'ALÉNA conformément à l'appendice 6 de l'annexe 300-B de l'ALÉNA;

Délivrance de certificats

- (b) in the case of an exportation of goods to Chile, on importation into Chile is eligible for the rate of duty provided for in the Schedules to Annex C-02.2 of CCFTA in accordance with Appendix 5.1 to Annex C-00-B of CCFTA; and
- (c) in the case of an exportation of goods to Costa Rica, on importation into Costa Rica is eligible for the rate of duty provided for in the Schedules to Annex III.3.1 of CCRFTA in accordance with Appendix III.1.6.1 to Annex III.1 of CCRFTA.
- b) dans le cas de marchandises à exporter vers le Chili, du taux de droits prévu par les listes de l'annexe C-02.2 de l'ALÉCC conformément à l'appendice 5.1 de l'annexe C-00-B de l'ALÉCC;

c) dans le cas de marchandises à exporter vers le Costa Rica, du taux de droits prévu par les listes de l'annexe III.3.1 de l'ALÉCCR conformément à l'appendice III.1.6.1 de l'annexe III.1 de l'ALÉCCR.

R.S., c. F-11

Financial Administration Act

Loi sur la gestion des finances publiques

L.R., ch. F-11

51. The *Financial Administration Act* is amended by adding the following after section 89.4:

Implementation of Canada–Costa Rica Free Trade Agreement

Directive

89.5 (1) Notwithstanding subsection 85(1), the Governor in Council may give a directive under subsection 89(1) to any parent Crown corporation for the purpose of implementing any provision of the Canada–Costa Rica Free Trade Agreement that pertains to that Crown corporation.

Regulations

(2) The Governor in Council may, on the recommendation of the Treasury Board and the appropriate Minister made at the request of a Crown corporation, make such regulations in relation to that corporation as the Governor in Council considers necessary for the purpose of implementing any provision of the Canada—Costa Rica Free Trade Agreement that pertains to that corporation.

Definition of "Canada— Costa Rica Free Trade Agreement" (3) In subsections (1) and (2), "Canada—Costa Rica Free Trade Agreement" has the meaning given to the word "Agreement" by subsection 2(1) of the Canada—Costa Rica Free Trade Agreement Implementation Act.

51. La Loi sur la gestion des finances publiques est modifiée par adjonction, après l'article 89.4, de ce qui suit :

Mise en oeuvre de l'Accord de libre-échange Canada–Costa Rica

89.5 (1) Malgré le paragraphe 85(1), le gouverneur en conseil peut, dans le cadre du paragraphe 89(1), donner à une société d'État mère des instructions destinées à la mise en oeuvre des dispositions de l'Accord de libre-échange Canada—Costa Rica qui la concernent.

Règlements

Instructions

- (2) Le gouverneur en conseil peut, sur recommandation du Conseil du Trésor et du ministre de tutelle faite à la demande d'une société d'État, prendre au sujet de celle-ci les règlements qu'il estime nécessaires à la mise en oeuvre des dispositions de l'Accord de libre-échange Canada-Costa Rica qui la concernent.
- (3) Pour l'application des paragraphes (1) et (2), « Accord de libre-échange Canada–Costa Rica » s'entend de l'Accord au sens du paragraphe 2(1) de la Loi de mise en oeuvre de l'Accord de libre-échange Canada–Costa Rica.

Définition de « Accord de libre-échange Canada— Costa Rica » R.S., c. I-3 Importation of Intoxicating Liquors Act

Loi sur l'importation des boissons enivrantes

L.R., ch. I-3

52. Section 2 of the Importation of Intoxicating Liquors Act is amended by adding the following in alphabetical order:

"Costa Rica" « Costa Rica » "Costa Rica" has the same meaning as in subsection 2(1) of the Customs Tariff;

53. (1) Subsection 3(2) of the Act is amended by adding the following after paragraph (b.02):

(b.03) the importation of distilled spirits in bulk into a province from Costa Rica for the purpose of bottling by any person duly licensed by the Government of Canada to carry on the business or trade of a distiller, where the distilled spirits

- (i) are entitled to the benefit of the Costa Rica Tariff referred to in section 49.1 of the Customs Tariff, and
- (ii) while kept by the distiller, are kept by the distiller in a place or warehouse that conforms in all respects to the requirements of the law governing such places or warehouses;

1997, c. 14, s. 81(2)

(2) Subsection 3(3) of the Act is replaced by the following:

Regulations

(3) The Governor in Council may, for the purposes of paragraph (2)(b.01), (b.02), (b.03)or (b.1), make regulations defining the expressions "distilled spirits", "in bulk" and "bottling".

R.S., c. N-7

National Energy Board Act

1997, c. 14,

54. Paragraph 119.01(2)(b) of the *Nation*al Energy Board Act is replaced by the following:

(b) exempting oil or gas that is exported to a NAFTA country, as defined in subsection 2(1) of the North American Free Trade Agreement Implementation Act, to Chile or to Costa Rica, or any quality, kind or class of that oil or gas or type of service in relation thereto, from the application of regulations made under paragraph (a).

52. L'article 2 de la Loi sur l'importation des boissons enivrantes est modifié par adjonction, selon l'ordre alphabétique, de ce qui suit :

« Costa Rica » S'entend au sens du paragraphe 2(1) du Tarif des douanes.

« Costa Rica » "Costa Rica"

53. (1) Le paragraphe 3(2) de la même loi est modifié par adjonction, après l'alinéa b.02), de ce qui suit :

b.03) à l'importation de spiritueux en vrac du Costa Rica dans une province pour embouteillage par une personne régulièrement autorisée par permis du gouvernement fédéral à exercer l'industrie ou le commerce de distillateur, si les spiritueux bénéficient du tarif du Costa Rica visé à l'article 49.1 du Tarif des douanes et si, pendant qu'ils sont gardés par le distillateur, les spiritueux sont tenus dans un lieu ou entrepôt en tous points conforme aux prescriptions de la loi régissant ces lieux ou entrepôts;

(2) Le paragraphe 3(3) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

1997, ch. 14, par. 81(2)

(3) Le gouverneur en conseil peut, pour l'application des alinéas (2)*b*.01), *b*.02), *b*.03) ou b.1), définir par règlement « spiritueux », « en vrac » et « embouteillage ».

Règlements

Loi sur l'Office national de l'énergie

L.R., ch. N-7 1997, ch. 14, art. 82

54. L'alinéa 119.01(2)b) de la *Loi sur* l'Office national de l'énergie est remplacé par ce qui suit :

b) exempter de l'application des règlements pris au titre de l'alinéa a) tout pétrole ou gaz exporté vers un pays ALÉNA — au sens du paragraphe 2(1) de la Loi de mise en oeuvre de l'Accord de libre-échange nord-américain —, vers le Chili ou vers le Costa Rica, ou toute qualité, variété ou catégorie de ces substances et tout genre de service qui s'y rapporte.

55. Section 120 of the Act is amended by adding the following in alphabetical order:

"CCRFTA" « ALÉCCR »

"CCRFTA" has the same meaning as "Agreement" in the *Canada–Costa Rica Free Trade Agreement Implementation Act*.

1997, c. 14, s. 84

56. Subsections 120.1(1) and (2) of the Act are replaced by the following:

Giving effect to NAFTA, CCFTA and CCRFTA

Orders

120.1 (1) In exercising its powers and performing its duties, the Board shall give effect to NAFTA, CCFTA and CCRFTA.

(2) The Governor in Council may, either on the recommendation of the Minister made at the request of the Board or on the Governor in Council's own motion, make orders of general application respecting the manner in which the Board shall perform the duty imposed on it by subsection (1) or the interpretation to be given to NAFTA, CCFTA or CCRFTA by the Board for the purposes of this Act.

1997, c. 14, s. 85

57. Sections 120.2 and 120.3 of the Act are replaced by the following:

Declaration of Governor in Council **120.2** The Governor in Council may, by order, declare that the maintenance or introduction of a restriction on the exportation to the United States, Chile or Costa Rica of energy goods or of any quality, kind or class of energy goods is justified under Article 605 of NAFTA, Article C-13 of CCFTA or Article III.11 of CCRFTA, as the case may be.

Board may request declaration

120.3 If, in the course of determining an application for a licence or permit, or determining whether to make an order, for the exportation to the United States, Chile or Costa Rica of energy goods or of any quality, kind or class of energy goods, the Board considers that the maintenance or introduction of a restriction on that exportation is in the public interest and that subparagraph (a), (b) or (c) of Article 605 of NAFTA, subparagraph 1(a), (b) or (c) of Article C-13 of CCFTA or subparagraph 1(a), (b) or (c) of Article III.11 of CCRFTA, as the case may be, would apply as a consequence of the restriction, the Board may, in order to request that the Minister recommend to the Governor in Council that an order be made under section 120.2 in respect

55. L'article 120 de la même loi est modifié par adjonction, selon l'ordre alphabétique, de ce qui suit :

« ALÉCCR » L'Accord au sens du paragraphe 2(1) de la Loi de mise en oeuvre de l'Accord de libre-échange Canada—Costa Rica.

« ALÉCCR » "CCRFTA"

56. Les paragraphes 120.1(1) et (2) de la même loi sont remplacés par ce qui suit :

1997, ch. 14, art. 84

120.1 (1) L'Office est tenu, dans l'exercice de ses attributions, d'appliquer l'ALÉNA, l'ALÉCC et l'ALÉCCR.

Principe

Instructions

(2) Le gouverneur en conseil peut, soit de sa propre initiative, soit sur recommandation du ministre faite à la demande de l'Office, donner à celui-ci des instructions générales sur l'exercice de l'obligation visée au paragraphe (1) ou sur l'interprétation à donner à l'ALÉNA, à l'ALÉCC ou à l'ALÉCCR dans le cadre de la présente loi.

57. Les articles 120.2 et 120.3 de la même loi sont remplacés par ce qui suit :

1997, ch. 14, art. 85

Déclaration

en conseil

du gouverneur

120.2 Le gouverneur en conseil peut, par décret, déclarer que le maintien ou l'introduction d'une restriction à l'exportation vers les États-Unis, le Chili ou le Costa Rica de produits énergétiques, ou de toute qualité, variété ou catégorie de ceux-ci, est justifié au titre de l'article 605 de l'ALÉNA, de l'article C-13 de l'ALÉCC ou de l'article III.11 de l'ALÉCCR, selon le cas.

120.3 Si, quand il a à statuer sur une demande de licence ou de permis ou sur la prise d'une ordonnance visant l'exportation vers les États-Unis, le Chili ou le Costa Rica de produits énergétiques, ou de toute qualité, variété ou catégorie de ceux-ci, il estime d'intérêt public le maintien ou l'introduction d'une restriction à l'exportation et que les alinéas a), b) ou c) de l'article 605 de l'ALÉNA, les alinéas (1)a), b) ou c) de l'article C-13 de l'ALÉCC ou les alinéas (1)a), b) ou c) de l'article III.11 de l'ALÉCCR, selon le cas, s'appliqueraient à cause de la restriction, l'Office peut, en vue de demander au ministre de recommander au gouverneur en conseil de prendre un décret au titre de l'article 120.2 à l'égard de ces produits,

Demande de déclaration of the relevant energy goods, suspend the determination until not later than one hundred and twenty days after the request is made.

1997, c. 14, s. 86

58. Subsections 120.4(1) and (2) of the Act are replaced by the following:

Exportation to United States, Chile or Costa Rica **120.4** (1) The Board may neither refuse to issue a licence or permit or make an order nor revoke, suspend or vary a licence, permit or order for the exportation to the United States, Chile or Costa Rica of energy goods or of any quality, kind or class of energy goods if that refusal, revocation, suspension or variation would constitute the maintenance or introduction of a restriction on that exportation as a consequence of which subparagraph (a), (b) or (c) of Article 605 of NAFTA, subparagraph 1(a), (b) or (c) of Article C-13 of CCFTA or subparagraph 1(a), (b) or (c) of Article III.11 of CCRFTA, as the case may be, would apply.

Effect of orders

(2) Subsection (1) does not apply in respect of the exportation to the United States, Chile or Costa Rica of such energy goods as are, or of such quality, kind or class of energy goods as is, referred to in an order made under section 120.2 during the time that the order is in force.

1997, c. 14,

59. The portion of section 120.5 of the Act before paragraph (a) is replaced by the following:

Where no declaration made

120.5 The Board may, despite its not being satisfied in accordance with paragraph 118(*a*), issue a licence for the exportation to the United States, Chile or Costa Rica of such energy goods as were, or of such quality, kind or class of energy goods as was, referred to in a request made under section 120.3 if

suspendre l'affaire pour au plus cent vingt jours après cette demande.

58. Les paragraphes 120.4(1) et (2) de la même loi sont remplacés par ce qui suit :

1997, ch. 14, art. 86

120.4 (1) L'Office ne peut ni refuser de délivrer une licence ou un permis ou de prendre une ordonnance, ni révoquer, suspendre ou modifier une licence, un permis ou une ordonnance visant l'exportation vers les États-Unis, le Chili ou le Costa Rica de produits énergétiques, ou de toute qualité, variété ou catégorie de ceux-ci, si cette décision a pour effet de maintenir ou d'introduire une restriction à cette exportation à cause de laquelle les alinéas a), b) ou c) de l'article 605 de l'ALÉNA, les alinéas 1a), b) ou c) de l'article C-13 de l'ALÉCC ou les alinéas 1a), b) ou c) de l'article III.11 de l'ALÉCCR s'appliqueraient.

Exportation vers les États-Unis, le Chili ou le Costa Rica

(2) Le paragraphe (1) ne s'applique pas à l'exportation vers les États-Unis, le Chili ou le Costa Rica de produits énergétiques, ou de toute qualité, variété ou catégorie de ceux-ci, visés par un décret en cours de validité, pris au titre de l'article 120.2.

Exception

59. L'article 120.5 de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

1997, ch. 14, art. 87

120.5 L'Office peut, même si n'a pas été établi le fait mentionné à l'alinéa 118a), délivrer une licence pour l'exportation vers les États-Unis, le Chili ou le Costa Rica de produits énergétiques, ou de toute qualité, variété ou catégorie de ceux-ci, visés par une demande de décret faite au titre de l'article 120.3 si le ministre refuse de faire la recommandation ou si le gouverneur en conseil refuse de prendre le décret ou qu'il n'est pas pris dans les cent vingt jours suivant la demande.

Absence de déclaration

PART 3

COMING INTO FORCE

Coming into force

60. (1) Subject to subsection (2), the provisions of this Act, or any provisions of an Act as enacted or amended by this Act, come into force on a day or days to be fixed by order of the Governor in Council.

Condition

(2) No order may be made under subsection (1) unless the Governor in Council is satisfied that the Government of the Republic of Costa Rica has taken satisfactory steps to implement the Agreement.

PARTIE 3

ENTRÉE EN VIGUEUR

60. (1) Sous réserve du paragraphe (2), les dispositions de la présente loi ou celles de toute loi édictées ou modifiées par elle entrent en vigueur à la date ou aux dates fixées par décret.

Entrée en vigueur

xées par décret.
(2) Le gouverneur en conseil ne prend un

Réserve

(2) Le gouverneur en conseil ne prend un décret visé au paragraphe (1) que s'il est convaincu que le gouvernement de la République du Costa Rica a pris les mesures nécessaires à la mise en oeuvre de l'Accord.

SCHEDULE 1 (Paragraph 46(1)(d))

0105.11.21	0207.27.93	0406.10.20	0408.99.10	1901.90.54
0105.11.22	0209.00.21	0406.20.12	0408.99.20	2002.90.10
0105.92.91	0209.00.22	0406.20.91	0603.10.11	2105.00.91
0105.92.92	0209.00.23	0406.20.92	0603.10.12	2105.00.92
0105.93.91	0209.00.24	0406.30.10	0603.10.21	2106.90.32
0105.93.92	0210.99.11	0406.30.20	0702.00.92	2106.90.34
0105.99.11	0210.99.12	0406.40.20	0703.10.32	2106.90.52
0105.99.12	0210.99.13	0406.90.11	0703.10.92	2106.90.94
0201.10.20	0210.99.14	0406.90.12	0707.00.92	2202.90.43
0201.20.20	0210.99.15	0406.90.21	0710.80.21	2309.90.32
0201.30.20	0210.99.16	0406.90.22	0810.10.11	3502.11.20
0202.10.20	0401.10.20	0406.90.31	0810.10.92	3502.19.20
0202.20.20	0401.20.10	0406.90.32	0811.10.11	9801.20.00
0202.30.20	0401.20.20	0406.90.41	0811.10.91	9826.10.00
0207.11.91	0401.30.10	0406.90.42	1517.90.22	9826.20.00
0207.11.92	0401.30.20	0406.90.51	1601.00.21	9826.30.00
0207.12.91	0402.10.20	0406.90.52	1601.00.22	9826.40.00
0207.12.92	0402.21.11	0406.90.61	1601.00.32	9897.00.00
0207.13.91	0402.21.12	0406.90.62	1602.20.22	9898.00.00
0207.13.92	0402.21.21	0406.90.71	1602.20.32	9899.00.00
0207.13.93	0402.21.22	0406.90.72	1602.31.12	9904.00.00
0207.14.22	0402.29.11	0406.90.81	1602.31.13	9915.00.00
0207.14.91	0402.29.12	0406.90.82	1602.31.14	9940.00.00
0207.14.92	0402.29.21	0406.90.91	1602.31.93	9941.00.00
0207.14.93	0402.29.22	0406.90.92	1602.31.94	9987.00.00
0207.24.11	0402.91.20	0406.90.93	1602.31.95	
0207.24.12	0402.99.20	0406.90.94	1602.32.12	
0207.24.91	0403.10.10	0406.90.95	1602.32.13	
0207.24.92	0403.10.20	0406.90.96	1602.32.14	
0207.25.11	0403.90.12	0406.90.98	1602.32.93	
0207.25.12	0403.90.92	0406.90.99	1602.32.94	
0207.25.91	0404.10.22	0407.00.12	1602.32.95	
0207.25.92	0404.90.20	0407.00.19	1806.20.22	
0207.26.10	0405.10.10	0408.11.10	1806.90.12	
0207.26.20	0405.10.20	0408.11.20	1901.20.12	
0207.26.30	0405.20.10	0408.19.10	1901.20.22	
0207.27.12	0405.20.20	0408.19.20	1901.90.32	
0207.27.91	0405.90.20	0408.91.10	1901.90.34	
0207.27.92	0406.10.10	0408.91.20	1901.90.52	

ANNEXE 1 (alinéa 46(1)d))

0105.11.21	0207.27.93	0406.10.20	0408.99.10	1901.90.54
0105.11.22	0209.00.21	0406.20.12	0408.99.20	2002.90.10
0105.92.91	0209.00.22	0406.20.91	0603.10.11	2105.00.91
0105.92.92	0209.00.23	0406.20.92	0603.10.12	2105.00.92
0105.93.91	0209.00.24	0406.30.10	0603.10.21	2106.90.32
0105.93.92	0210.99.11	0406.30.20	0702.00.92	2106.90.34
0105.99.11	0210.99.12	0406.40.20	0703.10.32	2106.90.52
0105.99.12	0210.99.13	0406.90.11	0703.10.92	2106.90.94
0201.10.20	0210.99.14	0406.90.12	0707.00.92	2202.90.43
0201.20.20	0210.99.15	0406.90.21	0710.80.21	2309.90.32
0201.30.20	0210.99.16	0406.90.22	0810.10.11	3502.11.20
0202.10.20	0401.10.20	0406.90.31	0810.10.92	3502.19.20
0202.20.20	0401.20.10	0406.90.32	0811.10.11	9801.20.00
0202.30.20	0401.20.20	0406.90.41	0811.10.91	9826.10.00
0207.11.91	0401.30.10	0406.90.42	1517.90.22	9826.20.00
0207.11.92	0401.30.20	0406.90.51	1601.00.21	9826.30.00
0207.12.91	0402.10.20	0406.90.52	1601.00.22	9826.40.00
0207.12.92	0402.21.11	0406.90.61	1601.00.32	9897.00.00
0207.13.91	0402.21.12	0406.90.62	1602.20.22	9898.00.00
0207.13.92	0402.21.21	0406.90.71	1602.20.32	9899.00.00
0207.13.93	0402.21.22	0406.90.72	1602.31.12	9904.00.00
0207.14.22	0402.29.11	0406.90.81	1602.31.13	9915.00.00
0207.14.91	0402.29.12	0406.90.82	1602.31.14	9940.00.00
0207.14.92	0402.29.21	0406.90.91	1602.31.93	9941.00.00
0207.14.93	0402.29.22	0406.90.92	1602.31.94	9987.00.00
0207.24.11	0402.91.20	0406.90.93	1602.31.95	
0207.24.12	0402.99.20	0406.90.94	1602.32.12	
0207.24.91	0403.10.10	0406.90.95	1602.32.13	
0207.24.92	0403.10.20	0406.90.96	1602.32.14	
0207.25.11	0403.90.12	0406.90.98	1602.32.93	
0207.25.12	0403.90.92	0406.90.99	1602.32.94	
0207.25.91	0404.10.22	0407.00.12	1602.32.95	
0207.25.92	0404.90.20	0407.00.19	1806.20.22	
0207.26.10	0405.10.10	0408.11.10	1806.90.12	
0207.26.20	0405.10.20	0408.11.20	1901.20.12	
0207.26.30	0405.20.10	0408.19.10	1901.20.22	
0207.27.12	0405.20.20	0408.19.20	1901.90.32	
0207.27.91	0405.90.20	0408.91.10	1901.90.34	
0207.27.92	0406.10.10	0408.91.20	1901.90.52	

SCHEDULE 2 (Paragraph 46(1)(e))

Tariff Item	Initial Rate	Final Rate
1701.91.00	\$30.86/tonne	Free (P)
1701.99.00	\$30.86/tonne	Free (P)
1702.90.11	\$11.99/tonne	Free (P)
1702.90.12	\$13.05/tonne	Free (P)
1702.90.13	\$13.26/tonne	Free (P)
1702.90.14	\$13.47/tonne	Free (P)
1702.90.15	\$13.69/tonne	Free (P)
1702.90.16	\$13.90/tonne	Free (P)
1702.90.17	\$14.11/tonne	Free (P)
1702.90.18	\$15.17/tonne	Free (P)
1702.90.30	\$4.52/tonne	Free (P)
3825.30.20	15.5%	Free (M)
3919.10.10	13.5%	Free (F)
3919.10.20	6.5%	Free (N)
3919.10.99	9%	Free (N)
3919.90.10	13.5%	Free (F)
3919.90.99	9%	Free (N)
3920.10.10	4%	Free (N)
3920.10.90	9%	Free (N)
3920.20.20	4%	Free (N)
3920.20.90	9%	Free (N)
3920.30.00	9%	Free (N)
3920.43.90	9%	Free (N)
3920.49.90	9%	Free (N)
3920.51.90	6.5%	Free (N)
3920.59.10	9%	Free (N)
3920.61.10	9%	Free (N)
3920.62.90	4%	Free (N)
3920.63.00	9%	Free (N)
3920.71.00	8.5%	Free (N)
3920.72.90	6.5%	Free (N)
3920.73.10	6.5%	Free (N)
3920.79.10	6.5%	Free (N)
3920.92.90	9%	Free (N)
3920.93.00	5.5%	Free (N)
3920.94.10	9%	Free (N)
3920.99.91	9%	Free (N)
3921.11.00	9%	Free (N)

ANNEXE 2 (alinéa 46(1)e))

Numéro tarifaire	Taux initial	Taux final
1701.91.00	30,86 \$/tonne métrique	En fr. (P)
1701.99.00	30,86 \$/tonne métrique	En fr. (P)
1702.90.11	11,99 \$/tonne métrique	En fr. (P)
1702.90.12	13,05 \$/tonne métrique	En fr. (P)
1702.90.13	13,26 \$/tonne métrique	En fr. (P)
1702.90.14	13,47 \$/tonne métrique	En fr. (P)
1702.90.15	13,69 \$/tonne métrique	En fr. (P)
1702.90.16	13,90 \$/tonne métrique	En fr. (P)
1702.90.17	14,11 \$/tonne métrique	En fr. (P)
1702.90.18	15,17 \$/tonne métrique	En fr. (P)
1702.90.30	4,52 \$/tonne métrique	En fr. (P)
3825.30.20	15,5 %	En fr. (M)
3919.10.10	13,5 %	En fr. (F)
3919.10.20	6,5 %	En fr. (N)
3919.10.99	9 %	En fr. (N)
3919.90.10	13,5 %	En fr. (F)
3919.90.99	9 %	En fr. (N)
3920.10.10	4 %	En fr. (N)
3920.10.90	9 %	En fr. (N)
3920.20.20	4 %	En fr. (N)
3920.20.90	9 %	En fr. (N)
3920.30.00	9 %	En fr. (N)
3920.43.90	9 %	En fr. (N)
3920.49.90	9 %	En fr. (N)
3920.51.90	6,5 %	En fr. (N)
3920.59.10	9 %	En fr. (N)
3920.61.10	9 %	En fr. (N)
3920.62.90	4 %	En fr. (N)
3920.63.00	9 %	En fr. (N)
3920.71.00	8,5 %	En fr. (N)
3920.72.90	6,5 %	En fr. (N)
3920.73.10	6,5 %	En fr. (N)
3920.79.10	6,5 %	En fr. (N)
3920.92.90	9 %	En fr. (N)
3920.93.00	5,5 %	En fr. (N)
3920.94.10	9 %	En fr. (N)
3920.99.91	9 %	En fr. (N)
3921.11.00	9 %	En fr. (N)

Tariff Item	Initial Rate	Final Rate
3921.12.91	9%	Free (N)
3921.12.99	9%	Free (N)
3921.13.91	9%	Free (N)
3921.13.99	9%	Free (N)
3921.14.00	8.5%	Free (N)
3921.19.90	9%	Free (N)
3921.90.12	13.5%	Free (F)
3921.90.19	13.5%	Free (F)
3921.90.92	6.5%	Free (N)
3921.90.93	9%	Free (N)
3921.90.99	9%	Free (N)
3922.10.00	8%	Free (N)
3922.20.00	8%	Free (N)
3922.90.00	8%	Free (N)
3923.10.90	9%	Free (N)
3923.21.90	9%	Free (N)
3923.29.90	9%	Free (N)
3923.30.90	9%	Free (N)
3923.40.90	5%	Free (N)
3923.50.90	9%	Free (N)
3923.90.90	9%	Free (N)
3924.10.00	9%	Free (N)
3924.90.00	9%	Free (N)
3925.10.00	9%	Free (N)
3925.20.00	9%	Free (N)
3925.30.00	8.5%	Free (N)
3925.90.00	9%	Free (N)
3926.10.00	9%	Free (N)
3926.20.91	13.5%	Free (F)
3926.20.92	13.5%	Free (F)
3926.20.93	9%	Free (N)
3926.20.94	11.5%	Free (N)
3926.20.95	13.5%	Free (F)
3926.20.99	9%	Free (N)
3926.30.00	6%	Free (N)
3926.40.10	7.5%	Free (N)
3926.40.90	9%	Free (N)
3926.90.20	10.5%	Free (N)
3926.90.30	8%	Free (N)

Numéro tarifaire	Taux initial	Taux final
3921.12.91	9 %	En fr. (N)
3921.12.99	9 %	En fr. (N)
3921.13.91	9 %	En fr. (N)
3921.13.99	9 %	En fr. (N)
3921.14.00	8,5 %	En fr. (N)
3921.19.90	9 %	En fr. (N)
3921.90.12	13,5 %	En fr. (F)
3921.90.19	13,5 %	En fr. (F)
3921.90.92	6,5 %	En fr. (N)
3921.90.93	9 %	En fr. (N)
3921.90.99	9 %	En fr. (N)
3922.10.00	8 %	En fr. (N)
3922.20.00	8 %	En fr. (N)
3922.90.00	8 %	En fr. (N)
3923.10.90	9 %	En fr. (N)
3923.21.90	9 %	En fr. (N)
3923.29.90	9 %	En fr. (N)
3923.30.90	9 %	En fr. (N)
3923.40.90	5 %	En fr. (N)
3923.50.90	9 %	En fr. (N)
3923.90.90	9 %	En fr. (N)
3924.10.00	9 %	En fr. (N)
3924.90.00	9 %	En fr. (N)
3925.10.00	9 %	En fr. (N)
3925.20.00	9 %	En fr. (N)
3925.30.00	8,5 %	En fr. (N)
3925.90.00	9 %	En fr. (N)
3926.10.00	9 %	En fr. (N)
3926.20.91	13,5 %	En fr. (F)
3926.20.92	13,5 %	En fr. (F)
3926.20.93	9 %	En fr. (N)
3926.20.94	11,5 %	En fr. (N)
3925.20.95	13,5 %	En fr. (F)
3926.20.99	9 %	En fr. (N)
3926.30.00	6 %	En fr. (N)
3926.40.10	7,5 %	En fr. (N)
3926.40.90	9 %	En fr. (N)
3926.90.20	10,5 %	En fr. (N)
3926.90.30	8 %	En fr. (N)

Tariff Item	Initial Rate	Final Rate
3926.90.40	6.5%	Free (N)
3926.90.50	5%	Free (F)
3926.90.90	9%	Free (N)
4005.10.90	6.5%	Free (M)
4005.20.00	6.5%	Free (M)
4005.91.90	6.5%	Free (M)
4005.99.00	6.5%	Free (M)
4006.10.00	6.5%	Free (M)
4006.90.90	6.5%	Free (M)
4007.00.20	4.5%	Free (M)
4007.00.90	6.5%	Free (M)
4008.11.90	6.5%	Free (M)
4008.19.10	6.5%	Free (M)
4008.19.90	6.5%	Free (M)
4008.21.90	6.5%	Free (M)
4008.29.10	7%	Free (M)
4008.29.90	7%	Free (M)
4009.11.00	7%	Free (M)
4009.12.00	7%	Free (M)
4009.21.00	7%	Free (M)
4009.22.90	7%	Free (M)
4009.31.00	11%	Free (M)
4009.32.90	7%	Free (M)
4009.41.90	7%	Free (M)
4009.42.90	7%	Free (M)
4010.11.10	9%	Free (M)
4010.11.20	11%	Free (M)
4010.12.19	9%	Free (M)
4010.12.29	11%	Free (M)
4010.13.19	9%	Free (M)
4010.13.20	11%	Free (M)
4010.19.19	9%	Free (M)
4010.19.29	11%	Free (M)
4010.31.10	6.5%	Free (M)
4010.31.90	11%	Free (M)
4010.32.10	6.5%	Free (M)
4010.32.90	11%	Free (M)
4010.33.10	6.5%	Free (M)
4010.33.90	11%	Free (M)
4010.34.10	6.5%	Free (M)

Numéro tarifaire	Taux initial	Taux final
3926.90.40	6,5 %	En fr. (N)
3926.90.50	5 %	En fr. (F)
3926.90.90	9 %	En fr. (N)
4005.10.90	6,5 %	En fr. (M)
4005.20.00	6,5 %	En fr. (M)
4005.91.90	6,5 %	En fr. (M)
4005.99.00	6,5 %	En fr. (M)
4006.10.00	6,5 %	En fr. (M)
4006.90.90	6,5 %	En fr. (M)
4007.00.20	4,5 %	En fr. (M)
4007.00.90	6,5 %	En fr. (M)
4008.11.90	6,5 %	En fr. (M)
4008.19.10	6,5 %	En fr. (M)
4008.19.90	6,5 %	En fr. (M)
4008.21.90	6,5 %	En fr. (M)
4008.29.10	7 %	En fr. (M)
4008.29.90	7 %	En fr. (M)
4009.11.00	7 %	En fr. (M)
4009.12.00	7 %	En fr. (M)
4009.21.00	7 %	En fr. (M)
4009.22.90	7 %	En fr. (M)
4009.31.00	11 %	En fr. (M)
4009.32.90	7 %	En fr. (M)
4009.41.90	7 %	En fr. (M)
4009.42.90	7 %	En fr. (M)
4010.11.10	9 %	En fr. (M)
4010.11.20	11 %	En fr. (M)
4010.12.19	9 %	En fr. (M)
4010.12.29	11 %	En fr. (M)
4010.13.19	9 %	En fr. (M)
4010.13.20	11 %	En fr. (M)
4010.19.19	9 %	En fr. (M)
4010.19.29	11 %	En fr. (M)
4010.31.10	6,5 %	En fr. (M)
4010.31.90	11 %	En fr. (M)
4010.32.10	6,5 %	En fr. (M)
4010.32.90	11 %	En fr. (M)
4010.33.10	6,5 %	En fr. (M)
4010.33.90	11 %	En fr. (M)
4010.34.10	6,5 %	En fr. (M)

Tariff Item	Initial Rate	Final Rate
4010.34.90	11%	Free (M)
4010.35.90	11%	Free (M)
4010.36.90	11%	Free (M)
4010.39.10	11%	Free (M)
4010.39.20	6.5%	Free (M)
4010.39.90	11%	Free (M)
4011.10.00	7%	Free (M)
4011.20.00	7%	Free (M)
4011.61.90	6.5%	Free (M)
4011.62.90	6.5%	Free (M)
4011.63.90	6.5%	Free (M)
4011.69.90	6.5%	Free (M)
4011.92.90	6.5%	Free (M)
4011.93.90	6.5%	Free (M)
4011.94.90	6.5%	Free (M)
4011.99.90	6.5%	Free (M)
4012.20.20	6.5%	Free (M)
4012.20.90	6.5%	Free (M)
4012.90.90	6.5%	Free (M)
4013.10.00	6.5%	Free (M)
4013.90.90	6.5%	Free (M)
4014.10.00	6.5%	Free (M)
4014.90.90	6.5%	Free (M)
4015.11.00	15.5%	Free (M)
4015.19.90	15.5%	Free (M)
4015.90.20	10%	Free (M)
4015.90.90	14%	Free (M)
4016.10.00	6.5%	Free (M)
4016.91.00	7%	Free (M)
4016.92.00	6.5%	Free (M)
4016.93.10	6.5%	Free (M)
4016.93.99	6.5%	Free (M)
4016.94.00	6.5%	Free (M)
4016.95.10	9.5%	Free (M)
4016.95.90	6.5%	Free (M)
4016.99.30	6.5%	Free (M)
4016.99.90	6.5%	Free (M)
4017.00.90	6.5%	Free (M)
4201.00.10	5%	Free (M)
4201.00.90	7%	Free (M)

Numéro tarifaire	Taux initial	Taux final
4010.34.90	11 %	En fr. (M)
4010.35.90	11 %	En fr. (M)
4010.36.90	11 %	En fr. (M)
4010.39.10	11 %	En fr. (M)
4010.39.20	6,5 %	En fr. (M)
4010.39.90	11 %	En fr. (M)
4011.10.00	7 %	En fr. (M)
4011.20.00	7 %	En fr. (M)
4011.61.90	6,5 %	En fr. (M)
4011.62.90	6,5 %	En fr. (M)
4011.63.90	6,5 %	En fr. (M)
4011.69.90	6,5 %	En fr. (M)
4011.92.90	6,5 %	En fr. (M)
4011.93.90	6,5 %	En fr. (M)
4011.94.90	6,5 %	En fr. (M)
4011.99.90	6,5 %	En fr. (M)
4012.20.20	6,5 %	En fr. (M)
4012.20.90	6,5 %	En fr. (M)
4012.90.90	6,5 %	En fr. (M)
4013.10.00	6,5 %	En fr. (M)
4013.90.90	6,5 %	En fr. (M)
4014.10.00	6,5 %	En fr. (M)
4014.90.90	6,5 %	En fr. (M)
4015.11.00	15,5 %	En fr. (M)
4015.19.90	15,5 %	En fr. (M)
4015.90.20	10 %	En fr. (M)
4015.90.90	14 %	En fr. (M)
4016.10.00	6,5 %	En fr. (M)
4016.91.00	7 %	En fr. (M)
4016.92.00	6,5 %	En fr. (M)
4016.93.10	6,5 %	En fr. (M)
4016.93.99	6,5 %	En fr. (M)
4016.94.00	6,5 %	En fr. (M)
4016.95.10	9,5 %	En fr. (M)
4016.95.90	6,5 %	En fr. (M)
4016.99.30	6,5 %	En fr. (M)
4016.99.90	6,5 %	En fr. (M)
4017.00.90	6,5 %	En fr. (M)
4201.00.10	5 %	En fr. (M)
4201.00.90	7 %	En fr. (M)

Tariff Item	Initial Rate	Final Rate
4202.11.00	11%	Free (M)
4202.12.10	11%	Free (M)
4202.12.90	11%	Free (M)
4202.19.00	11%	Free (M)
4202.21.00	10%	Free (M)
4202.22.10	10.5%	Free (M)
4202.22.90	10.5%	Free (M)
4202.29.00	10.5%	Free (M)
4202.31.00	8.5%	Free (M)
4202.32.10	8%	Free (M)
4202.32.90	8%	Free (M)
4202.39.00	9.5%	Free (M)
4202.91.20	11%	Free (M)
4202.91.90	7%	Free (M)
4202.92.90	7%	Free (M)
4202.99.90	7%	Free (M)
4203.10.00	13%	Free (M)
4203.21.10	7%	Free (M)
4203.21.90	15.5%	Free (M)
4203.29.10	7%	Free (M)
4203.29.90	15.5%	Free (M)
4203.30.00	9.5%	Free (M)
4203.40.00	8%	Free (M)
4206.90.00	6.5%	Free (M)
5105.10.90	5%	Free (O)
5105.29.90	5%	Free (O)
5105.31.90	5%	Free (O)
5105.39.90	5%	Free (O)
5105.40.90	5%	Free (O)
5106.10.00	9.5%	Free (O)
5106.20.00	9.5%	Free (O)
5107.10.90	9.5%	Free (O)
5107.20.90	9.5%	Free (O)
5108.10.10	5.5%	Free (O)
5108.10.20	9.5%	Free (O)
5108.20.10	5.5%	Free (O)
5108.20.20	9.5%	Free (O)
5109.10.00	9.5%	Free (O)
5109.90.00	9.5%	Free (O)
5110.00.00	5.5%	Free (O)
		*

Numéro tarifaire	Taux initial	Taux final
4202 11 00	11.0/	F (00)
4202.11.00	11 %	En fr. (M)
4202.12.10	11 %	En fr. (M)
4202.12.90	11 %	En fr. (M)
4202.19.00	11 %	En fr. (M)
4202.21.00	10 %	En fr. (M)
4202.22.10	10,5 %	En fr. (M)
4202.22.90	10,5 %	En fr. (M)
4202.29.00	10,5 %	En fr. (M)
4202.31.00	8,5 %	En fr. (M)
4202.32.10	8 %	En fr. (M)
4202.32.90	8 %	En fr. (M)
4202.39.00	9,5 %	En fr. (M)
4202.91.20	11 %	En fr. (M)
4202.91.90	7 %	En fr. (M)
4202.92.90	7 %	En fr. (M)
4202.99.90	7 %	En fr. (M)
4203.10.00	13 %	En fr. (M)
4203.21.10	7 %	En fr. (M)
4203.21.90	15,5 %	En fr. (M)
4203.29.10	7 %	En fr. (M)
4203.29.90	15,5 %	En fr. (M)
4203.30.00	9,5 %	En fr. (M)
4203.40.00	8 %	En fr. (M)
4206.90.00	6,5 %	En fr. (M)
5105.10.90	5 %	En fr. (O)
5105.29.90	5 %	En fr. (O)
5105.31.90	5 %	En fr. (O)
5105.39.90	5 %	En fr. (O)
5105.40.90	5 %	En fr. (O)
5106.10.00	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5106.20.00	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5107.10.90	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5107.20.90	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5108.10.10	5,5 %	En fr. (O)
5108.10.20	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5108.20.10	5,5 %	En fr. (O)
5108.20.20	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5108.20.20	9,5 %	
5109.10.00		En fr. (O)
5110.00.00	9,5 % 5.5 %	En fr. (O) En fr. (O)
3110.00.00	5,5 %	Ell II. (O)

Tariff Item	Initial Rate	Final Rate
5111.11.20	5.5%	Free (O)
5111.11.30	12.5%	Free (O)
5111.11.90	16% but not to exceed \$4.58/kg	Free (O)
5111.19.31	6.5%	Free (O)
5111.19.31	7.5%	
		Free (O)
5111.19.39	16%	Free (O)
5111.19.90	16% 5.5%	Free (O)
5111.20.11		Free (O)
5111.20.12	6.5%	Free (O)
5111.20.13	7.5%	Free (O)
5111.20.18	16% but not to exceed \$4.58/kg	Free (O)
5111.20.19	16%	Free (O)
5111.20.20	12.5%	Free (O)
5111.20.91	16% but not to exceed \$4.58/kg	Free (O)
5111.20.92	16%	Free (O)
5111.30.11	5.5%	Free (O)
5111.30.12	6.5%	Free (O)
5111.30.13	7.5%	Free (O)
5111.30.18	16% but not to exceed \$4.58/kg	Free (O)
5111.30.19	16%	Free (O)
5111.30.20	12.5%	Free (O)
5111.30.91	16% but not to exceed \$4.58/kg	Free (O)
5111.30.92	16%	Free (O)
5111.90.21	5.5%	Free (O)
5111.90.22	6.5%	Free (O)
5111.90.23	7.5%	Free (O)
5111.90.28	16% but not to exceed \$4.58/kg	Free (O)
5111.90.29	16%	Free (O)
5111.90.30	12.5%	Free (O)
5111.90.91	16% but not to exceed \$4.58/kg	Free (O)
5111.90.92	16%	Free (O)
5112.11.10	12.5%	Free (M)
5112.11.90	16% but not to exceed \$4.56/kg	Free (M)
5112.19.19	15.5%	Free (M)
5112.19.91	16% but not to exceed \$4.56/kg	Free (M)
5112.19.92	16%	Free (M)
5112.20.10	12.5%	Free (M)
5112.20.91	16% but not to exceed \$4.56/kg	Free (M)
5112.20.92	16%	Free (M)
5112.30.20	12.5%	Free (M)

Sill.11.20	Numéro tarifaire	Taux initial	Taux final
5111.11.30 12,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.11.90 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.19.31 6,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.19.32 7,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.19.39 16 % En fr. (O) 5111.20.11 5,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.20.12 6,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.20.13 7,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.20.19 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.20.19 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.20.19 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.20.91 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.30.11 5,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.30.11 5,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.30.12 6,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.30.13 7,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.30.19 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.30.20 12,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.30.20 12,5 % En fr. (O) <t< td=""><td>5111.11.20</td><td>5.5 %</td><td>En fr. (O)</td></t<>	5111.11.20	5.5 %	En fr. (O)
5111.11.90 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.19.31 6,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.19.32 7.5 % En fr. (O) 5111.19.39 16 % En fr. (O) 5111.20.11 5.5 % En fr. (O) 5111.20.12 6,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.20.13 7.5 % En fr. (O) 5111.20.18 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.20.19 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.20.20 12,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.20.91 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.30.10 5,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.30.11 5,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.30.13 7,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.30.19 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.30.19 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.30.19 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.30.20 12,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.90.21 5,5 % En f			
5111.19.31 6,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.19.32 7,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.19.39 16 % En fr. (O) 5111.20.11 5,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.20.12 6,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.20.13 7,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.20.19 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.20.19 16 % En fr. (O) 5111.20.20 12,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.20.91 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.20.92 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.30.11 5,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.30.12 6,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.30.13 7,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.30.18 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.30.19 16 % En fr. (O) 5111.30.20 12,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.30.21 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.90.21 5,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.90.22			
5111.19.32 7,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.19.39 16 % En fr. (O) 5111.20.11 5,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.20.12 6,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.20.13 7,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.20.18 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.20.19 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.20.20 12,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.20.91 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.30.11 5,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.30.12 6,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.30.13 7,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.30.19 6,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.30.19 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.30.20 12,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.30.91 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.30.92 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.90.21 5,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.90.22 6,5 % En fr. (O) <tr< td=""><td></td><td>1</td><td></td></tr<>		1	
5111.19.39 16 % En fr. (O) 5111.19.01 5.5 % En fr. (O) 5111.20.12 6.5 % En fr. (O) 5111.20.13 7.5 % En fr. (O) 5111.20.18 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.20.19 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.20.20 12,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.20.91 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.30.11 5,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.30.12 6,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.30.13 7,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.30.13 7,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.30.19 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.30.19 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.30.20 12,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.30.91 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.30.92 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.90.21 5,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.90.22 6,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.90.29 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>			
5111.20.11 5,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.20.13 7,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.20.18 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.20.19 16 % En fr. (O) 5111.20.20 12,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.20.91 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.30.11 5,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.30.12 6,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.30.13 7,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.30.18 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.30.19 16 % En fr. (O) 5111.30.20 12,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.30.91 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.30.92 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.90.21 5,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.90.22 6,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.90.23 7,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.90.29 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.90.91 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.90.91 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,56 \$/kg <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>			
5111.20.11 5,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.20.13 7,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.20.18 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.20.19 16 % En fr. (O) 5111.20.20 12,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.20.91 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.30.11 5,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.30.12 6,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.30.13 7,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.30.18 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.30.19 16 % En fr. (O) 5111.30.20 12,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.30.91 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.30.92 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.90.21 5,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.90.22 6,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.90.23 7,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.90.29 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.90.91 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.90.91 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,56 \$/kg <td>5111.19.90</td> <td>16 %</td> <td>En fr. (O)</td>	5111.19.90	16 %	En fr. (O)
5111.20.12 6,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.20.18 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.20.19 16 % En fr. (O) 5111.20.20 12,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.20.91 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.20.92 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.30.11 5,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.30.12 6,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.30.13 7,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.30.18 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.30.19 16 % En fr. (O) 5111.30.20 12,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.30.91 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.30.92 16 % En fr. (O) 5111.90.21 5,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.90.22 6,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.90.23 7,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.90.28 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.90.99 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.90.91 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,56 \$/kg			
5111.20.13 7,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.20.18 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.20.19 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.20.91 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.20.92 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.30.11 5,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.30.12 6,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.30.13 7,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.30.19 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.30.20 12,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.30.91 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.30.92 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.90.21 5,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.90.22 5,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.90.23 7,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.90.29 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.90.91 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.90.92 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (M)	5111.20.12		
5111.20.19 16 % En fr. (O) 5111.20.20 12,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.20.91 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.20.92 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.30.11 5,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.30.12 6,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.30.13 7,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.30.19 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.30.20 12,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.30.91 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.30.92 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.90.21 5,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.90.22 6,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.90.23 7,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.90.29 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.90.29 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.90.91 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.90.92 16 % En fr. (O) 5112.19.19 15,5 % En fr. (M) 5112.19.91 16 % mai	5111.20.13	7,5 %	En fr. (O)
5111.20.19 16 % En fr. (O) 5111.20.20 12,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.20.91 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.20.92 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.30.11 5,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.30.12 6,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.30.13 7,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.30.19 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.30.20 12,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.30.91 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.30.92 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.90.21 5,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.90.22 6,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.90.23 7,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.90.29 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.90.29 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.90.91 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5112.11.10 12,5 % En fr. (M) 5112.19.91 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,56 \$/kg En fr. (M) 5112	5111.20.18	16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg	En fr. (O)
5111.20.91 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.20.92 16 % En fr. (O) 5111.30.11 5.5 % En fr. (O) 5111.30.12 6.5 % En fr. (O) 5111.30.13 7.5 % En fr. (O) 5111.30.18 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.30.19 16 % En fr. (O) 5111.30.91 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.30.92 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.90.21 5,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.90.22 6,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.90.23 7,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.90.29 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.90.29 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.90.91 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.90.92 16 % En fr. (M) 5112.11.90 12,5 % En fr. (M) 5112.19.91 15,5 % En fr. (M) 5112.19.92 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,56 \$/kg En fr. (M) 5112.19.92 16 % mais	5111.20.19	16 %	En fr. (O)
5111.20.91 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.20.92 16 % En fr. (O) 5111.30.11 5,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.30.12 6,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.30.13 7,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.30.18 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.30.19 16 % En fr. (O) 5111.30.91 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.30.92 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.90.21 5,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.90.22 6,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.90.23 7,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.90.29 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.90.29 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.90.91 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.90.92 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (M) 5112.11.90 12,5 % En fr. (M) 5112.11.91 15,5 % En fr. (M) 5112.19.91 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,56 \$/kg En fr. (M) 5112.1	5111.20.20	12,5 %	En fr. (O)
5111.30.11 5,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.30.12 6,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.30.13 7,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.30.18 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.30.19 16 % En fr. (O) 5111.30.20 12,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.30.91 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.90.21 5,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.90.22 6,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.90.23 7,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.90.28 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.90.29 16 % En fr. (O) 5111.90.30 12,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.90.91 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5112.10.01 12,5 % En fr. (M) 5112.11.00 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,56 \$/kg En fr. (M) 5112.19.91 15,5 % En fr. (M) 5112.19.92 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,56 \$/kg En fr. (M) 5112.20.91 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,56 \$/kg En fr. (M) 5112.20.91 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,56 \$/kg </td <td>5111.20.91</td> <td>16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg</td> <td></td>	5111.20.91	16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg	
5111.30.11 5,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.30.12 6,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.30.13 7,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.30.18 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.30.19 16 % En fr. (O) 5111.30.20 12,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.30.91 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.90.21 5,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.90.22 6,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.90.23 7,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.90.28 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.90.29 16 % En fr. (O) 5111.90.30 12,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.90.91 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5112.10.01 12,5 % En fr. (M) 5112.11.00 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,56 \$/kg En fr. (M) 5112.19.91 15,5 % En fr. (M) 5112.19.92 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,56 \$/kg En fr. (M) 5112.20.91 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,56 \$/kg En fr. (M) 5112.20.91 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,56 \$/kg </td <td>5111.20.92</td> <td>16 %</td> <td>En fr. (O)</td>	5111.20.92	16 %	En fr. (O)
5111.30.13 7,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.30.18 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.30.19 16 % En fr. (O) 5111.30.20 12,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.30.91 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.30.22 16 % En fr. (O) 5111.90.21 5,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.90.22 6,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.90.23 7,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.90.28 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.90.29 16 % En fr. (O) 5111.90.30 12,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.90.91 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5112.11.10 12,5 % En fr. (M) 5112.11.90 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,56 \$/kg En fr. (M) 5112.19.19 15,5 % En fr. (M) 5112.19.91 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,56 \$/kg En fr. (M) 5112.20.10 12,5 % En fr. (M) 5112.20.10 12,5 % En fr. (M) 5112.20.92 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,56 \$/kg En fr. (M) <td>5111.30.11</td> <td>5,5 %</td> <td></td>	5111.30.11	5,5 %	
5111.30.18 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.30.19 16 % En fr. (O) 5111.30.20 12,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.30.91 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.30.92 16 % En fr. (O) 5111.90.21 5,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.90.22 6,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.90.23 7,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.90.28 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.90.29 16 % En fr. (O) 5111.90.30 12,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.90.91 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5112.11.10 12,5 % En fr. (M) 5112.11.90 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,56 \$/kg En fr. (M) 5112.19.19 15,5 % En fr. (M) 5112.19.91 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,56 \$/kg En fr. (M) 5112.20.10 12,5 % En fr. (M) 5112.20.10 12,5 % En fr. (M) 5112.20.10 12,5 % En fr. (M)	5111.30.12	6,5 %	En fr. (O)
5111.30.19 16 % En fr. (O) 5111.30.20 12,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.30.91 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.30.92 16 % En fr. (O) 5111.90.21 5,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.90.22 6,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.90.23 7,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.90.29 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.90.30 12,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.90.91 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5112.11.10 12,5 % En fr. (M) 5112.11.10 12,5 % En fr. (M) 5112.19.19 15,5 % En fr. (M) 5112.19.91 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,56 \$/kg En fr. (M) 5112.19.92 16 % En fr. (M) 5112.20.10 12,5 % En fr. (M) 5112.20.91 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,56 \$/kg En fr. (M) 5112.20.92 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,56 \$/kg En fr. (M)	5111.30.13	7,5 %	En fr. (O)
5111.30.20 12,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.30.91 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.30.92 16 % En fr. (O) 5111.90.21 5,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.90.22 6,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.90.23 7,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.90.29 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.90.30 12,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.90.91 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5112.11.10 12,5 % En fr. (O) 5112.11.10 12,5 % En fr. (M) 5112.19.19 15,5 % En fr. (M) 5112.19.19 15,5 % En fr. (M) 5112.19.92 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,56 \$/kg En fr. (M) 5112.20.10 12,5 % En fr. (M) 5112.20.91 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,56 \$/kg En fr. (M) 5112.20.92 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,56 \$/kg En fr. (M)	5111.30.18	16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg	En fr. (O)
5111.30.91 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.30.92 16 % En fr. (O) 5111.90.21 5,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.90.22 6,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.90.23 7,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.90.28 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.90.29 16 % En fr. (O) 5111.90.30 12,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.90.91 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5112.11.10 12,5 % En fr. (M) 5112.11.10 12,5 % En fr. (M) 5112.19.19 15,5 % En fr. (M) 5112.19.91 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,56 \$/kg En fr. (M) 5112.19.92 16 % En fr. (M) 5112.20.10 12,5 % En fr. (M) 5112.20.91 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,56 \$/kg En fr. (M) 5112.20.92 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,56 \$/kg En fr. (M)	5111.30.19	16 %	En fr. (O)
5111.30.92 16 % En fr. (O) 5111.90.21 5,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.90.22 6,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.90.23 7,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.90.28 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.90.29 16 % En fr. (O) 5111.90.30 12,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.90.91 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5112.11.10 12,5 % En fr. (M) 5112.11.90 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,56 \$/kg En fr. (M) 5112.19.19 15,5 % En fr. (M) 5112.19.91 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,56 \$/kg En fr. (M) 5112.20.10 12,5 % En fr. (M) 5112.20.10 12,5 % En fr. (M) 5112.20.92 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,56 \$/kg En fr. (M) 5112.20.92 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,56 \$/kg En fr. (M)	5111.30.20	12,5 %	En fr. (O)
5111.90.21 5,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.90.22 6,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.90.23 7,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.90.28 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.90.29 16 % En fr. (O) 5111.90.30 12,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.90.91 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5112.11.10 12,5 % En fr. (M) 5112.11.90 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,56 \$/kg En fr. (M) 5112.19.19 15,5 % En fr. (M) 5112.19.91 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,56 \$/kg En fr. (M) 5112.20.10 12,5 % En fr. (M) 5112.20.91 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,56 \$/kg En fr. (M) 5112.20.92 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,56 \$/kg En fr. (M)	5111.30.91	16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg	En fr. (O)
5111.90.22 6,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.90.23 7,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.90.28 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.90.29 16 % En fr. (O) 5111.90.30 12,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.90.91 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5112.11.10 12,5 % En fr. (M) 5112.11.90 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,56 \$/kg En fr. (M) 5112.19.19 15,5 % En fr. (M) 5112.19.92 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,56 \$/kg En fr. (M) 5112.20.10 12,5 % En fr. (M) 5112.20.91 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,56 \$/kg En fr. (M) 5112.20.92 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,56 \$/kg En fr. (M)	5111.30.92	16 %	En fr. (O)
5111.90.23 7,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.90.28 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.90.29 16 % En fr. (O) 5111.90.91 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.90.92 16 % En fr. (O) 5112.11.10 12,5 % En fr. (M) 5112.19.91 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,56 \$/kg En fr. (M) 5112.19.92 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,56 \$/kg En fr. (M) 5112.20.10 12,5 % En fr. (M) 5112.20.92 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,56 \$/kg En fr. (M) 5112.20.92 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,56 \$/kg En fr. (M)	5111.90.21	5,5 %	En fr. (O)
5111.90.28 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.90.29 16 % En fr. (O) 5111.90.30 12,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.90.91 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5112.90.92 16 % En fr. (M) 5112.11.10 12,5 % En fr. (M) 5112.11.90 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,56 \$/kg En fr. (M) 5112.19.19 15,5 % En fr. (M) 5112.19.92 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,56 \$/kg En fr. (M) 5112.20.10 12,5 % En fr. (M) 5112.20.91 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,56 \$/kg En fr. (M) 5112.20.92 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,56 \$/kg En fr. (M)	5111.90.22	6,5 %	En fr. (O)
5111.90.29 16 % En fr. (O) 5111.90.30 12,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.90.91 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.90.92 16 % En fr. (M) 5112.11.10 12,5 % En fr. (M) 5112.11.90 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,56 \$/kg En fr. (M) 5112.19.19 15,5 % En fr. (M) 5112.19.91 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,56 \$/kg En fr. (M) 5112.20.10 12,5 % En fr. (M) 5112.20.91 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,56 \$/kg En fr. (M) 5112.20.92 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,56 \$/kg En fr. (M)	5111.90.23	7,5 %	En fr. (O)
5111.90.30 12,5 % En fr. (O) 5111.90.91 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.90.92 16 % En fr. (O) 5112.11.10 12,5 % En fr. (M) 5112.11.90 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,56 \$/kg En fr. (M) 5112.19.19 15,5 % En fr. (M) 5112.19.91 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,56 \$/kg En fr. (M) 5112.20.10 12,5 % En fr. (M) 5112.20.91 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,56 \$/kg En fr. (M) 5112.20.92 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,56 \$/kg En fr. (M)	5111.90.28	16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg	En fr. (O)
5111.90.91 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg En fr. (O) 5111.90.92 16 % En fr. (O) 5112.11.10 12,5 % En fr. (M) 5112.11.90 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,56 \$/kg En fr. (M) 5112.19.19 15,5 % En fr. (M) 5112.19.91 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,56 \$/kg En fr. (M) 5112.19.92 16 % En fr. (M) 5112.20.10 12,5 % En fr. (M) 5112.20.91 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,56 \$/kg En fr. (M) 5112.20.92 16 % En fr. (M)	5111.90.29	16 %	En fr. (O)
5111.90.92 16 % En fr. (O) 5112.11.10 12,5 % En fr. (M) 5112.11.90 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,56 \$/kg En fr. (M) 5112.19.19 15,5 % En fr. (M) 5112.19.91 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,56 \$/kg En fr. (M) 5112.19.92 16 % En fr. (M) 5112.20.10 12,5 % En fr. (M) 5112.20.91 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,56 \$/kg En fr. (M) 5112.20.92 16 % En fr. (M)	5111.90.30	12,5 %	En fr. (O)
5112.11.10 12,5 % En fr. (M) 5112.11.90 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,56 \$/kg En fr. (M) 5112.19.19 15,5 % En fr. (M) 5112.19.91 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,56 \$/kg En fr. (M) 5112.19.92 16 % En fr. (M) 5112.20.10 12,5 % En fr. (M) 5112.20.91 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,56 \$/kg En fr. (M) 5112.20.92 16 % En fr. (M)	5111.90.91	16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg	En fr. (O)
5112.11.90 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,56 \$/kg En fr. (M) 5112.19.19 15,5 % En fr. (M) 5112.19.91 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,56 \$/kg En fr. (M) 5112.19.92 16 % En fr. (M) 5112.20.10 12,5 % En fr. (M) 5112.20.91 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,56 \$/kg En fr. (M) 5112.20.92 16 % En fr. (M)	5111.90.92	16 %	En fr. (O)
5112.19.19 15,5 % En fr. (M) 5112.19.91 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,56 \$/kg En fr. (M) 5112.19.92 16 % En fr. (M) 5112.20.10 12,5 % En fr. (M) 5112.20.91 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,56 \$/kg En fr. (M) 5112.20.92 16 % En fr. (M)	5112.11.10	12,5 %	En fr. (M)
5112.19.91 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,56 \$/kg En fr. (M) 5112.19.92 16 % En fr. (M) 5112.20.10 12,5 % En fr. (M) 5112.20.91 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,56 \$/kg En fr. (M) 5112.20.92 16 % En fr. (M)	5112.11.90	16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,56 \$/kg	En fr. (M)
5112.19.92 16 % En fr. (M) 5112.20.10 12,5 % En fr. (M) 5112.20.91 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,56 \$/kg En fr. (M) 5112.20.92 16 % En fr. (M)	5112.19.19	15,5 %	En fr. (M)
5112.20.10 12,5 % En fr. (M) 5112.20.91 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,56 \$/kg En fr. (M) 5112.20.92 16 % En fr. (M)	5112.19.91	16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,56 \$/kg	En fr. (M)
5112.20.91 16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,56 \$/kg En fr. (M) 5112.20.92 16 % En fr. (M)	5112.19.92		En fr. (M)
5112.20.92 16 % En fr. (M)	5112.20.10	12,5 %	En fr. (M)
• •		16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,56 \$/kg	En fr. (M)
5112.30.20			En fr. (M)
	5112.30.20	12,5 %	En fr. (M)

5205.41.90 5205.42.10 5205.42.90

 Initial Rate	Final Rate
15 50/	Error (M)
15.5%	Free (M)
16% but not to exceed \$4.56/kg 16%	Free (M)
	Free (M)
12.5%	Free (M)
16% but not to exceed \$4.56/kg	Free (M)
16%	Free (M)
16%	Free (O)
5%	Free (O)
5%	Free (O)
9.5%	Free (O)
9.5%	Free (O)
9.5%	Free (O)
5%	Free (O)
9.5%	Free (O)
5%	Free (O)
9.5%	Free (O)
5%	Free (O)
9.5%	Free (O)
5%	Free (O)
9.5%	Free (O)
5%	Free (O)
9.5%	Free (O)
5%	Free (O)
9.5%	Free (O)
5%	Free (O)
9.5%	Free (O)
5%	Free (O)
9.5%	Free (O)
5%	Free (O)
9.5%	Free (O)
).J/U	1100 (0)

Numéro tarifaire	Taux initial	Taux final
5112.30.30	15,5 %	En fr. (M)
5112.30.91	16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,56 \$/kg	En fr. (M)
5112.30.92	16 %	En fr. (M)
5112.90.10	12,5 %	En fr. (M)
5112.90.91	16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,56 \$/kg	En fr. (M)
5112.90.92	16 %	En fr. (M)
5113.00.00	16 %	En fr. (O)
5203.00.90	5 %	En fr. (O)
5204.11.10	5 %	En fr. (O)
5204.11.90	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5204.19.00	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5204.20.00	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5205.11.20	5 %	En fr. (O)
5205.11.90	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5205.12.90	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5205.13.90	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5205.14.90	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5205.15.90	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5205.21.90	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5205.22.20	5 %	En fr. (O)
5205.22.90	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5205.23.90	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5205.24.90	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5205.26.90	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5205.27.90	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5205.28.90	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5205.31.10	5 %	En fr. (O)
5205.31.90	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5205.32.10	5 %	En fr. (O)
5205.32.90	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5205.33.10	5 %	En fr. (O)
5205.33.90	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5205.34.20	5 %	En fr. (O)
5205.34.90	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5205.35.10	5 %	En fr. (O)
5205.35.90	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5205.41.10	5 %	En fr. (O)
5205.41.90	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5205.42.10	5 %	En fr. (O)
5205.42.90	9,5 %	En fr. (O)

Tariff Item	Initial Rate	Final Rate
5205.43.10	5%	Free (O)
5205.43.90	9.5%	Free (O)
5205.44.20	5%	Free (O)
5205.44.90	9.5%	Free (O)
5205.46.30	5%	Free (O)
5205.46.90	9.5%	Free (O)
5205.47.30	5%	Free (O)
5205.47.90	9.5%	Free (O)
5205.48.30	5%	Free (O)
5205.48.90	9.5%	Free (O)
5206.11.00	9.5%	Free (O)
5206.12.00	9.5%	Free (O)
5206.13.00	9.5%	Free (O)
5206.14.00	9.5%	Free (O)
5206.14.90	9.5%	Free (O)
5206.15.00	9.5%	Free (O)
5206.15.90	9.5%	Free (O)
5206.21.00	9.5%	Free (O)
5206.22.00	9.5%	Free (O)
5206.23.00	9.5%	Free (O)
5206.24.00	9.5%	Free (O)
5206.24.90	9.5%	Free (O)
5206.25.00	9.5%	Free (O)
5206.25.90	9.5%	Free (O)
5206.31.00	9.5%	Free (O)
5206.32.00	9.5%	Free (O)
5206.33.00	9.5%	Free (O)
5206.34.00	9.5%	Free (O)
5206.35.00	9.5%	Free (O)
5206.41.00	9.5%	Free (O)
5206.42.00	9.5%	Free (O)
5206.43.00	9.5%	Free (O)
5206.44.00	9.5%	Free (O)
5206.45.00	9.5%	Free (O)
5207.10.00	9.5%	Free (O)
5207.90.00	9.5%	Free (O)
5208.11.20	8%	Free (O)
5208.11.90	10%	Free (O)
5208.12.30	8%	Free (O)
5208.12.90	10%	Free (O)

Numéro tarifaire	Taux initial	Taux final
Numero tarnane	Taux illitiai	Taux Imai
5205.43.10	5 %	En fr. (O)
5205.43.90	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5205.44.20	5 %	En fr. (O)
5205.44.90	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5205.46.30	5 %	En fr. (O)
5205.46.90	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5205.47.30	5 %	En fr. (O)
5205.47.90	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5205.48.30	5 %	En fr. (O)
5205.48.90	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5206.11.00	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5206.12.00	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5206.13.00	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5206.14.00	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5206.14.90	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5206.15.00	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5206.15.90	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5206.21.00	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5206.22.00	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5206.23.00	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5206.24.00	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5206.24.90	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5206.25.00	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5206.25.90	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5206.31.00	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5206.32.00	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5206.33.00	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5206.34.00	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5206.35.00	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5206.41.00	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5206.42.00	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5206.43.00	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5206.44.00	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5206.45.00	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5207.10.00	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5207.90.00	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5208.11.20	8 %	En fr. (O)
5208.11.90	10 %	En fr. (O)
5208.12.30	8 %	En fr. (O)
5208.12.90	10 %	En fr. (O)

Tariff Item	Initial Rate	Final Rate
5208.13.10	8%	Free (O)
5208.13.90	10%	Free (O)
5208.19.20	8%	Free (O)
5208.19.90	10%	Free (O)
5208.21.90	14%	Free (O)
5208.22.90	14%	Free (O)
5208.23.90	14%	Free (O)
5208.29.90	14%	Free (O)
5208.31.90	14%	Free (O)
5208.32.90	14%	Free (O)
5208.33.90	14%	Free (O)
5208.39.90	14%	Free (O)
5208.41.90	14%	Free (O)
5208.42.90	14%	Free (O)
5208.43.90	14%	Free (O)
5208.49.90	14%	Free (O)
5208.51.00	14%	Free (O)
5208.52.90	14%	Free (O)
5208.53.00	14%	Free (O)
5208.59.90	14%	Free (O)
5209.11.20	8%	Free (O)
5209.11.90	10%	Free (O)
5209.12.10	8%	Free (O)
5209.12.90	10%	Free (O)
5209.19.20	8%	Free (O)
5209.19.90	10%	Free (O)
5209.21.90	14%	Free (O)
5209.22.90	14%	Free (O)
5209.29.90	14%	Free (O)
5209.31.90	14%	Free (O)
5209.32.90	14%	Free (O)
5209.39.00	14%	Free (O)
5209.41.00	14%	Free (O)
5209.42.00	14%	Free (O)
5209.43.90	14%	Free (O)
5209.49.00	14%	Free (O)
5209.51.00	14%	Free (O)
5209.52.00	14%	Free (O)
5209.59.00	14%	Free (O)
5210.11.00	16%	Free (O)
		•

Numéro tarifaire	Taux initial	Taux final
5209 12 10	9.0/	F. C. (0)
5208.13.10	8 %	En fr. (O)
5208.13.90	10 %	En fr. (O)
5208.19.20	8 %	En fr. (O)
5208.19.90	10 %	En fr. (O)
5208.21.90	14 %	En fr. (O)
5208.22.90	14 %	En fr. (O)
5208.23.90	14 %	En fr. (O)
5208.29.90	14 %	En fr. (O)
5208.31.90	14 %	En fr. (O)
5208.32.90	14 %	En fr. (O)
5208.33.90	14 %	En fr. (O)
5208.39.90	14 %	En fr. (O)
5208.41.90	14 %	En fr. (O)
5208.42.90	14 %	En fr. (O)
5208.43.90	14 %	En fr. (O)
5208.49.90	14 %	En fr. (O)
5208.51.00	14 %	En fr. (O)
5208.52.90	14 %	En fr. (O)
5208.53.00	14 %	En fr. (O)
5208.59.90	14 %	En fr. (O)
5209.11.20	8 %	En fr. (O)
5209.11.90	10 %	En fr. (O)
5209.12.10	8 %	En fr. (O)
5209.12.90	10 %	En fr. (O)
5209.19.20	8 %	En fr. (O)
5209.19.90	10 %	En fr. (O)
5209.21.90	14 %	En fr. (O)
5209.22.90	14 %	En fr. (O)
5209.29.90	14 %	En fr. (O)
5209.31.90	14 %	En fr. (O)
5209.32.90	14 %	En fr. (O)
5209.39.00	14 %	En fr. (O)
5209.41.00	14 %	En fr. (O)
5209.42.00	14 %	En fr. (O)
5209.43.90	14 %	En fr. (O)
5209.49.00	14 %	En fr. (O)
5209.51.00	14 %	En fr. (O)
5209.52.00	14 %	En fr. (O)
5209.59.00	14 %	En fr. (O)
5210.11.00	16 %	En fr. (O)
		` '

Tariff Item	Initial Rate	Final Rate
5210.12.00	16%	Free (O)
5210.19.00	16%	Free (O)
5210.21.00	16%	Free (O)
5210.22.00	16%	Free (O)
5210.29.00	16%	Free (O)
5210.31.00	16%	Free (O)
5210.32.00	16%	Free (O)
5210.39.00	16%	Free (O)
5210.41.00	16%	Free (O)
5210.42.00	16%	Free (O)
5210.49.00	16%	Free (O)
5210.51.00	16%	Free (O)
5210.52.00	16%	Free (O)
5210.59.00	16%	Free (O)
5211.11.00	16%	Free (O)
5211.12.00	16%	Free (O)
5211.19.00	16%	Free (O)
5211.21.00	16%	Free (O)
5211.22.00	16%	Free (O)
5211.29.00	16%	Free (O)
5211.31.00	16%	Free (O)
5211.32.00	16%	Free (O)
5211.39.00	16%	Free (O)
5211.41.00	16%	Free (O)
5211.42.00	16%	Free (O)
5211.43.00	16%	Free (O)
5211.49.00	16%	Free (O)
5211.51.00	16%	Free (O)
5211.52.00	16%	Free (O)
5211.59.00	16%	Free (O)
5212.11.10	9%	Free (O)
5212.11.90	16%	Free (O)
5212.12.10	9%	Free (O)
5212.12.90	16%	Free (O)
5212.13.20	9%	Free (O)
5212.13.90	16%	Free (O)
5212.14.20	9%	Free (O)
5212.14.90	16%	Free (O)
5212.15.10	9%	Free (O)
5212.15.90	16%	Free (O)

Numéro tarifaire	Taux initial	Taux final
5210.12.00	16 %	En fr. (O)
5210.19.00	16 %	En fr. (O)
5210.21.00	16 %	En fr. (O)
5210.22.00	16 %	En fr. (O)
5210.29.00	16 %	En fr. (O)
5210.31.00	16 %	En fr. (O)
5210.32.00	16 %	En fr. (O)
5210.39.00	16 %	En fr. (O)
5210.41.00	16 %	En fr. (O)
5210.42.00	16 %	En fr. (O)
5210.49.00	16 %	En fr. (O)
5210.51.00	16 %	En fr. (O)
5210.52.00	16 %	En fr. (O)
5210.59.00	16 %	En fr. (O)
5211.11.00	16 %	En fr. (O)
5211.12.00	16 %	En fr. (O)
5211.19.00	16 %	En fr. (O)
5211.21.00	16 %	En fr. (O)
5211.22.00	16 %	En fr. (O)
5211.29.00	16 %	En fr. (O)
5211.31.00	16 %	En fr. (O)
5211.32.00	16 %	En fr. (O)
5211.39.00	16 %	En fr. (O)
5211.41.00	16 %	En fr. (O)
5211.42.00	16 %	En fr. (O)
5211.43.00	16 %	En fr. (O)
5211.49.00	16 %	En fr. (O)
5211.51.00	16 %	En fr. (O)
5211.52.00	16 %	En fr. (O)
5211.59.00	16 %	En fr. (O)
5212.11.10	9 %	En fr. (O)
5212.11.90	16 %	En fr. (O)
5212.12.10	9 %	En fr. (O)
5212.12.90	16 %	En fr. (O)
5212.13.20	9 %	En fr. (O)
5212.13.90	16 %	En fr. (O)
5212.14.20	9 %	En fr. (O)
5212.14.90	16 %	En fr. (O)
5212.15.10	9 %	En fr. (O)
5212.15.90	16 %	En fr. (O)

Tariff Item	Initial Rate	Final Rate
5212.21.10	9%	Free (O)
5212.21.10	16%	Free (O)
5212.22.10	9%	Free (O)
5212.22.90	16%	Free (O)
5212.23.10	9%	Free (O)
5212.23.10	16%	Free (O)
5212.24.10	9%	Free (O)
5212.24.10	16%	Free (O)
5212.25.10	9%	Free (O)
5212.25.10	16%	Free (O)
5306.20.20	9%	Free (O)
5300.20.20	8%	Free (O)
5307.10.90	10%	Free (O)
5307.20.00	7%	Free (O)
5308.20.00	5%	Free (O)
5308.90.10	8.5%	Free (O)
5308.90.90	9%	
5309.11.90	9%	Free (O)
5309.21.00	16%	Free (O)
5309.29.90	16%	Free (O) Free (O)
5310.90.90	14%	
5311.00.00	10.5%	Free (O)
5311.00.00	10.5%	Free (O) Free (O)
	9.5%	
5401.10.00		Free (O)
5401.20.00	9.5%	Free (O)
5402.10.90	9.5%	Free (O)
5402.20.90 5402.21.00	9.5%	Free (O)
5402.31.00	9.5%	Free (O)
5402.32.90	9.5%	Free (O)
5402.33.90	9.5%	Free (O)
5402.39.00	9.5%	Free (O)
5402.41.14	9.5%	Free (O)
5402.41.19	9.5%	Free (O)
5402.41.93	9.5%	Free (O)
5402.41.99	9.5%	Free (O)
5402.42.90	9.5%	Free (O)
5402.43.99	9.5%	Free (O)
5402.49.90	9.5%	Free (O)
5402.51.00	9.5%	Free (O)
5402.52.99	9.5%	Free (O)

Numéro tarifaire	Taux initial	Taux final
5212.21.10	9 %	En fr. (O)
5212.21.90	16 %	En fr. (O)
5212.22.10	9 %	En fr. (O)
5212.22.90	16 %	En fr. (O)
5212.23.10	9 %	En fr. (O)
5212.23.90	16 %	En fr. (O)
5212.24.10	9 %	En fr. (O)
5212.24.90	16 %	En fr. (O)
5212.25.10	9 %	En fr. (O)
5212.25.90	16 %	En fr. (O)
5306.20.20	9 %	En fr. (O)
5307.10.90	8 %	En fr. (O)
5307.20.00	10 %	En fr. (O)
5308.20.00	7 %	En fr. (O)
5308.90.10	5 %	En fr. (O)
5308.90.90	8,5 %	En fr. (O)
5309.11.90	9 %	En fr. (O)
5309.19.90	9 %	En fr. (O)
5309.21.00	16 %	En fr. (O)
5309.29.90	16 %	En fr. (O)
5310.90.90	14 %	En fr. (O)
5311.00.00	10,5 %	En fr. (O)
5311.00.90	10,5 %	En fr. (O)
5401.10.00	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5401.20.00	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5402.10.90	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5402.20.90	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5402.31.00	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5402.32.90	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5402.33.90	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5402.39.00	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5402.41.14	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5402.41.19	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5402.41.93	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5402.41.99	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5402.42.90	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5402.43.99	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5402.49.90	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5402.51.00	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5402.52.99	9,5 %	En fr. (O)

Tariff Item	Initial Rate	Final Rate
5402.59.90	9.5%	Free (O)
5402.61.00	9.5%	Free (O)
5402.62.90	9.5%	Free (O)
5402.69.90	9.5%	Free (O)
5403.10.90	8.5%	Free (O)
5403.20.90	9.5%	Free (O)
5403.31.90	8.5%	Free (O)
5403.32.90	8.5%	Free (O)
5403.33.90	9.5%	Free (O)
5403.39.00	9.5%	Free (O)
5403.41.90	8.5%	Free (O)
5403.49.00	9.5%	Free (O)
5404.10.90	9.5%	Free (O)
5404.90.00	9.5%	Free (O)
5405.00.00	9.5%	Free (O)
5406.10.00	9.5%	Free (O)
5406.20.00	9.5%	Free (O)
5407.10.20	11%	Free (M)
5407.10.90	16%	Free (M)
5407.20.90	16%	Free (M)
5407.30.00	16%	Free (M)
5407.41.90	16%	Free (M)
5407.42.90	16%	Free (M)
5407.43.00	16%	Free (M)
5407.44.00	16%	Free (M)
5407.51.90	16%	Free (M)
5407.52.10	10%	Free (M)
5407.52.90	16%	Free (M)
5407.53.00	16%	Free (M)
5407.54.00	16%	Free (M)
5407.61.11	11%	Free (M)
5407.61.19	16%	Free (M)
5407.61.93	11%	Free (M)
5407.61.99	16%	Free (M)
5407.69.90	16%	Free (M)
5407.71.00	16%	Free (M)
5407.72.00	16%	Free (M)
5407.73.90	16%	Free (M)
5407.74.00	16%	Free (M)
5407.81.00	16%	Free (M)

Numéro tarifaire	Taux initial	Taux final	
5402 50 00	0.5 %	F. (. (0)	
5402.59.90	9,5 %	En fr. (O) En fr. (O)	
5402.61.00	9,5 %		
5402.62.90	9,5 %	En fr. (O)	
5402.69.90 5403.10.00	9,5 %	En fr. (O)	
5403.10.90	8,5 %	En fr. (O)	
5403.20.90	9,5 %	En fr. (O)	
5403.31.90	8,5 %	En fr. (O)	
5403.32.90	8,5 %	En fr. (O)	
5403.33.90	9,5 %	En fr. (O)	
5403.39.00	9,5 %	En fr. (O)	
5403.41.90	8,5 %	En fr. (O)	
5403.49.00	9,5 %	En fr. (O)	
5404.10.90	9,5 %	En fr. (O)	
5404.90.00	9,5 %	En fr. (O)	
5405.00.00	9,5 %	En fr. (O)	
5406.10.00	9,5 %	En fr. (O)	
5406.20.00	9,5 %	En fr. (O)	
5407.10.20	11 %	En fr. (M)	
5407.10.90	16 %	En fr. (M)	
5407.20.90	16 %	En fr. (M)	
5407.30.00	16 %	En fr. (M)	
5407.41.90	16 %	En fr. (M)	
5407.42.90	16 %	En fr. (M)	
5407.43.00	16 %	En fr. (M)	
5407.44.00	16 %	En fr. (M)	
5407.51.90	16 %	En fr. (M)	
5407.52.10	10 %	En fr. (M)	
5407.52.90	16 %	En fr. (M)	
5407.53.00	16 %	En fr. (M)	
5407.54.00	16 %	En fr. (M)	
5407.61.11	11 %	En fr. (M)	
5407.61.19	16 %	En fr. (M)	
5407.61.93	11 %	En fr. (M)	
5407.61.99	16 %	En fr. (M)	
5407.69.90	16 %	En fr. (M)	
5407.71.00	16 %	En fr. (M)	
5407.72.00	16 %	En fr. (M)	
5407.73.90	16 %	En fr. (M)	
5407.74.00	16 %	En fr. (M)	
5407.81.00	16 %	En fr. (M)	

Tariff Item	Initial Rate	Final Rate
5407.82.90	16%	Free (M)
5407.83.90	16%	Free (M)
5407.84.00	16%	Free (M)
5407.91.90	16%	Free (M)
5407.92.90	16%	Free (M)
5407.93.90	16%	Free (M)
5407.94.90	16%	Free (M)
5408.10.00	16%	Free (M)
5408.21.90	16%	Free (M)
5408.22.29	16%	Free (M)
5408.22.90	16%	Free (M)
5408.23.10	16%	Free (M)
5408.23.90	16%	Free (M)
5408.24.19	16%	Free (M)
5408.24.99	16%	Free (M)
5408.31.90	16%	Free (M)
5408.32.90	16%	Free (M)
5408.33.90	16%	Free (M)
5408.34.90	16%	Free (M)
5501.10.90	5%	Free (O)
5501.20.90	5%	Free (O)
5501.90.00	5%	Free (O)
5502.00.00	5%	Free (O)
5503.10.90	5%	Free (O)
5503.20.90	5%	Free (O)
5503.40.00	5%	Free (O)
5503.90.90	5%	Free (O)
5504.90.90	5%	Free (O)
5506.10.90	5%	Free (O)
5506.20.90	5%	Free (O)
5506.90.00	5%	Free (O)
5507.00.90	5%	Free (O)
5508.10.00	9.5%	Free (O)
5508.20.00	9.5%	Free (O)
5509.11.00	9.5%	Free (O)
5509.12.00	9.5%	Free (O)
5509.21.90	9.5%	Free (O)
5509.22.10	9.5%	Free (O)
5509.22.90	9.5%	Free (O)
5509.31.00	9.5%	Free (O)

Numéro tarifaire	Taux initial	Taux final
5407.82.90	16 %	En fr. (M)
5407.83.90	16 %	En fr. (M)
5407.84.00	16 %	En fr. (M)
5407.91.90	16 %	En fr. (M)
5407.92.90	16 %	En fr. (M)
5407.93.90	16 %	En fr. (M)
5407.94.90	16 %	En fr. (M)
5408.10.00	16 %	En fr. (M)
5408.21.90	16 %	En fr. (M)
5408.22.29	16 %	En fr. (M)
5408.22.90	16 %	En fr. (M)
5408.23.10	16 %	En fr. (M)
5408.23.90	16 %	En fr. (M)
5408.24.19	16 %	En fr. (M)
5408.24.99	16 %	En fr. (M)
5408.31.90	16 %	En fr. (M)
5408.32.90	16 %	En fr. (M)
5408.33.90	16 %	En fr. (M)
5408.34.90	16 %	En fr. (M)
5501.10.90	5 %	En fr. (O)
5501.20.90	5 %	En fr. (O)
5501.90.00	5 %	En fr. (O)
5502.00.00	5 %	En fr. (O)
5503.10.90	5 %	En fr. (O)
5503.20.90	5 %	En fr. (O)
5503.40.00	5 %	En fr. (O)
5503.90.90	5 %	En fr. (O)
5504.90.90	5 %	En fr. (O)
5506.10.90	5 %	En fr. (O)
5506.20.90	5 %	En fr. (O)
5506.90.00	5 %	En fr. (O)
5507.00.90	5 %	En fr. (O)
5508.10.00	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5508.20.00	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5509.11.00	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5509.12.00	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5509.21.90	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5509.22.10	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5509.22.90	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5509.31.00	9,5 %	En fr. (O)

Tariff Item	Initial Rate	Final Rate
5509.32.90	9.5%	Free (O)
5509.41.90	9.5%	Free (O)
5509.42.00	9.5%	Free (O)
5509.51.00	9.5%	Free (O)
5509.52.90	9.5%	Free (O)
5509.53.00	9.5%	Free (O)
5509.53.90	9.5%	Free (O)
5509.59.00	9.5%	Free (O)
5509.61.00	9.5%	Free (O)
5509.62.00	9.5%	Free (O)
5509.69.00	9.5%	Free (O)
5509.91.00	9.5%	Free (O)
5509.92.00	9.5%	Free (O)
5509.99.00	9.5%	Free (O)
5510.11.00	9.5%	Free (O)
5510.12.00	9.5%	Free (O)
5510.20.90	9.5%	Free (O)
5510.30.00	9.5%	Free (O)
5510.90.00	9.5%	Free (O)
5511.10.00	9.5%	Free (O)
5511.20.00	9.5%	Free (O)
5511.30.00	9.5%	Free (O)
5512.11.90	16%	Free (M)
5512.19.90	16%	Free (M)
5512.21.00	16%	Free (M)
5512.29.00	16%	Free (M)
5512.91.00	16%	Free (M)
5512.99.90	16%	Free (M)
5513.11.90	16%	Free (M)
5513.12.00	16%	Free (M)
5513.13.00	16%	Free (M)
5513.19.00	16%	Free (M)
5513.21.00	16%	Free (M)
5513.22.00	16%	Free (M)
5513.23.00	16%	Free (M)
5513.29.00	16%	Free (M)
5513.31.90	16%	Free (M)
5513.32.90	16%	Free (M)
5513.33.90	16%	Free (M)
5513.39.00	16%	Free (M)
3313.37.00	10/0	1100 (141)

-		
Numéro tarifaire	Taux initial	Taux final
5509.32.90	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5509.41.90	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5509.42.00	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5509.51.00	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5509.52.90	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5509.53.00	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5509.53.90	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5509.59.00	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5509.61.00	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5509.62.00	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5509.69.00	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5509.91.00	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5509.92.00	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5509.99.00	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5510.11.00	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5510.12.00	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5510.20.90	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5510.30.00	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5510.90.00	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5511.10.00	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5511.20.00	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5511.30.00	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5512.11.90	16 %	En fr. (M)
5512.19.90	16 %	En fr. (M)
5512.21.00	16 %	En fr. (M)
5512.29.00	16 %	En fr. (M)
5512.91.00	16 %	En fr. (M)
5512.99.90	16 %	En fr. (M)
5513.11.90	16 %	En fr. (M)
5513.12.00	16 %	En fr. (M)
5513.13.00	16 %	En fr. (M)
5513.19.00	16 %	En fr. (M)
5513.21.00	16 %	En fr. (M)
5513.22.00	16 %	En fr. (M)
5513.23.00	16 %	En fr. (M)
5513.29.00	16 %	En fr. (M)
5513.31.90	16 %	En fr. (M)
5513.32.90	16 %	En fr. (M)
5513.33.90	16 %	En fr. (M)
5513.39.00	16 %	En fr. (M)

Tariff Item	Initial Rate	Final Rate
5513.41.90	16%	Free (M)
5513.42.00	16%	Free (M)
5513.43.00	16%	Free (M)
5513.49.00	16%	Free (M)
5514.11.00	16%	Free (M)
5514.12.00	16%	Free (M)
5514.13.00	16%	Free (M)
5514.19.00	16%	Free (M)
5514.21.00	16%	Free (M)
5514.22.00	16%	Free (M)
5514.23.00	16%	Free (M)
5514.29.00	16%	Free (M)
5514.31.00	16%	Free (M)
5514.32.00	16%	Free (M)
5514.33.00	16%	Free (M)
5514.39.00	16%	Free (M)
5514.41.00	16%	Free (M)
5514.42.00	16%	Free (M)
5514.43.00	16%	Free (M)
5514.49.00	16%	Free (M)
5515.11.90	16%	Free (M)
5515.12.00	16%	Free (M)
5515.13.20	5.5%	Free (M)
5515.13.90	16%	Free (M)
5515.19.00	16%	Free (M)
5515.21.00	16%	Free (M)
5515.22.00	16%	Free (M)
5515.29.00	16%	Free (M)
5515.91.00	16%	Free (M)
5515.92.00	16%	Free (M)
5515.99.00	16%	Free (M)
5516.11.00	16%	Free (M)
5516.12.00	16%	Free (M)
5516.13.00	16%	Free (M)
5516.14.90	16%	Free (M)
5516.21.90	16%	Free (M)
5516.22.00	16%	Free (M)
5516.23.90	16%	Free (M)
5516.24.90	16%	Free (M)
5516.31.00	16%	Free (M)
		()

Numéro tarifaire	Taux initial	Taux final
7710.11.00	4.50	T 6 05
5513.41.90	16 %	En fr. (M)
5513.42.00	16 %	En fr. (M)
5513.43.00	16 %	En fr. (M)
5513.49.00	16 %	En fr. (M)
5514.11.00	16 %	En fr. (M)
5514.12.00	16 %	En fr. (M)
5514.13.00	16 %	En fr. (M)
5514.19.00	16 %	En fr. (M)
5514.21.00	16 %	En fr. (M)
5514.22.00	16 %	En fr. (M)
5514.23.00	16 %	En fr. (M)
5514.29.00	16 %	En fr. (M)
5514.31.00	16 %	En fr. (M)
5514.32.00	16 %	En fr. (M)
5514.33.00	16 %	En fr. (M)
5514.39.00	16 %	En fr. (M)
5514.41.00	16 %	En fr. (M)
5514.42.00	16 %	En fr. (M)
5514.43.00	16 %	En fr. (M)
5514.49.00	16 %	En fr. (M)
5515.11.90	16 %	En fr. (M)
5515.12.00	16 %	En fr. (M)
5515.13.20	5,5 %	En fr. (M)
5515.13.90	16 %	En fr. (M)
5515.19.00	16 %	En fr. (M)
5515.21.00	16 %	En fr. (M)
5515.22.00	16 %	En fr. (M)
5515.29.00	16 %	En fr. (M)
5515.91.00	16 %	En fr. (M)
5515.92.00	16 %	En fr. (M)
5515.99.00	16 %	En fr. (M)
5516.11.00	16 %	En fr. (M)
5516.12.00	16 %	En fr. (M)
5516.13.00	16 %	En fr. (M)
5516.14.90	16 %	En fr. (M)
5516.21.90	16 %	En fr. (M)
5516.22.00	16 %	En fr. (M)
5516.23.90	16 %	En fr. (M)
5516.24.90	16 %	En fr. (M)
5516.31.00	16 %	En fr. (M)

Tariff Item	Initial Rate	Final Rate
5516.32.00	16%	Free (M)
5516.33.00	16%	Free (M)
5516.34.00	16%	Free (M)
5516.41.00	16%	Free (M)
5516.42.00	16%	Free (M)
5516.43.00	16%	Free (M)
5516.44.00	16%	Free (M)
5516.91.90	16%	Free (M)
5516.92.00	16%	Free (M)
5516.93.90	16%	Free (M)
5516.94.00	16%	Free (M)
5601.10.90	14%	Free (O)
5601.21.20	6.5%	Free (O)
5601.21.30	17%	Free (O)
5601.22.20	7%	Free (O)
5601.22.30	19%	Free (O)
5601.29.00	7%	Free (O)
5601.30.10	6%	Free (O)
5602.10.90	16%	Free (O)
5602.21.90	14%	Free (O)
5602.29.00	16%	Free (O)
5602.90.00	16%	Free (O)
5603.11.30	12.5%	Free (O)
5603.11.40	13.5%	Free (O)
5603.11.50	16%	Free (O)
5603.11.90	16%	Free (O)
5603.12.30	12.5%	Free (O)
5603.12.40	13.5%	Free (O)
5603.12.50	16%	Free (O)
5603.12.90	16%	Free (O)
5603.13.30	12.5%	Free (O)
5603.13.40	13.5%	Free (O)
5603.13.50	16%	Free (O)
5603.13.90	16%	Free (O)
5603.14.30	12.5%	Free (O)
5603.14.40	13.5%	Free (O)
5603.14.50	16%	Free (O)
5603.14.90	16%	Free (O)
5603.91.30	9%	Free (O)
5603.91.90	16%	Free (O)

Numéro tarifaire	Taux initial	Taux final
5516.32.00	16 %	En fr. (M)
5516.33.00	16 %	En fr. (M)
5516.34.00	16 %	En fr. (M)
5516.41.00	16 %	En fr. (M)
5516.42.00	16 %	En fr. (M)
5516.43.00	16 %	En fr. (M)
5516.44.00	16 %	En fr. (M)
5516.91.90	16 %	En fr. (M)
5516.92.00	16 %	En fr. (M)
5516.93.90	16 %	En fr. (M)
5516.94.00	16 %	En fr. (M)
5601.10.90	14 %	En fr. (O)
5601.21.20	6,5 %	En fr. (O)
5601.21.30	17 %	En fr. (O)
5601.22.20	7 %	En fr. (O)
5601.22.30	19 %	En fr. (O)
5601.29.00	7 %	En fr. (O)
5601.30.10	6 %	En fr. (O)
5602.10.90	16 %	En fr. (O)
5602.21.90	14 %	En fr. (O)
5602.29.00	16 %	En fr. (O)
5602.90.00	16 %	En fr. (O)
5603.11.30	12,5 %	En fr. (O)
5603.11.40	13,5 %	En fr. (O)
5603.11,50	16 %	En fr. (O)
5603.11.90	16 %	En fr. (O)
5603.12.30	12,5 %	En fr. (O)
5603.12.40	13,5 %	En fr. (O)
5603.12.50	16 %	En fr. (O)
5603.12.90	16 %	En fr. (O)
5603.13.30	12,5 %	En fr. (O)
5603.13.40	13,5 %	En fr. (O)
5603.13.50	16 %	En fr. (O)
5603.13.90	16 %	En fr. (O)
5603.14.30	12,5 %	En fr. (O)
5603.14.40	13,5 %	En fr. (O)
5603.14.50	16 %	En fr. (O)
5603.14.90	16 %	En fr. (O)
5603.91.30	9 %	En fr. (O)
5603.91.90	16 %	En fr. (O)

Tariff Item	Initial Rate	Final Rate
5603.92.30	9%	Free (O)
5603.92.90	16%	Free (O)
5603.93.30	9%	Free (O)
5603.93.90	16%	Free (O)
5603.94.30	9%	Free (O)
5603.94.90	16%	Free (O)
5604.10.00	9.5%	Free (O)
5604.20.90	8.5%	Free (O)
5604.90.00	9.5%	Free (O)
5605.00.90	9.5%	Free (O)
5606.00.90	9.5%	Free (O)
5607.10.90	11%	Free (O)
5607.29.20	11%	Free (O)
5607.29.90	14%	Free (O)
5607.49.20	11%	Free (O)
5607.49.90	14%	Free (O)
5607.50.20	11%	Free (O)
5607.50.90	14%	Free (O)
5607.90.20	11%	Free (O)
5607.90.90	14%	Free (O)
5608.11.90	18%	Free (O)
5608.19.90	18%	Free (O)
5608.90.90	15.5%	Free (O)
5609.00.00	17.5%	Free (O)
5701.10.10	15.5%	Free (O)
5701.10.90	7.5%	Free (O)
5701.90.10	15.5%	Free (O)
5701.90.90	7.5%	Free (O)
5702.10.00	15.5%	Free (O)
5702.31.00	15.5%	Free (O)
5702.32.00	15.5%	Free (O)
5702.39.00	15.5%	Free (O)
5702.41.00	15.5%	Free (O)
5702.42.00	17%	Free (O)
5702.49.00	17%	Free (O)
5702.51.00	15.5%	Free (O)
5702.52.00	15.5%	Free (O)
5702.59.10	7.5%	Free (O)
5702.59.90	15.5%	Free (O)
5702.91.00	15.5%	Free (O)

Numéro tarifaire	Taux initial	Taux final
5603.92.30	9 %	En fr. (O)
5603.92.90	16 %	En fr. (O)
5603.93.30	9 %	En fr. (O)
5603.93.90	16 %	En fr. (O)
5603.94.30	9 %	En fr. (O)
5603.94.90	16 %	En fr. (O)
5604.10.00	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5604.20.90	8,5 %	En fr. (O)
5604.90.00	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5605.00.90	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5606.00.90	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5607.10.90	11 %	En fr. (O)
5607.29.20	11 %	En fr. (O)
5607.29.90	14 %	En fr. (O)
5607.49.20	11 %	En fr. (O)
5607.49.90	14 %	En fr. (O)
5607.50.20	11 %	En fr. (O)
5607.50.90	14 %	En fr. (O)
5607.90.20	11 %	En fr. (O)
5607.90.90	14 %	En fr. (O)
5608.11.90	18 %	En fr. (O)
5608.19.90	18 %	En fr. (O)
5608.90.90	15,5 %	En fr. (O)
5609.00.00	17,5 %	En fr. (O)
5701.10.10	15,5 %	En fr. (O)
5701.10.90	7,5 %	En fr. (O)
5701.90.10	15,5 %	En fr. (O)
5701.90.90	7,5 %	En fr. (O)
5702.10.00	15,5 %	En fr. (O)
5702.31.00	15,5 %	En fr. (O)
5702.32.00	15,5 %	En fr. (O)
5702.39.00	15,5 %	En fr. (O)
5702.41.00	15,5 %	En fr. (O)
5702.42.00	17 %	En fr. (O)
5702.49.00	17 %	En fr. (O)
5702.51.00	15,5 %	En fr. (O)
5702.52.00	15,5 %	En fr. (O)
5702.59.10	7,5 %	En fr. (O)
5702.59.90	15,5 %	En fr. (O)
5702.91.00	15,5 %	En fr. (O)

Tariff Item	Initial Rate	Final Rate
5702.92.00	17%	Free (O)
5702.99.10	7.5%	Free (O)
5702.99.90	15.5%	Free (O)
5703.10.10	15.5%	Free (O)
5703.10.10	10%	Free (O)
5703.20.10	15.5%	Free (O)
5703.20.10	10%	Free (O)
5703.30.10	15.5%	Free (O)
5703.30.90	10%	Free (O)
5703.90.10	15.5%	Free (O)
5703.90.90	10%	Free (O)
5704.10.00	15.5%	Free (O)
5704.90.00	15.5%	Free (O)
5705.00.00	14.5%	Free (O)
5801.10.90	16%	Free (O)
5801.22.20	13%	Free (O)
5801.22.90	16%	Free (O)
5801.23.00	13%	Free (O)
5801.24.00	14%	Free (O)
5801.25.10	13%	Free (O)
5801.25.20	16%	Free (O)
5801.26.00	15%	Free (O)
5801.31.00	16%	Free (O)
5801.32.90	16%	Free (O)
5801.33.00	16%	Free (O)
5801.34.00	16%	Free (O)
5801.35.90	16%	Free (O)
5801.36.00	16%	Free (O)
5801.90.90	14%	Free (O)
5802.11.90	15%	Free (O)
5802.19.90	14%	Free (O)
5802.20.00	16%	Free (O)
5802.30.00	16%	Free (O)
5803.10.90	15%	Free (O)
5803.90.11	12.5%	Free (O)
5803.90.19	16% but not to exceed \$4.58/kg	Free (O)
5803.90.99	16%	Free (O)
5804.10.10	8%	Free (O)
5804.10.90	15%	Free (O)
5804.21.00	14%	Free (O)
		(0)

Numéro tarifaire	Taux initial	Taux final
5702.92.00	17 %	En fr. (O)
5702.99.10	7,5 %	En fr. (O)
5702.99.90	15,5 %	En fr. (O)
5703.10.10	15,5 %	En fr. (O)
5703.10.90	10 %	En fr. (O)
5703.20.10	15,5 %	En fr. (O)
5703.20.90	10 %	En fr. (O)
5703.30.10	15,5 %	En fr. (O)
5703.30.90	10 %	En fr. (O)
5703.90.10	15,5 %	En fr. (O)
5703.90.90	10 %	En fr. (O)
5704.10.00	15,5 %	En fr. (O)
5704.90.00	15,5 %	En fr. (O)
5705.00.00	14,5 %	En fr. (O)
5801.10.90	16 %	En fr. (O)
5801.22.20	13 %	En fr. (O)
5801.22.90	16 %	En fr. (O)
5801.23.00	13 %	En fr. (O)
5801.24.00	14 %	En fr. (O)
5801.25.10	13 %	En fr. (O)
5801.25.20	16 %	En fr. (O)
5801.26.00	15 %	En fr. (O)
5801.31.00	16 %	En fr. (O)
5801.32.90	16 %	En fr. (O)
5801.33.00	16 %	En fr. (O)
5801.34.00	16 %	En fr. (O)
5801.35.90	16 %	En fr. (O)
5801.36.00	16 %	En fr. (O)
5801.90.90	14 %	En fr. (O)
5802.11.90	15 %	En fr. (O)
5802.19.90	14 %	En fr. (O)
5802.20.00	16 %	En fr. (O)
5802.30.00	16 %	En fr. (O)
5803.10.90	15 %	En fr. (O)
5803.90.11	12,5 %	En fr. (O)
5803.90.19	16 % mais n'excédant pas 4,58 \$/kg	En fr. (O)
5803.90.99	16 %	En fr. (O)
5804.10.10	8 %	En fr. (O)
5804.10.90	15 %	En fr. (O)
5804.21.00	14 %	En fr. (O)

Tariff Item	Initial Rate	Final Rate
5804.29.00	8%	Free (O)
5804.30.10	8%	Free (O)
5804.30.90	15%	Free (O)
5805.00.90	17%	Free (O)
5806.10.10	13%	Free (O)
5806.10.90	16%	Free (O)
5806.20.90	16%	Free (O)
5806.31.10	13%	Free (O)
5806.31.20	14%	Free (O)
5806.31.90	15%	Free (O)
5806.32.90	16%	Free (O)
5806.39.90	16%	Free (O)
5806.40.00	16%	Free (O)
5807.10.10	17.5%	Free (O)
5807.10.20	13%	Free (O)
5807.90.00	13%	Free (O)
5808.10.00	15%	Free (O)
5808.90.00	18%	Free (O)
5809.00.00	16%	Free (O)
5810.10.00	9.5%	Free (O)
5810.91.10	8%	Free (O)
5810.91.90	15%	Free (O)
5810.92.00	15%	Free (O)
5810.99.00	15%	Free (O)
5811.00.10	18%	Free (O)
5811.00.20	18%	Free (O)
5811.00.90	18%	Free (O)
5901.10.90	16%	Free (O)
5901.90.10	8%	Free (O)
5901.90.90	16%	Free (O)
5902.10.00	9.5%	Free (O)
5902.20.00	9.5%	Free (O)
5902.90.00	9.5%	Free (O)
5903.10.19	16%	Free (O)
5903.10.29	16%	Free (O)
5903.20.19	16%	Free (O)
5903.20.23	10%	Free (O)
5903.20.29	16%	Free (O)
5903.90.10	16%	Free (O)
5903.90.29	16%	Free (O)
		(0)

Numéro tarifaire	Taux initial	Taux final
Numero tarnane	1aux mittai	Taux Illiai
5804.29.00	8 %	En fr. (O)
5804.30.10	8 %	En fr. (O)
5804.30.90	15 %	En fr. (O)
5805.00.90	17 %	En fr. (O)
5806.10.10	13 %	En fr. (O)
5806.10.90	16 %	En fr. (O)
5806.20.90	16 %	En fr. (O)
5806.31.10	13 %	En fr. (O)
5806.31.20	14 %	En fr. (O)
5806.31.90	15 %	En fr. (O)
5806.32.90	16 %	En fr. (O)
5806.39.90	16 %	En fr. (O)
5806.40.00	16 %	En fr. (O)
5807.10.10	17,5 %	En fr. (O)
5807.10.20	13 %	En fr. (O)
5807.90.00	13 %	En fr. (O)
5808.10.00	15 %	En fr. (O)
5808.90.00	18 %	En fr. (O)
5809.00.00	16 %	En fr. (O)
5810.10.00	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5810.91.10	8 %	En fr. (O)
5810.91.90	15 %	En fr. (O)
5810.92.00	15 %	En fr. (O)
5810.99.00	15 %	En fr. (O)
5811.00.10	18 %	En fr. (O)
5811.00.20	18 %	En fr. (O)
5811.00.90	18 %	En fr. (O)
5901.10.90	16 %	En fr. (O)
5901.90.10	8 %	En fr. (O)
5901.90.90	16 %	En fr. (O)
5902.10.00	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5902.20.00	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5902.90.00	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5903.10.19	16 %	En fr. (O)
5903.10.29	16 %	En fr. (O)
5903.20.19	16 %	En fr. (O)
5903.20.23	10 %	En fr. (O)
5903.20.29	16 %	En fr. (O)
5903.90.10	16 %	En fr. (O)
5903.90.29	16 %	En fr. (O)

5904.10.00 8%	Free (O)
5904.90.10 13.5%	Free (O)
5904.90.90 20.5%	Free (O)
5905.00.10 6%	Free (O)
5905.00.90 17%	Free (O)
5906.10.90 16%	Free (O)
5906.91.90 16%	Free (O)
5906.99.10 16%	Free (O)
5906.99.22	Free (O)
5906.99.29 16%	Free (O)
5907.00.13 8.5%	Free (O)
5907.00.18 16%	Free (O)
5907.00.19 16%	Free (O)
5907.00.29 16%	Free (O)
5908.00.90 16%	Free (O)
5909.00.00 15%	Free (O)
5910.00.19 9%	Free (O)
5910.00.90 13.5%	Free (O)
5911.10.10 9.5%	Free (O)
5911.10.90 16%	Free (O)
5911.20.90 16%	Free (O)
5911.31.10 7%	Free (O)
5911.32.10 7%	Free (O)
5911.40.90 16%	Free (O)
5911.90.20 9%	Free (O)
5911.90.90 14.5%	Free (O)
6001.10.90 16%	Free (O)
6001.21.00	Free (O)
6001.22.00 16%	Free (O)
6001.29.00 16%	Free (O)
6001.91.00	Free (O)
6001.92.90 16%	Free (O)
6001.99.00 16%	Free (O)
6002.40.10 10%	Free (O)
6002.40.90 16%	Free (O)
6002.90.10 10%	Free (O)
6002.90.90 16%	Free (O)
6003.10.90 16%	Free (O)
6003.20.10 10%	Free (O)
6003.20.90 16%	Free (O)

Numéro tarifaire	Taux initial	Taux final
5904.10.00	8 %	En fr. (O)
5904.90.10	13,5 %	En fr. (O)
5904.90.90	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
5905.00.10	6 %	En fr. (O)
5905.00.10	17 %	En fr. (O)
5906.10.90	16 %	En fr. (O)
5906.91.90	16 %	En fr. (O)
5906.99.10	16 %	En fr. (O)
5906.99.22	11 %	En fr. (O)
5906.99.29	16 %	En fr. (O)
5907.00.13	8,5 %	En fr. (O)
5907.00.18	16 %	En fr. (O)
5907.00.19	16 %	En fr. (O)
5907.00.29	16 %	En fr. (O)
5908.00.90	16 %	En fr. (O)
5909.00.00	15 %	En fr. (O)
5910.00.19	9 %	En fr. (O)
5910.00.90	13,5 %	En fr. (O)
5911.10.10	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
5911.10.90	16 %	En fr. (O)
5911.20.90	16 %	En fr. (O)
5911.31.10	7 %	En fr. (O)
5911.32.10	7 %	En fr. (O)
5911.40.90	16 %	En fr. (O)
5911.90.20	9 %	En fr. (O)
5911.90.90	14,5 %	En fr. (O)
6001.10.90	16 %	En fr. (O)
6001.21.00	16 %	En fr. (O)
6001.22.00	16 %	En fr. (O)
6001.29.00	16 %	En fr. (O)
6001.91.00	16 %	En fr. (O)
6001.92.90	16 %	En fr. (O)
6001.99.00	16 %	En fr. (O)
6002.40.10	10 %	En fr. (O)
6002.40.90	16 %	En fr. (O)
6002.90.10	10 %	En fr. (O)
6002.90.90	16 %	En fr. (O)
6003.10.90	16 %	En fr. (O)
6003.20.10	10 %	En fr. (O)
6003.20.90	16 %	En fr. (O)

Tariff Item	Initial Rate	Final Rate
6003.30.90	16%	Free (O)
6003.40.90	16%	Free (O)
6003.90.10	10%	Free (O)
6003.90.90	16%	Free (O)
6004.10.10	10%	Free (O)
6004.10.90	16%	Free (O)
6004.90.10	10%	Free (O)
6004.90.90	16%	Free (O)
6005.10.00	16%	Free (O)
6005.21.10	10%	Free (O)
6005.21.90	16%	Free (O)
6005.22.10	10%	Free (O)
6005.22.90	16%	Free (O)
6005.23.10	10%	Free (O)
6005.23.90	16%	Free (O)
6005.24.10	10%	Free (O)
6005.24.90	16%	Free (O)
6005.31.90	16%	Free (O)
6005.32.90	16%	Free (O)
6005.33.90	16%	Free (O)
6005.34.90	16%	Free (O)
6005.41.90	16%	Free (O)
6005.42.90	16%	Free (O)
6005.43.90	16%	Free (O)
6005.44.90	16%	Free (O)
6005.90.90	10%	Free (O)
6006.10.00	16%	Free (O)
6006.21.10	16%	Free (O)
6006.21.90	16%	Free (O)
6006.22.10	16%	Free (O)
6006.22.90	16%	Free (O)
6006.23.20	16%	Free (O)
6006.23.90	16%	Free (O)
6006.24.10	16%	Free (O)
6006.24.90	16%	Free (O)
6006.31.90	16%	Free (O)
6006.32.90	16%	Free (O)
6006.33.90	16%	Free (O)
6006.34.90	16%	Free (O)
6006.41.90	16%	Free (O)

Numéro tarifaire	Taux initial	Taux final
6003.30.90	16 %	En fr. (O)
6003.40.90	16 %	En fr. (O)
6003.90.10	10 %	En fr. (O)
6003.90.90	16 %	En fr. (O)
6004.10.10	10 %	En fr. (O)
6004.10.90	16 %	En fr. (O)
6004.90.10	10 %	En fr. (O)
6004.90.90	16 %	En fr. (O)
6005.10.00	16 %	En fr. (O)
6005.21.10	10 %	En fr. (O)
6005.21.90	16 %	En fr. (O)
6005.22.10	10 %	En fr. (O)
6005.22.90	16 %	En fr. (O)
6005.23.10	10 %	En fr. (O)
6005.23.90	16 %	En fr. (O)
6005.24.10	10 %	En fr. (O)
6005.24.90	16 %	En fr. (O)
6005.31.90	16 %	En fr. (O)
6005.32.90	16 %	En fr. (O)
6005.33.90	16 %	En fr. (O)
6005.34.90	16 %	En fr. (O)
6005.41.90	16 %	En fr. (O)
6005.42.90	16 %	En fr. (O)
6005.43.90	16 %	En fr. (O)
6005.44.90	16 %	En fr. (O)
6005.90.90	10 %	En fr. (O)
6006.10.00	16 %	En fr. (O)
6006.21.10	16 %	En fr. (O)
6006.21.90	16 %	En fr. (O)
6006.22.10	16 %	En fr. (O)
6006.22.90	16 %	En fr. (O)
6006.23.20	16 %	En fr. (O)
6006.23.90	16 %	En fr. (O)
6006.24.10	16 %	En fr. (O)
6006.24.90	16 %	En fr. (O)
6006.31.90	16 %	En fr. (O)
6006.32.90	16 %	En fr. (O)
6006.33.90	16 %	En fr. (O)
6006.34.90	16 %	En fr. (O)
6006.41.90	16 %	En fr. (O)

Tariff Item	Initial Rate	Final Rate
6006.42.90	16%	Free (O)
6006.43.90	16%	Free (O)
6006.44.90	16%	Free (O)
6006.90.00	16%	Free (O)
6101.10.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6101.20.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6101.30.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6101.90.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6102.10.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6102.20.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6102.30.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6102.90.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6103.11.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6103.12.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6103.19.10	20.5%	Free (O)
6103.19.90	20.5%	Free (O)
6103.21.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6103.22.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6103.23.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6103.29.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6103.31.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6103.32.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6103.33.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6103.39.10	20.5%	Free (O)
6103.39.90	20.5%	Free (O)
6103.41.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6103.42.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6103.43.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6103.49.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6104.11.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6104.12.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6104.13.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6104.19.10	20.5%	Free (O)
6104.19.90	20.5%	Free (O)
6104.21.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6104.22.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6104.23.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6104.29.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6104.31.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6104.32.00	20.5%	Free (O)

Numéro tarifaire	Taux initial	Taux final
C00C 42.00	16.07	En fr. (0)
6006.42.90	16 %	En fr. (O)
6006.43.90 6006.44.90	16 %	En fr. (O)
	16 %	En fr. (O)
6006.90.00	16 %	En fr. (O)
6101.10.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6101.20.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6101.30.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6101.90.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6102.10.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6102.20.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6102.30.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6102.90.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6103.11.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6103.12.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6103.19.10	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6103.19.90	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6103.21.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6103.22.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6103.23.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6103.29.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6103.31.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6103.32.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6103.33.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6103.39.10	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6103.39.90	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6103.41.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6103.42.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6103.43.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6103.49.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6104.11.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6104.12.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6104.13.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6104.19.10	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6104.19.90	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6104.21.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6104.22.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6104.23.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6104.29.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6104.31.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6104.32.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
	- · · · ·	2m m (0)

Tariff Item	Initial Rate	Final Rate
6104.33.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6104.39.10	20.5%	Free (O)
6104.39.90	20.5%	Free (O)
6104.41.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6104.42.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6104.43.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6104.44.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6104.49.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6104.51.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6104.52.00	20.5%	
6104.53.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6104.59.10	20.5%	Free (O)
6104.59.90	20.5%	Free (O)
		Free (O)
6104.61.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6104.62.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6104.63.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6104.69.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6105.10.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6105.20.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6105.90.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6106.10.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6106.20.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6106.90.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6107.11.90	20.5%	Free (O)
6107.12.90	20.5%	Free (O)
6107.19.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6107.21.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6107.22.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6107.29.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6107.91.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6107.92.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6107.99.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6108.11.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6108.19.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6108.21.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6108.22.90	20.5%	Free (O)
6108.29.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6108.31.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6108.32.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6108.39.00	20.5%	Free (O)

Numéro tarifaire	Taux initial	Taux final
6104.33.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6104.39.10	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6104.39.90	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6104.41.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6104.42.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6104.43.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6104.44.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6104.49.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6104.51.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6104.52.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6104.53.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6104.59.10	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6104.59.90	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6104.61.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6104.62.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6104.63.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6104.69.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6105.10.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6105.20.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6105.90.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6106.10.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6106.20.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6106.90.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6107.11.90	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6107.12.90	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6107.19.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6107.21.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6107.22.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6107.29.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6107.91.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6107.92.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6107.99.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6108.11.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6108.19.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6108.21.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6108.22.90	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6108.29.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6108.31.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6108.32.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6108.39.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
0100.07.00	20,5 /0	Lii ii. (O)

Tariff Item	Initial Rate	Final Rate
6108.91.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6108.92.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6108.99.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6109.10.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6109.90.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6110.11.10	20.5%	Free (O)
6110.11.10	20.5%	Free (O)
6110.12.10	20.5%	Free (O)
6110.12.10	20.5%	Free (O)
6110.19.10	20.5%	Free (O)
6110.19.10	20.5%	Free (O)
6110.20.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6110.30.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6110.90.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6111.10.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6111.20.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6111.30.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6111.90.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6112.11.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6112.12.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6112.19.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6112.20.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6112.31.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6112.39.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6112.41.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6112.49.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6113.00.20	10%	
6113.00.20	20.5%	Free (O)
6114.10.00	20.5%	Free (O)
	20.5%	Free (O)
6114.20.00 6114.30.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6114.90.00	20.5%	Free (O)
		Free (O)
6115.11.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6115.12.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6115.19.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6115.20.00	16% and 1.3¢/pair	Free (O)
6115.91.00	17%	Free (O)
6115.92.00	16% and 1.3¢/pair	Free (O)
6115.93.00	16% and 1.3¢/pair	Free (O)
6115.99.00	16% and 1.3¢/pair	Free (O)

Numéro tarifaire	Taux initial	Taux final
6108.91.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6108.92.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6108.99.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6109.10.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6109.90.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6110.11.10	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6110.11.90	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6110.12.10	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6110.12.90	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6110.19.10	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6110.19.90	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6110.20.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6110.30.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6110.90.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6111.10.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6111.20.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6111.30.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6111.90.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6112.11.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6112.12.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6112.19.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6112.20.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6112.31.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6112.39.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6112.41.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6112.49.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6113.00.20	10 %	En fr. (O)
6113.00.90	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6114.10.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6114.20.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6114.30.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6114.90.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6115.11.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6115.12.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6115.19.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6115.20.00	16 % et 1,3 ¢/paire	En fr. (O)
6115.91.00	17 %	En fr. (O)
6115.92.00	16 % et 1,3 ¢/paire	En fr. (O)
6115.93.00	16 % et 1,3 ¢/paire	En fr. (O)
6115.99.00	16 % et 1,3 ¢/paire	En fr. (O)

Tariff Item	Initial Rate	Final Rate
6116.10.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6116.91.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6116.92.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6116.93.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6116.99.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6117.10.90	20.5%	Free (O)
6117.20.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6117.80.10	13%	Free (O)
6117.80.90	20.5%	Free (O)
6117.90.20	10%	Free (O)
6117.90.90	20.5%	Free (O)
6201.11.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6201.12.00	19%	Free (O)
6201.13.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6201.19.00	19%	Free (O)
6201.91.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6201.92.10	22.5%	Free (O)
6201.92.90	19%	Free (O)
6201.93.00	19%	Free (O)
6201.99.00	19%	Free (O)
6202.11.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6202.12.00	19%	Free (O)
6202.13.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6202.19.00	17%	Free (O)
6202.91.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6202.92.00	19%	Free (O)
6202.93.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6202.99.00	19%	Free (O)
6203.11.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6203.12.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6203.19.10	19%	Free (O)
6203.19.90	19%	Free (O)
6203.21.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6203.22.00	19%	Free (O)
6203.23.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6203.29.00	19%	Free (O)
6203.31.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6203.32.00	19%	Free (O)
6203.33.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6203.39.10	19%	Free (O)

Numéro tarifaire	Taux initial	Taux final
6116.10.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6116.91.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6116.92.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6116.93.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6116.99.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6117.10.90	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6117.20.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6117.80.10	13 %	En fr. (O)
6117.80.90	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6117.90.20	10 %	En fr. (O)
6117.90.90	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6201.11.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6201.12.00	19 %	En fr. (O)
6201.13.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6201.19.00	19 %	En fr. (O)
6201.91.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6201.92.10	22,5 %	En fr. (O)
6201.92.90	19 %	En fr. (O)
6201.93.00	19 %	En fr. (O)
6201.99.00	19 %	En fr. (O)
6202.11.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6202.12.00	19 %	En fr. (O)
6202.13.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6202.19.00	17 %	En fr. (O)
6202.91.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6202.92.00	19 %	En fr. (O)
6202.93.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6202.99.00	19 %	En fr. (O)
6203.11.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6203.12.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6203.19.10	19 %	En fr. (O)
6203.19.90	19 %	En fr. (O)
6203.21.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6203.22.00	19 %	En fr. (O)
6203.23.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6203.29.00	19 %	En fr. (O)
6203.31.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6203.32.00	19 %	En fr. (O)
6203.33.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6203.39.10	19 %	En fr. (O)

Tariff Item	Initial Rate	Final Rate
6203.39.90	19%	Free (O)
6203.41.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6203.42.00	19%	Free (O)
6203.43.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6203.49.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6204.11.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6204.12.00	19%	Free (O)
6204.13.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6204.19.10	20.5%	Free (O)
6204.19.90	20.5%	Free (O)
6204.21.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6204.22.00	19%	Free (O)
6204.23.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6204.29.00	19%	Free (O)
6204.31.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6204.32.00	19%	Free (O)
6204.33.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6204.39.10	19%	Free (O)
6204.39.90	19%	Free (O)
6204.41.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6204.42.00	19%	Free (O)
6204.43.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6204.44.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6204.49.00	17%	Free (O)
6204.51.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6204.52.00	19%	Free (O)
6204.53.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6204.59.10	19%	Free (O)
6204.59.90	19%	Free (O)
6204.61.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6204.62.00	19%	Free (O)
6204.63.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6204.69.00	19%	Free (O)
6205.10.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6205.20.00	19%	Free (O)
6205.30.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6205.90.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6206.10.00	17%	Free (O)
6206.20.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6206.30.00	19%	Free (O)

Numéro tarifaire	Taux initial	Taux final
6203.39.90	19 %	En fr. (O)
6203.41.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O) En fr. (O)
6203.42.00	19 %	En fr. (O)
6203.43.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6203.49.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6204.11.00	20,5 %	
	19 %	En fr. (O)
6204.12.00 6204.13.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O) En fr. (O)
6204.13.00	20,5 %	
6204.19.10	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6204.21.00		En fr. (O)
	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6204.22.00	19 %	En fr. (O)
6204.23.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6204.29.00	19 %	En fr. (O)
6204.31.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6204.32.00	19 %	En fr. (O)
6204.33.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6204.39.10	19 %	En fr. (O)
6204.39.90	19 %	En fr. (O)
6204.41.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6204.42.00	19 %	En fr. (O)
6204.43.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6204.44.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6204.49.00	17 %	En fr. (O)
6204.51.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6204.52.00	19 %	En fr. (O)
6204.53.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6204.59.10	19 %	En fr. (O)
6204.59.90	19 %	En fr. (O)
6204.61.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6204.62.00	19 %	En fr. (O)
6204.63.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6204.69.00	19 %	En fr. (O)
6205.10.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6205.20.00	19 %	En fr. (O)
6205.30.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6205.90.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6206.10.00	17 %	En fr. (O)
6206.20.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6206.30.00	19 %	En fr. (O)

Tariff Item	Initial Rate	Final Rate
6206.40.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6206.90.00	19%	Free (O)
6207.11.00	19%	Free (O)
6207.19.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6207.21.00	19%	Free (O)
6207.22.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6207.29.00	17%	Free (O)
6207.91.00	19%	Free (O)
6207.92.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6207.99.00	19%	Free (O)
6208.11.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6208.19.00	18.5%	Free (O)
6208.21.00	19%	Free (O)
6208.22.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6208.29.00	17%	Free (O)
6208.91.00	19%	Free (O)
6208.92.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6208.99.00	17%	Free (O)
6209.10.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6209.20.00	19%	Free (O)
6209.30.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6209.90.00	20%	Free (O)
6210.10.90	20%	Free (O)
6210.20.00	20%	Free (O)
6210.30.00	20%	Free (O)
6210.40.90	20%	Free (O)
6210.50.90	20%	Free (O)
6211.11.00	20%	Free (O)
6211.12.90	20.5%	Free (O)
6211.20.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6211.31.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6211.32.00	19%	Free (O)
6211.33.10	8.5%	Free (O)
6211.33.90	20.5%	Free (O)
6211.39.00	19%	Free (O)
6211.41.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6211.42.00	19%	Free (O)
6211.43.10	7%	Free (O)
6211.43.20	8.5%	Free (O)
6211.43.90	20.5%	Free (O)

Numéro tarifaire	Taux initial	Taux final
		7 4 (0)
6206.40.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6206.90.00	19 %	En fr. (O)
6207.11.00	19 %	En fr. (O)
6207.19.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6207.21.00	19 %	En fr. (O)
6207.22.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6207.29.00	17 %	En fr. (O)
6207.91.00	19 %	En fr. (O)
6207.92.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6207.99.00	19 %	En fr. (O)
6208.11.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6208.19.00	18,5 %	En fr. (O)
6208.21.00	19 %	En fr. (O)
6208.22.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6208.29.00	17 %	En fr. (O)
6208.91.00	19 %	En fr. (O)
6208.92.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6208.99.00	17 %	En fr. (O)
6209.10.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6209.20.00	19 %	En fr. (O)
6209.30.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6209.90.00	20 %	En fr. (O)
6210.10.90	20 %	En fr. (O)
6210.20.00	20 %	En fr. (O)
6210.30.00	20 %	En fr. (O)
6210.40.90	20 %	En fr. (O)
6210,50.90	20 %	En fr. (O)
6211.11.00	20 %	En fr. (O)
6211.12.90	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6211.20.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6211.31.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6211.32.00	19 %	En fr. (O)
6211.33.10	8,5 %	En fr. (O)
6211.33.90	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6211.39.00	19 %	En fr. (O)
6211.41.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6211.42.00	19 %	En fr. (O)
6211.43.10	7 %	En fr. (O)
6211.43.20	8,5 %	En fr. (O)
6211.43.90	20,5 %	En fr. (O)

Tariff Item	Initial Rate	Final Rate
6211.49.10	7%	Free (O)
6211.49.20	8.5%	Free (O)
6211.49.90	19%	Free (O)
6212.10.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6212.20.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6212.30.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6212.90.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6213.10.00	10%	Free (O)
6213.20.00	10%	Free (O)
6213.90.00	16%	Free (O)
6214.10.90	10%	Free (O)
6214.20.90	20.5%	Free (O)
6214.30.90	20.5%	Free (O)
6214.40.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6214.90.00	20%	Free (O)
6215.10.00	17%	Free (O)
6215.20.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6215.90.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6216.00.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6217.10.10	8.5%	Free (O)
6217.10.90	16%	Free (O)
6217.90.90	20%	Free (O)
6301.10.00	19%	Free (O)
6301.20.00	19%	Free (O)
6301.30.00	19%	Free (O)
6301.40.00	19%	Free (O)
6301.90.00	19%	Free (O)
6302.10.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6302.21.00	19%	Free (O)
6302.22.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6302.29.00	19%	Free (O)
6302.31.00	19%	Free (O)
6302.32.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6302.39.00	19%	Free (O)
6302.40.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6302.51.00	19%	Free (O)
6302.52.00	9.5%	Free (O)
6302.53.10	8.5%	Free (O)
6302.53.90	20.5%	Free (O)
6302.59.00	18.5%	Free (O)
3502.57.00	20.0 /	1100 (0)

Numéro tarifaire	Taux initial	Taux final
6211.49.10	7 %	En fr. (O)
6211.49.20	8,5 %	En fr. (O)
6211.49.90	19 %	En fr. (O)
6212.10.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6212.20.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6212.30.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6212.90.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6213.10.00	10 %	En fr. (O)
6213.20.00	10 %	En fr. (O)
6213.90.00	16 %	En fr. (O)
6214.10.90	10 %	En fr. (O)
6214.20.90	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6214.30.90	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6214.40.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6214.90.00	20 %	En fr. (O)
6215.10.00	17 %	En fr. (O)
6215.20.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6215.90.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6216.00.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6217.10.10	8,5 %	En fr. (O)
6217.10.90	16 %	En fr. (O)
6217.90.90	20 %	En fr. (O)
6301.10.00	19 %	En fr. (O)
6301.20.00	19 %	En fr. (O)
6301.30.00	19 %	En fr. (O)
6301.40.00	19 %	En fr. (O)
6301.90.00	19 %	En fr. (O)
6302.10.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6302.21.00	19 %	En fr. (O)
6302.22.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6302.29.00	19 %	En fr. (O)
6302.31.00	19 %	En fr. (O)
6302.32.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6302.39.00	19 %	En fr. (O)
6302.40.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6302.51.00	19 %	En fr. (O)
6302.52.00	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
6302.53.10	8,5 %	En fr. (O)
6302.53.90	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6302.59.00	18,5 %	En fr. (O)

Tariff Item	Initial Rate	Final Rate
6302.60.00	19%	Free (O)
6302.91.00	19%	Free (O)
6302.92.00	17%	Free (O)
6302.93.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6302.99.00	19%	Free (O)
6303.11.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6303.12.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6303.19.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6303.91.00	19%	Free (O)
6303.92.10	20.5%	Free (O)
6303.92.90	20.5%	Free (O)
6303.99.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6304.11.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6304.19.00	20%	Free (O)
6304.91.10	15.5%	Free (O)
6304.91.90	20.5%	Free (O)
6304.92.10	15.5%	Free (O)
6304.92.90	19%	Free (O)
6304.93.10	15.5%	Free (O)
6304.93.90	20.5%	Free (O)
6304.99.10	15.5%	Free (O)
6304.99.90	19%	Free (O)
6305.10.00	6%	Free (O)
6305.20.00	19%	Free (O)
6305.32.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6305.33.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6305.39.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6305.90.00	6%	Free (O)
6306.11.00	19%	Free (O)
6306.12.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6306.19.00	19%	Free (O)
6306.21.00	19%	Free (O)
6306.22.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6306.29.00	19%	Free (O)
6306.31.00	17%	Free (O)
6306.39.00	17%	Free (O)
6306.41.00	13%	Free (O)
6306.49.00	13%	Free (O)
6306.91.00	19%	Free (O)
6306.99.00	20.5%	Free (O)
0000,7100	20.0 /0	1100 (0)

Numéro tarifaire	Taux initial	Taux final
6302.60.00	19 %	En fr. (O)
6302.91.00	19 %	En fr. (O)
6302.92.00	17 %	En fr. (O)
6302.93.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6302.99.00	19 %	En fr. (O)
6303.11.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6303.12.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6303.19.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6303.91.00	19 %	En fr. (O)
6303.92.10	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6303.92.90	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6303.99.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6304.11.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6304.19.00	20 %	En fr. (O)
6304.91.10	15,5 %	En fr. (O)
6304.91.90	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6304.92.10	15,5 %	En fr. (O)
6304.92.90	19 %	En fr. (O)
6304.93.10	15,5 %	En fr. (O)
6304.93.90	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6304.99.10	15,5 %	En fr. (O)
6304.99.90	19 %	En fr. (O)
6305.10.00	6 %	En fr. (O)
6305.20.00	19 %	En fr. (O)
6305.32.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6305.33.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6305.39.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6305.90.00	6 %	En fr. (O)
6306.11.00	19 %	En fr. (O)
6306.12.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6306.19.00	19 %	En fr. (O)
6306.21.00	19 %	En fr. (O)
6306.22.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6306.29.00	19 %	En fr. (O)
6306.31.00	17 %	En fr. (O)
6306.39.00	17 %	En fr. (O)
6306.41.00	13 %	En fr. (O)
6306.49.00	13 %	En fr. (O)
6306.91.00	19 %	En fr. (O)
6306.99.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)

Tariff Item	Initial Rate	Final Rate
6307.10.10	19%	Free (O)
6307.10.90	19%	Free (O)
6307.20.00	19%	Free (O)
6307.90.20	8.5%	Free (O)
6307.90.30	13%	Free (O)
6307.90.40	19%	Free (O)
6307.90.91	9.5%	Free (O)
6307.90.92	17%	Free (O)
6307.90.93	19%	Free (O)
6307.90.99	20.5%	Free (O)
6308.00.00	20.5%	Free (O)
6309.00.90	20.5%	Free (O)
6401.10.11	20%	Free (O)
6401.10.19	20%	Free (O)
6401.10.20	20%	Free (O)
6401.91.11	20%	Free (O)
6401.91.19	20%	Free (O)
6401.91.20	20%	Free (O)
6401.92.11	20%	Free (O)
6401.92.12	20%	Free (O)
6401.92.30	20%	Free (O)
6401.92.91	20%	Free (O)
6401.92.92	20%	Free (O)
6401.99.10	20%	Free (O)
6401.99.21	10%	Free (O)
6401.99.29	20%	Free (O)
6401.99.30	20%	Free (O)
6402.12.20	18%	Free (O)
6402.12.30	19.5%	Free (O)
6402.19.10	19.5%	Free (O)
6402.19.90	19.5%	Free (O)
6402.20.11	17%	Free (O)
6402.20.19	17%	Free (O)
6402.20.20	20%	Free (O)
6402.30.00	17.5%	Free (O)
6402.91.00	19.5%	Free (O)
6402.99.00	19.5%	Free (O)
6403.12.20	18%	Free (O)
6403.12.30	20%	Free (O)
6403.19.20	20%	Free (O)

Numéro tarifaire	Taux initial	Taux final
Numero tarnane	Taux Illitiai	Taux Imai
6307.10.10	19 %	En fr. (O)
6307.10.90	19 %	En fr. (O)
6307.20.00	19 %	En fr. (O)
6307.90.20	8,5 %	En fr. (O)
6307.90.30	13 %	En fr. (O)
6307.90.40	19 %	En fr. (O)
6307.90.91	9,5 %	En fr. (O)
6307.90.92	17 %	En fr. (O)
6307.90.93	19 %	En fr. (O)
6307.90.99	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6308.00.00	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6309.00.90	20,5 %	En fr. (O)
6401.10.11	20 %	En fr. (O)
6401.10.19	20 %	En fr. (O)
6401.10.20	20 %	En fr. (O)
6401.91.11	20 %	En fr. (O)
6401.91.19	20 %	En fr. (O)
6401.91.20	20 %	En fr. (O)
6401.92.11	20 %	En fr. (O)
6401.92.12	20 %	En fr. (O)
6401.92.30	20 %	En fr. (O)
6401.92.91	20 %	En fr. (O)
6401.92.92	20 %	En fr. (O)
6401.99.10	20 %	En fr. (O)
6401.99.21	10 %	En fr. (O)
6401.99.29	20 %	En fr. (O)
6401.99.30	20 %	En fr. (O)
6402.12.20	18 %	En fr. (O)
6402.12.30	19,5 %	En fr. (O)
6402.19.10	19,5 %	En fr. (O)
6402.19.90	19,5 %	En fr. (O)
6402.20.11	17 %	En fr. (O)
6402.20.19	17 %	En fr. (O)
6402.20.20	20 %	En fr. (O)
6402.30.00	17,5 %	En fr. (O)
6402.91.00	19,5 %	En fr. (O)
6402.99.00	19,5 %	En fr. (O)
6403.12.20	18 %	En fr. (O)
6403.12.30	20 %	En fr. (O)
6403.19.20	20 %	En fr. (O)

Tariff Item	Initial Rate	Final Rate
6403.19.90	20%	Free (O)
6403.20.00	18%	Free (O)
6403.30.00	20%	Free (O)
6403.40.00	20%	Free (O)
6403.51.00	18%	Free (O)
6403.59.20	11%	Free (O)
6403.59.90	20%	Free (O)
6403.91.00	20%	Free (O)
6403.99.20	20%	Free (O)
6403.99.30	11%	Free (O)
6403.99.90	20%	Free (O)
6404.11.11	17%	Free (O)
6404.11.19	17%	Free (O)
6404.11.91	19.5%	Free (O)
6404.11.99	19.5%	Free (O)
6404.19.20	8.5%	Free (O)
6404.19.30	17%	Free (O)
6404.19.90	20%	Free (O)
6404.20.90	18%	Free (O)
6405.10.90	20%	Free (O)
6405.20.20	20%	Free (O)
6405.20.90	20%	Free (O)
6405.90.00	20%	Free (O)
6406.10.11	15.5%	Free (O)
6406.10.19	15.5%	Free (O)
6406.10.90	8%	Free (O)
6406.20.00	2.5%	Free (O)
6406.99.20	10%	Free (O)
6406.99.90	5%	Free (O)
6503.00.90	12.5%	Free (M)
6504.00.90	12.5%	Free (M)
6505.10.00	15.5%	Free (M)
6505.90.20	12.5%	Free (M)
6505.90.90	15.5%	Free (M)
6506.10.90	8.5%	Free (M)
6506.91.00	9%	Free (M)
6506.92.00	8%	Free (M)
6506.99.10	5%	Free (M)
6506.99.90	12.5%	Free (M)
6904.10.00	3%	Free (M)
		(***)

Numéro tarifaire	Taux initial	Taux final
6402 10 00	20.07	En fr. (0)
6403.19.90	20 % 18 %	En fr. (O) En fr. (O)
6403.20.00	20 %	
6403.30.00		En fr. (O)
6403.40.00	20 %	En fr. (O)
6403.51.00 6403.59.20	18 %	En fr. (O)
	11 %	En fr. (O)
6403.59.90	20 %	En fr. (O)
6403.91.00	20 %	En fr. (O)
6403.99.20	20 %	En fr. (O)
6403.99.30	11 %	En fr. (O)
6403.99.90	20 %	En fr. (O)
6404.11.11	17 %	En fr. (O)
6404.11.19	17 %	En fr. (O)
6404.11.91	19,5 %	En fr. (O)
6404.11.99	19,5 %	En fr. (O)
6404.19.20	8,5 %	En fr. (O)
6404.19.30	17 %	En fr. (O)
6404.19.90	20 %	En fr. (O)
6404.20.90	18 %	En fr. (O)
6405.10.90	20 %	En fr. (O)
6405.20.20	20 %	En fr. (O)
6405.20.90	20 %	En fr. (O)
6405.90.00	20 %	En fr. (O)
6406.10.11	15,5 %	En fr. (O)
6406.10.19	15,5 %	En fr. (O)
6406.10.90	8 %	En fr. (O)
6406.20.00	2,5 %	En fr. (O)
6406.99.20	10 %	En fr. (O)
6406.99.90	5 %	En fr. (O)
6503.00.90	12,5 %	En fr. (M)
6504.00.90	12,5 %	En fr. (M)
6505.10.00	15,5 %	En fr. (M)
6505.90.20	12,5 %	En fr. (M)
6505.90.90	15,5 %	En fr. (M)
6506.10.90	8,5 %	En fr. (M)
6506.91.00	9 %	En fr. (M)
6506.92.00	8 %	En fr. (M)
6506.99.10	5 %	En fr. (M)
6506.99.90	12,5 %	En fr. (M)
6904.10.00	3 %	En fr. (M)

Tariff Item	Initial Rate	Final Rate
6904.90.10	3%	Free (M)
6904.90.20	8%	Free (M)
6905.10.00	6.5%	Free (M)
6905.90.00	7%	Free (M)
6907.10.00	8%	Free (M)
6907.90.00	8%	Free (M)
6908.10.00	8%	Free (M)
6908.90.10	8%	Free (M)
6908.90.90	8%	Free (M)
6909.11.00	4.5%	Free (M)
6909.12.90	4.5%	Free (M)
6909.19.90	4.5%	Free (M)
6909.90.00	7%	Free (M)
6910.10.10	7.5%	Free (M)
6910.10.90	7.5%	Free (M)
6910.90.00	7.5%	Free (M)
6911.10.20	4.5%	Free (M)
6911.10.90	7%	Free (M)
6911.90.00	5.5%	Free (M)
6912.00.20	4.5%	Free (M)
6912.00.90	7%	Free (M)
6913.10.00	6.5%	Free (M)
6913.90.90	6.5%	Free (M)
6914.10.90	7%	Free (M)
6914.90.00	7%	Free (M)
9401.20.00	6%	Free (M)
9401.30.10	8%	Free (M)
9401.40.00	9.5%	Free (M)
9401.50.10	9.5%	Free (M)
9401.50.90	9.5%	Free (M)
9401.61.10	9.5%	Free (M)
9401.69.10	9.5%	Free (M)
9401.71.10	8%	Free (M)
9401.79.10	8%	Free (M)
9401.80.10	9.5%	Free (M)
9401.90.19	8%	Free (M)
9401.90.20	15.5%	Free (M)
9403.20.00	8%	Free (M)
9403.40.00	9.5%	Free (M)
9403.50.00	9.5%	Free (M)
		(***)

Numéro tarifaire	Taux initial	Taux final
6904.90.10	3 %	En fr. (M)
6904.90.20	8 %	En fr. (M)
6905.10.00	6,5 %	En fr. (M)
6905.90.00	7 %	En fr. (M)
6907.10.00	8 %	En fr. (M)
6907.90.00	8 %	En fr. (M)
6908.10.00	8 %	En fr. (M)
6908.90.10	8 %	En fr. (M)
6908.90.90	8 %	En fr. (M)
6909.11.00	4,5 %	En fr. (M)
6909.12.90	4,5 %	En fr. (M)
6909.19.90	4,5 %	En fr. (M)
6909.90.00	7 %	En fr. (M)
6910.10.10	7,5 %	En fr. (M)
6910.10.90	7,5 %	En fr. (M)
6910.90.00	7,5 %	En fr. (M)
6911.10.20	4,5 %	En fr. (M)
6911.10.90	7 %	En fr. (M)
6911.90.00	5,5 %	En fr. (M)
6912.00.20	4,5 %	En fr. (M)
6912.00.90	7 %	En fr. (M)
6913.10.00	6,5 %	En fr. (M)
6913.90.90	6,5 %	En fr. (M)
6914.10.90	7 %	En fr. (M)
6914.90.00	7 %	En fr. (M)
9401.20.00	6 %	En fr. (M)
9401.30.10	8 %	En fr. (M)
9401.40.00	9,5 %	En fr. (M)
9401.50.10	9,5 %	En fr. (M)
9401.50.90	9,5 %	En fr. (M)
9401.61.10	9,5 %	En fr. (M)
9401.69.10	9,5 %	En fr. (M)
9401.71.10	8 %	En fr. (M)
9401.79.10	8 %	En fr. (M)
9401.80.10	9,5 %	En fr. (M)
9401.90.19	8 %	En fr. (M)
9401.90.20	15,5 %	En fr. (M)
9403.20.00	8 %	En fr. (M)
9403.40.00	9,5 %	En fr. (M)
9403.50.00	9,5 %	En fr. (M)
	- 7	(*·*/

34

Tariff Item	Initial Rate	Final Rate
0.402.60.10	0.50	F 46
9403.60.10	9.5%	Free (M)
9403.70.10	9.5%	Free (M)
9403.80.11	9.5%	Free (M)
9403.80.19	9.5%	Free (M)
9404.10.00	8%	Free (M)
9404.21.00	9.5%	Free (M)
9404.29.00	9.5%	Free (M)
9404.30.00	15.5%	Free (M)
9404.90.10	14%	Free (O)
9404.90.90	14%	Free (O)
9405.10.00	7%	Free (M)
9405.20.00	7%	Free (M)
9405.30.00	7%	Free (M)
9405.40.20	6%	Free (M)
9405.40.90	7%	Free (M)
9405.50.10	5%	Free (M)
9405.50.90	7%	Free (M)
9405.60.00	7%	Free (M)
9405.91.10	7%	Free (M)
9405.91.99	4.5%	Free (M)
9405.92.00	3.5%	Free (M)
9405.99.90	6%	Free (M)

Numéro tarifaire	Taux initial	Taux final
0.402 60.40	0.5.0/	F (0.0
9403.60.10	9,5 %	En fr. (M)
9403.70.10	9,5 %	En fr. (M)
9403.80.11	9,5 %	En fr. (M)
9403.80.19	9,5 %	En fr. (M)
9404.10.00	8 %	En fr. (M)
9404.21.00	9,5 %	En fr. (M)
9404.29.00	9,5 %	En fr. (M)
9404.30.00	15,5 %	En fr. (M)
9404.90.10	14 %	En fr. (O)
9404.90.90	14 %	En fr. (O)
9405.10.00	7 %	En fr. (M)
9405.20.00	7 %	En fr. (M)
9405.30.00	7 %	En fr. (M)
9405.40.20	6 %	En fr. (M)
9405.40.90	7 %	En fr. (M)
9405,50.10	5 %	En fr. (M)
9405.50.90	7 %	En fr. (M)
9405.60.00	7 %	En fr. (M)
9405.91.10	7 %	En fr. (M)
9405.91.99	4,5 %	En fr. (M)
9405.92.00	3,5 %	En fr. (M)
9405.99.90	6 %	En fr. (M)

C. 28

SCHEDULE 3

 $(Paragraph\ 46(7)(b))$

Tariff Item	Most–Favoured–Nation Tariff	Preferential Tariff
3919.10.10		Effective on the coming into
		force of section 49.1 CRT: 10%
		Effective on January 1, 2003 CRT: 8%
		Effective on January 1, 2004 CRT: 5%
		Effective on January 1, 2005 CRT: 2.5%
		Effective on January 1, 2006 CRT: Free
3919.90.10		Effective on the coming into
		force of section 49.1 CRT: 10%
		Effective on January 1, 2003 CRT: 8%
		Effective on January 1, 2004 CRT: 5%
		Effective on January 1, 2005 CRT: 2.5%
		Effective on January 1, 2006 CRT: Free
921.90.12		Effective on the coming into
· ·-·· v·· -		force of section 49.1 CRT: 10%
		Effective on January 1, 2003 CRT: 8%
		Effective on January 1, 2004 CRT: 5%
		Effective on January 1, 2005 CRT: 2.5%
		Effective on January 1, 2006 CRT: Free
		Effective off January 1, 2000 CK1. Free
		Effective on January 1, 2002 GPT: 9%
		Effective on January 1, 2003 GPT: 7%
		Effective on January 1, 2004 GPT: 6%
921.90.19		Effective on the coming into
		force of section 49.1 CRT: 10%
		Effective on January 1, 2003 CRT: 8%
		Effective on January 1, 2004 CRT: 5%
		Effective on January 1, 2005 CRT: 2.5%
		Effective on January 1, 2006 CRT: Free
926.20.91		Effective on the coming into
		force of section 49.1 CRT: 10%
		Effective on January 1, 2003 CRT: 8%
		Effective on January 1, 2004 CRT: 5%
		Effective on January 1, 2005 CRT: 2.5%
		Effective on January 1, 2006 CRT: Free
926.20.92		Effective on the coming into
		force of section 49.1 CRT: 10%
		Effective on January 1, 2003 CRT: 8%
		Effective on January 1, 2004 CRT: 5%
		Effective on January 1, 2005 CRT: 2.5%
		Effective on January 1, 2006 CRT: Free

ANNEXE 3 (alinéa 46(7)b))

Numéro tarifaire	Tarif de la nation la plus favorisée	Tarif de préférence
3919.10.10		À compter de l'entrée en vigueur
		de l'article 49.1 TCR: 10 %
		À compter du 1 ^{er} janvier 2003 TCR: 8 %
		À compter du 1 ^{er} janvier 2004 TCR: 5 %
		À compter du 1 ^{er} janvier 2005 TCR: 2,5 %
		À compter du 1 ^{er} janvier 2006 TCR: En fr.
3919.90.10		À compter de l'entrée en vigueur
		de l'article 49.1
		À compter du 1er janvier 2003 TCR: 8 %
		À compter du 1 ^{er} janvier 2004 TCR: 5 %
		À compter du 1 ^{er} janvier 2005 TCR: 2,5 %
		À compter du 1 ^{er} janvier 2006 TCR: En fr.
3921.90.12		À compter de l'entrée en vigueur
		de l'article 49.1 TCR: 10 %
		À compter du 1er janvier 2003 TCR: 8 %
		À compter du 1 ^{er} janvier 2004 TCR: 5 %
		À compter du 1 ^{er} janvier 2005 TCR: 2,5 %
		À compter du 1 ^{er} janvier 2006 TCR: En fr.
		À compter du 1 ^{er} janvier 2002 TPG: 9 %
		À compter du 1 ^{er} janvier 2003 TPG: 7 %
		À compter du 1 ^{er} janvier 2004 TPG: 6 %
3921.90.19		À compter de l'entrée en vigueur
		de l'article 49.1 TCR: 10 %
		À compter du 1 ^{er} janvier 2003 TCR: 8 %
		À compter du 1 ^{er} janvier 2004 TCR: 5 %
		À compter du 1 ^{er} janvier 2005 TCR: 2,5 %
		À compter du 1 ^{er} janvier 2006 TCR: En fr.
3926.20.91		À compter de l'entrée en vigueur
		de l'article 49.1 TCR: 10 %
		À compter du 1 ^{er} janvier 2003 TCR: 8 %
		À compter du 1 ^{er} janvier 2004 TCR: 5 %
		À compter du 1 ^{er} janvier 2005 TCR: 2,5 %
		À compter du 1 ^{er} janvier 2006 TCR: En fr.
3926.20.92		À compter de l'entrée en vigueur
		de l'article 49.1 TCR: 10 %
		À compter du 1er janvier 2003 TCR: 8 %
		À compter du 1 ^{er} janvier 2004 TCR: 5 %
		À compter du 1 ^{er} janvier 2005 TCR: 2,5 %
		À compter du 1 ^{er} janvier 2006 TCR: En fr.

C. 28

Tariff Item	Most–Favoured–Nation Tariff	Preferential Tariff
3926.20.95		Effective on the coming into
5,20.20.,6		force of section 49.1 CRT: 10%
		Effective on January 1, 2003 CRT: 8%
		Effective on January 1, 2004 CRT: 5%
		Effective on January 1, 2005 CRT: 2.5%
		Effective on January 1, 2006 CRT: Free
3926.90.50		Effective on the coming into
		force of section 49.1 CRT: 2.5%
		Effective on January 1, 2003 CRT: Free

Numéro tarifaire	Tarif de la nation la plus favorisée	Tarif de préférence
3926.20.95		À compter de l'entrée en vigueur de l'article 49.1
3926.90.50		À compter de l'entrée en vigueur de l'article 49.1

QUEEN'S PRINTER FOR CANADA © IMPRIMEUR DE LA REINE POUR LE CANADA OTTAWA, 2001

CHAPTER 29

CHAPITRE 29

TRANSPORTATION APPEAL TRIBUNAL OF CANADA ACT

LOI SUR LE TRIBUNAL D'APPEL DES TRANSPORTS DU CANADA

SUMMARY

This enactment establishes the Transportation Appeal Tribunal of Canada, which replaces the Civil Aviation Tribunal established under Part IV of the *Aeronautics Act*, and extends the new Tribunal's jurisdiction to the marine and railway sectors.

The enactment provides for the appointment of members to the Tribunal, and sets out the general powers and authorities of the Tribunal to conduct its affairs. It also provides for an independent process of review by the Tribunal of administrative enforcement actions — including the suspension and cancellation of licences, certificates and other documents of entitlement, and the imposition of monetary penalties — taken under various federal transportation Acts. The Tribunal will also hear appeals from determinations made on review.

The enactment amends the Aeronautics Act, the Canada Shipping Act, the Canada Transportation Act, the Marine Transportation Security Act and the Railway Safety Act to establish the jurisdiction and decision-making authorities of the Tribunal under those Acts.

SOMMAIRE

Le texte établit le Tribunal d'appel des transports du Canada, qui remplace le Tribunal de l'Aviation civile créé en vertu de la partie IV de la *Loi sur l'aéronautique* et dont la compétence s'étend aux secteurs maritime et ferroviaire.

Il prévoit la nomination des membres du Tribunal ainsi que l'ensemble des pouvoirs et compétences nécessaires à l'administration des affaires qui lui sont confiées. Il prévoit aussi un processus indépendant d'examen et de révision par le Tribunal à l'égard de certaines mesures d'exécution administrative — notamment la suspension ou l'annulation des brevets, certificats et autres documents d'autorisation et les sanctions administratives imposées — prises en vertu de diverses lois fédérales relatives au transport. Le Tribunal connaît également des appels interjetés des décisions qu'il a rendues dans les dossiers de révision.

Le texte modifie la *Loi sur l'aéronautique*, la *Loi sur la marine marchande du Canada*, la *Loi sur les transports au Canada*, la *Loi sur la sûreté du transport maritime* et la *Loi sur la sécurité ferroviaire* afin d'établir la compétence et les pouvoirs de décision du Tribunal sous leur régime.

TABLE OF PROVISIONS

TABLE ANALYTIQUE

TRANSPORTATION APPEAL TRIBUNAL OF CANADA ACT

LOI SUR LE TRIBUNAL D'APPEL DES TRANSPORTS DU CANADA

TITRE ABRÉGÉ

SHORT TITLE

31.

Continuation of legal proceedings

1.	Short title	1.	Titre abrégé
	TRANSPORTATION APPEAL TRIBUNAL OF CANADA		TRIBUNAL D'APPEL DES TRANSPORTS DU CANADA
2.	Establishment	2.	Constitution
3.	Members	3.	Conseillers
4.	Chairperson and Vice-Chairperson	4.	Président et vice-président
5.	Duties of Chairperson	5.	Fonctions du président
6.	Term of office	6.	Mandat
7.	Remuneration	7.	Rémunération
8.	Inconsistent interests — full-time members	8.	Incompatibilité : conseillers à temps plein
9.	Principal office	9.	Siège
10.	Employees	10.	Personnel
11.	Sittings	11.	Séances
12.	Hearings on review	12.	Requêtes en révision : audition
13.	Hearings on appeal	13.	Appels : audition
14.	Nature of appeal	14.	Nature de l'appel
15.	Nature of hearings	15.	Audiences
16.	Powers of Tribunal	16.	Pouvoirs
17.	Reasons	17.	Motifs
18.	Rules of Tribunal	18.	Règles de procédure
19.	Costs	19.	Dépens
20.	Proceedings to be recorded	20.	Tribunal d'archives
21.	Decision on appeal final	21.	Décision définitive
22.	Annual report	22.	Rapport annuel
	TRANSITIONAL PROVISIONS		DISPOSITIONS TRANSITOIRES
23.	Definitions	23.	Définitions
24.	Powers, duties and functions	24.	Transfert d'attributions
25.	Appropriations	25.	Transfert de crédits
26.	Members of Tribunal	26.	Membres du Tribunal
27.	Employment continued	27.	Postes
28.	References	28.	Renvois
29.	Rights and obligations	29.	Transfert des droits et obligations
30.	Commencement of legal proceedings	30.	Procédures judiciaires nouvelles

31.

Procédures en cours devant les tribunaux

32.

73.

Poursuite des procédures

Entrée en vigueur

MODIFICATIONS CONNEXES

32.

73.

Coming into force

Continuation of proceedings

CONSEQUENTIAL AMENDMENTS

22 45	A A	22 45	I -! P - (!
33-43.	Aeronautics Act	33-43.	Loi sur l'aéronautique
46-51.	Canada Shipping Act	46-51.	Loi sur la marine marchande du Canada
52.	Canada Transportation Act	52.	Loi sur les transports au Canada
53-54.	Financial Administration Act	53-54.	Loi sur la gestion des finances publiques
55-59.	Marine Transportation Security Act	55-59.	Loi sur la sûreté du transport maritime
60-61.	Public Sector Compensation Act	60-61.	Loi sur la rémunération du secteur public
62-63.	Public Service Staff Relations Act	62-63.	Loi sur les relations de travail dans la fonction publique
64-70.	Railway Safety Act	64-70.	Loi sur la sécurité ferroviaire
	COORDINATING AMENDMENTS		DISPOSITIONS DE COORDINATION
71.	Amendment to This Act	71.	Modification à la présente loi
72.	Bill C-14	72.	Projet de loi C-14
	COMING INTO FORCE		ENTRÉE EN VIGUEUR

49-50 ELIZABETH II

49-50 ELIZABETH II

CHAPTER 29

An Act to establish the Transportation Appeal Tribunal of Canada and to make consequential amendments to other Acts

[Assented to 18th December, 2001]

Her Majesty, by and with the advice and consent of the Senate and House of Commons of Canada, enacts as follows:

SHORT TITLE

Short title

1. This Act may be cited as the *Transportation Appeal Tribunal of Canada Act*.

TRANSPORTATION APPEAL TRIBUNAL OF CANADA

Establishment

2. (1) There is hereby established a tribunal to be known as the Transportation Appeal Tribunal of Canada ("the Tribunal").

Jurisdiction generally

(2) The Tribunal has jurisdiction in respect of reviews and appeals as expressly provided for under the *Aeronautics Act*, the *Canada Shipping Act*, the *Marine Transportation Security Act*, the *Railway Safety Act* and any other federal Act regarding transportation.

Jurisdiction in respect of Canada Transportation Act

Members

- (3) The Tribunal also has jurisdiction in respect of reviews and appeals in connection with administrative monetary penalties provided for under sections 177 to 181 of the *Canada Transportation Act*.
- **3.** (1) The Governor in Council shall appoint as members of the Tribunal persons who, in the opinion of the Governor in Council, collectively have expertise in the transportation sectors in respect of which the federal government has jurisdiction.

CHAPITRE 29

Loi portant constitution du Tribunal d'appel des transports du Canada et modifiant certaines lois en conséquence

[Sanctionnée le 18 décembre 2001]

Sa Majesté, sur l'avis et avec le consentement du Sénat et de la Chambre des communes du Canada, édicte :

TITRE ABRÉGÉ

1. Loi sur le Tribunal d'appel des transports du Canada.

Titre abrégé

TRIBUNAL D'APPEL DES TRANSPORTS DU CANADA

2. (1) Est constitué le Tribunal d'appel des transports du Canada (ci-après le Tribunal).

Compétence

générale

Constitution

- (2) Le Tribunal connaît des requêtes en révision dont il est saisi en vertu de la Loi sur l'aéronautique, la Loi sur la marine marchande du Canada, la Loi sur la sûreté du transport maritime, la Loi sur la sécurité ferroviaire ou toute autre loi fédérale concernant les transports. Il connaît également des appels interjetés des décisions qu'il a rendues dans les dossiers de révision.
- (3) Le Tribunal connaît également des requêtes en révision et des appels portant sur les sanctions administratives pécuniaires prévues aux articles 177 à 181 de la *Loi sur les transports au Canada*.
- **3.** (1) Le gouverneur en conseil nomme au Tribunal des membres ci-après appelés « conseillers » possédant collectivement des compétences dans les secteurs des transports ressortissant à la compétence du gouvernement fédéral.

Compétence en vertu de la Loi sur les transports au Canada

Conseillers

à temps plein.

Full- or part-time members

2

(2) Members may be appointed as full-time or part-time members.

Chairperson and Vice-Chairperson **4.** The Governor in Council shall designate one member as Chairperson of the Tribunal and one member as Vice-Chairperson. The Chairperson and Vice-Chairperson must be full-time members.

Duties of Chairperson

- **5.** (1) The Chairperson is the chief executive officer of the Tribunal and has supervision over, and direction of, the work of the members and staff of the Tribunal, including
 - (a) the apportionment of work among members and the assignment of members to hear matters brought before the Tribunal and, when the Tribunal sits in panels, the assignment of members to panels and to preside over panels; and
 - (b) generally, the conduct of the work of the Tribunal and the management of its internal affairs.

Absence of Chairperson (2) In the event of the absence or incapacity of the Chairperson or if the office of Chairperson is vacant, the Vice-Chairperson shall act as Chairperson during the continuance of that absence or incapacity or until a new Chairperson is designated.

Term of office

6. (1) A member shall be appointed to hold office during good behaviour for a term not exceeding seven years and may be removed for cause by the Governor in Council.

Reappointment

(2) A member is eligible to be reappointed.

Disposition after member ceases to hold

(3) At the request of the Chairperson, a former member, within eight weeks after ceasing to be a member, may make or take part in a determination or decision on a matter that they heard as a member. For that purpose, the former member is deemed to be a member.

Remuneration

7. (1) Members shall receive the remuneration that is fixed by the Governor in Council.

Expenses

(2) Each member is entitled to be paid reasonable travel and living expenses incurred while absent in the course of their duties from, in the case of a full-time member, their ordinary place of work and, in the case of a part-time member, their ordinary place of residence.

(2) Les conseillers exercent leurs fonctions soit à temps plein, soit à temps partiel.

dent. Ceux-ci doivent exercer leurs fonctions

4. Le gouverneur en conseil désigne, parmi les conseillers, le président et le vice-prési-

Président et vice-président

Exercice des

fonctions

5. (1) Le président est le premier dirigeant du Tribunal; à ce titre, il en assure la direction et contrôle la gestion de son personnel. Il est notamment chargé :

Fonctions du président

- *a*) de la répartition des affaires et du travail entre les conseillers et, le cas échéant, de la constitution et de la présidence des comités;
- b) de la conduite des travaux du Tribunal et de son administration.
- (2) En cas d'absence ou d'empêchement du président ou de vacance de son poste, la présidence est assumée par le vice-président jusqu'au retour du président, jusqu'à la fin de cet empêchement ou jusqu'à la désignation d'un nouveau président.

Intérim du président

6. (1) Les conseillers sont nommés à titre inamovible pour un mandat maximal de sept ans, sous réserve de révocation motivée par le gouverneur en conseil.

Mandat

(2) Le mandat des conseillers est renouvelable.

Renouvellement

(3) Le président peut demander à un ancien conseiller de participer, dans les huit semaines suivant la cessation de ses fonctions, aux décisions à rendre sur les affaires qu'il avait entendues; il conserve alors sa qualité.

Conclusion des affaires

7. (1) Les conseillers reçoivent la rémunération que fixe le gouverneur en conseil.

Rémunération

(2) Les conseillers ont droit aux frais de déplacement et de séjour entraînés par l'accomplissement de leurs fonctions hors de leur lieu habituel de travail, s'ils sont nommés à temps plein, ou de résidence, s'ils le sont à temps partiel.

Frais

Indemnisation

Status

(3) Members are deemed to be employed in the public service of Canada for the purposes of the *Government Employees Compensation Act* and any regulations made under section 9 of the *Aeronautics Act*.

Inconsistent interests full-time members

8. (1) Full-time members shall not accept or hold any office, membership, employment or interest, or engage in any business activity, that is inconsistent with the proper performance of their duties and functions.

Divesting of interests

(2) If an interest that is prohibited under subsection (1) vests, by whatever means, in a full-time member, the member shall disclose the interest to the Chairperson without delay and, within three months after the interest vests, either divest himself or herself of the interest or resign as a member.

Duties of full-time members

(3) Full-time members shall devote the whole of their time to the performance of their duties and functions under this Act.

Inconsistent interests part-time members (4) If a part-time member who is assigned to hear or is hearing any matter before the Tribunal, either alone or as a member of a panel, holds any pecuniary or other interest that could be inconsistent with the proper performance of their duties and functions in relation to the matter, the member shall disclose the interest to the Chairperson without delay and is ineligible to hear, or to continue to hear, the matter.

Principal office

9. The principal office of the Tribunal shall be in the National Capital Region described in the schedule to the *National Capital Act*.

Employees

10. (1) The employees that are necessary for the proper conduct of the work of the Tribunal shall be appointed in accordance with the *Public Service Employment Act*.

Status

(2) Employees appointed under subsection (1) are deemed to be employed in the Public Service for the purposes of the *Public Service Superannuation Act*.

Experts

(3) The Tribunal may engage experts or persons having technical or specialized knowledge to assist the Tribunal in any matter in an advisory capacity and may, subject to the approval of the Treasury Board, fix their remuneration.

(3) Les conseillers sont réputés être des agents de l'État pour l'application de la Loi sur l'indemnisation des agents de l'État et appartenir à l'administration publique fédérale pour l'application des règlements pris en vertu de l'article 9 de la Loi sur l'aéronautique.

8. (1) Les conseillers à temps plein ne peuvent avoir d'intérêt ou d'affiliation, occuper des charges ou des emplois ni se livrer à des activités qui soient incompatibles avec l'exercice de leurs attributions.

Incompatibilité : conseillers à temps plein

(2) Ils doivent porter sans délai tout intérêt visé au paragraphe (1) qui leur est dévolu à la connaissance du président et, dans les trois mois suivant la dévolution, se départir de l'intérêt ainsi acquis ou démissionner de leur poste de conseiller.

Cession d'intérêts ou démission

(3) Les conseillers à temps plein se consacrent exclusivement à l'exercice des attributions que leur confère la présente loi. Incompatibilité avec d'autres attributions

(4) Les conseillers à temps partiel appelés à entendre une affaire soit seuls, soit en comité, qui détiennent un intérêt pécuniaire ou autre susceptible d'être incompatible avec l'exercice de leurs attributions quant à l'affaire, le portent sans délai à la connaissance du président. Ils ne peuvent dès lors entendre l'affaire.

Incompatibilité : conseillers à temps partiel

9. Le siège du Tribunal est fixé dans la région de la capitale nationale définie à l'annexe de la *Loi sur la capitale nationale*.

Siège

10. (1) Le personnel nécessaire à l'exécution des travaux du Tribunal est nommé conformément à la *Loi sur l'emploi dans la fonction publique*.

Statut

Personnel

(2) Ce personnel est réputé faire partie de la fonction publique pour l'application de la *Loi* sur la pension de la fonction publique.

Experts

(3) Le Tribunal peut engager des experts compétents dans des domaines relevant de son champ d'activité et, avec l'approbation du Conseil du Trésor, fixer leur rémunération.

49-50 Eliz. II Séances

Sittings

4

11. The Tribunal shall sit at those times and places in Canada that the Chairperson considers necessary for the proper performance of its functions.

Hearings on review

12. A review shall be heard by a member, sitting alone, who has expertise in the transportation sector to which the review relates. However, a review that concerns a matter of a medical nature shall be heard by a member with medical expertise, whether or not that member has expertise in the transportation sector to which the review relates.

Hearings on appeal

13. (1) Subject to subsection (2), an appeal to the Tribunal shall be heard by an appeal panel consisting of three members.

Size of panel

(2) The Chairperson may, if he or she considers it appropriate, direct that an appeal be heard by an appeal panel consisting of more than three members or, with the consent of the parties to the appeal, of one member.

Composition of panel

(3) A member who conducts a review may not sit on an appeal panel that is established to hear an appeal from his or her determination.

Oualifications of members

(4) With the exception of the Chairperson and Vice-Chairperson, who may sit on any appeal panel, an appeal shall be heard by an appeal panel consisting of members who have expertise in the transportation sector to which the appeal relates.

Medical matters

(5) Despite subsection (4), in an appeal that concerns a matter of a medical nature, at least one member of the appeal panel shall have medical expertise, whether or not that member has expertise in the transportation sector to which the appeal relates.

Decision of panel

(6) A decision of a majority of the members of an appeal panel is a decision of the panel.

Nature of appeal

14. An appeal shall be on the merits based on the record of the proceedings before the member from whose determination the appeal is taken, but the appeal panel shall allow oral argument and, if it considers it necessary for the purposes of the appeal, shall hear evidence not previously available.

11. Le Tribunal siège, au Canada, aux dates, heures et lieux que le président estime nécessaires à l'exercice de ses attributions.

> Requêtes en révision :

12. Les requêtes en révision sont entendues par un conseiller agissant seul et possédant des compétences reliées au secteur des transports en cause. Toutefois, dans le cas où la requête soulève des questions d'ordre médical, le conseiller doit posséder des compétences dans ce domaine, qu'il ait ou non des compétences reliées au secteur des transports en cause.

13. (1) Sous réserve du paragraphe (2), les appels interjetés devant le Tribunal sont entendus par un comité de trois conseillers.

Appels:

(2) Le président peut, s'il l'estime indiqué, soumettre l'appel à un comité de plus de trois conseillers ou, si les parties à l'appel y consentent, à un seul conseiller.

Effectif du comité

(3) Le conseiller dont la décision est contestée ne peut siéger en appel, que ce soit seul ou comme membre d'un comité.

Composition du comité

(4) Les conseillers qui sont saisis d'un appel doivent, sauf s'il s'agit du président et du vice-président, qui peuvent siéger à tout comité, posséder des compétences reliées au secteur des transports en cause.

Compétences des conseillers

(5) Toutefois, dans le cas où l'appel soulève des questions d'ordre médical, au moins un des conseillers doit posséder des compétences dans ce domaine, qu'il ait ou non des compétences reliées au secteur des transports en cause.

Questions d'ordre médical

(6) Les décisions du comité se prennent à la majorité de ses membres.

Décision

14. L'appel porte au fond sur le dossier d'instance du conseiller dont la décision est contestée. Toutefois, le comité est tenu d'autoriser les observations orales et il peut, s'il l'estime indiqué pour l'appel, prendre en considération tout élément de preuve non disponible lors de l'instance.

Nature de l'appel

Audiences

Nature of hearings 15. (1) Subject to subsection (2), the Tribunal is not bound by any legal or technical rules of evidence in conducting any matter that comes before it, and all such matters shall be dealt with by it as informally and expeditiously as the circumstances and considerations of fairness and natural justice permit.

Restriction

(2) The Tribunal shall not receive or accept as evidence anything that would be inadmissible in a court by reason of any privilege under the law of evidence.

Appearance

(3) A party to a proceeding before the Tribunal may appear in person or be represented by another person, including legal counsel.

Private hearings

- (4) Hearings shall be held in public. However, the Tribunal may hold all or any part of a hearing in private if it is of the opinion that
 - (a) a public hearing would not be in the public interest;
 - (b) medical information about a person may be disclosed and the desirability of ensuring that, in the interests of that person, the information is not publicly disclosed outweighs the desirability of adhering to the principle that hearings be open to the public; or
 - (c) confidential business information may be disclosed and the desirability of ensuring that the information is not publicly disclosed outweighs the desirability of adhering to the principle that hearings be open to the public.

Standard of proof

(5) In any proceeding before the Tribunal, a party that has the burden of proof discharges it by proof on the balance of probabilities.

Powers of Tribunal **16.** The Tribunal, and each of its members, has all the powers of a commissioner under Part I of the *Inquiries Act*.

Reasons

17. A member who conducts a review shall provide a determination, and an appeal panel shall provide a decision, with reasons, in writing to all parties to a proceeding.

Rules of Tribunal **18.** The Tribunal may, with the approval of the Governor in Council, make rules that are not inconsistent with this Act or any Act referred to in section 2 to govern the manage-

15. (1) Sous réserve du paragraphe (2), le Tribunal n'est pas lié par les règles juridiques ou techniques applicables en matière de preuve lors des audiences. Dans la mesure où les circonstances, l'équité et la justice naturelle le permettent, il lui appartient d'agir rapidement et sans formalisme.

(2) Le Tribunal ne peut recevoir ni admettre en preuve quelque élément protégé par le droit de la preuve et rendu, de ce fait, inadmissible en justice devant un tribunal judiciaire.

Comparution

Exception

(3) Toute partie à une instance devant le Tribunal peut comparaître en personne ou s'y faire représenter par toute personne, y compris un avocat.

(4) Les audiences devant le Tribunal sont publiques. Toutefois, elles peuvent être tenues en tout ou en partie à huis clos si, de l'avis du

- Tribunal :

 a) il y va de l'intérêt public;
 - b) des renseignements d'ordre médical pouvant être dévoilés sont tels que, compte tenu de l'intérêt de la personne en cause, l'avantage qu'il y a à ne pas les dévoiler en public l'emporte sur le principe de la publicité des audiences;
 - c) des renseignements commerciaux confidentiels pouvant être dévoilés sont tels que l'avantage qu'il y a à ne pas les dévoiler en public l'emporte sur le principe de la publicité des audiences.
- (5) Dans toute affaire portée devant le Tribunal, la charge de la preuve repose sur la prépondérance des probabilités.

Charge de la preuve

Pouvoirs

16. Le Tribunal et chaque conseiller ont les pouvoirs conférés aux commissaires nommés en vertu de la partie I de la *Loi sur les enquêtes*.

17. Le Tribunal communique sa décision Motifs par écrit aux parties, motifs à l'appui.

18. Le Tribunal peut, avec l'agrément du gouverneur en conseil, établir toute règle conforme à la présente loi ou aux lois visées à l'article 2 pour régir ses activités et la

procédure des affaires portées devant lui.

Règles de procédure

....

Dépens

ment of its affairs and the practice and procedure in connection with matters brought before it.

Costs

6

- **19.** (1) The Tribunal may award any costs, and may require the reimbursement of any expenses incurred in connection with a hearing, that it considers reasonable if
 - (a) it is seized of the matter for reasons that are frivolous or vexatious:
 - (b) a party that files a request for a review or an appeal and does not appear at the hearing does not establish that there was sufficient reason to justify their absence; or
 - (c) a party that is granted an adjournment of the hearing requested the adjournment without adequate notice to the Tribunal.

Recovery

(2) Costs awarded to the Minister of Transport, and expenses of that Minister or the Tribunal that are subject to reimbursement, under subsection (1) are a debt due to Her Majesty in right of Canada.

Certificate

(3) Costs or expenses under subsection (1) that have not been paid may be certified by the Tribunal.

Registration of certificate

(4) On production to the Federal Court, a certificate shall be registered. When it is registered, a certificate has the same force and effect as if it were a judgment obtained in the Federal Court for a debt of the amount specified in it and all reasonable costs and charges attendant on its registration, recoverable in that Court or in any other court of competent jurisdiction.

Proceedings to be recorded

20. Proceedings before the Tribunal shall be recorded, and the record shall show all evidence taken and all determinations, decisions and findings made in respect of the proceedings.

Decision on appeal final

21. A decision of an appeal panel of the Tribunal is final and binding on the parties to the appeal.

Annual report

22. The Tribunal shall, not later than June 30 in each fiscal year, submit to Parliament, through the member of the Queen's Privy Council for Canada who is designated by the Governor in Council as the Minister for the

19. (1) Le Tribunal peut condamner l'une des parties aux dépens et exiger d'elle le remboursement de toute dépense engagée relativement à l'audience qu'il estime raisonnables dans les cas où:

- a) il est saisi d'une affaire pour des raisons frivoles ou vexatoires;
- b) le requérant ou l'appelant a, sans motif valable, omis de comparaître;
- c) la partie qui a obtenu un ajournement de l'audience lui en avait fait la demande sans préavis suffisant.
- (2) Les dépens alloués au ministre des Transports et les dépenses de celui-ci ou du Tribunal qui font l'objet d'un remboursement constituent des créances de Sa Majesté.

Certificat de non-paiement

Recouvrement

(3) Le Tribunal peut établir un certificat de non-paiement pour la partie impayée des dépens ou dépenses alloués en vertu du paragraphe (1).

Enregistrement

- (4) La Cour fédérale enregistre tout certificat ainsi établi déposé auprès d'elle. L'enregistrement confère au certificat la valeur d'un jugement de cette juridiction pour la somme visée et les frais afférents dont le recouvrement peut être poursuivi devant la Cour fédérale ou tout autre tribunal compétent.
- 20. Il est tenu un registre des affaires dont le Tribunal est saisi. Y sont consignés les éléments de preuve et les décisions afférents à l'affaire.

Tribunal d'archives

21. La décision rendue en appel par un comité du Tribunal est définitive et lie les parties.

Rapport

Décision

définitive

22. Au plus tard le 30 juin de chaque exercice, le Tribunal présente son rapport d'activité pour l'exercice précédent à tel ministre, membre du Conseil privé de la Reine pour le Canada, chargé par le gouverneur en

purposes of this section, a report of its activities during the preceding fiscal year, and that Minister shall cause the report to be laid before each House of Parliament on any of the first 15 days on which that House is sitting after the Minister receives it.

conseil de l'application du présent article. Le ministre le fait déposer devant chaque chambre du Parlement dans les quinze premiers jours de séance de celle-ci suivant sa réception.

TRANSITIONAL PROVISIONS

Definitions

23. The definitions in this section apply in sections 24 to 32.

"former Tribunal" « ancien Tribunal » "former Tribunal" means the Civil Aviation Tribunal established by subsection 29(1) of the *Aeronautics Act* as that Act read immediately before the coming into force of section 44.

"new Tribunal" « nouveau Tribunal » "new Tribunal" means the Transportation Appeal Tribunal of Canada established by subsection 2(1).

Powers, duties and functions 24. Wherever, in any Act of Parliament, in any instrument made under an Act of Parliament or in any contract, lease, licence or other document, a power, duty or function is vested in or is exercisable by the former Tribunal, the power, duty or function is vested in or is exercisable by the new Tribunal.

Appropriations

25. Any amount that is appropriated, for the fiscal year in which this section comes into force, by an appropriation Act based on the Estimates for that year for defraying the charges and expenses of the former Tribunal and that, on the day on which section 44 comes into force, is unexpended is deemed, on that day, to be an amount appropriated for defraying the charges and expenses of the new Tribunal.

Members of Tribunal 26. The Chairman, Vice-Chairman and other members of the former Tribunal immediately before the coming into force of section 44 shall, on the coming into force of that section, occupy the positions of Chairperson, Vice-Chairperson and members, respectively, with the new Tribunal until the expiry of the period of their appointment to the former Tribunal.

Employment continued 27. (1) Nothing in this Act shall be construed as affecting the status of an employee who, immediately before the coming into force of section 44, occupied a

DISPOSITIONS TRANSITOIRES

23. Les définitions qui suivent s'appliquent aux articles 24 à 32.

« ancien Tribunal » "former Tribunal"

Définitions

« ancien Tribunal » Le Tribunal de l'aviation civile constitué par le paragraphe 29(1) de la *Loi sur l'aéronautique*, dans sa version antérieure à l'entrée en vigueur de l'article 44.

> « nouveau Tribunal » "new Tribunal"

« nouveau Tribunal » Le Tribunal d'appel des transports du Canada constitué par le paragraphe 2(1).

> Transfert d'attributions

24. Les attributions conférées, sous le régime d'une loi fédérale ou au titre d'un contrat, bail, permis ou autre document à l'ancien Tribunal sont exercées par le nouveau Tribunal.

Transfert de

25. Les sommes affectées — et non engagées —, pour l'exercice en cours à l'entrée en vigueur de l'article 44, par toute loi de crédits consécutive aux prévisions budgétaires de cet exercice, aux frais et dépenses d'administration publique de l'ancien Tribunal sont réputées être affectées aux frais et dépenses d'administration publique du nouveau Tribunal.

Membres du Tribunal

26. Le président, le vice-président et les autres membres qui occupent une charge de conseiller de l'ancien Tribunal à la date d'entrée en vigueur de l'article 44 continuent d'exercer leurs fonctions au sein du nouveau Tribunal jusqu'à l'expiration de leur mandat.

Postes

27. (1) La présente loi ne change rien à la situation des fonctionnaires qui occupent un poste à l'ancien Tribunal à la date d'entrée en vigueur de l'article 44, à la

position with the former Tribunal, except that each of those persons shall, on the coming into force of that section, occupy their position with the new Tribunal.

Transportation Appeal Tribunal of Canada

Definition of employee

8

(2) For the purposes of this section, "employee" has the same meaning as in subsection 2(1) of the Public Service Employment Act.

References

28. Every reference to the former Tribunal in any deed, contract, agreement or other document executed by the former Tribunal in its own name shall, unless the context otherwise requires, be read as a reference to the new Tribunal.

Rights and obligations

29. All rights and property of the former Tribunal and of Her Majesty in right of Canada that are under the administration and control of the former Tribunal and all obligations of the former Tribunal are transferred to the new Tribunal.

Commencement of legal proceedings

30. Any action, suit or other legal proceeding in respect of an obligation or liability incurred by the former Tribunal may be brought against the new Tribunal in any court that would have had jurisdiction if the action, suit or other legal proceeding had been brought against the former Tribunal.

Continuation of legal proceedings

31. Any action, suit or other legal proceeding to which the former Tribunal is a party that is pending in any court immediately before the day on which section 44 comes into force may be continued by or against the new Tribunal in the same manner and to the same extent as it could have been continued by or against the former Tribunal.

Continuation proceedings

32. (1) Proceedings relating to any matter before the former Tribunal on the coming into force of section 44, including any matter that is in the course of being heard by the former Tribunal, shall be continued by the new Tribunal.

Application of provisions

(2) Unless the Governor in Council, by order, directs that proceedings continued under this section are to be dealt with in accordance with the provisions of this Act, the proceedings shall be dealt with and différence près que, à compter de cette date, ils l'occupent au nouveau Tribunal.

(2) Pour l'application du présent article, « fonctionnaire » s'entend au sens du paragraphe 2(1) de la Loi sur l'emploi dans la fonction publique.

Définition de « fonctionnaire »

28. Sauf indication contraire du contexte, dans tous les contrats, actes, accords et autres documents signés par l'ancien Tribunal sous son nom, toute mention de l'ancien Tribunal vaut mention du nouveau Tribunal.

Renvois

29. Les biens et les droits de Sa Majesté du chef du Canada dont la gestion était confiée à l'ancien Tribunal ainsi que les biens et les droits et obligations de celui-ci sont transférés au nouveau Tribunal.

Transfert des droits et obligations

30. Les procédures judiciaires relatives aux obligations supportées ou aux engagements pris par l'ancien Tribunal peuvent être intentées contre le nouveau Tribunal devant tout tribunal qui aurait eu compétence pour être saisi des procédures si elles avaient été intentées contre l'ancien Tribunal.

Procédures judiciaires nouvelles

31. Le nouveau Tribunal prend la suite de l'ancien Tribunal, au même titre et dans les mêmes conditions que celui-ci, comme partie aux procédures judiciaires en cours à l'entrée en vigueur de l'article 44 et auxquelles l'ancien Tribunal est partie.

Procédures en cours devant les tribunaux

32. (1) Les procédures relatives à une question pendante devant l'ancien Tribunal au moment de l'entrée en vigueur de l'article 44, notamment toute question faisant l'objet d'une audience, sont poursuivies devant le nouveau Tribunal.

Poursuite des procédures

(2) Sauf décret prévoyant qu'elles doivent être poursuivies conformément à la présente loi, les procédures poursuivies au titre du présent article le sont conformément à la Loi sur l'aéronautique dans sa

Dispositions applicables

determined in accordance with the provisions of the *Aeronautics Act* as that Act read immediately before the coming into force of section 44.

Directions re proceedings (3) The Governor in Council may, by order, direct that proceedings in respect of any class of matter referred to in subsection (1) in respect of which no decision or order is made on the coming into force of section 44 shall be discontinued or continued by the new Tribunal, as the case may be, on the terms and conditions specified in the order for the protection and preservation of the rights and interests of the parties.

version antérieure à l'entrée en vigueur de l'article 44.

(3) Le gouverneur en conseil peut, par décret, ordonner que les procédures relatives à une catégorie de questions visées au paragraphe (1) à l'égard desquelles, au moment de l'entrée en vigueur de l'article 44, aucune décision n'a encore été rendue soient, selon les modalités spécifiées dans le décret pour assurer la protection et le maintien des droits des parties, abandonnées ou poursuivies devant le nouveau Tribunal.

Exception

CONSEQUENTIAL AMENDMENTS

R.S., c. A-2

Aeronautics Act

R.S., c. 33 (1st Supp.), s. 1

33. The definition "Tribunal" in subsection 3(1) of the *Aeronautics Act* is replaced by the following:

 $\label{eq:tribunal} \begin{tabular}{l} ``Tribunal" \\ & `Tribunal" \end{tabular}$

"Tribunal" means the Transportation Appeal Tribunal of Canada established by subsection 2(1) of the *Transportation Appeal Tribunal of Canada Act*.

R.S., c. 33 (1st Supp.), s. 1; 1992, c. 4, s. 14

34. Sections 6.6 to 6.8 of the Act are replaced by the following:

Definition of "Canadian aviation document" **6.6** In sections 6.7 to 7.21, "Canadian aviation document" includes any privilege accorded by a Canadian aviation document.

Non-application of certain provisions

6.7 Sections 6.71 to 7.21 do not apply to a member of the Canadian Armed Forces acting in that capacity or to any other person in relation to a Canadian aviation document issued in respect of a military aircraft, military aerodrome or military facility.

Minister may refuse to issue or amend Canadian aviation document **6.71** (1) The Minister may refuse to issue or amend a Canadian aviation document on the grounds that

- (a) the applicant is incompetent;
- (b) the applicant or any aircraft, aerodrome, airport or other facility in respect of which the application is made does not meet the qualifications or fulfil the conditions neces-

MODIFICATIONS CONNEXES

Loi sur l'aéronautique

L.R., ch. A-2

33. La définition de « Tribunal », au paragraphe 3(1) de la *Loi sur l'aéronautique*, est remplacée par ce qui suit :

L.R., ch. 33 (1^{er} suppl.), art. 1

« Tribunal » Le Tribunal d'appel des transports du Canada, constitué par le paragraphe 2(1) de la *Loi sur le Tribunal d'appel* des transports du Canada. « Tribunal » "Tribunal"

34. Les articles 6.6 à 6.8 de la même loi sont remplacés par ce qui suit :

L.R., ch. 33 (1^{er} suppl.), art. 1; 1992, ch. 4, art. 14

6.6 Pour l'application des articles 6.7 à 7.21, est assimilé à un document d'aviation canadien tout avantage qu'il octroie.

Définition de « document d'aviation canadien »

6.7 Les articles 6.71 à 7.21 ne s'appliquent pas aux membres ès qualités des Forces armées canadiennes ni aux autres personnes concernées par des documents d'aviation canadiens délivrés pour un aéronef, un aérodrome ou une installation militaires.

Exception

6.71 (1) Le ministre peut refuser de délivrer ou de modifier un document d'aviation canadien pour l'un des motifs suivants :

Refus de délivrer ou de modifier un document d'aviation canadien

- a) le demandeur est inapte;
- b) le demandeur ou l'aéronef, l'aérodrome, l'aéroport ou autre installation que vise la demande ne répond pas aux conditions de délivrance ou de modification du document;

sary for the issuance or amendment of the document; or

- (c) the Minister is of the opinion that the public interest and, in particular, the aviation record of the applicant or of any principal of the applicant, as defined in regulations made under paragraph (3)(a), warrant the refusal.
- c) le ministre estime que l'intérêt public, notamment en raison des antécédents aériens du demandeur ou de tel de ses dirigeants- au sens du règlement pris en vertu de l'alinéa (3)a) —, le requiert.

Notice

10

- (2) The Minister shall, by personal service or by registered or certified mail sent to their latest known address, notify the applicant or the owner or operator of the aircraft, aerodrome, airport or other facility, as the case may be, of a decision made under subsection (1). The notice shall be in a form prescribed by regulation of the Governor in Council and, in addition to any other information that may be prescribed, shall indicate, as the case requires,
 - (a) the nature of the incompetence of the applicant;
 - (b) the qualifications or conditions referred to in paragraph (1)(b) that are not met or fulfilled, as the case may be;
 - (c) the reasons for the Minister's opinion referred to in paragraph (1)(c); and
 - (d) except in the case of a document or class of documents prescribed under paragraph (3)(b), the address at which, and the date, being thirty days after the notice is served or sent, on or before which the applicant, owner or operator may file a request for a review of the Minister's decision.

Regulations

- (3) The Governor in Council may make regulations
 - (a) defining the word "principal"; and
 - (b) prescribing Canadian aviation documents, or classes of such documents, in respect of which a review of the Minister's decision to refuse to issue or amend a document may not be requested.

Request for

6.72 (1) Subject to any regulations made under paragraph 6.71(3)(b), an applicant, owner or operator who is served with or sent a notice under subsection 6.71(2) and who wishes to have the Minister's decision reviewed shall, on or before the date specified in the notice or within any further time that the

- (2) Le ministre expédie alors à la dernière adresse connue du demandeur ou du propriétaire, de l'exploitant ou de l'utilisateur de l'aéronef, de l'aérodrome, de l'aéroport ou autre installation, par courrier recommandé ou certifié ou par signification à personne, avis de sa décision, lequel est établi en la forme que le gouverneur en conseil peut fixer par règlement. Y sont notamment indiqués, selon le cas:
 - a) la nature de l'inaptitude;
 - b) les conditions visées à l'alinéa (1)b) auxquelles il n'est pas satisfait;
 - c) les motifs d'intérêt public sur lesquels le ministre fonde son refus;
 - d) sauf s'il s'agit d'un document ou d'une catégorie de documents visés par le règlement pris en vertu de l'alinéa (3)b), le lieu et la date limite, à savoir trente jours après l'expédition ou la signification de l'avis, du dépôt d'une éventuelle requête en révision.
- (3) Le gouverneur en conseil peut, par règlement:
 - a) définir « dirigeant »;
 - b) prévoir, individuellement ou par catégorie, les documents d'aviation canadiens à l'égard desquels le refus de délivrance ou de modification ne peut faire l'objet d'une requête en révision.
- **6.72** (1) Sous réserve de tout règlement pris en vertu de l'alinéa 6.71(3)b), l'intéressé qui veut faire réviser la décision du ministre dépose une requête auprès du Tribunal à l'adresse indiquée dans l'avis au plus tard à la date limite qui y est spécifiée, ou dans le délai supérieur éventuellement accordé à sa demande par le Tribunal.

Requête en

révision

Règlements

Tribunal on application may allow, file a written request for a review of the decision with the Tribunal at the address set out in the notice.

Time and place for review (2) On receipt of a request filed under subsection (1), the Tribunal shall appoint a time and place for the review and shall notify the Minister and the person who filed the request of the time and place in writing.

Review procedure (3) The member of the Tribunal assigned to conduct the review shall provide the Minister and the person who filed the request with an opportunity consistent with procedural fairness and natural justice to present evidence and make representations.

Determination

(4) The member of the Tribunal who conducts the review may determine the matter by confirming the Minister's decision or by referring the matter back to the Minister for reconsideration.

Suspensions, etc., generally

6.8 In addition to any ground referred to in any of sections 6.71, 6.9 to 7.1 and 7.21, the Minister may suspend, cancel or refuse to issue, amend or renew a Canadian aviation document in the circumstances and on the grounds prescribed by regulation of the Governor in Council.

R.S., c. 33 (1st Supp.), s. 1

35. Subsection 6.9(8) of the Act is replaced by the following:

Holder, etc., not compelled to testify

(7.1) In a review under this section, a holder, owner or operator referred to in subsection (1) is not required, and shall not be compelled, to give any evidence or testimony in the matter.

Determination of Tribunal member (8) On a review under this section of a decision of the Minister to suspend or cancel a Canadian aviation document, the member of the Tribunal who conducts the review may determine the matter by confirming the Minister's decision or substituting his or her own determination.

36. (1) Section 7 of the Act is amended by adding the following after subsection (2):

(2) Le Tribunal, sur réception de la requête, fixe la date, l'heure et le lieu de l'audience et en avise par écrit le ministre et l'intéressé.

Audience

(3) À l'audience, le conseiller commis à l'affaire accorde au ministre et à l'intéressé la possibilité de présenter leurs éléments de preuve et leurs observations, conformément aux principes de l'équité procédurale et de la justice naturelle.

Déroulement

(4) Le conseiller peut confirmer la décision du ministre ou lui renvoyer le dossier pour réexamen. Décision

6.8 En sus des motifs mentionnés aux articles 6.71, 6.9 à 7.1 ou à l'article 7.21, le ministre peut suspendre, annuler ou refuser de délivrer, modifier ou renouveler un document d'aviation canadien dans les circonstances et

Mesures diverses principe

35. Le paragraphe 6.9(8) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

pour les motifs que le gouverneur en conseil

peut fixer par règlement.

L.R., ch. 33 (1^{er} suppl.), art. 1

(7.1) L'auteur de la présumée contravention visée au paragraphe (1) n'est pas tenu de témoigner.

Non-contraignabilité à témoigner

(8) Le conseiller peut confirmer la décision du ministre ou substituer sa propre décision à celle du ministre. Décision

36. (1) L'article 7 de la même loi est modifié par adjonction, après le paragraphe (2), de ce qui suit :

Effective date of Minister's decision

(2.1) The Minister's decision takes effect on the date of receipt of the notice under subsection (1) by the person on whom it is served or to whom it is sent, unless the notice indicates that the decision is to take effect on a later date.

R.S., c. 33 (1st Supp.),

Determination

of Tribunal

member

(2) Subsections 7(7) and (8) of the Act are replaced by the following:

(7) On a review under this section of a decision of the Minister to suspend a Canadian aviation document, the member of the Tribunal who conducts the review may determine the matter by confirming the Minister's decision or substituting his or her own determination.

Request for reconsideration of immediate threat

(8) Where

- (a) no appeal from a determination under subsection (7) confirming the Minister's decision is taken under section 7.2 within the time limited for doing so under that section, or
- (b) an appeal panel has, on an appeal under section 7.2, confirmed the Minister's decision under this section,

the holder of the document or the owner or operator of any aircraft, airport or other facility in respect of which the document was issued may, in writing, request the Minister to reconsider whether the immediate threat to aviation safety referred to in subsection (1) that occasioned the suspension continues to exist or is likely to occur as described in that subsection.

1992, c. 4, s. 15(1)

37. (1) Subsection 7.1(1) of the Act is replaced by the following:

Suspension, etc., on other grounds

- **7.1** (1) If the Minister decides to suspend, cancel or refuse to renew a Canadian aviation document on the grounds that
 - (a) the holder of the document is incompetent,
 - (b) the holder or any aircraft, airport or other facility in respect of which the document was issued ceases to meet the qualifications necessary for the issuance of the document or to fulfil the conditions

(2.1) La décision du ministre prend effet dès réception par l'intéressé de l'avis ou à la date ultérieure précisée dans celui-ci.

Prise d'effet de la décision

(2) Les paragraphes 7(7) et (8) de la même loi sont remplacés par ce qui suit :

L.R., ch. 33 (1^{er} suppl.), art. 1

(7) Le conseiller peut confirmer la décision du ministre ou substituer sa propre décision à celle du ministre. Décision

(8) À défaut de porter en appel une décision confirmant la décision du ministre dans le délai imparti ou si le comité du Tribunal a, lors de l'appel, maintenu cette décision, l'intéressé peut, par écrit demander au ministre de réexaminer s'il y a toujours danger immédiat ou probable pour la sécurité aéronautique.

Cas de réexamen

37. (1) Le paragraphe 7.1(1) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

1992, ch. 4, par. 15(1)

- 7.1 (1) Le ministre, s'il décide de suspendre, d'annuler ou de ne pas renouveler un document d'aviation canadien pour l'un des motifs ci-après, expédie un avis par signification à personne ou par courrier recommandé ou certifié à la dernière adresse connue du titulaire du document ou du propriétaire, de l'exploitant ou de l'utilisateur de l'aéronef, de l'aéroport ou autre installation que vise le document :
 - a) le titulaire du document est inapte;

Autres motifs

subject to which the document was issued,

(c) the Minister is of the opinion that the public interest and, in particular, the aviation record of the holder of the document or of any principal of the holder, as defined in regulations made under paragraph 6.71(3)(a), warrant it,

the Minister shall, by personal service or by registered or certified mail sent to the holder or the owner or operator of the aircraft, airport or facility, as the case may be, at their latest known address, notify that person of the Minister's decision.

1992, c. 4, s. 15(2)

(2) Subparagraph 7.1(2)(a)(i) of the Act is repealed.

(3) Section 7.1 of the Act is amended by adding the following after subsection (2):

Effective date of Minister's decision

(2.1) The Minister's decision to suspend or cancel a Canadian aviation document takes effect on the date of receipt of the notice under subsection (1) by the person on whom it is served or to whom it is sent, unless the notice indicates that the decision is to take effect on a later date.

R.S., c. 33 (1st Supp.),

replaced by the following:

Determination of Tribunal member

Effect of

decision

pending reconsideration

(8) If a decision to suspend or cancel a Canadian aviation document is referred back to the Minister for reconsideration under

(7) On a review under this section of a decision of the Minister to suspend, cancel or

(4) Subsections 7.1(7) to (9) of the Act are

refuse to renew a Canadian aviation document, the member of the Tribunal who conducts the review may determine the matter by confirming the Minister's decision or by referring the matter back to the Minister for reconsideration.

subsection (7), the decision of the Minister

b) le titulaire ou l'aéronef, l'aéroport ou autre installation ne répond plus aux conditions de délivrance ou de maintien en état de validité du document:

c) le ministre estime que l'intérêt public, notamment en raison des antécédents aériens du titulaire ou de tel de ses dirigeants - au sens du règlement pris en vertu de l'alinéa 6.71(3)a) —, le requiert.

(2) L'alinéa 7.1(2)a) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

1992, ch. 4. par. 15(2)

a) soit la raison fondée sur l'intérêt public à l'origine, selon le ministre, de la mesure, soit la nature de l'inaptitude, soit encore les conditions — de délivrance ou de maintien en état de validité — auxquelles, selon le ministre, le titulaire ou l'aéronef, l'aéroport ou autre installation ne répond plus;

(3) L'article 7.1 de la même loi est modifié par adjonction, après le paragraphe (2), de ce qui suit :

(2.1) La décision du ministre prend effet dès réception par l'intéressé de l'avis ou à la date ultérieure précisée dans celui-ci.

Prise d'effet de la décision

(4) Les paragraphes 7.1(7) à (9) de la même loi sont remplacés par ce qui suit :

L.R., ch. 33 (1er suppl.), art. 1

(7) Le conseiller peut confirmer la décision du ministre ou lui renvoyer le dossier pour réexamen.

Décision

(8) En cas de renvoi du dossier au ministre, la décision d'annuler ou de suspendre continue d'avoir effet. Toutefois, le conseiller peut, après avoir entendu les observations des

Réexamen du dossier

remains in effect until the reconsideration is concluded. However, the member, after considering any representations made by the parties, may grant a stay of the decision until the reconsideration is concluded, if he or she is satisfied that granting a stay would not constitute a threat to aviation safety.

RS c 33 (1st Supp.),

Right of

appeal

14

38. Section 7.2 of the Act is replaced by the following:

7.2 (1) Within thirty days after the determination.

- (a) a person affected by the determination may appeal a determination made under subsection 6.72(4) or 7.1(7) to the Tribunal;
- (b) a person affected by the determination or the Minister may appeal a determination made under subsection 6.9(8) or 7(7) to the Tribunal.

Loss of right of appeal

(2) A party that does not appear at a review hearing is not entitled to appeal a determination, unless they establish that there was sufficient reason to justify their absence.

Disposition of appeal

- (3) The appeal panel of the Tribunal assigned to hear the appeal may
 - (a) in the case of a determination made under subsection 6.72(4) or 7.1(7), dismiss the appeal or refer the matter back to the Minister for reconsideration: or
 - (b) in the case of a determination made under subsection 6.9(8) or 7(7), dismiss the appeal, or allow the appeal and substitute its own decision.

Effect of decision pending reconsideration

(4) If a decision to suspend or cancel a Canadian aviation document is referred back to the Minister for reconsideration under paragraph (3)(a), the decision of the Minister remains in effect until the reconsideration is concluded. However, the appeal panel, after considering any representations made by the parties, may grant a stay of the decision until the reconsideration is concluded, if it is satisfied that granting a stay would not constitute a threat to aviation safety.

parties, prononcer la suspension de la décision jusqu'à ce que le ministre ait réexaminé celle-ci, s'il est convaincu que cela ne constitue pas un danger pour la sécurité aéronauti-

38. L'article 7.2 de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

L.R., ch. 33 (1er suppl.), art 1

Appel

7.2 (1) Le ministre ou toute personne concernée peuvent faire appel au Tribunal de la décision rendue en vertu des paragraphes 6.9(8) ou 7(7); seule une personne concernée peut faire appel de celle rendue en vertu des paragraphes 6.72(4) ou 7.1(7). Dans tous les cas, le délai d'appel est de trente jours suivant la décision.

> Perte du droit d'appel

(2) La partie qui ne se présente pas à l'audience portant sur la requête en révision perd le droit de porter la décision en appel, à moins qu'elle ne fasse valoir des motifs valables justifiant son absence.

(3) Le comité du Tribunal peut :

Sort de l'appel

- a) dans le cas d'une décision rendue en vertu des paragraphes 6.72(4) ou 7.1(7), rejeter l'appel ou renvoyer l'affaire au ministre pour réexamen;
- b) dans le cas d'une décision rendue en vertu des paragraphes 6.9(8) ou 7(7), rejeter l'appel ou y faire droit et substituer sa propre décision à celle en cause.
- (4) En cas de renvoi du dossier au ministre, la décision d'annuler ou de suspendre un document d'aviation canadien continue d'avoir effet. Toutefois, le comité peut, après avoir entendu les observations des parties, prononcer la suspension de la décision jusqu'à ce que le ministre ait révisé celle-ci, s'il est convaincu que cela ne constitue pas un danger pour la sécurité aéronautique.

Réexamen du dossier

Défaut de

paiement

Avis

Default in payment

7.21 (1) The Minister may suspend, or refuse to issue, amend or renew, a Canadian aviation document if a certificate under section 7.92, paragraph 8(b) or subsection 8.1(4) has been issued to the Minister in respect of the applicant for, or the holder of, the document or in respect of the owner or operator of an aircraft, aerodrome, airport or other facility to which the document relates.

Notice

(2) The Minister shall, by personal service or by registered or certified mail sent to the applicant, holder, owner or operator, as the case may be, at their latest known address, notify that person of a decision made under subsection (1) and, in the case of a suspension, of the effective date of the suspension, which shall not be earlier than thirty days after the notice is served or sent.

R.S., c. 33 (1st Supp.), s. 1; 1992, c. 1, s. 5, c. 4, s. 20

Notice of assessment of monetary penalty

Contents of notice

39. Sections 7.7 to 7.9 of the Act are replaced by the following:

7.7 (1) If the Minister believes on reasonable grounds that a person has contravened a designated provision, the Minister may decide to assess a monetary penalty in respect of the alleged contravention, in which case the Minister shall, by personal service or by registered or certified mail sent to the person at their latest known address, notify the person of his or her decision.

- (2) A notice under subsection (1) shall be in a form prescribed by regulation of the Governor in Council and shall, in addition to any other information that may be prescribed, indicate
 - (a) the designated provision that the Minister believes has been contravened;
 - (b) subject to any regulations made under paragraph 7.6(1)(b), the amount that is determined by the Minister, in accordance with any guidelines that the Minister may make for the purpose, to be the amount that must be paid to the Minister as the penalty in the event that the person does not wish to appear before a member of the Tribunal assigned to conduct a review to make representations in respect of the alleged contravention; and

7.21 (1) Le ministre peut suspendre ou refuser de délivrer, de renouveler ou de modifier un document d'aviation canadien si le demandeur ou le titulaire du document ou le propriétaire ou l'exploitant ou utilisateur de l'aéronef, de l'aérodrome, de l'aéroport ou de toute autre installation visés par le document fait l'objet d'un certificat visé à l'article 7.92, à l'alinéa 8b) ou au paragraphe 8.1(4).

(2) Le ministre expédie alors à la dernière adresse connue de l'intéressé, par courrier recommandé ou certifié ou par signification à personne, avis de sa décision et, dans le cas d'une suspension, de la date de sa prise d'effet, laquelle ne peut avoir lieu moins de trente jours après l'expédition ou la signification de l'avis.

39. Les articles 7.7 à 7.9 de la même loi sont remplacés par ce qui suit :

L.R., ch. 33 (1^{er} suppl.), art. 1; 1992, ch. 1, art. 5, ch. 4, art. 20

7.7 (1) Le ministre, s'il a des motifs raisonnables de croire qu'une personne a contrevenu à un texte désigné, peut décider de déterminer le montant de l'amende à payer, auquel cas il lui expédie, par signification à personne ou par courrier recommandé ou certifié à sa dernière adresse connue, un avis l'informant de la décision.

Avis établissant le montant de l'amende

(2) L'avis est établi en la forme que le gouverneur en conseil peut fixer par règlement. Y sont notamment indiqués :

a) le texte en cause;

b) sous réserve des règlements pris en vertu de l'alinéa 7.6(1)b), le montant qu'il détermine, conformément aux critères qu'il peut établir à cette fin, et qui doit être payé à titre d'amende pour la contravention lorsque la personne ne désire pas comparaître devant un conseiller pour présenter ses observations sur les faits reprochés;

c) la date limite, qui suit de trente jours celle de signification ou d'expédition de l'avis, et le lieu du versement de l'amende visée à l'alinéa b) ou du dépôt d'une éventuelle requête en révision.

Contenu de l'avis

Option

(c) the address at which, and the date, being thirty days after the notice is served or sent, on or before which, the penalty must be paid or a request for a review must be filed.

Option

7.8 A person who has been served with or sent a notice under subsection 7.7(1) must either pay the amount of the penalty specified in the notice or file with the Tribunal a written request for a review of the facts of the alleged contravention or of the amount of the penalty.

Payment of specified amount precludes further proceedings **7.9** If a person who is served with or sent a notice under subsection 7.7(1) pays the amount specified in the notice in accordance with the requirements set out in the notice, the Minister shall accept the amount as and in complete satisfaction of the amount of the penalty for the contravention by that person of the designated provision and no further proceedings under this Part shall be taken against the person in respect of that contravention.

Request for review of determination **7.91** (1) A person who is served with or sent a notice under subsection 7.7(1) and who wishes to have the facts of the alleged contravention or the amount of the penalty reviewed shall, on or before the date specified in the notice or within any further time that the Tribunal on application may allow, file a written request for a review with the Tribunal at the address set out in the notice.

Time and place for review (2) On receipt of a request filed under subsection (1), the Tribunal shall appoint a time and place for the review and shall notify the Minister and the person who filed the request of the time and place in writing.

Review procedure (3) The member of the Tribunal assigned to conduct the review shall provide the Minister and the person who filed the request with an opportunity consistent with procedural fairness and natural justice to present evidence and make representations.

Burden of proof

(4) The burden of establishing that a person has contravened a designated provision is on the Minister.

Person not compelled to testify

(5) A person who is alleged to have contravened a designated provision is not required, and shall not be compelled, to give any evidence or testimony in the matter.

7.8 Le destinataire de l'avis doit soit payer l'amende, soit déposer une requête en révision des faits reprochés ou du montant de l'amende.

7.9 Lorsque le destinataire de l'avis paie le montant requis conformément aux modalités qui y sont prévues, le ministre accepte ce paiement en règlement de l'amende imposée; aucune poursuite ne peut être intentée par la suite au titre de la présente partie contre l'intéressé pour la même contravention.

Paiement de l'amende

7.91 (1) Le destinataire de l'avis qui veut faire réviser la décision du ministre à l'égard des faits reprochés ou du montant de l'amende dépose une requête auprès du Tribunal à l'adresse indiquée dans l'avis, au plus tard à la date limite qui y est indiquée, ou dans le délai supérieur éventuellement accordé à sa demande par le Tribunal.

Requête en révision

(2) Le Tribunal, sur réception de la requête, fixe la date, l'heure et le lieu de l'audience et en avise par écrit le ministre et l'intéressé.

Audience

(3) À l'audience, le conseiller commis à l'affaire accorde au ministre et à l'intéressé la possibilité de présenter leurs éléments de preuve et leurs observations, conformément aux principes de l'équité procédurale et de la justice naturelle.

Déroulement

(4) S'agissant d'une requête portant sur les faits reprochés, il incombe au ministre d'établir que l'intéressé a contrevenu au texte désigné.

Charge de la preuve

(5) L'intéressé n'est pas tenu de témoigner à l'audience.

Intéressé non tenu de témoigner Certificate

R.S., c. 33

(1st Supp.),

Determination

by Tribunal

member

R.S., c. 33

(1st Supp.),

s. 1: 1992.

c. 4, s. 22

Right of

appeal

s. 1

7.92 If a person fails to pay the amount of the penalty specified in a notice under subsection 7.7(1) within the time specified in the notice and does not file a request for a review under subsection 7.91(1), the person is deemed to have committed the contravention alleged in the notice, and the Minister may obtain from the Tribunal a certificate in a form prescribed by the Governor in Council that indicates the amount of the penalty specified in the notice.

40. The portion of section 8 of the English version of the Act before paragraph (a) is replaced by the following:

8. If, at the conclusion of a review under section 7.91, the member of the Tribunal who conducts the review determines that

41. Section 8.1 of the Act is replaced by the following:

8.1 (1) A person affected by the determination or the Minister may, within thirty days after the determination, appeal a determination made under section 8 to the Tribunal.

Loss of right of appeal

(2) A party that does not appear at a review hearing is not entitled to appeal a determination, unless they establish that there was sufficient reason to justify their absence.

Disposition of appeal

(3) The appeal panel of the Tribunal assigned to hear the appeal may dispose of the appeal by dismissing it or allowing it and, in allowing the appeal, the panel may substitute its decision for the determination appealed against.

Certificate

(4) Where the appeal panel finds on an appeal that a person has contravened the designated provision, the panel shall without delay inform the person of the finding and, subject to any regulations made under paragraph 7.6(1)(b), of the amount determined by the panel to be payable by the person in respect of the contravention and, where the amount is not paid to the Tribunal by or on behalf of the person within the time allowed by the Tribunal, the Tribunal shall issue to the Minister a certificate in a form prescribed by regulation of the Governor in Council, setting out the amount required to be paid by the person.

7.92 L'omission, par l'intéressé, de verser dans le délai imparti le montant fixé dans l'avis visé au paragraphe 7.7(1) et de présenter une requête en révision en vertu du paragraphe 7.91(1) vaut déclaration de responsabilité à l'égard de la contravention. Sur demande, le ministre peut alors obtenir du Tribunal un certificat en la forme établie par le gouverneur en conseil sur lequel est inscrit ce montant.

40. Le passage de l'article 8 de la version anglaise de la même loi précédant l'alinéa a) est remplacé par ce qui suit :

8. If, at the conclusion of a review under section 7.91, the member of the Tribunal who conducts the review determines that

41. L'article 8.1 de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

8.1 (1) Le ministre ou toute personne concernée peut faire appel au Tribunal de la décision rendue au titre de l'article 8. Le délai d'appel est de trente jours suivant la décision.

(2) La partie qui ne se présente pas à l'audience portant sur la requête en révision perd le droit de porter la décision en appel, à moins qu'elle ne fasse valoir des motifs valables justifiant son absence.

(3) Le comité du Tribunal peut rejeter l'appel ou y faire droit et substituer sa propre décision à celle en cause.

(4) S'il statue qu'il y a eu contravention, le comité en informe sans délai l'intéressé. Sous réserve des règlements d'application de l'alinéa 7.6(1)b), il l'informe également du montant qu'il détermine et qui doit être payé au Tribunal. En outre, à défaut de paiement dans le délai imparti, il expédie au ministre un certificat, établi en la forme que le gouverneur en conseil peut fixer par règlement, où est inscrit ce montant.

payer l'amende ou de présenter une requête

Omission de

L.R., ch. 33 (1er suppl.), art. 1

Determination by Tribunal member

L.R., ch. 33 (1er suppl.), art. 1; 1992 ch. 4, art. 22

Appel

Perte du droit d'appel

Sort de l'appel

Avis

L.R., ch. 33

R.S., c. 33 (1st Supp.),

Registration of certificate

42. Subsection 8.2(1) of the Act is replaced by the following:

8.2 (1) If the time limit for the payment of an amount determined by the Minister in a notice under subsection 7.7(1) has expired, the time limit for the request for a review under subsection 7.91(1) has expired, the time limit for an appeal under subsection 8.1(1) has expired, or an appeal taken under section 8.1 has been disposed of, on production in any superior court, a certificate issued under section 7.92, paragraph 8(b) or subsection 8.1(4) shall be registered in the court. When it is registered, a certificate has the same force and effect, and proceedings may be taken in connection with it, as if it were a judgment in that court obtained by Her Majesty in right of Canada against the person named in the certificate for a debt of the amount set out in the certificate.

R.S., c. 33 (1st Supp.), s. 1

Application of certain provisions

R.S., c. 33 (1st Supp.), s. 5; 1992, c. 1, s. 4

Replacement of "full opportunity" with "opportunity"

Replacement of "audition" with "audience"

43. Subsection 8.3(3) of the Act is replaced by the following:

(3) Subsections 7.1(3) to (8) and section 7.2 apply, with any modifications that the circumstances require, in respect of a decision of the Minister referred to in subsection (2).

44. Part IV of the Act is repealed.

- 45. (1) The Act is amended by replacing the words "full opportunity" with the word "opportunity" in the following provisions:
 - (a) subsection 6.9(7);
 - (b) subsection 7(6); and
 - (c) subsection 7.1(6).
- (2) The French version of the Act is amended by replacing the word "audition" with the word "audience" in the following provisions:
 - (a) subsections 6.9(6) and (7);
 - (b) subsections 7(5) and (6); and
 - (c) subsections 7.1(5) and (6).

42. Le paragraphe 8.2(1) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

(1er suppl.), art. 1 Enregistrement du certificat

8.2 (1) Sur présentation à la juridiction supérieure, une fois le délai d'appel expiré, la décision portant appel rendue ou le délai pour payer l'amende ou déposer une requête en révision expiré, selon le cas, le certificat visé à l'article 7.92, à l'alinéa 8b) ou au paragraphe 8.1(4) est enregistré. Dès lors, il devient exécutoire et toute procédure d'exécution peut être engagée, le certificat étant assimilé à un jugement de cette juridiction obtenu par Sa Majesté du chef du Canada contre la personne désignée dans le certificat pour une dette dont le montant y est indiqué.

43. Le paragraphe 8.3(3) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

L.R., ch. 33 (1er suppl.), art. 1

(3) Les paragraphes 7.1(3) à (8) et l'article 7.2 s'appliquent, compte tenu des adaptations de circonstance, à la décision du ministre.

Application

44. La partie IV de la même loi est abrogée.

L.R., ch. 33 (1er suppl.), art. 5; 1992, ch. 1, art. 4

de « toute

Remplacement

45. (1) Dans les passages ci-après de la même loi, « toute possibilité » est remplacé par « la possibilité » :

possibilité » par « la possibilité »

- a) le paragraphe 6.9(7);
- b) le paragraphe 7(6);
- c) le paragraphe 7.1(6).
- (2) Dans les passages ci-après de la version française de la même loi, « audition » est remplacé par « audience » :

Remplacement de « audition » par « audience »

- a) les paragraphes 6.9(6) et (7);
- b) les paragraphes 7(5) et (6);
- c) les paragraphes 7.1(5) et (6).

R.S., c. S-9

Canada Shipping Act

Loi sur la marine marchande du Canada

L.R., ch. S-9

46. Section 2 of the *Canada Shipping Act* is amended by adding the following in alphabetical order:

"Tribunal" « *Tribunal* »

R.S., c. 6

(3rd Supp.),

"Tribunal" means the Transportation Appeal Tribunal of Canada established by subsection 2(1) of the *Transportation Appeal Tribunal of Canada Act*;

47. Section 120 of the Act is replaced by the following:

Medical incapacity of certificate holder

120. (1) If the Minister believes on reasonable grounds that the holder of a certificate granted under this Part is incapacitated in respect of the performance of his or her duties as a certificated master or seaman by reason of not meeting the medical fitness standards prescribed under paragraph 110(1)(c), the Minister may suspend the certificate until the

is no longer incapacitated.

Provisions applicable to suspension (2) Sections 504.1 to 505.2 apply in respect of a suspension under subsection (1) with any modifications that the circumstances require. However, subsections 505.1(4) and 505.2(3) apply as if the suspension were a suspension of a certificate under paragraph 504(a), (c) or (e).

Minister is satisfied that the certificate holder

48. Section 125 of the Act is amended by adding the following after subsection (4):

Provisions applicable to suspensions and cancellations (5) Sections 504.1 to 505.2 apply in respect of a suspension or cancellation under subsection (4) with any modifications that the circumstances require. However, subsections 505.1(4) and 505.2(3) apply as if the suspension or cancellation were a suspension or cancellation of a certificate under paragraph 504(a), (c) or (e).

49. Section 128 of the Act is amended by adding the following after subsection (2):

46. L'article 2 de la *Loi sur la marine* marchande du Canada est modifié par adjonction, selon l'ordre alphabétique, de ce qui suit :

« conseiller » Membre du Tribunal.

« conseiller » French version only « Tribunal »

"Tribunal"

« Tribunal » Le Tribunal d'appel des transports du Canada, constitué par le paragraphe 2(1) de la Loi sur le Tribunal d'appel des transports du Canada.

47. L'article 120 de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

L.R., ch. 6 (3^e suppl.),

120. (1) Lorsqu'il a des motifs raisonnables de croire que le titulaire d'un brevet ou certificat accordé en vertu de la présente partie est, parce qu'il ne remplit plus les conditions de santé exigées en application de l'alinéa 110(1)c), devenu incapable d'exercer les fonctions que son brevet ou certificat l'autorise à exercer, le ministre peut suspendre le certificat ou le brevet jusqu'au moment où il est convaincu que son titulaire a recouvré l'état de santé requis.

art. 11

Inaptitude du titulaire d'un brevet ou

certificat

(2) Les articles 504.1 à 505.2 s'appliquent, avec les adaptations nécessaires, à cette suspension. Toutefois, les paragraphes 505.1(4) et 505.2(3) s'appliquent comme s'il s'agissait d'une suspension visée aux alinéas 504*a*), *c*) ou *e*).

Modalités de la suspension

48. L'article 125 de la même loi est modifié par adjonction, après le paragraphe (4), de ce qui suit :

(5) Les articles 504.1 à 505.2 s'appliquent, avec les adaptations nécessaires, à cette suspension ou annulation. Toutefois, les paragraphes 505.1(4) et 505.2(3) s'appliquent comme s'il s'agissait d'une suspension ou annulation visée aux alinéas 504*a*), *c*) ou *e*).

Modalités de la suspension ou de l'annulation

49. L'article 128 de la même loi est modifié par adjonction, après le paragraphe (2), de ce qui suit :

Provisions applicable to suspensions and cancellations

20

(2.1) Sections 504.1 to 505.2 apply in respect of a suspension or cancellation under subsection (2) with any modifications that the circumstances require.

Transportation Appeal Tribunal of Canada

50. Section 133 of the Act is amended by adding the following after subsection (3):

Provisions applicable to suspensions

(4) Sections 504.1 to 505.2 apply in respect of a suspension under subsection (3) with any modifications that the circumstances require. However, subsections 505.1(4) and 505.2(3) apply as if the suspension were a suspension of a certificate under paragraph 504(b) or (d).

R.S., c. 6 (3rd Supp.), 1999, c. 19, ss. 15, 16

51. The heading before section 504 and sections 504 and 505 of the Act are replaced by the following:

Tribunal Hearings Related to the Competency and Conduct of Officers

Suspension or cancellation of certificate

- **504.** With respect to a certificate granted by the Minister, or a certificate granted in any other country in so far only as concerns its validity in Canada, the Minister may suspend or cancel the certificate of competency or service of a master, mate or engineer if the Minister is satisfied that
 - (a) the master, mate or engineer is incompetent or is guilty of any act of misconduct, drunkenness or tyranny;
 - (b) the master, mate or engineer on board a vessel that has contravened any of sections 5.3 to 5.5 of the Coastal Fisheries Protection Act knew, when the contravention occurred, that the vessel was committing the contravention;
 - (c) the loss or abandonment of, or serious damage to, any ship or any loss of life was caused by the wrongful act or default of the master, mate or engineer;
 - (d) the master, mate or engineer is guilty of a criminal offence; or
 - (e) the master or mate, in the case of collision between his or her vessel and another vessel, has failed without reasonable cause to comply with the requirements of section 568 with regard to rendering assistance or giving information.

(2.1) Les articles 504.1 à 505.2 s'appliquent, avec les adaptations nécessaires, à cette suspension ou révocation.

Modalités de la suspension ou de l'annulation

50. L'article 133 de la même loi est modifié par adjonction, après le paragraphe (3), de ce qui suit :

(4) Les articles 504.1 à 505.2 s'appliquent, avec les adaptations nécessaires, à cette Toutefois, les paragraphes suspension. 505.1(4) et 505.2(3) s'appliquent comme s'il s'agissait d'une suspension visée aux alinéas 504*b*) ou *d*).

Modalités de la suspension

51. L'intertitre précédant l'article 504 et les articles 504 et 505 de la même loi sont remplacés par ce qui suit :

L.R., ch. 6 (3e suppl.), art. 87(F); 1999, ch. 19, art. 15 et 16

Audiences du Tribunal sur la capacité et la conduite des officiers

504. Le ministre peut, dans le cas d'un certificat ou brevet accordé par lui, ou d'un certificat ou brevet accordé dans un autre pays — mais seulement en ce qui concerne la validité du certificat ou brevet au Canada —, suspendre ou annuler le certificat de capacité ou le certificat de service d'un capitaine ou d'un officier de pont, ou le certificat ou brevet d'un officier mécanicien, s'il est convaincu que, selon le cas:

- a) le capitaine ou l'officier est incompétent ou s'est rendu coupable d'inconduite, d'ivresse ou de tyrannie;
- b) le capitaine ou l'officier se trouvant à bord d'un bateau coupable d'une infraction aux articles 5.3, 5.4 ou 5.5 de la Loi sur la protection des pêches côtières savait, au moment du fait reproché, que le bateau était en état d'infraction;
- c) la perte ou l'abandon d'un navire ou les avaries graves subies par celui-ci, ou la perte de vies a pour cause la faute ou la prévarication du capitaine ou de l'officier;
- d) le capitaine ou l'officier s'est rendu coupable d'un acte criminel;
- e) le capitaine ou l'officier de pont, dans le cas d'un abordage entre son bâtiment et un autre, a omis, sans motifs raisonnables,

Suspension ou annulation Notice before suspension or cancellation

- **504.1** Before suspending or cancelling a certificate of competency or service, the Minister shall, by personal service or by registered or certified mail sent to the holder of the certificate at his or her latest known address, give the holder 30 days notice of the proposed suspension or cancellation. The notice shall be in a form prescribed by regulation of the Governor in Council and shall indicate
 - (a) the grounds for the proposed suspension or cancellation; and
 - (b) the address at which, and the date, being 30 days after the notice is given, on or before which, the holder may file a request for a review of the Minister's decision.

Exception

504.2 (1) The Minister may suspend or cancel a certificate of competency or service without giving notice under section 504.1 if, on *ex parte* application by the Minister, the Tribunal determines that compliance with that section is not in the interest of public safety.

Decision within 24

(2) An application by the Minister under subsection (1) shall be heard by a member of the Tribunal, sitting alone, whose determination shall be made within 24 hours after the application is filed with the Tribunal.

Appeal

(3) The Minister may appeal the determination to the Tribunal within 24 hours after the determination.

Decision within 48 hours (4) The appeal panel of the Tribunal assigned to hear the appeal shall make a decision within 48 hours after the appeal is filed with the Tribunal.

Notice after suspension or cancellation

- **504.3** Unless a notice is given under section 504.1, immediately after suspending or cancelling a certificate, the Minister shall, by personal service or by registered or certified mail sent to the holder of the certificate at his or her latest known address, give the holder a notice in a form prescribed by regulation of the Governor in Council
 - (a) confirming the suspension or cancellation and providing all relevant information

d'observer les prescriptions de l'article 568 relatives à l'assistance à prêter et aux renseignements à donner.

504.1 Avant de suspendre ou d'annuler le certificat ou brevet, le ministre expédie, à la dernière adresse connue de son titulaire, par courrier recommandé ou certifié ou par signification à personne, un préavis de trente jours établi en la forme que le gouverneur en conseil peut fixer par règlement et précisant :

- précédant la suspension ou l'annulation
- a) les motifs de la suspension ou de l'annulation;
- *b*) le lieu et la date limite, à savoir trente jours après l'expédition de l'avis, du dépôt d'une éventuelle requête en révision.

504.2 (1) Le ministre peut suspendre ou annuler le certificat ou brevet sans se conformer à l'article 504.1 si, sur demande *ex parte* de sa part, le Tribunal conclut que l'observation de cette disposition compromettrait la sécurité publique.

Exception: demande ex parte

(2) La demande du ministre est entendue par un conseiller, agissant seul, qui rend sa décision dans les vingt-quatre heures suivant le dépôt de la demande au Tribunal. Décision dans les vingt-quatre heures

(3) Le ministre peut faire appel au Tribunal de la décision du conseiller dans les vingt-quatre heures suivant la décision.

Appel

(4) Le comité du Tribunal rend sa décision dans les quarante-huit heures suivant le dépôt de l'appel.

Décision dans les quarante-huit

504.3 Sauf dans le cas d'un certificat ou brevet suspendu ou annulé conformément à l'article 504.1, le ministre doit, immédiatement après avoir suspendu ou annulé le certificat ou brevet, expédier à la dernière adresse connue de son titulaire, par courrier recommandé ou certifié ou par signification à personne, un avis en la forme que le gouverneur en conseil peut fixer par règlement et :

Avis suivant la suspension ou l'annulation concerning the grounds on which the Minister suspended or cancelled the certificate; and

(b) indicating the address at which, and the date, being 30 days after the notice is given, on or before which, the holder may file a request for a review of the Minister's decision.

a) confirmant, motifs à l'appui, la suspension ou l'annulation;

b) précisant le lieu et la date limite, à savoir trente jours après l'expédition de l'avis, du dépôt d'une éventuelle requête en révision.

Request for

505. (1) The holder of a certificate may, on or before the date specified in a notice under section 504.1 or 504.3 or within any further time that the Tribunal on application allows, file a written request for a review of the decision referred to in the notice.

Effect of request

(2) The filing of a request for a review of a decision referred to in a notice under section 504.1 operates as a stay of the proposed suspension or cancellation until the matter is finally disposed of in accordance with section 505.1 or 505.2.

Time and place for review

505.1 (1) On receipt of a request filed under subsection 505(1), the Tribunal shall appoint a time and place for the review and shall notify the Minister and the holder of the certificate of the time and place in writing.

Review procedure

(2) The member of the Tribunal assigned to conduct the review shall provide the Minister and the holder of the certificate with an opportunity consistent with procedural fairness and natural justice to present evidence and make representations.

Person not compelled to testify

(3) In a review of a decision made under paragraph 504(c) or (e), the holder of the certificate is not required, and must not be compelled, to give any evidence or testimony in the matter.

Determination

- (4) The member may
- tion of a certificate under paragraph 504(a), (c) or (e), confirm the Minister's decision or refer the matter back to the Minister for reconsideration; or
- (b) in the case of a suspension or cancellation of a certificate under paragraph 504(b) or (d), confirm the Minister's decision or substitute his or her own determination.

505. (1) Le titulaire du certificat ou brevet peut faire réviser la décision du ministre en déposant une requête auprès du Tribunal au plus tard à la date limite qui est indiquée à l'avis, ou dans le délai supérieur éventuellement accordé à sa demande par le Tribunal.

Requête en

(2) Si, par suite du préavis prévu à l'article 504.1, le titulaire du certificat ou brevet dépose une requête en révision, la suspension ou l'annulation est reportée jusqu'à ce qu'il soit disposé de l'affaire conformément aux articles 505.1 ou 505.2.

Effet de la requête

505.1 (1) Le Tribunal, sur réception de la requête, fixe la date, l'heure et le lieu de l'audience et en avise par écrit le ministre et le titulaire du certificat ou brevet.

Audience

(2) À l'audience, le conseiller commis à l'affaire accorde au ministre et au titulaire du certificat ou brevet la possibilité de présenter leurs éléments de preuve et leurs observations, conformément aux principes de l'équité procédurale et de la justice naturelle.

Déroulement

(3) Dans les cas visés par les alinéas 504c) et e), le capitaine ou l'officier n'est pas tenu de témoigner.

Non-contraignabilité à témoigner

(a) in the case of a suspension or cancella-

(4) Le conseiller peut :

a) dans le cas d'une suspension ou annulation visée aux alinéas 504a), c) ou e), confirmer la décision ou renvoyer l'affaire au ministre pour réexamen;

b) dans le cas d'une suspension ou annulation visée aux alinéas 504b) ou d), confirmer la décision ou y substituer sa propre décision.

Décision

Appel

Right of appeal

505.2 (1) The holder of a certificate may appeal a determination made under paragraph 505.1(4)(a), and the holder of a certificate or the Minister may appeal a determination made under paragraph 505.1(4)(b), to the Tribunal within 30 days after the determination.

Loss of right of appeal

(2) A party that does not appear at a review hearing is not entitled to appeal a determination, unless they establish that there was sufficient reason to justify their absence.

Disposition of appeal

- (3) The appeal panel of the Tribunal assigned to hear the appeal may
 - (a) in the case of a determination made under paragraph 505.1(4)(a), dismiss the appeal or refer the matter back to the Minister for reconsideration; or
 - (b) in the case of a determination made under paragraph 505.1(4)(b), dismiss the appeal, or allow the appeal and substitute its own decision.

Endorsements

505.3 A reference to a certificate in sections 504 to 505.2 includes a reference to an endorsement of that certificate.

1996, c. 10

Canada Transportation Act

52. (1) The portion of subsection 180(2) of the *Canada Transportation Act* before paragraph (a) is replaced by the following:

Application of Aeronautics Act

- (2) Sections 7.8 to 8.2 of the *Aeronautics Act* apply to the contravention of a provision, requirement or condition designated under section 177, with any modifications that are necessary, and a reference in any of those provisions or in any document issued under any of those provisions to
- (2) Paragraph 180(2)(c) of the Act is replaced by the following:
 - (c) "Minister" shall be read as a reference to the Agency or, in any provision other than section 7.9 of the *Aeronautics Act*, to a person designated by the Agency;

505.2 (1) Le ministre ou le titulaire du certificat ou brevet peuvent faire appel au Tribunal de la décision rendue en vertu de l'alinéa 505.1(4)*b*); seul le titulaire du certificat ou brevet peut faire appel de celle rendue en vertu de l'alinéa 505.1(4)*a*). Dans tous les cas, le délai d'appel est de trente jours suivant la décision du conseiller.

(2) La partie qui ne se présente pas à l'audience portant sur la requête en révision perd le droit de porter la décision en appel, à moins qu'elle ne fasse valoir des motifs valables justifiant son absence.

Perte du droit d'appel

(3) Le comité du Tribunal peut :

Sort de l'appel

- *a*) dans le cas d'une décision visée à l'alinéa 505.1(4)*a*), rejeter l'appel ou renvoyer l'affaire au ministre pour réexamen;
- b) dans le cas d'une décision visée à l'alinéa 505.1(4)b), rejeter l'appel ou y faire droit et substituer sa propre décision à celle en cause.

505.3 Toute mention, aux articles 504 à 505.2, d'un certificat ou d'un brevet vaut mention d'un visa.

Loi sur les transports au Canada

sa.

1996, ch. 10

Visas

52. (1) Le passage du paragraphe 180(2) de la *Loi sur les transports au Canada* précédant l'alinéa *a*) est remplacé par ce qui suit :

(2) Les articles 7.8 à 8.2 de la *Loi sur l'aéronautique* s'appliquent relativement aux violations, avec les adaptations nécessaires, comme si la mention dans un de ces articles ou dans un document délivré en vertu d'un de ces articles :

Application de la *Loi sur l'aéronautique*

(2) L'alinéa 180(2)c) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

c) du « ministre » était celle de l'Office ou, sauf pour l'article 7.9 de cette loi, était celle de la personne que l'Office peut désigner;

R.S., c. F-11

24

Financial Administration Act

53. Schedule I.1 to the *Financial Administration Act* is amended by striking out, in column I, the reference to

Civil Aviation Tribunal

Tribunal de l'aviation civile

and the corresponding reference in column II to the "Minister of Transport".

54. Schedule I.1 to the Act is amended by adding, in alphabetical order in column I, a reference to

Transportation Appeal Tribunal of Canada

Tribunal d'appel des transports du Canada

and a corresponding reference in column II to the "Minister of Transport".

1994, c. 40

Marine Transportation Security Act

55. (1) The definition "screening officer" in subsection 2(1) of the *Marine Transportation Security Act* is replaced by the following:

"screening officer" « agent de contrôle » "screening officer" means a person designated by the Minister under section 19.1 as a screening officer for the purposes of this Act:

(2) Subsection 2(1) of the Act is amended by adding the following in alphabetical order:

"Tribunal" « Tribunal »

"Tribunal" means the Transportation Appeal Tribunal of Canada established by subsection 2(1) of the *Transportation Appeal Tribunal of Canada Act*;

56. Sections 5 and 6 of the Act are replaced by the following:

Regulations respecting security

- **5.** (1) The Governor in Council may make regulations respecting the security of marine transportation, including regulations
 - (a) for preventing unlawful interference with marine transportation and ensuring that appropriate action is taken where that interference occurs or could occur;

Loi sur la gestion des finances publiques

L.R., ch. F-11

53. L'annexe I.1 de la *Loi sur la gestion des finances publiques* est modifiée par suppression, dans la colonne I, de ce qui suit :

Tribunal de l'aviation civile

Civil Aviation Tribunal

ainsi que de la mention « Le ministre des Transports », dans la colonne II, placée en regard de ce secteur.

54. L'annexe I.1 de la même loi est modifiée par adjonction, dans la colonne I, selon l'ordre alphabétique, de ce qui suit :

Tribunal d'appel des transports du Canada

Transportation Appeal Tribunal of Canada

ainsi que de la mention « Le ministre des Transports », dans la colonne II, en regard de ce secteur.

Loi sur la sûreté du transport maritime

1994, ch. 40

- 55. (1) La définition de « agent de contrôle », au paragraphe 2(1) de la *Loi sur la* sûreté du transport maritime, est remplacée par ce qui suit :
- « agent de contrôle » Toute personne désignée à ce titre par le ministre en vertu de l'article 19.1 pour l'application de la présente loi.

« agent de contrôle » "screening officer"

- (2) Le paragraphe 2(1) de la même loi est modifié par adjonction, selon l'ordre alphabétique, de ce qui suit :
- « conseiller » Membre du Tribunal.

« conseiller » French version only « Tribunal »

"Tribunal"

« Tribunal » Le Tribunal d'appel des transports du Canada constitué par le paragraphe 2(1) de la *Loi sur le Tribunal d'appel des transports du Canada*.

56. Les articles 5 et 6 de la même loi sont remplacés par ce qui suit :

- **5.** (1) Le gouverneur en conseil peut, par règlement, régir la sûreté du transport maritime et notamment :
 - a) viser à prévenir les atteintes illicites au transport maritime et, lorsque de telles atteintes surviennent ou risquent de survenir, faire en sorte que des mesures efficaces soient prises pour y parer;

Règlements en matière de sûreté

- (b) requiring or authorizing screening for the purpose of protecting persons, goods, vessels and marine facilities;
- (c) respecting the establishment of restricted areas;
- (d) respecting the keeping and preservation of records and documents relating to the security of marine operations, including copies of the regulations, security measures and security rules;
- (e) for requiring the records and documents to be filed with the Minister or provided on request; and
- (f) respecting the protection, preservation and return of any evidence that has been seized under this Act without a warrant or any vessel that has been detained under this Act.

Offences relating to the regulations

- (2) Every person who contravenes a regulation made under subsection (1) is guilty of an offence punishable on summary conviction and liable
 - (a) in the case of an individual, to a fine not exceeding \$5,000 or to imprisonment for a term not exceeding six months or to both; or
 - (b) in the case of a corporation, to a fine not exceeding \$100,000.

Notices and service of documents

- **6.** The Governor in Council may make regulations respecting
 - (a) the form and manner of giving notice under this Act; and
 - (b) the service of documents required or authorized to be served under this Act, including the manner of serving them, the proof of their service and the circumstances under which they are deemed to have been served.

57. Section 19 of the Act is replaced by the following:

Definition of "designation"

19. For the purposes of sections 19.1 to 19.8, "designation" includes any privilege accorded by a designation.

- b) exiger ou autoriser un contrôle pour la sécurité des personnes, des biens, des bâtiments et des installations maritimes;
- c) régir l'établissement de zones réglementées;
- d) régir la tenue et la conservation de dossiers et d'autres documents relatifs à la sûreté des opérations maritimes, notamment des copies de règlements, de mesures et de règles de sûreté;
- e) prévoir l'exigence du dépôt auprès du ministre de ces documents ou leur fourniture sur demande;
- f) régir la préservation et la restitution de tout élément de preuve saisi sans mandat ou de tout bâtiment retenu en application de la présente loi.
- (2) L'inobservation de ces règlements constitue une infraction passible, sur déclaration de culpabilité par procédure sommaire :
 - a) dans le cas d'une personne physique, d'une amende maximale de 5 000 \$ et d'un emprisonnement maximal de six mois, ou de l'une de ces peines;
 - b) dans le cas d'une personne morale, d'une amende maximale de 100 000 \$.
- **6.** Le gouverneur en conseil peut, par règlement :
 - a) régir les avis prévus par la présente loi;
 - b) régir, notamment par l'établissement de présomptions et de règles de preuve, la signification ou la notification de documents autorisée ou exigée par la présente loi.
- 57. L'article 19 de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

19. Pour l'application des articles 19.1 à 19.8, est assimilé à la désignation tout avantage qu'elle octroie.

Infraction

Avis et signification ou notification de documents

Définition de « désignation »

Désignation

Designation of screening officers

26

19.1 The Minister may designate persons or classes of persons to act as screening officers for the purposes of this Act or any of its provisions.

Refusal to designate, etc.

19.2 (1) The Minister may refuse to designate a person as a screening officer under section 19.1, or may suspend, cancel or refuse to renew the designation of a person as a screening officer, if the Minister is of the opinion that the person is incompetent, does not meet the qualifications or fulfil the conditions required for the designation or ceases to meet the qualifications or fulfil the conditions of the designation.

Suspension or cancellation of designation for contraven-

(2) The Minister may suspend or cancel the designation of a person as a screening officer if the Minister is of the opinion that the person has contravened this Act or any regulation, security measure or security rule, or any condition referred to in subsection 10(6).

Suspension for immediate threat

(3) The Minister may suspend the designation of a person as a screening officer if the Minister is of the opinion that the exercise by the person of the functions of a screening officer constitutes, or is likely to constitute, an immediate threat to marine transportation security.

Notice

19.3 (1) If the Minister decides to refuse to designate a person as a screening officer or decides to suspend, cancel or refuse to renew a person's designation as a screening officer, the Minister shall notify the person of that decision.

Contents of notice

- (2) A notice under subsection (1) shall include
 - (a) the grounds for the Minister's decision;
 - (b) the address at which, and the date, being thirty days after the notice is given, on or before which, the person may file a request for a review of the decision.

Effective date of suspension cancellation

- (3) In the case of a suspension or cancellation, the effective date of the decision shall not be earlier than
 - (a) in the case of a decision made under subsection 19.2(1) or (3), the day that the notice was received by the person; and

19.1 Le ministre peut désigner des personnes, individuellement ou par catégorie, pour remplir les fonctions d'agent de contrôle dans le cadre de la présente loi ou de telle de ses dispositions.

> Suspension. annulation ou refus pour inaptitude

19.2 (1) Le ministre peut suspendre, annuler ou refuser de renouveler la désignation d'un agent de contrôle, ou refuser de désigner une personne à titre d'agent de contrôle, s'il estime que l'intéressé est inapte ou ne répond pas — ou ne répond plus — aux conditions de délivrance ou de maintien en état de validité de la désignation.

(2) Le ministre peut suspendre ou annuler la désignation de l'agent de contrôle s'il estime que celui-ci contrevient à la présente loi, aux règlements, aux mesures de sûreté, aux règles de sûreté, ou aux conditions visées au paragraphe 10(6).

Suspension ou annulation pour contravention à la loi

(3) Le ministre peut suspendre la désignation de l'agent de contrôle s'il estime que l'exercice, par lui, des fonctions d'agent de contrôle constitue un danger immédiat ou probable pour la sûreté du transport maritime.

Suspension pour motif de sûreté

19.3 (1) S'il décide de suspendre, d'annuler ou de refuser de renouveler la désignation de l'agent de contrôle, ou de refuser de désigner une personne à titre d'agent de contrôle, le ministre notifie à l'intéressé avis de sa décision.

Avis

- (2) Sont notamment indiqués dans l'avis :
- a) les motifs de la décision du ministre;
- b) le lieu et la date limite, à savoir trente jours après la notification de l'avis, du dépôt d'une éventuelle requête en révision.

Contenu de l'avis

- (3) Dans le cas d'une suspension ou d'une annulation, la date de prise d'effet de la décision:
 - a) si celle-ci est rendue en vertu des paragraphes 19.2(1) ou (3), ne peut être

Prise d'effet

(b) in the case of a decision made under subsection 19.2(2), the thirtieth day after the notice is given.

Request for review **19.4** (1) A person affected by a decision of the Minister under section 19.2 may, on or before the date specified in the notice under subsection 19.3(1) or within any further time that the Tribunal on application allows, file a written request for a review of the decision.

Effect of request

(2) A request under subsection (1) for a review of a decision of the Minister does not operate as a stay of the decision.

Exception

(3) On application in writing by the person affected by a decision made under subsection 19.2(2), after giving any notice to the Minister that is, in the member's opinion, necessary and after considering any representations made by the parties, a member of the Tribunal assigned for the purpose may grant a stay of the decision until the review is completed, unless he or she is of the opinion that granting a stay would constitute a threat to marine transportation security.

Time and place for review

19.5 (1) On receipt of a request filed under subsection 19.4(1), the Tribunal shall appoint a time and place for the review and shall notify the Minister and the person who filed the request of the time and place in writing.

Review procedure (2) The member of the Tribunal assigned to conduct the review shall provide the Minister and the person who filed the request with an opportunity consistent with procedural fairness and natural justice to present evidence and make representations.

Person not compelled to testify

(3) In a review of a decision made under subsection 19.2(2), the person who filed the request for the review is not required, and shall not be compelled, to give any evidence or testimony in the matter.

Determination

- (4) The member may
- (a) in the case of a decision made under subsection 19.2(1) or (3), confirm the decision or refer the matter back to the Minister for reconsideration; or

antérieure à la date de réception de l'avis par l'intéressé;

- b) si celle-ci est rendue en vertu du paragraphe 19.2(2), ne peut être antérieure au trentième jour suivant la notification de l'avis.
- 19.4 (1) L'intéressé peut faire réviser la décision du ministre en déposant une requête auprès du Tribunal, au plus tard à la date limite qui est indiquée à l'avis, ou dans le délai supérieur éventuellement accordé à sa demande par le Tribunal.
- (2) Le dépôt d'une requête en révision n'a pas pour effet de suspendre la décision.

(3) Sauf s'il estime que cela constituerait un danger pour la sûreté du transport maritime, le conseiller commis à l'affaire qui est saisi d'une demande écrite de l'intéressé peut, après avoir donné au ministre le préavis qu'il estime indiqué et avoir entendu les observa-

tions des parties, prononcer la suspension de la décision rendue en vertu du paragraphe 19.2(2) jusqu'à ce qu'il ait été statué sur la requête en révision.

10.5 (1) Lo Tribu

19.5 (1) Le Tribunal, sur réception de la requête, fixe la date, l'heure et le lieu de l'audience et en avise par écrit le ministre et l'intéressé.

(2) À l'audience, le conseiller commis à l'affaire accorde au ministre et à l'intéressé la possibilité de présenter leurs éléments de preuve et leurs observations, conformément aux principes de l'équité procédurale et de la justice naturelle.

(3) Dans le cas visé par le paragraphe 19.2(2), l'auteur de la présumée contravention n'est pas tenu de témoigner.

(4) Le conseiller peut :

a) dans les cas visés aux paragraphes 19.2(1) ou (3), confirmer la décision ou renvoyer l'affaire au ministre pour réexamen;

Requête en révision

Effet de la requête

Exception

Audience

Déroulement

Non-contraignabilité à témoigner

Décision

Appel

(b) in the case of a decision made under subsection 19.2(2), confirm the decision or substitute his or her own determination.

Right of appeal

28

- 19.6 (1) Within thirty days after the determination,
 - (a) a person affected by the determination may appeal a determination made under paragraph 19.5(4)(a) to the Tribunal; or
 - (b) a person affected by the determination or the Minister may appeal a determination made under paragraph 19.5(4)(b) to the Tribunal.

Loss of right of appeal

(2) A party that does not appear at a review hearing is not entitled to appeal a determination, unless they establish that there was sufficient reason to justify their absence.

Disposition of appeal

- (3) The appeal panel of the Tribunal assigned to hear the appeal may
 - (a) in the case of a determination made under paragraph 19.5(4)(a), dismiss the appeal or refer the matter back to the Minister for reconsideration; or
 - (b) in the case of a determination made under paragraph 19.5(4)(b), dismiss the appeal, or allow the appeal and substitute its own decision.

Decision to remain in effect pending reconsideration

19.7 If a matter is referred back to the Minister for reconsideration under paragraph 19.5(4)(a) or 19.6(3)(a), the decision of the Minister under subsection 19.2(1) or (3) to suspend or cancel a designation remains in effect until the reconsideration is concluded. However, the member who made the determination or the appeal panel, after considering any representations made by the parties, may grant a stay of a decision under subsection 19.2(1) to suspend or cancel a designation until the reconsideration is concluded, if the member or panel is satisfied that granting a stay would not constitute a threat to marine transportation security.

Reconsideration

19.8 (1) In the case of a decision made under subsection 19.2(3), if the appeal panel has, on an appeal under section 19.6, dismissed the appeal or if the Minister has, after reconsidering the matter pursuant to paragraph 19.5(4)(a) or 19.6(3)(a), confirmed the sus-

- b) dans le cas visé au paragraphe 19.2(2), confirmer la décision ou y substituer sa propre décision.
- **19.6** (1) Le ministre ou toute personne concernée peuvent faire appel au Tribunal de la décision rendue en vertu de l'alinéa 19.5(4)b); seule une personne concernée peut faire appel de celle rendue en vertu de l'alinéa 19.5(4)a). Dans tous les cas, le délai d'appel est de trente jours suivant la décision.

Perte du droit d'appel

- (2) La partie qui ne se présente pas à l'audience portant sur la requête en révision perd le droit de porter la décision en appel, à moins qu'elle ne fasse valoir des motifs valables justifiant son absence.
 - (3) Le comité du Tribunal peut :

Sort de l'appel

Maintien de

la décision en

cas de renvoi

an ministre

- a) dans les cas d'une décision visée à l'alinéa 19.5(4)a), rejeter l'appel ou renvoyer l'affaire au ministre pour réexamen;
- b) dans les cas d'une décision visée à l'alinéa 19.5(4)b), rejeter l'appel ou y faire droit et substituer sa propre décision à celle en cause.
- 19.7 En cas de renvoi de l'affaire au ministre au titre des alinéas 19.5(4)a) ou 19.6(3)a), la décision du ministre de suspendre ou d'annuler la désignation continue d'avoir effet. Toutefois, le conseiller ou le comité peut, après avoir entendu les observations des parties et s'il estime que cela ne constitue pas un danger pour la sûreté du transport maritime, prononcer la suspension de la décision de suspendre ou d'annuler la désignation rendue en vertu du paragraphe 19.2(1) jusqu'à ce que le ministre ait réexaminé sa décision.
- 19.8 (1) Dans le cas d'une décision visée au paragraphe 19.2(3), si le comité rejette l'appel ou que le ministre maintient la suspension après réexamen de la décision conformément aux alinéas 19.5(4)a) ou 19.6(3)a), l'intéressé peut, par écrit, demander au ministre de

Réexamen

pension, the person affected by the decision may, in writing, request the Minister to reconsider whether the exercise by the person of the functions of a screening officer continues to constitute, or is likely to continue to constitute, an immediate threat to marine transportation security.

Procedure applicable (2) On the receipt of a request by a person under subsection (1), the Minister shall without delay conduct the reconsideration and inform the person of his or her decision regarding the request. Sections 19.3 to 19.7 apply in respect of that decision with any modifications that are necessary.

58. Subsection 28(2) of the French version of the Act is replaced by the following:

Exploitant du bâtiment

(2) L'exploitant d'un bâtiment peut être déclaré coupable d'une infraction à la présente loi, en rapport avec ce bâtiment, commise par une autre personne, que celle-ci ait été ou non identifiée, poursuivie ou déclarée coupable, à moins que, lors de l'infraction, le bâtiment n'ait été en la possession d'une autre personne sans son consentement.

59. Section 32 of the Act and the headings before it are replaced by the following:

ADMINISTRATIVE PENALTIES

Interpretation

Definition of "violation"

32. In sections 33 to 51, "violation" means a contravention of a provision that is designated as a violation by the regulations.

Assurances of Compliance and Notices of Violation

If reasonable grounds to believe a violation

- **33.** (1) If the Minister has reasonable grounds to believe that a person has committed a violation, the Minister may
 - (a) enter into an assurance of compliance with the person that
 - (i) identifies the violation and provides that the person will comply with the provision to which the violation relates within the period, and be subject to the terms and conditions, specified in the assurance.

réexaminer la question de savoir s'il y a toujours danger immédiat ou probable pour la sûreté du transport maritime.

(2) Sur réception de la demande, le ministre procède sans délai au réexamen et informe l'intéressé de sa décision. Les articles 19.3 à 19.7 s'appliquent, avec les adaptations nécessaires, à sa décision.

Procédure applicable

58. Le paragraphe 28(2) de la version française de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

(2) L'exploitant d'un bâtiment peut être déclaré coupable d'une infraction à la présente loi, en rapport avec ce bâtiment, commise par une autre personne, que celle-ci ait été ou non identifiée, poursuivie ou déclarée coupable, à moins que, lors de l'infraction, le bâtiment n'ait été en la possession d'une autre personne sans son consentement.

Exploitant du bâtiment

59. L'article 32 de la même loi et l'intertitre le précédant sont remplacés par ce qui suit :

SANCTIONS ADMINISTRATIVES

Définition

32. Aux articles 33 à 51, « violation » s'entend de toute contravention à une disposition qualifiée de violation par les règlements.

Définition de

Transaction et procès-verbal

33. (1) S'il a des motifs raisonnables de croire qu'une violation a été commise, le ministre peut :

Transaction ou procès-verbal

a) soit conclure avec le contrevenant une transaction en vue de l'observation, dans le délai précisé et aux conditions fixées, de la disposition enfreinte et fixer le montant et la forme de la caution à verser pour garantir l'exécution de la transaction ainsi que le montant de la sanction, en application des règlements, qu'il aurait eu à payer s'il n'avait pas conclu la transaction;

30

- (ii) sets out the amount and form of any security that, pending compliance with the assurance, must be deposited with the Minister, and
- (iii) sets out the penalty, fixed by or within the range fixed by the regulations, that the person would have been liable to pay for the violation if the assurance had not been entered into; or
- (b) issue, and cause to be served on the person, a notice of violation that names the person, identifies the violation and sets out
 - (i) the penalty, fixed by or within the range fixed by the regulations, that the person is liable to pay for the violation,
 - (ii) the period, being thirty days after notice is served, within which the penalty must be paid or a review must be requested, and
 - (iii) particulars of the manner in which, and the address at which, the penalty must be paid or a review requested.

b) soit dresser un procès-verbal — qu'il fait signifier au contrevenant — comportant, outre le nom du contrevenant et les faits reprochés, le montant de la sanction à payer, fixé en application des règlements, ainsi que le délai, soit trente jours après signification de l'avis, et les modalités de paiement ou de requête en révision.

Extension of period

(2) The Minister may extend the period specified under subparagraph (1)(a)(i) if the Minister is satisfied that the person is unable to comply with the assurance of compliance for reasons beyond the person's control.

Short-form descriptions in notices of violation

(3) The Minister may establish, in respect of each violation, a short-form description to be used in notices of violation.

Deemed violation

34. (1) A person who enters into an assurance of compliance under paragraph 33(1)(a) is, unless a review is requested under subsection (2), deemed to have committed the violation in respect of which the assurance was entered into.

Request for review

(2) A person who enters into an assurance of compliance may, within forty-eight hours after the assurance is signed, unless a notice of default is served within that period under subsection 36(1), file a request with the Tribunal for a review of the facts of the violation, in which case the assurance is deemed to be a notice of violation and a review under subsection 39(1) of the facts of the violation and of the amount of the penalty is deemed to have been requested.

(2) S'il estime que le contrevenant ne peut exécuter la transaction dans le délai précisé pour des raisons indépendantes de sa volonté, le ministre peut proroger celui-ci.

Prorogation

(3) Il peut établir, pour toute violation, une description abrégée à utiliser dans les procèsverbaux.

Description abrégée

34. (1) Sauf s'il présente une requête en révision au titre du paragraphe (2), le contrevenant qui conclut une transaction est réputé avoir commis la violation en cause.

Commission de la violation

(2) Le contrevenant qui conclut une transaction peut, dans les quarante-huit heures suivant la signature de celle-ci, mais avant signification de l'avis de défaut visé au paragraphe 36(1), déposer auprès du Tribunal une requête en révision des faits reprochés, auquel cas la transaction est réputée être un procès-verbal et le contrevenant est réputé avoir déposé une requête en révision des faits reprochés ou du montant de la sanction en vertu du paragraphe 39(1).

Requête en révision

When assurance of compliance complied with

- **35.** If the Minister is satisfied that an assurance of compliance under paragraph 33(1)(*a*) has been complied with, the Minister shall cause a notice to that effect to be served on the person and, on the service of the notice,
 - (a) no further proceedings may be taken against the person with respect to the violation in respect of which the assurance was entered into; and
 - (b) any security deposited under subparagraph 33(1)(a)(ii) must be returned to the person.

When assurance of compliance not complied with

- **36.** (1) If the Minister is of the opinion that a person who has entered into an assurance of compliance has not complied with it, the Minister may cause a notice of default to be served on the person to the effect that, unless a member determines under section 37, or an appeal panel decides under section 40, that the assurance has been complied with,
 - (a) the person is liable to pay double the amount of the penalty set out in the assurance; or
 - (b) the security deposited under subparagraph 33(1)(a)(ii) is forfeited to Her Majesty in right of Canada.

Contents of notice (2) A notice under subsection (1) shall include the address at which, and the date, being thirty days after the notice is served, on or before which, a request for a review may be filed.

No set-off

(3) On the service of a notice of default, the person served has no right of set-off against any amount spent by the person under the assurance of compliance.

Request for review

37. (1) A person who is served with a notice under subsection 36(1) may, on or before the date specified in the notice or within any further time that the Tribunal on application allows, file a written request for a review.

Time and place for review

(2) On receipt of a request filed under subsection (1), the Tribunal shall appoint a time and place for the review and shall notify the Minister and the person who filed the request of the time and place in writing.

- **35.** S'il estime que l'intéressé a exécuté la transaction, le ministre en avise celui-ci. Sur signification de l'avis :
 - *a*) aucune poursuite ne peut être intentée contre l'intéressé pour la même violation;
 - b) toute caution versée au titre de l'alinéa 33(1)a) est remise à l'intéressé.
- **36.** (1) S'il estime que l'intéressé n'a pas exécuté la transaction, le ministre peut lui signifier un avis de défaut qui l'informe que, sauf si le conseiller ou le comité conclut respectivement au titre des articles 37 ou 40 que la transaction a été exécutée :
 - *a*) soit il doit payer le double du montant de la sanction prévue par la transaction;
 - b) soit la caution versée au titre de l'alinéa 33(1)a) est confisquée au profit de Sa Majesté du chef du Canada.
- (2) Sont notamment indiqués dans l'avis le lieu et la date limite, à savoir trente jours après signification de l'avis, du dépôt d'une éventuelle requête en révision.

(3) Sur signification de l'avis de défaut, l'intéressé perd tout droit à la compensation pour les sommes exposées dans le cadre de la transaction.

- **37.** (1) Le contrevenant peut faire réviser la décision du ministre prise en vertu du paragraphe 36(1) en déposant une requête en révision auprès du Tribunal, au plus tard à la date limite qui est indiquée à l'avis, ou dans le délai supérieur éventuellement accordé à sa demande par le Tribunal.
- (2) Le Tribunal, sur réception de la requête, fixe la date, l'heure et le lieu de l'audience et en avise par écrit le ministre et le contrevenant.

Avis d'exécution

Avis de défaut d'exécution

Contenu de l'avis

Effet de l'inexécution

Requête en révision

Audience

Déroulement

Review procedure (3) The member of the Tribunal assigned to conduct the review shall provide the Minister and the person who filed the request with an opportunity consistent with procedural fairness and natural justice to present evidence and make representations.

Burden of proof

(4) The burden is on the Minister to establish that the person did not comply with the assurance of compliance referred to in the notice. The person is not required, and shall not be compelled, to give any evidence or testimony in the matter.

Certain defences not available (5) A person does not have a defence by reason that the person exercised all due diligence to comply with the assurance of compliance.

Determination

(6) The member may confirm the Minister's decision or determine that the person has complied with the assurance of compliance.

Return of security

- **38.** Any security deposited under subparagraph 33(1)(a)(ii) shall be returned to the person if
 - (a) the person pays double the amount of the penalty set out in the assurance of compliance in accordance with a notice under subsection 36(1); or
 - (b) a member determines under subsection 37(6), or an appeal panel decides under subsection 40(3), that the assurance has been complied with.

Notice of violation

- **39.** (1) A person served with a notice of violation under paragraph 33(1)(b) must
 - (a) pay the amount of the penalty; or
 - (b) within thirty days after being served or any further time that the Tribunal on application allows, file with the Tribunal a written request for a review of the facts of the violation or the amount of the penalty.

When review not requested (2) If a review of the facts of the violation is not requested, the person is deemed to have committed the violation in respect of which the notice was served.

Time and place for review

(3) On receipt of a request filed under paragraph (1)(b), the Tribunal shall appoint a time and place for the review and shall notify the Minister and the person who filed the request of the time and place in writing.

(3) À l'audience, le conseiller commis à l'affaire accorde au ministre et au contrevenant la possibilité de présenter leurs éléments de preuve et leurs observations, conformément aux principes de l'équité procédurale et de la justice naturelle.

(4) Il incombe au ministre d'établir la responsabilité du contrevenant; celui-ci n'est

(5) Le contrevenant ne peut invoquer en défense le fait qu'il a pris toutes les mesures nécessaires pour exécuter la transaction.

cependant pas tenu de témoigner.

Exclusion de certains moyens de défense

(6) Le conseiller peut confirmer la décision du ministre ou conclure que la transaction a été exécutée par le contrevenant.

38. La caution versée par le contrevenant au titre de l'alinéa 33(1)*a*) lui est remise :

Remise de la

Décision

- a) en cas de signification de l'avis mentionné au paragraphe 36(1), lorsque le contrevenant paie le double du montant de la sanction prévue par la transaction;
- b) lorsque le conseiller en vertu du paragraphe 37(6) ou le comité en vertu du paragraphe 40(3) conclut que la transaction a été exécutée.
- **39.** (1) Si le ministre ne transige pas, le contrevenant doit soit payer le montant de la sanction infligée initialement, soit, dans les trente jours suivant la signification du procèsverbal ou dans le délai supérieur éventuellement accordé à sa demande par le Tribunal, déposer auprès de celui-ci une requête en révision des faits reprochés ou du montant de la sanction.
- (2) L'omission de déposer une requête en révision des faits reprochés vaut déclaration de responsabilité à l'égard de la violation.
- (3) Le Tribunal, sur réception de la requête, fixe la date, l'heure et le lieu de l'audience et en avise par écrit le ministre et le contrevenant.

Option en cas de refus de transiger

Aucune requête

Audience

Review procedure (4) The member of the Tribunal assigned to conduct the review shall provide the Minister and the person who filed the request with an opportunity consistent with procedural fairness and natural justice to present evidence and make representations.

Burden of proof

(5) The burden is on the Minister to establish that the person committed the violation referred to in the notice. The person is not required, and shall not be compelled, to give any evidence or testimony in the matter.

Determination

(6) The member may confirm the Minister's decision or, subject to any regulations made under paragraph 51(c), substitute his or her own determination.

Right of appeal

40. (1) The Minister or the person who requested the review of the decision may appeal a determination made under subsection 37(6) or 39(6) to the Tribunal within thirty days after the determination.

Loss of right of appeal

(2) A party that does not appear at a review hearing is not entitled to appeal a determination, unless they establish that there was sufficient reason to justify their absence.

Disposition of appeal

- (3) The appeal panel of the Tribunal assigned to hear the appeal may
 - (a) in the case of a determination made under subsection 37(6), dismiss the appeal or allow the appeal and substitute its own decision; or
 - (b) in the case of a determination made under subsection 39(6), dismiss the appeal, or allow the appeal and, subject to regulations made under paragraph 51(c), substitute its own decision.

Choice of Proceedings

How contravention may be proceeded with **41.** If a contravention can be proceeded with as a violation or as an offence, the Minister may commence proceedings in respect of that contravention as a violation or recommend that it be proceeded with as an offence, but it may be proceeded with only as one or the other.

- (4) À l'audience, le conseiller commis à l'affaire accorde au ministre et au contrevenant la possibilité de présenter leurs éléments de preuve et leurs observations, conformément aux principes de l'équité procédurale et de la justice naturelle.
- (5) S'agissant d'une requête portant sur les faits reprochés, il incombe au ministre d'établir la responsabilité du contrevenant; celui-ci n'est cependant pas tenu de témoigner.
- (6) Le conseiller peut confirmer la décision du ministre ou, sous réserve des règlements pris en vertu de l'alinéa 51c), y substituer sa propre décision.
- **40.** (1) Le ministre ou le contrevenant peut faire appel au Tribunal de la décision rendue en vertu des paragraphes 37(6) ou 39(6). Dans les deux cas, le délai d'appel est de trente jours suivant la décision.
- (2) La partie qui ne se présente pas à l'audience portant sur la requête en révision perd le droit de porter la décision en appel, à moins qu'elle ne fasse valoir des motifs valables justifiant son absence.
 - (3) Le comité du Tribunal peut :
 - a) dans le cas d'une décision visée au paragraphe 37(6), rejeter l'appel ou y faire droit et substituer sa propre décision à celle en cause:
 - b) dans le cas d'une décision visée au paragraphe 39(6), rejeter l'appel ou y faire droit et, sous réserve des règlements pris en vertu de l'alinéa 51c), substituer sa propre décision à celle en cause.

Choix de poursuites

41. Dans le cas où elle peut être réprimée comme violation ou comme infraction, la contravention est poursuivie comme violation ou, sur recommandation du ministre, comme infraction, les poursuites pour violation et celles pour infraction s'excluant toutefois mutuellement.

Déroulement

Charge de la preuve

Décision

Appel

Perte du droit d'appel

Sort de l'appel

Contravention qualifiable de violation et d'infraction

Recovery of Debts

Transportation Appeal Tribunal of Canada

Debts due to Her Majesty

- **42.** The following amounts constitute debts due to Her Majesty in right of Canada that may be recovered in a court of competent jurisdiction:
 - (a) unless a review of the amount of a penalty is requested under subsection 39(1), the amount of the penalty, from the time the notice of violation that sets out the penalty is served:
 - (b) the amount of a penalty set out in a notice of default referred to in subsection 36(1), from the time the notice under that subsection is served;
 - (c) the amount of a penalty determined by a member under section 39, or decided by an appeal panel under section 40, from the time of the respective determination or decision; and
 - (d) the amount of any reasonable expenses incurred in attempting to recover an amount referred to in any of paragraphs (a) to (c).

Certificate

43. (1) All or part of a debt referred to in section 42 in respect of which there is a default of payment may be certified by the Minister or the Tribunal, as the case may be.

Registration of certificate

(2) On production to the Federal Court, a certificate shall be registered. When it is registered, a certificate has the same force and effect, and proceedings may be taken in connection with it, as if it were a judgment obtained in that Court for a debt of the amount specified in it and all reasonable costs and charges attendant on its registration.

Rules of Law about Violations

Violations are not offences

44. For greater certainty, a violation is not an offence and, accordingly, section 126 of the Criminal Code does not apply.

Defence

45. For greater certainty, no person is liable for the commission of a violation if the person exercised all due diligence to prevent the commission.

Recouvrement des créances

42. Constituent une créance de Sa Maiesté du chef du Canada, dont le recouvrement peut être poursuivi à ce titre devant le tribunal compétent :

Créances de Sa Maiesté

- a) sauf en cas de présentation d'une requête en révision du montant de la sanction au titre du paragraphe 39(1), ce montant, à compter de la date de signification du procès-verbal;
- b) la somme devant être payée au titre de l'avis de défaut visé au paragraphe 36(1), à compter de la date de signification de l'avis;
- c) le montant de la sanction fixé par le conseiller ou le comité dans le cadre de la requête prévue aux articles 39 ou 40, à compter de la date de la décision;
- d) le montant des frais raisonnables engagés en vue du recouvrement d'une somme visée à l'un des alinéas a) à c).
- **43.** (1) Le ministre ou le Tribunal, selon le cas, peut établir un certificat de non-paiement pour la partie impayée de toute créance visée à l'article 42.

Certificat de

non-paiement

(2) La Cour fédérale enregistre tout certificat visé au paragraphe (1) déposé auprès d'elle. L'enregistrement confère au certificat la valeur d'un jugement de cette juridiction pour la somme visée et les frais afférents.

Enregistrement en Cour fédérale

Règles propres aux violations

44. Il est entendu que les violations n'ont pas valeur d'infractions; en conséquence, l'article 126 du Code criminel ne s'applique pas en l'espèce.

Précision

45. Il est entendu que nul ne peut être reconnu responsable d'une violation s'il a pris toutes les mesures nécessaires pour l'éviter.

Moyens de défense

Violation by employee or agent

46. (1) A person is liable for a violation committed by their employee or agent, whether or not the employee or agent has been identified or proceeded against under sections 33 to 43.

Liability of operator of a vessel

(2) The operator of a vessel is liable for a violation committed in relation to the vessel by another person, whether or not the other person has been identified or proceeded against under sections 33 to 43 unless, at the time of the violation, the vessel was in the possession of another person without the operator's consent.

Liability of operator of marine facility (3) The operator of a marine facility is liable for a violation committed with their consent by another person in relation to the facility, whether or not the other person has been identified or proceeded against under sections 33 to 43.

Officers, etc., of corporation (4) An officer, director or agent of a corporation that commits a violation under this Act is a party to and liable for the violation if he or she directed, authorized, assented to, acquiesced in or participated in the commission of the violation, whether or not the corporation has been identified or proceeded against under sections 33 to 43.

General Provisions

Notations removed

- **47.** (1) Unless the Minister is of the opinion that it is not in the public interest to do so, five years after the last day on which any of the following events occurs, the Minister is to remove every notation of violation or default, and every suspension or cancellation of the designation of or refusal to designate or to renew the designation of a person as a screening officer on prescribed grounds, from any records that the Minister may keep respecting the person:
 - (a) payment by the person of every penalty that the person is liable to pay after a notice of violation, a notice of default, a determination of a member of the Tribunal on review or a decision of an appeal panel of the Tribunal; or

- **46.** (1) Toute personne peut être reconnue responsable de la violation commise par son agent ou mandataire, que cet agent ou mandataire soit ou non identifié ou poursuivi aux termes des articles 33 à 43.
- (2) L'exploitant d'un bâtiment peut être reconnu responsable d'une violation, en rapport avec ce bâtiment, commise par une autre personne, que celle-ci ait été ou non identifiée ou poursuivie aux termes des articles 33 à 43 de la présente loi, à moins que, lors de la violation, le bâtiment n'ait été en la possession d'une autre personne sans son consentement.
- (3) L'exploitant d'une installation maritime peut être reconnu responsable d'une violation, en rapport avec cette installation maritime, commise par une autre personne avec son consentement, que cette personne ait été ou non identifiée ou poursuivie aux termes des articles 33 à 43 de la présente loi.
- (4) En cas de commission par une personne morale d'une violation, ceux de ses dirigeants, administrateurs ou mandataires qui l'ont ordonnée ou autorisée, ou qui y ont consenti ou participé, sont considérés comme des coauteurs de la violation, que la personne morale ait été ou non identifiée ou poursuivie aux termes des articles 33 à 43 de la présente loi.

Dispositions générales

- 47. (1) À moins que le ministre n'estime que cela est contraire à l'intérêt public, toutes les mentions relatives aux violations commises par le contrevenant, aux transactions conclues par celui-ci ainsi qu'aux suspensions, annulations ou refus de renouvellement de la désignation d'un agent de contrôle ou au refus de désigner une personne à ce titre pour les motifs réglementaires sont radiées du dossier que le ministre tient à l'égard de l'intéressé cinq ans après le dernier en date des événements suivants:
 - *a*) le paiement par le contrevenant de toutes les sanctions imposées au titre d'un procèsverbal, d'un avis de défaut ou de la décision du Tribunal;
 - b) la suspension ou l'annulation de la désignation d'un agent de contrôle ou le

Infraction de l'agent ou du mandataire

Exploitant du bâtiment

Exploitant de l'installation maritime

Personnes morales, leurs dirigeants,

Dossiers

(b) the suspension or cancellation of the designation of, or the refusal to designate or to renew the designation of, the person as a screening officer under section 19.2.

refus de la renouveler ou de désigner une personne à ce titre en vertu de l'article 19.2.

Duty to notify

36

(2) When the Minister is of the opinion that removal of a notation is not in the public interest, the Minister shall give notice of that fact to the person.

(2) Lorsqu'il estime que la radiation est contraire à l'intérêt public, le ministre en donne avis à l'intéressé.

Notification

Contents of

(3) A notice under subsection (2) shall provide all relevant information concerning the grounds on which the Minister has refused to remove the notation and shall include the address at which, and the date, being thirty days after the notice is served, on or before which, a request for a review may be filed.

(3) Sont notamment indiqués dans l'avis le lieu et la date limite, à savoir trente jours après signification de l'avis, du dépôt d'une éventuelle requête en révision, ainsi que les motifs à l'appui de la décision du ministre.

Contenu de

Review

(4) Subsections 37(1) to (3) apply in respect of a refusal to remove a notation, with any modifications that the circumstances require.

(4) Les paragraphes 37(1) à (3) s'appliquent, avec les adaptations nécessaires, au

Requête en révision

Determination

(5) The member of the Tribunal assigned to conduct the review may confirm the Minister's decision or refer the matter back to the Minister for reconsideration.

(5) Le conseiller peut confirmer la décision du ministre ou lui renvoyer l'affaire pour réexamen.

refus de radier les mentions.

Décision

Right of appeal

(6) The person may, within thirty days after a determination is made under subsection (5), appeal the determination to the Tribunal.

(6) L'intéressé peut faire appel au Tribunal de la décision rendue en vertu du paragraphe (5). Le délai d'appel est de trente jours suivant la décision.

Appel

Loss of right of appeal

(7) If the person does not appear at the review hearing, the person is not entitled to appeal a determination unless they establish that there was sufficient reason to justify their absence.

(7) L'intéressé qui ne se présente pas à l'audience de la requête en révision perd le droit de porter la décision en appel, à moins qu'il ne fasse valoir des motifs valables justifiant son absence.

Perte du droit d'appel

Disposition of appeal

(8) The appeal panel of the Tribunal assigned to hear the appeal may dismiss the appeal or refer the matter back to the Minister for reconsideration.

(8) Le comité du Tribunal peut rejeter l'appel ou renvoyer l'affaire au ministre pour réexamen.

Sort de l'appel

Public record

48. The Minister shall keep a public record of notations of violations or default that appear on any record that the Minister may keep respecting persons under this Act.

48. Le ministre tient un registre public des procès-verbaux et avis de défaut au dossier d'une personne.

Registre public

Limitation period

49. No notice of violation may be issued more than two years after the Minister becomes aware of the violation.

49. Le procès-verbal ne peut être dressé plus de deux ans après la date à laquelle le ministre a eu connaissance des éléments constitutifs de la violation.

Délai

Certificat du

Certificate of Minister

50. A document that purports to have been issued by the Minister and certifies the day on which the Minister became aware of a violation is evidence, without proof of the signature or official character of the person appearing to have signed the document, that the Minister became aware of the violation on that day.

Regulations

Regulations

- **51.** The Governor in Council may make regulations
 - (a) designating, as a violation that may be proceeded with in accordance with sections 33 to 46, 49 and 50, the contravention of a provision that is an offence under this Act;
 - (b) designating violations that, if continued on more than one day, constitute a separate violation for each day on which they are continued:
 - (c) designating violations that may be proceeded with by issuing notices of violation and fixing a penalty or a range of penalties in respect of each such violation, up to a maximum of \$25,000 but in any event not greater than the maximum fine that would be payable if the violation were proceeded with by way of summary conviction; and
 - (*d*) prescribing anything that by subsections 33 to 50 is to be prescribed.

1991, c. 30

Public Sector Compensation Act

60. Schedule I to the *Public Sector Compensation Act* is amended by striking out the following under the heading "Other Portions of the Public Service":

Civil Aviation Tribunal

Tribunal de l'aviation civile

61. Schedule I to the Act is amended by adding the following in alphabetical order under the heading "Other Portions of the Public Service":

Transportation Appeal Tribunal of Canada

Tribunal d'appel des transports du Canada

50. Le certificat paraissant délivré par le ministre et attestant la date à laquelle il a eu connaissance des éléments visés à l'article 49 est admis en preuve sans qu'il soit nécessaire de prouver l'authenticité de la signature qui y est apposée ou la qualité officielle du signataire et fait foi de son contenu.

Règlements

51. Le gouverneur en conseil peut, par règlement :

Règlements

- a) désigner comme violation punissable au titre des articles 33 à 46, 49 et 50 la contravention si elle constitue une infraction à la présente loi à une disposition visée;
- b) désigner les violations pour lesquelles il est compté des violations distinctes pour chacun des jours au cours desquels elles se continuent;
- c) désigner les violations qui peuvent faire l'objet d'un procès-verbal et fixer le montant notamment par barème de la sanction applicable à chacune de ces violations, qui ne peut dépasser 25 000 \$ ni le montant de l'amende maximale dont la violation aurait été passible si elle avait été poursuivie par procédure sommaire;
- *d*) prendre toute mesure d'ordre réglementaire prévue par les articles 33 à 50.

Loi sur la rémunération du secteur public

1991, ch. 30

60. L'annexe I de la *Loi sur la rémunéra*tion du secteur public est modifiée par suppression, sous l'intertitre « Administrations fédérales », de ce qui suit :

Tribunal de l'aviation civile

Civil Aviation Tribunal

61. L'annexe I de la même loi est modifiée par adjonction, selon l'ordre alphabétique, sous l'intertitre « Administrations fédéra-les », de ce qui suit :

Tribunal d'appel des transports du Canada

Transportation Appeal Tribunal of Canada

R.S., c. P-35

38

Public Service Staff Relations Act

Loi sur les relations de travail dans la fonction publique

L.R., ch. P-35

DORS/88-105

SOR/88-105

62. Part I of Schedule I to the Public Service Staff Relations Act is amended by striking out the following:

Civil Aviation Tribunal

Tribunal de l'aviation civile

63. Part I of Schedule I to the Act is amended by adding the following in alphabetical order:

Transportation Appeal Tribunal of Canada Tribunal d'appel des transports du Canada

R.S., c. 32 (4th Supp.) Railway Safety Act

64. (1) Subsection 4(1) of the Railway Safety Act is amended by adding the following in alphabetical order:

"Tribunal" « Tribunal » "Tribunal" means the Transportation Appeal Tribunal of Canada established by subsection 2(1) of the Transportation Appeal Tribunal of Canada Act;

(2) The portion of subsection 4(5) of the Act before paragraph (a) is replaced by the following:

Manner of filing or sending notices and documents

(5) With the exception of a notice or document sent to or by the Tribunal, for the purposes of this Act, a notice or document must be filed with, or sent to, a person

65. The Act is amended by adding the following after section 27:

62. La partie I de l'annexe I de la Loi sur les relations de travail dans la fonction publique est modifiée par suppression de ce aui suit:

Tribunal de l'aviation civile

Transportation Appeal Tribunal of Canada

Civil Aviation Tribunal

63. La partie I de l'annexe I de la même loi est modifiée par adjonction, selon l'ordre alphabétique, de ce qui suit :

Tribunal d'appel des transports du Canada Transportation Appeal Tribunal of Canada

Loi sur la sécurité ferroviaire

L.R., ch. 32 (4e suppl.)

64. (1) Le paragraphe 4(1) de la Loi sur la sécurité ferroviaire est modifié par adjonction, selon l'ordre alphabétique, de ce qui suit:

« conseiller » Membre du Tribunal.

« conseiller » French version only « Tribunal »

"Tribunal"

« Tribunal » Le Tribunal d'appel des transports du Canada constitué par le paragraphe 2(1) de la Loi sur le Tribunal d'appel des transports du Canada.

(2) Le paragraphe 4(5) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

(5) Pour l'application de la présente loi — à l'exception de toute notification ou communication de documents par le Tribunal ou à celui-ci -, toute notification ou toute communication de documents se fait, dans le cas d'une personne physique, par remise au destinataire ou par courrier recommandé à sa dernière adresse connue et, dans le cas d'une personne morale ou d'un organisme, par courrier recommandé à son siège ou à son bureau désigné par règlement. Elle peut aussi être faite par tout autre moyen approuvé, par écrit, par le ministre et aux conditions fixées par lui.

65. La même loi est modifiée par adjonction, après l'article 27, de ce qui suit :

Notification et communication de document

Refusal to designate etc.

27.1 (1) The Minister may refuse to designate a person as a screening officer under section 27 or may suspend, cancel or refuse to renew the designation of a person as a screening officer if the Minister is of the opinion that the person is incompetent, does not meet the qualifications or fulfil the conditions required for the designation or ceases to meet the qualifications or fulfil the conditions of the designation.

27.1 (1) Le ministre peut suspendre, annuler ou refuser de renouveler la désignation d'un agent de contrôle, ou refuser de désigner une personne à titre d'agent de contrôle, s'il estime que l'intéressé est inapte ou ne répond pas — ou ne répond plus — aux conditions de délivrance ou de maintien en état de validité de la désignation.

Désignation: suspension, annulation ou refus pour inaptitude

Suspension or cancellation of designation for offences

(2) The Minister may suspend or cancel the designation of a person as a screening officer if the Minister is of the opinion that the person has committed an offence within the meaning of section 41.

(2) Le ministre peut suspendre ou annuler la désignation de l'agent de contrôle s'il estime que celui-ci a commis une infraction, au sens de l'article 41.

Désignation : suspension ou annulation infraction

Suspension of designation for immediate threat

(3) The Minister may suspend the designation of a person as a screening officer if the Minister is of the opinion that the exercise by the person of the functions of a screening officer constitutes, or is likely to constitute, an immediate threat to railway security.

(3) Le ministre peut suspendre la désignation de l'agent de contrôle s'il estime que l'exercice, par lui, des fonctions d'agent de contrôle constitue un danger immédiat ou probable pour la sûreté du transport ferro-

viaire.

Désignation : suspension pour motif de sécurité

Notice

27.2 (1) If the Minister decides to refuse to designate a person as a screening officer or decides to suspend, cancel or refuse to renew the designation of a person as a screening officer, the Minister shall notify the person of that decision.

27.2 (1) S'il décide de suspendre, d'annuler ou de refuser de renouveler la désignation de l'agent de contrôle, ou de refuser de désigner une personne à titre d'agent de contrôle, le ministre expédie à l'intéressé un avis de sa décision.

Contents of notice

Effective date

of suspension

cancellation

- (2) A notice under subsection (1) shall include
 - (a) the grounds for the Minister's decision; and

(2) Sont notamment indiqués dans l'avis :

b) le lieu et la date limite, à savoir trente

jours après l'expédition de l'avis, du dépôt d'une éventuelle requête en révision.

a) les motifs de la décision du ministre;

- (b) the address at which, and the date, being thirty days after the notice is sent, on or before which, the person may file a request for a review of the decision.
- (3) In the case of a suspension or cancellation, the effective date of the decision shall not be earlier than
 - (a) in the case of a decision made under subsection 27.1(1) or (3), the day that the notice was received by the person; and
 - (b) in the case of a decision made under subsection 27.1(2), the thirtieth day after the notice is sent.
- (3) Dans le cas d'une suspension ou d'une annulation, la date de prise d'effet de la décision:

a) si elle est rendue en vertu des paragraphes 27.1(1) ou (3), ne peut être antérieure à la date de réception de l'avis par l'intéres-

b) si elle est rendue en vertu du paragraphe 27.1(2), ne peut être antérieure au trentième jour suivant l'expédition de l'avis.

Prise d'effet

Contenu de

l'avis

Request for 27.3 (1) A person affected by a decision of the Minister under section 27.1 may, on or before the date specified in the notice under subsection 27.2(1) or within any further time that the Tribunal on application allows, file a

written request for a review of the decision.

Transportation Appeal Tribunal of Canada

Effect of request

40

(2) A request under subsection (1) for a review of a decision of the Minister does not operate as a stay of the decision.

Exception

(3) On application in writing by the person affected by a decision made under subsection 27.1(2), after giving any notice to the Minister that is, in the member's opinion, necessary and after considering any representations made by the parties, a member of the Tribunal assigned for the purpose may grant a stay of the decision until the review is completed, unless he or she is of the opinion that granting a stay would constitute a threat to railway security.

Time and place for

27.4 (1) On receipt of a request filed under subsection 27.3(1), the Tribunal shall appoint a time and place for the review and shall notify the Minister and the person who filed the request of the time and place in writing.

Review procedure

(2) The member of the Tribunal assigned to conduct the review shall provide the Minister and the person who filed the request with an opportunity consistent with procedural fairness and natural justice to present evidence and make representations.

Person not compelled to testify

(3) In a review of a decision made under subsection 27.1(2), the person who filed the request for the review is not required, and shall not be compelled, to give any evidence or testimony in the matter.

Determination

- (4) The member may
- (a) in the case of a decision made under subsection 27.1(1) or (3), confirm the decision or refer the matter back to the Minister for reconsideration: or
- (b) in the case of a decision made under subsection 27.1(2), confirm the decision or substitute his or her own determination.

27.3 (1) L'intéressé peut faire réviser la décision du ministre rendue en vertu de l'article 27.1 en déposant une requête auprès du Tribunal au plus tard à la date limite qui est indiquée à l'avis, ou dans le délai supérieur éventuellement accordé à sa demande par le Tribunal.

Requête en

(2) Le dépôt d'une requête en révision n'a pas pour effet de suspendre la décision.

Effet de la requête

(3) Sauf s'il estime que cela constituerait un danger pour la sûreté du transport ferroviaire, le conseiller commis à l'affaire qui est saisi d'une demande écrite de l'intéressé peut, après avoir donné au ministre le préavis qu'il estime indiqué et avoir entendu les observations des parties, prononcer la suspension de la décision rendue en vertu du paragraphe 27.1(2) jusqu'à ce qu'il ait été statué sur la requête en révision.

Exception

27.4 (1) Le Tribunal, sur réception de la requête, fixe la date, l'heure et le lieu de l'audience et en avise par écrit le ministre et l'intéressé.

Audience

(2) À l'audience, le conseiller commis à l'affaire accorde au ministre et à l'intéressé la possibilité de présenter leurs éléments de preuve et leurs observations, conformément aux principes de l'équité procédurale et de la justice naturelle.

Déroulement

(3) Dans le cas visé par le paragraphe 27.1(2), l'auteur de l'infraction présumée n'est pas tenu de témoigner.

contraignabilité à témoigner

(4) Le conseiller peut :

Décision

- a) dans les cas visés aux paragraphes 27.1(1) ou (3), confirmer la décision ou renvoyer l'affaire au ministre pour réexa-
- b) dans le cas visé au paragraphe 27.1(2), confirmer la décision ou substituer sa décision à celle du ministre.

Appel

Right of appeal

- **27.5** (1) Within thirty days after the determination,
 - (a) a person affected by the determination may appeal a determination made under paragraph 27.4(4)(a) to the Tribunal; or
 - (b) a person affected by the determination or the Minister may appeal a determination made under paragraph 27.4(4)(b) to the Tribunal.

Loss of right of appeal

(2) A party that does not appear at a review hearing is not entitled to appeal a determination, unless they establish that there was sufficient reason to justify their absence.

Disposition of appeal

- (3) The appeal panel of the Tribunal assigned to hear the appeal may
 - (a) in the case of a determination made under paragraph 27.4(4)(a), dismiss the appeal or refer the matter back to the Minister for reconsideration; or
 - (b) in the case of a determination made under paragraph 27.4(4)(b), dismiss the appeal, or allow the appeal and substitute its own decision.

Decision to remain in effect pending reconsideration 27.6 If a matter is referred back to the Minister for reconsideration under paragraph 27.4(4)(a) or 27.5(3)(a), the decision of the Minister under subsection 27.1(1) or (3) to suspend or cancel a designation remains in effect until the reconsideration is completed. However, the member who made the determination or the appeal panel, after considering any representations made by the parties, may grant a stay of a decision under subsection 27.1(1) to suspend or cancel a designation until the reconsideration is completed, if the member or panel is satisfied that granting a stay would not constitute a threat to railway security.

Reconsideration

27.7 (1) In the case of a decision made under subsection 27.1(3), if the appeal panel has, on an appeal under section 27.5, dismissed the appeal or if the Minister has, after reconsidering the matter pursuant to paragraph 27.4(4)(a) or 27.5(3)(a), confirmed the suspension, the person affected by the decision may, in writing, request the Minister to reconsider whether the exercise by the person

27.5 (1) Le ministre ou toute personne concernée peuvent faire appel au Tribunal de la décision rendue en vertu de l'alinéa 27.4(4)b); seule une personne concernée peut faire appel de celle rendue en vertu de l'alinéa 27.4(4)a). Dans tous les cas, le délai d'appel est de trente jours suivant la décision.

(2) La partie qui ne se présente pas à l'audience portant sur la requête en révision perd le droit de porter la décision en appel, à moins qu'elle ne fasse valoir des motifs valables justifiant son absence.

(3) Le comité du Tribunal peut :

- a) dans les cas d'une décision visée à l'alinéa 27.4(4)a), rejeter l'appel ou renvoyer l'affaire au ministre pour réexamen;
- b) dans les cas d'une décision visée à l'alinéa 27.4(4)b), rejeter l'appel ou y faire droit et substituer sa propre décision à celle en cause.

27.6 En cas de renvoi de l'affaire au ministre au titre des alinéas 27.4(4)a) ou 27.5(3)a), la décision du ministre de suspendre ou d'annuler la désignation continue d'avoir effet. Toutefois, le conseiller ou le comité peut, après avoir entendu les observations des parties et s'il estime que cela ne constitue pas un danger pour la sûreté du transport ferroviaire, prononcer la suspension de la décision de suspendre ou d'annuler la désignation rendue en vertu du paragraphe 27.1(1) jusqu'à ce que le ministre ait réexaminé sa décision.

27.7 (1) Dans le cas d'une décision visée au paragraphe 27.1(3), si le comité rejette l'appel ou que le ministre maintient la suspension après réexamen de la décision conformément aux alinéas 27.4(4)a) ou 27.5(3)a), l'intéressé peut, par écrit, demander au ministre de réexaminer la question de savoir s'il y a toujours danger immédiat ou probable pour la sûreté du transport ferroviaire.

Perte du droit d'appel

Sort de l'appel

Maintien de la décision en cas de renvoi au ministre

Réexamen

of the functions of a screening officer continues to constitute, or is likely to continue to constitute, an immediate threat to railway security.

Procedure applicable

(2) On receipt of a request by a person under subsection (1), the Minister shall without delay conduct the reconsideration and inform the person of his or her decision regarding the request. Sections 27.2 to 27.6 apply in respect of that decision, with any modifications that are necessary.

Definition of "designation"

27.8 For the purposes of sections 27.1 to 27.7, "designation" includes any privilege accorded by a designation.

66. (1) Section 31 of the Act is amended by adding the following after subsection (4):

Contents of notice

(4.1) A notice under subsections (1) to (3) that contains an order shall indicate the address at which, and the date, being thirty days after the notice is sent, on or before which, the recipient of the notice may file a request for a review of the order of the railway safety inspector.

(2) Subsection 31(9) of the Act is replaced by the following:

Reviewable order (9) The alteration of an order under subsection (8) is an order that is reviewable under sections 31.1 to 31.5.

67. The Act is amended by adding the following after section 31:

Request for review of order of railway safety inspector

31.1 (1) A person, including a railway company, who is sent a notice under section 31 that contains an order may, on or before the date specified in the notice or within any further time that the Tribunal on application allows, file a written request for a review of the order.

Time and place for review

(2) On receipt of a request filed under subsection (1), the Tribunal shall without delay appoint a time and place for the review and shall notify the Minister and the person who filed the request of the time and place in writing.

(2) Sur réception de la demande, le ministre procède sans délai au réexamen et informe l'intéressé de sa décision. Les articles 27.2 à 27.6 s'appliquent, avec les adaptations nécessaires, à sa décision.

Procédure applicable

27.8 Pour l'application des articles 27.1 à 27.7, est assimilé à la désignation tout avantage qu'elle octroie.

Définition de « désignation »

66. (1) L'article 31 de la même loi est modifié par adjonction, après le paragraphe (4), de ce qui suit :

(4.1) Pour l'application des paragraphes (1) à (3), l'avis qui comporte un ordre doit indiquer le lieu et la date limite, à savoir trente jours après son expédition au destinataire, du dépôt d'une éventuelle requête en révision.

Contenu de

(2) Le paragraphe 31(9) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

(9) La modification de l'ordre par un autre inspecteur constitue un ordre révisable au titre des articles 31.1 à 31.5.

Révision

67. La même loi est modifiée par adjonction, après l'article 31, de ce qui suit :

31.1 (1) L'intéressé — compagnie ou autre personne visée par l'avis — peut faire réviser l'ordre de l'inspecteur en déposant une requête auprès du Tribunal, au plus tard à la date limite qui est indiquée à l'avis, ou dans le délai supérieur éventuellement accordé à sa demande par le Tribunal.

Requête en révision

(2) Le Tribunal, dès réception de la requête, fixe sans délai la date, l'heure et le lieu de l'audience et en avise par écrit le ministre et l'intéressé.

Audience

Review procedure (3) The member of the Tribunal assigned to conduct the review shall provide the Minister and the person who filed the request with an opportunity consistent with procedural fairness and natural justice to present evidence and make representations.

Determination

(4) The member may confirm the order or refer the matter to the Minister for consideration.

Right of appeal

31.2 (1) The person who requested the review under section 31.1 may, within thirty days after the determination, appeal a determination made under subsection 31.1(4) to the Tribunal.

Loss of right of appeal (2) If the person does not appear at the review hearing, the person is not entitled to appeal a determination unless they establish that there was sufficient reason to justify their absence.

Disposition of appeal

(3) The appeal panel of the Tribunal assigned to hear the appeal may dismiss the appeal or refer the matter to the Minister for consideration.

No stay of order

31.3 An order of a railway safety inspector shall not be stayed pending a review under section 31.1, an appeal under section 31.2 or consideration by the Minister under subsection 31.1(4) or 31.2(3).

Consideration by Minister **31.4** If a matter is referred to the Minister under subsection 31.1(4) or 31.2(3), or if the Minister on his or her own initiative decides to review an order of a railway safety inspector, the Minister may confirm the order, or may, by order, alter or revoke the order of the railway safety inspector. For greater certainty, the Minister's order may be made an order of the Federal Court or of any superior court under section 34.

When alteration or revocation effective **31.5** An alteration or revocation under section 31.4 has effect when the railway company or other person to whom notice of the order under section 31 was sent receives notice of the alteration or revocation.

1999, c. 9, s. 25 68. Subsection 32(4) of the Act is replaced by the following:

(3) À l'audience, le conseiller commis à l'affaire accorde au ministre et à l'intéressé la possibilité de présenter leurs éléments de preuve et leurs observations, conformément aux principes de l'équité procédurale et de la justice naturelle.

Déroulement

(4) Le conseiller peut confirmer l'ordre ou faire parvenir le dossier au ministre pour examen.

Décision

31.2 (1) L'intéressé peut, dans les trente jours suivant la décision du conseiller, faire appel au Tribunal de cette décision.

Appel

(2) L'intéressé qui ne se présente pas à l'audience portant sur la requête en révision perd le droit de porter la décision en appel, à moins qu'il ne fasse valoir des motifs valables justifiant son absence.

Perte du droit d'appel

(3) Le comité du Tribunal peut rejeter l'appel ou faire parvenir le dossier au ministre pour examen.

Sort de l'appel

31.3 Ni la révision, ni l'appel, ni l'examen n'ont pour effet de suspendre l'ordre donné par l'inspecteur.

Effet des procédures sur l'ordre

31.4 Lors de son examen au titre des paragraphes 31.1(4) ou 31.2(3) ou de sa propre initiative, le ministre peut confirmer l'ordre de l'inspecteur ou, par arrêté, modifier ou annuler celui-ci. Il est entendu que sa décision peut être assimilée à une ordonnance judiciaire aux termes de l'article 34.

Examen

31.5 La modification ou l'annulation prend effet dès que le destinataire de l'ordre de l'inspecteur en reçoit notification.

Prise d'effet

68. Le paragraphe 32(4) de la même loi est modifié par ce qui suit :

1999, ch. 9, art. 25 Contents of

44

(4) An order contained in a notice under subsection (1), (3) or (3.1) takes effect on the date of receipt of the notice. The notice shall indicate the address at which, and the date, being thirty days after the notice is sent, on or before which, the recipient of the notice may file a request for a review of the order.

69. The Act is amended by adding the following after section 32:

Request for review

32.1 (1) A person, including a railway company, who is sent a notice under section 32 that contains an order may, on or before the date specified in the notice or within any further time that the Tribunal on application allows, file a written request for a review of the order.

place for review

(2) On receipt of a request filed under subsection (1), the Tribunal shall appoint a time and place for the review and shall notify the Minister and the person who filed the request of the time and place in writing. In the case of a request for review of an order made under subsection 32(3), the Tribunal shall do so without delay.

Review procedure

(3) The member of the Tribunal assigned to conduct the review shall provide the Minister and the person who filed the request with an opportunity consistent with procedural fairness and natural justice to present evidence and make representations.

Person not compelled to testify

(4) In a review of an order made under subsection 32(3), a person who the Minister is of the opinion has contravened a regulation made under section 24 is not required, and shall not be compelled, to give any evidence or testimony in the matter.

Determination

(5) The member may confirm the order or refer the matter back to the Minister for reconsideration.

Right of appeal

32.2 (1) The person who requested the review under section 32.1 may, within thirty days after the determination, appeal a determination made under subsection 32.1(5) to the Tribunal.

(4) L'ordre donné dans un avis prévu aux paragraphes (1), (3) ou (3.1) prend effet à la réception de celui-ci par son destinataire et l'avis doit indiquer le lieu et la date limite, à savoir trente jours après l'expédition de l'avis, du dépôt d'une éventuelle requête en révision.

Contenu de

69. La même loi est modifiée par adjonction, après l'article 32, de ce qui suit :

32.1 (1) L'intéressé — compagnie ou autre personne visée par l'avis - peut faire réviser l'ordre du ministre en déposant une requête auprès du Tribunal au plus tard à la date limite qui est indiquée à l'avis, ou dans le délai supérieur éventuellement accordé à sa demande par le Tribunal.

Requête en révision

(2) Le Tribunal, sur réception de la requête, fixe la date, l'heure et le lieu de l'audience et en avise par écrit le ministre et l'intéressé. Dans le cas d'un ordre donné en vertu du paragraphe 32(3), il le fait sans délai.

Audience

(3) À l'audience, le conseiller commis à l'affaire accorde au ministre et à l'intéressé la possibilité de présenter leurs éléments de preuve et leurs observations, conformément aux principes de l'équité procédurale et de la justice naturelle.

Déroulement

(4) Dans le cas visé au paragraphe 32(3), l'auteur de la présumée violation n'est pas tenu de témoigner.

contraignabilité à témoigner

(5) Le conseiller peut confirmer l'ordre ou renvoyer le dossier au ministre pour réexamen.

Décision

32.2 (1) L'intéressé peut, dans les trente iours suivant la décision du conseiller, faire appel au Tribunal de cette décision.

Appel

Perte du droit

d'appel

Loss of right of appeal

(2) If the person does not appear at the review hearing, the person is not entitled to appeal a determination unless they establish that there was sufficient reason to justify their absence.

Disposition of appeal

(3) The appeal panel of the Tribunal assigned to hear the appeal may dismiss the appeal or refer the matter back to the Minister for reconsideration.

Stay of order

32.3 If a request for review is filed, an order made under subsection 32(1) or (3.1) shall be stayed until the matter is finally disposed of in accordance with section 32.1, 32.2 or 32.4. However, an order made under subsection 32(3) shall not be stayed pending a review under section 32.1, an appeal under section 32.2 or reconsideration by the Minister under subsection 32.1(5) or 32.2(3).

Reconsideration by Minister **32.4** If a matter is referred back to the Minister under subsection 32.1(5) or 32.2(3), the Minister may confirm the order, or may, by order, alter or revoke the order. For greater certainty, the Minister's order may be made an order of the Federal Court or of any superior court under section 34.

When alteration or revocation effective **32.5** An alteration or revocation under section 32.4 has effect when the railway company or other person to whom notice of the order under section 32 was sent receives notice of the alteration or revocation.

1999, c. 9, s. 33

70. Paragraph 46(d) of the Act is replaced by the following:

(d) orders and notices sent under sections 31 to 32.5;

COORDINATING AMENDMENTS

Amendment to This Act

Amendment to this Act 71. If Bill C-14, introduced in the first session of the 37th Parliament and entitled the *Canada Shipping Act*, 2001, receives royal assent, then, on the coming into force of section 1 of that Act, subsection 2(2) of this Act is replaced by the following:

(2) L'intéressé qui ne se présente pas à l'audience portant sur la requête en révision perd le droit de porter la décision en appel, à moins qu'il ne fasse valoir des motifs valables justifiant son absence.

(3) Le comité du Tribunal peut rejeter l'appel ou renvoyer l'affaire au ministre pour réexamen.

Sort de l'appel

32.3 Le dépôt d'une requête en révision d'un ordre visé aux paragraphes 32(1) ou (3.1) suspend celui-ci jusqu'à ce qu'il soit disposé de l'affaire conformément aux articles 32.1, 32.2 ou 32.4. Toutefois, ni la révision, ni l'appel, ni le réexamen n'ont pour effet de suspendre l'ordre donné en vertu du paragraphe 32(3).

Effet des procédures sur l'ordre

32.4 Lors de son réexamen au titre des paragraphes 32.1(5) ou 32.2(3), le ministre peut confirmer l'ordre ou, par arrêté, annuler ou modifier celui-ci. Il est entendu que sa décision peut être assimilée à une ordonnance judiciaire aux termes de l'article 34.

Réexamen

32.5 La modification ou l'annulation prend effet dès que le destinataire de l'ordre donné en vertu de l'article 32 en reçoit notification.

Prise d'effet

70. L'alinéa 46d) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

1999, ch. 9, art. 33

d) les ordres et les avis prévus aux articles 31 à 32.5;

DISPOSITIONS DE COORDINATION

Modification à la présente loi

71. En cas de sanction du projet de loi C-14 déposé au cours de la 1ère session de la 37e législature et intitulé *Loi de 2001 sur la marine marchande du Canada* et d'entrée en vigueur de l'article 1 de cette loi, le paragraphe 2(2) de la présente loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

Modification à la présente loi Jurisdiction generally

(2) The Tribunal has jurisdiction in respect of reviews and appeals as expressly provided for under the Aeronautics Act, the Canada Shipping Act, 2001, the Marine Transportation Security Act, the Railway Safety Act and any other federal Act regarding transportation.

Transportation Appeal Tribunal of Canada

Bill C-14

Bill C-14

- 72. If Bill C-14, introduced in the first session of the 37th Parliament and entitled the Canada Shipping Act, 2001 (referred to in this section as the "other Act"), receives royal assent, then, on the coming into force of section 2 of this Act,
 - (a) the definition "adjudicator" in section 2 of the other Act is repealed;
 - (b) section 2 of the other Act is amended by adding the following in alphabetical order:

"Tribunal" « Tribunal »

- "Tribunal" means the Transportation Appeal Tribunal of Canada established by subsection 2(1) of the Transportation Appeal Tribunal of Canada Act.
 - (c) section 15 of the other Act and the heading before it are repealed;
 - subparagraph 16(4)(e)(ii) of the French version of the other Act is replaced by the following:
 - (ii) le capitaine ou le membre de l'équipage a été déclaré coupable d'une infraction liée à l'exécution de ses fonctions sur un bâtiment ou a commis une violation pour laquelle un procès-verbal a été dressé en vertu de l'alinea 229(1)b).
 - (e) subsections 16(5) and (6) of the other Act are replaced by the following:

Notice after refusal to

(5) The Minister of Transport must, immediately after refusing to issue a Canadian maritime document, give the applicant a notice

(2) Le Tribunal connaît des requêtes en révision dont il est saisi en vertu de la Loi sur l'aéronautique, la Loi de 2001 sur la marine marchande du Canada, la Loi sur la sûreté du transport maritime, la Loi sur la sécurité ferroviaire ou toute autre loi fédérale concernant les transports. Il connaît également des appels interjetés des décisions qu'il a rendues dans les dossiers de révision.

Projet de loi C-14

72. Les alinéas a) à p) s'appliquent en cas de sanction du projet de loi C-14 déposé au cours de la 1^{re} session de la 37^e législature et intitulé Loi de 2001 sur la marine marchande du Canada (appelé « autre loi » au présent article), et d'entrée en vigueur de l'article 2 de la présente loi :

- a) la définition de « arbitre », à l'article 2 de l'autre loi, est abrogée;
- b) l'article 2 de l'autre loi est modifié par adjonction, selon l'ordre alphabétique, de ce qui suit :
- « conseiller » Membre du Tribunal.
- « Tribunal » Le Tribunal d'appel des transports du Canada constitué par le paragraphe 2(1) de la Loi sur le Tribunal d'appel des transports du Canada.
 - c) l'article 15 de l'autre loi et l'intertitre le précédant sont abrogés;
 - d) le sous-alinéa 16(4)e)(ii) de la version française de l'autre loi est remplacé par ce qui suit:
 - (ii) le capitaine ou le membre de l'équipage a été déclaré coupable d'une infraction liée à l'exécution de ses fonctions sur un bâtiment ou a commis une violation pour laquelle un procès-verbal a été dressé en vertu de l'alinéa 229(1)b).
 - e) les paragraphes 16(5) et (6) de l'autre loi sont remplacés par ce qui suit :
- (5) Le ministre des Transports, immédiatement après avoir refusé de délivrer un document maritime canadien, envoie au demandeur un avis:

Compétence

Projet de loi

« conseiller » French version only

« Tribunal » "Tribunal"

Avis suivant refus de

- (a) confirming the refusal and providing all relevant information concerning the grounds on which the Minister has refused to issue the document; and
- (b) indicating, in the case of a refusal to issue a document under Part 3 (Personnel) on the grounds set out in paragraph (4)(a), (b), (c) or (e), the address at which, and the date, being thirty days after the notice is given, on or before which, the applicant may file a request for a review of the Minister's decision.

(f) the other Act is amended by adding the following after section 16:

Request for review

- **16.1** (1) An applicant who receives a notice under subsection 16(5) may, on or before the date specified in the notice or within any further time that the Tribunal on application allows, file a written request for a review of the decision if
 - (a) the request is in respect of a Canadian maritime document that is issued under Part 3 (Personnel); and
 - (b) the grounds for refusing to issue the document are set out in paragraph 16(4)(a), (b), (c) or (e).

Time and place for review

(2) On receipt of a request filed under subsection (1), the Tribunal must appoint a time and place for the review and must notify the Minister of Transport and the applicant of the time and place in writing.

Review procedure (3) The member of the Tribunal assigned to conduct the review must provide the Minister of Transport and the applicant with an opportunity consistent with procedural fairness and natural justice to present evidence and make representations.

Person not compelled to testify

(4) In a review of a decision made under subparagraph 16(4)(e)(ii) on the ground that an applicant has committed a violation in respect of which a notice of violation has been issued to the applicant, the applicant is not required, and must not be compelled, to give any evidence or testimony in the matter before the matter that gave rise to the issue of the notice has been disposed of in accordance with sections 232 to 232.2.

- *a*) confirmant, motifs à l'appui, le refus de délivrer le document;
- b) indiquant, dans le cas d'un document maritime pouvant être délivré sous le régime de la partie 3 (personnel) et dont le motif de refus est prévu aux alinéas (4)a), b), c) ou e), le lieu et la date limite, à savoir trente jours après l'envoi de l'avis, du dépôt d'une éventuelle requête en révision.
- f) l'autre loi est modifiée par adjonction, après l'article 16, de ce qui suit :
- **16.1** (1) Le destinataire de l'avis prévu au paragraphe 16(5) peut faire réviser la décision du ministre des Transports en déposant une requête en révision auprès du Tribunal au plus tard à la date limite qui est indiquée à l'avis, ou dans le délai supérieur éventuellement accordé à sa demande par le Tribunal si :
 - *a*) la requête vise un document maritime pouvant être délivré sous le régime de la partie 3 (personnel);
 - b) le motif de refus est celui prévu aux alinéas 16(4)a, b, c) ou e).
- (2) Le Tribunal, sur réception de la requête, fixe la date, l'heure et le lieu de l'audience et en avise par écrit le ministre des Transports et le demandeur.
- (3) À l'audience, le conseiller commis à l'affaire accorde au ministre des Transports et au demandeur la possibilité de présenter leurs éléments de preuve et leurs observations, conformément aux principes de l'équité procédurale et de la justice naturelle.
- (4) Dans le cas visé au sous-alinéa 16(4)e)(ii), l'auteur de la présumée violation n'est pas tenu de témoigner avant qu'il n'ait été, conformément aux articles 232 à 232.2, décidé de l'affaire pour laquelle un procèsverbal a été dressé.

Requête en

Audience

Déroulement

Noncontraignabilité à témoigner

Décision

Determination

- (5) The member may
- (a) in the case of a decision made under paragraph 16(4)(e), confirm the decision or substitute his or her own determination; or
- (b) in any other case, confirm the decision or refer the matter back to the Minister of Transport for reconsideration.

(g) section 20 of the other Act is replaced by the following:

Suspension, cancellation and refusal to

- **20.** (1) Subject to section 20.1, the Minister of Transport may suspend, cancel or refuse to renew a Canadian maritime document if the Minister is satisfied that
 - (a) the requirements for the issuance of the document are no longer met;
 - (b) a term or condition attached to the document has been contravened:
 - (c) the document was obtained by any fraudulent or improper means or a misrepresentation of any material fact;
 - (d) the holder of the document has not paid a fine or penalty imposed on them under this Act:
 - (e) the holder of the document has contravened a provision of this Act or the regulations that the Minister is responsible for administering:
 - (f) in the case of a Canadian maritime document issued under Part 3 (Personnel) to a master or crew member,
 - (i) the master or crew member is incompetent or has committed an act of misconduct,
 - (ii) the master or crew member was on board a vessel that contravened any of sections 5.3 to 5.5 of the Coastal Fisheries Protection Act and knew, when the contravention occurred, that the vessel was committing the contravention, or
 - (iii) the master or crew member has been found guilty of an offence related to their duties on a vessel; or
 - (g) in the case of a refusal to renew,
 - (i) the applicant has not paid a fee set under paragraph 35(1)(g) in respect of the issuance of the document, or

(5) Le conseiller peut :

Transportation Appeal Tribunal of Canada

a) dans les cas visés à l'alinéa 16(4)e), confirmer la décision du ministre des Transports ou y substituer sa propre déci-

b) dans les autres cas, confirmer la décision du ministre des Transports ou lui renvoyer l'affaire pour réexamen.

g) l'article 20 de l'autre loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

20. (1) Sous réserve de l'article 20.1, le ministre des Transports peut suspendre, annuler ou refuser de renouveler un document maritime canadien s'il est convaincu que, selon le cas:

Suspension, annulation ou refus de renouveler

- a) les exigences relatives à la délivrance du document ne sont plus respectées;
- b) les modalités du document n'ont pas été respectées;
- c) le document a été obtenu par des moyens frauduleux ou irréguliers ou par suite d'une fausse indication sur un fait important;
- d) son titulaire a omis de payer une amende ou une sanction infligées sous le régime de la présente loi;
- e) le titulaire du document a contrevenu à une disposition de la présente loi ou des règlements dont le ministre est chargé de l'application;
- f) s'agissant d'un document délivré à un capitaine ou à un membre d'équipage sous le régime de la partie 3 (personnel) :
 - (i) le capitaine ou le membre d'équipage est incompétent ou a commis un acte d'inconduite,
 - (ii) le capitaine ou le membre d'équipage était à bord d'un bâtiment ayant commis une infraction à l'un des articles 5.3 à 5.5 de la Loi sur la protection des pêches côtières et savait, au moment du fait reproché, que le bâtiment était en état d'infraction,
 - (iii) le capitaine ou le membre d'équipage a été déclaré coupable d'une infraction liée à l'exécution de ses fonctions sur un bâtiment:

Return of

document

Notice before

suspension or

cancellation

49

(ii) the Minister is of the opinion that the public interest and, in particular, the record of the applicant or of a principal of the applicant warrant it.

g) s'agissant d'un refus de renouvellement :

- (i) soit le demandeur n'a pas payé des droits fixés sous le régime de l'alinéa 35(1)g) pour la délivrance du document,
- (ii) soit il estime que l'intérêt public le requiert, en raison notamment des antécédents du demandeur ou de tel de ses dirigeants.

(2) Dans le cas où un document maritime

trente jours qui:

Retour des documents

it shall return it on demand to the Minister of Transport. **20.1** The Minister of Transport must, before suspending or cancelling a Canadian maritime

(2) If a Canadian maritime document is

suspended or cancelled, the person who held

canadien est suspendu ou annulé, son titulaire doit, sur demande, le rendre au ministre des Transports.

20.1 Avant de suspendre ou d'annuler un

document maritime canadien délivré sous le

régime de la partie 3 (personnel), le ministre

des Transports donne au titulaire un préavis de

Avis précédant la suspension l'annulation

- document issued under Part 3 (Personnel), give the holder 30 days notice of the proposed suspension or cancellation. The notice must (a) provide the holder with all relevant
 - information concerning the grounds on which the Minister proposes to suspend or cancel the document; and
 - (b) indicate, in the case of a proposed suspension or cancellation of a document on the grounds referred to in paragraph 20(1)(a), (b), (c), (e) or (f) or subparagraph 20(1)(g)(ii), the address at which, and the date, being 30 days after the notice is given, on or before which, the applicant may file a request for a review of the Minister's decision.
- a) précise les motifs de la suspension ou de l'annulation;
- b) indique, dans le cas où le motif de la décision est prévu aux alinéas 20(1)a, b, c), e) ou f) ou au sous-alinéa 20(1)g)(ii), le lieu et la date limite, à savoir trente jours après l'envoi du préavis, du dépôt d'une éventuelle requête en révision.

20.2 (1) Le ministre des Transports peut

suspendre ou annuler un document maritime

canadien délivré sous le régime de la partie 3

(personnel) sans se conformer à l'article 20.1

si, sur demande ex parte de sa part, le Tribunal

conclut que l'observation de cette disposition

compromettrait la sécurité publique.

Exception

20.2 (1) The Minister of Transport may suspend or cancel a Canadian maritime document issued under Part 3 (Personnel) without complying with section 20.1 if, on ex parte application by the Minister, the Tribunal determines that compliance with that section is not in the interest of public safety.

Exception

Decision within 24 hours

Appeal

(2) An application by the Minister of Transport under subsection (1) must be heard by a member of the Tribunal, sitting alone, whose determination shall be made within 24 hours after the application is filed with the Tribunal.

(2) La demande du ministre est entendue par un conseiller, agissant seul, qui rend sa décision dans les vingt-quatre heures suivant le dépôt de la demande au Tribunal.

Décision dans les vingt-quatre heures

(3) The Minister of Transport may, within 24 hours after the determination, appeal the determination to the Tribunal.

(3) Le ministre des Transports peut faire appel au Tribunal de la décision du conseiller dans les vingt-quatre heures suivant la décision.

Appel

Decision within 48 hours

50

(4) The appeal panel of the Tribunal assigned to hear the appeal shall make a decision within 48 hours after the appeal is filed with the Tribunal.

Notice after suspension. cancellation or refusal to renew

- 20.3 Except where notice of a proposed suspension or cancellation of a Canadian maritime document is given under section 20.1, the Minister of Transport must, immediately after suspending, cancelling or refusing to renew a Canadian maritime document, give the holder a notice that
 - (a) confirms the suspension, cancellation or refusal and provides all relevant information concerning the grounds on which the Minister suspended, cancelled or refused to renew the document; and
 - (b) indicates, in the case of the suspension or cancellation of, or the refusal to renew, a document on the grounds referred to in paragraph 20(1)(a), (b), (c), (e) or (f) or subparagraph 20(1)(g)(ii), the address at which, and the date, being 30 days after the notice is given, on or before which, the applicant may file a request for a review of the Minister's decision.

Request for review

20.4 (1) Subject to subsection (2), the holder of a Canadian maritime document that is referred to in a notice under section 20.1 or 20.3 may, within the time specified in the notice or any further time that the Tribunal on application allows, file a written request for a review of the decision referred to in the notice.

Exception

(2) A request for a review must not be filed with, or accepted by, the Tribunal if the grounds for suspending, cancelling or refusing to renew the document are set out in paragraph 20(1)(d) or subparagraph 20(1)(g)(i).

Effect of request

(3) The filing of a request for a review in respect of a notice under section 20.1 operates as a stay of the proposed suspension or cancellation until the matter is finally disposed of in accordance with this section or section 20.5.

Time and review

(4) On receipt of a request filed under subsection (1), the Tribunal must appoint a time and place for the review and must notify the Minister of Transport and the holder of the time and place in writing.

(4) Le comité du Tribunal rend sa décision dans les quarante-huit heures suivant le dépôt de l'appel au Tribunal.

20.3 Sauf dans le cas d'un document maritime canadien suspendu ou annulé conformément à l'article 20.1, le ministre des Transports doit, immédiatement après avoir

suspendu ou annulé un document maritime

canadien ou en avoir refusé le renouvelle-

ment, envoyer à son titulaire un avis :

Avis suivant la suspension. l'annulation ou le refus de renouvellement

Décision

dans les

heures

quarante-huit

- a) confirmant, motifs à l'appui, la suspension, l'annulation ou le refus de renouveler;
- b) indiquant, dans le cas où le motif de la décision est prévu aux alinéas 20(1)a), b), c), e) ou f) ou au sous-alinéa 20(1) g)(ii), le lieu et la date limite, à savoir trente jours après l'envoi de l'avis, du dépôt d'une éventuelle requête en révision.

20.4 (1) Sous réserve du paragraphe (2), le titulaire du document maritime canadien peut faire réviser la décision du ministre des Transports en déposant une requête en révision auprès du Tribunal au plus tard à la date limite qui est indiquée à l'avis, ou dans le délai supérieur éventuellement accordé à sa demande par le Tribunal.

Exception

Effet de la

requête

Requête en

révision

- (2) La requête en révision est irrecevable si le motif de la décision est celui prévu à l'alinéa 20(1)d) ou au sous-alinéa 20(1)g)(i).
- (3) Si, par suite du préavis prévu à l'article 20.1, le titulaire du document dépose une requête en révision, la suspension ou l'annulation est repoussée jusqu'à ce qu'il soit disposé de l'affaire conformément au présent article ou à l'article 20.5.
- (4) Le Tribunal, sur réception de la requête, fixe la date, l'heure et le lieu de l'audience et en avise par écrit le ministre des Transports et le titulaire du document.

Audience

Déroulement

Review procedure (5) The member of the Tribunal assigned to conduct the review must provide the Minister of Transport and the holder with an opportunity consistent with procedural fairness and natural justice to present evidence and make representations.

Person not compelled to testify

(6) In a review of a decision made under paragraph 20(1)(e), the holder is not required, and must not be compelled, to give any evidence or testimony in the matter.

Determination

- (7) The member may
- (a) in the case of a decision made under paragraph 20(1)(e) or subparagraph 20(1)(f)(ii) or (iii), confirm the Minister of Transport's decision or substitute his or her own determination; and
- (b) in any other case, confirm the Minister of Transport's decision or refer the matter back to the Minister for reconsideration.

Right of appeal

20.5 (1) The applicant for, or holder of, a Canadian maritime document may appeal to the Tribunal a determination made under subsection 16.1(5) or 20.4(7), and the Minister of Transport may appeal to the Tribunal a determination made under paragraph 16.1(5)(a) or 20.4(7)(a). The time limit for making an appeal is 30 days after the determination.

Loss of right of appeal (2) A party that does not appear at a review hearing is not entitled to appeal a determination, unless they establish that there was sufficient reason to justify their absence.

Disposition of appeal

- (3) The appeal panel of the Tribunal assigned to hear the appeal may
 - (a) in the case of a determination made under paragraph 16.1(5)(a) or 20.4(7)(a), dismiss the appeal, or allow the appeal and substitute its own decision; or
 - (b) in the case of a determination made under paragraph 16.1(5)(b) or 20.4(7)(b), dismiss the appeal or refer the matter back to the Minister of Transport for reconsideration.
 - (h) paragraphs 35(1)(a) and (c) of the other Act are repealed;

- (5) À l'audience, le conseiller accorde au ministre des Transports et au titulaire du document la possibilité de présenter leurs éléments de preuve et leurs observations, conformément aux principes de l'équité procédurale et de la justice naturelle.
- (6) Dans le cas visé par l'alinéa 20(1)*e*), l'auteur de la présumée contravention n'est pas tenu de témoigner.

Noncontraignabilité à témoigner

(7) Le conseiller peut :

Décision

Appel

- a) dans les cas visés à l'alinéa 20(1)e) ou aux sous-alinéas 20(1)f)(ii) ou (iii), confirmer la décision du ministre ou y substituer sa propre décision;
- b) dans les autres cas, confirmer la décision du ministre des Transports ou renvoyer l'affaire au ministre pour réexamen.
- **20.5** (1) Le demandeur ou le titulaire du document maritime canadien peut porter en appel au Tribunal la décision rendue au titre des paragraphes 16.1(5) ou 20.4(7), et le ministre des Transports, la décision rendue au titre des alinéas 16.1(5)*a*) ou 20.4(7)*a*). Dans tous les cas, le délai d'appel est de trente jours suivant la décision.
- (2) La partie qui ne se présente pas à l'audience portant sur la requête en révision perd le droit de porter la décision en appel, à moins qu'elle ne fasse valoir des motifs valables justifiant son absence.

Perte du droit d'appel

(3) Le comité du Tribunal peut :

Sort de l'appel

- *a*) rejeter l'appel, ou y faire droit et substituer sa propre décision à celle rendue en vertu des alinéas 16.1(5)*a*) ou 20.4(7)*a*);
- b) rejeter l'appel ou renvoyer l'affaire au ministre des Transports pour réexamen, dans le cas d'une décision rendue en vertu des alinéas 16.1(5)b) ou 20.4(7)b).
- h) les alinéas 35(1)a) et c) de l'autre loi sont abrogés;
- *i*) le paragraphe 229(1) de l'autre loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

(i) subsection 229(1) of the other Act is replaced by the following:

- **229.** (1) If the Minister has reasonable grounds to believe that a person or vessel has committed a violation, the Minister may
 - (a) enter into an assurance of compliance with the person or vessel that
 - (i) identifies the violation and provides that the person or vessel will comply with the provision to which the violation relates within the period, and be subject to the terms and conditions, specified in the assurance,
 - (ii) sets out the amount and form of any security that, pending compliance with the assurance, must be deposited with the Minister, and
 - (iii) sets out the penalty, fixed by or within the range fixed by the regulations made under this Part, for the violation that the person or vessel would have been liable to pay if the assurance had not been entered into; or
 - (b) issue, and cause to be served on the person or vessel, a notice of violation that names the person or vessel, identifies the violation and sets out
 - (i) the penalty, fixed by or within the range fixed by the regulations made under this Part, for the violation that the person or vessel is liable to pay,
 - (ii) the period, being thirty days after the notice is served, within which the penalty must be paid or a review of the notice requested, and
 - (iii) particulars of the manner in which, and the address at which, the penalty must be paid or a review requested.
 - (j) subsection 229(3) of the French version of the other Act is replaced by the following:
- (3) Il peut établir, pour toute violation, une description abrégée à utiliser dans les procèsverbaux.
 - (k) sections 230 to 232 of the other Act are replaced by the following:

- **229.** (1) S'il a des motifs raisonnables de croire qu'une violation a été commise, le ministre peut :
- Transaction ou procès-verbal
- a) soit conclure avec le contrevenant une transaction en vue de l'observation, dans le délai précisé et aux conditions fixées, de la disposition enfreinte et fixer le montant et la forme de la caution à verser pour garantir l'exécution de la transaction ainsi que le montant de la sanction, en application des règlements, qu'il aurait eu à payer s'il n'avait pas conclu la transaction;
- b) soit dresser un procès-verbal qu'il fait signifier au contrevenant comportant, outre le nom du contrevenant et les faits reprochés, le montant de la sanction à payer, fixé en application des règlements, ainsi que le délai, soit trente jours après signification de l'avis, et les modalités de paiement ou de requête en révision.
- j) le paragraphe 229(3) de la version française de l'autre loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

- (3) Il peut établir, pour toute violation, une description abrégée à utiliser dans les procèsverbaux.
 - k) les articles 230 à 232 de l'autre loi sont remplacés par ce qui suit :

Description

abrégée

Description abrégée Deemed violation

230. (1) A person who, or vessel that, enters into an assurance of compliance is, unless a review is requested under subsection (2), deemed to have committed the violation in respect of which the assurance was entered into.

révision au titre du paragraphe (2), le contrevenant qui conclut une transaction est réputé avoir commis la violation en cause.

232(1).

Commission violation

Requête en

Request for review

(2) A person who, or vessel that, enters into an assurance of compliance may, within 48 hours after the assurance is signed, unless a notice of default is served within that period under section 231.1, request a review of the facts of the violation, in which case the assurance is deemed to be a notice of violation and a review under paragraph 232(1)(b) of the facts of the violation and the amount of the penalty is deemed to have been requested.

(2) Le contrevenant qui conclut une transaction peut, dans les quarante-huit heures suivant la signature de celle-ci, mais avant signification de l'avis de défaut visé à l'article 231.1, déposer auprès du Tribunal une requête en révision des faits reprochés, auquel cas la transaction est réputée être un procès-verbal et

230. (1) Sauf s'il présente une requête en

le contrevenant est réputé avoir déposé une

When assurance of compliance complied with

231. If the Minister is satisfied that an assurance of compliance has been complied with, the Minister must cause a notice to that effect to be served on the person or vessel and, on the service of the notice,

231. S'il estime que l'intéressé a exécuté la transaction, le ministre en avise celui-ci. Sur signification de l'avis:

contre l'intéressé pour la même violation;

a) aucune poursuite ne peut être intentée

requête en révision des faits reprochés et du

montant de la sanction en vertu du paragraphe

d'exécution

- (a) no further proceedings may be taken against the person or vessel with respect to the violation in respect of which the assurance was entered into; and
- b) toute caution versée au titre de l'alinéa 229(1)a) est remise à l'intéressé.

(b) any security deposited under subparagraph 229(1)(a)(ii) must be returned to the person or vessel.

> 231.1 (1) S'il estime que l'intéressé n'a pas exécuté la transaction, le ministre peut lui signifier un avis de défaut qui l'informe que, sauf si le conseiller ou le comité conclut respectivement au titre des articles 231.2 ou 232.2 que la transaction a été exécutée :

a) soit il doit payer le double du montant de

b) soit la caution versée au titre de l'alinéa

229(1)a) est confisquée au profit de Sa

la sanction prévue par la transaction;

Majesté du chef du Canada.

Avis de défaut d'exécution

231.1 (1) If the Minister is of the opinion assurance of that a person who, or vessel that, has entered compliance not complied into an assurance of compliance has not complied with it, the Minister may cause a notice of default to be served on the person or

When

assurance has been complied with, (a) the person or vessel is liable to pay double the amount of the penalty set out in the assurance; or

vessel to the effect that, unless a member

determines under section 231.2, or an appeal

panel decides under section 232.2, that the

- (b) the security deposited under subparagraph 229(1)(a)(ii) is forfeited to Her Majesty in right of Canada.
- (2) A notice under subsection (1) must

include the address at which, and the date, being 30 days after the notice is served, on or before which, a request for a review may be

(2) Sont notamment indiqués dans l'avis le lieu et la date limite, à savoir trente jours après signification de l'avis, du dépôt d'une éventuelle requête en révision.

Contenu de

Contents of

filed.

Effet de

54

No set-off

(3) On the service of a notice of default, the person or vessel served has no right of set-off against any amount spent by the person or vessel under the assurance of compliance.

Transportation Appeal Tribunal of Canada

Request for review

231.2 (1) A person or vessel served with a notice under subsection 231.1(1) may, on or before the date specified in the notice or within any further time that the Tribunal on application allows, file a written request for a review.

Time and place for review

(2) On receipt of a request filed under subsection (1), the Tribunal must appoint a time and place for the review and must notify the Minister and the person who, or vessel that, filed the request of the time and place in writing.

Review procedure

(3) The member of the Tribunal assigned to conduct the review must provide the Minister and the person or vessel with an opportunity consistent with procedural fairness and natural justice to present evidence and make representations.

Burden of proof

(4) The burden is on the Minister to establish that the person or vessel did not comply with the assurance of compliance referred to in the notice. The person is not required, and must not be compelled, to give any evidence or testimony in the matter.

Certain defences not available

(5) A person or vessel named in a notice of default does not have a defence by reason that the person or vessel exercised due diligence to comply with the assurance of compliance.

Determination

(6) The member may confirm the Minister's decision or determine that the person or vessel has complied with the assurance of compliance.

Return of security

- 231.3 Any security deposited under subparagraph 229(1)(a)(ii) must be returned to the person or vessel if
 - (a) the person or vessel pays double the amount of the penalty set out in the assurance of compliance in accordance with a notice of default under section 231.1;
 - (b) a member determines under section 231.2, or an appeal panel decides under section 232.2, that the assurance of compliance has been complied with.

(3) Sur signification de l'avis de défaut, l'intéressé perd tout droit à la compensation pour les sommes exposées dans le cadre de la transaction.

l'inexécution

231.2 (1) Le contrevenant peut faire réviser la décision du ministre en déposant une requête en révision auprès du Tribunal au plus tard à la date limite qui est indiquée à l'avis, ou dans le délai supérieur éventuellement accordé à sa demande par le Tribunal.

Requête en révision

(2) Le Tribunal, sur réception de la requête, fixe la date, l'heure et le lieu de l'audience et en avise par écrit le ministre et le contrevenant.

Audience

(3) À l'audience, le conseiller commis à l'affaire accorde au ministre et au contrevenant la possibilité de présenter leurs éléments de preuve et leurs observations, conformément aux principes de l'équité procédurale et de la justice naturelle.

Déroulement

(4) Il incombe au ministre d'établir la responsabilité du contrevenant; celui-ci n'est cependant pas tenu de témoigner.

Charge de la preuve

(5) Le contrevenant ne peut invoquer en défense le fait qu'il a pris les mesures nécessaires pour exécuter la transaction.

Exclusion de certains moyens de défense

(6) Le conseiller peut confirmer la décision du ministre ou conclure que la transaction a été exécutée par le contrevenant.

Décision

231.3 La caution versée par le contrevenant au titre de l'alinéa 229(1)a) lui est remise :

Remise de la caution

- a) en cas de signification de l'avis mentionné à l'article 231.1, si le contrevenant paie le double du montant de la sanction prévue par la transaction;
- b) lorsque le conseiller ou le comité conclut respectivement au titre des articles 231.2 ou 232.2 que la transaction a été exécutée.

Option en cas

de refus de

transiger

Notice of violation

- **232.** (1) A person or vessel served with a notice of violation under paragraph 229(1)(b) must
 - (a) pay the amount of the penalty; or
 - (b) within thirty days after being served or any further time that the Tribunal on application allows, file with the Tribunal a written request for a review of the facts of the violation or the amount of the penalty.

When review not requested (2) If a review of the facts of the violation is not requested, the person or vessel is deemed to have committed the violation in respect of which the notice was served.

Time and place for review **232.1** (1) On receipt of a request filed under paragraph 232(1)(b), the Tribunal must appoint a time and place for the review and must notify the Minister and the person who, or vessel that, filed the request of the time and place in writing.

Review procedure (2) The member of the Tribunal assigned to conduct the review must provide the Minister and the person or vessel with an opportunity consistent with procedural fairness and natural justice to present evidence and make representations.

Burden of proof (3) The burden is on the Minister to establish that the person or vessel committed the violation referred to in the notice. The person is not required, and must not be compelled, to give any evidence or testimony in the matter.

Determination

(4) The member may confirm the Minister's decision or, subject to any regulations made under paragraph 244(h), substitute his or her own determination.

Right of appeal

232.2 (1) The Minister or the person who, or vessel that, requested the review may, within 30 days after the determination, appeal a determination made under subsection 231.2(6) or 232.1(4) to the Tribunal.

Loss of right of appeal

(2) A party that does not appear at a review hearing is not entitled to appeal a determination, unless they establish that there was sufficient reason to justify their absence.

232. (1) Si le ministre ne transige pas, le contrevenant doit :

a) soit payer le montant de la sanction infligée initialement;

b) soit déposer auprès du Tribunal, à l'adresse indiquée dans le procès-verbal, au plus tard à la date qui y est indiquée ou dans le délai supérieur éventuellement accordé à sa demande par le Tribunal, une requête en révision des faits reprochés ou du montant de la sanction.

(2) L'omission de déposer une requête en révision des faits reprochés vaut déclaration de responsabilité à l'égard de la violation.

Aucune

requête

Audience

232.1 (1) Le Tribunal, sur réception de la requête déposée en vertu de l'alinéa 232(1)b), fixe la date, l'heure et le lieu de l'audience et en avise par écrit le ministre et le contrevenant.

Déroulement

(2) À l'audience, le conseiller commis à l'affaire accorde au ministre et au contrevenant la possibilité de présenter leurs éléments de preuve et leurs observations, conformément aux principes de l'équité procédurale et de la justice naturelle.

Charge de la

(3) S'agissant d'une requête portant sur les faits reprochés, il incombe au ministre d'établir la responsabilité du contrevenant; celui-ci n'est cependant pas tenu de témoigner.

Décision

(4) Le conseiller peut confirmer la décision du ministre ou, sous réserve des règlements pris en vertu de l'alinéa 244*h*), y substituer sa propre décision.

Appel

- 232.2 (1) Le ministre ou le contrevenant peut faire appel au Tribunal de la décision rendue en vertu des paragraphes 231.2(6) ou 232.1(4). Dans les deux cas, le délai d'appel est de trente jours suivant la décision.
- (2) La partie qui ne se présente pas à l'audience portant sur la requête en révision perd le droit de porter la décision en appel, à moins qu'elle ne fasse valoir des motifs valables justifiant son absence.

Perte du droit d'appel Disposition of

56

- (3) The appeal panel of the Tribunal assigned to hear the appeal may
 - (a) in the case of a determination made under subsection 231.2(6), dismiss the appeal or allow the appeal and substitute its own decision; or
 - (b) in the case of a determination made under subsection 232.1(4), dismiss the appeal, or allow the appeal and, subject to regulations made under paragraph 244(h), substitute its own decision.

(1) section 234 of the other Act is replaced by the following:

Debts due to Her Majesty

- 234. The following amounts constitute debts due to Her Majesty in right of Canada that may be recovered in a court of competent jurisdiction:
 - (a) unless a review of the amount of the penalty is requested under paragraph 232(1)(b), the amount of a penalty set out in a notice of violation, from the time the notice is served;
 - (b) the amount that a notice of default served under subsection 231.1(1) provides that a person is liable to pay, from the time the notice is served;
 - (c) the amount of a penalty determined by a member after a review under section 232.1, or decided by an appeal panel after an appeal under section 232.2, from the time of the respective determination or decision: and
 - (d) the amount of any reasonable expenses incurred in attempting to recover an amount referred to in any of paragraphs (a) to (c).

(m) subsection 235(1) of the other Act is replaced by the following:

Certificate

- 235. (1) All or part of a debt referred to in section 234 in respect of which there is a default of payment may be certified by the Minister or the Tribunal, as the case may be.
 - (n) paragraph 239(1)(a) of the other Act is replaced by the following:
 - (a) the person or vessel pays every penalty that the person or vessel is liable to pay after

(3) Le comité du Tribunal peut :

Sort de l'appel

- a) dans le cas d'une décision visée au paragraphe 231.2(6), rejeter l'appel ou y faire droit et substituer sa propre décision à celle en cause;
- b) dans le cas d'une décision visée au paragraphe 232.1(4), rejeter l'appel ou y faire droit et, sous réserve des règlements pris en vertu de l'alinéa 244h), substituer sa propre décision à celle en cause.

l) l'article 234 de l'autre loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

- 234. Constituent une créance de Sa Majesté du chef du Canada, dont le recouvrement peut être poursuivi à ce titre devant le tribunal compétent :
 - a) sauf en cas de dépôt d'une requête en révision du montant de la sanction au titre de l'alinéa 232(1)b), ce montant, à compter de la date de signification du procès-verbal;
 - b) la somme devant être payée au titre de l'avis de défaut visé au paragraphe 231.1(1), à compter de la date de la signification de l'avis;
 - c) le montant de la sanction fixé par le conseiller dans le cadre de la requête prévue à l'article 232.1 ou par le comité dans le cadre de l'appel prévu à l'article 232.2, à compter de la date de la décision du conseiller ou du comité;
 - d) le montant des frais raisonnables engagés en vue du recouvrement d'une somme visée à l'un des alinéas a) à c).
 - m) le paragraphe 235(1) de l'autre loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :
- **235.** (1) Le ministre ou le Tribunal, selon le cas, peut établir un certificat de non-paiement pour la partie impayée des créances visées à l'article 234.

n) l'alinéa 239(1)a) de l'autre loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

a) le paiement par le contrevenant de toutes les sanctions imposées au titre d'un procèsCréances de Sa Majesté

Certificat de non-paiement a notice of violation, a notice of default, a determination of a member of the Tribunal on review or a decision of an appeal panel of the Tribunal;

(*o*) subsection 239(3) of the other Act is replaced by the following:

Contents of notice

(3) A notice under subsection (2) must include the address at which, and the date, being thirty days after the notice is served, on or before which, a request for a review may be filed.

Request for review (4) The person or vessel may, on or before the date specified in the notice or within any further time that the Tribunal on application allows, file a written request for a review.

Time and place for review

(5) On receipt of a request filed under subsection (4), the Tribunal must appoint a time and place for the review and must notify the Minister and the person who, or vessel that, filed the request of the time and place in writing.

Review procedure (6) The member of the Tribunal assigned to conduct the review must provide the Minister and the person who, or vessel that, filed the request with an opportunity consistent with procedural fairness and natural justice to present evidence and make representations.

Determination

(7) The member may confirm the Minister's decision or refer the matter back to the Minister for reconsideration.

Right of appeal

(8) The person who, or vessel that, requested the review may, within 30 days after the determination, appeal a determination made under subsection (7) to the Tribunal.

Loss of right of appeal

(9) If the person or vessel does not appear at the review hearing, the person or vessel is not entitled to appeal a determination unless the person or vessel establishes that there was sufficient reason to justify the absence.

Disposition of appeal

- (10) The appeal panel assigned to hear the appeal may dismiss the appeal or refer the matter back to the Minister for reconsideration.
 - (p) paragraph 244(i) of the other Act is repealed.

verbal, d'un avis de défaut ou de la décision du Tribunal:

o) le paragraphe 239(3) de l'autre loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

(3) Sont notamment indiqués dans l'avis le lieu et la date limite, à savoir trente jours après la signification de l'avis, du dépôt d'une éventuelle requête en révision.

Contenu de

(4) L'intéressé peut faire réviser la décision du ministre en déposant une requête en révision auprès du Tribunal au plus tard à la date limite qui est indiquée à l'avis, ou dans le délai supérieur éventuellement octroyé à sa demande par le Tribunal.

Requête en révision

(5) Le Tribunal, sur réception de la requête, fixe la date, l'heure et le lieu de l'audience et en avise par écrit le ministre et l'intéressé.

Audience

(6) À l'audience, le conseiller accorde au ministre et à l'intéressé la possibilité de présenter leurs éléments de preuve et leurs observations, conformément aux principes de l'équité procédurale et de la justice naturelle.

Déroulement

(7) Le conseiller peut confirmer la décision du ministre ou lui renvoyer l'affaire pour réexamen. Décision

(8) L'intéressé peut, dans les trente jours suivant la décision du conseiller, faire appel au Tribunal de cette décision.

Appel

(9) L'intéressé qui ne se présente pas à l'audience portant sur la requête en révision perd le droit de porter la décision en appel, à moins qu'il ne fasse valoir des motifs valables justifiant son absence.

Perte du droit

(10) Le comité du Tribunal peut rejeter l'appel ou renvoyer l'affaire au ministre pour réexamen.

Sort de l'appel

p) l'alinéa 244i) de l'autre loi est abrogé.

COMING INTO FORCE

ENTRÉE EN VIGUEUR

Coming into force

73. The provisions of this Act, other than sections 71 and 72, come into force on a day or days to be fixed by order of the Governor in Council.

73. Exception faite des articles 71 et 72, les dispositions de la présente loi entrent en vigueur à la date ou aux dates fixées par décret.

Entrée en vigueur

QUEEN'S PRINTER FOR CANADA © IMPRIMEUR DE LA REINE POUR LE CANADA OTTAWA, 2001

CHAPTER 30

CHAPITRE 30

INCOME TAX CONVENTIONS IMPLEMENTATION ACT, 2001

LOI DE 2001 POUR LA MISE EN OEUVRE DE CONVENTIONS FISCALES

SUMMARY

The purpose of this enactment is to implement income tax treaties — income tax conventions or agreements and protocols thereto — that have been concluded with Slovenia, Ecuador, Venezuela, Peru, Senegal, the Czech Republic, the Slovak Republic and Germany.

Parts 1 to 7 of this enactment implement tax treaties with Slovenia, Ecuador, Venezuela, Peru, Senegal, the Czech Republic and the Slovak Republic. This is the first time that Canada has concluded a tax treaty with any of these States. It should be noted, however, that the tax treaty between the Government of Canada and the Government of the Czech and Slovak Federal Republic, signed on August 30, 1990, currently applies between Canada and the Czech Republic and Slovak Republic, respectively.

Part 8 of this enactment amends the *Canada–Germany Tax Convention Act, 1982* to implement a new treaty, replacing the tax agreement with Germany that is currently in force.

The tax treaties implemented by this enactement reflect efforts to update and expand Canada's network of tax treaties so as to obtain results in conformity with current Canadian tax policy. These treaties are generally patterned on the Model Double Taxation Convention prepared by the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development.

Income tax treaties have two main objectives: the avoidance of double taxation and the prevention of fiscal evasion. Since they contain taxation rules that are different from the provisions of the *Income Tax Act*, they become effective only after an Act giving them precedence over domestic legislation is passed by Parliament.

SOMMAIRE

Le texte a pour objet de mettre en oeuvre des traités fiscaux — conventions ou accords et protocoles y afférents — conclus avec la Slovénie, l'Équateur, le Venezuela, le Pérou, le Sénégal, la République tchèque, la République slovaque et l'Allemagne.

Les parties 1 à 7 du texte mettent en oeuvre les traités fiscaux conclus avec la Slovénie, l'Équateur, le Venezuela, le Pérou, le Sénégal, la République tchèque et la République slovaque. Il s'agit, dans tous les cas, du premier traité fiscal conclu entre le Canada et ces États. Il est à noter toutefois que la convention fiscale entre le gouvernement du Canada et le gouvernement de la République fédérative tchèque et slovaque, signée le 30 août 1990, s'applique actuellement entre le Canada et les républiques tchèque et slovaque, respectivement.

La partie 8 du texte modifie la *Loi de 1982 sur l'Accord Canada–Allemagne en matière d'impôts* de façon à mettre en oeuvre un nouveau traité, en remplacement de l'accord fiscal avec l'Allemagne qui est actuellement en vigueur.

Les traités fiscaux mis en oeuvre par le texte témoignent des efforts pour mettre à jour et élargir le réseau canadien des traités fiscaux de façon à obtenir des résultats qui soient conformes à la politique canadienne en matière d'impôts. Ils s'inspirent généralement du modèle de convention de double imposition préparé par l'Organisation de coopération et de développement économiques.

Les traités fiscaux ont pour objet d'empêcher la double imposition, d'une part, et de prévenir l'évasion fiscale, d'autre part. Comme ils contiennent des dispositions qui diffèrent de celles de la *Loi de l'impôt sur le revenu*, ils ne peuvent s'appliquer que dans la mesure où une loi leur donne préséance sur les autres lois fédérales.

TABLE OF PROVISIONS

1.

2.

3.

4.

5.

6.

7.

8.

9.

10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

18.

Convention approved

Regulations

Inconsistent laws — general rule

TABLE ANALYTIQUE

	INCOME TAX CONVENTIONS IMPLEMENTATION ACT, 2001	LC	DI DE 2001 POUR LA MISE EN OEUVRE DE CONVENTIONS FISCALES	
	SHORT TITLE		TITRE ABRÉGÉ	
	Short title	1.	Titre abrégé	
	PART 1		PARTIE 1	
	CANADA–SLOVENIA INCOME TAX CONVENTION	CO	NVENTION CANADA–SLOVÉNIE EN MATIÈRE D'IMPÔTS SUR LE REVENU	
	Citation of Part 1	2.	Fitre abrégé	
	Definition of "Convention"		Définition de « Convention »	
	Convention approved	4.	Approbation	
	Inconsistent laws — general rule	5. I	ncompatibilité — principe	
	Regulations		Règlements	
	Publication of notice	7.	Avis	
PART 2		PARTIE 2		
	CANADA-ECUADOR INCOME TAX CONVENTION	CON	NVENTION CANADA-ÉQUATEUR EN MATIÈRE D'IMPÔTS SUR LE REVENU	
	Citation of Part 2	8.	Fitre abrégé	
	Definition of "Convention"	9. I	Définition de « Convention »	
Э.	Convention approved	10.	Approbation	
1.	Inconsistent laws — general rule	11. I	ncompatibilité — principe	
2.	Regulations	12. I	Règlements	
3.	Publication of notice	13.	Avis	
	PART 3		PARTIE 3	
(CANADA-VENEZUELA INCOME TAX CONVENTION	CON	VENTION CANADA–VENEZUELA EN MATIÈRE D'IMPÔTS SUR LE REVENU	
4.	CANADA-VENEZUELA INCOME TAX CONVENTION Citation of Part 3			
		14.	D'IMPÔTS SUR LE REVENU	

16.

17.

18.

Approbation

Règlements

Incompatibilité — principe

19.

Avis

19.

Publication of notice

PART 4		PARTIE 4		
	CANADA-PERU INCOME TAX CONVENTION		CONVENTION CANADA-PÉROU EN MATIÈRE D'IMPÔTS SUR LE REVENU	
20.	Citation of Part 4	20.	Titre abrégé	
21.	Definition of "Convention"	21.	Définition de « Convention »	
22.	Convention approved	22.	Approbation	
23.	Inconsistent laws — general rule	23.	Incompatibilité — principe	
24.	Regulations	24.	Règlements	
25.	Publication of notice	25.	Avis	
PART 5			PARTIE 5	
(CANADA-SENEGAL INCOME TAX CONVENTION		CONVENTION CANADA–SÉNÉGAL EN MATIÈRE D'IMPÔTS SUR LE REVENU	
26.	Citation of Part 5	26.	Titre abrégé	
27.	Definition of "Convention"	27.	Définition de « Convention »	
28.	Convention approved	28.	Approbation	
29.	Inconsistent laws — general rule	29.	Incompatibilité — principe	
30.	Regulations	30.	Règlements	
31.	Publication of notice	31.	Avis	
PART 6			PARTIE 6	
CANADA-CZECH REPUBLIC INCOME TAX CONVENTION		CONVENTION CANADA–RÉPUBLIQUE TCHÈQUE EN MATIÈRE D'IMPÔTS SUR LE REVENU		
32.	Citation of Part 6	32.	Titre abrégé	
33.	Definition of "Convention"	33.	Définition de « Convention »	
34.	Convention approved	34.	Approbation	
35.	Inconsistent laws — general rule	35.	Incompatibilité — principe	
36.	Regulations	36.	Règlements	
37.	Publication of notice	37.	Avis	
PART 7			PARTIE 7	
CANADA-SLOVAK REPUBLIC INCOME TAX AGREEMENT		ACCORD CANADA–RÉPUBLIQUE SLOVAQUE EN MATIÈRE D'IMPÔTS SUR LE REVENU		
38.	Citation of Part 7	38.	Titre abrégé	
39.	Definition of "Agreement"	39.	Définition de « Accord »	
40.	Agreement approved	40.	Approbation	
				

- 41. Inconsistent laws general rule
- 42. Regulations
- 43. Publication of notice

PART 8

CANADA-GERMANY INCOME TAX AGREEMENT

- 44-46. Canada–Germany Tax Agreement Act, 1982
- 47. Agreement approved

SCHEDULES 1 TO 8

- 41. Incompatibilité principe
- 42. Règlements
- 43. Avis

PARTIE 8

ACCORD CANADA-ALLEMAGNE EN MATIÈRE D'IMPÔTS SUR LE REVENU

- 44-46. Loi de 1982 sur l'Accord Canada–Allemagne en matière d'impôts
- 47. Approbation

ANNEXES 1 À 8

49-50 ELIZABETH II

49-50 ELIZABETH II

CHAPTER 30

An Act to implement agreements, conventions and protocols concluded between Canada and Slovenia, Ecuador, Venezuela, Peru, Senegal, the Czech Republic, the Slovak Republic and Germany for the avoidance of double taxation and the prevention of fiscal evasion with respect to taxes on income

[Assented to 18th December, 2001]

Her Majesty, by and with the advice and consent of the Senate and House of Commons of Canada, enacts as follows:

SHORT TITLE

Short title

1. This Act may be cited as the *Income Tax Conventions Implementation Act*, 2001.

PART 1

CANADA–SLOVENIA INCOME TAX CONVENTION

Citation of Part 1 **2.** This Part may be cited as the *Canada–Slovenia Income Tax Convention Act*, 2001.

Definition of "Convention"

3. In this Part, "Convention" means the Convention between the Government of Canada and the Government of the Republic of Slovenia set out in Schedule 1.

4. The Convention is approved and has the

force of law in Canada during the period that

the Convention, by its terms, is in force.

5. (1) Subject to subsection (2), in the event of any inconsistency between the provisions of this Part or the Convention and the provisions of any other law, the provisions of this Part and the Convention prevail to the

extent of the inconsistency.

CHAPITRE 30

Loi mettant en oeuvre des accords, des conventions et des protocoles conclus entre le Canada et la Slovénie, l'Équateur, le Venezuela, le Pérou, le Sénégal, la République tchèque, la République slovaque et l'Allemagne, en vue d'éviter les doubles impositions et de prévenir l'évasion fiscale en matière d'impôts sur le revenu

[Sanctionnée le 18 décembre 2001]

Sa Majesté, sur l'avis et avec le consentement du Sénat et de la Chambre des communes du Canada, édicte :

TITRE ABRÉGÉ

1. Loi de 2001 pour la mise en oeuvre de conventions fiscales.

PARTIE 1

CONVENTION CANADA-SLOVÉNIE EN MATIÈRE D'IMPÔTS SUR LE REVENU

2. Titre abrégé de la présente partie : *Loi de* 2001 sur la Convention Canada–Slovénie en matière d'impôts sur le revenu.

3. Pour l'application de la présente partie, « Convention » s'entend de la convention conclue entre le gouvernement du Canada et le gouvernement de la République de Slovénie, dont le texte figure à l'annexe 1.

4. La Convention est approuvée et a force de loi au Canada pendant la durée de validité prévue par son dispositif.

5. (1) Sous réserve du paragraphe (2), les dispositions de la présente partie et de la Convention l'emportent sur les dispositions incompatibles de toute autre loi ou règle de droit.

Titre abrégé

Titre abrégé

Définition de « Convention »

Approbation

Incompatibilité — principe

Convention approved

Inconsistent laws general rule Inconsistent laws exception

2

(2) In the event of any inconsistency between the provisions of the Convention and the provisions of the *Income Tax Conventions Interpretation Act*, the provisions of that Act prevail to the extent of the inconsistency.

Incompatibilité exception

Regulations

6. The Minister of National Revenue may make any regulations that are necessary for carrying out the Convention or for giving effect to any of its provisions.

Règlements

Publication of notice

7. The Minister of Finance shall cause a notice of the day on which the Convention enters into force and of the day on which it ceases to have effect to be published in the *Canada Gazette* within 60 days after its entry into force or termination.

7. Le ministre des Finances fait publier dans la *Gazette du Canada* un avis des dates d'entrée en vigueur et de cessation d'effet de la Convention dans les 60 jours suivant son entrée en vigueur ou sa dénonciation.

(2) Les dispositions de la Loi sur l'interpré-

6. Le ministre du Revenu national peut

prendre les règlements nécessaires à l'exécu-

tion de tout ou partie de la Convention.

tation des conventions en matière d'impôts sur

le revenu l'emportent sur les dispositions

incompatibles de la Convention.

Avis

PART 2

CANADA-ECUADOR INCOME TAX CONVENTION

Citation of Part 2 **8.** This Part may be cited as the *Canada–Ecuador Income Tax Convention Act*, 2001.

Definition of "Convention"

9. In this Part, "Convention" means the Convention between the Government of Canada and the Government of the Republic of Ecuador set out in Part 1 of Schedule 2, as amended by the protocol set out in Part 2 of that Schedule.

Convention approved

10. The Convention is approved and has the force of law in Canada during the period that the Convention, by its terms, is in force.

Inconsistent laws general rule 11. (1) Subject to subsection (2), in the event of any inconsistency between the provisions of this Part or the Convention and the provisions of any other law, the provisions of this Part and the Convention prevail to the extent of the inconsistency.

Inconsistent laws exception (2) In the event of any inconsistency between the provisions of the Convention and the provisions of the *Income Tax Conventions Interpretation Act*, the provisions of that Act prevail to the extent of the inconsistency.

PARTIE 2

CONVENTION CANADA-ÉQUATEUR EN MATIÈRE D'IMPÔTS SUR LE REVENU

8. Titre abrégé de la présente partie : Loi de 2001 sur la Convention Canada-Équateur en matière d'impôts sur le revenu.

Titre abrégé

9. Pour l'application de la présente partie, « Convention » s'entend de la convention conclue entre le gouvernement du Canada et le gouvernement de la République de l'Équateur, dont le texte figure à la partie 1 de l'annexe 2, telle que modifiée par le protocole dont le texte figure à la partie 2 de cette annexe.

Définition de « Convention »

10. La Convention est approuvée et a force de loi au Canada pendant la durée de validité prévue par son dispositif.

Approbation

11. (1) Sous réserve du paragraphe (2), les dispositions de la présente partie et de la Convention l'emportent sur les dispositions incompatibles de toute autre loi ou règle de droit.

Incompatibilité — principe

(2) Les dispositions de la Loi sur l'interprétation des conventions en matière d'impôts sur le revenu l'emportent sur les dispositions incompatibles de la Convention. Incompatibilité — exception

Règlements

Regulations

12. The Minister of National Revenue may make any regulations that are necessary for carrying out the Convention or for giving effect to any of its provisions.

Publication of

13. The Minister of Finance shall cause a notice of the day on which the Convention enters into force and of the day on which it ceases to have effect to be published in the *Canada Gazette* within 60 days after its entry into force or termination.

PART 3

CANADA-VENEZUELA INCOME TAX CONVENTION

Citation of Part 3 **14.** This Part may be cited as the *Canada–Venezuela Income Tax Convention Act*, 2001.

Definition of "Convention"

15. In this Part, "Convention" means the Convention between the Government of Canada and the Government of the Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela set out in Part 1 of Schedule 3, as amended by the Protocol set out in Part 2 of that Schedule.

Convention approved

16. The Convention is approved and has the force of law in Canada during the period that, by its terms, it is in force.

Inconsistent laws general rule 17. (1) Subject to subsection (2), in the event of any inconsistency between the provisions of this Part or of the Convention and the provisions of any other law, the provisions of this Part and of the Convention prevail to the extent of the inconsistency.

Inconsistent laws exception (2) In the event of any inconsistency between the provisions of the Convention and the provisions of the *Income Tax Conventions Interpretation Act*, the provisions of that Act prevail to the extent of the inconsistency.

Regulations

18. The Minister of National Revenue may make any regulations that are necessary for carrying out the Convention or for giving effect to any of its provisions.

Publication of notice

19. The Minister of Finance shall cause a notice of the day on which the Convention enters into force and of the day on which it ceases to have effect to be published in the

12. Le ministre du Revenu national peut prendre les règlements nécessaires à l'exécution de tout ou partie de la Convention.

13. Le ministre des Finances fait publier dans la *Gazette du Canada* un avis des dates d'entrée en vigueur et de cessation d'effet de la Convention dans les 60 jours suivant son entrée en vigueur ou sa dénonciation.

Avis

PARTIE 3

CONVENTION CANADA-VENEZUELA EN MATIÈRE D'IMPÔTS SUR LE REVENU

14. Titre abrégé de la présente partie : *Loi de 2001 sur la Convention Canada–Venezuela en matière d'impôts sur le revenu*.

Définition de

« Convention »

Titre abrégé

15. Pour l'application de la présente partie, « Convention » s'entend de la convention conclue entre le gouvernement du Canada et le gouvernement de la République bolivarienne du Venezuela, dont le texte figure à la partie 1 de l'annexe 3, telle que modifiée par le protocole dont le texte figure à la partie 2 de cette annexe.

16. La Convention est approuvée et a force de loi au Canada pendant la durée de validité prévue par son dispositif.

Approbation

17. (1) Sous réserve du paragraphe (2), les dispositions de la présente partie et de la Convention l'emportent sur les dispositions incompatibles de toute autre loi ou règle de droit.

Incompatibilité — principe

(2) Les dispositions de la *Loi sur l'interprétation des conventions en matière d'impôts sur le revenu* l'emportent sur les dispositions incompatibles de la Convention.

Incompatibilité exception

18. Le ministre du Revenu national peut prendre les règlements nécessaires à l'exécution de tout ou partie de la Convention.

Règlements

19. Le ministre des Finances fait publier dans la *Gazette du Canada* un avis des dates d'entrée en vigueur et de cessation d'effet de la Convention dans les 60 jours suivant son entrée en vigueur ou sa dénonciation.

Avis

Canada Gazette within 60 days after its entry into force or termination.

PART 4

PARTIE 4

CANADA-PERU INCOME TAX CONVENTION

Citation of Part 4

4

20. This Part may be cited as the Canada-Peru Income Tax Convention Act, 2001.

Definition of Convention'

21. In this Part, "Convention" means the Convention between the Government of Canada and the Government of the Republic of Peru set out in Part 1 of Schedule 4, as amended by the protocol set out in Part 2 of that Schedule.

Convention approved

22. The Convention is approved and has the force of law in Canada during the period that the Convention, by its terms, is in force.

Inconsistent laws general rule

23. (1) Subject to subsection (2), in the event of any inconsistency between the provisions of this Part or the Convention and the provisions of any other law, the provisions of this Part and the Convention prevail to the extent of the inconsistency.

Inconsistent laws exception

(2) In the event of any inconsistency between the provisions of the Convention and the provisions of the Income Tax Conventions Interpretation Act, the provisions of that Act prevail to the extent of the inconsistency.

Regulations

24. The Minister of National Revenue may make any regulations that are necessary for carrying out the Convention or for giving effect to any of its provisions.

Publication of notice

25. The Minister of Finance shall cause a notice of the day on which the Convention enters into force and of the day on which it ceases to have effect to be published in the Canada Gazette within 60 days after its entry into force or termination.

CONVENTION CANADA-PÉROU EN MATIÈRE D'IMPÔTS SUR LE REVENU

20. Titre abrégé de la présente partie : Loi de 2001 sur la Convention Canada-Pérou en matière d'impôts sur le revenu.

Titre abrégé

21. Pour l'application de la présente partie, « Convention » s'entend de la convention conclue entre le gouvernement du Canada et le gouvernement de la République du Pérou, dont le texte figure à la partie 1 de l'annexe 4, telle que modifiée par le protocole dont le texte figure à la partie 2 de cette annexe.

Définition de « Convention »

22. La Convention est approuvée et a force de loi au Canada pendant la durée de validité prévue par son dispositif.

Approbation

23. (1) Sous réserve du paragraphe (2), les dispositions de la présente partie et de la Convention l'emportent sur les dispositions incompatibles de toute autre loi ou règle de droit.

Incompatibilité - principe

(2) Les dispositions de la Loi sur l'interprétation des conventions en matière d'impôts sur le revenu l'emportent sur les dispositions incompatibles de la Convention.

Incompatibiexception

24. Le ministre du Revenu national peut prendre les règlements nécessaires à l'exécution de tout ou partie de la Convention.

Règlements

25. Le ministre des Finances fait publier dans la Gazette du Canada un avis des dates d'entrée en vigueur et de cessation d'effet de la Convention dans les 60 jours suivant son entrée en vigueur ou sa dénonciation.

Avis

PART 5

CANADA-SENEGAL INCOME TAX CONVENTION

Citation of Part 5 **26.** This Part may be cited as the *Canada–Senegal Income Tax Convention Act*, 2001.

Definition of "Convention"

27. In this Part, "Convention" means the Convention between the Government of Canada and the Government of the Republic of Senegal set out in Schedule 5.

Convention approved

28. The Convention is approved and has the force of law in Canada during the period that the Convention, by its terms, is in force.

Inconsistent laws general rule **29.** (1) Subject to subsection (2), in the event of any inconsistency between the provisions of this Part or the Convention and the provisions of any other law, the provisions of this Part and the Convention prevail to the extent of the inconsistency.

Inconsistent laws exception (2) In the event of any inconsistency between the provisions of the Convention and the provisions of the *Income Tax Conventions Interpretation Act*, the provisions of that Act prevail to the extent of the inconsistency.

Regulations

30. The Minister of National Revenue may make any regulations that are necessary for carrying out the Convention or for giving effect to any of its provisions.

Publication of notice **31.** The Minister of Finance shall cause a notice of the day on which the Convention enters into force and of the day on which it ceases to have effect to be published in the *Canada Gazette* within 60 days after its entry into force or termination.

PART 6

CANADA-CZECH REPUBLIC INCOME TAX CONVENTION

Citation of Part 6 **32.** This Part may be cited as the *Canada–Czech Republic Income Tax Convention Act*, 2001.

PARTIE 5

CONVENTION CANADA–SÉNÉGAL EN MATIÈRE D'IMPÔTS SUR LE REVENU

26. Titre abrégé de la présente partie : Loi de 2001 sur la Convention Canada–Sénégal en matière d'impôts sur le revenu.

Titre abrégé

27. Pour l'application de la présente partie, « Convention » s'entend de la convention conclue entre le gouvernement du Canada et le gouvernement de la République du Sénégal, dont le texte figure à l'annexe 5.

Définition de « Convention »

28. La Convention est approuvée et a force de loi au Canada pendant la durée de validité prévue par son dispositif.

Approbation

29. (1) Sous réserve du paragraphe (2), les dispositions de la présente partie et de la Convention l'emportent sur les dispositions incompatibles de toute autre loi ou règle de droit.

Incompatibilité — principe

(2) Les dispositions de la *Loi sur l'interprétation des conventions en matière d'impôts sur le revenu* l'emportent sur les dispositions incompatibles de la Convention.

Incompatibilité — exception

30. Le ministre du Revenu national peut prendre les règlements nécessaires à l'exécution de tout ou partie de la Convention.

Règlements

31. Le ministre des Finances fait publier dans la *Gazette du Canada* un avis des dates d'entrée en vigueur et de cessation d'effet de la Convention dans les 60 jours suivant son entrée en vigueur ou sa dénonciation.

Avis

PARTIE 6

CONVENTION CANADA-RÉPUBLIQUE TCHÈQUE EN MATIÈRE D'IMPÔTS SUR LE REVENU

32. Titre abrégé de la présente partie : *Loi de 2001 sur la Convention Canada–République tchèque en matière d'impôts sur le revenu.*

Titre abrégé

Définition de

« Convention »

Definition of Convention'

6

33. In this Part, "Convention" means the Convention between the Government of Canada and the Government of the Czech Republic set out in Schedule 6.

Convention approved

34. The Convention is approved and has the force of law in Canada during the period that the Convention, by its terms, is in force.

Inconsistent laws general rule

35. (1) Subject to subsection (2), in the event of any inconsistency between the provisions of this Part or the Convention and the provisions of any other law, the provisions of this Part and the Convention prevail to the extent of the inconsistency.

Inconsistent laws exception

(2) In the event of any inconsistency between the provisions of the Convention and the provisions of the Income Tax Conventions Interpretation Act, the provisions of that Act prevail to the extent of the inconsistency.

Regulations

36. The Minister of National Revenue may make any regulations that are necessary for carrying out the Convention or for giving effect to any of its provisions.

Publication of notice

37. The Minister of Finance shall cause a notice of the day on which the Convention enters into force and of the day on which it ceases to have effect to be published in the Canada Gazette within 60 days after its entry into force or termination.

PART 7

CANADA-SLOVAK REPUBLIC INCOME TAX AGREEMENT

Citation of Part 7

38. This Part may be cited as the *Canada*– Slovak Republic Income Tax Agreement Act, 2001.

Definition of Agreement'

39. In this Part, "Agreement" means the Agreement between the Government of Canada and the Government of the Slovak Republic set out in Schedule 7.

Agreement approved

40. The Agreement is approved and has the force of law in Canada during the period that the Agreement, by its terms, is in force.

33. Pour l'application de la présente partie, « Convention » s'entend de la convention conclue entre le gouvernement du Canada et le gouvernement de la République tchèque, dont le texte figure à l'annexe 6.

Approbation

34. La Convention est approuvée et a force de loi au Canada pendant la durée de validité prévue par son dispositif.

35. (1) Sous réserve du paragraphe (2), les dispositions de la présente partie et de la Convention l'emportent sur les dispositions incompatibles de toute autre loi ou règle de droit.

Incompatibilité — principe

(2) Les dispositions de la Loi sur l'interprétation des conventions en matière d'impôts sur le revenu l'emportent sur les dispositions incompatibles de la Convention.

Incompatibiexception

36. Le ministre du Revenu national peut prendre les règlements nécessaires à l'exécution de tout ou partie de la Convention.

Règlements

37. Le ministre des Finances fait publier dans la Gazette du Canada un avis des dates d'entrée en vigueur et de cessation d'effet de la Convention dans les 60 jours suivant son entrée en vigueur ou sa dénonciation.

Avis

PARTIE 7

ACCORD CANADA-RÉPUBLIQUE SLOVAQUE EN MATIÈRE D'IMPÔTS SUR LE REVENU

38. Titre abrégé de la présente partie : Loi de 2001 sur l'Accord Canada-République slovaque en matière d'impôts sur le revenu.

Titre abrégé

39. Pour l'application de la présente partie, « Accord » s'entend de l'accord conclu entre le gouvernement du Canada et le gouvernement de la République slovaque, dont le texte figure à l'annexe 7.

Définition de

40. L'Accord est approuvé et a force de loi au Canada pendant la durée de validité prévue par son dispositif.

Approbation

Incompatibi-

Inconsistent general rule

41. (1) Subject to subsection (2), in the event of any inconsistency between the provisions of this Part or the Agreement and the provisions of any other law, the provisions of this Part and the Agreement prevail to the extent of the inconsistency.

Inconsistent laws exception

(2) In the event of any inconsistency between the provisions of the Agreement and the provisions of the Income Tax Conventions Interpretation Act, the provisions of that Act prevail to the extent of the inconsistency.

Regulations

42. The Minister of National Revenue may make any regulations that are necessary for carrying out the Agreement or for giving effect to any of its provisions.

Publication of notice

43. The Minister of Finance shall cause a notice of the day on which the Agreement enters into force and of the day on which it ceases to have effect to be published in the Canada Gazette within 60 days after its entry into force or termination.

PART 8

CANADA-GERMANY INCOME TAX **AGREEMENT**

1980-81-82-83. c. 156

Canada–Germany Tax Agreement Act, 1982

44. Section 3 of the Canada-Germany Tax Agreement Act, 1982 is amended by adding the following after subsection (2):

Inconsistent exception

(2.1) Despite subsection (2), in the event of any inconsistency between the provisions of the Agreement and the provisions of the Income Tax Conventions Interpretation Act, the provisions of that Act prevail to the extent of the inconsistency.

45. Section 4 of the Act is replaced by the following:

Publication of notice

4. The Minister of Finance shall cause a notice of the day on which the Agreement enters into force and of the day on which it ceases to have effect to be published in the Canada Gazette within 60 days after its entry into force or termination.

41. (1) Sous réserve du paragraphe (2), les dispositions de la présente partie et de l'Accord l'emportent sur les dispositions incompatibles de toute autre loi ou règle de droit.

(2) Les dispositions de la Loi sur l'interprétation des conventions en matière d'impôts sur le revenu l'emportent sur les dispositions incompatibles de l'Accord.

Incompatibiexception

42. Le ministre du Revenu national peut prendre les règlements nécessaires à l'exécution de tout ou partie de l'Accord.

Règlements

Avis

43. Le ministre des Finances fait publier dans la Gazette du Canada un avis des dates d'entrée en vigueur et de cessation d'effet de l'Accord dans les 60 jours suivant son entrée en vigueur ou sa dénonciation.

PARTIE 8

ACCORD CANADA-ALLEMAGNE EN MATIÈRE D'IMPÔTS SUR LE REVENU

Loi de 1982 sur l'Accord Canada-Allemagne en matière d'impôts 1980-81-82-83, ch. 156

- 44. L'article 3 de la Loi de 1982 sur l'Accord Canada-Allemagne en matière d'impôts est modifié par adjonction, après le paragraphe (2), de ce qui suit :
- (2.1) Malgré le paragraphe (2), les dispositions de la Loi sur l'interprétation des conventions en matière d'impôts sur le revenu l'emportent sur les dispositions incompatibles de l'Accord.

Incompatibiexception

45. L'article 4 de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

4. Le ministre des Finances fait publier dans la Gazette du Canada un avis des dates d'entrée en vigueur et de cessation d'effet de l'Accord dans les 60 jours suivant son entrée en vigueur ou sa dénonciation.

Avis

- 8
- 46. (1) The Agreement and Protocol set out in Schedules I and II to the Act are replaced by the Agreement and the Protocol set out respectively in Parts 1 and 2 of Schedule 8.
- (2) Subsection (1) comes into force on the day following the day on which the Agreement set out in Part 1 of Schedule 8 enters into force.

Agreement approved

- 47. The Agreement set out in Part 1 of Schedule 8, as amended by the Protocol set out in Part 2 of that Schedule, is approved and has the force of law in Canada during the period that, by its terms, it is in force.
- 46. (1) L'Accord et le Protocole qui figurent aux annexes I et II de la même loi sont remplacés par l'accord et le protocole qui figurent aux parties 1 et 2 de l'annexe 8.
- (2) Le paragraphe (1) entre en vigueur le jour suivant le jour où l'accord qui figure à la partie 1 de l'annexe 8 entre en vigueur.
- 47. L'accord qui figure à la partie 1 de l'annexe 8, tel que modifié par le protocole qui figure à la partie 2 de cette annexe, est approuvé et a force de loi au Canada pendant la durée de validité prévue par son dispositif.

Approbation

SCHEDULE 1 (Section 3)

CONVENTION BETWEEN THE GOVERNMENT OF CANADA AND THE GOVERNMENT OF THE REPUBLIC OF SLOVENIA FOR THE AVOIDANCE OF DOUBLE TAXATION AND THE PREVENTION OF FISCAL EVASION WITH RESPECT TO TAXES ON INCOME AND ON CAPITAL

The Government of Canada and the Government of the Republic of Slovenia, desiring to conclude a Convention for the avoidance of double taxation and the prevention of fiscal evasion with respect to taxes on income and on capital, have agreed as follows:

ARTICLE 1

Personal Scope

This Convention shall apply to persons who are residents of one or both of the Contracting States.

ARTICLE 2

Taxes Covered

- 1. This Convention shall apply to taxes on income and on capital imposed on behalf of Canada and on behalf of Slovenia or of its political subdivisions or local authorities, irrespective of the manner in which they are levied.
- 2. There shall be regarded as taxes on income and on capital all taxes imposed on total income, on total capital, or on elements of income or of capital, including taxes on gains from the alienation of movable or immovable property, as well as taxes on capital appreciation.
 - 3. The existing taxes to which the Convention shall apply are:
 - (a) in the case of Canada:

the taxes imposed by the Government of Canada under the *Income Tax Act*, (hereinafter referred to as "Canadian tax");

- (b) in the case of the Republic of Slovenia:
 - (i) the tax on profits of legal persons;
 - (ii) the tax on income of individuals, including wages and salaries, income from agricultural activities, income from business and income from immovable and movable property;

(hereinafter referred to as "Slovenian tax").

ANNEXE 1 (article 3)

CONVENTION ENTRE LE GOUVERNEMENT DU CANADA ET LE GOUVERNEMENT DE LA RÉPUBLIQUE DE SLOVÉNIE EN VUE D'ÉVITER LES DOUBLES IMPOSITIONS ET DE PRÉVENIR L'ÉVASION FISCALE EN MATIÈRE D'IMPÔTS SUR LE REVENU ET SUR LA FORTUNE

Le Gouvernement du Canada et le Gouvernement de la République de Slovénie, désireux de conclure une Convention en vue d'éviter les doubles impositions et de prévenir l'évasion fiscale en matière d'impôts sur le revenu et sur la fortune, sont convenus des dispositions suivantes :

ARTICLE 1

Personnes visées

La présente Convention s'applique aux personnes qui sont des résidents d'un État contractant ou des deux États contractants.

ARTICLE 2

Impôts visés

- 1. La présente Convention s'applique aux impôts sur le revenu et sur la fortune perçus pour le compte du Canada et pour le compte de la Slovénie ou de l'une de ses subdivisions politiques ou collectivités locales, quel que soit le système de perception.
- 2. Sont considérés comme impôts sur le revenu et sur la fortune les impôts perçus sur le revenu total, sur la fortune totale, ou sur des éléments du revenu ou de la fortune, y compris les impôts sur les gains provenant de l'aliénation de biens mobiliers ou immobiliers, ainsi que les impôts sur les plus-values.
- 3. Les impôts actuels auxquels s'applique la Convention sont :
 - a) en ce qui concerne le Canada :

les impôts qui sont perçus par le Gouvernement du Canada en vertu de la *Loi de l'impôt sur le revenu*, (ci-après dénommés « impôt canadien »);

- b) en ce qui concerne la République de Slovénie :
 - (i) l'impôt sur les bénéfices des personnes morales;
 - (ii) l'impôt sur les revenus des personnes physiques, y compris les salaires et les traitements, les revenus d'activités agricoles, les revenus tirés d'une entreprise et les revenus tirés de biens immobiliers ou mobiliers;

(ci-après dénommés « impôt slovène »).

4. The Convention shall also apply to any identical or substantially similar taxes which are imposed after the date of signature of the Convention in addition to, or in place of, the taxes mentioned in paragraph 3. The competent authorities of the Contracting States shall notify each other of any important changes which have been made in their respective taxation laws.

ARTICLE 3

General Definitions

- 1. For the purposes of this Convention, unless the context otherwise requires:
 - (a) the term "Canada" used in a geographical sense, means the territory of Canada, including:
 - (i) any area beyond the territorial sea of Canada which, in accordance with international law and the laws of Canada, is an area within which Canada may exercise rights with respect to the seabed and subsoil and their natural resources;
 - (ii) the sea and airspace above every area referred to in subparagraph (i) in respect of any activity carried on in connection with the exploration for or the exploitation of the natural resources referred to therein;
 - (b) the term "Slovenia" means the Republic of Slovenia and, when used in a geographical sense, the territory of the Republic of Slovenia, including the sea area, the seabed and subsoil adjacent to the territorial sea of the Republic of Slovenia, if the Republic of Slovenia may exercise its sovereign rights and jurisdiction in accordance with its domestic legislation and international law;
 - (c) the terms "a Contracting State" and "the other Contracting State" mean, as the context requires, Canada or Slovenia;
 - (d) the terms "enterprise of a Contracting State" and "enterprise of the other Contracting State" means respectively an enterprise carried on by a resident of a Contracting State and an enterprise carried on by a resident of the other Contracting State;
 - (e) the term "person" includes an individual, a company and any other body of persons and, in the case of Canada, the term also includes a trust;
 - (f) the term "company" means any body corporate or any entity which is treated as a body corporate for tax purposes;
 - (g) the term "competent authority" means:
 - (i) in the case of Canada, the Minister of National Revenue or the Minister's authorized representative;

4. La Convention s'applique aussi aux impôts de nature identique ou analogue qui seraient établis après la date de signature de la Convention et qui s'ajouteraient aux impôts visés au paragraphe 3 ou qui les remplaceraient. Les autorités compétentes des États contractants se communiquent les modifications importantes apportées à leurs législations fiscales respectives.

ARTICLE 3

Définitions générales

- 1. Au sens de la présente Convention, à moins que le contexte n'exige une interprétation différente :
 - *a*) le terme « Canada », employé dans un sens géographique, désigne le territoire du Canada, y compris :
 - (i) toute région située au-delà de la mer territoriale du Canada qui, conformément au droit international et en vertu des lois du Canada, est une région à l'intérieur de laquelle le Canada peut exercer des droits à l'égard du fond et du sous-sol de la mer et de leurs ressources naturelles; et
 - (ii) la mer et l'espace aérien au-dessus de la région visée à l'alinéa (i), à l'égard de toute activité poursuivie en rapport avec l'exploration ou l'exploitation des ressources naturelles qui y sont visées;
 - b) le terme « Slovénie », désigne la République de Slovénie et, lorsqu'employé dans un sens géogra-phique, il désigne le territoire de la République de Slovénie, y compris la région maritime, le fond et le sous-sol de la mer adjacents à la mer territoriale de la République de Slovénie, si la République de Slovénie peut exercer ses droits souverains et sa juridiction conformément à sa législation interne et au droit international;
 - c) les expressions « un État contractant » et « l'autre État contractant » désignent, suivant le contexte, le Canada ou la Slovénie;
 - d) les expressions « entreprise d'un État contractant » et « entreprise de l'autre État contractant » désignent respectivement une entreprise exploitée par un résident d'un État contractant et une entreprise exploitée par un résident de l'autre État contractant:
 - e) le terme « personne » comprend les personnes physiques, les sociétés et tous autres groupements de personnes et, en ce qui concerne le Canada, le terme comprend également les fiducies:
 - f) le terme « société » désigne toute personne morale ou toute entité qui est considérée comme une personne morale aux fins d'imposition;
 - g) l'expression « autorité compétente » désigne :

- (ii) in the case of Slovenia, the Ministry of Finance of the Republic of Slovenia or its authorized representative;
- (h) the term "national" means:
 - (i) any individual possessing the nationality of a Contracting State;
 - (ii) any legal person, partnership and association deriving its status as such from the laws in force in a Contracting State:
- (i) the term "international traffic" means any transport by a ship or aircraft operated by an enterprise of a Contracting State, except when the ship or aircraft is operated solely between places in the other Contracting State.
- 2. As regards the application of the Convention at any time by a Contracting State, any term not defined therein shall, unless the context otherwise requires, have the meaning which it has at that time under the law of that State for the purposes of the taxes to which the Convention applies.

Resident

- 1. For the purposes of this Convention, the term "resident of a Contracting State" means:
 - (a) any person who, under the laws of that State, is liable to tax therein by reason of the person's domicile, residence, place of management, place of incorporation or any other criterion of a similar nature:
 - (b) that State or a political subdivi-sion or local authority thereof or any agency or instrumentality of any such State, subdivision or authority.
- 2. Where by reason of the provisions of paragraph 1 an individual is a resident of both Contracting States, then the individual's status shall be determined as follows:
 - (a) the individual shall be deemed to be a resident only of the State in which the individual has a permanent home available; if the individual has a permanent home available in both States, the individual shall be deemed to be a resident only of the State with which the individual's personal and economic relations are closer (centre of vital interests);
 - (b) if the State in which the individual has his centre of vital interests cannot be determined, or if there is not a permanent home available to the individual in either State, the individual shall be deemed to be a resident only of the State in which the individual has an habitual abode;

- (i) en ce qui concerne le Canada, le ministre du Revenu national ou son représentant autorisé;
- (ii) en ce qui concerne la Slovénie, le Ministère des Finances de la République de Slovénie ou son représentant autorisé;
- h) le terme « national » désigne :
 - (i) toute personne physique qui possède la nationalité d'un État contractant;
 - (ii) toute personne morale, société de personnes et association constituées conformément à la législation en vigueur dans un État contractant;
- i) l'expression « trafic international » désigne tout transport effectué par un navire ou un aéronef exploité par une entreprise d'un État contractant, sauf lorsque le navire ou l'aéronef n'est exploité qu'entre des points situés dans l'autre État contractant.
- 2. En ce qui concerne l'application de la Convention à un moment donné par un État contractant, tout terme ou expression qui n'y est pas défini a le sens que lui attribue à ce moment le droit de cet État régissant les impôts auxquels s'applique la Convention, à moins que le contexte n'exige une interprétation différente.

ARTICLE 4

Résident

- 1. Au sens de la présente Convention, l'expression « résident d'un État contractant » désigne :
 - a) toute personne qui, en vertu de la législation de cet État, est assujettie à l'impôt dans cet État en raison de son domicile, de sa résidence, de son siège de direction, de son lieu de constitution ou de tout autre critère de nature analogue;
 - b) cet État ou l'une de ses subdivisions politiques ou collectivités locales ou toute personne morale de droit public de cet État, subdivision ou collectivité.
- 2. Lorsque, selon les dispositions du paragraphe l, une personne physique est un résident des deux États contractants, sa situation est réglée de la manière suivante :
 - a) cette personne est considérée comme un résident seulement de l'État où elle dispose d'un foyer d'habitation permanent; si elle dispose d'un foyer d'habitation permanent dans les deux États, elle est considérée comme un résident seulement de l'État avec lequel ses liens personnels et économiques sont les plus étroits (centre des intérêts vitaux);
 - b) si l'État où cette personne a le centre de ses intérêts vitaux ne peut pas être déterminé, ou si elle ne dispose d'un foyer d'habitation permanent dans aucun des États, elle est considérée comme un résident seulement de l'État où elle séjourne de façon habituelle;

- (c) if the individual has an habitual abode in both States or in neither of them, the individual shall be deemed to be a resident only of the State of which the individual is a national;
- (d) if the individual is a national of both States or of neither of them, the competent authorities of the Contracting States shall settle the question by mutual agreement.
- 3. Where by reason of the provisions of paragraph 1 a company is a resident of both Contracting States, it shall be deemed to be a resident only of the State of which it is a national.
- 4. Where by reason of the provisions of paragraph 1 a person other than an individual or a company is a resident of both Contracting States, the competent authorities of the Contracting States shall by mutual agreement endeavour to settle the question and to determine the mode of application of the Convention to such person.

Permanent Establishment

- 1. For the purposes of this Convention, the term "permanent establishment" means a fixed place of business through which the business of an enterprise is wholly or partly carried on.
 - 2. The term "permanent establishment" includes especially:
 - (a) a place of management;
 - (b) a branch;
 - (c) an office;
 - (d) a factory;
 - (e) a workshop; and
 - (f) a mine, an oil or gas well, a quarry or any other place relating to the exploration for or the exploitation of natural resources.
- 3. The term "permanent establishment" shall likewise encompass:
 - (a) a building site, a construction, assembly or installation project or supervisory activities in connection therewith, but only where such site, project or activities continue for a period of more than twelve months;
 - (b) the furnishing of services, including consultancy services, by an enterprise of a Contracting State through its employees or other personnel in the other Contracting State, but only where such activities (for the same or related projects) continue with or without interruptions for a period exceeding nine months within any twelve month period.

- c) si cette personne séjourne de façon habituelle dans les deux États ou si elle ne séjourne de façon habituelle dans aucun d'eux, elle est considérée comme un résident seulement de l'État dont elle possède la nationalité;
- d) si cette personne possède la nationalité des deux États ou si elle ne possède la nationalité d'aucun d'eux, les autorités compétentes des États contractants tranchent la question d'un commun accord.
- 3. Lorsque, selon les dispositions du paragraphe l, une société est un résident des deux États contractants, elle est considérée comme un résident seulement de l'État dont elle est un national.
- 4. Lorsque, selon les dispositions du paragraphe 1, une personne autre qu'une personne physique ou une société est un résident des deux États contractants, les autorités compétentes des États contractants s'efforcent d'un commun accord de trancher la question et de déterminer les modalités d'application de la Convention à ladite personne.

ARTICLE 5

Établissement stable

- 1. Au sens de la présente Convention, l'expression « établissement stable » désigne une installation fixe d'affaires par l'intermédiaire de laquelle une entreprise exerce tout ou partie de son activité.
- 2. L'expression « établissement stable » comprend notamment :
 - a) un siège de direction;
 - b) une succursale;
 - c) un bureau;
 - d) une usine;
 - e) un atelier; et
 - f) une mine, un puits de pétrole ou de gaz, une carrière ou tout autre lieu relié à l'exploration ou à l'exploitation des ressources naturelles.
- 3. L'expression « établissement stable » comprend également :
 - a) un chantier de construction ou une chaîne temporaire de montage ou des activités de surveillance s'y exerçant, mais uniquement lorsque ce chantier, cette chaîne ou ces activités ont une durée supérieure à douze mois;
 - b) la fourniture de services, y compris les services de consultants, par une entreprise d'un État contractant agissant, par l'intermédiaire de ses salariés ou son autre personnel, dans l'autre État contractant mais uniquement lorsque les activités de cette nature (pour le même projet ou un projet relié) se poursuivent avec ou sans interruption pendant une période représentant plus de neuf mois au cours de toute période de douze mois.

- 4. Notwithstanding the preceding provisions of this Article, the term "permanent establishment" shall be deemed not to include:
 - (a) the use of facilities solely for the purpose of storage, display or delivery of goods or merchandise belonging to the enterprise;
 - (b) the maintenance of a stock of goods or merchandise belonging to the enterprise solely for the purpose of storage, display or delivery;
 - (c) the maintenance of a stock of goods or merchandise belonging to the enterprise solely for the purpose of processing by another enterprise;
 - (d) the maintenance of a fixed place of business solely for the purpose of purchasing goods or merchandise or of collecting information, for the enterprise;
 - (e) the maintenance of a fixed place of business solely for the purpose of advertising, for the supply of information, for scientific research, or for similar activities of a preparatory or auxiliary character for the enterprise;
 - (f) the maintenance of a fixed place of business solely for any combination of activities mentioned in subparagraphs (a) to (e) provided that the overall activity of the fixed place of business resulting from this combination is of a preparatory or auxiliary character.
- 5. Notwithstanding the provisions of paragraphs 1 and 2, where a person — other than an agent of an independent status to whom paragraph 6 applies - is acting on behalf of an enterprise and has, and habitually exercises, in a Contracting State an authority to conclude contracts in the name of the enterprise, that enterprise shall be deemed to have a permanent establishment in that State in respect of any activities which that person undertakes for the enterprise, unless the activities of such person are limited to those mentioned in paragraph 4 which, if exercised through a fixed place of business, would not make this fixed place of business a permanent establishment under the provisions of that paragraph.
- 6. An enterprise shall not be deemed to have a permanent establishment in a Contracting State merely because it carries on business in that other State through a broker, general commission agent or any other agent of an independent status, provided that such persons are acting in the ordinary course of their business.
- 7. The fact that a company which is a resident of a Contracting State controls or is controlled by a company which is a resident of the other Contracting State, or which carries on business in that other State (whether through a permanent establishment or otherwise), shall not of itself constitute either company a permanent establishment of the other.

- 4. Nonobstant les dispositions précédentes du présent article, on considère qu'il n'y a pas « établissement stable » si :
 - a) il est fait usage d'installations aux seules fins de stockage, d'exposition ou de livraison de marchandises appartenant à l'entreprise;
 - b) des marchandises appartenant à l'entreprise sont entreposées aux seules fins de stockage, d'exposition ou de livraison;
 - c) des marchandises appartenant à l'entreprise sont entreposées aux seules fins de transformation par une autre entreprise;
 - d) une installation fixe d'affaires est utilisée aux seules fins d'acheter des marchandises ou de réunir des informations pour l'entreprise;
 - e) une installation fixe d'affaires est utilisée, pour l'entreprise, aux seules fins de publicité, de fourniture d'informations, de recherches scientifiques ou d'autres activités analogues qui ont un caractère préparatoire ou auxiliaire;
 - f) une installation fixe d'affaires est utilisée aux seules fins de l'exercice cumulé d'activités mentionnées aux alinéas a) à e), à condition que l'activité d'ensemble de l'installation fixe d'affaires résultant de ce cumul garde un caractère préparatoire ou auxiliaire.
- 5. Nonobstant les dispositions des paragraphes 1 et 2, lorsqu'une personne — autre qu'un agent jouissant d'un statut indépendant auquel s'applique le paragraphe 6 — agit pour le compte d'une entreprise et dispose dans un État contractant de pouvoirs qu'elle y exerce habituellement lui permettant de conclure des contrats au nom de l'entreprise, cette entreprise est considérée comme ayant un établissement stable dans cet État pour toutes les activités que cette personne exerce pour l'entreprise, à moins que les activités de cette personne ne soient limitées à celles qui sont mentionnées au paragraphe 4 et qui, si elles étaient exercées par l'intermédiaire d'une installation fixe d'affaires, ne permettraient pas de considérer cette installation comme un établissement stable selon les dispositions de ce paragraphe.
- 6. Une entreprise n'est pas considérée comme ayant un établissement stable dans un État contractant du seul fait qu'elle y exerce son activité par l'entremise d'un courtier, d'un commissionnaire général ou de tout autre agent jouissant d'un statut indépendant, à condition que ces personnes agissent dans le cadre ordinaire de leur activité.
- 7. Le fait qu'une société qui est un résident d'un État contractant contrôle ou est contrôlée par une société qui est un résident de l'autre État contractant ou qui y exerce son activité (que ce soit par l'intermédiaire d'un établissement stable ou non) ne suffit pas, en lui-même, à faire de l'une quelconque de ces sociétés un établissement stable de l'autre.

Income from Immovable Property

- 1. Income derived by a resident of a Contracting State from immovable property (including income from agriculture or forestry) situated in the other Contracting State may be taxed in that other State.
- 2. For the purposes of this Convention, the term "immovable property" shall have the meaning which it has for the purposes of the relevant taxation law of the Contracting State in which the property in question is situated. The term shall in any case include property accessory to immovable property, livestock and equipment used in agriculture and forestry, rights to which the provisions of general law respecting landed property apply, usufruct of immovable property and rights to variable or fixed payments as consideration for the working of, or the right to work, mineral deposits, sources and other natural resources. Ships and aircraft shall not be regarded as immovable property.
- 3. The provisions of paragraph 1 shall apply to income derived from the direct use, letting, or use in any other form of immovable property and to income from the alienation of such property.
- 4. The provisions of paragraphs 1 and 3 shall also apply to the income from immovable property of an enterprise and to income from immovable property used for the performance of independent personal services.

ARTICLE 7

Business Profits

- 1. The profits of an enterprise of a Contracting State shall be taxable only in that State unless the enterprise carries on business in the other Contracting State through a permanent establishment situated therein. If the enterprise carries on or has carried on business as aforesaid, the profits of the enterprise may be taxed in the other State but only so much of them as is attributable to that permanent establishment.
- 2. Subject to the provisions of paragraph 3, where an enterprise of a Contracting State carries on business in the other Contracting State through a permanent establishment situated therein, there shall in each Contracting State be attributed to that permanent establishment the profits which it might be expected to make if it were a distinct and separate enterprise engaged in the same or similar activities under the same or similar conditions and dealing wholly independently with the enterprise of which it is a permanent establishment.
- 3. In determining the profits of a permanent establishment, there shall be allowed those deductible expenses which are incurred for the purposes of the permanent establishment, including executive and general administrative expenses, whether incurred in the State in which the permanent establishment is situated or elsewhere.

ARTICLE 6

Revenus de biens immobiliers

- 1. Les revenus qu'un résident d'un État contractant tire de biens immobiliers (y compris les revenus des exploitations agricoles ou forestières) situés dans l'autre État contractant, sont imposables dans cet autre État.
- 2. Au sens de la présente Convention, l'expression « biens immobiliers » a le sens qu'elle a aux fins de la législation fiscale pertinente de l'État contractant où les biens considérés sont situés. L'expression comprend en tous cas les accessoires, le cheptel mort ou vif des exploitations agricoles et forestières, les droits auxquels s'appliquent les dispositions du droit privé concernant la propriété foncière, l'usufruit des biens immobiliers et les droits à des paiements variables ou fixes pour l'exploitation ou la concession de l'exploitation de gisements minéraux, sources et autres ressources naturelles. Les navires et aéronefs ne sont pas considérés comme des biens immobiliers.
- 3. Les dispositions du paragraphe l s'appliquent aux revenus provenant de l'exploitation directe, de la location ou de l'affermage, ainsi que de toute autre forme d'exploitation de biens immobiliers et aux revenus provenant de l'aliénation de tels biens.
- 4. Les dispositions des paragraphes l et 3 s'appliquent également aux revenus provenant des biens immobiliers d'une entreprise ainsi qu'aux revenus des biens immobiliers servant à l'exercice d'une profession indépendante.

ARTICLE 7

Bénéfices des entreprises

- 1. Les bénéfices d'une entreprise d'un État contractant ne sont imposables que dans cet État, à moins que l'entreprise n'exerce son activité dans l'autre État contractant par l'intermédiaire d'un établissement stable qui y est situé. Si l'entreprise exerce ou a exercé son activité d'une telle façon, les bénéfices de l'entreprise sont imposables dans l'autre État mais uniquement dans la mesure où ils sont imputables à cet établissement stable.
- 2. Sous réserve des dispositions du paragraphe 3, lorsqu'une entreprise d'un État contractant exerce son activité dans l'autre État contractant par l'intermédiaire d'un établissement stable qui y est situé, il est imputé, dans chaque État contractant, à cet établissement stable les bénéfices qu'il aurait pu réaliser s'il avait constitué une entreprise distincte exerçant des activités identiques ou analogues dans des conditions identiques ou analogues et traitant en toute indépendance avec l'entreprise dont il constitue un établissement stable.
- 3. Pour déterminer les bénéfices d'un établissement stable, sont admises en déduction les dépenses déductibles qui sont exposées aux fins poursuivies par cet établissement stable, y compris les dépenses de direction et les frais généraux d'administration ainsi exposés, soit dans l'État où est situé cet établissement stable, soit ailleurs.

4. Insofar as it has been customary in a Contracting State to determine the profits to be attributed to a permanent establishment on the basis of an apportionment of the total profits of the enterprise to its various parts, nothing in paragraph 2 shall preclude that Contracting State from determining the profits to be taxed by such an apportionment as may be customary. The method of apportionment adopted shall, however, be such that the result shall be in accordance with the principles contained in this Article.

Conventions fiscales (2001) — Annexe 1

- 5. No profits shall be attributed to a permanent establishment by reason of the mere purchase by that permanent establishment of goods or merchandise for the enterprise.
- 6. For the purposes of the preceding paragraphs, the profits to be attributed to the permanent establishment shall be determined by the same method year by year unless there is good and sufficient reason to the contrary.
- 7. Where profits include items of income which are dealt with separately in other Articles of this Convention, then the provisions of those Articles shall not be affected by the provisions of this Article.

ARTICLE 8

Shipping and Air Transport

- 1. Profits derived by an enterprise of a Contracting State from the operation of ships or aircraft in international traffic shall be taxable only in that State.
- 2. Notwithstanding the provisions of paragraph 1 and of Article 7, profits derived by an enterprise of a Contracting State from a voyage of a ship or aircraft where the principal purpose of the voyage is to transport passengers or property between places in the other Contracting State may be taxed in that other State.
- 3. The provisions of paragraphs 1 and 2 shall also apply to profits from the participation in a pool, a joint business or an international operating agency.
- 4. In this Article, the term "operation of ships or aircraft in international traffic" by an enterprise, includes the charter or rental of ships or aircraft, and the rental of containers and related equipment, by that enterprise provided that such charter or rental is incidental to the operation by that enterprise of ships or aircraft in international traffic.

- 4. S'il est d'usage, dans un État contractant, de déterminer les bénéfices imputables à un établissement stable sur la base d'une répartition des bénéfices totaux de l'entreprise entre ses diverses parties, aucune disposition du paragraphe 2 n'empêche cet État contractant de déterminer les bénéfices imposables selon la répartition en usage; la méthode de répartition adoptée doit cependant être telle que le résultat obtenu soit conforme aux principes contenus dans le présent article.
- 5. Aucun bénéfice n'est imputé à un établissement stable du fait qu'il a simplement acheté des marchandises pour l'entre-
- 6. Aux fins des paragraphes précédents, les bénéfices à imputer à l'établissement stable sont déterminés chaque année selon la même méthode, à moins qu'il n'existe des motifs valables et suffisants de procéder autrement.
- 7. Lorsque les bénéfices comprennent des éléments de revenu traités séparément dans d'autres articles de la présente Convention, les dispositions de ces articles ne sont pas affectées par les disposi-tions du présent article.

ARTICLE 8

Navigation maritime et aérienne

- 1. Les bénéfices qu'une entreprise d'un État contractant tire de l'exploitation, en trafic international, de navires ou d'aéronefs ne sont imposables que dans cet État.
- 2. Nonobstant les dispositions du paragraphe l et celles de l'article 7, les bénéfices qu'une entreprise d'un État contractant tire d'un voyage d'un navire ou d'un aéronef lorsque le but principal du voyage est de transporter des passagers ou des biens entre des points situés dans l'autre État contractant sont imposables dans cet autre État.
- 3. Les dispositions des paragraphes 1 et 2 s'appliquent aussi aux bénéfices provenant de la participation à un pool, une exploitation en commun ou un organisme international d'exploi-
- 4. Au sens du présent article, l'expression « exploitation de navires ou d'aéronefs en trafic international » par une entreprise, comprend l'affrètement ou la location de navires ou d'aéronefs et la location de conteneurs et d'équipements accessoires, par cette entreprise pourvu que cet affrètement ou location soit accessoire à l'exploitation, en trafic international, de navires ou d'aéronefs par cette entreprise.

Associated Enterprises

1. Where

- (a) an enterprise of a Contracting State participates directly or indirectly in the management, control or capital of an enterprise of the other Contracting State, or
- (b) the same persons participate directly or indirectly in the management, control or capital of an enterprise of a Contracting State and an enterprise of the other Contracting State,

and in either case conditions are made or imposed between the two enterprises in their commercial or financial relations which differ from those which would be made between independent enterprises, then any profits which would, but for those conditions, have accrued to one of the enterprises, but, by reason of those conditions, have not so accrued, may be included in the profits of that enterprise and taxed accordingly.

- 2. Where a Contracting State includes in the profits of an enterprise of that State and taxes accordingly profits on which an enterprise of the other Contracting State has been charged to tax in that other State and the profits so included are profits which would have accrued to the enterprise of the first-mentioned State if the conditions made between the two enterprises had been those which would have been made between independent enterprises, then that other State shall make an appropriate adjustment to the amount of tax charged therein on those profits. In determining such adjustment, due regard shall be had to the other provisions of this Convention and the competent authorities of the Contracting States shall if necessary consult each other.
- 3. A Contracting State shall not change the profits of an enterprise in the circumstances referred to in paragraph 1 after the expiry of the time limits provided in its national laws and, in any case, after six years from the end of the year in which the profits which would be subject to such change would, but for the conditions referred to in paragraph 1, have accrued to that enterprise.
- 4. The provisions of paragraphs 2 and 3 shall not apply in the case of fraud, wilful default or neglect.

ARTICLE 10

Dividends

1. Dividends paid by a company which is a resident of a Contracting State to a resident of the other Contracting State may be taxed in that other State.

ARTICLE 9

Entreprises associées

1. Lorsque:

- a) une entreprise d'un État contractant participe directement ou indirectement à la direction, au contrôle ou au capital d'une entreprise de l'autre État contractant, ou que
- b) les mêmes personnes participent directement ou indirectement à la direction, au contrôle ou au capital d'une entreprise d'un État contractant et d'une entreprise de l'autre État contractant,

et que, dans l'un et l'autre cas, les deux entreprises sont, dans leurs relations commerciales ou financières, liées par des conditions convenues ou imposées, qui diffèrent de celles qui seraient convenues entre des entreprises indépendantes, les bénéfices qui, sans ces conditions, auraient été réalisés par l'une des entreprises mais n'ont pu l'être en fait à cause de ces conditions, peuvent être inclus dans les bénéfices de cette entreprise et imposés en conséquence.

- 2. Lorsqu'un État contractant inclut dans les bénéfices d'une entreprise de cet État et impose en conséquence des bénéfices sur lesquels une entreprise de l'autre État contractant a été imposée dans cet autre État, et que les bénéfices ainsi inclus sont des bénéfices qui auraient été réalisés par l'entreprise du premier État si les conditions convenues entre les deux entreprises avaient été celles qui auraient été convenues entre des entreprises indépendantes, l'autre État procède à un ajustement approprié du montant de l'impôt qui y a été perçu sur ces bénéfices. Pour déterminer cet ajustement, il est tenu compte des autres dispositions de la présente Convention et, si c'est nécessaire, les autorités compétentes des États contractants se consultent.
- 3. Un État contractant ne rectifiera pas les bénéfices d'une entreprise dans les cas visés au paragraphe l après l'expiration des délais prévus par sa législation nationale et, en tout cas, après l'expiration de six ans à dater de la fin de l'année au cours de laquelle les bénéfices qui feraient l'objet d'une telle rectification auraient, sans les conditions visées au paragraphe 1, été réalisés par cette entreprise.
- 4. Les dispositions des paragraphes 2 et 3 ne s'appliquent pas en cas de fraude, d'omission volontaire ou de négligence.

ARTICLE 10

Dividendes

1. Les dividendes payés par une société qui est un résident d'un État contractant à un résident de l'autre État contractant sont imposables dans cet autre État.

2. However, such dividends may also be taxed in the Contracting State of which the company paying the dividends is a resident and according to the laws of that State, but if a resident of the other Contracting State is the beneficial owner of the dividends the tax so charged shall not exceed:

Conventions fiscales (2001) — Annexe 1

- (a) except in the case of dividends paid by a non-residentowned investment corporation that is a resident of Canada, 5 per cent of the gross amount of the dividends if the beneficial owner is a company that:
 - (i) controls directly or indirectly at least 10 per cent of the voting power in the company paying the dividends where that company is a resident of Canada;
 - (ii) holds directly at least 25 per cent of the capital of the company paying the dividends where that company is a resident of Slovenia;
- (b) 15 per cent of the gross amount of the dividends in all other

The provisions of this paragraph shall not affect the taxation of the company in respect of the profits out of which the dividends are paid.

- 3. The term "dividends" as used in this Article means income from shares or other rights, not being debt-claims, participating in profits, as well as income which is subjected to the same taxation treatment as income from shares by the laws of the State of which the company making the distribution is a resident.
- 4. The provisions of paragraph 2 shall not apply if the beneficial owner of the dividends, being a resident of a Contracting State, carries on business in the other Contracting State of which the company paying the dividends is a resident, through a permanent establishment situated therein, or performs in that other State independent personal services from a fixed base situated therein, and the holding in respect of which the dividends are paid is effectively connected with such permanent establishment or fixed base. In such case the provisions of Article 7 or Article 14, as the case may be, shall apply.
- 5. Where a company which is a resident of a Contracting State derives profits or income from the other Contracting State, that other State may not impose any tax on the dividends paid by the company, except insofar as such dividends are paid to a resident of that other State or insofar as the holding in respect of which the dividends are paid is effectively connected with a permanent establishment or a fixed base situated in that other State, nor subject the company's undistributed profits to a tax on undistributed profits, even if the dividends paid or the undistributed profits consist wholly or partly of profits or income arising in such other State.
- 6. Nothing in this Convention shall be construed as preventing a Contracting State from imposing on the earnings of a company attributable to a permanent establishment in that State, a tax in addition to the tax which would be chargeable on the earnings of

- 2. Toutefois, ces dividendes sont aussi imposables dans l'État contractant dont la société qui paie les dividendes est un résident et selon la législation de cet État, mais si un résident de l'autre État contractant est le bénéficiaire effectif des dividendes, l'impôt ainsi établi ne peut excéder :
 - a) sauf dans le cas de dividendes payés par une société qui est une société de placements appartenant à des non résidents et qui est un résident du Canada, 5 p. 100 du montant brut des dividendes si le bénéficiaire effectif est une société qui :
 - (i) contrôle directement ou indirectement au moins 10 p. 100 des droits de vote dans la société qui paie les dividendes lorsque celle-ci est un résident du Canada;
 - (ii) détient directement au moins 25 p. 100 du capital de la société qui paie les dividendes lorsque celle-ci est un résident de la Slovénie;
 - b) 15 p. 100 du montant brut des dividendes, dans tous les autres cas.

Les dispositions du présent paragraphe n'affectent pas l'imposition de la société sur les bénéfices qui servent au paiement des dividendes.

- 3. Le terme « dividendes » employé dans le présent article désigne les revenus provenant d'actions ou d'autres parts bénéficiaires, à l'exception des créances, ainsi que les revenus soumis au même régime fiscal que les revenus d'actions par la législation de l'État dont la société distributrice est un résident.
- 4. Les dispositions du paragraphe 2 ne s'appliquent pas lorsque le bénéficiaire effectif des dividendes, résident d'un État contractant, exerce dans l'autre État contractant dont la société qui paie les dividendes est un résident, soit une activité industrielle ou commerciale par l'intermédiaire d'un établissement stable qui y est situé, soit une profession indépendante au moyen d'une base fixe qui y est située, et que la participation génératrice des dividendes s'y rattache effectivement. Dans ce cas, les dispositions de l'article 7 ou de l'article 14, suivant les cas, sont applicables.
- 5. Lorsqu'une société qui est un résident d'un État contractant tire des bénéfices ou des revenus de l'autre État contractant, cet autre État ne peut percevoir aucun impôt sur les dividendes payés par la société, sauf dans la mesure où ces dividendes sont payés à un résident de cet autre État ou dans la mesure où la participation génératrice des dividendes se rattache effectivement à un établissement stable ou à une base fixe situés dans cet autre État, ni prélever aucun impôt, au titre de l'imposition des bénéfices non distribués, sur les bénéfices non distribués de la société, même si les dividendes payés ou les bénéfices non distribués consistent en tout ou en partie en bénéfices ou revenus provenant de cet autre État.
- 6. Aucune disposition de la présente Convention ne peut être interprétée comme empêchant un État contractant de percevoir, sur les revenus d'une société imputables à un établissement stable dans cet État, un impôt qui s'ajoute à l'impôt qui serait applicable

a company which is a national of that State, provided that any additional tax so imposed shall not exceed 5 per cent of the amount of such earnings which have not been subjected to such additional tax in previous taxation years. For the purpose of this provision, the term "earnings" means the profits, including any gains, attributable to a permanent establishment in a Contracting State in a year and previous years after deducting therefrom all taxes, other than the additional tax referred to herein, imposed on such profits by that State.

7. The provisions of paragraph 6 shall also apply with respect to earnings derived from the alienation of immovable property in one of the Contracting States by a company carrying on a trade in immovable property, whether or not it has a permanent establishment in that State, but only insofar as these earnings may be taxed by that State under the provisions of Article 6 or paragraph 1 of Article 13.

ARTICLE 11

Interest

- 1. Interest arising in a Contracting State and paid to a resident of the other Contracting State may be taxed in that other State.
- 2. However, such interest may also be taxed in the Contracting State in which it arises and according to the laws of that State, but if a resident of the other Contracting State is the beneficial owner of the interest the tax so charged shall not exceed 10 per cent of the gross amount of the interest.
 - 3. Notwithstanding the provisions of paragraph 2:
 - (a) interest arising in a Contracting State and paid in respect of indebtedness of the government of that State or of a political subdivision or local authority thereof shall, provided that the interest is beneficially owned by a resident of the other Contracting State, be taxable only in that other State;
 - (b) interest arising in Slovenia and paid to a resident of Canada shall be taxable only in Canada if it is paid in respect of a loan made, guaranteed or insured, or a credit extended, guaranteed or insured by the Export Development Corporation;
 - (c) interest arising in Canada and paid to a resident of Slovenia shall be taxable only in Slovenia if it is paid in respect of a loan made, guaranteed or insured, or a credit extended, guaranteed or insured by the Slovenian Export Company (Slovenska izvozna druzba); and
 - (d) interest arising in a Contracting State and paid to a resident of the other Contracting State which was constituted and is operated exclusively to administer or provide benefits under one or more pension, retirement or other employee benefits plans shall not be taxable in the first-mentioned State provided that:

aux revenus d'une société qui est un national dudit État, pourvu que l'impôt additionnel ainsi établi n'excède pas 5 p. 100 du montant des revenus qui n'ont pas été assujettis audit impôt additionnel au cours des années d'imposition précédentes. Au sens de la présente disposition, le terme « revenus » désigne les bénéfices, y compris les gains, imputables à un établissement stable dans un État contractant, pour l'année ou pour les années antérieures, après déduction de tous les impôts, autres que l'impôt additionnel visé au présent paragraphe, prélevés par cet État sur lesdits bénéfices.

7. Les dispositions du paragraphe 6 s'appliquent également à l'égard des revenus qu'une société qui exerce une activité dans le domaine des biens immobiliers tire de l'aliénation de biens immobiliers situés dans l'un des États contractants, que cette société ait ou non un établissement stable dans cet État, mais uniquement dans la mesure où ces revenus sont imposables dans cet État en vertu des dispositions de l'article 6 ou du paragraphe 1 de l'article 13.

ARTICLE 11

Intérêts

- 1. Les intérêts provenant d'un État contractant et payés à un résident de l'autre État contractant sont imposables dans cet autre État.
- 2. Toutefois, ces intérêts sont aussi imposables dans l'État contractant d'où ils proviennent et selon la législation de cet État, mais si un résident de l'autre État contractant est le bénéficiaire effectif des intérêts, l'impôt ainsi établi ne peut excéder l0 p. 100 du montant brut des intérêts.
 - 3. Nonobstant les dispositions du paragraphe 2 :
 - a) les intérêts provenant d'un État contractant et payés sur une dette du gouvernement de cet État ou de l'une de ses subdivisions politiques ou collectivités locales, ne sont imposables que dans l'autre État contractant pourvu qu'un résident de cet autre État en soit le bénéficiaire effectif;
 - b) les intérêts provenant de Slovénie et payés à un résident du Canada ne sont imposables qu'au Canada s'ils sont payés en raison d'un prêt fait, garanti ou assuré, ou d'un crédit consenti, garanti ou assuré par la Société pour l'expansion des exportations;
 - c) les intérêts provenant du Canada et payés à un résident de Slovénie ne sont imposables qu'en Slovénie s'ils sont payés en raison d'un prêt fait, garanti ou assuré, ou d'un crédit consenti, garanti ou assuré par la Société des exportations slovène (Slovenska izvozna druzba); et
 - d) les intérêts provenant d'un État contractant et payés à un résident de l'autre État contractant, qui a été constitué et est exploité exclusivement aux fins d'administrer ou de fournir des prestations en vertu d'un ou de plusieurs régimes de

(i) the resident is the beneficial owner of the interest and is generally exempt from tax in the other State; and

Conventions fiscales (2001) — Annexe 1

- (ii) the interest is not derived from carrying on a trade or a business or from a related person.
- 4. The term "interest" as used in this Article means income from debt-claims of every kind, whether or not secured by mortgage, and in particular, income from government securities and income from bonds or debentures, including premiums and prizes attaching to such securities, bonds or debentures, as well as income which is subjected to the same taxation treatment as income from money lent by the laws of the State in which the income arises. However, the term "interest" does not include income dealt with in Article 10. Penalty charges for late payment shall not be regarded as interest for the purposes of this Article.
- 5. The provisions of paragraphs 2 and 3 shall not apply if the beneficial owner of the interest, being a resident of a Contracting State, carries on business in the other Contracting State in which the interest arises through a permanent establishment situated therein, or performs in that other State independent personal services from a fixed base situated therein, and the debt-claim in respect of which the interest is paid is effectively connected with such permanent establishment or fixed base. In such case the provisions of Article 7 or Article 14, as the case may be, shall apply.
- 6. Interest shall be deemed to arise in a Contracting State when the payer is a resident of that State. Where, however, the person paying the interest, whether the payer is a resident of a Contracting State or not, has in a Contracting State a permanent establishment or a fixed base in connection with which the indebtedness on which the interest is paid was incurred, and such interest is borne by such permanent establishment or fixed base, then such interest shall be deemed to arise in the State in which the permanent establishment or fixed base is situated.
- 7. Where, by reason of a special relationship between the payer and the beneficial owner or between both of them and some other person, the amount of the interest, having regard to the debt-claim for which it is paid, exceeds the amount which would have been agreed upon by the payer and the beneficial owner in the absence of such relationship, the provisions of this Article shall apply only to the last-mentioned amount. In such case, the excess part of the payments shall remain taxable according to the laws of each Contracting State, due regard being had to the other provisions of this Convention.

ARTICLE 12

Royalties

1. Royalties arising in a Contracting State and paid to a resident of the other Contracting State may be taxed in that other

- pension, de retraite ou d'autres prestations aux employés, ne sont pas imposables dans le premier État pourvu que
 - (i) le résident en soit le bénéficiaire effectif et soit généralement exonéré d'impôt dans l'autre État; et
 - (ii) les intérêts ne proviennent pas de l'exercice d'une activité industrielle ou commerciale ou d'une personne
- 4. Le terme « intérêts » employé dans le présent article désigne les revenus des créances de toute nature, assorties ou non de garanties hypothécaires, et notamment les revenus des fonds publics et des obligations d'emprunt, y compris les primes et lots attachés à ces titres, ainsi que tous autres revenus soumis au même régime fiscal que les revenus de sommes prêtées par la législation de l'État d'où proviennent les revenus. Toutefois, le terme « intérêts » ne comprend pas les revenus visés à l'article 10. Les pénalisations pour paiement tardif ne sont pas considérées comme des intérêts au sens du présent article.
- 5. Les dispositions des paragraphes 2 et 3 ne s'appliquent pas lorsque le bénéficiaire effectif des intérêts, résident d'un État contractant, exerce dans l'autre État contractant d'où proviennent les intérêts, soit une activité industrielle ou commerciale par l'intermédiaire d'un éta-blissement stable qui y est situé, soit une profession indépendante au moyen d'une base fixe qui y est située, et que la créance génératrice des intérêts s'y rattache effectivement. Dans ce cas, les dispositions de l'article 7 ou de l'article 14, suivant les cas, sont applicables.
- 6. Les intérêts sont considérés comme provenant d'un État contractant lorsque le débiteur est un résident de cet État. Toutefois, lorsque le débiteur des intérêts, qu'il soit ou non un résident d'un État contractant, a dans un État contractant un établissement stable, ou une base fixe, pour lequel la dette donnant lieu au paiement des intérêts a été contractée et qui supporte la charge de ces intérêts, ceux-ci sont considérés comme provenant de l'État où l'établissement stable, ou la base fixe, est
- 7. Lorsque, en raison de relations spéciales existant entre le débiteur et le bénéficiaire effectif ou que l'un et l'autre entretiennent avec de tierces personnes, le montant des intérêts, compte tenu de la créance pour laquelle ils sont payés, excède celui dont seraient convenus le débiteur et le bénéficiaire effectif en l'absence de pareilles relations, les dispositions du présent article ne s'appliquent qu'à ce dernier montant. Dans ce cas, la partie excédentaire des paiements reste imposable selon la législation de chaque État contractant et compte tenu des autres dispositions de la présente Convention.

ARTICLE 12

Redevances

1. Les redevances provenant d'un État contractant et payées à un résident de l'autre État contractant sont imposables dans cet autre État.

- 2. However, such royalties may also be taxed in the Contracting State in which they arise and according to the laws of that State, but if a resident of the other Contracting State is the beneficial owner of the royalties the tax so charged shall not exceed 10 per cent of the gross amount of the royalties.
- 3. The term "royalties" as used in this Article means payments of any kind received as a consideration for the use of, or the right to use, any copyright of literary, artistic or scientific work including payments of any kind in respect of motion picture films and works on film, videotape, tape or other means of reproduction for use in connection with television or radio, for the use of, or the right to use any patent, trade mark, design or model, plan, secret formula or process or other intangible property, or for the use of, or the right to use, industrial, commercial or scientific equipment, or for information concerning industrial, commercial or scientific experience.
- 4. The provisions of paragraph 2 shall not apply if the beneficial owner of the royalties, being a resident of a Contracting State, carries on business in the other Contracting State in which the royalties arise, through a permanent establishment situated therein, or performs in that other State independent personal services from a fixed base situated therein, and the right or property in respect of which the royalties are paid is effectively connected with such permanent establishment or fixed base. In such case the provisions of Article 7 or Article 14, as the case may be, shall apply.
- 5. Royalties shall be deemed to arise in a Contracting State when the payer is a resident of that State. Where, however, the person paying the royalties, whether the payer is a resident of a Contracting State or not, has in a Contracting State a permanent establishment or a fixed base in connection with which the obligation to pay the royalties was incurred, and such royalties are borne by such permanent establishment or fixed base, then such royalties shall be deemed to arise in the State in which the permanent establishment or fixed base is situated.
- 6. Where, by reason of a special relationship between the payer and the beneficial owner or between both of them and some other person, the amount of the royalties, having regard to the use, right or information for which they are paid, exceeds the amount which would have been agreed upon by the payer and the beneficial owner in the absence of such relationship, the provisions of this Article shall apply only to the last-mentioned amount. In such case, the excess part of the payments shall remain taxable according to the laws of each Contracting State, due regard being had to the other provisions of this Convention.

- 2. Toutefois, ces redevances sont aussi imposables dans l'État contractant d'où elles proviennent et selon la législation de cet État, mais si un résident de l'autre État contractant est le bénéficiaire effectif des redevances, l'impôt ainsi établi ne peut excéder 10 p. 100 du montant brut des redevances.
- 3. Le terme « redevances » employé dans le présent article désigne les rémunérations de toute nature payées pour l'usage ou la concession de l'usage d'un droit d'auteur sur une oeuvre littéraire, artistique ou scientifique, y compris les rémunérations de toute nature concernant les films cinématographiques et les oeuvres enregistrées sur films, bandes magnétoscopiques, bandes ou autres moyens de reproduction destinés à la télévision ou à la radio, pour l'usage ou la concession de l'usage d'un brevet, d'une marque de fabrique ou de commerce, d'un dessin ou d'un modèle, d'un plan, d'une formule ou d'un procédé secret ou de tout autre bien incorporel, ainsi que pour l'usage ou la concession de l'usage d'un équipement industriel, commercial ou scientifique ou pour des informations ayant trait à une expérience acquise dans le domaine industriel, commercial ou scientifique.
- 4. Les dispositions du paragraphe 2 ne s'appliquent pas lorsque le bénéficiaire effectif des redevances, résident d'un État contractant, exerce dans l'autre État contractant d'où proviennent les redevances, soit une activité industrielle ou commerciale par l'intermédiaire d'un établissement stable qui y est situé, soit une profession indépendante au moyen d'une base fixe qui y est située, et que le droit ou le bien générateur des redevances s'y rattache effectivement. Dans ce cas, les dispositions de l'article 7 ou de l'article 14, suivant les cas, sont applicables.
- 5. Les redevances sont considérées comme provenant d'un État contractant lorsque le débiteur est un résident de cet État. Toutefois, lorsque le débiteur des redevances, qu'il soit ou non un résident d'un État contractant, a dans un État contractant un établissement stable, ou une base fixe, pour lequel l'obligation donnant lieu au paiement des redevances a été conclue et qui supporte la charge de ces redevances, celles-ci sont considérées comme provenant de l'État où l'établissement stable, ou la base fixe, est situé.
- 6. Lorsque, en raison de relations spéciales existant entre le débiteur et le bénéficiaire effectif ou que l'un et l'autre entretiennent avec de tierces personnes, le montant des redevances, compte tenu de la prestation pour laquelle elles sont payées, excède celui dont seraient convenus le débiteur et le bénéficiaire effectif en l'absence de pareilles relations, les dispositions du présent article ne s'appliquent qu'à ce dernier montant. Dans ce cas, la partie excédentaire des paiements reste imposable selon la législation de chaque État contractant et compte tenu des autres dispositions de la présente Convention.

ARTICLE 13

Conventions fiscales (2001) — Annexe 1

Capital Gains

- 1. Gains derived by a resident of a Contracting State from the alienation of immovable property situated in the other Contracting State may be taxed in that other Contracting State.
- 2. Gains from the alienation of movable property forming part of the business property of a permanent establishment which an enterprise of a Contracting State has in the other Contracting State or of movable property pertaining to a fixed base available to a resident of a Contracting State in the other Contracting State for the purpose of performing independent personal services, including such gains from the alienation of such a permanent establishment (alone or with the whole enterprise) or of such a fixed base may be taxed in that other Contracting State.
- 3. Gains from the alienation of ships or aircraft operated, or containers used, in international traffic by an enterprise of a Contracting State or movable property pertaining to the operation of such ships or aircraft, shall be taxable only in that Contracting State.
- 4. Gains derived by a resident of a Contracting State from the alienation of:
 - (a) shares (other than shares listed on an approved stock exchange in the other Contracting State) forming part of a substantial interest in the capital stock of a company the value of which shares is derived principally from immovable property situated in that other State; or
 - (b) a substantial interest in a partnership, trust or estate, the value of which is derived principally from immovable property situated in that other State,

may be taxed in that other State. For the purposes of this paragraph, the term "immovable property" includes the shares of a company referred to in subparagraph (a) or an interest in a partnership, trust or estate referred to in subparagraph (b) but does not include any property, other than rental property, in which the business of the company, partnership, trust or estate is carried on.

- 5. Gains from the alienation of any property, other than that referred to in paragraphs 1, 2, 3 and 4 shall be taxable only in the Contracting State of which the alienator is a resident.
- 6. The provisions of paragraph 5 shall not affect the right of a Contracting State to levy, according to its law, a tax on gains from the alienation of any property derived by an individual who is a resident of the other Contracting State if the gains accrued while the individual was a resident of the first-mentioned State.

ARTICLE 13

Gains en capital

- 1. Les gains qu'un résident d'un État contractant tire de l'aliénation de biens immobiliers situés dans l'autre État contractant, sont imposables dans cet autre État contractant.
- 2. Les gains provenant de l'aliénation de biens mobiliers qui font partie de l'actif d'un établissement stable qu'une entreprise d'un État contractant a dans l'autre État contractant, ou de biens mobiliers qui appartiennent à une base fixe dont un résident d'un État contractant dispose dans l'autre État contractant pour l'exercice d'une profession indépendante, y compris de tels gains provenant de l'aliéna-tion globale de cet établissement stable (seul ou avec l'ensemble de l'entreprise) ou de cette base fixe, sont imposables dans cet autre État contractant.
- 3. Les gains provenant de l'aliénation de navires ou aéronefs exploités, ou de conteneurs utilisés, en trafic international par une entreprise d'un État contractant ou de biens mobiliers affectés à l'exploitation de ces navires ou aéronefs ne sont imposables que dans cet État contractant.
- 4. Les gains qu'un résident d'un État contractant tire de l'aliénation
 - a) d'actions (autres que des actions inscrites à une bourse de valeurs approuvée dans l'autre État contractant) faisant partie d'une participation substantielle dans le capital d'une société dont la valeur des actions est principalement tirée de biens immobiliers situés dans cet autre État; ou
 - b) d'une participation substantielle dans une société de personnes, une fiducie ou une succession dont la valeur est principalement tirée de biens immobiliers situés dans cet autre

sont imposables dans cet autre État. Au sens du présent paragraphe, l'expression « biens immobiliers » comprend des actions d'une société visée à l'alinéa a) ou une participation dans une société de personnes, une fiducie ou une succession visée à l'alinéa b) mais ne comprend pas les biens, autres que les biens locatifs, dans lesquels la société, la société de personnes, la fiducie ou la succession exerce son activité.

- 5. Les gains provenant de l'aliénation de tous biens autres que ceux visés aux paragraphes 1, 2, 3 et 4 ne sont imposables que dans l'État contractant dont le cédant est un résident.
- 6. Les dispositions du paragraphe 5 ne portent pas atteinte au droit d'un État contractant de percevoir, conformément à sa législation, un impôt sur les gains provenant de l'aliénation d'un bien et réalisés par une personne physique qui est un résident de l'autre État contractant si les gains se sont accumulés pendant que la personne physique était un résident du premier État.

Independent Personal Services

- 1. Income derived by an individual who is a resident of a Contracting State in respect of professional services or other activities of an independent character shall be taxable only in that State unless the individual has a fixed base regularly available in the other Contracting State for the purpose of performing the activities. If the individual has or had such a fixed base, the income may be taxed in the other State but only so much of it as is attributable to that fixed base.
- 2. The term "professional services" includes especially independent scientific, literary, artistic, educational or teaching activities as well as the independent activities of physicians, lawyers, engineers, architects, dentists and accountants.

ARTICLE 15

Dependent Personal Services

- 1. Subject to the provisions of Articles 16, 18 and 19, salaries, wages and other remuneration derived by a resident of a Contracting State in respect of an employment shall be taxable only in that State unless the employment is exercised in the other Contracting State. If the employment is so exercised, such remuneration as is derived therefrom may be taxed in that other State.
- 2. Notwithstanding the provisions of paragraph 1, remuneration derived by a resident of a Contracting State in respect of an employment exercised in the other Contracting State shall be taxable only in the first-mentioned State if:
 - (a) the recipient is present in the other State for a period or periods not exceeding in the aggregate 183 days in any twelve month period commencing or ending in the calendar year concerned, and
 - (b) the remuneration is paid by, or on behalf of, a person who is not a resident of the other State, and
 - (c) the remuneration is not borne by a permanent establishment or a fixed base which the person has in the other State.
- 3. Notwithstanding the preceding provisions of this Article, remuneration derived in respect of an employment exercised aboard a ship or aircraft operated in international traffic by an enterprise of a Contracting State may be taxed in that State.

ARTICLE 14

Professions indépendantes

- 1. Les revenus qu'une personne physique qui est un résident d'un État contractant tire d'une profession libérale ou d'autres activités de caractère indépendant ne sont imposables que dans cet État, à moins que cette personne ne dispose de façon habituelle dans l'autre État contractant d'une base fixe pour l'exercice de ses activités. Si elle dispose, ou a disposé, d'une telle base fixe, les revenus sont imposables dans l'autre État mais uniquement dans la mesure où ils sont imputables à cette base fixe
- 2. L'expression « profession libérale » comprend notamment les activités indépendantes d'ordre scientifique, littéraire, artistique, éducatif ou pédagogique, ainsi que les activités indépendantes des médecins, avocats, ingénieurs, architectes, dentistes et comptables.

ARTICLE 15

Professions dépendantes

- 1. Sous réserve des dispositions des articles 16, 18 et 19, les salaires, traitements et autres rémunérations qu'un résident d'un État contractant reçoit au titre d'un emploi salarié ne sont imposables que dans cet État, à moins que l'emploi ne soit exercé dans l'autre État contractant. Si l'emploi y est exercé, les rémunérations reçues à ce titre sont imposables dans cet autre État.
- 2. Nonobstant les dispositions du paragraphe l, les rémunérations qu'un résident d'un État contractant reçoit au titre d'un emploi salarié exercé dans l'autre État contractant ne sont imposables que dans le premier État si :
 - a) le bénéficiaire séjourne dans l'autre État pendant une période ou des périodes n'excédant pas au total 183 jours au cours de toute période de douze mois commençant ou se terminant dans l'année civile considérée, et
 - b) les rémunérations sont payées par une personne ou pour le compte d'une personne qui n'est pas un résident de l'autre État, et
 - c) la charge des rémunérations n'est pas supportée par un établissement stable ou une base fixe que la personne a dans l'autre État.
- 3. Nonobstant les dispositions précédentes du présent article, les rémunérations reçues au titre d'un emploi salarié exercé à bord d'un navire ou d'un aéronef exploité en trafic international par une entreprise d'un État contractant sont imposables dans cet État.

ARTICLE 16

Directors' Fees

Directors' fees and other similar payments derived by a resident of a Contracting State in that resident's capacity as a member of the board of directors of a company which is a resident of the other Contracting State, may be taxed in that other State.

ARTICLE 17

Artistes and Sportspersons

- 1. Notwithstanding the provisions of Articles 14 and 15, income derived by a resident of a Contracting State as an entertainer, such as a theatre, motion picture, radio or television artiste, or a musician, or as a sportsperson, from that resident's personal activities as such exercised in the other Contracting State, may be taxed in that other State.
- 2. Where income in respect of personal activities exercised by an entertainer or a sportsperson in that individual's capacity as such accrues not to the entertainer or sportsperson personally but to another person, that income may, notwithstanding the provisions of Articles 7, 14 and 15, be taxed in the Contracting State in which the activities of the entertainer or sportsperson are exercised.
- 3. The provisions of paragraphs 1 and 2 shall not apply to income derived from activities performed in a Contracting State by a resident of the other Contracting State in the context of a visit in the first-mentioned State of a non-profit organization of the other State, provided the visit is substantially supported by public funds.

ARTICLE 18

Pensions and Annuities

- 1. Pensions and annuities arising in a Contracting State and paid to a resident of the other Contracting State may be taxed in that other State.
- 2. Pensions arising in Canada and paid to a resident of Slovenia may also be taxed in Canada and according to the law of Canada. However, in the case of periodic pension payments, other than social security benefits, the tax so charged shall not exceed the lesser of:
 - (a) 15 per cent of the gross amount of the pension payments that exceed in the aggregate twelve thousand Canadian dollars in any taxation year; and
 - (b) the rate determined by reference to the amount of tax that the recipient of the payment would otherwise be required to pay for the year on the total amount of the periodic pension payments received by him in the year, if he were resident in Canada.

ARTICLE 16 **Tantièmes**

Les tantièmes, jetons de présence et autres rétributions similaires qu'un résident d'un État contractant reçoit en sa qualité de membre du conseil d'administration ou de surveillance d'une

société qui est un résident de l'autre État contractant sont imposables dans cet autre État.

Conventions fiscales (2001) — Annexe 1

ARTICLE 17

Artistes et sportifs

- 1. Nonobstant les dispositions des articles 14 et 15, les revenus qu'un résident d'un État contractant tire de ses activités personnelles exercées dans l'autre État contractant en tant qu'artiste du spectacle, tel qu'un artiste de théâtre, de cinéma, de la radio ou de la télévision, ou qu'un musicien, ou en tant que sportif, sont imposables dans cet autre État.
- 2. Lorsque les revenus d'activités qu'un artiste du spectacle ou un sportif exerce personnellement et en cette qualité sont attribués non pas à l'artiste ou au sportif lui-même mais à une autre personne, ces revenus sont imposables, nonobstant les dispositions des articles 7, 14 et 15, dans l'État contractant où les activités de l'artiste ou du sportif sont exercées.
- 3. Les dispositions des paragraphes 1 et 2 ne s'appliquent pas aux revenus tirés des activités exercées dans un État contractant par un résident de l'autre État contractant dans le cadre d'une visite, dans le premier État, d'une organisation sans but lucratif de l'autre État pourvu que la visite soit substantiellement supportée par des fonds publics.

ARTICLE 18

Pensions et rentes

- 1. Les pensions et les rentes provenant d'un État contractant et payées à un résident de l'autre État contractant sont imposables dans cet autre État.
- 2. Les pensions provenant du Canada et payées à un résident de la Slovénie sont aussi imposables au Canada et selon la législation du Canada. Toutefois, dans le cas de paiements périodiques d'une pension, autre que les prestations en vertu de la sécurité sociale, l'impôt ainsi établi ne peut excéder le moins élevé des deux taux suivants :
 - a) 15 p. 100 du montant brut des paiements de pension qui excède au total douze milles dollars canadiens au cours de toute année d'imposition; et
 - b) le taux calculé en fonction du montant d'impôt que le bénéficiaire du paiement devrait autrement verser pour l'année à l'égard du montant total des paiements périodiques de pensions qu'il a reçus au cours de l'année s'il était un résident du Canada.

- 3. Notwithstanding the provisions of paragraph 1, pensions paid by, or out of funds created by, the Government of Slovenia or a political subdivision or a local authority thereof to an individual who is a resident of Canada shall be taxable only in Slovenia.
- 4. Annuities arising in a Contracting State and paid to a resident of the other Contracting State may also be taxed in the State in which they arise and according to the law of that State; but the tax so charged shall not exceed 10 per cent of the portion thereof that is subject to tax in that State. However, this limitation does not apply to lump-sum payments arising on the surrender, cancellation, redemption, sale or other alienation of an annuity, or to payments of any kind under an annuity contract the cost of which was deductible, in whole or in part, in computing the income of any person who acquired the contract.
- 5. Alimony and other similar payments arising in a Contracting State and paid to a resident of the other Contracting State who is subject to tax therein in respect thereof, shall be taxable only in that other State.

Government Service

- 1. (a) Salaries, wages and similar remuneration, other than a pension, paid by a Contracting State or a political subdivision or a local authority thereof to an individual in respect of services rendered to that State or subdivision or authority shall be taxable only in that State.
- (b) However, such salaries, wages or similar remuneration shall be taxable only in the other Contracting State if the services are rendered in that State and the individual is a resident of that State who:
 - (i) is a national of that State; or
 - (ii) did not become a resident of that State solely for the purpose of rendering the services.
- 2. The provisions of paragraph 1 shall not apply to salaries, wages and similar remuneration in respect of services rendered in connection with a business carried on by a Contracting State or a political subdivision or a local authority thereof.

ARTICLE 20

Students

Payments which a student, apprentice or business trainee who is, or was immediately before visiting a Contracting State, a resident of the other Contracting State and who is present in the first-mentioned State solely for the purpose of that individual's education or training receives for the purpose of that individual's maintenance, education or training shall not be taxed in that State, provided that such payments arise from sources outside that State.

- 3. Nonobstant les dispositions du paragraphe 1, les pensions payées par le Gouvernement de la Slovénie ou l'une de ses subdivisions politiques ou collectivités locales, soit directement soit par prélèvement sur des fonds qu'il a constitué, à une personne physique qui est un résident du Canada ne sont imposables qu'en Slovénie.
- 4. Les rentes provenant d'un État contractant et payées à un résident de l'autre État contractant sont aussi imposables dans l'État d'où elles proviennent et selon la législation de cet État, mais l'impôt ainsi établi ne peut excéder l0 p. 100 de la fraction du paiement qui est assujettie à l'impôt dans cet État. Toutefois, cette limitation ne s'applique pas aux paiements forfaitaires découlant de l'abandon, de l'annulation, du rachat, de la vente ou d'une autre forme d'aliénation de la rente, ou aux paiements de toute nature en vertu d'un contrat de rente le coût duquel était déductible, en tout ou en partie, dans le calcul du revenu de toute personne ayant acquis ce contrat.
- 5. Les pensions alimentaires et autres paiements semblables provenant d'un État contractant et payés à un résident de l'autre État contractant qui y est assujetti à l'impôt à l'égard de ceux-ci, ne sont imposables que dans cet autre État.

ARTICLE 19

Fonctions publiques

- 1. *a*) Les traitements, salaires et rémunérations semblables, autres que les pensions, payés par un État contractant ou l'une de ses subdivisions politiques ou collectivités locales à une personne physique au titre de services rendus à cet État, subdivision ou collectivité, ne sont imposables que dans cet État.
- b) Toutefois, ces traitements, salaires et rémunérations semblables ne sont imposables que dans l'autre État contractant si les services sont rendus dans cet État et si la personne physique est un résident de cet État qui :
 - (i) possède la nationalité de cet État, ou
 - (ii) n'est pas devenu un résident de cet État à seule fin de rendre les services.
- 2. Les dispositions du paragraphe l ne s'appliquent pas aux traitements, salaires et rémunérations semblables payés au titre de services rendus dans le cadre d'une activité industrielle ou commerciale exercée par un État contractant ou l'une de ses subdivisions politiques ou collectivités locales.

ARTICLE 20

Étudiants

Les sommes qu'un étudiant, un apprenti ou un stagiaire qui est, ou qui était immédiatement avant de se rendre dans un État contractant, un résident de l'autre État contractant et qui séjourne dans le premier État à seule fin d'y poursuivre ses études ou sa formation, reçoit pour couvrir ses frais d'entretien, d'études ou de formation ne sont pas imposables dans cet État, à condition qu'elles proviennent de sources situées en dehors de cet État.

ARTICLE 21

Conventions fiscales (2001) — Annexe 1

Other Income

- 1. Subject to the provisions of paragraph 2, items of income of a resident of a Contracting State, wherever arising, not dealt with in the foregoing Articles of this Convention shall be taxable only in that State.
- 2. However, if such income is derived by a resident of a Contracting State from sources in the other Contracting State, such income may also be taxed in the State in which it arises, and according to the law of that State. Where such income is income from an estate or a trust, other than a trust to which contributions were deductible, the tax so charged shall, provided that the income is taxable in the Contracting State in which the beneficial owner is a resident, not exceed 15 per cent of the gross amount of the income.

ARTICLE 22

Capital

- 1. Capital represented by immovable property owned by a resident of a Contracting State and situated in the other Contracting State, may be taxed in that other State.
- 2. Capital represented by movable property forming part of the business property of a permanent establishment which an enterprise of a Contracting State has in the other Contracting State or by movable property pertaining to a fixed base available to a resident of a Contracting State in the other Contracting State for the purpose of performing independent personal services, may be taxed in that other State.
- 3. Capital represented by ships and aircraft operated by an enterprise of a Contracting State in international traffic and by movable property pertaining to the operation of such ships and aircraft, shall be taxable only in that State.
- 4. All other elements of capital of a resident of a Contracting State shall be taxable only in that State.

ARTICLE 23

Elimination of Double Taxation

- 1. In the case of Canada, double taxation shall be avoided as follows:
 - (a) subject to the existing provisions of the law of Canada regarding the deduction from tax payable in Canada of tax paid in a territory outside Canada and to any subsequent modification of those provisions — which shall not affect the general principle hereof — and unless a greater deduction or relief is provided under the laws of Canada, tax payable in

ARTICLE 21

Autres revenus

- 1. Sous réserve des dispositions du paragraphe 2, les éléments du revenu d'un résident d'un État contractant, d'où qu'ils proviennent, qui ne sont pas traités dans les articles précédents de la présente Convention ne sont imposables que dans cet État.
- 2. Toutefois, si ces revenus perçus par un résident d'un État contractant proviennent de sources situées dans l'autre État contractant, ils sont aussi imposables dans l'État d'où ils proviennent et selon la législation de cet État. Lorsque ces revenus sont des revenus provenant d'une succession ou d'une fiducie, autre qu'une fiducie qui a reçu des contributions pour lesquelles une déduction a été accordée, l'impôt ainsi établi ne peut excéder 15 p. 100 du montant brut du revenu pourvu que celui-ci soit imposable dans l'État contractant dont le bénéficiaire effectif est un résident.

ARTICLE 22

Fortune

- 1. La fortune constituée par des biens immobiliers que possède un résident d'un État contractant et qui sont situés dans l'autre État contractant, est imposable dans cet autre État.
- 2. La fortune constituée par des biens mobiliers qui font partie de l'actif d'un établissement stable qu'une entreprise d'un État contractant a dans l'autre État contractant, ou par des biens mobiliers qui appartiennent à une base fixe dont un résident d'un État contractant dispose dans l'autre État contractant pour l'exercice d'une profession indépendante, est imposable dans cet autre État.
- 3. La fortune constituée par des navires et des aéronefs exploités en trafic international par une entreprise d'un État contractant, ainsi que par des biens mobiliers affectés à l'exploitation de ces navires et aéronefs, n'est imposable que dans cet État.
- 4. Tous les autres éléments de la fortune d'un résident d'un État contractant ne sont imposables que dans cet État.

ARTICLE 23

Élimination de la double imposition

- 1. En ce qui concerne le Canada, la double imposition est évitée de la façon suivante :
 - a) sous réserve des dispositions existantes de la législation canadienne concernant l'imputation de l'impôt payé dans un territoire en dehors du Canada sur l'impôt canadien payable et de toute modification ultérieure de ces dispositions qui n'en affecterait pas le principe général, et sans préjudice d'une déduction ou d'un dégrèvement plus important prévu par la

Slovenia on profits, income or gains arising in Slovenia shall be deducted from any Canadian tax payable in respect of such profits, income or gains;

- (b) subject to the existing provisions of the law of Canada regarding the taxation of income from a foreign affiliate and to any subsequent modification of those provisions which shall not affect the general principle hereof for the purpose of computing Canadian tax, a company which is a resident of Canada shall be allowed to deduct in computing its taxable income any dividend received by it out of the exempt surplus of a foreign affiliate which is a resident of Slovenia;
- (c) where in accordance with any provision of this Convention income derived or capital owned by a resident of Canada is exempt from tax in Canada, Canada may nevertheless, in calculating the amount of tax on other income or capital, take into account the exempted income or capital.
- 2. In the case of Slovenia, double taxation shall be avoided as follows:
 - (a) where a resident of Slovenia derives income or owns capital which, in accordance with the provisions of this Convention, may be taxed in Canada, Slovenia shall allow:
 - (i) as a deduction from the tax on the income of that resident, an amount equal to the income tax paid in Canada;
 - (ii) as a deduction from the tax on capital of that resident, an amount equal to the capital tax paid in Canada;

such deduction shall in no case exceed that portion of the income tax or capital tax which has been computed before making the deduction which is attributable to the income or capital, as the case may be, which may be taxed in Canada;

- (b) where in accordance with any provision of this Convention income derived or capital owned by a resident of Slovenia is exempt from tax in Slovenia, Slovenia may nevertheless, in calculating the amount of tax on the remaining income or capital of such resident, take into account the exempted income or capital.
- 3. For the purposes of this Article, profits, income or gains of a resident of a Contracting State which may be taxed in the other Contracting State in accordance with this Convention shall be deemed to arise from sources in that other State.

législation canadienne, l'impôt dû en Slovénie à raison de bénéfices, revenus ou gains provenant de Slovénie est porté en déduction de tout impôt canadien dû à raison des mêmes bénéfices, revenus ou gains;

- b) sous réserve des dispositions existantes de la législation canadienne concernant l'imposition des revenus provenant d'une corporation étrangère affiliée et de toute modification ultérieure de ces dispositions qui n'en affecterait pas le principe général, une société qui est un résident du Canada peut, aux fins de l'impôt canadien, déduire lors du calcul de son revenu imposable tout dividende reçu qui provient du surplus exonéré d'une corporation étrangère affiliée qui est un résident de Slovénie;
- c) lorsque, conformément à une disposition quelconque de la Convention, les revenus qu'un résident du Canada reçoit ou la fortune qu'il possède sont exemptés d'impôts au Canada, le Canada peut néanmoins, pour calculer le montant de l'impôt sur les autres revenus ou de la fortune, tenir compte des revenus ou de la fortune exemptés.
- 2. En ce qui concerne la Slovénie, la double imposition est évitée de la façon suivante :
 - a) lorsqu'un résident de la Slovénie reçoit des revenus ou possède de la fortune qui, conformément à la présente Convention, sont imposables au Canada, la Slovénie accorde:
 - (i) sur l'impôt qu'elle perçoit sur les revenus de ce résident, une déduction d'un montant égal à l'impôt sur le revenu payé au Canada;
 - (ii) sur l'impôt qu'elle perçoit sur la fortune de ce résident, une déduction d'un montant égal à l'impôt sur la fortune payé au Canada;

dans l'un ou l'autre cas, cette déduction ne peut toutefois excéder la fraction de l'impôt sur le revenu ou sur la fortune en Slovénie, calculé avant déduction, correspondant selon le cas, aux revenus ou à la fortune imposables au Canada;

- b) lorsque, conformément à une disposition quelconque de la Convention, les revenus qu'un résident de la Slovénie reçoit ou la fortune qu'il possède sont exemptés d'impôts en Slovénie, la Slovénie peut néanmoins, pour calculer le montant de l'impôt sur les autres revenus ou de la fortune, tenir compte des revenus ou de la fortune exemptés.
- 3. Pour l'application du présent article, les bénéfices, revenus ou gains d'un résident d'un État contractant qui sont imposables dans l'autre État contractant conformément à la présente Convention, sont considérés comme provenant de sources situées dans cet autre État.

ARTICLE 24

Conventions fiscales (2001) — Annexe 1

Non-discrimination

- 1. Nationals of a Contracting State shall not be subjected in the other Contracting State to any taxation or any requirement connected therewith which is other or more burdensome than the taxation and connected requirements to which nationals of that other State in the same circumstances are or may be subjected. This provision shall, notwithstanding the provisions of Article 1, also apply to individuals who are not residents of one or both of the Contracting States.
- 2. The taxation on a permanent establishment which an enterprise of a Contracting State has in the other Contracting State shall not be less favourably levied in that other State than the taxation levied on enterprises of that other State carrying on the same activities.
- 3. Nothing in this Article shall be construed as obliging a Contracting State to grant to residents of the other Contracting State any personal allowances, reliefs and reductions for taxation purposes on account of civil status or family responsibilities which it grants to its own residents.
- 4. Except where the provisions of paragraph 1 of Article 9, paragraph 7 of Article 11, or paragraph 6 of Article 12, apply, interest, royalties and other disbursements paid by an enterprise of a Contracting State to a resident of the other Contracting State shall, for the purpose of determining the taxable profits of such enterprise, be deductible under the same conditions as if they had been paid to a resident of the first-mentioned State. Similarly, any debts of an enterprise of a Contracting State to a resident of the other Contracting State shall, for the purpose of determining the taxable capital of such enterprise, be deductible under the same conditions as if they had been contracted to a resident of the first-mentioned State.
- 5. The provisions of paragraph 4 shall not affect the operation of any provision of the taxation laws of a Contracting State:
 - (a) relating to the deductibility of interest and which is in force on the date of signature of the Convention (including any subsequent modification of such provisions that does not change the general nature thereof); or
 - (b) adopted after such date by a Contracting State and which is designed to ensure that a person who is not a resident of that State does not enjoy, under the laws of that State, a tax treatment that is more favourable than that enjoyed by residents of that State.
- 6. The provisions of this Article shall apply to taxes covered by the Convention.

ARTICLE 24

Non-discrimination

- 1. Les nationaux d'un État contractant ne sont soumis dans l'autre État contractant à aucune imposition ou obligation y relative, qui est autre ou plus lourde que celles auxquelles sont ou pourront être assujettis les nationaux de cet autre État qui se trouvent dans la même situation. La présente disposition s'applique aussi, nonobstant les dispositions de l'article 1, aux personnes physiques qui ne sont pas des résidents d'un État contractant ou des deux États contractants.
- 2. L'imposition d'un établissement stable qu'une entreprise d'un État contractant a dans l'autre État contractant n'est pas établie dans cet autre État d'une façon moins favorable que l'imposition des entreprises de cet autre État qui exercent la même activité.
- 3. Aucune disposition du présent article ne peut être interprétée comme obligeant un État contractant à accorder aux résidents de l'autre État contractant les déductions personnelles, abattements et réductions d'impôt en fonction de la situation ou des charges de famille qu'il accorde à ses propres résidents.
- 4. À moins que les dispositions du paragraphe 1 de l'article 9, du paragraphe 7 de l'article 11 ou du paragraphe 6 de l'article 12 ne soient applicables, les intérêts, redevances ou autres dépenses payés par une entreprise d'un État contractant à un résident de l'autre État contractant sont déductibles, pour la détermination des bénéfices imposables de cette entreprise, dans les mêmes conditions que s'ils avaient été payés à un résident du premier État. De même, les dettes d'une entreprise d'un État contractant envers un résident de l'autre État contractant sont déductibles, pour la détermination de la fortune imposable de cette entreprise, dans les mêmes conditions que si elles avaient été contractées envers un résident du premier État.
- 5. Les dispositions du paragraphe 4 ne portent pas atteinte à l'application d'une disposition quelconque de la législation fiscale d'un État contractant :
 - a) concernant la déduction des intérêts, qui est en vigueur à la date de signature de la Convention (y compris toute modification ultérieure de ces dispositions qui n'en change pas le caractère général); ou
 - b) adoptée après cette date par un État contractant et qui vise à s'assurer qu'une personne qui n'est pas un résident de cet État ne bénéficie pas, en vertu de la législation de cet État, d'un traitement fiscal plus favorable que celui dont bénéficient les résidents de cet État.
- 6. Les dispositions du présent article s'appliquent aux impôts qui sont visés par la Convention.

Mutual Agreement Procedure

- 1. Where a person considers that the actions of one or both of the Contracting States result or will result for that person in taxation not in accordance with the provisions of this Convention, that person may, irrespective of the remedies provided by the domestic law of those States, submit the case in writing to the competent authority of the Contracting State of which that person is a resident. The case must be submitted within two years from the first notification of the action resulting in taxation not in accordance with the provisions of this Convention.
- 2. The competent authority shall endeavour, if the objection appears to it to be justified and if it is not itself able to arrive at a satisfactory solution, to resolve the case by mutual Convention with the competent authority of the other Contracting State, with a view to the avoidance of taxation which is not in accordance with this Convention.
- 3. The competent authorities of the Contracting States shall endeavour to resolve by mutual agreement any difficulties or doubts arising as to the interpretation or application of the Convention.
- 4. The competent authorities of the Contracting States may consult together for the elimination of double taxation in cases not provided for in the Convention and may communicate with each other directly for the purpose of applying the Convention.

ARTICLE 26

Exchange of Information

- 1. The competent authorities of the Contracting States shall exchange such information as is relevant for carrying out the provisions of this Convention or of the domestic laws of the Contracting States concerning taxes covered by the Convention insofar as the taxation thereunder is not contrary to the Convention, and for the prevention of fiscal evasion. The exchange of information is not restricted by Article 1. Any information received by a Contracting State shall be treated as secret and shall be disclosed only to persons or authorities (including courts and administrative bodies) involved in the assessment or collection of, the enforcement in respect of, or the determination of appeals in relation to, taxes. Such persons or authorities shall use the information only for such purposes. They may disclose the information in public court proceedings or in judicial decisions.
- 2. Nothing in paragraph 1 shall be construed so as to impose on a Contracting State the obligation:
 - (a) to carry out administrative measures at variance with the laws and the administrative practice of that or of the other Contracting State;

ARTICLE 25

Procédure amiable

- 1. Lorsqu'une personne estime que les mesures prises par un État contractant ou par les deux États contractants entraînent ou entraîneront pour elle une imposition non conforme aux dispositions de la présente Convention, elle peut, indépendamment des recours prévus par le droit interne de ces États, soumettre par écrit son cas à l'autorité compétente de l'État contractant dont elle est un résident. Le cas doit être soumis dans les deux ans qui suivent la première notification de la mesure qui entraîne une imposition non conforme à la Convention.
- 2. L'autorité compétente s'efforce, si la réclamation lui paraît fondée et si elle n'est pas elle-même en mesure d'y apporter une solution satisfaisante, de résoudre le cas par voie d'accord amiable avec l'autorité compétente de l'autre État contractant, en vue d'éviter une imposition non conforme à la présente Convention.
- 3. Les autorités compétentes des États contractants s'efforcent, par voie d'accord amiable, de résoudre les difficultés ou de dissiper les doutes auxquels peuvent donner lieu l'interprétation ou l'application de la Convention.
- 4. Les autorités compétentes des États contractants peuvent se concerter en vue d'éliminer la double imposition dans les cas non prévus par la Convention et peuvent communiquer directement entre elles aux fins de l'application de la Convention.

ARTICLE 26

Échange de renseignements

- 1. Les autorités compétentes des États contractants échangent les renseignements pertinents à l'application des dispositions de la présente Convention ou celles de la législation interne des États contractants relative aux impôts visés par la Convention dans la mesure où l'imposition qu'elle prévoit n'est pas contraire à la Convention, et pour la prévention de la fraude fiscale. L'échange de renseignements n'est pas restreint par l'article l. Les renseignements reçus par un État contractant sont tenus secrets et ne sont communiqués qu'aux personnes ou autorités (y compris les tribunaux et organes administratifs) concernées par l'établissement ou le recouvrement des impôts, par la mise à exécution de ces impôts, ou par les décisions sur les recours relatifs à ces impôts. Ces personnes ou autorités n'utilisent ces renseignements qu'à ces fins. Elles peuvent faire état de ces renseignements au cours d'audiences publiques de tribunaux ou dans des jugements.
- 2. Les dispositions du paragraphe l ne peuvent en aucun cas être interprétées comme imposant à un État contractant l'obligation :
 - a) de prendre des mesures administratives dérogeant à sa législation et à sa pratique administrative et de celles de l'autre État contractant;

(b) to supply information which is not obtainable under the laws or in the normal course of the administration of that or of the other Contracting State;

Conventions fiscales (2001) — Annexe 1

(c) to supply information which would disclose any trade, business, industrial, commercial or professional secret or trade process, or information, the disclosure of which would be contrary to public policy (ordre public).

ARTICLE 27

Diplomatic Agents and Consular Officers

Nothing in this Convention shall affect the fiscal privileges of diplomatic agents or consular officers under the general rules of international law or under the provisions of special Conventions.

ARTICLE 28

Miscellaneous Rules

- 1. It is understood, that the provisions of this Convention shall not be construed to restrict in any manner any exemption, allowance, credit or other deduction accorded by the laws of a Contracting State in the determination of the tax imposed by that State.
- 2. Nothing in the Convention shall be construed as preventing a Contracting State from imposing a tax on amounts included in the income of a resident of a Contracting State with respect to a partnership, trust, or controlled foreign company, in which the resident has an interest.
- 3. The Convention shall not apply to any company, trust or partnership that is a resident of a Contracting State and is beneficially owned or controlled directly or indirectly by one or more persons who are not residents of that State, if the amount of the tax imposed on the income or capital of the company, trust or partnership by that State is substantially lower than the amount that would be imposed by that State if all of the shares of the capital stock of the company or all of the interests in the trust or partnership, as the case may be, were beneficially owned by one or more individuals who were residents of that State.
- 4. Contributions in a year in respect of services rendered in that year paid by, or on behalf of, an individual who is resident of one of the Contracting States or who is temporarily present in that State, to a pension plan that is recognized for tax purposes in the other Contracting State shall, during a period not exceeding in the aggregate 60 months, be treated in the same way for tax purposes in the first-mentioned State as a contribution paid to a pension plan that is recognized for tax purposes in that first-mentioned State, provided that:

- b) de fournir des renseignements qui ne pourraient être obtenus sur la base de sa législation ou dans le cadre de sa pratique administrative normale ou de celles de l'autre État contractant:
- c) de fournir des renseignements qui révéleraient un secret commercial, industriel, professionnel ou un procédé commercial ou des renseignements dont la communication serait contraire à l'ordre public.

ARTICLE 27

Agents diplomatiques et fonctionnaires consulaires

Les dispositions de la présente Convention ne portent pas atteinte aux privilèges fiscaux dont bénéficient les agents diplomatiques ou les fonctionnaires consulaires en vertu soit des règles générales du droit international, soit des dispositions d'accords particuliers.

ARTICLE 28

Dispositions diverses

- 1. Les dispositions de la présente Convention ne peuvent être interprétées comme limitant d'une manière quelconque les exonérations, abattements, déductions, crédits ou autres allégements qui sont ou seront accordés par la législation d'un État contractant pour la détermination de l'impôt prélevé par cet État.
- 2. Aucune disposition de la Convention ne peut être interprétée comme empêchant un État contractant de prélever un impôt sur les montants inclus dans le revenu d'un résident de cet État à l'égard d'une société de personnes, une fiducie ou une société étrangère contrôlée dans laquelle il possède une participation.
- 3. La Convention ne s'applique pas à une société, une fiducie ou une société de personnes qui est un résident d'un État contractant et dont une ou plusieurs personnes qui ne sont pas des résidents de cet État en sont les bénéficiaires effectifs ou qui est contrôlée, directement ou indirectement, par de telles personnes, si le montant de l'impôt exigé par cet État sur le revenu ou la fortune de la société, fiducie ou société de personnes est largement inférieur au montant qui serait exigé par cet État si une ou plusieurs personnes physiques qui sont des résidents de cet État étaient les bénéficiaires effectifs de toutes les actions de capital de la société ou de toutes les participations dans la fiducie ou la société de personnes, selon le cas.
- 4. Les contributions pour l'année à l'égard de services rendus au cours de cette année payées par une personne physique ou pour le compte d'une personne physique qui est un résident de l'un des États contractants ou qui y séjourne d'une façon temporaire, à un régime de pension qui est reconnu aux fins d'imposition dans l'autre État contractant sont, pendant une période n'excédant pas au total 60 mois, considérées aux fins d'imposition dans le premier État de la même manière que les

- (a) such individual was contributing on a regular basis to the pension plan for a period ending immediately before that individual became a resident of or temporarily present in the first-mentioned State; and
- (b) the competent authority of the first-mentioned State agrees that the pension plan generally corresponds to a pension plan recognized for tax purposes by that State.

For the purposes of this paragraph, "pension plan" includes a pension plan created under the social security system in a Contracting State.

5. For purposes of paragraph 3 of Article XXII (Consultation) of the General Convention on Trade in Services, the Contracting States agree that, notwithstanding that paragraph, any dispute between them as to whether a measure falls within the scope of this Convention may be brought before the Council for Trade in Services, as provided by that paragraph, only with the consent of both Contracting States. Any doubt as to the interpretation of this paragraph shall be resolved under paragraph 3 of Article 25 or, failing agreement under that procedure, pursuant to any other procedure agreed to by both Contracting States.

ARTICLE 29

Entry into Force

- 1. This Convention shall be ratified and the instruments of ratification shall be exchanged as soon as possible.
- 2. The Convention shall enter into force 60 days after the exchange of the instruments of ratification and its provisions shall have effect:
 - (a) in respect of tax withheld at the source on amounts paid or credited to non-residents on or after the first day of January in the calendar year next following that in which the exchange of instruments of ratification takes place; and
 - (b) in respect of other taxes for taxation years beginning on or after the first day of January in the calendar year next following that in which the exchange of instruments of ratification takes place.

ARTICLE 30

Termination

This Convention shall continue in effect indefinitely but either Contracting State may, on or before June 30 of any calendar year after the fifth year from the date of entry into force of the Convention, give to the other Contracting State a notice of

contributions payées à un régime de pension qui est reconnu aux fins d'imposition dans le premier État, pourvu que :

- a) cette personne physique ait contribué d'une façon régulière au régime de pension pendant une période se terminant immédiatement avant qu'elle ne devienne un résident dans le premier État ou qu'elle n'y séjourne de façon temporaire; et
- b) l'autorité compétente du premier État convienne que le régime de pension correspond généralement à un régime de pension reconnu aux fins d'imposition par cet État.

Aux fins du présent paragraphe, « régime de pension » comprend un régime de pension créé en vertu du système de sécurité sociale d'un État contractant.

5. Au sens du paragraphe 3 de l'article XXII (Consultation) de l'Accord général sur le commerce des services, les États contractants conviennent que, nonobstant ce paragraphe, tout différent entre eux sur la question de savoir si une mesure relève de la présente Convention, ne peut être porté devant le Conseil sur le commerce des services, tel que prévu par ce paragraphe, qu'avec le consentement des deux États contractants. Tout doute au sujet de l'interprétation du présent paragraphe est résolu en vertu du paragraphe 3 de l'article 25 ou, en l'absence d'un accord en vertu de cette procédure, en vertu de toute autre procédure acceptée par les deux États contractants.

ARTICLE 29

Entrée en vigueur

- 1. La présente Convention sera ratifiée et les instruments de ratification seront échangés dès que possible.
- 2. La Convention entrera en vigueur 60 jours après l'échange des instruments de ratification et ses dispositions seront applicables :
 - a) à l'égard de l'impôt retenu à la source sur les montants payés à des non-résidents ou portés à leur crédit à partir du ler janvier de l'année civile suivant immédiatement celle de l'échange des instruments de ratification; et
 - b) à l'égard des autres impôts, pour toute année d'imposition commençant à partir du ler janvier de l'année civile suivant immédiatement celle de l'échange des instruments de ratification.

ARTICLE 30

Dénonciation

La présente Convention restera indéfiniment en vigueur, mais chacun des États contractants pourra, jusqu'au 30 juin inclus de toute année civile postérieure à la cinquième année de la date d'entrée en vigueur de la Convention, donner par la voie

termination in writing through diplomatic channels; in such event, the Convention shall cease to have effect:

- (a) in respect of tax withheld at the source on amounts paid or credited to non-residents on or after the first day of January of the next following calendar year; and
- (b) in respect of other taxes for taxation years beginning on or after the first day of January of the next following calendar year.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the undersigned, duly authorized to that effect, have signed this Convention.

DONE in duplicate at Ljubljana, this 15th day of September 2000, in the English, French and Slovenian languages, each version being equally authentic.

FOR THE GOVERNMENT OF CANADA

FOR THE GOVERNMENT OF THE REPUBLIC OF SLOVENIA

Pierre Pettigrew Zvonko Ivanusic diplomatique un avis de dénonciation écrit à l'autre État contractant; dans ce cas, la Convention cessera d'être applicable :

- a) à l'égard de l'impôt retenu à la source sur les montants payés à des non-résidents ou portés à leur crédit à partir du 1er janvier de l'année civile subséquente; et
- b) à l'égard des autres impôts, pour toute année d'imposition commençant à partir du 1er janvier de l'année civile subséquente.

EN FOI DE QUOI les soussignés, dûment autorisés à cet effet, ont signé la présente Convention.

FAIT en double exemplaire à Ljubljana ce 15e jour de septembre 2000, en langues française, anglaise et slovène, chaque version faisant également foi.

POUR LE GOUVERNEMENT POUR LE GOUVERNEMENT DU CANADA

DE LA RÉPUBLIQUE

DE SLOVÉNIE

Pierre Pettigrew Zvonko Ivanusic

SCHEDULE 2 (Section 9)

PART 1

CONVENTION BETWEEN THE GOVERNMENT OF CANADA AND THE GOVERNMENT OF THE REPUBLIC OF ECUADOR FOR THE AVOIDANCE OF DOUBLE TAXATION AND THE PREVENTION OF FISCAL EVASION WITH RESPECT TO TAXES ON INCOME

The Government of Canada and the Government of the Republic of Ecuador, desiring to conclude a Convention for the avoidance of double taxation and the prevention of fiscal evasion with respect to taxes on income, have agreed as follows:

I. SCOPE OF THE CONVENTION

ARTICLE 1

Persons Covered

This Convention shall apply to persons who are residents of one or both of the Contracting States.

ARTICLE 2

Taxes Covered

- 1. This Convention shall apply to taxes on income imposed on behalf of each Contracting State, irrespective of the manner in which they are levied.
- 2. There shall be regarded as taxes on income all taxes imposed on total income or on elements of income, including taxes on gains from the alienation of movable or immovable property.
- 3. The existing taxes to which the Convention shall apply are, in particular:
 - (a) in the case of Canada: the income taxes imposed by the Government of Canada under the *Income Tax Act*, hereinafter referred to as "Canadian tax");
 - (b) in the case of Ecuador: the income taxes imposed by the Government of Ecuador under the *Internal Tax Regime Law* (*Ley de Régimen Tributario Interno*), hereinafter referred to as "Ecuadorian tax".

ANNEXE 2 (article 9)

PARTIE 1

CONVENTION ENTRE LE GOUVERNEMENT DU CANADA ET LE GOUVERNEMENT DE LA RÉPUBLIQUE DE L'ÉQUATEUR EN VUE D'ÉVITER LES DOUBLES IMPOSITIONS ET DE PRÉVENIR L'ÉVASION FISCALE EN MATIÈRE D'IMPÔTS SUR LE REVENU

Le Gouvernement du Canada et le Gouvernement de la République de l'Équateur, désireux de conclure une Convention en vue d'éviter les doubles impositions et de prévenir l'évasion fiscale en matière d'impôts sur le revenu, sont convenus des dispositions suivantes :

I. CHAMP D'APPLICATION DE LA CONVENTION

ARTICLE PREMIER

Personnes visées

La présente Convention s'applique aux personnes qui sont des résidents d'un État contractant ou des deux États contractants

ARTICLE 2

Impôts visés

- 1. La présente Convention s'applique aux impôts sur le revenu perçus pour le compte de chacun des États contractants, quel que soit le système de perception.
- 2. Sont considérés comme impôts sur le revenu les impôts perçus sur le revenu total ou sur des éléments du revenu, y compris les impôts sur les gains provenant de l'aliénation de biens mobiliers ou immobiliers.
- 3. Les impôts actuels auxquels s'applique la Convention sont notamment :
 - a) en ce qui concerne le Canada : les impôts sur le revenu qui sont perçus par le Gouvernement du Canada en vertu de la *Loi de l'impôt sur le revenu*, ci-après dénommés « impôt canadien »;
 - b) en ce qui concerne l'Équateur : les impôts sur le revenu qui sont perçus par le Gouvernement de l'Équateur en vertu de la Loi sur le régime d'imposition interne (Ley de Régimen Tributario Interno), ci-après dénommés « impôt équatorien ».

4. The Convention shall apply also to any identical or substantially similar taxes which are imposed after the date of signature of the Convention in addition to, or in place of, the existing taxes. The competent authorities of the Contracting States shall notify each other of any significant changes which have been made in their respective taxation laws.

II. DEFINITIONS

ARTICLE 3

General Definitions

- 1. For the purposes of this Convention, unless the context otherwise requires:
 - (a) the term "Canada" used in a geographical sense, means the territory of Canada;
 - (b) the term "Ecuador" means the Republic of Ecuador;
 - (c) the terms "a Contracting State" and "the other Contracting State" mean, as the context requires, Canada or Ecuador;
 - (d) the term "national" means:
 - (i) any individual possessing the nationality of a Contracting State,
 - (ii) any legal person, partnership or association deriving its status as such from the laws in force in a Contracting State;
 - (e) the term "person" includes an individual, an estate, a trust, a legal person and any other body of persons;
 - (f) the term "company" means any body corporate or any entity which is treated as a body corporate for tax purposes;
 - (g) the terms "enterprise of a Contracting State" and "enterprise of the other Contracting State" mean respectively an enterprise carried on by a resident of a Contracting State and an enterprise carried on by a resident of the other Contracting State;
 - (h) the term "competent authority" means:
 - (i) in the case of Canada, the Minister of National Revenue or the Minister's authorized representative,
 - (ii) in the case of Ecuador, the Director General of the Internal Revenue Service;
 - (i) the term "international traffic" means any transport by a ship or aircraft operated by an enterprise of a Contracting State, except where the ship or aircraft is operated solely between places within the other Contracting State.

4. La Convention s'applique aussi aux impôts de nature identique ou analogue qui seraient établis après la date de signature de la Convention et qui s'ajouteraient aux impôts actuels ou qui les remplaceraient. Les autorités compétentes des États contractants se communiquent les modifications importantes apportées à leur législation fiscale respective.

II. DÉFINITIONS

ARTICLE 3

Définitions générales

- 1. Au sens de la présente Convention, à moins que le contexte n'exige une interprétation différente :
 - a) le terme « Canada », employé dans un sens géographique, désigne le territoire du Canada;
 - b) le terme « Équateur » désigne la République de l'Équateur;
 - c) les expressions « un État contractant » et « l'autre État contractant » désignent, suivant le contexte, le Canada ou l'Équateur;
 - d) le terme « national » désigne :
 - (i) toute personne physique qui possède la nationalité d'un État contractant;
 - (ii) toute personne morale, société de personnes ou association constituées conformément à la législation en vigueur dans un État contractant;
 - e) le terme « personne » comprend les personnes physiques, les successions, les fiducies, les personnes morales et tous autres groupements de personnes;
 - f) le terme « société » désigne toute personne morale ou toute entité qui est considérée comme une personne morale aux fins d'imposition;
 - g) les expressions « entreprise d'un État contractant » et « entreprise de l'autre État contractant » désignent respectivement une entreprise exploitée par un résident d'un État contractant et une entreprise exploitée par un résident de l'autre État contractant;
 - h) l'expression « autorité compétente » désigne :
 - (i) en ce qui concerne le Canada, le ministre du Revenu national ou son représentant autorisé,
 - (ii) en ce qui concerne l'Équateur, le Directeur général des Revenus internes;
 - i) l'expression « trafic international » désigne tout transport effectué par un navire ou un aéronef exploité par une entreprise d'un État contractant, sauf lorsque le navire ou l'aéronef n'est exploité qu'entre des points situés dans l'autre État contractant.

2. As regards the application of the Convention at any time by a Contracting State any term not defined therein shall, unless the context otherwise requires, have the meaning that it has at that time under the law of that State for the purposes of the taxes to which the Convention applies, any meaning under the applicable tax laws of that State prevailing over the meaning given to the term under other laws of that State.

ARTICLE 4

Resident

- 1. For the purposes of this Convention, the term "resident of a Contracting State" means
 - (a) any person who, under the laws of that State, is liable to tax therein by reason of the person's domicile, residence, place of incorporation, place of management or any other criterion of a similar nature; however, the term does not include any person who is liable to tax in that State in respect only of income from sources in that State; and
 - (b) that State or a political subdivision or local authority thereof or any agency or instrumentality of any such State, subdivision or authority.
- 2. Where by reason of the provisions of paragraph 1, an individual is a resident of both Contracting States, then the individual's status shall be determined as follows:
 - (a) the individual shall be deemed to be a resident only of the State in which the individual has a permanent home available; if the individual has a permanent home available in both States, the individual shall be deemed to be a resident only of the State with which the individual's personal and economic relations are closer (centre of vital interests);
 - (b) if the State in which the individual's centre of vital interests cannot be determined, or if there is not a permanent home available in either State, the individual shall be deemed to be a resident only of the State in which the individual has an habitual abode;
 - (c) if the individual has an habitual abode in both States or in neither of them, the individual shall be deemed to be a resident only of the State of which the individual is a national;
 - (d) if the individual is a national of both States or of neither of them, the competent authorities of the Contracting States shall settle the question by mutual agreement.

2. Pour l'application de la Convention à un moment donné par un État contractant, tout terme ou expression qui n'y est pas défini a, sauf si le contexte exige une interprétation différente, le sens que lui attribue, à ce moment, le droit de cet État concernant les impôts auxquels s'applique la Convention; le sens attribué à ce terme ou expression par le droit fiscal de cet État prévalant sur le sens que lui attribuent les autres branches du droit de cet État.

ARTICLE 4

Résident

- 1. Au sens de la présente Convention, l'expression « résident d'un État contractant » désigne
 - a) toute personne qui, en vertu de la législation de cet État, est assujettie à l'impôt dans cet État en raison de son domicile, de sa résidence, de son lieu de constitution, de son siège de direction ou de tout autre critère de nature analogue; toutefois, cette expression ne comprend pas les personnes qui ne sont assujetties à l'impôt dans cet État que pour les revenus de sources situées dans cet État; et
 - b) cet État ou l'une de ses subdivisions politiques ou collectivités locales ou toute personne morale de droit public de cet État, subdivision ou collectivité.
- 2. Lorsque, selon les dispositions du paragraphe l, une personne physique est un résident des deux États contractants, sa situation est réglée de la manière suivante :
 - a) cette personne est considérée comme un résident seulement de l'État où elle dispose d'un foyer d'habitation permanent; si elle dispose d'un foyer d'habitation permanent dans les deux États, elle est considérée comme un résident seulement de l'État avec lequel ses liens personnels et économiques sont les plus étroits (centre des intérêts vitaux);
 - b) si l'État où cette personne a le centre de ses intérêts vitaux ne peut pas être déterminé, ou si elle ne dispose d'un foyer d'habitation permanent dans aucun des États, elle est considérée comme un résident seulement de l'État où elle séjourne de façon habituelle;
 - c) si cette personne séjourne de façon habituelle dans les deux États ou si elle ne séjourne de façon habituelle dans aucun d'eux, elle est considérée comme un résident seulement de l'État dont elle possède la nationalité;
 - d) si cette personne possède la nationalité des deux États ou si elle ne possède la nationalité d'aucun d'eux, les autorités compétentes des États contractants tranchent la question d'un commun accord.

- 3. Where by reason of the provisions of paragraph 1 a company is a resident of both Contracting States, then its status shall be determined as follows:
 - (a) it shall be deemed to be a resident only of the State of which it is a national;
 - (b) if it is a national of neither of the States the competent authorities of the Contracting States shall by mutual agreement endeavour to settle the question and to determine the mode of application of the Convention to the person. In the absence of such agreement, the person shall not be entitled to claim any relief or exemption from tax provided by the Convention.
- 4. Where by reason of the provisions of paragraph 1 a person other than an individual or a company is a resident of both Contracting States, the competent authorities of the Contracting States shall by mutual agreement endeavour to settle the question and to determine the mode of application of the Convention. In the absence of such agreement, such person shall not be entitled to claim any relief or exemption from tax provided by the Convention.

ARTICLE 5

Permanent Establishment

- 1. For the purposes of this Convention, the term "permanent establishment" means a fixed place of business through which the business of an enterprise is wholly or partly carried on.
 - 2. The term "permanent establishment" includes especially:
 - (a) a place of management;
 - (b) a branch;
 - (c) an office;
 - (d) a factory, a workshop or an assembly plant; and
 - (e) a mine, an oil or gas well, a quarry or any other place relating to the exploration for or the exploitation of natural resources.
 - 3. The term "permanent establishment" shall also include:
 - (a) a building site or construction or installation project and supervisory activities in connection therewith, but only if such site, project or activities last more than six months; and
 - (b) the furnishing of services, including consulting services, by an enterprise of a Contracting State through employees or other individuals engaged by the enterprise for such purposes in the other Contracting State, but only where such activities

- 3. Lorsque, selon les dispositions du paragraphe l, une société est un résident des deux États contractants, sa situation est réglée de la manière suivante :
 - a) elle est considérée comme un résident seulement de l'État dont elle est un national:
 - b) si elle n'est un national d'aucun des États, les autorités compétentes des États contractants s'efforcent d'un commun accord de trancher la question et de déterminer les modalités d'application de la Convention à cette personne. À défaut d'un tel accord, cette personne n'a pas le droit de réclamer les abattements ou exonérations d'impôts prévus par la Convention.
- 4. Lorsque, selon les dispositions du paragraphe 1, une personne autre qu'une personne physique ou une société est un résident des deux États contractants, les autorités compétentes des États contractants s'efforcent d'un commun accord de trancher la question et de déterminer les modalités d'application de la Convention. À défaut d'un tel accord, cette personne n'a pas le droit de réclamer les abattements ou exonérations d'impôts prévus par la Convention.

ARTICLE 5

Établissement stable

- 1. Au sens de la présente Convention, l'expression « établissement stable » désigne une installation fixe d'affaires par l'intermédiaire de laquelle une entreprise exerce tout ou partie de son activité.
- 2. L'expression « établissement stable » comprend notam
 - a) un siège de direction;
 - b) une succursale;
 - c) un bureau;

Conventions fiscales (2001) — Annexe 2

- d) une usine, un atelier ou une chaîne de montage; et
- e) une mine, un puits de pétrole ou de gaz, une carrière ou tout autre lieu relié à l'exploration ou à l'exploitation de ressources naturelles.
- 3. L'expression « établissement stable » comprend égale
 - a) un chantier de construction ou une chaîne de montage et les activités de surveillance s'y rattachant, mais seulement si la durée du chantier, de cette chaîne ou de ces activités est supérieure à six mois;
 - b) la fourniture de services, y compris les services de consultants, par une entreprise d'un État contractant agissant

continue (for the same or a connected project) within that State for a period or periods aggregating more than 183 days within any twelve month period.

For the purposes of computing the time period or periods in this paragraph, the duration of activities carried on by an enterprise shall include activities carried on by associated enterprises, within the meaning of Article 9, if the activities between the associated enterprises are connected.

- 4. Notwithstanding the preceding provisions of this Article, the term "permanent establishment" shall be deemed not to include:
 - (a) the use of facilities solely for the purpose of storage, display or delivery of goods or merchandise belonging to the enterprise;
 - (b) the maintenance of a stock of goods or merchandise belonging to the enterprise solely for the purpose of storage, display or delivery;
 - (c) the maintenance of a stock of goods or merchandise belonging to the enterprise solely for the purpose of processing by another enterprise;
 - (d) the maintenance of a fixed place of business solely for the purpose of purchasing goods or merchandise or of collecting information, for the enterprise;
 - (e) the maintenance of a fixed place of business solely for the purpose of carrying on, for the enterprise, any other activity of a preparatory or auxiliary character;
 - (f) the maintenance of a fixed place of business solely for any combination of activities mentioned in the preceding subparagraphs provided that the overall activity of the fixed place of business resulting from this combination is of a preparatory or auxiliary character.
- 5. Notwithstanding the provisions of paragraphs 1 and 2, where a person other than an agent of an independent status to whom paragraph 6 applies is acting on behalf of an enterprise and has, and habitually exercises, in a Contracting State an authority to conclude contracts on behalf of the enterprise, that enterprise shall be deemed to have a permanent establishment in that State in respect of any activities which that person undertakes for the enterprise, unless the activities of such person are limited to those mentioned in paragraph 4 which, if exercised through a fixed place of business, would not make this fixed place of business a permanent establishment under the provisions of that paragraph.

par l'intermédiaire de salariés ou d'autres personnes physiques engagées par l'entreprise à ces fins dans l'autre État contractant, mais seulement lorsque les activités de cette nature se poursuivent (pour le même projet ou un projet connexe) dans cet État pour une période ou des périodes excédant au total plus de 183 jours au cours de toute période de 12 mois.

Aux fins du calcul de la période ou des périodes prévues au présent paragraphe, la durée des activités exercées par une entreprise comprend les activités exercées par des entreprises associées, au sens de l'article 9, si les activités des entreprises associées sont reliées entre elles.

- 4. Nonobstant les dispositions précédentes du présent article, on considère qu'il n'y a pas « établissement stable » si :
 - a) il est fait usage d'installations aux seules fins de stockage, d'exposition ou de livraison de marchandises appartenant à l'entreprise;
 - b) des marchandises appartenant à l'entreprise sont entreposées aux seules fins de stockage, d'exposition ou de livraison;
 - c) des marchandises appartenant à l'entreprise sont entreposées aux seules fins de transformation par une autre entreprise;
 - d) une installation fixe d'affaires est utilisée aux seules fins d'acheter des marchandises ou de réunir des informations pour l'entreprise;
 - e) une installation fixe d'affaires est utilisée aux seules fins d'exercer, pour l'entreprise, toute autre activité de caractère préparatoire ou auxiliaire;
 - f) une installation fixe d'affaires est utilisée aux seules fins de l'exercice cumulé d'activités mentionnées aux alinéas précédents, à condition que l'activité d'ensemble de l'installation fixe d'affaires résultant de ce cumul garde un caractère préparatoire ou auxiliaire.
- 5. Nonobstant les dispositions des paragraphes 1 et 2, lorsqu'une personne autre qu'un agent jouissant d'un statut indépendant auquel s'applique le paragraphe 6 agit pour le compte d'une entreprise et dispose dans un État contractant de pouvoirs qu'elle y exerce habituellement lui permettant de conclure des contrats pour le compte de l'entreprise, cette entreprise est considérée comme ayant un établissement stable dans cet État pour toutes les activités que cette personne exerce pour l'entreprise, à moins que les activités de cette personne ne soient limitées à celles qui sont mentionnées au paragraphe 4 et qui, si elles étaient exercées par l'intermédiaire d'une installation fixe d'affaires, ne permettraient pas de considérer cette installation comme un établissement stable selon les dispositions de ce paragraphe.

- 6. An enterprise shall not be deemed to have a permanent establishment in a Contracting State merely because it carries on business in that State through a broker, general commission agent or any other agent of an independent status, provided that such persons are acting in the ordinary course of their business.
- 7. The fact that a company which is a resident of a Contracting State controls or is controlled by a company which is a resident of the other Contracting State, or which carries on business in that other State (whether through a permanent establishment or otherwise), shall not of itself constitute either company a permanent establishment of the other.

III. TAXATION OF INCOME

ARTICLE 6

Income from Immovable Property

- 1. Income derived by a resident of a Contracting State from immovable property, including income from agriculture or forestry, situated in the other Contracting State may be taxed in that other State.
- 2. For the purposes of this Convention, the term "immovable property" shall have the meaning which it has for the purposes of the relevant tax law of the Contracting State in which the property in question is situated. The term shall in any case include property accessory to immovable property, livestock and equipment used in agriculture and forestry, rights to which the provisions of general law respecting landed property apply, usufruct of immovable property and rights to variable or fixed payments as consideration for the working of, or the right to work, mineral deposits, sources and other natural resources. Ships and aircraft shall not be regarded as immovable property.
- 3. The provisions of paragraph 1 shall apply to income derived from the direct use, letting, or use in any other form of immovable property and to income from the alienation of such property.
- 4. The provisions of paragraphs 1 and 3 shall also apply to the income from immovable property of an enterprise and to income from immovable property used for the performance of independent personal services.

ARTICLE 7

Business Profits

1. The profits of an enterprise of a Contracting State shall be taxable only in that State unless the enterprise carries on business in the other Contracting State through a permanent establishment situated therein. If the enterprise carries on or has carried on business as aforesaid, the profits of the enterprise may be taxed in the other State but only so much of them as is attributable to that permanent establishment.

- 6. Une entreprise n'est pas considérée comme ayant un établissement stable dans un État contractant du seul fait qu'elle y exerce son activité par l'entremise d'un courtier, d'un commissionnaire général ou de tout autre agent jouissant d'un statut indépendant, à condition que ces personnes agissent dans le cadre ordinaire de leur activité.
- 7. Le fait qu'une société qui est un résident d'un État contractant contrôle ou est contrôlée par une société qui est un résident de l'autre État contractant ou qui exerce son activité dans cet autre État (que ce soit par l'intermédiaire d'un établissement stable ou non) ne suffit pas, en lui-même, à faire de l'une quelconque de ces sociétés un établissement stable de l'autre.

III. IMPOSITION DES REVENUS

ARTICLE 6

Revenus immobiliers

- 1. Les revenus qu'un résident d'un État contractant tire de biens immobiliers, y compris les revenus des exploitations agricoles ou forestières, situés dans l'autre État contractant, sont imposables dans cet autre État.
- 2. Au sens de la présente Convention, l'expression « biens immobiliers » a le sens qu'elle a aux fins de la législation fiscale pertinente de l'État contractant où les biens considérés sont situés. L'expression comprend en tous cas les accessoires, le cheptel mort ou vif des exploitations agricoles et forestières, les droits auxquels s'appliquent les dispositions du droit privé concernant la propriété foncière, l'usufruit des biens immobiliers et les droits à des paiements variables ou fixes pour l'exploitation ou la concession de l'exploitation de gisements minéraux, sources et autres ressources naturelles. Les navires et aéronefs ne sont pas considérés comme des biens immobiliers.
- 3. Les dispositions du paragraphe l s'appliquent aux revenus provenant de l'exploitation directe, de la location ou de l'affermage, ainsi que de toute autre forme d'exploitation de biens immobiliers et aux revenus provenant de l'aliénation de tels biens.
- 4. Les dispositions des paragraphes 1 et 3 s'appliquent également aux revenus provenant des biens immobiliers d'une entreprise ainsi qu'aux revenus des biens immobiliers servant à l'exercice d'une profession indépendante.

ARTICLE 7

Bénéfices des entreprises

1. Les bénéfices d'une entreprise d'un État contractant ne sont imposables que dans cet État, à moins que l'entreprise n'exerce son activité dans l'autre État contractant par l'intermédiaire d'un établissement stable qui y est situé. Si l'entreprise exerce ou a exercé son activité d'une telle façon, les bénéfices de l'entreprise sont imposables dans l'autre État, mais uniquement dans la mesure où ils sont imputables à cet établissement stable.

49-50 ELIZ. II

- 2. Subject to the provisions of paragraph 3, where an enterprise of a Contracting State carries on business in the other Contracting State through a permanent establishment situated therein, there shall in each Contracting State be attributed to that permanent establishment the profits which it might be expected to make if it were a distinct and separate enterprise engaged in the same or similar activities under the same or similar conditions and dealing wholly independently with the enterprise of which it is a permanent establishment and with all other related persons.
- 3. In the determination of the profits of a permanent establishment, there shall be allowed as deductions those expenses which are incurred for the purposes of the permanent establishment including executive and general administrative expenses so incurred whether in the State in which the permanent establishment is situated or elsewhere, provided that such expenses are deductible under the taxation law of that State.
- 4. No profits shall be attributed to a permanent establishment by reason of the mere purchase by that permanent establishment of goods or merchandise for the enterprise.
- 5. For the purposes of the preceding paragraphs, the profits to be attributed to the permanent establishment shall be determined by the same method year by year unless there is good and sufficient reason to the contrary.
- 6. Where profits include items of income which are dealt with separately in other Articles of this Convention, then the provisions of those Articles shall not be affected by the provisions of this Article.

ARTICLE 8

Shipping and Air Transport

- 1. Profits derived by an enterprise of a Contracting State from the operation of ships or aircraft in international traffic shall be taxable only in that State.
- 2. Notwithstanding the provisions of paragraph 1 and Article 7, profits derived from the operation of ships or aircraft used principally to transport passengers or goods exclusively between places in a Contracting State may be taxed in that State.
- 3. The provisions of paragraphs 1 and 2 shall also apply to profits from the participation in a pool, a joint business or an international operating agency.
 - 4. In this Article,
 - (a) the term "profits" includes
 - (i) gross receipts and revenues derived directly from the operation of ships or aircraft in international traffic, and

- 2. Sous réserve des dispositions du paragraphe 3, lorsqu'une entreprise d'un État contractant exerce son activité dans l'autre État contractant par l'intermédiaire d'un établissement stable qui y est situé, il est imputé, dans chaque État contractant, à cet établissement stable les bénéfices qu'il aurait pu réaliser s'il avait constitué une entreprise distincte exerçant des activités identiques ou analogues dans des conditions identiques ou analogues et traitant en toute indépendance avec l'entreprise dont il constitue un établissement stable et avec toute autre personne liée.
- 3. Pour déterminer les bénéfices d'un établissement stable, sont admises en déduction les dépenses exposées aux fins poursuivies par cet établissement stable, y compris les dépenses de direction et les frais généraux d'administration ainsi exposés, soit dans l'État où est situé cet établissement stable, soit ailleurs, pourvu que ces dépenses soient déductibles en vertu de la législation fiscale de cet État.
- 4. Aucun bénéfice n'est imputé à un établissement stable du fait qu'il a simplement acheté des marchandises pour l'entreprise.
- 5. Aux fins des paragraphes précédents, les bénéfices à imputer à l'établissement stable sont déterminés chaque année selon la même méthode, à moins qu'il n'existe des motifs valables et suffisants de procéder autrement.
- 6. Lorsque les bénéfices comprennent des éléments de revenu traités séparément dans d'autres articles de la présente Convention, les dispositions de ces articles ne sont pas affectées par les dispositions du présent article.

ARTICLE 8

Navigation maritime et aérienne

- 1. Les bénéfices qu'une entreprise d'un État contractant tire de l'exploitation, en trafic international, de navires ou d'aéronefs ne sont imposables que dans cet État.
- 2. Nonobstant les dispositions du paragraphe l et de l'article 7, les bénéfices provenant de l'exploitation de navires ou d'aéronefs utilisés principalement pour transporter des passagers ou des marchandises exclusivement entre des points situés dans un État contractant sont imposables dans cet État.
- 3. Les dispositions des paragraphes l et 2 s'appliquent aussi aux bénéfices provenant de la participation à un pool, une exploitation en commun ou un organisme international d'exploitation.
 - 4. Au sens du présent article,
 - a) le terme « bénéfices » comprend :

- (ii) interest on amounts generated directly by the operation of ships or aircraft in international traffic provided that the interest is incidental to such operation;
- (b) the term "operation of ships or aircraft in international traffic" by an enterprise includes
 - (i) the charter or rental of ships or aircraft, and
 - (ii) the rental of containers and related equipment,

by that enterprise provided that such charter or rental is incidental to the operation by that enterprise of ships or aircraft in international traffic.

ARTICLE 9

Associated Enterprises

1. Where

- (a) an enterprise of a Contracting State participates directly or indirectly in the management, control or capital of an enterprise of the other Contracting State, or
- (b) the same persons participate directly or indirectly in the management, control or capital of an enterprise of a Contracting State and an enterprise of the other Contracting State,

and in either case conditions are made or imposed between the two enterprises in their commercial or financial relations which differ from those which would be made between independent enterprises, then any income which would, but for those conditions, have accrued to one of the enterprises, but, by reason of those conditions, has not so accrued, may be included in the income of that enterprise and taxed accordingly.

2. Where a Contracting State includes in the income of an enterprise of that State — and taxes accordingly — income on which an enterprise of the other Contracting State has been charged to tax in that other State and the income so included is income which would have accrued to the enterprise of the first-mentioned State if the conditions made between the two enterprises had been those which would have been made between independent enterprises, then that other State shall make an appropriate adjustment to the amount of tax charged therein on that income. In determining such adjustment, due regard shall be had to the other provisions of this Convention and the competent authorities of the Contracting States shall if necessary consult each other.

- (i) les recettes brutes et les revenus provenant directement de l'exploitation, en trafic international, de navires ou d'aéronefs,
- (ii) les intérêts sur les montants provenant directement de l'exploitation, en trafic international, de navires ou d'aéronefs, pourvu que les intérêts soient accessoires à cette exploitation;
- b) l'expression « exploitation, en trafic international, de navires ou d'aéronefs » par une entreprise comprend
 - (i) l'affrètement ou la location de navires ou d'aéronefs,
 - (ii) la location de conteneurs et d'équipements accessoires,

par cette entreprise, pourvu que l'affrètement ou la location soit accessoire à l'exploitation, en trafic international, de navires ou d'aéronefs par cette entreprise.

ARTICLE 9

Entreprises associées

1. Lorsque

Conventions fiscales (2001) — Annexe 2

- a) une entreprise d'un État contractant participe directement ou indirectement à la direction, au contrôle ou au capital d'une entreprise de l'autre État contractant, ou que
- b) les mêmes personnes participent directement ou indirectement à la direction, au contrôle ou au capital d'une entreprise d'un État contractant et d'une entreprise de l'autre État contractant,

et que, dans l'un et l'autre cas, les deux entreprises sont, dans leurs relations commerciales ou financières, liées par des conditions convenues ou imposées, qui diffèrent de celles qui seraient convenues entre des entreprises indépendantes, les revenus qui, sans ces conditions, auraient été réalisés par l'une des entreprises mais n'ont pu l'être en fait à cause de ces conditions, peuvent être inclus dans les revenus de cette entreprise et imposés en conséquence.

2. Lorsqu'un État contractant inclut dans les revenus d'une entreprise de cet État — et impose en conséquence — des revenus sur lesquels une entreprise de l'autre État contractant a été imposée dans cet autre État, et que les revenus ainsi inclus sont des revenus qui auraient été réalisés par l'entreprise du premier État si les conditions convenues entre les deux entreprises avaient été celles qui auraient été convenues entre des entreprises indépendantes, l'autre État procède à un ajustement approprié du montant de l'impôt qui y a été perçu sur ces revenus. Pour déterminer cet ajustement, il est tenu compte des autres dispositions de la présente Convention et, si nécessaire, les autorités compétentes des États contractants se consultent.

- 3. A Contracting State shall not change the income of an enterprise in the circumstances referred to in paragraph 1 after the expiry of the time limits provided in its domestic laws and, in any case, after five years from the end of the year in which the income which would be subject to such change would, but for the conditions referred to in paragraph 1, have accrued to that enterprise.
- 4. The provisions of paragraphs 2 and 3 shall not apply in the case of fraud, wilful default or neglect.

Dividends

- 1. Dividends paid by a company which is a resident of a Contracting State to a resident of the other Contracting State may be taxed in that other State.
- 2. However, such dividends may also be taxed in the Contracting State of which the company paying the dividends is a resident and according to the laws of that State, but if the beneficial owner of the dividends is a resident of the other Contracting State, the tax so charged shall not exceed:
 - (a) except in the case of dividends paid by a non-residentowned investment corporation that is a resident of Canada, 5 per cent of the gross amount of the dividends if the beneficial owner is a company that controls directly or indirectly at least 25 per cent of the voting power in the company paying the dividends; and
 - (b) 15 per cent of the gross amount of the dividends in all other cases.

The provisions of this paragraph shall not affect the taxation of the company in respect of the profits out of which the dividends are paid.

- 3. The term "dividends" as used in this Article means income from shares, "jouissance" shares or "jouissance" rights or other rights, not being debt-claims, participating in profits, as well as income which is subjected to the same taxation treatment as income from shares by the taxation law of the State of which the company making the distribution is a resident.
- 4. The provisions of paragraph 2 shall not apply if the beneficial owner of the dividends, being a resident of a Contracting State, carries on business in the other Contracting State of which the company paying the dividends is a resident, through a permanent establishment situated therein, or performs in that other State independent personal services from a fixed base situated therein, and the holding in respect of which the dividends are paid is effectively connected with such permanent establishment or fixed base. In such case the provisions of Article 7 or Article 14, as the case may be, shall apply.

- 3. Un État contractant ne rectifiera pas les revenus d'une entreprise dans les cas visés au paragraphe l après l'expiration des délais prévus par son droit interne et, en aucun cas, après l'expiration d'un délai de cinq ans à compter de la fin de l'année au cours de laquelle les revenus qui feraient l'objet d'une telle rectification auraient, sans les conditions visées au paragraphe 1, été réalisés par cette entreprise.
- 4. Les dispositions des paragraphes 2 et 3 ne s'appliquent pas en cas de fraude, d'omission volontaire ou de négligence.

ARTICLE 10

Dividendes

- 1. Les dividendes payés par une société qui est un résident d'un État contractant à un résident de l'autre État contractant sont imposables dans cet autre État.
- 2. Toutefois, ces dividendes sont aussi imposables dans l'État contractant dont la société qui paie les dividendes est un résident et selon la législation de cet État, mais si le bénéficiaire effectif des dividendes est un résident de l'autre État contractant, l'impôt ainsi établi ne peut excéder :
 - a) sauf dans le cas de dividendes payés par une société de placements appartenant à des non-résidents et qui est un résident du Canada, 5 pour cent du montant brut des dividendes si le bénéficiaire effectif est une société qui contrôle directement ou indirectement au moins 25 pour cent des droits de vote de la société qui paie les dividendes;
 - b) 15 pour cent du montant brut des dividendes, dans tous les autres cas.

Les dispositions du présent paragraphe n'affectent pas l'imposition de la société au titre des bénéfices qui servent au paiement des dividendes.

- 3. Le terme « dividendes » employé dans le présent article désigne les revenus provenant d'actions, d'actions ou de bons de jouissance, ou d'autres parts bénéficiaires à l'exception des créances, ainsi que les revenus soumis au même régime fiscal que les revenus d'actions par la législation de l'État dont la société distributrice est un résident.
- 4. Les dispositions du paragraphe 2 ne s'appliquent pas lorsque le bénéficiaire effectif des dividendes, résident d'un État contractant, exerce dans l'autre État contractant dont la société qui paie les dividendes est un résident, soit une activité industrielle ou commerciale par l'intermédiaire d'un établissement stable qui y est situé, soit une profession indépendante au moyen d'une base fixe qui y est située, et que la participation génératrice des dividendes s'y rattache effectivement. Dans ce cas, les dispositions de l'article 7 ou de l'article 14, suivant les cas, sont applicables.

5. Where a company which is a resident of a Contracting State derives profits or income from the other Contracting State, that other State may not impose any tax on the dividends paid by the company, except insofar as such dividends are paid to a resident of that other State or insofar as the holding in respect of which the dividends are paid is effectively connected with a permanent establishment or a fixed base situated in that other State, nor subject the company's undistributed profits to a tax on undistributed profits, even if the dividends paid or the undistributed profits consist wholly or partly of profits or income arising in such other State.

Conventions fiscales (2001) — Annexe 2

6. Nothing in this Convention shall be construed as preventing a Contracting State from imposing on the alienation of immovable property situated in that State by a company carrying on a trade in immovable property or on the earnings of a company attributable to a permanent establishment in that State, a tax in addition to the tax which would be chargeable on the earnings of a company which is a national of that State, except that any additional tax so imposed shall not exceed 5 per cent of the amount of such earnings which have not been subjected to such additional tax in previous taxation years. For the purpose of this provision, the term "earnings" means the earnings attributable to the alienation of such immovable property situated in a Contracting State as may be taxed by that State under the provisions of Article 6 or of paragraphs 1 or 4 of Article 13, and the profits, including any gains, attributable to a permanent establishment in a Contracting State in a year or previous years after deducting therefrom all taxes, other than the additional tax referred to herein, imposed on such profits in that State.

ARTICLE 11

Interest

- 1. Interest arising in a Contracting State and paid to a resident of the other Contracting State may be taxed in that other State.
- 2. However, such interest may also be taxed in the Contracting State in which it arises, and according to the laws of that State, but if the beneficial owner of the interest is a resident of the other Contracting State, the tax so charged shall not exceed 15 per cent of the gross amount of the interest.

- 5. Lorsqu'une société qui est un résident d'un État contractant tire des bénéfices ou des revenus de l'autre État contractant, cet autre État ne peut percevoir aucun impôt sur les dividendes payés par la société, sauf dans la mesure où ces dividendes sont payés à un résident de cet autre État ou dans la mesure où la participation génératrice des dividendes se rattache effectivement à un établissement stable ou à une base fixe situés dans cet autre État, ni prélever aucun impôt, au titre de l'imposition des bénéfices non distribués, sur les bénéfices non distribués de la société, même si les dividendes payés ou les bénéfices non distribués consistent en tout ou en partie en bénéfices ou revenus provenant de cet autre État.
- 6. Aucune disposition de la présente Convention ne peut être interprétée comme empêchant un État contractant de percevoir sur les revenus attribuables à l'aliénation de biens immobiliers situés dans cet État par une société qui exerce des activités commerciales dans le domaine des biens immobiliers ou sur les revenus d'une société imputables à un établissement stable situé dans cet État un impôt qui s'ajoute à l'impôt qui serait applicable aux revenus d'une société qui est un national de cet État, pourvu que l'impôt additionnel ainsi établi ne peut excéder 5 pour cent du montant des revenus qui n'ont pas été assujettis à cet impôt additionnel au cours des années d'imposition précédentes. Au sens de la présente disposition, le terme « revenus » désigne les revenus imputables à l'aliénation de biens immobiliers situés dans un État contractant qui sont imposables par cet État en vertu des dispositions de l'article 6 ou des paragraphes 1 ou 4 de l'article 13, et les bénéfices, y compris les gains, imputables à un établissement stable situé dans un État contractant, pour l'année ou pour les années antérieures, après déduction de tous les impôts, autres que l'impôt additionnel visé au présent paragraphe, prélevés par cet État sur ces bénéfices.

ARTICLE 11

Intérêts

- 1. Les intérêts provenant d'un État contractant et payés à un résident de l'autre État contractant sont imposables dans cet autre État.
- 2. Toutefois, ces intérêts sont aussi imposables dans l'État contractant d'où ils proviennent et selon la législation de cet État, mais si le bénéficiaire effectif des intérêts est un résident de l'autre État contractant, l'impôt ainsi établi ne peut excéder 15 pour cent du montant brut des intérêts.

- 3. Notwithstanding the provisions of paragraph 2, interest arising in a Contracting State shall be exempt from tax in that State if:
 - (a) it is paid to the Government of the other Contracting State or to a political subdivision or local authority thereof or the Central Bank of that State;
 - (b) it is paid to a resident of Canada in respect of a loan made, guaranteed or insured, or a credit extended, guaranteed or insured by the Export Development Corporation; and
 - (c) it is paid to a resident of Ecuador in respect of a loan made, guaranteed or insured, or a credit extended, guaranteed or insured by an organization which is specified and agreed in letters exchanged between the competent authorities of the Contracting States.
- 4. The term "interest" as used in this Article means income from debt-claims of every kind, whether or not secured by mortgage, and in particular, income from government securities and income from bonds or debentures, including premiums and prizes attaching to such securities, bonds or debentures, as well as income which is subjected to the same taxation treatment as income from money lent by the taxation law of the State in which the income arises. However, the term "interest" does not include income dealt with in Article 8 or 10.
- 5. The provisions of paragraphs 1 and 2 shall not apply if the beneficial owner of the interest, being a resident of a Contracting State, carries on business in the other Contracting State in which the interest arises, through a permanent establishment situated therein, or performs in that other State independent personal services from a fixed base situated therein, and the debt-claim in respect of which the interest is paid is effectively connected with such permanent establishment or fixed base. In such case, the provisions of Article 7 or Article 14, as the case may be, shall apply.
- 6. Interest shall be deemed to arise in a Contracting State when the payer is a resident of that State. Where, however, the person paying the interest, whether the payer is a resident of a Contracting State or not, has in a Contracting State a permanent establishment or a fixed base in connection with which the indebtedness on which the interest is paid was incurred, and such interest is borne by such permanent establishment or fixed base, then such interest shall be deemed to arise in the State in which the permanent establishment or fixed base is situated.
- 7. Where, by reason of a special relationship between the payer and the beneficial owner or between both of them and some other person, the amount of the interest, having regard to the debt-claim for which it is paid, exceeds the amount which would have been agreed upon by the payer and the beneficial owner in the absence of such relationship, the provisions of this Article shall apply only to the last-mentioned amount. In such case, the excess part of the payments shall remain taxable according to the laws of each Contracting State, due regard being had to the other provisions of this Convention.

- 3. Nonobstant les dispositions du paragraphe 2, les intérêts provenant d'un État contractant sont exonérés d'impôt dans cet État s'ils sont payés :
 - a) au gouvernement de l'autre État contractant ou à l'une de ses subdivisions politiques ou collectivités locales ou à la Banque centrale de cet État;
 - b) à un résident du Canada en raison d'un prêt fait, garanti ou assuré, ou d'un crédit consenti, garanti ou assuré par la Société pour l'expansion des exportations;
 - c) à un résident de l'Équateur en raison d'un prêt fait, garanti ou assuré, ou d'un crédit consenti, garanti ou assuré par un organisme désigné et accepté par échange de lettres entre les autorités compétentes des États contractants.
- 4. Le terme « intérêts » employé dans le présent article désigne les revenus des créances de toute nature, assorties ou non de garanties hypothécaires, et notamment les revenus des fonds publics et des obligations d'emprunts, y compris les primes et lots attachés à ces titres, ainsi que tous autres revenus soumis au même régime fiscal que les revenus de sommes prêtées par la législation de l'État d'où proviennent les revenus. Toutefois, le terme « intérêts » ne comprend pas les revenus visés à l'article 8 ou à l'article 10.
- 5. Les dispositions des paragraphes 1 et 2 ne s'appliquent pas lorsque le bénéficiaire effectif des intérêts, résident d'un État contractant, exerce dans l'autre État contractant d'où proviennent les intérêts, soit une activité industrielle ou commerciale par l'intermédiaire d'un éta-blissement stable qui y est situé, soit une profession indépendante au moyen d'une base fixe qui y est située, et que la créance génératrice des intérêts s'y rattache effectivement. Dans ce cas, les dispositions de l'article 7 ou de l'article 14, suivant les cas, sont applicables.
- 6. Les intérêts sont considérés comme provenant d'un État contractant lorsque le débiteur est un résident de cet État. Toutefois, lorsque le débiteur des intérêts, qu'il soit ou non un résident d'un État contractant, a dans un État contractant un établissement stable, ou une base fixe, pour lequel la dette donnant lieu au paiement des intérêts a été contractée et qui supporte la charge de ces intérêts, ceux-ci sont considérés comme provenant de l'État où l'établissement stable, ou la base fixe, est situé.
- 7. Lorsque, en raison de relations spéciales existant entre le débiteur et le bénéficiaire effectif ou que l'un et l'autre entretiennent avec de tierces personnes, le montant des intérêts, compte tenu de la créance pour laquelle ils sont payés, excède celui dont seraient convenus le débiteur et le bénéficiaire effectif en l'absence de pareilles relations, les dispositions du présent article ne s'appliquent qu'à ce dernier montant. Dans ce cas, la partie excédentaire des paiements reste imposable selon la législation de chaque État contractant et compte tenu des autres dispositions de la présente Convention.

Conventions fiscales (2001) — Annexe 2

Royalties

- 1. Royalties arising in a Contracting State and paid to a resident of the other Contracting State may be taxed in that other
- 2. However, such royalties may also be taxed in the Contracting State in which they arise and according to the laws of that State, but if the beneficiary owner of the royalties is a resident of the other Contracting State, the tax so charged shall not exceed:
 - (a) 10 per cent of the gross amount of the royalties for the use of, or the right to use, industrial, commercial or scientific equipment;
 - (b) 15 per cent of the gross amount of the royalties in all other
- 3. The term "royalties" as used in this Article means payments of any kind received as a consideration for the use of, or the right to use, any copyright, patent, trade mark, design or model, plan, secret formula or process or other intangible property, or for the use of, or the right to use, industrial, commercial or scientific equipment, or for information concerning industrial, commercial or scientific experience, and includes payments of any kind in respect of motion picture films and works on film, videotape or other means of reproduction for use in connection with televi-
- 4. The provisions of paragraph 2 shall not apply if the beneficial owner of the royalties, being a resident of a Contracting State, carries on business in the other Contracting State in which the royalties arise, through a permanent establishment situated therein, or performs in that other State independent personal services from a fixed base situated therein, and the right or property in respect of which the royalties are paid is effectively connected with such permanent establishment or fixed base. In such case, the provisions of Article 7 or Article 14, as the case may be, shall apply.
- 5. Royalties shall be deemed to arise in a Contracting State when the payer is a resident of that State. Where, however, the person paying the royalties, whether the payer is a resident of a Contracting State or not, has in a Contracting State a permanent establishment or a fixed base in connection with which the obligation to pay the royalties was incurred, and such royalties are borne by such permanent establishment or fixed base, then such royalties shall be deemed to arise in the State in which the permanent establishment or fixed base is situated.

ARTICLE 12

- Redevances
- 1. Les redevances provenant d'un État contractant et payées à un résident de l'autre État contractant sont imposables dans cet autre État.
- 2. Toutefois, ces redevances sont aussi imposables dans l'État contractant d'où elles proviennent et selon la législation de cet État, mais si le bénéficiaire effectif des redevances est un résident de l'autre État contractant, l'impôt ainsi établi ne peut excéder :
 - a) 10 pour cent du montant brut des redevances pour l'usage ou la concession de l'usage d'équipement industriel, commercial ou scientifique;
 - b) 15 pour cent du montant brut des redevances dans tous les autres cas.
- 3. Le terme « redevances » employé dans le présent article désigne les rémunérations de toute nature payées pour l'usage ou la concession de l'usage d'un droit d'auteur, d'un brevet, d'une marque de fabrique ou de commerce, d'un dessin ou d'un modèle, d'un plan, d'une formule ou d'un procédé secrets ou de tout autre bien incorporel, ainsi que pour l'usage ou la concession de l'usage d'un équipement industriel, commercial ou scientifique ou pour des informations ayant trait à une expérience acquise dans le domaine industriel, commercial ou scientifique; ce terme comprend aussi les rémunérations de toute nature concernant les films cinématographiques et les oeuvres enregistrées sur films, bandes magnétoscopiques ou autres moyens de reproduction destinés à la télévision.
- 4. Les dispositions du paragraphe 2 ne s'appliquent pas lorsque le bénéficiaire effectif des redevances, résident d'un État contractant, exerce dans l'autre État contractant d'où proviennent les redevances, soit une activité industrielle ou commerciale par l'intermédiaire d'un établissement stable qui y est situé, soit une profession indépendante au moyen d'une base fixe qui y est située, et que le droit ou le bien générateur des redevances s'y rattache effectivement. Dans ce cas, les dispositions de l'article 7 ou de l'article 14, suivant les cas, sont applicables.
- 5. Les redevances sont considérées comme provenant d'un État contractant lorsque le débiteur est un résident de cet État. Toutefois, lorsque le débiteur des redevances, qu'il soit ou non un résident d'un État contractant, a dans un État contractant un établissement stable, ou une base fixe, pour lequel l'obligation donnant lieu au paiement des redevances a été conclue et qui supporte la charge de ces redevances, celles-ci sont considérées comme provenant de l'État où l'établissement stable, ou la base fixe, est situé.

6. Where, by reason of a special relationship between the payer and the beneficial owner or between both of them and some other person, the amount of the royalties, having regard to the use, right or information for which they are paid, exceeds the amount which would have been agreed upon by the payer and the beneficial owner in the absence of such relationship, the provisions of this Article shall apply only to the last-mentioned amount. In such case, the excess part of the payments shall remain taxable according to the laws of each Contracting State, due regard being had to the other provisions of this Convention.

ARTICLE 13

Capital Gains

- 1. Gains derived by a resident of a Contracting State from the alienation of immovable property situated in the other Contracting State may be taxed in that other State.
- 2. Gains from the alienation of movable property forming part of the business property of a permanent establishment which an enterprise of a Contracting State has or had in the other Contracting State or of movable property pertaining to a fixed base that is or was available to a resident of a Contracting State in the other Contracting State for the purpose of performing independent personal services, including such gains from the alienation of such a permanent establishment (alone or with the whole enterprise) or of such a fixed base, may be taxed in that other State.
- 3. Gains derived by an enterprise of a Contracting State from the alienation of ships or aircraft operated in international traffic or from movable property pertaining to the operation of such ships or aircraft, shall be taxable only in that State.
- 4. Gains derived by a resident of the Contracting State from the alienation of:
 - (a) shares, the value of which is derived principally from immovable property situated in the other State, or
 - (b) an interest in a partnership or trust, the value of which is derived principally from immovable property situated in that other State,

may be taxed in that other State. For the purposes of this paragraph, the term "immovable property" does not include any property, other than rental property, in which the business of the company, partnership or trust is carried on.

- 5. Gains derived from the alienation of any property, other than that referred to in paragraphs 1, 2, 3 and 4, shall be taxable only in the Contracting State of which the alienator is a resident.
- 6. The provisions of paragraph 5 shall not affect the right of a Contracting State to levy, according to its law, a tax on gains from the alienation of any property derived by an individual who is a resident of the other Contracting State and has been a resident of the first-mentioned State at any time during the five years immediately preceding the alienation of the property.

6. Lorsque, en raison de relations spéciales existant entre le débiteur et le bénéficiaire effectif ou que l'un et l'autre entretiennent avec de tierces personnes, le montant des redevances, compte tenu de la prestation pour laquelle elles sont payées, excède celui dont seraient convenus le débiteur et le bénéficiaire effectif en l'absence de pareilles relations, les dispositions du présent article ne s'appliquent qu'à ce dernier montant. Dans ce cas, la partie excédentaire des paiements reste imposable selon la législation de chaque État contractant et compte tenu des autres dispositions de la présente Convention.

ARTICLE 13

Gains en capital

- 1. Les gains qu'un résident d'un État contractant tire de l'aliénation de biens immobiliers situés dans l'autre État contractant sont imposables dans cet autre État.
- 2. Les gains provenant de l'aliénation de biens mobiliers qui font partie de l'actif d'un établissement stable qu'une entreprise d'un État contractant a ou avait dans l'autre État contractant, ou de biens mobiliers qui appartiennent à une base fixe dont un résident d'un État contractant dispose ou a disposé dans l'autre État contractant pour l'exercice d'une profession indépendante, y compris de tels gains provenant de l'aliénation globale de cet établissement stable (seul ou avec l'ensemble de l'entreprise) ou de cette base fixe, sont imposables dans cet autre État.
- 3. Les gains qu'une entreprise d'un État contractant tire de l'aliénation de navires ou aéronefs exploités en trafic international ou de biens mobiliers affectés à l'exploitation de ces navires ou aéronefs ne sont imposables que dans cet État.
- 4. Les gains qu'un résident d'un État contractant tire de l'aliénation :
 - a) d'actions, dont la valeur est principalement tirée de biens immobiliers situés dans l'autre État,
 - b) d'une participation dans une société de personnes ou une fiducie, dont la valeur est principalement tirée de biens immobiliers situés dans cet autre État,

sont imposables dans cet autre État. Aux fins du présent paragraphe, l'expression « biens immobiliers » ne comprend pas les biens, autres que les biens locatifs, dans lesquels la société, la société de personnes ou la fiducie exerce son activité.

- 5. Les gains provenant de l'aliénation de biens, autres que ceux mentionnés aux paragraphes 1, 2, 3 et 4, ne sont imposables que dans l'État contractant dont le cédant est un résident.
- 6. Les dispositions du paragraphe 5 ne portent pas atteinte au droit d'un État contractant de percevoir, conformément à sa législation, un impôt sur les gains provenant de l'aliénation d'un bien et réalisés par une personne physique qui est un résident de l'autre État contractant et qui a été un résident du premier État à un moment quelconque au cours des cinq années précédant immédiatement l'aliénation du bien.

7. Where an individual who ceases to be a resident of a Contracting State and immediately thereafter becomes a resident of the other Contracting State, is treated for the purposes of taxation in the first-mentioned State as having alienated a property and is taxed in that State by reason thereof, the individual may elect to be treated for the purposes of taxation in the other State as if the individual had, immediately before becoming a resident of that State, sold and repurchased the property for an amount equal to its fair market value at that time.

ARTICLE 14

Independent Personal Services

- 1. Income derived by an individual who is a resident of a Contracting State in respect of professional or similar services shall be taxable only in that State unless such services are performed or were performed in the other Contracting State and
 - (a) the income is attributable to a fixed base which the individual has or had regularly available in that other State; or
 - (b) such individual is present or was present in that other State for a period or periods exceeding in the aggregate 183 days in any consecutive twelve month period.

In such case, the income attributable to the services may be taxed in that other State in accordance with principles similar to those of Article 7 for determining the amount of business profits and attributing business profits to a permanent establishment.

2. The term "professional services" includes especially independent scientific, literary, educational or teaching activities as well as the independent activities of physicians, lawyers, engineers, architects, dentists and accountants.

ARTICLE 15

Dependent Personal Services

1. Subject to the provisions of Articles 16, 18 and 19, salaries, wages and other remuneration derived by a resident of a Contracting State in respect of an employment shall be taxable only in that State unless the employment is exercised in the other Contracting State. If the employment is so exercised, such remuneration as is derived therefrom may be taxed in that other State.

7. Lorsqu'une personne physique qui, immédiatement après avoir cessé d'être un résident d'un État contractant, devient un résident de l'autre État contractant, est considérée aux fins d'imposition dans le premier État comme ayant aliéné un bien et est imposée dans cet État en raison de cette aliénation, elle peut choisir, aux fins d'imposition dans l'autre État, d'être considérée comme ayant vendu et racheté, immédiatement avant de devenir un résident de cet État, le bien pour un montant égal à sa juste valeur marchande à ce moment.

ARTICLE 14

Professions indépendantes

- 1. Les revenus qu'une personne physique qui est un résident d'un État contractant tire d'une profession libérale ou d'autres activités similaires ne sont imposables que dans cet État, à moins que ces services ne soient exercés ou n'aient été exercés dans l'autre État contractant et que
 - a) les revenus soient imputables à une base fixe dont dispose ou a disposé de façon habituelle la personne physique dans cet autre État;
 - b) cette personne physique est présente ou a été présente dans cet autre État pour une période ou des périodes excédant au total 183 jours au cours de toute période de 12 mois consécutifs.

Dans ce cas, les revenus imputables aux activités sont imposables dans cet autre État conformément à des principes qui sont similaires à ceux prévus à l'article 7 pour déterminer le montant des bénéfices des entreprises et les imputer à un établissement stable.

2. L'expression « profession libérale » comprend notamment les activités indépendantes d'ordre scientifique, littéraire, artistique, éducatif ou pédagogique, ainsi que les activités indépendantes des médecins, avocats, ingénieurs, architectes, dentistes et comptables.

ARTICLE 15

Professions dépendantes

1. Sous réserve des dispositions des articles 16, 18 et 19, les salaires, traitements et autres rémunérations qu'un résident d'un État contractant reçoit au titre d'un emploi salarié ne sont imposables que dans cet État, à moins que l'emploi ne soit exercé dans l'autre État contractant. Si l'emploi y est exercé, les rémunérations reçues à ce titre sont imposables dans cet autre

- 2. Notwithstanding the provisions of paragraph 1, salaries, wages and other remuneration derived by a resident of a Contracting State in respect of an employment exercised in the other Contracting State shall be taxable only in the first-mentioned State if:
 - (a) the recipient is present in the other State for a period or periods not exceeding in the aggregate 183 days in any twelve month period commencing or ending in the calendar year concerned, and
 - (b) the remuneration is paid by, or on behalf of, an employer who is not a resident of the other State, and
 - (c) the remuneration is not borne by a permanent establishment or a fixed base which the employer has in the other State.
- 3. Notwithstanding the preceding provisions of this Article, salaries, wages and other remuneration derived in respect of an employment exercised aboard a ship or aircraft operated in international traffic by a resident of a Contracting State, shall be taxable only in that State unless the salaries, wages and other remuneration are derived by a resident of the other Contracting State.

Directors' Fees

Directors' fees and other similar payments derived by a resident of a Contracting State in that resident's capacity as a member of the board of directors or a similar organ of a company which is a resident of the other Contracting State may be taxed in that other State.

ARTICLE 17

Artistes and Sportspersons

- 1. Notwithstanding the provisions of Articles 14 and 15, income derived by a resident of a Contracting State as an entertainer, such as a theatre, motion picture, radio or television artiste, or a musician, or as a sportsperson, from that resident's personal activities as such exercised in the other Contracting State, may be taxed in that other State.
- 2. Where income in respect of personal activities exercised by an entertainer or a sportsperson in that individual's capacity as such accrues not to the entertainer or sportsperson personally but to another person, that income may, notwithstanding the provisions of Articles 7, 14 and 15, be taxed in the Contracting State in which the activities of the entertainer or sportsperson are exercised.
- 3. The provisions of paragraph 2 shall not apply if it is established that neither the entertainer or the sportsperson nor persons related thereto, participate directly or indirectly in the profits of the person referred to in that paragraph.

- 2. Nonobstant les dispositions du paragraphe l, les salaires, traitements et autres rémunérations qu'un résident d'un État contractant reçoit au titre d'un emploi salarié exercé dans l'autre État contractant ne sont imposables que dans le premier État si :
 - a) le bénéficiaire séjourne dans l'autre État pendant une période ou des périodes n'excédant pas au total 183 jours au cours de toute période de 12 mois commençant ou se terminant dans l'année civile considérée, et
 - b) les rémunérations sont payées par un employeur ou pour le compte d'un employeur qui n'est pas un résident de l'autre État, et
 - c) la charge des rémunérations n'est pas supportée par un établissement stable ou une base fixe que l'employeur a dans l'autre État.
- 3. Nonobstant les dispositions précédentes du présent article, les salaires, traitements et autres rémunérations reçues au titre d'un emploi salarié exercé à bord d'un navire ou d'un aéronef exploité en trafic international par un résident d'un État contractant ne sont imposables que dans cet État, sauf si ces salaires, traitements ou autres rémunérations sont reçus par un résident de l'autre État contractant.

ARTICLE 16

Tantièmes

Les tantièmes, jetons de présence et autres rétributions similaires qu'un résident d'un État contractant reçoit en sa qualité de membre du conseil d'administration ou de surveillance ou d'un organe analogue d'une société qui est un résident de l'autre État contractant sont imposables dans cet autre État.

ARTICLE 17

Artistes et sportifs

- 1. Nonobstant les dispositions des articles 14 et 15, les revenus qu'un résident d'un État contractant tire de ses activités personnelles exercées dans l'autre État contractant en tant qu'artiste du spectacle, tel qu'un artiste de théâtre, de cinéma, de la radio ou de la télévision, ou qu'un musicien, ou en tant que sportif, sont imposables dans cet autre État.
- 2. Lorsque les revenus d'activités qu'un artiste du spectacle ou un sportif exerce personnellement et en cette qualité sont attribués non pas à l'artiste ou au sportif lui-même mais à une autre personne, ces revenus sont imposables, nonobstant les dispositions des articles 7, 14 et 15, dans l'État contractant où les activités de l'artiste ou du sportif sont exercées.
- 3. Les dispositions du paragraphe 2 ne s'appliquent pas s'il est établi que ni l'artiste du spectacle ou le sportif, ni des personnes qui lui sont associées, ne participent directement ou indirectement aux bénéfices de la personne visée à ce paragraphe.

ARTICLE 18

Conventions fiscales (2001) — Annexe 2

dans cet autre État.

suivants:

Pensions and Annuities

- 1. Pensions and annuities arising in a Contracting State and paid to a resident of the other Contracting State may be taxed in that other State.
- 2. Pensions arising in a Contracting State and paid to a resident of the other Contracting State may also be taxed in the State in which they arise, and according to the law of that State. However, in the case of periodic pension payments, the tax so charged shall not exceed the lesser of:
 - (a) 15 per cent of the gross amount of such periodic pension payments paid to the recipient in the calendar year concerned that exceeds twelve thousand Canadian dollars or its equivalent in Ecuadorian currency; and
 - (b) the rate determined by reference to the amount of tax that the recipient of the payment would otherwise be required to pay for the year on the total amount of the periodic pension payments received by the individual in the year, if the individual were a resident of the Contracting State in which the payment arises.
- 3. Annuities, other than pensions, arising in a Contracting State and paid to a resident of the other Contracting State may also be taxed in the State in which they arise and according to the law of that State, but the tax so charged shall not exceed 15 per cent of the portion thereof that is subject to tax in that State. However this limitation does not apply to lump-sum payments arising on the surrender, cancellation, redemption, sale or other alienation of an annuity or to payments of any kind under an annuity contract the cost of which was deductible, in whole or in part, in computing the income of any person who acquired the contract.
 - 4. Notwithstanding anything in the Convention:
 - (a) war pensions and allowances (including pensions and allowances paid to war veterans or paid as a consequence of damages or injuries suffered as a consequence of a war) arising in a Contracting State and paid to a resident of the other Contracting State shall be exempt from tax in that other State to the extend that they will be exempt from tax if received by a resident of the first-mentioned State; and
 - (b) alimony and other similar payments arising in a Contracting State and paid to a resident of the other Contracting State who is subject to tax therein in respect thereof shall be taxable only in that other State.

ARTICLE 18

Pensions et rentes

- 1. Les pensions et les rentes provenant d'un État contractant et payées à un résident de l'autre État contractant sont imposables
- 2. Les pensions provenant d'un État contractant et payées à un résident de l'autre État contractant sont aussi imposables dans l'État d'où elles proviennent et selon la législation de cet État. Toutefois, dans le cas de paiements périodiques d'une pension, l'impôt ainsi établi ne peut excéder le moins élevé des deux taux
 - a) 15 pour cent du montant brut de tels paiements périodiques d'une pension versés au bénéficiaire dans l'année civile considérée qui excède 12 000 \$ canadiens ou son équivalent en monnaie équatorienne; et
 - b) le taux calculé en fonction du montant d'impôt que le bénéficiaire du paiement devrait autrement verser pour l'année à l'égard du montant total des paiements périodiques de pensions qu'il a reçus au cours de l'année s'il était un résident de l'État contractant d'où provient le paiement.
- 3. Les rentes, autres que les pensions, provenant d'un État contractant et payées à un résident de l'autre État contractant sont aussi imposables dans l'État d'où elles proviennent et selon la législation de cet État, mais l'impôt ainsi établi ne peut excéder 15 p. 100 de la fraction du paiement qui est assujettie à l'impôt dans cet État. Toutefois, cette limite ne s'applique pas aux paiements découlant de l'abandon, de l'annulation, du rachat, de la vente ou d'une autre forme d'aliénation d'une rente ou aux paiements de toute nature en vertu d'un contrat de rente dont le coût était déductible, en totalité ou en partie, dans le calcul du revenu de toute personne ayant acquis ce contrat.
 - 4. Nonobstant toute disposition de la présente Convention,
 - a) les pensions et allocations de guerre (incluant les pensions et allocations payées aux anciens combattants ou payées en conséquence des dommages ou blessures subis à l'occasion d'une guerre) provenant d'un État contractant et payées à un résident de l'autre État contractant sont exonérées d'impôt dans cet autre État dans la mesure où elles seraient exonérées d'impôt si elles étaient reçues par un résident du premier État;
 - b) les pensions alimentaires et autres paiements similaires provenant d'un État contractant et payés à un résident de l'autre État contractant, qui y est assujetti à l'impôt à l'égard de ceux-ci, ne sont imposables que dans cet autre État.

Government Service

- 1. (a) Salaries, wages and similar remuneration, other than a pension, paid by a Contracting State or a political subdivision or a local authority thereof to an individual in respect of services rendered to that State or subdivision or authority in any other State shall be taxable only in the first-mentioned State.
- (b) However, such salaries, wages and similar remuneration shall be taxable only in the other Contracting State if the services are rendered in that State and the individual is a resident of that State who:
 - (i) is a national of that State; or
 - (ii) did not become a resident of that State solely for the purpose of rendering the services.
- 2. The provisions of paragraph 1 shall not apply to salaries, wages and similar remuneration in respect of services rendered in connection with a business carried on by a Contracting State or a political subdivision or a local authority thereof.

ARTICLE 20

Students

Payments which a student, apprentice or business trainee who is, or was immediately before visiting a Contracting State, a resident of the other Contracting State and who is present in the first-mentioned State solely for the purpose of that individual's education or training receives for the purpose of that individual's maintenance, education or training shall not be taxed in that State, if such payments arise from sources outside that State.

ARTICLE 21

Other Income

Items of income of a resident of a Contracting State, wherever arising, not dealt with in the foregoing Articles of this Convention may be taxed in the State in which they arise and according to the law of that State. Where such income is income from an estate or trust, other than a trust to which contributions were deductible, the tax so charged shall, if the income is taxable in the Contracting State in which the beneficial owner is a resident, not exceed 15 per cent of the gross amount of the income.

ARTICLE 19

Fonctions publiques

- 1. a) Les traitements, salaires et rémunérations similaires, autres que les pensions, payés par un État contractant ou l'une de ses subdivisions politiques ou collectivités locales à une personne physique au titre de services rendus, dans tout autre État, à ce premier État, subdivision ou collectivité, ne sont imposables que dans le premier État.
- b) Toutefois, ces traitements, salaires et rémunérations similaires ne sont imposables que dans l'autre État contractant si les services sont rendus dans cet État et si la personne physique est un résident de cet État qui :
 - (i) possède la nationalité de cet État, ou
 - (ii) n'est pas devenu un résident de cet État à seule fin de rendre les services.
- 2. Les dispositions du paragraphe l ne s'appliquent pas aux salaires, traitements et autres rémunérations similaires payés au titre de services rendus dans le cadre d'une activité industrielle ou commerciale exercée par un État contractant ou l'une de ses subdivisions politiques ou collectivités locales.

ARTICLE 20

Étudiants

Les sommes qu'un étudiant, un stagiaire ou un apprenti qui est, ou qui était immédiatement avant de se rendre dans un État contractant, un résident de l'autre État contractant et qui séjourne dans le premier État à seule fin d'y poursuivre ses études ou sa formation, reçoit pour couvrir ses frais d'entretien, d'études ou de formation ne sont pas imposables dans cet État, à condition qu'elles proviennent de sources situées en dehors de cet État.

ARTICLE 21

Autres revenus

Les éléments du revenu d'un résident d'un État contractant, d'où qu'ils proviennent, qui ne sont pas traités dans les articles précédents de la présente Convention sont imposables dans l'État d'où ils proviennent et selon la législation de cet État. Mais, dans le cas d'un revenu provenant d'une succession ou d'une fiducie, autre qu'une fiducie qui a reçu des contributions pour lesquelles une déduction a été accordée, l'impôt ainsi établi ne peut excéder 15 pour cent du montant brut du revenu pourvu que celui-ci soit imposable dans l'État contractant dont le bénéficiaire effectif est un résident.

IV. METHODS FOR ELIMINATION OF DOUBLE **TAXATION**

Conventions fiscales (2001) — Annexe 2

ARTICLE 22

Elimination of Double Taxation

- 1. In the case of Canada, double taxation shall be avoided as follows:
 - (a) subject to the existing provisions of the laws of Canada regarding the deduction from tax payable in Canada of tax paid in a territory outside Canada and to any subsequent modification of those provisions — which shall not affect the general principle hereof — and unless a greater deduction or relief is provided under the laws of Canada, tax payable in Ecuador on profits, income or gains arising in Ecuador shall be deducted from any Canadian tax payable in respect of such profits, income or gains;
 - (b) subject to the existing provisions of the laws of Canada regarding the allowance as a credit against Canadian tax of tax payable in a territory outside Canada and to any subsequent modification of those provisions — which shall not affect the general principle hereof — where a company which is a resident of Ecuador pays a dividend to a company which is a resident of Canada and which controls directly or indirectly at least 10 per cent of the voting power in the first-mentioned company, the credit shall take into account the tax payable in Ecuador by that first-mentioned company in respect of the profits out of which such dividend is paid; and
 - (c) where, in accordance with any provision of the Convention, income derived by a resident of Canada is exempt from tax in Canada, Canada may nevertheless, in calculating the amount of tax on other income, take into account the exempted income.
- 2. In the case of Ecuador, double taxation shall be avoided as follows:
 - (a) residents of Ecuador may credit against the Ecuadorian tax on income arising in Canada the income tax paid in Canada in an amount not exceeding the tax payable in Ecuador on such income: and
 - (b) subject to the provisions of Ecuadorian law, companies which are residents of Ecuador may also credit against the Ecuadorian tax the income tax paid in Canada on the profits out of which the dividends are paid.
- 3. For the purposes of this Article, profits, income or gains of a resident of a Contracting State which may be taxed in the other Contracting State in accordance with this Convention shall be deemed to arise from sources in that other State.

IV. DISPOSITIONS PRÉVENTIVES DE LA DOUBLE IMPOSITION

ARTICLE 22

Élimination de la double imposition

- 1. En ce qui concerne le Canada, la double imposition est évitée de la façon suivante :
 - a) sous réserve des dispositions existantes de la législation canadienne concernant l'imputation de l'impôt payé dans un territoire en dehors du Canada sur l'impôt canadien payable et de toute modification ultérieure de ces dispositions qui n'en affecterait pas le principe général, et sans préjudice d'une déduction ou d'un dégrèvement plus important prévu par la législation canadienne, l'impôt dû en Équateur à raison de bénéfices, revenus ou gains provenant de l'Équateur est porté en déduction de tout impôt canadien dû à raison des mêmes bénéfices, revenus ou gains;
 - b) sous réserve des dispositions existantes de la législation canadienne concernant l'imputation sur l'impôt canadien de l'impôt payé dans un territoire en dehors du Canada et de toute modification ultérieure de ces dispositions qui n'en affecterait pas le principe général, lorsqu'une société qui est un résident de l'Équateur paye un dividende à une société qui est un résident du Canada et qui contrôle directement ou indirectement au moins 10 pour cent des droits de vote de la première société, il sera tenu compte, dans le calcul de l'imputation, de l'impôt dû en Équateur par la première société sur les bénéfices qui servent au paiement des dividendes;
 - c) lorsque, conformément à une disposition quelconque de la Convention, les revenus qu'un résident du Canada reçoit sont exempts d'impôts au Canada, le Canada peut néanmoins, pour calculer le montant de l'impôt sur d'autres revenus, tenir compte des revenus exemptés.
- 2. En ce qui concerne l'Équateur, la double imposition est évitée de la façon suivante :
 - a) les résidents de l'Équateur imputent, sur l'impôt équatorien applicable aux revenus provenant du Canada, l'impôt sur le revenu payé au Canada jusqu'à concurrence de l'impôt dû en Équateur sur ces revenus;
 - b) sous réserve des dispositions de la législation équatorienne, les sociétés qui sont des résidents de l'Équateur imputent également sur l'impôt équatorien sur les bénéfices l'impôt payé au Canada sur les bénéfices qui servent au paiement des dividendes.
- 3. Pour l'application du présent article, les bénéfices, revenus ou gains d'un résident d'un État contractant, qui sont imposables dans l'autre État contractant conformément à la présente Convention, sont considérés comme provenant de sources situées dans cet autre État.

V. SPECIAL PROVISIONS

ARTICLE 23

Non-discrimination

- 1. Nationals of a Contracting State shall not be subjected in the other Contracting State to any taxation or any requirement connected therewith which is more burdensome than the taxation and connected requirements to which nationals of that other State in the same circumstances are or may be subjected.
- 2. The taxation on a permanent establishment which a resident of a Contracting State has in the other Contracting State shall not be less favourably levied in that other State than the taxation levied on residents of that other State carrying on the same activities.
- 3. Nothing in this Article shall be construed as obliging a Contracting State to grant to residents of the other Contracting State any personal allowances, reliefs and reductions for taxation purposes on account of civil status or family responsibilities which it grants to its own residents.
- 4. Companies which are residents of a Contracting State, the capital of which is wholly or partly owned or controlled, directly or indirectly, by one or more residents of the other Contracting State, shall not be subjected in the first-mentioned State to any taxation or any requirement connected therewith which is more burdensome than the taxation and connected requirements to which other similar companies which are residents of the first-mentioned State, the capital of which is wholly or partly owned or controlled, directly or indirectly, by one or more residents of a third State, are or may be subjected.
- 5. In this Article, the term "taxation" means taxes which are the subject of this Convention.

Article 24

Mutual Agreement Procedure

- 1. Where a person considers that the actions of one or both of the Contracting States result or will result for that person in taxation not in accordance with the provisions of this Convention, that person may, irrespective of the remedies provided by the domestic law of those States, address to the competent authority of the Contracting State of which that person is a resident an application in writing stating the grounds for claiming the revision of such taxation. To be admissible, the said application must be submitted within two years from the first notification of the action which gives rise to taxation not in accordance with the Convention.
- 2. The competent authority referred to in paragraph 1 shall endeavour, if the objection appears to it to be justified and if it is not itself able to arrive at a satisfactory solution, to resolve the case by mutual agreement with the competent authority of the other Contracting State, with a view to the avoidance of taxation not in accordance with the Convention.

V. DISPOSITIONS SPÉCIALES

ARTICLE 23

Non-discrimination

- 1. Les nationaux d'un État contractant ne sont soumis dans l'autre État contractant à aucune imposition ou obligation y relative, qui est plus lourde que celles auxquelles sont ou pourront être assujettis les nationaux de cet autre État qui se trouvent dans la même situation.
- 2. L'imposition d'un établissement stable qu'un résident d'un État contractant a dans l'autre État contractant n'est pas établie dans cet autre État d'une façon moins favorable que l'imposition des résidents de cet autre État qui exercent la même activité.
- 3. Aucune disposition du présent article ne peut être interprétée comme obligeant un État contractant à accorder aux résidents de l'autre État contractant les déductions personnelles, abattements et réductions d'impôt en fonction de la situation ou des charges de famille qu'il accorde à ses propres résidents.
- 4. Les sociétés qui sont des résidents d'un État contractant et dont le capital est en totalité ou en partie, directement ou indirectement, détenu ou contrôlé par un ou plusieurs résidents de l'autre État contractant, ne sont soumises dans le premier État à aucune imposition ou obligation y relative, qui est plus lourde que celles auxquelles sont ou pourront être assujetties les autres sociétés similaires qui sont des résidents du premier État et dont le capital est en totalité ou en partie, directement ou indirectement, détenu ou contrôlé par un ou plusieurs résidents d'un État tiers
- 5. Le terme « imposition » désigne dans le présent article les impôts visés par la présente Convention.

ARTICLE 24

Procédure amiable

- 1. Lorsqu'une personne estime que les mesures prises par un État contractant ou par les deux États contractants entraînent ou entraîneront pour elle une imposition non conforme aux dispositions de la présente Convention, elle peut, indépendamment des recours prévus par le droit interne de ces États, adresser à l'autorité compétente de l'État contractant dont elle est un résident une demande écrite et motivée de révision de cette imposition. Pour être recevable, cette demande doit être présentée dans un délai de deux ans à compter de la première notification de la mesure qui entraîne une imposition non conforme à la Convention.
- 2. L'autorité compétente visée au paragraphe l s'efforce, si la réclamation lui paraît fondée et si elle n'est pas elle-même en mesure d'y apporter une solution satisfaisante, de résoudre le cas par voie d'accord amiable avec l'autorité compétente de l'autre État contractant, en vue d'éviter une imposition non conforme à la Convention.

3. A Contracting State shall not, after the expiry of the time limits provided in its domestic laws and, in any case, after five years from the end of the taxable period in which the income concerned has accrued, increase the tax base of a resident of either of the Contracting States by including therein items of income which have also been charged to tax in the other Contracting State. This paragraph shall not apply in the case of fraud, wilful default or neglect.

Conventions fiscales (2001) — Annexe 2

- 4. The competent authorities of the Contracting States shall endeavour to resolve by mutual agreement any difficulties or doubts arising as to the interpretation or application of the Convention. For this purpose, they may communicate with each other directly for the purpose of applying the Convention.
- 5. If any difficulty or doubt arising as to the interpretation or application of the Convention cannot be resolved by the competent authorities pursuant to the preceding paragraphs of this Article, and the difficulty or doubt is the result of an assessment by one or both Contracting States, the case may, if both competent authorities and the taxpayer agree be submitted for arbitration provided that the taxpayer agrees in writing to be bound by the decision of the arbitration board. The decision of the arbitration board in a particular case shall be binding on both States with respect to that case. The procedure shall be established in an exchange of notes between the Contracting States.

ARTICLE 25

Exchange of Information

1. The competent authorities of the Contracting States shall exchange such information as is relevant for carrying out the provisions of this Convention or of the domestic laws in the Contracting States concerning taxes covered by the Convention insofar as the taxation thereunder is not contrary to the Convention. The exchange of information is not restricted by Article 1. Any information received by a Contracting State shall be treated as secret in the same manner as information obtained under the domestic laws of that State and shall be disclosed only to persons or authorities (including courts and administrative bodies) concerned with the assessment or collection of, the enforcement in respect of, or the determination of appeals in relation to the taxes in that State. Such persons or authorities shall use the information only for such purposes. They may disclose the information in public court proceedings or in judicial decisions.

- 3. Un État contractant n'augmente pas la base imposable d'un résident de l'un ou l'autre État contractant en y incluant des éléments de revenu qui ont déjà été imposés dans l'autre État contractant, après l'expiration des délais prévus par son droit interne et, en tout cas, après l'expiration de cinq ans à compter de la fin de la période imposable au cours de laquelle les revenus en cause ont été réalisés. Le présent paragraphe ne s'applique pas en cas de fraude, d'omission volontaire ou de négligence.
- 4. Les autorités compétentes des États contractants s'efforcent, par voie d'accord amiable, de résoudre les difficultés ou de dissiper les doutes auxquels peuvent donner lieu l'interprétation ou l'application de la Convention et elles peuvent communiquer directement entre elles aux fins de l'application de la Conven-
- 5. Si les difficultés ou les doutes auxquels peuvent donner lieu l'interprétation ou l'application de la Convention qui ne peuvent être résolus par les autorités compétentes conformément aux paragraphes précédents du présent article, et que les difficultés ou les doutes découlent d'une cotisation effectuée par l'un des États contractants ou par les deux États contractants, le cas peut, si les deux autorités compétentes et le contribuable en conviennent, être soumis à l'arbitrage, pourvu que le contribuable accepte par écrit d'être lié par la décision de la commission d'arbitrage. La décision de la commission d'arbitrage dans une affaire donnée lie les deux États à l'égard de cette affaire. La procédure à suivre sera précisée dans un échange de notes entre les États contractants.

ARTICLE 25

Échange de renseignements

1. Les autorités compétentes des États contractants échangent les renseignements pertinents pour l'application des dispositions de la présente Convention ou celles de la législation interne des États contractants relative aux impôts visés par la Convention dans la mesure où l'imposition qu'elle prévoit n'est pas contraire à la Convention. L'échange de renseignements n'est pas restreint par l'article l. Les renseignements reçus par un État contractant sont tenus secrets de la même manière que les renseignements obtenus en application de la législation interne de cet État et ne sont communiqués qu'aux personnes ou autorités (y compris les tribunaux et organes administratifs) concernées par l'établissement ou le recouvrement des impôts dans cet État par les procédures concernant ces impôts, ou par les décisions sur les recours relatifs à ces impôts. Ces personnes ou autorités n'utilisent ces renseignements qu'à ces fins. Elles peuvent faire état de ces renseignements au cours d'audiences publiques de tribunaux ou dans des jugements.

- 2. In no case shall the provisions of paragraph 1 be construed so as to impose on a Contracting State the obligation:
 - (a) to carry out administrative measures at variance with the laws or the administrative practice of that or of the other Contracting State;
 - (b) to supply information which is not obtainable under the laws or in the normal course of the administration of that or of the other Contracting State;
 - (c) to supply information which would disclose any trade, business, industrial, commercial or professional secret or trade process, or information, the disclosure of which would be contrary to public policy (ordre public).
- 3. If information is requested by a Contracting State in accordance with this Article, the other Contracting State shall endeavour to obtain the information to which the request relates in the same way as if its own taxation were involved, even though the other State does not, at that time, need such information. If specifically requested by the competent authority of a Contracting State, the competent authority of the other Contracting State shall endeavour to provide information under this Article in the form requested, such as depositions of witnesses and copies of unedited original documents (including books, papers, statements, records, accounts or writings), to the same extent such depositions and documents can be obtained under the laws and administrative practices of that other State with respect to its own taxes.

Members of Diplomatic Missions and Consular Posts

- 1. Nothing in this Convention shall affect the fiscal privileges of members of diplomatic missions or consular posts under the general rules of international law or under the provisions of special agreements.
- 2. Notwithstanding the provisions of Article 4, an individual who is a member of a diplomatic mission, consular post or permanent mission of a Contracting State that is situated in the other Contracting State or in a third State shall be deemed for the purposes of the Convention to be a resident only of the sending State if that individual is liable in the sending State to the same obligations in relation to tax on total income as are residents of that sending State.
- 3. The Convention shall not apply to international organisations, to organs or officials thereof and to persons who are members of a diplomatic mission, consular post or permanent mission of a third State or group of States, being present in a Contracting State and who are not liable in either Contracting State to the same obligations in relation to tax on their total income as are residents thereof.

- 2. Les dispositions du paragraphe l ne peuvent en aucun cas être interprétées comme imposant à un État contractant l'obligation :
 - a) de prendre des mesures administratives dérogeant à sa législation et à sa pratique administrative ou à celles de l'autre État contractant:
 - b) de fournir des renseignements qui ne pourraient être obtenus sur la base de sa législation ou dans le cadre de sa pratique administrative normale ou de celles de l'autre État contractant;
 - c) de fournir des renseignements qui révéleraient un secret commercial, industriel, professionnel ou un procédé commercial ou des renseignements dont la communication serait contraire à l'ordre public.
- 3. Lorsqu'un État contractant demande des renseignements en conformité avec le présent article, l'autre État contractant s'efforce d'obtenir les renseignements relatifs à cette demande de la même façon que si ses propres impôts étaient en jeu même si cet autre État n'a pas besoin, à ce moment, de ces renseignements. Si la demande de l'autorité compétente d'un État contractant le requiert expressément, l'autorité compétente de l'autre État contractant s'efforce de fournir les renseignements demandés en vertu du présent article sous la forme requise, telles les dépositions de témoins ou les copies de documents originaux non altérés (incluant livres, états, registres, comptes ou écrits), dans la mesure où ces dépositions ou documents peuvent être obtenus sur la base de la législation ou dans le cadre de la pratique administrative relative aux propres impôts de cet autre État.

ARTICLE 26

Membres des missions diplomatiques et postes consulaires

- 1. Les dispositions de la présente Convention ne portent pas atteinte aux privilèges fiscaux dont bénéficient les membres des missions diplomatiques ou postes consulaires en vertu soit des règles générales du droit international, soit des dispositions d'accords particuliers.
- 2. Nonobstant les dispositions de l'article 4, une personne physique qui est membre d'une mission diplomatique, d'un poste consulaire ou d'une délégation permanente d'un État contractant qui est situé dans l'autre État contractant ou dans un État tiers est considérée, aux fins de la Convention, comme un résident seulement de l'État accréditant à condition qu'elle soit soumise dans l'État accréditant aux mêmes obligations, en matière d'impôts sur l'ensemble de son revenu, que les résidents de cet État.
- 3. La Convention ne s'applique pas aux organisations internationales, à leurs organes ou à leurs fonctionnaires, ni aux personnes qui sont membres d'une mission diplomatique, d'un poste consulaire ou d'une délégation permanente d'un État tiers ou d'un groupe d'États, lorsqu'ils se trouvent sur le territoire d'un État contractant et ne sont pas soumis dans l'un ou l'autre État contractant aux mêmes obligations, en matière d'impôts sur l'ensemble de leur revenu, que les résidents de ces États.

ARTICLE 27

Conventions fiscales (2001) — Annexe 2

Miscellaneous Rules

- 1. The provisions of this Convention shall not be construed to restrict in any manner any exemption, allowance, credit or other deduction accorded
 - (a) by the laws of a Contracting State in the determination of the tax imposed by that State; or
 - (b) by any other agreement entered into by a Contracting
- 2. Nothing in the Convention shall be construed as preventing a Contracting State from imposing a tax on amounts included in the income of a resident of that State with respect to a partnership, trust, or controlled foreign affiliate, in which that resident has an interest.
- 3. The Convention shall not apply to any company, trust, partnership or other entity that is a resident of a Contracting State and is beneficially owned or controlled, directly or indirectly, by one or more persons who are not residents of that State, if the amount of the tax imposed on the income or capital of the company, trust, partnership or other entity by that State is substantially lower than the amount that would be imposed by that State if all of the shares of the capital stock of the company or all of the interests in the trust, partnership and other entity, as the case may be, were beneficially owned by one or more individuals who were residents of that State.
- 4. For the purposes of paragraph 3 of Article XXII (Consultation) of the General Agreement on Trade in Services, the Contracting States agree that, notwithstanding that paragraph, any dispute between them as to whether a measure falls within the scope of this Convention may be brought before the Council for Trade in Services, as provided by that paragraph, only with the consent of both Contracting States. Any doubt as to the interpretation of this paragraph shall be resolved under paragraph 4 of Article 24 or, failing agreement under that procedure, pursuant to any other procedure agreed to by both Contracting States.

ARTICLE 27

Dispositions diverses

- 1. Les dispositions de la présente Convention ne peuvent être interprétées comme limitant d'une manière quelconque les exonérations, abattements, déductions, crédits ou autres allégements qui sont ou seront accordés
 - a) par la législation d'un État contractant pour la détermination de l'impôt prélevé par cet État ou
 - b) par tout autre accord conclu par un État contractant.
- 2. Aucune disposition de la Convention ne peut être interprétée comme empêchant un État contractant de prélever un impôt sur les montants inclus dans le revenu d'un résident de cet État à l'égard d'une société de personnes, d'une fiducie ou d'une société étrangère affiliée contrôlée dans laquelle il possède une participation.
- 3. La Convention ne s'applique pas à une société, une fiducie, une société de personnes ou une autre entité qui est un résident d'un État contractant et dont une ou plusieurs personnes qui ne sont pas des résidents de cet État en sont les bénéficiaires effectifs ou qui est contrôlée, directement ou indirectement, par de telles personnes, si le montant de l'impôt exigé par cet État sur le revenu ou la fortune de la société, fiducie, société de personnes ou autre entité est largement inférieur au montant qui serait exigé par cet État si une ou plusieurs personnes physiques qui sont des résidents de cet État étaient les bénéficiaires effectifs de toutes les actions de capital de la société ou de toutes les participations dans la fiducie, la société de personnes ou autre entité, selon le cas.
- 4. Aux fins du paragraphe 3 de l'Article XXII (Consultation) de l'Accord général sur le Commerce des Services, les États contractants conviennent que, nonobstant les dispositions de ce paragraphe, tout désaccord entre eux sur la question de savoir si une mesure relève de la présente Convention ne peut être porté devant le Conseil du Commerce des Services, comme le prévoit ce paragraphe, qu'avec le consentement des deux États contractants. Toute incertitude quant à l'interprétation du présent paragraphe doit être résolue conformément au paragraphe 4 de l'article 24, ou à défaut, selon toute procédure dont conviennent les deux États contractants.

- 5. Contributions in a year in respect of services rendered in that year paid by, or on behalf of, an individual who is a resident of a Contracting State or who is temporarily present in that State to a pension plan that is recognised for tax purposes in the other Contracting State shall, during a period not exceeding in the aggregate 60 months, be treated in the same way for tax purposes in the first-mentioned State as a contribution paid to a pension plan that is recognised for tax purposes in that first-mentioned State. if
 - (a) such individual was contributing on a regular basis to the pension plan for a period ending immediately before that individual became a resident of or temporarily present in the first-mentioned State; and
 - (b) the competent authority of the first-mentioned State agrees that the pension plan generally corresponds to a pension plan recognised for tax purposes by that State.

For the purposes of this paragraph, "pension plan" includes a pension plan created under the social security system in a Contracting State.

VI. FINAL PROVISIONS

ARTICLE 28

Entry Into Force

- 1. The Governments of the Contracting States shall notify each other, through diplomatic channels, that the constitutional requirements for the entry into force of this Convention have been complied with.
- 2. The Convention shall enter into force upon the date of the later of the notifications referred to in paragraph 1 and its provisions shall have effect:
 - (a) in respect of tax withheld at the source on amounts paid or credited, on or after the first day of January in the calendar year next following that in which the Convention enters into force; and
 - (b) in respect of other taxes, for taxation years beginning on or after the first day of January in the calendar year next following that in which the Convention enters into force.

- 5. Les contributions pour l'année à l'égard de services rendus au cours de cette année payées par une personne physique ou pour le compte d'une personne physique, qui est un résident d'un État contractant ou qui y séjourne d'une façon temporaire, à un régime de pension qui est reconnu aux fins d'imposition dans l'autre État contractant sont, pendant une période n'excédant pas au total 60 mois, considérées aux fins d'imposition dans le premier État de la même manière que les contributions payées à un régime de pension qui est reconnu aux fins d'imposition dans le premier État, pourvu que :
 - a) cette personne physique ait contribué d'une façon régulière au régime de pension pendant une période se terminant immédiatement avant qu'elle ne devienne un résident du premier État ou qu'elle n'y séjourne de façon temporaire; et
 - b) l'autorité compétente du premier État convienne que le régime de pension correspond généralement à un régime de pension reconnu aux fins d'imposition par cet État.

Aux fins du présent paragraphe, « régime de pension » comprend un régime de pension créé en vertu du système de sécurité sociale dans un État contractant.

VI. DISPOSITIONS FINALES

ARTICLE 28

Entrée en vigueur

- 1. Les Gouvernements des États contractants se notifient l'un l'autre, par la voie diplomatique, que les exigences constitutionnelles requises pour l'entrée en vigueur de la présente Convention ont été remplies.
- 2. La Convention entrera en vigueur à la date de la dernière des notifications visées au paragraphe 1 et ses dispositions seront applicables :
 - a) à l'égard de l'impôt retenu à la source sur les montants payés à des non-résidents ou portés à leur crédit, à partir du 1^{er} janvier de l'année civile suivant celle au cours de laquelle la Convention entre en vigueur; et
 - b) à l'égard des autres impôts, pour toute année d'imposition commençant à partir du 1^{er} janvier de l'année civile suivant celle au cours de laquelle la Convention entre en vigueur.

Termination

This Convention shall remain in force until terminated by one of the Contracting States. Either Contracting State may terminate the Convention, through diplomatic channels, by giving notice of termination at least six months before the end of any calendar year as from the fifth year following that in which the Convention enters into force. In such event, the Convention shall cease to have effect:

- (a) in respect of tax withheld at the source on amounts paid or credited, on or after the first day of January of the next following calendar year; and
- (b) in respect of other taxes, for taxation years beginning on or after the first day of January of the next following calendar year.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the undersigned, duly authorized to that effect, have signed this Convention.

DONE in duplicate at Quito, this 28th day of June, 2001, in the English, French and Spanish languages, each version being equally authentic.

FOR THE GOVERNMENT OF CANADA

FOR THE GOVERNMENT OF THE REPUBLIC OF ECUADOR

John G. Kneale

Heinz Moeller Freile

PART 2

PROTOCOL

At the moment of signing the Convention this day concluded between the Government of Canada and the Government of the Republic of Ecuador for the avoidance of double taxation and the prevention of fiscal evasion with respect to taxes on income, the undersigned have agreed upon the following provisions which shall be an integral part of the Convention.

1. The Convention shall not apply to the tax on Monetary Transactions (*Impuesto a la Circulaci«n de Capitales*).

ARTICLE 29

Dénonciation

La présente Convention restera en vigueur jusqu'à ce qu'elle soit dénoncée par l'un des États contractants. Chacun des États contractants pourra dénoncer la Convention, par la voie diplomatique, en donnant un avis de dénonciation d'au moins six mois avant la fin de toute année civile commençant à partir de la

cinquième année suivant celle de l'entrée en vigueur de la

Convention. Dans ce cas, la Convention cessera d'être applica-

ble:

a) à l'égard de l'impôt retenu à la source sur les montants payés ou crédités à partir du 1^{er} janvier de l'année civile subséquente: et

b) à l'égard des autres impôts, pour toute année d'imposition commençant à partir du 1^{er} janvier de l'année civile subséquente.

EN FOI DE QUOI les soussignés, dûment autorisés à cet effet, ont signé la présente Convention.

FAIT en double exemplaire à Quito ce 28ème jour de juin 2001, en langues française, anglaise et espagnole, chaque version faisant également foi.

POUR LE GOUVERNEMENT DU CANADA POUR LE GOUVERNE-MENT DE LA RÉPUBLI-QUE DE L'ÉQUATEUR

John G. Kneale

Heinz Moeller Freile

PARTIE 2

PROTOCOLE

Au moment de procéder à la signature de la Convention conclue ce jour entre le Gouvernement du Canada et le Gouvernement de la République de l'Équateur en vue d'éviter les doubles impositions et de prévenir l'évasion fiscale en matière d'impôts sur le revenu, les soussignés sont convenus des dispositions suivantes qui font partie intégrante de la Convention.

1. La Convention ne s'applique pas à l'impôt sur les transactions monétaires (*Impuesto a la Circulaci«n de Capitales*).

- 2. With reference to subparagraph (*b*) of paragraph 2 of Article 12, in the event that pursuant to an agreement or convention concluded with a country that is a member of the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, after the date of signature of the Convention, Ecuador agrees to a rate of tax on royalties referred to in that subparagraph (*b*) that is lower than 15 per cent, the following shall apply for the purposes of that subparagraph:
 - (a) to the extent that such lower rate applies to:
 - (i) copyright royalties and other like payments in respect of the production or reproduction of any literary, dramatic, musical or other artistic work (but not including royalties in respect of motion picture films nor royalties in respect of works on film or videotape or other means of reproduction for use in connection with television), or
 - (ii) royalties for the use of, or the right to use, computer software or any patent or for information concerning industrial, commercial or scientific experience (but not including any such royalty provided in connection with a rental or franchise agreement),

that lower rate shall automatically apply in similar circumstances.

- (b) to the extent that such lower rate applies to other royalties referred to in that subparagraph, the greater of such lower rate and the rate of 10 per cent shall automatically apply in similar circumstances.
- 3. With reference to paragraph 3 of Article 12, it is understood that the term "royalties" includes payments for the use of, or the right to use, rights of breeders of new varieties of plants.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the undersigned, duly authorized to that effect, have signed this Protocol.

DONE in duplicate at Quito, this 28th day of June, 2001, in the English, French and Spanish languages, each version being equally authentic.

FOR THE GOVERNMENT CANADA

FOR THE GOVERNMENT OF OF THE REPUBLIC OF

ECUADOR

John G. Kneale Heinz Moeller Freile

- 2. En ce qui concerne l'alinéa *b*) du paragraphe 2 de l'article 12, dans l'éventualité où l'Équateur, dans le cadre d'une convention ou d'un accord conclu avec un pays membre de l'Organisation de coopération et de développement économiques après la date de signature de la Convention, accepterait un taux d'imposition sur les redevances visées à cet alinéa *b*) qui est inférieur à 15 pour cent, les dispositions suivantes s'appliqueront aux fins de cet alinéa :
 - a) dans la mesure où ce taux inférieur s'applique :
 - (i) aux redevances à titre de droits d'auteur et autres rémunérations similaires concernant la production ou la reproduction d'une oeuvre littéraire, dramatique, musicale ou autre oeuvre artistique, (à l'exclusion des redevances concernant les films cinématographiques et les redevances concernant les oeuvres enregistrées sur films, bandes magnétoscopiques ou autres moyens de reproduction destinés à la télévision),
 - (ii) aux redevances pour l'usage ou la concession de l'usage d'un logiciel d'ordinateur ou d'un brevet ou pour des informations ayant trait à une expérience acquise dans le domaine industriel, commercial ou scientifique (à l'exclusion de toute redevance dans le cadre d'un contrat de location ou de franchisage)
 - ce taux inférieur s'appliquera automatiquement dans des conditions similaires;
 - b) dans la mesure où ce taux inférieur s'applique à toute autre redevance visée à cet alinéa, le plus élevé du taux inférieur et du taux de 10 pour cent, s'applique automatiquement dans des conditions similaires.
- 3. En ce qui concerne le paragraphe 3 de l'article 12, il est entendu que le terme « redevances » comprend les rémunérations payées pour l'usage ou la concession de l'usage d'un droit ayant trait à la phytogénétique de nouvelles variétés de plantes.

EN FOI DE QUOI les soussignés, dûment autorisés à cet effet, ont signé le présent Protocole.

FAIT en double exemplaire à Quito ce 28ème jour de juin 2001, en langues française, anglaise et espagnole, chaque version faisant également foi.

POUR LE GOUVERNEMENT DU CANADA POUR LE GOUVERNE-MENT DE LA RÉPUBLIQUE DE L'ÉQUATEUR

John G. Kneale Heinz Moeller Freile

SCHEDULE 3 (Section 15)

PART 1

CONVENTION BETWEEN THE GOVERNMENT OF CANADA AND THE GOVERNMENT OF THE BOLIVARIAN REPUBLIC OF VENEZUELA FOR THE AVOIDANCE OF DOUBLE TAXATION AND THE PREVENTION OF FISCAL AVOIDANCE AND EVASION WITH RESPECT TO TAXES ON INCOME AND ON CAPITAL

The Government of Canada and the Government of the Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela, desiring to conclude a Convention for the avoidance of double taxation and the prevention of fiscal avoidance and evasion with respect to taxes on income and on capital, have agreed as follows:

I. SCOPE OF THE CONVENTION

ARTICLE 1

Persons Covered

This Convention shall apply to persons who are residents of one or both of the Contracting States.

ARTICLE 2

Taxes Covered

- 1. This Convention shall apply to taxes on income and on capital imposed on behalf of each Contracting State, irrespective of the manner in which they are levied.
- 2. There shall be regarded as taxes on income and on capital all taxes imposed on total income, or on total capital, or on elements of income or of capital, including taxes on gains from the alienation of movable or immovable property, as well as taxes on capital appreciation.
- 3. The existing taxes to which the Convention shall apply are, in particular:
 - (a) in the case of Canada:

the taxes imposed by the Government of Canada under the *Income Tax Act*, (hereinafter referred to as "Canadian tax");

(b) in the case of Venezuela:

the taxes on income and the business assets tax, (hereinafter referred to as "Venezuelan tax").

ANNEXE 3 (article 15)

PARTIE 1

CONVENTION ENTRE LE GOUVERNEMENT DU CANADA ET LE GOUVERNEMENT DE LA RÉPUBLIQUE BOLIVARIENNE DU VENEZUELA EN VUE D'ÉVITER LES DOUBLES IMPOSITIONS ET DE PRÉVENIR L'ÉVASION ET LA FRAUDE FISCALES EN MATIÈRE D'IMPÔTS SUR LE REVENU ET SUR LA FORTUNE

Le Gouvernement du Canada et le Gouvernement de la République Bolivarienne du Venezuela, désireux de conclure une Convention en vue d'éviter les doubles impositions et de prévenir l'évasion et la fraude fisc les en matière d'impôts sur le revenu et sur la fortune, sont convenus des dispositions suivantes :

I. CHAMP D'APPLICATION DE LA CONVENTION

ARTICLE PREMIER

Personnes visées

La présente Convention s'applique aux personnes qui sont des résidents d'un État contractant ou des deux États contractants.

ARTICLE 2

Impôts visés

- 1. La présente Convention s'applique aux impôts sur le revenu et sur la fortune perçus pour le compte de chacun des États contractants, quel que soit le système de perception.
- 2. Sont considérés comme impôts sur le revenu et sur la fortune les impôts perçus sur le revenu total, sur la fortune totale, ou sur des éléments du revenu ou de la fortune, y compris les impôts sur les gains provenant de l'aliénation de biens mobiliers ou immobiliers, ainsi que les impôts sur les plus-values.
- 3. Les impôts actuels auxquels s'applique la Convention sont notamment :
 - a) en ce qui concerne le Canada :

les impôts qui sont perçus par le Gouvernement du Canada en vertu de la *Loi de l'impôt sur le revenu*, (ci-après dénommés « impôt canadien »);

b) en ce qui concerne le Venezuela :

les impôts sur le revenu et l'impôt sur les actifs commerciaux, (ci-après dénommés « impôt vénézuélien »).

4. The Convention shall apply also to any identical or substantially similar taxes which are imposed after the date of signature of the Convention in addition to, or in place of, the existing taxes. The competent authorities of the Contracting States shall notify each other of any significant changes which have been made in their respective taxation laws.

II. DEFINITIONS

ARTICLE 3

General Definitions

- 1. For the purposes of this Convention, unless the context otherwise requires:
 - (a) the terms "a Contracting State" and "the other Contracting State" mean, as the context requires, Canada or Venezuela;
 - (b) the term "person" includes an individual, a trust, a company, a partnership and any other body of persons;
 - (c) the term "company" means any body corporate or any entity which is treated as a body corporate for tax purposes;
 - (d) the terms "enterprise of a Contracting State" and "enterprise of the other Contracting State" mean respectively an enterprise carried on by a resident of a Contracting State and an enterprise carried on by a resident of the other Contracting State;
 - (e) the term "competent authority" means:
 - (i) in the case of Canada, the Minister of National Revenue or the Minister's authorized representative, and
 - (ii) in the case of Venezuela, the Integrated National Service of Customs and Tax Administration (Servicio Nacional Integrado de Administraci«n Aduanera y Tributaria SENIAT), its authorized representative or the authority which is designated as a competent authority for the purposes of the Convention;
 - (f) the term "national" means:
 - (i) any individual possessing the nationality of a Contracting State;
 - (ii) any legal person, partnership or association deriving its status as such from the laws in force in a Contracting State;
 - (g) the term "international traffic" means any voyage of a ship or aircraft operated by an enterprise of a Contracting State to transport passengers or property except where the principal purpose of the voyage is to transport passengers or property between places within the other Contracting State.

4. La Convention s'applique aussi aux impôts de nature identique ou analogue qui seraient établis après la date de signature de la Convention et qui s'ajouteraient aux impôts actuels ou qui les remplaceraient. Les autorités compétentes des États contractants se communiquent les modifications importantes apportées à leurs législations fiscales respectives.

II. DÉFINITIONS

ARTICLE 3

Définitions générales

- 1. Au sens de la présente Convention, à moins que le contexte n'exige une interprétation différente :
 - a) les expressions « un État contractant » et « l'autre État contractant » désignent, suivant le contexte, le Canada ou le Venezuela;
 - b) le terme « personne » comprend les personnes physiques, les fiducies, les sociétés, les sociétés de personnes et tous autres groupements de personnes;
 - c) le terme « société » désigne toute personne morale ou toute entité qui est considérée comme une personne morale aux fins d'imposition;
 - d) les expressions « entreprise d'un État contractant » et « entreprise de l'autre État contractant » désignent respectivement une entreprise exploitée par un résident d'un État contractant et une entreprise exploitée par un résident de l'autre État contractant;
 - e) l'expression « autorité compétente » désigne :
 - (i) en ce qui concerne le Canada, le ministre du Revenu national ou son représentant autorisé, et
 - (ii) en ce qui concerne le Venezuela, le service national intégré de l'administration des impôts et des douanes (Servicio Nacional Integrado de Administraci«n Aduanera y Tributaria SENIAT), son représentant autorisé ou l'autorité qui est désignée comme autorité compétente aux fins de la Convention;
 - f) le terme « national » désigne :
 - (i) toute personne physique qui possède la nationalité d'un État contractant;
 - (ii) toute personne morale, société de personnes ou association constituée conformément à la législation en vigueur dans un État contractant;
 - g) l'expression « trafic international » désigne tout voyage effectué par un navire ou un aéronef exploité par une entreprise d'un État contractant pour transporter des passagers ou des biens sauf lorsque l'objet principal du voyage est de transporter des passagers ou des biens entre des points situés dans l'autre État contractant.

2. As regards the application of the Convention at any time by a Contracting State any term not defined therein shall, unless the context otherwise requires, have the meaning which it has at that time under the law of that State concerning the taxes to which the Convention applies, any meaning under the tax laws of that State prevailing over a meaning given to the term under other laws of that State.

ARTICLE 4

Resident

- 1. For the purposes of this Convention, the term "resident of a Contracting State" means:
 - (a) any person who, under the laws of that State, is liable to tax therein by reason of the person's domicile, residence, place of management, place of incorporation or any other criterion of a similar nature but does not include any person who is liable to tax in that State in respect only of income from sources in that State, and
 - (b) the Government of that State or a political subdivision or local authority thereof or any agency or instrumentality of any such government, subdivision or authority.
- 2. Where by reason of the provisions of paragraph 1 an individual is a resident of both Contracting States, then the individual's status shall be determined as follows:
 - (a) the individual shall be deemed to be a resident only of the State in which the individual has a permanent home available and if the individual has a permanent home available in both States, the individual shall be deemed to be a resident only of the State with which the individual's personal and economic relations are closer (centre of vital interests);
 - (b) if the State in which the individual's centre of vital interests cannot be determined, or if there is not a permanent home available to the individual in either State, the individual shall be deemed to be a resident only of the State in which the individual has an habitual abode;
 - (c) if the individual has an habitual abode in both States or in neither of them, the individual shall be deemed to be a resident only of the State of which the individual is a national;
 - (d) if the individual is a national of both States or of neither of them, the competent authorities of the Contracting States shall settle the question by mutual agreement.

2. Pour l'application de la Convention à un moment donné par un État contractant, tout terme ou expression qui n'y est pas défini a, sauf si le contexte exige une interprétation différente, le sens que lui attribue, à ce moment, le droit de cet État concernant les impôts auxquels s'applique la Convention, le sens attribué à ce terme ou expression par le droit fiscal de cet État prévalant sur le sens que lui attribue les autres branches du droit de cet État.

ARTICLE 4

Résident

- 1. Au sens de la présente Convention, l'expression « résident d'un État contractant » désigne :
 - a) toute personne qui, en vertu de la législation de cet État, est assujettie à l'impôt dans cet État en raison de son domicile, de sa résidence, de son siège de direction, de son lieu de constitution ou de tout autre critère de nature analogue; toutefois, cette expression ne comprend pas les personnes qui ne sont assujetties à l'impôt dans cet État que pour les revenus de sources situées dans cet État, et
 - b) le Gouvernement de cet État ou l'une de ses subdivisions politiques ou collectivités locales ou toute personne morale de droit public de cet État, subdivision ou collectivité.
- 2. Lorsque, selon les dispositions du paragraphe l, une personne physique est un résident des deux États contractants, sa situation est réglée de la manière suivante :
 - a) cette personne est considérée comme un résident seulement de l'État où elle dispose d'un foyer d'habitation permanent; si elle dispose d'un foyer d'habitation permanent dans les deux États, elle est considérée comme un résident seulement de l'État avec lequel ses liens personnels et économiques sont les plus étroits (centre des intérêts vitaux);
 - b) si l'État où cette personne a le centre de ses intérêts vitaux ne peut pas être déterminé, ou si elle ne dispose d'un foyer d'habitation permanent dans aucun des États, elle est considérée comme un résident seulement de l'État où elle séjourne de facon habituelle;
 - c) si cette personne séjourne de façon habituelle dans les deux États ou si elle ne séjourne de façon habituelle dans aucun d'eux, elle est considérée comme un résident seulement de l'État dont elle possède la nationalité;
 - d) si cette personne possède la nationalité des deux États ou si elle ne possède la nationalité d'aucun d'eux, les autorités compétentes des États contractants tranchent la question d'un commun accord.

- 3. Where by reason of the provisions of paragraph 1 a company is a resident of both Contracting States, then its status shall be determined as follows:
 - (a) it shall be deemed to be a resident only of the State of which it is a national:
 - (b) if it is a national of neither of the States, it shall be deemed to be a resident only of the State in which its place of effective management is situated.
- 4. Where by reason of the provisions of paragraph 1 a person other than an individual or a company is a resident of both Contracting States, the competent authorities of the Contracting States shall by mutual agreement endeavour to settle the question and to determine the mode of application of the Convention to such person.

Permanent Establishment

- 1. For the purposes of this Convention, the term "permanent establishment" means a fixed place of business through which the business of an enterprise is wholly or partly carried on.
 - 2. The term "permanent establishment" includes especially:
 - (a) a place of management;
 - (b) a branch;
 - (c) an office;
 - (d) a factory;
 - (e) a workshop; and
 - (f) a mine, an oil or gas well, a quarry or any other place relating to the exploration for or the exploitation of natural resources.
- 3. A building site or construction or installation project constitutes a permanent establishment only where such site or project continues for a period or periods aggregating more than 183 days within any twelve month period commencing or ending in the taxable year concerned.
- 4. Notwithstanding the preceding provisions of this Article, the term "permanent establishment" shall be deemed not to include:

- 3. Lorsque, selon les dispositions du paragraphe l, une société est un résident des deux États contractants, sa situation est réglée de la manière suivante :
 - a) elle est considérée comme un résident seulement de l'État dont elle est un national:
 - b) si elle n'est un national d'aucun des États, elle est considérée comme un résident uniquement de l'État où se trouve son siège de direction effective.
- 4. Lorsque, selon les dispositions du paragraphe 1, une personne autre qu'une personne physique ou une société est un résident des deux États contractants, les autorités compétentes des États contractants s'efforcent d'un commun accord de trancher la question et de déterminer les modalités d'application de la Convention à cette personne.

ARTICLE 5

Établissement stable

- 1. Au sens de la présente Convention, l'expression « établissement stable » désigne une installation fixe d'affaires par l'intermédiaire de laquelle une entreprise exerce tout ou partie de son activité
- 2. L'expression « établissement stable » comprend notamment :
 - a) un siège de direction;
 - b) une succursale;
 - c) un bureau;
 - d) une usine:
 - e) un atelier; et
 - f) une mine, un puits de pétrole ou de gaz, une carrière ou tout autre lieu relié à l'exploration ou à l'exploitation des ressources naturelles.
- 3. Un chantier de construction ou de montage constitue un établissement stable seulement si sa durée se poursuit pendant une période ou des périodes excédant au total plus de 183 jours au cours de toute période de douze mois commençant ou se terminant dans l'année d'imposition considérée.
- 4. Nonobstant les dispositions précédentes du présent article, on considère qu'il n'y a pas « établissement stable » si :

- (a) the use of facilities solely for the purpose of storage, display or delivery of goods or merchandise belonging to the enterprise;
- (b) the maintenance of a stock of goods or merchandise belonging to the enterprise solely for the purpose of storage, display or delivery;
- (c) the maintenance of a stock of goods or merchandise belonging to the enterprise solely for the purpose of processing by another enterprise;
- (d) the maintenance of a fixed place of business solely for the purpose of purchasing goods or merchandise or of collecting information, for the enterprise;
- (e) the maintenance of a fixed place of business solely for the purpose of carrying on, for the enterprise, any other activity of a preparatory or auxiliary character;
- (f) the maintenance of a fixed place of business solely for any combination of activities mentioned in subparagraphs (a) to (e) provided that the overall activity of the fixed place of business resulting from this combination is of a preparatory or auxiliary character.
- 5. Notwithstanding the provisions of paragraphs 1 and 2, where a person other than an agent of an independent status to whom paragraph 6 applies is acting on behalf of an enterprise and has, and habitually exercises in a Contracting State an authority to conclude contracts on behalf of the enterprise, that enterprise shall be deemed to have a permanent establishment in that State in respect of any activities which that person undertakes for the enterprise unless the activities of such person are limited to those mentioned in paragraph 4 which, if exercised through a fixed place of business, would not make this fixed place of business a permanent establishment under the provisions of that paragraph.
- 6. An enterprise shall not be deemed to have a permanent establishment in a Contracting State merely because it carries on business in that State through a broker, general commission agent or any other agent of an independent status, provided that such persons are acting in the ordinary course of their business.
- 7. The fact that a company which is a resident of a Contracting State controls or is controlled by a company which is a resident of the other Contracting State, or which carries on business in that other State (whether through a permanent establishment or otherwise), shall not of itself constitute either company a permanent establishment of the other.

- a) il est fait usage d'installations aux seules fins de stockage, d'exposition ou de livraison de marchandises appartenant à l'entreprise;
- b) des marchandises appartenant à l'entreprise sont entreposées aux seules fins de stockage, d'exposition ou de livraison;
- c) des marchandises appartenant à l'entreprise sont entreposées aux seules fins de transformation par une autre entreprise;
- d) une installation fixe d'affaires est utilisée aux seules fins d'acheter des marchandises ou de réunir des informations pour l'entreprise;
- e) une installation fixe d'affaires est utilisée aux seules fins d'exercer, pour l'entreprise, toute autre activité de caractère préparatoire ou auxiliaire;
- f) une installation fixe d'affaires est utilisée aux seules fins de l'exercice cumulé d'activités mentionnées aux alinéas a) à e), à condition que l'activité d'ensemble de l'installation fixe d'affaires résultant de ce cumul garde un caractère préparatoire ou auxiliaire.
- 5. Nonobstant les dispositions des paragraphes 1 et 2, lorsqu'une personne autre qu'un agent jouissant d'un statut indépendant auquel s'applique le paragraphe 6 agit pour le compte d'une entreprise et dispose dans un État contractant de pouvoirs qu'elle y exerce habituellement lui permettant de conclure des contrats pour le compte de l'entreprise, cette entreprise est considérée comme ayant un établissement stable dans cet État pour toutes les activités que cette personne exerce pour l'entreprise, à moins que les activités de cette personne ne soient limitées à celles qui sont mentionnées au paragraphe 4 et qui, si elles étaient exercées par l'intermédiaire d'une installation fixe d'affaires, ne permettraient pas de considérer cette installation comme un établissement stable selon les dispositions de ce paragraphe.
- 6. Une entreprise n'est pas considérée comme ayant un établissement stable dans un État contractant du seul fait qu'elle y exerce son activité par l'entremise d'un courtier, d'un commissionnaire général ou de tout autre agent jouissant d'un statut indépendant, à condition que ces personnes agissent dans le cadre ordinaire de leur activité.
- 7. Le fait qu'une société qui est un résident d'un État contractant contrôle ou est contrôlée par une société qui est un résident de l'autre État contractant ou qui y exerce son activité (que ce soit par l'intermédiaire d'un établissement stable ou non) ne suffit pas, en lui-même, à faire de l'une quelconque de ces sociétés un établissement stable de l'autre.

III. TAXATION OF INCOME

ARTICLE 6

Income from Immovable Property

- 1. Income derived by a resident of a Contracting State from immovable property (including income from agriculture or forestry) situated in the other Contracting State may be taxed in that other State.
- 2. For the purposes of this Convention, the term "immovable property" shall have the meaning which it has for the purpose of the relevant law of the Contracting State in which the property in question is situated. The term shall in any case include property accessory to immovable property, livestock and equipment used in agriculture and forestry, rights to which the provisions of general law respecting landed property apply, usufruct of immovable property and rights to variable or fixed payments as consideration for the working of, or the right to work, mineral deposits, sources and other natural resources; ships and aircraft shall not be regarded as immovable property.
- 3. The provisions of paragraph 1 shall apply to income derived from the direct use, letting, or use in any other form of immovable property and to income from the alienation of such property.
- 4. The provisions of paragraphs 1 and 3 shall also apply to the income from immovable property of an enterprise and to income from immovable property used for the performance of independent personal services.

ARTICLE 7

Business Profits

- 1. The profits of an enterprise of a Contracting State shall be taxable only in that State unless the enterprise carries on business in the other Contracting State through a permanent establishment situated therein. If the enterprise carries on or has carried on business as aforesaid, the profits of the enterprise may be taxed in the other State but only so much of them as is attributable to that permanent establishment.
- 2. Subject to the provisions of paragraph 3, where an enterprise of a Contracting State carries on business in the other Contracting State through a permanent establishment situated therein, there shall in each Contracting State be attributed to that permanent establishment the profits which it might be expected to make if it were a distinct and separate enterprise engaged in the same or similar activities under the same or similar conditions and dealing wholly independently with the enterprise of which it is a permanent establishment and with all other persons.

III. IMPOSITION DES REVENUS

ARTICLE 6

Revenus immobiliers

- 1. Les revenus qu'un résident d'un État contractant tire de biens immobiliers (y compris les revenus des exploitations agricoles ou forestières) situés dans l'autre État contractant, sont imposables dans cet autre État.
- 2. Au sens de la présente Convention, l'expression « biens immobiliers » a le sens qu'elle a aux fins de la législation fiscale pertinente de l'État contractant où les biens considérés sont situés. L'expression comprend en tous cas les accessoires, le cheptel mort ou vif des exploitations agricoles et forestières, les droits auxquels s'appliquent les dispositions du droit privé concernant la propriété foncière, l'usufruit des biens immobiliers et les droits à des paiements variables ou fixes pour l'exploitation ou la concession de l'exploitation de gisements minéraux, sources et autres ressources naturelles; les navires et aéronefs ne sont pas considérés comme des biens immobiliers.
- 3. Les dispositions du paragraphe l s'appliquent aux revenus provenant de l'exploitation directe, de la location ou de l'affermage, ainsi que de toute autre forme d'exploitation de biens immobiliers et aux revenus provenant de l'aliénation de tels biens.
- 4. Les dispositions des paragraphes 1 et 3 s'appliquent également aux revenus provenant des biens immobiliers d'une entreprise ainsi qu'aux revenus provenant des biens immobiliers servant à l'exercice d'une profession indépendante.

ARTICLE 7

Bénéfices des entreprises

- 1. Les bénéfices d'une entreprise d'un État contractant ne sont imposables que dans cet État, à moins que l'entreprise n'exerce son activité dans l'autre État contractant par l'intermédiaire d'un établissement stable qui y est situé. Si l'entreprise exerce ou a exercé son activité d'une telle façon, les bénéfices de l'entreprise sont imposables dans l'autre État mais uniquement dans la mesure où ils sont imputables à cet établissement stable.
- 2. Sous réserve des dispositions du paragraphe 3, lorsqu'une entreprise d'un État contractant exerce son activité dans l'autre État contractant par l'intermédiaire d'un établissement stable qui y est situé, il est imputé, dans chaque État contractant, à cet établissement stable les bénéfices qu'il aurait pu réaliser s'il avait constitué une entreprise distincte exerçant des activités identiques ou analogues dans des conditions identiques ou analogues et traitant en toute indépendance avec l'entreprise dont il constitue un établissement stable et avec toutes autres personnes.

- 3. In the determination of the profits of a permanent establishment in a Contracting State, there shall, in accordance with the law of that State, be allowed as deductions expenses which are incurred for the purposes of the business activities of the permanent establishment including executive and general administrative expenses, whether incurred in the State in which the permanent establishment is situated or elsewhere. However, no such deduction shall be allowed in respect of amounts, if any, paid (otherwise than as a reimbursement of actual expenses) by the permanent establishment to the head office of the enterprise or any of its other offices as royalties, fees or other similar payments in return for the use of patents or other rights, or by way of commission, for specific services performed or for management, or, except in the case of a bank, as interest on moneys lent to the permanent establishment.
- 4. No profits shall be attributed to a permanent establishment by reason of the mere purchase by that permanent establishment of goods or merchandise for the enterprise.
- 5. For the purposes of the preceding paragraphs, the profits to be attributed to the permanent establishment shall be determined by the same method year by year unless there is good and sufficient reason to the contrary.
- 6. Where profits include items of income which are dealt with separately in other Articles of this Convention, then the provisions of those Articles shall not be affected by the provisions of this Article.

ARTICLE 8

Shipping and Air Transport

The provisions of this Convention shall not affect the application of the reciprocal exemption from taxes on income with respect to income from the operation of ships or aircraft in international traffic as provided in the Agreement Between the Government of Canada and the Government of the Republic of Venezuela for the Avoidance of Double Taxation Regarding Shipping and Air Transport signed at Caracas on June 26, 1990.

ARTICLE 9

Associated Enterprises

1. Where

- (a) an enterprise of a Contracting State participates directly or indirectly in the management, control or capital of an enterprise of the other Contracting State, or
- (b) the same persons participate directly or indirectly in the management, control or capital of an enterprise of a Contracting State and an enterprise of the other Contracting State,

- 3. Pour déterminer les bénéfices d'un établissement stable dans un État contractant, sont admises en déduction, conformément au droit de cet État, les dépenses qui sont exposées aux fins de l'activité commerciale de cet établissement stable, y compris les dépenses de direction et les frais généraux d'administration ainsi exposés, soit dans l'État où est situé cet établissement stable, soit ailleurs. Toutefois, aucune déduction n'est admise pour les sommes qui seraient, le cas échéant, versées (à d'autres titres que le remboursement de frais encourus) par l'établissement stable au siège central de l'entreprise ou à l'un quelconque de ses autres bureaux, en tant que redevances, honoraires ou autres paiements similaires pour l'usage d'un brevet ou d'autres droits, ou comme commission, pour des services précis rendus ou pour des activités de direction ou, sauf dans le cas d'une banque, en tant qu'intérêts sur des sommes prêtées à l'établissement stable.
- 4. Aucun bénéfice n'est imputé à un établissement stable du fait qu'il a simplement acheté des marchandises pour l'entreprise.
- 5. Aux fins des paragraphes précédents, les bénéfices à imputer à l'établissement stable sont déterminés chaque année selon la même méthode, à moins qu'il n'existe des motifs valables et suffisants de procéder autrement.
- 6. Lorsque les bénéfices comprennent des éléments de revenu traités séparément dans d'autres articles de la présente Convention, les dispositions de ces articles ne sont pas affectées par les dispositions du présent article.

ARTICLE 8

Navigation maritime et aérienne

Les dispositions de la présente Convention n'affectent d'aucune façon l'application de l'exonération réciproque de l'impôt sur le revenu à l'égard des revenus provenant de l'exploitation, en trafic international, de navires ou d'aéronefs telle que prévue dans l'Accord entre le Gouvernement du Canada et le Gouvernement de la République du Venezuela tendant à éviter la double imposition dans le domaine du transport maritime et aérien signé à Caracas le 26 juin 1990.

ARTICLE 9

Entreprises associées

1. Lorsque

Conventions fiscales (2001) — Annexe 3

- a) une entreprise d'un État contractant participe directement ou indirectement à la direction, au contrôle ou au capital d'une entreprise de l'autre État contractant, ou que
- b) les mêmes personnes participent directement ou indirectement à la direction, au contrôle ou au capital d'une entreprise d'un État contractant et d'une entreprise de l'autre État contractant,

and in either case conditions are made or imposed between the two enterprises in their commercial or financial relations which differ from those which would be made between independent enterprises, then any income which would, but for those conditions, have accrued to one of the enterprises, but, by reason of those conditions, has not so accrued, may be included in the income of that enterprise and taxed accordingly.

- 2. Where a Contracting State includes in the income of an enterprise of that State and taxes accordingly income on which an enterprise of the other Contracting State has been charged to tax in that other State and the income so included is income which would have accrued to the enterprise of the first-mentioned State if the conditions made between the two enterprises had been those which would have been made between independent enterprises, then that other State, if it agrees with such adjustment, shall, in accordance with paragraph 4 of Article 25, make an appropriate adjustment to the amount of tax charged therein on that income. In determining such adjustment, due regard shall be had to the other provisions of this Convention.
- 3. A Contracting State shall not change the income of an enterprise in the circumstances referred to in paragraph 1 after the expiry of the time limits provided in its domestic laws and, in any case, after five years from the end of the year in which the income which would be subject to such change would, but for the conditions referred to in paragraph 1, have accrued to that enterprise.
- 4. The provisions of paragraphs 2 and 3 shall not apply in the case of fraud, wilful default or neglect.

ARTICLE 10

Dividends

- 1. Dividends paid by a company which is a resident of a Contracting State to a resident of the other Contracting State may be taxed in that other State.
- 2. However, such dividends may also be taxed in the Contracting State of which the company paying the dividends is a resident and according to the laws of that State, but if the beneficial owner of the dividends is a resident of the other Contracting State, the tax so charged shall not exceed:
 - (a) except in the case of dividends paid by a non-residentowned investment corporation that is a resident of Canada, 10 per cent of the gross amount of the dividends if the beneficial owner is a company that controls directly or indirectly at least 25 per cent of the voting power in the company paying the dividends;
 - (b) 15 per cent of the gross amount of the dividends in all other cases.

The provisions of this paragraph shall not affect the taxation of the company on the profits out of which the dividends are paid. et que, dans l'un et l'autre cas, les deux entreprises sont, dans leurs relations commerciales ou financières, liées par des conditions convenues ou imposées, qui diffèrent de celles qui seraient convenues entre des entreprises indépendantes, les revenus qui, sans ces conditions, auraient été réalisés par l'une des entreprises mais n'ont pu l'être en fait à cause de ces conditions, peuvent être inclus dans les revenus de cette entreprise et imposés en conséquence.

- 2. Lorsqu'un État contractant inclut dans les revenus d'une entreprise de cet État et impose en conséquence des revenus sur lesquels une entreprise de l'autre État contractant a été imposée dans cet autre État, et que les revenus ainsi inclus sont des revenus qui auraient été réalisés par l'entreprise du premier État si les conditions convenues entre les deux entreprises avaient été celles qui auraient été convenues entre des entreprises indépendantes, s'il est d'accord avec un tel ajustement, l'autre État procède, conformément au paragraphe 4 de l'article 25, à un ajustement approprié du montant de l'impôt qui y a été perçu sur ces revenus. Pour déterminer cet ajustement, il est tenu compte des autres dispositions de la présente Convention.
- 3. Un État contractant ne rectifiera pas les revenus d'une entreprise dans les cas visés au paragraphe l après l'expiration des délais prévus par sa législation interne et, en aucun cas, après l'expiration d'un délai de cinq ans à compter de la fin de l'année au cours de laquelle les revenus qui feraient l'objet d'une telle rectification auraient, sans les conditions visées au paragraphe 1, été réalisés par cette entreprise.
- 4. Les dispositions des paragraphes 2 et 3 ne s'appliquent pas en cas de fraude, d'omission volontaire ou de négligence.

ARTICLE 10

Dividendes

- 1. Les dividendes payés par une société qui est un résident d'un État contractant à un résident de l'autre État contractant sont imposables dans cet autre État.
- 2. Toutefois, ces dividendes sont aussi imposables dans l'État contractant dont la société qui paie les dividendes est un résident, et selon la législation de cet État, mais si le bénéficiaire effectif des dividendes est un résident de l'autre État contractant, l'impôt ainsi établi ne peut excéder :
 - a) sauf dans le cas de dividendes payés par une société qui est une société de placements appartenant à des non résidents et qui est un résident du Canada, 10 pour cent du montant brut des dividendes si le bénéficiaire effectif est une société qui contrôle directement ou indirectement au moins 25 pour cent des droits de vote de la société qui paie les dividendes;
 - b) 15 pour cent du montant brut des dividendes, dans tous les autres cas.

Les dispositions du présent paragraphe n'affectent pas l'imposition de la société au titre des bénéfices qui servent au paiement des dividendes.

3. The term "dividends" as used in this Article means income from shares, "jouissance" shares or "jouissance" rights, mining shares, founders' shares or other rights, not being debt-claims, participating in profits, as well as income which is subjected to the same taxation treatment as income from shares by the laws of the State of which the company making the distribution is a resident.

Conventions fiscales (2001) — Annexe 3

- 4. The provisions of paragraphs 1 and 2 shall not apply if the beneficial owner of the dividends, being a resident of a Contracting State, carries on business in the other Contracting State of which the company paying the dividends is a resident, through a permanent establishment situated therein, or performs in that other State independent personal services from a fixed base situated therein, and the holding in respect of which the dividends are paid is effectively connected with such permanent establishment or fixed base. In such case the provisions of Article 7 or Article 14, as the case may be, shall apply.
- 5. Where a company which is a resident of a Contracting State derives profits or income from the other Contracting State, that other State may not impose any tax on the dividends paid by the company, except insofar as such dividends are paid to a resident of that other State or insofar as the holding in respect of which the dividends are paid is effectively connected with a permanent establishment or a fixed base situated in that other State, nor subject the company's undistributed profits to a tax on undistributed profits, even if the dividends paid or the undistributed profits consist wholly or partly of profits or income arising in such other State.
- 6. Nothing in this Convention shall be construed as preventing a Contracting State from imposing on the earnings of a company attributable to a permanent establishment in that State, or on the earnings attributable to the alienation of immovable property situated in that State by a company carrying on a trade in immovable property, a tax in addition to the tax which would be chargeable on the earnings of a company which is a national of that State, provided that any additional tax so imposed shall not exceed 10 per cent of the amount of such earnings which have not been subjected to such additional tax in previous taxation years. For the purpose of this provision, the term "earnings" means the earnings attributable to the alienation of such immovable property situated in a Contracting State as may be taxed by that State under the provisions of Article 6 or of paragraph 1 of Article 13, and the profits, including any gains, attributable to a permanent establishment in a Contracting State in a year and previous years after deducting therefrom all taxes, other than the additional tax referred to herein, imposed on such profits by that State.

ARTICLE 11

Interest

1. Interest arising in a Contracting State and paid to a resident of the other Contracting State may be taxed in that other State.

- 3. Le terme « dividendes » employé dans le présent article désigne les revenus provenant d'actions, actions ou bons de jouissance, parts de mine, parts de fondateur ou autres parts bénéficiaires à l'exception des créances, ainsi que les revenus soumis au même régime fiscal que les revenus d'actions par la législation de l'État dont la société distributrice est un résident.
- 4. Les dispositions des paragraphes 1 et 2 ne s'appliquent pas lorsque le bénéficiaire effectif des dividendes, résident d'un État contractant, exerce dans l'autre État contractant dont la société qui paie les dividendes est un résident, soit une activité industrielle ou commerciale par l'intermédiaire d'un établissement stable qui y est situé, soit une profession indépendante au moyen d'une base fixe qui y est située, et que la participation génératrice des dividendes s'y rattache effectivement. Dans ce cas, les dispositions de l'article 7 ou de l'article 14, suivant les cas, sont applicables.
- 5. Lorsqu'une société qui est un résident d'un État contractant tire des bénéfices ou des revenus de l'autre État contractant, cet autre État ne peut percevoir aucun impôt sur les dividendes payés par la société, sauf dans la mesure où ces dividendes sont payés à un résident de cet autre État ou dans la mesure où la participation génératrice des dividendes se rattache effectivement à un établissement stable ou à une base fixe situés dans cet autre État, ni prélever aucun impôt, au titre de l'imposition des bénéfices non distribués, sur les bénéfices non distribués de la société, même si les dividendes payés ou les bénéfices non distribués consistent en tout ou en partie en bénéfices ou revenus provenant de cet autre État.
- 6. Aucune disposition de la présente Convention ne peut être interprétée comme empêchant un État contractant de percevoir, sur les revenus d'une société imputables à un établissement stable dans cet État, ou sur les revenus attribuables à l'aliénation de biens immobiliers situés dans cet État par une société qui exerce des activités commerciales dans le domaine des biens immobiliers, un impôt qui s'ajoute à l'impôt qui serait applicable aux revenus d'une société qui est un national de cet État, pourvu que l'impôt additionnel ainsi établi n'excède pas 10 pour cent du montant des revenus qui n'ont pas été assujettis à cet impôt additionnel au cours des années d'imposition précédentes. Au sens de la présente disposition, le terme « revenus » désigne les revenus imputables à l'aliénation de biens immobiliers situés dans un État contractant qui sont imposables par cet État en vertu des dispositions de l'article 6 ou du paragraphe 1 de l'article 13 et, les bénéfices, y compris les gains, imputables à un établissement stable dans un État contractant, pour l'année considérée ou pour les années antérieures, après déduction de tous les impôts, autres que l'impôt additionnel visé au présent paragraphe, prélevés par cet État sur lesdits bénéfices.

ARTICLE 11

Intérêts

1. Les intérêts provenant d'un État contractant et payés à un résident de l'autre État contractant sont imposables dans cet autre État.

- 2. However, such interest may also be taxed in the Contracting State in which it arises and according to the laws of that State, but if the beneficial owner of the interest is a resident of the other Contracting State, the tax so charged shall not exceed 10 per cent of the gross amount of the interest.
 - 3. Notwithstanding the provisions of paragraph 2:
 - (a) interest arising in a Contracting State and paid in respect of indebtedness of the government of that State or of a political subdivision or local authority thereof shall, provided that the interest is beneficially owned by a resident of the other Contracting State, be taxable only in that other State;
 - (b) interest arising in Venezuela and paid to a resident of Canada shall be taxable only in Canada if it is paid in respect of a loan made, guaranteed or insured, or a credit extended, guaranteed or insured by the Export Development Corporation:
 - (c) interest arising in Canada and paid to a resident of Venezuela shall be taxable only in Venezuela if it is paid in respect of a loan made, guaranteed or insured, or a credit extended, guaranteed or insured by the "Fondo de Inversiones de Venezuela (FIV)" or by the "Banco de Comercio Exterior (BANCOEX)" or by any other institution, wholly owned by the government of Venezuela, specified and agreed in letters exchanged between the competent authorities of the Contracting States.
- 4. The term "interest" as used in this Article means income from debt-claims of every kind, whether or not secured by mortgage, and in particular, income from government securities and income from bonds or debentures, including premiums and prizes attaching to such securities, bonds or debentures, as well as income which is subjected to the same taxation treatment as income from money lent by the laws of the State in which the income arises. However, the term "interest" does not include income dealt with in Article 10. Penalty charges for late payment shall not be regarded as interest for the purpose of this Article.
- 5. The provisions of paragraphs 1, 2 and 3 shall not apply if the beneficial owner of the interest, being a resident of a Contracting State, carries on business in the other Contracting State in which the interest arises, through a permanent establishment situated therein, or performs in that other State independent personal services from a fixed base situated therein, and the debt-claim in respect of which the interest is paid is effectively connected with such permanent establishment or fixed base. In such case the provisions of Article 7 or Article 14, as the case may be, shall apply.
- 6. Interest shall be deemed to arise in a Contracting State when the payer is a resident of that State. Where, however, the person paying the interest, whether the payer is a resident of a Contracting State or not, has in a Contracting State a permanent establishment or a fixed base in connection with which the indebtedness on which the interest is paid was incurred, and such interest is borne by such permanent establishment or fixed base, then such interest shall be deemed to arise in the State in which the permanent establishment or fixed base is situated.

- 2. Toutefois, ces intérêts sont aussi imposables dans l'État contractant d'où ils proviennent et selon la législation de cet État, mais si le bénéficiaire effectif des intérêts est un résident de l'autre État contractant, l'impôt ainsi établi ne peut excéder l0 pour cent du montant brut des intérêts.
 - 3. Nonobstant les dispositions du paragraphe 2 :
 - a) les intérêts provenant d'un État contractant et payés sur une dette du gouvernement de cet État ou de l'une de ses subdivisions politiques ou collectivités locales, ne sont imposables que dans l'autre État contractant pourvu qu'un résident de cet autre État en soit le bénéficiaire effectif;
 - b) les intérêts provenant du Venezuela et payés à un résident du Canada ne sont imposables qu'au Canada s'ils sont payés en raison d'un prêt fait, garanti ou assuré, ou d'un crédit consenti, garanti ou assuré par la Société pour l'expansion des exportations;
 - c) les intérêts provenant du Canada et payés à un résident du Venezuela ne sont imposables qu'au Venezuela s'ils sont payés en raison d'un prêt fait, garanti ou assuré, ou d'un crédit consenti, garanti ou assuré par le « Fondo de Inversiones de Venezuela (FIV) » ou par le « Banco de Comercio Exterior (BANCOEX) » ou par toute autre institution appartenant à part entière au gouvernement du Venezuela qui est désignée et acceptée par échange de lettres entre les autorités compétentes des États contractants.
- 4. Le terme « intérêts » employé dans le présent article désigne les revenus des créances de toute nature, assorties ou non de garanties hypothécaires, et notamment les revenus des fonds publics et des obligations d'emprunt, y compris les primes et lots attachés à ces titres, ainsi que tous autres revenus soumis au même régime fiscal que les revenus de sommes prêtées par la législation de l'État d'où proviennent les revenus. Toutefois, le terme « intérêts » ne comprend pas les revenus visés à l'article 10. Les pénalisations pour paiement tardif ne sont pas considérées comme des intérêts au sens du présent article.
- 5. Les dispositions des paragraphes 1, 2 et 3 ne s'appliquent pas lorsque le bénéficiaire effectif des intérêts, résident d'un État contractant, exerce dans l'autre État contractant d'où proviennent les intérêts, soit une activité industrielle ou commerciale par l'intermédiaire d'un éta-blissement stable qui y est situé, soit une profession indépendante au moyen d'une base fixe qui y est située, et que la créance génératrice des intérêts s'y rattache effectivement. Dans ce cas, les dispositions de l'article 7 ou de l'article 14, suivant les cas, sont applicables.
- 6. Les intérêts sont considérés comme provenant d'un État contractant lorsque le débiteur est un résident de cet État. Toutefois, lorsque le débiteur des intérêts, qu'il soit ou non un résident d'un État contractant, a dans un État contractant un établissement stable, ou une base fixe, pour lequel la dette donnant lieu au paiement des intérêts a été contractée et qui supporte la charge de ces intérêts, ceux-ci sont considérés comme provenant de l'État où l'établissement stable, ou la base fixe, est situé.

7. Where, by reason of a special relationship between the payer and the beneficial owner or between both of them and some other person, the amount of the interest, having regard to the debt-claim for which it is paid, exceeds the amount which would have been agreed upon by the payer and the beneficial owner in the absence of such relationship, the provisions of this Article shall apply only to the last-mentioned amount. In such case, the excess part of the payments shall remain taxable according to the laws of each Contracting State, due regard being had to the other provisions of this Convention.

ARTICLE 12

Royalties

- 1. Royalties arising in a Contracting State and paid to a resident of the other Contracting State may be taxed in that other State.
- 2. However, such royalties may also be taxed in the Contracting State in which they arise and according to the laws of that State, but if the beneficial owner of the royalties is a resident of the other Contracting State, the tax so charged shall not exceed:
 - (a) 5 per cent of the gross amount of the royalties in the case
 - (i) copyright royalties and other like payments in respect of the production or reproduction of any literary, dramatic, musical or other artistic work (but not including royalties in respect of motion picture films nor royalties in respect of works on film or videotape or other means of reproduction for use in connection with television broadcasting) and
 - (ii) royalties for the use of, or the right to use, computer software or any patent or for information concerning industrial, commercial or scientific experience (but not including any such royalty provided in connection with a rental or franchise agreement) where the payer and the beneficial owner of the royalties are not related persons;
 - (b) 10 per cent of the gross amount of the royalties in all other cases.
- 3. The term "royalties" as used in this Article means payments of any kind received as a consideration for the use of, or the right to use, any copyright, patent, trade mark, design or model, plan, secret formula or process or other intangible property, or for the use of, or the right to use, industrial, commercial or scientific equipment, or for information concerning industrial, commercial or scientific experience, and includes payments of any kind in

7. Lorsque, en raison de relations spéciales existant entre le débiteur et le bénéficiaire effectif ou que l'un et l'autre entretiennent avec de tierces personnes, le montant des intérêts, compte tenu de la créance pour laquelle ils sont payés, excède celui dont seraient convenus le débiteur et le bénéficiaire effectif en l'absence de pareilles relations, les dispositions du présent article ne s'appliquent qu'à ce dernier montant. Dans ce cas, la partie excédentaire des paiements reste imposable selon la législation de chaque État contractant et compte tenu des autres dispositions de la présente Convention.

ARTICLE 12

Redevances

- 1. Les redevances provenant d'un État contractant et payées à un résident de l'autre État contractant sont imposables dans cet autre État.
- 2. Toutefois, ces redevances sont aussi imposables dans l'État contractant d'où elles proviennent et selon la législation de cet État, mais si le bénéficiaire effectif des redevances est un résident de l'autre État contractant, l'impôt ainsi établi ne peut excéder :
 - a) 5 pour cent du montant brut des redevances dans le cas de redevances:
 - (i) à titre de droits d'auteur et autres rémunérations similaires concernant la production ou la reproduction d'une oeuvre littéraire, dramatique, musicale ou autre oeuvre artistique (à l'exclusion des redevances concernant les films cinématographiques et des redevances concernant les oeuvres enregistrées sur films ou bandes magnétoscopiques ou autres moyens de reproduction destinés à la télédiffusion) et
 - (ii) pour l'usage ou la concession de l'usage d'un logiciel d'ordinateur ou d'un brevet ou pour des informations ayant trait à une expérience acquise dans le domaine industriel, commercial ou scientifique (à l'exclusion de toute redevance dans le cadre d'un contrat de location ou de franchisage), lorsque le débiteur et le bénéficiaire effectif des redevances ne sont pas des personnes liées entre elles; et
 - b) 10 pour cent du montant brut des redevances dans tous les autres cas.
- 3. Le terme « redevances » employé dans le présent article désigne les rémunérations de toute nature payées pour l'usage ou la concession de l'usage d'un droit d'auteur, d'un brevet, d'une marque de fabrique ou de commerce, d'un dessin ou d'un modèle, d'un plan, d'une formule ou d'un procédé secrets ou de tout autre bien incorporel, ainsi que pour l'usage ou la concession de l'usage d'un équipement industriel, commercial ou scientifi-

respect of motion picture films and works on film, videotape or other means of reproduction for use in connection with television. The term "royalties" also includes gains derived from the alienation of any such right or property to the extent that such gains are contingent on the productivity, use or disposition thereof.

- 4. The provisions of paragraphs 1 and 2 shall not apply if the beneficial owner of the royalties, being a resident of a Contracting State, carries on business in the other Contracting State in which the royalties arise, through a permanent establishment situated therein, or performs in that other State independent personal services from a fixed base situated therein, and the right or property in respect of which the royalties are paid is effectively connected with such permanent establishment or fixed base. In such case the provisions of Article 7 or Article 14, as the case may be, shall apply.
- 5. Royalties shall be deemed to arise in a Contracting State when the payer is a resident of that State. Where, however, the person paying the royalties, whether the payer is a resident of a Contracting State or not, has in a Contracting State a permanent establishment or a fixed base in connection with which the obligation to pay the royalties was incurred, and such royalties are borne by such permanent establishment or fixed base, then such royalties shall be deemed to arise in the State in which the permanent establishment or fixed base is situated.
- 6. Where, by reason of a special relationship between the payer and the beneficial owner or between both of them and some other person, the amount of the royalties, having regard to the use, right or information for which they are paid, exceeds the amount which would have been agreed upon by the payer and the beneficial owner in the absence of such relationship, the provisions of this Article shall apply only to the last-mentioned amount. In such case, the excess part of the payments shall remain taxable according to the laws of each Contracting State, due regard being had to the other provisions of this Convention.

ARTICLE 13

Capital Gains

- 1. Gains derived by a resident of a Contracting State from the alienation of immovable property situated in the other Contracting State may be taxed in that other State.
- 2. Gains from the alienation of movable property forming part of the business property of a permanent establishment which an enterprise of a Contracting State has or had in the other Contracting State or of movable property pertaining to a fixed base that is or was available to a resident of a Contracting State in the other Contracting State for the purpose of performing independent personal services, including such gains from the alienation of such a permanent establishment (alone or with the whole enterprise) or of such a fixed base may be taxed in that other State.

que ou pour des informations ayant trait à une expérience acquise dans le domaine industriel, commercial ou scientifique; ce terme comprend aussi les rémunérations de toute nature concernant les films cinématographiques et les oeuvres enregistrées sur films, bandes magnétoscopiques ou autres moyens de reproduction destinés à la télévision. Le terme « redevances » comprend également les gains provenant de l'aliénation des droits ou des biens qui dépendent de la productivité, de l'utilisation ou de la disposition de tels droits ou biens.

- 4. Les dispositions des paragraphes 1 et 2 ne s'appliquent pas lorsque le bénéficiaire effectif des redevances, résident d'un État contractant, exerce dans l'autre État contractant d'où proviennent les redevances, soit une activité industrielle ou commerciale par l'intermédiaire d'un établissement stable qui y est situé, soit une profession indépendante au moyen d'une base fixe qui y est située, et que le droit ou le bien générateur des redevances s'y rattache effectivement. Dans ce cas, les dispositions de l'article 7 ou de l'article 14, suivant les cas, sont applicables.
- 5. Les redevances sont considérées comme provenant d'un État contractant lorsque le débiteur est un résident de cet État. Toutefois, lorsque le débiteur des redevances, qu'il soit ou non un résident d'un État contractant, a dans un État contractant un établissement stable, ou une base fixe, pour lequel l'obligation donnant lieu au paiement des redevances a été conclue et qui supporte la charge de ces redevances, celles-ci sont considérées comme provenant de l'État où l'établissement stable, ou la base fixe, est situé.
- 6. Lorsque, en raison de relations spéciales existant entre le débiteur et le bénéficiaire effectif ou que l'un et l'autre entretiennent avec de tierces personnes, le montant des redevances, compte tenu de la prestation pour laquelle elles sont payées, excède celui dont seraient convenus le débiteur et le bénéficiaire effectif en l'absence de pareilles relations, les dispositions du présent article ne s'appliquent qu'à ce dernier montant. Dans ce cas, la partie excédentaire des paiements reste imposable selon la législation de chaque État contractant et compte tenu des autres dispositions de la présente Convention.

ARTICLE 13

Gains en capital

- 1. Les gains qu'un résident d'un État contractant tire de l'aliénation de biens immobiliers situés dans l'autre État contractant, sont imposables dans cet autre État.
- 2. Les gains provenant de l'aliénation de biens mobiliers qui font partie de l'actif d'un établissement stable qu'une entreprise d'un État contractant a ou avait dans l'autre État contractant, ou de biens mobiliers qui appartiennent à une base fixe dont un résident d'un État contractant dispose ou a disposé dans l'autre État contractant pour l'exercice d'une profession indépendante, y compris de tels gains provenant de l'aliénation de cet établissement stable (seul ou avec l'ensemble de l'entreprise) ou de cette base fixe, sont imposables dans cet autre État.

3. Gains from the alienation of ships or aircraft operated in international traffic by an enterprise of a Contracting State, or from the alienation of containers and other equipment pertaining to the operation of such ships or aircraft, shall be taxable only in that State.

Conventions fiscales (2001) — Annexe 3

- 4. Gains derived by a resident of a Contracting State from the alienation of
 - (a) shares, other than shares quoted on an approved stock exchange, deriving their value or the greater part of their value directly or indirectly from immovable property situated in the other Contracting State; or
 - (b) an interest in a partnership or trust, the assets of which consist principally of immovable property situated in the other Contracting State or that derive directly or indirectly their value or the greater part of their value from such immovable property;

may be taxed in that other State. For the purposes of this paragraph, the term "immovable property" does not include any property, other than rental property, in which the business of the company, partnership or trust is carried on.

- 5. Gains from the alienation of any property, other than that referred to in paragraphs 1, 2, 3 and 4 shall be taxable only in the Contracting State of which the alienator is a resident.
- 6. The provisions of paragraph 5 shall not affect the right of a Contracting State to levy, according to its law, a tax on gains from the alienation of any property derived by an individual who is a resident of the other Contracting State and has been a resident of the first-mentioned State at any time during the six years immediately preceding the alienation of the property.
- 7. Where an individual who ceases to be a resident of a Contracting State, and immediately thereafter becomes a resident of the other Contracting State, is treated for the purposes of taxation in the first-mentioned State as having alienated a property and is taxed in that State by reason thereof, the individual may elect to be treated for purposes of taxation in the other State as if the individual had, immediately before becoming a resident of that State, sold and repurchased the property for an amount equal to its fair market value at that time.
- 8. Where a resident of a Contracting State alienates property in the course of a corporate or other organization, reorganization, amalgamation, division or similar transaction and profit, gain or income with respect to such alienation is not recognized for the purpose of taxation in that State, if requested to do so by the person who acquires the property, the competent authority of the other Contracting State may agree, in order to avoid double taxation and subject to terms and conditions satisfactory to such competent authority, to defer the recognition of the profit, gain or income with respect to such property for the purpose of taxation in that other State until such time and in such manner as may be stipulated in the agreement.

- 3. Les gains provenant de l'aliénation de navires ou d'aéronefs exploités en trafic international par une entreprise d'un État contractant ou de l'aliénation de conteneurs utilisés dans, ou d'autres biens mobiliers affectés à, l'exploitation d'une telle entreprise de navires ou d'aéronefs, ne sont imposables que dans cet État.
- 4. Les gains qu'un résident d'un État contractant tire de l'aliénation
 - a) d'actions, autres que des actions cotées à une bourse de valeurs approuvée, dont la valeur est principalement ou entièrement tirée, directement ou indirectement, de biens immobiliers situés dans l'autre État contractant; ou
 - b) d'une participation dans une société de personnes ou une fiducie dont les actifs sont constitués principalement de biens immobiliers situés dans cet autre État ou tirent principalement leur valeur, directement ou indirectement, de tels biens immobiliers;

sont imposables dans cet autre État. Au sens du présent paragraphe, l'expression « biens immobiliers » ne comprend pas les biens, autres que les biens locatifs, dans lesquels la société, la société de personnes ou la fiducie exerce son activité.

- 5. Les gains provenant de l'aliénation de tous biens autres que ceux visés aux paragraphes 1, 2, 3 et 4 ne sont imposables que dans l'État contractant dont le cédant est un résident.
- 6. Les dispositions du paragraphe 5 ne portent pas atteinte au droit de chacun des États contractants de percevoir, conformément à sa législation, un impôt sur les gains provenant de l'aliénation d'un bien et réalisés par une personne physique qui est un résident de l'autre État contractant et qui a été un résident du premier État à un moment quelconque au cours des six années précédant immédiatement l'aliénation du bien.
- 7. Lorsqu'une personne physique qui, immédiatement après avoir cessé d'être un résident d'un État contractant, devient un résident de l'autre État contractant est considérée aux fins d'imposition dans le premier État comme ayant aliéné un bien et est imposé dans cet État en raison de cette aliénation, elle peut choisir, aux fins d'imposition dans l'autre État, d'être considérée comme ayant vendu et racheté, immédiatement avant de devenir un résident de cet État, le bien pour un montant égal à sa juste valeur marchande à ce moment.
- 8. Lorsqu'un résident d'un État contractant aliène un bien lors d'une constitution en société ou autre constitution, d'une réorganisation, d'une fusion, d'une scission ou d'une opération semblable, et que le bénéfice, gain ou revenu relatif à cette aliénation n'est pas reconnu aux fins d'imposition dans cet État, si elle en est requise par la personne qui acquiert le bien, l'autorité compétente de l'autre État contractant peut, en vue d'éviter les doubles impositions et sous réserve de modalités qui lui sont satisfaisantes, accepter de différer la reconnaissance du bénéfice, gain ou revenu relatif audit bien aux fins d'imposition dans cet autre État jusqu'au moment et de la façon qui sont précisés dans l'entente.

Independent Personal Services

- 1. Income derived by an individual who is a resident of a Contracting State in respect of professional or similar services of an independent character shall be taxable only in that State unless the individual has a fixed base regularly available in the other Contracting State for the purpose of performing the services. If the individual has or had such a fixed base, the income may be taxed in the other State but only so much of it as is attributable to that fixed base.
- 2. The term "professional services" includes especially independent scientific, literary, artistic, educational or teaching activities as well as the independent activities of physicians, lawyers, engineers, architects, dentists and accountants.

ARTICLE 15

Dependent Personal Services

- 1. Subject to the provisions of Articles 16, 18 and 19, salaries, wages and other remuneration derived by a resident of a Contracting State in respect of an employment shall be taxable only in that State unless the employment is exercised in the other Contracting State. If the employment is so exercised, such remuneration as is derived therefrom may be taxed in that other State.
- 2. Notwithstanding the provisions of paragraph 1, remuneration derived by a resident of a Contracting State in respect of an employment exercised in the other Contracting State shall be taxable only in the first-mentioned State if:
 - (a) the recipient is present in the other State for a period or periods not exceeding in the aggregate 183 days in any twelve month period commencing or ending in the calendar year concerned, and
 - (b) the remuneration is paid by, or on behalf of, a person who is not a resident of the other State, and
 - (c) the remuneration is not borne by a permanent establishment or a fixed base which the person has in the other State.
- 3. Notwithstanding the preceding provisions of this Article, remuneration in respect of an employment exercised aboard a ship or aircraft operated in international traffic by an enterprise of a Contracting State, may be taxed in that State.

ARTICLE 14

Professions indépendantes

- 1. Les revenus qu'une personne physique qui est un résident d'un État contractant tire d'une profession libérale ou similaire de caractère indépendant ne sont imposables que dans cet État, à moins que cette personne physique ne dispose de façon habituelle dans l'autre État contractant d'une base fixe pour l'exercice de sa profession. Si elle dispose ou si elle a disposé d'une telle base fixe, les revenus sont imposables dans l'autre État mais uniquement dans la mesure où ils sont imputables à cette base fixe.
- 2. L'expression « profession libérale » comprend notamment les activités indépendantes d'ordre scientifique, littéraire, artistique, éducatif ou pédagogique, ainsi que les activités indépendantes des médecins, avocats, ingénieurs, architectes, dentistes et comptables.

ARTICLE 15

Professions dépendantes

- 1. Sous réserve des dispositions des articles 16, 18 et 19, les salaires, traitements et autres rémunérations qu'un résident d'un État contractant reçoit au titre d'un emploi salarié ne sont imposables que dans cet État, à moins que l'emploi ne soit exercé dans l'autre État contractant. Si l'emploi y est exercé, les rémunérations reçues à ce titre sont imposables dans cet autre État.
- 2. Nonobstant les dispositions du paragraphe l, les rémunérations qu'un résident d'un État contractant reçoit au titre d'un emploi salarié exercé dans l'autre État contractant ne sont imposables que dans le premier État si :
 - a) le bénéficiaire séjourne dans l'autre État pendant une période ou des périodes n'excédant pas au total 183 jours au cours de toute période de douze mois commençant ou se terminant dans l'année civile considérée, et
 - b) les rémunérations sont payées par une personne ou pour le compte d'une personne qui n'est pas un résident de l'autre État, et
 - c) la charge des rémunérations n'est pas supportée par un établissement stable ou une base fixe que la personne a dans l'autre État.
- 3. Nonobstant les dispositions précédentes du présent article, les rémunérations reçues au titre d'un emploi salarié exercé à bord d'un navire ou d'un aéronef exploité en trafic international par une entreprise d'un État contractant sont imposables dans cet État.

ARTICLE 16

Conventions fiscales (2001) — Annexe 3

Directors' Fees

Directors' fees and other similar payments derived by a resident of a Contracting State for services performed in the capacity as a member of the board of directors of a company which is a resident of the other Contracting State, may be taxed in that other State.

ARTICLE 17

Artistes and Sportspersons

- 1. Notwithstanding the provisions of Articles 14 and 15, income derived by a resident of a Contracting State as an entertainer, such as a theatre, motion picture, radio or television artiste, or a musician, or as a sportsperson, from that resident's personal activities as such exercised in the other Contracting State, may be taxed in that other State.
- 2. Where income in respect of activities exercised by an entertainer or a sportsperson in that individual's capacity as such accrues not to the entertainer or sportsperson but to another person, that income of that other person may, notwithstanding the provisions of Articles 7, 14 and 15, be taxed in the Contracting State in which the activities of the entertainer or sportsperson are exercised, unless it is established that neither the entertainer or the sportsperson nor persons related thereto participate directly or indirectly in the profits of that other person in any manner, including the receipt of deferred remuneration, bonuses, fees, dividends, partnership distributions or other distributions.
- 3. The provisions of paragraphs 1 and 2 shall not apply to income derived from activities performed in a Contracting State by a resident of the other Contracting State in the context of a visit in the first-mentioned State of a non-profit organization of the other State, provided that the visit is primarily supported by public funds.

ARTICLE 18

Pensions and Annuities

- 1. Pensions and annuities arising in a Contracting State and paid to a resident of the other Contracting State may be taxed in that other State.
- 2. Pensions and annuities arising in a Contracting State and paid to a resident of the other Contracting State may also be taxed in the State in which they arise and according to the law of that State.

ARTICLE 16

Tantièmes

Les tantièmes, jetons de présence et autres rétributions similaires qu'un résident d'un État contractant reçoit au titre de services rendus en sa qualité de membre du conseil d'administration ou de surveillance d'une société qui est un résident de l'autre État contractant sont imposables dans cet autre État.

ARTICLE 17

Artistes et sportifs

- 1. Nonobstant les dispositions des articles 14 et 15, les revenus qu'un résident d'un État contractant tire de ses activités personnelles exercées dans l'autre État contractant en tant qu'artiste du spectacle, tel qu'un artiste de théâtre, de cinéma, de la radio ou de la télévision, ou qu'un musicien, ou en tant que sportif, sont imposables dans cet autre État.
- 2. Lorsque les revenus d'activités qu'un artiste du spectacle ou un sportif exerce personnellement et en cette qualité sont attribués non pas à l'artiste ou au sportif lui-même mais à une autre personne, ces revenus sont imposables, nonobstant les dispositions des articles 7, 14 et 15, dans l'État contractant où les activités de l'artiste ou du sportif sont exercées, à moins qu'il ne soit établi que ni l'artiste du spectacle ou le sportif, ni des personnes qui lui sont liées ne participent d'aucune manière directement ou indirectement, aux bénéfices de cette autre personne, y compris par des rémunérations différées, des bonis, des honoraires, des dividendes, des attributions ou des distributions par des sociétés de personnes ou d'autres distributions.
- 3. Les dispositions des paragraphes 1 et 2 ne s'appliquent pas aux revenus tirés des activités exercées dans un État contractant par un résident de l'autre État contractant dans le cadre d'une visite, dans le premier État, d'une organisation sans but lucratif de l'autre État pourvu que la visite soit principalement supportée par des fonds publics.

ARTICLE 18

Pensions et rentes

- 1. Les pensions et les rentes provenant d'un État contractant et payées à un résident de l'autre État contractant sont imposables dans cet autre État.
- 2. Les pensions et les rentes provenant d'un État contractant et payées à un résident de l'autre État contractant sont aussi imposables dans l'État d'où elles proviennent et selon la législation de cet État.

3. Notwithstanding anything in this Convention, war pensions and allowances (including pensions and allowances paid to war veterans or paid as a consequence of damages or injuries suffered as a consequence of a war) arising in a Contracting State and paid to a resident of the other Contracting State shall be exempt from tax in that other State to the extent that they would be exempt from tax if received by a resident of the first-mentioned State.

ARTICLE 19

Government Service

- 1. (a) Salaries, wages and similar remuneration, other than a pension, paid by a Contracting State or a political subdivision or a local authority thereof to an individual in respect of services rendered to that State or subdivision or authority shall be taxable only in that State.
- (b) However, such salaries, wages and similar remuneration shall be taxable only in the other Contracting State if the services are rendered in that State and the individual is a resident of that State who:
 - (i) is a national of that State; or
 - (ii) did not become a resident of that State solely for the purpose of rendering the services.
- 2. The provisions of paragraph 1 shall not apply to salaries, wages and remuneration in respect of services rendered in connection with a business carried on by a Contracting State or a political subdivision or a local authority thereof.

ARTICLE 20

Students

Payments which a student, apprentice or business trainee who is, or was immediately before visiting a Contracting State, a resident of the other Contracting State and who is present in the first-mentioned State solely for the purpose of that individual's education or training receives for the purpose of that individual's maintenance, education or training shall not be taxed in that State, provided that such payments arise from sources outside that State.

ARTICLE 21

Other Income

1. Subject to the provisions of paragraph 2, items of income of a resident of a Contracting State, wherever arising, not dealt with in the foregoing Articles of this Convention shall be taxable only in that State.

3. Nonobstant toute disposition de la présente Convention, les pensions et allocations de guerre (incluant les pensions et allocations payées aux anciens combattants ou payées en conséquence des dommages ou blessures subis à l'occasion d'une guerre) provenant d'un État contractant et payées à un résident de l'autre État contractant seront exonérées d'impôt dans cet autre État dans la mesure où elles seraient exonérées d'impôt si elles étaient reçues par un résident du premier État.

ARTICLE 19

Fonctions publiques

- 1. *a*) Les traitements, salaires et rémunérations similaires, autres que les pensions, payés par un État contractant ou l'une de ses subdivisions politiques ou collectivités locales à une personne physique, au titre de services rendus à cet État ou à cette subdivision ou collectivité, ne sont imposables que dans cet État.
- b) Toutefois, ces traitements, salaires et rémunérations similaires ne sont imposables que dans l'autre État contractant si les services sont rendus dans cet État et si la personne physique est un résident de cet État qui :
 - (i) possède la nationalité de cet État, ou
 - (ii) n'est pas devenu un résident de cet État à seule fin de rendre les services.
- 2. Les dispositions du paragraphe l ne s'appliquent pas aux traitements, salaires et rémunérations payés au titre de services rendus dans le cadre d'une activité industrielle ou commerciale exercée par un État contractant ou l'une de ses subdivisions politiques ou collectivités locales.

ARTICLE 20

Étudiants

Les sommes qu'un étudiant, un stagiaire ou un apprenti qui est, ou qui était immédiatement avant de se rendre dans un État contractant, un résident de l'autre État contractant et qui séjourne dans le premier État à seule fin d'y poursuivre ses études ou sa formation, reçoit pour couvrir ses frais d'entretien, d'études ou de formation ne sont pas imposables dans cet État, à condition qu'elles proviennent de sources situées en dehors de cet État.

ARTICLE 21

Autres revenus

1. Sous réserve des dispositions du paragraphe 2, les éléments du revenu d'un résident d'un État contractant, d'où qu'ils proviennent, qui ne sont pas traités dans les articles précédents de la présente Convention ne sont imposables que dans cet État.

2. However, if such income is derived by a resident of a Contracting State from sources in the other Contracting State, such income may also be taxed in the State in which it arises, and according to the law of that State.

Conventions fiscales (2001) — Annexe 3

IV. TAXATION OF CAPITAL

ARTICLE 22

Capital

- 1. Capital represented by immovable property owned by a resident of a Contracting State and situated in the other Contracting State may be taxed in that other State.
- 2. Capital represented by movable property forming part of the business property of a permanent establishment which an enterprise of a Contracting State has in the other Contracting State or by movable property pertaining to a fixed base available to a resident of a Contracting State in the other Contracting State for the purpose of performing independent personal services, may be taxed in that other State.
- 3. Capital represented by ships and aircraft operated by an enterprise of a Contracting State in international traffic and by movable property pertaining to the operation of such ships and aircraft, shall be taxable only in that State.
- 4. All other elements of capital of a resident of a Contracting State shall be taxable only in that State.

V. METHODS FOR ELIMINATION OF DOUBLE **TAXATION**

ARTICLE 23

Elimination of Double Taxation

- 1. In the case of Canada, double taxation shall be avoided as follows:
 - (a) subject to the existing provisions of the law of Canada regarding the deduction from tax payable in Canada of tax paid in a territory outside Canada and to any subsequent modification of those provisions — which shall not affect the general principle hereof — and unless a greater deduction or relief is provided under the laws of Canada, tax payable in Venezuela on profits, income or gains arising in Venezuela shall be deducted from any Canadian tax payable in respect of such profits, income or gains;
 - (b) where in accordance with any provision of the Convention income derived or capital owned by a resident of Canada is exempt from tax in Canada, Canada may nevertheless, in calculating the amount of tax on other income or capital, take into account the exempted income or capital.

2. Toutefois, si ces revenus sont perçus par un résident d'un État contractant et proviennent de sources situées dans l'autre État contractant, ils sont aussi imposables dans l'État d'où ils proviennent et selon la législation de cet État.

IV. IMPOSITION DE LA FORTUNE

ARTICLE 22

Fortune

- 1. La fortune constituée par des biens immobiliers que possède un résident d'un État contractant et qui sont situés dans l'autre État contractant, est imposable dans cet autre État.
- 2. La fortune constituée par des biens mobiliers qui font partie de l'actif d'un établissement stable qu'une entreprise d'un État contractant a dans l'autre État contractant, ou par des biens mobiliers qui appartiennent à une base fixe dont un résident d'un État contractant dispose dans l'autre État contractant pour l'exercice d'une profession indépendante, est imposable dans cet autre État.
- 3. La fortune constituée par des navires et des aéronefs exploités en trafic international par une entreprise d'un État contractant, ainsi que par des biens mobiliers affectés à l'exploitation de ces navires et aéronefs, n'est imposable que dans cet
- 4. Tous les autres éléments de la fortune d'un résident d'un État contractant ne sont imposables que dans cet État.

V. MÉTHODES POUR ÉLIMINER LES DOUBLES **IMPOSITIONS**

ARTICLE 23

Élimination de la double imposition

- 1. En ce qui concerne le Canada, la double imposition est évitée de la façon suivante :
 - a) sous réserve des dispositions existantes de la législation canadienne concernant l'imputation de l'impôt payé dans un territoire en dehors du Canada sur l'impôt canadien payable et de toute modification ultérieure de ces dispositions qui n'en affecterait pas le principe général, et sans préjudice d'une déduction ou d'un dégrèvement plus important prévu par la législation canadienne, l'impôt dû au Venezuela à raison de bénéfices, revenus ou gains provenant du Venezuela est porté en déduction de tout impôt canadien dû à raison des mêmes bénéfices, revenus ou gains;
 - b) lorsque, conformément à une disposition quelconque de la Convention, les revenus qu'un résident du Canada reçoit ou la fortune qu'il possède sont exempts d'impôts au Canada, le Canada peut néanmoins, pour calculer le montant de l'impôt sur d'autres éléments de revenu ou de la fortune, tenir comptes des revenus ou de la fortune exemptés.

- 2. When a resident of Venezuela derives income that, in accordance with the provisions of the Convention, may be taxed in Canada, Venezuela shall allow a relief to such resident. Such relief shall be allowed in accordance with the provisions and subject to the limitations of the law of Venezuela, as they may be amended from time to time without changing the principle hereof. The relief shall consist in a credit against the Venezuelan tax on income.
- 3. For the purposes of this Article, profits, income or gains of a resident of a Contracting State which are taxed in the other Contracting State in accordance with the Convention shall be deemed to arise from sources in that other State.

VI. SPECIAL PROVISIONS

ARTICLE 24

Non-discrimination

- 1. Nationals of a Contracting State shall not be subjected in the other Contracting State to any taxation or any requirement connected therewith which is more burdensome than the taxation and connected requirements to which nationals of that other State in the same circumstances, in particular with respect to residence, are or may be subjected. This provision shall, notwithstanding the provisions of Article 1, also apply to individuals who are not residents of one or both of the Contracting States.
- 2. The taxation on a permanent establishment which an enterprise of a Contracting State has in the other Contracting State shall not be less favourably levied in that other State than the taxation levied on residents of that other State carrying on the same activities.
- 3. Nothing in this Article shall be construed as obliging a Contracting State to grant to residents of the other Contracting State any personal allowances, reliefs and reductions for taxation purposes on account of civil status or family responsibilities which it grants to its own residents.
- 4. In this Article, the term "taxation" means taxes which are the subject of this Convention.

ARTICLE 25

Mutual Agreement Procedure

1. Where a person considers that the actions of one or both of the Contracting States result or will result for that person in taxation not in accordance with the provisions of this Convention, that person may, irrespective of the remedies provided by the domestic law of those States, address to the competent authority of the Contracting State of which that person is a

- 2. Lorsqu'un résident du Venezuela reçoit un revenu qui, conformément aux dispositions de la Convention, est imposable au Canada, le Venezuela accorde un dégrèvement à ce résident. Ce dégrèvement est accordé conformément aux dispositions et sous réserve des limites de la législation du Venezuela, telle qu'elles peuvent être modifiées sans en changer le principe général. Le dégrèvement consiste en un crédit à l'encontre des impôts vénézuéliens sur les revenus.
- 3. Pour l'application du présent article, les bénéfices, revenus ou gains d'un résident d'un État contractant ayant supporté l'impôt de l'autre État contractant conformément à la présente Convention, sont considérés comme provenant de sources situées dans cet autre État.

VI. DISPOSITIONS SPÉCIALES

ARTICLE 24

Non-discrimination

- 1. Les nationaux d'un État contractant ne sont soumis dans l'autre État contractant à aucune imposition ou obligation y relative, qui est plus lourde que celles auxquelles sont ou pourront être assujettis les nationaux de cet autre État qui se trouvent dans la même situation, notamment au regard de la résidence. La présente disposition s'applique aussi, nonobstant les dispositions de l'article 1, aux personnes physiques qui ne sont pas des résidents d'un État contractant ou des deux États contractants.
- 2. L'imposition d'un établissement stable qu'une entreprise d'un État contractant a dans l'autre État contractant n'est pas établie dans cet autre État d'une façon moins favorable que l'imposition des résidents de cet autre État qui exercent la même activité.
- 3. Aucune disposition du présent article ne peut être interprétée comme obligeant un État contractant à accorder aux résidents de l'autre État contractant les déductions personnelles, abattements et réductions d'impôt en fonction de la situation ou des charges de famille qu'il accorde à ses propres résidents.
- 4. Le terme « imposition » désigne, dans le présent article, les impôts visés par la présente Convention.

ARTICLE 25

Procédure amiable

1. Lorsqu'une personne estime que les mesures prises par un État contractant ou par les deux États contractants entraînent ou entraîneront pour elle une imposition non conforme aux dispositions de la présente Convention, elle peut, indépendamment des recours prévus par le droit interne de ces États, adresser à l'autorité compétente de l'État contractant dont elle est un

resident or, if that person's case comes under paragraph 1 of Article 24, to that of the Contracting State of which that person is a national, an application in writing stating the grounds for claiming the revision of such taxation. To be admissible, the said application must be submitted within two years from the first notification of the action resulting in taxation not in accordance with the Convention.

- 2. The competent authority referred to in paragraph 1 shall endeavour, if the objection appears to it to be justified and if it is not itself able to arrive at a satisfactory solution, to resolve the case by mutual agreement with the competent authority of the other Contracting State, with a view to the avoidance of taxation not in accordance with the Convention.
- 3. A Contracting State shall not, after the expiry of the time limits provided in its domestic laws and, in any case, after five years from the end of the taxable period in which the income concerned has accrued, increase the tax base of a resident of either of the Contracting States by including therein items of income which have also been charged to tax in the other Contracting State. This paragraph shall not apply in the case of fraud, wilful default or neglect.
- 4. The competent authorities of the Contracting States shall endeavour to resolve by mutual agreement any difficulties or doubts arising as to the interpretation or application of the Convention. In particular, the competent authorities of the Contracting States may agree to the same allocation of income, deductions, credits or allowances between persons.
- 5. The competent authorities of the Contracting States may consult together for the elimination of double taxation in cases not provided for in the Convention and may communicate with each other directly for the purpose of applying the Convention.
- 6. If any difficulty or doubt arising as to the interpretation or application of the Convention cannot be resolved by the competent authorities pursuant to the preceding paragraphs of this Article, the case may be submitted for arbitration if both competent authorities and the taxpayer agree and the taxpayer agrees in writing to be bound by the decision of the arbitration board. The decision of the arbitration board in a particular case shall be binding on both States with respect to that case. The procedure shall be established in an exchange of notes between the Contracting States.

ARTICLE 26

Exchange of Information

1. The competent authorities of the Contracting States shall exchange such information as is necessary for carrying out the provisions of this Convention or of the domestic laws of the Contracting States concerning taxes imposed by that State insofar as the taxation thereunder is not contrary to the Convention. The exchange of information is not restricted by Article 1. Any information received by a Contracting State shall

résident ou, si son cas relève du paragraphe 1 de l'article 24, à celle de l'État contractant dont elle possède la nationalité, une demande écrite et motivée de révision de cette imposition. Pour être recevable, cette demande doit être présentée dans un délai de deux ans à compter de la première notification de la mesure qui entraîne une imposition non conforme à la Convention.

- 2. L'autorité compétente visée au paragraphe l s'efforce, si la réclamation lui paraît fondée et si elle n'est pas elle-même en mesure d'y apporter une solution satisfaisante, de résoudre le cas par voie d'accord amiable avec l'autorité compétente de l'autre État contractant, en vue d'éviter une imposition non conforme à la Convention.
- 3. Un État contractant n'augmente pas la base imposable d'un résident de l'un ou l'autre État contractant en y incluant des éléments de revenu qui ont déjà été imposés dans l'autre État contractant, après l'expiration des délais prévus par son droit interne et, en tout cas, après l'expiration d'un délai de cinq ans à compter de la fin de la période imposable au cours de laquelle les revenus en cause ont été réalisés. Le présent paragraphe ne s'applique pas en cas de fraude, d'omission volontaire ou de négligence.
- 4. Les autorités compétentes des États contractants s'efforcent, par voie d'accord amiable, de résoudre les difficultés ou de dissiper les doutes auxquels peuvent donner lieu l'interprétation ou l'application de la Convention. En particulier, les autorités compétentes des États contractants peuvent parvenir à un accord pour que les revenus, déductions, crédits ou allocations revenant à des personnes soient attribués d'une manière identique.
- 5. Les autorités compétentes des États contractants peuvent se concerter en vue d'éliminer la double imposition dans les cas non prévus par la Convention et peuvent communiquer directement entre elles aux fins de l'application de la Convention.
- 6. Si les difficultés ou les doutes auxquels peuvent donner lieu l'interprétation ou l'application de la Convention ne peuvent être réglés par les autorités compétentes conformément aux paragraphes précédents du présent article, le cas peut, avec l'accord des deux autorités compétentes et du contribuable, être soumis à l'arbitrage, pourvu que le contribuable consente par écrit à être lié par la décision de la commission d'arbitrage. La décision de la commission d'arbitrage dans une affaire donnée lie les deux États à l'égard de cette affaire. La procédure à suivre sera précisée dans un échange de notes entre les États contractants.

ARTICLE 26

Échange de renseignements

1. Les autorités compétentes des États contractants échangent les renseignements nécessaires pour l'application des dispositions de la présente Convention ou celles de la législation interne des États contractants relative aux impôts prélevés par cet État, dans la mesure où l'imposition qu'elle prévoit n'est pas contraire à la Convention. L'échange de renseignements n'est pas restreint par l'article 1. Les renseignements reçus par un État contractant be treated as secret in the same manner as information obtained under the domestic laws of that State and shall be disclosed only to persons or authorities (including courts and administrative bodies) concerned with the assessment or collection of, the enforcement in respect of, or the determination of appeals in relation to, the taxes in that State. Such persons or authorities shall use the information only for such purposes. They may disclose the information in public court proceedings or in judicial decisions.

- 2. Nothing in paragraph 1 shall be construed so as to impose on a Contracting State the obligation:
 - (a) to carry out administrative measures at variance with the laws or the administrative practice of that or of the other Contracting State;
 - (b) to supply information which is not obtainable under the laws or in the normal course of the administration of that or of the other Contracting State;
 - (c) to supply information which would disclose any trade, business, industrial, commercial or professional secret or trade process, or information, the disclosure of which would be contrary to public policy (ordre public).
- 3. If information is requested by a Contracting State in accordance with this Article, the other Contracting State shall endeavour to obtain the information to which the request relates in the same way as if its own taxation was involved notwithstanding the fact that the other State does not, at that time, need such information. If specifically requested by the competent authority of a Contracting State, the competent authority of the other Contracting State shall endeavour to provide information under this Article in the form requested, such as depositions of witnesses and copies of unedited original documents (including books, papers, statements, records, accounts or writings), to the same extent such depositions and documents can be obtained under the laws and administrative practices of that other State with respect to its own taxes.

ARTICLE 27

Members of Diplomatic Missions and Consular Posts

1. Nothing in this Convention shall affect the fiscal privileges of members of diplomatic missions or consular posts under the general rules of international law or under the provisions of special agreements.

sont tenus secrets de la même manière que les renseignements obtenus en application de la législation interne de cet État et ne sont communiqués qu'aux personnes ou autorités (y compris les tribunaux et organes administratifs) concernées par l'établissement ou le recouvrement des impôts dans cet État, par les procédures concernant ces impôts, ou par les décisions sur les recours relatifs à ces impôts. Ces personnes ou autorités n'utilisent ces renseignements qu'à ces fins. Elles peuvent faire état de ces renseignements au cours d'audiences publiques de tribunaux ou dans des jugements.

- 2. Les dispositions du paragraphe l ne peuvent en aucun cas être interprétées comme imposant à un État contractant l'obligation :
 - a) de prendre des mesures administratives dérogeant à sa législation et à sa pratique administrative ou à celles de l'autre État contractant;
 - b) de fournir des renseignements qui ne pourraient être obtenus sur la base de sa législation ou dans le cadre de sa pratique administrative normale ou de celles de l'autre État contractant;
 - c) de fournir des renseignements qui révéleraient un secret commercial, industriel, professionnel ou un procédé commercial ou des renseignements dont la communication serait contraire à l'ordre public.
- 3. Lorsqu'un État contractant demande des renseignements en conformité avec le présent article, l'autre État contractant s'efforce d'obtenir les renseignements relatifs à cette demande de la même façon que si ses propres impôts étaient en jeu même si cet autre État n'a pas besoin, à ce moment, de ces renseignements. Si la demande de l'autorité compétente d'un État contractant le requiert expressément, l'autorité compétente de l'autre État contractant s'efforce de fournir les renseignements demandés en vertu du présent article sous la forme requise, telles les dépositions de témoins ou les copies de documents originaux non altérés (incluant livres, états, registres, comptes ou écrits), dans la mesure ou ces dépositions ou documents peuvent être obtenus sur la base de la législation ou dans le cadre de la pratique administrative relative aux propres impôts de cet autre État.

ARTICLE 27

Membres des missions diplomatiques et postes consulaires

1. Les dispositions de la présente Convention ne portent pas atteinte aux privilèges fiscaux dont bénéficient les membres des missions diplomatiques ou postes consulaires en vertu soit des règles générales du droit international, soit des dispositions d'accords particuliers.

- 2. Notwithstanding the provisions of Article 4, an individual who is a member of a diplomatic mission, consular post or permanent mission of a Contracting State which is situated in the other Contracting State or in a third State shall be deemed for the purposes of the Convention to be a resident only of the sending State if the individual is liable in the sending State to the same obligations in relation to tax on total income as are residents of that sending State.
- 3. The Convention shall not apply to international organizations, to organs or officials thereof and to persons who are members of a diplomatic mission, consular post or permanent mission of a third State or group of States, being present in a Contracting State and who are not liable in either Contracting State to the same obligations in relation to tax on their total income as are residents thereof.

ARTICLE 28

Miscellaneous Rules

- 1. The provisions of this Convention shall not be construed to restrict in any manner any exemption, allowance, credit or other deduction accorded:
 - (a) by the laws of a Contracting State in the determination of the tax imposed by that State; or
 - (b) by any other agreement entered into by a Contracting State.
- 2. Nothing in the Convention shall be construed as preventing Canada from imposing a tax on amounts included in the income of a resident of Canada with respect to a partnership, trust, or controlled foreign affiliate, in which that resident has an interest.
- 3. The Convention shall not apply to any company, trust or other entity that is a resident of a Contracting State and is beneficially owned or controlled directly or indirectly by one or more persons who are not residents of that State, if the amount of the tax imposed on the income or capital of the company, trust or other entity by that State is substantially lower than the amount that would be imposed by that State if all of the shares of the capital stock of the company or all of the interests in the trust or other entity, as the case may be, were beneficially owned by one or more individuals who were residents of that State.

- 2. Nonobstant les dispositions de l'article 4, une personne physique qui est membre d'une mission diplomatique, d'un poste consulaire ou d'une délégation permanente d'un État contractant qui est situé dans l'autre État contractant ou dans un État tiers est considérée, aux fins de la Convention, comme un résident seulement de l'État accréditant à condition qu'elle soit soumise dans l'État accréditant aux mêmes obligations, en matière d'impôts sur l'ensemble de son revenu, que les résidents de cet État.
- 3. La Convention ne s'applique pas aux organisations internationales, à leurs organes ou à leurs fonctionnaires, ni aux personnes qui sont membres d'une mission diplomatique, d'un poste consulaire ou d'une délégation permanente d'un État tiers ou d'un groupe d'États, lorsqu'ils se trouvent sur le territoire d'un État contractant et ne sont pas soumis dans l'un ou l'autre État contractant aux mêmes obligations, en matière d'impôts sur l'ensemble du revenu, que les résidents de ces États.

ARTICLE 28

Dispositions diverses

- 1. Les dispositions de la présente Convention ne peuvent être interprétées comme limitant d'une manière quelconque les exonérations, abattements, déductions, crédits ou autres allégements qui sont ou seront accordés :
 - a) par la législation d'un État contractant pour la détermination de l'impôt prélevé par cet État; ou
 - b) par tout autre accord conclu par un État contractant.
- 2. Aucune disposition de la Convention ne peut être interprétée comme empêchant le Canada de prélever un impôt sur les montants inclus dans le revenu d'un résident du Canada à l'égard d'une société de personnes, une fiducie ou une société étrangère affiliée contrôlée dans laquelle il possède une participation.
- 3. La Convention ne s'applique pas à une société, une fiducie ou une autre entité qui est un résident d'un État contractant et dont une ou plusieurs personnes qui ne sont pas des résidents de cet État en sont les bénéficiaires effectifs ou qui est contrôlée, directement ou indirectement, par de telles personnes, si le montant de l'impôt exigé par cet État sur le revenu ou la fortune de la société, fiducie ou autre entité est largement inférieur au montant qui serait exigé par cet État si une ou plusieurs personnes physiques qui sont des résidents de cet État étaient le bénéficiaire effectif de toutes les actions de capital de la société ou de toutes les participations dans la fiducie ou l'autre entité, selon le cas.

- 4. Contributions in a year in respect of services rendered in that year paid by, or on behalf of, an individual who is resident of one of the Contracting States or who is temporarily present in that State, to a pension plan that is recognized for tax purposes in the other Contracting State shall, during a period not exceeding in the aggregate 60 months, be treated in the same way for tax purposes in the first-mentioned State as a contribution paid to a pension plan that is recognized for tax purposes in that first-mentioned State, provided that:
 - (a) such individual was contributing on a regular basis to the pension plan for a period ending immediately before that individual became a resident of or temporarily present in the first-mentioned State; and
 - (b) the competent authority of the first-mentioned State agrees that the pension plan generally corresponds to a pension plan recognized for tax purposes by that State.

For the purposes of this paragraph, "pension plan" includes a pension plan created under the social security system in a Contracting State.

- 5. With respect to paragraph 3 of Article XXII of the General Agreement on Trade in Services, the Contracting States agree that, notwithstanding that paragraph, any dispute between them as to whether a measure relating to a tax to which any provision of this Convention applies falls within the scope of this Convention may be brought before the Council for Trade in Services, as provided by that paragraph, only with the consent of both Contracting States and after the mutual agreement procedure has been exhausted.
- 6. Where under any provision of the Convention any income is relieved from tax in a Contracting State and, under the law in force in the other Contracting State a person, in respect of that income, is subject to tax by reference to the amount thereof that is remitted to or received in that other Contracting State and not by reference to the full amount thereof, then the relief to be allowed under the Convention in the first-mentioned Contracting State shall apply only to so much of the income as is taxed in the other Contracting State.

VII. FINAL PROVISIONS

ARTICLE 29

Entry into Force

Each of the Contracting States shall take all measures necessary to give this Convention the force of law within its jurisdiction and shall notify the other through diplomatic channels of the completion of such measures. The Convention shall enter into force on the date on which the later notification is made and its provisions shall thereupon have effect:

- 4. Les contributions pour l'année à l'égard de services rendus au cours de cette année payées par une personne physique ou pour le compte d'une personne physique qui est un résident de l'un des États contractants ou qui y séjourne d'une façon temporaire, à un régime de pension qui est reconnu aux fins d'imposition dans l'autre État contractant sont, pendant une période n'excédant pas au total 60 mois, considérées aux fins d'imposition dans le premier État de la même manière que les contributions payées à un régime de pension qui est reconnu aux fins d'imposition dans le premier État, pourvu que :
 - a) cette personne physique ait contribué d'une façon régulière au régime de pension pendant une période se terminant immédiatement avant qu'elle ne devienne un résident du premier État ou qu'elle n'y séjourne de façon temporaire; et
 - b) l'autorité compétente du premier État convienne que le régime de pension correspond d'une façon générale à un régime de pension reconnu aux fins d'imposition par cet État.

Aux fins du présent paragraphe, « régime de pension » comprend un régime de pension créé en vertu du système de sécurité sociale dans un État contractant.

- 5. En ce qui concerne le paragraphe 3 de l'article XXII de l'Accord général sur le commerce des services, les États contractants conviennent que, nonobstant les dispositions de ce paragraphe, tout désaccord entre eux sur la question de savoir si une mesure se rapportant à un impôt auquel une disposition quelconque de la présente Convention s'applique relève de la présente Convention, ne peut être porté devant le Conseil du commerce des services, comme le prévoit ce paragraphe, qu'avec le consentement des États contractants et qu'après que la procédure amiable ait été épuisée.
- 6. Lorsque, en vertu d'une disposition quelconque de la Convention, une personne a droit dans un État contractant à un allégement d'impôt sur le revenu et, en vertu de la législation en vigueur dans l'autre État contractant, cette personne, à l'égard de ce revenu, est assujettie à l'impôt à raison du montant de ce revenu qui est transféré ou perçu dans cet autre État contractant et non à raison de son montant total, l'allégement qui doit être accordé en vertu de la Convention dans le premier État contractant ne s'applique qu'au montant de ce revenu qui est imposé dans l'autre État contractant.

VII. DISPOSITIONS FINALES

ARTICLE 29

Entrée en vigueur

Chacun des États contractants prendra les mesures requises dans sa juridiction pour la mise en oeuvre de la présente Convention et notifiera à l'autre l'accomplissement de ces mesures. La Convention entrera en vigueur à la date de la dernière de ces notifications et ses dispositions prendront effet :

- (a) in respect of tax withheld at the source on amounts paid or credited to non-residents, on or after the first day of January in the calendar year next following that in which the Convention enters into force; and
- (b) in respect of other taxes, for taxation years beginning on or after the first day of January in the calendar year next following that in which the Convention enters into force.

Termination

This Convention shall continue in effect indefinitely but either Contracting State may, on or before June 30 of any calendar year after the year of the entry into force of the Convention, give to the other Contracting State a notice of termination in writing through diplomatic channels; in such event, the Convention shall cease to have effect:

- (a) in respect of tax withheld at the source on amounts paid or credited to non-residents, on or after the first day of January of the next following calendar year; and
- (b) in respect of other taxes, for taxation years beginning on or after the first day of January of the next following calendar year.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the undersigned, duly authorized to that effect, have signed this Convention.

DONE in duplicate at Caracas, this 10th day of July, 2001, in the English, French and Spanish languages, each version being equally authentic.

FOR THE GOVERNMENT CANADA

FOR THE GOVERNMENT OF OF THE BOLIVARIAN REPUBLIC OF VENEZUELA

Allan J. Stewart

Luis Alfonso Dávila

PART 2

PROTOCOL

At the moment of signing the Convention this day concluded between the Government of Canada and the Government of the Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela for the avoidance of double taxation and the prevention of fiscal avoidance and evasion with respect to taxes on income and on capital, the undersigned have agreed upon the following provisions which shall be an integral part of the Convention.

1. It is understood that the taxes levied by municipalities in Venezuela are not taxes covered by the Convention.

- a) à l'égard de l'impôt retenu à la source sur les montants payés à des non-résidents ou portés à leur crédit, à partir du ler janvier de l'année civile qui suit celle de l'entrée en vigueur de la Convention; et
- b) à l'égard des autres impôts, pour toute année d'imposition commençant à partir du l^{er} janvier de l'année civile qui suit celle de l'entrée en vigueur de la Convention.

ARTICLE 30

Dénonciation

La présente Convention restera indéfiniment en vigueur, mais chacun des États contractants pourra, jusqu'au 30 juin inclus de toute année civile postérieure à l'année de l'entrée en vigueur de la Convention, donner par la voie diplomatique un avis de dénonciation écrit à l'autre État contractant; dans ce cas, la Convention cessera d'être applicable :

- a) à l'égard de l'impôt retenu à la source sur les montants payés à des non-résidents ou portés à leur crédit, à partir du 1^{er} janvier de l'année civile subséquente; et
- b) à l'égard des autres impôts, pour toute année d'imposition commençant à partir du 1^{er} janvier de l'année civile subséquente.

EN FOI DE QUOI les soussignés, dûment autorisés à cet effet, ont signé la présente Convention.

FAIT en double exemplaire à Caracas ce 10^e jour de juillet 2001 en langues française, anglaise et espagnole, chaque version faisant également foi.

POUR LE GOUVERNEMENT DU CANADA POUR LE GOUVERNEMENT DE LA RÉPUBLIQUE BOLIVARIENNE DU VENEZUELA

Allan J. Stewart

Luis Alfonso Dávila

PARTIE 2

PROTOCOLE

Au moment de procéder à la signature de la Convention conclue ce jour entre le Gouvernement du Canada et le Gouvernement de la République Bolivarienne du Venezuela en vue d'éviter les doubles impositions et de prévenir l'évasion et la fraude fiscales en matière d'impôts sur le revenu et sur la fortune, les soussignés sont convenus des dispositions suivantes qui font partie intégrante de la Convention.

1. Il est entendu que les impôts perçus par les municipalités au Venezuela ne sont pas des impôts couverts par la Convention.

- 2. For the purpose of computing the time limits in paragraph 3 of Article 5:
 - (a) it is understood that if an enterprise (general contractor), that has undertaken the performance of a comprehensive project, subcontracts parts of such a project to other enterprises (subcontractors), the period spent by a subcontractor must be considered as time spent by the general contractor. The subcontractor has a permanent establishment only if its activities continue for a period or periods aggregating more than 183 days in any twelve month period commencing or ending in the taxable year concerned;
 - (b) the 183 day period begins as of the date on which the construction activity itself begins; it does not take into account time spent solely on preparatory activities such as obtaining permits.
- 3. It is understood that, in order for paragraph 4 of Article 5 to apply, the activities listed in subparagraphs 4(a) through (f) and conducted by the resident of a Contracting State must each be of a preparatory or auxiliary character. Therefore, maintaining sales personnel in a Contracting State would not be an activity excepted under paragraph 4 and, subject to paragraphs 1, 5 and 6 of Article 5, would constitute a permanent establishment.
- 4. Where an enterprise of a Contracting State sells goods or merchandise or carries on business in the other Contracting State through a permanent establishment situated therein, the profits of that permanent establishment shall not be determined on the basis of the total amount received by the enterprise, but shall be determined only on the basis of the income which is attributable to the actual activity of the permanent establishment for such sales or business. In particular, in the case of contracts for the survey, supply, installation or construction of industrial, commercial or scientific equipment or premises, or of public works, when the enterprise has a permanent establishment, the profits of such permanent establishment shall not be determined on the total amount of the contract, but shall be determined only on the basis of that part of the contract which is effectively carried out by the permanent establishment in the State where the permanent establishment is situated. The profits related to that part of the contract which is carried out by the head office of the enterprise shall be taxable only in the State of which the enterprise is a
- 5. Notwithstanding the provisions of Article 7, profits derived by an enterprise of a Contracting State from a voyage of a ship or aircraft where the principal purpose of the voyage is to transport passengers or property between places in the other Contracting State may be taxed in that other State.

- 2. Aux fins du calcul de la limite de temps au paragraphe 3 de l'article 5 :
 - a) il est entendu que si une entreprise (entrepreneur général), qui a entrepris un projet global, sous-traite des parties de ce projet à d'autres entreprises (sous-traitants), la période utilisée par un sous-traitant est considérée comme du temps pris par l'entrepreneur général. Le sous-traitant a un établissement stable seulement si ses activités se poursuivent pendant une période ou des périodes excédant au total plus de 183 jours au cours de toute période de douze mois commençant ou se terminant durant l'année d'imposition considérée.
 - b) la période de 183 jours commence à la date du début de l'activité elle-même de construction; la période ne comprend pas le temps passé uniquement à l'exercice d'activités préparatoires, tel l'obtention de permis.
- 3. Il est entendu que pour l'application du paragraphe 4 de l'article 5, les activités énumérées aux alinéas *a*) à *f*) du paragraphe 4 et exercées par un résident d'un État contractant doivent chacune avoir un caractère préparatoire ou auxiliaire. Ainsi, le maintien de personnel affecté aux ventes dans un État contractant ne serait pas considéré comme une activité exclue en vertu du paragraphe 4 et, sous réserve des paragraphes 1, 5 et 6 de l'article 5, constituerait un établissement stable.
- 4. Lorsqu'une entreprise d'un État contractant vend des marchandises ou qu'elle exerce une activité industrielle ou commerciale dans l'autre État contractant par l'intermédiaire d'un établissement stable qui y est situé, les bénéfices de cet établissement stable ne sont pas déterminés sur la base du montant total reçu par l'entreprise, mais sont déterminés sur la seule base des revenus qui sont imputables aux activités de vente ou industrielles ou commerciales de l'établissement stable. En particulier, dans le cas d'un contrat pour des sondages, de l'approvisionnement, des activités de construction ou de montage d'équipement industriel, commercial ou scientifique ou de locaux, ou de travaux publics, lorsque l'entreprise a un établissement stable les bénéfices de cet établissement stable ne sont pas déterminés sur la base du montant total du contrat mais sur la base seule de la partie du contrat qui est effectivement remplie par l'établissement stable dans l'État où l'établissement stable est situé. Les bénéfices qui ont trait à la partie du contrat qui est remplie par le siège de l'entreprise n'est imposable que dans l'État où l'entreprise est un résident.
- 5. Nonobstant les dispositions de l'article 7, les bénéfices qu'une entreprise d'un État contractant tire d'un voyage d'un navire ou d'un aéronef lorsque le but principal du voyage est de transporter des passagers ou des biens entre des points situés dans l'autre État contractant sont imposables dans cet autre État.

Conventions fiscales (2001) — Annexe 3

- 6. It is understood that the reference to an "additional tax" in paragraph 6 of Article 10 includes the tax that may be imposed by Venezuela pursuant to the provisions of Article 72 of Presidential Decree No. 307 published on October 22, 1999, in so far as those provisions were in force on, and have not been modified since, the date of signature of the Convention or have been modified only in minor respects so as not to effect their general character. Furthermore, for the purposes of subparagraph (a) of paragraph 1 of Article 23, the tax so imposed by Venezuela will be considered to have been paid by the company on its own behalf.
- 7. In the event that, pursuant to an agreement or convention concluded with a country that is a member of the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development after the date of signature of the Convention, Venezuela agrees to a rate of tax on dividends referred to in subparagraph (a) of paragraph 2 of Article 10 that is lower than 10 per cent, the greater of such new rate and a rate of 5 per cent shall automatically apply for the purposes of that subparagraph as well as for paragraph 6 of the same Article.
- 8. It is understood that nothing in Article 24 shall be construed as preventing a Contracting State from imposing an additional tax as referred to in paragraph 6 of Article 10 or paragraph 6 of this Protocol.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the undersigned, duly authorized to that effect, have signed this Protocol.

DONE in duplicate at Caracas, this 10th day of July, 2001, in the English, French and Spanish languages, each version being equally authentic.

FOR THE GOVERNMENT FOR THE GOVERNMENT OF CANADA OF THE BOLIVARIAN REPUBLIC OF VENEZUELA

Allan J. Stewart Luis Alfonso Dávila

- 6. Il est entendu que la référence à « impôt additionnel » au paragraphe 6 de l'article 10 comprend l'impôt qui peut être prélevé par le Venezuela conformément aux dispositions de l'Article 72 du Décret Présidentiel Numéro 307 daté du 22 octobre 1999, pourvu que ces dispositions étaient en vigueur à la date de signature de la Convention et qu'elles n'ont pas été modifiées depuis ou ont été modifiées sans en changer le principe général. De plus, pour l'application de l'alinéa a) du paragraphe 1 de l'article 23, l'impôt ainsi prélevé par le Venezuela est considéré comme ayant été payé par la société pour son propre compte.
- 7. Dans l'éventualité où, dans le cadre d'un accord ou d'une convention conclu avec un pays membre de l'Organisation de Coopération et de Développement Économiques après la date de signature de la Convention, le Venezuela accepterait un taux d'impôt sur les dividendes visés à l'alinéa a) du paragraphe 2 de l'article 10 inférieur à 10 pour cent, le plus élevé de ce nouveau taux et le taux de 5 pour cent sera automatiquement appliqué aux fins de cet alinéa et du paragraphe 6 du même article.
- 8. Il est entendu qu'aucune disposition de l'article 24 ne peut être interprétée comme empêchant un État contractant de prélever un impôt additionnel tel que visé au paragraphe 6 de l'article 10 ou au paragraphe 6 du présent Protocole.

EN FOI DE QUOI les soussignés, dûment autorisés à cet effet, ont signé le présent Protocole.

FAIT en double exemplaire à Caracas ce 10e jour de juillet 2001, en langues française, anglaise et espagnole, chaque version faisant également foi.

POUR LE GOUVERNEMENT DU CANADA

POUR LE GOUVERNEMENT DE LA RÉPUBLIQUE **BOLIVARIENNE DU VENEZUELA**

Allan J. Stewart Luis Alfonso Dávila SCHEDULE 4 (Section 21)

PART 1

CONVENTION BETWEEN THE GOVERNMENT OF CANADA AND THE GOVERNMENT OF THE REPUBLIC OF PERU FOR THE AVOIDANCE OF DOUBLE TAXATION AND THE PREVENTION OF FISCAL EVASION WITH RESPECT TO TAXES ON INCOME AND ON CAPITAL

The Government of Canada and the Government of the Republic of Peru, desiring to conclude a Convention for the avoidance of double taxation and the prevention of fiscal evasion with respect to taxes on income and on capital, have agreed as follows:

I. SCOPE OF THE CONVENTION

ARTICLE 1

Persons Covered

This Convention shall apply to persons who are residents of one or both of the Contracting States.

ARTICLE 2

Taxes Covered

- 1. This Convention shall apply to taxes on income and on capital imposed on behalf of each Contracting State, irrespective of the manner in which they are levied.
- 2. There shall be regarded as taxes on income and on capital all taxes imposed on total income, on total capital, or on elements of income or of capital, including taxes on gains from the alienation of movable or immovable property, as well as taxes on capital appreciation.
- 3. The existing taxes to which the Convention shall apply are, in particular,
 - (a) in the case of Canada, the taxes imposed by the Government of Canada under the *Income Tax Act*, hereinafter referred to as "Canadian tax"; and
 - (b) in the case of Peru, the taxes imposed by the Government of Peru under the Income Tax Act (Ley del Impuesto a la Renta) and the Solidarity Extraordinary Tax (Impuesto Extraordinario de Solidaridad) supported by an individual in respect of independent personal services, hereinafter referred to as "Peruvian tax".

ANNEXE 4 (article 21)

PARTIE 1

CONVENTION ENTRE LE GOUVERNEMENT DU CANADA ET LE GOUVERNEMENT DE LA RÉPUBLIQUE DU PÉROU EN VUE D'ÉVITER LES DOUBLES IMPOSITIONS ET DE PRÉVENIR L'ÉVASION FISCALE EN MATIÈRE D'IMPÔTS SUR LE REVENU ET SUR LA FORTUNE

Le Gouvernement du Canada et le Gouvernement de la République du Pérou, désireux de conclure une Convention en vue d'éviter les doubles impositions et de prévenir l'évasion fiscale en matière d'impôts sur le revenu et sur la fortune, sont convenus des dispositions suivantes :

I. CHAMP D'APPLICATION DE LA CONVENTION

ARTICLE PREMIER

Personnes visées

La présente Convention s'applique aux personnes qui sont des résidents d'un État contractant ou des deux États contractants.

ARTICLE 2

Impôts visés

- 1. La présente Convention s'applique aux impôts sur le revenu et sur la fortune perçus pour le compte de chacun des États contractants, quel que soit le système de perception.
- 2. Sont considérés comme impôts sur le revenu et sur la fortune les impôts perçus sur le revenu total, sur la fortune totale, ou sur des éléments du revenu ou de la fortune, y compris les impôts sur les gains provenant de l'aliénation de biens mobiliers ou immobiliers, ainsi que les impôts sur les plus-values.
- 3. Les impôts actuels auxquels s'applique la Convention sont notamment :
 - a) en ce qui concerne le Canada, les impôts qui sont perçus par le Gouvernement du Canada en vertu de la *Loi de l'impôt sur le revenu*, ci-après dénommés « impôt canadien »; et
 - b) en ce qui concerne le Pérou, les impôts qui sont perçus par le Gouvernement du Pérou en vertu de la Loi de l'impôt sur le revenu (*Ley del Impuesto a la Renta*) ainsi que l'impôt extraordinaire de solidarité (*Impuesto Extraordinario de Solidaridad*) supporté par une personne physique relativement à une profession indépendante, ci-après dénommés « impôt péruvien ».

4. The Convention shall apply also to any identical or substantially similar taxes and to taxes on capital which are imposed after the date of signature of the Convention in addition to, or in place of, the existing taxes. The competent authorities of the Contracting States shall notify each other of any significant changes which have been made in their respective taxation laws.

Conventions fiscales (2001) — Annexe 4

II. DEFINITIONS

ARTICLE 3

General Definitions

- 1. For the purposes of this Convention, unless the context otherwise requires,
 - (a) the term "Canada", used in a geographical sense, means the territory of Canada, including
 - (i) any area beyond the territorial sea of Canada that, in accordance with international law and the laws of Canada, is an area in respect of which Canada may exercise rights with respect to the seabed and subsoil and their natural resources, and
 - (ii) the sea and airspace above every area referred to in clause (i):
 - (b) the term "Peru", used in a geographical sense, means the territory of the Republic of Peru which includes, in addition to the areas contained within its internationally recognized land boundaries, the adjacent maritime zones and airspace within which the Republic of Peru exercises sovereign rights and jurisdiction in accordance with its legislation and international law;
 - (c) the terms "a Contracting State" and "the other Contracting State" mean, as the context requires, Canada or Peru;
 - (d) the term "person" includes an individual, a trust, a company, a partnership and any other body of persons;
 - (e) the term "company" means any body corporate or any entity which is treated as a body corporate for tax purposes;
 - (f) the terms "enterprise of a Contracting State" and "enterprise of the other Contracting State" mean respectively an enterprise carried on by a resident of a Contracting State and an enterprise carried on by a resident of the other Contracting State:

4. La Convention s'applique aussi aux impôts de nature identique ou analogue et aux impôts sur la fortune qui seraient établis après la date de signature de la Convention et qui s'ajouteraient aux impôts actuels ou qui les remplaceraient. Les autorités compétentes des États contractants se communiquent les modifications importantes apportées à leurs législations fiscales respectives.

II. DÉFINITIONS

ARTICLE 3

Définitions générales

- 1. Au sens de la présente Convention, à moins que le contexte n'exige une interprétation différente :
 - a) le terme « Canada », employé dans un sens géographique, désigne le territoire du Canada, y compris :
 - (i) toute région située au-delà de la mer territoriale du Canada qui, conformément au droit international et en vertu des lois du Canada, est une région à l'intérieur de laquelle le Canada peut exercer des droits à l'égard du fond et du sous-sol de la mer et de leurs ressources naturelles,
 - (ii) la mer et l'espace aérien au-dessus de la région visée au sous-alinéa (i):
 - b) le terme « Pérou », employé dans un sens géographique, désigne le territoire de la République du Pérou, qui comprend, outre les régions situées à l'intérieur de ses frontières terrestres reconnues au niveau international, les zones maritimes et l'espace aérien adjacents, à l'intérieur desquels la République du Pérou exerce ses droits souverains et a compétence conformément à ses lois et au droit international;
 - c) les expressions « un État contractant » et « l'autre État contractant » désignent, suivant le contexte, le Canada ou le Pérou;
 - d) le terme « personne » comprend les personnes physiques, les fiducies, les sociétés, les sociétés de personnes et tous autres groupements de personnes;
 - e) le terme « société » désigne toute personne morale ou toute entité qui est considérée comme une personne morale aux fins d'imposition:
 - f) les expressions « entreprise d'un État contractant » et « entreprise de l'autre État contractant » désignent respectivement une entreprise exploitée par un résident d'un État contractant et une entreprise exploitée par un résident de l'autre État contractant;

- (g) the term "competent authority" means
 - (i) in the case of Canada, the Minister of National Revenue or the Minister's authorized representative, and
 - (ii) in the case of Peru, the Minister of Economy and Finance or the Minister's authorized representative;
- (h) the term "national" means
 - (i) any individual possessing the nationality of a Contracting State, and
 - (ii) any legal person, partnership or association deriving its status as such from the laws in force in a Contracting State; and
- (i) the term "international traffic" means any voyage of a ship or aircraft operated by an enterprise of a Contracting State to transport passengers or property except where the principal purpose of the voyage is to transport passengers or property between places within the other Contracting State.
- 2. As regards the application of the Convention at any time by a Contracting State, any term not defined therein shall, unless the context otherwise requires, have the meaning that it has at that time under the law of that State for the purposes of the taxes to which the Convention applies.

Resident

- 1. For the purposes of this Convention, the term "resident of a Contracting State" means
 - (a) any person who, under the laws of that State, is liable to tax therein by reason of the person's domicile, residence, place of management or any other criterion of a similar nature but does not include any person who is liable to tax in that State in respect only of income from sources in that State, and
 - (b) that State or a political subdivision or local authority thereof or any agency or instrumentality of any such State, subdivision or authority.
- 2. Where by reason of the provisions of paragraph 1 an individual is a resident of both Contracting States, then the individual's status shall be determined as follows:
 - (a) the individual shall be deemed to be a resident only of the State in which the individual has a permanent home available and if the individual has a permanent home available in both States, the individual shall be deemed to be a resident only of the State with which the individual's personal and economic relations are closer (centre of vital interests);

- g) l'expression « autorité compétente » désigne :
 - (i) en ce qui concerne le Canada, le ministre du Revenu national ou son représentant autorisé, et
 - (ii) en ce qui concerne le Pérou, le ministre de l'Économie et des Finances ou son représentant autorisé;
- h) le terme « national » désigne :
 - (i) toute personne physique qui possède la nationalité d'un État contractant;
 - (ii) toute personne morale, société de personnes ou association constituées conformément à la législation en vigueur dans un État contractant; et
- i) l'expression « trafic international » désigne tout voyage effectué par un navire ou un aéronef exploité par une entreprise d'un État contractant pour transporter des passagers ou des biens, sauf lorsque le but principal du voyage est de transporter des passagers ou des biens entre des points situés dans l'autre État contractant.
- 2. Pour l'application de la Convention à un moment donné par un État contractant, tout terme ou expression qui n'y est pas défini a, sauf si le contexte exige une interprétation différente, le sens que lui attribue à ce moment le droit de cet État concernant les impôts auxquels s'applique la Convention.

ARTICLE 4

Résident

- 1. Au sens de la présente Convention, l'expression « résident d'un État contractant » désigne :
 - a) toute personne qui, en vertu de la législation de cet État, est assujettie à l'impôt dans cet État en raison de son domicile, de sa résidence, de son siège de direction ou de tout autre critère de nature analogue; toutefois, cette expression ne comprend pas les personnes qui ne sont assujetties à l'impôt dans cet État que pour les revenus de sources situées dans cet État;
 - b) cet État ou l'une de ses subdivisions politiques ou collectivités locales ou toute personne morale de droit public de cet État, subdivision ou collectivité.
- 2. Lorsque, selon les dispositions du paragraphe l, une personne physique est un résident des deux États contractants, sa situation est réglée de la manière suivante :
 - a) cette personne est considérée comme un résident seulement de l'État où elle dispose d'un foyer d'habitation permanent; si elle dispose d'un foyer d'habitation permanent dans les deux États, elle est considérée comme un résident seulement de l'État avec lequel ses liens personnels et économiques sont les plus étroits (centre des intérêts vitaux);

(b) if the State in which the individual's centre of vital interests is situated cannot be determined, or if there is not a permanent home available to the individual in either State, the individual shall be deemed to be a resident only of the State in which the individual has an habitual abode;

Conventions fiscales (2001) — Annexe 4

- (c) if the individual has an habitual abode in both States or in neither of them, the individual shall be deemed to be a resident only of the State of which the individual is a national; and
- (d) if the individual is a national of both States or of neither of them, the competent authorities of the Contracting States shall settle the question by mutual agreement.
- 3. Where by reason of the provisions of paragraph 1 a company is a resident of both Contracting States, then its status shall be determined as follows:
 - (a) it shall be deemed to be a resident only of the State of which it is a national:
 - (b) if it is a national of neither of the States the competent authorities of the Contracting States shall by mutual agreement endeavour to settle the question and to determine the mode of application of the Convention to the company. In the absence of such agreement, the company shall not be entitled to claim any relief or exemption from tax provided by the Convention.
- 4. Where by reason of the provisions of paragraph 1 a person other than an individual or a company is a resident of both Contracting States, the competent authorities of the Contracting States shall by mutual agreement endeavour to settle the question and to determine the mode of application of the Convention to such person. In the absence of such agreement, such person shall not be entitled to claim any relief or exemption from tax provided by the Convention.

ARTICLE 5

Permanent Establishment

- 1. For the purposes of this Convention, the term "permanent establishment" means a fixed place of business through which the business of an enterprise is wholly or partly carried on.
 - 2. The term "permanent establishment" includes especially
 - (a) a place of management;
 - (b) a branch;
 - (c) an office;
 - (d) a factory;
 - (e) a workshop; and
 - (f) a mine, an oil or gas well, a quarry or any other place relating to the exploration for or the exploitation of natural resources.

- b) si l'État où cette personne a le centre de ses intérêts vitaux ne peut pas être déterminé, ou si elle ne dispose d'un foyer d'habitation permanent dans aucun des États, elle est considérée comme un résident seulement de l'État où elle séjourne de façon habituelle;
- c) si cette personne séjourne de façon habituelle dans les deux États ou si elle ne séjourne de façon habituelle dans aucun d'eux, elle est considérée comme un résident seulement de l'État dont elle possède la nationalité;
- d) si cette personne possède la nationalité des deux États ou si elle ne possède la nationalité d'aucun d'eux, les autorités compétentes des États contractants tranchent la question d'un commun accord.
- 3. Lorsque, selon les dispositions du paragraphe l, une société est un résident des deux États contractants, sa situation est réglée de la manière suivante :
 - a) elle est considérée comme un résident seulement de l'État dont elle est un national;
 - b) si elle n'est un national d'aucun des États, les autorités compétentes des États contractants s'efforcent d'un commun accord de trancher la question et de déterminer les modalités d'application de la Convention à ladite société. À défaut d'un tel accord, cette société n'a pas droit de réclamer les abattements ou exonérations d'impôts prévus par la Conven-
- 4. Lorsque, selon les dispositions du paragraphe 1, une personne autre qu'une personne physique ou une société est un résident des deux États contractants, les autorités compétentes des États contractants s'efforcent d'un commun accord de trancher la question et de déterminer les modalités d'application de la Convention à ladite personne. À défaut d'un tel accord, cette personne n'a pas droit de réclamer les abattements ou exonérations d'impôts prévus par la Convention.

ARTICLE 5

Établissement stable

- 1. Au sens de la présente Convention, l'expression « établissement stable » désigne une installation fixe d'affaires par l'intermédiaire de laquelle une entreprise exerce tout ou partie de son activité.
- 2. L'expression « établissement stable » comprend notamment:
 - a) un siège de direction;
 - b) une succursale;
 - c) un bureau;
 - d) une usine;
 - e) un atelier; et
 - f) une mine, un puits de pétrole ou de gaz, une carrière ou tout autre lieu relié à l'exploration ou à l'exploitation de ressources naturelles.

- 3. The term "permanent establishment" shall also include:
- (a) a building site or construction or installation project but only if such site, project continues for a period or periods aggregating more than 183 days within any twelve-month period; and
- (b) the furnishing of services, including consulting services, by an enterprise of a Contracting State through employees or other individuals engaged by the enterprise for such purposes in the other Contracting State, but only where such activities continue (for the same or a connected project) within that State for a period or periods aggregating more than 183 days within any twelve-month period.

For the purposes of computing the time period or periods in this paragraph, the duration of activities carried on by an enterprise shall include activities carried on by associated enterprises, within the meaning of Article 9, if the activities between the associated enterprises are connected.

- 4. Notwithstanding the preceding provisions of this Article, the term "permanent establishment" shall be deemed not to include
 - (a) the use of facilities solely for the purpose of storage, display or delivery of goods or merchandise belonging to the enterprise;
 - (b) the maintenance of a stock of goods or merchandise belonging to the enterprise solely for the purpose of storage, display or delivery;
 - (c) the maintenance of a stock of goods or merchandise belonging to the enterprise solely for the purpose of processing by another enterprise;
 - (d) the maintenance of a fixed place of business solely for the purpose of purchasing goods or merchandise or of collecting information, for the enterprise;
 - (e) the maintenance of a fixed place of business solely for the purpose of advertising, supplying information or carrying on scientific research for the enterprise, if such activity is of a preparatory or auxiliary character.

- 3. L'expression « établissement stable » comprend également :
 - a) un chantier de construction ou de montage, mais seulement si ce chantier se poursuit pendant une ou des périodes comptant au total plus de 183 jours au cours de toute période de douze mois; et
 - b) la fourniture de services, y compris les services de consultants, par une entreprise d'un État contractant agissant par l'intermédiaire de salariés ou d'autres personnes physiques engagées par l'entreprise à ces fins dans l'autre État contractant, mais uniquement lorsque les activités de cette nature se poursuivent (pour le même projet ou un projet connexe) sur le territoire de cet État pendant une ou des périodes représentant un total de plus de 183 jours au cours de toute période de douze mois.

Pour le calcul de la ou des périodes prévues au présent paragraphe, la période au cours de laquelle des activités sont exercées par une entreprise est majorée de la période au cours de laquelle des activités sont exercées par des entreprises associées au sens de l'article 9, pourvu que les activités des entreprises associées soient reliées entre elles.

- 4. Nonobstant les dispositions précédentes du présent article, on considère qu'il n'y a pas « établissement stable » si :
 - a) il est fait usage d'installations aux seules fins de stockage, d'exposition ou de livraison de marchandises appartenant à l'entreprise;
 - b) des marchandises appartenant à l'entreprise sont entreposées aux seules fins de stockage, d'exposition ou de livraison;
 - c) des marchandises appartenant à l'entreprise sont entreposées aux seules fins de transformation par une autre entreprise;
 - d) une installation fixe d'affaires est utilisée aux seules fins d'acheter des marchandises ou de réunir des informations pour l'entreprise;
 - e) une installation fixe d'affaires est utilisée, pour l'entreprise, aux seules fins de publicité, de fourniture d'informations ou de recherches scientifiques qui ont un caractère préparatoire ou auxiliaire.

- 5. Notwithstanding the provisions of paragraphs 1 and 2, where a person (other than an agent of an independent status to whom paragraph 7 applies) is acting on behalf of an enterprise and has, and habitually exercises, in a Contracting State an authority to conclude contracts on behalf of the enterprise, that enterprise shall be deemed to have a permanent establishment in that State in respect of any activities which that person undertakes for the enterprise unless the activities of such person are limited to those mentioned in paragraph 4 which, if exercised through a fixed place of business, would not make this fixed place of business a permanent establishment under the provisions of that paragraph.
- 6. Notwithstanding the preceding provisions of this Article, an insurance enterprise of a Contracting State shall, except in regard to re-insurance, be deemed to have a permanent establishment in the other Contracting State if it collects premiums in the territory of that other State or insures risks situated therein through a person other than an agent of independent status to whom paragraph 7 applies.
- 7. An enterprise shall not be deemed to have a permanent establishment in a Contracting State merely because it carries on business in that State through a broker, general commission agent or any other agent of an independent status, provided that such persons are acting in the ordinary course of their business. However, when the activities of such an agent are devoted wholly or almost wholly on behalf of that enterprise, the agent will not be considered an agent of an independent status within the meaning of this paragraph.
- 8. The fact that a company which is a resident of a Contracting State controls or is controlled by a company which is a resident of the other Contracting State, or which carries on business in that other State (whether through a permanent establishment or otherwise), shall not of itself constitute either company a permanent establishment of the other.

III. TAXATION OF INCOME

ARTICLE 6

Income from Immovable Property

1. Income derived by a resident of a Contracting State from immovable property (including income from agriculture or forestry) situated in the other Contracting State may be taxed in that other State.

- 5. Nonobstant les dispositions des paragraphes 1 et 2, lorsqu'une personne — autre qu'un agent jouissant d'un statut indépendant auquel s'applique le paragraphe 7 — agit pour le compte d'une entreprise et dispose dans un État contractant de pouvoirs qu'elle y exerce habituellement lui permettant de conclure des contrats pour le compte de l'entreprise, cette entreprise est considérée comme ayant un établissement stable dans cet État pour toutes les activités que cette personne exerce pour l'entreprise, à moins que les activités de cette personne ne soient limitées à celles qui sont mentionnées au paragraphe 4 et qui, si elles étaient exercées par l'intermédiaire d'une installation fixe d'affaires, ne permettraient pas de considérer cette installation comme un établissement stable selon les dispositions de ce paragraphe.
- 6. Toutefois, sauf en matière de réassurance, une société d'assurance qui est un résident d'un État contractant est considérée comme ayant un établissement stable dans l'autre État contractant si elle perçoit des primes sur le territoire de cet autre État ou assure des risques qui y sont encourus, par l'intermédiaire d'une personne autre qu'un agent jouissant d'un statut indépendant auquel s'applique le paragraphe 7.
- 7. Une entreprise n'est pas considérée comme ayant un établissement stable dans un État contractant du seul fait qu'elle y exerce son activité par l'entremise d'un courtier, d'un commissionnaire général ou de tout autre agent jouissant d'un statut indépendant, à condition que ces personnes agissent dans le cadre ordinaire de leur activité. Toutefois, lorsque ces agents agissent exclusivement ou presque exclusivement pour le compte de l'entreprise, ils ne sont pas considérés comme agents jouissant d'un statut indépendant au sens du présent paragraphe.
- 8. Le fait qu'une société qui est un résident d'un État contractant contrôle ou est contrôlée par une société qui est un résident de l'autre État contractant ou qui y exerce son activité (que ce soit par l'intermédiaire d'un établissement stable ou non) ne suffit pas, en lui-même, à faire de l'une quelconque de ces sociétés un établissement stable de l'autre.

III. IMPOSITION DES REVENUS

ARTICLE 6

Revenus immobiliers

1. Les revenus qu'un résident d'un État contractant tire de biens immobiliers (y compris les revenus des exploitations agricoles ou forestières) situés dans l'autre État contractant, sont imposables dans cet autre État.

- 2. For the purposes of this Convention, the term "immovable property" shall have the meaning which it has for the purposes of the relevant tax law of the Contracting State in which the property in question is situated. The term shall in any case include property accessory to immovable property, livestock and equipment used in agriculture and forestry, rights to which the provisions of general law respecting landed property apply, usufruct of immovable property and rights to variable or fixed payments as consideration for the working of, or the right to work, mineral deposits, sources and other natural resources. Ships and aircraft shall not be regarded as immovable property.
- 3. The provisions of paragraph 1 shall apply to income derived from the direct use, letting, or use in any other form of immovable property and to income from the alienation of such property.
- 4. The provisions of paragraphs 1 and 3 shall also apply to the income from immovable property of an enterprise and to income from immovable property used for the performance of independent personal services.

Business Profits

- 1. The profits of an enterprise of a Contracting State shall be taxable only in that State unless the enterprise carries on business in the other Contracting State through a permanent establishment situated therein. If the enterprise carries on or has carried on business as aforesaid, the profits of the enterprise may be taxed in the other State but only so much of them as is attributable to that permanent establishment.
- 2. Subject to the provisions of paragraph 3, where an enterprise of a Contracting State carries on business in the other Contracting State through a permanent establishment situated therein, there shall in each Contracting State be attributed to that permanent establishment the profits which it might be expected to make if it were a distinct and separate enterprise engaged in the same or similar activities under the same or similar conditions and dealing wholly independently with the enterprise of which it is a permanent establishment and with all other persons.
- 3. In the determination of the profits of a permanent establishment, there shall be allowed those deductible expenses which are incurred for the purposes of the permanent establishment including executive and general administrative expenses, whether incurred in the State in which the permanent establishment is situated or elsewhere.
- 4. No profits shall be attributed to a permanent establishment by reason of the mere purchase by that permanent establishment of goods or merchandise for the enterprise.
- 5. For the purposes of the preceding paragraphs, the profits to be attributed to the permanent establishment shall be determined by the same method year by year unless there is good and sufficient reason to the contrary.

- 2. Au sens de la présente Convention, l'expression « biens immobiliers » a le sens qu'elle a aux fins de la législation fiscale pertinente de l'État contractant où les biens considérés sont situés. L'expression comprend en tous cas les accessoires, le cheptel mort ou vif des exploitations agricoles et forestières, les droits auxquels s'appliquent les dispositions du droit privé concernant la propriété foncière, l'usufruit des biens immobiliers et les droits à des paiements variables ou fixes pour l'exploitation ou la concession de l'exploitation de gisements minéraux, sources et autres ressources naturelles; les navires et aéronefs ne sont pas considérés comme des biens immobiliers.
- 3. Les dispositions du paragraphe l s'appliquent aux revenus provenant de l'exploitation directe, de la location ou de l'affermage et de toute autre forme d'exploitation des biens immobiliers ainsi qu'aux revenus provenant de l'aliénation de tels biens.
- 4. Les dispositions des paragraphes 1 et 3 s'appliquent également aux revenus provenant des biens immobiliers d'une entreprise ainsi qu'aux revenus des biens immobiliers servant à l'exercice d'une profession indépendante.

ARTICLE 7

Bénéfices des entreprises

- 1. Les bénéfices d'une entreprise d'un État contractant ne sont imposables que dans cet État, à moins que l'entreprise n'exerce son activité dans l'autre État contractant par l'intermédiaire d'un établissement stable qui y est situé. Si l'entreprise exerce ou a exercé son activité d'une telle façon, les bénéfices de l'entreprise sont imposables dans l'autre État mais uniquement dans la mesure où ils sont imputables à cet établissement stable.
- 2. Sous réserve des dispositions du paragraphe 3, lorsqu'une entreprise d'un État contractant exerce son activité dans l'autre État contractant par l'intermédiaire d'un établissement stable qui y est situé, il est imputé, dans chaque État contractant, à cet établissement stable les bénéfices qu'il aurait pu réaliser s'il avait constitué une entreprise distincte exerçant des activités identiques ou analogues dans des conditions identiques ou analogues et traitant en toute indépendance avec l'entreprise dont il constitue un établissement stable et avec toutes autres personnes.
- 3. Pour déterminer les bénéfices d'un établissement stable, sont admises en déduction les dépenses déductibles qui sont exposées aux fins poursuivies par cet établissement stable, y compris les dépenses de direction et les frais généraux d'administration ainsi exposés, soit dans l'État où est situé cet établissement stable, soit ailleurs.
- 4. Aucun bénéfice n'est imputé à un établissement stable du fait qu'il a simplement acheté des marchandises pour l'entreprise.
- 5. Aux fins des paragraphes précédents, les bénéfices à imputer à l'établissement stable sont déterminés chaque année selon la même méthode, à moins qu'il n'existe des motifs valables et suffisants de procéder autrement.

6. Where profits include items of income which are dealt with separately in other Articles of this Convention, then the provisions of those Articles shall not be affected by the provisions of this Article.

ARTICLE 8

Shipping and Air Transport

- 1. Profits derived by an enterprise of a Contracting State from the operation of ships or aircraft in international traffic shall be taxable only in that State.
- 2. Notwithstanding the provisions of Article 7, profits derived by an enterprise of a Contracting State from a voyage of a ship or aircraft where the principal purpose of the voyage is to transport passengers or property between places in the other Contracting State may be taxed in that other State.
- 3. The provisions of paragraphs 1 and 2 shall also apply to profits from the participation in a pool, a joint business or an international operating agency.
 - 4. For the purposes of this Article,
 - (a) the term "profits" includes
 - (i) gross receipts and revenues derived directly from the operation of ships or aircraft in international traffic, and
 - (ii) interest that is incidental to the operation of ships or aircraft in international traffic; and
 - (b) the term "operation of ships or aircraft in international traffic" by an enterprise, includes
 - (i) the charter or rental of ships or aircraft, and
 - (ii) the rental of containers and related equipment,

by that enterprise if that charter or rental is incidental to the operation by that enterprise of ships or aircraft in international traffic.

ARTICLE 9

Associated Enterprises

1. Where

- (a) an enterprise of a Contracting State participates directly or indirectly in the management, control or capital of an enterprise of the other Contracting State, or
- (b) the same persons participate directly or indirectly in the management, control or capital of an enterprise of a Contracting State and an enterprise of the other Contracting State,

6. Lorsque les bénéfices comprennent des éléments de revenu traités séparément dans d'autres articles de la présente Convention, les dispositions de ces articles ne sont pas affectées par les disposi-tions du présent article.

ARTICLE 8

Navigation maritime et aérienne

- 1. Les bénéfices qu'une entreprise d'un État contractant tire de l'exploitation, en trafic international, de navires ou d'aéronefs ne sont imposables que dans cet État.
- 2. Nonobstant les dispositions de l'article 7, les bénéfices qu'une entreprise d'un État contractant tire d'un voyage d'un navire ou d'un aéronef lorsque le but principal du voyage est de transporter des passagers ou des biens entre des points situés dans l'autre État contractant sont imposables dans cet autre État.
- 3. Les dispositions des paragraphes 1 et 2 s'appliquent aussi aux bénéfices provenant de la participation à un pool, à une exploitation en commun ou à un organisme international d'exploitation.
 - 4. Au sens du présent article,
 - a) le terme « bénéfices » comprend :
 - (i) les recettes brutes et les revenus provenant directement de l'exploitation, en trafic international, de navires ou d'aéronefs, et
 - (ii) les intérêts qui sont accessoires à l'exploitation, en trafic international, de navires ou d'aéronefs;
 - b) l'expression « exploitation, en trafic international, de navires ou d'aéronefs » par une entreprise, comprend :
 - (i) l'affrètement ou la location de navires ou d'aéronefs par l'entreprise,
 - (ii) la location de conteneurs et d'équipements accessoires par l'entreprise,

pourvu que cet affrètement ou cette location soit accessoire à l'exploitation, en trafic international, de navires ou d'aéronefs par l'entreprise.

ARTICLE 9

Entreprises associées

1. Lorsque

- a) une entreprise d'un État contractant participe directement ou indirectement à la direction, au contrôle ou au capital d'une entreprise de l'autre État contractant, ou que
- b) les mêmes personnes participent directement ou indirectement à la direction, au contrôle ou au capital d'une entreprise d'un État contractant et d'une entreprise de l'autre État contractant.

and in either case conditions are made or imposed between the two enterprises in their commercial or financial relations that differ from those that would be made between independent enterprises, then any income that would, but for those conditions, have accrued to one of the enterprises, but, by reason of those conditions, has not so accrued, may be included in the income of that enterprise and taxed accordingly.

- 2. Where a Contracting State includes in the income of an enterprise of that State and taxes accordingly income on which an enterprise of the other Contracting State has been charged to tax in that other State and the income so included is income that would have accrued to the enterprise of the first-mentioned State if the conditions made between the two enterprises had been those that would have been made between independent enterprises, then that other State shall make an appropriate adjustment to the amount of tax charged therein on that income. In determining such adjustment, due regard shall be had to the other provisions of this Convention and the competent authorities of the Contracting States shall if necessary consult each other.
- 3. A Contracting State shall not change the income of an enterprise in the circumstances referred to in paragraph 1 after the expiry of the time limits provided in its domestic laws and, in any case, after five years from the end of the year in which the income that would be subject to such change would, but for the conditions referred to in paragraph 1, have been attributed to that enterprise.
- 4. The provisions of paragraphs 2 and 3 shall not apply in the case of fraud, wilful default or neglect.

ARTICLE 10

Dividends

- 1. Dividends paid by a company that is a resident of a Contracting State to a resident of the other Contracting State may be taxed in that other State.
- 2. However, such dividends may also be taxed in the Contracting State of which the company paying the dividends is a resident and according to the laws of that State, but if the beneficial owner of the dividends is a resident of the other Contracting State, the tax so charged shall not exceed
 - (a) 10 per cent of the gross amount of the dividends if the beneficial owner is a company that controls directly or indirectly at least 10 per cent of the voting power in the company paying the dividends; and
 - (b) 15 per cent of the gross amount of the dividends, in all other cases.

The provisions of this paragraph shall not affect the taxation of the company in respect of the profits out of which the dividends are paid. et que, dans l'un et l'autre cas, les deux entreprises sont, dans leurs relations commerciales ou financières, liées par des conditions convenues ou imposées, qui diffèrent de celles qui seraient convenues entre des entreprises indépendantes, les revenus qui, sans ces conditions, auraient été réalisés par l'une des entreprises mais n'ont pu l'être en fait à cause de ces conditions, peuvent être inclus dans les revenus de cette entreprise et imposés en conséquence.

- 2. Lorsqu'un État contractant inclut dans les revenus d'une entreprise de cet État—et impose en conséquence—des revenus sur lesquels une entreprise de l'autre État contractant a été imposée dans cet autre État, et que les revenus ainsi inclus sont des revenus qui auraient été réalisés par l'entreprise du premier État si les conditions convenues entre les deux entreprises avaient été celles qui auraient été convenues entre des entreprises indépendantes, l'autre État procède à un ajustement approprié du montant de l'impôt qui y a été perçu sur ces revenus. Pour déterminer cet ajustement, il est tenu compte des autres dispositions de la présente Convention et, si c'est nécessaire, les autorités compétentes des États contractants se consultent.
- 3. Un État contractant ne rectifiera pas les revenus d'une entreprise dans les cas visés au paragraphe l après l'expiration des délais prévus par sa législation nationale et, en tout cas, après l'expiration de cinq ans à dater de la fin de l'année au cours de laquelle les revenus qui feraient l'objet d'une telle rectification auraient, sans les conditions visées au paragraphe 1, été réalisés par cette entreprise.
- 4. Les dispositions des paragraphes 2 et 3 ne s'appliquent pas en cas de fraude, d'omission volontaire ou de négligence.

ARTICLE 10

Dividendes

- 1. Les dividendes payés par une société qui est un résident d'un État contractant à un résident de l'autre État contractant sont imposables dans cet autre État.
- 2. Toutefois, ces dividendes sont aussi imposables dans l'État contractant dont la société qui paie les dividendes est un résident et selon la législation de cet État, mais si le bénéficiaire effectif des dividendes est un résident de l'autre État contractant, l'impôt ainsi établi ne peut excéder :
 - a) 10 p. 100 du montant brut des dividendes si le bénéficiaire effectif est une société qui contrôle directement ou indirectement au moins 10 p. 100 des droits de vote de la société qui paie les dividendes;
 - b) 15 p. 100 du montant brut des dividendes, dans tous les autres cas.

Les dispositions du présent paragraphe n'affectent pas l'imposition de la société au titre des bénéfices qui servent au paiement des dividendes.

3. The term "dividends" as used in this Article means income from shares or other rights, not being debt-claims, participating in profits, as well as income which is subjected to the same taxation treatment as income from shares by the laws of the State of which the company making the distribution is a resident.

Conventions fiscales (2001) — Annexe 4

- 4. The provisions of paragraph 2 shall not apply if the beneficial owner of the dividends, being a resident of a Contracting State, carries on or has carried on business in the other Contracting State of which the company paying the dividends is a resident, through a permanent establishment situated therein, or performs or has performed in that other State independent personal services from a fixed base situated therein, and the holding in respect of which the dividends are paid is effectively connected with such permanent establishment or fixed base. In such case the provisions of Article 7 or Article 14, as the case may be, shall apply.
- 5. Where a company that is a resident of a Contracting State derives profits or income from the other Contracting State, that other State may not impose any tax on the dividends paid by the company, except insofar as such dividends are paid to a resident of that other State or insofar as the holding in respect of which the dividends are paid is effectively connected with a permanent establishment or a fixed base situated in that other State, nor subject the company's undistributed profits to a tax on undistributed profits, even if the dividends paid or the undistributed profits consist wholly or partly of profits or income arising in such other State.
- 6. Nothing in this Convention shall be construed as preventing a Contracting State from imposing on the earnings of a company attributable to a permanent establishment in that State, or the earnings attributable to the alienation of immovable property situated in that State by a company carrying on a trade in immovable property, a tax in addition to the tax that would be chargeable on the earnings of a company that is a national of that State, except that any additional tax so imposed shall not exceed 10 per cent of the amount of such earnings that have not been subjected to such additional tax in previous taxation years. For the purpose of this provision, the term "earnings" means the earnings attributable to the alienation of such immovable property situated in a Contracting State as may be taxed by that State under the provisions of Article 6 or of paragraph 1 of Article 13, and the profits, including any gains, attributable to a permanent establishment in a Contracting State in a year and previous years, after deducting therefrom all taxes, other than the additional tax referred to herein, imposed on such profits in that State.
- 7. The provisions of this Article shall not apply if it was the main purpose or one of the main purposes of any person concerned with the creation or assignment of the shares or other rights in respect of which the dividend is paid to take advantage of this Article by means of that creation or assignment.

- 3. Le terme « dividendes » employé dans le présent article désigne les revenus provenant d'actions ou autres parts bénéficiaires à l'exception des créances, ainsi que les revenus soumis au même régime fiscal que les revenus d'actions par la législation de l'État dont la société distributrice est un résident.
- 4. Les dispositions du paragraphe 2 ne s'appliquent pas lorsque le bénéficiaire effectif des dividendes, résident d'un État contractant, exerce ou a exercé dans l'autre État contractant dont la société qui paie les dividendes est un résident, soit une activité industrielle ou commerciale par l'intermédiaire d'un établissement stable qui y est situé, soit une profession indépendante au moyen d'une base fixe qui y est située, et que la participation génératrice des dividendes s'y rattache effectivement. Dans ce cas, les dispositions de l'article 7 ou de l'article 14, suivant les cas, sont applicables.
- 5. Lorsqu'une société qui est un résident d'un État contractant tire des bénéfices ou des revenus de l'autre État contractant, cet autre État ne peut percevoir aucun impôt sur les dividendes payés par la société, sauf dans la mesure où ces dividendes sont payés à un résident de cet autre État ou dans la mesure où la participation génératrice des dividendes se rattache effectivement à un établissement stable ou à une base fixe situés dans cet autre État, ni prélever aucun impôt, au titre de l'imposition des bénéfices non distribués, sur les bénéfices non distribués de la société, même si les dividendes payés ou les bénéfices non distribués consistent en tout ou en partie en bénéfices ou revenus provenant de cet autre État.
- 6. Aucune disposition de la présente Convention ne peut être interprétée comme empêchant un État contractant de percevoir, sur les revenus d'une société imputables à un établissement stable dans cet État, ou les revenus attribuables à l'aliénation de biens immobiliers situés dans cet État par une société qui exerce des activités dans le domaine des biens immobiliers, un impôt qui s'ajoute à l'impôt qui serait applicable aux revenus d'une société qui est un national de cet État, pourvu que l'impôt additionnel ainsi établi n'excède pas 10 p. 100 du montant des revenus qui n'ont pas été assuiettis à cet impôt additionnel au cours des années d'imposition précédentes. Au sens de la présente disposition, le terme « revenus » désigne les revenus imputables à l'aliénation de biens immobiliers situés dans un État contractant qui sont imposables par cet État en vertu des dispositions de l'article 6 ou du paragraphe 1 de l'article 13 et les bénéfices, y compris les gains, imputables à un établissement stable situé dans un État contractant, pour l'année ou pour les années antérieures, après déduction de tous les impôts, autres que l'impôt additionnel visé au présent paragraphe, prélevés par cet État sur ces bénéfices.
- 7. Les dispositions du présent article ne s'appliquent pas si le but principal, ou l'un des buts principaux, de toute personne concernée par la création ou le transfert des actions ou autres parts à l'égard desquelles les dividendes sont payés était de tirer avantage du présent article par cette création ou ce transfert.

Interest

- 1. Interest arising in a Contracting State and paid to a resident of the other Contracting State may be taxed in that other State.
- 2. However, such interest may also be taxed in the Contracting State in which it arises and according to the laws of that State, but if the beneficial owner of the interest is a resident of the other Contracting State, the tax so charged shall not exceed 15 per cent of the gross amount of the interest.
- 3. The term "interest" as used in this Article means income from debt-claims of every kind, whether or not secured by mortgage, and in particular, income from government securities and income from bonds or debentures, including premiums and prizes attaching to such securities, bonds or debentures, as well as income which is subjected to the same taxation treatment as income from money lent by the laws of the State in which the income arises. However, the term "interest" does not include income dealt with in Article 8 or Article 10.
- 4. The provisions of paragraph 2 shall not apply if the beneficial owner of the interest, being a resident of a Contracting State, carries on or has carried on business in the other Contracting State in which the interest arises through a permanent establishment situated therein, or performs or has performed in that other State independent personal services from a fixed base situated therein, and the debt-claim in respect of which the interest is paid is effectively connected with such permanent establishment or fixed base. In such case the provisions of Article 7 or Article 14, as the case may be, shall apply.
- 5. Interest shall be deemed to arise in a Contracting State when the payer is a resident of that State. Where, however, the person paying the interest, whether the payer is a resident of a Contracting State or not, has in a Contracting State a permanent establishment or a fixed base in connection with which the indebtedness on which the interest is paid was incurred, and such interest is borne by such permanent establishment or fixed base, then such interest shall be deemed to arise in the State in which the permanent establishment or fixed base is situated.
- 6. Where, by reason of a special relationship between the payer and the beneficial owner or between both of them and some other person, the amount of the interest, having regard to the debt-claim for which it is paid, exceeds the amount that would have been agreed upon by the payer and the beneficial owner in the absence of such relationship, the provisions of this Article shall apply only to the last-mentioned amount. In such case, the excess part of the payments shall remain taxable according to the laws of each Contracting State, due regard being had to the other provisions of this Convention.

ARTICLE 11

Intérêts

- 1. Les intérêts provenant d'un État contractant et payés à un résident de l'autre État contractant sont imposables dans cet autre État
- 2. Toutefois, ces intérêts sont aussi imposables dans l'État contractant d'où ils proviennent et selon la législation de cet État, mais si le bénéficiaire effectif des intérêts est un résident de l'autre État contractant, l'impôt ainsi établi ne peut excéder 15 p. 100 du montant brut des intérêts.
- 3. Le terme « intérêts » employé dans le présent article désigne les revenus des créances de toute nature, assorties ou non de garanties hypothécaires, et notamment les revenus des fonds publics et des obligations d'emprunts, y compris les primes et lots attachés à ces titres, ainsi que tous autres revenus soumis au même régime fiscal que les revenus de sommes prêtées par la législation de l'État d'où proviennent les revenus. Toutefois, le terme « intérêts » ne comprend pas les revenus visés à l'article 8 ou à l'article 10.
- 4. Les dispositions du paragraphe 2 ne s'appliquent pas lorsque le bénéficiaire effectif des intérêts, résident d'un État contractant, exerce ou a exercé dans l'autre État contractant d'où proviennent les intérêts, soit une activité industrielle ou commerciale par l'intermédiaire d'un éta-blissement stable qui y est situé, soit une profession indépendante au moyen d'une base fixe qui y est située, et que la créance génératrice des intérêts s'y rattache effectivement. Dans ce cas, les dispositions de l'article 7 ou de l'article 14, suivant les cas, sont applicables.
- 5. Les intérêts sont considérés comme provenant d'un État contractant lorsque le débiteur est un résident de cet État. Toutefois, lorsque le débiteur des intérêts, qu'il soit ou non un résident d'un État contractant, a dans un État contractant un établissement stable, ou une base fixe, pour lequel la dette donnant lieu au paiement des intérêts a été contractée et qui supporte la charge de ces intérêts, ceux-ci sont considérés comme provenant de l'État où l'établissement stable, ou la base fixe, est situé.
- 6. Lorsque, en raison de relations spéciales existant entre le débiteur et le bénéficiaire effectif ou que l'un et l'autre entretiennent avec de tierces personnes, le montant des intérêts, compte tenu de la créance pour laquelle ils sont payés, excède celui dont seraient convenus le débiteur et le bénéficiaire effectif en l'absence de pareilles relations, les dispositions du présent article ne s'appliquent qu'à ce dernier montant. Dans ce cas, la partie excédentaire des paiements reste imposable selon la législation de chaque État contractant et compte tenu des autres dispositions de la présente Convention.

7. The provisions of this Article shall not apply if it was the main purpose or one of the main purposes of any person concerned with the creation or assignment of the debt-claim in respect of which the interest is paid to take advantage of this Article by means of that creation or assignment.

ARTICLE 12

Royalties

- 1. Royalties arising in a Contracting State and paid to a resident of the other Contracting State may be taxed in that other State.
- 2. However, such royalties may also be taxed in the Contracting State in which they arise and according to the laws of that State, but if the beneficial owner of the royalties is a resident of the other Contracting State, the tax so charged shall not exceed 15 per cent of the gross amount of the royalties.
- 3. The term "royalties" as used in this Article means payments of any kind received as a consideration for the use of, or the right to use, any copyright, patent, trade mark, design or model, plan, secret formula or process or other intangible property, or for the use of, or the right to use, industrial, commercial or scientific equipment, or for information concerning industrial, commercial or scientific experience, and includes payments of any kind in respect of motion picture films and works on film, videotape or other means of reproduction for use in connection with television
- 4. The provisions of paragraph 2 shall not apply if the beneficial owner of the royalties, being a resident of a Contracting State, carries on or has carried on business in the other Contracting State in which the royalties arise, through a permanent establishment situated therein, or performs or has performed in that other State independent personal services from a fixed base situated therein, and the right or property in respect of which the royalties are paid is effectively connected with such permanent establishment or fixed base. In such case the provisions of Article 7 or Article 14, as the case may be, shall apply.
- 5. Royalties shall be deemed to arise in a Contracting State when the payer is a resident of that State. Where, however, the person paying the royalties, whether the payer is a resident of a Contracting State or not, has in a Contracting State a permanent establishment or a fixed base in connection with which the obligation to pay the royalties was incurred, and such royalties are borne by such permanent establishment or fixed base, then such royalties shall be deemed to arise in the State in which the permanent establishment or fixed base is situated.

7. Les dispositions du présent article ne s'appliquent pas si le but principal, ou l'un des buts principaux, de toute personne concernée par la création ou le transfert de la créance à l'égard de laquelle les intérêts sont payés était de tirer avantage du présent article par cette création ou ce transfert.

ARTICLE 12

Redevances

- 1. Les redevances provenant d'un État contractant et payées à un résident de l'autre État contractant sont imposables dans cet autre État.
- 2. Toutefois, ces redevances sont aussi imposables dans l'État contractant d'où elles proviennent et selon la législation de cet État, mais si le bénéficiaire effectif des redevances est un résident de l'autre État contractant, l'impôt ainsi établi ne peut excéder 15 p. 100 du montant brut des redevances.
- 3. Le terme « redevances » employé dans le présent article désigne les rémunérations de toute nature payées pour l'usage ou la concession de l'usage d'un droit d'auteur, d'un brevet, d'une marque de fabrique ou de commerce, d'un dessin ou d'un modèle, d'un plan, d'une formule ou d'un procédé secrets ou de tout autre bien incorporel, ainsi que pour l'usage ou la concession de l'usage d'un équipement industriel, commercial ou scientifique ou pour des informations ayant trait à une expérience acquise dans le domaine industriel, commercial ou scientifique, y compris les rémunérations de toute nature relatives à des films cinématographiques et des oeuvres enregistrées sur films, bandes magnétoscopiques ou autres moyens de reproduction destinés à la télédiffusion.
- 4. Les dispositions du paragraphe 2 ne s'appliquent pas lorsque le bénéficiaire effectif des redevances, résident d'un État contractant, exerce ou a exercé dans l'autre État contractant d'où proviennent les redevances, soit une activité industrielle ou commerciale par l'intermédiaire d'un établissement stable qui y est situé, soit une profession indépendante au moyen d'une base fixe qui y est située, et que le droit ou le bien générateur des redevances s'y rattache effectivement. Dans ce cas, les dispositions de l'article 7 ou de l'article 14, suivant les cas, sont applicables.
- 5. Les redevances sont considérées comme provenant d'un État contractant lorsque le débiteur est un résident de cet État. Toutefois, lorsque le débiteur des redevances, qu'il soit ou non un résident d'un État contractant, a dans un État contractant un établissement stable, ou une base fixe, pour lequel l'obligation donnant lieu au paiement des redevances a été conclue et qui supporte la charge de ces redevances, celles-ci sont considérées comme provenant de l'État où l'établissement stable, ou la base fixe, est situé.

- 6. Where, by reason of a special relationship between the payer and the beneficial owner or between both of them and another person, the amount of the royalties, having regard to the use, right or information for which they are paid, exceeds the amount that would have been agreed upon by the payer and the beneficial owner in the absence of such relationship, the provisions of this Article shall apply only to the last-mentioned amount. In such case, the excess part of the payments shall remain taxable according to the laws of each Contracting State, due regard being had to the other provisions of this Convention.
- 7. The provisions of this Article shall not apply if it was the main purpose or one of the main purposes of any person concerned with the creation or assignment of the rights in respect of which the royalties are paid to take advantage of this Article by means of that creation or assignment.

Capital Gains

- 1. Gains derived by a resident of a Contracting State from the alienation of immovable property situated in the other Contracting State may be taxed in that other State.
- 2. Gains from the alienation of movable property forming part of the business property of a permanent establishment that an enterprise of a Contracting State has or had in the other Contracting State or of movable property pertaining to a fixed base that is or was available to a resident of a Contracting State in the other Contracting State for the purpose of performing independent personal services, including such gains from the alienation of such a permanent establishment (alone or with the whole enterprise) or of such a fixed base, may be taxed in that other State.
- 3. Gains derived by an enterprise of a Contracting State from the alienation of ships or aircraft operated in international traffic or from containers used in, or other movable property pertaining to, the operation of such ships or aircraft shall be taxable only in that State.
- 4. Gains derived by a resident of a Contracting State from the alienation of
 - (a) shares, the value of which is derived principally from immovable property situated in the other State; or
 - (b) an interest in a partnership or trust, the value of which is derived principally from immovable property situated in that other State;

may be taxed in that other State. For the purposes of this paragraph, the term "immovable property" does not include any property, other than rental property, in which the business of the company, partnership or trust is carried on.

- 6. Lorsque, en raison de relations spéciales existant entre le débiteur et le bénéficiaire effectif ou que l'un et l'autre entretiennent avec de tierces personnes, le montant des redevances, compte tenu de la prestation pour laquelle elles sont payées, excède celui dont seraient convenus le débiteur et le bénéficiaire effectif en l'absence de pareilles relations, les dispositions du présent article ne s'appliquent qu'à ce dernier montant. Dans ce cas, la partie excédentaire des paiements reste imposable selon la législation de chaque État contractant et compte tenu des autres dispositions de la présente Convention.
- 7. Les dispositions du présent article ne s'appliquent pas si le but principal, ou l'un des buts principaux, de toute personne concernée par la création ou le transfert du droit à l'égard duquel les redevances sont payées était de tirer avantage du présent article par cette création ou ce transfert.

ARTICLE 13

Gains en capital

- 1. Les gains qu'un résident d'un État contractant tire de l'aliénation de biens immobiliers situés dans l'autre État contractant, sont imposables dans cet autre État.
- 2. Les gains provenant de l'aliénation de biens mobiliers qui font partie de l'actif d'un établissement stable qu'une entreprise d'un État contractant a ou avait dans l'autre État contractant, ou de biens mobiliers qui appartiennent à une base fixe dont un résident d'un État contractant dispose ou disposait dans l'autre État contractant pour l'exercice d'une profession indépendante, y compris de tels gains provenant de l'aliéna-tion de cet établissement stable (seul ou avec l'ensemble de l'entreprise) ou de cette base fixe, sont imposables dans cet autre État.
- 3. Les gains qu'une entreprise d'un État contractant tire de l'aliénation de navires ou aéronefs exploités en trafic international, de conteneurs utilisés dans l'exploitation de ces navires ou aéronefs ou d'autres biens mobiliers affectés à cette exploitation ne sont imposables que dans cet État.
- 4. Les gains qu'un résident d'un État contractant tire de l'aliénation :
 - a) d'actions dont la valeur est principalement tirée de biens immobiliers situés dans l'autre État; ou
 - b) d'une participation dans une société de personnes ou une fiducie dont la valeur est principalement tirée de biens immobiliers situés dans cet autre État,

sont imposables dans cet autre État. Au sens du présent paragraphe, l'expression « biens immobiliers » ne comprend pas les biens, autres que les biens locatifs, dans lesquels la société, la société de personnes ou la fiducie exerce son activité.

- 5. Where a resident of a Contracting State alienates property in the course of a corporate or other organization, reorganization, amalgamation, division or similar transaction and profit, gain or income with respect to such alienation is not recognized for the purpose of taxation in that State, if requested to do so by the person who acquires the property, the competent authority of the other Contracting State may agree, in order to avoid double taxation and subject to terms and conditions satisfactory to such competent authority, to defer the recognition of the profit, gain or income with respect to such property for the purpose of taxation in that other State until such time and in such manner as may be stipulated in the agreement.
- 6. Gains from the alienation of any property, other than that referred to in paragraphs 1, 2, 3 and 4, shall be taxable only in the Contracting State of which the alienator is a resident.
- 7. The provisions of paragraph 6 shall not affect the right of a Contracting State to levy, according to its law, a tax on gains from the alienation of any property (other than property to which the provisions of paragraph 8 apply)derived by an individual who is a resident of the other Contracting State and has been a resident of the first-mentioned State at any time during the six years immediately preceding the alienation of the property.
- 8. Where an individual who ceases to be a resident of a Contracting State, and immediately thereafter becomes a resident of the other Contracting State, is treated for the purposes of taxation in the first-mentioned State as having alienated a property and is taxed in that State by reason thereof, the individual may elect to be treated for purposes of taxation in the other State as if the individual had, immediately before becoming a resident of that State, sold and repurchased the property for an amount equal to its fair market value at that time. However, this provision shall not apply to property which would give rise, if it were alienated immediately before the individual became a resident of that other State, to a gain which may be taxed in that other State.

ARTICLE 14

Independent Personal Services

- 1. Income derived by an individual who is a resident of a Contracting State in respect of professional or similar services performed in the other Contracting State may be taxed in that other State but the tax so charged shall not exceed 10 per cent of the gross amount of that income unless:
 - (a) the income is attributable to a fixed base which the individual has or had regularly available in that other State for the purpose of performing the activities; or
 - (b) such individual is present in that other State for a period or periods exceeding in the aggregate 183 days in any consecutive twelve month period.

- 5. Lorsqu'un résident d'un État contractant aliène un bien lors d'une constitution en société ou autre constitution, d'une réorganisation, d'une fusion, d'une scission ou d'une opération semblable, et que le bénéfice, le gain ou le revenu relatif à cette aliénation n'est pas reconnu aux fins d'imposition dans cet État, l'autorité compétente de l'autre État contractant, à la demande de la personne qui acquiert le bien, peut, en vue d'éviter les doubles impositions et sous réserve de modalités qu'elle estime satisfaisantes, accepter de différer la reconnaissance du bénéfice, du gain ou du revenu relatif audit bien aux fins d'imposition dans cet autre État jusqu'au moment et de la façon qui sont précisés dans l'entente.
- 6. Les gains provenant de l'aliénation de tous biens autres que ceux visés aux paragraphes 1, 2, 3 et 4 ne sont imposables que dans l'État contractant dont le cédant est un résident.
- 7. Les dispositions du paragraphe 6 ne portent pas atteinte au droit d'un État contractant de percevoir, conformément à sa législation, un impôt sur les gains provenant de l'aliénation d'un bien (sauf un bien auquel le paragraphe 8 s'applique) et réalisés par une personne physique qui est un résident de l'autre État contractant et qui a été un résident du premier État à un moment quelconque au cours des six années précédant l'aliénation du bien.
- 8. Lorsqu'une personne physique qui, immédiatement après avoir cessé d'être un résident d'un État contractant, devient un résident de l'autre État contractant est considérée aux fins d'imposition dans le premier État comme ayant aliéné un bien et est imposée dans cet État en raison de cette aliénation, elle peut choisir, aux fins d'imposition dans l'autre État, d'être considérée comme ayant vendu et racheté le bien, immédiatement avant de devenir un résident de cet État, pour un montant égal à la juste valeur marchande du bien à ce moment. Toutefois, la présente disposition ne s'applique pas aux biens qui donneraient lieu à des gains imposables dans cet autre État s'ils étaient aliénés immédiatement avant que la personne physique ne devienne un résident de cet autre État.

ARTICLE 14

Professions indépendantes

- 1. Les revenus qu'une personne physique qui est un résident d'un État contractant tire d'une profession libérale ou d'activités similaires exercées dans l'autre État contractant sont imposables dans cet autre État. Toutefois, l'impôt ainsi établi ne peut excéder 10 p. 100 du montant brut de ces revenus, à moins que :
 - a) les revenus ne soient imputables à une base fixe dont la personne physique dispose ou disposait de façon habituelle dans cet autre État pour l'exercice de ses activités; ou
 - b) la personne physique ne séjourne dans cet autre État pour une ou des périodes excédant au total 183 jours au cours de toute période de douze mois consécutifs.

2. The term "professional services" includes especially independent scientific, literary, artistic, educational or teaching activities as well as the independent activities of physicians, lawyers, engineers, architects, dentists and accountants.

ARTICLE 15

Dependent Personal Services

- 1. Subject to the provisions of Articles 16, 18 and 19, salaries, wages and other remuneration derived by a resident of a Contracting State in respect of an employment shall be taxable only in that State unless the employment is exercised in the other Contracting State. If the employment is so exercised, such remuneration as is derived therefrom may be taxed in that other State.
- 2. Notwithstanding the provisions of paragraph 1, remuneration derived by a resident of a Contracting State in respect of an employment exercised in the other Contracting State shall be taxable only in the first-mentioned State if the recipient is present in the other State for a period or periods not exceeding in the aggregate 183 days in any twelve-month period commencing or ending in the calendar year concerned, and either
 - (a) the total remuneration derived by the resident in respect of all employment exercised in the other Contracting State in the calendar year concerned does not exceed ten thousand Canadian dollars (\$10,000) or its equivalent in the currency of Peru or such amounts as may be specified and agreed in letters exchanged between the competent authorities of the Contracting States; or
 - (b) the remuneration is paid by, or on behalf of, a person who is not a resident of the other State, and such remuneration is not borne by a permanent establishment or a fixed base that the person has in the other State.
- 3. Notwithstanding the preceding provisions of this Article, remuneration derived in respect of an employment exercised aboard a ship or aircraft operated in international traffic by an enterprise of a Contracting State shall be taxable only in that State unless the remuneration is derived by a resident of the other Contracting State.

ARTICLE 16

Directors' Fees

Directors' fees and other similar payments derived by a resident of a Contracting State in the capacity as a member of the board of directors or a similar organ of a company which is a resident of the other Contracting State may be taxed in that other State.

2. L'expression « profession libérale » comprend notamment les activités indépendantes d'ordre scientifique, littéraire, artistique, éducatif ou pédagogique, ainsi que les activités indépendantes des médecins, avocats, ingénieurs, architectes, dentistes et comptables.

ARTICLE 15

Professions dépendantes

- 1. Sous réserve des dispositions des articles 16, 18 et 19, les salaires, traitements et autres rémunérations qu'un résident d'un État contractant reçoit au titre d'un emploi salarié ne sont imposables que dans cet État, à moins que l'emploi ne soit exercé dans l'autre État contractant. Si l'emploi y est exercé, les rémunérations reçues à ce titre sont imposables dans cet autre État.
- 2. Nonobstant les dispositions du paragraphe l, les rémunérations qu'un résident d'un État contractant reçoit au titre d'un emploi salarié exercé dans l'autre État contractant ne sont imposables que dans le premier État si le bénéficiaire séjourne dans l'autre État pendant une ou des périodes n'excédant pas au total 183 jours au cours de toute période de douze mois commençant ou se terminant dans l'année civile considérée, et
 - a) si les rémunérations totales que le résident reçoit au titre de tous les emplois salariés exercés dans l'autre État contractant au cours de l'année civile considérée n'excèdent pas dix mille dollars canadiens (10 000 \$) ou l'équivalent en monnaie du Pérou, ou tout autre montant désigné et accepté par échange de lettres entre les autorités compétentes des États contractants; ou
 - b) si les rémunérations sont payées par une personne ou pour le compte d'une personne qui n'est pas un résident de l'autre État et si la charge de ces rémunérations n'est pas supportée par un établissement stable ou une base fixe que la personne a dans l'autre État.
- 3. Nonobstant les dispositions précédentes du présent article, les rémunérations reçues au titre d'un emploi salarié exercé à bord d'un navire ou d'un aéronef exploité en trafic international par une entreprise d'un État contractant ne sont imposables que dans cet État, sauf si elles sont reçues par un résident de l'autre État contractant.

ARTICLE 16

Tantièmes

Les tantièmes, jetons de présence et autres rétributions similaires qu'un résident d'un État contractant reçoit en sa qualité de membre du conseil d'administration ou de surveillance ou d'un organe analogue d'une société qui est un résident de l'autre État contractant sont imposables dans cet autre État.

ARTICLE 17

Artistes and Sportspersons

- 1. Notwithstanding the provisions of Articles 14 and 15, income derived by a resident of a Contracting State as an entertainer, such as a theatre, motion picture, radio or television artiste, or a musician, or as a sportsperson, from that resident's personal activities as such exercised in the other Contracting State, may be taxed in that other State.
- 2. Where income in respect of personal activities exercised by an entertainer or a sportsperson in that individual's capacity as such accrues not to the entertainer or sportsperson personally but to another person, that income may, notwithstanding the provisions of Articles 7, 14 and 15, be taxed in the Contracting State in which the activities of the entertainer or sportsperson are exercised.
- 3. The provisions of paragraph 2 shall not apply if it is established that neither the entertainer or the sportsperson nor persons related thereto participate directly or indirectly in the profits of the person referred to in that paragraph.

ARTICLE 18

Pensions and Annuities

- 1. Pensions and annuities arising in a Contracting State and paid to a resident of the other Contracting State may be taxed in that other State.
- 2. Pensions arising in a Contracting State and paid to a resident of the other Contracting State may also be taxed in the State in which they arise and according to the laws of that State. However, in the case of periodic pension payments the tax so charged shall not exceed 15 per cent of the gross amount of the payment.
- 3. Annuities arising in a Contracting State and paid to a resident of the other Contracting State may also be taxed in the State in which they arise and according to the law of that State, but the tax so charged shall not exceed 15 per cent of the portion thereof that is subject to tax in that State. However, this limitation does not apply to lump-sum payments arising on the surrender, cancellation, redemption, sale or other alienation of an annuity, or to payments of any kind under an annuity contract the cost of which was deductible, in whole or in part, in computing the income of any person who acquired the contract.
 - 4. Notwithstanding anything in this Convention
 - (a) war pensions and allowances (including pensions and allowances paid to war veterans or paid as a consequence of damages or injuries suffered as a consequence of a war) arising in a Contracting State and paid to a resident of the other Contracting State shall be exempt from tax in that other State to the extent that they would be exempt from tax if received by a resident of the first-mentioned State; and

ARTICLE 17

Artistes et sportifs

- 1. Nonobstant les dispositions des articles 14 et 15, les revenus qu'un résident d'un État contractant tire de ses activités personnelles exercées dans l'autre État contractant en tant qu'artiste du spectacle, tel qu'un artiste de théâtre, de cinéma, de la radio ou de la télévision, ou qu'un musicien, ou en tant que sportif, sont imposables dans cet autre État.
- 2. Lorsque les revenus d'activités qu'un artiste du spectacle ou un sportif exerce personnellement et en cette qualité sont attribués non pas à l'artiste ou au sportif lui-même mais à une autre personne, ces revenus sont imposables, nonobstant les dispositions des articles 7, 14 et 15, dans l'État contractant où les activités de l'artiste ou du sportif sont exercées.
- 3. Les dispositions du paragraphe 2 ne s'appliquent pas s'il est établi que ni l'artiste du spectacle ou le sportif, ni des personnes qui lui sont associées, ne participent directement ou indirectement aux bénéfices de la personne visée audit paragraphe.

ARTICLE 18

Pensions et rentes

- 1. Les pensions et les rentes provenant d'un État contractant et payées à un résident de l'autre État contractant sont imposables dans cet autre État.
- 2. Les pensions provenant d'un État contractant et payées à un résident de l'autre État contractant sont aussi imposables dans l'État d'où elles proviennent et selon la législation de cet État. Toutefois, dans le cas de paiements périodiques d'une pension, l'impôt ainsi établi ne peut excéder 15 p. 100 du montant brut du paiement.
- 3. Les rentes provenant d'un État contractant et payées à un résident de l'autre État contractant sont aussi imposables dans l'État d'où elles proviennent et selon la législation de cet État, mais l'impôt ainsi établi ne peut excéder 15 p. 100 de la fraction du paiement qui est assujettie à l'impôt dans cet État. Toutefois, cette limitation ne s'applique pas aux paiements forfaitaires découlant de l'abandon, de l'annulation, du rachat, de la vente ou d'une autre forme d'aliénation de la rente, ou aux paiements de toute nature en vertu d'un contrat de rente dont le coût était déductible, en tout ou en partie, dans le calcul du revenu de toute personne ayant acquis ce contrat.
 - 4. Nonobstant toute disposition de la présente Convention :
 - a) les pensions et allocations de guerre (incluant les pensions et allocations payées aux anciens combattants ou payées en conséquence des dommages ou blessures subis à l'occasion d'une guerre) provenant d'un État contractant et payées à un résident de l'autre État contractant sont exonérées d'impôt dans cet autre État dans la mesure où elles le seraient si elles étaient reçues par un résident du premier État; et

(b) alimony and other similar payments arising in a Contracting State and paid to a resident of the other Contracting State who is subject to tax therein in respect thereof shall be taxable only in that other State, but the amount taxable in that other State shall not exceed the amount that would be taxable in the first-mentioned State if the recipient were a resident thereof.

ARTICLE 19

Government Service

- 1. (a) Salaries, wages and other similar remuneration, other than a pension, paid by a Contracting State or a political subdivision or a local authority thereof to an individual in respect of services rendered to that State or subdivision or authority shall be taxable only in that State.
- (b) However, such salaries, wages and other similar remuneration shall be taxable only in the other Contracting State if the services are rendered in that State and the individual is a resident of that State who
 - (i) is a national of that State, or
 - (ii) did not become a resident of that State solely for the purpose of rendering the services.
- 2. The provisions of paragraph 1 shall not apply to salaries, wages and other similar remuneration in respect of services rendered in connection with a business carried on by a Contracting State or a political subdivision or a local authority thereof.

ARTICLE 20

Students

Payments which a student, apprentice or business trainee who is, or was immediately before visiting a Contracting State, a resident of the other Contracting State and who is present in the first-mentioned State solely for the purpose of that individual's education or training receives for the purpose of that individual's maintenance, education or training shall not be taxed in that State, if such payments arise from sources outside that State.

ARTICLE 21

Other Income

1. Subject to the provisions of paragraph 2, items of income of a resident of a Contracting State, wherever arising, not dealt with in the foregoing Articles of this Convention shall be taxable only in that State.

b) les pensions alimentaires et autres paiements semblables provenant d'un État contractant et payés à un résident de l'autre État contractant qui y est assujetti à l'impôt à l'égard de ceux-ci ne sont imposables que dans cet autre État, mais le montant qui est imposable dans cet autre État n'excède pas le montant qui serait imposable dans le premier État si le bénéficiaire était un résident de ce premier État.

ARTICLE 19

Fonctions publiques

- 1. *a*) Les traitements, salaires et autres rémunérations similaires, autres que les pensions, payés par un État contractant ou l'une de ses subdivisions politiques ou collectivités locales à une personne physique, au titre de services rendus à cet État ou à cette subdivision ou collectivité, ne sont imposables que dans cet État.
- b) Toutefois, ces salaires, traitements et autres rémunérations similaires ne sont imposables que dans l'autre État contractant si les services sont rendus dans cet État et si la personne physique est un résident de cet État qui :
 - (i) possède la nationalité de cet État, ou
 - (ii) n'est pas devenu un résident de cet État à seule fin de rendre les services.
- 2. Les dispositions du paragraphe 1 ne s'appliquent pas aux salaires, traitements et autres rémunérations similaires payés au titre de services rendus dans le cadre d'une activité industrielle ou commerciale exercée par un État contractant ou l'une de ses subdivisions politiques ou collectivités locales.

ARTICLE 20

Étudiants

Les sommes qu'un étudiant, un stagiaire ou un apprenti qui est, ou qui était immédiatement avant de se rendre dans un État contractant, un résident de l'autre État contractant et qui séjourne dans le premier État à seule fin d'y poursuivre ses études ou sa formation, reçoit pour couvrir ses frais d'entretien, d'études ou de formation ne sont pas imposables dans cet État, à condition qu'elles proviennent de sources situées en dehors de cet État.

ARTICLE 21

Autres revenus

1. Sous réserve des dispositions du paragraphe 2, les éléments du revenu d'un résident d'un État contractant, d'où qu'ils proviennent, qui ne sont pas traités dans les articles précédents de la présente Convention ne sont imposables que dans cet État.

2. However, if such income is derived by a resident of a Contracting State from sources in the other Contracting State, such income may also be taxed in the State in which it arises and according to the law of that State. Where such income is income from a trust, other than a trust to which contributions were deductible, the tax so charged shall, if the income is taxable in the Contracting State in which the beneficial owner is a resident, not exceed 15 per cent of the gross amount of the income.

IV. TAXATION OF CAPITAL

ARTICLE 22

Capital

- 1. Capital represented by immovable property owned by a resident of a Contracting State and situated in the other Contracting State may be taxed in that other State.
- 2. Capital represented by movable property forming part of the business property of a permanent establishment that an enterprise of a Contracting State has in the other Contracting State, or by movable property pertaining to a fixed base available to a resident of a Contracting State in the other Contracting State for the purpose of performing independent personal services, may be taxed in that other State.
- 3. Capital represented by ships and aircraft operated by an enterprise of a Contracting State in international traffic and by movable property pertaining to the operation of such ships and aircraft shall be taxable only in that State.
- 4. All other elements of capital of a resident of a Contracting State shall be taxable only in that State.

V. METHODS FOR ELIMINATION OF DOUBLE **TAXATION**

ARTICLE 23

Elimination of Double Taxation

- 1. In the case of Canada, double taxation shall be avoided as follows:
 - (a) subject to the existing provisions of the law of Canada regarding the deduction from tax payable in Canada of tax paid in a territory outside Canada and to any subsequent modification of those provisions — which shall not affect the general principle hereof — and unless a greater deduction or relief is provided under the laws of Canada, tax payable in Peru on profits, income or gains arising in Peru shall be deducted from any Canadian tax payable in respect of such profits, income or gains;

2. Toutefois, si ces revenus perçus par un résident d'un État contractant proviennent de sources situées dans l'autre État contractant, ils sont aussi imposables dans l'État d'où ils proviennent et selon la législation de cet État. Lorsque ces revenus sont des revenus provenant d'une fiducie, autre qu'une fiducie qui a reçu des contributions pour lesquelles une déduction a été accordée, l'impôt ainsi établi ne peut excéder 15 p. 100 du montant brut du revenu pourvu que celui-ci soit imposable dans l'État contractant dont le bénéficiaire effectif est un résident.

IV. IMPOSITION DE LA FORTUNE

ARTICLE 22

Fortune

- 1. La fortune constituée par des biens immobiliers que possède un résident d'un État contractant et qui sont situés dans l'autre État contractant, est imposable dans cet autre État.
- 2. La fortune constituée par des biens mobiliers qui font partie de l'actif d'un établissement stable qu'une entreprise d'un État contractant a dans l'autre État contractant, ou par des biens mobiliers qui appartiennent à une base fixe dont un résident d'un État contractant dispose dans l'autre État contractant pour l'exercice d'une profession indépendante, est imposable dans cet autre État.
- 3. La fortune constituée par des navires et des aéronefs exploités en trafic international par une entreprise d'un État contractant, ainsi que par des biens mobiliers affectés à l'exploitation de ces navires et aéronefs, n'est imposable que dans cet
- 4. Tous les autres éléments de la fortune d'un résident d'un État contractant ne sont imposables que dans cet État.

V. MÉTHODES POUR ÉLIMINER LES DOUBLES **IMPOSITIONS**

ARTICLE 23

Élimination de la double imposition

- 1. En ce qui concerne le Canada, la double imposition est évitée de la façon suivante :
 - a) sous réserve des dispositions existantes de la législation canadienne concernant l'imputation de l'impôt payé dans un territoire en dehors du Canada sur l'impôt canadien payable et de toute modification ultérieure de ces dispositions qui n'en affecterait pas le principe général, et sans préjudice d'une déduction ou d'un dégrèvement plus important prévu par la législation canadienne, l'impôt dû au Pérou à raison de bénéfices, revenus ou gains provenant du Pérou est porté en déduction de tout impôt canadien dû à raison des mêmes bénéfices, revenus ou gains;

- (b) subject to the existing provisions of the law of Canada regarding the allowance as a credit against Canadian tax of tax payable in a territory outside Canada and to any subsequent modification of those provisions which shall not affect the general principle hereof where a company which is a resident of Peru pays a dividend to a company which is a resident of Canada and which controls directly or indirectly at least 10 per cent of the voting power in the first-mentioned company, the credit shall take into account the tax payable in Peru by that first-mentioned company in respect of the profits out of which such dividend is paid; and
- (c) where, in accordance with any provision of the Convention, income derived or capital owned by a resident of Canada is exempt from tax in Canada, Canada may nevertheless, in calculating the amount of tax on other income or capital, take into account the exempted income or capital.
- 2. In the case of Peru, double taxation shall be avoided as follows:
 - (a) residents of Peru may credit against Peruvian tax on income or capital arising in Canada the income tax paid in Canada in an amount not exceeding the tax payable in Peru on such income;
 - (b) where a company which is a resident of Canada pays a dividend to a person which is a resident of Peru that controls directly or indirectly at least 10 per cent of the voting power in the company, the credit shall take into account the tax payable in Canada by the company in respect of the profits out of which such dividend is paid but only to the extent that the Peruvian tax exceeds the amount of the credit determined without reference to this subparagraph;
 - (c) for the purposes of this paragraph, the tax basis of a person that is a resident of Peru shall be that person's income before income tax paid by that person in Canada; and
 - (d) where, in accordance with any provision of the Convention, income derived or capital owned by a resident of Peru is exempt from tax in Peru, Peru may nevertheless, in calculating the amount of tax on the remaining income or capital, take into account the exempted income or capital.
- 3. For the purposes of this Article, profits, income or gains of a resident of a Contracting State that may be taxed in the other Contracting State in accordance with this Convention shall be deemed to arise from sources in that other State.

- b) sous réserve des dispositions existantes de la législation canadienne concernant l'imputation sur l'impôt canadien de l'impôt payable dans un territoire en dehors du Canada et de toute modification ultérieure de ces dispositions qui n'en affecterait pas le principe général, lorsqu'une société qui est un résident du Pérou paie un dividende à une société qui est un résident du Canada et qui contrôle directement ou indirectement au moins 10 p. 100 des droits de vote de la première société, il est tenu compte, dans le calcul de l'imputation, de l'impôt dû au Pérou par la première société sur les bénéfices qui servent au paiement des dividendes;
- c) lorsque, conformément à une disposition quelconque de la Convention, les revenus qu'un résident du Canada reçoit ou la fortune qu'il possède sont exempts d'impôts au Canada, le Canada peut néanmoins, pour calculer l'impôt sur d'autres éléments du revenu ou de la fortune, tenir compte des revenus ou de la fortune exemptés.
- 2. En ce qui concerne le Pérou, la double imposition est évitée de la façon suivante :
 - a) les résidents du Pérou peuvent déduire de l'impôt péruvien sur le revenu ou sur la fortune provenant du Canada un montant d'impôt sur le revenu payé au Canada n'excédant pas l'impôt payable au Pérou sur ce revenu;
 - b) lorsqu'une société qui est un résident au Canada paie un dividende à une personne qui est un résident du Pérou et qui contrôle, directement ou indirectement, au moins 10 p. 100 des droits de vote de la société, le crédit tient compte de l'impôt payable au Canada par la société au titre des bénéfices sur lesquels ce dividende est payé, mais seulement dans la mesure où l'impôt péruvien excède le montant du crédit déterminé compte non tenu du présent alinéa;
 - c) pour l'application du présent paragraphe, la base imposable d'une personne qui est un résident du Pérou est le revenu de cette personne compte non tenu de l'impôt sur le revenu payé par elle au Canada;
 - d) lorsque, conformément à une disposition quelconque de la Convention, les revenus qu'un résident du Pérou reçoit ou la fortune qu'il possède sont exempts d'impôts au Pérou, le Pérou peut néanmoins, pour calculer l'impôt sur le reste des revenus ou de la fortune, tenir compte des revenus ou de la fortune exemptés.
- 3. Pour l'application du présent article, les bénéfices, revenus ou gains d'un résident d'un État contractant qui sont imposables dans l'autre État contractant conformément à la présente Convention, sont considérés comme provenant de sources situées dans cet autre État.

VI. SPECIAL PROVISIONS

ARTICLE 24

Non-discrimination

- 1. Nationals of a Contracting State shall not be subjected in the other Contracting State to any taxation or any requirement connected therewith that is more burdensome than the taxation and connected requirements to which nationals of that other State in the same circumstances, in particular with respect to residence, are or may be subjected.
- 2. The taxation on a permanent establishment that an enterprise of a Contracting State has in the other Contracting State shall not be less favourably levied in that other State than the taxation levied on enterprises of that other State carrying on the same activities.
- 3. Nothing in this Article shall be construed as obliging a Contracting State to grant to residents of the other Contracting State any personal allowances, reliefs and reductions for taxation purposes on account of civil status or family responsibilities that it grants to its own residents.
- 4. Enterprises of a Contracting State, the capital of which is wholly or partly owned or controlled, directly or indirectly, by one or more residents of the other Contracting State, shall not be subjected in the first-mentioned State to any taxation or any requirement connected therewith that is more burdensome than the taxation and connected requirements to which other similar enterprises that are residents of the first-mentioned State, the capital of which is wholly or partly owned or controlled, directly or indirectly, by one or more residents of a third State, are or may be subjected.
- 5. In this Article, the term "taxation" means taxes that are the subject of this Convention.

ARTICLE 25

Mutual Agreement Procedure

- 1. Where a person considers that the actions of one or both of the Contracting States result or will result for that person in taxation not in accordance with the provisions of this Convention, that person may, irrespective of the remedies provided by the domestic law of those States, address to the competent authority of the Contracting State of which that person is a resident an application in writing stating the grounds for claiming the revision of such taxation. To be admissible, the said application must be submitted within two years from the first notification of the action resulting in taxation not in accordance with the provisions of the Convention.
- 2. The competent authority referred to in paragraph 1 shall endeavour, if the objection appears to it to be justified and if it is not itself able to arrive at a satisfactory solution, to resolve the case by mutual agreement with the competent authority of the other Contracting State, with a view to the avoidance of taxation not in accordance with the Convention.

ARTICLE 24

VI. DISPOSITIONS SPÉCIALES

Non-discrimination

- 1. Les nationaux d'un État contractant ne sont soumis dans l'autre État contractant à aucune imposition ou obligation y relative, qui est plus lourde que celles auxquelles sont ou pourront être assujettis les nationaux de cet autre État qui se trouvent dans la même situation, notamment au regard de la résidence.
- 2. L'imposition d'un établissement stable qu'une entreprise d'un État contractant a dans l'autre État contractant n'est pas établie dans cet autre État d'une façon moins favorable que l'imposition des entreprises de cet autre État qui exercent la même activité.
- 3. Aucune disposition du présent article ne peut être interprétée comme obligeant un État contractant à accorder aux résidents de l'autre État contractant les déductions personnelles, abattements et réductions d'impôt en fonction de la situation ou des charges de famille qu'il accorde à ses propres résidents.
- 4. Les entreprises d'un État contractant, dont le capital est en totalité ou en partie, directement ou indirectement, détenu ou contrôlé par un ou plusieurs résidents de l'autre État contractant, ne sont soumises dans le premier État à aucune imposition ou obligation y relative, qui est plus lourde que celles auxquelles sont ou pourront être assujetties les autres entreprises similaires qui sont des résidents du premier État et dont le capital est en totalité ou en partie, directement ou indirectement, détenu ou contrôlé par un ou plusieurs résidents d'un État tiers.
- 5. Le terme « imposition » désigne, dans le présent article, les impôts visés par la présente Convention.

ARTICLE 25

Procédure amiable

- 1. Lorsqu'une personne estime que les mesures prises par un État contractant ou par les deux États contractants entraînent ou entraîneront pour elle une imposition non conforme aux dispositions de la présente Convention, elle peut, indépendamment des recours prévus par le droit interne de ces États, adresser à l'autorité compétente de l'État contractant dont elle est un résident, une demande écrite et motivée de révision de cette imposition. Pour être recevable, cette demande doit être présentée dans un délai de deux ans à compter de la première notification de la mesure qui entraîne une imposition non conforme aux dispositions de la Convention.
- 2. L'autorité compétente visée au paragraphe l s'efforce, si la réclamation lui paraît fondée et si elle n'est pas elle-même en mesure d'y apporter une solution satisfaisante, de résoudre le cas par voie d'accord amiable avec l'autorité compétente de l'autre État contractant, en vue d'éviter une imposition non conforme à la Convention.

- 3. A Contracting State shall not, after the expiry of the time limits provided in its domestic laws and, in any case, after five years from the end of the taxable period to which the income concerned was attributed, increase the tax base of a resident of either of the Contracting States by including therein items of income that have also been charged to tax in the other Contracting State. This paragraph shall not apply in the case of fraud, wilful default or neglect.
- 4. The competent authorities of the Contracting States shall endeavour to resolve by mutual agreement any difficulties or doubts arising as to the interpretation or application of the Convention.
- 5. The competent authorities of the Contracting States may consult together for the elimination of double taxation in cases not provided for in the Convention and may communicate with each other directly for the purpose of applying the Convention.
- 6. If any difficulty or doubt arising as to the interpretation or application of the Convention cannot be resolved by the competent authorities pursuant to the preceding paragraphs of this Article, the case may be submitted for arbitration if both competent authorities and the taxpayer agree and the taxpayer agrees in writing to be bound by the decision of the arbitration board. The decision of the arbitration board in a particular case shall be binding on both States with respect to that case. The procedure shall be established in an exchange of notes between the Contracting States.

Exchange of Information

1. The competent authorities of the Contracting States shall exchange such information as is relevant for carrying out the provisions of this Convention or of the domestic laws in the Contracting States concerning taxes covered by this Convention insofar as the taxation thereunder is not contrary to the Convention. The exchange of information is not restricted by Article 1. Any information received by a Contracting State shall be treated as secret in the same manner as information obtained under the domestic laws of that State and shall be disclosed only to persons or authorities (including courts and administrative bodies) concerned with, and only for use in connection with, the assessment or collection of, the enforcement in respect of, or the determination of appeals in relation to any tax. Such persons or authorities shall use the information only for such purposes. They may disclose the information in public court proceedings or in judicial decisions.

- 3. Un État contractant n'augmente pas la base imposable d'un résident de l'un ou l'autre État contractant en y incluant des éléments de revenu qui ont déjà été imposés dans l'autre État contractant, après l'expiration des délais prévus par son droit interne et, en tout cas, après l'expiration de cinq ans à dater de la fin de la période imposable au cours de laquelle les revenus en cause ont été attribués. Le présent paragraphe ne s'applique pas en cas de fraude, d'omission volontaire ou de négligence.
- 4. Les autorités compétentes des États contractants s'efforcent, par voie d'accord amiable, de résoudre les difficultés ou de dissiper les doutes auxquels peuvent donner lieu l'interprétation ou l'application de la Convention.
- 5. Les autorités compétentes des États contractants peuvent se concerter en vue d'éliminer la double imposition dans les cas non prévus par la Convention et peuvent communiquer directement entre elles aux fins de l'application de la Convention.
- 6. Si les difficultés ou les doutes auxquels peuvent donner lieu l'interprétation ou l'application de la Convention ne peuvent être réglés par les autorités compétentes conformément aux paragraphes précédents du présent article, le cas peut, avec l'accord des deux autorités compétentes et du contribuable, être soumis à l'arbitrage, pourvu que le contribuable consente par écrit à être lié par la décision de la commission d'arbitrage. La décision de la commission d'arbitrage dans une affaire donnée lie les deux États à l'égard de cette affaire. La procédure à suivre sera précisée dans un échange de notes entre les États contractants.

ARTICLE 26

Échange de renseignements

1. Les autorités compétentes des États contractants échangent les renseignements pertinents à l'application des dispositions de la présente Convention ou celles de la législation interne dans les États contractants relative aux impôts visés par la Convention dans la mesure où l'imposition qu'elle prévoit n'est pas contraire à la Convention. L'échange de renseignements n'est pas restreint par l'article 1. Les renseignements reçus par un État contractant sont tenus secrets de la même manière que les renseignements obtenus en application de la législation interne de cet État et ne sont communiqués qu'aux personnes ou autorités (y compris les tribunaux et organes administratifs) concernées par l'établissement ou le recouvrement de tout impôt, par les procédures concernant tout impôt, ou par les décisions sur les recours relatifs à tout impôt et ne sont utilisés que dans le cadre de tel établissement ou recouvrement, de telles procédures ou de telles décisions.

- 2. In no case shall the provisions of paragraph 1 be construed so as to impose on a Contracting State the obligation
 - (a) to carry out administrative measures at variance with the laws and the administrative practice of that or of the other Contracting State;
 - (b) to supply information that is not obtainable under the laws or in the normal course of the administration of that or of the other Contracting State; or
 - (c) to supply information that would disclose any trade, business, industrial, commercial or professional secret or trade process, or information, the disclosure of which would be contrary to public policy (ordre public).
- 3. If information is requested by a Contracting State in accordance with this Article, the other Contracting State shall endeavour to obtain the information to which the request relates in the same way as if its own taxation were involved, even though the other State does not, at that time, need such information. If specifically requested by the competent authority of a Contracting State, the competent authority of the other Contracting State shall endeavour to provide information under this Article in the form requested.

ARTICLE 27

Members of Diplomatic Missions and Consular Posts

- 1. Nothing in this Convention shall affect the fiscal privileges of members of diplomatic missions or consular posts under the general rules of international law or under the provisions of special agreements.
- 2. Notwithstanding the provisions of Article 4, an individual who is a member of a diplomatic mission, consular post or permanent mission of a Contracting State that is situated in the other Contracting State or in a third State shall be deemed for the purposes of the Convention to be a resident of the sending State if that individual is liable in the sending State to the same obligations in relation to tax on total income as are residents of that sending State.
- 3. The Convention shall not apply to international organizations, to organs or officials thereof and to persons who are members of a diplomatic mission, consular post or permanent mission of a third State or group of States, being present in a Contracting State and who are not liable in either Contracting State to the same obligations in relation to tax on their total income as are residents thereof.

- 2. Les dispositions du paragraphe 1 ne peuvent en aucun cas être interprétées comme imposant à un État contractant l'obliga
 - a) de prendre des mesures administratives dérogeant à sa législation et à sa pratique administrative ou à celles de l'autre État contractant;
 - b) de fournir des renseignements qui ne pourraient être obtenus sur la base de sa législation ou dans le cadre de sa pratique administrative normale ou de celles de l'autre État contractant;
 - c) de fournir des renseignements qui révéleraient un secret commercial, industriel, professionnel ou un procédé commercial ou des renseignements dont la communication serait contraire à l'ordre public.
- 3. Lorsqu'un État contractant demande des renseignements en conformité avec le présent article, l'autre État contractant s'efforce d'obtenir les renseignements relatifs à cette demande de la même façon que si ses propres impôts étaient en jeu même si cet autre État n'a pas besoin, à ce moment, de ces renseignements. Si la demande de l'autorité compétente d'un État contractant le requiert expressément, l'autorité compétente de l'autre État contractant s'efforce de fournir les renseignements demandés en vertu du présent article sous la forme requise.

ARTICLE 27

Membres des missions diplomatiques et postes consulaires

- 1. Les dispositions de la présente Convention ne portent pas atteinte aux privilèges fiscaux dont bénéficient les membres des missions diplomatiques ou postes consulaires en vertu soit des règles générales du droit international, soit des dispositions d'accords particuliers.
- 2. Nonobstant les dispositions de l'article 4, la personne physique qui est membre d'une mission diplomatique, d'un poste consulaire ou d'une délégation permanente d'un État contractant qui est situé dans l'autre État contractant ou dans un État tiers est considérée, aux fins de la Convention, comme un résident de l'État accréditant, à condition qu'elle soit soumise dans l'État accréditant aux mêmes obligations, en matière d'impôts sur l'ensemble de son revenu, que les résidents de cet
- 3. La Convention ne s'applique pas aux organisations internationales, à leurs organes ou à leurs fonctionnaires, ni aux personnes qui sont membres d'une mission diplomatique, d'un poste consulaire ou d'une délégation permanente d'un État tiers ou d'un groupe d'États, lorsqu'ils se trouvent sur le territoire d'un État contractant et ne sont pas soumis dans l'un ou l'autre État contractant aux mêmes obligations, en matière d'impôts sur l'ensemble de leur revenu, que les résidents de ces États.

Miscellaneous Rules

- 1. The provisions of this Convention shall not be construed to restrict in any manner any exemption, allowance, credit or other deduction accorded by the laws of a Contracting State in the determination of the tax imposed by that State.
- 2. Nothing in the Convention shall be construed as preventing a Contracting State from imposing a tax on amounts included in the income of a resident of that State with respect to a partnership, trust, or company, in which that resident has an interest.
- 3. The Convention shall not apply to any company, trust or other entity that is a resident of a Contracting State and is beneficially owned or controlled, directly or indirectly, by one or more persons who are not residents of that State, if the amount of the tax imposed on the income or capital of the company, trust or other entity by that State is substantially lower than the amount that would be imposed by that State (after taking into account any reduction or offset of the amount of tax in any manner, including a refund, reimbursement, contribution, credit, or allowance to the company, trust or partnership, or to any other person) if all of the shares of the capital stock of the company or all of the interests in the trust or other entity, as the case may be, were beneficially owned by one or more individuals who were residents of that State.
- 4. For the purposes of paragraph 3 of Article XXII (Consultation) of the General Agreement on Trade in Services, the Contracting States agree that, notwithstanding that paragraph, any dispute between them as to whether a measure falls within the scope of the convention may be brought before the Council for Trade in Services, as provided by that paragraph, only with the consent of both Contracting States. Any doubt as to the interpretation of this paragraph shall be resolved under paragraph 4 of Article 25 or, failing agreement under that procedure, pursuant to any other procedure agreed to by both Contracting States.

VII. FINAL PROVISIONS

ARTICLE 29

Entry into Force

Each of the Contracting States shall notify the other through diplomatic channels of the completion of the procedures required by law for the bringing into force of this Convention. The Convention shall enter into force on the date of the later of these notifications and its provisions shall thereupon have effect

(a) in Canada

ARTICLE 28

Dispositions diverses

- 1. Les dispositions de la présente Convention ne peuvent être interprétées comme limitant d'une manière quelconque les exonérations, abattements, déductions, crédits ou autres allégements qui sont ou seront accordés par la législation d'un État contractant pour la détermination de l'impôt prélevé par cet État.
- 2. Aucune disposition de la Convention ne peut être interprétée comme empêchant un État contractant de prélever un impôt sur les montants inclus dans le revenu d'un résident de cet État à l'égard d'une société de personnes, d'une fiducie ou d'une société dans laquelle il possède une participation.
- 3. La Convention ne s'applique pas à une société, à une fiducie ou à une autre entité qui est un résident d'un État contractant et dont une ou plusieurs personnes qui ne sont pas des résidents de cet État sont les bénéficiaires effectifs ou qui est contrôlée, directement ou indirectement, par de telles personnes, si le montant de l'impôt exigé par cet État sur le revenu ou la fortune de la société, de la fiducie ou de l'autre entité est largement inférieur au montant qui serait exigé par cet État (compte tenu d'une réduction quelconque du montant de l'impôt, y compris un remboursement, une contribution, un crédit ou une allocation accordé à la société, à la fiducie ou à la société de personnes ou à toute autre personne) si une ou plusieurs personnes physiques qui sont des résidents de cet État étaient les bénéficiaires effectifs de toutes les actions du capital-actions de la société ou de toutes les participations dans la fiducie ou autre entité, selon le cas.
- 4. Pour l'application du paragraphe 3 de l'article XXII (Consultation) de l'Accord général sur le commerce des services, les États contractants conviennent que, nonobstant ce paragraphe, tout différend entre eux sur la question de savoir si une mesure relève de la présente Convention ne peut être porté devant le Conseil sur le commerce des services, tel que prévu par ce paragraphe, qu'avec le consentement des deux États contractants. Tout doute au sujet de l'interprétation du présent paragraphe est résolu en vertu du paragraphe 4 de l'article 25 ou, en l'absence d'un accord découlant de cette procédure, suivant toute autre procédure acceptée par les deux États contractants.

VII. DISPOSITIONS FINALES

ARTICLE 29

Entrée en vigueur

1. Chacun des États contractants notifiera à l'autre, par la voie diplomatique, l'accomplissement des mesures requises par sa législation pour la mise en oeuvre de la présente Convention. La Convention entrera en vigueur à la date de la dernière de ces notifications et ses dispositions seront applicables :

a) au Canada:

- (i) in respect of tax withheld at the source on amounts paid or credited to non-residents, on or after the first day of January in the calendar year following that in which the Convention enters into force, and
- (ii) in respect of other Canadian tax, for taxation years beginning on or after the first day of January in the calendar year following that in which the Convention enters into force: and
- (b) in Peru, in respect of Peruvian taxes and amounts paid, credited to an account, made at the disposal or accounted as an expense, on or after the first day of January of the calendar year immediately following that in which the Convention enters into force.

Termination

This Convention shall continue in effect indefinitely but either Contracting State may, on or before June 30 of any calendar year after the year of the entry into force, give to the other Contracting State a notice of termination in writing through diplomatic channels. In such event, the Convention shall cease to have effect

- (a) in Canada
 - (i) in respect of tax withheld at the source on amounts paid or credited to non-residents, after the end of that calendar year, and
 - (ii) in respect of other Canadian tax, for taxation years beginning after the end of that calendar year; and
- (b) in Peru, in respect of Peruvian taxes and amounts paid, credited to an account, made at the disposal or accounted as an expense, on or after the first day of January of the next following calendar year.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the undersigned, duly authorized to that effect, have signed this Convention.

DONE in duplicate at Lima, this 20^{th} day of July, 2001, in the English, French and Spanish languages, each version being equally authentic.

FOR THE GOVERNMENT CANADA

FOR THE GOVERNMENT OF OF THE REPUBLIC OF PERU

Graeme Clark Javier Silva Ruete

- (i) à l'égard de l'impôt retenu à la source sur les montants payés à des non-résidents, ou portés à leur crédit, à partir du ler janvier de l'année civile suivant celle au cours de laquelle la Convention entre en vigueur; et
- (ii) à l'égard des autres impôts canadiens, pour toute année d'imposition commençant à partir du ler janvier de l'année civile suivant celle au cours de laquelle la Convention entre en vigueur;
- b) au Pérou, à l'égard de l'impôt péruvien et des montants payés, portés au crédit d'un compte, mis à la disposition ou comptabilisés comme dépenses à partir du ler janvier de l'année civile suivant celle au cours de laquelle la Convention entre en vigueur.

ARTICLE 30

Dénonciation

La présente Convention restera indéfiniment en vigueur, mais chacun des États contractants pourra, jusqu'au 30 juin inclus de toute année civile postérieure à l'année de l'entrée en vigueur de la Convention, donner par la voie diplomatique un avis de dénonciation écrit à l'autre État contractant; dans ce cas, la Convention cessera d'être applicable :

- a) au Canada:
 - (i) à l'égard de l'impôt retenu à la source sur les montants payés à des non-résidents, ou portés à leur crédit, à partir du 1^{er} janvier de l'année civile subséquente; et
 - (ii) à l'égard des autres impôts canadiens, pour toute année d'imposition commençant à partir du 1^{er} janvier de l'année civile subséquente;
- b) au Pérou, à l'égard de l'impôt péruvien et des montants payés, portés au crédit d'un compte, mis à la disposition ou comptabilisés comme dépenses à partir du ler janvier de l'année civile subséquente.

EN FOI DE QUOI les soussignés, dûment autorisés à cet effet, ont signé la présente Convention.

FAIT en double exemplaire à Lima ce 20ème jour de juillet 2001, en langues française, anglaise et espagnole, chaque version faisant également foi.

POUR LE GOUVERNEMENT DU CANADA POUR LE GOUVERNE-MENT DE LA RÉPUBLIQUE DU PÉROU

Graeme Clark

Javier Silva Ruete

PART 2

PROTOCOL

At the moment of signing the Convention this day concluded between the Government of Canada and the Government of the Republic of Peru for the avoidance of double taxation and the prevention of fiscal evasion with respect to taxes on income and on capital, the undersigned have agreed upon the following provisions which shall be an integral part of the Convention.

- 1. With reference to subparagraph (*d*) of paragraph 1 of Article 3, the term "person" shall, in the case of Peru, include undivided estates (*sucesiones indivisas*) as well as matrimonial partnerships (*sociedades conyugales*).
- 2. With reference to paragraph 2 of Article 9, it is understood that the other State is only required to make the appropriate adjustment to the extent it considers that the adjustment made in the first State is justified both in principle and in amount.
- 3. In the event that, pursuant to an agreement or convention concluded with a country that is a member of the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development after the date of signature of the Convention, Peru agrees:
 - (a) with reference to subparagraph (a) of paragraph 2 of Article 10, to a rate of tax on dividends that is lower than 10 per cent, the greater of such new rate and a rate of 5 per cent shall automatically apply for the purposes of that subparagraph as well as for paragraph 6 of that same Article;
 - (b) with reference to paragraph 2 of Article 11, to a rate of tax on interest that is lower than 15 per cent, the greater of such new rate and a rate of 10 per cent shall automatically apply for the purposes of that paragraph; and
 - (c) with reference to paragraph 2 of Article 12, to a rate of tax on royalties referred to in that paragraph that is lower than 15 per cent, the following shall apply for the purposes of that paragraph:
 - (i) to the extent that such lower rate applies to:
 - (a) copyright royalties and other like payments in respect of the production or reproduction of any literary, dramatic, musical or other artistic work (but not including royalties in respect of motion picture films nor royalties in respect of works on film or videotape or other means of reproduction for use in connection with television), or
 - (b) royalties for the use of, or the right to use, computer software or any patent or for information concerning industrial, commercial or scientific experience (but not including any such royalty provided in connection with a rental or franchise agreement),

PARTIE 2

PROTOCOLE

Au moment de procéder à la signature de la Convention entre le Gouvernement du Canada et le Gouvernement de la République du Pérou en vue d'éviter les doubles impositions et de prévenir l'évasion fiscale en matière d'impôts sur le revenu et sur la fortune, les soussignés sont convenus des dispositions supplémentaires suivantes qui font partie intégrante de la Convention.

- 1. En ce qui concerne l'alinéa d) du paragraphe 1 de l'article 3, le terme « personne » comprend, dans le cas du Pérou, les successions indivises (sucesions indivisas) ainsi que les associations matrimoniales (sociedades conyugales).
- 2. En ce qui concerne le paragraphe 2 de l'article 9, il est entendu que l'autre État contractant n'est tenu de procéder à l'ajustement approprié que dans la mesure où il estime que l'ajustement auquel il a été procédé dans le premier État est justifié quant au principe et au montant.
- 3. Dans l'éventualité où le Pérou, conformément à un accord ou à une convention conclu avec un pays membre de l'Organisation de coopération et de développement économiques après la date de signature de la présente Convention, accepterait :
 - a) un taux inférieur à 10 p. 100 pour l'imposition des dividendes selon l'alinéa a) du paragraphe 2 de l'article 10, ce nouveau taux ou, s'il est plus élevé, un taux de 5 p. 100 s'applique automatiquement aux fins de cet alinéa de même qu'aux fins du paragraphe 6 de l'article en question;
 - b) un taux inférieur à 15 p. 100 pour l'imposition des intérêts selon le paragraphe 2 de l'article 11, ce nouveau taux ou, s'il est plus élevé, un taux de 10 p. 100 s'applique automatiquement aux fins de ce paragraphe;
 - c) un taux inférieur à 15 p. 100 pour l'imposition des redevances selon le paragraphe 2 de l'article 12, les règles suivantes s'appliquent aux fins de ce paragraphe :
 - (i) dans la mesure où ce taux inférieur s'applique :
 - (a) aux droits d'auteur et autres rémunérations similaires concernant la production ou la reproduction d'oeuvres littéraires, dramatiques, musicales ou autres oeuvres artistiques (à l'exclusion des redevances concernant les films cinématographiques et les oeuvres enregistrées sur films ou bandes magnétoscopiques ou autres moyens de reproduction destinés à la télédiffusion), ou
 - (b) aux redevances pour l'usage ou la concession de l'usage d'un logiciel ou d'un brevet ou pour des informations ayant trait à une expérience acquise dans le domaine industriel, commercial ou scientifique (à l'exclusion des redevances versées dans le cadre d'un contrat de location ou de franchisage),

that lower rate shall automatically apply in similar circum-

- (ii) to the extent that such lower rate applies to other royalties referred to in that paragraph, the greater of such lower rate and the rate of 10 per cent shall automatically apply in similar circumstances.
- 4. Nothing in the Convention shall preclude the application of the provisions of Peruvian Law Acts (Decretos Legislativos) number 662, 757 and 109 and Acts (Leyes) number 26221, 27342, 27343 as they are in force at the time of the signature of the Convention and as they may be amended from time to time without changing their general principle or the optional nature of entering into the tax stability contracts. A person that is a party to a contract which grants tax stability in accordance with the above-mentioned provisions shall, notwithstanding any rate of tax set out in the Convention, remain subject to the rates of tax stabilized by the contract for its duration.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the undersigned, duly authorized to that effect, have signed this Protocol.

DONE in duplicate at Lima, this 20th day of July, 2001, in the English, French and Spanish languages, each version being equally authentic.

FOR THE GOVERNMENT OF CANADA

FOR THE GOVERNMENT OF THE REPUBLIC OF PERU ce taux inférieur s'applique automatiquement dans des circonstances similaires,

- (ii) dans la mesure où ce taux inférieur s'applique à d'autres redevances visées au paragraphe en question, ce taux ou, s'il est plus élevé, un taux de 10 p. 100 s'applique automatiquement dans des circonstances similaires.
- 4. Aucune disposition de la présente Convention n'a pour effet d'exclure l'application des dispositions des décrets législatifs péruviens (Decretos Legislativos) portant les numéros 662, 757 et 109 et des lois (Leyes) portant les numéros 26221, 27342 et 27343, tels qu'ils sont en vigueur au moment de la signature de la Convention et tels qu'ils peuvent être modifiés ultérieurement sans en changer le principe général ou la possibilité de choisir de conclure les contrats de stabilité fiscale qu'ils prévoient. La personne qui est partie à un contrat qui accorde la stabilité fiscale, conformément aux dispositions susmentionnées, demeure assujettie aux taux de taxe fixés par le contrat pendant sa durée, nonobstant les taux de taxe fixés par la Convention.

EN FOI DE QUOI les soussignés, dûment autorisés à cet effet, ont signé le présent Protocole.

FAIT en double exemplaire à Lima, ce 20ème jour de juillet 2001, en langues française, anglaise et espagnole, chaque version faisant également foi.

DU CANADA

POUR LE GOUVERNEMENT POUR LE GOUVERNE-MENT DE LA RÉPUBLIQUE

DU PÉROU

Graeme Clark Javier Silva Ruete Graeme Clark Javier Silva Ruete

SCHEDULE 5 (Section 27)

CONVENTION BETWEEN THE GOVERNMENT OF CANADA AND THE GOVERNMENT OF THE REPUBLIC OF SENEGAL FOR THE AVOIDANCE OF DOUBLE TAXATION AND THE PREVENTION OF FISCAL EVASION WITH RESPECT TO TAXES ON INCOME

The Government of Canada and the Government of the Republic of Senegal, desiring to conclude a Convention for the avoidance of double taxation and the prevention of fiscal evasion with respect to taxes on income, have agreed as follows:

I. SCOPE OF THE CONVENTION

ARTICLE 1

Persons Covered

This Convention shall apply to persons who are residents of one or both of the Contracting States.

ARTICLE 2

Taxes Covered

- 1. This Convention shall apply to taxes on income imposed on behalf of each Contracting State, irrespective of the manner in which they are levied.
- 2. There shall be regarded as taxes on income all taxes imposed on total income or on elements of income including taxes on gains from the alienation of movable or immovable property as well as taxes on capital appreciation.
- 3. The existing taxes to which the Convention shall apply are, in particular:
 - (a) in the case of Canada:

the income taxes imposed by the Government of Canada under the *Income Tax Act*, (hereinafter referred to as "Canadian tax");

- (b) in the case of Senegal:
 - (i) the tax on companies,
 - (ii) the minimum lump-sum tax on companies,
 - (iii) the income tax on individuals,
 - (iv) the employers' lump-sum contribution,
 - (v) the capital gains tax on developed and undeveloped land,

(hereinafter referred to as "Senegalese tax").

ANNEXE 5 (article 27)

CONVENTION ENTRE LE GOUVERNEMENT DU CANADA ET LE GOUVERNEMENT DE LA RÉPUBLIQUE DU SÉNÉGAL EN VUE D'ÉVITER LES DOUBLES IMPOSITIONS ET DE PRÉVENIR L'ÉVASION FISCALE EN MATIÈRE D'IMPÔTS SUR LE REVENU

Le Gouvernement du Canada et le Gouvernement de la République du Sénégal, désireux de conclure une Convention en vue d'éviter les doubles impositions et de prévenir l'évasion fiscale en matière d'impôts sur le revenu, sont convenus des dispositions suivantes :

I. CHAMP D'APPLICATION DE LA CONVENTION

ARTICLE PREMIER

Personnes visées

La présente Convention s'applique aux personnes qui sont des résidents d'un État contractant ou des deux États contractants.

ARTICLE 2

Impôts visés

- 1. La présente Convention s'applique aux impôts sur le revenu perçus pour le compte de chacun des États contractants, quel que soit le système de perception.
- 2. Sont considérés comme impôts sur le revenu les impôts perçus sur le revenu total ou sur des éléments du revenu, y compris les impôts sur les gains provenant de l'aliénation de biens mobiliers ou immobiliers ainsi que les impôts sur les plus-values.
- 3. Les impôts actuels auxquels s'applique la Convention sont notamment :
 - a) en ce qui concerne le Canada, les impôts sur le revenu qui sont perçus par le Gouvernement du Canada en vertu de la *Loi de l'impôt sur le revenu* (ci-après dénommés « impôt canadien »);
 - b) en ce qui concerne le Sénégal :
 - (i) l'impôt sur les sociétés;
 - (ii) l'impôt minimum forfaitaire sur les sociétés;
 - (iii) l'impôt sur le revenu des personnes physiques;
 - (iv) la contribution forfaitaire à la charge des employeurs;
 - (v) la taxe de plus-value sur les terrains bâtis ou non-bâtis;
 - (ci-après dénommés « impôt sénégalais »).

4. The Convention shall apply also to any identical or substantially similar taxes which enter into force after the date of signature of this Convention in addition to, or in place of, the existing taxes. The competent authorities of the Contracting States shall notify each other of any significant changes which have been made in their respective taxation laws.

Conventions fiscales (2001) — Annexe 5

II. DEFINITIONS

ARTICLE 3

General Definitions

- 1. In this Convention, unless the context otherwise requires:
- (a) the term "Canada", used in a geographical sense, means the territory of Canada, including
 - (i) any area beyond the territorial sea of Canada which, in accordance with international law and the laws of Canada, is an area in respect of which Canada may exercise rights with respect to the seabed and subsoil and their natural resources; and
 - (ii) the sea and airspace above every area referred to in clause (i) in respect of any activity carried on in connection with the exploration for or the exploitation of the natural resources referred to therein;
- (b) the term "Senegal" means the Republic of Senegal; when used in a geographical sense, it means the national territory, the territorial waters as well as the maritime areas over which, in accordance with international law, Senegal exercises sovereign rights or jurisdiction;
- (c) the terms "a Contracting State" and "the other Contracting State" mean, as the context requires, Canada or Senegal;
- (d) the term "person" includes an individual, a company and any other body of persons; in the case of Canada, it also includes a trust;
- (e) the term "company" means any body corporate or any entity which is treated as a body corporate for tax purposes;
- (f) the terms "enterprise of a Contracting State" and "enterprise of the other Contracting State" mean respectively an enterprise carried on by a resident of a Contracting State and an enterprise carried on by a resident of the other Contracting State;
- (g) the term "competent authority" means:
 - (i) in the case of Canada, the Minister of National Revenue or the Minister's authorized representative,
 - (ii) in the case of Senegal, the Minister responsible for Finance or the Minister's authorized representative;

4. La Convention s'applique aussi aux impôts de nature identique ou analogue qui seraient entrés en vigueur après la date de signature de la présente Convention et qui s'ajouteraient aux impôts actuels ou qui les remplaceraient. Les autorités compétentes des États contractants se communiqueront les modifications importantes apportées à leurs législations fiscales respectives.

II. DÉFINITIONS

ARTICLE 3

Définitions générales

- 1. Au sens de la présente Convention, à moins que le contexte n'exige une interprétation différente :
 - a) le terme « Canada », employé dans un sens géographique, désigne le territoire du Canada, y compris :
 - (i) toute région située au-delà de la mer territoriale du Canada qui, conformément au droit international et en vertu des lois du Canada, est une région à l'égard de laquelle le Canada peut exercer des droits à l'égard du fond et du sous-sol de la mer et de leurs ressources naturelles; et
 - (ii) la mer et l'espace aérien au-dessus de la région visée au sous-alinéa (i), à l'égard de toute activité poursuivie en rapport avec l'exploration ou l'exploitation des ressources naturelles qui y sont visées;
 - b) le terme « Sénégal » désigne la République du Sénégal; employé dans un sens géographique, il désigne le territoire national, les eaux territoriales ainsi que les zones maritimes sur lesquelles, conformément au droit international, le Sénégal exerce des droits de souveraineté ou de juridiction;
 - c) les expressions « un État contractant » et « l'autre État contractant » désignent, suivant le contexte, le Sénégal ou le Canada;
 - d) le terme « personne » comprend les personnes physiques, les sociétés et tous autres groupements de personnes; il comprend également les fiducies dans le cas du Canada;
 - e) le terme « société » désigne toute personne morale ou toute entité qui est considérée comme une personne morale aux fins d'imposition;
 - f) les expressions « entreprise d'un État contractant » et « entreprise de l'autre État contractant » désignent respectivement une entreprise exploitée par un résident d'un État contractant et une entreprise exploitée par un résident de l'autre État contractant;
 - g) l'expression « autorité compétente » désigne
 - (i) en ce qui concerne le Canada, le ministre du Revenu national ou son représentant autorisé;
 - (ii) en ce qui concerne le Sénégal, le ministre chargé des Finances ou son représentant autorisé;

- (h) the term "national" means:
 - (i) any individual possessing the nationality of a Contracting State;
 - (ii) any legal person, partnership or association deriving its status as such from the laws in force in a Contracting State;
- (i) the term "international traffic" means any transport by a ship or aircraft operated by an enterprise of a Contracting State, except when the ship or aircraft is operated solely between places in the other Contracting State.
- 2. As regards the application of the Convention by a Contracting State any term not defined therein shall, unless the context otherwise requires, have the meaning that it has under the law of that State for the purposes of the taxes to which the Convention applies, any meaning under the applicable tax laws of that State prevailing over a meaning given to the term under other laws of that State.

Resident

- 1. For the purposes of this Convention, the term "resident of a Contracting State" means:
 - (a) any person who, under the laws of that State, is liable to tax therein by reason of the person's domicile, place of incorporation, residence, place of management or any other criterion of a similar nature:
 - (b) the Government of that Contracting State or a political subdivision or local authority thereof or, in the case of Canada, any agency or instrumentality of any such government, subdivision or authority.
- 2. Where by reason of the provisions of paragraph 1 an individual is a resident of both Contracting States, then the individual's status shall be determined as follows:
 - (a) the individual shall be deemed to be a resident only of the Contracting State in which the individual has a permanent home available; if the individual has a permanent home available in both Contracting States, the individual shall be deemed to be a resident only of the Contracting State with which the individual's personal and economic relations are closer (centre of vital interests);
 - (b) if the Contracting State in which the individual's centre of vital interests is situated cannot be determined, or if there is not a permanent home available to the individual in either Contracting State, the individual shall be deemed to be a resident only of the Contracting State in which the individual has an habitual abode;

- h) le terme « national » désigne
 - (i) toute personne physique qui possède la nationalité d'un État contractant;
 - (ii) toute personne morale, société de personnes ou association constituées conformément à la législation en vigueur dans un État contractant;
- i) l'expression « trafic international », désigne tout transport effectué par un navire ou un aéronef exploité par une entreprise d'un État contractant, sauf lorsque le navire ou l'aéronef n'est exploité qu'entre des points situés dans l'autre État contractant.
- 2. Pour l'application de la Convention par un État contractant, tout terme ou expression qui n'y est pas défini a, sauf si le contexte exige une interprétation différente, le sens que lui attribue le droit de cet État concernant les impôts auxquels s'applique la Convention, le sens attribué à ce terme ou expression par le droit fiscal de cet État prévalant sur le sens que lui attribuent les autres branches du droit de cet État.

ARTICLE 4

Résident

- 1. Au sens de la présente Convention, l'expression « résident d'un État contractant » désigne :
 - a) toute personne qui, en vertu de la législation de cet État, est assujettie à l'impôt dans cet État en raison de son domicile, de son lieu de constitution, de sa résidence, de son siège de direction ou de tout autre critère de nature analogue;
 - b) le gouvernement de cet État contractant ou l'une de ses subdivisions politiques ou collectivités locales ou, dans le cas du Canada, toute personne morale de droit public d'un tel gouvernement, subdivision ou collectivité.
- 2. Lorsque, selon les dispositions du paragraphe 1, une personne physique est un résident des deux États contractants, sa situation est réglée de la manière suivante :
 - a) cette personne est considérée comme résident seulement de l'État où elle dispose d'un foyer d'habitation permanent; si elle dispose d'un foyer d'habitation permanent dans les deux États elle est considérée comme un résident seulement de l'État avec lequel ses liens personnels et économiques sont les plus étroits (« centre des intérêts vitaux »);
 - b) si l'État où cette personne a le centre de ses intérêts vitaux ne peut pas être déterminé, ou si elle ne dispose d'un foyer d'habitation permanent dans aucun des États elle est considérée comme un résident seulement de l'État où elle séjourne de facon habituelle;

- (c) if the individual has an habitual abode in both Contracting States or in neither of them, the individual shall be deemed to be a resident only of the Contracting State of which the individual is a national;
- (d) if the individual is a national of both Contracting States or of neither of them, the competent authorities of the Contracting States shall settle the question by mutual agreement.
- 3. Where by reason of the provisions of paragraph 1 a person other than an individual is a resident of both Contracting States, the competent authorities of the Contracting States shall by mutual agreement endeavour to settle the question and to determine the mode of application of the Convention to such person.

Permanent Establishment

- 1. For the purposes of this Convention, the term "permanent establishment" means a fixed place of business through which the business of an enterprise is wholly or partly carried on.
 - 2. The term "permanent establishment" includes especially:
 - (a) a place of management;
 - (b) a branch;
 - (c) an office;
 - (d) a factory;
 - (e) a workshop;
 - (f) a mine, an oil or gas well, a quarry or any other place of extraction of natural resources, including that relating to the exploration for or the exploitation of natural resources;
 - (g) a building site or construction project;
 - (h) an assembly project which exists for more than three months
- 3. Notwithstanding the preceding provisions of this Article, the term "permanent establishment" shall be deemed not to include:
 - (a) the use of facilities solely for the purpose of storage or display of goods or merchandise belonging to the enterprise;
 - (b) the maintenance of a stock of goods or merchandise belonging to the enterprise solely for the purpose of storage or display;
 - (c) the maintenance of a stock of goods or merchandise belonging to the enterprise solely for the purpose of processing by another enterprise;

- c) si cette personne séjourne de façon habituelle dans les deux États ou si elle ne séjourne de façon habituelle dans aucun d'eux, elle est considérée comme un résident seulement de l'État dont elle possède la nationalité;
- d) si cette personne possède la nationalité des deux États ou si elle ne possède la nationalité d'aucun d'eux, les autorités compétentes des États contractants tranchent la question d'un commun accord.
- 3. Lorsque, selon les dispositions du paragraphe 1, une personne autre qu'une personne physique est un résident des deux États contractants, les autorités compétentes des États contractants s'efforcent d'un commun accord de trancher la question et de déterminer les modalités d'application de la présente Convention à cette personne.

ARTICLE 5

Établissement stable

- 1. Au sens de la présente Convention, l'expression « établissement stable » désigne une installation fixe d'affaires par l'intermédiaire de laquelle une entreprise exerce tout ou partie de son activité.
- 2. L'expression « établissement stable » comprend notamment :
 - a) un siège de direction;
 - b) une succursale;
 - c) un bureau;
 - d) une usine;
 - e) un atelier;
 - f) une mine, un puits de pétrole ou de gaz, une carrière ou tout autre lieu d'extraction y compris celui relié à l'exploration ou à l'exploitation de ressources naturelles;
 - g) un chantier de construction;
 - h) un chantier de montage dont la durée dépasse trois mois.
- 3. Nonobstant les dispositions précédentes du présent article, on considère qu'il n'y a pas établissement stable si :
 - a) il est fait usage d'installations aux seules fins de stockage ou d'exposition de marchandises appartenant à l'entreprise;
 - b) des marchandises appartenant à l'entreprise sont entreposées aux seules fins de stockage ou d'exposition;
 - c) des marchandises appartenant à l'entreprise sont entreposées aux seules fins de transformation par une autre entreprise;
 - d) une installation fixe d'affaires est utilisée aux seules fins d'acheter des marchandises ou de réunir des informations pour l'entreprise;

- (d) the maintenance of a fixed place of business solely for the purpose of purchasing goods or merchandise or of collecting information, for the enterprise;
- (e) the maintenance of a fixed place of business solely for the purpose of its advertising, for the supply of information, for scientific research or for similar activities which have a preparatory or auxiliary character, for the enterprise.
- 4. A person other than an agent of an independent status to whom paragraph 5 applies acting in a Contracting State on behalf of an enterprise of the other Contracting State shall be deemed to be a permanent establishment in the first-mentioned State:
 - (a) if the person has, and habitually exercises in the first-mentioned State an authority to conclude contracts in the name of the enterprise, unless the activities of such person are limited to the purchase of goods or merchandise for the enterprise; or
 - (b) if the person maintains in the first-mentioned State a stock of goods or merchandise belonging to the enterprise from which the person habitually fills orders on behalf of the enterprise.
- 5. An enterprise shall not be deemed to have a permanent establishment in a Contracting State merely because it carries on business in that State through a broker, general commission agent or any other agent of an independent status, provided that such persons are acting in the ordinary course of their business.
- 6. The fact that a company which is a resident of a Contracting State controls or is controlled by a company which is a resident of the other Contracting State, or which carries on business in that other State (whether through a permanent establishment or otherwise), shall not of itself constitute either company a permanent establishment of the other.
- 7. An insurance enterprise shall, except with regard to re-insurance, be deemed to have a permanent establishment in a Contracting State from the time it collects premiums in the territory of that State or insures risks situated therein through a representative who does not fall within the type of persons referred to in paragraph 5 above.

III. TAXATION OF INCOME

ARTICLE 6

Income from Immovable Property

1. Income from immovable property, including income from agriculture or forestry, situated in the other Contracting State may be taxed in the Contracting State in which such property is situated.

- e) une installation fixe d'affaires est utilisée pour l'entreprise aux seules fins de sa publicité, de fourniture d'informations, de recherches scientifiques ou d'activités analogues qui ont un caractère préparatoire ou auxiliaire à ses activités.
- 4. Une personne autre qu'un agent jouissant d'un statut indépendant, visé au paragraphe 5 qui agit dans un État contractant pour le compte d'une entreprise de l'autre État contractant est considérée comme constituant un établissement stable dans le premier État :
 - a) si elle dispose dans ce premier État de pouvoirs qu'elle y exerce habituellement lui permettant de conclure des contrats au nom de l'entreprise, à moins que l'activité de cette personne ne soit limitée à l'achat de marchandises pour l'entreprise; ou
 - b) si cette personne dispose dans ce premier État d'un stock de marchandises appartenant à l'entreprise au moyen duquel elle exécute habituellement des commandes au nom de cette entreprise.
- 5. Une entreprise n'est pas considérée comme ayant un établissement stable dans un État contractant du seul fait qu'elle y exerce son activité par l'entremise d'un courtier, d'un commissionnaire général ou de tout autre intermédiaire jouissant d'un statut indépendant, à condition que ces personnes agissent dans le cadre ordinaire de leur activité.
- 6. Le fait qu'une société qui est un résident d'un État contractant contrôle ou est contrôlée par une société qui est un résident de l'autre État contractant ou qui y exerce son activité (que ce soit par l'intermédiaire d'un établissement stable ou non) ne suffit pas, en lui-même, à faire de l'une quelconque de ces sociétés un établissement stable de l'autre.
- 7. Une entreprise d'assurances est considérée comme ayant un établissement stable dans un État contractant, sauf en matière de réassurance, dès l'instant que, par l'intermédiaire d'un représentant n'entrant pas dans la catégorie des personnes visées au paragraphe 5 ci-dessus, elle perçoit des primes sur le territoire de cet État ou assure des risques situés sur ce territoire.

III. IMPOSITION DES REVENUS

ARTICLE 6

Revenus immobiliers

1. Les revenus provenant de biens immobiliers y compris les revenus des exploitations agricoles ou forestières, sont imposables dans l'État contractant où ces biens sont situés.

- 2. For the purposes of this Convention, the term "immovable property" shall be defined in accordance with the law of the Contracting State in which the property in question is situated. The term shall in any case include property accessory to immovable property, livestock and equipment used in agriculture and forestry, rights to which the provisions of general law respecting landed property apply, usufruct of immovable property and rights to variable or fixed payments as consideration for the working of, or the right to work, mineral deposits, sources and other natural resources; ships and aircraft shall not be regarded as immovable property.
- 3. The provisions of paragraph 1 shall apply to income derived from the direct use, letting, or use in any other form of immovable property and to income from the alienation of such property.
- 4. The provisions of paragraphs 1 and 3 shall also apply to the income from immovable property of an enterprise and to income from immovable property used for the performance of independent personal services.

Business Profits

- 1. The profits of an enterprise of a Contracting State shall be taxable only in that State unless the enterprise carries on business in the other Contracting State through a permanent establishment situated therein. If the enterprise carries on or has carried on business as aforesaid, the profits of the enterprise may be taxed in the other State but only so much of them as is attributable to that permanent establishment.
- 2. Subject to the provisions of paragraph 3, where an enterprise of a Contracting State carries on business in the other Contracting State through a permanent establishment situated therein, there shall in each Contracting State be attributed to that permanent establishment the profits which it might be expected to make if it were a distinct and separate enterprise engaged in the same or similar activities under the same or similar conditions and dealing wholly independently with the enterprise of which it is a permanent establishment.
- 3. In determining the profits of a permanent establishment, there shall be allowed those deductible expenses which are incurred for the purposes of the permanent establishment including executive and general administrative expenses, whether incurred in the State in which the permanent establishment is situated or elsewhere; in the latter case, a share of the general administrative expenses of the head office may be allocated to each permanent establishment on a pro rata basis with respect to the turnover realised by each of them.

Where the apportionment of the general administrative expenses referred to above does not result in a normal share or normal profits, the competent authorities of the Contracting States may, in accordance with the provisions of Article 24, make an appropriate adjustment to determine the profits of the permanent establishment.

- 2. Au sens de la présente Convention, l'expression « biens immobiliers » est définie conformément au droit de l'État contractant où les biens considérés sont situés. L'expression englobe en tous cas les accessoires, le cheptel mort ou vif des exploitations agricoles et forestières, les droits auxquels s'appliquent les dispositions du droit privé concernant la propriété foncière, l'usufruit des biens immobiliers et les droits à des redevances variables ou fixes pour l'exploitation ou la concession de l'exploitation de gisements minéraux, sources et autres richesses du sol; les navires et aéronefs ne sont pas considérés comme biens immobiliers.
- 3. Les dispositions du paragraphe 1 s'appliquent aux revenus provenant de l'exploitation directe, de la location ou de l'affermage, ainsi que de toute autre forme d'exploitation de biens immobiliers et aux revenus provenant de l'aliénation de tels biens.
- 4. Les dispositions des paragraphes 1 et 3 s'appliquent également aux revenus provenant des biens immobiliers d'une entreprise ainsi qu'aux revenus des biens immobiliers servant à l'exercice d'une profession indépendante.

ARTICLE 7

Bénéfices des entreprises

- 1. Les bénéfices d'une entreprise d'un État contractant ne sont imposables que dans cet État, à moins que l'entreprise n'exerce son activité dans l'autre État contractant par l'intermédiaire d'un établissement stable qui y est situé. Si l'entreprise exerce ou a exercé son activité d'une telle façon, les bénéfices de l'entreprise sont imposables dans l'autre État mais uniquement dans la mesure où ils sont imputables à cet établissement stable.
- 2. Sous réserve des dispositions du paragraphe 3, lorsqu'une entreprise d'un État contractant exerce son activité dans l'autre État contractant par l'intermédiaire d'un établissement stable qui y est situé, il est imputé, dans chaque État contractant, à cet établissement stable les bénéfices qu'il aurait pu réaliser s'il avait constitué une entreprise distincte exerçant des activités identiques ou analogues dans des conditions identiques ou analogues et traitant en toute indépendance avec l'entreprise dont il constitue un établissement stable.
- 3. Pour déterminer les bénéfices d'un établissement stable, sont imputées les dépenses déductibles qui sont exposées aux fins poursuivies par cet établissement stable, y compris les dépenses de direction et les frais généraux d'administration ainsi exposés, soit dans l'État ou est situé cet établissement stable, soit ailleurs; dans ce dernier cas une quote-part des frais généraux du siège de l'entreprise peut être imputée au résultat des différents établissements stables au prorata des chiffres d'affaires réalisés dans chacun d'eux.

Lorsque la répartition dans les conditions définies ci-dessus des frais généraux du siège ne permet pas de dégager une quote-part normale ou un bénéfice normal, les autorités compétentes des États contractants peuvent, compte tenu des dispositions de l'article 24, procéder aux ajustements nécessaires pour déterminer le bénéfice de l'établissement stable.

- 4. No profits shall be attributed to a permanent establishment by reason of the mere purchase by that permanent establishment of goods or merchandise for the enterprise.
- 5. For the purposes of the preceding paragraphs, the profits to be attributed to the permanent establishment shall be determined by the same method year by year unless there is good and sufficient reason to the contrary.
- 6. Where profits include items of income which are dealt with separately in other Articles of this Convention, then the provisions of those Articles shall not be affected by the provisions of this Article.

Shipping and Air Transport

- 1. Profits derived by an enterprise of a Contracting State from the operation of ships or aircraft in international traffic shall be taxable only in that State.
- 2. Notwithstanding the provisions of paragraph 1 and Article 7, profits derived from the operation of ships or aircraft used principally to transport passengers or property exclusively between places in a Contracting State may be taxed in that State.
- 3. The provisions of paragraphs 1 and 2 shall also apply to profits from the participation in a pool, a joint business or an international operating agency.

ARTICLE 9

Associated Enterprises

1. Where

- (a) an enterprise of a Contracting State participates directly or indirectly in the management, control or capital of an enterprise of the other Contracting State, or
- (b) the same persons participate directly or indirectly in the management, control or capital of an enterprise of a Contracting State and an enterprise of the other Contracting State,

and in either case conditions are made or imposed between the two enterprises in their commercial or financial relations which differ from those which would be made between independent enterprises, then any profits which would, but for those conditions, have accrued to one of the enterprises, but, by reason of those conditions, have not so accrued, may be included in the profits of that enterprise and taxed accordingly.

- 4. Aucun bénéfice n'est imputé à un établissement stable du fait qu'il a simplement acheté des marchandises pour l'entreprise.
- 5. Aux fins des paragraphes précédents, les bénéfices à imputer à l'établissement stable sont déterminés chaque année selon la même méthode, à moins qu'il n'existe des motifs valables et suffisants de procéder autrement.
- 6. Lorsque les bénéfices comprennent des éléments de revenu traités séparément dans d'autres articles de la présente Convention, les dispositions de ces articles ne sont pas affectées par les dispositions du présent article.

ARTICLE 8

Navigation maritime et aérienne

- 1. Les bénéfices qu'une entreprise d'un État contractant tire de l'exploitation, en trafic international, de navires ou d'aéronefs ne sont imposables que dans cet État.
- 2. Nonobstant les dispositions du paragraphe 1 et de l'article 7, les bénéfices provenant de l'exploitation de navires ou d'aéronefs utilisés principalement pour transporter des passagers ou des marchandises exclusivement entre des points situés dans un État contractant sont imposables dans cet État.
- 3. Les dispositions des paragraphes 1 et 2 s'appliquent aussi aux bénéfices provenant de la participation à un pool, une exploitation en commun ou un organisme international d'exploitation.

ARTICLE 9

Entreprises associées

1. Lorsque

- *a*) une entreprise d'un État contractant participe directement ou indirectement à la direction, au contrôle ou au capital d'une entreprise de l'autre État, ou que
- b) les mêmes personnes participent directement ou indirectement à la direction, au contrôle ou au capital d'une entreprise d'un État contractant et d'une entreprise de l'autre État contractant.

et que, dans l'un et l'autre cas, les deux entreprises sont, dans leurs relations commerciales ou financières, liées par des conditions acceptées ou imposées, qui diffèrent de celles qui seraient convenues entre des entreprises indépendantes, les bénéfices qui, sans ces conditions, auraient été obtenus par l'une des entreprises mais n'ont pu l'être en fait à cause de ces conditions, peuvent être inclus dans les bénéfices de cette entreprise et imposés en conséquence.

2. Where a Contracting State includes in the profits of an enterprise of that State — and taxes accordingly — profits on which an enterprise of the other Contracting State has been charged to tax in that other State and the profits so included are profits that would have accrued to the enterprise of the first-mentioned State if the conditions made between the two enterprises had been those that would have been made between independent enterprises, then that other State shall make an appropriate adjustment to the amount of tax charged therein on those profits. In determining such adjustment, due regard shall be had to the other provisions of this Convention.

Conventions fiscales (2001) — Annexe 5

- 3. A Contracting State shall not change the profits of an enterprise in the circumstances referred to in paragraph 1 after the expiry of the time limits provided in its domestic laws and, in any case, after five years from the end of the year in which the profits which would be subject to such change would have accrued to an enterprise of that State.
- 4. The provisions of paragraphs 2 and 3 shall not apply in the case of fraud, wilful default or neglect.

ARTICLE 10

Dividends

- 1. Dividends paid by a company which is a resident of a Contracting State to a resident of the other Contracting State may be taxed in that other State.
- 2. However, such dividends may also be taxed in the Contracting State of which the company paying the dividends is a resident and according to the laws of that State, but if the beneficial owner of the dividends is a resident of the other Contracting State, the tax so charged shall not exceed:
 - (a) in the case of Senegal, sixteen per cent (16%) of the gross amount of the dividends;
 - (b) in the case of Canada, fifteen per cent (15%) of the gross amount of the dividends.

The provisions of this paragraph shall not affect the taxation of the company in respect of the profits out of which the dividends are paid.

3. The term "dividends" as used in this Article means income from shares, "jouissance" shares or "jouissance" rights, mining shares, "parts sociales", founders' shares or other rights, not being debt-claims, participating in profits, as well as income which is subjected to the same taxation treatment as income from shares by the taxation law of the State of which the company making the distribution is a resident.

- 2. Lorsqu'un État contractant inclut dans les bénéfices d'une entreprise de cet État — et impose en conséquence — des bénéfices sur lesquels une entreprise de l'autre État contractant a été imposée dans cet autre État, et que les bénéfices ainsi inclus sont des bénéfices qui auraient été réalisés par l'entreprise du premier État si les conditions convenues entre les deux entreprises avaient été celles qui auraient été convenues entre des entreprises indépendantes, l'autre État procède à un ajustement approprié du montant de l'impôt qui y a été perçu sur ces bénéfices. Pour déterminer cet ajustement, il est tenu compte des autres dispositions de la présente Convention.
- 3. Un État contractant ne rectifiera pas les bénéfices d'une entreprise dans les cas visés au paragraphe 1 après l'expiration des délais prévus par sa législation nationale et, en tout cas, après l'expiration de cinq ans à dater de la fin de l'année au cours de laquelle les bénéfices qui feraient l'objet d'une telle rectification auraient été réalisés par une entreprise de cet État.
- 4. Les dispositions des paragraphes 2 et 3 ne s'appliquent pas en cas de fraude, d'omission volontaire ou de négligence.

ARTICLE 10

Dividendes

- 1. Les dividendes payés par une société qui est un résident d'un État contractant à un résident de l'autre État contractant sont imposables dans cet autre État.
- 2. Toutefois, ces dividendes sont aussi imposables dans l'État contractant dont la société qui paie les dividendes est un résident, et selon la législation de cet État, mais si le bénéficiaire effectif des dividendes est un résident de l'autre État contractant, l'impôt ainsi établi ne peut excéder
 - a) dans le cas du Sénégal, seize pour cent (16 %) du montant brut de ces dividendes;
 - b) dans le cas du Canada, quinze pour cent (15 %) du montant brut de ces dividendes.

Les dispositions du présent paragraphe n'affectent pas l'imposition de la société au titre des bénéfices qui servent au paiement des dividendes.

3. Le terme « dividendes » employé dans le présent article désigne les revenus provenant d'actions, actions ou bons de jouissance, parts de mine, parts sociales, parts de fondateur ou autres parts bénéficiaires à l'exception des créances, ainsi que les revenus soumis au même régime fiscal que les revenus d'actions par la législation fiscale de l'État dont la société distributrice est un résident.

- 4. The provisions of paragraph 2 shall not apply if the beneficial owner of the dividends, being a resident of a Contracting State, carries on business in the other Contracting State of which the company paying the dividends is a resident, through a permanent establishment situated therein, or performs in that other State independent personal services through a fixed base situated therein, and the holding in respect of which the dividends are paid is effectively connected with such permanent establishment or fixed base. In such case the provisions of Article 7 or Article 14, as the case may be, shall apply.
- 5. Where a company which is a resident of a Contracting State derives profits or income from the other Contracting State, that other State may not impose any tax on the dividends paid by the company, except insofar as such dividends are paid to a resident of that other State or insofar as the holding in respect of which the dividends are paid is effectively connected with a permanent establishment or a fixed base situated in that other State, nor subject the company's undistributed profits to a tax on undistributed profits, even if the dividends paid or the undistributed profits consist wholly or partly of profits or income arising in such other State.
- 6. Nothing in this Convention shall be construed as preventing a Contracting State from imposing on the earnings of a company attributable to a permanent establishment in that State, a tax in addition to the tax which would be chargeable on the earnings of a company which is a national of that State, provided that any additional tax so imposed shall not exceed:
 - (a) in the case of Senegal, sixteen per cent (16%),
 - (b) in the case of Canada, fifteen per cent (15%)

of the amount of such earnings which have not been subjected to such additional tax in previous taxation years. For the purpose of this paragraph, the term "earnings" means the profits, including any gains, attributable to a permanent establishment situated in a Contracting State in a year and previous years after deducting therefrom all taxes, other than the additional tax referred to herein, imposed on such profits by that State.

7. The provisions of paragraph 6 shall also apply with respect to earnings derived from the alienation of immovable property situated in a Contracting State by a company carrying on a trade in immovable property, whether or not it has a permanent establishment in that State.

ARTICLE 11

Interest

1. Interest arising in a Contracting State and paid to a resident of the other Contracting State may be taxed in that other State.

- 4. Les dispositions du paragraphe 2 ne s'appliquent pas lorsque le bénéficiaire effectif des dividendes, résident d'un État contractant, exerce dans l'autre État contractant dont la société qui paie les dividendes est un résident, soit une activité industrielle ou commerciale par l'intermédiaire d'un établissement stable qui y est situé, soit une profession indépendante au moyen d'une base fixe qui y est située, et que la participation génératrice des dividendes s'y rattache effectivement. Dans ce cas, les dispositions de l'article 7 ou de l'article 14 sont, suivant les cas, applicables.
- 5. Lorsqu'une société qui est un résident d'un État contractant tire des bénéfices ou des revenus de l'autre État contractant, cet autre État contractant ne peut percevoir aucun impôt sur les dividendes payés par la société, sauf dans la mesure où ces dividendes sont payés à un résident de cet autre État ou dans la mesure où la participation génératrice des dividendes se rattache effectivement à un établissement stable ou à une base fixe situés dans cet autre État, ni prélever aucun impôt, au titre de l'imposition des bénéfices non distribués, sur les bénéfices non distribués de la société, même si les dividendes payés ou les bénéfices non distribués consistent en tout ou en partie en bénéfices ou revenus provenant de cet autre État.
- 6. Aucune disposition de la présente Convention ne peut être interprétée comme empêchant un État contractant de percevoir, sur les revenus d'une société imputables à un établissement stable dans cet État, un impôt qui s'ajoute à l'impôt qui serait applicable aux revenus d'une société possédant la nationalité de cet État, pourvu que l'impôt additionnel ainsi établi n'excède pas :
 - a) dans le cas du Sénégal, seize pour cent (16 %),
 - b) dans le cas du Canada, quinze pour cent (15 %),

du montant des revenus qui n'ont pas été assujettis à cet impôt additionnel au cours des années d'imposition précédentes. Au sens du présent paragraphe, le terme « revenus » désigne les bénéfices, y compris les gains, imputables à un établissement stable situé dans un État contractant, pour l'année ou pour les années antérieures, après déduction de tous les impôts, autres que l'impôt additionnel visé au présent paragraphe, prélevés par cet État sur ces bénéfices.

7. Les dispositions du paragraphe 6 s'appliquent également à l'égard des revenus qu'une société qui exerce une activité dans le domaine des biens immobiliers tire de l'aliénation de biens immobiliers situés dans un État contractant, même en l'absence d'un établissement stable dans cet État.

ARTICLE 11

Intérêts

1. Les intérêts provenant d'un État contractant et payés à un résident de l'autre État contractant sont imposables dans cet autre État.

2. However, such interest may also be taxed in the Contracting State in which it arises and according to the laws of that State, but if the beneficial owner of the interest is a resident of the other Contracting State, the tax so charged shall not exceed:

Conventions fiscales (2001) — Annexe 5

- (a) in the case of Senegal, twenty per cent (20%) of the gross amount of the interest on "bons de caisse" and sixteen per cent (16%) of their gross amount in all other cases;
- (b) in the case of Canada, fifteen per cent (15%) of the gross amount of the interest in all cases.
- 3. Notwithstanding the provisions of paragraph 2,
- (a) interest arising in a Contracting State and paid in respect of indebtedness of the government of that State or of a political subdivision or local authority thereof shall, provided that the interest is beneficially owned by a resident of the other Contracting State, be taxable only in that other State;
- (b) interest arising in Senegal and paid to a resident of Canada shall be taxable only in Canada if it is paid in respect of a loan made, guaranteed or insured, or a credit extended or insured by the Export Development Corporation;
- (c) interest arising in Canada and paid to a resident of Senegal shall be taxable only in Senegal if it is paid in respect of a loan made, guaranteed or insured, or a credit extended, guaranteed or insured by an appropriate Senegalese institution as is specified and agreed in letters exchanged between the competent authorities of the Contracting States.
- 4. The term "interest" as used in this Article means income from debt-claims of every kind, whether or not secured by mortgage, and in particular, income from government securities and income from bonds or debentures, including premiums and prizes attaching to such securities, bonds or debentures, as well as income which is subjected to the same taxation treatment as income from money lent by the taxation laws of the State in which the income arises. However, the term "interest" does not include income dealt with in Article 10.
- 5. The provisions of paragraph 2 shall not apply if the beneficial owner of the interest, being a resident of a Contracting State, carries on business in the other Contracting State in which the interest arises, through a permanent establishment situated therein, or performs in that other State independent personal services from a fixed base situated therein, and the debt-claim in respect of which the interest is paid is effectively connected with such permanent establishment or fixed base. In such case the provisions of Article 7 or Article 14, as the case may be, shall apply.

- 2. Toutefois, ces intérêts sont aussi imposables dans l'État contractant d'où ils proviennent et selon la législation de cet État, mais si le bénéficiaire effectif des intérêts est un résident de l'autre État contractant, l'impôt ainsi établi ne peut excéder :
 - a) dans le cas du Sénégal, vingt pour cent (20 %) du montant brut des intérêts sur bons de caisse et seize pour cent (16 %) de leur montant brut dans tous les autres cas;
 - b) dans le cas du Canada, quinze pour cent (15 %) du montant brut des intérêts dans tous les cas.
 - 3. Nonobstant les dispositions du paragraphe 2,
 - a) les intérêts provenant d'un État contractant et payés sur une dette du gouvernement de cet État ou de l'une de ses subdivisions politiques ou collectivités locales, ne sont imposables que dans l'autre État contractant pourvu qu'un résident de cet autre État en soit le bénéficiaire effectif;
 - b) les intérêts provenant du Sénégal et payés à un résident du Canada ne sont imposables qu'au Canada s'ils sont payés en raison d'un prêt fait, garanti ou assuré, ou d'un crédit consenti ou assuré par la Société pour l'expansion des exportations; et
 - c) les intérêts provenant du Canada et payés à un résident du Sénégal ne sont imposables qu'au Sénégal s'ils sont payés en raison d'un prêt fait, garanti ou assuré, ou d'un crédit consenti, garanti ou assuré par un organisme approprié du Sénégal désigné et accepté par échange de lettres entre les autorités compétentes des États contractants.
- 4. Le terme « intérêts » employé dans le présent article désigne les revenus des créances de toute nature, assorties ou non de garanties hypothécaires et notamment les revenus des fonds publics et des obligations d'emprunt, y compris les primes et lots attachés à ces titres, ainsi que tous autres revenus soumis au même régime fiscal que les revenus de sommes prêtées par la législation fiscale de l'État d'où proviennent les revenus; mais il ne comprend pas les revenus visés à l'article 10.
- 5. Les dispositions du paragraphe 2 ne s'appliquent pas lorsque le bénéficiaire effectif des intérêts, résident d'un État contractant, exerce dans l'autre État contractant d'où proviennent les intérêts, soit une activité industrielle ou commerciale par l'intermédiaire d'un établissement stable qui y est situé, soit une profession indépendante au moyen d'une base fixe qui y est située, et que la créance génératrice des intérêts s'y rattache effectivement. Dans ce cas, les dispositions de l'article 7 ou de l'article 14, suivant les cas, sont applicables.

- 6. Interest shall be deemed to arise in a Contracting State when the payer is a resident of that State. Where, however, the person paying the interest, whether the payer is a resident of a Contracting State or not, has in a Contracting State a permanent establishment or a fixed base in connection with which the indebtedness on which the interest is paid was incurred, and such interest is borne by such permanent establishment or fixed base, then such interest shall be deemed to arise in the Contracting State in which the permanent establishment or fixed base is situated.
- 7. Where, by reason of a special relationship between the payer and the beneficial owner or between both of them and some other person, the amount of the interest, having regard to the debt-claim for which it is paid, exceeds the amount which would have been agreed upon by the payer and the beneficial owner in the absence of such relationship, the provisions of this Article shall apply only to the last-mentioned amount. In such case, the excess part of the payments shall remain taxable according to the laws of each Contracting State, due regard being had to the other provisions of this Convention.

Royalties

- 1. Royalties arising in a Contracting State and paid to a resident of the other Contracting State may be taxed in that other State.
- 2. However, such royalties may also be taxed in the Contracting State in which they arise, and according to the laws of that State, but if the beneficial owner of the royalties is a resident of the other Contracting State, the tax so charged shall not exceed fifteen per cent (15%) of the gross amount of the royalties.
- 3. The term "royalties" as used in this Article means payments of any kind received as a consideration for the use of, or the right to use, any copyright, patent, trade mark, design or model, plan, secret formula or process, or for the use of, or the right to use, industrial, commercial or scientific equipment, or for information concerning industrial, commercial or scientific experience, and includes payments of any kind in respect of motion picture films and works on film, videotape or other means of reproduction for use in connection with television.
- 4. The provisions of paragraph 2 shall not apply if the beneficial owner of the royalties, being a resident of a Contracting State, carries on business in the other Contracting State in which the royalties arise, through a permanent establishment situated therein, or performs in that other State independent personal services from a fixed base situated therein, and the right or property in respect of which the royalties are paid is effectively connected with such permanent establishment or fixed base. In such case the provisions of Article 7 or Article 14, as the case may be, shall apply.

- 6. Les intérêts sont considérés comme provenant d'un État contractant lorsque le débiteur est un résident de cet État. Toutefois, lorsque le débiteur des intérêts, qu'il soit ou non un résident d'un État contractant, a dans un État contractant un établissement stable, ou une base fixe, pour lequel la dette donnant lieu au paiement des intérêts a été contractée et qui supporte la charge de ces intérêts, ceux-ci sont considérés comme provenant de l'État où l'établissement stable, ou la base fixe, est situé
- 7. Lorsque, en raison de relations spéciales existant entre le débiteur et le bénéficiaire effectif ou que l'un et l'autre entretiennent avec de tierces personnes, le montant des intérêts, compte tenu de la créance pour laquelle ils sont payés, excède celui dont seraient convenus le débiteur et le bénéficiaire effectif en l'absence de pareilles relations, les dispositions du présent article ne s'appliquent qu'à ce dernier montant. Dans ce cas, la partie excédentaire des paiements reste imposable selon la législation de chaque État contractant et compte tenu des autres dispositions de la présente Convention.

ARTICLE 12

Redevances

- 1. Les redevances provenant d'un État contractant et payées à un résident de l'autre État contractant sont imposables dans cet autre État.
- 2. Toutefois, ces redevances sont aussi imposables dans l'État contractant d'où elles proviennent et selon la législation de cet État, mais si le bénéficiaire effectif des redevances est un résident de l'autre État contractant, l'impôt ainsi établi ne peut excéder quinze pour cent (15 %) du montant brut des redevances.
- 3. Le terme « redevances » employé dans le présent article désigne les rémunérations de toute nature payées pour l'usage ou la concession de l'usage d'un droit d'auteur, d'un brevet, d'une marque de fabrique ou de commerce, d'un dessin ou d'un modèle, d'un plan, d'une formule ou d'un procédé secrets ainsi que pour l'usage ou la concession de l'usage d'un équipement industriel, commercial ou scientifique et pour des informations ayant trait à une expérience acquise dans le domaine industriel, commercial ou scientifique; ce terme comprend aussi les rémunérations de toute nature concernant les films cinématographiques et les oeuvres enregistrées sur films et bandes magnétoscopiques ou autres moyens de reproduction destinés à la télévision.
- 4. Les dispositions du paragraphe 2 ne s'appliquent pas lorsque le bénéficiaire effectif des redevances, résident d'un État contractant, exerce dans l'autre État contractant d'où proviennent les redevances, soit une activité industrielle ou commerciale par l'intermédiaire d'un établissement stable qui y est situé, soit une profession indépendante au moyen d'une base fixe qui y est située, et que le droit ou le bien générateur des redevances s'y rattache effectivement. Dans ce cas, les dispositions de l'article 7 ou de l'article 14, suivant les cas, sont applicables.

- 5. Royalties shall be deemed to arise in a Contracting State when the payer is a resident of that State. Where, however, the person paying the royalties, whether the payer is a resident of a Contracting State or not, has in a Contracting State a permanent establishment or a fixed base in connection with which the obligation to pay the royalties was incurred, and such royalties are borne by such permanent establishment or fixed base, then such royalties shall be deemed to arise in the State in which the permanent establishment or fixed base is situated.
- 6. Where, by reason of a special relationship between the payer and the beneficial owner or between both of them and some other person, the amount of the royalties, having regard to the use, right or information for which they are paid, exceeds the amount which would have been agreed upon by the payer and the beneficial owner in the absence of such relationship, the provisions of this Article shall apply only to the last-mentioned amount. In such case, the excess part of the payments shall remain taxable according to the laws of each Contracting State, due regard being had to the other provisions of this Convention.

ARTICLE 13

Capital Gains

- 1. Gains derived by a resident of a Contracting State from the alienation of immovable property situated in the other Contracting State may be taxed in that other State.
- 2. Gains from the alienation of movable property forming part of the business property of a permanent establishment which an enterprise of a Contracting State has in the other Contracting State or of movable property pertaining to a fixed base available to a resident of a Contracting State in the other Contracting State for the purpose of performing independent personal services, including such gains from the alienation of such a permanent establishment (alone or with the whole enterprise) or of such a fixed base, may be taxed in that other State.
- 3. Gains derived by an enterprise of a Contracting State from the alienation of ships or aircraft operated in international traffic or movable property pertaining to the operation of such ships or aircraft shall be taxable only in that State.
- 4. Gains derived by a resident of a Contracting State from the alienation of:
 - (a) shares, the value of which is derived principally from immovable property situated in the other State,
 - (b) an interest in a partnership or trust, the value of which is derived principally from immovable property situated in that other State,

may be taxed in that other State.

5. Gains from the alienation of any property, other than that referred to in paragraphs 1, 2, 3 and 4 shall be taxable only in the Contracting State of which the alienator is a resident.

- 5. Les redevances sont considérées comme provenant d'un État contractant lorsque le débiteur est un résident de cet État. Toutefois, lorsque le débiteur des redevances, qu'il soit ou non résident d'un État contractant, a dans un État contractant un établissement stable ou une base fixe pour lequel l'obligation donnant lieu au paiement des redevances a été conclue et qui supporte la charge de ces redevances, celles-ci sont considérées comme provenant de l'État contractant où l'établissement stable, ou la base fixe, est situé.
- 6. Lorsque, en raison de relations spéciales existant entre le débiteur et le bénéficiaire effectif ou que l'un et l'autre entretiennent avec des tierces personnes, le montant des redevances, compte tenu de la prestation pour laquelle elles sont payées, excède celui dont seraient convenus le débiteur et le bénéficiaire effectif en l'absence de pareilles relations, les dispositions du présent article ne s'appliquent qu'à ce dernier montant. Dans ce cas, la partie excédentaire des paiements reste imposable selon la législation de chaque État contractant et compte tenu des autres dispositions de la présente Convention.

ARTICLE 13

Gains en capital

- 1. Les gains qu'un résident d'un État contractant tire de l'aliénation de biens immobiliers situés dans l'autre État contractant, sont imposables dans cet autre État.
- 2. Les gains provenant de l'aliénation de biens mobiliers qui font partie de l'actif d'un établissement stable qu'une entreprise d'un État contractant a dans l'autre État contractant, ou de biens mobiliers qui appartiennent à une base fixe dont un résident d'un État contractant dispose dans l'autre État contractant pour l'exercice d'une profession indépendante, y compris de tels gains provenant de l'aliénation de cet établissement stable (seul ou avec l'ensemble de l'entreprise) ou de cette base fixe, sont imposables dans cet autre État.
- 3. Les gains qu'une entreprise d'un État contractant tire de l'aliénation de navires ou d'aéronefs exploités en trafic international ou de biens mobiliers affectés à l'exploitation de ces navires ou aéronefs ne sont imposables que dans cet État.
- 4. Les gains qu'un résident d'un État contractant tire de l'aliénation:
 - a) d'actions dont la valeur est principalement tirée de biens immobiliers situés dans l'autre État contractant,
 - b) d'une participation dans une société de personnes ou dans une fiducie dont la valeur est principalement tirée de biens immobiliers situés dans cet autre État,

sont imposables dans cet autre État.

5. Les gains provenant de l'aliénation de tous biens autres que ceux qui sont visés aux paragraphes 1, 2, 3 et 4 ne sont imposables que dans l'État contractant dont le cédant est un résident.

- 6. The provisions of paragraph 5 shall not affect the right of a Contracting State to levy, according to its law, a tax on gains from the alienation of any property derived by an individual who is a resident of the other Contracting State and has been a resident of the first-mentioned State at any time during the five years immediately preceding the alienation of the property.
- 7. Where an individual who ceases to be a resident of a Contracting State, and immediately thereafter becomes a resident of the other Contracting State, is treated for the purposes of taxation in the first-mentioned State as having alienated a property and is taxed in that State by reason thereof, the individual may elect to be treated for purposes of taxation in the other State as if the individual had, immediately before becoming a resident of that State, sold and repurchased the property for an amount equal to its fair market value at that time. However, this provision shall not apply to property any gain from which, arising immediately before the individual became a resident of that other State, may be taxed in that other State nor to immovable property situated in a third State.

Independent Personal Services

- 1. Income derived by a resident of a Contracting State in respect of professional services or other independent activities of a similar character shall be taxable only in that State unless the resident has a fixed base regularly available in the other Contracting State for the purpose of performing the activities. If the resident has or had such a fixed base, the income may be taxed in the other State but only so much of it as is attributable to that fixed base.
- 2. The term "professional services" includes especially independent scientific, literary, artistic, educational or teaching activities as well as the independent activities of physicians, lawyers, engineers, architects, dentists and accountants.

ARTICLE 15

Dependent Personal Services

1. Subject to the provisions of Articles 16, 18 and 19, salaries, wages and other similar remuneration derived by a resident of a Contracting State in respect of an employment shall be taxable only in that State unless the employment is exercised in the other Contracting State. If the employment is so exercised, such remuneration as is derived therefrom may be taxed in that other State.

- 6. Les dispositions du paragraphe 5 ne portent pas atteinte au droit d'un État contractant de percevoir, conformément à sa législation, un impôt sur les gains provenant de l'aliénation d'un bien et réalisés par une personne physique qui est un résident de l'autre État contractant et qui a été un résident du premier État à un moment quelconque au cours des cinq années précédant immédiatement l'aliénation du bien.
- 7. Lorsqu'une personne physique qui, immédiatement après avoir cessé d'être un résident d'un État contractant, devient un résident de l'autre État contractant est considérée aux fins d'imposition dans le premier État comme ayant aliéné un bien et est imposée dans cet État en raison de cette aliénation, elle peut choisir, aux fins d'imposition dans l'autre État, d'être considérée comme ayant vendu et racheté, immédiatement avant de devenir un résident de cet État, le bien pour un montant égal à sa juste valeur marchande à ce moment. Toutefois, la présente disposition ne s'applique ni aux biens qui donneraient lieu, immédiatement avant que la personne physique ne devienne un résident de cet autre État, à des gains imposables dans cet autre État, ni aux biens situés dans un État tiers.

ARTICLE 14

Professions indépendantes

- 1. Les revenus qu'un résident d'un État contractant tire d'une profession libérale ou d'autres activités indépendantes de caractère analogue ne sont imposables que dans cet État, à moins que ce résident ne dispose ou n'ait disposé de façon habituelle dans l'autre État contractant d'une base fixe pour l'exercice de ses activités. S'il dispose ou a disposé d'une telle base fixe, les revenus sont imposables dans l'autre État mais uniquement dans la mesure ou ils sont imputables à cette base fixe.
- 2. L'expression « professions libérales » comprend notamment les activités indépendantes d'ordre scientifique, littéraire, artistique, éducatif ou pédagogique, ainsi que les activités indépendantes des médecins, avocats, ingénieurs, architectes, dentistes et comptables.

ARTICLE 15

Professions dépendantes

1. Sous réserve des dispositions des articles 16, 18 et 19, les salaires, traitements et autres rémunérations similaires qu'un résident d'un État contractant reçoit au titre d'un emploi salarié ne sont imposables que dans cet État, à moins que l'emploi ne soit exercé dans l'autre État contractant. Si l'emploi y est exercé, les rémunérations reçues à ce titre sont imposables dans cet autre État.

- 2. Notwithstanding the provisions of paragraph 1, remuneration derived by a resident of a Contracting State in respect of an employment exercised in the other Contracting State shall be taxable only in the first-mentioned State if:
 - (a) the recipient is present in the other State for a period or periods not exceeding in the aggregate 183 days in any twelve month period commencing or ending in the calendar year concerned, and
 - (b) the remuneration is paid by, or on behalf of, an employer who is not a resident of the other State, and
 - (c) the remuneration is not borne by a permanent establishment or a fixed base which the employer has in the other State.
- 3. Notwithstanding the preceding provisions of this Article, remuneration derived in respect of an employment exercised aboard a ship or aircraft operated in international traffic by an enterprise of a Contracting State may be taxed in that State.

Directors' Fees

- 1. Directors' fees and other similar payments derived by a resident of a Contracting State in the capacity as a member of the board of directors or a similar organ of a company which is a resident of the other Contracting State, may be taxed in that other State.
- 2. However, remuneration derived by such persons in respect of any other capacity may be taxed under the provisions of Article 14 or paragraph 1 of Article 15 of this Convention, as the case may be.

ARTICLE 17

Artistes and Sportspersons

- 1. Notwithstanding the provisions of Articles 14 and 15, income derived by a resident of a Contracting State as an entertainer, such as a theatre, motion picture, radio or television artiste, or a musician, or as a sportsperson, from that resident's personal activities as such exercised in the other Contracting State, may be taxed in that other State.
- 2. Where income in respect of personal activities exercised by an entertainer or a sportsperson in that individual's capacity as such accrues not to the entertainer or sportsperson personally but to another person, that income may, notwithstanding the provisions of Articles 7, 14 and 15, be taxed in the Contracting State in which the activities of the entertainer or sportsperson are exercised.

- 2. Nonobstant les dispositions du paragraphe 1, les rémunérations qu'un résident d'un État contractant reçoit au titre d'un emploi salarié exercé dans l'autre État contractant ne sont imposables que dans le premier État si :
 - a) le bénéficiaire séjourne dans l'autre État pendant une période ou des périodes n'excédant pas au total 183 jours au cours de toute période de douze mois commençant ou se terminant dans l'année fiscale considérée, et
 - b) les rémunérations sont payées par un employeur ou pour le compte d'un employeur qui n'est pas résident de l'autre État, et
 - c) la charge des rémunérations n'est pas supportée par un établissement stable ou une base fixe que l'employeur a dans l'autre État.
- 3. Nonobstant les dispositions précédentes du présent article, les rémunérations reçues au titre d'un emploi salarié exercé à bord d'un navire ou d'un aéronef exploité en trafic international par une entreprise d'un État contractant sont imposables dans cet État.

ARTICLE 16

Tantièmes

- 1. Les tantièmes, jetons de présence et autres rétributions similaires qu'un résident d'un État contractant reçoit en sa qualité de membre du conseil d'administration ou de surveillance ou d'un organe analogue d'une société qui est un résident de l'autre État contractant, sont imposables dans cet autre État.
- 2. Toutefois, les rémunérations que les intéressés touchent en une autre qualité sont imposables suivant le cas dans les conditions prévues soit à l'article 14, soit à l'article 15, paragraphe 1, de la présente Convention.

ARTICLE 17

Artistes et sportifs

- 1. Nonobstant les dispositions des articles 14 et 15, les revenus qu'un résident d'un État contractant tire de ses activités personnelles exercées dans l'autre État contractant en tant qu'artiste du spectacle, tel qu'un artiste de théâtre, de cinéma, de la radio ou de la télévision, ou qu'un musicien, ou en tant que sportif, sont imposables dans cet autre État.
- 2. Lorsque les revenus d'activités qu'un artiste du spectacle ou un sportif exerce personnellement et en cette qualité sont attribués non pas à l'artiste ou au sportif lui-même mais à une autre personne, ces revenus sont imposables nonobstant les dispositions des articles 7, 14 et 15, dans l'État contractant où les activités de l'artiste ou du sportif sont exercées.

3. The provisions of paragraphs 1 and 2 shall not apply to income derived from activities performed in a Contracting State by a resident of the other Contracting State in the context of a visit in the first-mentioned State which is substantially supported by public funds.

ARTICLE 18

Pensions and Annuities

- 1. Pensions and annuities arising in a Contracting State and paid to a resident of the other Contracting State may be taxed in that other State.
- 2. Pensions and annuities arising in a Contracting State and paid to a resident of the other Contracting State may also be taxed in the State in which they arise and according to the laws of that State. However, in the case of periodic payments:
 - (a) of a pension, the tax so charged shall not exceed fifteen per cent (15%) of the gross amount of the total of such periodic payments paid in the calendar year concerned that exceeds twelve thousand Canadian dollars or its equivalent in Senegalese currency;
 - (b) of an annuity, the tax so charged shall not exceed fifteen per cent (15%) of the portion thereof that is subject to tax in that State
 - 3. Notwithstanding anything in this Convention:
 - (a) war pensions and allowances (including pensions and allowances paid to war veterans or paid as a consequence of damages or injuries suffered as a consequence of a war) arising in a Contracting State and paid to a resident of the other Contracting State shall be exempt from tax in that other State to the extent that they would be exempt from tax if received by a resident of the first-mentioned State;
 - (b) alimony and other similar payments arising in a Contracting State and paid to a resident of the other Contracting State who is subject to tax therein in respect thereof, shall be taxable only in that other State;
 - (c) benefits paid under the Social Security legislation in Canada shall be taxable only in Canada.

3. Les dispositions des paragraphes 1 et 2 ne s'appliquent pas aux revenus tirés des activités exercées dans un État contractant par un résident de l'autre État contractant dans le cadre d'une visite dans le premier État qui est substantiellement supportée par des fonds publics.

ARTICLE 18

Pensions et rentes

- 1. Les pensions et les rentes provenant d'un État contractant et payées à un résident de l'autre État contractant sont imposables dans cet autre État.
- 2. Les pensions et les rentes provenant d'un État contractant et payées à un résident de l'autre État contractant sont aussi imposables dans l'État d'où elles proviennent et selon la législation de cet État. Toutefois, dans le cas de paiements périodiques :
 - a) d'une pension, l'impôt ainsi établi ne peut excéder quinze pour cent (15 %) du montant brut du total de ces paiements dans l'année civile considérée qui excède douze mille dollars canadiens ou son équivalent en monnaie du Sénégal;
 - b) d'une rente, l'impôt ainsi établi ne peut excéder quinze pour cent (15 %) de la fraction du paiement qui est assujettie à l'impôt dans cet État.
 - 3. Nonobstant toute disposition de la présente Convention :
 - a) les pensions et allocations de guerre (incluant les pensions et allocations payées aux anciens combattants ou payées en conséquence des dommages ou blessures subis à l'occasion d'une guerre) provenant d'un État contractant et payées à un résident de l'autre État contractant seront exonérées d'impôt dans cet autre État dans la mesure où elles seraient exonérées d'impôt si elles étaient reçues par un résident du premier État;
 - b) les pensions alimentaires et autres paiements semblables provenant d'un État contractant et payés à un résident de l'autre État contractant qui y est assujetti à l'impôt à l'égard de ceux-ci, ne sont imposables que dans cet autre État;
 - c) les prestations payées en vertu de la législation sur la sécurité sociale au Canada ne sont imposables qu'au Canada.

Government Service

- 1. (a) Salaries, wages and other similar remuneration, other than a pension, paid by a Contracting State or a political subdivision or a local authority thereof to an individual in respect of services rendered to that State or subdivision or authority shall be taxable only in that State.
- (b) However, such salaries, wages and other similar remuneration shall be taxable only in the other Contracting State if the services are rendered in that State and the individual is a resident of that State who:
 - (i) is a national of that State; or
 - (ii) did not become a resident of that State solely for the purpose of rendering the services.
- 2. The provisions of paragraph 1 shall not apply to salaries, wages and other similar remuneration paid in respect of services rendered in connection with a business carried on by a Contracting State or a political subdivision or a local authority thereof.

ARTICLE 20

Students

Payments which a student, apprentice or business trainee who is, or was immediately before visiting a Contracting State, a resident of the other Contracting State and who is present in the first-mentioned State solely for the purpose of that individual's education or training receives for the purpose of that individual's maintenance, education or training shall not be taxed in the first-mentioned State, provided that such payments arise from sources outside that State.

ARTICLE 21

Other Income

- 1. Subject to the provisions of paragraph 2, items of income of a resident of a Contracting State, wherever arising, not dealt with in the foregoing Articles of this Convention shall be taxable only in that State.
- 2. However, if such income is derived by a resident of a Contracting State from sources in the other Contracting State, such income may also be taxed in the State in which it arises, and according to the law of that State. However, in the case of Canada, where such income is income from a trust, other than a trust to which contributions were deductible, the tax so charged shall, provided that the income is taxable in Senegal, not exceed fifteen per cent (15%) of the gross amount of the income.

ARTICLE 19

Fonctions publiques

- 1. a) Les salaires, traitements et autres rémunérations similaires, autres que les pensions, payés par un État contractant ou l'une de ses subdivisions politiques ou collectivités locales à une personne physique, au titre de services rendus à cet État ou à cette subdivision ou collectivité, ne sont imposables que dans cet État.
- b) Toutefois, ces salaires, traitements et autres rémunérations similaires ne sont imposables que dans l'autre État contractant si les services sont rendus dans cet État et si la personne physique est un résident de cet État qui :
 - (i) possède la nationalité de cet État, ou
 - (ii) n'est pas devenu un résident de cet État à seule fin de rendre les services.
- 2. Les dispositions du paragraphe 1 ne s'appliquent pas aux salaires, traitements et autres rémunérations similaires payés au titre de services rendus dans le cadre d'une activité industrielle ou commerciale exercée par un État contractant ou l'une de ses subdivisions politiques ou collectivités locales.

ARTICLE 20

Étudiants

Les sommes qu'un étudiant, un stagiaire ou un apprenti qui est, ou qui était immédiatement avant de se rendre dans un État contractant, un résident de l'autre État contractant et qui séjourne dans le premier État à seule fin d'y poursuivre ses études ou sa formation, reçoit pour couvrir ses frais d'entretien, d'études ou de formation ne sont pas imposables dans le premier État, à condition qu'elles proviennent de sources situées en dehors de cet État.

ARTICLE 21

Autres revenus

- 1. Sous réserve des dispositions du paragraphe 2, les éléments du revenu d'un résident d'un État contractant, d'où qu'ils proviennent, qui ne sont pas traités dans les articles précédents de la présente Convention ne sont imposables que dans cet État.
- 2. Toutefois, si ces revenus perçus par un résident d'un État contractant proviennent de sources situées dans l'autre État contractant, ils sont aussi imposables dans l'État d'où ils proviennent et selon la législation de cet État. Mais, dans le cas du Canada, lorsque ces revenus sont des revenus provenant d'une fiducie, autre qu'une fiducie qui a reçu des contributions pour lesquelles une déduction a été accordée, l'impôt ainsi établi ne peut excéder quinze pour cent (15 %) du montant brut du revenu pourvu que celui-ci soit imposable au Sénégal.

IV. METHODS FOR PREVENTION OF DOUBLE TAXATION

ARTICLE 22

Elimination of Double Taxation

- 1. In the case of Canada, double taxation shall be avoided as follows:
 - (a) subject to the existing provisions of the law of Canada regarding the deduction from tax payable in Canada of tax paid in a territory outside Canada and to any subsequent modification of those provisions which shall not affect the general principle hereof and unless a greater deduction or relief is provided under the laws of Canada, tax payable in Senegal on profits, income or gains arising in Senegal shall be deducted from any Canadian tax payable in respect of such profits, income or gains:
 - (b) where in accordance with any provision of the Convention income derived by a resident of Canada is exempt from tax in Canada, Canada may nevertheless, in calculating the amount of tax on other income take into account the exempted income.
- 2. In the case of Senegal, double taxation shall be avoided as follows:
 - (a) where a resident of Senegal derives income which, in accordance with the provisions of this Convention, may be taxed in Canada, Senegal shall allow as a deduction from the tax on the income of that resident, an amount equal to the income tax paid in Canada; such deduction shall not, however, exceed that part of the income tax, as computed before the deduction is given, which is attributable to the income which may be taxed in Canada;
 - (b) where, in accordance with any provision of the Convention, income derived by a resident of Senegal is exempt from tax in Senegal, Senegal may nevertheless, in calculating the amount of tax on the remaining income of such resident, take into account the exempted income.
- 3. For the purposes of this Article, profits, income or gains of a resident of a Contracting State which may be taxed in the other Contracting State in accordance with this Convention shall be deemed to arise from sources in that other State.

IV. DISPOSITIONS PRÉVENTIVES DE LA DOUBLE IMPOSITION

ARTICLE 22

Élimination de la double imposition

- 1. En ce qui concerne le Canada, la double imposition est évitée de la façon suivante :
 - a) sous réserve des dispositions existantes de la législation canadienne concernant l'imputation de l'impôt payé dans un territoire en dehors du Canada sur l'impôt canadien payable et de toute modification ultérieure de ces dispositions qui n'en affecterait pas le principe général, et sans préjudice d'une déduction ou d'un dégrèvement plus important prévu par la législation canadienne, l'impôt dû au Sénégal à raison de bénéfices, revenus ou gains provenant du Sénégal est porté en déduction de tout impôt canadien dû à raison des mêmes bénéfices, revenus ou gains;
 - b) lorsque, conformément à une disposition quelconque de la Convention, les revenus qu'un résident du Canada reçoit sont exempts d'impôts au Canada, le Canada peut néanmoins, pour calculer le montant de l'impôt sur d'autres revenus, tenir compte des revenus exemptés.
- 2. En ce qui concerne le Sénégal, la double imposition est évitée de la façon suivante :
 - a) lorsqu'un résident du Sénégal reçoit des revenus qui, conformément aux dispositions de la présente Convention, sont imposables au Canada, le Sénégal accorde sur l'impôt qu'il perçoit sur les revenus de ce résident, une déduction d'un montant égal à l'impôt sur le revenu payé au Canada; cette déduction ne peut toutefois excéder la fraction de l'impôt sur le revenu, calculé avant déduction, correspondant aux revenus imposables au Canada;
 - b) lorsque, conformément à une disposition quelconque de la Convention, les revenus qu'un résident du Sénégal reçoit sont exempts d'impôts au Sénégal, le Sénégal peut néanmoins, pour calculer le montant de l'impôt sur le reste des revenus de ce résident, tenir compte des revenus exemptés.
- 3. Pour l'application du présent article, les bénéfices, revenus ou gains d'un résident d'un État contractant qui sont imposables dans l'autre État contractant conformément à la présente Convention sont considérés comme provenant de sources situées dans cet autre État.

V. SPECIAL PROVISIONS

ARTICLE 23

Non-discrimination

- 1. Nationals of a Contracting State shall not be subjected in the other Contracting State to any taxation or any requirement connected therewith which is other or more burdensome than the taxation and connected requirements to which nationals of that other State in the same circumstances, in particular with respect to residence, are or may be subjected.
- 2. The taxation on a permanent establishment which an enterprise of a Contracting State has in the other Contracting State shall not be less favourably levied in that other State than the taxation levied on enterprises of that other State carrying on the same activities.
- 3. Nothing in this Article shall be construed as obliging a Contracting State to grant to residents of the other Contracting State any personal allowances, reliefs and reductions for taxation purposes on account of civil status or family responsibilities which it grants to its own residents.
- 4. Enterprises of a Contracting State, the capital of which is wholly or partly owned or controlled, directly or indirectly, by one or more residents of the other Contracting State, shall not be subjected in the first-mentioned State to any taxation or any requirement connected therewith which is other or more burdensome than the taxation and connected requirements to which other similar enterprises of the first-mentioned State, the capital of which is wholly or partly owned or controlled, directly or indirectly, by one or more residents of a third State, are or may be subjected.
- 5. The term "taxation" as used in this Article means taxes which are the subject of this Convention.

ARTICLE 24

Mutual Agreement Procedure

- 1. Where a person considers that the actions of one or both of the Contracting States result or will result for that person in taxation not in accordance with the provisions of this Convention, that person may, irrespective of the remedies provided by the domestic law of those States, address to the competent authority of the Contracting State of which that person is a resident an application in writing stating the grounds for claiming the revision of such taxation. To be admissible, the said application must be submitted within two years from the notification of the action which gives rise to taxation not in accordance with the provisions of the Convention.
- 2. The competent authority referred to in paragraph 1 shall endeavour, if the objection appears to it to be justified and if it is not itself able to arrive at a satisfactory solution, to resolve the case by mutual agreement with the competent authority of the other Contracting State, with a view to the avoidance of taxation not in accordance with the Convention.

V. DISPOSITIONS SPÉCIALES

ARTICLE 23

Non-discrimination

- 1. Les nationaux d'un État contractant ne sont soumis dans l'autre État contractant à aucune imposition ou obligation y relative, qui est autre ou plus lourde que celles auxquelles sont ou pourront être assujettis les nationaux de cet autre État qui se trouvent dans la même situation, notamment au regard de la résidence.
- 2. L'imposition d'un établissement stable qu'une entreprise d'un État contractant a dans l'autre État contractant n'est pas établie dans cet autre État d'une façon moins favorable que l'imposition des entreprises de cet autre État qui exercent la même activité.
- 3. Aucune disposition du présent article ne peut être interprétée comme obligeant un État contractant à accorder aux résidents de l'autre État contractant les déductions personnelles, abattements et réductions d'impôt en fonction de la situation ou des charges de famille qu'il accorde à ses propres résidents.
- 4. Les entreprises d'un État contractant, dont le capital est en totalité ou en partie, directement ou indirectement, détenu ou contrôlé par un ou plusieurs résidents de l'autre État contractant, ne sont soumises dans le premier État à aucune imposition ou obligation y relative, qui est autre ou plus lourde que celles auxquelles sont ou pourront être assujetties les autres entreprises similaires de ce premier État et dont le capital est en totalité ou en partie, directement ou indirectement, détenu ou contrôlé par un ou plusieurs résidents d'un État tiers.
- 5. Le terme « imposition » désigne dans le présent article les impôts visés par la présente Convention.

ARTICLE 24

Procédure amiable

- 1. Lorsqu'une personne estime que les mesures prises par un État contractant ou par les deux États entraînent ou entraîneront pour elle une imposition non conforme aux dispositions de la présente Convention, elle peut, indépendamment des recours prévus par la législation nationale de ces États, adresser à l'autorité compétente de l'État contractant dont elle est un résident, une demande écrite ou motivée de révision de cette imposition. Pour être recevable, cette demande doit être présentée dans un délai de deux ans à compter de la notification de la mesure qui entraîne l'imposition non conforme aux dispositions de la Convention.
- 2. L'autorité compétente visée au paragraphe 1 s'efforce, si la réclamation lui paraît fondée et si elle n'est pas elle-même en mesure d'y apporter une solution satisfaisante, de résoudre le cas par voie d'accord amiable avec l'autorité compétente de l'autre État contractant, en vue d'éviter une imposition non conforme à la Convention.

- 3. The competent authorities of the Contracting States shall endeavour to resolve by mutual agreement any difficulties or doubts arising as to the interpretation or application of the Convention. In particular, the competent authorities of the Contracting States may consult together to endeavour to agree:
 - (a) to the same attribution of profits to a resident of a Contracting State and its permanent establishment situated in the other Contracting State;
 - (b) to the same allocation of income between a resident of a Contracting State and any associated person referred to in Article 9.
- 4. The competent authorities of the Contracting States may consult together for the elimination of double taxation in cases not provided for in the Convention.
- 5. The competent authorities of the Contracting States may communicate with each other directly for the purpose of reaching an agreement in the sense of the preceding paragraphs. When it seems advisable in order to reach an agreement to have an exchange of views, the matter may be referred to a commission consisting of representatives of the contracting governments specified by the competent authorities. The presidency of the commission is exercised alternatively by a member of each delegation.

Exchange of Information

1. The competent authorities of the Contracting States shall directly exchange such information as is necessary for the carrying out of the provisions of this Convention or of the domestic laws of the Contracting States concerning taxes covered by the Convention insofar as the taxation thereunder is not contrary to the Convention. The exchange of information is not restricted by Article 1. Any information received by a Contracting State shall be treated as secret in the same manner as information obtained under the domestic laws of that State and shall be disclosed only to persons or authorities (including courts and administrative bodies) involved in the assessment or collection of, the enforcement in respect of, or the determination of appeals in relation to, taxes. Such persons or authorities shall use the information only for such purposes. They may disclose the information in public court proceedings or in judicial decisions.

- 3. Les autorités compétentes des États contractants s'efforcent, par voie d'accord amiable, de résoudre les difficultés ou de dissiper les doutes auxquels peuvent donner lieu l'interprétation ou l'application de la Convention. En particulier, les autorités compétentes des États contractants peuvent se consulter en vue de parvenir à un accord :
 - a) pour que les bénéfices revenant à un résident d'un État contractant et à son établissement stable situé dans l'autre État contractant soient imputés d'une manière identique;
 - b) pour que les revenus revenant à un résident d'un État contractant et à toute personne associée visée à l'article 9 soient attribués d'une manière identique.
- 4. Les autorités compétentes des États contractants peuvent se concerter en vue d'éliminer la double imposition dans les cas non prévus par la Convention.
- 5. Les autorités compétentes des États contractants peuvent communiquer directement entre elles en vue de parvenir à un accord comme il est indiqué aux paragraphes précédents. S'il apparaît que, pour parvenir à un accord, des pourparlers soient opportuns, l'affaire peut être déférée à une commission composée de représentants des gouvernements contractants désignés par les autorités compétentes. La présidence de la commission est exercée alternativement par un membre de chaque délégation.

ARTICLE 25

Échange de renseignements

1. Les autorités compétentes des États contractants échangent directement les renseignements nécessaires pour appliquer les dispositions de la présente Convention ou celles de la législation interne des États contractants relative aux impôts visés par la Convention dans la mesure où l'imposition qu'elle prévoit n'est pas contraire à la Convention. L'échange de renseignements n'est pas restreint par l'article 1. Les renseignements reçus par un État contractant sont tenus secrets de la même manière que les renseignements obtenus en application de la législation interne de cet État et ne sont communiqués qu'aux personnes ou autorités (y compris les tribunaux et organes administratifs) concernées par l'établissement ou le recouvrement des impôts par les procédures concernant les impôts, ou par les décisions sur les recours relatifs aux impôts. Ces personnes ou autorités n'utilisent ces renseignements qu'à ces fins. Elles peuvent révéler ces renseignements au cours d'audiences publiques de tribunaux ou dans des jugements.

- 2. In no case shall the provisions of paragraph 1 be construed so as to impose on a Contracting State the obligation:
 - (a) to carry out administrative measures at variance with the laws and the administrative practice of that or of the other Contracting State;
 - (b) to supply information which is not obtainable under the laws or in the normal course of the administration of that or of the other Contracting State;
 - (c) to supply information which would disclose any trade, business, industrial, commercial or professional secret or trade process, or information, the disclosure of which would be contrary to public policy (ordre public).
- 3. If information is requested by a Contracting State in accordance with this Article, the other Contracting State shall endeavour to obtain the information to which the request relates in the same way as if its own taxation were involved notwithstanding the fact that the other State does not need, at that time, such information.
- 4. The exchange of information shall take place either as a matter of routine or upon request regarding a specific case. The competent authorities of the Contracting States shall agree on the list of information to be communicated as a matter of routine.

ARTICLE 26

Members of Diplomatic Missions and Consular Posts

- 1. Nothing in this Convention shall affect the fiscal privileges of members of diplomatic missions or consular posts under the general rules of international law or under the provisions of special agreements.
- 2. Notwithstanding the provisions of Article 4, an individual who is a member of a diplomatic mission, consular post or permanent mission of a Contracting State which is situated in the other Contracting State or in a third State shall be deemed for the purposes of the Convention to be a resident of the sending State if that individual is liable in the sending State to the same obligations in relation to tax on total income as are residents of that sending State.
- 3. The Convention shall not apply to international organizations, to organs or officials thereof and to persons who are members of a diplomatic mission, consular post or permanent mission of a third State or group of States, being present in a Contracting State and who are not liable in either Contracting State to the same obligations in relation to tax on total income as are residents thereof.

- 2. Les dispositions du paragraphe 1 ne peuvent en aucun cas être interprétées comme imposant à un État contractant l'obliga
 - a) de prendre des dispositions administratives dérogeant à sa propre législation et à sa pratique administrative ou à celles de l'autre État contractant;
 - b) de fournir des renseignements qui ne pourraient être obtenus sur la base de sa propre législation ou dans le cadre de sa pratique administrative normale ou de celles de l'autre État contractant;
 - c) de fournir des renseignements qui révéleraient un secret commercial, industriel, professionnel ou un procédé commercial ou des renseignements dont la communication serait contraire à l'ordre public.
- 3. Lorsqu'un État contractant demande des renseignements en conformité avec le présent article, l'autre État s'efforce d'obtenir les renseignements relatifs à cette demande de la même façon que si ses propres impôts étaient en jeu même si cet autre État n'a pas besoin, à ce moment, de ces renseignements.
- 4. L'échange de renseignements a lieu soit d'office, soit sur demande visant des cas concrets. Les autorités compétentes des États contractants s'entendent pour déterminer la liste des informations qui sont fournis d'office.

ARTICLE 26

Membres des missions diplomatiques et postes consulaires

- 1. Les dispositions de la présente Convention ne portent pas atteinte aux privilèges fiscaux dont bénéficient les membres des missions diplomatiques ou postes consulaires en vertu soit des règles générales du droit international, soit des dispositions d'accords particuliers.
- 2. Nonobstant les dispositions de l'article 4, une personne physique qui est membre d'une mission diplomatique, d'un poste consulaire ou d'une délégation permanente d'un État contractant qui est situé dans l'autre État contractant ou dans un État tiers est considérée, aux fins de la Convention, comme un résident de l'État accréditant à condition qu'elle soit soumise dans l'État accréditant aux mêmes obligations, en matière d'impôts sur l'ensemble du revenu, que les résidents de cet État.
- 3. La Convention ne s'applique pas aux organisations internationales, à leurs organes ou à leurs fonctionnaires, ni aux personnes qui sont membres d'une mission diplomatique, d'un poste consulaire ou d'une délégation permanente d'un État tiers ou d'un groupe d'États, lorsqu'ils se trouvent sur le territoire d'un État contractant et ne sont pas soumis dans l'un ou l'autre État contractant aux mêmes obligations, en matière d'impôts sur l'ensemble du revenu, que les résidents de ces États.

Miscellaneous Rules

- 1. The provisions of this Convention shall not be construed to restrict in any manner any exemption, allowance, credit or other deduction accorded
 - (a) by the laws of a Contracting State in the determination of the tax imposed by that State; or
 - (b) by any other agreement entered into by a Contracting State
- 2. Nothing in the Convention shall be construed as preventing Canada from imposing a tax on amounts included in the income of a resident of Canada with respect to a partnership, trust, or controlled foreign affiliate, in which that resident has an interest.
- 3. Notwithstanding the provisions of paragraph 3 of Article XXII (Consultation) of the General Agreement on Trade in Services, the Contracting States agree that any dispute between them as to whether a measure falls within the scope of this Convention may be brought before the Council for Trade in Services, as provided by that paragraph, only with the consent of both Contracting States. Any doubt as to the interpretation of this paragraph shall be resolved under Article 24 or, failing agreement under that procedure, pursuant to any other procedure agreed to by both Contracting States.

VI. FINAL PROVISIONS

ARTICLE 28

Entry into Force

- 1. This Convention shall be ratified and the instruments of ratification shall be exchanged as soon as possible.
- 2. This Convention shall enter into force upon the exchange of instruments of ratification and its provisions shall have effect:
 - (a) in respect of tax withheld at the source on amounts paid or credited to non-residents, on or after the first day of January in the calendar year following that in which the exchange of instruments of ratification takes place; and
 - (b) in respect of other taxes, for taxation years beginning on or after the first day of January in the calendar year following that in which the exchange of instruments of ratification takes place.

ARTICLE 27

Dispositions diverses

- 1. Les dispositions de la présente Convention ne peuvent être interprétées comme limitant d'une manière quelconque les exonérations, abattements, déductions, crédits ou autres allégements qui sont ou seront accordés :
 - a) par la législation d'un État contractant pour la détermination de l'impôt prélevé par cet État, ou
 - b) par tout autre accord conclu par un État contractant.
- 2. Aucune disposition de la Convention ne peut être interprétée comme empêchant le Canada de prélever un impôt sur les montants inclus dans le revenu d'un résident du Canada à l'égard d'une société de personnes, une fiducie ou une société étrangère affiliée contrôlée dans laquelle il possède une participation.
- 3. Nonobstant les dispositions du paragraphe 3 de l'article XXII (Consultation) de l'Accord général sur le commerce des services, les États contractants conviennent que tout différend entre eux sur la question de savoir si une mesure relève de la présente Convention, ne peut être porté devant le Conseil sur le commerce des services, tel que prévu par ce paragraphe, qu'avec le consentement des deux États contractants. Tout doute au sujet de l'interprétation du présent paragraphe est résolu en vertu de l'article 24 ou, en l'absence d'un accord en vertu de cette procédure, en vertu de toute autre procédure acceptée par les deux États contractants.

VI. DISPOSITIONS FINALES

ARTICLE 28

Entrée en vigueur

- 1. La présente Convention sera ratifiée et les instruments de ratification seront échangés dès que possible.
- 2. La présente Convention entre en vigueur dès l'échange des instruments de ratification et ses dispositions seront applicables :
 - a) à l'égard de l'impôt retenu à la source sur les montants payés à des non résidents ou portés à leur crédit, à partir du 1^{er} janvier de l'année civile qui suit celle de l'échange des instruments de ratification; et
 - b) à l'égard des autres impôts, pour toute année d'imposition commençant à partir du 1^{er} janvier de l'année civile qui suit celle de l'échange des instruments de ratification.

Termination

This Convention shall continue in effect indefinitely but either Contracting State may, on or before June 30 of any calendar year after the year of the entry into force of this Convention, give to the other Contracting State a notice of termination through the diplomatic channel; in such event, the Convention shall cease to have effect:

- (a) in respect of tax withheld at the source on amounts paid or credited to non-residents, on or after the first day of January of the calendar year following that in which that June 30 date is included; and
- (b) in respect of other taxes, for taxation years beginning on or after the first day of January of the calendar year following that in which that June 30 date is included.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the undersigned, duly authorized to that effect, have signed this Convention.

DONE in duplicate at this 2nd day of August, 2001, in the English and French languages, each version being equally authentic.

FOR THE GOVERNMENT OF CANADA

FOR THE GOVERNMENT OF THE REPUBLIC OF

SENEGAL

Michèle Lévesque Cheikh Tidiane Gadio

ARTICLE 29 Dénonciation

La présente Convention restera indéfiniment en vigueur; mais chacun des États contractants pourra, jusqu'au 30 juin inclus de toute année civile postérieure à l'année de l'entrée en vigueur de la Convention, donner par la voie diplomatique un avis de dénonciation à l'autre État contractant et, dans ce cas, la Convention cessera d'être applicable :

- a) à l'égard de l'impôt retenu à la source sur les montants payés à des non résidents ou portés à leur crédit, à partir du 1er janvier de l'année civile qui suit l'année comprenant ce 30 juin; et
- b) à l'égard des autres impôts, pour toute année d'imposition commençant à partir du 1er janvier de l'année civile qui suit l'année comprenant ce 30 juin.

EN FOI DE QUOI les soussignés, dûment autorisés à cet effet, ont signé la présente Convention.

FAIT en double exemplaire à Dakar ce 2e jour d'août 2001, en langues française et anglaise, chaque version faisant également

POUR LE GOUVERNEMENT POUR LE GOUVERNE-DU CANADA

MENT DE LA RÉPUBLIQUE

DU SÉNÉGAL

Michèle Lévesque

Cheikh Tidiane Gadio

SCHEDULE 6 (Section 33)

CONVENTION BETWEEN CANADA AND THE CZECH REPUBLIC FOR THE AVOIDANCE OF DOUBLE TAXATION AND THE PREVENTION OF FISCAL EVASION WITH RESPECT TO TAXES ON INCOME

Canada and the Czech Republic, desiring to conclude a Convention for the avoidance of double taxation and the prevention of fiscal evasion with respect to taxes on income, have agreed as follows:

ARTICLE 1

Persons Covered

This Convention shall apply to persons who are residents of one or both of the Contracting States.

ARTICLE 2

Taxes Covered

- 1. This Convention shall apply to taxes on income imposed on behalf of Canada and on behalf of the Czech Republic or of its political subdivisions or local authorities, irrespective of the manner in which they are levied.
- 2. There shall be regarded as taxes on income all taxes imposed on total income, or on elements of income, including taxes on gains from the alienation of movable or immovable property, taxes on the total amounts of wages or salaries paid by enterprises, as well as taxes on capital appreciation.
 - 3. The existing taxes to which the Convention shall apply are:
 - (a) in the case of Canada:

the income taxes imposed by the Government of Canada under the *Income Tax Act* (hereinafter referred to as "Canadian tax");

- (b) in the case of the Czech Republic:
 - (i) the tax on income of individuals;
 - (ii) the tax on income of legal persons;

(hereinafter referred to as "Czech tax").

4. The Convention shall apply also to any identical or substantially similar taxes which are imposed after the date of signature of the Convention in addition to, or in place of, the existing taxes. The competent authorities of the Contracting States shall notify each other of any significant changes which have been made in their respective taxation laws.

ANNEXE 6 (article 33)

CONVENTION ENTRE LE CANADA ET LA RÉPUBLIQUE TCHÈQUE EN VUE D'ÉVITER LES DOUBLES IMPOSITIONS ET DE PRÉVENIR L'ÉVASION FISCALE EN MATIÈRE D'IMPÔTS SUR LE REVENU

Le Canada et la République tchèque, désireux de conclure une Convention en vue d'éviter les doubles impositions et de prévenir l'évasion fiscale en matière d'impôts sur le revenu, sont convenus des dispositions suivantes:

ARTICLE PREMIER

Personnes visées

La présente Convention s'applique aux personnes qui sont des résidents d'un État contractant ou des deux États contractants

ARTICLE 2

Impôts visés

- 1. La présente Convention s'applique aux impôts sur le revenu perçus pour le compte du Canada et pour le compte de la République tchèque ou de l'une de ses subdivisions politiques ou collectivités locales, quel que soit le système de perception.
- 2. Sont considérés comme impôts sur le revenu les impôts perçus sur le revenu total, ou sur des éléments du revenu, y compris les impôts sur les gains provenant de l'aliénation de biens mobiliers ou immobiliers, les impôts sur le montant global des salaires payés par les entreprises, ainsi que les impôts sur les plus-values.
- 3. Les impôts actuels auxquels s'applique la Convention sont :
 - a) en ce qui concerne le Canada,

les impôts sur le revenu qui sont perçus par le Gouvernement du Canada en vertu de la *Loi de l'impôt sur le revenu*, (ci-après dénommés « impôt canadien »);

- b) en ce qui concerne la République tchèque :
 - (i) l'impôt sur le revenu des personnes physiques;
 - (ii) l'impôt sur le revenu des personnes morales;

(ci-après dénommés « impôt tchèque »).

4. La Convention s'applique aussi aux impôts de nature identique ou analogue qui seraient établis après la date de signature de la Convention et qui s'ajouteraient aux impôts actuels ou qui les remplaceraient. Les autorités compétentes des États contractants se communiquent les modifications importantes apportées à leurs législations fiscales respectives.

ARTICLE 3

Conventions fiscales (2001) — Annexe 6

General Definitions

- 1. For the purposes of this Convention, unless the context otherwise requires:
 - (a) the term "Canada" used in a geographical sense, means the territory of Canada, including
 - (i) any area beyond the territorial sea of Canada which, in accordance with international law and the laws of Canada, is an area within which Canada may exercise rights with respect to the seabed and subsoil and their natural resources;
 - (ii) the sea and airspace above every area referred to in clause (i) in respect of any activity carried on in connection with the exploration for or the exploitation of the natural resources referred to therein;
 - (b) the term "the Czech Republic" means the territory of the Czech Republic over which, under Czech legislation and in accordance with international law, the sovereign rights of the Czech Republic are exercised;
 - (c) the terms "a Contracting State" and "the other Contracting State" mean Canada or the Czech Republic as the context requires;
 - (d) the term "person" comprises an individual, a trust, a company and any other body of persons;
 - (e) the term "company" means any body corporate or any entity which is treated as a body corporate for tax purposes;
 - (f) the terms "enterprise of a Contracting State" and "enterprise of the other Contracting State" mean respectively an enterprise carried on by a resident of a Contracting State and an enterprise carried on by a resident of the other Contracting State:
 - (g) the term "national" means:
 - (i) any individual possessing the nationality of a Contracting State;
 - (ii) any legal person, partnership or association deriving its status as such from the laws in force in a Contracting State;
 - (h) the term "international traffic" means any transport by a ship or aircraft operated by a resident of a Contracting State, except when the ship or aircraft is operated solely between places in the other Contracting State;
 - (i) the term "competent authority" means:
 - (i) in the case of Canada, the Minister of National Revenue or the Minister's authorised representative;
 - (ii) in the case of the Czech Republic, the Minister of Finance or the Minister's authorised representative.

ARTICLE 3

Définitions générales

- 1. Au sens de la présente Convention, à moins que le contexte n'exige une interprétation différente :
 - a) le terme « Canada », employé dans un sens géographique, désigne le territoire du Canada, y compris :
 - (i) toute région située au-delà de la mer territoriale du Canada qui, conformément au droit international et en vertu des lois du Canada, est une région à l'intérieur de laquelle le Canada peut exercer des droits à l'égard du fond et du sous-sol de la mer et de leurs ressources naturelles,
 - (ii) la mer et l'espace aérien au-dessus de la région visée au sous-alinéa (i), à l'égard de toute activité poursuivie en rapport avec l'exploration ou l'exploitation des ressources naturelles qui y sont visées;
 - b) l'expression « la République tchèque » désigne le territoire de la République tchèque sur lequel, en vertu de la législation tchèque et conformément au droit international, les droits souverains de la République tchèque sont exercés;
 - c) les expressions « un État contractant » et « l'autre État contractant » désignent, suivant le contexte, le Canada ou la République tchèque;
 - d) le terme « personne » comprend les personnes physiques, les fiducies, les sociétés et tous autres groupements de personnes;
 - e) le terme « société » désigne toute personne morale ou toute entité qui est considérée comme une personne morale aux fins d'imposition;
 - f) les expressions « entreprise d'un État contractant » et « entreprise de l'autre État contractant » désignent respectivement une entreprise exploitée par un résident d'un État contractant et une entreprise exploitée par un résident de l'autre État contractant;
 - g) le terme « national » désigne :
 - (i) toute personne physique qui possède la nationalité d'un État contractant.
 - (ii) toute personne morale, société de personnes ou association constituées conformément à la législation en vigueur dans un État contractant;
 - h) l'expression « trafic international » désigne tout transport effectué par un navire ou un aéronef exploité par un résident d'un État contractant, sauf lorsque le navire ou l'aéronef n'est exploité qu'entre des points situés dans l'autre État contractant:
 - i) l'expression « autorité compétente » désigne :
 - (i) en ce qui concerne le Canada, le ministre du Revenu national ou son représentant autorisé,
 - (ii) en ce qui concerne la République tchèque, le ministre des Finances ou son représentant autorisé.

2. As regards the application of the Convention at any time by a Contracting State, any term not defined therein shall, unless the context otherwise requires, have the meaning that it has at that time under the law of that State for the purposes of the taxes to which the Convention applies, any meaning under the applicable tax laws of that State prevailing over a meaning given to the term under other laws of that State.

ARTICLE 4

Resident

- 1. For the purposes of this Convention, the term "resident of a Contracting State" means any person who, under the laws of that State, is liable to tax therein by reason of the person's domicile, residence, place of management, place of incorporation or any other criterion of a similar nature and also includes that State and any political subdivision or local authority thereof or any agency or instrumentality of that State, subdivision or authority. This term, however, does not include any person who is liable to tax in that State in respect only of income from sources in that State.
- 2. Where by reason of the provisions of paragraph 1 an individual is a resident of both Contracting States, then the individual's status shall be determined in accordance with the following rules:
 - (a) the individual shall be deemed to be a resident only of the State in which the individual has a permanent home available; if the individual has a permanent home available in both States, the individual shall be deemed to be a resident only of the State with which the individual's personal and economic relations are closer (centre of vital interests);
 - (b) if the State in which the individual has a centre of vital interests cannot be determined, or if there is not a permanent home available to the individual in either State, the individual shall be deemed to be a resident only of the State in which the individual has an habitual abode:
 - (c) if the individual has an habitual abode in both States or in neither of them, the individual shall be deemed to be a resident only of the State of which the individual is a national;
 - (d) if the individual is a national of both States or of neither of them, the competent authorities of the Contracting States shall settle the question by mutual agreement.
- 3. Where by reason of the provisions of paragraph 1 a person other than an individual is a resident of both Contracting States, then:
 - (a) the person shall be deemed to be a resident only of the State of which the person is a national;

2. Pour l'application de la Convention à un moment donné par un État contractant, tout terme ou expression qui n'y est pas défini a, sauf si le contexte exige une interprétation différente, le sens que lui attribue, à ce moment, le droit de cet État concernant les impôts auxquels s'applique la Convention, le sens attribué à ce terme ou expression par le droit fiscal de cet État prévalant sur le sens que lui attribue les autres branches du droit de cet État.

ARTICLE 4

Résident

- 1. Au sens de la présente Convention, l'expression « résident d'un État contractant » désigne toute personne qui, en vertu de la législation de cet État, est assujettie à l'impôt dans cet État en raison de son domicile, de sa résidence, de son siège de direction, de son lieu de constitution ou de tout autre critère de nature analogue et comprend aussi à cet État ainsi qu'à toutes ses subdivisions politiques ou à ses collectivités locales ainsi qu'à toute personne morale de droit public de cet État, subdivision ou collectivité. Toutefois, cette expression ne comprend pas les personnes qui ne sont assujetties à l'impôt dans cet État que pour les revenus de sources situées dans cet État.
- 2. Lorsque, selon les dispositions du paragraphe l, une personne physique est un résident des deux États contractants, sa situation est réglée de la manière suivante :
 - a) cette personne est considérée comme un résident seulement de l'État où elle dispose d'un foyer d'habitation permanent; si elle dispose d'un foyer d'habitation permanent dans les deux États, elle est considérée comme un résident seulement de l'État avec lequel ses liens personnels et économiques sont les plus étroits (centre des intérêts vitaux);
 - b) si l'État où cette personne a le centre de ses intérêts vitaux ne peut pas être déterminé, ou si elle ne dispose d'un foyer d'habitation permanent dans aucun des États, elle est considérée comme un résident seulement de l'État où elle séjourne de façon habituelle;
 - c) si cette personne séjourne de façon habituelle dans les deux États ou si elle ne séjourne de façon habituelle dans aucun d'eux, elle est considérée comme un résident seulement de l'État dont elle possède la nationalité;
 - d) si cette personne possède la nationalité des deux États ou si elle ne possède la nationalité d'aucun d'eux, les autorités compétentes des États contractants tranchent la question d'un commun accord.
- 3. Lorsque, selon les dispositions du paragraphe l, une personne autre qu'une personne physique est un résident des deux États contractants :
 - a) elle est considérée comme un résident seulement de l'État dont elle est un national;

(b) if the person is a national of neither of the States, the competent authorities of the Contracting States shall by mutual agreement endeavour to settle the question and to determine the mode of application of the Convention to such person. In the absence of such agreement, such person shall not be entitled to claim any relief or exemption from tax provided by the Convention.

ARTICLE 5

Permanent Establishment

- 1. For the purposes of this Convention, the term "permanent establishment" means a fixed place of business through which the business of an enterprise is wholly or partly carried on.
 - 2. The term "permanent establishment" includes especially:
 - (a) a place of management;
 - (b) a branch;
 - (c) an office;
 - (d) a factory;
 - (e) a workshop; and
 - (f) a mine, an oil or gas well, a quarry or any other place relating to the exploration for or the exploitation of natural resources.
- 3. The term "permanent establishment" likewise encompasses:
 - (a) a building site, or a construction, assembly or installation project or supervisory activities in connection therewith, but only where such site, project or activities continue for a period of more than twelve months;
 - (b) the furnishing of services, including consultancy or managerial services, by an enterprise of a Contracting State through employees or other personnel engaged by the enterprise for such purposes, but only where activities of that nature continue in the territory of the other Contracting State for a period or periods exceeding in the aggregate six months within any twelve month period.
- 4. Notwithstanding the preceding provisions of this Article, the term "permanent establishment" shall be deemed not to include:
 - (a) the use of facilities solely for the purpose of storage, display or delivery of goods or merchandise belonging to the enterprise;
 - (b) the maintenance of a stock of goods or merchandise belonging to the enterprise solely for the purpose of storage, display or delivery;
 - (c) the maintenance of a stock of goods or merchandise belonging to the enterprise solely for the purpose of processing by another enterprise;

b) si elle n'est un national d'aucun des États, les autorités compétentes des États contractants s'efforcent d'un commun accord de trancher la question et de déterminer les modalités d'application de la Convention à cette personne. À défaut d'un tel accord, cette personne n'a pas le droit de réclamer les abattements ou exonérations d'impôts prévus par la Convention.

ARTICLE 5

Établissement stable

- 1. Au sens de la présente Convention, l'expression « établissement stable » désigne une installation fixe d'affaires par l'intermédiaire de laquelle une entreprise exerce tout ou partie de son activité.
- 2. L'expression « établissement stable » comprend notamment :
 - a) un siège de direction;
 - b) une succursale;
 - c) un bureau;
 - d) une usine;
 - e) un atelier; et
 - f) une mine, un puits de pétrole ou de gaz, une carrière ou tout autre lieu lié à l'exploration ou à l'exploitation de ressources naturelles.
 - 3. L'expression « établissement stable » englobe également :
 - a) un chantier de construction, de montage ou d'installation ou des activités de surveillance s'y exerçant, mais seulement lorsque ce chantier ou ces activités ont une durée supérieure à douze mois;
 - b) la fourniture de services, y compris les services de gestion et les services de consultant, par une entreprise d'un État contractant agissant par l'intermédiaire de salariés ou d'autre personnel engagés par l'entreprise à ces fins, mais uniquement lorsque les activités de cette nature sur le territoire de l'autre État contractant se poursuivent pendant une ou des périodes représentant un total d'au moins six mois dans les limites d'une période quelconque de douze mois.
- 4. Nonobstant les dispositions précédentes du présent article, on considère qu'il n'y a pas « établissement stable » si :
 - a) il est fait usage d'installations aux seules fins de stockage, d'exposition ou de livraison de marchandises appartenant à l'entreprise;
 - b) des marchandises appartenant à l'entreprise sont entreposées aux seules fins de stockage, d'exposition ou de livraison;
 - c) des marchandises appartenant à l'entreprise sont entreposées aux seules fins de transformation par une autre entreprise;
 - d) une installation fixe d'affaires est utilisée aux seules fins d'acheter des marchandises ou de réunir des informations pour l'entreprise;

- (d) the maintenance of a fixed place of business solely for the purpose of purchasing goods or merchandise or of collecting information, for the enterprise;
- (e) the maintenance of a fixed place of business solely for the purpose of carrying on, for the enterprise, any other activity of a preparatory or auxiliary character;
- (f) the maintenance of a fixed place of business solely for any combination of activities mentioned in subparagraphs (a) to (e), provided that the overall activity of the fixed place of business resulting from this combination is of a preparatory or auxiliary character.
- 5. Notwithstanding the provisions of paragraphs 1 and 2, where a person other than an agent of an independent status to whom paragraph 6 applies is acting on behalf of an enterprise and has, and habitually exercises, in a Contracting State an authority to conclude contracts in the name of the enterprise, that enterprise shall be deemed to have a permanent establishment in that State in respect of any activities which that person undertakes for the enterprise, unless the activities of such person are limited to those mentioned in paragraph 4 which, if exercised through a fixed place of business, would not make this fixed place of business a permanent establishment under the provisions of that paragraph.
- 6. An enterprise shall not be deemed to have a permanent establishment in a Contracting State merely because it carries on business in that State through a broker, general commission agent or any other agent of an independent status, where such persons are acting in the ordinary course of their business.
- 7. The fact that a company which is a resident of a Contracting State controls or is controlled by a company which is a resident of the other Contracting State, or which carries on business in that other State (whether through a permanent establishment or otherwise), shall not of itself constitute either company a permanent establishment of the other.

Income from Immovable Property

1. Income derived by a resident of a Contracting State from immovable property (including income from agriculture or forestry) situated in the other Contracting State may be taxed in that other State.

- *e*) une installation fixe d'affaires est utilisée aux seules fins d'exercer, pour l'entreprise, toute autre activité de caractère préparatoire ou auxiliaire;
- f) une installation fixe d'affaires est utilisée aux seules fins de l'exercice cumulé d'activités mentionnées aux alinéas a) à e), à condition que l'activité d'ensemble de l'installation fixe d'affaires résultant de ce cumul garde un caractère préparatoire ou auxiliaire.
- 5. Nonobstant les dispositions des paragraphes 1 et 2, lorsqu'une personne autre qu'un agent jouissant d'un statut indépendant auquel s'applique le paragraphe 6 agit pour le compte d'une entreprise et dispose dans un État contractant de pouvoirs qu'elle y exerce habituellement lui permettant de conclure des contrats au nom de l'entreprise, cette entreprise est considérée comme ayant un établissement stable dans cet État pour toutes les activités que cette personne exerce pour l'entreprise, à moins que les activités de cette personne ne soient limitées à celles qui sont mentionnées au paragraphe 4 et qui, si elles étaient exercées par l'intermédiaire d'une installation fixe d'affaires, ne permettraient pas de considérer cette installation comme un établissement stable selon les dispositions de ce paragraphe.
- 6. Une entreprise n'est pas considérée comme ayant un établissement stable dans un État contractant du seul fait qu'elle y exerce son activité par l'entremise d'un courtier, d'un commissionnaire général ou de tout autre agent jouissant d'un statut indépendant, à condition que ces personnes agissent dans le cadre ordinaire de leur activité.
- 7. Le fait qu'une société qui est un résident d'un État contractant contrôle ou est contrôlée par une société qui est un résident de l'autre État contractant ou qui y exerce son activité (que ce soit par l'intermédiaire d'un établissement stable ou non) ne suffit pas, en lui-même, à faire de l'une quelconque de ces sociétés un établissement stable de l'autre.

ARTICLE 6

Revenus immobiliers

1. Les revenus qu'un résident d'un État contractant tire de biens immobiliers (y compris les revenus des exploitations agricoles ou forestières) situés dans l'autre État contractant, sont imposables dans cet autre État.

2. For the purposes of this Convention, the term "immovable property" shall have the meaning which it has for the purposes of the relevant tax law of the Contracting State in which the property in question is situated. The term shall in any case include property accessory to immovable property, livestock and equipment used in agriculture and forestry, rights to which the provisions of general law respecting landed property apply, usufruct of immovable property and rights to variable or fixed payments as consideration for the working of, or the right to work, mineral deposits, sources and other natural resources. Ships and aircraft shall not be regarded as immovable property.

Conventions fiscales (2001) — Annexe 6

- 3. The provisions of paragraph 1 shall apply to income derived from the direct use, letting, or use in any other form of immovable property.
- 4. The provisions of paragraphs 1 and 3 shall also apply to the income from immovable property of an enterprise and to income from immovable property used for the performance of independent personal services.

ARTICLE 7

Business Profits

- 1. The profits of an enterprise of a Contracting State shall be taxable only in that State unless the enterprise carries on or has carried on business in the other Contracting State through a permanent establishment situated therein. If the enterprise carries on or has carried on business as aforesaid, the profits of the enterprise may be taxed in the other State but only so much of them as is attributable to that permanent establishment.
- 2. Subject to the provisions of paragraph 3, where an enterprise of a Contracting State carries on or has carried on business in the other Contracting State through a permanent establishment situated therein, there shall in each Contracting State be attributed to that permanent establishment the profits which it might be expected to make if it were a distinct and separate enterprise engaged in the same or similar activities under the same or similar conditions and dealing wholly independently with the enterprise of which it is a permanent establishment.
- 3. In the determination of the profits of a permanent establishment, there shall be allowed as deductions those deductible expenses which are incurred for the purposes of the permanent establishment, including executive and general administrative expenses so incurred, whether in the State in which the permanent establishment is situated or elsewhere.

- 2. Au sens de la présente Convention, l'expression « biens immobiliers » a le sens qu'elle a aux fins de la législation fiscale pertinente de l'État contractant où les biens considérés sont situés. L'expression comprend en tous cas les accessoires, le cheptel mort ou vif des exploitations agricoles et forestières, les droits auxquels s'appliquent les dispositions du droit privé concernant la propriété foncière, l'usufruit des biens immobiliers et les droits à des paiements variables ou fixes pour l'exploitation ou la concession de l'exploitation de gisements minéraux, sources et autres ressources naturelles. Les navires et aéronefs ne sont pas considérés comme des biens immobiliers.
- 3. Les dispositions du paragraphe l s'appliquent aux revenus provenant de l'exploitation directe, de la location ou de l'affermage, ainsi que de toute autre forme d'exploitation des biens immobiliers.
- 4. Les dispositions des paragraphes 1 et 3 s'appliquent également aux revenus provenant des biens immobiliers d'une entreprise ainsi qu'aux revenus des biens immobiliers servant à l'exercice d'une profession indépendante.

ARTICLE 7

Bénéfices des entreprises

- 1. Les bénéfices d'une entreprise d'un État contractant ne sont imposables que dans cet État, à moins que l'entreprise n'exerce ou n'ait exercé son activité dans l'autre État contractant par l'intermédiaire d'un établissement stable qui y est situé. Si l'entreprise exerce ou a exercé son activité d'une telle façon, les bénéfices de l'entreprise sont imposables dans l'autre État mais uniquement dans la mesure où ils sont imputables à cet établissement stable.
- 2. Sous réserve des dispositions du paragraphe 3, lorsqu'une entreprise d'un État contractant exerce ou a exercé son activité dans l'autre État contractant par l'intermédiaire d'un établissement stable qui y est situé, il est imputé, dans chaque État contractant, à cet établissement stable les bénéfices qu'il aurait pu réaliser s'il avait constitué une entreprise distincte exerçant des activités identiques ou analogues dans des conditions identiques ou analogues et traitant en toute indépendance avec l'entreprise dont il constitue un établissement stable.
- 3. Pour déterminer les bénéfices d'un établissement stable, sont admises en déduction les dépenses autrement déductibles qui sont exposées aux fins poursuivies par cet établissement stable, y compris les dépenses de direction et les frais généraux d'administration ainsi exposés, soit dans l'État où est situé cet établissement stable, soit ailleurs.

- 4. Insofar as it has been customary in a Contracting State to determine the profits to be attributed to a permanent establishment on the basis of an apportionment of the total profits of the enterprise to its various parts, nothing in paragraph 2 shall preclude that Contracting State from determining the profits to be taxed by such an apportionment as may be customary; the method of apportionment adopted shall, however, be such that the result shall be in accordance with the principles contained in this Article.
- 5. No profits shall be attributed to a permanent establishment by reason of the mere purchase by that permanent establishment of goods or merchandise for the enterprise.
- 6. For the purposes of the preceding paragraphs, the profits to be attributed to the permanent establishment shall be determined by the same method year by year unless there is good and sufficient reason to the contrary.
- 7. Where profits include items of income which are dealt with separately in other Articles of this Convention, then the provisions of those Articles shall not be affected by the provisions of this Article.

Shipping and Air Transport

- 1. Profits derived by a resident of a Contracting State from the operation of ships or aircraft in international traffic shall be taxable only in that State.
- 2. Notwithstanding the provisions of paragraph 1 and of Article 7, profits derived from the operation of ships or aircraft used principally to transport passengers or goods exclusively between places in a Contracting State may be taxed in that State.
- 3. The provisions of paragraphs 1 and 2 shall also apply to profits derived by a resident of a Contracting State from its participation in a pool, a joint business or an international operating agency.
- 4. For the purposes of this Article, profits from the operation of ships or aircraft in international traffic include:
 - (a) profits from the rental on a bare boat basis of ships or aircraft and
 - (b) profits from the use, maintenance or rental of containers (including trailers and related equipment for the transport of containers) used for the transport of goods,

where such rental or such use, maintenance or rental, as the case may be, is incidental to the operation of ships or aircraft in international traffic.

- 4. S'il est d'usage, dans un État contractant, de déterminer les bénéfices imputables à un établissement stable sur la base d'une répartition des bénéfices totaux de l'entreprise entre ses diverses parties, aucune disposition du paragraphe 2 n'empêche cet État contractant de déterminer les bénéfices imposables selon la répartition en usage; la méthode de répartition adoptée doit cependant être telle que le résultat obtenu soit conforme aux principes contenus dans le présent article.
- 5. Aucun bénéfice n'est imputé à un établissement stable du fait qu'il a simplement acheté des marchandises pour l'entreprise.
- 6. Aux fins des paragraphes précédents, les bénéfices à imputer à l'établissement stable sont déterminés chaque année selon la même méthode, à moins qu'il n'existe des motifs valables et suffisants de procéder autrement.
- 7. Lorsque les bénéfices comprennent des éléments de revenu traités séparément dans d'autres articles de la présente Convention, les dispositions de ces articles ne sont pas affectées par les disposi-tions du présent article.

ARTICLE 8

Navigation maritime et aérienne

- 1. Les bénéfices qu'un résident d'un État contractant tire de l'exploitation, en trafic international, de navires ou d'aéronefs ne sont imposables que dans cet État.
- 2. Nonobstant les dispositions du paragraphe 1 et de l'article 7, les bénéfices provenant de l'exploitation de navires ou d'aéronefs utilisés principalement pour transporter des passagers ou des marchandises entre des points situés dans un État contractant uniquement sont imposables dans cet État.
- 3. Les dispositions des paragraphes 1 et 2 s'appliquent aussi aux bénéfices qu'un résident d'un État contractant tire de sa participation à un pool, une exploitation en commun ou un organisme international d'exploitation.
- 4. Au sens du présent article, les bénéfices provenant de l'exploitation de navires ou d'aéronefs en trafic international comprennent les bénéfices provenant de :
 - a) la location coque-nue de navires ou d'aéronefs, et
 - b) l'utilisation, l'entretien ou la location de conteneurs (y compris les remorques et les équipements connexes pour le transport de conteneurs) utilisés pour le transport de marchandises,

lorsque cette location ou cette utilisation, cet entretien ou cette location, selon le cas, sont accessoires à l'exploitation, en trafic international, de navires ou d'aéronefs.

Associated Enterprises

1. Where

- (a) an enterprise of a Contracting State participates directly or indirectly in the management, control or capital of an enterprise of the other Contracting State, or
- (b) the same persons participate directly or indirectly in the management, control or capital of an enterprise of a Contracting State and an enterprise of the other Contracting State,

and in either case conditions are made or imposed between the two enterprises in their commercial or financial relations which differ from those which would be made between independent enterprises, then any profits which would, but for those conditions, have accrued to one of the enterprises, but, by reason of those conditions, have not so accrued, may be included in the profits of that enterprise and taxed accordingly.

- 2. Where a Contracting State includes in the profits of an enterprise of that State and taxes accordingly profits on which an enterprise of the other Contracting State has been charged to tax in that other State and the profits so included are profits which would have accrued to the enterprise of the first-mentioned State if the conditions made between the two enterprises had been those which would have been made between independent enterprises, then that other State shall make an appropriate adjustment to the amount of the tax charged therein on those profits. In determining such adjustment, due regard shall be had to the other provisions of this Convention and the competent authorities of the Contracting States shall if necessary consult each other.
- 3. A Contracting State shall not change the profits of an enterprise in the circumstances referred to in paragraph 1 after the expiry of the time limits provided in its domestic laws and, in any case, after five years from the end of the year in which the profits which would be subject to such change would have accrued to an enterprise of that State.
- 4. The provisions of paragraphs 2 and 3 shall not apply in the case of fraud, wilful default or neglect.

ARTICLE 10

Dividends

1. Dividends paid by a company which is a resident of a Contracting State to a resident of the other Contracting State may be taxed in that other State.

ARTICLE 9

Entreprises associées

1. Lorsque

- a) une entreprise d'un État contractant participe directement ou indirectement à la direction, au contrôle ou au capital d'une entreprise de l'autre État contractant, ou que;
- b) les mêmes personnes participent directement ou indirectement à la direction, au contrôle ou au capital d'une entreprise d'un État contractant et d'une entreprise de l'autre État contractant,

et que, dans l'un et l'autre cas, les deux entreprises sont, dans leurs relations commerciales ou financières, liées par des conditions convenues ou imposées, qui diffèrent de celles qui seraient convenues entre des entreprises indépendantes, les bénéfices qui, sans ces conditions, auraient été réalisés par l'une des entreprises mais n'ont pu l'être en fait à cause de ces conditions, peuvent être inclus dans les bénéfices de cette entreprise et imposés en conséquence.

- 2. Lorsqu'un État contractant inclut dans les bénéfices d'une entreprise de cet État et impose en conséquence des bénéfices sur lesquels une entreprise de l'autre État contractant a été imposée dans cet autre État, et que les bénéfices ainsi inclus sont des bénéfices qui auraient été réalisés par l'entreprise du premier État si les conditions convenues entre les deux entreprises avaient été celles qui auraient été convenues entre des entreprises indépendantes, l'autre État procède à un ajustement approprié du montant de l'impôt qui y a été perçu sur ces bénéfices. Pour déterminer cet ajustement, il est tenu compte des autres dispositions de la présente Convention et, si c'est nécessaire, les autorités compétentes des États contractants se consultent.
- 3. Un État contractant ne rectifiera pas les bénéfices d'une entreprise dans les cas visés au paragraphe l après l'expiration des délais prévus par son droit interne et, en tout cas, après l'expiration de cinq ans à dater de la fin de l'année au cours de laquelle les bénéfices qui feraient l'objet d'une telle rectification auraient été attribués à une entreprise de cet État.
- 4. Les dispositions des paragraphes 2 et 3 ne s'appliquent pas en cas de fraude, d'omission volontaire ou de négligence.

ARTICLE 10

Dividendes

1. Les dividendes payés par une société qui est un résident d'un État contractant à un résident de l'autre État contractant sont imposables dans cet autre État.

- 2. However, such dividends may also be taxed in the Contracting State of which the company paying the dividends is a resident and according to the laws of that State, but if the beneficial owner of the dividends is a resident of the other Contracting State, the tax so charged shall not exceed:
 - (a) except in the case of dividends paid by a non-residentowned investment corporation that is a resident of Canada, 5 per cent of the gross amount of the dividends if the beneficial owner is a company which controls directly or indirectly at least 10 per cent of the voting power in the company paying the dividends;
 - (b) 15 per cent of the gross amount of the dividends in all other cases.

The provisions of this paragraph shall not affect the taxation of the profits out of which the dividends are paid.

- 3. The term "dividends" as used in this Article means income from shares, or other rights, not being debt-claims, participating in profits, as well as income which is subjected to the same taxation treatment as income from shares by the laws of the State of which the company making the distribution is a resident.
- 4. The provisions of paragraphs 1 and 2 shall not apply if the beneficial owner of the dividends, being a resident of a Contracting State, carries on business in the other Contracting State of which the company paying the dividends is a resident, through a permanent establishment situated therein, or performs in that other State independent personal services from a fixed base situated therein, and the holding in respect of which the dividends are paid is effectively connected with such permanent establishment or fixed base. In such case the provisions of Article 7 or Article 14, as the case may be, shall apply.
- 5. Where a company which is a resident of a Contracting State derives profits or income from the other Contracting State, that other State may not impose any tax on the dividends paid by the company, except insofar as such dividends are paid to a resident of that other State or insofar as the holding in respect of which the dividends are paid is effectively connected with a permanent establishment or a fixed base situated in that other State, nor subject the company's undistributed profits to a tax on the company's undistributed profits, even if the dividends paid or the undistributed profits consist wholly or partly of profits or income arising in such other State.
- 6. Nothing in this Convention shall be construed as preventing a Contracting State from imposing on the alienation of immovable property situated in that State by a company carrying on a trade in immovable property or on the earnings of a company attributable to a permanent establishment in that State, tax in addition to the tax which would be chargeable on the earnings of a company which is a resident of that State, provided that any additional tax so imposed shall not exceed 5 per cent of the

- 2. Toutefois, ces dividendes sont aussi imposables dans l'État contractant dont la société qui paie les dividendes est un résident, et selon la législation de cet État, mais si le bénéficiaire effectif des dividendes est un résident de l'autre État contractant, l'impôt ainsi établi ne peut excéder :
 - a) sauf dans le cas de dividendes payés par une société qui est une société de placements appartenant à des non résidents et qui est un résident du Canada, 5 pour cent du montant brut des dividendes si le bénéficiaire effectif est une société qui contrôle directement ou indirectement au moins 10 pour cent des droits de vote de la société qui paie les dividendes;
 - b) 15 pour cent du montant brut des dividendes, dans tous les autres cas.

Les dispositions du présent paragraphe n'affectent pas l'imposition des bénéfices qui servent au paiement des dividendes.

- 3. Le terme « dividendes » employé dans le présent article désigne les revenus provenant d'actions, ou autres parts bénéficiaires à l'exception des créances, ainsi que les revenus soumis au même régime fiscal que les revenus d'actions par la législation de l'État dont la société distributrice est un résident.
- 4. Les dispositions des paragraphes 1 et 2 ne s'appliquent pas lorsque le bénéficiaire effectif des dividendes, résident d'un État contractant, exerce dans l'autre État contractant dont la société qui paie les dividendes est un résident, soit une activité industrielle ou commerciale par l'intermédiaire d'un établissement stable qui y est situé, soit une profession indépendante au moyen d'une base fixe qui y est située, et que la participation génératrice des dividendes s'y rattache effectivement. Dans ce cas, les dispositions de l'article 7 ou de l'article 14, suivant les cas, sont applicables.
- 5. Lorsqu'une société qui est un résident d'un État contractant tire des bénéfices ou des revenus de l'autre État contractant, cet autre État ne peut percevoir aucun impôt sur les dividendes payés par la société, sauf dans la mesure où ces dividendes sont payés à un résident de cet autre État ou dans la mesure où la participation génératrice des dividendes se rattache effectivement à un établissement stable ou à une base fixe situés dans cet autre État, ni prélever aucun impôt, au titre de l'imposition des bénéfices non distribués, sur les bénéfices non distribués de la société, même si les dividendes payés ou les bénéfices non distribués consistent en tout ou en partie en bénéfices ou revenus provenant de cet autre État.
- 6. Aucune disposition de la présente Convention ne peut être interprétée comme empêchant un État contractant de percevoir, sur les revenus attribuables à l'aliénation de biens immobiliers situés dans cet État par une société qui exerce des activités dans le domaine des biens immobiliers, ou sur les revenus d'une société imputables à un établissement stable dans cet État, un impôt qui s'ajoute à l'impôt qui serait applicable aux revenus d'une société qui est un résident de cet État, pourvu que l'impôt additionnel ainsi établi n'excède pas 5 pour cent du montant des

amount of such earnings which have not been subjected to such additional tax in previous taxation years. For the purpose of this provision, the term "earnings" means the earnings attributable to the alienation of such immovable property situated in a Contracting State as may be taxed by that State under the provisions of paragraph 1 of Article 13, and the profits, including any gains from the alienation of any property, attributable to a permanent establishment in a Contracting State in a year and previous years after deducting therefrom all taxes, other than the additional tax referred to herein, imposed on such profits by that State.

Conventions fiscales (2001) — Annexe 6

ARTICLE 11

Interest

- 1. Interest arising in a Contracting State and paid to a resident of the other Contracting State may be taxed in that other State.
- 2. However, such interest may also be taxed in the Contracting State in which it arises and according to the laws of that State, but if the beneficial owner of the interest is a resident of the other Contracting State, the tax so charged shall not exceed 10 per cent of the gross amount of the interest.
 - 3. Notwithstanding the provisions of paragraph 2,
 - (a) interest arising in a Contracting State and paid in respect of indebtedness of the government of that Contracting State or of a political subdivision or local authority thereof shall, provided that the interest is beneficially owned by a resident of the other Contracting State, be taxable only in that other
 - (b) interest arising in a Contracting State and paid to and beneficially owned by a resident of the other Contracting State shall be taxable only in that other State if it is paid in respect of a loan made, guaranteed or insured, or a credit extended, guaranteed or insured by an entity wholly-owned and controlled by the government of that other State, provided this loan or credit is in respect of imports or exports;
 - (c) interest arising in a Contracting State, beneficially owned by a resident of the other Contracting State and paid in connection with the sale on credit of any equipment, merchandise or services except where the sale is made between persons not dealing with each other at arm's length, shall be taxable only in that other State;
 - (d) interest arising in a Contracting State and paid to a resident of the other Contracting State which was constituted and is operated exclusively to administer or provide benefits under one or more pension, retirement or other employee benefits plans shall not be taxable in the first-mentioned State provided that

revenus qui n'ont pas été assujettis à cet impôt additionnel au cours des années d'imposition précédentes. Au sens de la présente disposition, le terme « revenus » désigne les revenus imputables à l'aliénation de biens immobiliers situés dans un État contractant qui sont imposables par cet État en vertu des dispositions du paragraphe 1 de l'article 13 et, les bénéfices, y compris les gains provenant de l'aliénation de tous biens, imputables à un établissement stable situé dans un État contractant, pour l'année ou pour les années antérieures, après déduction de tous les impôts, autres que l'impôt additionnel visé au présent paragraphe, prélevés sur ces bénéfices par cet État.

ARTICLE 11

Intérêts

- 1. Les intérêts provenant d'un État contractant et payés à un résident de l'autre État contractant sont imposables dans cet autre
- 2. Toutefois, ces intérêts sont aussi imposables dans l'État contractant d'où ils proviennent et selon la législation de cet État, mais si le bénéficiaire effectif des intérêts est un résident de l'autre État contractant, l'impôt ainsi établi ne peut excéder 10 pour cent du montant brut des intérêts.
 - 3. Nonobstant les dispositions du paragraphe 2 :
 - a) les intérêts provenant d'un État contractant et payés sur une dette du gouvernement de cet État contractant ou de l'une de ses subdivisions politiques ou collectivités locales, ne sont imposables que dans l'autre État contractant pourvu qu'un résident de cet autre État en soit le bénéficiaire effectif;
 - b) les intérêts provenant d'un État contractant et payés à un résident de l'autre État contractant qui en est le bénéficiaire effectif ne sont imposables que dans cet autre État s'ils sont payés en raison d'un prêt fait, garanti ou assuré, ou d'un crédit consenti, garanti ou assuré par une entité possédée en propriété exclusive et contrôlée par le gouvernement de cet autre État, pourvu que ce prêt ou ce crédit se rattache à des importations ou des exportations;
 - c) les intérêts provenant d'un État contractant, dont un résident de l'autre État contractant en est le bénéficiaire effectif et qui sont payés en liaison avec la vente à crédit d'un équipement, de marchandises ou de services quelconques, ne sont imposables que dans cet autre État sauf lorsque la vente a lieu entre des personnes ayant entre elles un lien de dépendance;
 - d) les intérêts provenant d'un État contractant et payés à un résident de l'autre État contractant qui a été constitué et qui est exploité exclusivement aux fins d'administrer ou de fournir des prestations en vertu d'un ou de plusieurs régimes de pension, de retraite ou d'autres prestations aux employés, ne sont pas imposables dans le premier État pourvu que :

- (i) the resident is the beneficial owner of the interest and is generally exempt from tax in the other State, and
- (ii) the interest is not derived from carrying on a business or from an associated person within the meaning of subparagraph (a) or subparagraph (b) of paragraph 1 of Article 9.
- 4. The term "interest" as used in this Article means income from debt-claims of every kind, whether or not secured by mortgage, and in particular, income from government securities and income from bonds or debentures, including premiums and prizes attaching to such securities, bonds or debentures, as well as income which is subjected to the same taxation treatment as income from money lent by the laws of the State in which the income arises. However, the term "interest" does not include income dealt with in Article 10.
- 5. The provisions of paragraphs 1, 2 and 3 shall not apply if the beneficial owner of the interest, being a resident of a Contracting State, carries on business in the other Contracting State in which the interest arises, through a permanent establishment situated therein, or performs in that other State independent personal services from a fixed base situated therein, and the debt-claim in respect of which the interest is paid is effectively connected with such permanent establishment or fixed base. In such case the provisions of Article 7 or Article 14, as the case may be, shall apply.
- 6. Interest shall be deemed to arise in a Contracting State when the payer is a resident of that State. Where, however, the person paying the interest, whether the payer is a resident of a Contracting State or not, has in a Contracting State a permanent establishment or a fixed base in connection with which the indebtedness on which the interest is paid was incurred, and such interest is borne by such permanent establishment or fixed base, then such interest shall be deemed to arise in the State in which the permanent establishment or fixed base is situated.
- 7. Where, by reason of a special relationship between the payer and the beneficial owner or between both of them and some other person, the amount of the interest paid, having regard to the debt-claim for which it is paid, exceeds the amount which would have been agreed upon by the payer and the beneficial owner in the absence of such relationship, the provisions of this Article shall apply only to the last-mentioned amount. In such case, the excess part of the payments shall remain taxable according to the laws of each Contracting State, due regard being had to the other provisions of this Convention.

Royalties

1. Royalties arising in a Contracting State and paid to a resident of the other Contracting State may be taxed in that other State.

- (i) le résident en soit le bénéficiaire effectif et soit généralement exonéré d'impôt dans l'autre État; et
- (ii) les intérêts ne proviennent pas de l'exercice d'une activité industrielle ou commerciale ou d'une personne associée au sens de l'alinéa *a*) ou de l'alinéa *b*) du paragraphe 1 de l'article 9.
- 4. Le terme « intérêts » employé dans le présent article désigne les revenus des créances de toute nature, assorties ou non de garanties hypothécaires, et notamment les revenus des fonds publics et des obligations d'emprunts, y compris les primes et lots attachés à ces titres, ainsi que tous autres revenus soumis au même régime fiscal que les revenus de sommes prêtées par la législation de l'État d'où proviennent les revenus. Toutefois, le terme « intérêts » ne comprend pas les revenus visés à l'article 10.
- 5. Les dispositions des paragraphes 1, 2 et 3 ne s'appliquent pas lorsque le bénéficiaire effectif des intérêts, résident d'un État contractant, exerce dans l'autre État contractant d'où proviennent les intérêts, soit une activité industrielle ou commerciale par l'intermédiaire d'un éta-blissement stable qui y est situé, soit une profession indépendante au moyen d'une base fixe qui y est située, et que la créance génératrice des intérêts s'y rattache effectivement. Dans ce cas, les dispositions de l'article 7 ou de l'article 14, suivant les cas, sont applicables.
- 6. Les intérêts sont considérés comme provenant d'un État contractant lorsque le débiteur est un résident de cet État. Toutefois, lorsque le débiteur des intérêts, qu'il soit ou non un résident d'un État contractant, a dans un État contractant un établissement stable, ou une base fixe, pour lequel la dette donnant lieu au paiement des intérêts a été contractée et qui supporte la charge de ces intérêts, ceux-ci sont considérés comme provenant de l'État où l'établissement stable, ou la base fixe, est citué
- 7. Lorsque, en raison de relations spéciales existant entre le débiteur et le bénéficiaire effectif ou que l'un et l'autre entretiennent avec de tierces personnes, le montant des intérêts payés, compte tenu de la créance pour laquelle ils sont payés, excède celui dont seraient convenus le débiteur et le bénéficiaire effectif en l'absence de pareilles relations, les dispositions du présent article ne s'appliquent qu'à ce dernier montant. Dans ce cas, la partie excédentaire des paiements reste imposable selon la législation de chaque État contractant et compte tenu des autres dispositions de la présente Convention.

ARTICLE 12

Redevances

1. Les redevances provenant d'un État contractant et payées à un résident de l'autre État contractant sont imposables dans cet autre État.

2. However, such royalties may also be taxed in the Contracting State in which they arise and according to the laws of that State, but if the beneficial owner of the royalties is a resident of the other Contracting State, the tax so charged shall not exceed 10 per cent of the gross amount of the royalties.

Conventions fiscales (2001) — Annexe 6

- 3. The term "royalties" as used in this Article means payments of any kind received as a consideration for the use of, or the right to use, any copyright of literary, artistic or scientific work including motion picture films and works on films, tapes or other means of reproduction for use in connection with television or radio broadcasting, any patent, trade mark, design or model, plan, secret formula or process, or for the use of, or the right to use, industrial, commercial or scientific equipment, or for information concerning industrial, commercial or scientific experience. However, the term "royalties" does not include income dealt with in Article 8.
- 4. The provisions of paragraphs 1 and 2 shall not apply if the beneficial owner of the royalties, being a resident of a Contracting State, carries on business in the other Contracting State in which the royalties arise, through a permanent establishment situated therein, or performs in that other State independent personal services from a fixed base situated therein, and the right or property in respect of which the royalties are paid is effectively connected with such permanent establishment or fixed base. In such case the provisions of Article 7 or Article 14, as the case may be, shall apply.
- 5. Royalties shall be deemed to arise in a Contracting State when the payer is a resident of that State. Where, however, the person paying the royalties, whether the payer is a resident of a Contracting State or not, has in a Contracting State a permanent establishment or a fixed base in connection with which the liability to pay the royalties was incurred, and such royalties are borne by such permanent establishment or fixed base, then such royalties shall be deemed to arise in the State in which the permanent establishment or fixed base is situated.
- 6. Where, by reason of a special relationship between the payer and the beneficial owner or between both of them and some other person, the amount of the royalties paid, having regard to the use, right or information for which they are paid, exceeds the amount which would have been agreed upon by the payer and the beneficial owner in the absence of such relationship, the provisions of this Article shall apply only to the last-mentioned amount. In such case, the excess part of the payments shall remain taxable according to the laws of each Contracting State, due regard being had to the other provisions of this Convention.

ARTICLE 13

Capital Gains

1. Income and gains derived by a resident of a Contracting State from the alienation of immovable property situated in the other Contracting State may be taxed in that other State.

- 2. Toutefois, ces redevances sont aussi imposables dans l'État contractant d'où elles proviennent et selon la législation de cet État, mais si le bénéficiaire effectif des redevances est un résident de l'autre État contractant, l'impôt ainsi établi ne peut excéder 10 pour cent du montant brut des redevances.
- 3. Le terme « redevances » employé dans le présent article désigne les rémunérations de toute nature payées pour l'usage ou la concession de l'usage d'un droit d'auteur sur une oeuvre littéraire, artistique ou scientifique, y compris les films cinématographiques et les oeuvres enregistrées sur films, bandes magnétiques ou autres moyens de reproduction destinés à la télévision ou à la radio diffusion, d'un brevet, d'une marque de fabrique ou de commerce, d'un dessin ou d'un modèle, d'un plan, d'une formule ou d'un procédé secrets, ainsi que pour l'usage ou la concession de l'usage d'un équipement industriel, commercial ou scientifique ou pour des informations ayant trait à une expérience acquise dans le domaine industriel, commercial ou scientifique. Toutefois, le terme « redevances » ne comprend pas les revenus visés à l'article 8.
- 4. Les dispositions des paragraphes 1 et 2 ne s'appliquent pas lorsque le bénéficiaire effectif des redevances, résident d'un État contractant, exerce dans l'autre État contractant d'où proviennent les redevances, soit une activité industrielle ou commerciale par l'intermédiaire d'un établissement stable qui y est situé, soit une profession indépendante au moyen d'une base fixe qui y est située, et que le droit ou le bien générateur des redevances s'y rattache effectivement. Dans ce cas, les dispositions de l'article 7 ou de l'article 14, suivant les cas, sont applicables.
- 5. Les redevances sont considérées comme provenant d'un État contractant lorsque le débiteur est un résident de cet État. Toutefois, lorsque le débiteur des redevances, qu'il soit ou non un résident d'un État contractant, a dans un État contractant un établissement stable, ou une base fixe, pour lequel l'obligation donnant lieu au paiement des redevances a été conclue et qui supporte la charge de ces redevances, celles-ci sont considérées comme provenant de l'État où l'établissement stable, ou la base fixe, est situé.
- 6. Lorsque, en raison de relations spéciales existant entre le débiteur et le bénéficiaire effectif ou que l'un et l'autre entretiennent avec de tierces personnes, le montant des redevances payé, compte tenu de la prestation pour laquelle elles sont payées, excède celui dont seraient convenus le débiteur et le bénéficiaire effectif en l'absence de pareilles relations, les dispositions du présent article ne s'appliquent qu'à ce dernier montant. Dans ce cas, la partie excédentaire des paiements reste imposable selon la législation de chaque État contractant et compte tenu des autres dispositions de la présente Convention.

ARTICLE 13

Gains en capital

1. Les revenus et gains qu'un résident d'un État contractant tire de l'aliénation de biens immobiliers situés dans l'autre État contractant sont imposables dans cet autre État.

- 2. Gains from the alienation of movable property forming part of the business property of a permanent establishment which an enterprise of a Contracting State has in the other Contracting State or of movable property pertaining to a fixed base available to a resident of a Contracting State in the other Contracting State for the purpose of performing independent personal services, including such gains from the alienation of such a permanent establishment (alone or with the whole enterprise) or of such a fixed base, may be taxed in that other State.
- 3. The provisions of paragraphs 1 and 2 shall also apply to gains from the alienation of an interest in a partnership to the extent that the gains can be attributed to immovable property or to movable property forming part of the business property of a partnership.
- 4. Gains derived by a resident of a Contracting State from the alienation of ships or aircraft operated in international traffic or of movable property pertaining to the operation of such ships or aircraft, shall be taxable only in that State.
- 5. Gains derived by a resident of a Contracting State from the alienation of
 - (a) shares forming part of a substantial interest in the capital stock of a company, at least 50 per cent of the value of which shares is derived from immovable property situated in the other State, and
 - (b) an interest in a trust, at least 50 per cent of the value of which is derived from immovable property situated in that other State,

may be taxed in that other State. For the purposes of this paragraph, the term "immovable property" does not include any property, other than rental property, in which the business of the company or trust is carried on, and a substantial interest exists when the resident or persons related thereto own 10 per cent or more of any class of the capital stock of a company.

- 6. Gains from the alienation of any property other than that referred to in paragraphs 1, 2, 3, 4 and 5, shall be taxable only in the Contracting State of which the alienator is a resident.
- 7. The provisions of this Article shall not affect the right of a Contracting State to levy, according to its law, a tax on gains from the alienation of any property derived by an individual who is a resident of the other Contracting State and have been a resident of the first-mentioned State at any time during the six years immediately preceding the alienation of the property.

- 2. Les gains provenant de l'aliénation de biens mobiliers qui sont utilisés ou détenus principalement en vue de tirer un revenu provenant d'une entreprise exploitée par un établissement stable qu'une entreprise d'un État contractant a dans l'autre État contractant, ou de biens mobiliers qui appartiennent à une base fixe dont un résident d'un État contractant dispose dans l'autre État contractant pour l'exercice d'une profession indépendante, y compris de tels gains provenant de l'aliéna-tion de cet établissement stable (seul ou avec l'ensemble de l'entreprise) ou de cette base fixe, sont imposables dans cet autre État.
- 3. Les dispositions des paragraphes 1 et 2 s'appliquent également aux gains provenant de l'aliénation d'une participation dans une société de personnes dans la mesure où les gains peuvent être attribués à des biens immobiliers ou à des biens mobiliers qui sont utilisés ou détenus principalement en vue de tirer un revenu provenant d'une entreprise exploitée par la société de personnes.
- 4. Les gains qu'un résident d'un État contractant tire de l'aliénation de navires ou aéronefs exploités en trafic international ou de biens mobiliers affectés à l'exploitation de ces navires ou aéronefs ne sont imposables que dans cet État.
- 5. Les gains qu'un résident d'un État contractant tire de l'aliénation :
 - a) d'actions faisant partie d'une participation substantielle dans le capital d'une société dont au moins 50 pour cent de la valeur de ces actions est tirée de biens immobiliers situés dans l'autre État: et
 - b) d'une participation dans une fiducie dont au moins 50 pour cent de la valeur est tirée de biens immobiliers situés dans cet autre État,

sont imposables dans cet autre État. Au sens du présent paragraphe, l'expression « biens immobiliers » ne comprend pas les biens, autres que les biens locatifs, dans lesquels la société ou la fiducie exerce son activité et, il existe une participation substantielle lorsque le résident et des personnes qui lui sont liées possèdent au moins 10 pour cent des actions d'une catégorie quelconque du capital social d'une société.

- 6. Les gains provenant de l'aliénation de tous biens autres que ceux visés aux paragraphes 1, 2, 3, 4 et 5 ne sont imposables que dans l'État contractant dont le cédant est un résident.
- 7. Les dispositions du présent article ne portent pas atteinte au droit d'un État contractant de percevoir, conformément à sa législation, un impôt sur les gains provenant de l'aliénation d'un bien et réalisés par une personne physique qui est un résident de l'autre État contractant et qui a été un résident du premier État à un moment quelconque au cours des six années précédant immédiatement l'aliénation du bien.

8. Where an individual who ceases to be a resident of a Contracting State, and immediately thereafter becomes a resident of the other Contracting State, is treated for the purposes of taxation in the first-mentioned State as having alienated a property and is taxed in that State by reason thereof, the individual may elect to be treated for the purposes of taxation in the other State as if the individual had, immediately before becoming a resident of that State, sold and repurchased the property for an amount equal to its fair market value at that time. However, this provision shall not apply to property any gain from which, arising immediately before the individual became a resident of that other State, may be taxed in that other State nor to immovable property situated in a third State.

ARTICLE 14

Independent Personal Services

- 1. Income derived by an individual who is a resident of a Contracting State in respect of professional services or other activities of an independent character shall be taxable only in that State except in the following circumstances, when such income may also be taxed in the other Contracting State:
 - (a) if the individual has or had a fixed base regularly available in the other Contracting State for the purpose of performing the activities; in that case, only so much of the income as is attributable to that fixed base may be taxed in the other State; or
 - (b) if the individual is present in the other State for a period or periods exceeding in the aggregate 183 days in any twelve month period commencing or ending in the fiscal year concerned; in that case, only so much of the income as is derived from the activities performed in the other State may be taxed in that other State.
- 2. The term "professional services" includes especially independent scientific, literary, artistic, educational or teaching activities as well as the independent activities of physicians, lawyers, engineers, architects, dentists and accountants.

ARTICLE 15

Dependent Personal Services

1. Subject to the provisions of Articles 16, 18 and 19, salaries, wages and other remuneration derived by a resident of a Contracting State in respect of an employment shall be taxable only in that State unless the employment is exercised in the other Contracting State. If the employment is so exercised, such remuneration as is derived therefrom may be taxed in that other State.

8. Lorsqu'une personne physique qui, immédiatement après avoir cessé d'être un résident d'un État contractant, devient un résident de l'autre État contractant est considérée aux fins d'imposition dans le premier État comme ayant aliéné un bien et est imposée dans cet État en raison de cette aliénation, elle peut choisir, aux fins d'imposition dans l'autre État, d'être considérée comme ayant vendu et racheté, immédiatement avant de devenir un résident de cet État, le bien pour un montant égal à sa juste valeur marchande à ce moment. Toutefois, la présente disposition ne s'applique ni aux biens qui donneraient lieu, immédiatement avant que la personne physique ne devienne un résident de cet autre État, à des gains imposables dans cet autre État, ni aux biens immobiliers situés dans un État tiers.

ARTICLE 14

Professions indépendantes

- 1. Les revenus qu'une personne physique qui est un résident d'un État contractant tire d'une profession libérale ou d'autres activités de caractère indépendant ne sont imposables que dans cet État; toutefois, ces revenus sont aussi imposables dans l'autre État contractant dans les cas suivants :
 - a) si la personne physique dispose ou a disposé de façon habituelle dans l'autre État contractant d'une base fixe pour l'exercice de ses activités; en ce cas, seule la fraction des revenus qui est imputable à cette base fixe est imposable dans l'autre État; ou
 - b) si la personne physique est présente dans l'autre État pendant une période ou des périodes excédant au total 183 jours au cours de toute période de douze mois commençant ou se terminant dans l'année fiscale considérée; en ce cas, seule la fraction des revenus qui est tirée des activités exercées dans l'autre État est imposable dans cet autre État.
- 2. L'expression « profession libérale » comprend notamment les activités indépendantes d'ordre scientifique, littéraire, artistique, éducatif ou pédagogique, ainsi que les activités indépendantes des médecins, avocats, ingénieurs, architectes, dentistes et comptables.

ARTICLE 15

Professions dépendantes

1. Sous réserve des dispositions des articles 16, 18 et 19, les salaires, traitements et autres rémunérations qu'un résident d'un État contractant reçoit au titre d'un emploi salarié ne sont imposables que dans cet État, à moins que l'emploi ne soit exercé dans l'autre État contractant. Si l'emploi y est exercé, les rémunérations reçues à ce titre sont imposables dans cet autre État.

- 2. Notwithstanding the provisions of paragraph 1, remuneration derived by a resident of a Contracting State in respect of an employment exercised in the other Contracting State shall be taxable only in the first-mentioned State if:
 - (a) the employment is exercised in the other State for a period or periods not exceeding in the aggregate 183 days in any twelve month period commencing or ending in the fiscal year concerned, and
 - (b) the remuneration is paid by, or on behalf of, an employer who is not a resident of the other State, and
 - (c) the remuneration is not borne by a permanent establishment or a fixed base which the employer has in the other State.
- 3. Notwithstanding the preceding provisions of this Article, remuneration derived in respect of an employment exercised aboard a ship or aircraft operated by a resident of a Contracting State in international traffic, may be taxed in that State.

Directors' Fees

Directors' fees and other similar payments derived by a resident of a Contracting State in that resident's capacity as a member of the board of directors or other similar organ of a company which is a resident of the other Contracting State may be taxed in that other State.

ARTICLE 17

Artistes and Sportspersons

- 1. Notwithstanding the provisions of Articles 14 and 15, income derived by a resident of a Contracting State as an entertainer, such as a theatre, motion picture, radio or television artiste, or a musician, or as a sportsperson, from that resident's personal activities as such exercised in the other Contracting State, may be taxed in that other State.
- 2. Where income in respect of personal activities exercised by an entertainer or a sportsperson in that individual's capacity as such accrues not to the entertainer or sportsperson personally but to another person, that income may, notwithstanding the provisions of Articles 7, 14 and 15, be taxed in the Contracting State in which the activities of the entertainer or sportsperson are exercised.

ARTICLE 18

Pensions and Annuities

1. Pensions and annuities arising in a Contracting State and paid to a resident of the other Contracting State may be taxed in that other State.

- 2. Nonobstant les dispositions du paragraphe l, les rémunérations qu'un résident d'un État contractant reçoit au titre d'un emploi salarié exercé dans l'autre État contractant ne sont imposables que dans le premier État si :
 - a) l'emploi est exercé dans l'autre État pendant une période ou des périodes n'excédant pas au total 183 jours au cours de toute période de douze mois commençant ou se terminant dans l'année fiscale considérée, et
 - b) les rémunérations sont payées par un employeur ou pour le compte d'un employeur qui n'est pas un résident de l'autre État, et
 - c) la charge des rémunérations n'est pas supportée par un établissement stable ou une base fixe que l'employeur a dans l'autre État.
- 3. Nonobstant les dispositions précédentes du présent article, les rémunérations reçues au titre d'un emploi salarié exercé à bord d'un navire ou d'un aéronef exploité en trafic international par un résident d'un État contractant sont imposables dans cet État.

ARTICLE 16

Tantièmes

Les tantièmes, jetons de présence et autres rétributions similaires qu'un résident d'un État contractant reçoit en sa qualité de membre du conseil d'administration ou de surveillance ou d'un autre organe analogue d'une société qui est un résident de l'autre État contractant sont imposables dans cet autre État.

ARTICLE 17

Artistes et sportifs

- 1. Nonobstant les dispositions des articles 14 et 15, les revenus qu'un résident d'un État contractant tire de ses activités personnelles exercées dans l'autre État contractant en tant qu'artiste du spectacle, tel qu'un artiste de théâtre, de cinéma, de la radio ou de la télévision, ou qu'un musicien, ou en tant que sportif, sont imposables dans cet autre État.
- 2. Lorsque les revenus d'activités qu'un artiste du spectacle ou un sportif exerce personnellement et en cette qualité sont attribués non pas à l'artiste ou au sportif lui-même mais à une autre personne, ces revenus sont imposables, nonobstant les dispositions des articles 7, 14 et 15, dans l'État contractant où les activités de l'artiste ou du sportif sont exercées.

ARTICLE 18

Pensions et rentes

1. Les pensions et les rentes provenant d'un État contractant et payées à un résident de l'autre État contractant sont imposables dans cet autre État.

- 2. Pensions and annuities arising in a Contracting State and paid to a resident of the other Contracting State may also be taxed in the State in which they arise and according to the laws of that State. However, in the case of periodic pension (other than benefits under the social security legislation in a Contracting State) and annuity payments, the tax so charged shall not exceed 15 per cent of the gross amount of the payments. However, this limitation does not apply to lump-sum payments arising on the surrender, cancellation, redemption, sale or other alienation of a pension plan or an annuity.
 - 3. Notwithstanding anything in this Convention:
 - (a) benefits under the social security legislation in a Contracting State and war veterans pensions and allowances arising in a Contracting State and paid to a resident of the other Contracting State shall be taxable only in the first-mentioned State:
 - (b) alimony, maintenance and other similar payments arising in a Contracting State and paid to a resident of the other Contracting State who is subject to tax therein in respect thereof, shall be taxable only in that other State but the amount taxable in that other State shall not exceed the amount that would be taxable in the first-mentioned State if the recipient were a resident thereof.

Government Service

- 1. (a) Salaries, wages and other remuneration, other than a pension, paid by a Contracting State or a political subdivision or a local authority thereof to an individual in respect of services rendered to that State or political subdivision or local authority shall be taxable only in that State.
- (b) However, such salaries, wages and other remuneration shall be taxable only in the other Contracting State if the services are rendered in that State and the individual is a resident of that State who:
 - (i) is a national of that State; or
 - (ii) did not become a resident of that State solely for the purpose of rendering the services.
- 2. The provisions of paragraph 1 shall not apply to salaries, wages and other remuneration in respect of services rendered in connection with a business carried on by a Contracting State or a political subdivision or a local authority thereof.

- 2. Les pensions et les rentes provenant d'un État contractant et payées à un résident de l'autre État contractant sont aussi imposables dans l'État d'où elles proviennent et selon la législation de cet État. Toutefois, dans le cas de paiements périodiques d'une pension (autres que des prestations en vertu de la législation sur la sécurité sociale dans un État contractant) ou d'une rente, l'impôt ainsi établi ne peut excéder 15 pour cent du montant brut du paiement. Toutefois, cette limitation ne s'applique pas aux paiements forfaitaires découlant de l'abandon, de l'annulation, du rachat, de la vente ou d'une autre forme d'aliénation d'un régime de pension ou d'une rente.
 - 3. Nonobstant toute disposition de la présente Convention :
 - a) les prestations en vertu de la législation sur la sécurité sociale dans un État contractant et les pensions et allocations d'ancien combattant provenant d'un État contractant et payés à un résident de l'autre État contractant ne sont imposables que dans le premier État; et
 - b) les pensions alimentaires, paiements de soutien et autres paiements similaires provenant d'un État contractant et payés à un résident de l'autre État contractant qui y est assujetti à l'impôt à l'égard de ceux-ci, ne sont imposables que dans cet autre État, mais le montant qui est imposable dans cet autre État n'excède pas le montant qui serait imposable dans le premier État si le bénéficiaire était un résident de ce premier État.

ARTICLE 19

Fonctions publiques

- 1. *a*) Les salaires, traitements et autres rémunérations, autres que les pensions, payés par un État contractant ou l'une de ses subdivisions politiques ou collectivités locales à une personne physique, au titre de services rendus à cet État ou à cette subdivision politique ou collectivité locale, ne sont imposables que dans cet État.
- b) Toutefois, ces salaires, traitements et autres rémunérations ne sont imposables que dans l'autre État contractant si les services sont rendus dans cet État et si la personne physique est un résident de cet État qui :
 - (i) possède la nationalité de cet État, ou
 - (ii) n'est pas devenu un résident de cet État à seule fin de rendre les services.
- 2. Les dispositions du paragraphe l ne s'appliquent pas aux salaires, traitements et autres rémunérations payés au titre de services rendus dans le cadre d'une activité industrielle ou commerciale exercée par un État contractant ou l'une de ses subdivisions politiques ou collectivités locales.

Students

Payments which a student or business apprentice who is present in a Contracting State solely for the purpose of that individual's education or training and who is or was immediately before such visit a resident of the other Contracting State receives for the purpose of that individual's maintenance, education or training shall not be taxed in the first-mentioned Contracting State, provided that such payments arise from sources outside that State.

ARTICLE 21

Other Income

- 1. Items of income of a resident of a Contracting State, wherever arising, not dealt with in the foregoing Articles of this Convention shall be taxable only in that State.
- 2. Notwithstanding the provisions of paragraph 1, items of income of a resident of a Contracting State not dealt with in the foregoing Articles of this Convention and arising in the other Contracting State may also be taxed in that other State. Where such income is income of a resident of the Czech Republic from a trust, other than a trust to which contributions were deductible, the tax so charged shall, if the income is taxable in the Czech Republic where the beneficial owner is a resident, not exceed 15 per cent of the gross amount of the income.

ARTICLE 22

Elimination of Double Taxation

- 1. In the case of Canada, double taxation shall be avoided as follows:
 - (a) subject to the existing provisions of the law of Canada regarding the deduction from tax payable in Canada of tax paid in a territory outside Canada and to any subsequent modification of those provisions which shall not affect the general principle hereof and unless a greater deduction or relief is provided under the laws of Canada, tax payable in the Czech Republic on profits, income or capital gains arising in the Czech Republic shall be deducted from any Canadian tax payable in respect of such profits, income or capital gains;
 - (b) for the purposes of this paragraph, profits, income or capital gains of a resident of Canada which may be taxed in the Czech Republic in accordance with this Convention shall be deemed to arise from sources in the Czech Republic.

ARTICLE 20

Étudiants

Les sommes qu'un étudiant ou un stagiaire qui séjourne dans un État contractant à seule fin d'y poursuivre ses études ou sa formation et qui est, ou qui était immédiatement avant de se rendre dans cet État, un résident de l'autre État contractant reçoit pour couvrir ses frais d'entretien, d'études ou de formation ne sont pas imposables dans le premier État contractant, à condition qu'elles proviennent de sources situées en dehors de cet État.

ARTICLE 21

Autres revenus

- 1. Les éléments du revenu d'un résident d'un État contractant, d'où qu'ils proviennent, qui ne sont pas traités dans les articles précédents de la présente Convention ne sont imposables que dans cet État.
- 2. Nonobstant les dispositions du paragraphe 1, les éléments du revenu d'un résident d'un État contractant qui ne sont pas traités dans les articles précédents de la présente Convention et qui proviennent de l'autre État contractant sont aussi imposables dans cet autre État. Lorsque ces revenus sont des revenus d'un résident de la République tchèque provenant d'une fiducie, autre qu'une fiducie qui a reçu des contributions pour lesquelles une déduction a été accordée, l'impôt ainsi établi ne peut excéder 15 pour cent du montant brut du revenu si le revenu est imposable en République tchèque où le bénéficiaire effectif est un résident.

ARTICLE 22

Élimination de la double imposition

- 1. En ce qui concerne le Canada, la double imposition est évitée de la facon suivante :
 - a) sous réserve des dispositions existantes de la législation canadienne concernant l'imputation de l'impôt payé dans un territoire en dehors du Canada sur l'impôt canadien payable et de toute modification ultérieure de ces dispositions qui n'en affecterait pas le principe général, et sans préjudice d'une déduction ou d'un dégrèvement plus important prévu par la législation canadienne, l'impôt dû en République tchèque à raison de bénéfices, revenus ou gains en capital provenant de la République tchèque est porté en déduction de tout impôt canadien dû à raison des mêmes bénéfices, revenus ou gains en capital;
 - b) pour l'application du présent paragraphe, les bénéfices, revenus ou gains en capital d'un résident du Canada qui sont imposables en République tchèque conformément à la présente Convention sont considérés comme provenant de sources situées en République tchèque.

2. In the case of the Czech Republic, double taxation shall be avoided as follows:

the Czech Republic, when imposing taxes on its residents, may include in the tax base upon which such taxes are imposed the items of income which according to the provisions of this Convention may also be taxed in Canada, but shall allow as a deduction from the amount of tax computed on such a base an amount equal to the tax paid in Canada. Such deduction shall not, however, exceed that part of the Czech tax, as computed before the deduction is given, which is appropriate to the income which, in accordance with the provisions of this Convention, may be taxed in Canada.

3. Where in accordance with any provision of the Convention income derived by a resident of a Contracting State is exempt from tax in that State, such State may nevertheless, in calculating the amount of tax on other income, take into account the exempted income.

ARTICLE 23

Non-discrimination

- 1. Nationals of a Contracting State shall not be subjected in the other Contracting State to any taxation or any requirement connected therewith, which is other or more burdensome than the taxation and connected requirements to which nationals of that other State in the same circumstances, in particular with respect to residence, are or may be subjected. This provision shall, notwithstanding the provisions of Article 1, also apply to individuals who are not residents of one or both of the Contracting States.
- 2. The taxation on a permanent establishment which an enterprise of a Contracting State has in the other Contracting State or on a fixed base that an individual who is a resident of a Contracting State has in the other Contracting State shall not be less favourably levied in that other State than the taxation levied on enterprises or individuals, as the case may be, of that other State carrying on the same activities.
- 3. Nothing in this Article shall be construed as obliging a Contracting State to grant to residents of the other Contracting State any personal allowances, reliefs and reductions for taxation purposes on account of civil status or family responsibilities which it grants to its own residents.
- 4. Companies which are residents of a Contracting State, the capital of which is wholly or partly owned or controlled, directly or indirectly, by one or more residents of the other Contracting State, shall not be subjected in the first-mentioned State to any taxation or any requirement connected therewith which is other or more burdensome than the taxation and connected requirements to which other similar companies which are residents of the first-mentioned State, the capital of which is wholly or partly owned or controlled, directly or indirectly, by one or more residents of a third State, are or may be subjected.

2. En ce qui concerne la République tchèque, la double imposition est évitée de la façon suivante :

aux fins de l'imposition de ses résidents, la République tchèque peut, pour calculer le montant imposable sur lequel l'impôt s'applique, inclure les éléments du revenu qui sont aussi imposables au Canada en vertu des dispositions de la présente Convention mais permet alors de déduire de l'impôt ainsi calculé un montant égal à l'impôt payé au Canada. La somme ainsi déduite ne peut toutefois excéder la fraction de l'impôt tchèque calculé avant la déduction, correspondant aux revenus qui, en vertu de la présente Convention, sont imposables au Canada.

3. Lorsque, conformément à une disposition quelconque de la Convention, les revenus qu'un résident d'un État contractant reçoit sont exempts d'impôts dans cet État, cet État peut néanmoins, pour calculer le montant de l'impôt sur d'autres revenus, tenir compte des revenus exemptés.

ARTICLE 23

Non-discrimination

- 1. Les nationaux d'un État contractant ne sont soumis dans l'autre État contractant à aucune imposition ou obligation y relative, qui est autre ou plus lourde que celles auxquelles sont ou pourront être assujettis les nationaux de cet autre État qui se trouvent dans la même situation, notamment au regard de la résidence. La présente disposition s'applique aussi, nonobstant les dispositions de l'article 1, aux personnes physiques qui ne sont pas des résidents d'un État contractant ou des deux États contractants.
- 2. L'imposition d'un établissement stable qu'une entreprise d'un État contractant a dans l'autre État contractant, ou d'une base fixe qu'une personne physique qui est un résident d'un État contractant possède dans l'autre État contractant, n'est pas établie dans cet autre État d'une façon moins favorable que l'imposition des entreprises ou des personnes physiques, selon le cas, de cet autre État qui exercent la même activité.
- 3. Aucune disposition du présent article ne peut être interprétée comme obligeant un État contractant à accorder aux résidents de l'autre État contractant les déductions personnelles, abattements et réductions d'impôt en fonction de la situation ou des charges de famille qu'il accorde à ses propres résidents.
- 4. Les sociétés qui sont des résidents d'un État contractant, dont le capital est en totalité ou en partie, directement ou indirectement, détenu ou contrôlé par un ou plusieurs résidents de l'autre État contractant, ne sont soumises dans le premier État à aucune imposition ou obligation y relative, qui est autre ou plus lourde que celles auxquelles sont ou pourront être assujetties les autres sociétés similaires qui sont des résidents du premier État et dont le capital est en totalité ou en partie, directement ou indirectement, détenu ou contrôlé par un ou plusieurs résidents d'un État tiers.

Mutual Agreement Procedure

- 1. Where a person considers that the actions of one or both of the Contracting States result or will result for that person in taxation not in accordance with the provisions of this Convention, that person may, irrespective of the remedies provided by the domestic law of those States, address to the competent authority of the Contracting State of which that person is a resident or, if that person's case comes under paragraph 1 of Article 23, to that of the Contracting State of which that person is a national, an application in writing stating the grounds for claiming the revision of such taxation. To be admissible, the said application must be submitted within two years from the first notification of the action which gives rise to taxation not in accordance with the Convention.
- 2. The competent authority referred to in paragraph 1 shall endeavour, if the objection appears to it to be justified and if it is not itself able to arrive at a satisfactory solution, to resolve the case by mutual agreement with the competent authority of the other Contracting State, with a view to the avoidance of taxation not in accordance with the Convention.
- 3. A Contracting State shall not, after the expiry of the time limits provided in its domestic laws and, in any case, after five years from the end of the year in which the income concerned has accrued, increase the tax base of a resident of either of the Contracting States by including therein items of income which have also been charged to tax in the other Contracting State. This paragraph shall not apply in the case of fraud, wilful default or neglect.
- 4. The competent authorities of the Contracting States shall endeavour to resolve by mutual agreement any difficulties or doubts arising as to the interpretation or application of the Convention. They may also consult together for the elimination of double taxation in cases not provided for in the Convention.
- 5. The competent authorities of the Contracting States may communicate with each other directly for the purpose of reaching an agreement in the sense of the preceding paragraphs.

ARTICLE 25

Exchange of Information

1. The competent authorities of the Contracting States shall exchange such information as is relevant for carrying out the provisions of this Convention and of the domestic laws of the Contracting States concerning taxes covered by the Convention insofar as the taxation thereunder is not contrary to the Convention, and in particular for the prevention of fraud or evasion in relation to such taxes. The exchange of information is not restricted by Article 1. Any information received by a

ARTICLE 24

Procédure amiable

- 1. Lorsqu'une personne estime que les mesures prises par un État contractant ou par les deux États contractants entraînent ou entraîneront pour elle une imposition non conforme aux dispositions de la présente Convention, elle peut, indépendamment des recours prévus par le droit interne de ces États, adresser à l'autorité compétente de l'État contractant dont elle est un résident ou, si son cas relève du paragraphe 1 de l'article 23, à celle de l'État contractant dont elle possède la nationalité, une demande écrite et motivée de révision de cette imposition. Pour être recevable, cette demande doit être présentée dans un délai de deux ans à compter de la première notification de la mesure qui entraîne une imposition non conforme aux dispositions de la Convention.
- 2. L'autorité compétente visée au paragraphe l s'efforce, si la réclamation lui paraît fondée et si elle n'est pas elle-même en mesure d'y apporter une solution satisfaisante, de résoudre le cas par voie d'accord amiable avec l'autorité compétente de l'autre État contractant, en vue d'éviter une imposition non conforme à la Convention.
- 3. Un État contractant n'augmente pas la base imposable d'un résident de l'un ou l'autre État contractant en y incluant des éléments de revenu qui ont déjà été imposés dans l'autre État contractant, après l'expiration des délais prévus par son droit interne et, en tout cas, après l'expiration de cinq ans à dater de la fin de l'année au cours de laquelle les revenus en cause ont été réalisés. Le présent paragraphe ne s'applique pas en cas de fraude, d'omission volontaire ou de négligence.
- 4. Les autorités compétentes des États contractants s'efforcent, par voie d'accord amiable, de résoudre les difficultés ou de dissiper les doutes auxquels peuvent donner lieu l'interprétation ou l'application de la Convention. Elles peuvent aussi se concerter en vue d'éliminer la double imposition dans les cas non prévus par la Convention.
- 5. Les autorités compétentes des États contractants peuvent communiquer directement entre elles en vue de parvenir à un accord comme il est indiqué aux paragraphes précédents.

ARTICLE 25

Échange de renseignements

1. Les autorités compétentes des États contractants échangent les renseignements pertinents à l'application des dispositions de la présente Convention et celles de la législation interne des États contractants relative aux impôts visés par la Convention dans la mesure où l'imposition qu'elle prévoit n'est pas contraire à la Convention, et en particulier pour prévenir l'évasion fiscale et la fraude de ces impôts. L'échange de renseignements n'est pas restreint par l'article l. Les renseignements reçus par un État

Contracting State shall be treated as secret in the same manner as secret information obtained under the domestic laws of that State and shall be disclosed only to persons or authorities (including courts and administrative bodies) involved in the assessment or collection of, the enforcement or prosecution in respect of, or the determination of appeals in relation to, the taxes imposed by that State. Such persons or authorities shall use the information only for such purposes. They may disclose the information in public court proceedings or in judicial decisions.

- 2. Nothing in paragraph 1 shall be construed so as to impose on a Contracting State the obligation:
 - (a) to carry out administrative measures at variance with the laws or the administrative practice of that or of the other Contracting State;
 - (b) to supply information which is not obtainable under the laws or in the normal course of the administration of that or of the other Contracting State;
 - (c) to supply information which would disclose any trade, business, industrial, commercial or professional secret or trade process, or information, the disclosure of which would be contrary to public policy.
- 3. If information is requested by a Contracting State in accordance with this Article, the other Contracting State shall endeavour to obtain the information to which the request relates in the same way as if its own taxation were involved even though the other State does not, at that time, need such information. If specifically requested by the competent authority of a Contracting State, the competent authority of the other Contracting State shall endeavour to provide information under this Article in the form requested to the same extent such information can be obtained under the laws and administrative practices of that other State with respect to its own taxes.

ARTICLE 26

Members of Diplomatic Missions and Consular Posts

- 1. Nothing in this Convention shall affect the fiscal privileges of members of diplomatic missions or consular posts under the general rules of international law or under the provisions of special agreements.
- 2. Notwithstanding Article 4, an individual who is a member of a diplomatic mission, consular post or permanent mission of a Contracting State which is situated in the other Contracting State or in a third State shall be deemed for the purposes of the Convention to be a resident of the sending State if that individual is liable in the sending State to the same obligations in relation to tax on total income as are residents of that sending State.

contractant sont tenus secrets de la même manière que les renseignements secrets obtenus en application de la législation interne de cet État et ne sont communiqués qu'aux personnes ou autorités (y compris les tribunaux et organes administratifs) concernées par l'établissement ou le recouvrement des impôts perçus par cet État, par les procédures ou poursuites concernant ces impôts, ou par les décisions sur les recours relatifs à ces impôts. Ces personnes ou autorités n'utilisent ces renseignements qu'à ces fins. Elles peuvent faire état de ces renseignements au cours d'audiences publiques de tribunaux ou dans des jugements.

- 2. Les dispositions du paragraphe 1 ne peuvent en aucun cas être interprétées comme imposant à un État contractant l'obligation :
 - a) de prendre des mesures administratives dérogeant à sa législation ou à sa pratique administrative ou à celles de l'autre État contractant;
 - b) de fournir des renseignements qui ne pourraient être obtenus sur la base de sa législation ou dans le cadre de sa pratique administrative normale ou de celles de l'autre État contractant;
 - c) de fournir des renseignements qui révéleraient un secret commercial, industriel, professionnel ou un procédé commercial ou des renseignements dont la communication serait contraire à l'ordre public.
- 3. Lorsqu'un État contractant demande des renseignements en conformité avec le présent article, l'autre État contractant s'efforce d'obtenir les renseignements relatifs à cette demande de la même façon que si ses propres impôts étaient en jeu même si cet autre État n'a pas besoin, à ce moment, de ces renseignements. Si la demande de l'autorité compétente d'un État contractant le requiert expressément, l'autorité compétente de l'autre État contractant s'efforce de fournir les renseignements demandés en vertu du présent article sous la forme requise dans la mesure où ces renseignements peuvent être obtenus sur la base de la législation ou dans le cadre de la pratique administrative relative aux propres impôts de cet autre État.

ARTICLE 26

Membres des missions diplomatiques et postes consulaires

- 1. Les dispositions de la présente Convention ne portent pas atteinte aux privilèges fiscaux dont bénéficient les membres des missions diplomatiques ou postes consulaires en vertu soit des règles générales du droit international, soit des dispositions d'accords particuliers.
- 2. Nonobstant l'article 4, une personne physique qui est membre d'une mission diplomatique, d'un poste consulaire ou d'une délégation permanente d'un État contractant qui est situé dans l'autre État contractant ou dans un État tiers est considérée, aux fins de la Convention, comme un résident de l'État accréditant à condition qu'elle soit soumise dans l'État accréditant aux mêmes obligations, en matière d'impôts sur l'ensemble de son revenu, que les résidents de cet État.

3. The Convention shall not apply to international organizations, to organs or officials thereof and to persons who are members of a diplomatic mission, consular post or permanent mission of a third State or group of States, being present in a Contracting State and who are not liable in either Contracting State to the same obligations in relation to tax on their total income as are residents thereof.

ARTICLE 27

Miscellaneous Rules

- 1. The provisions of this Convention shall not be construed to restrict in any manner any exemption, allowance, credit or other deduction accorded
 - (a) by the laws of a Contracting State in the determination of the tax imposed by that State; or
 - (b) by any other agreement entered into by a Contracting State.
- 2. Nothing in the Convention shall be construed as preventing a Contracting State from imposing a tax on amounts included in the income of a resident of that State with respect to a partnership, trust, or controlled foreign affiliate, in which the resident has an interest
- 3. For the purposes of paragraph 3 of Article XXII (Consultation) of the General Agreement on Trade in Services, the Contracting States agree that, notwithstanding that paragraph, any dispute between them as to whether a measure falls within the scope of this Convention may be brought before the Council for Trade in Services, as provided by that paragraph, only with the consent of both Contracting States. Any doubt as to the interpretation of this paragraph shall be resolved under paragraph 4 of Article 24 or, failing agreement under that procedure, pursuant to any other procedure agreed to by both Contracting States.

ARTICLE 28

Entry into Force

1. Each of the Contracting States shall notify the other, through the diplomatic channel, the completion of the procedures required by its domestic law for the bringing into force of this Convention. The Convention shall enter into force on the date of the later of these notifications and its provisions shall have effect:

(a) in Canada:

(i) in respect of tax withheld at the source on amounts paid or credited on or after 1st January in the calendar year next following that in which the Convention enters into force; and 3. La Convention ne s'applique pas aux organisations internationales, à leurs organes ou à leurs fonctionnaires, ni aux personnes qui sont membres d'une mission diplomatique, d'un poste consulaire ou d'une délégation permanente d'un État tiers ou d'un groupe d'États, lorsqu'ils se trouvent sur le territoire d'un État contractant et ne sont pas soumis dans l'un ou l'autre État contractant aux mêmes obligations, en matière d'impôts sur l'ensemble de leur revenu, que les résidents de ces États.

ARTICLE 27

Dispositions diverses

- 1. Les dispositions de la présente Convention ne peuvent être interprétées comme limitant d'une manière quelconque les exonérations, abattements, déductions, crédits ou autres allégements qui sont ou seront accordés :
 - a) par la législation d'un État contractant pour la détermination de l'impôt prélevé par cet État;
 - b) par tout autre accord conclu par un État contractant.
- 2. Aucune disposition de la Convention ne peut être interprétée comme empêchant un État contractant de prélever un impôt sur les montants inclus dans le revenu d'un résident de cet État à l'égard d'une société de personnes, une fiducie ou une société étrangère affiliée contrôlée dans laquelle il possède une participation.
- 3. Au sens du paragraphe 3 de l'article XXII (Consultation) de l'Accord général sur le commerce des services, les États contractants conviennent que, nonobstant ce paragraphe, tout différend entre eux sur la question de savoir si une mesure relève de la présente Convention, ne peut être porté devant le Conseil sur le commerce des services, tel que prévu par ce paragraphe, qu'avec le consentement des deux États contractants. Tout doute au sujet de l'interprétation du présent paragraphe est résolu en vertu du paragraphe 4 de l'article 24 ou, en l'absence d'un accord en vertu de cette procédure, en vertu de toute autre procédure acceptée par les deux États contractants.

ARTICLE 28

Entrée en vigueur

1. Chacun des États contractants notifiera à l'autre, par la voie diplomatique, l'accomplissement des mesures requises par son droit interne pour la mise en oeuvre de la présente Convention. La Convention entrera en vigueur à la date de la dernière de ces notifications et ses dispositions seront applicables :

a) au Canada:

 (i) à l'égard de l'impôt retenu à la source sur les montants payés ou portés au crédit, à partir du ler janvier de l'année civile suivant celle au cours de laquelle la Convention entre en vigueur; et (ii) in respect of other Canadian tax for taxation years beginning on or after 1st January in the calendar year next following that in which the Convention enters into force;

(b) in the Czech Republic:

- (i) in respect of taxes withheld at the source, to income paid or credited on or after 1st January in the calendar year next following that in which the Convention enters into force; and
- (ii) in respect of other taxes on income, to income in any taxable year beginning on or after 1st January in the calendar year next following that in which the Convention enters into force.
- 2. From the date of entry into force of this Convention the Convention between the Government of Canada and the Government of the Czech and Slovak Federal Republic for the Avoidance of Double Taxation and the Prevention of Fiscal Evasion with respect to Taxes on Income and on Capital signed at Prague on the 30th day of August, 1990, shall, as between Canada and the Czech Republic, terminate. However, the provisions of the 1990 Convention corresponding to those of this Convention shall continue to have effect until the provisions of this Convention take effect in accordance with the provisions of paragraph 1.

ARTICLE 29

Termination

This Convention shall remain in force until terminated by a Contracting State. Either Contracting State may terminate the Convention, through the diplomatic channel, by giving notice of termination at least six months before the end of any calendar year following after the period of five years from the date on which the Convention enters into force. In such event, the Convention shall cease to have effect:

(a) in Canada:

- (i) in respect of tax withheld at the source on amounts paid or credited on or after 1st January in the calendar year next following that in which the notice is given; and
- (ii) in respect of other Canadian tax for taxation years beginning on or after 1st January in the calendar year next following that in which the notice is given;

(b) in the Czech Republic:

- (i) in respect of taxes withheld at the source, to income paid or credited on or after 1st January in the calendar year next following that in which the notice is given; and
- (ii) in respect of other taxes on income, to income in any taxable year beginning on or after 1st January in the calendar year next following that in which the notice is given.

(ii) à l'égard des autres impôts canadiens, pour toute année d'imposition commençant à partir du ler janvier de l'année civile suivant celle au cours de laquelle la Convention entre en vigueur;

b) en République tchèque :

- (i) à l'égard de l'impôt retenu à la source, aux revenus payés ou portés au crédit à partir du ler janvier de l'année civile suivant celle au cours de laquelle la Convention entre en vigueur; et
- (ii) à l'égard des autres impôts sur le revenu, aux revenus pour toute année d'imposition commençant à partir du l^{er} janvier de l'année civile suivant celle au cours de laquelle la Convention entre en vigueur.
- 2. À partir de la date de l'entrée en vigueur de la présente Convention, la Convention entre le Gouvernement du Canada et le Gouvernement de la République fédérative tchèque et slovaque en vue d'éviter les doubles impositions et de prévenir l'évasion fiscale en matière d'impôts sur le revenu et sur la fortune signée à Prague le 30 août 1990 est, en ce qui concerne les relations entre le Canada et la République tchèque, dénoncée. Toutefois, les dispositions de la Convention de 1990 correspondantes à celles de la présente Convention continueront d'avoir effet jusqu'à ce que les dispositions de la présente Convention prennent leurs effets conformément aux dispositions du paragraphe 1.

ARTICLE 29

Dénonciation

La présente Convention demeurera en vigueur tant qu'elle n'aura pas été dénoncée par un État contractant. Chaque État contractant peut dénoncer la Convention par la voie diplomatique avec un préavis minimum de six mois avant la fin de chaque année civile qui commence une fois révolue la cinquième année suivant la date d'entrée en vigueur de la Convention. Dans ce cas, la Convention cessera d'être applicable :

$\it a$) au Canada :

- (i) à l'égard de l'impôt retenu à la source sur les montants payés ou portés au crédit, à partir du ler janvier de l'année civile suivant celle au cours de laquelle l'avis est donné; et
- (ii) à l'égard des autres impôts canadiens, pour toute année d'imposition commençant à partir du ler janvier de l'année civile suivant celle au cours de laquelle l'avis est donné;

b) en République tchèque :

- (i) à l'égard de l'impôt retenu à la source, aux revenus payés ou portés au crédit à partir du ler janvier de l'année civile suivant celle au cours de laquelle l'avis est donné; et
- (ii) à l'égard des autres impôts sur le revenu, aux revenus pour toute année d'imposition commençant à partir du l^{er} janvier de l'année civile suivant celle au cours de laquelle l'avis est donné.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the undersigned, duly authorised thereto, have signed this Convention.

DONE in duplicate at Prague, this 25th day of May, 2001, in the English, French and Czech languages, each version being equally authentic.

FOR CANADA FOR THE CZECH REPUBLIC

Jane Stewart Jiri Rusnok

EN FOI DE QUOI les soussignés, dûment autorisés à cet effet, ont signé la présente Convention.

FAIT en double exemplaire à Prague, ce 25e jour de mai 2001, en langues française, anglaise et tchèque, chaque version faisant également foi.

POUR LE CANADA POUR LA RÉPUBLIQUE

TCHÈQUE

Jane Stewart Jiri Rusnok

SCHEDULE 7 (Section 39)

AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE GOVERNMENT OF CANADA AND THE GOVERNMENT OF THE SLOVAK REPUBLIC FOR THE AVOIDANCE OF DOUBLE TAXATION AND THE PREVENTION OF FISCAL EVASION WITH RESPECT TO TAXES ON INCOME AND ON CAPITAL

The Government of Canada and the Government of the Slovak Republic, desiring to conclude an Agreement for the avoidance of double taxation and the prevention of fiscal evasion with respect to taxes on income and on capital, have agreed as follows:

ARTICLE 1

Persons Covered

This Agreement shall apply to persons who are residents of one or both of the Contracting States.

ARTICLE 2

Taxes Covered

- 1. This Agreement shall apply to taxes on income and on capital imposed on behalf of a Contracting State, irrespective of the manner in which they are levied.
- 2. There shall be regarded as taxes on income and on capital all taxes imposed on total income, on total capital, or on elements of income or of capital, including taxes on gains from the alienation of movable or immovable property, as well as taxes on capital appreciation.
- 3. The existing taxes to which the Agreement shall apply are, in particular,
 - a) in the case of Canada, the taxes imposed by the Government of Canada under the *Income Tax Act* (hereinafter referred to as "Canadian tax"); and
 - b) in the case of Slovakia:
 - (i) the tax on income of individuals;
 - (ii) the tax on income of legal persons;
 - (iii) the tax on immovable property;

(hereinafter referred to as "Slovak tax").

4. The Agreement shall apply also to any identical or substantially similar taxes which are imposed after the date of signature of the Agreement in addition to, or in place of, the existing taxes. The competent authorities of the Contracting States shall notify each other of any significant changes which have been made in their respective taxation laws.

ANNEXE 7 (article 39)

ACCORD ENTRE LE GOUVERNEMENT DU CANADA ET LE GOUVERNEMENT DE LA RÉPUBLIQUE SLOVAQUE EN VUE D'ÉVITER LES DOUBLES IMPOSITIONS ET DE PRÉVENIR L'ÉVASION FISCALE EN MATIÈRE D'IMPÔTS SUR LE REVENU ET SUR LA FORTUNE

Le Gouvernement du Canada et le Gouvernement de la République slovaque, désireux de conclure un Accord en vue d'éviter les doubles impositions et de prévenir l'évasion fiscale en matière d'impôts sur le revenu et sur la fortune, sont convenus des dispositions suivantes :

ARTICLE PREMIER

Personnes visées

Le présent Accord s'applique aux personnes qui sont des résidents d'un État contractant ou des deux États contractants.

ARTICLE 2

Impôts visés

- 1. Le présent Accord s'applique aux impôts sur le revenu et sur la fortune perçus pour le compte d'un État contractant, quel que soit le système de perception.
- 2. Sont considérés comme impôts sur le revenu et sur la fortune les impôts perçus sur le revenu total, sur la fortune totale, ou sur des éléments du revenu ou de la fortune, y compris les impôts sur les gains provenant de l'aliénation de biens mobiliers ou immobiliers, ainsi que les impôts sur les plus-values.
- 3. Les impôts actuels auxquels s'applique l'Accord sont notamment :
 - a) en ce qui concerne le Canada, les impôts qui sont perçus par le Gouvernement du Canada en vertu de la *Loi de l'impôt sur le revenu*, (ci-après dénommés « impôt canadien »);
 - b) en ce qui concerne la Slovaquie :
 - (i) l'impôt sur le revenu des personnes physiques;
 - (ii) l'impôt sur le revenu des personnes morales;
 - (iii) l'impôt sur les biens immobiliers

(ci-après dénommés « impôt slovaque »).

4. L'Accord s'applique aussi aux impôts de nature identique ou analogue qui seraient établis après la date de signature de l'Accord et qui s'ajouteraient aux impôts actuels ou qui les remplaceraient. Les autorités compétentes des États contractants se communiquent les modifications importantes apportées à leurs législations fiscales respectives.

General Definitions

- 1. For the purposes of this Agreement, unless the context otherwise requires,
 - a) the term "Canada", used in a geographical sense, means the territory of Canada, including
 - (i) any area beyond the territorial sea of Canada that, in accordance with international law and the laws of Canada, is an area in respect of which Canada may exercise rights with respect to the seabed and subsoil and their natural resources, and
 - (ii) the sea and airspace above every area referred to in clause (i);
 - b) the term "Slovakia" means the Slovak Republic and, used in a geographical sense, means the territory within which the Slovak Republic exercises its sovereign rights and jurisdiction, in accordance with the rules of international law;
 - c) the terms "a Contracting State" and "the other Contracting State" mean Canada or Slovakia as the context requires;
 - d) the term "person" includes an individual, a trust, a company and any other body of persons;
 - e) the term "company" means any body corporate or any entity which is treated as a body corporate for tax purposes;
 - f) the terms "enterprise of a Contracting State" and "enterprise of the other Contracting State" mean respectively an enterprise carried on by a resident of a Contracting State and an enterprise carried on by a resident of the other Contracting State:
 - g) the term "competent authority" means:
 - (i) in the case of Canada, the Minister of National Revenue or the Minister's authorized representative;
 - (ii) in the case of Slovakia, the Minister of Finance or the Minister's authorized representative;
 - h) the term "national" means:
 - (i) any individual possessing the nationality of a Contracting State;
 - (ii) any legal person, partnership or association deriving its status as such from the laws in force in a Contracting State;
 - *i*) the term "international traffic" means any voyage of a ship or aircraft operated by an enterprise of a Contracting State to transport passengers or property except where the principal purpose of the voyage is to transport passengers or property between places within the other Contracting State.

ARTICLE 3

Définitions générales

- 1. Au sens du présent Accord, à moins que le contexte n'exige une interprétation différente :
 - a) le terme « Canada », employé dans un sens géographique, désigne le territoire du Canada, y compris :
 - (i) toute région située au-delà de la mer territoriale du Canada qui, conformément au droit international et en vertu des lois du Canada, est une région à l'égard de laquelle le Canada peut exercer des droits à l'égard du fond et du sous-sol de la mer et de leurs ressources naturelles,
 - (ii) la mer et l'espace aérien au-dessus de la région visée au sous-alinéa (i);
 - b) le terme « Slovaquie », désigne la République slovaque et, employé dans un sens géographique, désigne le territoire à l'intérieur duquel la République slovaque exerce ses droits souverains et sa juridiction conformément aux règles du droit international;
 - c) les expressions « un État contractant » et « l'autre État contractant » désignent, suivant le contexte, le Canada ou la Slovaquie;
 - d) le terme « personne » comprend les personnes physiques, les fiducies, les sociétés et tous autres groupements de personnes;
 - e) le terme « société » désigne toute personne morale ou toute entité qui est considérée comme une personne morale aux fins d'imposition;
 - f) les expressions « entreprise d'un État contractant » et « entreprise de l'autre État contractant » désignent respectivement une entreprise exploitée par un résident d'un État contractant et une entreprise exploitée par un résident de l'autre État contractant;
 - g) l'expression « autorité compétente » désigne :
 - (i) en ce qui concerne le Canada, le ministre du Revenu national ou son représentant autorisé;
 - (ii) en ce qui concerne la Slovaquie, le ministre des Finances ou son représentant autorisé;
 - h) le terme « national » désigne :
 - (i) toute personne physique qui possède la nationalité d'un État contractant,
 - (ii) toute personne morale, société de personnes ou association constituées conformément à la législation en vigueur dans un État contractant;
 - i) l'expression « trafic international » désigne tout voyage effectué par un navire ou un aéronef exploité par une entreprise d'un État contractant pour transporter des passagers ou biens, sauf lorsque le but principal du voyage est de transporter des passagers ou des biens entre des points situés dans l'autre État contractant.

2. As regards the application of the Agreement at any time by a Contracting State, any term not defined therein shall, unless the context otherwise requires, have the meaning which it has at that time under the law of that State for the purposes of the taxes to which the Agreement applies, any meaning under the applicable tax laws of that State prevailing over a meaning given to the term under other laws of that State.

Conventions fiscales (2001) — Annexe 7

ARTICLE 4

Resident

- 1. For the purposes of this Agreement, the term "resident of a Contracting State" means:
 - a) any person who, under the laws of that State, is liable to tax therein by reason of the person's domicile, residence, place of management or any other criterion of a similar nature but does not include any person who is liable to tax in that State in respect only of income from sources in that State;
 - b) that State or a political subdivi-sion or local authority thereof or any agency or instrumentality of any such State, subdivision or authority.
- 2. Where by reason of the provisions of paragraph 1 an individual is a resident of both Contracting States, then the individual's status shall be determined as follows:
 - a) the individual shall be deemed to be a resident only of the State in which the individual has a permanent home available; if the individual has a permanent home available in both States, the individual shall be deemed to be a resident only of the State with which the individual's personal and economic relations are closer (centre of vital interests);
 - b) if the State in which the individual's centre of vital interests is situated cannot be determined, or if there is not a permanent home available to the individual in either State, the individual shall be deemed to be a resident only of the State in which the individual has an habitual abode;
 - c) if the individual has an habitual abode in both States or in neither of them, the individual shall be deemed to be a resident only of the State of which the individual is a national;
 - d) if the individual is a national of both States or of neither of them, the competent authorities of the Contracting States shall settle the question by mutual agreement.

2. Pour l'application de l'Accord à un moment donné par un État contractant, tout terme ou expression qui n'y est pas défini a, sauf si le contexte exige une interprétation différente, le sens que lui attribue à ce moment le droit de cet État concernant les impôts auxquels s'applique l'Accord, le sens attribué à ce terme ou expression par le droit fiscal de cet État prévalant sur le sens que lui attribuent les autres branches du droit de cet État.

ARTICLE 4

Résident

- 1. Au sens du présent Accord, l'expression « résident d'un État contractant » désigne :
 - a) toute personne qui, en vertu de la législation de cet État, est assujettie à l'impôt dans cet État en raison de son domicile, de sa résidence, de son siège de direction ou de tout autre critère de nature analogue; toutefois, cette expression ne comprend pas les personnes qui ne sont assujetties à l'impôt dans cet État que pour les revenus de sources situées dans cet État;
 - b) cet État ou l'une de ses subdivisions politiques ou collectivités locales ou toute personne morale de droit public de cet État, subdivision ou collectivité.
- 2. Lorsque, selon les dispositions du paragraphe l, une personne physique est un résident des deux États contractants, sa situation est réglée de la manière suivante :
 - a) cette personne est considérée comme un résident seulement de l'État où elle dispose d'un foyer d'habitation permanent; si elle dispose d'un foyer d'habitation permanent dans les deux États, elle est considérée comme un résident seulement de l'État avec lequel ses liens personnels et économiques sont les plus étroits (centre des intérêts vitaux);
 - b) si l'État où cette personne a le centre de ses intérêts vitaux ne peut pas être déterminé, ou si elle ne dispose d'un foyer d'habitation permanent dans aucun des États, elle est considérée comme un résident seulement de l'État où elle séjourne de façon habituelle;
 - c) si cette personne séjourne de façon habituelle dans les deux États ou si elle ne séjourne de façon habituelle dans aucun d'eux, elle est considérée comme un résident seulement de l'État dont elle possède la nationalité;
 - d) si cette personne possède la nationalité des deux États ou si elle ne possède la nationalité d'aucun d'eux, les autorités compétentes des États contractants tranchent la question d'un commun accord.

- 3. Where by reason of the provisions of paragraph 1 a company is a resident of both Contracting States, then its status shall be determined as follows:
 - a) it shall be deemed to be a resident only of the State of which it is a national: or
 - b) if it is a national of neither of the States, it shall be deemed to be a resident only of the State in which its place of effective management is situated.
- 4. Where by reason of the provisions of paragraph 1 a person other than an individual or a company is a resident of both Contracting States, the competent authorities of the Contracting States shall by mutual agreement endeavour to settle the question and to determine the mode of application of the Agreement to such person. In the absence of such agreement, such person shall not be entitled to claim any relief or exemption from tax provided by the Agreement.

Permanent Establishment

- 1. For the purposes of this Agreement, the term "permanent establishment" means a fixed place of business through which the business of an enterprise is wholly or partly carried on.
 - 2. The term "permanent establishment" includes especially:
 - a) a place of management;
 - b) a branch;
 - c) an office;
 - d) a factory;
 - e) a workshop; and
 - f) a mine, an oil or gas well, a quarry or any other place relating to the exploration for or the exploitation of natural resources.
- The term "permanent establishment" likewise encompasses:
 - a) a building site or construction or assembly or installation project only if it lasts for more than twelve months;
 - b) the furnishing of services, including consultancy and managerial services, by an enterprise of a Contracting State through employees or other personnel engaged by the enterprise for such purposes, but only where activities of that nature continue (for the same or a connected project) within the territory of the other Contracting State for a period or periods aggregating more than nine months within any twelve-month period.

- 3. Lorsque, selon les dispositions du paragraphe l, une société est un résident des deux États contractants, sa situation est réglée de la manière suivante :
 - a) elle est considérée comme un résident seulement de l'État dont elle est un national:
 - b) si elle n'est un national d'aucun des États, elle est considérée comme un résident seulement de l'État où se trouve son siège de direction effective.
- 4. Lorsque, selon les dispositions du paragraphe 1, une personne autre qu'une personne physique ou une société est un résident des deux États contractants, les autorités compétentes des États contractants s'efforcent d'un commun accord de trancher la question et de déterminer les modalités d'application de l'Accord à cette personne. À défaut d'un tel accord, cette personne n'a pas le droit de réclamer les abattements ou exonérations d'impôts prévus par l'Accord.

ARTICLE 5

Établissement stable

- 1. Au sens du présent Accord, l'expression « établissement stable » désigne une installation fixe d'affaires par l'intermédiaire de laquelle une entreprise exerce tout ou partie de son activité.
- 2. L'expression « établissement stable » comprend notamment:
 - a) un siège de direction;
 - b) une succursale:
 - c) un bureau;
 - d) une usine;
 - e) un atelier; et
 - f) une mine, un puits de pétrole ou de gaz, une carrière ou tout autre lieu lié à l'exploration ou à l'exploitation de ressources naturelles.
- 3. L'expression « établissement stable » comprend également :
 - a) un chantier de construction ou une chaîne de montage ou d'assemblage mais seulement si sa durée est supérieure à 12 mois:
 - b) la fourniture de services, y compris les services de consultants et de gestion, par une entreprise d'un État contractant agissant par l'intermédiaire de salariés ou d'autre personnel engagé par l'entreprise à cette fin, mais seulement lorsque les activités de cette nature se poursuivent (pour le même projet ou un projet connexe) sur le territoire de l'autre État contractant pendant une période ou des périodes représentant un total de plus de neuf mois dans les limites d'une période quelconque de douze mois.

4. Notwithstanding the preceding provisions of this Article, the term "permanent establishment" shall be deemed not to include:

Conventions fiscales (2001) — Annexe 7

- a) the use of facilities solely for the purpose of storage, display or delivery of goods or merchandise belonging to the enterprise;
- b) the maintenance of a stock of goods or merchandise belonging to the enterprise solely for the purpose of storage, display or delivery;
- c) the maintenance of a stock of goods or merchandise belonging to the enterprise solely for the purpose of processing by another enterprise;
- d) the maintenance of a fixed place of business solely for the purpose of purchasing goods or merchandise or of collecting information, for the enterprise;
- e) the maintenance of a fixed place of business solely for the purpose of carrying on, for the enterprise, any other activity of a preparatory or auxiliary character;
- f) the maintenance of a fixed place of business solely for any combination of activities mentioned in subparagraphs a) to e) provided that the overall activity of the fixed place of business resulting from this combination is of a preparatory or auxiliary character.
- 5. Notwithstanding the provisions of paragraphs 1 and 2, where a person — other than an agent of an independent status to whom paragraph 6 applies - is acting on behalf of an enterprise and has, and habitually exercises, in a Contracting State an authority to conclude contracts on behalf of the enterprise, that enterprise shall be deemed to have a permanent establishment in that State in respect of any activities which that person undertakes for the enterprise unless the activities of such person are limited to those mentioned in paragraph 4 which, if exercised through a fixed place of business, would not make this fixed place of business a permanent establishment under the provisions of that paragraph.
- 6. An enterprise shall not be deemed to have a permanent establishment in a Contracting State merely because it carries on business in that State through a broker, general commission agent or any other agent of an independent status, provided that such persons are acting in the ordinary course of their business.
- 7. The fact that a company which is a resident of a Contracting State controls or is controlled by a company which is a resident of the other Contracting State, or which carries on business in that other State (whether through a permanent establishment or otherwise), shall not of itself constitute either company a permanent establishment of the other.

- 4. Nonobstant les dispositions précédentes du présent article, on considère qu'il n'y a pas « établissement stable » si :
 - a) il est fait usage d'installations aux seules fins de stockage, d'exposition ou de livraison de marchandises appartenant à l'entreprise;
 - b) des marchandises appartenant à l'entreprise sont entreposées aux seules fins de stockage, d'exposition ou de livraison;
 - c) des marchandises appartenant à l'entreprise sont entreposées aux seules fins de transformation par une autre entreprise;
 - d) une installation fixe d'affaires est utilisée aux seules fins d'acheter des marchandises ou de réunir des informations pour l'entreprise;
 - e) une installation fixe d'affaires est utilisée aux seules fins d'exercer, pour l'entreprise, toute autre activité de caractère préparatoire ou auxiliaire;
 - f) une installation fixe d'affaires est utilisée aux seules fins de l'exercice cumulé d'activités mentionnées aux alinéas a) à e), à condition que l'activité d'ensemble de l'installation fixe d'affaires résultant de ce cumul garde un caractère préparatoire ou auxiliaire.
- 5. Nonobstant les dispositions des paragraphes 1 et 2, lorsqu'une personne — autre qu'un agent jouissant d'un statut indépendant auquel s'applique le paragraphe 6 — agit pour le compte d'une entreprise et dispose dans un État contractant de pouvoirs qu'elle y exerce habituellement lui permettant de conclure des contrats pour le compte de l'entreprise, cette entreprise est considérée comme ayant un établissement stable dans cet État pour toutes les activités que cette personne exerce pour l'entreprise, à moins que les activités de cette personne ne soient limitées à celles qui sont mentionnées au paragraphe 4 et qui, si elles étaient exercées par l'intermédiaire d'une installation fixe d'affaires, ne permettraient pas de considérer cette installation comme un établissement stable selon les dispositions de ce paragraphe.
- 6. Une entreprise n'est pas considérée comme ayant un établissement stable dans un État contractant du seul fait qu'elle y exerce son activité par l'entremise d'un courtier, d'un commissionnaire général ou de tout autre agent jouissant d'un statut indépendant, à condition que ces personnes agissent dans le cadre ordinaire de leur activité.
- 7. Le fait qu'une société qui est un résident d'un État contractant contrôle ou est contrôlée par une société qui est un résident de l'autre État contractant ou qui y exerce son activité (que ce soit par l'intermédiaire d'un établissement stable ou non) ne suffit pas, en lui-même, à faire de l'une quelconque de ces sociétés un établissement stable de l'autre.

Income from Immovable Property

- 1. Income derived by a resident of a Contracting State from immovable property (including income from agriculture or forestry) situated in the other Contracting State may be taxed in that other State.
- 2. For the purposes of this Agreement, the term "immovable property" shall have the meaning which it has for the purposes of the relevant tax law of the Contracting State in which the property in question is situated. The term shall in any case include property accessory to immovable property, livestock and equipment used in agriculture and forestry, rights to which the provisions of general law respecting landed property apply, usufruct of immovable property and rights to variable or fixed payments as consideration for the working of, or the right to work, mineral deposits, sources and other natural resources. Ships and aircraft shall not be regarded as immovable property.
- 3. The provisions of paragraph 1 shall apply to income derived from the direct use, letting, or use in any other form of immovable property and to income from the alienation of such property.
- 4. The provisions of paragraphs 1 and 3 shall also apply to the income from immovable property of an enterprise and to income from immovable property used for the performance of independent personal services.

ARTICLE 7

Business Profits

- 1. The profits of an enterprise of a Contracting State shall be taxable only in that State unless the enterprise carries on business in the other Contracting State through a permanent establishment situated therein. If the enterprise carries on or has carried on business as aforesaid, the profits of the enterprise may be taxed in the other State but only so much of them as is attributable to that permanent establishment.
- 2. Subject to the provisions of paragraph 3, where an enterprise of a Contracting State carries on business in the other Contracting State through a permanent establishment situated therein, there shall in each Contracting State be attributed to that permanent establishment the profits which it might be expected to make if it were a distinct and separate enterprise engaged in the same or similar activities under the same or similar conditions and dealing wholly independently with the enterprise of which it is a permanent establishment and with all other persons.
- 3. In determining the profits of a permanent establishment, there shall be allowed those deductible expenses which are incurred for the purposes of the permanent establishment including executive and general administrative expenses so incurred, whether in the State in which the permanent establishment is situated or elsewhere.

ARTICLE 6

Revenus immobiliers

- 1. Les revenus qu'un résident d'un État contractant tire de biens immobiliers (y compris les revenus des exploitations agricoles ou forestières) situés dans l'autre État contractant, sont imposables dans cet autre État.
- 2. Au sens du présent Accord, l'expression « biens immobiliers » a le sens qu'elle a aux fins de la législation fiscale pertinente de l'État contractant où les biens considérés sont situés. L'expression comprend en tous cas les accessoires, le cheptel mort ou vif des exploitations agricoles et forestières, les droits auxquels s'appliquent les dispositions du droit privé concernant la propriété foncière, l'usufruit des biens immobiliers et les droits à des paiements variables ou fixes pour l'exploitation ou la concession de l'exploitation de gisements minéraux, sources et autres ressources naturelles. Les navires et aéronefs ne sont pas considérés comme des biens immobiliers.
- 3. Les dispositions du paragraphe l s'appliquent aux revenus provenant de l'exploitation directe, de la location ou de l'affermage, ainsi que de toute autre forme d'exploitation des biens immobiliers et aux revenus provenant de l'aliénation de tels biens.
- 4. Les dispositions des paragraphes 1 et 3 s'appliquent également aux revenus provenant des biens immobiliers d'une entreprise ainsi qu'aux revenus des biens immobiliers servant à l'exercice d'une profession indépendante.

ARTICLE 7

Bénéfices des entreprises

- 1. Les bénéfices d'une entreprise d'un État contractant ne sont imposables que dans cet État, à moins que l'entreprise n'exerce son activité dans l'autre État contractant par l'intermédiaire d'un établissement stable qui y est situé. Si l'entreprise exerce ou a exercé son activité d'une telle façon, les bénéfices de l'entreprise sont imposables dans l'autre État mais uniquement dans la mesure où ils sont imputables à cet établissement stable.
- 2. Sous réserve des dispositions du paragraphe 3, lorsqu'une entreprise d'un État contractant exerce son activité dans l'autre État contractant par l'intermédiaire d'un établissement stable qui y est situé, il est imputé, dans chaque État contractant, à cet établissement stable les bénéfices qu'il aurait pu réaliser s'il avait constitué une entreprise distincte exerçant des activités identiques ou analogues dans des conditions identiques ou analogues et traitant en toute indépendance avec l'entreprise dont il constitue un établissement stable et avec toute autre personne.
- 3. Pour déterminer les bénéfices d'un établissement stable, sont admises en déduction les dépenses déductibles qui sont exposées aux fins poursuivies par cet établissement stable, y compris les dépenses de direction et les frais généraux d'administration ainsi exposés, soit dans l'État où est situé cet établissement stable, soit ailleurs.

4. Insofar as it has been customary in a Contracting State to determine the profits to be attributed to a permanent establishment on the basis of an apportionment of the total profits of the enterprise to its various parts, nothing in paragraph 2 shall preclude that Contracting State from determining the profits to be taxed by such an apportionment as may be customary. The method of apportionment adopted shall, however, be such that the result shall be in accordance with the principles contained in this Article.

Conventions fiscales (2001) — Annexe 7

- 5. No profits shall be attributed to a permanent establishment by reason of the mere purchase by that permanent establishment of goods or merchandise for the enterprise.
- 6. For the purposes of the preceding paragraphs, the profits to be attributed to the permanent establishment shall be determined by the same method year by year unless there is good and sufficient reason to the contrary.
- 7. Where profits include items of income which are dealt with separately in other Articles of this Agreement, then the provisions of those Articles shall not be affected by the provisions of this Article.

ARTICLE 8

Shipping and Air Transport

- 1. Profits derived by an enterprise of a Contracting State from the operation of ships or aircraft in international traffic shall be taxable only in that State.
- 2. Notwithstanding the provisions of Article 7, profits derived by an enterprise of a Contracting State from a voyage of a ship or aircraft where the principal purpose of the voyage is to transport passengers or property between places in the other Contracting State may be taxed in that other State.
- 3. The provisions of paragraphs 1 and 2 shall also apply to profits from the participation in a pool, a joint business or an international operating agency.
- 4. For the purposes of this Article, the term "operation of ships or aircraft in international traffic" by an enterprise, includes:
 - a) the rental of ships or aircraft;
 - b) the rental of containers and related equipment,

by that enterprise if that rental is incidental to the operation by that enterprise of ships or aircraft in international traffic.

- 4. S'il est d'usage, dans un État contractant, de déterminer les bénéfices imputables à un établissement stable sur la base d'une répartition des bénéfices totaux de l'entreprise entre ses diverses parties, aucune disposition du paragraphe 2 n'empêche cet État contractant de déterminer les bénéfices imposables selon la répartition en usage; la méthode de répartition adoptée doit cependant être telle que le résultat obtenu soit conforme aux principes contenus dans le présent article.
- 5. Aucun bénéfice n'est imputé à un établissement stable du fait qu'il a simplement acheté des marchandises pour l'entre-
- 6. Aux fins des paragraphes précédents, les bénéfices à imputer à l'établissement stable sont déterminés chaque année selon la même méthode, à moins qu'il n'existe des motifs valables et suffisants de procéder autrement.
- 7. Lorsque les bénéfices comprennent des éléments de revenu traités séparément dans d'autres articles du présent Accord, les dispositions de ces articles ne sont pas affectées par les dispositions du présent article.

ARTICLE 8

Navigation maritime et aérienne

- 1. Les bénéfices qu'une entreprise d'un État contractant tire de l'exploitation, en trafic international, de navires ou d'aéronefs ne sont imposables que dans cet État.
- 2. Nonobstant les dispositions de l'article 7, les bénéfices qu'une entreprise d'un État contractant tire d'un voyage d'un navire ou d'un aéronef lorsque le but principal du voyage est de transporter des passagers ou des biens entre des points situés dans l'autre État contractant sont imposables dans cet autre État.
- 3. Les dispositions des paragraphes 1 et 2 s'appliquent aussi aux bénéfices provenant de la participation à un pool, une exploitation en commun ou un organisme international d'exploitation.
- 4. Au sens du présent article, l'expression « exploitation de navires ou d'aéronefs en trafic international » par une entreprise, comprend:
 - a) la location de navires ou d'aéronefs,
 - b) la location de conteneurs et d'équipements accessoires,

par cette entreprise pourvu que cette location soit accessoire à l'exploitation, en trafic international, de navires ou d'aéronefs par cette entreprise.

Associated Enterprises

1. Where

- a) an enterprise of a Contracting State participates directly or indirectly in the management, control or capital of an enterprise of the other Contracting State, or
- b) the same persons participate directly or indirectly in the management, control or capital of an enterprise of a Contracting State and an enterprise of the other Contracting State,

and in either case conditions are made or imposed between the two enterprises in their commercial or financial relations which differ from those which would be made between independent enterprises, then any profits which would, but for those conditions, have accrued to one of the enterprises, but, by reason of those conditions, have not so accrued, may be included in the profits of that enterprise and taxed accordingly.

- 2. Where a Contracting State includes in the profits of an enterprise of that State and taxes accordingly profits on which an enterprise of the other Contracting State has been charged to tax in that other State and the profits so included are profits which would have accrued to the enterprise of the first-mentioned State if the conditions made between the two enterprises had been those that would have been made between independent enterprises, then that other State shall make an appropriate adjustment to the amount of the tax charged therein on those profits. In determining such adjustment, due regard shall be had to the other provisions of this Agreement and the competent authorities of the Contracting States shall if necessary consult each other.
- 3. A Contracting State shall not change the profits of an enterprise in the circumstances referred to in paragraph 1 after the expiry of the time limits provided in its domestic laws and, in any case, after six years from the end of the year in which the profits which would be subject to such change would, but for the conditions referred to in paragraph 1, have been attributed to that enterprise.
- 4. The provisions of paragraphs 2 and 3 shall not apply in the case of fraud, wilful default or neglect.

ARTICLE 10

Dividends

1. Dividends paid by a company which is a resident of a Contracting State to a resident of the other Contracting State may be taxed in that other State.

ARTICLE 9

Entreprises associées

1. Lorsque

- a) une entreprise d'un État contractant participe directement ou indirectement à la direction, au contrôle ou au capital d'une entreprise de l'autre État contractant, ou que
- b) les mêmes personnes participent directement ou indirectement à la direction, au contrôle ou au capital d'une entreprise d'un État contractant et d'une entreprise de l'autre État contractant,

et que, dans l'un et l'autre cas, les deux entreprises sont, dans leurs relations commerciales ou financières, liées par des conditions convenues ou imposées, qui diffèrent de celles qui seraient convenues entre des entreprises indépendantes, les bénéfices qui, sans ces conditions, auraient été réalisés par l'une des entreprises mais n'ont pu l'être en fait à cause de ces conditions, peuvent être inclus dans les bénéfices de cette entreprise et imposés en conséquence.

- 2. Lorsqu'un État contractant inclut dans les bénéfices d'une entreprise de cet État et impose en conséquence des bénéfices sur lesquels une entreprise de l'autre État contractant a été imposée dans cet autre État, et que les bénéfices ainsi inclus sont des bénéfices qui auraient été réalisés par l'entreprise du premier État si les conditions convenues entre les deux entreprises avaient été celles qui auraient été convenues entre des entreprises indépendantes, l'autre État procède à un ajustement approprié du montant de l'impôt qui y a été perçu sur ces bénéfices. Pour déterminer cet ajustement, il est tenu compte des autres dispositions du présent Accord et, si c'est nécessaire, les autorités compétentes des États contractants se consultent.
- 3. Un État contractant ne rectifiera pas les bénéfices d'une entreprise dans les cas visés au paragraphe l après l'expiration des délais prévus par son droit interne et, en tout cas, après l'expiration de six ans à dater de la fin de l'année au cours de laquelle les bénéfices qui feraient l'objet d'une telle rectification auraient, sans les conditions visées au paragraphe 1, été attribués à cette entreprise.
- 4. Les dispositions des paragraphes 2 et 3 ne s'appliquent pas en cas de fraude, d'omission volontaire ou de négligence.

ARTICLE 10

Dividendes

1. Les dividendes payés par une société qui est un résident d'un État contractant à un résident de l'autre État contractant sont imposables dans cet autre État.

- 2. However, such dividends may also be taxed in the Contracting State of which the company paying the dividends is a resident and according to the laws of that State, but if the beneficial owner of the dividends is a resident of the other Contracting State, the tax so charged shall not exceed:
 - a) except in the case of dividends paid by a non-residentowned investment corporation, 5 per cent of the gross amount of the dividends if the beneficial owner is a company which controls directly or indirectly at least 10 per cent of the voting power in the company paying the dividends;
 - b) 15 per cent of the gross amount of the dividends, in all other cases.

The provisions of this paragraph shall not affect the taxation of the company in respect of the profits out of which the dividends are paid.

- 3. The term "dividends" as used in this Article means income from shares, "jouissance" shares or "jouissance" rights, mining shares, founders' shares or other rights, not being debt-claims, participating in profits, as well as income which is subjected to the same taxation treatment as income from shares by the laws of the State of which the company making the distribution is a resident.
- 4. The provisions of paragraphs 1 and 2 shall not apply if the beneficial owner of the dividends, being a resident of a Contracting State, carries on business in the other Contracting State of which the company paying the dividends is a resident, through a permanent establishment situated therein, or performs in that other State independent personal services from a fixed base situated therein, and the holding in respect of which the dividends are paid is effectively connected with such permanent establishment or fixed base. In such case the provisions of Article 7 or Article 14, as the case may be, shall apply.
- 5. Where a company which is a resident of a Contracting State derives profits or income from the other Contracting State, that other State may not impose any tax on the dividends paid by the company, except insofar as such dividends are paid to a resident of that other State or insofar as the holding in respect of which the dividends are paid is effectively connected with a permanent establishment or a fixed base situated in that other State, nor subject the company's undistributed profits to a tax on undistributed profits, even if the dividends paid or the undistributed profits consist wholly or partly of profits or income arising in such other State.

- 2. Toutefois, ces dividendes sont aussi imposables dans l'État contractant dont la société qui paie les dividendes est un résident, et selon la législation de cet État, mais si le bénéficiaire effectif des dividendes est un résident de l'autre État contractant, l'impôt ainsi établi ne peut excéder :
 - a) sauf dans le cas de dividendes payés par une société qui est une société de placements appartenant à des non résidents, 5 p. 100 du montant brut des dividendes si le bénéficiaire effectif est une société qui contrôle directement ou indirectement au moins 10 p. 100 des droits de vote de la société qui paie les dividendes;
 - b) 15 p. 100 du montant brut des dividendes, dans tous les autres cas.

Les dispositions du présent paragraphe n'affectent pas l'imposition de la société au titre des bénéfices qui servent au paiement des dividendes.

- 3. Le terme « dividendes » employé dans le présent article désigne les revenus provenant d'actions, actions ou bons de jouissance, parts de mine, parts de fondateur ou autres parts bénéficiaires à l'exception des créances, ainsi que les revenus soumis au même régime fiscal que les revenus d'actions par la législation de l'État dont la société distributrice est un résident.
- 4. Les dispositions des paragraphes 1 et 2 ne s'appliquent pas lorsque le bénéficiaire effectif des dividendes, résident d'un État contractant, exerce dans l'autre État contractant dont la société qui paie les dividendes est un résident, soit une activité industrielle ou commerciale par l'intermédiaire d'un établissement stable qui y est situé, soit une profession indépendante au moyen d'une base fixe qui y est située, et que la participation génératrice des dividendes s'y rattache effectivement. Dans ce cas, les dispositions de l'article 7 ou de l'article 14, suivant les cas, sont applicables.
- 5. Lorsqu'une société qui est un résident d'un État contractant tire des bénéfices ou des revenus de l'autre État contractant, cet autre État ne peut percevoir aucun impôt sur les dividendes payés par la société, sauf dans la mesure où ces dividendes sont payés à un résident de cet autre État ou dans la mesure où la participation génératrice des dividendes se rattache effectivement à un établissement stable ou à une base fixe situés dans cet autre État, ni prélever aucun impôt, au titre de l'imposition des bénéfices non distribués, sur les bénéfices non distribués de la société, même si les dividendes payés ou les bénéfices non distribués consistent en tout ou en partie en bénéfices ou revenus provenant de cet autre État.

6. Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed as preventing a Contracting State from imposing on the earnings of a company attributable to a permanent establishment in that State, or the earnings attributable to the alienation of immovable property situated in that State by a company carrying on a trade in immovable property, a tax in addition to the tax that would be chargeable on the earnings of a company that is a national of that State, except that any additional tax so imposed shall not exceed 5 per cent of the amount of such earnings that have not been subjected to such additional tax in previous taxation years. For the purpose of this provision, the term "earnings" means the earnings attributable to the alienation of such immovable property situated in a Contracting State as may be taxed by that State under the provisions of Article 6 or of paragraph 1 of Article 13, and the profits, including any gains, attributable to a permanent establishment in a Contracting State in a year and previous years, after deducting therefrom all taxes, other than the additional tax referred to herein, imposed on such profits in that State.

ARTICLE 11

Interest

- 1. Interest arising in a Contracting State and paid to a resident of the other Contracting State may be taxed in that other State.
- 2. However, such interest may also be taxed in the Contracting State in which it arises and according to the laws of that State, but if the beneficial owner of the interest is a resident of the other Contracting State, the tax so charged shall not exceed 10 per cent of the gross amount of the interest.
 - 3. Notwithstanding the provisions of paragraph 2:
 - a) interest arising in a Contracting State and paid in respect of indebtedness of the government of that State or of a political subdivision or local authority thereof shall, if the interest is beneficially owned by a resident of the other Contracting State, be taxable only in that other State;
 - b) interest arising in a Contracting State and paid to a resident of the other Contracting State shall be taxable only in that other State if it is paid in respect of a loan made, guaranteed or insured, or a credit extended, guaranteed or insured by any entity wholly-owned and controlled by the government of that other State, provided this loan or credit is in respect of imports or exports.
- 4. The term "interest" as used in this Article means income from debt-claims of every kind, whether or not secured by mortgage, and in particular, income from government securities and income from bonds or debentures, including premiums and prizes attaching to such securities, bonds or debentures, as well as income which is subjected to the same taxation treatment as income from money lent by the laws of the State in which the income arises. However, the term "interest" does not include income dealt with in Article 10. Penalty charges for late payment shall not be regarded as interest for the purpose of this Article.

6. Aucune disposition du présent Accord ne peut être interprétée comme empêchant un État contractant de percevoir, sur les revenus d'une société imputables à un établissement stable dans cet État, ou les revenus attribuables à l'aliénation de biens immobiliers situés dans cet État par une société qui exerce des activités dans le domaine des biens immobiliers, un impôt qui s'ajoute à l'impôt qui serait applicable aux revenus d'une société qui est un national de cet État, pourvu que l'impôt additionnel ainsi établi n'excède pas 5 p. 100 du montant des revenus qui n'ont pas été assujettis à cet impôt additionnel au cours des années d'imposition précédentes. Au sens de la présente disposition, le terme « revenus » désigne les revenus imputables à l'aliénation de biens immobiliers situés dans un État contractant qui sont imposables par cet État en vertu des dispositions de l'article 6 ou du paragraphe 1 de l'article 13 et, les bénéfices, y compris les gains, imputables à un établissement stable situé dans un État contractant, pour l'année ou pour les années antérieures, après déduction de tous les impôts, autres que l'impôt additionnel visé au présent paragraphe, prélevés par cet État sur ces bénéfices.

ARTICLE 11

Intérêts

- 1. Les intérêts provenant d'un État contractant et payés à un résident de l'autre État contractant sont imposables dans cet autre État
- 2. Toutefois, ces intérêts sont aussi imposables dans l'État contractant d'où ils proviennent et selon la législation de cet État, mais si le bénéficiaire effectif des intérêts est un résident de l'autre État contractant, l'impôt ainsi établi ne peut excéder l0 p. 100 du montant brut des intérêts.
 - 3. Nonobstant les dispositions du paragraphe 2 :
 - a) les intérêts provenant d'un État contractant et payés sur une dette du gouvernement de cet État ou de l'une de ses subdivisions politiques ou collectivités locales, ne sont imposables que dans l'autre État contractant pourvu qu'un résident de cet autre État en soit le bénéficiaire effectif;
 - b) les intérêts provenant d'un État contractant et payés à un résident de l'autre État contractant ne sont imposables que dans cet autre État s'ils sont payés en raison d'un prêt fait, garanti ou assuré, ou d'un crédit consenti, garanti ou assuré par une entité possédée en propriété exclusive et contrôlée par le gouvernement de cet autre État, pourvu que ce prêt ou crédit se rattache à des importations ou exportations.
- 4. Le terme « intérêts » employé dans le présent article désigne les revenus des créances de toute nature, assorties ou non de garanties hypothécaires, et notamment les revenus des fonds publics et des obligations d'emprunts, y compris les primes et lots attachés à ces titres, ainsi que tous autres revenus soumis au même régime fiscal que les revenus de sommes prêtées par la législation de l'État d'où proviennent les revenus. Toutefois, le terme « intérêts » ne comprend pas les revenus visés à l'article 10. Les pénalisations pour paiement tardif ne sont pas considérées comme des intérêts au sens du présent article.

5. The provisions of paragraphs 1 and 2 shall not apply if the beneficial owner of the interest, being a resident of a Contracting State, carries on business in the other Contracting State in which the interest arises through a permanent establishment situated therein, or performs in that other State independent personal services from a fixed base situated therein, and the debt-claim in respect of which the interest is paid is effectively connected with such permanent establishment or fixed base. In such case the provisions of Article 7 or Article 14, as the case may be, shall

Conventions fiscales (2001) — Annexe 7

- 6. Interest shall be deemed to arise in a Contracting State when the payer is a resident of that State. Where, however, the person paying the interest, whether that person is a resident of a Contracting State or not, has in a Contracting State a permanent establishment or a fixed base in connection with which the indebtedness on which the interest is paid was incurred, and such interest is borne by such permanent establishment or fixed base, then such interest shall be deemed to arise in the State in which the permanent establishment or fixed base is situated.
- 7. Where, by reason of a special relationship between the payer and the beneficial owner or between both of them and some other person, the amount of the interest, having regard to the debt-claim for which it is paid, exceeds the amount which would have been agreed upon by the payer and the beneficial owner in the absence of such relationship, the provisions of this Article shall apply only to the last-mentioned amount. In such case, the excess part of the payments shall remain taxable according to the laws of each Contracting State, due regard being had to the other provisions of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 12

Royalties

- 1. Royalties arising in a Contracting State and paid to a resident of the other Contracting State may be taxed in that other State.
- 2. However, such royalties may also be taxed in the Contracting State in which they arise and according to the laws of that State, but if the beneficial owner of the royalties is a resident of the other Contracting State, the tax so charged shall not exceed 10 per cent of the gross amount of the royalties.
- 3. Notwithstanding the provisions of paragraph 2, copyright royalties and other like payments in respect of the production or reproduction of any literary, dramatic, musical or other artistic work (but not including royalties in respect of motion picture films nor royalties in respect of works on film or videotape or other means of reproduction for use in connection with television broadcasting) arising in a Contracting State and paid to a resident of the other Contracting State who is the beneficial owner of the royalties shall be taxable only in that other State.

- 5. Les dispositions des paragraphes 1 et 2 ne s'appliquent pas lorsque le bénéficiaire effectif des intérêts, résident d'un État contractant, exerce dans l'autre État contractant d'où proviennent les intérêts, soit une activité industrielle ou commerciale par l'intermédiaire d'un éta-blissement stable qui y est situé, soit une profession indépendante au moyen d'une base fixe qui y est située, et que la créance génératrice des intérêts s'y rattache effectivement. Dans ce cas, les dispositions de l'article 7 ou de l'article 14, suivant les cas, sont applicables.
- 6. Les intérêts sont considérés comme provenant d'un État contractant lorsque le débiteur est un résident de cet État. Toutefois, lorsque le débiteur des intérêts, qu'il soit ou non un résident d'un État contractant, a dans un État contractant un établissement stable, ou une base fixe, pour lequel la dette donnant lieu au paiement des intérêts a été contractée et qui supporte la charge de ces intérêts, ceux-ci sont considérés comme provenant de l'État où l'établissement stable, ou la base fixe, est situé.
- 7. Lorsque, en raison de relations spéciales existant entre le débiteur et le bénéficiaire effectif ou que l'un et l'autre entretiennent avec de tierces personnes, le montant des intérêts, compte tenu de la créance pour laquelle ils sont payés, excède celui dont seraient convenus le débiteur et le bénéficiaire effectif en l'absence de pareilles relations, les dispositions du présent article ne s'appliquent qu'à ce dernier montant. Dans ce cas, la partie excédentaire des paiements reste imposable selon la législation de chaque État contractant et compte tenu des autres dispositions du présent Accord.

ARTICLE 12

Redevances

- 1. Les redevances provenant d'un État contractant et payées à un résident de l'autre État contractant sont imposables dans cet autre État.
- 2. Toutefois, ces redevances sont aussi imposables dans l'État contractant d'où elles proviennent et selon la législation de cet État, mais si le bénéficiaire effectif des redevances est un résident de l'autre État contractant, l'impôt ainsi établi ne peut excéder 10 p. 100 du montant brut des redevances.
- 3. Nonobstant les dispositions du paragraphe 2, les redevances à titre de droits d'auteur et autres rémunérations similaires concernant la production ou la reproduction d'une oeuvre littéraire, dramatique, musicale ou autre oeuvre artistique (à l'exclusion des redevances concernant les films cinématographiques et des redevances concernant les oeuvres enregistrées sur films ou bandes magnétoscopiques ou autres moyens de reproduction destinés à la télédiffusion), provenant d'un État contractant et payées à un résident de l'autre État contractant qui en est le bénéficiaire effectif, ne sont imposables que dans cet autre État.

- 4. The term "royalties" as used in this Article means payments of any kind received as a consideration for the use of, or the right to use, any copyright, patent, trade mark, design or model, plan, secret formula or process or other intangible property, or for the use of, or the right to use, industrial, commercial or scientific equipment, or for information concerning industrial, commercial or scientific experience, and includes payments of any kind in respect of motion picture films and works on film, videotape or other means of reproduction for use in connection with television.
- 5. The provisions of paragraphs 1, 2 and 3 shall not apply if the beneficial owner of the royalties, being a resident of a Contracting State, carries on business in the other Contracting State in which the royalties arise, through a permanent establishment situated therein, or performs in that other State independent personal services from a fixed base situated therein, and the right or property in respect of which the royalties are paid is effectively connected with such permanent establishment or fixed base. In such case the provisions of Article 7 or Article 14, as the case may be, shall apply.
- 6. Royalties shall be deemed to arise in a Contracting State when the payer is a resident of that State. Where, however, the person paying the royalties, whether that person is a resident of a Contracting State or not, has in a Contracting State a permanent establishment or a fixed base in connection with which the obligation to pay the royalties was incurred, and such royalties are borne by such permanent establishment or fixed base, then such royalties shall be deemed to arise in the State in which the permanent establishment or fixed base is situated.
- 7. Where, by reason of a special relationship between the payer and the beneficial owner or between both of them and some other person, the amount of the royalties, having regard to the use, right or information for which they are paid, exceeds the amount which would have been agreed upon by the payer and the beneficial owner in the absence of such relationship, the provisions of this Article shall apply only to the last-mentioned amount. In such case, the excess part of the payments shall remain taxable according to the laws of each Contracting State, due regard being had to the other provisions of this Agreement.

Capital Gains

1. Gains derived by a resident of a Contracting State from the alienation of immovable property situated in the other Contracting State may be taxed in that other State.

- 4. Le terme « redevances » employé dans le présent article désigne les rémunérations de toute nature payées pour l'usage ou la concession de l'usage d'un droit d'auteur, d'un brevet, d'une marque de fabrique ou de commerce, d'un dessin ou d'un modèle, d'un plan, d'une formule ou d'un procédé secrets ou de tout autre bien incorporel, ainsi que pour l'usage ou la concession de l'usage d'un équipement industriel, commercial ou scientifique ou pour des informations ayant trait à une expérience acquise dans le domaine industriel, commercial ou scientifique; ce terme comprend aussi les rémunérations de toute nature concernant les films cinématographiques et les oeuvres enregistrées sur films, bandes magnétoscopiques ou autres moyens de reproduction destinés à la télévision.
- 5. Les dispositions des paragraphes 1, 2 et 3 ne s'appliquent pas lorsque le bénéficiaire effectif des redevances, résident d'un État contractant, exerce dans l'autre État contractant d'où proviennent les redevances, soit une activité industrielle ou commerciale par l'intermédiaire d'un établissement stable qui y est situé, soit une profession indépendante au moyen d'une base fixe qui y est située, et que le droit ou le bien générateur des redevances s'y rattache effectivement. Dans ce cas, les dispositions de l'article 7 ou de l'article 14, suivant les cas, sont applicables.
- 6. Les redevances sont considérées comme provenant d'un État contractant lorsque le débiteur est un résident de cet État. Toutefois, lorsque le débiteur des redevances, qu'il soit ou non un résident d'un État contractant, a dans un État contractant un établissement stable, ou une base fixe, pour lequel l'obligation donnant lieu au paiement des redevances a été conclue et qui supporte la charge de ces redevances, celles-ci sont considérées comme provenant de l'État où l'établissement stable, ou la base fixe, est situé.
- 7. Lorsque, en raison de relations spéciales existant entre le débiteur et le bénéficiaire effectif ou que l'un et l'autre entretiennent avec de tierces personnes, le montant des redevances, compte tenu de la prestation pour laquelle elles sont payées, excède celui dont seraient convenus le débiteur et le bénéficiaire effectif en l'absence de pareilles relations, les dispositions du présent article ne s'appliquent qu'à ce dernier montant. Dans ce cas, la partie excédentaire des paiements reste imposable selon la législation de chaque État contractant et compte tenu des autres dispositions du présent Accord.

ARTICLE 13

Gains en capital

1. Les gains qu'un résident d'un État contractant tire de l'aliénation de biens immobiliers situés dans l'autre État contractant, sont imposables dans cet autre État.

- 2. Gains from the alienation of movable property forming part of the business property of a permanent establishment which an enterprise of a Contracting State has or had in the other Contracting State or of movable property pertaining to a fixed base that is or was available to a resident of a Contracting State in the other Contracting State for the purpose of performing independent personal services, including such gains from the alienation of such a permanent establishment (alone or with the whole enterprise) or of such a fixed base, may be taxed in that other State.
- 3. Gains derived by an enterprise of a Contracting State from the alienation of ships or aircraft operated in international traffic or from containers used in, or other movable property pertaining to, the operation of such ships or aircraft shall be taxable only in that State.
- 4. Gains derived by a resident of a Contracting State from the alienation of
 - a) shares, the value of which is derived principally from immovable property situated in the other State, or
 - b) an interest in a partnership or trust, the value of which is derived principally from immovable property situated in that other State,

may be taxed in that other State. For the purposes of this paragraph, the term "immovable property" does not include any property in which the business of the company, partnership or trust is carried on, but does include rental property.

- 5. Gains from the alienation of any property, other than that referred to in paragraphs 1, 2, 3 and 4, shall be taxable only in the Contracting State of which the alienator is a resident.
- 6. The provisions of paragraph 5 shall not affect the right of a Contracting State to levy, according to its law, a tax on gains from the alienation of any property derived by an individual who is a resident of the other Contracting State and has been a resident of the first-mentioned State at any time during the six years immediately preceding the alienation of the property.
- 7. Where an individual who ceases to be a resident of a Contracting State, and immediately thereafter becomes a resident of the other Contracting State, is treated for the purposes of taxation in the first-mentioned State as having alienated a property and is taxed in that State by reason thereof, the individual may elect to be treated for purposes of taxation in the other State as if the individual had, immediately before becoming a resident of that State, sold and repurchased the property for an amount equal to its fair market value at that time. However, this provision shall not apply to property any gain from which, arising immediately before the individual became a resident of that other State, may be taxed in that other State nor to immovable property situated in a third State.

- 2. Les gains provenant de l'aliénation de biens mobiliers qui font partie de l'actif d'un établissement stable qu'une entreprise d'un État contractant a ou avait dans l'autre État contractant, ou de biens mobiliers qui appartiennent à une base fixe dont un résident d'un État contractant dispose ou a disposé dans l'autre État contractant pour l'exercice d'une profession indépendante, y compris de tels gains provenant de l'aliéna-tion de cet établissement stable (seul ou avec l'ensemble de l'entreprise) ou de cette base fixe, sont imposables dans cet autre État.
- 3. Les gains qu'une entreprise d'un État contractant tire de l'aliénation de navires ou aéronefs exploités en trafic international ou de conteneurs utilisés dans, ou d'autres biens mobiliers affectés à, l'exploitation de ces navires ou aéronefs ne sont imposables que dans cet État.
- 4. Les gains qu'un résident d'un État contractant tire de l'aliénation:
 - a) d'actions dont la valeur est principalement tirée de biens immobiliers situés dans l'autre État;
 - b) d'une participation dans une société de personnes ou une fiducie dont la valeur est principalement tirée de biens immobiliers situés dans cet autre État,

sont imposables dans cet autre État. Au sens du présent paragraphe, l'expression « biens immobiliers » ne comprend pas les biens dans lesquels la société, la société de personnes ou la fiducie exerce son activité mais, elle comprend les biens locatifs.

- 5. Les gains provenant de l'aliénation de tous biens autres que ceux visés aux paragraphes 1, 2, 3 et 4 ne sont imposables que dans l'État contractant dont le cédant est un résident.
- 6. Les dispositions du paragraphe 5 ne portent pas atteinte au droit d'un État contractant de percevoir, conformément à sa législation, un impôt sur les gains provenant de l'aliénation d'un bien et réalisés par une personne physique qui est un résident de l'autre État contractant et qui a été un résident du premier État à un moment quelconque au cours des six années précédant immédiatement l'aliénation du bien.
- 7. Lorsqu'une personne physique qui, immédiatement après avoir cessé d'être un résident d'un État contractant, devient un résident de l'autre État contractant est considérée aux fins d'imposition dans le premier État comme ayant aliéné un bien et est imposée dans cet État en raison de cette aliénation, elle peut choisir, aux fins d'imposition dans l'autre État, d'être considérée comme ayant vendu et racheté, immédiatement avant de devenir un résident de cet État, le bien pour un montant égal à sa juste valeur marchande à ce moment. Toutefois, la présente disposition ne s'applique ni aux biens qui donneraient lieu, immédiatement avant que la personne physique ne devienne un résident de cet autre État, à des gains imposables dans cet autre État, ni aux biens immobiliers situés dans un État tiers.

Independent Personal Services

- 1. Income derived by an individual who is a resident of a Contracting State in respect of professional or similar services of an independent character shall be taxable only in that State unless the individual has a fixed base regularly available in the other Contracting State for the purpose of performing the services. If the individual has or had such a fixed base, the income may be taxed in the other State but only so much of it as is attributable to that fixed base.
- 2. The term "professional services" includes especially independent scientific, literary, artistic, educational or teaching activities as well as the independent activities of physicians, lawyers, engineers, architects, dentists and accountants.

ARTICLE 15

Dependent Personal Services

- 1. Subject to the provisions of Articles 16, 18 and 19, salaries, wages and other remuneration derived by a resident of a Contracting State in respect of an employment shall be taxable only in that State unless the employment is exercised in the other Contracting State. If the employment is so exercised, such remuneration as is derived therefrom may be taxed in that other State.
- 2. Notwithstanding the provisions of paragraph 1, remuneration derived by a resident of a Contracting State in respect of an employment exercised in the other Contracting State shall be taxable only in the first-mentioned State if:
 - a) the recipient is present in the other State for a period or periods not exceeding in the aggregate 183 days in any twelve month period commencing or ending in the calendar year concerned, and
 - b) the remuneration is paid by, or on behalf of, an employer who is not a resident of the other State, and
 - c) the remuneration is not borne by a permanent establishment or a fixed base which the employer has in the other State.
- 3. Notwithstanding the preceding provisions of this Article, remuneration derived in respect of an employment exercised aboard a ship or aircraft operated in international traffic by an enterprise of a Contracting State may be taxed in that State.

ARTICLE 14

Professions indépendantes

- 1. Les revenus qu'une personne physique qui est un résident d'un État contractant tire d'une profession libérale ou similaire de caractère indépendant ne sont imposables que dans cet État, à moins que cette personne physique ne dispose de façon habituelle dans l'autre État contractant d'une base fixe pour l'exercice de sa profession. Si elle dispose, ou a disposé, d'une telle base fixe, les revenus sont imposables dans l'autre État mais uniquement dans la mesure où ils sont imputables à cette base fixe.
- 2. L'expression « profession libérale » comprend notamment les activités indépendantes d'ordre scientifique, littéraire, artistique, éducatif ou pédagogique, ainsi que les activités indépendantes des médecins, avocats, ingénieurs, architectes, dentistes et comptables.

ARTICLE 15

Professions dépendantes

- 1. Sous réserve des dispositions des articles 16, 18 et 19, les salaires, traitements et autres rémunérations qu'un résident d'un État contractant reçoit au titre d'un emploi salarié ne sont imposables que dans cet État, à moins que l'emploi ne soit exercé dans l'autre État contractant. Si l'emploi y est exercé, les rémunérations reçues à ce titre sont imposables dans cet autre État.
- 2. Nonobstant les dispositions du paragraphe l, les rémunérations qu'un résident d'un État contractant reçoit au titre d'un emploi salarié exercé dans l'autre État contractant ne sont imposables que dans le premier État si :
 - a) le bénéficiaire séjourne dans l'autre État pendant une période ou des périodes n'excédant pas au total 183 jours au cours de toute période de douze mois commençant ou se terminant dans l'année civile considérée, et
 - b) les rémunérations sont payées par un employeur ou pour le compte d'un employeur qui n'est pas un résident de l'autre État, et
 - c) la charge des rémunérations n'est pas supportée par un établissement stable ou une base fixe que l'employeur a dans l'autre État.
- 3. Nonobstant les dispositions précédentes du présent article, les rémunérations reçues au titre d'un emploi salarié exercé à bord d'un navire ou d'un aéronef exploité en trafic international par une entreprise d'un État contractant sont imposables dans cet État.

ARTICLE 16

Directors' Fees

Directors' fees and other similar payments derived by a resident of a Contracting State in the capacity as a member of the board of directors or a similar organ of a company which is a resident of the other Contracting State may be taxed in that other State.

ARTICLE 17

Artistes and Sportspersons

- 1. Notwithstanding the provisions of Articles 14 and 15, income derived by a resident of a Contracting State as an entertainer, such as a theatre, motion picture, radio or television artiste, or a musician, or as a sportsperson, from that resident's personal activities as such exercised in the other Contracting State, may be taxed in that other State.
- 2. Where income in respect of personal activities exercised by an entertainer or a sportsperson in that individual's capacity as such accrues not to the entertainer or sportsperson personally but to another person, that income may, notwithstanding the provisions of Articles 7, 14 and 15, be taxed in the Contracting State in which the activities of the entertainer or sportsperson are exercised.
- 3. The provisions of paragraphs 1 and 2 shall not apply to income derived from activities exercised in a Contracting State by an entertainer or a sportsperson insofar as the activities are performed in the context of a visit to that State wholly or mainly supported by public funds of the other Contracting State, or a political subdivision or local authority thereof, or a statutory body of such State, subdivision or authority.

ARTICLE 18

Pensions and Annuities

- 1. Pensions and annuities arising in a Contracting State and paid to a resident of the other Contracting State may be taxed in that other State.
- 2. Pensions arising in a Contracting State and paid to a resident of the other Contracting State may also be taxed in the State in which they arise and according to the laws of that State. However, in the case of periodic pension payments, other than payments under the social security legislation in a Contracting State, the tax so charged shall not exceed the lesser of
 - a) 15 per cent of the gross amount of the payment; and
 - b) the rate determined by reference to the amount of tax that the recipient of the payment would otherwise be required to pay for the year on the total amount of the periodic pension payments received by the individual in the year, if the individual were resident in the Contracting State in which the payment arises.

ARTICLE 16

Tantièmes

Les tantièmes, jetons de présence et autres rétributions similaires qu'un résident d'un État contractant reçoit en sa qualité de membre du conseil d'administration ou de surveillance ou d'un organe analogue d'une société qui est un résident de l'autre État contractant sont imposables dans cet autre État.

ARTICLE 17

Artistes et sportifs

- 1. Nonobstant les dispositions des articles 14 et 15, les revenus qu'un résident d'un État contractant tire de ses activités personnelles exercées dans l'autre État contractant en tant qu'artiste du spectacle, tel qu'un artiste de théâtre, de cinéma, de la radio ou de la télévision, ou qu'un musicien, ou en tant que sportif, sont imposables dans cet autre État.
- 2. Lorsque les revenus d'activités qu'un artiste du spectacle ou un sportif exerce personnellement et en cette qualité sont attribués non pas à l'artiste ou au sportif lui-même mais à une autre personne, ces revenus sont imposables, nonobstant les dispositions des articles 7, 14 et 15, dans l'État contractant où les activités de l'artiste ou du sportif sont exercées.
- 3. Les dispositions des paragraphes 1 et 2 ne s'appliquent pas aux revenus tirés des activités exercées dans un État contractant par un artiste du spectacle ou un sportif si ces activités sont exercées dans le cadre d'une visite dans cet État supportée entièrement ou principalement par des fonds publics de l'autre État contractant ou l'une de ses subdivisions politiques ou collectivités locales ou un organisme de droit public de cet État, subdivision ou collectivité.

ARTICLE 18

Pensions et rentes

- 1. Les pensions et les rentes provenant d'un État contractant et payées à un résident de l'autre État contractant sont imposables dans cet autre État.
- 2. Les pensions provenant d'un État contractant et payées à un résident de l'autre État contractant sont aussi imposables dans l'État d'où elles proviennent et selon la législation de cet État. Toutefois, dans le cas de paiements périodiques d'une pension, autres que des paiements en vertu de la législation sur la sécurité sociale dans un État contractant, l'impôt ainsi établi ne peut excéder le moins élevé des deux taux suivants :
 - a) 15 p. 100 du montant brut du paiement; et
 - b) le taux calculé en fonction du montant d'impôt que le bénéficiaire du paiement devrait autrement verser pour l'année à l'égard du montant total des paiements périodiques de pensions qu'il a reçus au cours de l'année s'il était un résident de l'État contractant d'où provient le paiement.

- 3. Annuities arising in a Contracting State and paid to a resident of the other Contracting State may also be taxed in the State in which they arise and according to the law of that State, but the tax so charged shall not exceed 15 per cent of the portion thereof that is subject to tax in that State. However, this limitation does not apply to lump-sum payments arising on the surrender, cancellation, redemption, sale or other disposition of an annuity, or to payments of any kind under an annuity contract the cost of which was deductible, in whole or in part, in computing the income of any person who acquired the contract.
- 4. The term "annuity" as used in this Article means a stated sum payable periodically at stated times during life or during a specified or ascertainable period of time under an obligation to make the payments in return for adequate and full consideration in money or money's worth.
 - 5. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement
 - a) war pensions and allowances (including pensions and allowances paid to war veterans or paid as a consequence of damages or injuries suffered as a consequence of a war) arising in a Contracting State and paid to a resident of the other Contracting State shall be exempt from tax in that other State to the extent that they would be exempt from tax if received by a resident of the first-mentioned State;
 - b) social security benefits paid by a Contracting State or a political subdivision thereof to a resident of the other Contracting State shall be taxable only in the first-mentioned State.

Government Service

- 1. *a*) Salaries, wages and other similar remuneration, other than a pension, paid by a Contracting State or a political subdivision or a local authority thereof to an individual in respect of services rendered to that State or subdivision or authority shall be taxable only in that State.
- b) However, such salaries, wages and other similar remuneration shall be taxable only in the other Contracting State if the services are rendered in that State and the individual is a resident of that State who
 - (i) is a national of that State; or
 - (ii) did not become a resident of that State solely for the purpose of rendering the services.
- 2. The provisions of Articles 15, 16 and 17 shall apply to salaries, wages and other similar remuneration in respect of services rendered in connection with a business carried on by a Contracting State or a political subdivision or a local authority thereof.

- 3. Les rentes provenant d'un État contractant et payées à un résident de l'autre État contractant sont aussi imposables dans l'État d'où elles proviennent et selon la législation de cet État, mais l'impôt ainsi établi ne peut excéder 15 p. 100 de la fraction du paiement qui est assujettie à l'impôt dans cet État. Toutefois, cette limitation ne s'applique pas aux paiements forfaitaires découlant de l'abandon, de l'annulation, du rachat, de la vente ou d'une autre forme d'aliénation de la rente, ou aux paiements de toute nature en vertu d'un contrat de rente le coût duquel était déductible, en tout ou en partie, dans le calcul du revenu de toute personne ayant acquis ce contrat.
- 4. Au sens du présent article, le terme « rente » désigne une somme déterminée payable périodiquement à échéances fixes à titre viager ou pendant une période déterminée ou qui peut l'être, en vertu d'un engagement d'effectuer les paiements en échange d'une contre-partie pleine et suffisante versée en argent ou évaluable en argent.
 - 5. Nonobstant toute disposition du présent Accord :
 - a) les pensions et allocations de guerre (incluant les pensions et allocations payées aux anciens combattants ou payées en conséquence des dommages ou blessures subis à l'occasion d'une guerre) provenant d'un État contractant et payées à un résident de l'autre État contractant seront exonérées d'impôt dans cet autre État dans la mesure où elles seraient exonérées d'impôt si elles étaient reçues par un résident du premier État; et
 - b) les prestations en vertu de la sécurité sociale payées par un État contractant ou l'une de ses subdivisions politiques à un résident de l'autre État contractant ne sont imposables que dans le premier État.

ARTICLE 19

Fonctions publiques

- 1. a) Les salaires, traitements et autres rémunérations similaires, autres que les pensions, payés par un État contractant ou l'une de ses subdivisions politiques ou collectivités locales à une personne physique, au titre de services rendus à cet État ou à cette subdivision ou collectivité, ne sont imposables que dans cet État.
- b) Toutefois, ces salaires, traitements et autres rémunérations similaires ne sont imposables que dans l'autre État contractant si les services sont rendus dans cet État et si la personne physique est un résident de cet État qui :
 - (i) possède la nationalité de cet État, ou
 - (ii) n'est pas devenu un résident de cet État à seule fin de rendre les services.
- 2. Les dispositions des articles 15, 16 et 17 s'appliquent aux salaires, traitements et autres rémunérations similaires payés au titre de services rendus dans le cadre d'une activité industrielle ou commerciale exercée par un État contractant ou l'une de ses subdivisions politiques ou collectivités locales.

ARTICLE 20

Students

Payments which a student or an apprentice who is, or was immediately before visiting a Contracting State, a resident of the other Contracting State and who is present in the first-mentioned State solely for the purpose of that individual's education or training receives for the purpose of that individual's maintenance, education or training shall not be taxed in that State, if such payments arise from sources outside that State.

ARTICLE 21

Other Income

- 1. Items of income of a resident of a Contracting State, wherever arising, not dealt with in the foregoing Articles of this Agreement shall be taxable only in that State.
- 2. Notwithstanding paragraph 1, if such income is derived by a resident of a Contracting State from sources in the other Contracting State, such income may also be taxed in the State in which it arises and according to the law of that State. Where such income is income from a trust, other than a trust to which contributions were deductible, the tax so charged shall, if the income is taxable in the Contracting State in which the beneficial owner is a resident, not exceed 15 per cent of the gross amount of the income.

ARTICLE 22

Capital

- 1. Capital represented by immovable property owned by a resident of a Contracting State and situated in the other Contracting State may be taxed in that other State.
- 2. Capital represented by movable property forming part of the business property of a permanent establishment which an enterprise of a Contracting State has in the other Contracting State, or by movable property pertaining to a fixed base available to a resident of a Contracting State in the other Contracting State for the purpose of performing independent personal services, may be taxed in that other State.
- 3. Capital represented by ships and aircraft operated by an enterprise of a Contracting State in international traffic and by movable property pertaining to the operation of such ships and aircraft shall be taxable only in that State.
- 4. All other elements of capital of a resident of a Contracting State shall be taxable only in that State.

ARTICLE 20

Étudiants

Les sommes qu'un étudiant ou un stagiaire qui est, ou qui était immédiatement avant de se rendre dans un État contractant, un résident de l'autre État contractant et qui séjourne dans le premier État à seule fin d'y poursuivre ses études ou sa formation, reçoit pour couvrir ses frais d'entretien, d'études ou de formation ne sont pas imposables dans cet État, à condition qu'elles proviennent de sources situées en dehors de cet État.

ARTICLE 21

Autres revenus

- 1. Les éléments du revenu d'un résident d'un État contractant, d'où qu'ils proviennent, qui ne sont pas traités dans les articles précédents du présent Accord ne sont imposables que dans cet
- 2. Nonobstant le paragraphe 1, si ces revenus perçus par un résident d'un État contractant proviennent de sources situées dans l'autre État con-tractant, ils sont aussi imposables dans l'État d'où ils proviennent et selon la législation de cet État. Lorsque ces revenus sont des revenus provenant d'une fiducie, autre qu'une fiducie qui a reçu des contributions pour lesquelles une déduction a été accordée, l'impôt ainsi établi ne peut excéder 15 p. 100 du montant brut du revenu pourvu que celui-ci soit imposable dans l'État contractant dont le bénéficiaire effectif est un résident.

ARTICLE 22

Fortune

- 1. La fortune constituée par des biens immobiliers que possède un résident d'un État contractant et qui sont situés dans l'autre État contractant, est imposable dans cet autre État.
- 2. La fortune constituée par des biens mobiliers qui font partie de l'actif d'un établissement stable qu'une entreprise d'un État contractant a dans l'autre État contractant, ou par des biens mobiliers qui appartiennent à une base fixe dont un résident d'un État contractant dispose dans l'autre État contractant pour l'exercice d'une profession indépendante, est imposable dans cet autre État.
- 3. La fortune constituée par des navires et des aéronefs exploités en trafic international par une entreprise d'un État contractant, ainsi que par des biens mobiliers affectés à l'exploitation de ces navires et aéronefs, n'est imposable que dans cet État.
- 4. Tous les autres éléments de la fortune d'un résident d'un État contractant ne sont imposables que dans cet État.

Elimination of Double Taxation

- 1. In the case of Canada, double taxation shall be avoided as follows:
 - a) subject to the existing provisions of the law of Canada regarding the deduction from tax payable in Canada of tax paid in a territory outside Canada and to any subsequent modification of those provisions which shall not affect the general principle hereof and unless a greater deduction or relief is provided under the laws of Canada, tax payable in Slovakia on profits, income or gains arising in Slovakia shall be deducted from any Canadian tax payable in respect of such profits, income or gains;
 - b) subject to the provisions of the law of Canada regarding the allowance as a credit against Canadian tax of tax payable in a territory outside Canada and to any subsequent modification of those provisions which shall not affect the general principle hereof where a company which is a resident of Slovakia pays a dividend to a company which is a resident of Canada and which controls directly or indirectly at least 10 per cent of the voting power in the first-mentioned company, the credit shall take into account the tax payable in Slovakia by that first-mentioned company in respect of the profits out of which such dividend is paid;
 - c) where in accordance with any provision of the Agreement income derived or capital owned by a resident of Canada is exempt from tax in Canada, Canada may nevertheless, in calculating the amount of tax on other income or capital, take into account the exempted income or capital.
- 2. In the case of Slovakia, double taxation shall be avoided as follows:
 - a) Slovakia, when imposing taxes on its residents, may include in the tax base upon which taxes are imposed the items of income or capital which according to the provisions of this Agreement may also be taxed in Canada, but shall allow as a deduction from the amount of tax computed on such a base an amount equal to the tax paid in Canada. Such deduction shall not, however, exceed that part of the Slovak tax, as computed before the deduction is given, which is appropriate to the income or capital which, in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement, may be taxed in Canada;

ARTICLE 23

Élimination de la double imposition

- 1. En ce qui concerne le Canada, la double imposition est évitée de la façon suivante :
 - a) sous réserve des dispositions de la législation canadienne concernant l'imputation de l'impôt payé dans un territoire en dehors du Canada sur l'impôt canadien payable et de toute modification ultérieure de ces dispositions qui n'en affecterait pas le principe général, et sans préjudice d'une déduction ou d'un dégrèvement plus important prévu par la législation canadienne, l'impôt dû en Slovaquie à raison de bénéfices, revenus ou gains provenant de Slovaquie est porté en déduction de tout impôt canadien dû à raison des mêmes bénéfices, revenus ou gains;
 - b) sous réserve des dispositions de la législation canadienne concernant l'imputation sur l'impôt canadien de l'impôt payé dans un territoire en dehors du Canada et de toute modification ultérieure de ces dispositions qui n'en affecterait pas le principe général, lorsqu'une société qui est un résident de Slovaquie paye un dividende à une société qui est un résident du Canada et qui contrôle directement ou indirectement au moins 10 p. 100 des droits de vote de la première société, il sera tenu compte, dans le calcul de l'imputation, de l'impôt dû en Slovaquie par la première société sur les bénéfices qui servent au paiement des dividendes;
 - c) lorsque, conformément à une disposition quelconque de l'Accord, les revenus qu'un résident du Canada reçoit ou la fortune qu'il possède sont exempts d'impôts au Canada, le Canada peut néanmoins, pour calculer le montant de l'impôt sur d'autres revenus ou de la fortune, tenir compte des revenus ou de la fortune exemptés.
- 2. En ce qui concerne la Slovaquie, la double imposition est évitée de la façon suivante :
 - a) aux fins de l'imposition de ses résidents, la Slovaquie peut, pour calculer le montant imposable sur lequel l'impôt s'applique, inclure les éléments du revenu ou de la fortune qui sont également imposables au Canada selon les dispositions du présent Accord mais accorde sur l'impôt ainsi calculé une déduction d'un montant égal à l'impôt payé au Canada. La somme ainsi déduite ne peut toutefois excéder la fraction de l'impôt slovaque, calculé avant la déduction, correspondant aux revenus ou à la fortune qui, selon les dispositions du présent Accord, sont imposables au Canada;

- b) subject to the provisions of the law of Slovakia regarding the allowance as a credit against Slovak tax of tax payable in a territory outside Slovakia and to any subsequent modification of those provisions which shall not affect the general principle hereof where a company which is a resident of Canada pays a dividend to a company which is a resident of Slovakia and which controls directly or indirectly at least 10 per cent of the voting power in the first-mentioned company, the credit shall take into account the tax payable in Canada by that first-mentioned company in respect of the profits out of which such dividend is paid;
- c) where in accordance with any provision of the Agreement income derived or capital owned by a resident of Slovakia is exempt from tax in Slovakia, Slovakia may nevertheless, in calculating the amount of tax on the remaining income or capital, take into account the exempted income or capital.
- 3. For the purposes of this Article, profits, income or gains of a resident of a Contracting State that may be taxed in the other Contracting State in accordance with this Agreement shall be deemed to arise from sources in that other State.

Non-discrimination

- 1. Nationals of a Contracting State shall not be subjected in the other Contracting State to any taxation or any requirement connected therewith which is more burdensome than the taxation and connected requirements to which nationals of that other State in the same circumstances, in particular with respect to residence, are or may be subjected. This provision shall, notwithstanding the provisions of Article 1, also apply to individuals who are not residents of one or both of the Contracting States.
- 2. The taxation on a permanent establishment which an enterprise of a Contracting State has in the other Contracting State shall not be less favourably levied in that other State than the taxation levied on enterprises of that other State carrying on the same activities.
- 3. The provisions of this Article shall not be construed as obliging a Contracting State to grant to residents of the other Contracting State any personal allowances, reliefs and reductions for taxation purposes on account of civil status or family responsibilities which it grants to its own residents.

- b) sous réserve des dispositions de la législation slovaque concernant l'imputation sur l'impôt slovaque de l'impôt payé dans un territoire en dehors de la Slovaquie et de toute modification ultérieure de ces dispositions qui n'en affecterait pas le principe général, lorsqu'une société qui est un résident du Canada paye un dividende à une société qui est un résident de la Slovaquie et qui contrôle directement ou indirectement au moins 10 p. 100 des droits de vote de la première société, il sera tenu compte, dans le calcul de l'imputation, de l'impôt dû au Canada par la première société sur les bénéfices qui servent au paiement des dividendes;
- c) lorsque, conformément à une disposition quelconque de l'Accord, les revenus qu'un résident de Slovaquie reçoit ou la fortune qu'il possède sont exempts d'impôts en Slovaquie, la Slovaquie peut néanmoins, pour calculer le montant de l'impôt sur le reste des revenus ou de la fortune, tenir compte des revenus ou de la fortune exemptés.
- 3. Pour l'application du présent article, les bénéfices, revenus ou gains d'un résident d'un État contractant qui sont imposables dans l'autre État contractant conformément au présent Accord sont considérés comme provenant de sources situées dans cet autre État.

ARTICLE 24

Non-discrimination

- 1. Les nationaux d'un État contractant ne sont soumis dans l'autre État contractant à aucune imposition ou obligation y relative, qui est plus lourde que celles auxquelles sont ou pourront être assujettis les nationaux de cet autre État qui se trouvent dans la même situation, notamment au regard de la résidence. La présente disposition s'applique aussi, nonobstant les dispositions de l'article 1, aux personnes physiques qui ne sont pas des résidents d'un État contractant ou des deux États contractants.
- 2. L'imposition d'un établissement stable qu'une entreprise d'un État contractant a dans l'autre État contractant n'est pas établie dans cet autre État d'une façon moins favorable que l'imposition des entreprises de cet autre État qui exercent la même activité.
- 3. Les dispositions du présent article ne peuvent être interprétées comme obligeant un État contractant à accorder aux résidents de l'autre État contractant les déductions personnelles, abattements et réductions d'impôt en fonction de la situation ou des charges de famille qu'il accorde à ses propres résidents.

- 4. Except where the provisions of paragraph 1 of Article 9, paragraph 6 of Article 11, or paragraph 5 of Article 12 apply, interest, royalties and other disbursements paid by an enterprise of a Contracting State to a resident of the other Contracting State shall, for the purposes of determining the taxable profits of such enterprise, be deductible under the same conditions as if they had been paid to a resident of the first-mentioned State. Similarly, any debts of an enterprise of a Contracting State to a resident of the other Contracting State shall, for the purpose of determining the taxable capital of such enterprise, be deducted under the same conditions as if they had been contracted to a resident of the first-mentioned State.
- 5. The provisions of paragraph 4 shall not affect the operation of any provision of the taxation laws of a Contracting State:
 - a) relating to the deductibility of interest and which is in force on the date of signature of this Agreement (including any subsequent modification of such provisions that does not change the general nature thereof); or
 - b) adopted after such date by a Contracting State and which is designed to ensure that a person who is not a resident of that State does not enjoy, under the laws of that State, a tax treatment that is more favourable than that enjoyed by residents of that State.
- 6. Enterprises of a Contracting State, the capital of which is wholly or partly owned or controlled, directly or indirectly, by one or more residents of the other Contracting State, shall not be subjected in the first-mentioned State to any taxation or any requirement connected therewith which is more burdensome than the taxation and connected requirements to which other similar enterprises that are residents of the first-mentioned State, the capital of which is wholly or partly owned or controlled, directly or indirectly, by one or more residents of a third State, are or may be subjected.
- 7. In this Article, the term "taxation" means taxes that are the subject of this Agreement.

$Mutual\ Agreement\ Procedure$

1. Where a person considers that the actions of one or both of the Contracting States result or will result for that person in taxation not in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement, that person may, irrespective of the remedies provided by the domestic law of those States, address to the competent authority of the Contracting State of which that person is a resident or, if the case comes under paragraph 1 of Article 24, to that of the Contracting State of which that person is a national, an application in writing stating the grounds for claiming the revision of such taxation. To be admissible, the said application must be submitted within two years from the first notification of the action resulting in taxation not in accordance with the provisions of the Agreement.

- 4. À moins que les dispositions du paragraphe 1 de l'article 9, du paragraphe 6 de l'article 11 ou du paragraphe 5 de l'article 12 ne soient applicables, les intérêts, redevances et autres dépenses payés par une entreprise d'un État contractant à un résident de l'autre État contractant sont déductibles, pour la détermination des bénéfices imposables de cette entreprise, dans les mêmes conditions que s'ils avaient été payés à un résident du premier État. De même, les dettes d'une entreprise d'un État contractant envers un résident de l'autre État contractant sont déductibles, pour la détermination de la fortune imposable de cette entreprise, dans les mêmes conditions que si elles avaient été contractées envers un résident du premier État.
- 5. Les dispositions du paragraphe 4 ne portent pas atteinte à l'application d'une disposition quelconque de la législation fiscale d'un État contractant :
 - a) concernant la déduction des intérêts, qui est en vigueur à la date de signature du présent Accord (y compris toute modification ultérieure de ces dispositions qui n'en changent pas le caractère général); ou
 - b) adoptée après cette date par un État contractant et qui vise à s'assurer qu'une personne qui n'est pas un résident de cet État ne bénéficie, en vertu de la législation de cet État, d'un traitement fiscal plus favorable que celui dont bénéficient les résidents de cet État.
- 6. Les entreprises d'un État contractant, dont le capital est en totalité ou en partie, directement ou indirectement, détenu ou contrôlé par un ou plusieurs résidents de l'autre État contractant, ne sont soumises dans le premier État à aucune imposition ou obligation y relative, qui est plus lourde que celles auxquelles sont ou pourront être assujetties les autres entreprises similaires du premier État et dont le capital est en totalité ou en partie, directement ou indirectement, détenu ou contrôlé par un ou plusieurs résidents d'un État tiers.
- 7. Le terme « imposition » désigne, dans le présent article, les impôts visés par le présent Accord.

ARTICLE 25

Procédure amiable

1. Lorsqu'une personne estime que les mesures prises par un État contractant ou par les deux États contractants entraînent ou entraîneront pour elle une imposition non conforme aux dispositions du présent Accord, elle peut, indépendamment des recours prévus par le droit interne de ces États, adresser à l'autorité compétente de l'État contractant dont elle est un résident ou, si son cas relève du paragraphe 1 de l'article 24, à celle de l'État contractant dont elle possède la nationalité, une demande écrite et motivée de révision de cette imposition. Pour être recevable, cette demande doit être présentée dans un délai de deux ans à compter de la première notification de la mesure qui entraîne une imposition non conforme aux dispositions de l'Accord.

2. The competent authority shall endeavour, if the objection appears to it to be justified and if it is not itself able to arrive at a satisfactory solution, to resolve the case by mutual agreement with the competent authority of the other Contracting State, with a view to the avoidance of taxation not in accordance with the Agreement.

Conventions fiscales (2001) — Annexe 7

- 3. A Contracting State shall not, after the expiry of the time limits provided in its domestic laws and, in any case, after six years from the end of the taxable period to which the income concerned was attributed, increase the tax base of a resident of either of the Contracting States by including therein items of income that have also been charged to tax in the other Contracting State. This paragraph shall not apply in the case of fraud, wilful default or neglect.
- 4. The competent authorities of the Contracting States shall endeavour to resolve by mutual agreement any difficulties or doubts arising as to the interpretation or application of the Agreement.
- 5. The competent authorities of the Contracting States may consult together for the elimination of double taxation in cases not provided for in the Agreement and may communicate with each other directly for the purpose of applying the Agreement.

ARTICLE 26

Exchange of Information

- 1. The competent authorities of the Contracting States shall exchange such information as is relevant for carrying out the provisions of this Agreement or of the domestic laws in the Contracting States concerning taxes covered by the Agreement insofar as the taxation thereunder is not contrary to the Agreement. The exchange of information is not restricted by Article 1. Any information received by a Contracting State shall be treated as secret in the same manner as information obtained under the domestic laws of that State and shall be disclosed only to persons or authorities (including courts and administrative bodies) concerned with the assessment or collection of, the enforcement or prosecution in respect of, or the determination of appeals in relation to taxes imposed by that State. Such persons or authorities shall use the information only for such purposes. They may disclose the information in public court proceedings or in judicial decisions.
- 2. In no case shall the provisions of paragraph 1 be construed so as to impose on a Contracting State the obligation:
 - a) to carry out administrative measures at variance with the laws and administrative practice of that or of the other Contracting State;
 - b) to supply information which is not obtainable under the laws or in the normal course of the administration of that or of the other Contracting State;

- 2. L'autorité compétente s'efforce, si la réclamation lui paraît fondée et si elle n'est pas elle-même en mesure d'y apporter une solution satisfaisante, de résoudre le cas par voie d'accord amiable avec l'autorité compétente de l'autre État contractant, en vue d'éviter une imposition non conforme à l'Accord.
- 3. Un État contractant n'augmente pas la base imposable d'un résident de l'un ou l'autre État contractant en y incluant des éléments de revenu qui ont déjà été imposés dans l'autre État contractant, après l'expiration des délais prévus par son droit interne et, en tout cas, après l'expiration de six ans à dater de la fin de la période imposable au cours de laquelle les revenus en cause ont été attribués. Le présent paragraphe ne s'applique pas en cas de fraude, d'omission volontaire ou de négligence.
- 4. Les autorités compétentes des États contractants s'efforcent, par voie d'accord amiable, de résoudre les difficultés ou de dissiper les doutes auxquels peuvent donner lieu l'interprétation ou l'application de l'Accord.
- 5. Les autorités compétentes des États contractants peuvent se concerter en vue d'éliminer la double imposition dans les cas non prévus par l'Accord et peuvent communiquer directement entre elles aux fins de l'application de l'Accord.

ARTICLE 26

Échange de renseignements

- 1. Les autorités compétentes des États contractants échangent les renseignements pertinents à l'application des dispositions du présent Accord ou celles de la législation interne des États contractants relative aux impôts visés par l'Accord dans la mesure où l'imposition qu'elle prévoit n'est pas contraire à l'Accord. L'échange de renseignements n'est pas restreint par l'article l. Les renseignements reçus par un État contractant sont tenus secrets de la même manière que les renseignements obtenus en application de la législation interne de cet État et ne sont communiqués qu'aux personnes ou autorités (y compris les tribunaux et organes administratifs) concernées par l'établissement ou le recouvrement des impôts prélevés par cet État, par les procédures ou poursuites concernant ces impôts, ou par les décisions sur les recours relatifs à ces impôts. Ces personnes ou autorités n'utilisent ces renseignements qu'à ces fins. Elles peuvent faire état de ces renseignements au cours d'audiences publiques de tribunaux ou dans des jugements.
- 2. Les dispositions du paragraphe 1 ne peuvent en aucun cas être interprétées comme imposant à un État contractant l'obliga
 - a) de prendre des mesures administratives dérogeant à sa législation et à sa pratique administrative ou à celles de l'autre État contractant;
 - b) de fournir des renseignements qui ne pourraient être obtenus sur la base de sa législation ou dans le cadre de sa pratique administrative normale ou de celles de l'autre État contractant:

- c) to supply information which would disclose any trade, business, industrial, commercial or professional secret or trade process, or information, the disclosure of which would be contrary to public policy (*ordre public*).
- 3. If information is requested by a Contracting State in accordance with this Article, the other Contracting State shall endeavour to obtain the information to which the request relates in the same way as if its own taxation were involved, even though the other State does not, at that time, need such information. If specifically requested by the competent authority of a Contracting State, the competent authority of the other Contracting State shall endeavour to provide information under this Article in the form requested to the same extent information in that form can be obtained under the laws and administrative practices of that other State with respect to its own taxes.

Members of Diplomatic Missions and Consular Posts

- 1. Nothing in this Agreement shall affect the fiscal privileges of members of diplomatic missions or consular posts under the general rules of international law or under the provisions of special agreements.
- 2. Notwithstanding the provisions of Article 4, an individual who is a member of a diplomatic mission, consular post or permanent mission of a Contracting State that is situated in the other Contracting State or in a third State shall be deemed for the purposes of the Agreement to be a resident of the sending State if that individual is liable in the sending State to the same obligations in relation to tax on total income or on total capital as are residents of that sending State.

ARTICLE 28

Miscellaneous Rules

- 1. The provisions of this Agreement shall not be construed to restrict in any manner any exemption, allowance, credit or other deduction accorded by the laws of a Contracting State in the determination of the tax imposed by that State.
- 2. Nothing in the Agreement shall be construed as preventing a Contracting State from imposing a tax on amounts included in the income of a resident of that State with respect to a partnership, trust, or controlled foreign affiliate, in which that resident has an interest.

- c) de fournir des renseignements qui révéleraient un secret commercial, industriel, professionnel ou un procédé commercial ou des renseignements dont la communication serait contraire à l'ordre public.
- 3. Lorsqu'un État contractant demande des renseignements en conformité avec le présent article, l'autre État contractant s'efforce d'obtenir les renseignements relatifs à cette demande de la même façon que si ses propres impôts étaient en jeu même si cet autre État n'a pas besoin, à ce moment, de ces renseignements. Si la demande de l'autorité compétente d'un État contractant le requiert expressément, l'autorité compétente de l'autre État contractant s'efforce de fournir les renseignements demandés en vertu du présent article sous la forme requise dans la mesure où ces renseignements peuvent être obtenus sur la base de la législation ou dans le cadre de la pratique administrative relative aux propres impôts de cet autre État.

ARTICLE 27

Membres des missions diplomatiques et postes consulaires

- 1. Les dispositions du présent Accord ne portent pas atteinte aux privilèges fiscaux dont bénéficient les membres des missions diplomatiques ou postes consulaires en vertu soit des règles générales du droit international, soit des dispositions d'accords particuliers.
- 2. Nonobstant les dispositions de l'article 4, une personne physique qui est membre d'une mission diplomatique, d'un poste consulaire ou d'une délégation permanente d'un État contractant qui est situé dans l'autre État contractant ou dans un État tiers est considérée, aux fins de l'Accord, comme un résident de l'État accréditant à condition qu'elle soit soumise dans l'État accréditant aux mêmes obligations, en matière d'impôts sur l'ensemble de son revenu ou de sa fortune, que les résidents de cet État.

ARTICLE 28

Dispositions diverses

- 1. Les dispositions du présent Accord ne peuvent être interprétées comme limitant d'une manière quelconque les exonérations, abattements, déductions, crédits ou autres allégements qui sont ou seront accordés par la législation d'un État contractant pour la détermination de l'impôt prélevé par cet État.
- 2. Aucune disposition de l'Accord ne peut être interprétée comme empêchant un État contractant de prélever un impôt sur les montants inclus dans le revenu d'un résident de cet État à l'égard d'une société de personnes, une fiducie ou une société étrangère affiliée contrôlée dans laquelle il possède une participation.

- 3. The Agreement shall not apply to any company, trust or other entity that is a resident of a Contracting State and is beneficially owned or controlled, directly or indirectly, by one or more persons who are not residents of that State, if the amount of the tax imposed on the income or capital of the company, trust or other entity by that State is substantially lower than the amount that would be imposed by that State if all of the shares of the capital stock of the company or all of the interests in the trust or other entity, as the case may be, were beneficially owned by one or more individuals who were residents of that State.
- 4. For the purposes of paragraph 3 of Article XXII (Consultation) of the General Agreement on Trade in Services, the Contracting States agree that, notwithstanding that paragraph, any dispute between them as to whether a measure falls within the scope of this Agreement may be brought before the Council for Trade in Services, as provided by that paragraph, only with the consent of both Contracting States. Any doubt as to the interpretation of this paragraph shall be resolved under paragraph 4 of Article 25 or, failing agreement under that procedure, pursuant to any other procedure agreed to by both Contracting States.

ARTICLE 29

Entry into Force

1. This Agreement shall be approved by each Contracting State in compliance with its internal legal procedure and shall enter into force on the date of the later diplomatic note confirming such approval. Its provisions shall thereupon have effect:

a) in Canada

- (i) in respect of tax withheld at source, on amounts paid or credited on or after the first day of January in the calendar year next following that in which the Agreement enters into force, and
- (ii) in respect of other Canadian tax, for taxation years beginning on or after the first day of January in the calendar year next following that in which the Agreement enters into force;

b) in Slovakia:

- (i) in respect of taxes withheld at source, on amounts paid or credited on or after the first day of January in the calendar year next following that in which the Agreement enters into force, and
- (ii) in respect of other taxes on income and on capital for any tax year beginning on or after the first day of January in the calendar year next following that in which the Agreement enters into force.

- 3. L'Accord ne s'applique pas à une société, une fiducie ou une autre entité qui est un résident d'un État contractant et dont une ou plusieurs personnes qui ne sont pas des résidents de cet État en sont les bénéficiaires effectifs ou qui est contrôlée, directement ou indirectement, par de telles personnes, si le montant de l'impôt exigé par cet État sur le revenu ou la fortune de la société, fiducie ou autre entité est largement inférieur au montant qui serait exigé par cet État si une ou plusieurs personnes physiques qui sont des résidents de cet État étaient le bénéficiaire effectif de toutes les actions de capital de la société ou de toutes les participations dans la fiducie ou autre entité, selon le cas.
- 4. Au sens du paragraphe 3 de l'article XXII (Consultation) de l'Accord général sur le commerce des services, les États contractants conviennent que, nonobstant ce paragraphe, tout différent entre eux sur la question de savoir si une mesure relève du présent Accord, ne peut être porté devant le Conseil sur le commerce des services, tel que prévu par ce paragraphe, qu'avec le consentement des deux États contractants. Tout doute au sujet de l'interprétation du présent paragraphe est résolu en vertu du paragraphe 4 de l'article 25 ou, en l'absence d'un accord en vertu de cette procédure, en vertu de toute autre procédure acceptée par les deux États contractants.

ARTICLE 29

Entrée en vigueur

1. Le présent accord est approuvé par chaque État contractant conformément à ses procédures juridiques internes et entre en vigueur à la date de la dernière note diplomatique confirmant l'approbation. Ces dispositions sont dès lors applicables :

a) au Canada:

- (i) à l'égard de l'impôt retenu à la source sur les montants payés ou portés au crédit, à partir du 1er janvier de l'année civile suivant immédiatement celle au cours de laquelle l'Accord entre en vigueur; et
- (ii) à l'égard des autres impôts canadiens, pour toute année d'imposition commençant à partir du 1er janvier de l'année civile suivant immédiatement celle au cours de laquelle l'Accord entre en vigueur;

b) en Slovaquie:

- (i) à l'égard de l'impôt retenu à la source sur les montants payés ou portés au crédit, à partir du 1er janvier de l'année civile suivant immédiatement celle au cours de laquelle l'Accord entre en vigueur;
- (ii) à l'égard des autres impôts sur le revenu et sur la fortune, pour toute année d'imposition commençant à partir du 1er janvier de l'année civile suivant immédiatement celle au cours de laquelle l'Accord entre en vigueur.

2. From the date of entry into force of this Agreement the Convention between the Government of Canada and the Government of the Czech and Slovak Federal Republic for the Avoidance of Double Taxation and the Prevention of Fiscal Evasion with respect to Taxes on Income and on Capital signed at Prague on the 30th day of August, 1990, shall, as between Canada and the Slovak Republic, terminate. However, the provisions of the 1990 Convention corresponding to those of this Agreement shall continue to have effect until the provisions of this Agreement take effect in accordance with the provisions of paragraph 1.

ARTICLE 30

Termination

This Agreement shall remain in force until terminated by one of the Contracting States. Either Contracting State may terminate the Agreement, through diplomatic channels, by giving written notice of termination at least six months before the end of any calendar year following after the period of five years from the date on which the Agreement enters into force. In such event, the Agreement shall cease to have effect:

- a) in Canada
 - (i) in respect of tax withheld at source, on amounts paid or credited after the end of that calendar year, and
 - (ii) in respect of other Canadian tax, for taxation years beginning after the end of that calendar year;
- b) in Slovakia:
- (i) in respect of taxes withheld at source, on amounts paid or credited on or after the first day of January in the calendar year next following that in which the notice of termination is given, and
- (ii) in respect of other taxes on income and on capital for any tax year beginning on or after the first day of January in the calendar year next following that in which the notice of termination is given.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the undersigned, duly authorized thereto, have signed this Agreement.

DONE in duplicate at Bratislava, this $22^{\rm nd}$ day of May, 2001, each in the English, French and Slovak languages, each version being equally authentic.

FOR THE GOVERNMENT OF CANADA

FOR THE GOVERNMENT OF THE SLOVAK REPUBLIC

Jane Stewart Brigita Schmögnerová

2. À partir de la date de l'entrée en vigueur du présent Accord, la Convention entre le Gouvernement du Canada et le Gouvernement de la République fédérative tchèque et slovaque en vue d'éviter les doubles impositions et de prévenir l'évasion fiscale en matière d'impôts sur le revenu et sur la fortune signée à Prague le 30 août 1990 est, en ce qui concerne les relations entre le Canada et la République slovaque, dénoncée. Toutefois, les dispositions de la Convention de 1990 correspondantes à celles du présent Accord continueront d'avoir effet jusqu'à ce que les dispositions du présent Accord prennent leurs effets conformément aux dispositions du paragraphe 1.

ARTICLE 30

Dénonciation

Le présent Accord demeurera en vigueur tant qu'il n'aura pas été dénoncé par l'un des États contractants. Chaque État contractant peut dénoncer l'Accord par la voie diplomatique avec un préavis écrit d'au moins six mois avant la fin de chaque année civile qui commence une fois révolue la cinquième année suivant la date d'entrée en vigueur de l'Accord. Dans ce cas, l'Accord cessera d'être applicable :

- a) au Canada:
 - (i) à l'égard de l'impôt retenu à la source sur les montants payés ou portés au crédit, après la fin de cette année civile; et
 - (ii) à l'égard des autres impôts canadiens, pour toute année d'imposition commençant après la fin de cette année civile;
- b) en Slovaquie:
 - (i) à l'égard de l'impôt retenu à la source sur les montants payés ou portés au crédit, à partir du 1^{er} janvier de l'année civile suivant immédiatement celle au cours de laquelle l'avis de dénonciation est donné;
 - (ii) à l'égard des autres impôts sur le revenu ou sur la fortune, pour toute année d'imposition commençant à partir du 1^{er} janvier de l'année civile suivant immédiatement celle au cours de laquelle l'avis de dénonciation est donné.

EN FOI DE QUOI les soussignés, dûment autorisés à cet effet, ont signé le présent Accord.

FAIT en double exemplaire à Bratislava ce 22^e jour de mai 2001, en langues française, anglaise et slovaque, chaque version faisant également foi.

POUR LE GOUVERNEMENT DU CANADA POUR LE GOUVERNEMENT DE LA RÉPUBLIQUE

Brigita Schmögnerová

SLOVAQUE

Jane Stewart

SCHEDULE 8 (Subsection 46(1))

PART 1

AGREEMENT BETWEEN CANADA AND THE FEDERAL REPUBLIC OF GERMANY FOR THE AVOIDANCE OF DOUBLE TAXATION WITH RESPECT TO TAXES ON INCOME AND CERTAIN OTHER TAXES, THE PREVENTION OF FISCAL EVASION AND THE ASSISTANCE IN TAX MATTERS

Canada and the Federal Republic of Germany, desiring to conclude an Agreement for the avoidance of double taxation with respect to taxes on income and certain other taxes, the prevention of fiscal evasion and the assistance in tax matters, have agreed as follows:

ARTICLE 1

Persons Covered

This Agreement shall apply to persons who are residents of one or both of the Contracting States.

ARTICLE 2

Taxes Covered

- 1. This Agreement shall apply to taxes on income and on capital imposed by each Contracting State and, in the case of the Federal Republic of Germany, on behalf of its Laender, political subdivisions or local authorities, irrespective of the manner in which they are levied.
- 2. There shall be regarded as taxes on income and on capital all taxes imposed on total income, on total capital, or on elements of income or of capital, including taxes on gains from the alienation of movable or immovable property, as well as taxes on capital appreciation.
 - 3. The existing taxes to which the Agreement shall apply are:
 - (a) in the case of Canada:

the taxes imposed by the Government of Canada under the *Income Tax Act*, (hereinafter referred to as "Canadian tax");

- (b) in the case of the Federal Republic of Germany:
 - (aa) the income tax (Einkommensteuer),
 - (bb) the corporation tax (Körperschaftsteuer),
 - (cc) the capital tax (Vermögensteuer),
 - (dd) the trade tax (Gewerbesteuer), and
 - (ee) the solidarity surcharge (Solidaritätszuschlag),

(hereinafter referred to as "German tax").

ANNEXE 8 (paragraphe 46(1))

PARTIE 1

ACCORD ENTRE LE CANADA ET LA RÉPUBLIQUE FÉDÉRALE D'ALLEMAGNE EN VUE D'ÉVITER LES DOUBLES IMPOSITIONS EN MATIÈRE D'IMPÔTS SUR LE REVENU ET DE CERTAINS AUTRES IMPÔTS, DE PRÉVENIR L'ÉVASION FISCALE ET DE FOURNIR ASSISTANCE EN MATIÈRE D'IMPÔTS

Le Canada et la République fédérale d'Allemagne, désireux de conclure un Accord en vue d'éviter les doubles impositions en matière d'impôts sur le revenu et de certains autres impôts, de prévenir l'évasion fiscale et de fournir assistance en matière d'impôts sont convenus des dispositions suivantes :

ARTICLE PREMIER

Personnes visées

Le présent Accord s'applique aux personnes qui sont des résidents d'un État contractant ou des deux États contractants.

ARTICLE 2

Impôts visés

- 1. Le présent Accord s'applique aux impôts sur le revenu et sur la fortune perçus par chacun des États contractants et, en ce qui concerne la République fédérale d'Allemagne, à ceux perçus pour le compte de ses Laender, de ses subdivisions politiques ou de ses collectivités locales, quel que soit le système de perception.
- 2. Sont considérés comme impôts sur le revenu et sur la fortune les impôts perçus sur le revenu total, sur la fortune totale, ou sur des éléments du revenu ou de la fortune, y compris les impôts sur les gains provenant de l'aliénation de biens mobiliers ou immobiliers, ainsi que les impôts sur les plus-values.
 - 3. Les impôts actuels auxquels s'applique l'Accord sont :
 - a) en ce qui concerne le Canada:
 - les impôts qui sont perçus par le Gouvernement du Canada en vertu de la *Loi de l'impôt sur le revenu*, (ci-après dénommés « impôt canadien »);
 - b) en ce qui concerne la République fédérale d'Allemagne :
 - (aa) l'impôt sur le revenu (Einkommensteuer),
 - (bb) l'impôt sur les sociétés (Körperschaftsteuer),
 - (cc) l'impôt sur la fortune (Vermögensteuer),
 - (dd) la contribution des patentes (Gewerbesteuer), et
 - (ee) la surtaxe de solidarité (Solidaritätszuschlag),
 - (ci-après dénommés « impôt allemand »).

4. The Agreement shall apply also to any identical or substantially similar taxes on income and to taxes on capital which are imposed after the date of signature of the Agreement in addition to, or in place of, the existing taxes. The competent authorities of the Contracting States shall notify each other of any significant changes which have been made to their respective taxation laws.

ARTICLE 3

General Definitions

- 1. For the purposes of this Agreement, unless the context otherwise requires:
 - (a) the term "Canada" when used in a geographical sense, means the territory of Canada, including:
 - (aa) any area beyond the territorial sea of Canada which, in accordance with international law and the laws of Canada, is an area within which Canada may exercise rights with respect to the seabed and subsoil and their natural resources;
 - (bb) the sea and airspace above every area referred to in (aa) in respect of any activity carried on in connection with the exploration for or the exploitation of the natural resources referred to therein;
 - (b) the term "Federal Republic of Germany" when used in a geographical sense, means the territory of the Federal Republic of Germany as well as the area of the seabed, its subsoil and the superjacent water column adjacent to the territorial sea, wherein the Federal Republic of Germany exercises sovereign rights and jurisdiction in conformity with international law and its national legislation for the purpose of exploring, exploiting, conserving and managing the living and non-living natural resources;
 - (c) the terms "a Contracting State" and "the other Contracting State" mean, as the context requires, Canada or the Federal Republic of Germany;
 - (d) the term "person" includes an individual and a company;
 - (e) the term "company" means any body corporate or any other entity which is treated as a body corporate for tax purposes;
 - (f) the terms "enterprise of a Contracting State" and "enterprise of the other Contracting State" mean respectively an enterprise carried on by a resident of a Contracting State and an enterprise carried on by a resident of the other Contracting State;
 - (g) the term "national" means:
 - (aa) in respect of Canada, any individual possessing the nationality of Canada and any legal person, partnership or association deriving its status as such from the law in force in Canada;

4. L'Accord s'applique aussi aux impôts sur le revenu de nature identique ou analogue et aux impôts sur la fortune qui seraient établis après la date de signature de l'Accord et qui s'ajouteraient aux impôts actuels ou qui les remplaceraient. Les autorités compétentes des États contractants se communiquent les modifications importantes apportées à leurs législations fiscales respectives.

ARTICLE 3

Définitions générales

- 1. Au sens du présent Accord, à moins que le contexte n'exige une interprétation différente :
 - *a*) le terme « Canada », lorsque employé dans un sens géographique, désigne le territoire du Canada, y compris :
 - (aa) toute région située au-delà de la mer territoriale du Canada qui, conformément au droit international et en vertu des lois du Canada, est une région à l'intérieur de laquelle le Canada peut exercer des droits à l'égard du fond et du sous-sol de la mer et de leurs ressources naturelles; et
 - (bb) les mers et l'espace aérien au-dessus de toute région visée au sous-alinéa (aa), à l'égard de toute activité poursuivie en rapport avec l'exploration ou l'exploitation des ressources naturelles qui y sont visées;
 - b) l'expression « République fédérale d'Allemagne », utilisée dans un contexte géographique, désigne le territoire de la République fédérale d'Allemagne ainsi que la zone, adjacente à sa mer territoriale, comprenant les fonds marins et leur sous-sol, et la colonne d'eau sus-jacente, dans laquelle la République fédérale d'Allemagne exerce des droits souverains et a juridiction, conformément au droit international et à ses lois domestiques, aux fins d'exploration, d'exploitation, de conservation et de gestion des ressources naturelles vivantes et non vivantes;
 - c) les expressions « un État contractant » et « l'autre État contractant » désignent, suivant le contexte, le Canada ou la République fédérale d'Allemagne;
 - d) le terme « personne » comprend les personnes physiques et les sociétés;
 - e) le terme « société » désigne toute personne morale ou toute autre entité qui est considérée comme une personne morale aux fins d'imposition;
 - f) les expressions « entreprise d'un État contractant » et « entreprise de l'autre État contractant » désignent respectivement une entreprise exploitée par un résident d'un État contractant et une entreprise exploitée par un résident de l'autre État contractant;
 - g) le terme « national » désigne :
 - (aa) en ce qui concerne le Canada, toute personne physique qui possède la nationalité du Canada et toute personne

- (bb) in respect of the Federal Republic of Germany, any German within the meaning of the Basic Law for the Federal Republic of Germany and any legal person, partnership and association deriving its status as such from the law in force in the Federal Republic of Germany;
- (h) the term "competent authority" means:
 - (aa) in the case of Canada, the Minister of National Revenue or the Minister's authorized representative,
 - (bb) in the case of the Federal Republic of Germany, the Federal Minister of Finance or the Minister's delegate;
- (i) the term "international traffic" means any voyage of a ship or aircraft operated by an enterprise of a Contracting State, except where the principal purpose of the voyage is to transport passengers or property between places within the other Contracting State.
- 2. As regards the application of the Agreement by a Contracting State at any time, any term not defined therein shall, unless the context otherwise requires, have the meaning which it has at that time under the law of that State concerning the taxes to which the Agreement applies, any meaning under the applicable tax laws of that State prevailing over a meaning given to the term under other laws of that State.

Resident

- 1. For the purposes of this Agreement, the term "resident of a Contracting State" means:
 - (a) any person who, under the laws of that State, is liable to tax therein by reason of that person's domicile, residence, place of management or any other criterion of a similar nature;
 - (b) that State itself, a "Land" or a political subdivision or local authority thereof or any agency or instrumentality of any such State, Land, subdivision or authority.

This term does not, however, include any person who is liable to tax in that State in respect only of income from sources in that State or capital situated therein.

- morale, société de personnes ou association constituées conformément à la législation en vigueur au Canada;
- (bb) en ce qui concerne la République fédérale d'Allemagne, tout Allemand au sens de la *Loi fondamentale pour la République fédérale d'Allemagne* et toute personne morale, société de personnes et association constituées conformément à la législation en vigueur en République fédérale d'Allemagne;
- h) l'expression « autorité compétente » désigne :
 - (aa) en ce qui concerne le Canada, le ministre du Revenu national ou son représentant autorisé;
 - (bb) en ce qui concerne la République fédérale d'Allemagne, le ministre fédéral des Finances ou son délégué;
- i) l'expression « trafic international » désigne tout voyage effectué par un navire ou un aéronef exploité par une entreprise d'un État contractant, sauf lorsque l'objet principal du voyage est de transporter des passagers ou biens entre des points situés dans l'autre État contractant.
- 2. Pour l'application, à un moment donné, de l'Accord par un État contractant, tout terme ou expression qui n'y est pas défini a le sens que lui attribue, à ce moment, le droit de cet État concernant les impôts auxquels s'applique l'Accord, à moins que le contexte n'exige une interprétation différente. Le sens attribué à un terme ou expression par le droit fiscal de cet État prévaut sur tout autre sens attribué à ce terme ou expression par les autres branches du droit de cet État.

ARTICLE 4

Résident

- 1. Au sens du présent Accord, l'expression « résident d'un État contractant » désigne :
 - a) toute personne qui, en vertu de la législation de cet État, est assujettie à l'impôt dans cet État, en raison de son domicile, de sa résidence, de son siège de direction ou de tout autre critère de nature analogue.
 - b) l'État lui-même, un « *Land* » ou l'une de leurs subdivisions politiques ou collectivités locales, ou toute personne morale de droit public de cet État, Land, subdivision ou collectivité.

Toutefois, cette expression ne comprend pas les personnes qui ne sont assujetties à l'impôt dans cet État que pour les revenus de sources situées dans cet État ou pour la fortune qui y est située.

- 2. Where by reason of the provisions of paragraph 1 an individual is a resident of both Contracting States, then the individual's status shall be determined as follows:
 - (a) the individual shall be deemed to be a resident only of the State in which the individual has a permanent home available; if the individual has a permanent home available in both States, the individual shall be deemed to be a resident only of the State with which the individual's personal and economic relations are closer (centre of vital interests);
 - (b) if the State in which the individual's centre of vital interests is situated cannot be determined, or if there is not a permanent home available to the individual in either State, the individual shall be deemed to be a resident only of the State in which the individual has an habitual abode;
 - (c) if the individual has an habitual abode in both States or in neither of them, the individual shall be deemed to be a resident only of the State of which the individual is a national;
 - (d) if the individual is a national of both States or of neither of them, the competent authorities of the Contracting States shall settle the question by mutual agreement.
- 3. Where by reason of the provisions of paragraph 1 a person other than an individual is a resident of both Contracting States, the competent authorities of the Contracting States shall by mutual agreement endeavour to settle its status and to determine the application of the Agreement. Insofar as no such agreement has been reached, such person shall be deemed not to be a resident of either Contracting State for the purposes of enjoying benefits under the provisions of the Agreement.

Permanent Establishment

- 1. For the purposes of this Agreement, the term "permanent establishment" means a fixed place of business through which the business of an enterprise is wholly or partly carried on.
 - 2. The term "permanent establishment" includes especially:
 - (a) a place of management;
 - (b) a branch;
 - (c) an office;
 - (d) a factory;
 - (e) a workshop; and
 - (f) a mine, an oil or gas well, a quarry or any other place of extraction of natural resources.

- 2. Lorsque, selon les dispositions du paragraphe 1, une personne physique est un résident des deux États contractants, sa situation est réglée de la manière suivante :
 - a) cette personne est considérée comme un résident uniquement de l'État où elle dispose d'un foyer d'habitation permanent; si elle dispose d'un foyer d'habitation permanent dans les deux États, elle est considérée comme un résident uniquement de l'État avec lequel ses liens personnels et économiques sont les plus étroits (centre des intérêts vitaux);
 - b) si l'État où cette personne a le centre de ses intérêts vitaux ne peut pas être déterminé, ou si elle ne dispose d'un foyer d'habitation permanent dans aucun des États, elle est considérée comme un résident uniquement de l'État où elle séjourne de façon habituelle;
 - c) si cette personne séjourne de façon habituelle dans les deux États ou si elle ne séjourne de façon habituelle dans aucun d'eux, elle est considérée comme un résident uniquement de l'État dont elle possède la nationalité;
 - d) si cette personne possède la nationalité des deux États ou si elle ne possède la nationalité d'aucun d'eux, les autorités compétentes des États contractants tranchent la question d'un commun accord.
- 3. Lorsque, selon les dispositions du paragraphe 1, une personne autre qu'une personne physique est un résident des deux États contractants, les autorités compétentes des États contractants s'efforcent d'un commun accord de régler sa situation et de déterminer l'application de l'Accord. Dans la mesure où il n'y a pas un tel accord, la personne n'est considérée comme un résident d'aucun des États contractants pour l'obtention des avantages prévus par les dispositions de l'Accord.

ARTICLE 5

Établissement stable

- 1. Au sens du présent Accord, l'expression « établissement stable » désigne une installation fixe d'affaires par l'intermédiaire de laquelle une entreprise exerce tout ou partie de son activité.
- 2. L'expression « établissement stable » comprend notamment:
 - a) un siège de direction;
 - b) une succursale:
 - c) un bureau;
 - d) une usine;
 - e) un atelier; et
 - f) une mine, un puits de pétrole ou de gaz, une carrière ou tout autre lieu d'extraction de ressources naturelles.

- 3. A building site or construction or installation project constitutes a permanent establishment only if it lasts more than twelve months.
- 4. The use of an installation or drilling rig or ship in a Contracting State to explore for or exploit natural resources constitutes a permanent establishment if, but only if, such use is for more than three months in any twelve-month period.
- 5. Notwithstanding the preceding provisions of this Article, the term "permanent establishment" shall be deemed not to include:
 - (a) the use of facilities solely for the purpose of storage, display or delivery of goods or merchandise belonging to the enterprise;
 - (b) the maintenance of a stock of goods or merchandise belonging to the enterprise solely for the purpose of storage, display or delivery;
 - (c) the maintenance of a stock of goods or merchandise belonging to the enterprise solely for the purpose of processing by another enterprise;
 - (d) the maintenance of a fixed place of business solely for the purpose of purchasing goods or merchandise or for collecting information, for the enterprise;
 - (e) the maintenance of a fixed place of business solely for the purpose of carrying on, for the enterprise, any other activity of a preparatory or auxiliary character;
 - (f) the maintenance of a fixed place of business solely for any combination of activities mentioned in subparagraphs (a) to (e) provided that the overall activity of the fixed place of business resulting from this combination is of a preparatory or auxiliary character.
- 6. Notwithstanding the provisions of paragraphs 1 and 2, where a person — other than an agent of an independent status to whom paragraph 7 applies — is acting on behalf of an enterprise and has, and habitually exercises, in a Contracting State an authority to conclude contracts on behalf of the enterprise, that enterprise shall be deemed to have a permanent establishment in that State in respect of any activities which that person undertakes for the enterprise, unless the activities of such person are limited to those mentioned in paragraph 5 which, if exercised through a fixed place of business, would not make this fixed place of business a permanent establishment under the provisions of that paragraph.
- 7. An enterprise shall not be deemed to have a permanent establishment in a Contracting State merely because it carries on business in that State through a broker, general commission agent or any other agent of an independent status, provided that such persons are acting in the ordinary course of their business.

- 3. Un chantier de construction ou de montage ne constitue un établissement stable que si sa durée dépasse douze mois.
- 4. L'utilisation, dans un État contractant, d'une installation ou d'une tour ou d'un navire de forage pour explorer ou exploiter les ressources naturelles constitue un établissement stable si et uniquement si une telle utilisation est pour plus de trois mois au cours de toute période de douze mois.
- 5. Nonobstant les dispositions précédentes du présent article, on considère qu'il n'y a pas « établissement stable » si :
 - a) il est fait usage d'installations aux seules fins de stockage. d'exposition ou de livraison de marchandises appartenant à l'entreprise;
 - b) des marchandises appartenant à l'entreprise sont entreposées aux seules fins de stockage, d'exposition ou de livraison;
 - c) des marchandises appartenant à l'entreprise sont entreposées aux seules fins de transformation par une autre entreprise;
 - d) une installation fixe d'affaires est utilisée aux seules fins d'acheter des marchandises ou de réunir des informations pour l'entreprise;
 - e) une installation fixe d'affaires est utilisée aux seules fins d'exercer, pour l'entreprise, toute autre activité de caractère préparatoire ou auxiliaire;
 - f) une installation fixe d'affaires est utilisée aux seules fins de l'exercice cumulé d'activités mentionnées aux alinéas a) à e), à condition que l'activité d'ensemble de l'installation fixe d'affaires résultant de ce cumul garde un caractère préparatoire ou auxiliaire.
- 6. Nonobstant les dispositions des paragraphes 1 et 2, lorsqu'une personne — autre qu'un agent jouissant d'un statut indépendant auquel s'applique le paragraphe 7 — agit pour le compte d'une entreprise et dispose dans un État contractant de pouvoirs qu'elle y exerce habituellement lui permettant de conclure des contrats pour le compte de l'entreprise, cette entreprise est considérée comme ayant un établissement stable dans cet État pour toutes les activités que cette personne exerce pour l'entreprise, à moins que les activités de cette personne ne soient limitées à celles qui sont mentionnées au paragraphe 5 et qui, si elles étaient exercées par l'intermédiaire d'une installation fixe d'affaires, ne permettraient pas de considérer cette installation comme un établissement stable selon les dispositions de ce paragraphe.
- 7. Une entreprise n'est pas considérée comme ayant un établissement stable dans un État contractant du seul fait qu'elle y exerce son activité par l'entremise d'un courtier, d'un commissionnaire général ou de tout autre agent jouissant d'un statut indépendant, à condition que ces personnes agissent dans le cadre ordinaire de leur activité.

8. The fact that a company which is a resident of a Contracting State controls or is controlled by a company which is a resident of the other Contracting State, or which carries on business in that other State (whether through a permanent establishment or otherwise), shall not of itself constitute either company a permanent establishment of the other.

ARTICLE 6

Income from Immovable Property

- 1. Income derived by a resident of a Contracting State from immovable property (including income from agriculture or forestry) situated in the other Contracting State may be taxed in that other State.
- 2. The term "immovable property" shall have the meaning which it has for the purposes of the relevant taxation law of the Contracting State in which the property in question is situated. The term shall in any case include property accessory to immovable property, livestock and equipment used in agriculture and forestry, rights to which the provisions of general law respecting landed property apply, usufruct of immovable property and rights to variable or fixed payments as consideration for the working of, or the right to work, mineral deposits, sources and other natural resources; ships and aircraft shall not be regarded as immovable property.
- 3. The provisions of paragraph 1 shall apply to income derived from the direct use, letting, or use in any other form of immovable property and to income from the alienation of such property.
- 4. The provisions of paragraphs 1 and 3 shall also apply to the income from immovable property of an enterprise and to income from immovable property used for the performance of independent personal services.

ARTICLE 7

Business Profits

- 1. The profits of an enterprise of a Contracting State shall be taxable only in that State unless the enterprise carries on or has carried on business in the other Contracting State through a permanent establishment situated therein. If the enterprise carries on or has carried on business as aforesaid, the profits of the enterprise may be taxed in the other State but only so much of them as is attributable to that permanent establishment.
- 2. Subject to the provisions of paragraph 3, where an enterprise of a Contracting State carries on or has carried on business in the other Contracting State through a permanent establishment situated therein, there shall in each Contracting State be attributed to that permanent establishment the profits which it might be expected to make if it were a distinct and separate enterprise engaged in the same or similar activities under the same or similar conditions and dealing wholly independently with the enterprise of which it is a permanent establishment.

8. Le fait qu'une société qui est un résident d'un État contractant contrôle ou est contrôlée par une société qui est un résident de l'autre État contractant ou qui y exerce son activité (que ce soit par l'intermédiaire d'un établissement stable ou non) ne suffit pas, en lui-même, à faire de l'une quelconque de ces sociétés un établissement stable de l'autre.

ARTICLE 6

Revenus immobiliers

- 1. Les revenus qu'un résident d'un État contractant tire de biens immobiliers (y compris les revenus des exploitations agricoles ou forestières) situés dans l'autre État contractant, sont imposables dans cet autre État.
- 2. L'expression « biens immobiliers » a le sens qu'elle a aux fins de la législation fiscale pertinente de l'État contractant où les biens considérés sont situés. L'expression comprend en tous cas les accessoires, le cheptel mort ou vif des exploitations agricoles et forestières, les droits auxquels s'appliquent les dispositions du droit privé concernant la propriété foncière, l'usufruit des biens immobiliers et les droits à des paiements variables ou fixes pour l'exploitation ou la concession de l'exploitation de gisements minéraux, sources et autres ressources naturelles; les navires et aéronefs ne sont pas considérés comme des biens immobiliers.
- 3. Les dispositions du paragraphe 1 s'appliquent aux revenus provenant de l'exploitation directe, de la location ou de l'affermage, ainsi que de toute autre forme d'exploitation de biens immobiliers et aux revenus provenant de l'aliénation de tels biens.
- 4. Les dispositions des paragraphes 1 et 3 s'appliquent également aux revenus provenant des biens immobiliers d'une entreprise ainsi qu'aux revenus des biens immobiliers servant à l'exercice d'une profession indépendante.

ARTICLE 7

Bénéfices des entreprises

- 1. Les bénéfices d'une entreprise d'un État contractant ne sont imposables que dans cet État, à moins que l'entreprise n'exerce ou n'ait exercé son activité dans l'autre État contractant par l'intermédiaire d'un établissement stable qui y est situé. Si l'entreprise exerce ou a exercé son activité d'une telle façon, les bénéfices de l'entreprise sont imposables dans l'autre État mais uniquement dans la mesure où ils sont imputables à cet établissement stable.
- 2. Sous réserve des dispositions du paragraphe 3, lorsqu'une entreprise d'un État contractant exerce ou a exercé son activité dans l'autre État contractant par l'intermédiaire d'un établissement stable qui y est situé, il est imputé, dans chaque État contractant, à cet établissement stable les bénéfices qu'il aurait pu réaliser s'il avait constitué une entreprise distincte exerçant des activités identiques ou analogues dans des conditions identiques ou analogues et traitant en toute indépendance avec l'entreprise dont il constitue un établissement stable.

3. In determining the profits of a permanent establishment, there shall be allowed those deductible expenses which are incurred for the purposes of the permanent establishment including executive and general administrative expenses, whether incurred in the State in which the permanent establishment is situated or elsewhere.

Conventions fiscales (2001) — Annexe 8

- 4. Insofar as it has been customary in a Contracting State to determine the profits to be attributed to a permanent establishment on the basis of an apportionment of the total profits of the enterprise to its various parts, nothing in paragraph 2 shall preclude that Contracting State from determining the profits to be taxed by such an apportionment as may be customary; the method of apportionment adopted shall, however, be such that the result shall be in accordance with the principles contained in this Article.
- 5. No profits shall be attributed to a permanent establishment by reason of the mere purchase by that permanent establishment of goods or merchandise for the enterprise.
- 6. For the purposes of the preceding paragraphs, the profits to be attributed to the permanent establishment shall be determined by the same method year by year unless there is good and sufficient reason to the contrary.
- 7. Where profits include items of income which are dealt with separately in other Articles of this Agreement, then, the provisions of those Articles shall not be affected by the provisions of this Article.

ARTICLE 8

Shipping and Air Transport

- 1. Profits of an enterprise of a Contracting State from the operation of ships or aircraft in international traffic shall be taxable only in that State.
- 2. Profits of an enterprise of a Contracting State from the use or rental of containers (including trailers, barges, and related equipment for the transport of containers) used in international traffic shall be taxable only in that State.
- 3. Notwithstanding the provisions of Article 7, profits derived by an enterprise of a Contracting State from a voyage of a ship where the principal purpose of the voyage is to transport passengers or property between places in the other Contracting State, may be taxed in that other State.
- 4. The provisions of paragraphs 1 and 2 shall also apply to profits from the participation in a pool, a joint business or an international operating agency.

- 3. Pour déterminer les bénéfices d'un établissement stable, sont admises en déduction les dépenses déductibles qui sont exposées aux fins poursuivies par cet établissement stable, y compris les dépenses de direction et les frais généraux d'administration ainsi exposés, soit dans l'État où est situé cet établissement stable, soit ailleurs.
- 4. S'il est d'usage, dans un État contractant, de déterminer les bénéfices imputables à un établissement stable sur la base d'une répartition des bénéfices totaux de l'entreprise entre ses diverses parties, aucune disposition du paragraphe 2 n'empêche cet État contractant de déterminer les bénéfices imposables selon la répartition en usage; la méthode de répartition adoptée doit cependant être telle que le résultat obtenu soit conforme aux principes contenus dans le présent article.
- 5. Aucun bénéfice n'est imputé à un établissement stable du fait qu'il a simplement acheté des marchandises pour l'entreprise.
- 6. Aux fins des paragraphes précédents, les bénéfices à imputer à l'établissement stable sont déterminés chaque année selon la même méthode, à moins qu'il n'existe des motifs valables et suffisants de procéder autrement.
- 7. Lorsque les bénéfices comprennent des éléments de revenu traités séparément dans d'autres articles du présent Accord, les dispositions de ces articles ne sont pas affectées par les dispositions du présent article.

ARTICLE 8

Navigation maritime et aérienne

- 1. Les bénéfices d'une entreprise d'un État contractant provenant de l'exploitation, en trafic international, de navires ou d'aéronefs ne sont imposables que dans cet État.
- 2. Les bénéfices d'une entreprise d'un État contractant provenant de l'utilisation ou la location de conteneurs (y compris les remorques, les barges et les équipements connexes pour le transport des conteneurs) utilisés en trafic international, ne sont imposables que dans cet État.
- 3. Nonobstant les dispositions de l'article 7, les bénéfices qu'une entreprise d'un État contractant tire d'un voyage d'un navire lorsque le but principal du voyage est de transporter des passagers ou des biens entre des points situés dans l'autre État contractant sont imposables dans cet autre État.
- 4. Les dispositions des paragraphes 1 et 2 s'appliquent aussi aux bénéfices provenant de la participation à un pool, une exploitation en commun ou un organisme international d'exploitation.

ARTICLE 9

Associated Enterprises

Where

- (a) an enterprise of a Contracting State participates directly or indirectly in the management, control or capital of an enterprise of the other Contracting State, or
- (b) the same persons participate directly or indirectly in the management, control or capital of an enterprise of a Contracting State and an enterprise of the other Contracting State,

and in either case conditions are made or imposed between the two enterprises in their commercial or financial relations which differ from those which would be made between independent enterprises, then any profits which would, but for those conditions, have accrued to one of the enterprises, but, by reason of those conditions, have not so accrued, may be included in the profits of that enterprise and taxed accordingly.

ARTICLE 10

Dividends

- 1. Dividends paid by a company which is a resident of a Contracting State to a resident of the other Contracting State may be taxed in that other State.
- 2. However, such dividends may also be taxed in the Contracting State of which the company paying the dividends is a resident and according to the laws of that State, but if a resident of the other Contracting State is the beneficial owner of the dividends the tax so charged shall not exceed:
 - (a) 5 per cent of the gross amount of the dividends if the beneficial owner is a company that controls at least 10 per cent of the voting power in the company paying the dividends;
 - (b) 15 per cent of the gross amount of the dividends in all other cases.

The provisions of this paragraph shall not affect the taxation of the company in respect of the profits out of which the dividends are paid.

- 3. The term "dividends" as used in this Article means:
- (a) dividends on shares including income from shares, "jouissance" shares or "jouissance" rights, mining shares, founders' shares or other rights, not being debt-claims, participating in profits, and
- (b) other income which is subjected to the same taxation treatment as income from shares by the laws of the State of which the company making the distribution is a resident, and for the purpose of taxation in the Federal Republic of Germany, income derived by a "stiller Gesellschafter" (sleeping partner) from the partner's participation as such, income from a "partiarisches Darlehen" (loan, with interest

ARTICLE 9

Entreprises associées

Lorsque

- a) une entreprise d'un État contractant participe directement ou indirectement à la direction, au contrôle ou au capital d'une entreprise de l'autre État contractant, ou que
- b) les mêmes personnes participent directement ou indirectement à la direction, au contrôle ou au capital d'une entreprise d'un État contractant et d'une entreprise de l'autre État contractant,

et que, dans l'un et l'autre cas, les deux entreprises sont, dans leurs relations commerciales ou financières, liées par des conditions convenues ou imposées, qui diffèrent de celles qui seraient convenues entre des entreprises indépendantes, les bénéfices qui, sans ces conditions, auraient été réalisés par l'une des entreprises mais n'ont pu l'être en fait à cause de ces conditions, peuvent être inclus dans les bénéfices de cette entreprise et imposés en conséquence.

ARTICLE 10

Dividendes

- 1. Les dividendes payés par une société qui est un résident d'un État contractant à un résident de l'autre État contractant sont imposables dans cet autre État.
- 2. Toutefois, ces dividendes sont aussi imposables dans l'État contractant dont la société qui paie les dividendes est un résident et selon la législation de cet État, mais si un résident de l'autre État contractant en est le bénéficiaire effectif, l'impôt ainsi établi ne peut excéder :
 - a) 5 p. 100 du montant brut des dividendes si le bénéficiaire effectif est une société qui contrôle au moins 10 p. 100 des droits de vote de la société qui paie les dividendes;
 - b) 15 p. 100 du montant brut des dividendes dans tous les autres cas.

Les dispositions du présent paragraphe n'affectent pas l'imposition de la société au titre des bénéfices qui servent au paiement des dividendes.

- 3. Le terme « dividendes » employé dans le présent article désigne :
 - a) les dividendes sur actions y compris les revenus provenant d'actions, actions ou bons de jouissance, parts de mine, parts de fondateur ou autres parts bénéficiaires à l'exception des créances, et
 - b) les autres revenus soumis au même régime fiscal que les revenus d'actions par la législation de l'État dont la société distributrice est un résident, et aux fins d'imposition en République fédérale d'Allemagne, les revenus qu'un commanditaire « stiller Gesellschafter » tire de sa participation comme telle, les revenus provenant d'un « partiarisches

rate linked to borrower's profit) or "Gewinnobligationen" (profit sharing bonds) and similar remuneration which is dependent on profits as well as distributions on certificates of an investment trust.

- 4. The provisions of paragraphs 1 and 2 shall not apply if the beneficial owner of the dividends, being a resident of a Contracting State, carries on business in the other Contracting State of which the company paying the dividends is a resident, through a permanent establishment situated therein, or performs in that other State independent personal services from a fixed base situated therein, and the holding in respect of which the dividends are paid is effectively connected with such permanent establishment or fixed base. In such case the provisions of Article 7 or Article 14, as the case may be, shall apply.
- 5. Where a company which is a resident of a Contracting State and not also a resident of the other Contracting State derives profits or income from the other State, that other State may not impose any tax on the dividends paid by the company, except insofar as such dividends are paid to a resident of that other State or insofar as the holding in respect of which the dividends are paid is effectively connected with a permanent establishment or a fixed base situated in that other State, nor subject the company's undistributed profits to a tax on the company's undistributed profits, even if the dividends paid or the undistributed profits consist wholly or partly of profits or income arising in such other State.
- 6. Notwithstanding any provision in this Agreement, Canada may impose on the earnings of a company attributable to permanent establishments in Canada, or on the earnings attributable to the alienation of immovable property situated in Canada by a company carrying on a trade in immovable property, tax in addition to the tax which would be chargeable on the earnings of a company that is a resident of Canada, provided that the rate of such additional tax so imposed shall not exceed the percentage limitation provided for under subparagraph (a) of paragraph 2 of the amount of such earnings which have not been subjected to such additional tax in previous taxation years. For the purpose of this provision, the term "earnings" means:
 - (a) the earnings attributable to the alienation of such immovable property situated in Canada as may be taxed by Canada under the provisions of Article 6 or of paragraph 1 of Article 13, and
 - (b) the profits attributable to such permanent establishments in Canada (including gains from the alienation of property forming part of the business property, referred to in paragraph 2 of Article 13, of such permanent establishments) in accordance with Article 7 in a year and previous years after deducting therefrom:

- Darlehen » (prêt dont le taux de rendement est lié aux bénéfices du débiteur) ou « Gewinnobligationen » (obligations participantes dans les bénéfices) et les rémunérations semblables qui sont dépendantes des bénéfices, ainsi que les distributions afférentes à des parts dans une fiducie d'investissement
- 4. Les dispositions des paragraphes 1 et 2 ne s'appliquent pas lorsque le bénéficiaire effectif des dividendes, résident d'un État contractant, exerce dans l'autre État contractant dont la société qui paie les dividendes est un résident, soit une activité industrielle ou commerciale par l'intermédiaire d'un établissement stable qui y est situé, soit une profession indépendante au moyen d'une base fixe qui y est située, et que la participation génératrice des dividendes s'y rattache effectivement. Dans ce cas, les dispositions de l'article 7 ou de l'article 14, suivant les cas, sont applicables.
- 5. Lorsqu'une société qui est un résident d'un État contractant et qui n'est pas un résident de l'autre État contractant tire des bénéfices ou des revenus de l'autre État, cet autre État ne peut percevoir aucun impôt sur les dividendes payés par la société, sauf dans la mesure où ces dividendes sont payés à un résident de cet autre État ou dans la mesure où la participation génératrice des dividendes se rattache effectivement à un établissement stable ou à une base fixe situés dans cet autre État, ni prélever aucun impôt, au titre de l'imposition des bénéfices non distribués de la société, sur les bénéfices non distribués de la société, même si les dividendes payés ou les bénéfices non distribués consistent en tout ou en partie en bénéfices ou revenus provenant de cet autre État.
- 6. Nonobstant toute disposition du présent Accord, le Canada peut percevoir, sur les revenus d'une société imputables aux établissements stables au Canada, ou à l'égard des revenus qu'une société qui exerce une activité dans le domaine des biens immobiliers tire de l'aliénation de biens immobiliers situés au Canada, un impôt qui s'ajoute à l'impôt qui serait applicable aux revenus d'une société qui est un résident du Canada, pourvu que le taux de cet impôt additionnel ainsi établi n'excède pas la limitation en pourcentage, prévue à l'alinéa a) du paragraphe 2, du montant des revenus qui n'ont pas été assujettis audit impôt additionnel au cours des années d'imposition précédentes. Au sens de la présente disposition, le terme « revenus » désigne :
 - a) les revenus imputables à l'aliénation de tels biens immobiliers situés au Canada qui sont imposables au Canada en vertu des dispositions de l'article 6 ou du paragraphe 1 de l'article 13 et
 - b) les bénéfices imputables auxdits établissements stables situés au Canada (y compris les gains visés au paragraphe 2 de l'article 13 provenant de l'aliénation de biens faisant partie de l'actif de tels établissements stables) conformément à l'article 7, pour l'année et pour les années antérieures, après en avoir déduit :

- (aa) business losses attributable to such permanent establishments (including losses from the alienation of property forming part of the business property of such permanent establishments) in such year and previous years,
- (bb) all taxes chargeable in Canada on such profits, other than the additional tax referred to herein,
- (cc) the profits reinvested in Canada, provided that the amount of such deduction shall be determined in accordance with the provisions of the law of Canada, as they be amended from time to time without changing the general principle hereof, regarding the computation of the allowance in respect of investment in property in Canada, and
- (dd) five hundred thousand Canadian dollars (\$500,000) or its equivalent in the currency of the Federal Republic of Germany, less any amount deducted
 - (aaa) by the company, or
 - (bbb) by a person related thereto from the same or a similar business as that carried on by the company

under this clause.

ARTICLE 11

Interest

- 1. Interest arising in a Contracting State and paid to a resident of the other Contracting State may be taxed in that other State.
- 2. However, such interest may also be taxed in the Contracting State in which it arises and according to the laws of that State, but if a resident of the other Contracting State is the beneficial owner of the interest the tax so charged shall not exceed 10 per cent of the gross amount of the interest.
- 3. Notwithstanding the provisions of paragraph 2, interest arising in a Contracting State and paid to a resident of the other Contracting State who is the beneficial owner thereof shall be taxable only in that other State to the extent that such interest:
 - (a) is paid in connection with the sale on credit of any equipment or merchandise by the purchasing person to the selling person, except where the sale is made between associated persons;
 - (b) is paid in respect of indebtedness of the government of a Contracting State or of a "Land", or political subdivision or local authority thereof;
 - (c) is paid to the Canadian Export Development Corporation or to the German "Kreditanstalt für Wiederaufbau" or the "Deutsche Gesellschaft für Wirtschaftliche Zusammenarbeit";

- (aa) les pertes d'entreprise imputables auxdits établissements stables (y compris les pertes provenant de l'aliénation de biens faisant partie de l'actif de tels établissements stables), pour ladite année et pour les années antérieures,
- (bb) tous les impôts applicables au Canada auxdits bénéfices, autres que l'impôt additionnel visé au présent paragraphe,
- (cc) les bénéfices réinvestis au Canada, pourvu que le montant de cette déduction soit établi conformément aux dispositions de la législation du Canada, telles qu'elles peuvent être modifiées sans en changer le principe général, concernant le calcul de l'allocation relative aux investissements dans des biens situés au Canada; et
- (dd) cinq cent mille dollars canadiens (500 000 \$) ou son équivalent en monnaie de la République fédérale d'Allemagne, moins tout montant déduit
 - (aaa) par la société, ou
 - (bbb) par une personne qui lui est associée, en raison d'une entreprise identique ou analogue à celle exercée par la société

en vertu du présent sous-alinéa.

ARTICLE 11

Intérêts

- 1. Les intérêts provenant d'un État contractant et payés à un résident de l'autre État contractant sont imposables dans cet autre État
- 2. Toutefois, ces intérêts sont aussi imposables dans l'État contractant d'où ils proviennent et selon la législation de cet État, mais si un résident de l'autre État contractant en est le bénéficiaire effectif, l'impôt ainsi établi ne peut excéder 10 p. 100 du montant brut des intérêts.
- 3. Nonobstant les dispositions du paragraphe 2, les intérêts provenant d'un État contractant et payés à un résident de l'autre État contractant qui en est le bénéficiaire effectif, ne sont imposables que dans cet autre État dans la mesure où ces intérêts :
 - a) sont payés par la personne acheteuse à la personne vendeuse relativement à la vente à crédit d'un équipement ou de marchandises quelconques, sauf lorsque la vente a lieu entre des personnes associées;
 - b) sont payés au titre d'une dette du gouvernement d'un État contractant ou d'un « *Land* », ou de l'une de leurs subdivisions politiques ou collectivités locales;
 - c) sont payés à la Société canadienne pour l'expansion des exportations ou à la « Kreditanstalt für Wiederaufbau » allemande ou à la « Deutsche Gesellschaft für Wirtschaftliche Zusammenarbeit »:

(d) is paid to the government of a Contracting State or of a "Land", or political subdivision thereof, or to the central bank of a Contracting State; or

Conventions fiscales (2001) — Annexe 8

- (e) is paid to a resident of the other State which was constituted and is operated exclusively to administer or provide benefits under one or more pension, retirement or other employee benefits plans provided that:
 - (aa) the resident is generally exempt from income tax in the other State, and
 - (bb) the interest is not derived from carrying on a trade or a business or from an associated person.

For the purpose of subparagraphs (a) and (e), a person is associated with another person if it is related to, or controlled or managed by the other person or if both persons are related to, or controlled by or managed by a third person. For the purpose of the preceding sentence, a person is related to another person if more than 50 per cent of the voting shares belongs to the other person, to persons with whom the other person is associated, or to other persons so associated with it.

- 4. The term "interest" as used in this Article means income from debt-claims of every kind, whether or not secured by mortgage, and in particular, income from government securities and income from bonds or debentures, including premiums and prizes attaching to such securities, bonds or debentures as well as income which is subjected to the same taxation treatment as income from money lent by the laws of the State in which the income arises. However, the term "interest" does not include income dealt with in Article 10.
- 5. The provisions of paragraphs 1 to 3 shall not apply if the beneficial owner of the interest, being a resident of a Contracting State, carries on business in the other Contracting State in which the interest arises, through a permanent establishment situated therein, or performs in that other State independent personal services from a fixed base situated therein, and the debt-claim in respect of which the interest is paid is effectively connected with such permanent establishment or fixed base. In such case the provisions of Article 7 or Article 14, as the case may be, shall apply.
- 6. Interest shall be deemed to arise in a Contracting State when the payer is a resident of that State. Where, however, the person paying the interest, whether the payer is a resident of a Contracting State or not, has in a Contracting State a permanent establishment or a fixed base in connection with which the indebtedness on which the interest is paid was incurred, and such interest is borne by such permanent establishment or fixed base, then such interest shall be deemed to arise in the State in which the permanent establishment or fixed base is situated.

- d) sont payés au gouvernement d'un État contractant ou d'un « Land », ou de l'une de leurs subdivisions politiques, ou à la banque centrale d'un État contractant; ou
- e) sont payés à un résident de l'autre État contractant, qui a été constitué et est exploité exclusivement aux fins d'administrer ou de fournir des prestations en vertu d'un ou de plusieurs régimes de pension, de retraite ou d'autres prestations aux employés pourvu que :
 - (aa) le résident soit généralement exonéré d'impôt sur le revenu dans l'autre État, et que
 - (bb) les intérêts ne proviennent pas de l'exercice d'une activité industrielle ou commerciale ou d'une personne associée.

Aux fins des alinéas a) et e), une personne est associée à une autre personne lorsque l'une des personnes est liée à, ou est contrôlée ou dirigée par l'autre personne ou si les deux personnes sont liées à, ou contrôlées ou dirigées par une troisième personne. Aux fins de la phrase précédente, une personne est liée à une autre personne si plus de 50 p. 100 des droits de vote appartiennent à l'autre personne, à des personnes avec qui l'autre personne est associée, ou à d'autres personnes qui lui sont associées.

- 4. Le terme « intérêts » employé dans le présent article désigne les revenus des créances de toute nature, assorties ou non de garanties hypothécaires, et notamment les revenus des fonds publics et des obligations d'emprunt, y compris les primes et lots attachés à ces titres, ainsi que tous autres revenus soumis par la législation de l'État d'où proviennent les revenus au même régime fiscal que les revenus de sommes prêtées. Toutefois, le terme « intérêts » ne comprend pas les revenus visés à l'article
- 5. Les dispositions des paragraphes 1 à 3 ne s'appliquent pas lorsque le bénéficiaire effectif des intérêts, résident d'un État contractant, exerce dans l'autre État contractant d'où proviennent les intérêts, soit une activité industrielle ou commerciale par l'intermédiaire d'un établissement stable qui y est situé, soit une profession indépendante au moyen d'une base fixe qui y est située, et que la créance génératrice des intérêts s'y rattache effectivement. Dans ce cas, les dispositions de l'article 7 ou de l'article 14, suivant les cas, sont applicables.
- 6. Les intérêts sont considérés comme provenant d'un État contractant lorsque le débiteur est un résident de cet État. Toutefois, lorsque le débiteur des intérêts, qu'il soit ou non un résident d'un État contractant, a dans un État contractant un établissement stable, ou une base fixe, pour lequel la dette donnant lieu au paiement des intérêts a été contractée et qui supporte la charge de ces intérêts, ceux-ci sont considérés comme provenant de l'État où l'établissement stable, ou la base fixe est

7. Where, by reason of a special relationship between the payer and the beneficial owner or between both of them and some other person, the amount of the interest, having regard to the debt-claim for which it is paid, exceeds the amount which would have been agreed upon by the payer and the beneficial owner in the absence of such relationship, the provisions of this Article shall apply only to the last-mentioned amount. In such case, the excess part of the payments shall remain taxable according to the laws of each Contracting State, due regard being had to the other provisions of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 12

Royalties

- 1. Royalties arising in a Contracting State and paid to a resident of the other Contracting State may be taxed in that other State.
- 2. However, such royalties may also be taxed in the Contracting State in which they arise and according to the laws of that State, but if a resident of the other Contracting State is the beneficial owner of the royalties the tax so charged shall not exceed 10 per cent of the gross amount of the royalties.
- 3. Notwithstanding the provisions of paragraph 2, royalties arising in a Contracting State and paid to a resident of the other Contracting State who is the beneficial owner of the royalties shall be taxable only in that other State if they are:
 - (a) copyright royalties and other like payments in respect of the production or reproduction of any literary, dramatic, musical or artistic work (but not including royalties in respect of motion picture films nor royalties in respect of works on film or videotape or other means of reproduction for use in connection with television broadcasting);
 - (b) royalties for the use of, or the right to use, computer software or any patent or for information concerning industrial, commercial or scientific experience (but not including any such royalty provided in connection with a rental or franchise agreement).
- 4. The term "royalties" as used in this Article means payments of any kind received as a consideration for the use of, or the right to use, any copyright, patent, trade mark, design or model, plan, secret formula or process or other intangible property, or for the use of, or the right to use, industrial, commercial or scientific equipment, or for information concerning industrial, commercial or scientific experience, and includes payments of any kind in respect of motion picture films and works on film, videotape or other means of reproduction for use in connection with television.

7. Lorsque, en raison de relations spéciales existant entre le débiteur et le bénéficiaire effectif ou que l'un et l'autre entretiennent avec de tierces personnes, le montant des intérêts, compte tenu de la créance pour laquelle ils sont payés, excède celui dont seraient convenus le débiteur et le bénéficiaire effectif en l'absence de pareilles relations, les dispositions du présent article ne s'appliquent qu'à ce dernier montant. Dans ce cas, la partie excédentaire des paiements reste imposable selon la législation de chaque État contractant et compte tenu des autres dispositions du présent Accord.

ARTICLE 12

Redevances

- 1. Les redevances provenant d'un État contractant et payées à un résident de l'autre État contractant sont imposables dans cet autre État.
- 2. Toutefois, ces redevances sont aussi imposables dans l'État contractant d'où elles proviennent et selon la législation de cet État, mais si un résident de l'autre État contractant en est le bénéficiaire effectif, l'impôt ainsi établi ne peut excéder 10 p. 100 du montant brut des redevances.
- 3. Nonobstant les dispositions du paragraphe 2, les redevances provenant d'un État contractant et payées à un résident de l'autre État contractant qui en est le bénéficiaire effectif, ne sont imposables que dans cet autre État s'il s'agit de redevances :
 - a) à titre de droits d'auteurs et autres rémunérations similaires concernant la production ou la reproduction d'une oeuvre littéraire, dramatique, musicale ou artistique (à l'exclusion des redevances concernant les films cinématographiques et les oeuvres enregistrées sur films, bandes magnétoscopiques ou autres moyens de reproduction destinés à la télédiffusion);
 - b) pour l'usage ou la concession de l'usage d'un logiciel d'ordinateur ou d'un brevet ou pour des informations ayant trait à une expérience acquise dans le domaine industriel, commercial ou scientifique (à l'exclusion de toute redevance dans le cadre d'un contrat de location ou de franchisage).
- 4. Le terme « redevances » employé dans le présent article désigne les rémunérations de toute nature payées pour l'usage ou la concession de l'usage d'un droit d'auteur, d'un brevet, d'une marque de fabrique ou de commerce, d'un dessin ou d'un modèle, d'un plan, d'une formule ou d'un procédé secrets ou de tout autre bien incorporel, ainsi que pour l'usage ou la concession de l'usage d'un équipement industriel, commercial ou scientifique et pour des informations ayant trait à une expérience acquise dans le domaine industriel, commercial ou scientifique; ce terme comprend aussi les rémunérations de toute nature concernant les films cinématographiques et les oeuvres enregistrées sur films, bandes magnétoscopiques ou autres moyens de reproduction destinés à la télévision.

5. The provisions of paragraphs 1 to 3 shall not apply if the beneficial owner of the royalties, being a resident of a Contracting State, carries on business in the other Contracting State in which the royalties arise, through a permanent establishment situated therein, or performs in that other State independent personal services from a fixed base situated therein, and the right or property in respect of which the royalties are paid is effectively connected with such permanent establishment or fixed base. In such case the provisions of Article 7 or Article 14, as the case may be, shall apply.

Conventions fiscales (2001) — Annexe 8

- 6. Royalties shall be deemed to arise in a Contracting State when the payer is a resident of that State. Where, however, the person paying the royalties, whether the payer is a resident of a Contracting State or not, has in a Contracting State a permanent establishment or a fixed base in connection with which the obligation to pay the royalties was incurred, and such royalties are borne by such permanent establishment or fixed base, then such royalties shall be deemed to arise in the State in which the permanent establishment or fixed base is situated.
- 7. Where, by reason of a special relationship between the payer and the beneficial owner or between both of them and some other person, the amount of the royalties, having regard to the use, right or information for which they are paid, exceeds the amount which would have been agreed upon by the payer and the beneficial owner in the absence of such relationship, the provisions of this Article shall apply only to the last-mentioned amount. In such case, the excess part of the payments shall remain taxable according to the laws of each Contracting State, due regard being had to the other provisions of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 13

Capital Gains

- 1. Gains derived by a resident of a Contracting State from the alienation of immovable property referred to in Article 6 and situated in the other Contracting State may be taxed in that other
- 2. Gains from the alienation of movable property forming part of the business property of a permanent establishment which an enterprise of a Contracting State has in the other Contracting State or of movable property pertaining to a fixed base available to a resident of a Contracting State in the other Contracting State for the purpose of performing independent personal services, including such gains from the alienation of such a permanent establishment (alone or with the whole enterprise) or of such a fixed base may be taxed in that other State.
- 3. Gains derived by an enterprise of a Contracting State from the alienation of ships or aircraft operated, or containers used, in international traffic or movable property pertaining to the operation of such ships or aircraft, shall be taxable only in that State.

- 5. Les dispositions des paragraphes 1 à 3 ne s'appliquent pas lorsque le bénéficiaire effectif des redevances, résident d'un État contractant, exerce dans l'autre État contractant d'où proviennent les redevances, soit une activité industrielle ou commerciale par l'intermédiaire d'un établissement stable qui y est situé, soit une profession indépendante au moyen d'une base fixe qui y est située, et que le droit ou le bien générateur des redevances s'y rattache effectivement. Dans ce cas, les dispositions de l'article 7 ou de l'article 14, suivant les cas, sont applicables.
- 6. Les redevances sont considérées comme provenant d'un État contractant lorsque le débiteur est un résident de cet État. Toutefois, lorsque le débiteur des redevances, qu'il soit ou non un résident d'un État contractant, a dans un État contractant un établissement stable, ou une base fixe, pour lequel l'obligation donnant lieu au paiement des redevances a été conclue et qui supporte la charge de ces redevances, celles-ci sont considérées comme provenant de l'État où l'établissement stable, ou la base fixe, est situé.
- 7. Lorsque, en raison de relations spéciales existant entre le débiteur et le bénéficiaire effectif ou que l'un et l'autre entretiennent avec de tierces personnes, le montant des redevances, compte tenu de la prestation pour laquelle elles sont payées, excède celui dont seraient convenus le débiteur et le bénéficiaire effectif en l'absence de pareilles relations, les dispositions du présent article ne s'appliquent qu'à ce dernier montant. Dans ce cas, la partie excédentaire des paiements reste imposable selon la législation de chaque État contractant et compte tenu des autres dispositions du présent Accord.

ARTICLE 13

Gains en capital

- 1. Les gains qu'un résident d'un État contractant tire de l'aliénation de biens immobiliers visés à l'article 6 et situés dans l'autre État contractant, sont imposables dans cet autre État.
- 2. Les gains provenant de l'aliénation de biens mobiliers qui font partie de l'actif d'un établissement stable qu'une entreprise d'un État contractant a dans l'autre État contractant, ou de biens mobiliers qui appartiennent à une base fixe dont un résident d'un État contractant dispose dans l'autre État contractant pour l'exercice d'une profession indépendante, y compris de tels gains provenant de l'aliénation globale de cet établissement stable (seul ou avec l'ensemble de l'entreprise) ou de cette base fixe, sont imposables dans cet autre État.
- 3. Les gains qu'une entreprise d'un État contractant tire de l'aliénation de navires ou aéronefs exploités, ou de conteneurs utilisés, en trafic international ou de biens mobiliers affectés à l'exploitation de ces navires ou aéronefs ne sont imposables que dans cet État.

- 4. Gains derived by a resident of a Contracting State from the alienation of:
 - (a) shares (other than shares listed on an approved stock exchange in the other Contracting State) forming part of a substantial interest in the capital stock of a company which is a resident of that other State the value of which shares is derived principally from immovable property situated in that other State; or
 - (b) an interest in a partnership, trust or estate the value of which is derived principally from immovable property situated in the other Contracting State,

may be taxed in that other State. For the purposes of this paragraph, the term "immovable property" does not include property (other than rental property) in which the business of the company, partnership, trust or estate is carried on; and a substantial interest in the capital stock of a company exists when the resident and persons related thereto own 10 per cent or more of the shares of any class of the capital stock of a company.

- 5. Where a resident of a Contracting State alienates property in the course of an organization, reorganization, amalgamation, division or similar transaction and profit, gain or income with respect to such alienation is not recognized for the purpose of taxation in that State, if requested to do so by the person who acquires the property, the competent authority of the other Contracting State may agree, subject to terms and conditions satisfactory to such competent authority, to defer the recognition of the profit, gain or income with respect to such property for the purpose of taxation in that other State.
- 6. Gains from the alienation of any property, other than those mentioned in paragraphs 1 to 4 shall be taxable only in the Contracting State of which the alienator is a resident.
- 7. In the case of an individual who has been a resident of a Contracting State and who has become a resident of the other Contracting State:
 - (a) the provisions of paragraph 6 shall not affect the right of either of the Contracting States to levy, according to its law, a tax on gains from the alienation of any property derived by such individual at any time during the ten years following the date on which the individual has ceased to be a resident of the first-mentioned State:

- 4. Les gains qu'un résident d'un État contractant tire de l'aliénation :
 - a) d'actions (autres que des actions inscrites à une bourse de valeurs approuvée dans l'autre État contractant) faisant partie d'une participation substantielle dans le capital d'une société qui est un résident de cet autre État et dont la valeur des actions est principalement tirée de biens immobiliers situés dans cet autre État; ou
 - b) d'une participation dans une société de personnes, une fiducie ou une succession et dont la valeur est principalement tirée de biens immobiliers situés dans l'autre État contractant,

sont imposables dans cet autre État. Au sens du présent paragraphe, l'expression « biens immobiliers » ne comprend pas les biens (autres que les biens locatifs) dans lesquels la société, la société de personnes, la fiducie ou la succession exerce son activité; et, il existe une participation substantielle dans le capital d'une société lorsque le résident et des personnes qui lui sont associées possèdent au moins 10 p. 100 des actions d'une catégorie quelconque du capital d'une société.

- 5. Lorsqu'un résident d'un État contractant aliène un bien lors d'une constitution, d'une réorganisation, d'une fusion, d'une scission ou opération semblable, et que le bénéfice, gain ou revenu relatif à cette aliénation n'est pas reconnu aux fins d'imposition dans cet État, si la personne qui acquiert le bien le demande, l'autorité compétente de l'autre État contractant peut, sous réserve des modalités qui lui sont satisfaisantes, accepter de différer la reconnaissance du bénéfice, gain ou revenu relatif audit bien aux fins d'imposition dans cet autre État.
- 6. Les gains provenant de l'aliénation de tous biens autres que ceux qui sont mentionnés aux paragraphes 1 à 4 ne sont imposables que dans l'État contractant dont le cédant est un résident.
- 7. Dans le cas d'une personne physique qui a été un résident d'un État contractant et qui est devenue un résident de l'autre État contractant :
 - a) les dispositions du paragraphe 6 ne portent pas atteinte au droit de chacun des États contractants de percevoir, conformément à sa législation, un impôt sur les gains provenant de l'aliénation d'un bien et réalisés par la personne physique à un moment quelconque au cours des dix années suivant la date à laquelle cette personne physique a cessé d'être un résident du premier État;

(b) where that individual is treated for the purposes of taxation in the first-mentioned State as having alienated a property and is taxed in that State by reason thereof, the individual may elect to be treated for the purposes of taxation in the other State as if the individual had, immediately before becoming a resident of that State, sold and repurchased the property for an amount equal to its fair market value at that time. However, this provision shall not apply to property any gain from which, arising immediately before the individual became a resident of that other State, may be taxed in that other State nor to immovable property situated in a third State.

ARTICLE 14

Independent Personal Services

- 1. Income derived by an individual who is a resident of a Contracting State in respect of professional services or other activities of an independent character shall be taxable only in that State unless the individual has a fixed base regularly available in the other Contracting State for the purpose of performing the activities. If the individual has or had such a fixed base, the income may be taxed in the other State but only so much of it as is attributable to that fixed base.
- 2. The term "professional services" includes especially independent scientific, literary, artistic, educational or teaching activities as well as the independent activities of physicians, lawyers, engineers, architects, dentists and accountants.

ARTICLE 15

Dependent Personal Services

- 1. Subject to the provisions of Articles 16, 18 and 19, salaries, wages and other remuneration derived by a resident of a Contracting State in respect of an employment shall be taxable only in that State unless the employment is exercised in the other Contracting State. If the employment is so exercised, such remuneration as is derived therefrom may be taxed in that other State.
- 2. Notwithstanding the provisions of paragraph 1, remuneration derived by a resident of a Contracting State in respect of an employment exercised in the other Contracting State shall be taxable only in the first-mentioned State if:
 - (a) the recipient is present in the other State for a period or periods not exceeding in the aggregate 183 days in any twelve month period commencing or ending in the fiscal year concerned, and
 - (b) the remuneration is paid by, or on behalf of, an employer who is not a resident of the other State, and
 - (c) the remuneration is not borne by a permanent establishment or a fixed base which the employer has in the other State.

b) lorsque la personne physique est considérée aux fins d'imposition dans le premier État comme ayant aliéné un bien et est imposée dans cet État en raison de cette aliénation, elle peut choisir, aux fins d'imposition dans l'autre État, d'être considérée comme ayant vendu et racheté, immédiatement avant de devenir un résident de cet État, le bien pour un montant égal à sa juste valeur marchande à ce moment. Toutefois, la présente disposition ne s'applique ni aux biens qui donneraient lieu, immédiatement avant que la personne physique ne devienne un résident de cet autre État, à des gains imposables dans cet autre État, ni aux biens immobiliers situés dans un État tiers.

ARTICLE 14

Professions indépendantes

- 1. Les revenus qu'une personne physique qui est un résident d'un État contractant tire d'une profession libérale ou d'autres activités de caractère indépendant ne sont imposables que dans cet État, à moins que cette personne ne dispose de façon habituelle dans l'autre État contractant d'une base fixe pour l'exercice de ses activités. Si elle dispose ou si elle a disposé, d'une telle base fixe, les revenus sont imposables dans l'autre État mais uniquement dans la mesure où ils sont imputables à cette base fixe.
- 2. L'expression « profession libérale » comprend notamment les activités indépendantes d'ordre scientifique, littéraire, artistique, éducatif ou pédagogique, ainsi que les activités indépendantes des médecins, avocats, ingénieurs, architectes, dentistes et comptables.

ARTICLE 15

Professions dépendantes

- 1. Sous réserve des dispositions des articles 16, 18 et 19, les salaires, traitements et autres rémunérations qu'un résident d'un État contractant reçoit au titre d'un emploi salarié ne sont imposables que dans cet État, à moins que l'emploi ne soit exercé dans l'autre État contractant. Si l'emploi y est exercé, les rémunérations reçues à ce titre sont imposables dans cet autre
- 2. Nonobstant les dispositions du paragraphe 1, les rémunérations qu'un résident d'un État contractant reçoit au titre d'un emploi salarié exercé dans l'autre État contractant ne sont imposables que dans le premier État si :
 - a) le bénéficiaire séjourne dans l'autre État pendant une période ou des périodes n'excédant pas au total 183 jours au cours de toute période de douze mois commençant ou se terminant dans l'année fiscale considérée, et
 - b) les rémunérations sont payées par un employeur ou pour le compte d'un employeur qui n'est pas un résident de l'autre État, et
 - c) la charge des rémunérations n'est pas supportée par un établissement stable ou une base fixe que l'employeur a dans l'autre État.

3. Notwithstanding the preceding provisions of this Article, remuneration derived in respect of an employment exercised aboard a ship or aircraft operated in international traffic by an enterprise of a Contracting State may be taxed in that State.

ARTICLE 16

Directors' Fees

- 1. Directors' fees and other similar payments derived by a resident of a Contracting State in that resident's capacity as a member of the board of directors of a company which is a resident of the other Contracting State, may be taxed in that other State
- 2. Salaries, wages and other remuneration derived by a resident of a Contracting State in that resident's capacity as an officer, or an official responsible under commercial law for the overall direction of the affairs, of a company which is a resident of the other Contracting State may be taxed in that other State.

ARTICLE 17

Artistes and Sportspersons

- 1. Notwithstanding the provisions of Articles 7, 14 and 15, income derived by a resident of a Contracting State as an entertainer, such as a theatre, motion picture, radio or television artiste, or a musician, or as a sportsperson, from that resident's personal activities as such exercised in the other Contracting State, may be taxed in that other State.
- 2. Where income in respect of personal activities exercised by an entertainer or a sportsperson in that individual's capacity as such accrues not to the entertainer or sportsperson personally but to another person, that income may, notwithstanding the provisions of Articles 7, 14 and 15, be taxed in the Contracting State in which the activities of the entertainer or sportsperson are exercised.
- 3. The provisions of paragraphs 1 and 2 shall not apply to income derived from activities performed in a Contracting State by entertainers or sportspersons if the visit to that State is substantially supported, directly or indirectly, by public funds of the other Contracting State or a "Land" or a political subdivision or a local authority thereof. In such a case, the income shall be taxable only in the Contracting State of which the entertainer or sportsperson is a resident.

3. Nonobstant les dispositions précédentes du présent article, les rémunérations reçues au titre d'un emploi salarié exercé à bord d'un navire ou d'un aéronef exploité en trafic international par une entreprise d'un État contractant sont imposables dans cet État

ARTICLE 16

Tantièmes

- 1. Les tantièmes, jetons de présence et autres rétributions similaires qu'un résident d'un État contractant reçoit en sa qualité de membre du conseil d'administration ou de surveillance d'une société qui est un résident de l'autre État contractant sont imposables dans cet autre État.
- 2. Les salaires, traitements et autres rémunérations qu'un résident d'un État contractant reçoit en sa qualité de dirigeant ou de responsable en vertu du droit commercial de la direction générale des affaires, d'une société qui est un résident de l'autre État contractant sont imposables dans cet autre État.

ARTICLE 17

Artistes et sportifs

- 1. Nonobstant les dispositions des articles 7, 14 et 15, les revenus qu'un résident d'un État contractant tire de ses activités personnelles exercées dans l'autre État contractant en tant qu'artiste du spectacle, tel qu'un artiste de théâtre, de cinéma, de la radio ou de la télévision, ou qu'un musicien, ou en tant que sportif, sont imposables dans cet autre État.
- 2. Lorsque les revenus d'activités qu'un artiste du spectacle ou un sportif exerce personnellement et en cette qualité sont attribués non pas à l'artiste ou au sportif lui-même mais à une autre personne, ces revenus sont imposables, nonobstant les dispositions des articles 7, 14 et 15, dans l'État contractant où les activités de l'artiste ou du sportif sont exercées.
- 3. Les dispositions des paragraphes 1 et 2 ne s'appliquent pas aux revenus tirés des activités exercées dans un État contractant par un artiste du spectacle ou un sportif si la tournée dans cet État contractant est substantiellement financée, directement ou indirectement, par les fonds publics de l'autre État contractant ou d'un « Land », ou de l'une de leurs subdivisions politiques ou collectivités locales. Dans ce cas, les revenus ne sont imposables que dans l'État contractant dont l'artiste du spectacle ou le sportif est un résident.

ARTICLE 18

Pensions, Annuities and Similar Payments

- 1. Periodic or non-periodic pensions and other similar allowances derived by a resident of a Contracting State shall be taxable only in that State. However, such pensions and allowances may also be taxed in the other Contracting State if:
 - (a) they are derived from sources in that other Contracting State;
 - (b) contributions to the pension fund or plan were deductible for the purposes of taxation in that other State or if the pension was funded by that other State, a "Land", a political subdivision, a local authority or a governmental instrumentality thereof; and
 - (c) they are not paid in respect of services rendered or activities exercised outside that other State by a person when this person was not a resident of that other State.
- 2. Annuities derived by a resident of a Contracting State shall be taxable only in that State unless they are derived from sources within the other Contracting State. If they are so derived, such annuities may be taxed in that other State. The term "annuities" means stated sums payable periodically at stated times, during life or during a specified or ascertainable period of time, under an obligation to make the payments in return for adequate and full consideration in money or money's worth but does not include any annuity the cost of which was deductible for the purposes of taxation in the Contracting State in which it was acquired.
 - 3. Notwithstanding any provision in this Agreement:
 - (a) war pensions and allowances (including pensions and allowances paid to war veterans or paid as a consequence of damages or injuries suffered as a consequence of war) received from Canada and paid to a resident of the Federal Republic of Germany shall be taxable only in Canada;
 - (b) periodic or non-periodic payments received by a resident of Canada from the Federal Republic of Germany, or a "Land" or a governmental instrumentality thereof as compensation for an injury or damage sustained as a result of hostilities or past political persecution shall be taxable only in the Federal Republic of Germany;
 - (c) benefits under the social security legislation in a Contracting State paid to a resident of the other Contracting State may be taxed in that other State, but the amount of any such benefits that would be excluded from taxable income in the first-mentioned State if the recipient were a resident thereof shall be exempt from taxation in that other State;

ARTICLE 18

Pensions, rentes et paiements similaires

- 1. Les pensions et autres allocations similaires, périodiques ou non, reçues par un résident d'un État contractant ne sont imposables que dans cet État. Toutefois, ces pensions et allocations sont aussi imposables dans l'autre État contractant si :
 - a) elles proviennent de sources situées dans cet autre État contractant;
 - b) les contributions au fonds ou régime de retraite étaient déductibles aux fins d'imposition dans cet autre État ou la pension était financée par cet autre État ou un « Land », l'une de leurs subdivisions politiques ou collectivités locales, ou une personne morale ressortissant à son droit public; et
 - c) elles ne sont pas payées au titre de services rendus ou d'activités exercées en dehors de cet autre État par une personne lorsqu'elle n'était pas un résident de cet autre État.
- 2. Les rentes reçues par un résident d'un État contractant ne sont imposables que dans cet État, à moins qu'elles ne proviennent de sources situées dans l'autre État contractant. Si lesdites rentes sont reçues dans de telles conditions, elles sont imposables dans cet autre État. Le terme « rentes » désigne toute somme déterminée payable périodiquement à échéances fixes, à titre viager ou pendant une période déterminée ou qui peut l'être, en vertu d'un engagement d'effectuer les paiements en échange d'une contrepartie pleine et suffisante versée en argent ou évaluable en argent, mais ne comprend pas une rente dont le coût était déductible aux fins d'imposition dans l'État contractant où elle a été acquise.
 - 3. Nonobstant toute disposition du présent Accord :
 - a) les pensions et allocations de guerre (incluant les pensions et allocations payées aux anciens combattants ou payées en conséquence de dommages ou blessures subis à l'occasion d'une guerre) provenant du Canada et payées à un résident de la République fédérale d'Allemagne, ne sont imposables qu'au Canada;
 - b) les paiements, périodiques ou non, reçus par un résident du Canada de la République fédérale d'Allemagne, d'un « Land » ou d'une personne morale ressortissant à son droit public à titre d'indemnisation pour blessures ou dommages subis du fait des hostilités ou des persécutions politiques passées, ne sont imposables qu'en République fédérale d'Allemagne;
 - c) les prestations payées en vertu de la législation sur la sécurité sociale dans un État contractant à un résident de l'autre État contractant sont imposables dans cet autre État; mais le montant de telles prestations qui serait exclus du revenu imposable dans le premier État si le bénéficiaire y était un résident est exonéré d'impôt dans l'autre État;

(d) alimony or similar allowances arising in a Contracting State and paid to a resident of the other Contracting State shall be taxable only in that other State.

ARTICLE 19

Government Service

- 1. (a) Salaries, wages and similar remuneration, other than a pension, paid by a Contracting State, a "Land", or a political subdivision or a local authority or an instrumentality thereof to an individual in respect of services rendered to that State, "Land", subdivision, authority or instrumentality shall be taxable only in that State.
- (b) However, such salaries, wages and similar remuneration shall be taxable only in the other Contracting State if the services are rendered in that State and the individual is a resident of that State other than a national of the State referred to in subparagraph (a) whose salary, wage or similar remuneration is taxed in the last-mentioned State.
- 2. The provisions of paragraph 1 shall not apply to remuneration in respect of services rendered in connection with a business carried on by a Contracting State, a "Land" or a political subdivision or a local authority or an instrumentality thereof.
- 3. In this Article, the term "instrumentality" means any agent or entity created or organized by the Government of either Contracting State or a "Land" or political subdivision or local authority thereof in order to carry out functions of a governmental nature which is specified and agreed to in letters exchanged between the competent authorities of the Contracting States.

ARTICLE 20

Students

Payments which a student, apprentice or business trainee (including a "Voluntaer" or a "Praktikant") who is, or was, immediately before visiting a Contracting State, a resident of the other Contracting State and who is present in the first-mentioned State solely for the purpose of that individual's education or training receives for the purpose of that individual's maintenance, education or training shall not be taxed in that State, provided that such payments arise from sources outside that State.

d) les pensions alimentaires ou les allocations similaires provenant d'un État contractant et payées à un résident de l'autre État contractant ne sont imposables que dans cet autre État

ARTICLE 19

Fonctions publiques

- 1. a) Les salaires, traitements et autres rémunérations semblables, autres que les pensions, payés par un État contractant ou un « Land », ou l'une de leurs subdivisions politiques ou collectivités locales, ou une personne morale ressortissant à son droit public à une personne physique, au titre de services rendus à cet État, « Land », subdivision, collectivité ou personne morale, ne sont imposables que dans cet État.
- b) Toutefois, ces salaires, traitements et autres rémunérations semblables ne sont imposables que dans l'autre État contractant si les services sont rendus dans cet État et si la personne physique est un résident de cet État autre qu'une personne physique qui possède la nationalité de l'État visé à l'alinéa a) dont le salaire, traitement et autre rémunération semblable est imposable dans ce dernier État.
- 2. Les dispositions du paragraphe 1 ne s'appliquent pas aux rémunérations payées au titre de services rendus dans le cadre d'une activité industrielle ou commerciale exercée par un État contractant ou un « Land » ou l'une de leurs subdivisions politiques ou collectivités locales, ou une personne morale ressortissant à son droit public.
- 3. L'expression « personne morale ressortissant à son droit public » employée dans le présent article désigne tout agent ou entité établi ou constitué par le gouvernement de l'un des États contractants ou d'un « Land », ou de l'une de leurs subdivisions politiques ou collectivités locales, dans le but d'exercer des fonctions de caractère public qui est désigné et agréé par échange de lettres entre les autorités compétentes des États contractants.

ARTICLE 20

Étudiants

Les sommes qu'un étudiant, un stagiaire ou un apprenti (y compris un « *Volontaer* » ou un « *Praktikant* ») qui est, ou qui était immédiatement avant de se rendre dans un État contractant, un résident de l'autre État contractant et qui séjourne dans le premier État à seule fin d'y poursuivre ses études ou sa formation, reçoit pour couvrir ses frais d'entretien, d'études ou de formation ne sont pas imposables dans cet État, à condition qu'elles proviennent de sources situées en dehors de cet État.

ARTICLE 21

Conventions fiscales (2001) — Annexe 8

Other Income

- 1. Items of income of a resident of a Contracting State, wherever arising, not dealt with in the foregoing Articles of this Agreement shall be taxable only in that State.
- 2. The provisions of paragraph 1 shall not apply to income, other than income from immovable property as defined in paragraph 2 of Article 6, if the recipient of such income, being a resident of a Contracting State, carries on business in the other Contracting State through a permanent establishment situated therein, or performs in that other State independent personal services from a fixed base situated therein, and the right or property in respect of which the income is paid is effectively connected with such permanent establishment or fixed base. In such case the provisions of Article 7 or Article 14, as the case may be, shall apply.
- 3. Notwithstanding the provisions of paragraphs 1 and 2, items of income derived by a resident of a Contracting State from sources in the other Contracting State may also be taxed in that other State.

ARTICLE 22

Capital

- 1. Capital represented by immovable property referred to in Article 6, owned by a resident of a Contracting State and situated in the other Contracting State, may be taxed in that other State.
- 2. Capital represented by movable property forming part of the business property of a permanent establishment which an enterprise of a Contracting State has in the other Contracting State or by movable property pertaining to a fixed base available to a resident of a Contracting State in the other Contracting State for the purpose of performing independent personal services, may be taxed in that other State.
- 3. Capital represented by ships and aircraft operated, and containers used, by an enterprise of a Contracting State in international traffic and by movable property pertaining to the operation of such ships or aircraft shall be taxable only in that State.
- 4. All other elements of capital of a resident of a Contracting State shall be taxable only in that State.

ARTICLE 21 Autres revenus

- 1. Les éléments du revenu d'un résident d'un État contractant, d'où qu'ils proviennent, qui ne sont pas traités dans les articles précédents du présent Accord ne sont imposables que dans cet
- 2. Les dispositions du paragraphe 1 ne s'appliquent pas aux revenus autres que les revenus provenant de biens immobiliers tels qu'ils sont définis au paragraphe 2 de l'article 6, lorsque le bénéficiaire de tels revenus, résident d'un État contractant, exerce dans l'autre État contractant, soit une activité industrielle ou commerciale par l'intermédiaire d'un établissement stable qui y est situé, soit une profession indépendante au moyen d'une base fixe qui y est située, et que le droit ou le bien générateur des revenus s'y rattache effectivement. Dans ce cas, les dispositions de l'article 7 ou de l'article 14, suivant les cas, sont applicables.
- 3. Nonobstant les dispositions des paragraphes 1 et 2, les éléments du revenu qu'un résident d'un État contractant tire de sources situées dans l'autre État contractant sont aussi imposables dans cet autre État.

ARTICLE 22

Fortune

- 1. La fortune constituée par des biens immobiliers visés à l'article 6, que possède un résident d'un État contractant et qui sont situés dans l'autre État contractant, est imposable dans cet autre État.
- 2. La fortune constituée par des biens mobiliers qui font partie de l'actif d'un établissement stable qu'une entreprise d'un État contractant a dans l'autre État contractant, ou par des biens mobiliers qui appartiennent à une base fixe dont un résident d'un État contractant dispose dans l'autre État contractant pour l'exercice d'une profession indépendante, est imposable dans cet autre État.
- 3. La fortune constituée par des navires et des aéronefs exploités, ou des conteneurs utilisés, en trafic international par une entreprise d'un État contractant ainsi que par des biens mobiliers affectés à l'exploitation de ces navires ou aéronefs, n'est imposable que dans cet État.
- 4. Tous les autres éléments de la fortune d'un résident d'un État contractant ne sont imposables que dans cet État.

ARTICLE 23

Relief from Double Taxation

- 1. In the case of a resident of Canada, double taxation shall be avoided as follows:
 - (a) Subject to the existing provisions of the law of Canada regarding the deduction from tax payable in Canada of tax paid in a territory outside Canada and to any subsequent modification of those provisions, which shall not affect the general principle hereof, and unless a greater deduction or relief is provided under the laws of Canada, German tax (other than capital tax) payable in accordance with this Agreement on profits, income or gains arising in the Federal Republic of Germany shall be deducted from any Canadian tax payable in respect of such profits, income or gains.
 - (b) Subject to the existing provisions of the law of Canada regarding the allowance as a credit against Canadian tax of tax payable in a territory outside Canada and to any subsequent modification of those provisions which shall not affect the general principle hereof where a company which is a resident of the Federal Republic of Germany pays a dividend to a company which is a resident of Canada and which controls directly or indirectly at least 10 per cent of the voting power in the first-mentioned company, the credit shall take into account the tax payable in the Federal Republic of Germany by that first-mentioned company in respect of the profits out of which such dividend is paid.
 - (c) Where in accordance with any provision of the Agreement income derived or capital owned by a resident of Canada is exempt from tax in Canada, Canada may nevertheless, in calculating the amount of tax on other income or capital, take into account the exempted income or capital.
 - (d) For the purposes of this paragraph, profits, income or gains of a resident of Canada shall be deemed to arise from sources in the Federal Republic of Germany if they may be taxed in the Federal Republic of Germany in accordance with this Agreement.
- 2. Where a resident of the Federal Republic of Germany derives income or owns capital which, in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement, may be taxed in Canada, double taxation shall be avoided as follows:

ARTICLE 23

Suppression de la double imposition

- 1. En ce qui concerne un résident du Canada, la double imposition est évitée de la façon suivante :
 - a) Sous réserve des dispositions existantes de la législation canadienne concernant l'imputation de l'impôt payé dans un territoire en dehors du Canada sur l'impôt canadien payable et de toute modification ultérieure de ces dispositions qui n'en affecterait pas le principe général, et sans préjudice d'une déduction ou d'un dégrèvement plus important prévu par la législation canadienne, l'impôt allemand (autre que l'impôt sur la fortune) dû conformément au présent Accord à raison de bénéfices, revenus ou gains provenant de la République fédérale d'Allemagne est porté en déduction de tout impôt canadien dû à raison des mêmes bénéfices, revenus ou gains.
 - b) Sous réserve des dispositions existantes de la législation canadienne concernant l'imputation sur l'impôt canadien de l'impôt payé dans un territoire en dehors du Canada et de toute modification ultérieure de ces dispositions qui n'en affecterait pas le principe général lorsqu'une société qui est un résident de la République fédérale d'Allemagne paie un dividende à une société qui est un résident du Canada et qui contrôle directement ou indirectement au moins 10 p. 100 des droits de vote de la première société, il sera tenu compte, dans le calcul de l'imputation, de l'impôt dû à la République fédérale d'Allemagne par la première société sur les bénéfices qui servent au paiement de ce dividende.
 - c) Lorsque, conformément à une disposition quelconque de l'Accord, des éléments du revenu qu'un résident du Canada reçoit ou de la fortune qu'il possède sont exempts d'impôt au Canada, le Canada peut néanmoins, pour calculer le montant de l'impôt sur d'autres éléments de revenu ou de fortune, tenir compte des revenus ou de la fortune exemptés.
 - d) Pour l'application du présent paragraphe, les bénéfices, revenus ou gains d'un résident du Canada qui sont imposables en République fédérale d'Allemagne conformément au présent Accord, sont considérés comme provenant de sources situées en République fédérale d'Allemagne.
- 2. Lorsqu'un résident de la République fédérale d'Allemagne reçoit des revenus ou possède de la fortune qui, conformément aux dispositions du présent Accord sont imposables au Canada, la double imposition est évitée de la façon suivante :

(a) Subject to the provisions of subparagraph (b), there shall be excluded from the basis upon which German tax is imposed, any item of income from sources within Canada and any item of capital situated within Canada, which according to the foregoing Articles of this Agreement may be taxed, or shall be taxable only, in Canada; in the determination of its rate of tax applicable to any item of income or capital not so excluded, the Federal Republic of Germany will, however, take into account the items of income and capital, which according to the foregoing Articles may be taxed in Canada.

The foregoing provisions of this paragraph shall also apply to dividends on shares which are paid to a company which is a resident of the Federal Republic of Germany by a company which is a resident of Canada if at least 10 per cent of the capital of the Canadian company is held directly by the German company. There shall also be excluded from the basis upon which German tax is imposed any participation the dividends of which are excluded or, if paid, would be excluded, according to the immediately foregoing sentence from the basis upon which German tax is imposed.

- (b) There shall be allowed as a credit against German tax on income, subject to the provisions of German tax law regarding credit for foreign tax, the Canadian tax (including taxes on income paid to any political subdivision or local authority in Canada) paid in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement referred to below on the following items of income:
 - (aa) dividends within the meaning of Article 10 which are not dealt with in subparagraph (a) above;
 - (bb) interest within the meaning of Article 11 and royalties within the meaning of Article 12;
 - (cc) gains from the alienation of property taxable in Canada by reason only of Article 13, paragraph 4 and subparagraph (a) of paragraph 7;
 - (dd) income within the meaning of Article 15, paragraph 3 and Articles 16 and 17;
 - (ee) pensions and annuities within the meaning of Article 18, paragraphs 1 and 2 and subparagraph (c) of paragraph 3:
 - (ff) income taxable in Canada by reason only of Article 21.

a) Sous réserve des dispositions de l'alinéa b), sont exclus de la base de l'imposition allemande les revenus provenant du Canada et les éléments de la fortune situés au Canada qui, en conformité avec les articles précédents du présent Accord, sont imposables au Canada ou ne sont imposables qu'au Canada; toutefois, lors de la détermination du taux de ses impôts applicable aux revenus ou aux éléments de la fortune qui ne sont pas exclus, la République fédérale d'Allemagne tiendra compte des revenus et des éléments de la fortune qui, en conformité avec les articles précédents, sont imposables au Canada.

Les dispositions précédentes du présent paragraphe s'appliquent aussi aux dividendes sur actions qui sont payés à une société qui est un résident de la République fédérale d'Allemagne par une société qui est un résident du Canada si au moins 10 p. 100 du capital de la société canadienne est détenu directement par la société allemande. Est également exclue de la base de l'imposition allemande toute participation dont les dividendes sont, en vertu de la phrase précédente, exclus de la base de l'imposition allemande, ou qui le seraient en cas de paiement.

- b) Sous réserve des dispositions de la législation fiscale allemande concernant l'imputation de l'impôt étranger, l'impôt canadien (y compris les impôts sur le revenu payés à une subdivision politique ou à une collectivité locale du Canada) payé conformément aux dispositions du présent Accord visées ci-dessous sur les revenus suivants, est imputé sur l'impôt allemand sur le revenu :
 - (aa) les dividendes au sens de l'article 10, qui ne sont pas traités à l'alinéa *a*) ci-dessus;
 - (bb) les intérêts au sens de l'article 11 et les redevances au sens de l'article 12:
 - (cc) les gains provenant de l'aliénation des biens imposables au Canada en vertu seulement du paragraphe 4 et de l'alinéa 7a) de l'article 13;
 - (dd) les revenus au sens du paragraphe 3 de l'article 15 et des articles 16 et 17;
 - (ee) les pensions et les rentes au sens des paragraphes 1 et 2 et de l'alinéa 3c) de l'article 18;
 - (ff) les revenus imposables au Canada en vertu seulement de l'article 21.

(c) Instead of the provisions of subparagraph (a), the provisions of subparagraph (b) shall apply to income within the meaning of Articles 7 and 10 and to items of capital underlying such income unless the resident of the Federal Republic of Germany proves that the gross receipts of the permanent establishment in the business year in which the profit was realised, or the gross receipts of the company resident in Canada in the business year for which the dividend was distributed, derive exclusively or almost exclusively from activities coming under Section 8 paragraph 1 subparagraphs 1 to 6 of the German Law on External Tax Relations ("Aussensteuergesetz") or from participations coming under Section 8 paragraph 2 of that Law; the same shall apply to immovable property forming part of the business property of a permanent establishment (paragraph 4 of Article 6) and to gains from the alienation of such immovable property (paragraph 1 of Article 13) and of movable property forming part of the business property of the permanent establishment (paragraph 2 of Article 13).

ARTICLE 24

Non-discrimination

- 1. Nationals of a Contracting State shall not be subjected in the other Contracting State to any taxation or any requirement connected therewith, which is more burdensome than the taxation and connected requirements to which nationals of that other State in the same circumstances are or may be subjected. This provision shall, notwithstanding the provisions of Article 1, also apply to individuals who are not residents of one or both of the Contracting States.
- 2. The taxation on a permanent establishment which an enterprise of a Contracting State has in the other Contracting State shall not be less favourably levied in that other State than the taxation levied on enterprises of that other State carrying on the same activities. This provision shall not be construed as obliging a Contracting State to grant to residents of the other Contracting State any personal allowances, reliefs and reductions for taxation purposes which it grants to its own residents.
- 3. Enterprises of a Contracting State, the capital of which is wholly or partly owned or controlled, directly or indirectly, by one or more residents of the other Contracting State, shall not be subjected in the first-mentioned State to any taxation or any requirement connected therewith which is more burdensome than the taxation and connected requirements to which other similar enterprises of the first-mentioned State, the capital of which is wholly or partly owned or controlled, directly or indirectly, by one or more residents of a third State, are or may be subjected.
- 4. The provisions of this Article shall, notwithstanding the provisions of Article 2, apply to all taxes imposed by a Contracting State.

c) À la place des dispositions de l'alinéa a), les dispositions de l'alinéa b) sont applicables aux revenus au sens des articles 7 et 10 et aux éléments de la fortune dont sont tirés ces revenus à moins que le résident de la République fédérale d'Allemagne ne prouve que le revenu brut de l'exercice financier de l'établissement stable pendant lequel les bénéfices ont été réalisés, ou le montant brut reçu par la société résidant au Canada pendant l'exercice financier où les dividendes ont été distribués, proviennent exclusivement ou presque d'activités en conformité avec les alinéas 1 à 6 du paragraphe 1 de l'article 8 de la législation allemande sur les relations fiscales extérieures (« Aussensteuergesetz ») ou de participations en conformité avec le paragraphe 2 de l'article 8 de cette législation: ceci s'applique aussi aux biens immobiliers faisant partie de l'actif d'un établissement stable (paragraphe 4 de l'article 6) et aux gains provenant de l'aliénation de ces biens immobiliers (paragraphe 1 de l'article 13) et des biens mobiliers faisant partie de l'actif d'un tel établissement stable (paragraphe 2 de l'article 13).

ARTICLE 24

Non-discrimination

- 1. Les nationaux d'un État contractant ne sont soumis dans l'autre État contractant à aucune imposition ou obligation y relative, qui est plus lourde que celles auxquelles sont ou pourront être assujettis les nationaux de cet autre État qui se trouvent dans la même situation. La présente disposition s'applique aussi, nonobstant les dispositions de l'article 1, aux personnes physiques qui ne sont pas des résidents d'un État contractant ou des deux États contractants.
- 2. L'imposition d'un établissement stable qu'une entreprise d'un État contractant a dans l'autre État contractant n'est pas établie dans cet autre État d'une façon moins favorable que l'imposition des entreprises de cet autre État qui exercent la même activité. La présente disposition ne peut être interprétée comme obligeant un État contractant à accorder aux résidents de l'autre État contractant les déductions personnelles, abattements et réductions d'impôt qu'il accorde à ses propres résidents.
- 3. Les entreprises d'un État contractant, dont le capital est en totalité ou en partie, directement ou indirectement, détenu ou contrôlé par un ou plusieurs résidents de l'autre État contractant, ne sont soumises dans le premier État à aucune imposition ou obligation y relative, qui est plus lourde que celles auxquelles sont ou pourront être assujetties les autres entreprises similaires du premier État dont le capital est en totalité ou en partie, directement ou indirectement, détenu ou contrôlé par un ou plusieurs résidents d'un État tiers.
- 4. Les dispositions du présent article s'appliquent, nonobstant les dispositions de l'article 2, à tous les impôts perçus par un État contractant.

ARTICLE 25

Mutual Agreement Procedure

- 1. Where a person considers that the actions of one or both of the Contracting States result or will result for that person in taxation not in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement, that person may, irrespective of the remedies provided by the domestic law of those States, address to the competent authority of the Contracting State of which that person is a resident or, if that person's case comes under paragraph 1 of Article 24, to that of the Contracting State of which that person is a national, an application in writing stating the grounds for claiming the revision of such taxation. To be admissible, the said application must be submitted within two years from the first notification of the action resulting in taxation not in accordance with the provisions of the Agreement.
- 2. The competent authority shall endeavour, if the objection appears to it to be justified and if it is not itself able to arrive at an appropriate solution, to resolve the case by mutual agreement with the competent authority of the other Contracting State, with a view to the avoidance of taxation not in accordance with the Agreement.
- 3. The competent authorities of the Contracting States shall endeavour to resolve by mutual agreement any difficulties or doubts arising as to the interpretation or application of the Agreement. They may also consult together for the elimination of double taxation in cases not provided for in the Agreement.
- 4. In particular, the competent authorities of the Contracting States may consult together to endeavour to agree:
 - (a) to the same attribution of profits to an enterprise of a Contracting State and to its permanent establishment situated in the other Contracting State;
 - (b) to the same allocation of profits between associated enterprises as provided for in Article 9;
 - (c) to the method of avoiding double taxation in the case of an estate or trust.
- 5. The competent authorities of the Contracting States may communicate with each other directly for the purpose of applying the provisions of this Agreement.
- 6. If any question, difficulty or doubt arising as to the interpretation or application of the Agreement cannot be resolved or dealt with by the competent authorities as a result of the application of the provisions of paragraphs 1, 2 or 3, these questions, difficulties or doubts may, if the competent authorities agree, be submitted to an arbitration commission. The decisions of the commission shall be binding. The composition of the commission and the arbitration procedures shall be determined, after consultation between the competent authorities, through an exchange of diplomatic notes between the Contracting States.

ARTICLE 25 Procédure amiable

- 1. Lorsqu'une personne estime que les mesures prises par un État contractant ou par les deux États contractants entraînent ou entraîneront pour elle une imposition non conforme aux dispositions du présent Accord, elle peut, indépendamment des recours prévus par le droit interne de ces États, adresser à l'autorité compétente de l'État contractant dont elle est un résident ou, si son cas relève du paragraphe 1 de l'article 24, à celle de 1'État
- contractant dont elle possède la nationalité, une demande écrite et motivée de révision de cette imposition. Pour être recevable. cette demande doit être présentée dans un délai de deux ans à compter de la première notification de la mesure qui entraîne une imposition non conforme aux dispositions de l'Accord.
- 2. L'autorité compétente s'efforce, si la réclamation lui paraît fondée et si elle n'est pas elle-même en mesure d'y apporter une solution satisfaisante, de résoudre le cas par voie d'accord amiable avec l'autorité compétente de l'autre État contractant, en vue d'éviter une imposition non conforme à l'Accord.
- 3. Les autorités compétentes des États contractants s'efforcent, par voie d'accord amiable, de résoudre les difficultés ou de dissiper les doutes auxquels peuvent donner lieu l'interprétation ou l'application de l'Accord. Elles peuvent aussi se concerter en vue d'éliminer la double imposition dans les cas non prévus par l'Accord.
- 4. En particulier, les autorités compétentes des États contractants peuvent se consulter en vue de parvenir à un accord :
 - a) pour que les bénéfices revenant à une entreprise d'un État contractant et à son établissement stable situé dans l'autre État contractant soient imputés d'une manière identique;
 - b) pour que les bénéfices revenant à des entreprises associées visées à l'article 9 soient attribués d'une manière identique;
 - c) sur la méthode en vue d'éviter les doubles impositions dans le cas d'une succession ou d'une fiducie.
- 5. Les autorités compétentes des États contractants peuvent communiquer directement entre elles pour l'application des dispositions du présent Accord.
- 6. Si les questions, difficultés ou doutes auxquels peuvent donner lieu l'interprétation ou l'application du présent Accord ne peuvent être réglés, résolus ou dissipés par les autorités compétentes en application des dispositions des paragraphes 1, 2 ou 3, ces questions, ces difficultés ou ces doutes peuvent, d'un commun accord entre les autorités compétentes, être soumis à une commission d'arbitrage. Les décisions de la commission ont force obligatoire. La composition de la commission et les procédures d'arbitrage seront convenues entre les États contractants par échange de notes diplomatiques après consultation entre les autorités compétentes.

ARTICLE 26

Exchange of Information

- 1. The competent authorities of the Contracting States shall exchange such information as is relevant for carrying out the provisions of this Agreement or of the domestic laws in the Contracting States concerning taxes covered by the Agreement insofar as the taxation thereunder is not contrary to the Agreement. The exchange of information is not restricted by Article 1. Any information received by a Contracting State shall be treated as secret in the same manner as information obtained under the domestic laws of that State and shall be disclosed only to persons or authorities (including courts and administrative bodies) concerned with the assessment or collection of the taxes covered by the Agreement or, notwithstanding the provisions of paragraph 4, the taxes imposed by a "Land", or a political subdivision or local authority of a Contracting State that are substantially similar to the taxes covered by the Agreement. Such persons or authorities shall use the information only for such purposes. Such information may be disclosed in public court proceedings or in judicial decisions only if the competent authority of the Contracting State supplying the information raises no objection.
- 2. In no case shall the provisions of paragraph 1 be construed so as to impose on a Contracting State the obligation:
 - (a) to carry out administrative measures at variance with the laws or the administrative practice of that or of the other Contracting State;
 - (b) to supply information which is not obtainable under the laws or in the normal course of the administration of that or of the other Contracting State;
 - (c) to supply information which would disclose any trade, business, industrial, commercial or professional secret or trade process, or information, the disclosure of which would be contrary to public policy (ordre public).
- 3. The competent authorities of the Contracting States shall agree upon the principles and procedures relating to the exchange of personal data.
- 4. For the purposes of this Article, the taxes covered by the Agreement are, notwithstanding the provisions of Article 2, all taxes imposed by a Contracting State.

ARTICLE 26

Échange de renseignements

- 1. Les autorités compétentes des États contractants échangent les renseignements nécessaires pour appliquer les dispositions du présent Accord ou celles du droit interne des États contractants relatives aux impôts visés par l'Accord dans la mesure où l'imposition qu'elle prévoit n'est pas contraire à l'Accord. L'échange de renseignements n'est pas restreint par l'article 1. Les renseignements reçus par un État contractant sont tenus secrets de la même manière que les renseignements obtenus en application du droit interne de cet État et ne sont communiqués qu'aux personnes ou autorités (y compris les tribunaux et organes administratifs) concernées par l'établissement ou le recouvrement des impôts visés par l'Accord, ou nonobstant les dispositions du paragraphe 4, les impôts perçus par un « Land », ou une subdivision politique ou collectivité locale d'un État contractant qui sont de nature analogue à ceux auxquels s'applique l'Accord. Ces personnes ou autorités n'utilisent ces renseignements qu'à ces fins. Il ne peut être fait état de ces renseignements au cours d'audiences publiques de tribunaux ou dans des jugements que si l'autorité compétente de l'État contractant qui fournit les renseignements ne soulève pas d'objections.
- 2. Les dispositions du paragraphe l ne peuvent en aucun cas être interprétées comme imposant à un État contractant l'obligation :
 - a) de prendre des mesures administratives dérogeant à sa législation et à sa pratique administrative ou à celles de l'autre État contractant:
 - b) de fournir des renseignements qui ne pourraient être obtenus sur la base de sa législation ou dans le cadre de sa pratique administrative normale ou de celles de l'autre État contractant:
 - c) de fournir des renseignements qui révéleraient un secret commercial, industriel, professionnel ou un procédé commercial ou des renseignements dont la communication serait contraire à l'ordre public.
- 3. Les autorités compétentes des États contractants s'entendent sur les principes et procédures concernant l'échange de renseignements personnels.
- 4. Pour l'application du présent article, les impôts visés par l'Accord sont, nonobstant les dispositions de l'article 2, tous les impôts perçus par un État contractant.

ARTICLE 27

Conventions fiscales (2001) — Annexe 8

Assistance in Collection

- 1. The Contracting States undertake to lend assistance to each other in the collection of taxes referred to in paragraph 8, together with interest, costs, additions to such taxes and administrative penalties, referred to in this Article as a "revenue claim". The provisions of this Article are not restricted by Article 1.
- 2. An application for assistance in the collection of a revenue claim shall include a certification by the competent authority of the applicant State that, under the laws of that State, the revenue claim has been finally determined. For the purposes of this Article, a revenue claim is finally determined when the applicant State has the right under its internal law to collect the revenue claim and all administrative and judicial rights of the taxpayer to restrain collection in the applicant State have lapsed or been exhausted.
- 3. A revenue claim of the applicant State that has been finally determined may be accepted for collection by the competent authority of the requested State and, subject to the provisions of paragraph 7, if accepted shall be collected by the requested State as though such revenue claim were the requested State's own revenue claim finally determined in accordance with the laws applicable to the collection of the requested State's own taxes.
- 4. Where an application for collection of a revenue claim in respect of a taxpayer is accepted:
 - (a) by the Federal Republic of Germany, the revenue claim shall be enforced by the Federal Republic of Germany in the same way as a revenue claim under Federal Republic of Germany laws against the taxpayer as of the time the application is received; and
 - (b) by Canada, the revenue claim shall be treated by Canada as an amount payable under the Income Tax Act, the collection of which is not subject to any restriction.
- 5. Nothing in this Article shall be construed as creating or providing any rights of administrative or judicial review of the applicant State's finally determined revenue claim by the requested State, based on any such rights that may be available under the laws of either Contracting State. Proceedings relating to measures taken under this Article by the requested State shall be brought only before the appropriate body of that State. If, at any time pending execution of a request for assistance under this Article, the applicant State loses the right under its internal law to collect the revenue claim, the competent authority of the applicant State shall promptly withdraw the request for assistance in collection.

ARTICLE 27

Assistance en matière de perception

- 1. Les États contractants s'engagent à se prêter mutuellement assistance pour percevoir les impôts visés au paragraphe 8, ainsi que les intérêts, frais, impôts supplémentaires et pénalités civiles, dénommés « créances fiscales » dans le présent article. Les dispositions du présent article ne sont pas restreintes par l'article
- 2. Une demande d'assistance pour la perception d'une créance fiscale est accompagnée d'un certificat délivré par l'autorité compétente de l'État requérant indiquant que, en vertu de la législation de cet État, la créance fiscale a fait l'objet d'une décision définitive. Au sens du présent article, la créance fiscale a fait l'objet d'une décision définitive lorsque l'État requérant a, en vertu de son droit interne, le droit de percevoir la créance fiscale et que le contribuable a épuisé tous les recours administratifs et judiciaires qui permettraient de suspendre la perception de cette créance par l'État requérant ou que ces recours sont prescrits.
- 3. L'autorité compétente de l'État requis peut accepter de percevoir une créance fiscale qui a fait l'objet d'une décision définitive présentée par l'État requérant et, sous réserve des dispositions du paragraphe 7, si cette demande est acceptée, l'État requis perçoit la créance comme s'il s'agissait de l'une de ses créances fiscales qui a fait l'objet d'une décision définitive, conformément à sa législation applicable à la perception de ses propres impôts.
- 4. Lorsqu'une demande de perception d'une créance fiscale à l'égard d'un contribuable est acceptée :
 - a) par la République fédérale d'Allemagne, la créance fiscale est traitée par la République fédérale d'Allemagne comme étant une créance fiscale en vertu de la législation de la République fédérale d'Allemagne à l'égard du contribuable à partir du moment où la demande est reçue; et
 - b) par le Canada, la créance fiscale est traitée par le Canada comme un montant dû en vertu de la Loi de l'impôt sur le revenu, dont la perception n'est assujettie à aucune restriction.
- 5. Aucune disposition du présent article ne peut être interprétée comme créant ou accordant à l'État requis des recours administratifs ou judiciaires contre la créance fiscale de l'État requérant ayant fait l'objet d'une décision définitive, qui se fonderaient sur les recours de ce genre qui seraient disponibles en vertu de la législation de l'un ou l'autre des États contractants. Les procédures concernant les mesures prises en vertu du présent article par l'État requis sont portées à l'attention des personnes appropriées de cet État. Si, à un moment quelconque avant l'exécution d'une demande d'assistance présentée en vertu du présent article, l'État requérant perd le droit de percevoir la créance fiscale en vertu de son droit interne, l'autorité compétente de l'État requérant retire immédiatement la demande d'assistance en matière de perception.

- 6. Unless the competent authorities of the Contracting States otherwise agree, the ordinary costs incurred in providing collection assistance shall be borne by the requested State and any extraordinary costs so incurred shall be borne by the applicant State.
- 7. A revenue claim of an applicant State accepted for collection shall not have in the requested State any priority accorded to the revenue claims of the requested State even if the recovery procedure used is the one applicable to its own revenue claims.
- 8. Notwithstanding the provisions of Article 2, the provisions of this Article shall apply to all categories of taxes collected by or on behalf of the Government of a Contracting State including, in the case of the Federal Republic of Germany, the "Laender".
- 9. Nothing in this Article shall be construed as imposing on either Contracting State the obligation to carry out administrative measures at variance with its laws or administrative practice or that would be contrary to its fundamental principles of tax policy or its public policy (*ordre public*).
- 10. The competent authorities of the Contracting States shall agree upon the mode of application of this Article, including agreement to ensure comparable levels of assistance to each of the Contracting States.

ARTICLE 28

Members of Diplomatic Missions and Consular Posts

- 1. Nothing in this Agreement shall affect the fiscal privileges of members of diplomatic missions or consular posts under the general rules of international law or under the provisions of special agreements.
- 2. Notwithstanding the provisions of Article 4, an individual who is a member of a diplomatic mission, consular post or permanent mission of a Contracting State which is situated in the other Contracting State or in a third State shall be deemed for the purposes of the Agreement to be a resident of the sending State if:
 - (a) in accordance with international law that individual is not liable to tax in the receiving State in respect of income from sources outside that State or on capital situated outside that State, and
 - (b) that individual is liable in the sending State to the same obligations in relation to tax on total income or on capital as are residents of that State.

- 6. Sauf entente contraire entre les autorités compétentes des États, les frais ordinaires engagés pour la perception de la créance sont assumés par l'État requis et les frais extraordinaires engagés à l'égard de cette créance sont assumés par l'État requérant.
- 7. Une créance fiscale d'un État requérant acceptée pour perception ne jouit pas, dans l'État requis, de la priorité dont jouissent les créances fiscales de l'État requis même si la procédure de recouvrement utilisée est celle qui s'applique à ses propres créances fiscales.
- 8. Nonobstant les dispositions de l'article 2, les dispositions du présent article s'appliquent également à tous les genres d'impôts perçus par le Gouvernement d'un État contractant, ou pour son compte, y compris, dans le cas de la République fédérale d'Allemagne, un « *Land* ».
- 9. Aucune disposition du présent article ne peut être interprétée comme imposant à un État contractant l'obligation de prendre des mesures administratives dérogeant à sa législation ou à sa pratique administrative; ou qui serait contraire aux principes fondamentaux de sa politique fiscale ou à l'ordre public de cet État
- 10. Les autorités compétentes des États contractants s'entendent sur les modalités d'application du présent article, y compris une entente visant à équilibrer le niveau d'assistance offert par chacun des États contractants.

ARTICLE 28

Membres de missions diplomatiques et postes consulaires

- 1. Les dispositions du présent Accord ne portent pas atteinte aux privilèges fiscaux dont bénéficient les membres des missions diplomatiques ou postes consulaires en vertu soit des règles générales du droit international, soit des dispositions d'accords particuliers.
- 2. Nonobstant les dispositions de l'article 4, une personne physique qui est membre d'une mission diplomatique, d'un poste consulaire ou d'une délégation permanente d'un État contractant qui est situé dans l'autre État contractant ou dans un État tiers est considérée, aux fins de l'Accord, comme un résident de l'État accréditant à condition :
 - a) que, conformément au droit international, elle ne soit pas assujettie à l'impôt dans l'État accréditaire pour les revenus de sources extérieures à cet État ou pour la fortune située en dehors de cet État, et
 - b) qu'elle soit soumise dans l'État accréditant aux mêmes obligations, en matière d'impôts sur l'ensemble de son revenu ou de sa fortune, que les résidents de cet État.

3. The Agreement shall not apply to International Organizations, to organs or officials thereof and to persons who are members of a diplomatic mission, consular post or permanent mission of a third State, being present in a Contracting State and not liable in either Contracting State to the same obligations in respect of taxes on income or on capital as are residents thereof.

ARTICLE 29

Miscellaneous Rules

- 1. With respect to income taxable in a Contracting State, the provisions of this Agreement shall not be construed to restrict in any manner any exemption, credit, allowance or other deduction accorded:
 - (a) by the laws of a Contracting State in the determination of the tax imposed by that State; or
 - (b) by any other agreement entered into by a Contracting State.
- 2. It is understood that nothing in the Agreement shall be construed as preventing:
 - (a) Canada from imposing a tax on amounts included in the income of a resident of Canada with respect to a partnership, trust or controlled foreign affiliate, in which that resident has an interest:
 - (b) the Federal Republic of Germany from imposing its taxes on amounts included in the income of a resident of the Federal Republic of Germany according to part 4 of the German "Aussensteuergesetz".

Where such imposition of tax gives rise to a double taxation, the competent authorities shall consult for the elimination of such double taxation according to paragraph 3 of Article 25.

3. The Agreement shall not apply to any company (nor to income derived from such company by a shareholder thereof), trust or partnership that is a resident of a Contracting State and is beneficially owned or controlled directly or indirectly by one or more persons who are not residents of that State, if the amount of the tax imposed on the income or capital of the company, trust or partnership by that State is substantially lower than the amount that would be imposed by that State if all of the shares of the capital stock of the company or all of the interests in the trust or partnership, as the case may be, were beneficially owned by one or more individuals who were residents of that State.

3. L'Accord ne s'applique pas aux organisations internationales, à leurs organes ou à leurs fonctionnaires, ni aux personnes qui sont membres d'une mission diplomatique, d'un poste consulaire ou d'une délégation permanente d'un État tiers, lorsqu'ils se trouvent sur le territoire d'un État contractant et ne sont pas soumis dans l'un ou l'autre État contractant aux mêmes obligations, en matière d'impôt sur le revenu ou sur la fortune, que les résidents desdits États.

ARTICLE 29

Dispositions diverses

- 1. Les dispositions du présent Accord ne peuvent être interprétées, à l'égard des revenus imposables dans un État contractant, comme limitant d'une manière quelconque les exonérations, abattements, déductions, crédits ou autres allégements accordés
 - a) par la législation d'un État contractant pour la détermination de l'impôt prélevé par cet État, ou
 - b) par tout autre accord conclu par un État contractant.
- 2. Il est entendu qu'aucune disposition de l'Accord ne peut être interprétée comme empêchant
 - a) le Canada de prélever son impôt sur les montants inclus dans le revenu d'un résident du Canada à l'égard d'une société de personnes, une fiducie ou une société étrangère affiliée contrôlée dans laquelle il possède une participation;
 - b) la République fédérale d'Allemagne de prélever son impôt sur les montants inclus dans le revenu d'un résident de la République fédérale d'Allemagne en vertu de la partie 4 de la « Aussensteuergesetz » allemande.

Lorsqu'un tel prélèvement d'impôt résulte en double imposition, les autorités compétentes se concertent en vue d'éliminer cette double imposition conformément au paragraphe 3 de l'article 25.

3. L'Accord ne s'applique pas à une société (ni au revenu tiré d'une société par un de ses actionnaires) une fiducie ou une société de personnes qui est un résident d'un État contractant et dont une ou plusieurs personnes qui ne sont pas des résidents de cet État en sont les bénéficiaires effectifs ou qui est contrôlée, directement ou indirectement, par de telles personnes, si le montant de l'impôt exigé par cet État sur le revenu ou la fortune de la société, fiducie ou société de personnes est largement inférieur au montant qui serait exigé par cet État si une ou plusieurs personnes physiques qui sont des résidents de cet État étaient les bénéficiaires effectifs de toutes les actions de capital de la société ou de toutes les participations dans la fiducie ou société de personnes, selon le cas.

- 4. Contributions in a year in respect of services rendered in that year paid by, or on behalf of, an individual who is a resident of one of the Contracting States or who is temporarily present in that State, to a pension plan that is recognized for tax purposes in the other Contracting State shall, during a period not exceeding in the aggregate 60 months, be treated in the same way for tax purposes in the first-mentioned State as a contribution paid to a pension plan that is recognized for tax purposes in that first-mentioned State, provided that:
 - (a) such individual was contributing on a regular basis to the pension plan for a period ending immediately before the individual became a resident of or temporarily present in the first-mentioned State; and
 - (b) the competent authority of the first-mentioned State agrees that the pension plan generally corresponds to a pension plan recognized for tax purposes by that State.

For the purposes of this paragraph, "pension plan" includes a pension plan created under the social security system in a Contracting State.

- 5. For purposes of paragraph 3 of Article XXII of the General Agreement on Trade in Services, the Contracting States agree that, notwithstanding that paragraph, any dispute between them as to whether a measure falls within the scope of this Agreement may be brought before the Council for Trade in Services, as provided by that paragraph, only with the consent of both Contracting States. Any doubt as to the interpretation of this paragraph shall be resolved under paragraph 3 of Article 25 or, failing agreement under that procedure, pursuant to any other procedure agreed to by both Contracting States.
- 6. Nothing in the Agreement shall be construed as preventing a Contracting State from denying benefits under the Agreement where it can reasonably be concluded that to do otherwise would result in an abuse of the provisions of the Agreement or of the domestic laws of that State.

ARTICLE 30

Protocol to the Agreement

The attached Protocol forms an integral part of this Agreement.

- 4. Les contributions pour l'année, à l'égard de services rendus au cours de cette année, payées par une personne physique ou pour le compte d'une personne physique qui est un résident de l'un des États contractants ou qui y séjourne d'une façon temporaire, à un régime de pension qui est reconnu aux fins d'imposition dans l'autre État contractant sont, pendant une période n'excédant pas au total 60 mois, considérées aux fins d'imposition dans le premier État de la même manière que les contributions payées à un régime de pension qui est reconnu aux fins d'imposition dans le premier État, pourvu que :
 - a) cette personne physique ait contribué d'une façon régulière au régime de pension pendant une période se terminant immédiatement avant qu'elle ne devienne un résident du premier État ou qu'elle n'y séjourne de façon temporaire; et
 - b) l'autorité compétente du premier État convienne que le régime de pension correspond généralement à un régime de pension reconnu aux fins d'imposition par cet État.

Aux fins du présent paragraphe, « régime de pension » comprend un régime de pension créé en vertu du système de sécurité sociale dans un État contractant.

- 5. Au sens du paragraphe 3 de l'article XXII de l'Accord général sur le commerce des services, les États contractants conviennent que, nonobstant ce paragraphe, tout différend entre eux sur la question de savoir si une mesure relève du présent Accord, ne peut être porté devant le Conseil sur le commerce des services, tel que prévu par ce paragraphe, qu'avec le consentement des deux États contractants. Tout doute au sujet de l'interprétation du présent paragraphe est résolu en vertu du paragraphe 3 de l'article 25 ou, en l'absence d'un accord en vertu de cette procédure, en vertu de toute autre procédure acceptée par les deux États contractants.
- 6. Aucune disposition du présent Accord ne peut être interprétée comme empêchant un État contractant de refuser d'accorder les avantages de l'Accord lorsqu'il peut raisonnablement être conclu que faire autrement résulterait en un abus des dispositions de l'Accord ou du droit interne de cet État.

ARTICLE 30

Protocole à l'Accord

Le protocole ci-joint forme partie intégrante du présent Accord.

ARTICLE 31

Conventions fiscales (2001) — Annexe 8

Entry into Force

- 1. This Agreement shall enter into force on the date on which the Contracting States have notified each other that the national requirements for such entry into force have been fulfilled. The relevant date shall be the day on which the last notification is received. The provisions of the Agreement shall have effect:
 - (a) in respect of tax withheld at the source on amounts paid or credited to non-residents on or after the first day of January 2001; and
 - (b) in respect of other taxes for taxation years beginning on or after the first day of January 2001.
- 2. The Agreement between Canada and the Federal Republic of Germany for the Avoidance of Double Taxation with respect to Taxes on Income and Certain other Taxes signed at Ottawa on July 17, 1981 shall cease to have effect in respect of taxes to which this Agreement applies in accordance with the provisions of paragraph 1 and shall terminate on the last date on which it has effect in accordance with the foregoing provisions.
- 3. Where any greater relief from tax would have been afforded by any provision of the Agreement between Canada and the Federal Republic of Germany for the Avoidance of Double Taxation with respect to Taxes on Income and Certain other Taxes signed at Ottawa on July 17, 1981 to a resident of either Contracting State, such provision shall continue to have effect up to and including the taxation year in which this Agreement enters into force.

ARTICLE 32

Termination

This Agreement shall remain in force until terminated by a Contracting State. Either Contracting State may terminate the Agreement, through diplomatic channels, by giving notice of termination at least six months before the end of any calendar year after the year in which the Agreement entered into force. In such event, the Agreement shall cease to have effect:

- (a) in respect of tax withheld at the source on amounts paid or credited to non-residents on or after the first day of January in the calendar year next following the expiration of the six-month period referred to above; and
- (b) in respect of other taxes for taxation years beginning on or after the first day of January in the calendar year next following the expiration of the six-month period referred to

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the undersigned, duly authorized to that effect, have signed this Agreement.

ARTICLE 31

Entrée en vigueur

- 1. Le présent Accord entre en vigueur à la date à laquelle les États contractants se notifient mutuellement que les exigences nationales requises pour ladite entrée en vigueur ont été remplies. La date pertinente est le jour où la dernière des notifications est reçue. Les dispositions de l'Accord sont applicables :
 - a) à l'égard de l'impôt retenu à la source sur les montants payés à des non-résidents, ou portés à leur crédit, le 1er janvier 2001 ou après cette date; et
 - b) à l'égard des autres impôts, pour toute année d'imposition commençant le 1er janvier 2001 où après cette date.
- 2. L'Accord entre le Canada et la République fédérale d'Allemagne en vue d'éviter les doubles impositions en matière d'impôts sur le revenu et de certains autres impôts, signé à Ottawa le 17 juillet 1981 cesse d'avoir effet à l'égard des impôts auxquels s'applique le présent Accord conformément aux dispositions du paragraphe 1 et est abrogé à compter de la date à laquelle il a effet pour la dernière fois conformément aux dispositions précéden-
- 3. Dans le cas où une disposition de l'Accord entre le Canada et la République fédérale d'Allemagne en vue d'éviter les doubles impositions en matière d'impôts sur le revenu et de certains autres impôts, signé à Ottawa le 17 juillet 1981 accorderait un allégement plus favorable que celui accordé en vertu du présent Accord, ladite disposition continue d'avoir effet jusqu'à la fin de l'année d'imposition au cours de laquelle le présent Accord entre en vigueur.

ARTICLE 32

Dénonciation

Le présent Accord reste en vigueur tant qu'il n'est pas dénoncé par un État contractant. Chacun des États contractants peut, par la voie diplomatique, dénoncer l'Accord en donnant un avis de dénonciation au moins six mois avant la fin de toute année civile suivant l'année au cours de laquelle l'Accord est entré en vigueur. Dans ce cas, l'Accord cesse d'être applicable :

- a) à l'égard de l'impôt retenu à la source sur les montants payés à des non-résidents, ou portés à leur crédit, le 1er janvier de l'année civile qui suit l'expiration de la période de six mois dont il est question ci-dessus, ou après cette date; et
- b) à l'égard des autres impôts, pour toute année d'imposition commençant le 1er janvier de l'année civile qui suit l'expiration de la période de six mois dont il est question ci-dessus, ou après cette date.

EN FOI DE QUOI les soussignés, dûment autorisés à cet effet, ont signé le présent Accord.

DONE at Berlin, this 19th day of April, 2001, in duplicate, in the English, French and German languages, each text being equally authentic.

FOR CANADA FOR THE FEDERAL

REPUBLIC OF GERMANY

Gerd Westdickenberg Philip Somerville

PART 2

PROTOCOL TO THE AGREEMENT BETWEEN CANADA AND THE FEDERAL REPUBLIC OF GERMANY FOR THE AVOIDANCE OF DOUBLE TAXATION WITH RESPECT TO TAXES ON INCOME AND CERTAIN OTHER TAXES, THE PREVENTION OF FISCAL EVASION AND THE ASSISTANCE IN TAX **MATTERS**

Canada and the Federal Republic of Germany have agreed at the signing at Berlin on April 19, 2001 of the Agreement between the two States for the Avoidance of Double Taxation with respect to Taxes on Income and Certain other Taxes, the Prevention of Fiscal Evasion and the Assistance in Tax Matters, on the following provisions:

- 1. With reference to Article 4, paragraph 1, it is understood that the term "resident of a Contracting State" includes a person that is liable to tax on world income even if that person is liable to tax on capital only on capital situated in that State.
- 2. With reference to Article 6, the term "immovable property" shall include an interest in mineral deposits, sources and other natural resources and an option in respect of immovable property.
- 3. With reference to Article 10, paragraph 2, income derived from rights or debt-claims participating in profits (including in the Federal Republic of Germany income of a "stiller Gesellschafter" from the sleeping partner's participation as such or from a "partiarisches Darlehen" and "Gewinnobligationen") that is deductible in determining the profits of the debtor may be taxed in the Contracting State in which it arises according to the laws of that State.
- 4. With reference to Article 12, paragraph 2, the term "gross amount" does not include turnover taxes.
- 5. With reference to income taxable in accordance with Article 18, paragraph 1,
 - (a) the rate of Canadian tax charged on periodic pension payments derived from sources within Canada shall not exceed the lesser of:
 - (aa) 15 per cent of the gross amount of the payment, and

FAIT en double exemplaire à Berlin, ce 19e jour d'avril 2001, en langues française, anglaise et allemande, chaque texte faisant également foi.

POUR LA RÉPUBLIQUE POUR LE CANADA FÉDÉRALE D'ALLEMAGNE

Gerd Westdickenberg Philip Somerville

PARTIE 2

PROTOCOLE À L'ACCORD ENTRE LE CANADA ET LA RÉPUBLIQUE FÉDÉRALE D'ALLEMAGNE EN VUE D'ÉVITER LES DOUBLES IMPOSITIONS EN MATIÈRE D'IMPÔTS SUR LE REVENU ET DE CERTAINS AUTRES IMPÔTS, DE PRÉVENIR L'ÉVASION FISCALE ET DE FOURNIR ASSISTANCE EN MATIÈRE D'IMPÔTS

- Le Canada et la République fédérale d'Allemagne sont convenus au moment de procéder à la signature le 19e jour d'avril 2001 à Berlin de l'Accord entre les deux États en vue d'éviter les doubles impositions en matière d'impôts sur le revenu et de certains autres impôts, de prévenir l'évasion fiscale et de fournir assistance en matière d'impôts, des dispositions suivantes :
- 1. En ce qui concerne le paragraphe 1 de l'article 4, il est entendu que le terme « résident d'un État contractant » comprend une personne qui est assujettie à l'impôt sur son revenu mondial même si cette personne n'est assujettie à l'impôt sur la fortune que sur la fortune située dans cet État.
- 2. En ce qui concerne l'article 6, l'expression « biens immobiliers » comprend un intérêt dans les gisements minéraux, sources et autres ressources naturelles et une option à l'égard des biens immobiliers.
- 3. En ce qui concerne le paragraphe 2 de l'article 10, les revenus provenant de droits ou autres parts bénéficiaires participant aux bénéfices (y compris, dans le cas de la République fédérale d'Allemagne, les revenus qu'un commanditaire (« stiller Gesellschafter ») tire de sa participation comme telle, ou d'un « partiarisches Darlehen » et d'un « Gewinnobligationen ») qui sont déductibles dans la détermination des bénéfices du débiteur sont imposables dans l'État contractant d'où ils proviennent selon la législation de cet État.
- 4. En ce qui concerne le paragraphe 2 de l'article 12, l'expression « montant brut » ne comprend pas la taxe sur le chiffre d'affaires.
- 5. En ce qui concerne les revenus imposables conformément au paragraphe l de l'article 18,
 - a) le taux de l'impôt canadien établi sur les paiements périodiques d'une pension provenant de sources situées au Canada ne peut excéder le moins élevé des deux taux suivants:
 - (aa) 15 p. 100 du montant brut du paiement, et

- (bb) the rate determined by reference to the amount of tax that the recipient of the payment would otherwise be required to pay for the year on the total amount of the periodic pension payments received by the individual in the year, if the individual were resident in Canada,
- (b) German tax shall be levied on pensions derived from sources within the Federal Republic of Germany only if they are paid by the Federal Republic of Germany, a "Land", a political subdivision or a local authority thereof.
- 6. With reference to Article 18, paragraph 2, the rate of tax charged by a Contracting State on annuities derived from sources within that State shall not exceed 15 per cent of the taxable portion of the payment. However, this limitation shall not apply to lump-sum payments arising on the surrender, cancellation, redemption, sale or other alienation of an annuity, or to payments of any kind under an annuity contract the cost of which was deductible, in whole or in part, in computing the income of any person who acquired the contract.
- 7. With reference to Article 18, paragraph 3, subparagraph (*c*), the competent authority of a Contracting State shall notify the competent authority of the other Contracting State of changes made to the amount of social security benefits excluded from the taxable income of a resident of the first-mentioned State receiving such benefits.
- 8. With reference to Article 18, paragraph 3, subparagraph (*d*), in determining the taxable income of an individual who is a resident of the Federal Republic of Germany there shall be allowed in respect of alimony or similar allowances paid to an individual who is a resident of Canada the amount that would be allowed if that last-mentioned individual were subject to tax in the Federal Republic of Germany.
- 9. With reference to Article 23, paragraph 2, and Article 25, where a difference of qualification or attribution of income in Canada and the Federal Republic of Germany, not removed under a mutual agreement procedure according to Article 25,
 - (a) would result in double taxation of such income, the Federal Republic of Germany shall eliminate such double taxation by the granting of a credit in accordance with the principles contained in Article 23, paragraph 2, subparagraph (b);
 - (b) would result in an exemption or a relief of such income from Canadian tax and an exemption from German tax, the Federal Republic of Germany shall not grant, with respect to such income, an exemption within the meaning of Article 23, paragraph 2, subparagraph (a) but shall grant a credit in accordance with the principles contained in Article 23, paragraph 2, subparagraph (b).

- (bb) le taux calculé en fonction du montant d'impôt que le bénéficiaire du paiement devrait autrement verser pour l'année à l'égard du montant total des paiements périodiques de pensions qu'il a reçu au cours de l'année s'il était un résident du Canada;
- b) un impôt allemand ne sera prélevé sur les pensions provenant de sources situées en République fédérale d'Allemagne que si elles sont payées par la République fédérale d'Allemagne ou un « Land », ou l'une de leurs subdivisions politiques ou collectivités locales.
- 6. En ce qui concerne le paragraphe 2 de l'article 18, le taux de l'impôt établi par un État contractant sur les rentes provenant de sources situées dans cet État ne peut excéder 15 p. 100 de la fraction du paiement qui est assujettie à l'impôt. Toutefois, cette limitation ne s'applique pas aux paiements forfaitaires découlant de l'abandon, de l'annulation, du rachat, de la vente ou d'une autre forme d'aliénation de la rente, ou aux paiements de toute nature en vertu d'un contrat de rente à versements invariables dont le coût était déductible, en tout ou en partie, dans le calcul du revenu de toute personne ayant acquis ce contrat.
- 7. En ce qui concerne l'alinéa 3c) de l'article 18, l'autorité compétente d'un État contractant communique à l'autorité compétente de l'autre État contractant les modifications apportées au montant des prestations en vertu de la sécurité sociale qui est exclu du revenu imposable d'un résident du premier État qui reçoit de telles prestations.
- 8. En ce qui concerne l'alinéa *d*) du paragraphe 3 de l'article 18, pour déterminer le revenu imposable d'une personne physique qui est un résident de la République fédérale d'Allemagne, est imputé, à l'égard des pensions alimentaires ou d'allocations similaires payées à une personne physique qui est un résident du Canada, le montant qui serait imputé si la dernière personne physique était assujettie à l'impôt en République fédérale d'Allemagne.
- 9. En ce qui concerne le paragraphe 2 de l'article 23 et l'article 25, lorsqu'une différence existe dans la qualification ou l'attribution de revenus au Canada et en République fédérale d'Allemagne, différence qui n'est pas réglée en vertu d'une procédure amiable selon l'article 25.
 - a) résulterait en une double imposition de tels revenus, la République fédérale d'Allemagne élimine cette double imposition en accordant un crédit conformément aux principes énoncés à l'alinéa 2b) de l'article 23;
 - b) résulterait en une exonération ou un allégement de tels revenus de l'impôt canadien et en une exonération de l'impôt allemand, la République fédérale d'Allemagne n'accorde pas, à l'égard de tels revenus, une exonération au sens de l'alinéa 2a) de l'article 23 mais accorde un crédit conformément aux principes énoncés à l'alinéa 2b) de l'article 23.

- 10. With reference to Article 23 and Article 25, the Federal Republic of Germany shall avoid double taxation by a tax credit as provided for in Article 23, paragraph 2, subparagraph (*b*) and not by a tax exemption under Article 23, paragraph 2, subparagraph (*a*), if the Federal Republic of Germany has, after due consultation and subject to the limitations of its internal law, notified Canada through diplomatic channels of other items of income to which it intends to apply this paragraph. A notification made under this paragraph shall have effect from the day the notification is received.
- 11. With reference to Article 26, it is understood that if information is requested by a Contracting State in accordance with that Article, the other Contracting State shall endeavour to obtain the information to which the request relates in the same way as if its own taxation were involved notwithstanding the fact that the other State does not, at that time, need such information.

12. With reference to the Agreement,

- (a) if in the Federal Republic of Germany the taxes on dividends, interest, royalties or other items of income are levied on a resident of Canada by deduction at source, then the right of the Federal Republic of Germany to apply the deduction of tax at the rate provided for under its domestic law shall not be affected by the provisions of the Agreement; the tax so deducted at source shall be refunded upon application by the taxpayer to the extent that it is reduced or eliminated under the Agreement;
- (b) refund applications must be submitted by the end of the fourth year following the calendar year in which the tax that was deducted at source was assessed on the dividends, interest, royalties or other items of income; and
- (c) the Federal Republic of Germany may require an administrative certification by the competent authority of Canada that the taxpayer is a resident of Canada.

- 10. En ce qui concerne les articles 23 et 25, la République fédérale d'Allemagne évite la double imposition en accordant, selon l'alinéa 2b) de l'article 23, un crédit d'impôt et non pas une exemption en vertu de l'alinéa 2a) de l'article 23, si la République fédérale d'Allemagne a, après consultation appropriée sous réserve des restrictions de sa législation interne, avisé le Canada, par voie diplomatique, des autres éléments de revenu auxquels la République fédérale d'Allemagne désire que le présent paragraphe s'applique. Une notification faite en vertu du présent paragraphe prend effet le jour où la notification est reçue.
- 11. En ce qui concerne l'article 26, il est entendu que lorsqu'un État contractant demande des renseignements en conformité avec cet article, l'autre État contractant s'efforce d'obtenir les renseignements relatifs à cette demande de la même façon que si ses propres impôts étaient en jeu même si cet autre État n'a pas besoin, au même moment, de ces renseignements.
 - 12. En ce qui concerne le présent Accord,
 - a) lorsque dans la République fédérale d'Allemagne, son impôt sur les dividendes, intérêts, redevances ou autres éléments du revenu des personnes physiques est prélevé auprès d'un résident du Canada par déduction à la source, alors, les dispositions du présent Accord n'ont pas d'effet sur le droit de la République fédérale d'Allemagne d'appliquer la déduction d'impôt au taux en conformité avec son droit interne; l'impôt ainsi retenu à la source est remboursé sur demande du contribuable dans la mesure où cet impôt est réduit ou éliminé en vertu du présent Accord;
 - b) les demandes de remboursement doivent être présentées dans un délai de quatre ans à compter de l'année civile suivant l'année où l'impôt retenu à la source a été cotisé sur les dividendes, intérêts, redevances ou autres éléments du revenu; et
 - c) la République fédérale d'Allemagne peut demander un certificat administratif auprès de l'autorité compétente du Canada confirmant que le contribuable est un résident du Canada.

CHAPTER 31

CHAPITRE 31

AN ACT TO AMEND THE CARRIAGE BY AIR ACT

LOI MODIFIANT LA LOI SUR LE TRANSPORT AÉRIEN

SUMMARY

This enactment implements in Canada the Convention for the Unification of Certain Rules for International Carriage by Air signed at Montreal in 1999 (the "Montreal Convention"). The Montreal Convention consolidates and modernizes the rules of the Warsaw Convention and associated documents. It provides for unlimited liability for damages in the case of death or injury to passengers arising out of accidents during international air carriage, simplifies ticketing requirements, provides for electronic documentation and establishes a new jurisdiction that will allow most passengers to bring actions in the place of their domicile.

SOMMAIRE

Le texte met en oeuvre au Canada la Convention pour l'unification de certaines règles relatives au transport aérien international, signée à Montréal en 1999. Cette convention codifie et modernise les règles de la Convention de Varsovie et d'autres documents s'y rattachant. Elle prévoit une responsabilité illimitée à l'égard de tout dommage découlant du décès de passagers ou de blessures subies par eux à l'occasion d'un accident survenu au cours d'un transport aérien international. Elle simplifie les exigences en matière de billeterie, prévoit la documentation électronique et établit de nouvelles règles de compétence qui permettront à la plupart des passagers d'intenter une action dans le ressort où ils sont domiciliés.

49-50 ELIZABETH II

49-50 ELIZABETH II

CHAPTER 31

CHAPITRE 31

An Act to amend the Carriage by Air Act

Loi modifiant la Loi sur le transport aérien

[Assented to 18th December, 2001]

[Sanctionnée le 18 décembre 2001]

R.S., c. C-26

Her Majesty, by and with the advice and consent of the Senate and House of Commons of Canada, enacts as follows:

1. The long title of the Carriage by Air Act is replaced by the following:

An Act to give effect to certain conventions for the unification of certain rules relating to international carriage by air

2. (1) Section 2 of the Act is amended by adding the following after subsection (2):

Implementing Convention

(2.1) Subject to this section, the provisions of the Convention set out in Schedule VI, in so far as they relate to the rights and liabilities of carriers, carriers' servants and agents, passengers, consignors, consignees and other persons, have the force of law in Canada in relation to any carriage by air to which the provisions apply, irrespective of the nationality of the aircraft performing that carriage.

1999, c. 21, s. 2(1)

(2) Subsection 2(3) of the Act is replaced by the following:

(3) The Governor in Council may from time to time, by proclamation published in the Canada Gazette, certify who are the parties to any convention or protocol set out in a schedule to this Act, in respect of what territories they are respectively parties, to what extent they have availed themselves of the Additional Protocol to the Convention set out in Schedule I, which of those parties have made a declaration under the Protocol set out

in Schedule III or IV and which of those

Sa Majesté, sur l'avis et avec le consentement du Sénat et de la Chambre des communes du Canada, édicte :

1. Le titre intégral de la Loi sur le transport aérien est remplacé par ce qui

Loi visant à donner suite à certaines conventions pour l'unification certaines règles relatives au transport aérien international

2. (1) L'article 2 de la même loi est modifié par adjonction, après le paragraphe (2), de ce qui suit :

(2.1) Sous réserve des autres dispositions du présent article, les dispositions de la convention figurant à l'annexe VI, dans la mesure où elles se rapportent aux droits et responsabilités des personnes concernées par le transport aérien — notamment les transporteurs et leurs préposés, les voyageurs, les consignateurs et les consignataires --, ont force de loi au Canada relativement au transport aérien visé par ces dispositions, indépendamment de la nationalité de l'aéronef en cause.

(2) Le paragraphe 2(3) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

(3) Le gouverneur en conseil peut, par par le proclamation publiée dans la Gazette du en conseil Canada, attester l'identité des parties à une convention ou un protocole figurant en annexe

mesure dans laquelle elles se sont prévalues des dispositions du protocole additionnel de la convention figurant à l'annexe I, ainsi que l'identité des parties qui ont fait une déclaration en vertu du protocole figurant aux

de la présente loi, les territoires à l'égard

desquels elles sont respectivement parties, la

L.R., ch. C-26

Mise en oeuvre de la

1999, ch. 21, par. 2(1)

Proclamation gouverneur

Proclamation by Governor in Council

parties have made a declaration under the Convention set out in Schedule VI.

annexes III ou IV ou en vertu de la convention figurant à l'annexe VI.

(3) Subsection 2(5) of the Act is replaced by the following:

Liability under Convention for death of passenger

(5) Any liability imposed by Article 17 of Schedule I or Article 17 of Schedule VI on a carrier in respect of the death of a passenger shall be in substitution for any liability of the carrier in respect of the death of that passenger under any law in force in Canada, and the provisions set out in Schedule II shall have effect with respect to the persons by whom and for whose benefit the liability so imposed is enforceable and with respect to the manner in which it may be enforced.

1999, c. 21, s. 3

3. Section 3 of the Act is renumbered as subsection 3(1) and is amended by adding the following:

Jurisdiction of Canadian courts (2) Except to the extent of a declaration made by a party under the Convention set out in Schedule VI, every party to that Convention is, for the purposes of any action brought in a court in Canada in accordance with the provisions of Article 33 of that Schedule to enforce a claim in respect of carriage undertaken by it, deemed to have explicitly submitted to the jurisdiction of that court under paragraph 4(2)(a) of the State Immunity Act.

1999, c. 21, s. 3

4. Section 4 of the Act is replaced by the following:

Orders and regulations

- **4.** The Governor in Council may make orders or regulations applying the provisions of Schedule I, V or VI and any provision of section 2 to any carriage by air, not being international carriage as defined in Schedule I, that may be specified in the order or regulations, subject to any exceptions, adaptations and modifications so specified.
- 5. The Act is amended by adding, after Schedule V, the schedule set out in the schedule to this Act.

Coming into force

6. This Act comes into force on a day to be fixed by order of the Governor in Council.

(3) Le paragraphe 2(5) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

(5) L'article 17 de l'annexe I et l'article 17 de l'annexe VI, qui fixent la responsabilité d'un transporteur en cas de décès d'un passager, se substituent aux règles de droit pertinentes en vigueur au Canada. Les dispositions énoncées à l'annexe II sont exécutoires en ce qui concerne tant les personnes par qui et pour le compte desquelles réparation peut être obtenue au titre de la responsabilité ainsi imposée que les modalités de mise en oeuvre de celle-ci.

Responsabilité en cas de décès d'un passager

3. L'article 3 de la même loi devient le paragraphe 3(1) et est modifié par adjonction de ce qui suit :

1999, ch. 21, art. 3

(2) Sous réserve de toute déclaration faite au titre de la convention figurant à l'annexe VI, les parties à cette convention sont, dans le cadre des actions en recouvrement relatives au transport entrepris par elles et intentées devant un tribunal canadien conformément à l'article 33 de l'annexe VI, réputées se soumettre de manière expresse à sa compétence aux termes de l'alinéa 4(2)a) de la Loi sur l'immunité des États.

Compétence des tribunaux canadiens

4. L'article 4 de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

1999, ch. 21, art. 3

Décrets et

règlements

- **4.** Le gouverneur en conseil peut prendre des décrets et des règlements en vue de l'application des dispositions des annexes I, V et VI et de l'article 2 au transport aérien à l'exclusion du transport international au sens de l'annexe I qu'il y désigne, sous réserve des exceptions, adaptations et modifications éventuellement prévues par ces décrets ou règlements.
- 5. La même loi est modifiée par adjonction, après l'annexe V, de l'annexe figurant à l'annexe de la présente loi.
- 6. La présente loi entre en vigueur à la date fixée par décret.

Entrée en vigueur

SCHEDULE (Section 5)

ANNEXE (article 5)

SCHEDULE VI

(*Subsections* 2(2.1), (3) and (5) and 3(2) and section 4)

(paragraphes 2(2.1), (3) et (5) et 3(2) et article 4) CONVENTION POUR L'UNIFICATION DE CERTAINES RÈGLES RELATIVES AU TRANSPORT AÉRIEN

INTERNATIONAL

ANNEXE VI

CONVENTION FOR THE UNIFICATION OF CERTAIN RULES FOR INTERNATIONAL CARRIAGE BY AIR

THE STATES PARTIES TO THIS CONVENTION

RECOGNIZING the significant contribution of the Convention for the Unification of Certain Rules Relating to International Carriage by Air signed in Warsaw on 12 October 1929, hereinafter referred to as the "Warsaw Convention", and other related instruments to the harmonization of private international air law;

RECOGNIZING the need to modernize and consolidate the Warsaw Convention and related instruments;

RECOGNIZING the importance of ensuring protection of the interests of consumers in international carriage by air and the need for equitable compensation based on the principle of restitution;

REAFFIRMING the desirability of an orderly development of international air transport operations and the smooth flow of passengers, baggage and cargo in accordance with the principles and objectives of the Convention on International Civil Aviation, done at Chicago on 7 December 1944;

CONVINCED that collective State action for further harmonization and codification of certain rules governing international carriage by air through a new Convention is the most adequate means of achieving an equitable balance of interests;

HAVE AGREED AS FOLLOWS:

Chapter I

General Provisions

$Article \ I-Scope \ of \ Application$

1. This Convention applies to all international carriage of persons, baggage or cargo performed by aircraft for reward. It applies equally to gratuitous carriage by aircraft performed by an air transport undertaking.

RECONNAISSANT l'importante contribution de la Convention pour l'unification de certaines règles relatives au transport aérien international, signée à Varsovie le 12 octobre 1929, ci-après appelée la « Convention de Varsovie » et celle d'autres instruments connexes à l'harmonisation du droit aérien international privé,

RECONNAISSANT la nécessité de moderniser et de refondre la Convention de Varsovie et les instruments connexes,

RECONNAISSANT l'importance d'assurer la protection des intérêts des consommateurs dans le transport aérien international et la nécessité d'une indemnisation équitable fondée sur le principe de réparation,

RÉAFFIRMANT l'intérêt d'assurer le développement d'une exploitation ordonnée du transport aérien international et un acheminement sans heurt des passagers, des bagages et des marchandises, conformément aux principes et aux objectifs de la Convention relative à l'aviation civile internationale faite à Chicago le 7 décembre 1944,

CONVAINCUS que l'adoption de mesures collectives par les États en vue d'harmoniser davantage et de codifier certaines règles régissant le transport aérien international est le meilleur moyen de réaliser un équilibre équitable des intérêts,

LES ÉTATS PARTIES À LA PRÉSENTE CONVENTION SONT CONVENUS DE CE QUI SUIT:

Chapitre I

Généralités

Article 1 — Champ d'application

1. La présente convention s'applique à tout transport international de personnes, bagages ou marchandises, effectué par aéronef contre rémunération. Elle s'applique également aux transports gratuits effectués par aéronef par une entreprise de transport aérien.

- 2. For the purposes of this Convention, the expression international carriage means any carriage in which, according to the agreement between the parties, the place of departure and the place of destination, whether or not there be a break in the carriage or a transhipment, are situated either within the territories of two States Parties, or within the territory of a single State Party if there is an agreed stopping place within the territory of another State, even if that State is not a State Party. Carriage between two points within the territory of a single State Party without an agreed stopping place within the territory of another State is not international carriage for the purposes of this Convention.
- 3. Carriage to be performed by several successive carriers is deemed, for the purposes of this Convention, to be one undivided carriage if it has been regarded by the parties as a single operation, whether it had been agreed upon under the form of a single contract or of a series of contracts, and it does not lose its international character merely because one contract or a series of contracts is to be performed entirely within the territory of the same State.
- 4. This Convention applies also to carriage as set out in Chapter V, subject to the terms contained therein.

Article 2 — Carriage Performed by State and Carriage of Postal Items

- 1. This Convention applies to carriage performed by the State or by legally constituted public bodies provided it falls within the conditions laid down in Article 1.
- 2. In the carriage of postal items, the carrier shall be liable only to the relevant postal administration in accordance with the rules applicable to the relationship between the carriers and the postal administrations.
- 3. Except as provided in paragraph 2 of this Article, the provisions of this Convention shall not apply to the carriage of postal items.

Chapter II

Documentation and Duties of the Parties Relating to the Carriage of Passengers, Baggage and Cargo

Article 3 — Passengers and Baggage

- 1. In respect of carriage of passengers, an individual or collective document of carriage shall be delivered containing:
 - (a) an indication of the places of departure and destination;
 - (b) if the places of departure and destination are within the territory of a single State Party, one or more agreed stopping places being within the territory of another State, an indication of at least one such stopping place.

- 2. Au sens de la présente convention, l'expression *transport international* s'entend de tout transport dans lequel, d'après les stipulations des parties, le point de départ et le point de destination, qu'il y ait ou non interruption de transport ou transbordement, sont situés soit sur le territoire de deux États parties, soit sur le territoire d'un seul État partie si une escale est prévue sur le territoire d'un autre État, même si cet État n'est pas un État partie. Le transport sans une telle escale entre deux points du territoire d'un seul État partie n'est pas considéré comme international au sens de la présente convention.
- 3. Le transport à exécuter par plusieurs transporteurs successifs est censé constituer pour l'application de la présente convention un transport unique lorsqu'il a été envisagé par les parties comme une seule opération, qu'il ait été conclu sous la forme d'un seul contrat ou d'une série de contrats, et il ne perd pas son caractère international par le fait qu'un seul contrat ou une série de contrats doivent être exécutés intégralement dans le territoire d'un même État.
- 4. La présente convention s'applique aussi aux transports visés au Chapitre V, sous réserve des dispositions dudit chapitre.

Article 2 — Transport effectué par l'État et transport d'envois postaux

- 1. La présente convention s'applique aux transports effectués par l'État ou les autres personnes juridiques de droit public, dans les conditions prévues à l'article 1.
- 2. Dans le transport des envois postaux, le transporteur n'est responsable qu'envers l'administration postale compétente conformément aux règles applicables dans les rapports entre les transporteurs et les administrations postales.
- 3. Les dispositions de la présente convention autres que celles du paragraphe 2 ci-dessus ne s'appliquent pas au transport des envois postaux.

Chapitre II

Documents et obligations des Parties relatifs au transport des passagers, des bagages et des marchandises

- 1. Dans le transport des passagers, un titre de transport individuel ou collectif doit être délivré, contenant :
 - a) l'indication des points de départ et de destination;
 - b) si les points de départ et de destination sont situés sur le territoire d'un même État partie et si une ou plusieurs escales sont prévues sur le territoire d'un autre État, l'indication d'une de ces escales.

- 2. Any other means which preserves the information indicated in paragraph 1 may be substituted for the delivery of the document referred to in that paragraph. If any such other means is used, the carrier shall offer to deliver to the passenger a written statement of the information so preserved.
- 3. The carrier shall deliver to the passenger a baggage identification tag for each piece of checked baggage.
- 4. The passenger shall be given written notice to the effect that where this Convention is applicable it governs and may limit the liability of carriers in respect of death or injury and for destruction or loss of, or damage to, baggage, and for delay.
- 5. Non-compliance with the provisions of the foregoing paragraphs shall not affect the existence or the validity of the contract of carriage, which shall, nonetheless, be subject to the rules of this Convention including those relating to limitation of liability.

Article 4 — Cargo

- 1. In respect of the carriage of cargo, an air waybill shall be delivered.
- 2. Any other means which preserves a record of the carriage to be performed may be substituted for the delivery of an air waybill. If such other means are used, the carrier shall, if so requested by the consignor, deliver to the consignor a cargo receipt permitting identification of the consignment and access to the information contained in the record preserved by such other means.

Article 5 — Contents of Air Waybill or Cargo Receipt

The air waybill or the cargo receipt shall include:

- (a) an indication of the places of departure and destination;
- (b) if the places of departure and destination are within the territory of a single State Party, one or more agreed stopping places being within the territory of another State, an indication of at least one such stopping place; and
- (c) an indication of the weight of the consignment.

Article 6 — Document Relating to the Nature of the Cargo

The consignor may be required, if necessary to meet the formalities of customs, police and similar public authorities, to deliver a document indicating the nature of the cargo. This provision creates for the carrier no duty, obligation or liability resulting therefrom.

Article 7 — Description of Air Waybill

1. The air waybill shall be made out by the consignor in three original parts.

- 2. L'emploi de tout autre moyen constatant les indications qui figurent au paragraphe 1 peut se substituer à la délivrance du titre de transport mentionné dans ce paragraphe. Si un tel autre moyen est utilisé, le transporteur offrira de délivrer au passager un document écrit constatant les indications qui y sont consignées.
- 3. Le transporteur délivrera au passager une fiche d'identification pour chaque article de bagage enregistré.
- 4. Il sera donné au passager un avis écrit indiquant que, lorsque la présente convention s'applique, elle régit la responsabilité des transporteurs en cas de mort ou de lésion ainsi qu'en cas de destruction, de perte ou d'avarie des bagages, ou de retard.
- 5. L'inobservation des dispositions des paragraphes précédents n'affecte ni l'existence ni la validité du contrat de transport, qui n'en sera pas moins soumis aux règles de la présente convention, y compris celles qui portent sur la limitation de la responsabilité.

Article 4 — Marchandises

- 1. Pour le transport de marchandises, une lettre de transport aérien est émise.
- 2. L'emploi de tout autre moyen constatant les indications relatives au transport à exécuter peut se substituer à l'émission de la lettre de transport aérien. Si de tels autres moyens sont utilisés, le transporteur délivre à l'expéditeur, à la demande de ce dernier, un récépissé de marchandises permettant l'identification de l'expédition et l'accès aux indications enregistrées par ces autres moyens.

Article 5 — Contenu de la lettre de transport aérien ou du récépissé de marchandises

La lettre de transport aérien ou le récépissé de marchandises contiennent :

- a) l'indication des points de départ et de destination;
- b) si les points de départ et de destination sont situés sur le territoire d'un même État partie et qu'une ou plusieurs escales sont prévues sur le territoire d'un autre État, l'indication d'une de ces escales;
- c) la mention du poids de l'expédition.

Article 6 — Document relatif à la nature de la marchandise

L'expéditeur peut être tenu pour accomplir les formalités nécessaires de douane, de police et d'autres autorités publiques d'émettre un document indiquant la nature de la marchandise. Cette disposition ne crée pour le transporteur aucun devoir, obligation ni responsabilité.

Article 7 — Description de la lettre de transport aérien

1. La lettre de transport aérien est établie par l'expéditeur en trois exemplaires originaux.

- 2. The first part shall be marked "for the carrier"; it shall be signed by the consignor. The second part shall be marked "for the consignee"; it shall be signed by the consignor and by the carrier. The third part shall be signed by the carrier who shall hand it to the consignor after the cargo has been accepted.
- 3. The signature of the carrier and that of the consignor may be printed or stamped.
- 4. If, at the request of the consignor, the carrier makes out the air waybill, the carrier shall be deemed, subject to proof to the contrary, to have done so on behalf of the consignor.

Article 8 — Documentation for Multiple Packages

When there is more than one package:

- (a) the carrier of cargo has the right to require the consignor to make out separate air waybills;
- (b) the consignor has the right to require the carrier to deliver separate cargo receipts when the other means referred to in paragraph 2 of Article 4 are used.

Article 9 — Non-compliance with Documentary Requirements

Non-compliance with the provisions of Articles 4 to 8 shall not affect the existence or the validity of the contract of carriage, which shall, nonetheless, be subject to the rules of this Convention including those relating to limitation of liability.

Article 10 — Responsibility for Particulars of Documentation

- 1. The consignor is responsible for the correctness of the particulars and statements relating to the cargo inserted by it or on its behalf in the air waybill or furnished by it or on its behalf to the carrier for insertion in the cargo receipt or for insertion in the record preserved by the other means referred to in paragraph 2 of Article 4. The foregoing shall also apply where the person acting on behalf of the consignor is also the agent of the carrier.
- 2. The consignor shall indemnify the carrier against all damage suffered by it, or by any other person to whom the carrier is liable, by reason of the irregularity, incorrectness or incompleteness of the particulars and statements furnished by the consignor or on its behalf.
- 3. Subject to the provisions of paragraphs 1 and 2 of this Article, the carrier shall indemnify the consignor against all damage suffered by it, or by any other person to whom the consignor is liable, by reason of the irregularity, incorrectness or incompleteness of the particulars and statements inserted by the carrier or on its behalf in the cargo receipt or in the record preserved by the other means referred to in paragraph 2 of Article 4.

- 2. Le premier exemplaire porte la mention « pour le transporteur »; il est signé par l'expéditeur. Le deuxième exemplaire porte la mention « pour le destinataire »; il est signé par l'expéditeur et le transporteur. Le troisième exemplaire est signé par le transporteur et remis par lui à l'expéditeur après acceptation de la marchandise.
- 3. La signature du transporteur et celle de l'expéditeur peuvent être imprimées ou remplacées par un timbre.
- 4. Si, à la demande de l'expéditeur, le transporteur établit la lettre de transport aérien, ce dernier est considéré, jusqu'à preuve du contraire, comme agissant au nom de l'expéditeur.

Article 8 — Documents relatifs à plusieurs colis

Lorsqu'il y a plusieurs colis :

- a) le transporteur de marchandises a le droit de demander à l'expéditeur l'établissement de lettres de transport aérien distinctes;
- b) l'expéditeur a le droit de demander au transporteur la remise de récépissés de marchandises distincts, lorsque les autres moyens visés au paragraphe 2 de l'article 4 sont utilisés.

Article 9 — Inobservation des dispositions relatives aux documents obligatoires

L'inobservation des dispositions des articles 4 à 8 n'affecte ni l'existence ni la validité du contrat de transport, qui n'en sera pas moins soumis aux règles de la présente convention, y compris celles qui portent sur la limitation de responsabilité.

Article 10 — Responsabilité pour les indications portées dans les documents

- 1. L'expéditeur est responsable de l'exactitude des indications et déclarations concernant la marchandise inscrites par lui ou en son nom dans la lettre de transport aérien, ainsi que de celles fournies et faites par lui ou en son nom au transporteur en vue d'être insérées dans le récépissé de marchandises ou pour insertion dans les données enregistrées par les autres moyens prévus au paragraphe 2 de l'article 4. Ces dispositions s'appliquent aussi au cas où la personne agissant au nom de l'expéditeur est également l'agent du transporteur.
- 2. L'expéditeur assume la responsabilité de tout dommage subi par le transporteur ou par toute autre personne à l'égard de laquelle la responsabilité du transporteur est engagée, en raison d'indications et de déclarations irrégulières, inexactes ou incomplètes fournies et faites par lui ou en son nom.
- 3. Sous réserve des dispositions des paragraphes 1 et 2 du présent article, le transporteur assume la responsabilité de tout dommage subi par l'expéditeur ou par toute autre personne à l'égard de laquelle la responsabilité de l'expéditeur est engagée, en raison d'indications et de déclarations irrégulières, inexactes ou incomplètes insérées par lui ou en son nom dans le récépissé de marchandises ou dans les données enregistrées par les autres moyens prévus au paragraphe 2 de l'article 4.

Article 11 — Evidentiary Value of Documentation

- 1. The air waybill or the cargo receipt is *prima facie* evidence of the conclusion of the contract, of the acceptance of the cargo and of the conditions of carriage mentioned therein.
- 2. Any statements in the air waybill or the cargo receipt relating to the weight, dimensions and packing of the cargo, as well as those relating to the number of packages, are prima facie evidence of the facts stated; those relating to the quantity, volume and condition of the cargo do not constitute evidence against the carrier except so far as they both have been, and are stated in the air waybill or the cargo receipt to have been, checked by it in the presence of the consignor, or relate to the apparent condition of the cargo.

Article 12 — Right of Disposition of Cargo

- 1. Subject to its liability to carry out all its obligations under the contract of carriage, the consignor has the right to dispose of the cargo by withdrawing it at the airport of departure or destination, or by stopping it in the course of the journey on any landing, or by calling for it to be delivered at the place of destination or in the course of the journey to a person other than the consignee originally designated, or by requiring it to be returned to the airport of departure. The consignor must not exercise this right of disposition in such a way as to prejudice the carrier or other consignors and must reimburse any expenses occasioned by the exercise of this right.
- 2. If it is impossible to carry out the instructions of the consignor, the carrier must so inform the consignor forthwith.
- 3. If the carrier carries out the instructions of the consignor for the disposition of the cargo without requiring the production of the part of the air waybill or the cargo receipt delivered to the latter, the carrier will be liable, without prejudice to its right of recovery from the consignor, for any damage which may be caused thereby to any person who is lawfully in possession of that part of the air waybill or the cargo receipt.
- 4. The right conferred on the consignor ceases at the moment when that of the consignee begins in accordance with Article 13. Nevertheless, if the consignee declines to accept the cargo, or cannot be communicated with, the consignor resumes its right of disposition.

Article 13 — Delivery of the Cargo

- 1. Except when the consignor has exercised its right under Article 12, the consignee is entitled, on arrival of the cargo at the place of destination, to require the carrier to deliver the cargo to it, on payment of the charges due and on complying with the conditions of carriage.
- 2. Unless it is otherwise agreed, it is the duty of the carrier to give notice to the consignee as soon as the cargo arrives.

Article 11 — Valeur probante des documents

- La lettre de transport aérien et le récépissé de marchandises font foi, jusqu'à preuve du contraire, de la conclusion du contrat, de la réception de la marchandise et des conditions du transport qui y figurent.
- 2. Les énonciations de la lettre de transport aérien et du récépissé de marchandises, relatives au poids, aux dimensions et à l'emballage de la marchandise ainsi qu'au nombre des colis, font foi jusqu'à preuve du contraire; celles relatives à la quantité, au volume et à l'état de la marchandise ne font preuve contre le transporteur que si la vérification en a été faite par lui en présence de l'expéditeur, et constatée sur la lettre de transport aérien, ou s'il s'agit d'énonciations relatives à l'état apparent de la marchandise.

Article 12 — Droit de disposer de la marchandise

- 1. L'expéditeur a le droit, à la condition d'exécuter toutes les obligations résultant du contrat de transport, de disposer de la marchandise, soit en la retirant à l'aéroport de départ ou de destination, soit en l'arrêtant en cours de route lors d'un atterrissage, soit en la faisant livrer au lieu de destination ou en cours de route à une personne autre que le destinataire initialement désigné, soit en demandant son retour à l'aéroport de départ, pour autant que l'exercice de ce droit ne porte préjudice ni au transporteur, ni aux autres expéditeurs et avec l'obligation de rembourser les frais qui en résultent.
- 2. Dans le cas où l'exécution des instructions de l'expéditeur est impossible, le transporteur doit l'en aviser immédiatement.
- 3. Si le transporteur exécute les instructions de disposition de l'expéditeur, sans exiger la production de l'exemplaire de la lettre de transport aérien ou du récépissé de la marchandise délivré à celui-ci, il sera responsable, sauf son recours contre l'expéditeur, du préjudice qui pourra être causé par ce fait à celui qui est régulièrement en possession de la lettre de transport aérien ou du récépissé de la marchandise.
- 4. Le droit de l'expéditeur cesse au moment où celui du destinataire commence, conformément à l'article 13. Toutefois, si le destinataire refuse la marchandise, ou s'il ne peut être joint, l'expéditeur reprend son droit de disposition.

Article 13 — Livraison de la marchandise

- 1. Sauf lorsque l'expéditeur a exercé le droit qu'il tient de l'article 12, le destinataire a le droit, dès l'arrivée de la marchandise au point de destination, de demander au transporteur de lui livrer la marchandise contre le paiement du montant des créances et contre l'exécution des conditions de transport.
- 2. Sauf stipulation contraire, le transporteur doit aviser le destinataire dès l'arrivée de la marchandise.

8 C.

3. If the carrier admits the loss of the cargo, or if the cargo has not arrived at the expiration of seven days after the date on which it ought to have arrived, the consignee is entitled to enforce against the carrier the rights which flow from the contract of carriage.

Article 14 — Enforcement of the Rights of Consignor and Consignee

The consignor and the consignee can respectively enforce all the rights given to them by Articles 12 and 13, each in its own name, whether it is acting in its own interest or in the interest of another, provided that it carries out the obligations imposed by the contract of carriage.

Article 15 — Relations of Consignor and Consignee or Mutual Relations of Third Parties

- 1. Articles 12, 13 and 14 do not affect either the relations of the consignor and the consignee with each other or the mutual relations of third parties whose rights are derived either from the consignor or from the consignee.
- 2. The provisions of Articles 12, 13 and 14 can only be varied by express provision in the air waybill or the cargo receipt.

Article 16 — Formalities of Customs, Police or Other Public Authorities

- 1. The consignor must furnish such information and such documents as are necessary to meet the formalities of customs, police and any other public authorities before the cargo can be delivered to the consignee. The consignor is liable to the carrier for any damage occasioned by the absence, insufficiency or irregularity of any such information or documents, unless the damage is due to the fault of the carrier, its servants or agents.
- 2. The carrier is under no obligation to enquire into the correctness or sufficiency of such information or documents.

Chapter III

Liability of the Carrier and Extent of Compensation for Damage

Article 17 — Death and Injury of Passengers — Damage to Baggage

1. The carrier is liable for damage sustained in case of death or bodily injury of a passenger upon condition only that the accident which caused the death or injury took place on board the aircraft or in the course of any of the operations of embarking or disembarking.

3. Si la perte de la marchandise est reconnue par le transporteur ou si, à l'expiration d'un délai de sept jours après qu'elle aurait dû arriver, la marchandise n'est pas arrivée, le destinataire est autorisé à faire valoir vis-à-vis du transporteur les droits résultant du contrat de transport.

Article 14 — Possibilité de faire valoir les droits de l'expéditeur et du destinataire

L'expéditeur et le destinataire peuvent faire valoir tous les droits qui leur sont respectivement conférés par les articles 12 et 13, chacun en son nom propre, qu'il agisse dans son propre intérêt ou dans l'intérêt d'autrui, à condition d'exécuter les obligations que le contrat de transport impose.

Article 15 — Rapports entre l'expéditeur et le destinataire ou rapports entre les tierces parties

- 1. Les articles 12, 13 et 14 ne portent préjudice ni aux rapports entre l'expéditeur et le destinataire, ni aux rapports mutuels des tierces parties dont les droits proviennent de l'expéditeur ou du destinataire.
- 2. Toute clause dérogeant aux dispositions des articles 12, 13 et 14 doit être inscrite dans la lettre de transport aérien ou dans le récépissé de marchandises.

Article 16 — Formalités de douane, de police ou d'autres autorités publiques

- 1. L'expéditeur est tenu de fournir les renseignements et les documents qui, avant la remise de la marchandise au destinataire, sont nécessaires à l'accomplissement des formalités de douane, de police ou d'autres autorités publiques. L'expéditeur est responsable envers le transporteur de tous dommages qui pourraient résulter de l'absence, de l'insuffisance ou de l'irrégularité de ces renseignements et pièces, sauf le cas de faute de la part du transporteur ou de ses préposés ou mandataires.
- 2. Le transporteur n'est pas tenu d'examiner si ces renseignements et documents sont exacts ou suffisants.

Chapitre III

Responsabilité du transporteur et étendue de l'indemnisation du préjudice

Article 17 — Mort ou lésion subie par le passager — Dommage causé aux bagages

1. Le transporteur est responsable du préjudice survenu en cas de mort ou de lésion corporelle subie par un passager, par cela seul que l'accident qui a causé la mort ou la lésion s'est produit à bord de l'aéronef ou au cours de toutes opérations d'embarquement ou de débarquement.

- 2. The carrier is liable for damage sustained in case of destruction or loss of, or of damage to, checked baggage upon condition only that the event which caused the destruction, loss or damage took place on board the aircraft or during any period within which the checked baggage was in the charge of the carrier. However, the carrier is not liable if and to the extent that the damage resulted from the inherent defect, quality or vice of the baggage. In the case of unchecked baggage, including personal items, the carrier is liable if the damage resulted from its fault or that of its servants or agents.
- 3. If the carrier admits the loss of the checked baggage, or if the checked baggage has not arrived at the expiration of twenty-one days after the date on which it ought to have arrived, the passenger is entitled to enforce against the carrier the rights which flow from the contract of carriage.
- 4. Unless otherwise specified, in this Convention the term "baggage" means both checked baggage and unchecked baggage.

Article 18 — Damage to Cargo

- 1. The carrier is liable for damage sustained in the event of the destruction or loss of, or damage to, cargo upon condition only that the event which caused the damage so sustained took place during the carriage by air.
- 2. However, the carrier is not liable if and to the extent it proves that the destruction, or loss of, or damage to, the cargo resulted from one or more of the following:
 - (a) inherent defect, quality or vice of that cargo;
 - (b) defective packing of that cargo performed by a person other than the carrier or its servants or agents;
 - (c) an act of war or an armed conflict;
 - (d) an act of public authority carried out in connection with the entry, exit or transit of the cargo.
- 3. The carriage by air within the meaning of paragraph 1 of this Article comprises the period during which the cargo is in the charge of the carrier.
- 4. The period of the carriage by air does not extend to any carriage by land, by sea or by inland waterway performed outside an airport. If, however, such carriage takes place in the performance of a contract for carriage by air, for the purpose of loading, delivery or transhipment, any damage is presumed, subject to proof to the contrary, to have been the result of an event which took place during the carriage by air. If a carrier, without the consent of the consignor, substitutes carriage by another mode of transport for the whole or part of a carriage intended by the agreement between the parties to be carriage by air, such carriage by another mode of transport is deemed to be within the period of carriage by air.

- 2. Le transporteur est responsable du dommage survenu en cas de destruction, perte ou avarie de bagages enregistrés, par cela seul que le fait qui a causé la destruction, la perte ou l'avarie s'est produit à bord de l'aéronef ou au cours de toute période durant laquelle le transporteur avait la garde des bagages enregistrés. Toutefois, le transporteur n'est pas responsable si et dans la mesure où le dommage résulte de la nature ou du vice propre des bagages. Dans le cas des bagages non enregistrés, notamment des effets personnels, le transporteur est responsable si le dommage résulte de sa faute ou de celle de ses préposés ou mandataires.
- 3. Si le transporteur admet la perte des bagages enregistrés ou si les bagages enregistrés ne sont pas arrivés à destination dans les vingt et un jours qui suivent la date à laquelle ils auraient dû arriver, le passager est autorisé à faire valoir contre le transporteur les droits qui découlent du contrat de transport.
- 4. Sous réserve de dispositions contraires, dans la présente convention le terme « bagages » désigne les bagages enregistrés aussi bien que les bagages non enregistrés.

Article 18 — Dommage causé à la marchandise

- Le transporteur est responsable du dommage survenu en cas de destruction, perte ou avarie de la marchandise par cela seul que le fait qui a causé le dommage s'est produit pendant le transport aérien.
- 2. Toutefois, le transporteur n'est pas responsable s'il établit, et dans la mesure où il établit, que la destruction, la perte ou l'avarie de la marchandise résulte de l'un ou de plusieurs des faits suivants :
 - a) la nature ou le vice propre de la marchandise;
 - b) l'emballage défectueux de la marchandise par une personne autre que le transporteur ou ses préposés ou mandataires;
 - c) un fait de guerre ou un conflit armé;
 - d) un acte de l'autorité publique accompli en relation avec l'entrée, la sortie ou le transit de la marchandise.
- 3. Le transport aérien, au sens du paragraphe 1 du présent article, comprend la période pendant laquelle la marchandise se trouve sous la garde du transporteur.
- 4. La période du transport aérien ne couvre aucun transport terrestre, maritime ou par voie d'eau intérieure effectué en dehors d'un aéroport. Toutefois, lorsqu'un tel transport est effectué dans l'exécution du contrat de transport aérien en vue du chargement, de la livraison ou du transbordement, tout dommage est présumé, sauf preuve du contraire, résulter d'un fait survenu pendant le transport aérien. Si, sans le consentement de l'expéditeur, le transporteur remplace en totalité ou en partie le transport convenu dans l'entente conclue entre les parties comme étant le transport par voie aérienne, par un autre mode de transport, ce transport par un autre mode sera considéré comme faisant partie de la période du transport aérien.

Article 19 — Delay

The carrier is liable for damage occasioned by delay in the carriage by air of passengers, baggage or cargo. Nevertheless, the carrier shall not be liable for damage occasioned by delay if it proves that it and its servants and agents took all measures that could reasonably be required to avoid the damage or that it was impossible for it or them to take such measures.

Article 20 — Exoneration

If the carrier proves that the damage was caused or contributed to by the negligence or other wrongful act or omission of the person claiming compensation, or the person from whom he or she derives his or her rights, the carrier shall be wholly or partly exonerated from its liability to the claimant to the extent that such negligence or wrongful act or omission caused or contributed to the damage. When by reason of death or injury of a passenger compensation is claimed by a person other than the passenger, the carrier shall likewise be wholly or partly exonerated from its liability to the extent that it proves that the damage was caused or contributed to by the negligence or other wrongful act or omission of that passenger. This Article applies to all the liability provisions in this Convention, including paragraph 1 of Article 21.

Article 21 — Compensation in Case of Death or Injury of Passengers

- 1. For damages arising under paragraph 1 of Article 17 not exceeding 100 000 Special Drawing Rights for each passenger, the carrier shall not be able to exclude or limit its liability.
- 2. The carrier shall not be liable for damages arising under paragraph 1 of Article 17 to the extent that they exceed for each passenger 100 000 Special Drawing Rights if the carrier proves that:
 - (a) such damage was not due to the negligence or other wrongful act or omission of the carrier or its servants or agents; or
 - (b) such damage was solely due to the negligence or other wrongful act or omission of a third party.

Article 22 — Limits of Liability in Relation to Delay, Baggage and Cargo

1. In the case of damage caused by delay as specified in Article 19 in the carriage of persons, the liability of the carrier for each passenger is limited to 4 150 Special Drawing Rights.

Article 19 — Retard

Le transporteur est responsable du dommage résultant d'un retard dans le transport aérien de passagers, de bagages ou de marchandises. Cependant, le transporteur n'est pas responsable du dommage causé par un retard s'il prouve que lui, ses préposés et mandataires ont pris toutes les mesures qui pouvaient raisonnablement s'imposer pour éviter le dommage, ou qu'il leur était impossible de les prendre.

Article 20 — Exonération

Dans le cas où il fait la preuve que la négligence ou un autre acte ou omission préjudiciable de la personne qui demande réparation ou de la personne dont elle tient ses droits a causé le dommage ou y a contribué, le transporteur est exonéré en tout ou en partie de sa responsabilité à l'égard de cette personne, dans la mesure où cette négligence ou cet autre acte ou omission préjudiciable a causé le dommage ou y a contribué. Lorsqu'une demande en réparation est introduite par une personne autre que le passager, en raison de la mort ou d'une lésion subie par ce dernier, le transporteur est également exonéré en tout ou en partie de sa responsabilité dans la mesure où il prouve que la négligence ou un autre acte ou omission préjudiciable de ce passager a causé le dommage ou y a contribué. Le présent article s'applique à toutes les dispositions de la convention en matière de responsabilité, y compris le paragraphe 1 de l'article 21.

Article 21 — Indemnisation en cas de mort ou de lésion subie par le passager

- 1. Pour les dommages visés au paragraphe 1 de l'article 17 et ne dépassant pas 100 000 droits de tirage spéciaux par passager, le transporteur ne peut exclure ou limiter sa responsabilité.
- 2. Le transporteur n'est pas responsable des dommages visés au paragraphe 1 de l'article 17 dans la mesure où ils dépassent 100 000 droits de tirage spéciaux par passager, s'il prouve :
 - a) que le dommage n'est pas dû à la négligence ou à un autre acte ou omission préjudiciable du transporteur, de ses préposés ou de ses mandataires, ou
 - b) que ces dommages résultent uniquement de la négligence ou d'un autre acte ou omission préjudiciable d'un tiers.

Article 22 — Limites de responsabilité relatives aux retards, aux bagages et aux marchandises

1. En cas de dommage subi par des passagers résultant d'un retard, aux termes de l'article 19, la responsabilité du transporteur est limitée à la somme de 4 150 droits de tirage spéciaux par passager.

- 2. In the carriage of baggage, the liability of the carrier in the case of destruction, loss, damage or delay is limited to 1 000 Special Drawing Rights for each passenger unless the passenger has made, at the time when the checked baggage was handed over to the carrier, a special declaration of interest in delivery at destination and has paid a supplementary sum if the case so requires. In that case the carrier will be liable to pay a sum not exceeding the declared sum, unless it proves that the sum is greater than the passenger's actual interest in delivery at destination.
- 3. In the carriage of cargo, the liability of the carrier in the case of destruction, loss, damage or delay is limited to a sum of 17 Special Drawing Rights per kilogramme, unless the consignor has made, at the time when the package was handed over to the carrier, a special declaration of interest in delivery at destination and has paid a supplementary sum if the case so requires. In that case the carrier will be liable to pay a sum not exceeding the declared sum, unless it proves that the sum is greater than the consignor's actual interest in delivery at destination.
- 4. In the case of destruction, loss, damage or delay of part of the cargo, or of any object contained therein, the weight to be taken into consideration in determining the amount to which the carrier's liability is limited shall be only the total weight of the package or packages concerned. Nevertheless, when the destruction, loss, damage or delay of a part of the cargo, or of an object contained therein, affects the value of other packages covered by the same air waybill, or the same receipt or, if they were not issued, by the same record preserved by the other means referred to in paragraph 2 of Article 4, the total weight of such package or packages shall also be taken into consideration in determining the limit of liability.
- 5. The foregoing provisions of paragraphs 1 and 2 of this Article shall not apply if it is proved that the damage resulted from an act or omission of the carrier, its servants or agents, done with intent to cause damage or recklessly and with knowledge that damage would probably result; provided that, in the case of such act or omission of a servant or agent, it is also proved that such servant or agent was acting within the scope of its employment.
- 6. The limits prescribed in Article 21 and in this Article shall not prevent the court from awarding, in accordance with its own law, in addition, the whole or part of the court costs and of the other expenses of the litigation incurred by the plaintiff, including interest. The foregoing provision shall not apply if the amount of the damages awarded, excluding court costs and other expenses of the litigation, does not exceed the sum which the carrier has offered in writing to the plaintiff within a period of six months from the date of the occurrence causing the damage, or before the commencement of the action, if that is later.

- 2. Dans le transport de bagages, la responsabilité du transporteur en cas de destruction, perte, avarie ou retard est limitée à la somme de 1 000 droits de tirage spéciaux par passager, sauf déclaration spéciale d'intérêt à la livraison faite par le passager au moment de la remise des bagages enregistrés au transporteur et moyennant le paiement éventuel d'une somme supplémentaire. Dans ce cas, le transporteur sera tenu de payer jusqu'à concurrence de la somme déclarée, à moins qu'il prouve qu'elle est supérieure à l'intérêt réel du passager à la livraison.
- 3. Dans le transport de marchandises, la responsabilité du transporteur, en cas de destruction, de perte, d'avarie ou de retard, est limitée à la somme de 17 droits de tirage spéciaux par kilogramme, sauf déclaration spéciale d'intérêt à la livraison faite par l'expéditeur au moment de la remise du colis au transporteur et moyennant le paiement d'une somme supplémentaire éventuelle. Dans ce cas, le transporteur sera tenu de payer jusqu'à concurrence de la somme déclarée, à moins qu'il prouve qu'elle est supérieure à l'intérêt réel de l'expéditeur à la livraison.
- 4. En cas de destruction, de perte, d'avarie ou de retard d'une partie des marchandises, ou de tout objet qui y est contenu, seul le poids total du ou des colis dont il s'agit est pris en considération pour déterminer la limite de responsabilité du transporteur. Toutefois, lorsque la destruction, la perte, l'avarie ou le retard d'une partie des marchandises, ou d'un objet qui y est contenu, affecte la valeur d'autres colis couverts par la même lettre de transport aérien ou par le même récépissé ou, en l'absence de ces documents, par les mêmes indications consignées par les autres moyens visés à l'article 4, paragraphe 2, le poids total de ces colis doit être pris en considération pour déterminer la limite de responsabilité.
- 5. Les dispositions des paragraphes 1 et 2 du présent article ne s'appliquent pas s'il est prouvé que le dommage résulte d'un acte ou d'une omission du transporteur, de ses préposés ou de ses mandataires, fait soit avec l'intention de provoquer un dommage, soit témérairement et avec conscience qu'un dommage en résultera probablement, pour autant que, dans le cas d'un acte ou d'une omission de préposés ou de mandataires, la preuve soit également apportée que ceux-ci ont agi dans l'exercice de leurs fonctions.
- 6. Les limites fixées par l'article 21 et par le présent article n'ont pas pour effet d'enlever au tribunal la faculté d'allouer en outre, conformément à sa loi, une somme correspondant à tout ou partie des dépens et autres frais de procès exposés par le demandeur, intérêts compris. La disposition précédente ne s'applique pas lorsque le montant de l'indemnité allouée, non compris les dépens et autres frais de procès, ne dépasse pas la somme que le transporteur a offerte par écrit au demandeur dans un délai de six mois à dater du fait qui a causé le dommage ou avant l'introduction de l'instance si celle-ci est postérieure à ce délai.

Article 23 — Conversion of Monetary Units

- 1. The sums mentioned in terms of Special Drawing Right in this Convention shall be deemed to refer to the Special Drawing Right as defined by the International Monetary Fund. Conversion of the sums into national currencies shall, in case of judicial proceedings, be made according to the value of such currencies in terms of the Special Drawing Right at the date of the judgement. The value of a national currency, in terms of the Special Drawing Right, of a State Party which is a Member of the International Monetary Fund, shall be calculated in accordance with the method of valuation applied by the International Monetary Fund, in effect at the date of the judgement, for its operations and transactions. The value of a national currency, in terms of the Special Drawing Right, of a State Party which is not a Member of the International Monetary Fund, shall be calculated in a manner determined by that State.
- 2. Nevertheless, those States which are not Members of the International Monetary Fund and whose law does not permit the application of the provisions of paragraph 1 of this Article may, at the time of ratification or accession or at any time thereafter, declare that the limit of liability of the carrier prescribed in Article 21 is fixed at a sum of 1 500 000 monetary units per passenger in judicial proceedings in their territories; 62 500 monetary units per passenger with respect to paragraph 1 of Article 22; 15 000 monetary units per passenger with respect to paragraph 2 of Article 22; and 250 monetary units per kilogramme with respect to paragraph 3 of Article 22. This monetary unit corresponds to sixty-five and a half milligrammes of gold of millesimal fineness nine hundred. These sums may be converted into the national currency concerned in round figures. The conversion of these sums into national currency shall be made according to the law of the State concerned.
- 3. The calculation mentioned in the last sentence of paragraph 1 of this Article and the conversion method mentioned in paragraph 2 of this Article shall be made in such manner as to express in the national currency of the State Party as far as possible the same real value for the amounts in Articles 21 and 22 as would result from the application of the first three sentences of paragraph 1 of this Article. States Parties shall communicate to the depositary the manner of calculation pursuant to paragraph 1 of this Article, or the result of the conversion in paragraph 2 of this Article as the case may be, when depositing an instrument of ratification, acceptance, approval of or accession to this Convention and whenever there is a change in either.

Article 23 — Conversion des unités monétaires

- 1. Les sommes indiquées en droits de tirage spéciaux dans la présente convention sont considérées comme se rapportant au droit de tirage spécial tel que défini par le Fonds monétaire international. La conversion de ces sommes en monnaies nationales s'effectuera, en cas d'instance judiciaire, suivant la valeur de ces monnaies en droit de tirage spécial à la date du jugement. La valeur, en droit de tirage spécial, d'une monnaie nationale d'un État partie qui est membre du Fonds monétaire international, est calculée selon la méthode d'évaluation appliquée par le Fonds monétaire international à la date du jugement pour ses propres opérations et transactions. La valeur, en droit de tirage spécial, d'une monnaie nationale d'un État partie qui n'est pas membre du Fonds monétaire international, est calculée de la façon déterminée par cet État.
- 2. Toutefois, les États qui ne sont pas membres du Fonds monétaire international et dont la législation ne permet pas d'appliquer les dispositions du paragraphe 1 du présent article, peuvent, au moment de la ratification ou de l'adhésion, ou à tout moment par la suite, déclarer que la limite de responsabilité du transporteur prescrite à l'article 21 est fixée, dans les procédures judiciaires sur leur territoire, à la somme de 1 500 000 unités monétaires par passager; 62 500 unités monétaires par passager pour ce qui concerne le paragraphe 1 de l'article 22; 15 000 unités monétaires par passager pour ce qui concerne le paragraphe 2 de l'article 22; et 250 unités monétaires par kilogramme pour ce qui concerne le paragraphe 3 de l'article 22. Cette unité monétaire correspond à soixante-cinq milligrammes et demi d'or au titre de neuf cents millièmes de fin. Les sommes peuvent être converties dans la monnaie nationale concernée en chiffres ronds. La conversion de ces sommes en monnaie nationale s'effectuera conformément à la législation de l'État en cause.
- 3. Le calcul mentionné dans la dernière phrase du paragraphe 1 du présent article et la conversion mentionnée au paragraphe 2 du présent article sont effectués de façon à exprimer en monnaie nationale de l'État partie la même valeur réelle, dans la mesure du possible, pour les montants prévus aux articles 21 et 22, que celle qui découlerait de l'application des trois premières phrases du paragraphe 1 du présent article. Les États parties communiquent au dépositaire leur méthode de calcul conformément au paragraphe 1 du présent article ou les résultats de la conversion conformément au paragraphe 2 du présent article, selon le cas, lors du dépôt de leur instrument de ratification, d'acceptation ou d'approbation de la présente convention ou d'adhésion à celle-ci et chaque fois qu'un changement se produit dans cette méthode de calcul ou dans ces résultats.

Article 24 — Review of Limits

- 1. Without prejudice to the provisions of Article 25 of this Convention and subject to paragraph 2 below, the limits of liability prescribed in Articles 21, 22 and 23 shall be reviewed by the Depositary at five-year intervals, the first such review to take place at the end of the fifth year following the date of entry into force of this Convention, or if the Convention does not enter into force within five years of the date it is first open for signature, within the first year of its entry into force, by reference to an inflation factor which corresponds to the accumulated rate of inflation since the previous revision or in the first instance since the date of entry into force of the Convention. The measure of the rate of inflation to be used in determining the inflation factor shall be the weighted average of the annual rates of increase or decrease in the Consumer Price Indices of the States whose currencies comprise the Special Drawing Right mentioned in paragraph 1 of Article 23.
- 2. If the review referred to in the preceding paragraph concludes that the inflation factor has exceeded 10 per cent, the Depositary shall notify States Parties of a revision of the limits of liability. Any such revision shall become effective six months after its notification to the States Parties. If within three months after its notification to the States Parties a majority of the States Parties register their disapproval, the revision shall not become effective and the Depositary shall refer the matter to a meeting of the States Parties. The Depositary shall immediately notify all States Parties of the coming into force of any revision.
- 3. Notwithstanding paragraph 1 of this Article, the procedure referred to in paragraph 2 of this Article shall be applied at any time provided that one-third of the States Parties express a desire to that effect and upon condition that the inflation factor referred to in paragraph 1 has exceeded 30 per cent since the previous revision or since the date of entry into force of this Convention if there has been no previous revision. Subsequent reviews using the procedure described in paragraph 1 of this Article will take place at five-year intervals starting at the end of the fifth year following the date of the reviews under the present paragraph.

Article 25 — Stipulation on Limits

A carrier may stipulate that the contract of carriage shall be subject to higher limits of liability than those provided for in this Convention or to no limits of liability whatsoever.

Article 26 — Invalidity of Contractual Provisions

Any provision tending to relieve the carrier of liability or to fix a lower limit than that which is laid down in this Convention shall be null and void, but the nullity of any such provision does not involve the nullity of the whole contract, which shall remain subject to the provisions of this Convention.

Article 24 — Révision des limites

- 1. Sans préjudice des dispositions de l'article 25 de la présente convention et sous réserve du paragraphe 2 ci-dessous, les limites de responsabilité prescrites aux articles 21, 22 et 23 sont révisées par le dépositaire tous les cinq ans, la première révision intervenant à la fin de la cinquième année suivant la date d'entrée en vigueur de la présente convention, ou si la convention n'entre pas en vigueur dans les cinq ans qui suivent la date à laquelle elle est pour la première fois ouverte à la signature, dans l'année de son entrée en vigueur, moyennant l'application d'un coefficient pour inflation correspondant au taux cumulatif de l'inflation depuis la révision précédente ou, dans le cas d'une première révision, depuis la date d'entrée en vigueur de la convention. La mesure du taux d'inflation à utiliser pour déterminer le coefficient pour inflation est la moyenne pondérée des taux annuels de la hausse ou de la baisse des indices de prix à la consommation des États dont les monnaies composent le droit de tirage spécial cité au paragraphe 1 de l'article 23.
- 2. Si la révision mentionnée au paragraphe précédent conclut que le coefficient pour inflation a dépassé 10 %, le dépositaire notifie aux États parties une révision des limites de responsabilité. Toute révision ainsi adoptée prend effet six mois après sa notification aux États parties. Si, dans les trois mois qui suivent cette notification aux États parties, une majorité des États parties notifie sa désapprobation, la révision ne prend pas effet et le dépositaire renvoie la question à une réunion des États parties. Le dépositaire notifie immédiatement à tous les États parties l'entrée en vigueur de toute révision.
- 3. Nonobstant le paragraphe 1 du présent article, la procédure évoquée au paragraphe 2 du présent article est applicable à tout moment, à condition qu'un tiers des États parties exprime un souhait dans ce sens et à condition que le coefficient pour inflation visé au paragraphe 1 soit supérieur à 30 % de ce qu'il était à la date de la révision précédente ou à la date d'entrée en vigueur de la présente convention s'il n'y a pas eu de révision antérieure. Les révisions ultérieures selon la procédure décrite au paragraphe 1 du présent article interviennent tous les cinq ans à partir de la fin de la cinquième année suivant la date de la révision intervenue en vertu du présent paragraphe.

Article 25 — Stipulation de limites

Un transporteur peut stipuler que le contrat de transport peut fixer des limites de responsabilité plus élevées que celles qui sont prévues dans la présente convention, ou ne comporter aucune limite de responsabilité.

Article 26 — Nullité des dispositions contractuelles

Toute clause tendant à exonérer le transporteur de sa responsabilité ou à établir une limite inférieure à celle qui est fixée dans la présente convention est nulle et de nul effet, mais la nullité de cette clause n'entraîne pas la nullité du contrat qui reste soumis aux dispositions de la présente convention.

Article 27 — Freedom to Contract

Nothing contained in this Convention shall prevent the carrier from refusing to enter into any contract of carriage, from waiving any defences available under the Convention, or from laying down conditions which do not conflict with the provisions of this Convention.

Article 28 — Advance Payments

In the case of aircraft accidents resulting in death or injury of passengers, the carrier shall, if required by its national law, make advance payments without delay to a natural person or persons who are entitled to claim compensation in order to meet the immediate economic needs of such persons. Such advance payments shall not constitute a recognition of liability and may be offset against any amounts subsequently paid as damages by the carrier.

Article 29 — Basis of Claims

In the carriage of passengers, baggage and cargo, any action for damages, however founded, whether under this Convention or in contract or in tort or otherwise, can only be brought subject to the conditions and such limits of liability as are set out in this Convention without prejudice to the question as to who are the persons who have the right to bring suit and what are their respective rights. In any such action, punitive, exemplary or any other non-compensatory damages shall not be recoverable.

Article 30 — Servants, Agents — Aggregation of Claims

- 1. If an action is brought against a servant or agent of the carrier arising out of damage to which the Convention relates, such servant or agent, if they prove that they acted within the scope of their employment, shall be entitled to avail themselves of the conditions and limits of liability which the carrier itself is entitled to invoke under this Convention.
- 2. The aggregate of the amounts recoverable from the carrier, its servants and agents, in that case, shall not exceed the said limits.
- 3. Save in respect of the carriage of cargo, the provisions of paragraphs 1 and 2 of this Article shall not apply if it is proved that the damage resulted from an act or omission of the servant or agent done with intent to cause damage or recklessly and with knowledge that damage would probably result.

Article 31 — Timely Notice of Complaints

1. Receipt by the person entitled to delivery of checked baggage or cargo without complaint is prima facie evidence that the same has been delivered in good condition and in accordance with the document of carriage or with the record preserved by the other means referred to in paragraph 2 of Article 3 and paragraph 2 of Article 4.

Article 27 — Liberté de contracter

Rien dans la présente convention ne peut empêcher un transporteur de refuser la conclusion d'un contrat de transport, de renoncer aux moyens de défense qui lui sont donnés en vertu de la présente convention ou d'établir des conditions qui ne sont pas en contradiction avec les dispositions de la présente convention.

Article 28 — Paiements anticipés

En cas d'accident d'aviation entraînant la mort ou la lésion de passagers, le transporteur, s'il y est tenu par la législation de son pays, versera sans retard des avances aux personnes physiques qui ont droit à un dédommagement pour leur permettre de subvenir à leurs besoins économiques immédiats. Ces avances ne constituent pas une reconnaissance de responsabilité et elles peuvent être déduites des montants versés ultérieurement par le transporteur à titre de dédommagement.

Article 29 — Principe des recours

Dans le transport de passagers, de bagages et de marchandises, toute action en dommages-intérêts, à quelque titre que ce soit, en vertu de la présente convention, en raison d'un contrat ou d'un acte illicite ou pour toute autre cause, ne peut être exercée que dans les conditions et limites de responsabilité prévues par la présente convention, sans préjudice de la détermination des personnes qui ont le droit d'agir et de leurs droits respectifs. Dans toute action de ce genre, on ne pourra pas obtenir de dommages-intérêts punitifs ou exemplaires ni de dommages à un titre autre que la réparation.

Article 30 — Préposés, mandataires — Montant total de la réparation

- 1. Si une action est intentée contre un préposé ou un mandataire du transporteur à la suite d'un dommage visé par la présente convention, ce préposé ou mandataire, s'il prouve qu'il a agi dans l'exercice de ses fonctions, pourra se prévaloir des conditions et des limites de responsabilité que peut invoquer le transporteur en vertu de la présente convention.
- 2. Le montant total de la réparation qui, dans ce cas, peut être obtenu du transporteur, de ses préposés et de ses mandataires, ne doit pas dépasser lesdites limites.
- 3. Sauf pour le transport de marchandises, les dispositions des paragraphes 1 et 2 du présent article ne s'appliquent pas s'il est prouvé que le dommage résulte d'un acte ou d'une omission du préposé ou du mandataire, fait soit avec l'intention de provoquer un dommage, soit témérairement et avec conscience qu'un dommage en résultera probablement.

Article 31 — Délais de protestation

1. La réception des bagages enregistrés et des marchandises sans protestation par le destinataire constituera présomption, sauf preuve du contraire, que les bagages et marchandises ont été livrés en bon état et conformément au titre de transport ou aux indications consignées par les autres moyens visés à l'article 3, paragraphe 2, et à l'article 4, paragraphe 2.

- 2. In the case of damage, the person entitled to delivery must complain to the carrier forthwith after the discovery of the damage, and, at the latest, within seven days from the date of receipt in the case of checked baggage and fourteen days from the date of receipt in the case of cargo. In the case of delay, the complaint must be made at the latest within twenty-one days from the date on which the baggage or cargo have been placed at his or her disposal.
- 3. Every complaint must be made in writing and given or dispatched within the times aforesaid.
- 4. If no complaint is made within the times aforesaid, no action shall lie against the carrier, save in the case of fraud on its part.

Article 32 — Death of Person Liable

In the case of the death of the person liable, an action for damages lies in accordance with the terms of this Convention against those legally representing his or her estate.

Article 33 — Jurisdiction

- 1. An action for damages must be brought, at the option of the plaintiff, in the territory of one of the States Parties, either before the court of the domicile of the carrier or of its principal place of business, or where it has a place of business through which the contract has been made or before the court at the place of destination.
- 2. In respect of damage resulting from the death or injury of a passenger, an action may be brought before one of the courts mentioned in paragraph 1 of this Article, or in the territory of a State Party in which at the time of the accident the passenger has his or her principal and permanent residence and to or from which the carrier operates services for the carriage of passengers by air, either on its own aircraft, or on another carrier's aircraft pursuant to a commercial agreement, and in which that carrier conducts its business of carriage of passengers by air from premises leased or owned by the carrier itself or by another carrier with which it has a commercial agreement.
 - 3. For the purposes of paragraph 2,
 - (a) "commercial agreement" means an agreement, other than an agency agreement, made between carriers and relating to the provision of their joint services for carriage of passengers by air;
 - (b) "principal and permanent residence" means the one fixed and permanent abode of the passenger at the time of the accident. The nationality of the passenger shall not be the determining factor in this regard.
- 4. Questions of procedure shall be governed by the law of the court seised of the case.

- 2. En cas d'avarie, le destinataire doit adresser au transporteur une protestation immédiatement après la découverte de l'avarie et, au plus tard, dans un délai de sept jours pour les bagages enregistrés et de quatorze jours pour les marchandises à dater de leur réception. En cas de retard, la protestation devra être faite au plus tard dans les vingt et un jours à dater du jour où le bagage ou la marchandise auront été mis à sa disposition.
- 3. Toute protestation doit être faite par réserve écrite et remise ou expédiée dans le délai prévu pour cette protestation.
- 4. À défaut de protestation dans les délais prévus, toutes actions contre le transporteur sont irrecevables, sauf le cas de fraude de celui-ci.

Article 32 — Décès de la personne responsable

En cas de décès de la personne responsable, une action en responsabilité est recevable, conformément aux dispositions de la présente convention, à l'encontre de ceux qui représentent juridiquement sa succession.

Article 33 — Juridiction compétente

- 1. L'action en responsabilité devra être portée, au choix du demandeur, dans le territoire d'un des États Parties, soit devant le tribunal du domicile du transporteur, du siège principal de son exploitation ou du lieu où il possède un établissement par le soin duquel le contrat a été conclu, soit devant le tribunal du lieu de destination.
- 2. En ce qui concerne le dommage résultant de la mort ou d'une lésion corporelle subie par un passager, l'action en responsabilité peut être intentée devant l'un des tribunaux mentionnés au paragraphe 1 du présent article ou, eu égard aux spécificités du transport aérien, sur le territoire d'un État partie où le passager a sa résidence principale et permanente au moment de l'accident et vers lequel ou à partir duquel le transporteur exploite des services de transport aérien, soit avec ses propres aéronefs, soit avec les aéronefs d'un autre transporteur en vertu d'un accord commercial, et dans lequel ce transporteur mène ses activités de transport aérien à partir de locaux que lui-même ou un autre transporteur avec lequel il a conclu un accord commercial loue ou possède.
 - 3. Aux fins du paragraphe 2 :
 - a) « accord commercial » signifie un accord autre qu'un accord d'agence conclu entre des transporteurs et portant sur la prestation de services communs de transport aérien de passagers;
 - b) « résidence principale et permanente » désigne le lieu unique de séjour fixe et permanent du passager au moment de l'accident. La nationalité du passager ne sera pas le facteur déterminant à cet égard.
- La procédure sera régie selon le droit du tribunal saisi de l'affaire.

Article 34 — Arbitration

- 1. Subject to the provisions of this Article, the parties to the contract of carriage for cargo may stipulate that any dispute relating to the liability of the carrier under this Convention shall be settled by arbitration. Such agreement shall be in writing.
- 2. The arbitration proceedings shall, at the option of the claimant, take place within one of the jurisdictions referred to in Article 33.
- 3. The arbitrator or arbitration tribunal shall apply the provisions of this Convention.
- 4. The provisions of paragraphs 2 and 3 of this Article shall be deemed to be part of every arbitration clause or agreement, and any term of such clause or agreement which is inconsistent therewith shall be null and void.

Article 35 — Limitation of Actions

- 1. The right to damages shall be extinguished if an action is not brought within a period of two years, reckoned from the date of arrival at the destination, or from the date on which the aircraft ought to have arrived, or from the date on which the carriage stopped.
- 2. The method of calculating that period shall be determined by the law of the court seised of the case.

Article 36 — Successive Carriage

- 1. In the case of carriage to be performed by various successive carriers and falling within the definition set out in paragraph 3 of Article 1, each carrier which accepts passengers, baggage or cargo is subject to the rules set out in this Convention and is deemed to be one of the parties to the contract of carriage in so far as the contract deals with that part of the carriage which is performed under its supervision.
- 2. In the case of carriage of this nature, the passenger or any person entitled to compensation in respect of him or her can take action only against the carrier which performed the carriage during which the accident or the delay occurred, save in the case where, by express agreement, the first carrier has assumed liability for the whole journey.
- 3. As regards baggage or cargo, the passenger or consignor will have a right of action against the first carrier, and the passenger or consignee who is entitled to delivery will have a right of action against the last carrier, and further, each may take action against the carrier which performed the carriage during which the destruction, loss, damage or delay took place. These carriers will be jointly and severally liable to the passenger or to the consignor or consignee.

Article 37 — Right of Recourse against Third Parties

Nothing in this Convention shall prejudice the question whether a person liable for damage in accordance with its provisions has a right of recourse against any other person.

Article 34 — Arbitrage

- 1. Sous réserve des dispositions du présent article, les parties au contrat de transport de fret peuvent stipuler que tout différend relatif à la responsabilité du transporteur en vertu de la présente convention sera réglé par arbitrage. Cette entente sera consignée par écrit.
- 2. La procédure d'arbitrage se déroulera, au choix du demandeur, dans l'un des lieux de compétence des tribunaux prévus à l'article 33.
- 3. L'arbitre ou le tribunal arbitral appliquera les dispositions de la présente convention.
- 4. Les dispositions des paragraphes 2 et 3 du présent article seront réputées faire partie de toute clause ou de tout accord arbitral, et toute disposition contraire à telle clause ou à tel accord arbitral sera nulle et de nul effet.

Article 35 — Délai de recours

- 1. L'action en responsabilité doit être intentée, sous peine de déchéance, dans le délai de deux ans à compter de l'arrivée à destination, ou du jour où l'aéronef aurait dû arriver, ou de l'arrêt du transport.
- 2. Le mode du calcul du délai est déterminé par la loi du tribunal saisi.

Article 36 — Transporteurs successifs

- 1. Dans les cas de transport régis par la définition du paragraphe 3 de l'article 1, à exécuter par divers transporteurs successifs, chaque transporteur acceptant des voyageurs, des bagages ou des marchandises est soumis aux règles établies par la présente convention, et est censé être une des parties du contrat de transport, pour autant que ce contrat ait trait à la partie du transport effectuée sous son contrôle.
- 2. Au cas d'un tel transport, le passager ou ses ayants droit ne pourront recourir que contre le transporteur ayant effectué le transport au cours duquel l'accident ou le retard s'est produit, sauf dans le cas où, par stipulation expresse, le premier transporteur aura assuré la responsabilité pour tout le voyage.
- 3. S'il s'agit de bagages ou de marchandises, le passager ou l'expéditeur aura recours contre le premier transporteur, et le destinataire ou le passager qui a le droit à la délivrance contre le dernier, et l'un et l'autre pourront, en outre, agir contre le transporteur ayant effectué le transport au cours duquel la destruction, la perte, l'avarie ou le retard se sont produits. Ces transporteurs seront solidairement responsables envers le passager, ou l'expéditeur ou le destinataire.

Article 37 — Droit de recours contre des tiers

La présente convention ne préjuge en aucune manière la question de savoir si la personne tenue pour responsable en vertu de ses dispositions a ou non un recours contre toute autre personne.

Chapter IV

Combined Carriage

Article 38 — Combined Carriage

- 1. In the case of combined carriage performed partly by air and partly by any other mode of carriage, the provisions of this Convention shall, subject to paragraph 4 of Article 18, apply only to the carriage by air, provided that the carriage by air falls within the terms of Article 1.
- 2. Nothing in this Convention shall prevent the parties in the case of combined carriage from inserting in the document of air carriage conditions relating to other modes of carriage, provided that the provisions of this Convention are observed as regards the carriage by air.

Chapter V

Carriage by Air Performed by a Person Other Than the Contracting Carrier

Article 39 — Contracting Carrier — Actual Carrier

The provisions of this Chapter apply when a person (hereinafter referred to as "the contracting carrier") as a principal makes a contract of carriage governed by this Convention with a passenger or consignor or with a person acting on behalf of the passenger or consignor, and another person (hereinafter referred to as "the actual carrier") performs, by virtue of authority from the contracting carrier, the whole or part of the carriage, but is not with respect to such part a successive carrier within the meaning of this Convention. Such authority shall be presumed in the absence of proof to the contrary.

Article 40 — Respective Liability of Contracting and Actual Carriers

If an actual carrier performs the whole or part of carriage which, according to the contract referred to in Article 39, is governed by this Convention, both the contracting carrier and the actual carrier shall, except as otherwise provided in this Chapter, be subject to the rules of this Convention, the former for the whole of the carriage contemplated in the contract, the latter solely for the carriage which it performs.

Article 41 — Mutual Liability

1. The acts and omissions of the actual carrier and of its servants and agents acting within the scope of their employment shall, in relation to the carriage performed by the actual carrier, be deemed to be also those of the contracting carrier.

Chapitre IV

Transport intermodal

Article 38 — Transport intermodal

- 1. Dans le cas de transport intermodal effectué en partie par air et en partie par tout autre moyen de transport, les dispositions de la présente convention ne s'appliquent, sous réserve du paragraphe 4 de l'article 18, qu'au transport aérien et si celui-ci répond aux conditions de l'article 1.
- 2. Rien dans la présente convention n'empêche les parties, dans le cas de transport intermodal, d'insérer dans le titre de transport aérien des conditions relatives à d'autres modes de transport, à condition que les stipulations de la présente convention soient respectées en ce qui concerne le transport par air.

Chapitre V

Transport aérien effectué par une personne autre que le transporteur contractuel

Article 39 — Transporteur contractuel — Transporteur de fait

Les dispositions du présent chapitre s'appliquent lorsqu'une personne (ci-après dénommée « transporteur contractuel ») conclut un contrat de transport régi par la présente convention avec un passager ou un expéditeur ou avec une personne agissant pour le compte du passager ou de l'expéditeur, et qu'une autre personne (ci-après dénommée « transporteur de fait ») effectue, en vertu d'une autorisation donnée par le transporteur contractuel, tout ou partie du transport, mais n'est pas, en ce qui concerne cette partie, un transporteur successif au sens de la présente convention. Cette autorisation est présumée, sauf preuve contraire.

Article 40 — Responsabilité respective du transporteur contractuel et du transporteur de fait

Sauf disposition contraire du présent chapitre, si un transporteur de fait effectue tout ou partie du transport qui, conformément au contrat visé à l'article 39, est régi par la présente convention, le transporteur contractuel et le transporteur de fait sont soumis aux règles de la présente convention, le premier pour la totalité du transport envisagé dans le contrat, le second seulement pour le transport qu'il effectue.

Article 41 — Attribution mutuelle

1. Les actes et omissions du transporteur de fait ou de ses préposés et mandataires agissant dans l'exercice de leurs fonctions, relatifs au transport effectué par le transporteur de fait, sont réputés être également ceux du transporteur contractuel. 2. The acts and omissions of the contracting carrier and of its servants and agents acting within the scope of their employment shall, in relation to the carriage performed by the actual carrier, be deemed to be also those of the actual carrier. Nevertheless, no such act or omission shall subject the actual carrier to liability exceeding the amounts referred to in Articles 21, 22, 23 and 24. Any special agreement under which the contracting carrier assumes obligations not imposed by this Convention or any waiver of rights or defences conferred by this Convention or any special declaration of interest in delivery at destination contemplated in Article 22 shall not affect the actual carrier unless agreed to by it.

Article 42 — Addressee of Complaints and Instructions

Any complaint to be made or instruction to be given under this Convention to the carrier shall have the same effect whether addressed to the contracting carrier or to the actual carrier. Nevertheless, instructions referred to in Article 12 shall only be effective if addressed to the contracting carrier.

Article 43 — Servants and Agents

In relation to the carriage performed by the actual carrier, any servant or agent of that carrier or of the contracting carrier shall, if they prove that they acted within the scope of their employment, be entitled to avail themselves of the conditions and limits of liability which are applicable under this Convention to the carrier whose servant or agent they are, unless it is proved that they acted in a manner that prevents the limits of liability from being invoked in accordance with this Convention.

Article 44 — Aggregation of Damages

In relation to the carriage performed by the actual carrier, the aggregate of the amounts recoverable from that carrier and the contracting carrier, and from their servants and agents acting within the scope of their employment, shall not exceed the highest amount which could be awarded against either the contracting carrier or the actual carrier under this Convention, but none of the persons mentioned shall be liable for a sum in excess of the limit applicable to that person.

Article 45 — Addressee of Claims

In relation to the carriage performed by the actual carrier, an action for damages may be brought, at the option of the plaintiff, against that carrier or the contracting carrier, or against both together or separately. If the action is brought against only one of those carriers, that carrier shall have the right to require the other carrier to be joined in the proceedings, the procedure and effects being governed by the law of the court seised of the case.

2. Les actes et omissions du transporteur contractuel ou de ses préposés et mandataires agissant dans l'exercice de leurs fonctions, relatifs au transport effectué par le transporteur de fait, sont réputés être également ceux du transporteur de fait. Toutefois, aucun de ces actes ou omissions ne pourra soumettre le transporteur de fait à une responsabilité dépassant les montants prévus aux articles 21, 22, 23 et 24. Aucun accord spécial aux termes duquel le transporteur contractuel assume des obligations que n'impose pas la présente convention, aucune renonciation à des droits ou moyens de défense prévus par la présente convention ou aucune déclaration spéciale d'intérêt à la livraison, visée à l'article 22 de la présente convention, n'auront d'effet à l'égard du transporteur de fait, sauf consentement de ce dernier.

Article 42 — Notification des ordres et protestations

Les instructions ou protestations à notifier au transporteur, en application de la présente convention, ont le même effet qu'elles soient adressées au transporteur contractuel ou au transporteur de fait. Toutefois, les instructions visées à l'article 12 n'ont d'effet que si elles sont adressées au transporteur contractuel.

Article 43 — Préposés et mandataires

En ce qui concerne le transport effectué par le transporteur de fait, tout préposé ou mandataire de ce transporteur ou du transporteur contractuel, s'il prouve qu'il a agi dans l'exercice de ses fonctions, peut se prévaloir des conditions et des limites de responsabilité applicables, en vertu de la présente convention, au transporteur dont il est le préposé ou le mandataire, sauf s'il est prouvé qu'il a agi de telle façon que les limites de responsabilité ne puissent être invoquées conformément à la présente convention.

Article 44 — Cumul de la réparation

En ce qui concerne le transport effectué par le transporteur de fait, le montant total de la réparation qui peut être obtenu de ce transporteur, du transporteur contractuel et de leurs préposés et mandataires quand ils ont agi dans l'exercice de leurs fonctions, ne peut pas dépasser l'indemnité la plus élevée qui peut être mise à charge soit du transporteur contractuel, soit du transporteur de fait, en vertu de la présente convention, sous réserve qu'aucune des personnes mentionnées dans le présent article ne puisse être tenue pour responsable au-delà de la limite applicable à cette personne.

Article 45 — Notification des actions en responsabilité

Toute action en responsabilité, relative au transport effectué par le transporteur de fait, peut être intentée, au choix du demandeur, contre ce transporteur ou le transporteur contractuel ou contre l'un et l'autre, conjointement ou séparément. Si l'action est intentée contre l'un seulement de ces transporteurs, ledit transporteur aura le droit d'appeler l'autre transporteur en intervention devant le tribunal saisi, les effets de cette intervention ainsi que la procédure qui lui est applicable étant réglés par la loi de ce tribunal.

Article 46 — Additional Jurisdiction

Any action for damages contemplated in Article 45 must be brought, at the option of the plaintiff, in the territory of one of the States Parties, either before a court in which an action may be brought against the contracting carrier, as provided in Article 33, or before the court having jurisdiction at the place where the actual carrier has its domicile or its principal place of business.

Article 47 — Invalidity of Contractual Provisions

Any contractual provision tending to relieve the contracting carrier or the actual carrier of liability under this Chapter or to fix a lower limit than that which is applicable according to this Chapter shall be null and void, but the nullity of any such provision does not involve the nullity of the whole contract, which shall remain subject to the provisions of this Chapter.

Article 48 — Mutual Relations of Contracting and Actual Carriers

Except as provided in Article 45, nothing in this Chapter shall affect the rights and obligations of the carriers between themselves, including any right of recourse or indemnification.

Chapter VI

Other Provisions

Article 49 — Mandatory Application

Any clause contained in the contract of carriage and all special agreements entered into before the damage occurred by which the parties purport to infringe the rules laid down by this Convention, whether by deciding the law to be applied, or by altering the rules as to jurisdiction, shall be null and void.

Article 50 — Insurance

States Parties shall require their carriers to maintain adequate insurance covering their liability under this Convention. A carrier may be required by the State Party into which it operates to furnish evidence that it maintains adequate insurance covering its liability under this Convention.

Article 51 — Carriage Performed in Extraordinary Circumstances

The provisions of Articles 3 to 5, 7 and 8 relating to the documentation of carriage shall not apply in the case of carriage performed in extraordinary circumstances outside the normal scope of a carrier's business.

Article 52 — Definition of Days

The expression "days" when used in this Convention means calendar days, not working days.

Article 46 — Juridiction annexe

19

Toute action en responsabilité, prévue à l'article 45, doit être portée, au choix du demandeur, sur le territoire d'un des États parties, soit devant l'un des tribunaux où une action peut être intentée contre le transporteur contractuel, conformément à l'article 33, soit devant le tribunal du domicile du transporteur de fait ou du siège principal de son exploitation.

Article 47 — Nullité des dispositions contractuelles

Toute clause tendant à exonérer le transporteur contractuel ou le transporteur de fait de leur responsabilité en vertu du présent chapitre ou à établir une limite inférieure à celle qui est fixée dans le présent chapitre est nulle et de nul effet, mais la nullité de cette clause n'entraîne pas la nullité du contrat qui reste soumis aux dispositions du présent chapitre.

Article 48 — Rapports entre transporteur contractuel et transporteur de fait

Sous réserve de l'article 45, aucune disposition du présent chapitre ne peut être interprétée comme affectant les droits et obligations existant entre les transporteurs, y compris tous droits à un recours ou dédommagement.

Chapitre VI

Autres dispositions

Article 49 — Obligation d'application

Sont nulles et de nul effet toutes clauses du contrat de transport et toutes conventions particulières antérieures au dommage par lesquelles les parties dérogeraient aux règles de la présente convention soit par une détermination de la loi applicable, soit par une modification des règles de compétence.

Les États parties exigent que leurs transporteurs contractent une assurance suffisante pour couvrir la responsabilité qui leur incombe aux termes de la présente convention. Un transporteur peut être tenu, par l'État partie à destination duquel il exploite des services, de fournir la preuve qu'il maintient une assurance suffisante couvrant sa responsabilité au titre de la présente convention.

Article 51 — Transport effectué dans des circonstances extraordinaires

Les dispositions des articles 3 à 5, 7 et 8 relatives aux titres de transport ne sont pas applicables au transport effectué dans des circonstances extraordinaires en dehors de toute opération normale de l'exploitation d'un transporteur.

Lorsque dans la présente convention il est question de jours, il s'agit de jours courants et non de jours ouvrables.

Chapter VII

Final Clauses

Article 53 — Signature, Ratification and Entry into Force

- 1. This Convention shall be open for signature in Montreal on 28 May 1999 by States participating in the International Conference on Air Law held at Montreal from 10 to 28 May 1999. After 28 May 1999, the Convention shall be open to all States for signature at the Headquarters of the International Civil Aviation Organization in Montreal until it enters into force in accordance with paragraph 6 of this Article.
- 2. This Convention shall similarly be open for signature by Regional Economic Integration Organisations. For the purpose of this Convention, a "Regional Economic Integration Organisation" means any organisation which is constituted by sovereign States of a given region which has competence in respect of certain matters governed by this Convention and has been duly authorized to sign and to ratify, accept, approve or accede to this Convention. A reference to a "State Party" or "States Parties" in this Convention, otherwise than in paragraph 2 of Article 1, paragraph 1(b) of Article 3, paragraph (b) of Article 57, applies equally to a Regional Economic Integration Organisation. For the purpose of Article 24, the references to "a majority of the States Parties" and "one-third of the States Parties" shall not apply to a Regional Economic Integration Organisation.
- 3. This Convention shall be subject to ratification by States and by Regional Economic Integration Organisations which have signed it.
- 4. Any State or Regional Economic Integration Organisation which does not sign this Convention may accept, approve or accede to it at any time.
- 5. Instruments of ratification, acceptance, approval or accession shall be deposited with the International Civil Aviation Organization, which is hereby designated the Depositary.
- 6. This Convention shall enter into force on the sixtieth day following the date of deposit of the thirtieth instrument of ratification, acceptance, approval or accession with the Depositary between the States which have deposited such instrument. An instrument deposited by a Regional Economic Integration Organisation shall not be counted for the purpose of this paragraph.
- 7. For other States and for other Regional Economic Integration Organisations, this Convention shall take effect sixty days following the date of deposit of the instrument of ratification, acceptance, approval or accession.

Chapitre VII

Dispositions protocolaires

Article 53 — Signature, ratification et entrée en vigueur

- 1. La présente convention est ouverte à Montréal le 28 mai 1999 à la signature des États participant à la Conférence internationale de droit aérien, tenue à Montréal du 10 au 28 mai 1999. Après le 28 mai 1999, la Convention sera ouverte à la signature de tous les États au siège de l'Organisation de l'aviation civile internationale à Montréal jusqu'à ce qu'elle entre en vigueur conformément au paragraphe 6 du présent article.
- 2. De même, la présente convention sera ouverte à la signature des organisations régionales d'intégration économique. Pour l'application de la présente convention, une « organisation régionale d'intégration économique » est une organisation constituée d'États souverains d'une région donnée qui a compétence sur certaines matières régies par la Convention et qui a été dûment autorisée à signer et à ratifier, accepter, approuver ou adhérer à la présente convention. Sauf au paragraphe 2 de l'article 1, au paragraphe 1, alinéa b), de l'article 3, à l'alinéa b) de l'article 5, aux articles 23, 33, 46 et à l'alinéa b) de l'article 57, toute mention faite d'un « État partie » ou « d'États parties » s'applique également aux organisations régionales d'intégration économique. Pour l'application de l'article 24, les mentions faites d'« une majorité des États parties » et d'« un tiers des États parties » ne s'appliquent pas aux organisations régionales d'intégration économique.
- 3. La présente convention est soumise à la ratification des États et des organisations d'intégration économique qui l'ont signée.
- 4. Tout État ou organisation régionale d'intégration économique qui ne signe pas la présente convention peut l'accepter, l'approuver ou y adhérer à tout moment.
- 5. Les instruments de ratification d'acceptation, d'approbation ou d'adhésion seront déposés auprès de l'Organisation de l'aviation civile internationale, qui est désignée par les présentes comme dépositaire.
- 6. La présente convention entrera en vigueur le soixantième jour après la date du dépôt auprès du dépositaire du trentième instrument de ratification, d'acceptation, d'approbation ou d'adhésion et entre les États qui ont déposé un tel instrument. Les instruments déposés par les organisations régionales d'intégration économique ne seront pas comptés aux fins du présent paragraphe.
- 7. Pour les autres États et pour les autres organisations régionales d'intégration économique, la présente convention prendra effet soixante jours après la date du dépôt d'un instrument de ratification, d'acceptation, d'approbation ou d'adhésion.

- 8. The Depositary shall promptly notify all signatories and States Parties of:
 - (a) each signature of this Convention and date thereof;
 - (b) each deposit of an instrument of ratification, acceptance, approval or accession and date thereof;
 - (c) the date of entry into force of this Convention;
 - (d) the date of the coming into force of any revision of the limits of liability established under this Convention;
 - (e) any denunciation under Article 54.

Article 54 — Denunciation

- 1. Any State Party may denounce this Convention by written notification to the Depositary.
- 2. Denunciation shall take effect one hundred and eighty days following the date on which notification is received by the Depositary.

Article 55 — Relationship with Other Warsaw Convention Instruments

This Convention shall prevail over any rules which apply to international carriage by air:

- 1. between States Parties to this Convention by virtue of those States commonly being Party to
 - (a) the Convention for the Unification of Certain Rules Relating to International Carriage by Air Signed at Warsaw on 12 October 1929 (hereinafter called the Warsaw Convention);
 - (b) the Protocol to Amend the Convention for the Unification of Certain Rules Relating to International Carriage by Air Signed at Warsaw on 12 October 1929, Done at The Hague on 28 September 1955 (hereinafter called The Hague Protocol):
 - (c) the Convention, Supplementary to the Warsaw Convention, for the Unification of Certain Rules Relating to International Carriage by Air Performed by a Person Other Than the Contracting Carrier, signed at Guadalajara on 18 September 1961 (hereinafter called the Guadalajara Convention);
 - (d) the Protocol to Amend the Convention for the Unification of Certain Rules Relating to International Carriage by Air Signed at Warsaw on 12 October 1929 as Amended by the Protocol Done at The Hague on 28 September 1955 Signed at Guatemala City on 8 March 1971 (hereinafter called the Guatemala City Protocol);
 - (e) Additional Protocol Nos. 1 to 3 and Montreal Protocol No. 4 to amend the Warsaw Convention as amended by The Hague Protocol or the Warsaw Convention as amended by both The Hague Protocol and the Guatemala City Protocol Signed at Montreal on 25 September 1975 (hereinafter called the Montreal Protocols); or

- 8. Le dépositaire notifiera rapidement à tous les signataires et à tous les États parties :
 - a) chaque signature de la présente convention ainsi que sa date;
 - b) chaque dépôt d'un instrument de ratification, d'acceptation, d'approbation ou d'adhésion ainsi que sa date;
 - c) la date d'entrée en vigueur de la présente convention;
 - d) la date d'entrée en vigueur de toute révision des limites de responsabilité établies en vertu de la présente convention;
 - e) toute dénonciation au titre de l'article 54.

Article 54 — Dénonciation

- 1. Tout État partie peut dénoncer la présente convention par notification écrite adressée au dépositaire.
- 2. La dénonciation prendra effet cent quatre-vingt jours après la date à laquelle le dépositaire aura reçu la notification.

Article 55 — Relation avec les autres instruments de la Convention de Varsovie

La présente convention l'emporte sur toutes règles s'appliquant au transport international par voie aérienne :

- 1) entre États parties à la présente convention du fait que ces États sont communément parties aux instruments suivants :
 - a) Convention pour l'unification de certaines règles relatives au transport aérien international, signée à Varsovie le 12 octobre 1929 (appelée ci-après la Convention de Varsovie);
 - b) Protocole portant modification de la Convention pour l'unification de certaines règles relatives au transport aérien international signée à Varsovie le 12 octobre 1929, fait à La Haye le 28 septembre 1955 (appelé ci-après le Protocole de La Haye);
 - c) Convention complémentaire à la Convention de Varsovie, pour l'unification de certaines règles relatives au transport aérien international effectué par une personne autre que le transporteur contractuel, signée à Guadalajara le 18 septembre 1961 (appelée ci-après la Convention de Guadalajara);
 - d) Protocole portant modification de la Convention pour l'unification de certaines règles relatives au transport aérien international signée à Varsovie le 12 octobre 1929 amendée par le Protocole fait à La Haye le 28 septembre 1955, signé à Guatemala le 8 mars 1971 (appelé ci-après le Protocole de Guatemala);
 - *e*) Protocoles additionnels n^{os} 1 à 3 et Protocole de Montréal n^o 4 portant modification de la Convention de Varsovie amendée par le Protocole de La Haye ou par la Convention de Varsovie amendée par le Protocole de La Haye et par le Protocole de Guatemala, signés à Montréal le 25 septembre 1975 (appelés ci-après les Protocoles de Montréal); ou

2. within the territory of any single State Party to this Convention by virtue of that State being Party to one or more of the instruments referred to in sub-paragraphs (a) to (e) above.

Article 56 — States with More Than One System of Law

- 1. If a State has two or more territorial units in which different systems of law are applicable in relation to matters dealt with in this Convention, it may at the time of signature, ratification, acceptance, approval or accession declare that this Convention shall extend to all its territorial units or only to one or more of them and may modify this declaration by submitting another declaration at any time.
- 2. Any such declaration shall be notified to the Depositary and shall state expressly the territorial units to which the Convention applies.
- 3. In relation to a State Party which has made such a declaration:
 - (a) references in Article 23 to "national currency" shall be construed as referring to the currency of the relevant territorial unit of that State; and
 - (b) the reference in Article 28 to "national law" shall be construed as referring to the law of the relevant territorial unit of that State.

Article 57 — Reservations

No reservation may be made to this Convention except that a State Party may at any time declare by a notification addressed to the Depositary that this Convention shall not apply to:

- (a) international carriage by air performed and operated directly by that State Party for non-commercial purposes in respect to its functions and duties as a sovereign State; and/or
- (b) the carriage of persons, cargo and baggage for its military authorities on aircraft registered in or leased by that State Party, the whole capacity of which has been reserved by or on behalf of such authorities.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the undersigned Plenipotentiaries, having been duly authorized, have signed this Convention.

DONE at Montreal on the 28th day of May of the year one thousand nine hundred and ninety-nine in the English, Arabic, Chinese, French, Russian and Spanish languages, all texts being equally authentic. This Convention shall remain deposited in the archives of the International Civil Aviation Organization, and certified copies thereof shall be transmitted by the Depositary to all States Parties to this Convention, as well as to all States Parties to the Warsaw Convention, The Hague Protocol, the Guadalajara Convention, the Guatemala City Protocol, and the Montreal Protocols.

2) dans le territoire de tout État partie à la présente convention du fait que cet État est partie à un ou plusieurs des instruments mentionnés aux alinéas a) à e) ci-dessus.

Article 56 — États possédant plus d'un régime juridique

- 1. Si un État comprend deux unités territoriales ou davantage dans lesquelles des régimes juridiques différents s'appliquent aux questions régies par la présente convention, il peut, au moment de la signature, de la ratification, de l'acceptation, de l'approbation ou de l'adhésion, déclarer que ladite convention s'applique à toutes ses unités territoriales ou seulement à l'une ou plusieurs d'entre elles et il peut à tout moment modifier cette déclaration en en soumettant une nouvelle.
- 2. Toute déclaration de ce genre est communiquée au dépositaire et indique expressément les unités territoriales auxquelles la Convention s'applique.
 - 3. Dans le cas d'un État partie qui a fait une telle déclaration :
 - a) les références, à l'article 23, à la « monnaie nationale » sont interprétées comme signifiant la monnaie de l'unité territoriale pertinente dudit État;
 - b) à l'article 28, la référence à la « loi nationale » est interprétée comme se rapportant à la loi de l'unité territoriale pertinente dudit État.

Article 57 — Réserves

Aucune réserve ne peut être admise à la présente convention, si ce n'est qu'un État partie peut à tout moment déclarer, par notification adressée au dépositaire, que la présente convention ne s'applique pas :

- a) aux transports aériens internationaux effectués et exploités directement par cet État à des fins non commerciales relativement à ses fonctions et devoirs d'État souverain;
- b) au transport de personnes, de bagages et de marchandises effectué pour ses autorités militaires à bord d'aéronefs immatriculés dans ou loués par ledit État partie et dont la capacité entière a été réservée par ces autorités ou pour le compte de celles-ci.

EN FOI DE QUOI les plénipotentiaires soussignés, dûment autorisés, ont signé la présente convention.

FAIT à Montréal le 28^e jour du mois de mai de l'an mil neuf cent quatre-vingt-dix-neuf dans les langues française, anglaise, arabe, chinoise, espagnole et russe, tous les textes faisant également foi. La présente convention restera déposée aux archives de l'Organisation de l'aviation civile internationale, et le dépositaire en transmettra des copies certifiées conformes à tous les États parties à la Convention de Varsovie, au Protocole de La Haye, à la Convention de Guadalajara, au Protocole de Guatemala et aux Protocoles de Montréal.

CHAPTER 32

AN ACT TO AMEND THE CRIMINAL CODE (ORGANIZED CRIME AND LAW ENFORCEMENT) AND TO MAKE CONSEQUENTIAL AMENDMENTS TO OTHER ACTS

SUMMARY

The enactment amends the Criminal Code by

- (a) providing additional protection to members of the Senate and the House of Commons and persons who play a role in the administration of criminal justice from certain acts of intimidation directed against them or their families;
- (b) providing law enforcement officers and other persons acting at their direction with circumscribed protection from criminal liability for certain otherwise illegal acts committed in the course of an investigation or enforcement of an Act of Parliament;
- (c) extending the application of its proceeds of crime provisions to indictable offences under the *Criminal Code* and other Acts of Parliament, with a few exceptions;
- (d) extending the application of its provisions relating to offence-related property to indictable offences under the *Criminal Code*;
- (e) providing for the management, by judicial order, of proceeds of crime and offence-related property, whether seized or restrained;
- (f) providing broader measures for investigation and prosecution in connection with organized crime by expanding the concepts of criminal organization and criminal organization offence and by creating three new offences relating to participation in the activities—legal and illegal—of criminal organizations, and to the actions of their leaders.

The enactment also amends the *Mutual Legal Assistance in Criminal Matters Act* to allow the enforcement in Canada of search warrants, restraint orders and orders of forfeiture from foreign jurisdictions.

CHAPITRE 32

LOI MODIFIANT LE CODE CRIMINEL (CRIME ORGANISÉ ET APPLICATION DE LA LOI) ET D'AUTRES LOIS EN CONSÉQUENCE

SOMMAIRE

Le texte apporte des modifications au Code criminel en vue :

- a) d'accorder aux parlementaires fédéraux et aux personnes qui participent à l'administration de la justice criminelle une protection accrue contre certains actes d'intimidation à leur endroit ou à celui des membres de leur famille;
- b) d'accorder aux personnes chargées du contrôle d'application des lois fédérales, et aux personnes agissant sous leur direction, une immunité restreinte à l'égard des actes ou omissions qu'elles commettent dans le cadre d'une enquête en matière criminelle ou du contrôle d'application d'une loi et qui constitueraient par ailleurs des infractions:
- c) d'élargir l'application de ses dispositions sur les produits de la criminalité aux actes criminels prévus par toutes lois fédérales, à quelques exceptions près;
- d) d'élargir l'application de ses dispositions sur les biens infractionnels aux actes criminels prévus par le *Code criminel*;
- e) de permettre la prise en charge, autorisée par ordonnance judiciaire, de l'administration des biens produits de la criminalité et biens infractionnels saisis ou bloqués;
- f) d'instaurer des mesures supplémentaires d'enquête et de poursuite en matière de criminalité organisée par l'élargissement de la portée des notions d'organisation criminelle et d'infraction d'organisation criminelle et la création de trois nouvelles infractions relativement à la participation aux activités légales et illégales de ces organisations et aux agissements de leurs dirigeants.

Le texte modifie aussi la *Loi sur l'entraide juridique en matière criminelle* afin de permettre l'exécution au Canada de mandats de perquisition et d'ordonnances de blocage ou de confiscation émanant de juridictions criminelles étrangères.

49-50 ELIZABETH II

49-50 ELIZABETH II

CHAPTER 32

CHAPITRE 32

An Act to amend the Criminal Code (organized crime and law enforcement) and to make consequential amendments to other Acts

[Assented to 18th December, 2001]

Loi modifiant le Code criminel (crime organisé et application de la loi) et d'autres lois en conséquence

[Sanctionnée le 18 décembre 2001]

Her Majesty, by and with the advice and consent of the Senate and House of Commons of Canada, enacts as follows:

Sa Majesté, sur l'avis et avec le consentement du Sénat et de la Chambre des communes du Canada, édicte :

R.S., c. C-46

CRIMINAL CODE

1997, c. 23,

s. 1

1. (1) The definitions "acte de gangstérisme" and "gang" in section 2 of the French version of the *Criminal Code* are repealed.

1997, c. 23, s. 1 (2) The definition "offence-related property" in section 2 of the Act is replaced by the following:

"offence-related property" « bien infractionnel »

- "offence-related property" means any property, within or outside Canada,
 - (a) by means or in respect of which an indictable offence under this Act is committed,
 - (b) that is used in any manner in connection with the commission of an indictable offence under this Act, or
 - (c) that is intended for use for the purpose of committing an indictable offence under this Act;

1997, c. 23, s. 1 (3) The definition "criminal organization" in section 2 of the English version of the Act is replaced by the following:

"criminal "cr organization" « organisation criminelle »

"criminal organization" has the same meaning as in subsection 467.1(1);

CODE CRIMINEL

L.R., ch. C-46 1997, ch. 23,

1997, ch. 23,

art. 1

art. 1

- 1. (1) Les définitions de « acte de gangstérisme » et « gang », à l'article 2 de la version française du *Code criminel*, sont abrogées.
- (2) La définition de « bien infractionnel », à l'article 2 de la même loi, est remplacée par ce qui suit :
- « bien infractionnel » Bien situé au Canada ou à l'extérieur du Canada qui sert ou donne lieu à la perpétration d'un acte criminel prévu à la présente loi ou qui est utilisé de quelque manière dans la perpétration d'une telle infraction, ou encore qui est destiné à servir à une telle fin.

« bien infractionnel » "offence-related property"

- (3) La définition de « criminal organization », à l'article 2 de la version anglaise de la même loi, est remplacée par ce qui suit :
- "criminal organization" has the same meaning as in subsection 467.1(1);

1997, ch. 23, art. 1

"criminal organization" « organisation criminelle »

art. 1

1997, ch. 23,

1997, c. 23, s. 1

"justice

participant"

« personne

associée au

iudiciaire »

système

system

(4) Paragraph (a) of the definition "criminal organization offence" in section 2 of the English version of the Act is replaced by the following:

(a) an offence under section 467.11, 467.12 or 467.13, or a serious offence committed for the benefit of, at the direction of, or in association with, a criminal organization, or

(5) Section 2 of the Act is amended by adding the following in alphabetical order:

"justice system participant" means

- (a) a member of the Senate, of the House of Commons, of a legislative assembly or of a municipal council, and
- (b) a person who plays a role in the administration of criminal justice, including
 - (i) the Solicitor General of Canada and a Minister responsible for policing in a province,
 - (ii) a prosecutor, a lawyer, a member of the Chambre des notaires du Québec and an officer of a court,
 - (iii) a judge and a justice,
 - (iv) a juror and a person who is summoned as a juror,
 - (v) an informant, a prospective witness, a witness under subpoena and a witness who has testified,
 - (vi) a peace officer within the meaning of any of paragraphs (b), (c), (d), (e) and (g) of the definition "peace officer".
 - (vii) a civilian employee of a police force,
 - (viii) a person employed in the administration of a court,
 - (ix) a public officer within the meaning of subsection 25.1(1) and a person acting at the direction of such an officer,

(4) L'alinéa *a*) de la définition de « criminal organization offence », à l'article 2 de la version anglaise de la même loi, est remplacé par ce qui suit :

(a) an offence under section 467.11, 467.12 or 467.13 or a serious offence committed for the benefit of, at the direction of, or in association with, a criminal organization, or

(5) L'article 2 de la même loi est modifié par adjonction, selon l'ordre alphabétique, de ce qui suit :

« infraction grave » S'entend au sens du paragraphe 467.1(1).

« personne associée au système judiciaire »

- a) Tout membre du Sénat, de la Chambre des communes, d'une législature ou d'un conseil municipal;
- b) toute personne qui joue un rôle dans l'administration de la justice pénale, notamment :
 - (i) le solliciteur général du Canada et tout ministre provincial chargé de la sécurité publique,
 - (ii) le poursuivant, l'avocat, le membre de la Chambre des notaires du Québec ou le fonctionnaire judiciaire,
 - (iii) le juge ou juge de paix,
 - (iv) la personne assignée ou choisie à titre de juré,
 - (v) l'informateur, la personne susceptible d'être assignée comme témoin, celle qui l'a été et celle qui a déjà témoigné,
 - (vi) l'agent de la paix visé aux alinéas b), c), d), e) ou g) de la définition de ce terme.
 - (vii) le membre du personnel civil d'une force policière,
 - (viii) le membre du personnel administratif d'un tribunal,

« infraction grave » "serious offence"

« personne associée au système judiciaire » "justice system participant"

- (x) an employee of the Canada Customs and Revenue Agency who is involved in the investigation of an offence under an Act of Parliament,
- (xi) an employee of a federal or provincial correctional service, a parole supervisor and any other person who is involved in the administration of a sentence under the supervision of such a correctional service and a person who conducts disciplinary hearings under the *Corrections and Conditional Release Act*, and
- (xii) an employee and a member of the National Parole Board and of a provincial parole board;

"serious offence" « infraction grave » "serious offence" has the same meaning as in subsection 467.1(1);

1997, c. 23, s. 2

« infraction d'organisation criminelle » "criminal organization offence"

« organisation criminelle » "criminal organization"

- (6) Section 2 of the French version of the Act is amended by adding the following in alphabetical order:
- « infraction d'organisation criminelle »
 - *a*) Soit une infraction prévue aux articles 467.11, 467.12 ou 467.13 ou une infraction grave commise au profit ou sous la direction d'une organisation criminelle, ou en association avec elle;
 - b) soit le complot ou la tentative en vue de commettre une telle infraction ou le fait d'en être complice après le fait ou d'en conseiller la perpétration.
- « organisation criminelle » S'entend au sens du paragraphe 467.1(1).
- 2. The Act is amended by adding the following after section 25:

- (ix) le fonctionnaire public, au sens du paragraphe 25.1(1), et la personne agissant sous sa direction,
- (x) le membre du personnel de l'Agence des douanes et du revenu du Canada qui participe à une enquête relative à une infraction à une loi fédérale,
- (xi) l'employé d'un service correctionnel fédéral ou provincial, le surveillant de liberté conditionnelle ou toute autre personne qui participe à l'exécution des peines sous l'autorité d'un tel service et la personne chargée, sous le régime de la *Loi sur le système correc*tionnel et la mise en liberté sous condition, de la tenue des audiences relatives aux infractions disciplinaires,
- (xii) le membre et l'employé de la Commission nationale des libérations conditionnelles ou d'une commission des libérations conditionnelles provinciale.
- (6) L'article 2 de la version française de la même loi est modifié par adjonction, selon l'ordre alphabétique, de ce qui suit :
- « infraction d'organisation criminelle »
 - *a*) Soit une infraction prévue aux articles 467.11, 467.12 ou 467.13 ou une infraction grave commise au profit ou sous la direction d'une organisation criminelle, ou en association avec elle;
 - b) soit le complot ou la tentative en vue de commettre une telle infraction ou le fait d'en être complice après le fait ou d'en conseiller la perpétration.
- « organisation criminelle » S'entend au sens du paragraphe 467.1(1).
- « organisation criminelle » "criminal organization"
- 2. La même loi est modifiée par adjonction, après l'article 25, de ce qui suit :

1997, ch. 23, art. 2

« infraction d'organisation criminelle » "criminal organization offence" Definitions

4

"competent authority" « autorité compétente »

- **25.1** (1) The following definitions apply in this section and sections 25.2 to 25.4.
- "competent authority" means, with respect to a public officer or a senior official,
 - (a) in the case of a member of the Royal Canadian Mounted Police, the Solicitor General of Canada, personally;
 - (b) in the case of a member of a police service constituted under the laws of a province, the Minister responsible for policing in the province, personally; and
 - (c) in the case of any other public officer or senior official, the Minister who has responsibility for the Act of Parliament that the officer or official has the power to enforce, personally.

"public officer" « fonctionnaire public »

"senior official" « fonctionnaire supérieur » "public officer" means a peace officer, or a public officer who has the powers of a peace officer under an Act of Parliament.

"senior official" means a senior official who is responsible for law enforcement and who is designated under subsection (5).

Principle

(2) It is in the public interest to ensure that public officers may effectively carry out their law enforcement duties in accordance with the rule of law and, to that end, to expressly recognize in law a justification for public officers and other persons acting at their direction to commit acts or omissions that would otherwise constitute offences.

Designation of public officers (3) A competent authority may designate public officers for the purposes of this section and sections 25.2 to 25.4.

Condition — civilian oversight

(3.1) A competent authority referred to in paragraph (a) or (b) of the definition of that term in subsection (1) may not designate any public officer under subsection (3) unless there is a public authority composed of persons who are not peace officers that may review the public officer's conduct.

25.1 (1) Les définitions qui suivent s'appliquent au présent article et aux articles 25.2 à 25.4.

« autorité compétente » S'agissant d'un fonctionnaire public ou d'un fonctionnaire supérieur :

- a) dans le cas d'un membre de la Gendarmerie royale du Canada, le solliciteur général du Canada lui-même;
- b) dans le cas d'un membre d'une force policière constituée sous le régime d'une loi provinciale, le ministre responsable de la sécurité publique dans la province, lui-même;
- c) dans le cas de tout autre fonctionnaire public ou fonctionnaire supérieur, le ministre responsable de la loi fédérale que le fonctionnaire est chargé de faire appliquer, lui-même.
- « fonctionnaire public » Agent de la paix ou fonctionnaire public disposant des pouvoirs d'un agent de la paix au titre d'une loi fédérale.
- « fonctionnaire supérieur » Fonctionnaire supérieur chargé du contrôle d'application d'une loi et désigné sous le régime du paragraphe (5).
- (2) Il est d'intérêt public de veiller à ce que les fonctionnaires publics puissent s'acquitter efficacement de leurs fonctions de contrôle d'application des lois conformément au principe de la primauté du droit et, à cette fin, de prévoir expressément dans la loi une justification pour la commission par ces fonctionnaires et les personnes qui agissent sous leur direction d'actes ou d'omissions qui constituent par ailleurs des infractions.
- (3) L'autorité compétente peut désigner des fonctionnaires publics pour l'application du présent article et des articles 25.2 à 25.4.
- (3.1) L'autorité visée aux alinéas *a*) ou *b*) de la définition de « autorité compétente », au paragraphe (1), ne peut procéder à la désignation prévue au paragraphe (3) que s'il existe une autorité publique ne comptant aucun agent de la paix ayant compétence pour

Définitions

« autorité compétente » "competent authority"

- « fonctionnaire public » "public officer"
- « fonctionnaire supérieur » "senior official"

Principe

Désignation de fonctionnaires publics

Condition: surveillance civile

Declaration as evidence (3.2) The Governor in Council or the lieutenant governor in council of a province, as the case may be, may designate a person or body as a public authority for the purposes of subsection (3.1), and that designation is conclusive evidence that the person or body is a public authority described in that subsection.

Considerations

(4) The competent authority shall make designations under subsection (3) on the advice of a senior official and shall consider the nature of the duties performed by the public officer in relation to law enforcement generally, rather than in relation to any particular investigation or enforcement activity.

Designation of senior officials (5) A competent authority may designate senior officials for the purposes of this section and sections 25.2 to 25.4.

Emergency designation

- (6) A senior official may designate a public officer for the purposes of this section and sections 25.2 to 25.4 for a period of not more than 48 hours if the senior official is of the opinion that
 - (a) by reason of exigent circumstances, it is not feasible for the competent authority to designate a public officer under subsection (3); and
 - (b) in the circumstances of the case, the public officer would be justified in committing an act or omission that would otherwise constitute an offence.

The senior official shall without delay notify the competent authority of the designation.

Conditions

- (7) A designation under subsection (3) or (6) may be made subject to conditions, including conditions limiting
 - (a) the duration of the designation;
 - (b) the nature of the conduct in the investigation of which a public officer may be justified in committing, or directing another person to commit, acts or omissions that would otherwise constitute an offence; and
 - (c) the acts or omissions that would otherwise constitute an offence and that a public officer may be justified in committing or directing another person to commit.

examiner la conduite des fonctionnaires qui seront désignés.

- (3.2) Le gouverneur en conseil ou le lieutenant-gouverneur en conseil de la province, selon le cas, peut désigner une personne ou un organisme à titre d'autorité publique pour l'application du paragraphe (3.1), et une telle désignation fait foi du fait qu'il s'agit d'une autorité visée à ce paragraphe.
- (4) L'autorité compétente désigne les fonctionnaires publics au titre du paragraphe (3), sur l'avis d'un fonctionnaire supérieur, en tenant compte de la nature générale de leurs attributions en matière de contrôle d'application des lois et non d'enquêtes ou d'activités particulières en matière de contrôle d'application des lois.
- (5) L'autorité compétente peut désigner des fonctionnaires supérieurs pour l'application du présent article et des articles 25.2 à 25.4.
- (6) Le fonctionnaire supérieur peut luimême désigner le fonctionnaire public pour l'application du présent article et des articles 25.2 à 25.4 pour une période maximale de quarante-huit heures, si les conditions suivantes sont réunies :
 - a) en raison de l'urgence de la situation, l'autorité compétente peut difficilement le désigner en vertu du paragraphe (3);
 - b) le fonctionnaire supérieur estime qu'un fonctionnaire public est justifié de commettre un acte ou une omission qui constituerait par ailleurs une infraction.

Il avise sans délai l'autorité compétente de la désignation.

- (7) Les désignations effectuées en vertu des paragraphes (3) et (6) peuvent être assorties de conditions, notamment en vue de limiter :
 - a) leur durée;
 - b) la nature des activités à l'égard desquelles le fonctionnaire public, dans le cadre d'une enquête à leur sujet, pourrait être justifié de commettre un acte ou une omission qui constituerait par ailleurs une infraction, ou d'en ordonner la commission;
 - c) les actes ou omissions qui constitueraient par ailleurs une infraction et que le fonc-

Désignation

Considérations

Désignation de fonctionnaires supérieurs

Désignation : situation d'urgence

Conditions

6

Justification for acts or omissions

- (8) A public officer is justified in committing an act or omission or in directing the commission of an act or omission under subsection (10) that would otherwise constitute an offence if the public officer
 - (a) is engaged in the investigation of an offence under, or the enforcement of, an Act of Parliament or in the investigation of criminal activity;
 - (b) is designated under subsection (3) or (6); and
 - (c) believes on reasonable grounds that the commission of the act or omission, as compared to the nature of the offence or criminal activity being investigated, is reasonable and proportional in the circumstances, having regard to such matters as the nature of the act or omission, the nature of the investigation and the reasonable availability of other means for carrying out the public officer's law enforcement duties.

Requirements for certain acts

- (9) No public officer is justified in committing an act or omission that would otherwise constitute an offence and that would be likely to result in loss of or serious damage to property, or in directing the commission of an act or omission under subsection (10), unless, in addition to meeting the conditions set out in paragraphs (8)(a) to (c), he or she
 - (a) is personally authorized in writing to commit the act or omission or direct its commission by a senior official who believes on reasonable grounds that committing the act or omission, as compared to the nature of the offence or criminal activity being investigated, is reasonable and proportional in the circumstances, having regard to such matters as the nature of the act or omission, the nature of the investigation and the reasonable availability of other means for carrying out the public officer's law enforcement duties; or

tionnaire public pourrait être justifié de commettre ou d'en ordonner la commission.

- (8) Le fonctionnaire public est justifié de commettre un acte ou une omission qui constituerait par ailleurs une infraction, ou d'en ordonner la commission au titre du paragraphe (10), si, à la fois :
 - a) il agit dans le cadre soit d'une enquête relative à des activités criminelles ou à une infraction à une loi fédérale, soit du contrôle d'application d'une telle loi;
 - b) il a été désigné en vertu des paragraphes (3) ou (6);
 - c) il croit, pour des motifs raisonnables, que la commission de l'acte ou de l'omission est, par rapport à la nature de l'infraction ou des activités criminelles faisant l'objet de l'enquête, juste et proportionnelle dans les circonstances, compte tenu notamment de la nature de l'acte ou de l'omission, de la nature de l'enquête ainsi que des solutions de rechange acceptables pour s'acquitter de ses fonctions de contrôle d'application de la loi.
- (9) Le fonctionnaire public n'est justifié de commettre un acte ou une omission qui constituerait par ailleurs une infraction et qui entraînerait vraisemblablement la perte de biens ou des dommages importants à ceux-ci, ou d'ordonner la commission d'un acte ou d'une omission au titre du paragraphe (10), que si les conditions prévues aux alinéas (8)a) à c) sont remplies et que si, selon le cas :
 - a) il y est personnellement autorisé par écrit par un fonctionnaire supérieur qui croit, pour des motifs raisonnables, que la commission de l'acte ou de l'omission est, par rapport à la nature de l'infraction ou des activités criminelles faisant l'objet de l'enquête, juste et proportionnelle dans les circonstances, compte tenu notamment de la nature de l'acte ou de l'omission, de la nature de l'enquête ainsi que des solutions de rechange acceptables pour l'exercice des fonctions de contrôle d'application;

Circonstances donnant lieu à la justification

Circonstances donnant lieu à la justification

- (b) believes on reasonable grounds that the grounds for obtaining an authorization under paragraph (a) exist but it is not feasible in the circumstances to obtain the authorization and that the act or omission is necessary to
 - (i) preserve the life or safety of any person,
 - (ii) prevent the compromise of the identity of a public officer acting in an undercover capacity, of a confidential informant or of a person acting covertly under the direction and control of a public officer, or
 - (iii) prevent the imminent loss or destruction of evidence of an indictable offence.

Person acting at direction of public officer

- (10) A person who commits an act or omission that would otherwise constitute an offence is justified in committing it if
 - (a) a public officer directs him or her to commit that act or omission and the person believes on reasonable grounds that the public officer has the authority to give that direction; and
 - (b) he or she believes on reasonable grounds that the commission of that act or omission is for the purpose of assisting the public officer in the public officer's law enforcement duties.

Limitation

- (11) Nothing in this section justifies
- (a) the intentional or criminally negligent causing of death or bodily harm to another person;
- (b) the wilful attempt in any manner to obstruct, pervert or defeat the course of justice; or
- (c) conduct that would violate the sexual integrity of an individual.

Protection, defences and immunities unaffected (12) Nothing in this section affects the protection, defences and immunities of peace officers and other persons recognized under the law of Canada.

- b) il croit, pour des motifs raisonnables, que les conditions pour obtenir l'autorisation prévue à l'alinéa a) sont réunies, mais que son obtention est difficilement réalisable et que l'acte ou l'omission est nécessaire afin :
 - (i) soit de préserver la vie ou la sécurité d'une personne,
 - (ii) soit d'éviter de compromettre la confidentialité de l'identité d'un fonctionnaire public ou d'un informateur ou celle d'une personne agissant sous la direction et l'autorité d'un fonctionnaire public,
 - (iii) soit de prévenir la perte ou la destruction imminentes d'éléments de preuve d'un acte criminel.
- (10) Une personne est justifiée de commettre un acte ou une omission qui constituerait par ailleurs une infraction si, à la fois :
 - *a*) un fonctionnaire public dont elle croit, pour des motifs raisonnables, qu'il y était autorisé, lui en a ordonné la commission:
 - *b*) elle croit, pour des motifs raisonnables, l'aider ainsi à s'acquitter de ses fonctions de contrôle d'application de la loi.

Réserve

Personne

agissant sous

fonctionnaire public

la direction

- (11) Le présent article n'a pas pour effet de justifier une personne :
 - *a*) de causer, volontairement ou par négligence criminelle, des lésions corporelles à une autre personne ou la mort de celle-ci;
 - b) de tenter volontairement de quelque manière d'entraver, de détourner ou de contrecarrer le cours de la justice;
 - *c*) de commettre un acte qui porte atteinte à l'intégrité sexuelle d'une personne.
- (12) Le présent article n'a pas pour effet de porter atteinte à la protection et aux défenses et immunités dont jouissent les agents de la paix et d'autres personnes sous le régime du droit canadien.

Maintien des immunités ou défenses

Observation

Réserve :

certaines

autres substances

drogues et

infraction à la

réglementant

des exigences

8

Compliance with requirements

(13) Nothing in this section relieves a public officer of criminal liability for failing to comply with any other requirements that govern the collection of evidence.

Exception: offences under Controlled Drugs and Substances Act

(14) Nothing in this section justifies a public officer or a person acting at his or her direction in committing an act or omission — or a public officer in directing the commission of an act or omission — that constitutes an offence under a provision of Part I of the *Controlled Drugs and Substances Act* or of the regulations made under it.

Public officer to file report **25.2** Every public officer who commits an act or omission — or directs the commission by another person of an act or omission — under paragraph 25.1(9)(a) or (b) shall, as soon as is feasible after the commission of the act or omission, file a written report with the appropriate senior official describing the act or omission.

Annual report

- **25.3** (1) Every competent authority shall publish or otherwise make available to the public an annual report for the previous year that includes, in respect of public officers and senior officials designated by the competent authority,
 - (a) the number of designations made under subsection 25.1(6) by the senior officials;
 - (b) the number of authorizations made under paragraph 25.1(9)(a) by the senior officials;
 - (c) the number of times that acts and omissions were committed in accordance with paragraph 25.1(9)(b) by the public officers;
 - (d) the nature of the conduct being investigated when the designations referred to in paragraph (a) or the authorizations referred to in paragraph (b) were made or when the acts or omissions referred to in paragraph (c) were committed; and
 - (e) the nature of the acts or omissions committed under the designations referred to in paragraph (a), under the authorizations referred to in paragraph (b) and in the manner described in paragraph (c).

(13) Le présent article n'a pas pour effet de conférer aux fonctionnaires publics une immunité en matière pénale pour toute inobservation des autres exigences applicables à l'obtention d'éléments de preuve.

(14) Le présent article n'a pas pour effet de justifier un fonctionnaire public de commettre un acte ou une omission qui constituerait une infraction à une disposition de la partie I de la *Loi réglementant certaines drogues et autres substances* ou de ses règlements, ou d'en ordonner la commission, ni de justifier une personne agissant sous sa direction de commettre un tel acte ou une telle omission.

Rapport du fonctionnaire public

- **25.2** Le fonctionnaire public qui a commis un acte ou une omission ou en a ordonné la commission au titre des alinéas 25.1(9)a) ou b) doit, dans les meilleurs délais après la commission, présenter au fonctionnaire supérieur compétent un rapport écrit décrivant l'acte ou l'omission.
- 25.3 (1) Chaque année, l'autorité compétente publie un rapport ou le met à la disposition du public de toute autre façon sur les désignations de fonctionnaires publics et de fonctionnaires supérieurs qu'elle a effectuées, qui contient notamment les renseignements ci-après à l'égard de l'année précédente :
 - *a*) le nombre de désignations effectuées au titre du paragraphe 25.1(6) par les fonctionnaires supérieurs;
 - b) le nombre d'autorisations accordées par les fonctionnaires supérieurs au titre de l'alinéa 25.1(9)a);
 - c) le nombre de fois où des actes ou omissions ont été commis sans autorisation par les fonctionnaires publics au titre de l'alinéa 25.1(9)b);
 - d) la nature des activités qui faisaient l'objet de l'enquête au moment des désignations mentionnées à l'alinéa a), de l'octroi des autorisations mentionnées à l'alinéa b) et de la commission des actes ou omissions mentionnés à l'alinéa c);

Rapport

Réserve

Limitation

- (2) The annual report shall not contain any information the disclosure of which would
 - (a) compromise or hinder an ongoing investigation of an offence under an Act of Parliament;
 - (b) compromise the identity of a public officer acting in an undercover capacity, of a confidential informant or of a person acting covertly under the direction and control of a public officer;
 - (c) endanger the life or safety of any person;
 - (d) prejudice a legal proceeding; or
 - (e) otherwise be contrary to the public interest.

Written notification to be given **25.4** (1) When a public officer commits an act or omission — or directs the commission by another person of an act or omission — under paragraph 25.1(9)(a) or (b), the senior official with whom the public officer files a written report under section 25.2 shall, as soon as is feasible after the report is filed, and no later than one year after the commission of the act or omission, notify in writing any person whose property was lost or seriously damaged as a result of the act or omission.

Limitation

- (2) The competent authority may authorize the senior official not to notify the person under subsection (1) until the competent authority is of the opinion that notification would not
 - (a) compromise or hinder an ongoing investigation of an offence under an Act of Parliament:
 - (b) compromise the identity of a public officer acting in an undercover capacity, of a confidential informant or of a person acting covertly under the direction and control of a public officer;
 - (c) endanger the life or safety of any person;

- e) la nature des actes ou omissions commis au titre des désignations mentionnées à l'alinéa a) ou des autorisations mentionnées à l'alinéa b), ou de ceux mentionnés à l'alinéa c).
- (2) Sont exclus du rapport annuel les renseignements dont la divulgation, selon le cas :
 - *a*) compromettrait une enquête en cours relativement à une infraction à une loi fédérale ou nuirait à une telle enquête;
 - b) compromettrait la confidentialité de l'identité d'un fonctionnaire public ou d'un informateur ou celle d'une personne agissant sous la direction et l'autorité d'un fonctionnaire public;
 - c) mettrait en danger la vie ou la sécurité d'une personne;
 - d) porterait atteinte à une procédure judiciaire;
 - e) serait contraire à l'intérêt public.
- **25.4** (1) Le fonctionnaire supérieur qui a reçu le rapport visé à l'article 25.2 du fonctionnaire public qui a commis un acte ou une omission ou en a ordonné la commission au titre des alinéas 25.1(9)a) ou b) avise par écrit, dans les meilleurs délais dans l'année suivant la commission, la personne dont les biens, de ce fait, ont été détruits ou ont subi des dommages importants.

Avis en cas de dommage aux biens

- (2) L'autorité compétente peut suspendre l'obligation du fonctionnaire supérieur de donner l'avis prévu au paragraphe (1) jusqu'à ce qu'elle estime que l'avis, selon le cas :
 - a) ne compromettrait pas d'enquête relative à une infraction à une loi fédérale ni ne nuirait à une telle enquête;
 - b) ne compromettrait pas la confidentialité de l'identité d'un fonctionnaire public ou d'un informateur ou celle d'une personne agissant sous la direction et l'autorité d'un fonctionnaire public;
 - c) ne mettrait pas en danger la vie ou la sécurité d'une personne;

Réserve

C. 32

- (d) prejudice a legal proceeding; or
- (e) otherwise be contrary to the public interest.

1997, c. 23, s. 2

3. Subsection 82(2) of the French version of the Act is replaced by the following:

Possession liée aux activités d'une organisation criminelle

(2) Quiconque, sans excuse légitime, dont la preuve lui incombe, fabrique ou a en sa possession ou sous sa garde ou son contrôle une substance explosive au profit ou sous la direction d'une organisation criminelle, ou en association avec elle, est coupable d'un acte criminel et passible d'un emprisonnement maximal de quatorze ans.

4. The definition "offence" in section 183 of the Act is replaced by the following:

"offence" « infraction »

- "offence" means an offence contrary to, any conspiracy or attempt to commit or being an accessory after the fact in relation to an offence contrary to, or any counselling in relation to an offence contrary to
 - (a) any of the following provisions of this Act, namely,
 - (i) section 47 (high treason),
 - (ii) section 51 (intimidating Parliament or a legislature),
 - (iii) section 52 (sabotage),
 - (iv) section 57 (forgery, etc.),
 - (v) section 61 (sedition),
 - (vi) section 76 (hijacking),
 - (vii) section 77 (endangering safety of aircraft or airport),
 - (viii) section 78 (offensive weapons, etc., on aircraft),
 - (ix) section 78.1 (offences against maritime navigation or fixed plat-
 - (x) section 80 (breach of duty),
 - (xi) section 81 (using explosives),
 - (xii) section 82 (possessing explosives),
 - (xiii) section 96 (possession of weapon obtained by commission of offence),
 - (xiv) section 99 (weapons trafficking),

- d) ne porterait pas atteinte à une procédure judiciaire;
- e) ne serait pas contraire à l'intérêt public.

3. Le paragraphe 82(2) de la version française de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit:

1997, ch. 23. art. 2

(2) Quiconque, sans excuse légitime, dont la preuve lui incombe, fabrique ou a en sa possession ou sous sa garde ou son contrôle une substance explosive au profit ou sous la direction d'une organisation criminelle, ou en association avec elle, est coupable d'un acte criminel et passible d'un emprisonnement maximal de quatorze ans.

Possession liée aux activités organisation criminelle

4. La définition de « infraction », à l'article 183 de la présente loi, est remplacée par ce qui suit :

- « infraction » Infraction, complot ou tentative de commettre une infraction, complicité après le fait ou le fait de conseiller à une autre personne de commettre une infraction en ce qui concerne:
 - a) l'une des dispositions suivantes de la présente loi :
 - (i) l'article 47 (haute trahison),
 - (ii) l'article 51 (intimider le Parlement ou une législature),
 - (iii) l'article 52 (sabotage),
 - (iv) l'article 57 (faux ou usage de faux, etc.),
 - (v) l'article 61 (infractions séditieuses).
 - (vi) l'article 76 (détournement),
 - (vii) l'article 77 (atteinte à la sécurité des aéronefs ou des aéroports),
 - (viii) l'article 78 (armes offensives, etc. à bord d'un aéronef),
 - (ix) l'article 78.1 (infractions contre la navigation maritime ou une plate-forme fixe),
 - (x) l'article 80 (manque de précautions),
 - (xi) l'article 81 (usage d'explosifs),
 - (xii) l'article 82 (possession d'explosifs),

infraction » "offence"

- (xv) section 100 (possession for purpose of weapons trafficking),
- (xvi) section 102 (making automatic firearm),
- (xvii) section 103 (importing or exporting knowing it is unauthorized),
- (xviii) section 104 (unauthorized importing or exporting),
- (xix) section 119 (bribery, etc.),
- (xx) section 120 (bribery, etc.),
- (xxi) section 121 (fraud on government),
- (xxii) section 122 (breach of trust),
- (xxiii) section 123 (municipal corruption),
- (xxiv) section 132 (perjury),
- (xxv) section 139 (obstructing justice),
- (xxvi) section 144 (prison breach),
- (xxvii) subsection 145(1) (escape, etc.),
- (xxviii) paragraph 163(1)(a) (obscene materials),
- (xxix) section 163.1 (child pornography),
- (xxx) section 184 (unlawful interception),
- (xxxi) section 191 (possession of intercepting device),
- (xxxii) subsection 201(1) (keeping gaming or betting house),
- (xxxiii) paragraph 202(1)(*e*) (pool-selling, etc.),
- (xxxiv) subsection 210(1) (keeping common bawdy house),
- (xxxv) subsection 212(1) (procuring),
- (xxxvi) subsection 212(2) (procuring),
- (xxxvii) subsection 212(2.1) (aggravated offence in relation to living on the avails of prostitution of a person under the age of eighteen years),
- (xxxviii) subsection 212(4) (offence — prostitution of person under eighteen),

- (xiii) l'article 96 (possession d'une arme obtenue lors de la perpétration d'une infraction),
- (xiv) l'article 99 (trafic d'armes),
- (xv) l'article 100 (possession en vue de faire le trafic d'armes),
- (xvi) l'article 102 (fabrication d'une arme automatique),
- (xvii) l'article 103 (importation ou exportation non autorisées infraction délibérée),
- (xviii) l'article 104 (importation ou exportation non autorisées),
- (xix) l'article 119 (corruption, etc.),
- (xx) l'article 120 (corruption, etc.),
- (xxi) l'article 121 (fraudes envers le gouvernement),
- (xxii) l'article 122 (abus de confiance),
- (xxiii) l'article 123 (corruption dans les affaires municipales),
- (xxiv) l'article 132 (parjure),
- (xxv) l'article 139 (entrave à la justice),
- (xxvi) l'article 144 (bris de prison),
- (xxvii) le paragraphe 145(1) (évasion, etc.),
- (xxviii) l'alinéa 163(1)a) (documentation obscène),
- (xxix) l'article 163.1 (pornographie juvénile),
- (xxx) l'article 184 (interception illégale),
- (xxxi) l'article 191 (possession de dispositifs d'interception),
- (xxxii) le paragraphe 201(1) (tenancier d'une maison de jeu ou de pari),
- (xxxiii) l'alinéa 202(1)*e*) (vente de mise collective, etc.),
- (xxxiv) le paragraphe 210(1) (tenue d'une maison de débauche),
- (xxxv) le paragraphe 212(1) (proxénétisme),

- (xxxix) section 235 (murder),
- (xl) section 264.1 (uttering threats),
- (xli) section 267 (assault with a weapon or causing bodily harm),
- (xlii) section 268 (aggravated assault),
- (xliii) section 269 (unlawfully causing bodily harm),
- (xliv) section 271 (sexual assault),
- (xlv) section 272 (sexual assault with a weapon, threats to a third party or causing bodily harm),
- (xlvi) section 273 (aggravated sexual assault),
- (xlvii) section 279 (kidnapping),
- (xlviii) section 279.1 (hostage taking),
- (xlix) section 280 (abduction of person under sixteen),
- (l) section 281 (abduction of person under fourteen),
- (li) section 282 (abduction in contravention of custody order),
- (lii) section 283 (abduction),
- (liii) section 318 (advocating genocide),
- (liv) section 327 (possession of device to obtain telecommunication facility or service),
- (lv) section 334 (theft),
- (lvi) section 342 (theft, forgery, etc., of credit card),
- (lvii) section 342.1 (unauthorized use of computer),
- (lviii) section 342.2 (possession of device to obtain computer service),
- (lix) section 344 (robbery),
- (lx) section 346 (extortion),
- (lxi) section 347 (criminal interest rate),
- (lxii) section 348 (breaking and entering),
- (lxiii) section 354 (possession of property obtained by crime),

- (xxxvi) le paragraphe 212(2) (proxénétisme),
- (xxxvii) le paragraphe 212(2.1) (infraction grave vivre des produits de la prostitution d'une personne âgée de moins de dix-huit ans),
- (xxxviii) le paragraphe 212(4) (infraction prostitution d'une personne âgée de moins de dix-huit ans),
- (xxxix) l'article 235 (meurtre),
- (xl) l'article 264.1 (menaces),
- (xli) l'article 267 (agression armée ou infliction de lésions corporelles),
- (xlii) l'article 268 (voies de fait graves),
- (xliii) l'article 269 (infliction illégale de lésions corporelles),
- (xliv) l'article 271 (agression sexuelle),
- (xlv) l'article 272 (agression sexuelle armée, menaces à une tierce personne ou infliction de lésions corporelles),
- (xlvi) l'article 273 (agression sexuelle grave),
- (xlvii) l'article 279 (enlèvement),
- (xlviii) l'article 279.1 (prise d'otage),
- (xlix) l'article 280 (enlèvement d'une personne âgée de moins de 16 ans),
- (l) l'article 281 (enlèvement d'une personne âgée de moins de 14 ans),
- (li) l'article 282 (enlèvement en contravention avec une ordonnance de garde);
- (lii) l'article 283 (enlèvement),
- (liii) l'article 318 (encouragement au génocide),
- (liv) l'article 327 (possession de moyens permettant d'utiliser des installations ou d'obtenir un service en matière de télécommunication),
- (lv) l'article 334 (punition du vol),
- (lvi) l'article 342 (vol etc. de cartes de crédit),

- (lxiv) section 356 (theft from mail),
- (lxv) section 367 (forgery),
- (lxvi) section 368 (uttering forged document),
- (lxvii) section 372 (false messages),
- (lxviii) section 380 (fraud),
- (lxix) section 381 (using mails to defraud),
- (lxx) section 382 (fraudulent manipulation of stock exchange transactions),
- (lxxi) section 423.1 (intimidation of justice system participant or journalist),
- (lxxii) section 424 (threat to commit offences against internationally protected person),
- (lxxiii) section 426 (secret commissions),
- (lxxiv) section 430 (mischief),
- (lxxv) section 431 (attack on premises, residence or transport of internationally protected person),
- (lxxvi) section 433 (arson),
- (lxxvii) section 434 (arson),
- (lxxviii) section 434.1 (arson),
- (lxxix) section 435 (arson for fraudulent purpose),
- (lxxx) section 449 (making counterfeit money),
- (lxxxi) section 450 (possession, etc., of counterfeit money),
- (lxxxii) section 452 (uttering, etc., counterfeit money),
- (lxxxiii) section 462.31 (laundering proceeds of crime),
- (lxxxiv) subsection 462.33(11) (acting in contravention of restraint order),
- (lxxxv) section 467.11 (participation in criminal organization),
- (lxxxvi) section 467.12 (commission of offence for criminal organization), or

- (lvii) l'article 342.1 (utilisation non autorisée d'ordinateur),
- (lviii) l'article 342.2 (possession de moyens permettant d'utiliser un service d'ordinateur),
- (lix) l'article 344 (vol qualifié),
- (lx) l'article 346 (extorsion),
- (lxi) l'article 347 (usure),
- (lxii) l'article 348 (introduction par effraction),
- (lxiii) l'article 354 (possession de biens criminellement obtenus),
- (lxiv) l'article 356 (vol de courrier),
- (lxv) l'article 367 (faux),
- (lxvi) l'article 368 (emploi d'un document contrefait),
- (lxvii) l'article 372 (faux messages),
- (lxviii) l'article 380 (fraude),
- (lxix) l'article 381 (emploi du courrier pour frauder),
- (lxx) l'article 382 (manipulations frauduleuses d'opérations boursières),
- (lxxi) l'article 423.1 (intimidation d'une personne associée au système judiciaire ou d'un journaliste),
- (lxxii) l'article 424 (menaces de commettre une infraction contre une personne jouissant d'une protection internationale),
- (lxxiii) l'article 426 (commissions secrètes),
- (lxxiv) l'article 430 (méfait),
- (lxxv) l'article 431 (attaque contre les locaux officiels, le logement privé ou les moyens de transport),
- (lxxvi) l'article 433 (crime d'incendie),
- (lxxvii) l'article 434 (incendie criminel),
- (lxxviii) l'article 434.1 (incendie criminel),
- (lxxix) l'article 435 (incendie criminel : intention frauduleuse),

- (lxxxvii) section 467.13 (instructing commission of offence for criminal organization),
- (b) section 198 (fraudulent bankruptcy) of the *Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act*,
- (c) any of the following provisions of the *Competition Act*, namely,
 - (i) section 45 (conspiracy) in relation to any of the matters referred to in paragraphs 45(4)(a) to (d) of that Act,
 - (ii) section 47 (bid-rigging), or
 - (iii) subsection 52.1(3) (deceptive telemarketing),
- (d) any of the following provisions of the Controlled Drugs and Substances Act, namely,
 - (i) section 5 (trafficking),
 - (ii) section 6 (importing and exporting), or
 - (iii) section 7 (production),
- (e) section 3 (bribing a foreign public official) of the Corruption of Foreign Public Officials Act,
- (e.1) the Crimes Against Humanity and War Crimes Act,
- (f) any of the following provisions of the Customs Act, namely,
 - (i) section 153 (false statements), or
 - (ii) section 159 (smuggling),
- (g) any of the following provisions of the *Excise Act*, namely,
 - (i) section 158 (unlawful distillation of spirits),
 - (ii) section 163 (unlawful selling of spirits),
 - (iii) subsection 233(1) (unlawful packaging or stamping), or
 - (iv) subsection 240(1) (unlawful possession or sale of manufactured tobacco or cigars),
- (h) any of the following provisions of the Export and Import Permits Act, namely,

- (lxxx) l'article 449 (fabrication de monnaie contrefaite),
- (lxxxi) l'article 450 (possession, etc. de monnaie contrefaite),
- (lxxxii) l'article 452 (mise en circulation, etc. de monnaie contrefaite),
- (lxxxiii) l'article 462.31 (recyclage des produits de la criminalité),
- (lxxxiv) le paragraphe 462.33(11) (contravention d'une ordonnance de blocage),
- (lxxxv) l'article 467.11 (participation aux activités d'une organisation criminelle),
- (lxxxvi) l'article 467.12 (infraction au profit d'une organisation criminelle),
- (lxxxvii) l'article 467.13 (charger une personne de commettre une infraction);
- b) l'article 198 (faillite frauduleuse) de la Loi sur la faillite et l'insolvabilité;
- c) l'une des dispositions suivantes de la *Loi sur la concurrence* :
 - (i) l'article 45 (complot) en ce qui concerne l'une ou l'autre des matières visées à ses alinéas (4)*a*) à *d*).
 - (ii) l'article 47 (truquage des offres),
 - (iii) le paragraphe 52.1(3) (télémarketing trompeur);
- d) l'une des dispositions suivantes de la Loi réglementant certaines drogues et autres substances :
 - (i) l'article 5 (trafic de substances),
 - (ii) l'article 6 (importation et exportation),
 - (iii) l'article 7 (production);
- e) l'article 3 (corruption d'agents publics étrangers) de la *Loi sur la corruption d'agents publics étrangers*;
- e.1) la Loi sur les crimes contre l'humanité et les crimes de guerre;
- f) l'une des dispositions suivantes de la Loi sur les douanes :
 - (i) l'article 153 (fausses indications),

- (i) section 13 (export or attempt to export),
- (ii) section 14 (import or attempt to import),
- (iii) section 15 (diversion, etc.),
- (iv) section 16 (no transfer of permits),
- (v) section 17 (false information), or
- (vi) section 18 (aiding and abetting),
- (i) any of the following provisions of the *Immigration Act*, namely,
 - (i) section 94.1 (organizing entry into Canada),
 - (ii) section 94.2 (organizing entry into Canada),
 - (iii) section 94.4 (disembarking persons at sea), or
 - (iv) section 94.5 (counselling false statements), or
- (j) section 3 (spying) of the Official Secrets Act,

and includes any other offence that there are reasonable grounds to believe is a criminal organization offence;

- (ii) l'article 159 (contrebande);
- g) l'une des dispositions suivantes de la *Loi sur l'accise* :
 - (i) l'article 158 (distillation illégale de l'eau-de-vie),
 - (ii) l'article 163 (vente illégale de l'eau-de-vie),
 - (iii) le paragraphe 233(1) (empaquetage ou estampillage illégal),
 - (iv) le paragraphe 240(1) (possession ou vente illégale de tabac fabriqué ou de cigares);
- h) l'une des dispositions suivantes de la Loi sur les licences d'exportation et d'importation :
 - (i) l'article 13 (exportation ou tentative d'exportation),
 - (ii) l'article 14 (importation ou tentative d'importation),
 - (iii) l'article 15 (détournement, etc.),
 - (iv) l'article 16 (transfert ou autorisation interdits),
 - (v) l'article 17 (faux renseignements),
 - (vi) l'article 18 (incitation);
- *i*) l'une des dispositions suivantes de la *Loi sur l'immigration* :
 - (i) l'article 94.1 (incitation à entrer au Canada),
 - (ii) l'article 94.2 (incitation à entrer au Canada),
 - (iii) l'article 94.4 (débarquement de personnes en mer),
 - (iv) l'article 94.5 (incitation à faire une fausse déclaration);
- *j*) l'article 3 (espionnage) de la *Loi sur les secrets officiels*.

Est également visée par la présente définition toute autre infraction dont il y a des motifs raisonnables de croire qu'elle est une infraction d'organisation criminelle.

5. Le paragraphe 185(1.1) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

1997, ch. 23, art. 4

1997, c. 23,

5. Subsection 185(1.1) of the Act is replaced by the following:

Exception for criminal organization

16

- (1.1) Notwithstanding paragraph (1)(h), that paragraph does not apply where the application for an authorization is in relation to
 - (a) an offence under section 467.11, 467.12 or 467.13; or
 - (b) an offence committed for the benefit of, at the direction of, or in association with, a criminal organization.

1997, c. 23, s. 5

6. Subsection 186(1.1) of the Act is replaced by the following:

Exception for criminal organization

- (1.1) Notwithstanding paragraph (1)(b), that paragraph does not apply where the judge is satisfied that the application for an authorization is in relation to
 - (a) an offence under section 467.11, 467.12 or 467.13; or
 - (b) an offence committed for the benefit of, at the direction of, or in association with, a criminal organization.

1997, c. 23, s. 6

7. Section 186.1 of the Act is replaced by the following:

Time limitation in relation to criminal organizations

- **186.1** Notwithstanding paragraphs 184.2(4)(e) and 186(4)(e) and subsection 186(7), an authorization or any renewal of an authorization may be valid for one or more periods specified in the authorization exceeding sixty days, each not exceeding one year, where the authorization is in relation to
 - (a) an offence under section 467.11, 467.12 or 467.13; or
 - (b) an offence committed for the benefit of, at the direction of, or in association with, a criminal organization.

1997, c. 23, s. 7

8. Subsection 196(5) of the Act is replaced by the following:

Exception for criminal organization

(5) Notwithstanding subsections (3) and 185(3), where the judge to whom an application referred to in subsection (2) or 185(2) is made, on the basis of an affidavit submitted in support of the application, is satisfied that the investigation is in relation to

(1.1) L'alinéa (1)*h*) ne s'applique pas dans les cas où l'autorisation demandée vise :

- *a*) une infraction prévue aux articles 467.11, 467.12 ou 467.13;
- b) une infraction commise au profit ou sous la direction d'une organisation criminelle, ou en association avec elle.

Exception dans le cas d'une organisation criminelle

6. Le paragraphe 186(1.1) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

1997, ch. 23, art. 5

Exception

criminelle

d'une organisation

- (1.1) L'alinéa (1)b) ne s'applique pas dans les cas où le juge est convaincu que l'autorisation demandée vise :
 - *a*) une infraction prévue aux articles 467.11, 467.12 ou 467.13;
 - b) une infraction commise au profit ou sous la direction d'une organisation criminelle, ou en association avec elle.

7. L'article 186.1 de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

1997, ch. 23, art. 6

Durée de

le cas des organisations

criminelles

validité dans

- **186.1** Par dérogation aux alinéas 184.2(4)*e*) et 186(4)*e*) et au paragraphe 186(7), l'autorisation et le renouvellement peuvent être valides pour des périodes de plus de soixante jours précisées par l'autorisation et d'au plus un an chacune dans les cas où l'autorisation vise :
 - *a*) une infraction prévue aux articles 467.11, 467.12 ou 467.13;
 - b) une infraction commise au profit ou sous la direction d'une organisation criminelle, ou en association avec elle.

8. Le paragraphe 196(5) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

1997, ch. 23, art. 7

(5) Par dérogation aux paragraphes (3) et 185(3), le juge saisi de la demande visée aux paragraphes (2) ou 185(2) doit accorder une prolongation — initiale ou ultérieure — de la période, d'une durée maximale de trois ans, s'il est convaincu par l'affidavit appuyant la demande que l'autorisation vise les éléments

Exception dans le cas d'une organisation criminelle

placé par ce qui suit :

Par dérogation aux paragraphes (3) et le juge saisi de la demande visée aux

- (a) an offence under section 467.11, 467.12 or 467.13, or
- (b) an offence committed for the benefit of, at the direction of, or in association with, a criminal organization,

and is of the opinion that the interests of justice warrant the granting of the application, the judge shall grant an extension, or a subsequent extension, of the period, but no extension may exceed three years.

1997, c. 23,

9. (1) Subsection 231(6.1) of the French version of the Act is replaced by the following:

Usage d'explosifs par une organisation criminelle (6.1) Indépendamment de toute préméditation, le meurtre que commet une personne est assimilé à un meurtre au premier degré lorsque la mort est causée au cours de la perpétration ou de la tentative de perpétration d'une infraction prévue à l'article 81 au profit ou sous la direction d'une organisation criminelle, ou en association avec elle.

(2) Section 231 of the Act is amended by adding the following after subsection (6.1):

Intimidation

(6.2) Irrespective of whether a murder is planned and deliberate on the part of a person, murder is first degree murder when the death is caused while committing or attempting to commit an offence under section 423.1.

2000, c. 12, par. 95(b)

10. Subsection 423(1) of the Act is replaced by the following:

Intimidation

- **423.** (1) Every one is guilty of an indictable offence and liable to imprisonment for a term of not more than five years or is guilty of an offence punishable on summary conviction who, wrongfully and without lawful authority, for the purpose of compelling another person to abstain from doing anything that he or she has a lawful right to do, or to do anything that he or she has a lawful right to abstain from doing,
 - (a) uses violence or threats of violence to that person or his or her spouse or commonlaw partner or children, or injures his or her property;

suivants et que les intérêts de la justice justifient la prolongation :

- *a*) une infraction prévue aux articles 467.11, 467.12 ou 467.13;
- b) une infraction commise au profit ou sous la direction d'une organisation criminelle, ou en association avec elle.

9. (1) Le paragraphe 231(6.1) de la version française de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

Usage d'explosifs par une organisation criminelle

1997, ch. 23,

art. 8

(6.1) Indépendamment de toute préméditation, le meurtre que commet une personne est assimilé à un meurtre au premier degré lorsque la mort est causée au cours de la perpétration ou de la tentative de perpétration d'une infraction prévue à l'article 81 au profit ou sous la direction d'une organisation criminelle, ou en association avec elle.

(2) L'article 231 de la même loi est modifié par adjonction, après le paragraphe (6.1), de ce qui suit :

(6.2) Indépendamment de toute préméditation, le meurtre que commet une personne est assimilé à un meurtre au premier degré lorsque la mort est causée au cours de la perpétration ou de la tentative de perpétration d'une infraction prévue à l'article 423.1.

Intimidation d'une personne associée au système judiciaire

10. Le paragraphe 423(1) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

2000, ch. 12, al. 95*b*)

- 423. (1) Est coupable soit d'un acte criminel passible d'un emprisonnement maximal de cinq ans, soit d'une infraction punissable sur déclaration de culpabilité par procédure sommaire quiconque, injustement et sans autorisation légitime, dans le dessein de forcer une autre personne à s'abstenir de faire une chose qu'elle a légalement le droit de faire, ou à faire une chose qu'elle peut légalement s'abstenir de faire, selon le cas :
 - a) use de violence ou de menaces de violence envers cette personne, ou envers son époux ou conjoint de fait ou ses enfants, ou endommage ses biens;

Intimidation

- (b) intimidates or attempts to intimidate that person or a relative of that person by threats that, in Canada or elsewhere, violence or other injury will be done to or punishment inflicted on him or her or a relative of his or hers, or that the property of any of them will be damaged;
- (c) persistently follows that person;
- (d) hides any tools, clothes or other property owned or used by that person, or deprives him or her of them or hinders him or her in the use of them:
- (e) with one or more other persons, follows that person, in a disorderly manner, on a highway;
- (f) besets or watches the place where that person resides, works, carries on business or happens to be; or
- (g) blocks or obstructs a highway.

11. The Act is amended by adding the following after section 423:

Intimidation of a justice system participant or a journalist

Prohibited

conduct

- **423.1** (1) No person shall, without lawful authority, engage in conduct referred to in subsection (2) with the intent to provoke a state of fear in
 - (a) a group of persons or the general public in order to impede the administration of criminal justice;
 - (b) a justice system participant in order to impede him or her in the performance of his or her duties; or
 - (c) a journalist in order to impede him or her in the transmission to the public of information in relation to a criminal organization.
- (2) The conduct referred to in subsection (1) consists of
 - (a) using violence against a justice system participant or a journalist or anyone known to either of them or destroying or causing damage to the property of any of those persons;
 - (b) threatening to engage in conduct described in paragraph (a) in Canada or elsewhere:

- b) intimide ou tente d'intimider cette personne ou un parent de cette personne par des menaces de violence ou d'un autre mal, ou de quelque peine, à elle ou à l'un de ses parents, ou de dommage aux biens de l'un d'entre eux, au Canada ou à l'étranger;
- c) suit avec persistance cette personne;
- d) cache des outils, vêtements ou autres biens, possédés ou employés par cette personne, ou l'en prive ou fait obstacle à l'usage qu'elle en fait;
- *e*) avec un ou plusieurs autres, suit désordonnément cette personne sur une grande route;
- f) cerne ou surveille le lieu où cette personne réside, travaille, exerce son activité professionnelle ou se trouve;
- g) bloque ou obstrue une grande route.

11. La même loi est modifiée par adjonction, après l'article 423, de ce qui suit :

- **423.1** (1) Il est interdit, sauf autorisation légitime, de commettre un acte visé au paragraphe (2) dans l'intention de provoquer la peur :
 - a) soit chez un groupe de personnes ou le grand public en vue de nuire à l'administration de la justice pénale;
 - b) soit chez une personne associée au système judiciaire en vue de lui nuire dans l'exercice de ses attributions;
 - c) soit chez un journaliste en vue de lui nuire dans la diffusion d'information relative à une organisation criminelle.
- (2) Constitue un acte interdit aux termes du paragraphe (1) le fait, selon le cas :
 - a) d'user de violence envers la personne associée au système judiciaire, un journaliste ou l'une de leurs connaissances ou de détruire ou d'endommager les biens de l'une de ces personnes;
 - b) de menacer de commettre, au Canada ou à l'étranger, l'un des actes mentionnés à l'alinéa a);

Intimidation d'une personne associée au système judiciaire ou d'un journaliste

Actes interdits

- (c) persistently or repeatedly following a justice system participant or a journalist or anyone known to either of them, including following that person in a disorderly manner on a highway;
- (d) repeatedly communicating with, either directly or indirectly, a justice system participant or a journalist or anyone known to either of them; and
- (e) besetting or watching the place where a justice system participant or a journalist or anyone known to either of them resides, works, attends school, carries on business or happens to be.

Punishment

R.S., c. 42

s. 2; 1993.

c. 46, s. 5;

1994, c. 44,

s. 29; 1995,

c. 39, s. 151;

1997, c. 18,

s. 27, c. 23, s. 9; 1998, c. 34, s. 9(1);

1999, c. 5.

ss. 13, 52

1996, c. 19,

s. 68(2)

(4th Supp.),

- (3) Every person who contravenes this section is guilty of an indictable offence and is liable to imprisonment for a term of not more than fourteen years.
- 12. (1) Section 462.3 of the Act is renumbered as subsection 462.3(1).
- (2) The definition "enterprise crime offence" in subsection 462.3(1) of the Act is repealed.

- (3) The definition "designated substance offence" in subsection 462.3(1) of the English version of the Act is repealed.
- (4) The definition "proceeds of crime" in subsection 462.3(1) of the Act is replaced by the following:

(4th Supp.), s. 2; 1993, c. 37, par. 32(*b*); 1996, c. 19, par. 70(*b*)

R.S., c. 42

"proceeds of crime" « produits de la criminalité »

- "proceeds of crime" means any property, benefit or advantage, within or outside Canada, obtained or derived directly or indirectly as a result of
 - (a) the commission in Canada of a designated offence, or
 - (b) an act or omission anywhere that, if it had occurred in Canada, would have constituted a designated offence.

- c) de suivre une telle personne ou une de ses connaissances avec persistance ou de façon répétée, notamment la suivre désordonnément sur une grande route;
- d) de communiquer de façon répétée, même indirectement, avec une telle personne ou une de ses connaissances;
- *e*) de cerner ou surveiller le lieu où une telle personne ou une de ses connaissances réside, travaille, étudie, exerce son activité professionnelle ou se trouve.

(3) Quiconque contrevient au présent article est coupable d'un acte criminel passible d'un emprisonnement maximal de quatorze ans.

12. (1) L'article 462.3 de la même loi devient le paragraphe 462.3(1).

(2) La définition de « infraction de criminalité organisée », au paragraphe 462.3(1) de la même loi, est abrogée.

L.R., ch. 42 (4° suppl.), art. 2; 1993, ch. 46, art. 5; 1994, ch. 44, art. 29; 1995, ch. 39, art. 151; 1997, ch. 18, art. 27, ch. 23, art. 9; 1998, ch. 34, par. 9(1); 1999, ch. 5, art. 13, 52

1996, ch. 19,

par. 68(2)

- (3) La définition de « designated substance offence », au paragraphe 462.3(1) de la version anglaise de la même loi, est abrogée.
- (4) La définition de « produits de la criminalité », au paragraphe 462.3(1) de la même loi, est remplacée par ce qui suit :
- « produits de la criminalité » Bien, bénéfice ou avantage qui est obtenu ou qui provient, au Canada ou à l'extérieur du Canada, directement ou indirectement :
 - *a*) soit de la perpétration d'une infraction désignée;
 - b) soit d'un acte ou d'une omission qui, au Canada, aurait constitué une infraction désignée.

Peine

L.R., ch. 42 (4e suppl.), art. 2; 1993, ch. 37, al. 32*b*); 1996, ch. 19, al. 70*b*)

« produits de la criminalité » "proceeds of crime" 1996, c. 19, s. 68(2)

« infraction désignée » "designated offence"

"designated

« infraction

désignée »

(5) The definition "infraction désignée" in subsection 462.3(1) of the French version of the Act is replaced by the following:

« infraction désignée »

C. 32

- a) Soit tout acte criminel prévu à la présente loi ou une autre loi fédérale, à l'exception des actes criminels désignés par règlement;
- b) soit le complot ou la tentative en vue de commettre un tel acte ou le fait d'en être complice après le fait ou d'en conseiller la perpétration.

(6) Subsection 462.3(1) of the English version of the Act is amended by adding the following in alphabetical order:

"designated offence" means

- (a) an indictable offence under this or any other Act of Parliament, other than an indictable offence prescribed by regulation, or
- (b) a conspiracy or an attempt to commit, being an accessory after the fact in relation to, or any counselling in relation to, an offence referred to in paragraph (a);

(7) Section 462.3 of the Act is amended by adding the following after subsection (1):

Regulations

(2) The Governor in Council may make regulations prescribing indictable offences that are excluded from the definition "designated offence" in subsection (1).

Powers of Attorney General of Canada (3) Notwithstanding the definition "Attorney General" in section 2, the Attorney General of Canada may exercise all the powers and perform all the duties and functions assigned to the Attorney General by or under this Act in respect of a designated offence where the alleged offence arises out of conduct that in whole or in part is in relation to an alleged contravention of an Act of

(5) La définition de « infraction désignée », au paragraphe 462.3(1) de la version française de la même loi, est remplacée par ce qui suit :

« infraction désignée »

- a) Soit tout acte criminel prévu à la présente loi ou une autre loi fédérale, à l'exception des actes criminels désignés par règlement;
- b) soit le complot ou la tentative en vue de commettre un tel acte ou le fait d'en être complice après le fait ou d'en conseiller la perpétration.

(6) Le paragraphe 462.3(1) de la version anglaise de la même loi est modifié par adjonction, selon l'ordre alphabétique, de ce qui suit :

"designated offence" means

- (a) an indictable offence under this or any other Act of Parliament, other than an indictable offence prescribed by regulation, or
- (b) a conspiracy or an attempt to commit, being an accessory after the fact in relation to, or any counselling in relation to, an offence referred to in paragraph (a);

(7) L'article 462.3 de la même loi est modifié par adjonction, après le paragraphe (1), de ce qui suit :

- (2) Le gouverneur en conseil peut, par règlement, désigner les actes criminels qui sont exclus de la définition de « infraction désignée » au paragraphe (1).
- (3) Par dérogation à la définition de « procureur général » à l'article 2, le procureur général du Canada a tous les pouvoirs et fonctions attribués en vertu de la présente loi au procureur général à l'égard d'une infraction désignée dans les cas où l'infraction présumée découle de comportements constituant en tout ou en partie une présumée contravention à une loi fédérale autre que la

1996, ch. 19, par. 68(2)

« infraction désignée » "designated offence"

"designated offence" « infraction désignée »

Règlement

Pouvoirs du procureur général du Canada Parliament or a regulation made under such an Act, other than this Act or a regulation made under this Act.

Powers of Attorney General of a province (4) Subsection (3) does not affect the authority of the Attorney General of a province to conduct proceedings in respect of a designated offence or to exercise any of the powers or perform any of the duties and functions assigned to the Attorney General by or under this Act.

R.S., c. 42 (4th Supp.), s. 2; 1996, c. 19, par. 70(*c*)

13. Paragraphs 462.31(1)(a) and (b) of the Act are replaced by the following:

- (a) the commission in Canada of a designated offence; or
- (b) an act or omission anywhere that, if it had occurred in Canada, would have constituted a designated offence.

1997, c. 18, s. 29

Special search warrant

14. (1) Subsection 462.32(1) of the Act is replaced by the following:

462.32 (1) Subject to subsection (3), where a judge, on application of the Attorney General, is satisfied by information on oath in Form 1 that there are reasonable grounds to believe that there is in any building, receptacle or place, within the province in which the judge has jurisdiction or any other province, any property in respect of which an order of forfeiture may be made under subsection 462.37(1) or 462.38(2), in respect of a designated offence alleged to have been committed within the province in which the judge has jurisdiction, the judge may issue a warrant authorizing a person named in the warrant or a peace officer to search the building, receptacle or place for that property and to seize that property and any other property in respect of which that person or peace officer believes, on reasonable grounds, that an order of forfeiture may be made under that subsection.

(2) Section 462.32 of the Act is amended by adding the following after subsection (4):

présente loi ou aux règlements d'application de cette loi fédérale.

(4) Le paragraphe (3) n'a pas pour effet de porter atteinte à la compétence dont dispose le procureur général d'une province d'intenter des poursuites à l'égard d'une infraction désignée ou d'exercer tous les pouvoirs et fonctions attribués en vertu de la présente loi au procureur général.

Pouvoirs du procureur d'une province

13. Les alinéas 462.31(1)a) et b) de la même loi sont remplacés par ce qui suit :

L.R., ch. 42 (4^e suppl.), art. 2; 1996, ch. 19, al. 70*c*)

- *a*) soit de la perpétration, au Canada, d'une infraction désignée;
- b) soit d'un acte ou d'une omission survenu à l'extérieur du Canada qui, au Canada, aurait constitué une infraction désignée.

14. (1) Le paragraphe 462.32(1) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

1997, ch. 18, art. 29

Mandat spécial

462.32 (1) Sous réserve du paragraphe (3), le juge qui est convaincu, à la lumière des renseignements qui, à la demande du procureur général, lui sont présentés sous serment selon la formule 1, qu'il existe des motifs raisonnables de croire que des biens pourraient faire l'objet d'une ordonnance de confiscation en vertu du paragraphe 462.37(1) ou 462.38(2) parce qu'ils sont liés à une infraction désignée qui aurait été commise dans la province où il est compétent et qu'ils se trouvent dans un bâtiment, contenant ou lieu situé dans cette province ou dans une autre province peut décerner un mandat autorisant la personne qui y est nommée ou un agent de la paix à perquisitionner dans ce bâtiment, contenant ou lieu et à saisir les biens en question ainsi que tout autre bien dont cette personne ou l'agent de la paix a des motifs raisonnables de croire qu'il pourrait faire l'objet d'une telle ordonnance.

(2) L'article 462.32 de la même loi est modifié par adjonction, après le paragraphe (4), de ce qui suit :

Restitution

des produits

C. 32

Return of proceeds

- (4.1) Subject to this or any other Act of Parliament, a peace officer who has seized anything under a warrant issued by a judge under this section may, with the written consent of the Attorney General, on being issued a receipt for it, return the thing seized to the person lawfully entitled to its possession, if
 - (a) the peace officer is satisfied that there is no dispute as to who is lawfully entitled to possession of the thing seized;
 - (b) the peace officer is satisfied that the continued detention of the thing seized is not required for the purpose of forfeiture; and
 - (c) the thing seized is returned before a report is filed with the clerk of the court under paragraph (4)(b).

1993, c. 37, s. 21(1); 1997, c. 18, s. 30(2)

Restraint

15. (1) Subsection 462.33(3) of the Act is replaced by the following:

(3) Where an application for a restraint order is made to a judge under subsection (1), the judge may, if satisfied that there are reasonable grounds to believe that there exists within the province in which the judge has jurisdiction or any other province, any property in respect of which an order of forfeiture may be made under subsection 462.37(1) or 462.38(2), in respect of a designated offence alleged to have been committed within the province in which the judge has jurisdiction, make an order prohibiting any person from disposing of, or otherwise dealing with any interest in, the property specified in the order otherwise than in such manner as may be specified in the order.

1993, c. 37, s. 21(2); 1996, c. 16, par. 60(1)(d)

Property outside Canada

> (3) Subsection 462.33(7) of the Act is replaced by the following:

> (2) Subsection 462.33(3.1) of the Act is replaced by the following:

> (3.1) A restraint order may be issued under this section in respect of property situated outside Canada, with any modifications that the circumstances require.

(4.1) Sous réserve de la présente loi et de toute autre loi fédérale, l'agent de la paix qui a saisi une chose en vertu d'un mandat délivré par un juge en vertu du présent article peut, avec le consentement du procureur général donné par écrit, restituer la chose saisie, et en exiger un reçu, à la personne qui a droit à la possession légitime de celle-ci :

- a) s'il est convaincu qu'il n'y a aucune contestation quant à la possession légitime de la chose saisie;
- b) s'il est convaincu que la détention de la chose saisie n'est pas nécessaire aux fins d'une confiscation;
- c) si la chose saisie est restituée avant le dépôt d'un rapport auprès du greffier du tribunal en vertu de l'alinéa (4)b).

15. (1) Le paragraphe 462.33(3) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

1993, ch. 37, par. 21(1); 1997, ch. 18, par. 30(2)

Ordonnance de blocage

(3) Le juge saisi de la demande peut rendre une ordonnance de blocage s'il est convaincu qu'il existe des motifs raisonnables de croire qu'existent, dans la province où il est compétent ou dans une autre province, des biens qui pourraient faire l'objet, en vertu des paragraphes 462.37(1) ou 462.38(2), d'une ordonnance visant une infraction désignée qui aurait été commise dans la province où il est compétent; l'ordonnance prévoit qu'il est interdit à toute personne de se départir des biens mentionnés dans l'ordonnance ou d'effectuer des opérations sur les droits qu'elle détient sur ceux-ci, sauf dans la mesure où l'ordonnance le prévoit.

(2) Le paragraphe 462.33(3.1) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

1993, ch. 37, par. 21(2); 1996, ch. 16, al. 60(1)d)

Biens à

l'étranger

(3.1) Les ordonnances de blocage visées au présent article peuvent être rendues à l'égard de biens situés à l'étranger, avec les adaptations nécessaires.

(3) Le paragraphe 462.33(7) de la même

L.R., ch. 42 (4e suppl.), art. 2

loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

R.S., c. 42 (4th Supp.), Undertakings by Attorney General

- (7) Before making an order under subsection (3), a judge shall require the Attorney General to give such undertakings as the judge considers appropriate with respect to the payment of damages or costs, or both, in relation to
 - (a) the making of an order in respect of property situated within or outside Canada; and
 - (b) the execution of an order in respect of property situated within Canada.

16. The Act is amended by adding the following after section 462.33:

Management order

- 462.331 (1) With respect to property seized under section 462.32 or restrained under section 462.33, other than a controlled substance within the meaning of the *Controlled Drugs and Substances Act*, on application of the Attorney General or of any other person with the written consent of the Attorney General, where a judge is of the opinion that the circumstances so require, the judge may
 - (a) appoint a person to take control of and to manage or otherwise deal with all or part of the property in accordance with the directions of the judge; and
 - (b) require any person having possession of that property to give possession of the property to the person appointed under paragraph (a).
- (2) When the Attorney General of Canada so requests, a judge appointing a person under subsection (1) shall appoint the Minister of Public Works and Government Services.

Power to manage

Services

Appointment

of Minister of

Public Works and

Government

- (3) The power to manage or otherwise deal with property under subsection (1) includes
 - (a) in the case of perishable or rapidly depreciating property, the power to make an interlocutory sale of that property; and
 - (b) in the case of property that has little or no value, the power to destroy that property.

- (7) Avant de rendre une ordonnance de blocage, le juge exige du procureur général qu'il prenne les engagements que le juge estime indiqués à l'égard du paiement des dommages et des frais que pourraient entraîner :
 - a) la prise de l'ordonnance à l'égard de biens situés au Canada ou à l'étranger;
 - b) l'exécution de l'ordonnance à l'égard de biens situés au Canada.

16. La même loi est modifiée par adjonction, après l'article 462.33, de ce qui suit :

462.331 (1) À la demande du procureur général ou d'une autre personne munie de son consentement écrit, le juge peut, s'il l'estime indiqué dans les circonstances, relativement aux biens saisis en vertu de l'article 462.32 ou bloqués en vertu de l'article 462.33, à l'exclusion des substances désignées au sens de la *Loi réglementant certaines drogues et autres substances*:

a) nommer un administrateur et lui ordonner de prendre en charge ces biens en tout ou en partie, de les administrer ou d'effectuer toute autre opération à leur égard conformément aux directives du juge;

- b) ordonner à toute personne qui a la possession d'un bien, à l'égard duquel un administrateur est nommé, de le remettre à celui-ci.
- (2) À la demande du procureur général du Canada, le juge nomme le ministre des Travaux publics et des Services gouvernementaux à titre d'administrateur visé au paragraphe (1).
- (3) La charge d'administrer des biens ou d'effectuer toute autre opération à leur égard comprend notamment :
 - *a*) dans le cas de biens périssables ou qui se déprécient rapidement, le pouvoir de les vendre en cours d'instance:
 - b) dans le cas de biens qui n'ont pas ou peu de valeur, le pouvoir de les détruire.

Engagements du procureur général

Ordonnance de prise en charge

Ministre des Travaux publics et des Services gouvernementaux

Administration

Avis

Application for destruction order (4) Before a person appointed to manage property destroys property that has little or no value, he or she shall apply to a court for a destruction order.

Notice

(5) Before making a destruction order in relation to any property, a court shall require notice in accordance with subsection (6) to be given to, and may hear, any person who, in the opinion of the court, appears to have a valid interest in the property.

Manner of giving notice (6) A notice shall

C. 32

- (a) be given or served in the manner that the court directs or that may be specified in the rules of the court; and
- (b) be of any duration that the court considers reasonable or that may be specified in the rules of the court.

Order

(7) A court may order that the property be destroyed if it is satisfied that the property has little or no value, whether financial or other.

When management order ceases to have effect (8) A management order ceases to have effect when the property that is the subject of the management order is returned in accordance with the law to an applicant or forfeited to Her Majesty.

Application to vary conditions (9) The Attorney General may at any time apply to the judge to cancel or vary any condition to which a management order is subject but may not apply to vary an appointment made under subsection (2).

R.S., c. 42 (4th Supp.), s. 2; 1996, c. 19, par. 70(*d*)

1997, c. 18, subpar. 140(*d*)(i)

17. (1) Subparagraph 462.34(6)(a)(i) of the Act is replaced by the following:

(i) a person charged with a designated offence, or

(2) Paragraph 462.34(6)(b) of the Act is replaced by the following:

(b) in any other case, that the applicant is the lawful owner of or lawfully entitled to possession of the property and appears innocent of any complicity in a designated offence or of any collusion in relation to such an offence, and that no other person appears to be the lawful owner of or lawfully entitled to possession of the property,

(4) Avant de détruire un bien d'aucune ou de peu de valeur, la personne qui en a la charge est tenue de demander au tribunal de rendre une ordonnance de destruction. Demande d'ordonnance de destruction

(5) Avant de rendre une ordonnance de destruction d'un bien, le tribunal exige que soit donné un avis conformément au paragraphe (6) à quiconque, à son avis, semble avoir un droit sur le bien; le tribunal peut aussi entendre une telle personne.

(6) L'avis:

Modalités de l'avis

- a) est donné ou signifié selon les modalités précisées par le tribunal ou prévues par les règles de celui-ci;
- b) est donné dans le délai que le tribunal estime raisonnable ou que fixent les règles de celui-ci.
- (7) Le tribunal ordonne la destruction du bien s'il est convaincu que le bien n'a pas ou peu de valeur, financière ou autre.

(8) L'ordonnance de prise en charge cesse d'avoir effet lorsque les biens qu'elle vise sont remis, conformément à la loi, à celui qui présente une demande en ce sens ou sont confisqués au profit de Sa Majesté.

Cessation d'effet de l'ordonnance de prise en charge

Ordonnance

(9) Le procureur général peut demander au juge d'annuler ou de modifier une condition à laquelle est assujettie l'ordonnance de prise en charge, à l'exclusion d'une modification de la nomination effectuée en vertu du paragraphe (2).

Demande de modification des conditions

17. (1) Le sous-alinéa 462.34(6)a)(i) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

(i) soit une personne accusée d'une infraction désignée,

L.R., ch. 42 (4e suppl.), art. 2; 1996, ch. 19, al. 70*d*)

(2) L'alinéa 462.34(6)b) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

1997, ch. 18, sous-al. 140*d*)(i)

b) dans tous les autres cas, que le demandeur est le propriétaire légitime de ces biens ou a droit à leur possession légitime et semble innocent de toute complicité ou de toute collusion à l'égard de la perpétration d'une infraction désignée, et que nulle autre personne ne semble être le propriétaire légitime de ces biens ou avoir droit à leur possession légitime.

1996, c. 19,

Saving provision

R.S., c. 42

(4th Supp.),

Forwarding to clerk where accused to stand trial

R.S., c. 42 (4th Supp.), s. 2; 1992, c. 1, s. 60 (Sch. I, item 29) (F); 1995, c. 22, s. 10 (Sch. I, items 15, 16); 1999, c. 5, s. 15(F)

Order of forfeiture of property on conviction

Proceeds of crime derived from other

(3) Subsection 462.34(7) of the Act is replaced by the following:

(7) Section 354 of this Act does not apply to a person who comes into possession of any property or thing that, pursuant to an order made under paragraph (4)(c), was returned to any person after having been seized or was excluded from the application of a restraint order made under subsection 462.33(3).

18. Section 462.36 of the Act is replaced by the following:

462.36 Where a judge issues a warrant under section 462.32 or makes a restraint order under section 462.33 in respect of any property, the clerk of the court shall, when an accused is ordered to stand trial for a designated offence, cause to be forwarded to the clerk of the court to which the accused has been ordered to stand trial a copy of the report filed pursuant to paragraph 462.32(4)(b) or of the restraint order in respect of the property.

19. Subsections 462.37(1) and (2) of the Act are replaced by the following:

462.37 (1) Subject to this section and sections 462.39 to 462.41, where an offender is convicted, or discharged under section 730, of a designated offence and the court imposing sentence on the offender, on application of the Attorney General, is satisfied, on a balance of probabilities, that any property is proceeds of crime and that the designated offence was committed in relation to that property, the court shall order that the property be forfeited to Her Majesty to be disposed of as the Attorney General directs or otherwise dealt with in accordance with the law.

(2) Where the evidence does not establish to the satisfaction of the court that the designated offence of which the offender is convicted, or discharged under section 730, was committed in relation to property in respect of which an

(3) Le paragraphe 462.34(7) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

(7) L'article 354 ne s'applique pas à la personne qui obtient la possession d'un bien qui, en vertu d'une ordonnance rendue sous le régime de l'alinéa (4)c), a été remis à une personne après avoir été saisi ou a été exclu de l'application d'une ordonnance de blocage rendue en vertu du paragraphe 462.33(3).

18. L'article 462.36 de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

462.36 Le greffier du tribunal dont un juge a décerné un mandat en vertu de l'article 462.32 ou a rendu une ordonnance de blocage en vertu de l'article 462.33 transmet au greffier du tribunal devant lequel un accusé est cité à procès pour une infraction désignée à l'égard de laquelle le mandat a été décerné ou l'ordonnance rendue un exemplaire du rapport qui lui est remis en conformité avec l'alinéa 462.32(4)b) ou de l'ordonnance de blocage.

19. Les paragraphes 462.37(1) et (2) de la même loi sont remplacés par ce qui suit :

1992, ch. 1, art. 60, ann. I, art. 29 (F); 1995, ch. 22, art. 10, ann. I, art. 15; 1999, ch. 5, art. 15(F)

462.37 (1) Sur demande du procureur général, le tribunal qui détermine la peine à infliger à un accusé coupable d'une infraction désignée — ou absous en vertu de l'article 730 à l'égard de cette infraction — est tenu, sous réserve des autres dispositions du présent article et des articles 462.39 à 462.41, d'ordonner la confiscation au profit de Sa Majesté des biens dont il est convaincu, selon la prépondérance des probabilités, qu'ils constituent des produits de la criminalité obtenus en rapport avec cette infraction désignée; l'ordonnance prévoit qu'il est disposé de ces biens selon les instructions du procureur général ou autrement en conformité avec la loi.

(2) Le tribunal peut rendre une ordonnance de confiscation au titre du paragraphe (1) à l'égard des biens d'un contrevenant dont il n'est pas prouvé qu'ils ont été obtenus par la perpétration de l'infraction désignée dont il a 1996, ch. 19, art. 69

Réserve

L.R., ch. 42 (4^e suppl.),

Citation à procès

Confiscation lors de la déclaration de culpabilité

> Produits de la criminalité obtenus par la perpétration d'une autre

infraction

C. 32

26

order of forfeiture would otherwise be made under subsection (1) but the court is satisfied, beyond a reasonable doubt, that that property is proceeds of crime, the court may make an order of forfeiture under subsection (1) in relation to that property.

Property outside Canada

(2.1) An order may be issued under this section in respect of property situated outside Canada, with any modifications that the circumstances require.

R.S., c. 42 (4th Supp.),

20. (1) Subsection 462.38(1) of the Act is replaced by the following:

Application for forfeiture

462.38 (1) Where an information has been laid in respect of a designated offence, the Attorney General may make an application to a judge for an order of forfeiture under subsection (2) in respect of any property.

R.S., c. 42 (4th Supp.),

(2) Paragraph 462.38(2)(b) of the Act is replaced by the following:

(b) proceedings in respect of a designated offence committed in relation to that property were commenced, and

(3) Section 462.38 of the Act is amended by adding the following after subsection (2):

Property outside Canada

(2.1) An order may be issued under this section in respect of property situated outside Canada, with any modifications that the circumstances require.

R.S., c. 42 (4th Supp.), s. 2

Person deemed absconded

R.S., c. 42

(4th Supp.),

s. 2; 1996, c. 19. par. 70(f) Inference

(4) The portion of subsection 462.38(3) of the Act before paragraph (a) is replaced by the following:

(3) For the purposes of this section, a person shall be deemed to have absconded in connection with a designated offence if

21. Section 462.39 of the Act is replaced by the following:

462.39 For the purpose of subsection 462.37(1) or 462.38(2), the court may infer that property was obtained or derived as a result of the commission of a designated offence where evidence establishes that the value, after the commission of that offence, of été déclaré coupable - ou à l'égard de laquelle il a été absous sous le régime de l'article 730 — à la condition d'être convaincu, hors de tout doute raisonnable, qu'il s'agit de produits de la criminalité.

(2.1) Les ordonnances visées au présent article peuvent être rendues à l'égard de biens situés à l'étranger, avec les adaptations nécessaires.

Biens à l'étranger

20. (1) Le paragraphe 462.38(1) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

L.R., ch. 42 (4e suppl.), art. 2

462.38 (1) Le procureur général peut demander à un juge une ordonnance de confiscation, sous le régime du présent article, visant quelque bien que ce soit lorsqu'une dénonciation a été déposée à l'égard d'une infraction désignée.

Demande de confiscation

(2) L'alinéa 462.38(2)*b*) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

L.R., ch. 42 (4e suppl.),

art. 2

b) des procédures à l'égard d'une infraction désignée commise à l'égard de ces biens ont été commencées:

(3) L'article 462.38 de la même loi est modifié par adjonction, après le paragraphe (2), de ce qui suit :

(2.1) Les ordonnances visées au présent article peuvent être rendues à l'égard de biens situés à l'étranger, avec les adaptations nécessaires.

Biens à l'étranger

(4) Le passage du paragraphe 462.38(3) de la même loi précédant l'alinéa a) est remplacé par ce qui suit :

L.R., ch. 42 (4e suppl.), art. 2

(3) Pour l'application du présent article, une personne est réputée s'être esquivée à l'égard d'une infraction désignée si les conditions suivantes sont réunies :

Définition

21. L'article 462.39 de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

L.R., ch. 42 (4e suppl.), art. 2; 1996, ch. 19, al. 70f)

462.39 Pour l'application des paragraphes 462.37(1) ou 462.38(2), le tribunal peut déduire que des biens ont été obtenus ou proviennent de la perpétration d'une infraction désignée lorsque la preuve démontre que la valeur du patrimoine de la personne accusée

Déduction

all the property of the person alleged to have committed the offence exceeds the value of all the property of that person before the commission of that offence and the court is satisfied that the income of that person from sources unrelated to designated offences committed by that person cannot reasonably account for such an increase in value.

R.S., c. 42 (4th Supp.),

22. (1) Paragraph 462.41(2)(c) of the Act is replaced by the following:

(c) set out the designated offence charged and a description of the property.

1997, c. 18, subpar. 140(*d*)(ii)

(2) Paragraph 462.41(3)(a) of the Act is replaced by the following:

(a) a person who is charged with, or was convicted of, a designated offence, or

1997, c. 18, subpar. 140(*d*)(iii)

23. (1) Paragraph 462.42(1)(a) of the Act is replaced by the following:

(a) a person who is charged with, or was convicted of, a designated offence that was committed in relation to the property forfeited, or de cette infraction après la perpétration de l'infraction dépasse la valeur de son patrimoine avant cette perpétration et que le tribunal est convaincu que son revenu de sources non reliées à des infractions désignées ne peut raisonnablement justifier cette augmentation de valeur.

22. (1) L'alinéa 462.41(2)c) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

L.R., ch. 42 (4^e suppl.), art. 2

c) mentionne l'infraction désignée à l'origine de l'accusation et comporte une description du bien en question.

(2) Le paragraphe 462.41(3) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

1997, ch. 18, sous-al. 140*d*)(ii)

ue des biens Ordonnance de restitution

(3) Le tribunal peut ordonner que des biens qui autrement seraient confisqués en vertu des paragraphes 462.37(1) ou 462.38(2) soient restitués en tout ou en partie à une personne - autre que celle qui est accusée d'une infraction désignée, ou qui a été déclarée coupable d'une telle infraction, ou celle qui a obtenu un titre ou un droit de possession sur ces biens d'une personne accusée d'une telle infraction dans des circonstances telles qu'elles permettent raisonnablement d'induire que l'opération a été effectuée dans l'intention d'éviter la confiscation des biens — à la condition d'être convaincu que cette personne en est le propriétaire légitime ou a droit à leur possession légitime et semble innocente de toute complicité ou de toute collusion à l'égard de la perpétration de l'infraction.

23. (1) Le paragraphe 462.42(1) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

462.42 (1) Toute personne qui prétend avoir

1997, ch. 18, sous-al. 140*d*)(iii)

un droit sur un bien confisqué au profit de Sa Majesté en vertu des paragraphes 462.37(1) ou 462.38(2) — à l'exception de celle qui est accusée de l'infraction désignée commise à l'égard du bien confisqué, ou qui a été déclarée coupable d'une telle infraction, ou celle qui a obtenu un titre ou un droit sur ce bien d'une personne accusée d'une telle infraction dans des circonstances telles qu'elles permettent raisonnablement d'induire que l'opéra-

tion a été effectuée dans l'intention d'éviter la confiscation des biens — peut dans les trente Demandes des tiers intéressés

L.R., ch. 42

(4e suppl.),

art. 2; 1996, ch. 19,

al. 70i)

declaring

interest not

subject to

forfeiture

C. 32

R.S., c. 42 (4th Supp.), s. 2; 1996, c. 19, par. 70(*i*)

Order declaring interest not subject to forfeiture

Property

outside

Canada

R.S., c. 42

s. 2; 1996, c. 19.

par. 70(j)

No civil or

informants

criminal

liability incurred by

(4th Supp.),

(2) Subsection 462.42(4) of the English version of the Act is replaced by the following:

(4) Where, on the hearing of an application made under subsection (1), the judge is satisfied that the applicant is not a person referred to in paragraph (1)(a) or (b) and appears innocent of any complicity in any designated offence that resulted in the forfeiture or of any collusion in relation to any such offence, the judge may make an order declaring that the interest of the applicant is not affected by the forfeiture and declaring the nature and extent of the interest.

24. Section 462.43 of the Act is renumbered as subsection 462.43(1) and is amended by adding the following:

(2) An order may be issued under this section in respect of property situated outside Canada, with any modifications that the circumstances require.

25. Section 462.47 of the Act is replaced by the following:

462.47 For greater certainty but subject to section 241 of the *Income Tax Act*, a person is justified in disclosing to a peace officer or the Attorney General any facts on the basis of which that person reasonably suspects that any property is proceeds of crime or that any person has committed or is about to commit a designated offence.

26. (1) Subsection 462.48(1) of the Act is replaced by the following:

jours de la confiscation demander, par écrit, à un juge de rendre en sa faveur une ordonnance en vertu du paragraphe (4).

(2) Le paragraphe 462.42(4) de la version anglaise de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

(4) Where, on the hearing of an application made under subsection (1), the judge is satisfied that the applicant is not a person referred to in paragraph (1)(a) or (b) and appears innocent of any complicity in any designated offence that resulted in the forfeiture or of any collusion in relation to any such offence, the judge may make an order declaring that the interest of the applicant is not

24. L'article 462.43 de la même loi devient le paragraphe 462.43(1) et est modifié par adjonction de ce qui suit :

affected by the forfeiture and declaring the

nature and extent of the interest.

(2) Les ordonnances visées au présent article peuvent être rendues à l'égard de biens situés à l'étranger, avec les adaptations nécessaires.

25. L'article 462.47 de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

462.47 Il est déclaré pour plus de certitude mais sous réserve de l'article 241 de la *Loi de l'impôt sur le revenu* qu'aucune action ne peut être intentée contre une personne pour le motif qu'elle aurait révélé à un agent de la paix ou au procureur général des faits sur lesquels elle se fonde pour avoir des motifs raisonnables de croire que des biens sont des produits de la criminalité ou pour croire qu'une autre personne a commis une infraction désignée ou s'apprête à le faire.

26. (1) Le paragraphe 462.48(1) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

L.R., ch. 42 (4^e suppl.), art. 2; 1996, ch. 19, al. 70*k*);

1997, ch. 23,

par. 10(1)

Biens à

L.R., ch. 42 (4e suppl.), art. 2; 1996, ch. 19, al. 70*j*)

Nullité des actions contre les informateurs

R.S., c. 42 (4th Supp.), s. 2; 1996, c. 19, par. 70(*k*); 1997, c. 23, s. 10(1) Definition of "designated substance offence"

462.48 (1) In this section, "designated substance offence" means

- (a) an offence under Part I of the Controlled Drugs and Substances Act, except subsection 4(1) of that Act; or
- (b) a conspiracy or an attempt to commit, being an accessory after the fact in relation to, or any counselling in relation to, an offence referred to in paragraph (a).

Disclosure of income tax information

- (1.1) The Attorney General may make an application in accordance with subsection (2) for an order for disclosure of information under subsection (3), for the purposes of an investigation in relation to
 - (a) a designated substance offence;
 - (b) an offence against section 354 or 462.31 where the offence is alleged to have been committed in relation to any property, thing or proceeds obtained or derived directly or indirectly as a result of
 - (i) the commission in Canada of a designated substance offence, or
 - (ii) an act or omission anywhere that, if it had occurred in Canada, would have constituted a designated substance offence; or
 - (c) an offence against section 467.11, 467.12 or 467.13 or a conspiracy or an attempt to commit, or being an accessory after the fact in relation to, such an offence.

R.S., c. 42 (4th Supp.),

(2) The portion of subsection 462.48(2) of the English version of the Act before paragraph (a) is replaced by the following:

Application

(2) An application under subsection (1.1) shall be made *ex parte* in writing to a judge and be accompanied by an affidavit sworn on the information and belief of the Attorney General or a person specially designated by the Attorney General for that purpose deposing to the following matters, namely,

1997, c. 23, s. 10(2)

(3) Paragraph 462.48(2)(d) of the Act is replaced by the following:

462.48 (1) Au présent article, on entend par « infraction désignée (drogues et autres substances) » :

Définition de « infraction désignée (drogues et autres substances) »

Communicati-

renseignements

fiscaux

- a) soit une infraction prévue à la partie I de la *Loi réglementant certaines drogues et autres substances*, sauf le paragraphe 4(1) de cette loi:
- b) soit le complot ou la tentative en vue de commettre une telle infraction ou le fait d'en être complice après le fait ou d'en conseiller la perpétration.
- (1.1) Le procureur général peut, en conformité avec le paragraphe (2), demander une ordonnance en vertu du paragraphe (3) aux fins d'une enquête sur :
 - a) soit une infraction désignée (drogues et autres substances);
 - b) soit une infraction prévue à l'article 354 ou 462.31 qui aurait été commise à l'égard de biens, objets ou produits qui ont été obtenus ou proviennent directement ou indirectement de la perpétration au Canada d'une infraction désignée (drogues et autres substances) ou d'un acte ou d'une omission survenu à l'extérieur du Canada et qui, au Canada, aurait constitué une infraction désignée (drogues et autres substances);
 - c) soit un acte criminel prévu aux articles 467.11, 467.12 ou 467.13 ou le complot ou la tentative de commettre un tel acte ou la complicité après le fait à tel égard.
- (2) Le passage du paragraphe 462.48(2) de la version anglaise de la même loi précédant l'alinéa a) est remplacé par ce qui suit :

Application

L.R., ch. 42

(4e suppl.),

art. 2

- (2) An application under subsection (1.1) shall be made *ex parte* in writing to a judge and be accompanied by an affidavit sworn on the information and belief of the Attorney General or a person specially designated by the Attorney General for that purpose deposing to the following matters, namely,
- (3) L'alinéa 462.48(2)*d*) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

1997, ch. 23, par. 10(2) C. 32

(d) the facts relied on to justify the belief, on reasonable grounds, that the person referred to in paragraph (b) has committed or benefited from the commission of an offence referred to in paragraph (1.1)(a), (b) or (c) and that the information or documents referred to in paragraph (c) are likely to be of substantial value, whether alone or together with other material, to the investigation for the purposes of which the application is made.

d) les faits à l'origine des motifs raisonnables de croire que la personne mentionnée à l'alinéa b) a commis une infraction visée aux alinéas (1.1)a), b) ou c) — ou en a bénéficié — et que les renseignements ou documents demandés ont vraisemblablement une valeur importante, en soi ou avec d'autres éléments, pour l'enquête mentionnée dans la demande.

R.S., c. 42 (4th Supp.), s. 2

(4) The portion of subsection 462.48(3) of the English version of the Act before paragraph (a) is replaced by the following:

(3) Where the judge to whom an application under subsection (1.1) is made is satisfied

1997, c. 23, s. 11

27. Section 467.1 of the Act is replaced by the following:

Definitions

467.1 (1) The following definitions apply in this Act.

"criminal organization" « organisation criminelle »

- "criminal organization" means a group, however organized, that
 - (a) is composed of three or more persons in or outside Canada; and
 - (b) has as one of its main purposes or main activities the facilitation or commission of one or more serious offences that, if committed, would likely result in the direct or indirect receipt of a material benefit, including a financial benefit, by the group or by any of the persons who constitute the group.

It does not include a group of persons that forms randomly for the immediate commission of a single offence.

"serious offence" « infraction grave » "serious offence" means an indictable offence under this or any other Act of Parliament for which the maximum punishment is imprisonment for five years or more, or another offence that is prescribed by regulation.

(4) Le passage du paragraphe 462.48(3) de la version anglaise de la même loi précédant l'alinéa a) est remplacé par ce qui suit :

L.R., ch. 42 (4^e suppl.), art. 2

(3) Where the judge to whom an application under subsection (1.1) is made is satisfied

27. L'article 467.1 de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

1997, ch. 23, art. 11

467.1 (1) Les définitions qui suivent s'appliquent à la présente loi.

Définitions

- « infraction grave » Tout acte criminel — prévu à la présente loi ou à une autre loi fédérale — passible d'un emprisonnement maximal de cinq ans ou plus, ou toute autre infraction désignée par règlement.
- « organisation criminelle » Groupe, quel qu'en soit le mode d'organisation :
 - a) composé d'au moins trois personnes se trouvant au Canada ou à l'étranger;
 - b) dont un des objets principaux ou une des activités principales est de commettre ou de faciliter une ou plusieurs infractions graves qui, si elles étaient commises, pourraient lui procurer ou procurer à une personne qui en fait partie —, directement ou indirectement, un avantage matériel, notamment financier.

La présente définition ne vise pas le groupe d'individus formé au hasard pour la perpétration immédiate d'une seule infraction. « infraction grave » "serious offence"

> « organisation criminelle » "criminal organization"

Facilitation

(2) For the purposes of this section and section 467.11, facilitation of an offence does not require knowledge of a particular offence the commission of which is facilitated, or that an offence actually be committed.

Commission of offence

(3) In this section and in sections 467.11 to 467.13, committing an offence means being a party to it or counselling any person to be a party to it.

Regulations

(4) The Governor in Council may make regulations prescribing offences that are included in the definition "serious offence" in subsection (1).

Participation in activities of criminal organization **467.11** (1) Every person who, for the purpose of enhancing the ability of a criminal organization to facilitate or commit an indictable offence under this or any other Act of Parliament, knowingly, by act or omission, participates in or contributes to any activity of the criminal organization is guilty of an indictable offence and liable to imprisonment for a term not exceeding five years.

Prosecution

- (2) In a prosecution for an offence under subsection (1), it is not necessary for the prosecutor to prove that
 - (a) the criminal organization actually facilitated or committed an indictable offence;
 - (b) the participation or contribution of the accused actually enhanced the ability of the criminal organization to facilitate or commit an indictable offence;
 - (c) the accused knew the specific nature of any indictable offence that may have been facilitated or committed by the criminal organization; or
 - (d) the accused knew the identity of any of the persons who constitute the criminal organization.
- (3) In determining whether an accused participates in or contributes to any activity of a criminal organization, the Court may consider, among other factors, whether the accused
 - (a) uses a name, word, symbol or other representation that identifies, or is associated with, the criminal organization;

(2) Pour l'application du présent article et de l'article 467.11, il n'est pas nécessaire, pour qu'il y ait facilitation d'une infraction, que la nature de celle-ci soit connue, ni que l'infraction soit réellement commise.

(3) Au présent article et aux articles 467.11 à 467.13, le fait de commettre une infraction comprend le fait de participer à sa perpétration ou de conseiller à une personne d'y participer.

(4) Le gouverneur en conseil peut, par règlement, désigner les infractions qui sont comprises dans la définition de « infraction grave » au paragraphe (1).

467.11 (1) Est coupable d'un acte criminel et passible d'un emprisonnement maximal de cinq ans quiconque sciemment, par acte ou omission, participe à une activité d'une organisation criminelle ou y contribue dans le but d'accroître la capacité de l'organisation de faciliter ou de commettre un acte criminel prévu à la présente loi ou à une autre loi fédérale.

(2) Dans une poursuite pour l'infraction prévue au paragraphe (1), le poursuivant n'a pas à établir les faits suivants :

- *a*) l'organisation criminelle a réellement facilité ou commis un acte criminel;
- b) la participation ou la contribution de l'accusé a accru la capacité de l'organisation criminelle de faciliter ou de commettre un acte criminel:
- c) l'accusé connaissait la nature exacte d'un acte criminel susceptible d'avoir été facilité ou commis par l'organisation criminelle;
- *d*) l'accusé connaissait l'identité de quiconque fait partie de l'organisation criminelle.
- (3) Pour déterminer si l'accusé participe ou contribue à une activité d'une organisation criminelle, le tribunal peut notamment prendre en compte les faits suivants :
 - a) l'accusé utilise un nom, un mot, un symbole ou une autre représentation qui identifie l'organisation criminelle ou y est associée:
 - b) il fréquente quiconque fait partie de l'organisation criminelle;

Facilitation

Perpétration d'une infraction

Règlement

Participation aux activités d'une organisation criminelle

Poursuite

Facteurs

Factors

C. 32

- (b) frequently associates with any of the persons who constitute the criminal organization;
- (c) receives any benefit from the criminal organization; or
- (d) repeatedly engages in activities at the instruction of any of the persons who constitute the criminal organization.

Commission of offence for criminal organization

467.12 (1) Every person who commits an indictable offence under this or any other Act of Parliament for the benefit of, at the direction of, or in association with, a criminal organization is guilty of an indictable offence and liable to imprisonment for a term not exceeding fourteen years.

Prosecution

(2) In a prosecution for an offence under subsection (1), it is not necessary for the prosecutor to prove that the accused knew the identity of any of the persons who constitute the criminal organization.

Instructing commission of offence for criminal organization

467.13 (1) Every person who is one of the persons who constitute a criminal organization and who knowingly instructs, directly or indirectly, any person to commit an offence under this or any other Act of Parliament for the benefit of, at the direction of, or in association with, the criminal organization is guilty of an indictable offence and liable to imprisonment for life.

Prosecution

- (2) In a prosecution for an offence under subsection (1), it is not necessary for the prosecutor to prove that
 - (a) an offence other than the offence under subsection (1) was actually committed;
 - (b) the accused instructed a particular person to commit an offence; or
 - (c) the accused knew the identity of all of the persons who constitute the criminal organization.

Sentences to be served consecutively

467.14 A sentence imposed on a person for an offence under section 467.11, 467.12 or 467.13 shall be served consecutively to any other punishment imposed on the person for an offence arising out of the same event or series of events and to any other sentence to which the person is subject at the time the sentence is imposed on the person for an offence under any of those sections.

- c) il reçoit des avantages de l'organisation criminelle;
- d) il exerce régulièrement des activités selon les instructions d'une personne faisant partie de l'organisation criminelle.

467.12 (1) Est coupable d'un acte criminel et passible d'un emprisonnement maximal de quatorze ans quiconque commet un acte criminel prévu à la présente loi ou à une autre loi fédérale au profit ou sous la direction d'une organisation criminelle, ou en association avec elle.

Infraction au profit d'une organisation criminelle

(2) Dans une poursuite pour l'infraction prévue au paragraphe (1), le poursuivant n'a pas à établir que l'accusé connaissait l'identité de quiconque fait partie de l'organisation criminelle.

Poursuite

467.13 (1) Est coupable d'un acte criminel et passible d'un emprisonnement à perpétuité quiconque fait partie d'une organisation criminelle et, sciemment, charge directement ou indirectement une personne de commettre une infraction prévue à la présente loi ou à une autre loi fédérale au profit ou sous la direction de l'organisation criminelle, ou en association avec elle.

Charger une personne de commettre infraction

(2) Dans une poursuite pour l'infraction prévue au paragraphe (1), le poursuivant n'a pas à établir les faits suivants :

Poursuite

- a) une infraction, autre que celle prévue à ce paragraphe, a réellement été commise;
- b) l'accusé a chargé une personne en particulier de commettre l'infraction;
- c) l'accusé connaissait l'identité de toutes les personnes faisant partie de l'organisation criminelle.

467.14 La peine infligée à une personne pour une infraction prévue aux articles 467.11, 467.12 ou 467.13 est purgée consécutivement à toute autre peine sanctionnant une autre infraction basée sur les mêmes faits et à toute autre peine en cours d'exécution.

Peines consécutives 1997, c. 23, s. 11

Powers of the Attorney General of Canada

28. Section 467.2 of the Act is replaced by the following:

- **467.2** (1) Notwithstanding the definition of "Attorney General" in section 2, the Attorney General of Canada may conduct proceedings in respect of
 - (a) an offence under section 467.11; or
 - (b) another criminal organization offence where the alleged offence arises out of conduct that in whole or in part is in relation to an alleged contravention of an Act of Parliament or a regulation made under such an Act, other than this Act or a regulation made under this Act.

For those purposes, the Attorney General of Canada may exercise all the powers and perform all the duties and functions assigned to the Attorney General by or under this Act.

Powers of the Attorney General of a province (2) Subsection (1) does not affect the authority of the Attorney General of a province to conduct proceedings in respect of an offence referred to in section 467.11, 467.12 or 467.13 or to exercise any of the powers or perform any of the duties and functions assigned to the Attorney General by or under this Act.

29. (1) Section 486 of the Act is amended by adding the following after subsection (1.4):

Protection of justice system participants

(1.5) For the purposes of subsection (1) and for greater certainty, the "proper administration of justice" includes ensuring the protection of justice system participants who are involved in the proceedings.

1997, c. 16, ss. 6(2) and (3)

Testimony outside court room

(2) Subsections 486(2.11) and (2.2) of the Act are replaced by the following:

- (2.101) Notwithstanding section 650, where an accused is charged with an offence under section 423.1, 467.11, 467.12 or 467.13, or a serious offence committed for the benefit of, at the direction of, or in association with, a criminal organization, the presiding judge or justice, as the case may be, may order that any witness testify
 - (a) outside the court room, if the judge or justice is of the opinion that the order is necessary to protect the safety of the witness; and

28. L'article 467.2 de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

467.2 (1) Par dérogation à la définition de « procureur général » à l'article 2, le procureur général du Canada peut intenter des poursuites :

a) à l'égard de l'infraction prévue à l'article 467.11;

b) à l'égard d'une autre infraction d'organisation criminelle dans les cas où l'infraction présumée découle de comportements constituant en tout ou en partie une présumée contravention à une loi fédérale autre que la présente loi ou aux règlements d'application de cette loi fédérale.

À cette fin, il a tous les pouvoirs et fonctions attribués en vertu de la présente loi au procureur général.

(2) Le paragraphe (1) n'a pas pour effet de porter atteinte à la compétence dont dispose le procureur général d'une province d'intenter des poursuites à l'égard d'une infraction mentionnée aux articles 467.11, 467.12 ou 467.13 ou d'exercer tous les pouvoirs et fonctions attribués en vertu de la présente loi au procureur général.

29. (1) L'article 486 de la même loi est modifié par adjonction, après le paragraphe (1.4), de ce qui suit :

(1.5) Pour l'application du paragraphe (1), il demeure entendu que relève de la bonne administration de la justice la protection des personnes associées au système judiciaire qui prennent part à la procédure.

(2) Les paragraphes 486(2.11) et (2.2) de la même loi sont remplacés par ce qui suit :

(2.101) Par dérogation à l'article 650, lorsqu'une personne est accusée d'une infraction prévue aux articles 423.1, 467.11, 467.12 ou 467.13 ou d'une infraction grave présumée avoir été commise au profit ou sous la direction d'une organisation criminelle, ou en association avec elle, le juge qui préside le procès ou le juge de paix peut ordonner qu'un témoin dépose :

a) soit à l'extérieur de la salle d'audience s'il est d'avis que cela est nécessaire pour assurer la protection du témoin; 1997, ch. 23, art. 11

Pouvoirs du procureur général du

Pouvoirs du procureur d'une province

Protection des personnes associées au système judiciaire

1997, ch. 16, par. 6(2) et

Exclusion

C. 32

(b) outside the court room or behind a screen or other device that would allow the witness not to see the accused, if the judge or justice is of the opinion that the order is necessary to obtain a full and candid account from the witness.

Same procedure for opinion (2.11) Where the judge or justice is of the opinion that it is necessary for the complainant or witness to testify in order to determine whether an order under subsection (2.1) or (2.101) should be made in respect of that complainant or witness, the judge or justice shall order that the complainant or witness testify pursuant to that subsection.

Condition of exclusion

(2.2) A complainant or witness shall not testify outside the court room pursuant to subsection (2.1), (2.101) or (2.11) unless arrangements are made for the accused, the judge or justice and the jury to watch the testimony of the complainant or witness by means of closed-circuit television or otherwise and the accused is permitted to communicate with counsel while watching the testimony.

1999, c. 25, s. 2(3)

(3) Subsection 486(4.1) of the Act is replaced by the following:

Ban on publication, etc.

(4.1) A judge or justice may, in any proceedings against an accused other than in respect of an offence set out in subsection (3), make an order directing that the identity of a victim or witness — or, in the case of an offence under section 423.1 or a criminal organization offence, the identity of a justice system participant who is involved in the proceedings — or any information that could disclose their identity, shall not be published in any document or broadcast in any way, if the judge or justice is satisfied that the order is necessary for the proper administration of justice.

1999, c. 25, s. 2(3)

(4) Paragraphs 486(4.7)(b) to (e) of the Act are replaced by the following:

- (b) whether there is a real and substantial risk that the victim, witness or justice system participant would suffer significant harm if their identity were disclosed;
- (c) whether the victim, witness or justice system participant needs the order for their

b) soit à l'extérieur de la salle d'audience ou derrière un écran ou un dispositif qui permet au témoin de ne pas voir l'accusé s'il est d'avis que cela est nécessaire pour obtenir du témoin un récit complet et franc des faits.

(2.11) Le juge ou le juge de paix qui estime devoir entendre le témoin ou le plaignant pour se faire une opinion sur la nécessité d'une telle ordonnance est toutefois tenu de procéder à l'audition de la manière prévue aux paragraphes (2.1) ou (2.101).

Audition du plaignant ou du témoin

(2.2) Le témoin ou le plaignant ne peut témoigner à l'extérieur de la salle d'audience en vertu des paragraphes (2.1), (2.101) ou (2.11) que si la possibilité est donnée à l'accusé ainsi qu'au juge ou au juge de paix et au jury d'assister au témoignage par télévision en circuit fermé ou par un autre moyen et si l'accusé peut communiquer avec son avocat pendant le témoignage.

Conditions de

(3) Le paragraphe 486(4.1) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

1999, ch. 25, par. 2(3)

(4.1) Le juge ou le juge de paix peut, dans toute procédure à l'égard d'une infraction à la présente loi autre que celles visées au paragraphe (3), rendre une ordonnance interdisant de publier ou de diffuser de quelque autre façon l'identité d'une victime ou d'un témoin, ou, dans le cas d'une procédure à l'égard d'une infraction prévue à l'article 423.1 ou d'une infraction d'organisation criminelle, celle d'une personne associée au système judiciaire qui participe à la procédure, ou des renseignements qui permettraient de la découvrir, s'il est convaincu que la bonne administration de la justice l'exige.

(4) Les alinéas 486(4.7)b) à e) de la même loi sont remplacés par ce qui suit :

- b) le risque sérieux d'atteinte au droit à la vie privée de la victime, du témoin ou de la personne associée au système judiciaire, si
- c) la nécessité d'assurer la sécurité de la victime, du témoin ou de la personne

leur identité est révélée:

ordonnances limitant la publication

Autres

1999, ch. 25, par. 2(3) security or to protect them from intimidation or retaliation;

- (d) society's interest in encouraging the reporting of offences and the participation of victims, witnesses and justice system participants in the criminal justice process;
- (e) whether effective alternatives are available to protect the identity of the victim, witness or justice system participant;

1999, c. 25, s. 2(3)

(5) Paragraph 486(4.9)(c) of the Act is replaced by the following:

(c) any other information that could identify the person to whom the application relates as a victim, witness or justice system participant in the proceedings.

1997, c. 23, s. 15

30. (1) The portion of subsection 490.1(1) of the Act before paragraph (a) is replaced by the following:

Order of forfeiture of property on conviction **490.1** (1) Subject to sections 490.3 to 490.41, where a person is convicted of an indictable offence under this Act and, on application of the Attorney General, the court is satisfied, on a balance of probabilities, that any property is offence-related property and that the offence was committed in relation to that property, the court shall

1997, c. 23, s. 15

(2) Subsections 490.1(2) and (3) of the Act are replaced by the following:

Property related to other offences (2) Subject to sections 490.3 to 490.41, where the evidence does not establish to the satisfaction of the court that the indictable offence under this Act of which a person has been convicted was committed in relation to property in respect of which an order of forfeiture would otherwise be made under subsection (1) but the court is satisfied, beyond a reasonable doubt, that the property is offence-related property, the court may make an order of forfeiture under subsection (1) in relation to that property.

Property outside Canada (2.1) An order may be issued under this section in respect of property situated outside Canada, with any modifications that the circumstances require.

associée au système judiciaire et leur protection contre l'intimidation et les représailles;

- d) l'intérêt de la société à encourager la dénonciation des infractions et la participation des victimes, des témoins et des personnes associées au système judiciaire;
- *e*) l'existence d'autres moyens efficaces permettant de protéger l'identité de la victime, du témoin ou de la personne associée au système judiciaire;

(5) L'alinéa 486(4.9)c) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

1999, ch. 25, par. 2(3)

c) tout autre renseignement qui permettrait de découvrir l'identité de la victime, du témoin ou de la personne associée au système judiciaire.

30. (1) Le passage du paragraphe 490.1(1) de la même loi précédant l'alinéa a) est remplacé par ce qui suit :

1997, ch. 23, art. 15

490.1 (1) Sous réserve des articles 490.3 à 490.41 et sur demande du procureur général, le tribunal qui déclare une personne coupable d'un acte criminel prévu à la présente loi et qui est convaincu, selon la prépondérance des probabilités, que des biens infractionnels sont liés à la perpétration de cette infraction ordonne que les biens infractionnels soient confisqués au profit :

Confiscation lors de la déclaration de culpabilité

(2) Les paragraphes 490.1(2) et (3) de la même loi sont remplacés par ce qui suit :

1997, ch. 23, art. 15

(2) Sous réserve des articles 490.3 à 490.41, le tribunal peut rendre une ordonnance de confiscation aux termes du paragraphe (1) à l'égard de biens dont il n'est pas convaincu qu'ils sont liés à l'acte criminel prévu à la présente loi, à la condition toutefois d'être convaincu, hors de tout doute raisonnable, qu'il s'agit de biens infractionnels.

Biens liés à d'autres infractions

(2.1) Les ordonnances visées au présent article peuvent être rendues à l'égard de biens situés à l'étranger, avec les adaptations nécessaires.

Biens à l'étranger

Appel

C. 32

Appeal

(3) A person who has been convicted of an indictable offence under this Act or the Attorney General may appeal to the court of appeal from an order or a failure to make an order under subsection (1) as if the appeal were an appeal against the sentence imposed on the person in respect of the offence.

1997, c. 23, s. 15

31. (1) Subsections 490.2(1) and (2) of the Act are replaced by the following:

Application for in rem forfeiture

490.2 (1) Where an information has been laid in respect of an indictable offence under this Act, the Attorney General may make an application to a judge for an order of forfeiture under subsection (2).

Order of forfeiture of property

- (2) Subject to sections 490.3 to 490.41, where an application is made to a judge under subsection (1) and the judge is satisfied
 - (a) beyond a reasonable doubt that any property is offence-related property,
 - (b) that proceedings in respect of an indictable offence under this Act in relation to the property referred to in paragraph (a) were commenced, and
 - (c) that the accused charged with the offence has died or absconded.

the judge shall order that the property be forfeited and disposed of in accordance with subsection (4).

1997, c. 23,

(2) The portion of subsection 490.2(3) of the English version of the Act before paragraph (a) is replaced by the following:

Accused deemed absconded

1997, c. 23, s. 15

(3) For the purpose of subsection (2), an accused is deemed to have absconded in connection with the indictable offence if

(3) Paragraph 490.2(3)(a) of the French version of the Act is replaced by the following:

- a) elle a fait l'objet d'une dénonciation l'accusant de l'acte criminel;
- (4) Section 490.2 of the Act is amended by adding the following after subsection (4):

(3) La personne qui a été reconnue coupable d'un acte criminel prévu à la présente loi peut, de même que le procureur général, interjeter appel devant la cour d'appel de l'ordonnance rendue aux termes du paragraphe (1) ou de la décision du tribunal de ne pas rendre une telle ordonnance, comme s'il s'agissait d'un appel interjeté à l'encontre de la peine infligée à la personne relativement à l'infraction.

31. (1) Les paragraphes 490.2(1) et (2) de la même loi sont remplacés par ce qui suit :

1997, ch. 23, art. 15

490.2 (1) En cas de dépôt d'une dénonciation visant la perpétration d'un acte criminel prévu à la présente loi, le procureur général peut demander à un juge de rendre une ordonnance de confiscation aux termes du paragraphe (2).

Demande de confiscation réelle

(2) Sous réserve des articles 490.3 à 490.41, le juge saisi de la demande doit rendre une ordonnance de confiscation et de disposition à l'égard des biens en question conformément au paragraphe (4), s'il est convaincu que les conditions suivantes sont réunies :

Ordonnance confiscation

- a) les biens sont, hors de tout doute raisonnable, des biens infractionnels;
- b) des procédures ont été engagées relativement à l'acte criminel prévu à la présente loi ayant trait à ces biens;
- c) la personne accusée de l'infraction est décédée ou s'est esquivée.

(2) Le passage du paragraphe 490.2(3) de la version anglaise de la même loi précédant l'alinéa a) est remplacé par ce qui suit :

1997, ch. 23, art. 15

(3) For the purpose of subsection (2), an accused is deemed to have absconded in connection with the indictable offence if

Accused deemed absconded

- (3) L'alinéa 490.2(3)a) de la version française de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit:
 - a) elle a fait l'objet d'une dénonciation l'accusant de l'acte criminel;
- (4) L'article 490.2 de la même loi est modifié par adjonction, après le paragraphe (4), de ce qui suit :

1997, ch. 23, art. 15

Biens à

l'étranger

1997, ch. 23,

art. 15

Property Canada

(4.1) An order may be issued under this section in respect of property situated outside Canada, with any modifications that the circumstances require.

1997, c. 23, s. 15

32. (1) Paragraph 490.4(2)(c) of the Act is replaced by the following:

(c) set out the offence charged and a description of the property.

1997, c. 23, s. 15

(2) Paragraph 490.4(3)(a) of the Act is replaced by the following:

(a) a person who was charged with an indictable offence under this Act, or

33. The Act is amended by adding the following after section 490.4:

Notice

490.41 (1) Where all or part of offence-related property that would otherwise be forfeited under subsection 490.1(1) or 490.2(2) is a dwelling-house, before making an order of forfeiture, a court shall require notice in accordance with subsection (2) to be given to, and may hear, any person who resides in the dwelling-house and is a member of the immediate family of the person charged with or convicted of the indictable offence under this Act in relation to which the property would be forfeited.

Manner of giving notice

- (2) A notice shall
- (a) be given or served in the manner that the court directs or that may be specified in the rules of the court;
- (b) be of any duration that the court considers reasonable or that may be specified in the rules of the court: and

(4.1) Les ordonnances visées au présent article peuvent être rendues à l'égard de biens situés à l'étranger, avec les adaptations néces-

32. (1) L'alinéa 490.4(2)c) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

c) mentionne l'infraction à l'origine de l'accusation et comporte une description du bien en question.

(2) Le paragraphe 490.4(3) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

Ordonnance de restitution

art. 15

1997, ch. 23,

(3) Le tribunal peut ordonner que des biens confiscables en vertu des paragraphes 490.1(1) ou 490.2(2) soient restitués en tout ou en partie à une personne — autre que celle qui est accusée d'un acte criminel prévu à la présente loi ou celle qui a obtenu un titre ou un droit de possession sur ces biens de la personne accusée d'une telle infraction dans des circonstances telles qu'elles permettent raisonnablement d'induire que l'opération a été effectuée dans l'intention d'éviter la confiscation des biens — à la condition d'être convaincu que cette personne en est le propriétaire légitime ou a droit à leur possession et semble innocente de toute complicité ou collusion à l'égard de l'infraction.

33. La même loi est modifiée par adjonction, après l'article 490.4, de ce qui suit :

490.41 (1) Avant de rendre une ordonnance confiscation de biens nels - composés d'une maison d'habitation en tout ou en partie — confiscables en vertu des paragraphes 490.1(1) ou 490.2(2), le tribunal exige que soit donné un avis conformément au paragraphe (2) à toute personne qui est membre de la famille immédiate de la personne accusée ou reconnue coupable d'un acte criminel prévu à la présente loi et lié à la confiscation des biens et qui habite la maison; le tribunal peut aussi entendre un tel membre.

(2) L'avis:

a) est donné ou signifié selon les modalités précisées par le tribunal ou prévues par les règles de celui-ci;

b) est donné dans le délai que le tribunal estime raisonnable ou que fixent les règles de celui-ci;

Avis

Modalités de l'avis

(c) set out the offence charged and a description of the property.

Non-forfeiture of property

(3) Subject to an order made under subsection 490.4(3), if a court is satisfied that the impact of an order of forfeiture made under subsection 490.1(1) or 490.2(2) would be disproportionate to the nature and gravity of the offence, the circumstances surrounding the commission of the offence and the criminal record, if any, of the person charged with or convicted of the offence, as the case may be, it may decide not to order the forfeiture of the property or part of the property and may revoke any restraint order made in respect of that property or part.

Factors in relation to dwelling-house

- (4) Where all or part of the property that would otherwise be forfeited under subsection 490.1(1) or 490.2(2) is a dwelling-house, when making a decision under subsection (3), the court shall also consider
 - (a) the impact of an order of forfeiture on any member of the immediate family of the person charged with or convicted of the offence, if the dwelling-house was the member's principal residence at the time the charge was laid and continues to be the member's principal residence; and
 - (b) whether the member referred to in paragraph (a) appears innocent of any complicity in the offence or of any collusion in relation to the offence.

1997, c. 23, s. 15

34. (1) Paragraphs 490.5(1)(a) and (b) of the Act are replaced by the following:

- (a) in the case of property forfeited pursuant to an order made under subsection 490.1(1), a person who was convicted of the indictable offence in relation to which the property was forfeited,
- (b) in the case of property forfeited pursuant to an order made under subsection 490.2(2), a person who was charged with the indictable offence in relation to which the property was forfeited, or

1997, c. 23, s. 15

(2) Paragraph 490.5(4)(a) of the Act is replaced by the following:

- c) mentionne l'infraction à l'origine de l'accusation et comporte une description des biens.
- (3) Sous réserve d'une ordonnance rendue en vertu du paragraphe 490.4(3), le tribunal peut ne pas ordonner la confiscation de tout ou partie de biens infractionnels confiscables en vertu des paragraphes 490.1(1) ou 490.2(2) et annuler toute ordonnance de blocage à l'égard de tout ou partie des biens, s'il est convaincu que la confiscation serait démesurée par rapport à la nature et à la gravité de l'infraction, aux circonstances de sa perpétration et, s'il y a lieu, au casier judiciaire de la personne accusée ou reconnue coupable de l'infraction, selon le cas.
- (4) Dans le cas où les biens confiscables en vertu des paragraphes 490.1(1) ou 490.2(2) sont composés d'une maison d'habitation en tout ou en partie, le tribunal, pour rendre sa décision au titre du paragraphe (3), prend aussi en compte les facteurs suivants :
 - a) l'effet qu'aurait la confiscation à l'égard d'un membre de la famille immédiate de la personne accusée ou reconnue coupable de l'infraction, si la maison était la résidence principale de ce membre avant que l'accusation soit portée et elle continue de l'être par la suite;
 - b) le fait que le membre de la famille visé à l'alinéa a) semble innocent ou non de toute complicité ou collusion à l'égard de l'infraction.

34. (1) Les alinéas 490.5(1)a) et b) de la même loi sont remplacés par ce qui suit :

- a) celle qui a été reconnue coupable de l'acte criminel commis relativement à un bien confisqué aux termes du paragraphe 490.1(1);
- b) celle qui a été accusée de l'acte criminel commis relativement à un bien confisqué aux termes du paragraphe 490.2(2);

(2) L'alinéa 490.5(4)a) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

Non-confiscation de biens infractionnels

Facteurs : maison d'habitation

1997, ch. 23, art. 15

1997, ch. 23, art. 15

(a) is not a person referred to in paragraph (1)(a), (b) or (c) and appears innocent of any complicity in any indictable offence that resulted in the forfeiture of the property or of any collusion in relation to such an offence, and

1997, c. 23, s. 15

35. (1) Paragraph 490.8(2)(a) of the Act is replaced by the following:

(a) the indictable offence to which the offence-related property relates;

1997, c. 23, s. 15

(2) Subsection 490.8(3) of the Act is replaced by the following:

Restraint order (3) Where an application for a restraint order is made to a judge under subsection (1), the judge may, if satisfied that there are reasonable grounds to believe that the property is offence-related property, make a restraint order prohibiting any person from disposing of, or otherwise dealing with any interest in, the offence-related property specified in the order otherwise than in the manner that may be specified in the order.

Property outside Canada (3.1) A restraint order may be issued under this section in respect of property situated outside Canada, with any modifications that the circumstances require.

1997, c. 23, s. 15

(3) Paragraph 490.8(8)(a) of the Act is replaced by the following:

(a) an order is made under subsection 490(9) or (11), 490.4(3) or 490.41(3) in relation to the property; or

36. The Act is amended by adding the following after section 490.8:

Management order **490.81** (1) With respect to offence-related property other than a controlled substance within the meaning of the *Controlled Drugs and Substances Act*, on application of the Attorney General or of any other person with the written consent of the Attorney General, a judge or justice in the case of offence-related property seized under section 487, or a judge in the case of offence-related property restrained under section 490.8, may, where he or she is of the opinion that the circumstances so require,

(a) appoint a person to take control of and to manage or otherwise deal with all or part

a) d'une part, n'est pas l'une des personnes visées aux alinéas (1)a), b) ou c) et semble innocent de toute complicité ou collusion à l'égard de l'acte criminel qui a donné lieu à la confiscation;

35. (1) L'alinéa 490.8(2)a) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

1997, ch. 23, art. 15

a) désignation de l'acte criminel auquel est lié le bien:

(2) Le paragraphe 490.8(3) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

1997, ch. 23,

(3) Le juge saisi de la demande peut rendre une ordonnance de blocage s'il est convaincu qu'il existe des motifs raisonnables de croire que le bien est un bien infractionnel; l'ordonnance prévoit qu'il est interdit à toute personne de se départir du bien mentionné dans l'ordonnance ou d'effectuer des opérations sur les droits qu'elle détient sur lui, sauf dans la mesure où l'ordonnance le prévoit.

Ordonnance de blocage

(3.1) Les ordonnances de blocage visées au présent article peuvent être rendues à l'égard de biens situés à l'étranger, avec les adaptations nécessaires.

Biens à l'étranger

(3) L'alinéa 490.8(8)a) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

1997, ch. 23, art. 15

a) une ordonnance est rendue à l'égard du bien conformément aux paragraphes 490(9) ou (11), 490.4(3) ou 490.41(3);

36. La même loi est modifiée par adjonction, après l'article 490.8, de ce qui suit :

490.81 (1) À la demande du procureur général ou d'une autre personne munie de son consentement écrit, en ce qui concerne les biens infractionnels autres que les substances désignées au sens de la *Loi réglementant certaines drogues et autres substances*, le juge ou le juge de paix, à l'égard de tels biens saisis en vertu de l'article 487, ou le juge, à l'égard de tels biens bloqués en vertu de l'article 490.8, peut, s'il l'estime indiqué dans les circonstances:

a) nommer un administrateur et lui ordonner de prendre en charge ces biens en tout ou en partie, de les administrer ou d'effectuer

Ordonnance de prise en C. 32

of the property in accordance with the directions of the judge or justice; and

(b) require any person having possession of that property to give possession of the property to the person appointed under paragraph (a).

Appointment of Minister of Public Works and Government Services (2) When the Attorney General of Canada so requests, a judge or justice appointing a person under subsection (1) shall appoint the Minister of Public Works and Government Services.

Power to manage

- (3) The power to manage or otherwise deal with property under subsection (1) includes
 - (a) in the case of perishable or rapidly depreciating property, the power to make an interlocutory sale of that property; and
 - (b) in the case of property that has little or no value, the power to destroy that property.

Application for destruction order (4) Before a person appointed to manage property destroys property that has little or no value, he or she shall apply to a court for a destruction order.

Notice

(5) Before making a destruction order in relation to any property, a court shall require notice in accordance with subsection (6) to be given to, and may hear, any person who, in the opinion of the court, appears to have a valid interest in the property.

Manner of giving notice

- (6) A notice shall
- (a) be given or served in the manner that the court directs or that may be specified in the rules of the court; and
- (b) be of any duration that the court considers reasonable or that may be specified in the rules of the court.

Order

(7) A court may order that the property be destroyed if it is satisfied that the property has little or no value, whether financial or other.

When management order ceases to have effect (8) A management order ceases to have effect when the property that is the subject of the management order is returned in accordance with the law to an applicant or forfeited to Her Majesty.

toute autre opération à leur égard conformément aux directives du juge ou du juge de paix;

- b) ordonner à toute personne qui a la possession d'un bien, à l'égard duquel un administrateur est nommé, de le remettre à celui-ci.
- (2) À la demande du procureur général du Canada, le juge ou le juge de paix nomme le ministre des Travaux publics et des Services gouvernementaux à titre d'administrateur visé au paragraphe (1).

Ministre des Travaux publics et des Services gouvernementaux

Administration

(3) La charge d'administrer des biens ou d'effectuer toute autre opération à leur égard comprend notamment :

a) dans le cas de biens périssables ou qui se déprécient rapidement, le pouvoir de les vendre en cours d'instance;

b) dans le cas de biens qui n'ont pas ou peu de valeur, le pouvoir de les détruire.

(4) Avant de détruire un bien d'aucune ou de peu de valeur, la personne qui en a la charge est tenue de demander au tribunal de rendre une ordonnance de destruction.

Demande d'ordonnance de destruction

Avis

(5) Avant de rendre une ordonnance de destruction d'un bien, le tribunal exige que soit donné un avis conformément au paragraphe (6) à quiconque, à son avis, semble avoir un droit sur le bien; le tribunal peut aussi entendre une telle personne.

1

(6) L'avis :

a) est donné ou signifié selon les modalités précisées par le tribunal ou prévues par les règles de celui-ci;

b) est donné dans le délai que le tribunal estime raisonnable ou que fixent les règles de celui-ci.

(7) Le tribunal ordonne la destruction du bien s'il est convaincu que le bien n'a pas ou peu de valeur, financière ou autre.

(8) L'ordonnance de prise en charge cesse d'avoir effet lorsque les biens qu'elle vise sont remis, conformément à la loi, à celui qui présente une demande en ce sens ou sont confisqués au profit de Sa Majesté.

Modalités de l'avis

Ordonnance

Cessation d'effet de l'ordonnance de prise en charge Application to vary conditions

(9) The Attorney General may at any time apply to the judge or justice to cancel or vary any condition to which a management order is subject, but may not apply to vary an appointment made under subsection (2).

37. (1) Subsection 515(4.1) of the Act is amended by adding the following after paragraph (b):

(b.1) an offence under section 423.1 (intimidation of a justice system participant),

1999, c. 25, s. 8(4)

(2) The portion of subsection 515(4.2) of the Act before paragraph (a) is replaced by the following:

Additional conditions

(4.2) Before making an order under subsection (2), in the case of an accused who is charged with an offence described in section 264 or 423.1 or an offence in the commission of which violence against a person was used, threatened or attempted, the justice shall consider whether it is desirable, in the interests of the safety and security of any person, particularly a victim of or witness to the offence or a justice system participant, to include as a condition of the order

1997, c. 23, s. 16

(3) Subparagraph 515(6)(a)(ii) of the Act is replaced by the following:

(ii) that is an offence under section 467.11, 467.12 or 467.13, or a serious offence alleged to have been committed for the benefit of, at the direction of, or in association with, a criminal organization,

(9) Le procureur général peut demander au juge ou au juge de paix d'annuler ou de modifier une condition à laquelle est assujettie l'ordonnance de prise en charge, à l'exclusion d'une modification de la nomination effectuée en vertu du paragraphe (2).

37. (1) Le paragraphe 515(4.1) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

(4.1) Lorsqu'il rend une ordonnance en vertu du paragraphe (2) dans le cas d'une infraction perpétrée avec usage, tentative ou menace de violence contre autrui, de l'infraction visée aux articles 264 (harcèlement criminel) ou 423.1 (intimidation d'une personne associée au système judiciaire), d'une infraction aux paragraphes 5(3) ou (4), 6(3) ou 7(2) de la Loi réglementant certaines drogues et autres substances ou d'une infraction relative à une arme à feu, une arbalète, une arme prohibée, une arme à autorisation restreinte, un dispositif prohibé, des munitions, des munitions prohibées ou des substances explosives, le juge de paix doit, s'il en arrive à la conclusion qu'il est souhaitable de le faire pour la sécurité du prévenu, de la victime ou de toute autre personne, assortir l'ordonnance d'une condition lui interdisant, jusqu'à ce qu'il soit jugé conformé-

(2) Le passage du paragraphe 515(4.2) de la même loi précédant l'alinéa a) est remplacé par ce qui suit :

ment à la loi, d'avoir en sa possession de tels

objets ou l'un ou plusieurs de ceux-ci.

(4.2) Le juge de paix qui rend une ordonnance en vertu du paragraphe (2) dans le cas d'une infraction visée aux articles 264 ou 423.1 ou d'une infraction perpétrée avec usage, tentative ou menace de violence doit considérer s'il est souhaitable pour la sécurité de toute personne, en particulier celle des victimes, des témoins et des personnes associées au système judiciaire, d'imposer au prévenu, dans l'ordonnance, tout ou partie des obligations suivantes :

(3) Le sous-alinéa 515(6)a)(ii) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

(ii) ou bien qui est prévu aux articles 467.11, 467.12 ou 467.13 ou qui est une infraction grave présumée avoir été commise au profit ou sous la direction d'une

Demande de modification des conditions

1999, ch. 25, par. 8(3)

Condition additionnelle

1999, ch. 25, par. 8(4)

Opportunité d'assortir l'ordonnance d'une condition additionnelle

1997, ch. 23, art. 16

42

1992, c. 41, s. 1; 1998, c. 9, s. 5

38. Subsections 631(3) to (5) of the Act are replaced by the following:

To be drawn by clerk of court

- (3) The clerk of the court shall, in open court, draw out the cards referred to in subsection (1), one after another, and shall call out the name and number on each card as it is drawn, until the number of persons who have answered is, in the opinion of the judge, sufficient to provide a full jury after allowing for orders to excuse, challenges and directions to stand by where
 - (a) the array of jurors is not challenged; or
 - (b) the array of jurors is challenged but the judge does not direct a new panel to be returned.

Where name not to be called (3.1) On application by the prosecutor or on its own motion, the court, or a judge of the court, before which the jury trial is to be held, if it is satisfied that it is in the best interest of the administration of justice to do so, including in order to protect the privacy or safety of the members of the jury, may order that, for the purposes of subsection (3), the clerk of the court shall only call out the number on each card.

Juror and other persons to be sworn (4) The clerk of the court shall swear each member of the jury in the order in which his or her card was drawn and shall swear any other person providing technical, personal, interpretative or other support services to a juror with a physical disability.

Drawing additional cards if necessary

(5) Where the number of persons who answer under subsection (3) or (3.1) is not sufficient to provide a full jury, the clerk of the court shall proceed in accordance with subsections (3), (3.1) and (4) until twelve jurors are sworn.

Ban on publication,

(6) On application by the prosecutor or on its own motion, the court or judge before which a jury trial is to be held may, if an order under subsection (3.1) has been made, make an order directing that the identity of a juror or any information that could disclose their

organisation criminelle, ou en association avec elle;

38. Les paragraphes 631(3) à (5) de la même loi sont remplacés par ce qui suit :

1992, ch. 41, art. 1;1998, ch. 9, art. 5

(3) Si le tableau des jurés n'est pas récusé, ou s'il l'est mais que le juge n'ordonne pas la présentation d'une nouvelle liste, le greffier du tribunal tire, en pleine audience, l'une après l'autre les cartes mentionnées au paragraphe (1) et appelle les nom et numéro inscrits sur chaque carte au fur et à mesure que les cartes sont tirées, jusqu'à ce que le nombre de personnes ayant répondu soit, de l'avis du juge, suffisant pour constituer un jury complet, après qu'il a été pourvu aux dispenses, aux récusations et aux mises à l'écart.

Tirage par le greffier du tribunal

(3.1) Sur demande du poursuivant ou de sa propre initiative, le tribunal ou le juge du tribunal devant qui doit se tenir le procès avec jury peut, s'il estime que cela est dans l'intérêt de la bonne administration de la justice, et notamment en vue d'assurer la sécurité des jurés ou la confidentialité de leur identité, ordonner que seul le numéro inscrit sur la carte soit appelé par le greffier dans le cadre du paragraphe (3).

Procédure exceptionnelle

(4) Le greffier du tribunal assermente chaque membre du jury suivant l'ordre dans lequel les cartes des jurés ont été tirées ainsi que toute personne qui fournit une aide technique, personnelle ou autre, ou des services d'interprétation, aux membres du jury ayant une déficience physique.

Chaque juré est assermenté

(5) Lorsque le nombre de ceux qui ont répondu à l'appel en conformité avec les paragraphes (3) ou (3.1) ne suffit pas pour constituer un jury complet, le greffier du tribunal procède en conformité avec les paragraphes (3), (3.1) et (4) jusqu'à ce que douze jurés soient assermentés.

Tirage d'autres noms ou de numéros au besoin

(6) Sur demande du poursuivant ou de sa propre initiative, le tribunal ou le juge du tribunal devant qui doit se tenir le procès avec jury peut, s'il a rendu une ordonnance au titre du paragraphe (3.1), interdire de publier ou de diffuser de quelque autre facon leur identité ou Demande de non-publication

43

identity shall not be published in any document or broadcast in any way, if the court or judge is satisfied that such an order is necessary for the proper administration of justice.

des renseignements qui permettraient de la découvrir, s'il est convaincu que la bonne administration de la justice l'exige.

1992, c. 41, s. 2

39. The portion of section 632 of the Act before paragraph (a) is replaced by the following:

Excusing jurors

632. The judge may, at any time before the commencement of a trial, order that any juror be excused from jury service, whether or not the juror has been called pursuant to subsection 631(3) or (3.1) or any challenge has been made in relation to the juror, for reasons of

1992, c. 41,

40. Section 633 of the Act is replaced by the following:

Stand by

633. The judge may direct a juror who has been called pursuant to subsection 631(3) or (3.1) to stand by for reasons of personal hardship or any other reasonable cause.

1992, c. 41, s. 3

41. Section 641 of the Act is replaced by the following:

Calling jurors who have stood by **641.** (1) Where a full jury has not been sworn and no cards remain to be drawn, the cards of those who have been directed to stand by shall be drawn again in the order in which their cards were drawn and they shall be sworn, unless excused by the judge or challenged by the accused or the prosecutor.

Other jurors becoming available (2) Where, before a juror is sworn pursuant to subsection (1), other jurors in the panel become available, the prosecutor may require the cards of those jurors to be put into and drawn from the box in accordance with section 631, and those jurors shall be challenged, directed to stand by, excused or sworn, as the case may be, before the jurors who were originally directed to stand by are called again.

1992, c. 41, s. 5

42. Subsections 643(1) and (2) of the Act are replaced by the following:

39. Le passage de l'article 632 de la même loi qui précède l'alinéa *a*) est remplacé par ce qui suit :

art. 2

1992, ch. 41.

632. Le juge peut, avant le début du procès, dispenser un juré, que son nom ou son numéro ait ou non été tiré en application des paragraphes 631(3) ou (3.1) ou qu'une demande de récusation ait été ou non présentée à son égard, dans les cas suivants :

Dispenses

40. L'article 633 de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

1992, ch. 41,

633. Le juge peut ordonner qu'un juré dont le nom ou le numéro a été tiré en application des paragraphes 631(3) ou (3.1) se tienne à l'écart pour toute raison valable, y compris un inconvénient personnel sérieux pour le juré.

Mise à l'écart

41. L'article 641 de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

1992, ch. 41, art. 3

641. (1) Lorsqu'un jury complet n'a pas été assermenté et qu'il ne reste plus de cartes à tirer, les noms ou numéros de ceux à qui il a été ordonné de se tenir à l'écart sont de nouveau appelés suivant l'ordre dans lequel elles ont été tirées; ces jurés sont assermentés à moins qu'ils ne soient dispensés par le juge ou récusés par le prévenu ou le poursuivant.

Appel des jurés mis à l'écart

(2) Si, avant qu'un juré soit assermenté selon le paragraphe (1), d'autres jurés figurant sur la liste deviennent disponibles, le poursuivant peut demander que leurs cartes soient déposées dans la boîte et en soient tirées conformément à l'article 631; ils sont dispensés, récusés, mis à l'écart ou assermentés avant que les noms ou numéros des jurés mis à l'écart en premier lieu soient appelés de nouveau.

Autres jurés devenant disponibles

42. Les paragraphes 643(1) et (2) de la même loi sont remplacés par ce qui suit :

1992, ch. 41, art. 5

44

Who shall be jury

643. (1) The twelve jurors whose cards are drawn and who are sworn in accordance with this Part shall be the jury to try the issues of the indictment, and the jurors so drawn and sworn shall be kept apart until the jury gives its verdict or until it is discharged. Their cards shall then be returned to the box as often as occasion arises, as long as an issue remains to be tried before a jury.

Same jury may try another issue by consent

(2) The court may try an issue with the same jury in whole or in part that previously tried or was drawn to try another issue, without the jurors being sworn again, but if the prosecutor or the accused objects to any of the jurors or the court excuses any of the jurors, the court shall order those persons to withdraw and shall direct that the required number of cards to make up a full jury be drawn and, subject to the provisions of this Part relating to challenges, orders to excuse and directions to stand by, the persons whose cards are drawn shall be sworn.

R.S., c. 27 (1st Supp.),

jury

43. Subsection 645(5) of the Act is replaced by the following:

Ouestions (5) In any case to be tried with a jury, the reserved for judge before whom an accused is or is to be decision in a trial with a tried has jurisdiction, before any juror on a panel of jurors is called pursuant to subsection 631(3) or (3.1) and in the absence of any such juror, to deal with any matter that would ordinarily or necessarily be dealt with in the

1997, c. 23, s. 17

44. Subparagraph 718.2(a)(iv) of the French version of the Act is replaced by the following:

absence of the jury after it has been sworn.

(iv) que l'infraction a été commise au profit ou sous la direction d'une organisation criminelle, ou en association avec elle;

1997. c. 23. s. 18

45. Subsection 743.6(1.1) of the Act is replaced by the following:

Power of court to delay parole

(1.1) Notwithstanding section 120 of the Corrections and Conditional Release Act, where an offender receives a sentence of imprisonment of two years or more, including a sentence of imprisonment for life imposed otherwise than as a minimum punishment, on

643. (1) Les douze jurés dont les cartes sont tirées et qui sont assermentés en conformité avec la présente partie constituent le jury aux fins de juger les points de l'acte d'accusation; leurs cartes sont gardées à part jusqu'à ce que le jury ait rendu son verdict ou ait été libéré, sur quoi elles sont replacées dans la boîte aussi souvent que l'occasion se présente tant qu'il reste une affaire à juger devant un jury.

(2) Le tribunal peut instruire un procès avec le même jury, en totalité ou en partie, qui a déjà jugé ou qui a été tiré pour juger une autre affaire, sans que les jurés soient assermentés de nouveau; toutefois, si le poursuivant ou l'accusé a des objections contre l'un des jurés, ou si le tribunal en excuse un ou plusieurs, le tribunal ordonne à ces personnes de se retirer et demande que le nombre de cartes requis pour former un jury complet soit tiré et, sous réserve des autres dispositions de la présente partie relatives aux dispenses, récusations et mises à l'écart, les personnes dont les cartes sont tirées sont assermentées.

43. Le paragraphe 645(5) de la même loi

est remplacé par ce qui suit :

L.R., ch. 27 (1^{er} suppl.), art. 133

Ouestions en

l'absence du

(5) Dans le cas d'un procès par jury, le juge peut, avant que les candidats-jurés ne soient appelés en vertu des paragraphes 631(3) ou (3.1) et en l'absence de ceux-ci, décider des questions qui normalement ou nécessairement feraient l'objet d'une décision en l'absence du jury, une fois celui-ci constitué.

> 1997, ch. 23, art. 17

44. Le sous-alinéa 718.2a)(iv) de la version française de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

(iv) que l'infraction a été commise au profit ou sous la direction d'une organisation criminelle, ou en association avec elle;

45. Le paragraphe **743.6**(1.1) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

(1.1) Par dérogation à l'article 120 de la Loi sur le système correctionnel et la mise en liberté sous condition, le tribunal peut ordonner que le délinquant qui, pour une infraction d'organisation criminelle autre qu'une infraction prévue aux articles 467.11, 467.12 ou

1997, ch. 23, art. 18

Exception dans le cas d'une organisation criminelle

Qui forme le

par le même

conviction for a criminal organization offence other than an offence under section 467.11, 467.12 or 467.13, the court may order that the portion of the sentence that must be served before the offender may be released on full parole is one half of the sentence or ten years, whichever is less.

Power of court to delay parole

(1.2) Notwithstanding section 120 of the Corrections and Conditional Release Act, where an offender receives a sentence of imprisonment of two years or more, including a sentence of imprisonment for life, on conviction for an offence under section 467.11, 467.12 or 467.13, the court shall order that the portion of the sentence that must be served before the offender may be released on full parole is one half of the sentence or ten years, whichever is less, unless the court is satisfied, having regard to the circumstances of the commission of the offence and the character and circumstances of the offender, that the expression of society's denunciation of the offence and the objectives of specific and general deterrence would be adequately served by a period of parole ineligibility determined in accordance with the Corrections and Conditional Release Act.

1997, c. 23, s. 19

Fear of criminal organization offence, etc.

46. (1) Subsection 810.01(1) of the Act is replaced by the following:

810.01 (1) A person who fears on reasonable grounds that another person will commit an offence under section 423.1 or a criminal organization offence may, with the consent of the Attorney General, lay an information before a provincial court judge.

(2) Subsection 810.01(3) of the Act is replaced by the following:

Adjudication

(3) The provincial court judge before whom the parties appear may, if satisfied by the evidence adduced that the informant has reasonable grounds for the fear, order that the defendant enter into a recognizance to keep the peace and be of good behaviour for any period that does not exceed twelve months and to comply with any other reasonable conditions prescribed in the recognizance, includ-

467.13, est condamné sur déclaration de culpabilité à une peine d'emprisonnement de deux ans ou plus — y compris une peine d'emprisonnement à perpétuité à condition que cette peine n'ait pas constitué un minimum en l'occurrence — purge, avant d'être admissible à la libération conditionnelle totale, la moitié de sa peine jusqu'à concurrence de dix ans.

(1.2) Par dérogation à l'article 120 de la Loi sur le système correctionnel et la mise en liberté sous condition, le tribunal est tenu, sauf s'il est convaincu, compte tenu des circonstances de l'infraction et du caractère et des particularités du délinquant, que la réprobation de la société à l'égard de l'infraction commise et que l'effet dissuasif de l'ordonnance aurait la portée voulue si la période d'inadmissibilité était déterminée conformément à cette loi, d'ordonner que le délinquant condamné sur déclaration de culpabilité par mise en accusation à une peine d'emprisonnement d'au moins deux ans — y compris une peine d'emprisonnement à perpétuité - pour une infraction prévue aux articles 467.11, 467.12 ou 467.13, purge, avant d'être admissible à la libération conditionnelle totale, la moitié de sa peine jusqu'à concurrence de dix ans.

46. (1) Le paragraphe 810.01(1) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

810.01 (1) Quiconque a des motifs raisonnables de craindre qu'une personne commettra une infraction prévue à l'article 423.1 ou une infraction d'organisation criminelle peut, avec le consentement du procureur général, déposer une dénonciation devant un juge d'une cour provinciale.

(2) Le paragraphe 810.01(3) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

(3) Le juge devant lequel les parties comparaissent peut, s'il est convaincu, par la preuve apportée, que les craintes du dénonciateur sont fondées sur des motifs raisonnables, ordonner que le défendeur contracte l'engagement de ne pas troubler l'ordre public et d'observer une bonne conduite pour une période maximale de douze mois, ainsi que de se conformer aux autres conditions raisonna-

Pouvoir judiciaire de retarder la libération conditionnelle

1997, ch. 23, art. 19

Crainte d'infraction d'organisation criminelle ou d'intimidation

Décision

C. 32

ing the conditions set out in subsection (5), that the provincial court judge considers desirable for preventing the commission of an offence referred to in subsection (1).

Review of sections 25.1 to 25.4 of the Criminal Code

46.1 Within three years after this section comes into force, a review of sections 25.1 to 25.4 of the Criminal Code and their operation shall be undertaken by any committee of the Senate, of the House of Commons or of both Houses of Parliament that is designated or established for that purpose.

CONSEQUENTIAL AMENDMENTS

1996, c. 19

Controlled Drugs and Substances Act

47. The definition "offence-related property" in subsection 2(1) of the Controlled Drugs and Substances Act is replaced by the following:

"offence-related property' infractionnel »

1997, c. 18,

par. 140(b).

(c)(i); 1999, c. 5, s. 48

1996, c. 19,

s. 93.2

Restraint

order

- "offence-related property" means, with the exception of a controlled substance, any property, within or outside Canada,
 - (a) by means of or in respect of which a designated substance offence is committed,
 - (b) that is used in any manner in connection with the commission of a designated substance offence, or
 - (c) that is intended for use for the purpose of committing a designated substance offence;
- 48. Sections 8 and 9 of the Act are repealed.

49. (1) Subsections 14(3) and (4) of the Act are replaced by the following:

(3) Where an application for a restraint

order is made to a judge under subsection (1), the judge may, if satisfied that there are reasonable grounds to believe that the property is offence-related property, make a restraint order prohibiting any person from disposing of, or otherwise dealing with any interest in, the offence-related property specified in the order otherwise than in such manner as may be specified in the order.

bles énoncées dans l'engagement, y compris celles visées au paragraphe (5), que le juge estime souhaitables pour prévenir la perpétration d'une infraction visée au paragraphe (1).

46.1 Dans les trois ans qui suivent l'entrée en vigueur du présent article, le comité soit du Sénat, soit de la Chambre des communes, soit mixte, désigné ou constitué à cette fin procède à l'examen des articles 25.1 à 25.4 du Code criminel et de leur application.

Examen des articles 25.1 à 25.4 du Code criminel

MODIFICATIONS CORRÉLATIVES

Loi réglementant certaines drogues et autres substances

1996, ch. 19

- 47. La définition de « bien infractionnel », au paragraphe 2(1) de la Loi réglementant certaines drogues et autres substances, est remplacée par ce qui suit :
- « bien infractionnel » Bien situé au Canada ou à l'extérieur du Canada, à l'exception des substances désignées, qui sert ou donne lieu à la perpétration d'une infraction désignée ou qui est utilisé de quelque manière dans la perpétration d'une telle infraction, ou encore qui est destiné à servir à une telle fin.

« bien infractionnel » "offence-related property"

48. Les articles 8 et 9 de la même loi sont abrogés.

c)(i); 1999, ch. 5, art. 48 1996, ch. 19,

1997, ch. 18.

al. 140b),

49. (1) Les paragraphes 14(3) et (4) de la même loi sont remplacés par ce qui suit :

Ordonnance de blocage

art. 93.2

(3) Le juge saisi de la demande peut rendre une ordonnance de blocage s'il est convaincu qu'il existe des motifs raisonnables de croire que le bien est un bien infractionnel; l'ordonnance prévoit qu'il est interdit à toute personne de se départir du bien mentionné dans l'ordonnance ou d'effectuer des opérations sur les droits qu'elle détient sur lui, sauf dans la mesure où l'ordonnance le prévoit.

Biens à

l'étranger

Property outside Canada (4) A restraint order may be issued under this section in respect of property situated outside Canada, with any modifications that the circumstances require.

(2) Paragraph 14(9)(a) of the Act is replaced by the following:

(a) an order is made under subsection 19(3) or 19.1(3) of this Act or subsection 490(9) or (11) of the *Criminal Code* in relation to the property; or

50. The Act is amended by adding the following after section 14:

Management order

- **14.1** (1) On application of the Attorney General or of any other person with the written consent of the Attorney General, a justice in the case of offence-related property seized under section 11, or a judge in the case of offence-related property restrained under section 14, may, where he or she is of the opinion that the circumstances so require,
 - (a) appoint a person to take control of and to manage or otherwise deal with all or part of the property in accordance with the directions of the judge or justice; and
 - (b) require any person having possession of that property to give possession of the property to the person appointed under paragraph (a).

(2) When the Attorney General of Canada so requests, a judge or justice appointing a person under subsection (1) shall appoint the Minister of Public Works and Government Services.

Power to manage

Services

Appointment

of Minister of

Public Works

Government

and

- (3) The power to manage or otherwise deal with property under subsection (1) includes
 - (a) in the case of perishable or rapidly depreciating property, the power to make an interlocutory sale of that property; and
 - (b) in the case of property that has little or no value, the power to destroy that property.

(4) Les ordonnances de blocage visées au présent article peuvent être rendues à l'égard de biens situés à l'étranger, avec les adaptations nécessaires.

(2) L'alinéa 14(9)a) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

a) une ordonnance est rendue à l'égard du bien conformément aux paragraphes 19(3) ou 19.1(3) de la présente loi ou aux paragraphes 490(9) ou (11) du *Code criminel*;

50. La même loi est modifiée par adjonction, après l'article 14, de ce qui suit :

14.1 (1) À la demande du procureur général ou d'une autre personne munie de son consentement écrit, le juge de paix, à l'égard de biens infractionnels saisis en vertu de l'article 11, ou le juge, à l'égard de biens infractionnels bloqués en vertu de l'article 14, peut, s'il l'estime indiqué dans les circonstances :

Ordonnance de prise en charge

- a) nommer un administrateur et lui ordonner de prendre en charge ces biens en tout ou en partie, de les administrer ou d'effectuer toute autre opération à leur égard conformément aux directives du juge ou du juge de paix;
- b) ordonner à toute personne qui a la possession d'un bien, à l'égard duquel un administrateur est nommé, de le remettre à celui-ci.
- (2) À la demande du procureur général du Canada, le juge ou le juge de paix nomme le ministre des Travaux publics et des Services gouvernementaux à titre d'administrateur visé au paragraphe (1).
- (3) La charge d'administrer des biens ou d'effectuer toute autre opération à leur égard comprend notamment :
 - a) dans le cas de biens périssables ou qui se déprécient rapidement, le pouvoir de les vendre en cours d'instance;
 - b) dans le cas de biens qui n'ont pas ou peu de valeur, le pouvoir de les détruire.

Ministre des Travaux publics et des Services gouvernemen-

Administration

Application for destruction

48

(4) Before a person appointed to manage property destroys property that has little or no value, he or she shall apply to a court for a destruction order.

Notice

order

(5) Before making a destruction order in relation to any property, a court shall require notice in accordance with subsection (6) to be given to, and may hear, any person who, in the opinion of the court, appears to have a valid interest in the property.

Manner of giving notice

- (6) A notice shall
- (a) be given or served in the manner that the court directs or that may be specified in the rules of the court; and
- (b) be of any duration that the court considers reasonable or that may be specified in the rules of the court.

Order

(7) A court may order that the property be destroyed if it is satisfied that the property has little or no value, whether financial or other.

When management order ceases to have effect (8) A management order ceases to have effect when the property that is the subject of the management order is returned in accordance with the law to an applicant or forfeited to Her Majesty.

Application to vary conditions (9) The Attorney General may at any time apply to the judge or justice to cancel or vary any condition to which a management order is subject but may not apply to vary an appointment made under subsection (2).

51. (1) The portion of subsection 16(1) of the Act before paragraph (a) is replaced by the following:

Order of forfeiture of property on conviction **16.** (1) Subject to sections 18 to 19.1, where a person is convicted of a designated substance offence and, on application of the Attorney General, the court is satisfied, on a balance of probabilities, that any property is offence-related property and that the offence was committed in relation to that property, the court shall

(2) Subsection 16(2) of the Act is replaced by the following:

(4) Avant de détruire un bien d'aucune ou de peu de valeur, la personne qui en a la charge est tenue de demander au tribunal de rendre une ordonnance de destruction. Demande d'ordonnance de destruction

Modalités de

(5) Avant de rendre une ordonnance de destruction d'un bien, le tribunal exige que soit donné un avis conformément au paragraphe (6) à quiconque, à son avis, semble avoir un droit sur le bien; le tribunal peut aussi entendre une telle personne.

Avis

(6) L'avis:

a) est donné ou signifié selon les modalités précisées par le tribunal ou prévues par les règles de celui-ci;

b) est donné dans le délai que le tribunal estime raisonnable ou que fixent les règles de celui-ci.

Ordonnance

- (7) Le tribunal ordonne la destruction du bien s'il est convaincu que le bien n'a pas ou peu de valeur, financière ou autre.
- (8) L'ordonnance de prise en charge cesse d'avoir effet lorsque les biens qu'elle vise sont remis, conformément à la loi, à celui qui présente une demande en ce sens ou sont confisqués au profit de Sa Majesté.

Cessation d'effet de l'ordonnance de prise en charge

(9) Le procureur général peut demander au juge ou au juge de paix d'annuler ou de modifier une condition à laquelle est assujettie l'ordonnance de prise en charge, à l'exclusion d'une modification de la nomination effectuée en vertu du paragraphe (2).

Demande de modification des conditions

51. (1) Le passage du paragraphe 16(1) de la même loi précédant l'alinéa *a*) est remplacé par ce qui suit :

16. (1) Sous réserve des articles 18 à 19.1 et sur demande du procureur général, le tribunal qui déclare une personne coupable d'une infraction désignée et qui est convaincu, selon la prépondérance des probabilités, que des biens infractionnels sont liés à la perpétration de cette infraction ordonne :

Confiscation lors de la déclaration de culpabilité

(2) Le paragraphe 16(2) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

Property related to other offences

(2) Subject to sections 18 to 19.1, where the evidence does not establish to the satisfaction of the court that the designated substance offence of which a person has been convicted was committed in relation to property in respect of which an order of forfeiture would otherwise be made under subsection (1) but the court is satisfied, beyond a reasonable doubt, that that property is offence-related property, the court may make an order of forfeiture under subsection (1) in relation to that property.

Property (2.1) An order may be issued under this outside section in respect of property situated outside Canada Canada, with any modifications that the circumstances require.

52. (1) The portion of subsection 17(2) of the Act before paragraph (a) is replaced by the following:

Order of forfeiture of property

(2) Subject to sections 18 to 19.1, where an application is made to a judge under subsection (1) and the judge is satisfied

(2) Section 17 of the Act is amended by adding the following after subsection (4):

Property Canada

(5) An order may be issued under this section in respect of property situated outside Canada, with any modifications that the circumstances require.

53. The Act is amended by adding the following after section 19:

Notice

19.1 (1) Where all or part of offence-related property that would otherwise be forfeited under subsection 16(1) or 17(2) is a dwellinghouse, before making an order of forfeiture, a court shall require notice in accordance with subsection (2) to be given to, and may hear, any person who resides in the dwelling-house and is a member of the immediate family of the person charged with or convicted of the indictable offence under this Act in relation to which the property would be forfeited.

(2) Sous réserve des articles 18 à 19.1, le tribunal peut rendre une ordonnance de confiscation aux termes du paragraphe (1) à l'égard de biens dont il n'est pas convaincu qu'ils sont liés à l'infraction désignée dont la personne a été reconnue coupable, à la condition toutefois d'être convaincu, hors de tout doute raisonnable, qu'il s'agit de biens

infractionnels.

(2.1) Les ordonnances visées au présent article peuvent être rendues à l'égard de biens situés à l'étranger, avec les adaptations nécessaires.

52. (1) Le passage du paragraphe 17(2) de la même loi précédant l'alinéa a) est rem-

(2) Sous réserve des articles 18 à 19.1, le juge saisi de la demande doit rendre une ordonnance de confiscation et de disposition à l'égard des biens en question, conformément au paragraphe (4), s'il est convaincu que les conditions suivantes sont réunies :

placé par ce qui suit :

(2) L'article 17 de la même loi est modifié par adjonction, après le paragraphe (4), de ce qui suit:

(5) Les ordonnances visées au présent article peuvent être rendues à l'égard de biens situés à l'étranger, avec les adaptations nécessaires.

53. La même loi est modifiée par adjonction, après l'article 19, de ce qui suit :

19.1 (1) Avant de rendre une ordonnance de confiscation de biens infractionnels - composés d'une maison d'habitation en tout ou en partie — confiscables en vertu des paragraphes 16(1) ou 17(2), le tribunal exige que soit donné un avis conformément au paragraphe (2) à toute personne qui est membre de la famille immédiate de la personne accusée ou reconnue coupable d'un acte criminel prévu à la présente loi et lié à la confiscation des biens et qui habite la maison; le tribunal peut aussi entendre un tel membre.

Biens liés à d'autres infractions

Biens à l'étranger

Ordonnance confiscation

Biens à l'étranger

Avis

Manner of giving notice

(2) A notice shall

C. 32

- (a) be given or served in the manner that the court directs or that may be specified in the rules of the court;
- (b) be of any duration that the court considers reasonable or that may be specified in the rules of the court; and
- (c) set out the offence charged and a description of the property.

Non-forfeiture of real property (3) Subject to an order made under subsection 19(3), if a court is satisfied that the impact of an order of forfeiture made under subsection 16(1) or 17(2) in respect of real property would be disproportionate to the nature and gravity of the offence, the circumstances surrounding the commission of the offence and the criminal record, if any, of the person charged with or convicted of the offence, as the case may be, it may decide not to order the forfeiture of the property or part of the property and may revoke any restraint order made in respect of that property or part.

Factors in relation to dwelling-house

- (4) Where all or part of the property that would otherwise be forfeited under subsection 16(1) or 17(2) is a dwelling-house, when making a decision under subsection (3), the court shall also consider
 - (a) the impact of an order of forfeiture on any member of the immediate family of the person charged with or convicted of the offence, if the dwelling-house was the member's principal residence at the time the charge was laid and continues to be the member's principal residence; and
 - (b) whether the member referred to in paragraph (a) appears innocent of any complicity in the offence or of any collusion in relation to the offence.
- 54. Section 23 of the Act and the heading before it are repealed.
- 55. Section 55 of the Act is amended by adding the following after subsection (2):

(2) L'avis:

a) est donné ou signifié selon les modalités précisées par le tribunal ou prévues par les règles de celui-ci;

- b) est donné dans le délai que le tribunal estime raisonnable ou que fixent les règles de celui-ci;
- c) mentionne l'infraction à l'origine de l'accusation et comporte une description des biens.
- (3) Sous réserve d'une ordonnance rendue en vertu du paragraphe 19(3), le tribunal peut ne pas ordonner la confiscation de tout ou partie de biens immeubles confiscables en vertu des paragraphes 16(1) ou 17(2) et annuler toute ordonnance de blocage à l'égard de tout ou partie des biens, s'il est convaincu que la confiscation serait démesurée par rapport à la nature et à la gravité de l'infraction, aux circonstances de sa perpétration et, s'il y a lieu, au casier judiciaire de la personne accusée ou reconnue coupable de l'infraction, selon le cas.
- (4) Dans le cas où les biens confiscables en vertu des paragraphes 16(1) ou 17(2) sont composés d'une maison d'habitation en tout ou en partie, le tribunal, pour rendre sa décision au titre du paragraphe (3), prend aussi en compte les facteurs suivants :
 - a) l'effet qu'aurait la confiscation à l'égard d'un membre de la famille immédiate de la personne accusée ou reconnue coupable de l'infraction, si la maison était la résidence principale de ce membre avant que l'accusation soit portée et elle continue de l'être par la suite;
 - b) le fait que le membre de la famille visé à l'alinéa a) semble innocent ou non de toute complicité ou collusion à l'égard de l'infraction.
- 54. L'article 23 de la même loi et l'intertitre le précédant sont abrogés.
- 55. L'article 55 de la même loi est modifié par adjonction, après le paragraphe (2), de ce qui suit :

Modalités de

Non-confiscation de biens immeubles

Facteurs: maison d'habitation Regulations pertaining to law enforcement under other Acts of Parliament

- (2.1) The Governor in Council, on the recommendation of the Solicitor General of Canada, may, for the purpose of an investigation or other law enforcement activity conducted under another Act of Parliament, make regulations authorizing a member of a police force or other person under the direction and control of such a member to commit an act or omission or authorizing a member of a police force to direct the commission of an act or omission that would otherwise constitute an offence under Part I or the regulations and, without restricting the generality of the foregoing, may make regulations
 - (a) authorizing the Solicitor General of Canada, or the provincial minister responsible for policing in a province, to designate a police force within the Solicitor General's jurisdiction or the minister's jurisdiction, as the case may be, for the purposes of this subsection:
 - (b) exempting, on such terms and conditions as may be specified in the regulations, a member of a police force that has been designated pursuant to paragraph (a) and other persons acting under the direction and control of the member from the application of any provision of Part I or the regulations;
 - (c) respecting the issuance, suspension, cancellation, duration and terms and conditions of a certificate, other document or, in exigent circumstances, an approval to obtain a certificate or other document, that is issued to a member of a police force that has been designated pursuant to paragraph (a) for the purpose of exempting the member from the application of Part I or the regulations;
 - (d) respecting the detention, storage, disposal or other dealing with any controlled substance or precursor;
 - (e) respecting records, reports, electronic data or other documents in respect of a controlled substance or precursor that are required to be kept and provided by any person or class of persons; and
 - (f) prescribing forms for the purposes of the regulations.

- (2.1) Sur recommandation du solliciteur général du Canada, le gouverneur en conseil peut prendre des règlements, relativement aux enquêtes et autres activités policières menées aux termes de toute autre loi fédérale, en vue d'autoriser des membres d'un corps policier et toutes autres personnes agissant sous leur autorité et leur supervision à commettre un acte ou une omission ou à en ordonner la commission qui constituerait par ailleurs une infraction à la partie I ou aux règlements et notamment :
 - a) autoriser le solliciteur général du Canada ou le ministre responsable de la sécurité publique dans une province à désigner, pour l'application du présent paragraphe, un ou plusieurs corps policiers relevant de sa compétence;
 - b) soustraire, aux conditions précisées, tout membre d'un corps policier désigné aux termes de l'alinéa a) ou toute autre personne agissant sous son autorité et sa supervision à l'application de tout ou partie de la partie I ou des règlements;
 - c) régir, aux conditions précisées, la délivrance, la suspension, la révocation et la durée des certificats ou autres documents — ou, en cas de situation d'urgence, des approbations en vue de leur obtention — à remettre à un membre d'un corps policier désigné aux termes de l'alinéa a) en vue de le soustraire à l'application de tout ou partie de la partie I ou des règlements;
 - d) régir la rétention, l'entreposage et la disposition des substances désignées et des précurseurs;
 - e) régir les registres, rapports, données électroniques ou autres documents que doit tenir, établir ou fournir, en rapport avec les substances désignées ou les précurseurs, toute personne ou catégorie de personnes;
 - f) déterminer les imprimés ou formules à utiliser dans le cadre des règlements.

Règlements : activités policières

Mentions

56. Section 61 of the Act is replaced by the following:

References to prior enactments 61. Any reference in a designation by the Solicitor General of Canada under Part VI of the *Criminal Code* to an offence contrary to the *Narcotic Control Act* or Part III or IV of the *Food and Drugs Act* or any conspiracy or attempt to commit or being an accessory after the fact or any counselling in relation to such an offence shall be deemed to be a reference to an offence contrary to section 5 (trafficking), 6 (importing and exporting) or 7 (production) of this Act, as the case may be, or a conspiracy or attempt to commit or being an accessory after the fact or any counselling in relation to such an offence.

1992, c. 20

Corrections and Conditional Release Act

1996, c. 19,

57. Paragraphs 3(d) and (e) of Schedule II to the *Corrections and Conditional Release Act* are repealed.

1998, c. 34

Corruption of Foreign Public Officials Act

58. Sections 4 to 7 of the Corruption of Foreign Public Officials Act are repealed.

2000, c. 24

Crimes Against Humanity and War Crimes
Act

59. Subsection 9(3) of the *Crimes Against Humanity and War Crimes Act* is replaced by the following:

Personal consent of Attorney General (3) No proceedings for an offence under any of sections 4 to 7 of this Act, or under section 354 or subsection 462.31(1) of the *Criminal Code* in relation to property or proceeds obtained or derived directly or indirectly as a result of the commission of an offence under this Act, may be commenced without the personal consent in writing of the Attorney General or Deputy Attorney General of Canada, and those proceedings may be conducted only by the Attorney General of Canada or counsel acting on their behalf.

60. The heading before section 27 and sections 27 to 29 of the Act are repealed.

56. L'article 61 de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

61. La mention, dans une désignation établie par le solliciteur général du Canada aux termes de la partie VI du Code criminel, soit d'une infraction à la Loi sur les stupéfiants ou aux parties III ou IV de la Loi sur les aliments et drogues, soit du complot ou de la tentative de la commettre, de la complicité après le fait à son égard ou du fait de conseiller de la commettre vaut, selon le cas, mention soit d'une infraction aux articles 5 (trafic de substances), 6 (importation et exportation) ou 7 (production) de la présente loi, soit du complot ou de la tentative de la commettre, de la complicité après le fait à son égard ou du fait de conseiller de la commettre.

Loi sur le système correctionnel et la mise en liberté sous condition

> 1996, ch. 19, art. 64

57. Les alinéas 3d) et e) de l'annexe II de la Loi sur le système correctionnel et la mise en liberté sous condition sont abrogés.

Loi sur la corruption d'agents publics étrangers

58. Les articles 4 à 7 de la *Loi sur la corruption d'agents publics étrangers* sont abrogés.

Loi sur les crimes contre l'humanité et les crimes de guerre

guerre est remplacé par ce qui suit :

59. Le paragraphe 9(3) de la Loi sur les crimes contre l'humanité et les crimes de

(3) Les poursuites à l'égard des infractions visées aux articles 4 à 7 de la présente loi ou à l'article 354 ou au paragraphe 462.23(1) du Code criminel à l'égard de biens ou de leur produit qui ont été obtenus ou qui proviennent directement ou indirectement de la perpétration d'une infraction prévue à la présente loi, sont subordonnées au consentement personnel écrit du procureur général du Canada ou du sous-procureur général du Canada et sont menées par le procureur général du Canada ou en son nom.

60. L'intertitre précédant l'article 27 et les articles 27 à 29 de la même loi sont abrogés.

1992, ch. 20

1998. ch. 34

2000, ch. 24

Consentement personnel du procureur général

Crédit

61. Section 31 of the Act is replaced by the following:

Credits to Fund

- **31.** The Minister of Public Works and Government Services shall pay into the Crimes Against Humanity Fund
 - (a) the net amount received from the disposition of any property referred to in subsections 4(1) to (3) of the Seized Property Management Act that is
 - (i) proceeds of crime within the meaning of subsection 462.3(1) of the *Criminal Code*, obtained or derived directly or indirectly as a result of the commission of an offence under this Act, and
 - (ii) forfeited to Her Majesty and disposed of by that Minister; and
 - (b) any amount paid or recovered as a fine imposed under subsection 462.37(3) of the *Criminal Code* in substitution for the property referred to in paragraph (a).

R.S., c. 1 (2nd Supp.) Customs Act

1993, c. 25, s. 89; 1997, c. 18, ss. 119, 120 62. The heading before section 163.1 and sections 163.1 to 163.3 of the *Customs Act* are repealed.

R.S., c. E-14

Excise Act

1993, c. 25, s. 31 63. Section 2.1 of the *Excise Act* is replaced by the following:

Possession

- **2.1** For the purposes of subsections 225(1) and (3) and 235(3), section 239.1 and subsections 240(1) and (2), where one of two or more persons, with the knowledge and consent of the rest, has anything in the person's possession, it shall be deemed to be in the custody and possession of each and all of them.
- 1993, c. 25, s. 38; 1997, c. 18, ss. 121,
- 64. The heading before section 126.1 and sections 126.1 to 126.3 of the Act are repealed.

61. L'article 31 de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

31. Le ministre des Travaux publics et des Services gouvernementaux verse au Fonds pour les crimes contre l'humanité :

a) le montant net provenant de l'aliénation des biens visés aux paragraphes 4(1) à (3) de la *Loi sur l'administration des biens saisis* qui :

(i) sont des produits de la criminalité, au sens du paragraphe 462.3(1) du *Code criminel*, obtenus par la perpétration d'une infraction visée à la présente loi, ou qui en proviennent directement ou indirectement,

- (ii) ont été confisqués au profit de Sa Majesté et aliénés par lui;
- b) les amendes versées ou perçues en application du paragraphe 462.37(3) du *Code criminel* en remplacement des biens visés à l'alinéa a).

Loi sur les douanes

L.R., ch. 1 (2^e suppl.)

1993, ch. 25,

art. 89; 1997,

ch. 18,

62. L'intertitre précédant l'article 163.1 et les articles 163.1 à 163.3 de la *Loi sur les douanes* sont abrogés.

art. 119, 120

Loi sur l'accise

L.R., ch. E-14

63. L'article 2.1 de la *Loi sur l'accise* est remplacé par ce qui suit :

1993, ch. 25, art. 31

Possession

2.1 Pour l'application des paragraphes 225(1) et (3) et 235(3), de l'article 239.1 et des paragraphes 240(1) et (2), lorsqu'une de deux ou plusieurs personnes, au su et avec le consentement de l'autre ou des autres, a une chose en sa possession, cette chose est censée en la garde et la possession de toutes ces personnes et de chacune d'elles.

64. L'intertitre précédant l'article 126.1 et les articles 126.1 à 126.3 de la même loi sont abrogés.

1993, ch. 25, art. 38; 1997, ch. 18, art. 121, 122 R.S., c. 30 (4th Supp.)

Mutual Legal Assistance in Criminal Matters Act Loi sur l'entraide juridique en matière criminelle

L.R., ch. 30 (4^e suppl.)

Ordonnances

de blocage ou

de saisie

65. The *Mutual Legal Assistance in Criminal Matters Act* is amended by adding the following after section 9.2:

Foreign Orders for Restraint, Seizure and Forfeiture of Property in Canada

Orders for restraint or seizure

9.3 (1) When a written request is presented to the Minister by a state or entity, other than the International Criminal Court referred to in section 9.1, for the enforcement of an order for the restraint or seizure of property situated in Canada issued by a court of criminal jurisdiction of the state or entity, the Minister may authorize the Attorney General of Canada or an attorney general of a province to make arrangements for the enforcement of the order.

Filing of order

(2) On receipt of an authorization, the Attorney General of Canada or an attorney general of a province may file a copy of the order with the superior court of criminal jurisdiction of the province in which the property that is the subject of the order is believed to be located. On being filed, the order shall be entered as a judgment of that court and may be executed anywhere in Canada.

Conditions

- (3) Before filing an order, the Attorney General of Canada or an attorney general of a province must be satisfied that
 - (a) the person has been charged with an offence within the jurisdiction of the state or entity; and
 - (b) the offence would be an indictable offence if it were committed in Canada.

Effect of registered order

- (4) On being filed,
- (a) an order for the seizure of proceeds of crime may be enforced as if it were a warrant issued under subsection 462.32(1) of the *Criminal Code*;
- (b) an order for the restraint of proceeds of crime may be enforced as if it were an order made under subsection 462.33(3) of the *Criminal Code*;

65. La *Loi sur l'entraide juridique en matière criminelle* est modifiée par adjonction, après l'article 9.2, de ce qui suit :

Ordonnances de blocage, de saisie et de confiscation de biens situés au Canada

9.3 (1) Lorsqu'une demande est présentée par écrit au ministre par un État ou une entité, sauf la Cour pénale internationale visée à l'article 9.1, en vue de l'exécution d'une ordonnance de blocage ou de saisie de biens situés au Canada rendue par un tribunal de compétence criminelle de cet État ou cette entité, le ministre peut autoriser le procureur général du Canada ou d'une province à prendre les mesures d'exécution de l'ordonnance.

Homologation

- (2) Lorsqu'il reçoit une autorisation, le procureur général du Canada ou d'une province peut homologuer sur dépôt une copie certifiée conforme de l'ordonnance au greffe de la cour supérieure de juridiction criminelle de la province dans laquelle on a des raisons de croire que les biens qui font l'objet de l'ordonnance sont situés. Une fois homologuée, l'ordonnance vaut jugement de ce tribunal, exécutoire partout au Canada.
- (3) Avant d'homologuer sur dépôt une ordonnance, le procureur général du Canada ou d'une province doit être convaincu que :
 - a) la personne a été accusée d'une infraction relevant de la compétence de l'État ou de l'entité:
 - b) l'infraction serait un acte criminel si elle avait été commise au Canada.
 - (4) Une fois homologuée :
 - a) l'ordonnance de saisie de produits de la criminalité est exécutée comme si elle était un mandat délivré en vertu du paragraphe 462.32(1) du *Code criminel*;
 - b) l'ordonnance de blocage de produits de la criminalité est exécutée comme si elle était rendue en vertu du paragraphe 462.33(3) du *Code criminel*;

Exigence

Effet de l'homologation

- (c) an order for the seizure of offence-related property may be enforced as if it were a warrant issued under subsection 487(1) of the *Criminal Code* or subsection 11(1) of the *Controlled Drugs and Substances Act*, as the case may be; and
- (d) an order for the restraint of offence-related property may be enforced as if it were an order made under subsection 490.8(3) of the *Criminal Code* or subsection 14(3) of the *Controlled Drugs and Substances Act*, as the case may be.

Filing of amendments

(5) When an order is filed under subsection (2), a copy of any amendments made to the order may be filed in the same way as the order, and the amendments do not, for the purpose of this Act, have effect until they are registered.

Orders of forfeiture **9.4** (1) When a written request is presented to the Minister by a state or entity, other than the International Criminal Court referred to in section 9.1, for the enforcement of an order of forfeiture of property situated in Canada issued by a court of criminal jurisdiction of the state or entity, the Minister may authorize the Attorney General of Canada or an attorney general of a province to make arrangements for the enforcement of the order.

Grounds for refusal of request

- (2) The Minister shall refuse the request if he or she
 - (a) has reasonable grounds to believe that the request has been made for the purpose of punishing a person by reason of their race, sex, sexual orientation, religion, nationality, ethnic origin, language, colour, age, mental or physical disability or political opinion;
 - (b) is of the opinion that enforcement of the order would prejudice an ongoing proceeding or investigation;
 - (c) is of the opinion that enforcement of the order would impose an excessive burden on the resources of federal, provincial or territorial authorities;
 - (d) is of the opinion that enforcement of the order might prejudice Canada's security, national interest or sovereignty; or

- c) l'ordonnance de saisie de biens infractionnels est exécutée comme si elle était un mandat délivré en vertu du paragraphe 487(1) du Code criminel ou du paragraphe 11(1) de la Loi réglementant certaines drogues et autres substances;
- d) l'ordonnance de blocage de biens infractionnels est exécutée comme si elle était rendue en vertu du paragraphe 490.8(3) du *Code criminel* ou du paragraphe 14(3) de la *Loi réglementant certaines drogues et autres substances*, selon le cas.
- (5) Lorsqu'une ordonnance est homologuée sur dépôt en vertu du paragraphe (2), ses modifications le sont de la même façon. Pour l'application de la présente loi, ces modifications n'ont d'effet qu'après leur homologation.
- 9.4 (1) Lorsqu'une demande est présentée par écrit au ministre par un État ou une entité, sauf la Cour pénale internationale visée à l'article 9.1, en vue de l'exécution d'une ordonnance de confiscation de biens situés au Canada rendue par un tribunal de compétence criminelle de cet État ou cette entité, le ministre peut autoriser le procureur général du Canada ou d'une province à prendre les mesures d'exécution de l'ordonnance.
- (2) Le ministre refuse la demande dans les cas suivants :
 - a) il a des motifs raisonnables de croire que la demande est présentée dans le but de poursuivre ou de punir l'intéressé pour des motifs fondés sur la race, la nationalité, l'origine ethnique, la langue, la couleur, la religion, les convictions politiques, le sexe, l'orientation sexuelle, l'âge, le handicap physique ou mental ou les convictions politiques de l'intéressé;
 - b) il estime que l'exécution de l'ordonnance nuirait au déroulement d'une procédure ou d'une enquête en cours;
 - c) il estime que l'exécution de l'ordonnance entraînerait la mobilisation de ressources excessives par les autorités fédérales, provinciales ou territoriales;
 - d) il estime que l'exécution de l'ordonnance pourrait nuire à la sécurité, la souveraineté ou l'intérêt national du Canada:

Dépôt des modifications

Ordonnances de confiscation

Motifs de refus de la

Homologation

(e) is of the opinion that refusal of the request is in the public interest.

Filing of order

(3) On receipt of an authorization, the Attorney General of Canada or an attorney general of a province may file a copy of the order with the superior court of criminal jurisdiction of the province in which all or part of the property that is the subject of the order is believed to be located. On being filed, the order shall be entered as a judgment of that court and may be executed anywhere in Canada.

Deemed filing

(4) An order that is filed under subsection (3) by an attorney general of a province is deemed to be filed by the Attorney General of Canada.

Conditions

- (5) Before filing an order, the Attorney General of Canada or an attorney general of a province must be satisfied that
 - (a) the person has been convicted of an offence within the jurisdiction of the state or entity;
 - (b) the offence would be an indictable offence if it were committed in Canada; and
 - (c) the conviction and the order are not subject to further appeal.

Effect of registered order

- (6) From the date it is filed under subsection (3), subject to subsection (4),
 - (a) an order of forfeiture of proceeds of crime has the same effect as if it were an order under subsection 462.37(1) or 462.38(2) of the *Criminal Code*; and
 - (b) an order for the forfeiture of offence-related property has the same effect as if it were an order under subsection 490.1(1) or 490.2(2) of the *Criminal Code* or subsection 16(1) or 17(2) of the *Controlled Drugs and Substances Act*, as the case may be.

Filing of amendments

(7) When an order is filed under subsection (3), a copy of any amendments made to the order may be filed in the same way as the order, and the amendments do not, for the purpose of this Act, have effect until they are registered.

- *e*) il estime que l'intérêt public serait mieux servi par le refus de la demande.
- (3) Lorsqu'il reçoit une autorisation, le procureur général du Canada ou d'une province peut homologuer sur dépôt une copie certifiée conforme de l'ordonnance au greffe de la cour supérieure de juridiction criminelle de la province dans laquelle on a des raisons de croire que tout ou partie des biens qui font l'objet de l'ordonnance sont situés. Une fois homologuée, l'ordonnance vaut jugement de ce tribunal, exécutoire partout au Canada.

(4) Toute ordonnance déposée en application du paragraphe (3) par le procureur général d'une province est réputé l'avoir été par le procureur général du Canada. Présomption

Exigence

- (5) Avant d'homologuer sur dépôt une ordonnance, le procureur général du Canada ou d'une province doit être convaincu que :
 - a) la personne a été accusée d'une infraction relevant de la compétence de l'État ou de l'entité:
 - b) l'infraction serait un acte criminel si elle avait été commise au Canada;
 - c) la condamnation et l'ordonnance ne sont plus susceptibles d'appel.
- (6) À compter de son dépôt aux termes du paragraphe (3) et sous réserve du paragraphe (4):

l'homologation bhe

Effet de

- a) l'ordonnance de confiscation de produits de la criminalité est exécutée comme si elle était une ordonnance rendue en vertu des paragraphes 462.37(1) ou 462.38(2) du *Code criminel*:
- b) l'ordonnance de confiscation de biens infractionnels est exécutée comme si elle était rendue en vertu des paragraphes 490.1(1) ou 490.2(2) du *Code criminel* ou des paragraphes 16(1) ou 17(2) de la *Loi réglementant certaines drogues et autres substances*, selon le cas.
- (7) Lorsqu'une ordonnance est homologuée sur dépôt en vertu du paragraphe (3), ses modifications le sont de la même façon. Pour l'application de la présente loi, ces modifications n'ont d'effet qu'après leur homologation.

Dépôt des modifications Notice

- (8) When an order has been filed under subsection (3),
 - (a) an order of forfeiture of proceeds of crime shall not be executed before notice in accordance with subsection 462.41(2) of the *Criminal Code* has been given to any person who, in the opinion of the court, appears to have a valid interest in the property; and
 - (b) an order of forfeiture of offence-related property shall not be executed before
 - (i) notice in accordance with subsection 490.41(2) of the *Criminal Code* or section 19.1(2) of the *Controlled Drugs and Substances Act* has been given to any person who resides in a dwelling-house that is offence-related property and who is a member of the immediate family of the person charged with or convicted of the offence in relation to which property would be forfeited, and
 - (ii) notice in accordance with subsection 490.4(2) of the *Criminal Code* or subsection 19(2) of the *Controlled Drugs and Substances Act* has been given to any person who, in the opinion of the court, appears to have a valid interest in the property.

Application of Criminal Code (9) Subsection 462.41(3) and section 462.42 of the *Criminal Code* apply, with any modifications that the circumstances require, to a person who claims an interest in proceeds of crime, and subsections 490.4(3) and 490.41(3) and section 490.5 of the *Criminal Code* and subsections 19(3) and 20(4) of the *Controlled Drugs and Substances Act* apply, with any modifications that the circumstances require, to a person who claims an interest in offence-related property.

Presumption

(10) A person who is convicted of an offence in relation to which an order of forfeiture is issued by a court of criminal jurisdiction of a state or entity is deemed to be a person referred to in paragraph 462.41(3)(a) or 462.42(1)(a) of the Criminal Code.

- (8) Lorsqu'une ordonnance est homologuée sur dépôt en vertu du paragraphe (3) :
 - a) l'ordonnance de confiscation de produits de la criminalité ne peut être exécutée que si un avis a été donné conformément au paragraphe 462.41(2) du *Code criminel* à toute personne qui, de l'avis du tribunal, semble avoir un droit sur les biens visés:
 - b) l'ordonnance de confiscation de biens infractionnels ne peut être exécutée que si, à la fois :
 - (i) un avis a été donné conformément au paragraphe 490.41(2) du *Code criminel* ou au paragraphe 19.1(2) de la *Loi réglementant certaines drogues et autres substances* à toute personne qui habite une maison d'habitation étant un bien infractionnel et qui est membre de la famille immédiate de la personne accusée ou reconnue coupable de l'infraction liée à la confiscation éventuelle d'un bien,
 - (ii) un avis a été donné conformément au paragraphe 490.4(2) du *Code criminel* ou au paragraphe 19(2) de la *Loi réglementant certaines drogues et autres substances* à toute personne qui, selon le tribunal, semble avoir un droit sur les biens visés.
- (9) Le paragraphe 462.41(3) et l'article 462.42 du *Code criminel* s'appliquent, avec les adaptations nécessaires, à la personne qui prétend avoir un droit sur des produits de la criminalité, et les paragraphes 490.4(3) et 490.41(3) et l'article 490.5 du *Code criminel* et les paragraphes 19(3) et 20(4) de la *Loi réglementant certaines drogues et autres substances* s'appliquent, avec les adaptations nécessaires, à la personne qui prétend avoir un droit sur des biens infractionnels.
- (10) La personne condamnée pour l'infraction qui donne lieu à la demande d'exécution d'une ordonnance de confiscation rendue par un tribunal de compétence criminelle d'un État ou d'une entité est assimilée à la personne, visée aux paragraphes 462.41(3) ou 462.42(1) du *Code criminel*, qui est accusée d'une infraction désignée à l'égard du bien confisqué ou qui a été reconnue coupable d'une telle infraction.

Avis

criminel

Application

du Code

Présomption

Seized Property Management Act applies

- (11) The provisions of the Seized Property Management Act apply in respect of all property forfeited under this section.
- 66. (1) Subsection 18(2) of the Act is amended by striking out the word "and" at the end of paragraph (b), by adding the word "and" at the end of paragraph (c) and by adding the following after paragraph (c):
 - (d) order a person named in it to answer any question and to produce any record or thing to the person designated under paragraph (c) in accordance with the laws of evidence and procedure in the state or entity that presented the request.

(2) Subsection 18(3) of the Act is replaced by the following:

Designation of judge

(3) For greater certainty, under paragraph (2)(c), a judge who makes an order under subsection (1) may designate himself or herself — either alone or with another person, including another judge - or may designate another person, including another judge.

2000, c. 24, s. 63(2)

(3) Subsection 18(7) of the Act is replaced by the following:

Refusal to comply

- (7) A person named in an order made under subsection (1) may refuse to answer any question or to produce a record or thing to the person designated under paragraph (2)(c) if
 - (a) answering the question or producing the record or thing would disclose information that is protected by the Canadian law of non-disclosure of information or privilege;
 - (b) requiring the person to answer the question or to produce the record or thing would constitute a breach of a privilege recognized by a law in force in the state or entity that presented the request; or
 - (c) answering the question or producing the record or thing would constitute the commission by the person of an offence against a law in force in the state or entity that presented the request.

(11) La Loi sur l'administration des biens saisis s'applique aux biens confisqués au titre du présent article.

l'administration des biens saisis

66. (1) Le paragraphe 18(2) de la même loi est modifié par adjonction, après l'alinéa c), de ce qui suit :

d) l'ordre à une personne visée de répondre aux questions et de remettre certains objets ou documents à la personne désignée en conformité avec l'alinéa c) en application des règles de droit sur la preuve et la procédure de l'État ou entité qui a présenté la demande.

(2) Le paragraphe 18(3) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

(3) Il est entendu que, en ce qui concerne les fonctions mentionnées à l'alinéa (2)c), le juge qui rend l'ordonnance peut soit s'en charger lui-même, seul ou avec une autre personne — notamment un autre juge —, soit en charger une telle autre personne.

Désignation du juge

(3) Le paragraphe 18(7) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

2000, ch. 24,

- (7) La personne visée par l'ordonnance d'obtention d'éléments de preuve peut refuser de répondre à une question de la personne désignée en conformité avec l'alinéa (2)c) ou de lui remettre un objet ou un document dans les cas suivants:
 - a) la réponse à la question ou la remise d'un objet ou d'un document communiquerait des renseignements protégés par le droit canadien en matière de non-communication et de protection des renseignements;
 - b) obliger la personne à répondre à la question ou à remettre l'objet ou le document constituerait une violation d'un privilège reconnu par une règle de droit en vigueur dans l'État ou applicable à l'entité qui a demandé l'ordonnance;
 - c) répondre à la question ou remettre l'objet ou le document équivaudrait pour la personne à enfreindre une règle de droit en vigueur dans cet État ou applicable à cette entité.

par. 63(2)

Refus d'obtempérer R.S., c. N-5

National Defence Act

Loi sur la défense nationale

L.R., ch. N-5

1998, c. 35, s. 1(4)

67. (1) The definitions "acte de gangstérisme" and "gang" in subsection 2(1) of the French version of the National Defence Act are repealed.

67. (1) Les définitions de « acte de gangstérisme » et « gang », au paragraphe 2(1) de la version française de la Loi sur la défense nationale, sont abrogées.

1998, ch. 35, par. 1(4)

1998, c. 35, s. 1(4)

(2) The definitions "criminal organization" and "criminal organization offence" in subsection 2(1) of the English version of the Act are replaced by the following:

"criminal organization" has the same mean-

ing as in subsection 467.1(1) of the Crimi-

(2) Les définitions de « criminal organization » et « criminal organization offence », au paragraphe 2(1) de la version anglaise de la même loi, sont respectivement remplacées par ce qui suit :

1998, ch. 35, par. 1(4)

"criminal organization' « organisation criminelle »

nal Code;

"criminal organization" has the same meaning as in subsection 467.1(1) of the Criminal Code;

"criminal organization" « organisation criminelle >

"criminal

"criminal organization offence" infraction d'organisation criminelle »

"criminal organization offence" means

(a) an offence under section 467.11, 467.12 or 467.13 of the Criminal Code, or a serious offence committed for the benefit of, at the direction of, or in association with, a criminal organization,

(b) a conspiracy or an attempt to commit, being an accessory after the fact in relation to, or any counselling in relation to, an offence referred to in paragraph (a);

"criminal organization offence" means

(a) an offence under section 467.11, 467.12 or 467.13 of the Criminal Code, or a serious offence committed for the benefit of, at the direction of, or in association with, a criminal organization,

(b) a conspiracy or an attempt to commit,

being an accessory after the fact in

relation to, or any counselling in relation

to, an offence referred to in paragraph

organization offence' « infraction d'organisation criminelle »

(3) Subsection 2(1) of the Act is amended

by adding the following in alphabetical order:

"serious offence" means an offence under this Act or an indictable offence under any other Act of Parliament, for which the maximum punishment is imprisonment for five years or more, or an offence that is prescribed by regulation under subsection 467.1(4) of the Criminal Code:

(3) Le paragraphe 2(1) de la même loi est modifié par adjonction, selon l'ordre alphabétique, de ce qui suit :

(a);

« infraction grave » Toute infraction prévue à la présente loi ou tout acte criminel prévu à une autre loi fédérale, passibles d'un emprisonnement maximal de cinq ans ou plus, ou toute autre infraction désignée par règlement pris en vertu du paragraphe 467.1(4) du Code criminel.

« infraction grave » serious offence

(4) Subsection 2(1) of the French version of the Act is amended by adding the following in alphabetical order:

« infraction d'organisation criminelle »

(4) Le paragraphe 2(1) de la version française de la même loi est modifié par adjonction, selon l'ordre alphabétique, de ce qui suit :

« infraction d'organisation criminelle »

« infraction d'organisation criminelle » "criminal organization offence"

« infraction d'organisation criminelle > 'criminal organization offence"

"serious

offence'

grave »

« infraction

« organisation

organization"

1998, c. 35,

Exception

dans le cas

organisation

criminelle

d'une

s. 36

criminelle »

"criminal

- a) Soit une infraction prévue aux articles 467.11, 467.12 ou 467.13 du Code criminel ou une infraction grave commise au profit ou sous la direction d'une organisation criminelle, ou en association avec
- b) soit le complot ou la tentative en vue de commettre une telle infraction ou le fait d'en être complice après le fait ou d'en conseiller la perpétration.

« organisation criminelle » S'entend au sens du paragraphe 467.1(1) du Code criminel.

68. Subsection 140.4(3) of the French version of the Act is replaced by the following:

(3) Par dérogation au paragraphe 120(1) de la Loi sur le système correctionnel et la mise en liberté sous condition, la cour martiale peut ordonner que la personne condamnée sur déclaration de culpabilité sous le régime de la présente loi pour une infraction d'organisation criminelle à une peine d'emprisonnement minimale de deux ans - y compris une peine d'emprisonnement à perpétuité à condition que cette peine n'ait pas constitué un minimum en l'occurrence — purge, avant d'être admissible à la libération conditionnelle totale, la moitié de sa peine jusqu'à concurrence de dix ans.

1991, c. 26 Proceeds of Crime (money laundering) Act

1996, c. 19,

69. Section 2 of the Proceeds of Crime (money laundering) Act is replaced by the following:

Object of Act

2. The object of this Act is to establish record-keeping requirements in the financial field in order to facilitate the investigation and prosecution of offences under subsection 462.31(1) of the Criminal Code.

- a) Soit une infraction prévue aux articles 467.11, 467.12 ou 467.13 du Code criminel ou une infraction grave commise au profit ou sous la direction d'une organisation criminelle, ou en association avec
- b) soit le complot ou la tentative en vue de commettre une telle infraction ou le fait d'en être complice après le fait ou d'en conseiller la perpétration.
- « organisation criminelle » S'entend au sens du paragraphe 467.1(1) du Code criminel.

« organisation criminelle » "criminal organization"

68. Le paragraphe 140.4(3) de la version française de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit:

(3) Par dérogation au paragraphe 120(1) de la Loi sur le système correctionnel et la mise en liberté sous condition, la cour martiale peut ordonner que la personne condamnée sur déclaration de culpabilité sous le régime de la présente loi pour une infraction d'organisation criminelle à une peine d'emprisonnement minimale de deux ans - y compris une peine d'emprisonnement à perpétuité à condition que cette peine n'ait pas constitué un minimum en l'occurrence — purge, avant d'être admissible à la libération conditionnelle totale, la moitié de sa peine jusqu'à concurrence de dix ans.

1998, ch. 35, art. 36

Exception dans le cas d'une organisation

Loi sur le recyclage des produits de la criminalité

69. L'article 2 de la Loi sur le recyclage des produits de la criminalité est remplacé par ce qui suit :

2. La présente loi a pour objet d'établir dans le domaine financier des obligations de tenue de documents propres à faciliter la recherche et la poursuite des infractions visées au paragraphe 462.31(1) du Code criminel.

1991, ch. 26

1996, ch. 19, art. 84

Objet

2000, c. 17

Proceeds of Crime (Money Laundering) Act

Loi sur le recyclage des produits de la criminalité

2000, ch. 17

2000, ch. 24,

par. 76.1(1)

2000, c. 24, s. 76.1(1)

"money

laundering

« infraction

de recyclage

des produits

criminalité »

de la

70. The definition "money laundering offence" in section 2 of the Proceeds of Crime (Money Laundering) Act is replaced by the following:

"money laundering offence" means an offence under subsection 462.31(1) of the Criminal Code.

70. La définition de « infraction de recyclage des produits de la criminalité», à l'article 2 de la Loi sur le recyclage des produits de la criminalité, est remplacée par ce qui suit :

« infraction de recyclage des produits de la criminalité » L'infraction visée au paragraphe 462.31(1) du Code criminel.

« infraction de recyclage des produits criminalité » "money laundering

offence'

71. Subsection 18(2) of the Act is replaced by the following:

Return of seized currency or monetary instruments

(2) The officer shall, on payment of a penalty in the prescribed amount, return the seized currency or monetary instruments to the person from whom they were seized or to the lawful owner unless the officer has reasonable grounds to suspect that the currency or monetary instruments are proceeds of crime within the meaning of subsection 462.3(1) of the Criminal Code.

72. The definition "judge" in subsection 60(17) of the Act is replaced by the following:

"judge" « juge »

"judge" means a provincial court judge as defined in section 2 of the Criminal Code or a judge as defined in subsection 462.3(1) of that Act.

1993, c. 37

Seized Property Management Act

- 73. (1) The definition "enterprise crime offence" in section 2 of the Seized Property Management Act is repealed.
- 1996, c. 19, s. 85
- (2) The definition "designated substance offence" in section 2 of the English version of the Act is repealed.

1996, c. 19, s. 85

(3) The definitions "proceeds of crime", "restrained property" and "seized property" in section 2 of the Act are replaced by the following:

"proceeds of crime' « produits de criminalité »

"proceeds of crime" has the same meaning as in subsection 462.3(1) of the Criminal Code:

71. Le paragraphe 18(2) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

(2) Sur réception du paiement de la pénalité réglementaire, l'agent restitue au saisi ou au propriétaire légitime les espèces ou effets saisis sauf s'il soupçonne, pour des motifs raisonnables, qu'il s'agit de produits de la criminalité au sens du paragraphe 462.3(1) du Code criminel.

Mainlevée

72. La définition de « juge », au paragraphe 60(17) de la même loi, est remplacée par ce qui suit :

« juge » Juge d'une cour provinciale, au sens de l'article 2 du Code criminel, et juge au sens du paragraphe 462.3(1) de cette loi.

« juge » "judge"

Loi sur l'administration des biens saisis

1993, ch. 37

- 73. (1) La définition de « infraction de criminalité organisée », à l'article 2 de la Loi sur l'administration des biens saisis, est abrogée.
- (2) La définition de « designated substance offence », à l'article 2 de la version anglaise de la même loi, est abrogée.
- (3) Les définitions de « biens bloqués », « biens saisis » et « produits de la criminalité », à l'article 2 de la même loi, sont respectivement remplacées par ce qui suit :
- « biens bloqués » Biens visés par une ordonnance de blocage rendue sous le régime des articles 462.33 ou 490.8 du Code criminel

1996, ch. 19, art. 85

1996, ch. 19,

art. 85

« biens bloqués » "restrained property'

"restrained property" « biens bloqués » C. 32

"seized property" « biens saisis »

1996, c. 19, s. 85

« infraction désignée » "designated offence"

"designated offence" « infraction désignée »

1996, c. 19, s. 86

Purposes of

"restrained property" means any property that is the subject of a restraint order made under section 462.33 or 490.8 of the *Criminal Code* or section 14 of the *Controlled Drugs and Substances Act*;

"seized property" means any property seized under the authority of any Act of Parliament or pursuant to any warrant or any rule of law in connection with any designated offence;

(4) The definition "infraction désignée" in section 2 of the French version of the Act is replaced by the following:

« infraction désignée » S'entend au sens du paragraphe 462.3(1) du *Code criminel*.

(5) Section 2 of the English version of the Act is amended by adding the following in alphabetical order:

"designated offence" has the same meaning as in subsection 462.3(1) of the *Criminal Code*:

74. (1) The portion of section 3 of the Act before subparagraph (b)(ii) is replaced by the following:

3. The purposes of this Act are

- (a) to authorize the Minister to provide consultative and other services to law enforcement agencies in relation to the seizure or restraint of property in connection with designated offences, or property that is or may be proceeds of crime or offence-related property;
- (b) to authorize the Minister to manage certain property
 - (i) seized in connection with designated offences,

(2) Subparagraph 3(b)(iii) of the Act is replaced by the following:

(iii) restrained pursuant to a restraint order made under section 462.33 or 490.8 of the *Criminal Code* or section 14 of the *Controlled Drugs and Substances Act*;

75. Paragraphs 4(1)(a) and (b) of the Act are replaced by the following:

ou de l'article 14 de la *Loi réglementant certaines drogues et autres substances*.

« biens saisis » Biens saisis en vertu d'une loi fédérale, d'un mandat ou d'une règle de droit relativement à des infractions désignées.

saisis » "seized property"

« biens

« produits de la criminalité » S'entend au sens du paragraphe 462.3(1) du *Code criminel*.

« produits de la criminalité » "proceeds of crime"

1996, ch. 19, art. 85

(4) La définition de « infraction désignée », à l'article 2 de la version française de la même loi, est remplacée par ce qui suit :

« infraction désignée » S'entend au sens du paragraphe 462.3(1) du *Code criminel*.

« infraction désignée » "designated offence"

(5) L'article 2 de la version anglaise de la même loi est modifié par adjonction, selon l'ordre alphabétique, de ce qui suit :

"designated offence" has the same meaning as in subsection 462.3(1) of the *Criminal Code*;

"designated offence" « infraction désignée »

1996, ch. 19, art. 86

Objet

74. (1) Le passage de l'article 3 de la même loi précédant le sous-alinéa b)(ii) est remplacé par ce qui suit :

3. La présente loi a pour objet :

a) d'autoriser le ministre à fournir aux différents organismes chargés de l'application de la loi des services consultatifs et autres concernant la saisie ou le blocage de biens relativement à des infractions désignées, ou de biens qui sont ou pourraient être des biens infractionnels ou des produits de la criminalité;

- b) d'attribuer au ministre l'administration de biens :
 - (i) saisis relativement à des infractions désignées,

(2) Le sous-alinéa 3b)(iii) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

(iii) bloqués en vertu d'une ordonnance rendue sous le régime des articles 462.33 ou 490.8 du *Code criminel* ou de l'article 14 de la *Loi réglementant certaines drogues et autres substances*;

75. Les alinéas 4(1)a) et b) de la même loi sont remplacés par ce qui suit :

1997, ch. 18, art. 135(F)

1997, c. 18, s. 135(F)

- (a) seized under a warrant issued under section 462.32 or 487 of the *Criminal Code* or section 11 of the *Controlled Drugs and Substances Act* on the application of the Attorney General and that the Minister is appointed to manage under subsection 462.331(2) or 490.81(2) of the *Criminal Code* or subsection 14.1(2) of the *Controlled Drugs and Substances Act*, as the case may be;
- (b) subject to a restraint order made under section 462.33 or 490.8 of the *Criminal Code* or section 14 of the *Controlled Drugs and Substances Act* on the application of the Attorney General and that the Minister is appointed to manage under subsection 462.331(2) or 490.81(2) of the *Criminal Code* or subsection 14.1(2) of the *Controlled Drugs and Substances Act*, as the case may be;

76. Subsection 5(1) of the Act is replaced by the following:

Transfer of property **5.** (1) Every person who has control of any property that is subject to a management order issued under subsection 462.331(1) or 490.81(1) of the *Criminal Code*, subsection 14.1(1) of the *Controlled Drugs and Substances Act* or subsection 7(1) of this Act shall, as soon as practicable after the order is issued, transfer the control of the property to the Minister, except for any property or any part of the property that is needed as evidence or is necessary for the purposes of an investigation.

77. Subsection 7(2) of the Act is replaced by the following:

Power to manage

- (2) The power of the Minister in respect of any seized property that is the subject of a management order includes
 - (a) in the case of perishable or rapidly depreciating property, the power to make an interlocutory sale of that property; and
 - (b) in the case of property that has little or no value, the power to destroy that property.

- a) les biens saisis en vertu d'un mandat délivré à la demande du procureur général sous le régime des articles 462.32 ou 487 du Code criminel ou de l'article 11 de la Loi réglementant certaines drogues et autres substances et confiés à l'administration du ministre en application, respectivement, des paragraphes 462.331(2) ou 490.81(2) du Code criminel ou du paragraphe 14.1(2) de la Loi réglementant certaines drogues et autres substances;
- b) les biens bloqués en vertu d'une ordonnance rendue à la demande du procureur général sous le régime des articles 462.33 ou 490.8 du Code criminel ou de l'article 14 de la Loi réglementant certaines drogues et autres substances et confiés à l'administration du ministre en application, respectivement, des paragraphes 462.331(2) ou 490.81(2) du Code criminel ou du paragraphe 14.1(2) de la Loi réglementant certaines drogues et autres substances;

76. Le paragraphe 5(1) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

5. (1) La personne qui a la charge de biens visés par une ordonnance de prise en charge rendue sous le régime des paragraphes 462.331(1) ou 490.81(1) du *Code criminel*, du paragraphe 14.1(1) de la *Loi réglementant certaines drogues et autres substances* ou du paragraphe 7(1) de la présente loi doit, dans les meilleurs délais possible après la prise de l'ordonnance, transférer au ministre la charge des biens, sauf de ceux requis, en tout ou en partie, aux fins de preuve ou d'enquête.

77. Le paragraphe 7(2) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

- (2) Le pouvoir du ministre à l'égard des biens saisis assujettis à l'ordonnance de prise en charge comprend notamment :
 - a) dans le cas de biens périssables ou qui se déprécient rapidement, le pouvoir de les vendre en cours d'instance;
 - b) dans le cas de biens qui n'ont pas ou peu de valeur, le pouvoir de les détruire.

Transfert des

Administration

Avis

Application for destruction order C. 32

(2.1) Before the Minister destroys property that has little or no value, he or she shall apply to a court for a destruction order.

Notice

(2.2) Before making a destruction order in relation to any property, a court shall require notice in accordance with subsection (2.3) to be given to, and may hear, any person who, in the opinion of the court, appears to have a valid interest in the property.

Manner of giving notice

- (2.3) A notice shall
- (a) be given or served in the manner that the court directs or that may be specified in the rules of the court; and
- (b) be of any duration that the court considers reasonable or that may be specified in the rules of the court.

Order

(2.4) A court may order that the property be destroyed if it is satisfied that the property has little or no value, whether financial or other.

1996, c. 19, s. 89(1)

78. Paragraph 9(a) of the Act is replaced by the following:

(a) provide consultative and other services to law enforcement agencies in relation to the seizure or restraint of any property in connection with designated offences, or any property that is or may be proceeds of crime or offence-related property;

1996, c. 19, s. 91

79. Paragraph 11(a) of the Act is replaced by the following:

- (a) the proceeds of disposition of
 - (i) property forfeited to Her Majesty pursuant to subsection 462.37(1) or (2) or 462.38(2), subparagraph 462.43(c)(iii) or subsection 490.1(1) or 490.2(2) of the *Criminal Code* or subsection 16(1) or 17(2) of the *Controlled Drugs and Substances Act*, or
 - (ii) property that is or was the subject of a management order and that was forfeited pursuant to subsection 490(9) of the *Criminal Code*

and the proceeds arising from the disposition of property by that foreign state, and (2.1) Avant de détruire un bien d'aucune ou de peu de valeur, le ministre est tenu de demander au tribunal de rendre une ordonnance de destruction.

Demande d'ordonnance de destruction

(2.2) Avant de rendre une ordonnance de destruction d'un bien, le tribunal exige que soit donné un avis conformément au paragraphe (2.3) à quiconque, à son avis, semble avoir un droit sur le bien; le tribunal peut aussi entendre une telle personne.

(2.3) L'avis:

Modalités de l'avis

- a) est donné ou signifié selon les modalités précisées par le tribunal ou prévues par les règles de celui-ci;
- b) est donné dans le délai que le tribunal estime raisonnable ou que fixent les règles de celui-ci
- (2.4) Le tribunal ordonne la destruction du bien s'il est convaincu que le bien n'a pas ou peu de valeur, financière ou autre.

Ordonnance

78. L'alinéa 9a) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

1996, ch. 19, par. 89(1)

a) fournir aux organismes chargés de l'application de la loi des services consultatifs et autres concernant la saisie ou le blocage de biens relativement à des infractions désignées, ou de biens qui sont ou pourraient être des biens infractionnels ou des produits de la criminalité;

79. L'alinéa 11a) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

1996, ch. 19, art. 91

a) le produit de l'aliénation des biens confisqués au profit de Sa Majesté en vertu des paragraphes 462.37(1) ou (2) ou 462.38(2), du sous-alinéa 462.43c)(iii) ou des paragraphes 490.1(1) ou 490.2(2) du Code criminel ou des paragraphes 16(1) ou 17(2) de la Loi réglementant certaines drogues et autres substances et de ceux qui sont ou ont été visés par une ordonnance de prise en charge et qui ont été confisqués au profit de Sa Majesté en vertu du paragraphe 490(9) du Code criminel, ainsi que sur le produit des biens qui ont été aliénés par les gouvernements étrangers;

COORDINATING AMENDMENTS

2000, c. 17

- 80. On the later of the coming into force of subparagraph 11(a)(i) of the Seized Property Management Act, as enacted by section 96 of the Proceeds of Crime (Money Laundering) Act, and section 79 of this Act, subparagraph 11(a)(i) of the Seized Property Management Act is replaced by the following:
 - (i) property forfeited to Her Majesty under subsection 462.37(1) or (2) or 462.38(2), subparagraph 462.43(c)(iii) or subsection 490.1(1) or 490.2(2) of the Criminal Code, subsection 16(1) or 17(2) of the Controlled Drugs and Substances Act or the Proceeds of Crime (Money Laundering) Act, or

Bill C-11

81. (1) If Bill C-11, introduced in the 1st session of the 37th Parliament and entitled the Immigration and Refugee Protection Act (the "other Act"), receives royal assent, then the provisions mentioned in subsections (2) and (3) are amended as provided in those subsections.

CriminalCodesection 183 replaced

- "offence" « infraction »
- (2) On the later of the coming into force of section 4 of this Act and section 245 of the other Act, the definition "offence" in section 183 of the Criminal Code is replaced by the following:
- "offence" means an offence contrary to, any conspiracy or attempt to commit or being an accessory after the fact in relation to an offence contrary to, or any counselling in relation to an offence contrary to
 - (a) any of the following provisions of this Act, namely,
 - (i) section 47 (high treason),
 - (ii) section 51 (intimidating Parliament or a legislature),

DISPOSITIONS DE COORDINATION

80. À l'entrée en vigueur de l'alinéa 11a) de la Loi sur l'administration des biens saisis, dans sa version édictée par l'article 96 de la Loi sur le recyclage des produits de la criminalité, ou à celle de l'article 79 de la présente loi, la dernière en date étant à retenir, l'alinéa 11a) de la Loi sur l'administration des biens saisis est remplacé par ce qui suit:

- a) le produit de l'aliénation des biens confisqués au profit de Sa Majesté en vertu des paragraphes 462.37(1) ou (2) ou 462.38(2) ou du sous-alinéa 462.43c)(iii) ou des paragraphes 490.1(1) ou 490.2(2) du Code criminel ou des paragraphes 16(1) ou 17(2) de la Loi réglementant certaines drogues et autres substances ou de la Loi sur le recyclage des produits de la criminalité et de ceux qui sont ou ont été visés par une ordonnance de prise en charge et qui ont été confisqués au profit de Sa Majesté en vertu du paragraphe 490(9) du Code criminel, ainsi que sur le produit des biens qui ont été aliénés par les gouvernements étrangers;
- 81. (1) Les paragraphes (2) et (3) s'appliquent en cas de sanction du projet de loi C-11, déposé au cours de la 1re session de la 37e législature et intitulé Loi sur l'immigration et la protection des réfugiés (appelé « autre loi » au présent article).

Alternative (2) À l'entrée en vigueur de l'article 4 de

- la présente loi ou à celle de l'article 245 de l'autre loi, la dernière en date étant à retenir, la définition de «infraction», à l'article 183 du Code criminel, est remplacée par ce qui suit :
- « infraction » Infraction, complot ou tentative de commettre une infraction, complicité après le fait ou le fait de conseiller à une autre personne de commettre une infraction en ce qui concerne:
 - a) l'une des dispositions suivantes de la présente loi :
 - (i) l'article 47 (haute trahison),

2000, ch. 17

Projet de loi

« infraction » 'offence

C. 32

- (iii) section 52 (sabotage),
- (iv) section 57 (forgery, etc.),
- (v) section 61 (sedition),
- (vi) section 76 (hijacking),
- (vii) section 77 (endangering safety of aircraft or airport),
- (viii) section 78 (offensive weapons, etc., on aircraft),
- (ix) section 78.1 (offences against maritime navigation or fixed platforms),
- (x) section 80 (breach of duty),
- (xi) section 81 (using explosives),
- (xii) section 82 (possessing explosives),
- (xiii) section 96 (possession of weapon obtained by commission of offence),
- (xiv) section 99 (weapons trafficking),
- (xv) section 100 (possession for purpose of weapons trafficking),
- (xvi) section 102 (making automatic firearm),
- (xvii) section 103 (importing or exporting knowing it is unauthorized),
- (xviii) section 104 (unauthorized importing or exporting),
- (xix) section 119 (bribery, etc.),
- (xx) section 120 (bribery, etc.),
- (xxi) section 121 (fraud on government),
- (xxii) section 122 (breach of trust),
- (xxiii) section 123 (municipal corruption),
- (xxiv) section 132 (perjury),
- (xxv) section 139 (obstructing justice),
- (xxvi) section 144 (prison breach),
- (xxvii) subsection 145(1) (escape, etc.),
- (xxviii) paragraph 163(1)(a) (obscene materials),
- (xxix) section 163.1 (child pornography),

- (ii) l'article 51 (intimider le Parlement ou une législature),
- (iii) l'article 52 (sabotage),
- (iv) l'article 57 (faux ou usage de faux, etc.),
- (v) l'article 61 (infractions séditieuses),
- (vi) l'article 76 (détournement),
- (vii) l'article 77 (atteinte à la sécurité des aéronefs ou des aéroports),
- (viii) l'article 78 (armes offensives, etc. à bord d'un aéronef),
- (ix) l'article 78.1 (infractions contre la navigation maritime ou une plate-forme fixe),
- (x) l'article 80 (manque de précautions),
- (xi) l'article 81 (usage d'explosifs),
- (xii) l'article 82 (possession d'explosifs),
- (xiii) l'article 96 (possession d'une arme obtenue lors de la perpétration d'une infraction).
- (xiv) l'article 99 (trafic d'armes),
- (xv) l'article 100 (possession en vue de faire le trafic d'armes),
- (xvi) l'article 102 (fabrication d'une arme automatique),
- (xvii) l'article 103 (importation ou exportation non autorisées infraction délibérée),
- (xviii) l'article 104 (importation ou exportation non autorisées),
- (xix) l'article 119 (corruption, etc.),
- (xx) l'article 120 (corruption, etc.),
- (xxi) l'article 121 (fraudes envers le gouvernement),
- (xxii) l'article 122 (abus de confiance),
- (xxiii) l'article 123 (corruption dans les affaires municipales),
- (xxiv) l'article 132 (parjure),

(xxx) section 184 (unlawful interception),

(xxxi) section 191 (possession of intercepting device),

(xxxii) subsection 201(1) (keeping gaming or betting house),

(xxxiii) paragraph 202(1)(*e*) (pool-selling, etc.),

(xxxiv) subsection 210(1) (keeping common bawdy house),

(xxxv) subsection 212(1) (procuring),

(xxxvi) subsection 212(2) (procuring),

(xxxvii) subsection 212(2.1) (aggravated offence in relation to living on the avails of prostitution of a person under the age of eighteen years),

(xxxviii) subsection 212(4) (offence — prostitution of person under eighteen),

(xxxix) section 235 (murder),

(xl) section 264.1 (uttering threats),

(xli) section 267 (assault with a weapon or causing bodily harm),

(xlii) section 268 (aggravated assault),

(xliii) section 269 (unlawfully causing bodily harm),

(xliv) section 271 (sexual assault),

(xlv) section 272 (sexual assault with a weapon, threats to a third party or causing bodily harm),

(xlvi) section 273 (aggravated sexual assault),

(xlvii) section 279 (kidnapping),

(xlviii) section 279.1 (hostage taking),

(xlix) section 280 (abduction of person under sixteen),

(l) section 281 (abduction of person under fourteen),

(li) section 282 (abduction in contravention of custody order),

(lii) section 283 (abduction),

(liii) section 318 (advocating genocide),

(xxv) l'article 139 (entrave à la justice),

(xxvi) l'article 144 (bris de prison),

(xxvii) le paragraphe 145(1) (évasion, etc.),

(xxviii) l'alinéa 163(1)a) (documentation obscène),

(xxix) l'article 163.1 (pornographie juvénile),

(xxx) l'article 184 (interception illégale)

(xxxi) l'article 191 (possession de dispositifs d'interception),

(xxxii) le paragraphe 201(1) (tenancier d'une maison de jeu ou de pari),

(xxxiii) l'alinéa 202(1)*e*) (vente de mise collective, etc.),

(xxxiv) le paragraphe 210(1) (tenue d'une maison de débauche),

(xxxv) le paragraphe 212(1) (proxénétisme),

(xxxvi) le paragraphe 212(2) (proxénétisme),

(xxxvii) le paragraphe 212(2.1) (infraction grave — vivre des produits de la prostitution d'une personne âgée de moins de dix-huit ans),

(xxxviii) le paragraphe 212(4) (infraction — prostitution d'une personne âgée de moins de dix-huit ans),

(xxxix) l'article 235 (meurtre),

(xl) l'article 264.1 (menaces),

(xli) l'article 267 (agression armée ou infliction de lésions corporelles),

(xlii) l'article 268 (voies de fait graves),

(xliii) l'article 269 (infliction illégale de lésions corporelles),

(xliv) l'article 271 (agression sexuelle).

(xlv) l'article 272 (agression sexuelle armée, menaces à une tierce personne ou infliction de lésions corporelles), C. 32

- (liv) section 327 (possession of device to obtain telecommunication facility or service),
- (lv) section 334 (theft),
- (lvi) section 342 (theft, forgery, etc., of credit card),
- (lvii) section 342.1 (unauthorized use of computer),
- (lviii) section 342.2 (possession of device to obtain computer service),
- (lix) section 344 (robbery),
- (lx) section 346 (extortion),
- (lxi) section 347 (criminal interest rate),
- (lxii) section 348 (breaking and entering),
- (lxiii) section 354 (possession of property obtained by crime),
- (lxiv) section 356 (theft from mail),
- (lxv) section 367 (forgery),
- (lxvi) section 368 (uttering forged document),
- (lxvii) section 372 (false messages),
- (lxviii) section 380 (fraud),
- (lxix) section 381 (using mails to defraud),
- (lxx) section 382 (fraudulent manipulation of stock exchange transactions),
- (lxxi) section 423.1 (intimidation of justice system participant or journalist).
- (lxxii) section 424 (threat to commit offences against internationally protected person),
- (lxxiii) section 426 (secret commissions),
- (lxxiv) section 430 (mischief),
- (lxxv) section 431 (attack on premises, residence or transport of internationally protected person),
- (lxxvi) section 433 (arson),
- (lxxvii) section 434 (arson),

- (xlvi) l'article 273 (agression sexuelle grave),
- (xlvii) l'article 279 (enlèvement),
- (xlviii) l'article 279.1 (prise d'otage),
- (xlix) l'article 280 (enlèvement d'une personne âgée de moins de 16 ans),
- (l) l'article 281 (enlèvement d'une personne âgée de moins de 14 ans),
- (li) l'article 282 (enlèvement en contravention avec une ordonnance de garde).
- (lii) l'article 283 (enlèvement),
- (liii) l'article 318 (encouragement au génocide),
- (liv) l'article 327 (possession de moyens permettant d'utiliser des installations ou d'obtenir un service en matière de télécommunication),
- (lv) l'article 334 (punition du vol),
- (lvi) l'article 342 (vol etc. de cartes de crédit),
- (lvii) l'article 342.1 (utilisation non autorisée d'ordinateur),
- (lviii) l'article 342.2 (possession de moyens permettant d'utiliser un service d'ordinateur),
- (lix) l'article 344 (vol qualifié),
- (lx) l'article 346 (extorsion),
- (lxi) l'article 347 (usure),
- (lxii) l'article 348 (introduction par effraction),
- (lxiii) l'article 354 (possession de biens criminellement obtenus),
- (lxiv) l'article 356 (vol de courrier),
- (lxv) l'article 367 (faux),
- (lxvi) l'article 368 (emploi d'un document contrefait),
- (lxvii) l'article 372 (faux messages),
- (lxviii) l'article 380 (fraude),
- (lxix) l'article 381 (emploi du courrier pour frauder),

(lxxviii) section 434.1 (arson),

(lxxix) section 435 (arson for fraudulent purpose),

(lxxx) section 449 (making counterfeit money),

(lxxxi) section 450 (possession, etc., of counterfeit money),

(lxxxii) section 452 (uttering, etc., counterfeit money),

(lxxxiii) section 462.31 (laundering proceeds of crime),

(lxxxiv) subsection 462.33(11) (acting in contravention of restraint order), or

(lxxxv) section 467.11 (participation in criminal organization),

(lxxxvi) section 467.12 (commission of offence for criminal organization), or

(lxxxvii) section 467.13 (instructing commission of offence for criminal organization),

- (b) section 198 (fraudulent bankruptcy) of the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act,
- (c) any of the following provisions of the Competition Act, namely,
 - (i) section 45 (conspiracy) in relation to any of the matters referred to in paragraphs 45(4)(a) to (d) of that Act,
 - (ii) section 47 (bid-rigging), or
 - (iii) subsection 52.1(3) (deceptive telemarketing),

(d) any of the following provisions of the Controlled Drugs and Substances Act, namely,

- (i) section 5 (trafficking),
- (ii) section 6 (importing and exporting), or
- (iii) section 7 (production),
- (e) section 3 (bribing a foreign public official) of the Corruption of Foreign Public Officials Act,
- (e.1) the Crimes Against Humanity and War Crimes Act,

(lxx) l'article 382 (manipulations frauduleuses d'opérations boursières),

(lxxi) l'article 423.1 (intimidation d'une personne associée au système judiciaire ou d'un journaliste),

(lxxii) l'article 424 (menaces de commettre une infraction contre une personne jouissant d'une protection internationale),

(lxxiii) l'article 426 (commissions secrètes),

(lxxiv) l'article 430 (méfait),

(lxxv) l'article 431 (attaque contre les locaux officiels, le logement privé ou les moyens de transport),

(lxxvi) l'article 433 (crime d'incendie),

(lxxvii) l'article 434 (incendie criminel),

(lxxviii) l'article 434.1 (incendie criminel),

(lxxix) l'article 435 (incendie criminel : intention frauduleuse),

(lxxx) l'article 449 (fabrication de monnaie contrefaite),

(lxxxi) l'article 450 (possession, etc. de monnaie contrefaite),

(lxxxii) l'article 452 (mise en circulation, etc. de monnaie contrefaite),

(lxxxiii) l'article 462.31 (recyclage des produits de la criminalité),

(lxxxiv) le paragraphe 462.33(11) (contravention d'une ordonnance de blocage),

(lxxxv) l'article 467.11 (participation aux activités d'une organisation criminelle),

(lxxxvi) l'article 467.12 (infraction au profit d'une organisation criminelle),

(lxxxvii) l'article 467.13 (charger une personne de commettre une infraction);

b) l'article 198 (faillite frauduleuse) de la Loi sur la faillite et l'insolvabilité;

- (f) either of the following provisions of the Customs Act, namely,
 - (i) section 153 (false statements), or
 - (ii) section 159 (smuggling),
- (g) any of the following provisions of the *Excise Act*, namely,
 - (i) section 158 (unlawful distillation of spirits),
 - (ii) section 163 (unlawful selling of spirits),
 - (iii) subsection 233(1) (unlawful packaging or stamping), or
 - (iv) subsection 240(1) (unlawful possession or sale of manufactured tobacco or cigars),
- (h) any of the following provisions of the Export and Import Permits Act, namely,
 - (i) section 13 (export or attempt to export),
 - (ii) section 14 (import or attempt to import),
 - (iii) section 15 (diversion, etc.),
 - (iv) section 16 (no transfer of permits),
 - (v) section 17 (false information), or
 - (vi) section 18 (aiding and abetting),
- (i) any of the following provisions of the *Immigration and Refugee Protection Act*, namely,
 - (i) section 117 (organizing entry into Canada).
 - (ii) section 118 (trafficking in persons),
 - (iii) section 119 (disembarking persons at sea),
 - (iv) section 122 (offences related to documents),
 - (v) section 126 (counselling misrepresentation), or
 - (vi) section 129 (offences relating to officers), or
- (j) section 3 (spying) of the Official Secrets Act,

- c) l'une des dispositions suivantes de la *Loi sur la concurrence* :
 - (i) l'article 45 (complot) en ce qui concerne l'une ou l'autre des matières visées à ses alinéas (4)*a*) à *d*),
 - (ii) l'article 47 (truquage des offres),
 - (iii) le paragraphe 52.1(3) (télémarketing trompeur);
- d) l'une des dispositions suivantes de la Loi réglementant certaines drogues et autres substances :
 - (i) l'article 5 (trafic de substances),
 - (ii) l'article 6 (importation et exportation),
 - (iii) l'article 7 (production);
- e) l'article 3 (corruption d'agents publics étrangers) de la *Loi sur la corruption* d'agents publics étrangers;
- e.1) la Loi sur les crimes contre l'humanité et les crimes de guerre;
- f) l'une des dispositions suivantes de la Loi sur les douanes :
 - (i) l'article 153 (fausses indications),
 - (ii) l'article 159 (contrebande);
- g) l'une des dispositions suivantes de la *Loi sur l'accise* :
 - (i) l'article 158 (distillation illégale de l'eau-de-vie),
 - (ii) l'article 163 (vente illégale de l'eau-de-vie),
 - (iii) le paragraphe 233(1) (empaquetage ou estampillage illégal),
 - (iv) le paragraphe 240(1) (possession ou vente illégale de tabac fabriqué ou de cigares);
- h) l'une des dispositions suivantes de la Loi sur les licences d'exportation et d'importation :
 - (i) l'article 13 (exportation ou tentative d'exportation),
 - (ii) l'article 14 (importation ou tentative d'importation),
 - (iii) l'article 15 (détournement, etc.),

and includes any other offence that there are reasonable grounds to believe is a criminal organization offence;

- (iv) l'article 16 (transfert ou autorisation interdits),
- (v) l'article 17 (faux renseignements),
- (vi) l'article 18 (incitation);
- i) l'une des dispositions suivantes de la Loi sur l'immigration et la protection des réfugiés:
 - (i) l'article 117 (entrée illégale),
 - (ii) l'article 118 (trafic de personnes),
 - (iii) l'article 119 (débarquement en mer),
 - (iv) l'article 122 (documents),
 - (v) l'article 126 (fausses représentations),
 - (vi) l'article 129 (infractions relatives aux agents);
- j) l'article 3 (espionnage) de la *Loi sur les* secrets officiels.

Est également visée par la présente définition toute autre infraction dont il y a des motifs raisonnables de croire qu'elle est une infraction d'organisation criminelle.

(3) À l'entrée en vigueur des paragraphes

Alternative

- (3) On the latest of the coming into force of subsections 12(5) and (6) of this Act and section 130 of the other Act, sections 130.
 - (a) section 130 of the other Act is repealed;
 - (b) section 131 of the other Act is replaced by the following:

Counselling offence

Immigration

and Refugee

131, 132 and

Protection Act -

- 131. Every person who knowingly induces, aids or abets or attempts to induce, aid or abet any person to contravene section 117, 118, 119, 122, 124 or 129, or who counsels a person to do so, commits an offence and is liable to the same penalty as that person.
 - (c) section 132 of the other Act is repealed; and
 - (d) section 246 of the other Act is repealed.

- 12(5) et (6) de la présente loi ou à celle de l'article 130 de l'autre loi, la dernière en date étant à retenir :
 - a) l'article 130 de l'autre loi est abrogé;
 - b) l'article 131 de l'autre loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :
- **131.** Commet une infraction quiconque, sciemment, incite, aide ou encourage ou tente d'inciter, d'aider ou d'encourager une personne à commettre l'infraction visée aux articles 117, 118, 119, 122, 124 ou 129 ou conseille de la commettre ou complote à cette fin ou est un complice après le fait; l'auteur est passible, sur déclaration de culpabilité de la peine prévue à la disposition en cause.
 - c) l'article 132 de l'autre loi est abrogé;
 - d) l'article 246 de l'autre loi est abrogé.

Aide

C. 32

72

Bill C-15

82. (1) If Bill C-15, introduced in the 1st session of the 37th Parliament and entitled the *Criminal Law Amendment Act*, 2001 (the "other Act"), receives royal assent, then the provisions mentioned in subsections (2) to (4) are amended as provided in those subsections.

(2) On the later of the coming into force

Criminal Code section 462.47 (French version) replaced

of section 25 of this Act and section 25 of the other Act, section 462.47 of the French version of the *Criminal Code* is replaced by the following:

Nullité des actions contre les informateurs **462.47** Il est entendu que, sous réserve de l'article 241 de la *Loi de l'impôt sur le revenu*, aucune action ne peut être intentée contre une personne pour le motif qu'elle aurait révélé à un agent de la paix ou au procureur général des faits sur lesquels elle se fonde pour avoir des motifs raisonnables de soupçonner que des biens sont des produits de la criminalité ou pour croire qu'une autre personne a commis une infraction désignée ou s'apprête à le faire.

(3) On the later of the coming into force

of subsection 37(1) of this Act and section 32

of the other Act, subsection 515(4.1) of the

French version of the Criminal Code is

replaced by the following:

Criminal
Code —
subsection
515(4.1)
(French
version)
replaced

Condition additionnelle

(4.1) Lorsqu'il rend une ordonnance en vertu du paragraphe (2) dans le cas d'une infraction perpétrée avec usage, tentative ou menace de violence contre autrui, de l'infraction visée aux articles 264 (harcèlement criminel) ou 423.1 (intimidation d'une personne associée au système judiciaire), d'une infraction aux paragraphes 5(1) ou (2), 6(1) ou (2) ou 7(1) de la Loi réglementant certaines drogues et autres substances ou d'une infraction relative à une arme à feu, une arbalète, une arme prohibée, une arme à autorisation restreinte, un dispositif prohibé, des munitions, des munitions prohibées ou des substances explosives, le juge de paix doit, s'il en arrive à la conclusion qu'il est souhaitable de le faire pour la sécurité du prévenu, de la victime ou de toute autre personne, assortir l'ordonnance d'une condition lui interdisant, jusqu'à ce qu'il soit jugé conformément à la 82. (1) Les paragraphes (2) à (4) s'appliquent en cas de sanction du projet de loi C-15, déposé au cours de la 1^{re} session de la 37^e législature et intitulé *Loi de 2001 modifiant le droit criminel* (appelé « autre loi » au présent article).

Projet de loi C-15

(2) À l'entrée en vigueur de l'article 25 de la présente loi ou à celle de l'article 25 de l'autre loi, la dernière en date étant à retenir, l'article 462.47 de la version française du *Code criminel* est remplacé par ce qui suit : Alternative

462.47 Il est entendu que, sous réserve de l'article 241 de la *Loi de l'impôt sur le revenu*, aucune action ne peut être intentée contre une personne pour le motif qu'elle aurait révélé à un agent de la paix ou au procureur général des faits sur lesquels elle se fonde pour avoir des motifs raisonnables de soupçonner que des biens sont des produits de la criminalité ou pour croire qu'une autre personne a commis une infraction désignée ou s'apprête à le faire.

Nullité des actions contre les informateurs

(3) À l'entrée en vigueur du paragraphe 37(1) de la présente loi ou à celle de l'article 32 de l'autre loi, la dernière en date étant à retenir, le paragraphe 515(4.1) de la version française du *Code criminel* est remplacé par ce qui suit :

Alternative

(4.1) Lorsqu'il rend une ordonnance en vertu du paragraphe (2) dans le cas d'une infraction perpétrée avec usage, tentative ou menace de violence contre autrui, de l'infraction visée aux articles 264 (harcèlement criminel) ou 423.1 (intimidation d'une personne associée au système judiciaire), d'une infraction aux paragraphes 5(1) ou (2), 6(1) ou (2) ou 7(1) de la Loi réglementant certaines drogues et autres substances ou d'une infraction relative à une arme à feu, une arbalète. une arme prohibée, une arme à autorisation restreinte, un dispositif prohibé, des munitions, des munitions prohibées ou des substances explosives, le juge de paix doit, s'il en arrive à la conclusion qu'il est souhaitable de le faire pour la sécurité du prévenu, de la victime ou de toute autre personne, assortir l'ordonnance d'une condition lui interdisant, jusqu'à ce qu'il soit jugé conformément à la Condition additionnelle

loi, d'avoir en sa possession de tels objets ou l'un ou plusieurs de ceux-ci.

Criminal Code subsections 631(3) to (6) replaced (4) On the later of the coming into force of section 38 of this Act and section 62 of the other Act, subsections 631(3) to (6) of the *Criminal Code* are replaced by the following:

Alternate jurors (2.1) If the judge considers it advisable in the interests of justice to have one or two alternate jurors, the judge shall so order before the clerk of the court draws out the cards under subsection (3) or (3.1).

To be drawn by clerk of court

- (3) The clerk of the court shall, in open court, draw out the cards referred to in subsection (1), one after another, and shall call out the name and number on each card as it is drawn, until the number of persons who have answered is, in the opinion of the judge, sufficient to provide a full jury and any alternate jurors ordered by the judge after allowing for orders to excuse, challenges and directions to stand by where
 - (a) the array of jurors is not challenged; or
 - (b) the array of jurors is challenged but the judge does not direct a new panel to be returned.

Where name not to be called (3.1) On application by the prosecutor or on its own motion, the court, or a judge of the court, before which the jury trial is to be held, if it is satisfied that it is in the best interest of the administration of justice to do so, including in order to protect the privacy or safety of the members of the jury and alternate jurors, may order that, for the purposes of subsection (3), the clerk of the court shall only call out the number on each card.

Juror and other persons

(4) The clerk of the court shall swear each member of the jury, and any alternate jurors, in the order in which his or her card was drawn and shall swear any other person providing technical, personal, interpretative or other support services to a juror with a physical disability.

loi, d'avoir en sa possession de tels objets ou l'un ou plusieurs de ceux-ci.

(4) À l'entrée en vigueur de l'article 38 de la présente loi ou à celle de l'article 62 de l'autre loi, la dernière en date étant à retenir, les paragraphes 631(3) à (6) du *Code criminel* sont remplacés par ce qui suit :

Jurés suppléants

Alternative

(2.1) S'il estime indiqué, dans l'intérêt de la justice, qu'il y ait un ou deux jurés suppléants, le juge l'ordonne avant que le greffier procède au tirage en vertu des paragraphes (3) ou (3.1).

Tirage par le greffier du tribunal

- (3) Si le tableau des jurés n'est pas récusé, ou s'il l'est mais que le juge n'ordonne pas la présentation d'une nouvelle liste, le greffier du tribunal tire, en pleine audience, l'une après l'autre les cartes mentionnées au paragraphe (1) et appelle les nom et numéro inscrits sur chaque carte au fur et à mesure que les cartes sont tirées, jusqu'à ce que le nombre de personnes ayant répondu soit, de l'avis du juge, suffisant pour constituer un jury complet et pourvoir les postes de jurés suppléants le cas échéant, après qu'il a été pourvu aux dispenses, aux récusations et aux mises à l'écart.
- (3.1) Sur demande du poursuivant ou de sa propre initiative, le tribunal ou le juge du tribunal devant qui doit se tenir le procès avec jury peut, s'il estime que cela est dans l'intérêt de la bonne administration de la justice, et notamment en vue d'assurer la sécurité des jurés ou la confidentialité de leur identité, ordonner que seul le numéro inscrit sur la carte soit appelé par le greffier dans le cadre du paragraphe (3).
- (4) Le greffier du tribunal assermente chaque membre du jury et, le cas échéant, chaque juré suppléant, suivant l'ordre dans lequel les cartes des jurés ont été tirées ainsi que toute personne qui fournit une aide technique, personnelle ou autre, ou des services d'interprétation, aux membres du jury ayant une déficience physique.

Chaque juré est assermenté

Procédure

exceptionnelle

C. 32

Drawing additional cards if necessary (5) If the number of persons who answer under subsection (3) or (3.1) is not sufficient to provide a full jury and the number of alternate jurors ordered by the judge, the clerk of the court shall proceed in accordance with subsections (3), (3.1) and (4) until twelve jurors and any alternate jurors are sworn.

Ban on publication, etc.

(6) On application by the prosecutor or on its own motion, the court or judge before which a jury trial is to be held may, if an order under subsection (3.1) has been made, make an order directing that the identity of a juror or alternate juror or any information that could disclose their identity shall not be published in any document or broadcast in any way, if the court or judge is satisfied that such an order is necessary for the proper administration of justice.

COMING INTO FORCE

Coming into

83. The provisions of this Act, other than sections 80 to 82, come into force on a day or days to be fixed by order of the Governor in Council.

- (5) Lorsque le nombre de ceux qui ont répondu à l'appel en conformité avec les paragraphes (3) ou (3.1) ne suffit pas pour constituer un jury complet et pourvoir les postes de jurés suppléants le cas échéant, le greffier du tribunal procède en conformité avec les paragraphes (3), (3.1) et (4) jusqu'à ce que douze jurés et les jurés suppléants soient assermentés.
- (6) Sur demande du poursuivant ou de sa propre initiative, le tribunal ou le juge du tribunal devant qui doit se tenir le procès avec jury peut, s'il a rendu une ordonnance au titre du paragraphe (3.1), interdire de publier ou de diffuser de quelque autre façon l'identité des membres du jury et, le cas échéant, des jurés suppléants, ou des renseignements qui permettraient de la découvrir, s'il est convaincu que la bonne administration de la justice l'exige.

ENTRÉE EN VIGUEUR

83. Les dispositions de la présente loi, à l'exception des articles 80 à 82, entrent en vigueur à la date ou aux dates fixées par décret.

Tirage d'autres noms ou de numéros au besoin

Demande de non-publication

Entrée en vigueur

CHAPTER 33

AN ACT TO AMEND THE EXPORT DEVELOPMENT ACT AND TO MAKE CONSEQUENTIAL AMENDMENTS TO OTHER

ACTS

CHAPITRE 33

LOI MODIFIANT LA LOI SUR L'EXPANSION DES EXPORTATIONS ET D'AUTRES LOIS EN CONSÉQUENCE

SUMMARY

This enactment amends the Export Development Act by

- (a) changing the name of the Corporation to Export Development Canada and making consequential amendments to other Acts and to regulations:
- (b) enabling the Board to delegate its powers and duties to committees that it may establish, other than the executive committee:
- (c) requiring the Corporation, before entering into a transaction that is related to a project, to determine, in accordance with a directive established by the Board, whether the project is likely to have adverse environmental effects and, if such is the case, whether the Corporation is justified in entering into the transaction;
- (d) requiring the Auditor General to audit the design and implementation of the directive established by the Board, at least once every five years;
- (e) providing that the Canadian Environmental Assessment Act cannot be made to apply to certain activities of the Corporation;
- (f) providing that an environmental assessment is not required under the *Canadian Environmental Assessment Act* where the Minister for International Trade, the Minister of Finance or the Governor in Council exercise certain powers with respect to the Corporation; and
- (g) enabling the Board to make by-laws respecting the establishment of a pension plan for the officers and employees of the Corporation and their dependants.

SOMMAIRE

Le texte modifie la Loi sur l'expansion des exportations comme suit :

- a) il remplace le nom de la Société pour l'expansion des exportations par Exportation et développement Canada et modifie d'autres lois et des règlements en conséquence;
- b) il accorde au conseil le pouvoir de déléguer ses pouvoirs et fonctions aux comités, autres que le comité de direction, qu'il peut constituer:
- c) il oblige la Société à décider, avant de procéder à une opération qui se rapporte à un projet, en conformité avec la directive que le conseil établit, si le projet aura probablement des effets environnementaux négatifs et, le cas échéant, si elle est justifiée de procéder à l'opération;
- d) il impose au vérificateur général l'obligation de vérifier cette directive et sa mise en oeuvre au moins une fois tous les cinq ans;
- e) il prévoit que certaines activités de la Société ne peuvent être assujetties à la Loi canadienne sur l'évaluation environnementale;
- f) il prévoit qu'il n'est pas nécessaire d'effectuer une évaluation environnementale en vertu de cette loi dans les cas où le ministre du Commerce international, le ministre des Finances ou le gouverneur en conseil exercent certains pouvoirs relativement à la Société;
- g) il permet au conseil de régir la création d'un régime de retraite pour les dirigeants et les employés de la Société et les personnes à leur charge.

49-50 ELIZABETH II

49-50 ELIZABETH II

CHAPTER 33

CHAPITRE 33

An Act to amend the Export Development Act and to make consequential amendments to other Acts

[Assented to 18th December, 2001]

Loi modifiant la Loi sur l'expansion des exportations d'autres et conséquence

[Sanctionnée le 18 décembre 2001]

Her Majesty, by and with the advice and consent of the Senate and House of Commons of Canada, enacts as follows:

R.S., c. E-20

Sa Majesté, sur l'avis et avec le consentement du Sénat et de la Chambre des communes du Canada, édicte :

1993, c. 26,

s. 1

EXPORT DEVELOPMENT ACT

LOI SUR L'EXPANSION DES EXPORTATIONS

L.R., ch. E-20 1993, ch. 26, art. 1

- 1. The long title of the Export Develop*ment Act* is replaced by the following:
- An Act to establish Export Development Canada and to support and develop trade between Canada and other countries and Canada's competitiveness international market-place
- 2. Section 1 of the French version of the Act is replaced by the following:

Titre abrégé

- 1. Loi sur le développement des exportations.
- 3. (1) The definitions "Chairman" and "Vice-Chairman" in section 2 of the English version of the Act are repealed.
- (2) The definition "Corporation" in section 2 of the Act is replaced by the following:

"Corporation" « Société »

- "Corporation" means Export Development Canada, the corporation established by section 3;
- (3) Section 2 of the English version of the Act is amended by adding the following in alphabetical order:
- "Chairperson" means the Chairperson of the Board:

1. Le titre intégral de la Loi sur l'expansion des exportations est remplacé par ce qui suit:

Loi créant Exportation et développement Canada et visant à soutenir et à développer le commerce entre le Canada et l'étranger ainsi que la capacité concurrentielle du pays sur le marché international

- 2. L'article 1 de la version française de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :
- 1. Loi sur le développement des exportations.
- 3. (1) Les définitions de « Chairman » et « Vice-Chairman », à l'article 2 de la version anglaise de la même loi, sont abrogées.
- (2) La définition de « Société », à l'article 2 de la même loi, est remplacée par ce qui
- « Société » Exportation et développement Canada, la société constituée par l'article 3.
- (3) L'article 2 de la version anglaise de la même loi est modifié par adjonction, selon l'ordre alphabétique, de ce qui suit :
- "Chairperson" means the Chairperson of the Board:

« Société » "Corporation"

Titre abrégé

"Chairperson" Version anglaise seulement

"Chairperson" Version anglaise seulement

"Vice-chairperson" Version anglaise seulement

2

"Vice-chairperson" means the Vice-chairperson of the Board.

"Vice-chairperson" means the Vice-chairperson of the Board.

"Vice-chairperson" Version anglaise seulement

4. Section 3 of the Act is replaced by the following:

Corporation established

3. A corporation is hereby established, to be known as Export Development Canada, consisting of a Board of Directors composed of fifteen directors, including a Chairperson and a President.

5. The heading before section 7 of the Act is replaced by the following:

Committees of the Board

6. The Act is amended by adding the following after section 7:

Other committees

7.1 The Board may establish any other committee and that committee may exercise any powers and perform any duties of the Board delegated to it by the Board.

7. Subsection 8(2) of the Act is replaced by the following:

Management of Corporation vested in President (2) The President is the chief executive officer of the Corporation and has on behalf of the Board the direction and management of the business of the Corporation, with authority to act in the conduct of the business of the Corporation in all matters that are not by this Act or the by-laws of the Corporation specifically reserved to the Board or any committee of the Board.

1993, c. 26, s. 4(2)

8. Subsection 10(3) of the Act is replaced by the following:

Limit of liability

- (3) Subject to subsections (3.1) and (4), the contingent liability of the Corporation in respect of the principal amount owing under all outstanding arrangements entered into under paragraph (1.1)(b) shall at no time exceed the greater of
 - (a) an amount equal to ten times the authorized capital of the Corporation, and
 - (b) seventeen billion, five hundred million dollars.

Appropriation Act (3.1) The amount referred to in paragraph (3)(*b*) may be varied in an appropriation Act.

4. L'article 3 de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

3. Est constituée Exportation et développement Canada, société dotée de la personnalité morale et formée d'un conseil d'administration de quinze administrateurs, dont le président du conseil et le président.

Dénomination et composition

5. L'intertitre précédant l'article 7 de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

Comités du conseil

6. La même loi est modifiée par adjonction, après l'article 7, de ce qui suit :

7.1 Le conseil peut constituer d'autres comités, qui exercent les pouvoirs et fonctions qu'il leur délègue.

Autres comités

7. Le paragraphe 8(2) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

(2) Le président est le premier dirigeant de la Société; à ce titre, il en assure la direction au nom du conseil. Il est investi à cet effet des pouvoirs qui ne sont pas expressément réservés par la présente loi ou les règlements administratifs de la Société au conseil ou à l'un de ses comités.

Fonctions

8. Le paragraphe 10(3) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

1993, ch. 26, par. 4(2)

Limite

- (3) La dette éventuelle de la Société au titre du principal dû aux termes de toutes les ententes en cours conclues en application de l'alinéa (1.1)b) ne peut à aucun moment être supérieure au plus élevé des montants suivants :
 - a) dix fois le capital autorisé de la Société;
 - b) dix-sept milliards cinq cents millions de dollars.
- (3.1) Une loi de crédits peut modifier le montant visé à l'alinéa (3)b).

Loi de crédits

9. The Act is amended by adding the following after section 10:

Environmental Effects

Requirement

- 10.1 (1) Before entering, in the exercise of its powers under subsection 10(1.1), into a transaction that is related to a project, the Corporation must determine, in accordance with the directive referred to in subsection (2),
 - (a) whether the project is likely to have adverse environmental effects despite the implementation of mitigation measures; and
 - (b) if such is the case, whether the Corporation is justified in entering into the transaction.

Directive

- (2) The Board shall issue a directive respecting the determination referred to in subsection (1), which directive may
 - (a) define the words and expressions that the Board considers necessary for the application of that subsection, including the and expressions "transaction", "project", "adverse environmental effects" and "mitigation measures";
 - (b) establish the criteria that the Corporation must apply in making the determination; and
 - (c) establish exceptions specifically or by any class, as defined by the Board, to the Corporation's obligation to make the determination.

(3) The directive is not a statutory instrument for the purposes of the Statutory Instruments Act.

10. (1) Paragraph 16(a) of the Act is replaced by the following:

(a) for the regulation of its proceedings, including the delegation of any of its powers and duties to any committee of the Board and the fixing of quorums for meetings of the Board and any committee of the Board;

(2) Paragraph 16(d) of the Act is replaced by the following:

(d) delegating, subject to any terms and conditions specified in the by-laws and

9. La même loi est modifiée par adjonction, après l'article 10, de ce qui suit :

Effets environnementaux

10.1 (1) Avant de procéder, dans l'exercice des pouvoirs que le paragraphe 10(1.1) lui confère, à une opération qui se rapporte à un projet, la Société est tenue de décider, en conformité avec la directive visée au paragraphe (2):

a) si le projet aura probablement des effets environnementaux négatifs malgré l'application de mesures d'atténuation;

- b) le cas échéant, si elle est justifiée de procéder à l'opération.
- (2) Le conseil établit une directive qui régit la décision visée au paragraphe (1). Il peut :
 - a) y définir, pour l'application de celui-ci, les termes qu'il estime nécessaires, notamment les termes « opération », « projet », « effets environnementaux négatifs » et « mesures d'atténuation »;
 - b) y fixer les critères sur lesquels la Société se fonde pour prendre la décision;
 - c) v prévoir, nommément ou selon les catégories qu'il définit, les exceptions à l'obligation de décision de la Société.

(3) La directive n'est pas un texte réglementaire pour l'application de la Loi sur les textes réglementaires.

Loi sur les textes réglementaires

10. (1) L'alinéa 16a) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

a) régir la conduite de ses travaux, notamment la délégation de pouvoirs et fonctions à ses comités, et la fixation du quorum de ses réunions et de celles de ses comités;

(2) L'alinéa 16d) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

d) déléguer à un ou plusieurs dirigeants de la Société, conditionnellement ou non et à

Obligation

Directive

Statutory Instruments despite any delegation of such authority to any committee of the Board, to any one or more officers of the Corporation, jointly or severally, any authority to authorize the Corporation to exercise a power under this Act that is given specifically to the Board by any provision of this Act;

(d.1) respecting

- (i) the establishment, management and administration of a pension plan for the officers and employees of the Corporation and their dependants,
- (ii) the contributions to be made by the Corporation to the associated pension fund.
- (iii) the provision of benefits under the pension plan,
- (iv) the payment of pensions, and
- (v) the investment of the assets of the fund; and

11. Section 21 of the Act is renumbered as subsection 21(1) and is amended by adding the following:

Report re directive (2) As auditor of the Corporation, the Auditor General must, at least once every five years, audit the design and the implementation of the directive referred to in subsection 10.1(2) and submit a report on the audit to the Board and to the Minister. The Auditor General must submit the report to each House of Parliament on any of the first thirty days on which it is sitting after the report is completed.

12. The Act is amended by adding the following after section 24:

Canadian Environmental Assessment Act: s. 5(1) **24.1** (1) Subsection 5(1) of the *Canadian Environmental Assessment Act* does not apply where the Minister or the Minister of Finance exercises a power or performs a duty or function under this Act or any regulation made under it, or exercises a power of authorization or approval with respect to the Corporation under any other Act of Parliament or any regulation made under it.

Subsection 5(2)

(2) Subsection 5(2) of the *Canadian Envi*ronmental Assessment Act does not apply where the Governor in Council exercises a power of authorization or approval under titre individuel ou collectif, tout pouvoir d'autorisation que lui confère la présente loi à l'égard de la Société, même si le pouvoir a déjà été délégué à l'un des comités du conseil:

d.1) régir la création, la gestion et l'administration d'un régime de retraite pour les dirigeants et les employés de la Société et les personnes à leur charge, les contributions à verser par la Société à la caisse de retraite du régime, l'attribution de prestations au titre du régime, le paiement de pensions et le placement des actifs de la caisse;

11. L'article 21 de la même loi devient le paragraphe 21(1) et est modifié par adjonction de ce qui suit :

(2) À ce titre, il est tenu, au moins une fois tous les cinq ans, de vérifier la directive visée au paragraphe 10.1(2) et sa mise en oeuvre et de présenter un rapport au conseil et au ministre. Il fait déposer le rapport devant chaque chambre du Parlement dans les trente premiers jours de séance de celle-ci suivant son achèvement.

Rapport sur

la directive

12. La même loi est modifiée par adjonction, après l'article 24, de ce qui suit :

24.1 (1) Le paragraphe 5(1) de la *Loi canadienne sur l'évaluation environnementa-le* ne s'applique pas dans les cas où le ministre ou le ministre des Finances exercent soit une attribution sous le régime de la présente loi, soit, relativement à la Société, tout pouvoir d'autorisation ou d'approbation sous le régime d'une autre loi fédérale.

(2) Le paragraphe 5(2) de la *Loi canadienne* sur l'évaluation environnementale ne s'applique pas dans les cas où le gouverneur en conseil exerce un pouvoir d'autorisation ou

Loi canadienne

sur l'évaluation

environnemen-

tale: par.

Par. 5(2)

regulations made under this Act, or where the Governor in Council exercises a power of authorization or approval with respect to the Corporation under any other Act of Parliament or regulations made under it.

Subsection 8(1)

(3) Subsection 8(1) of the *Canadian Environmental Assessment Act* does not apply to the Corporation.

Use of Corporation's name or initials 24.2 (1) Except with the written consent of the Corporation, no person shall in any prospectus or advertisement, or for any other business purpose, use the following names and initials: "Export Development Canada", "Exportation et développement Canada", "Export Development Corporation", "Société pour l'expansion des exportations", "E.D.C.", "EDC", "S.E.E." and "SEE".

Offence

(2) A person who contravenes subsection (1) is guilty of an offence and liable on summary conviction to a fine not exceeding \$10,000 or to imprisonment for a term not exceeding six months, or to both.

Replacing "Chairman" and "Vice-Chairman" with "Chairperson" and "Vice-chairperson"

- 13. The English version of the Act is amended by replacing the words "Chairman" and "Vice-Chairman" with the words "Chairperson" and "Vice-chairperson", respectively, wherever they occur in the following provisions:
 - (a) section 4;
 - (b) section 6;
 - (c) subsection 7(1); and
 - (d) subsection 9(2).

TRANSITIONAL PROVISIONS

Powers, duties and functions

14. Wherever, under any Act of Parliament, any instrument made under an Act of Parliament or any contract, lease, licence or other document, a power, duty or function is vested in or exercisable by the Export Development Corporation, that power, duty or function is vested in or exercisable by Export Development Canada.

d'approbation soit en vertu des règlements d'application de la présente loi, soit, relativement à la Société, sous le régime d'une autre loi fédérale.

- (3) Le paragraphe 8(1) de la *Loi canadienne sur l'évaluation environnementale* ne s'applique pas à la Société.
- **24.2** (1) Il est interdit à toute personne de se servir dans un prospectus ou un texte publicitaire ou à toute autre fin commerciale, sans le consentement écrit de la Société, des noms et sigles suivants : « Exportation et développement Canada », « Export Development Canada », « Société pour l'expansion des exportations », « Export Development Corporation », « E.D.C. », « EDC », « S.E.E. » et « SEE ».
- (2) Quiconque contrevient au paragraphe (1) commet une infraction et encourt, sur déclaration de culpabilité par procédure sommaire, une amende maximale de 10 000 \$ et un emprisonnement maximal de six mois, ou l'une de ces peines.
- 13. Dans les passages ci-après de la version anglaise de la même loi, « Chairman » et « Vice-Chairman » sont respectivement remplacés par « Chairperson » et « Vice-chairperson » :
 - a) l'article 4;
 - b) l'article 6;
 - c) le paragraphe 7(1);
 - d) le paragraphe 9(2).

DISPOSITIONS TRANSITOIRES

14. Les attributions conférées, sous le régime d'une loi fédérale ou au titre d'un contrat, bail, permis ou autre document, à la Société pour l'expansion des exportations sont exercées par Exportation et développement Canada.

Par. 8(1)

Usage des noms et sigles de la Société

Infraction

Remplacement de « Chairman » et « Vice-Chairman » par « Chairperson » et « Vice-chairperson »

Transfert d'attributions

References

15. Every reference to the Export Development Corporation in any deed, contract or other document executed by the Export Development Corporation in its own name shall, unless the context otherwise requires, be read as a reference to Export Development Canada.

Rights and obligations transferred

16. All rights and property of the Export Development Corporation, rights and property held in its name or held in trust for it and all its obligations and liabilities are deemed to be rights, property, obligations and liabilities of Export Development Canada.

Continuation of legal proceedings 17. Any legal proceeding to which the Export Development Corporation is party pending in any court immediately before the day on which this section comes into force may be continued by or against Export Development Canada in the same manner and to the same extent as it could have been continued by or against the Export Development Corporation.

CONSEQUENTIAL AMENDMENTS

R.S., c. B-7; R.S., c. 24 (1st Supp.), s. 3 Bretton Woods and Related Agreements Act

1998, c. 21, s. 130 18. (1) Subsection 8.3(7) of the *Bretton Woods and Related Agreements Act* is replaced by the following:

Export Development Canada (7) Export Development Canada may, on the request of the Minister of Finance, act as agent of the Minister of Finance for the purpose of providing financial assistance to any foreign state under this section.

1998, c. 21, s. 130

(2) Paragraph 8.3(8)(b) of the Act is replaced by the following:

(b) to compensate Export Development Canada for its services as agent of the Minister of Finance under subsection (7) in accordance with any agreement between Export Development Canada and the Minister of Finance.

15. Sauf indication contraire du contexte, dans les contrats, actes et autres documents signés sous son nom par la Société pour l'expansion des exportations, toute mention de cette dernière vaut mention d'Exportation et développement Canada.

16. Les droits et biens de la Société pour l'expansion des exportations, ceux qui sont détenus en son nom ou en fiducie pour elle, ainsi que ses obligations et engagements

17. Exportation et développement Canada prend la suite de la Société pour l'expansion des exportations, au même titre et dans les mêmes conditions que celle-ci, comme partie aux procédures judiciaires en cours à la date d'entrée en vigueur du présent article et auxquelles la Société pour l'expansion des exportations est partie.

sont réputés être ceux d'Exportation et

développement Canada.

Procédures judiciaires en

Mentions

MODIFICATIONS CORRÉLATIVES

Loi sur les accords de Bretton Woods et des accords connexes

L.R., ch. B-7; L.R., ch. 24 (1^{er} suppl.), art. 3

1998, ch. 21,

art. 130

Canada

18. (1) Le paragraphe 8.3(7) de la *Loi sur les accords de Bretton Woods et des accords connexes* est remplacé par ce qui suit :

Exportation et développement

(7) Exportation et développement Canada peut, à la demande du ministre des Finances, agir comme mandataire de celui-ci en vue d'accorder une aide financière à un État étranger au titre du présent article.

1998, ch. 21,

(2) L'alinéa 8.3(8)b) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

b) de rémunérer Exportation et développement Canada pour ses services à titre de mandataire dans le cadre du paragraphe (7), en conformité avec tout accord conclu entre eux. R.S., c. F-8; 1995, c. 17, s. 45(1)

Federal-Provincial Fiscal Arrangements Act

19. Schedule I to the *Federal-Provincial Fiscal Arrangements Act* is amended by striking out the following:

Export Development Corporation

Société pour l'expansion des exportations

20. Schedule I to the Act is amended by adding the following in alphabetical order:

Export Development Canada

Exportation et développement Canada

R.S., c. F-11

Financial Administration Act

21. Part I of Schedule III to the *Financial Administration Act* is amended by striking out the following:

Export Development Corporation

Société pour l'expansion des exportations

22. Part I of Schedule III to the Act is amended by adding the following in alphabetical order:

Export Development Canada

Exportation et développement Canada

R.S., c. M-13; 2000, c. 8, s. 2

Payments in Lieu of Taxes Act

23. Schedule IV to the *Payments in Lieu of Taxes Act* is amended by striking out the following:

Export Development Corporation

Société pour l'expansion des exportations

24. Schedule IV to the Act is amended by adding the following in alphabetical order:

Export Development Canada

Exportation et développement Canada

Loi sur les arrangements fiscaux entre le gouvernement fédéral et les provinces L.R., ch. F-8; 1995, ch. 17, par. 45(1)

19. L'annexe I de la *Loi sur les arrangements fiscaux entre le gouvernement fédéral et les provinces* est modifiée par suppression de ce qui suit :

Société pour l'expansion des exportations Export Development Corporation

20. L'annexe I de la même loi est modifiée par adjonction, selon l'ordre alphabétique, de ce qui suit :

Exportation et développement Canada Export Development Canada

Loi sur la gestion des finances publiques

L.R., ch. F-11

21. La partie I de l'annexe III de la *Loi sur* la gestion des finances publiques est modifiée par suppression de ce qui suit :

Société pour l'expansion des exportations Export Development Corporation

22. La partie I de l'annexe III de la même loi est modifiée par adjonction, selon l'ordre alphabétique, de ce qui suit :

Exportation et développement Canada

Export Development Canada

Loi sur les paiements versés en remplacement d'impôts

L.R., ch. M-13; 2000, ch. 8, art. 2

23. L'annexe IV de la *Loi sur les paiements versés en remplacement d'impôts* est modifiée par suppression de ce qui suit :

Société pour l'expansion des exportations Export Development Corporation

24. L'annexe IV de la même loi est modifiée par adjonction, selon l'ordre alphabétique, de ce qui suit :

Exportation et développement Canada

Export Development Canada

L.R., ch. P-21

8

Privacy Act

25. The schedule to the Privacy Act is amended by striking out the following under the heading "Other Government Institutions":

Export Development Corporation

Société pour l'expansion des exportations

26. The schedule to the Act is amended by adding the following in alphabetical order under the heading "Other Government Institutions":

Export Development Canada

Exportation et développement Canada

R.S., c. P-36 SOR/2000-168 Public Service Superannuation Act

27. Part III of Schedule I to the Public Service Superannuation Act is amended by striking out the following:

Export Development Corporation

Société pour l'expansion des exportations

28. Part III of Schedule I to the Act is amended by adding the following in alphabetical order:

Export Development Canada

Exportation et développement Canada

Other Federal Acts

29. Unless the context requires otherwise, every reference to "Export Development Corporation" is replaced by a reference to "Export Development Canada" in any other Act of Parliament, with any grammatical modifications that are required.

Regulations and Other Instruments

30. Unless the context requires otherwise, every reference to "Export Development Corporation" is replaced by a reference to "Export Development Canada", and every reference to "Société pour l'expansion des exportations" is replaced by a reference to "Exportation et développement Canada", with any grammatical modifications or changes in order that are required, in regulations, as defined in section 2 of the Statutory Instruments Act, and in any other Loi sur la protection des renseignements personnels

25. L'annexe de la Loi sur la protection des renseignements personnels est modifiée par suppression, sous l'intertitre « Autres institutions fédérales », de ce qui suit :

Société pour l'expansion des exportations

Export Development Corporation

26. L'annexe de la même loi est modifiée par adjonction, selon l'ordre alphabétique, sous l'intertitre « Autres institutions fédérales », de ce qui suit :

Exportation et développement Canada

Export Development Canada

Loi sur la pension de la fonction publique

L.R., ch. P-36

27. La partie III de l'annexe I de la *Loi sur* la pension de la fonction publique est modifiée par suppression de ce qui suit :

Société pour l'expansion des exportations

Export Development Corporation

28. La partie III de l'annexe I de la même loi est modifiée par adjonction, selon l'ordre alphabétique, de ce qui suit :

Exportation et développement Canada

Export Development Canada

Autres lois fédérales

29. Sauf indication contraire du contexte, dans les autres lois fédérales, « Société pour l'expansion des exportations » est remplacé par « Exportation et développement Canada », avec les adaptations grammaticales nécessaires.

Règlements et autres textes d'application

30. Sauf indication contraire du contexte, « Société pour l'expansion des exportations » est remplacé par « Exportation et développement Canada », et « Export Development Corporation » est remplacé par « Export Development Canada », avec les adaptations grammaticales et les changements d'ordre alphabétique ou numérique nécessaires, dans tout règlement, au sens de l'article 2 de la Loi sur les textes réglementaires, et dans tout autre texte pris soit dans

DORS/2000-168

instrument made in execution of a power conferred by or under an Act of Parliament or by or under the authority of the Governor in Council, and more particularly in the following provisions with the changes indicated:

- (a) clause (c)(i)(E) of the definition "specified international finance trust" in subsection 5000(7) of the *Income Tax Regulations*;
- (b) the schedule to the Designation of Certain Portions of the Public Service Order, with the French version of that reference being placed in alphabetical order:
- (c) Schedule I to the *Public Service Superannuation Regulations*, with the French version of that reference being placed in alphabetical order;
- (d) item 41 of the schedule to the English version of the *Privacy Act Heads of Government Institutions Designation Order*:
- (e) item 108 of the schedule to the French version of the *Privacy Act Heads of Government Institutions Designation Order*, with that item being renumbered and placed as item 79.1;
- (f) item 42 of the schedule to the English version of the Canadian Security Intelligence Service Act Deputy Heads of the Public Service of Canada Order, made by Order in Council P.C. 1993-1073 of May 25, 1993 and registered as SI/93-81;
- (g) item 110 of the schedule to the French version of the Canadian Security Intelligence Service Act Deputy Heads of the Public Service of Canada Order, made by Order in Council P.C. 1993-1073 of May 25, 1993 and registered as SI/93-81, with that item being renumbered and placed as item 75.1;
- (h) paragraph (b) of Order in Council P.C. 1993-1454 made on June 25, 1993 and registered as SI/93-108;
- (i) the long title and section 1 of the Export Development Corporation Exercise of Certain Powers Regulations; and

l'exercice d'un pouvoir conféré sous le régime d'une loi fédérale, soit par le gouverneur en conseil ou sous son autorité, notamment dans les passages suivants, avec les modifications indiquées :

- a) la division c)(i)(E) de la définition de « fiducie financière internationale déterminée » au paragraphe 5000(7) du Règle-ment de l'impôt sur le revenu;
- b) l'annexe du Décret de désignation de certains éléments de la fonction publique, la mention dans la version française étant insérée selon l'ordre alphabétique;
- c) l'annexe I du Règlement sur la pension de la fonction publique, la mention dans la version française étant insérée selon l'ordre alphabétique;
- d) l'article 41 de l'annexe de la version anglaise du Décret sur la désignation des responsables d'institutions fédérales (Loi sur la protection des renseignements personnels);
- e) l'article 108 de l'annexe de la version française du Décret sur la désignation des responsables d'institutions fédérales (Loi sur la protection des renseignements personnels), cet article devenant l'article 79.1 et étant déplacé en conséquence;
- f) l'article 42 de l'annexe de la version anglaise du Décret sur la désignation des administrateurs généraux de l'administration publique fédérale (Loi sur le Service canadien du renseignement de sécurité), édicté par le décret C.P. 1993-1073 du 25 mai 1993 et portant le numéro d'enregistrement TR/93-81;
- g) l'article 110 de l'annexe de la version française du Décret sur la désignation des administrateurs généraux de l'administration publique fédérale (Loi sur le Service canadien du renseignement de sécurité), édicté par le décret C.P. 1993-1073 du 25 mai 1993 et portant le numéro d'enregistrement TR/93-81, cet article devenant l'article 75.1 et étant déplacé en conséquence;

(j) paragraph 13(b) of the Crown Corporation General Regulations, 1995.

- 31. Unless the context requires otherwise, every reference to "Loi sur l'expansion des exportations" is replaced by a reference to "Loi sur le développement des exportations" in the French version of regulations, as defined in section 2 of the *Statutory Instruments Act*, made under any Act of Parliament and more particularly in the following provisions:
 - (a) paragraph (a) of the French version of Order in Council P.C. 1993-1454 made on June 25, 1993 and registered as SI/93-108; and
 - (b) the definition "Loi" in section 2 of the French version of the Export Development Canada Exercise of Certain Powers Regulations.

COMING INTO FORCE

Coming into force

32. The provisions of this Act come into force on a day or days to be fixed by order of the Governor in Council.

- h) l'alinéa b) du décret C.P. 1993-1454 du 25 juin 1993 portant le numéro d'enregistrement TR/93-108;
- i) le titre intégral et l'article 1 du Règlement sur l'exercice de certains pouvoirs par la Société pour l'expansion des exportations:
- j) l'alinéa 13b) du Règlement général de 1995 sur les sociétés d'État.
- 31. Sauf indication contraire du contexte, « Loi sur l'expansion des exportations » est remplacé par « Loi sur le développement des exportations » dans la version française de tout règlement, au sens de l'article 2 de la *Loi sur les textes réglementaires*, notamment dans les passages suivants :
 - a) l'alinéa a) de la version française du décret C.P. 1993-1454 du 25 juin 1993 portant le numéro d'enregistrement TR/93-108;
 - b) la définition de « Loi » à l'article 2 de la version française du Règlement sur l'exercice de certains pouvoirs par Exportation et développement Canada.

ENTRÉE EN VIGUEUR

32. Les dispositions de la présente loi entrent en vigueur à la date ou aux dates fixées par décret.

Entrée en vigueur

CHAPTER 34

CHAPITRE 34

MISCELLANEOUS STATUTE LAW AMENDMENT ACT, 2001

LOI CORRECTIVE DE 2001

SUMMARY

The Miscellaneous Statute Law Amendment Program was established in 1975. Since then, nine Acts have been passed (1977, 1978, 1981, 1984, 1987, 1992, 1993, 1994 and 1999). The purpose of the Program is to allow minor amendments of a non-controversial nature to be made to a number of federal statutes without having to wait for particular statutes to be opened up for amendments of a more substantial nature. Anyone may suggest amendments for possible inclusion in a set of proposals, but most of the current proposals have come from government departments or agencies.

The Legislation Section of the Department of Justice is responsible for receiving and reviewing proposals. The following criteria are applied to determine whether a suggested amendment may be included in the Proposals tabled in Parliament. The suggested amendment must not

- (a) be controversial;
- (b) involve the spending of public funds;
- (c) prejudicially affect the rights of persons; or
- (d) create a new offence or subject a new class of persons to an existing offence.

The Legislation Section prepares a document entitled "Proposals for a Miscellaneous Statute Law Amendment Act", containing only those proposals that, in its view, meet the Program criteria.

This document is tabled in the House of Commons by the Minister of Justice, and referred to the appropriate Standing Committee of the House. Except in 1977, the proposals have also been tabled in the Senate and referred to its Standing Committee on Legal and Constitutional Affairs.

Consideration of the proposals by these Committees has always been thorough and non-partisan. If either of these Committees considers a proposal to be controversial, that proposal is dropped.

The reports of the Senate Committee have always been adopted by the Senate, but a motion has never been made for concurrence in the reports of the House of Commons.

SOMMAIRE

La mise en oeuvre du programme de correction des lois remonte à 1975. Depuis lors, neuf lois ont été adoptées (1977, 1978, 1981, 1984, 1987, 1992, 1993, 1994 et 1999). L'objectif du programme est d'apporter des modifications mineures et non controversables à un ensemble de lois fédérales sans qu'il faille attendre la révision au fond et telle ou telle d'entre elles. En principe, n'importe qui peut proposer des modifications. En fait, elles proviennent surtout des administrations fédérales.

La Section de la législation du ministère de la Justice est chargée de recevoir les modifications proposées et de les étudier. Pour être susceptibles de figurer dans les propositions déposées au Parlement, les modifications doivent être conformes aux critères suivants :

- a) ne pas être controversables;
- b) ne pas comporter de dépenses de fonds publics;
- c) ne pas porter atteinte aux droits de la personne;
- d) ne pas créer d'infraction ni assujettir une nouvelle catégorie de justiciables à une infraction existante.

La Section est ensuite chargée de rédiger un document intitulé *Propositions visant la préparation d'une loi corrective* où ne figurent que les modifications qui, à son avis, sont conformes à ces critères.

Ce document est déposé à la Chambre des communes par le ministre de la Justice, puis renvoyé au comité permanent compétent de celle-ci. Il est également déposé au Sénat et renvoyé au Comité permanent des affaires juridiques et constitutionnelles (exception : 1977).

Les comités procèdent alors à une étude approfondie, laquelle s'est toujours effectuée sans esprit de parti. Fait à souligner, la proposition qui est jugée controversable est rejetée.

À noter que, si le Sénat a systématiquement adopté le rapport de son comité, celui du comité des Communes n'a jamais fait l'objet d'une motion d'agrément.

A Miscellaneous Statute Law Amendment Bill is then prepared, based on the reports of the two Committees and containing only proposals approved by both Committees. Passage of the Bill has always been speedy, given the usual understanding that the Bill will receive three readings in each House without debate.

Les rapports des comités donnent lieu à un projet de loi corrective où ne figurent que les propositions approuvées par ceux-ci. Il est d'usage que le projet franchisse sans débat ni délai les étapes des trois lectures dans chaque chambre.

TABLE OF PROVISIONS

MISCELLANEOUS STATUTE LAW AMENDMENT ACT, 2001

TABLE ANALYTIQUE

LOI CORRECTIVE DE 2001

SHORT TITLE

1	Short	title
1.	DHOIL	uuc

AMENDMENTS

	2.	Access to	Information Ac	ct
--	----	-----------	----------------	----

- 3. Anti-Personnel Mines Convention Implementation Act
- 4 Arctic Waters Pollution Prevention Act
- 5. Atlantic Canada Opportunities Agency Act
- 6. An Act to amend the Bank Act, the Winding-up and Restructuring Act and other Acts relating to financial institutions and to make consequential amendments to other Acts
- 7-8. Budget Implementation Act, 1997
- 9-12. Business Development Bank of Canada Act
- 13-17. Canada Council Act
- 18-23. Canada Labour Code
- 24-25. Canada National Parks Act
- 26. Canada Shipping Act
- 27-29. Canadian Environmental Protection Act, 1999
- 30-32. Canadian Radio-television and Telecommunications Commission Act
- 33. Companies' Creditors Arrangement Act
- 34-35. Copyright Act
- 36. Crimes Against Humanity and War Crimes Act
- 37-38. Cultural Property Export and Import Act
- 39. Electricity and Gas Inspection Act
- 40. Employment Equity Act
- 41. Employment Insurance Act
- 42-46. Energy Monitoring Act
- 47-48. Financial Administration Act
- 49-51. Hazardous Materials Information Review Act
- 52. Industrial Design Act
- 53. Migratory Birds Convention Act, 1994
- 54-57. National Arts Centre Act

TITRE ABRÉGÉ

1. Titre abrégé

MODIFICATIONS

- 2. Loi sur l'accès à l'information
- 3. Loi de mise en oeuvre de la Convention sur les mines antipersonnel
- 4. Loi sur la prévention de la pollution des eaux arctiques
- 5. Loi sur l'Agence de promotion économique du Canada atlantique
- 6. Loi modifiant la Loi sur les banques, la Loi sur les liquidations et les restructurations et d'autres lois relatives aux institutions financières et apportant des modifications corrélatives à certaines lois
- 7-8. Loi d'exécution du budget de 1997
- 9-12. Loi sur la Banque de développement du Canada
- 13-17. Loi sur le Conseil des Arts du Canada
- 18-23. Code canadien du travail
- 24-25. Loi sur les parcs nationaux du Canada
- 26. Loi sur la marine marchande du Canada
- 27-29. Loi canadienne sur la protection de l'environnement (1999)
- 30-32. Loi sur le Conseil de la radiodiffusion et des télécommunications canadiennes
- 33. Loi sur les arrangements avec les créanciers des compagnies
- 34-35. Loi sur le droit d'auteur
- 36. Loi sur les crimes contre l'humanité et les crimes de guerre
- 37-38. Loi sur l'exportation et l'importation de biens culturels
- 39. Loi sur l'inspection de l'électricité et du gaz
- 40. Loi sur l'équité en matière d'emploi
- 41. Loi sur l'assurance-emploi
- 42-46. Loi sur la surveillance du secteur énergétique
- 47-48. Loi sur la gestion des finances publiques
- 49-51. Loi sur le contrôle des renseignements relatifs aux matières dangereuses
- 52. Loi sur les dessins industriels
- 53. Loi de 1994 sur la convention concernant les oiseaux migrateurs
- 54-57. Loi sur le Centre national des Arts

- 58-62. Nuclear Safety and Control Act
- 63. Patent Act
- 64-65. Pension Benefits Division Act
- 66-77. Pension Benefits Standards Act, 1985
- 78. Privacy Act
- 79-81. Public Service Superannuation Act
- 82. Weights and Measures Act
- 83. Yukon Placer Mining Act
- 84. Yukon Quartz Mining Act

- 58-62. Loi sur la sûreté et la réglementation nucléaires
- 63. Loi sur les brevets
- 64-65. Loi sur le partage des prestations de retraite
- 66-77. Loi de 1985 sur les normes de prestation de pension
- 78. Loi sur la protection des renseignements personnels
- 79-81. Loi sur la pension de la fonction publique
- 82. Loi sur les poids et mesures
- 83. Loi sur l'extraction de l'or dans le Yukon
- 84. Loi sur l'extraction du quartz dans le Yukon

49-50 ELIZABETH II

49-50 ELIZABETH II

CHAPTER 34

An Act to correct certain anomalies, inconsistencies and errors and to deal with other matters of a non-controversial and uncomplicated nature in the Statutes of Canada and to repeal certain provisions that have expired, lapsed or otherwise ceased to have effect

[Assented to 18th December, 2001]

Her Majesty, by and with the advice and consent of the Senate and House of Commons of Canada, enacts as follows:

SHORT TITLE

Short title

1. This Act may be cited as the *Miscellaneous Statute Law Amendment Act*, 2001.

AMENDMENTS

R.S., c. A-1

Access to Information Act

2. Schedule I to the Access to Information Act is amended by striking out the following under the heading "Other Government Institutions":

Petroleum Monitoring Agency

Agence de surveillance du secteur pétrolier

1997, c. 33

Anti-Personnel Mines Convention Implementation Act

3. Section 20 of the French version of the *Anti-Personnel Mines Convention Implementation Act* is replaced by the following:

Modification de l'annexe

20. Dans le cas où la Convention est modifiée, il incombe au ministre de modifier l'annexe en conséquence, par arrêté, dans les plus brefs délais suivant l'entrée en vigueur de la modification. Il fait déposer le texte de celle-ci au Parlement dans les quinze premiers jours de séance de l'une ou l'autre chambre suivant la prise de l'arrêté.

CHAPITRE 34

Loi visant à corriger des anomalies, contradictions ou erreurs relevées dans les Lois du Canada et à y apporter d'autres modifications mineures et non controversables ainsi qu'à abroger certaines dispositions ayant cessé d'avoir effet

[Sanctionnée le 18 décembre 2001]

Sa Majesté, sur l'avis et avec le consentement du Sénat et de la Chambre des communes du Canada, édicte :

TITRE ABRÉGÉ

1. Loi corrective de 2001.

Titre abrégé

MODIFICATIONS

Loi sur l'accès à l'information

L.R., ch. A-1

2. L'annexe I de la *Loi sur l'accès à l'information* est modifiée par suppression, sous l'intertitre « *Autres institutions fédérales* », de ce qui suit :

Agence de surveillance du secteur pétrolier

Petroleum Monitoring Agency

Loi de mise en oeuvre de la Convention sur les mines antipersonnel

1997, ch. 33

- 3. L'article 20 de la version française de la *Loi de mise en oeuvre de la Convention sur les mines antipersonnel* est remplacé par ce qui suit :
- **20.** Dans le cas où la Convention est modifiée, il incombe au ministre de modifier l'annexe en conséquence, par arrêté, dans les plus brefs délais suivant l'entrée en vigueur de la modification. Il fait déposer le texte de celle-ci au Parlement dans les quinze premiers jours de séance de l'une ou l'autre chambre suivant la prise de l'arrêté.

Modification de l'annexe

R.S., c. A-12

Arctic Waters Pollution Prevention Act

Loi sur la prévention de la pollution des eaux arctiques

L.R., ch. A-12

4. The Arctic Waters Pollution Prevention Act is amended by adding the following after section 3:

4. La Loi sur la prévention de la pollution des eaux arctiques est modifiée par adjonction, après l'article 3, de ce qui suit :

INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE

Incorporation as amended from time to time

3.1 (1) Regulations made under this Act incorporating standards by reference may incorporate them as amended from time to time.

For greater certainty only

(2) Subsection (1) is for greater certainty and does not limit any authority to make regulations incorporating material by reference that exists apart from it.

INCORPORATION PAR RENVOI

3.1 (1) Les règlements pris en vertu de la présente loi qui incorporent des normes par renvoi peuvent les incorporer avec leurs modifications successives.

Incorporation par renvoi

(2) Il est entendu que le paragraphe (1) n'a pas pour effet d'empêcher la prise de règlements incorporant par renvoi des documents autres que ceux visés à ce paragraphe.

Précision

R.S., c. 41 (4th Supp.), Part I

Atlantic Canada Opportunities Agency Act

Loi sur l'Agence de promotion économique du Canada atlantique

L.R., ch. 41 $(4^e \text{ suppl.}),$ partie I

5. Section 8 of the Atlantic Canada

Opportunities Agency Act is replaced by the following:

Shares and related instruments

8. Subject to any regulations, the Minister may acquire, exercise, assign or sell a stock option, share warrant, share or other similar financial instrument obtained as a condition of a loan or contribution made, a guarantee given or loan insurance or credit insurance provided under section 13 or in the course of the collection or enforcement of a debtor's obligation to the Agency.

5. L'article 8 de la Loi sur l'Agence de promotion économique du Canada atlantique est remplacé par ce qui suit :

8. Sous réserve d'éventuels règlements, le ministre peut acquérir, exercer, céder ou vendre des options d'achat d'actions, ou acquérir, céder ou vendre des titres au porteur, des actions ou tout autre instrument financier de même nature, obtenus à titre de condition des prêts, aides, garanties, assurances-prêts ou assurances-crédit visés à l'article 13 ou dans le cadre du recouvrement ou de l'exécution de

l'obligation d'un débiteur envers l'Agence.

Instruments

1999, c. 28

An Act to amend the Bank Act, the Winding-up and Restructuring Act and other Acts relating to financial institutions and to make consequential amendments to other Acts

6. (1) Subsection 35(11) of the French version of An Act to amend the Bank Act, the Winding-up and Restructuring Act and other Acts relating to financial institutions and to make consequential amendments to other Acts, chapter 28 of the Statutes of Canada, 1999, is replaced by the following:

Loi modifiant la Loi sur les banques, la Loi sur les liquidations et les restructurations et d'autres lois relatives aux institutions financières et apportant des modifications corrélatives à certaines lois

1999, ch. 28

6. (1) Le paragraphe 35(11) de la version française de la Loi modifiant la Loi sur les banques, la Loi sur les liquidations et les restructurations et d'autres lois relatives aux institutions financières et apportant des modifications corrélatives à certaines lois, chapitre 28 des Lois du Canada (1999), est remplacé par ce qui suit :

- (11) À l'entrée en vigueur de l'article 54 de la Loi modifiant la législation relative aux institutions financières, chapitre 15 des Lois du Canada (1997), ou à celle de l'alinéa 575(3)b) de la Loi sur les banques, édicté par le paragraphe (1), la dernière en date étant à retenir, l'alinéa 575(3)b) est remplacé par ce qui suit :
 - b) soit consentis à des fins commerciales et dont le capital excède cent mille dollars ou tout autre montant fixé par règlement.

Coming into force

(2) Subsection (1) is deemed to have come into force on June 17, 1999.

1997, c. 26

Budget Implementation Act, 1997

- 7. Subsection 11(1) of the French version of the *Budget Implementation Act*, 1997 is renumbered as section 11.
- 8. The subsection 26(6) of the French version of the Act before section 27 is renumbered as subsection 26(7).

1995, c. 28

Business Development Bank of Canada Act

9. Subsection 14(5) of the French version of the *Business Development Bank of Canada Act* is replaced by the following:

Achat de

- (5) Dans le cadre des prêts ou investissements qu'elle fait à une personne, ou des garanties qu'elle lui donne, aux termes du présent article, la Banque peut acquérir, par achat ou autrement, des biens meubles ou immeubles y compris des comptes clients —, les détenir ou les louer à cette personne et, par la suite, sous réserve de tout droit de rachat, les aliéner, notamment par vente, ou en faire ce qu'elle entend.
- 10. Section 32 of the Act is replaced by the following:

Restriction

- **32.** The Bank shall not grant a loan, investment or guarantee to a director or officer of the Bank.
- 11. (1) Subsections 33(1) and (2) of the Act are replaced by the following:

- (11) À l'entrée en vigueur de l'article 54 de la Loi modifiant la législation relative aux institutions financières, chapitre 15 des Lois du Canada (1997), ou à celle de l'alinéa 575(3)b) de la Loi sur les banques, édicté par le paragraphe (1), la dernière en date étant à retenir, l'alinéa 575(3)b) est remplacé par ce qui suit :
 - b) soit consentis à des fins commerciales et dont le capital excède cent mille dollars ou tout autre montant fixé par règlement.
- (2) Le paragraphe (1) est réputé être entré en vigueur le 17 juin 1999.

Entrée en vigueur

Loi d'exécution du budget de 1997

1997, ch. 26

- 7. Le paragraphe 11(1) de la version française de la *Loi d'exécution du budget de 1997* devient l'article 11.
- 8. Le paragraphe 26(6) de la version française de la même loi précédant l'article 27 devient le paragraphe 26(7).

Loi sur la Banque de développement du Canada 1995, ch. 28

- 9. Le paragraphe 14(5) de la version française de la *Loi sur la Banque de développement du Canada* est remplacé par ce qui suit :
- (5) Dans le cadre des prêts ou investissements qu'elle fait à une personne, ou des garanties qu'elle lui donne, aux termes du présent article, la Banque peut acquérir, par achat ou autrement, des biens meubles ou immeubles y compris des comptes clients —, les détenir ou les louer à cette personne et, par la suite, sous réserve de tout droit de rachat, les aliéner, notamment par vente, ou en faire ce qu'elle entend.
- 10. L'article 32 de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :
- **32.** La Banque ne peut consentir aucun prêt, investissement ou garantie à un de ses administrateurs ou dirigeants.
- 11. (1) Les paragraphes 33(1) et (2) de la même loi sont remplacés par ce qui suit :

Achat de

Restriction

Communica-

Disclosure

4

33. (1) An applicant must disclose in writing to the Bank whether the applicant is an interested person or, if the applicant is a firm or corporation, whether a partner of the firm or a shareholder, director or officer of the corporation is an interested person or a director or officer of the Bank.

Submission of application to Board for approval

(2) If the applicant discloses that the applicant is an interested person, or that a partner, shareholder, director or officer is an interested person or a director or an officer of the Bank, the application must be submitted to the Board for approval before the Bank enters into an agreement to provide the assistance.

(2) Paragraph 33(3)(a) of the Act is replaced by the following:

(a) a person related to the director as described in paragraph (a), (b) or (c) of the definition "interested person" in section 31; or

12. Section 38 of the Act is replaced by the following:

Use of Bank's names or initials 38. Except with the consent in writing of the Bank, a person must not in any prospectus or advertisement, or for any other business purpose, use the name of the Bank or any of the following names or initials: "Federal Business Development Bank", "Banque fédérale de développement", "Industrial Development Bank", "Banque d'expansion industrielle", "B.D. Canada", "B.D.C.", "B.D.B.C.", "B.D.B.C.",

R.S., c. C-2

Canada Council Act

13. The long title of the English version of the *Canada Council Act* is replaced by the following:

An Act for the establishment of a Canadian council for the encouragement of the arts

14. Section 1 of the English version of the Act is replaced by the following:

Short title 1

1. This Act may be cited as the *Canada Council for the Arts Act*.

33. (1) Le demandeur doit signaler par écrit à la Banque, le cas échéant, sa qualité de personne intéressée ou, s'il est une société de personnes ou une personne morale, la qualité de personne intéressée ou d'administrateur ou de dirigeant de la Banque de l'un des associés ou de l'un de ses actionnaires, administrateurs ou dirigeants.

(2) La conclusion par la Banque de toute convention d'aide est subordonnée à l'approbation par le conseil de toute demande mentionnant la qualité de personne intéressée ou d'administrateur ou de dirigeant de la Banque, soit du demandeur, soit d'un associé, d'un actionnaire, d'un administrateur ou d'un dirigeant.

Présentation de la demande au conseil

(2) L'alinéa 33(3)a) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

a) soit d'un proche mentionné aux alinéas *a*), *b*) ou *c*) de la définition de « personne intéressée » à l'article 31;

12. L'article 38 de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

38. Il est interdit à toute personne de se servir, dans un prospectus ou un texte publicitaire ou à toute autre fin commerciale, sans le consentement écrit de la Banque, du nom de celle-ci ou des noms ou sigles suivants : « Banque fédérale de développement », « Federal Business Development Bank », « Banque d'expansion industrielle », « Industrial Development Bank », « B.D. Canada », « B.D.C. », « B.D.B.C. », ou « F.B.D.B. ».

Usage des noms ou sigles de la Banque

L.R., ch. C-2

Loi sur le Conseil des Arts du Canada

13. Le titre intégral de la version anglaise de la *Loi sur le Conseil des Arts du Canada* est remplacé par ce qui suit :

An Act for the establishment of a Canadian council for the encouragement of the arts

14. L'article 1 de la version anglaise de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

1. This Act may be cited as the *Canada Council for the Arts Act*.

Short title

1995, ch. 29,

art. 6

1995, c. 29,

15. Section 3 of the English version of the Act and the heading before it are replaced by the following:

CANADA COUNCIL FOR THE ARTS

Establishment of Council **3.** There is hereby established a corporation, to be known as the Canada Council for the Arts, consisting of a Chairperson and Vice-Chairperson and not more than nine other members, to be appointed by the Governor in Council as provided in section 4.

Consequential amendments other Acts

- 16. Unless the context requires otherwise, "Canada Council" is replaced by "Canada Council for the Arts" in every Act of Parliament other than the *Canada Council for the Arts Act*, and more particularly in the following provisions:
 - (a) Schedule I to the Access to Information Act under the heading "Other Government Institutions";
 - (b) Schedule I to the Federal-Provincial Fiscal Arrangements Act;
 - (c) subsection 85(1) of the English version of the Financial Administration Act;
 - (d) Schedule III to the Payments in Lieu of Taxes Act;
 - (e) in the English version of the National Arts Centre Act,
 - (i) subsection 9(1), and
 - (ii) paragraph 9(2)(e);
 - (f) the schedule to the *Privacy Act* under the heading "Other Government Institutions"; and
 - (g) Schedule II to the *Public Sector Compensation Act*.

Consequential amendments — regulations

- 17. Unless the context requires otherwise, "Canada Council" is replaced by "Canada Council for the Arts" in every regulation, as defined in section 2 of the *Statutory Instruments Act*, and more particularly in the following provisions:
 - (a) item 11 of the schedule to the Access to Information Act Heads of Government Institutions Designation Order;

15. L'article 3 de la version anglaise de la même loi et l'intertitre le précédant sont remplacés par ce qui suit :

CANADA COUNCIL FOR THE ARTS

- **3.** There is hereby established a corporation, to be known as the Canada Council for the Arts, consisting of a Chairperson and Vice-Chairperson and not more than nine other members, to be appointed by the Governor in Council as provided in section 4.
- Establishment of Council

Modifications

corrélatives

autres lois

- 16. Sauf indication contraire du contexte, dans toute loi fédérale, autre que la *Loi sur le Conseil des Arts du Canada*, notamment dans les passages ci-après, « Canada Council » est remplacé par « Canada Council for the Arts » :
 - a) l'annexe I de la Loi sur l'accès à l'information, sous l'intertitre « Autres institutions fédérales »;
 - b) l'annexe I de la Loi sur les arrangements fiscaux entre le gouvernement fédéral et les provinces;
 - c) le paragraphe 85(1) de la version anglaise de la Loi sur la gestion des finances publiques;
 - d) l'annexe III de la Loi sur les paiements versés en remplacement d'impôts;
 - *e*) dans la version anglaise de la *Loi sur le Centre national des Arts* :
 - (i) le paragraphe 9(1),
 - (ii) l'alinéa 9(2)e);
 - f) l'annexe de la Loi sur la protection des renseignements personnels, sous l'intertitre « Autres institutions fédérales »;
 - g) l'annexe II de la Loi sur la rémunération du secteur public.
- 17. Sauf indication contraire du contexte, « Canada Council » est remplacé par « Canada Council for the Arts » dans les règlements, au sens de l'article 2 de la *Loi sur les textes réglementaires*, notamment dans les passages suivants :
 - a) l'article 52 de l'annexe du Décret sur la désignation des responsables d'institutions fédérales (Loi sur l'accès à l'information);

Modifications

corrélatives

règlements

- (b) paragraph 7(b) of the English version of the Garnishment and Attachment Regulations;
- (c) item 11 of the schedule to the *Privacy*Act Heads of Government Institutions
 Designation Order;
- (d) item 1 of Schedule I to the English version of the *Privacy Regulations*;
- (e) the schedule to the English version of the Designation of Certain Portions of the Public Service Order;
- (f) Schedule I to the Public Service Superannuation Regulations;
- (g) Schedules III and IV to the English version of the Supplementary Death Benefit Regulations; and
- (h) Part II of the schedule to the Retirement Compensation Arrangements Regulations, No. 2.

R.S., c. L-2

Canada Labour Code

1993, c. 42, s. 22(F) 18. Section 197 of the French version of the *Canada Labour Code* is replaced by the following:

Majoration pour travail effectué un jour de congé 197. Sauf s'il est occupé à un travail ininterrompu, l'employé qui est tenu de travailler un jour de congé payé touche son salaire normal pour ce jour et, pour les heures de travail fournies, une somme additionnelle correspondant à au moins une fois et demie son salaire normal.

1993, c. 42, s. 23(F)

19. Paragraph 198(a) of the French version of the Act is replaced by the following:

- a) soit à son salaire normal pour ce jour et, pour les heures de travail fournies, à une somme additionnelle correspondant à au moins une fois et demie son salaire normal;
- 20. Subsection 202(1) of the French version of the Act is replaced by the following:

Jour férié pendant les 30 premiers jours d'emploi **202.** (1) L'employé n'a pas droit à l'indemnité de congé pour un jour férié qui tombe dans ses trente premiers jours de service pour un employeur, mais s'il est tenu de travailler ce jour-là, il a droit, pour les heures de travail fournies, à une somme correspondant à au

- b) l'alinéa 7b) de la version anglaise du Règlement sur la saisie-arrêt;
- c) l'article 56 de l'annexe du Décret sur la désignation des responsables d'institutions fédérales (Loi sur la protection des renseignements personnels);
- d) l'article 1 de l'annexe I de la version anglaise du Règlement sur la protection des renseignements personnels;
- e) l'annexe de la version anglaise du Décret de désignation de certains éléments de la fonction publique;
- f) l'annexe I du Règlement sur la pension de la fonction publique;
- g) les annexes III et IV de la version anglaise du Règlement sur les prestations supplémentaires de décès;
- h) la partie II de l'annexe du Règlement n^o 2 sur le régime compensatoire.

Code canadien du travail

L.R., ch. L-2

18. L'article 197 de la version française du *Code canadien du travail* est remplacé par ce qui suit :

1993, ch. 42, art. 22(F)

197. Sauf s'il est occupé à un travail ininterrompu, l'employé qui est tenu de travailler un jour de congé payé touche son salaire normal pour ce jour et, pour les heures de travail fournies, une somme additionnelle correspondant à au moins une fois et demie son salaire normal.

Majoration pour travail effectué un jour de congé

19. L'alinéa 198a) de la version française de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

1993, ch. 42, art. 23(F)

a) soit à son salaire normal pour ce jour et, pour les heures de travail fournies, à une somme additionnelle correspondant à au moins une fois et demie son salaire normal;

20. Le paragraphe 202(1) de la version française de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

202. (1) L'employé n'a pas droit à l'indemnité de congé pour un jour férié qui tombe dans ses trente premiers jours de service pour un employeur, mais s'il est tenu de travailler ce jour-là, il a droit, pour les heures de travail fournies, à une somme correspondant à au

Jour férié pendant les 30 premiers jours d'emploi moins une fois et demie son salaire normal. Dans le cas où il est occupé à un travail ininterrompu, toutefois, il a seulement droit à son salaire normal pour les heures fournies.

R.S., c. 9 (1st Supp.), s. 10

21. Subsection 209.2(4) of the French version of the Act is replaced by the following:

Continuité d'emploi (4) Pour le calcul des avantages — autres que les prestations citées au paragraphe (1) — de l'employé en situation de congé sous le régime de la présente section, la durée de l'emploi est réputée ne pas avoir été interrompue, la période de congé n'étant toutefois pas prise en compte.

R.S., c. 9 (1st Supp.), s. 14(3)

22. Subsection 239(3.1) of the French version of the Act is replaced by the following:

Présomption d'emploi ininterrompu (3.1) Pour le calcul des avantages — autres que les prestations citées au paragraphe (2.1) — de l'employé qui s'absente en raison de maladie ou d'accident et qui remplit les conditions du paragraphe (1), la durée de l'emploi est réputée ne pas avoir été interrompue, la période de congé n'étant toutefois pas prise en compte.

1993, c. 42, s. 33

23. Subsection 239.1(9) of the French version of the Act is replaced by the following:

Présomption d'emploi ininterrompu (9) Pour le calcul des avantages — autres que les prestations citées au paragraphe (5) — de l'employé qui s'absente en raison d'un accident ou d'une maladie professionnels, la durée de l'emploi est réputée ne pas avoir été interrompue, la période de congé n'étant toutefois pas prise en compte.

2000, c. 32

Canada National Parks Act

- 24. (1) Section 57 of the *Canada National Parks Act* and the heading before it are repealed.
- (2) Subsection (1) is deemed to have come into force on February 18, 2001.
- 25. Subpart 11(2) of Schedule 1 to the French version of the Act is amended by adding the following after the last paragraph:

moins une fois et demie son salaire normal. Dans le cas où il est occupé à un travail ininterrompu, toutefois, il a seulement droit à son salaire normal pour les heures fournies.

21. Le paragraphe 209.2(4) de la version française de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

L.R., ch. 9 (1^{er} suppl.), art. 10

(4) Pour le calcul des avantages — autres que les prestations citées au paragraphe (1) — de l'employé en situation de congé sous le régime de la présente section, la durée de l'emploi est réputée ne pas avoir été interrompue, la période de congé n'étant toutefois pas prise en compte.

Continuité d'emploi

22. Le paragraphe 239(3.1) de la version française de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

L.R., ch. 9 (1^{er} suppl.), par. 14(3)

(3.1) Pour le calcul des avantages — autres que les prestations citées au paragraphe (2.1) — de l'employé qui s'absente en raison de maladie ou d'accident et qui remplit les conditions du paragraphe (1), la durée de l'emploi est réputée ne pas avoir été interrompue, la période de congé n'étant toutefois pas prise en compte.

Présomption d'emploi ininterrompu

23. Le paragraphe 239.1(9) de la version française de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

1993, ch. 42, art. 33

(9) Pour le calcul des avantages — autres que les prestations citées au paragraphe (5) — de l'employé qui s'absente en raison d'un accident ou d'une maladie professionnels, la durée de l'emploi est réputée ne pas avoir été interrompue, la période de congé n'étant toutefois pas prise en compte.

Présomption d'emploi ininterrompu

Loi sur les parcs nationaux du Canada

2000, ch. 32

- 24. (1) L'article 57 de la *Loi sur les parcs* nationaux du Canada et l'intertitre le précédant sont abrogés.
- (2) Le paragraphe (1) est réputé être entré en vigueur le 18 février 2001.
- 25. La sous-partie (2) de la partie 11 de l'annexe 1 de la version française de la même loi est modifiée par adjonction, après le dernier paragraphe, de ce qui suit :

C. .

Ladite parcelle renfermant environ 4 345 kilomètres carrés.

R.S., c. S-9

Canada Shipping Act

1998, c. 16, s. 15

8

26. Section 448 of the English version of the *Canada Shipping Act* is replaced by the following:

Impeding receiver of wrecks 448. Every person who wilfully impedes a receiver of wrecks, a person assisting a receiver of wrecks under subsection 428(1) or a person to whom any powers, duties or functions of a receiver of wrecks have been delegated under section 447.1 in the execution of any duty under this Act, or defaults in appearing or giving evidence before a receiver of wrecks, is guilty of an offence and liable on summary conviction to a fine of not more than \$1,000.

1999, c. 33

Canadian Environmental Protection Act, 1999

27. The definition "transit" in subsection 3(1) of the English version of the *Canadian Environmental Protection Act*, 1999 is replaced by the following

"transit" « transit »

"transit" means, except for the purposes of sections 139 and 155, the portion of an international transboundary movement of waste or material referred to in subsection 185(1) through the territory of a country that is neither the country of origin nor the country of destination of the movement.

28. Subsection 67(2) of the French version of the Act is replaced by the following:

Condition

(2) Toutefois, dans le cas d'un minéral ou métal, les règlements ne peuvent être pris que si les ministres sont d'avis que l'origine naturelle de celui-ci, ses propriétés et ses particularités, dans l'environnement, sont prises en considération.

29. Paragraph 71(1)(c) of the French version of the Act is replaced by the following:

c) sous réserve de l'article 72, envoyer un avis écrit aux personnes qui y sont désignées et qui se livrent, pendant la période qui y est précisée, à une activité comportant Ladite parcelle renfermant environ 4 345 kilomètres carrés.

Loi sur la marine marchande du Canada

L.R., ch. S-9

26. L'article 448 de la version anglaise de la *Loi sur la marine marchande du Canada* est remplacé par ce qui suit :

1998, ch. 16, art. 15

Impeding

receiver of

wrecks

448. Every person who wilfully impedes a receiver of wrecks, a person assisting a receiver of wrecks under subsection 428(1) or a person to whom any powers, duties or functions of a receiver of wrecks have been delegated under section 447.1 in the execution of any duty under this Act, or defaults in appearing or giving evidence before a receiver of wrecks, is guilty of an offence and liable on summary conviction to a fine of not more than \$1,000.

Loi canadienne sur la protection de l'environnement (1999)

27. La définition de « transit », au paragraphe 3(1) de la version anglaise de la *Loi* canadienne sur la protection de l'environnement (1999), est remplacée par ce qui suit.:

"transit" means, except for the purposes of sections 139 and 155, the portion of an international transboundary movement of waste or material referred to in subsection 185(1) through the territory of a country that is neither the country of origin nor the country of destination of the movement.

28. Le paragraphe 67(2) de la version française de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

(2) Toutefois, dans le cas d'un minéral ou métal, les règlements ne peuvent être pris que si les ministres sont d'avis que l'origine naturelle de celui-ci, ses propriétés et ses particularités, dans l'environnement, sont prises en considération.

29. L'alinéa 71(1)c) de la version française de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

c) sous réserve de l'article 72, envoyer un avis écrit aux personnes qui y sont désignées et qui se livrent, pendant la période qui y est précisée, à une activité comportant

1999, ch. 33

"transit"

« transit »

Condition

l'importation ou la fabrication de la substance, ou d'un produit la contenant, les obligeant à faire les essais toxicologiques ou autres qui y sont précisés et à lui en envoyer les résultats.

R.S., c. C-22

Canadian Radio-television and Telecommunications Commission Act

- 30. (1) The definitions "Chairman" and "Vice-Chairman" in section 2 of the English version of the Canadian Radio-television and Telecommunications Commission Act are repealed.
- (2) Section 2 of the English version of the Act is amended by adding the following in alphabetical order:

"Chairperson" « président »

"Chairperson" means the Chairperson of the Commission designated by the Governor in Council under subsection 6(1);

"Vice-Chairperson" « vice-président » "Vice-Chairperson" means any Vice-Chairperson of the Commission designated by the Governor in Council under subsection 6(1).

Terminology changes

- 31. The English version of the Act is amended by replacing "Chairman", "Vice-Chairman" and "Vice-Chairmen" with "Chairperson", "Vice-Chairperson" and "Vice-Chairpersons", respectively, in the following provisions:
 - (a) section 6 and the heading before it;
 - (b) subsection 7(1);
 - (c) subparagraph 11(1)(c)(i); and
 - (*d*) subsection 12(2).

Terminology changes other Acts

- 32. (1) "Chairman" is replaced by "Chairperson" in the English version of the following provisions:
 - (a) in the Broadcasting Act
 - (i) subsection 18(4), and
 - (ii) subsection 20(1); and
 - (b) subsection 66(2) of the *Telecommunications Act*.

Terminology changes regulations

- (2) "Chairman" is replaced by "Chairperson" in the following provisions of the following regulations:
 - (a) paragraph 4(2)(a) of the English version of the CRTC Rules of Procedure;

l'importation ou la fabrication de la substance, ou d'un produit la contenant, les obligeant à faire les essais toxicologiques ou autres qui y sont précisés et à lui en envoyer les résultats.

Loi sur le Conseil de la radiodiffusion et des télécommunications canadiennes L.R., ch. C-22

- 30. (1) Les définitions de « Chairman » et « Vice-Chairman », à l'article 2 de la version anglaise de la Loi sur le Conseil de la radiodiffusion et des télécommunications canadiennes, sont abrogées.
- (2) L'article 2 de la version anglaise de la même loi est modifié par adjonction, selon l'ordre alphabétique, de ce qui suit :
- "Chairperson" means the Chairperson of the Commission designated by the Governor in Council under subsection 6(1);

"Chairperson" « président »

"Vice-Chairperson" means any Vice-Chairperson of the Commission designated by the Governor in Council under subsection 6(1).

"Vice-Chairperson" « vice-président »

Mentions

- 31. Dans les passages ci-après de la version anglaise de la même loi, « Chairman », « Vice-Chairman » et « Vice-Chairmen » sont respectivement remplacés par « Chairperson », « Vice-Chairperson » et « Vice-Chairperson » :
 - a) l'article 6 et l'intertitre le précédant;
 - b) le paragraphe 7(1);
 - c) le sous-alinéa 11(1)c)(i);
 - d) le paragraphe 12(2).
- 32. (1) Dans les passages ci-après de la version anglaise des lois suivantes, « Chairman » est remplacé par « Chairperson » :

Mentions autres lois

- a) dans la Loi sur la radiodiffusion:
 - (i) le paragraphe 18(4),
 - (ii) le paragraphe 20(1);
- b) le paragraphe 66(2) de la Loi sur les télécommunications.
- (2) Dans les passages ci-après des règlements suivants, « Chairman » est remplacé par « Chairperson » :
 - a) l'alinéa 4(2)a) de la version anglaise des Règles de procédure du CRTC;

Mentions règlements

- (b) item 29 of the schedule to the Access to Information Act Heads of Government Institutions Designation Order;
- (c) item 30 of the schedule to the *Privacy* Act Heads of Government Institutions Designation Order; and
- (d) item 29 of the schedule to the Canadian Security Intelligence Service Act Deputy Heads of the Public Service of Canada Order.

R.S., c. C-36

Companies' Creditors Arrangement Act

2000, c. 30, s. 156

- 33. (1) The portion of paragraph 11.4(3)(c) of the English version of the Companies' Creditors Arrangement Act before subparagraph (i) is replaced by the following:
 - (c) any provision of provincial legislation that has a similar purpose to subsection 224(1.2) of the Income Tax Act, or that refers to that subsection, to the extent that it provides for the collection of a sum, and of any related interest, penalties or other amounts, where the sum
- (2) Subsection (1) applies to proceedings commenced under the Act after September 29, 1997.

R.S., c. C-42

Copyright Act

1994, c. 47, s. 57(1)

34. Subsection 5(1.01) of the Copyright Act is replaced by the following:

Protection for older works

(1.01) For the purposes of subsection (1), a country that becomes a Berne Convention country or a WTO Member after the date of the making or publication of a work shall, as of becoming a Berne Convention country or WTO Member, as the case may be, be deemed to have been a Berne Convention country or WTO Member at the date of the making or publication of the work, subject to subsection (1.02) and section 33.

1997, c. 24, s. 45

35. Paragraph 67.1(4)(a) of the English version of the Act is replaced by the following:

- b) l'article 63 de l'annexe du Décret sur la désignation des responsables d'institutions fédérales (Loi sur l'accès à l'information);
- c) l'article 67 de l'annexe du Décret sur la désignation des responsables d'institutions fédérales (Loi sur la protection des renseignements personnels);
- d) l'article 59 de l'annexe du Décret sur la désignation des administrateurs généraux de l'administration publique fédérale (Loi sur le Service canadien du renseignement de sécurité).

Loi sur les arrangements avec les créanciers des compagnies

L.R., ch. C-36

2000, ch. 30, art. 156

- 33. (1) Le passage de l'alinéa 11.4(3)c) de la version anglaise de la Loi sur les arrangements avec les créanciers des compagnies précédant le sous-alinéa (i) est remplacé par ce qui suit:
 - (c) any provision of provincial legislation that has a similar purpose to subsection 224(1.2) of the Income Tax Act, or that refers to that subsection, to the extent that it provides for the collection of a sum, and of any related interest, penalties or other amounts, where the sum
- (2) Le paragraphe (1) s'applique aux procédures intentées en vertu de la même loi après le 29 septembre 1997.

Loi sur le droit d'auteur

L.R., ch. C-42

34. Le paragraphe 5(1.01) de la Loi sur le droit d'auteur est remplacé par ce qui suit :

1994, ch. 47, par. 57(1)

Présomption (1.01) Pour l'application du paragraphe (1),

le pays qui devient un pays partie à la Convention de Berne ou un membre de l'OMC après la date de création ou de publication de l'oeuvre est réputé avoir adhéré à la convention ou être devenu membre de l'OMC, selon le cas, à compter de cette date, sous réserve du paragraphe (1.02) et de l'article 33.

35. L'alinéa 67.1(4)a) de la version anglaise de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit:

1997, ch. 24,

(a) the infringement of the rights, referred to in section 3, to perform a work in public or to communicate it to the public by telecommunication; or

2000, c. 24

Crimes Against Humanity and War Crimes Act

36. Section 43 of the English version of the *Crimes Against Humanity and War Crimes Act* is replaced by the following:

43. The definition "offence" in section 183 of the *Criminal Code* is amended by adding, immediately after the reference to "Export and Import Permits Act,", a reference to "any offence under the *Crimes Against Humanity and War Crimes Act*,".

R.S., c. C-51

Cultural Property Export and Import Act

37. Paragraph 4(2)(a) of the French version of the *Cultural Property Export and Import Act* is replaced by the following:

a) les objets de toute valeur, présentant un intérêt archéologique, préhistorique, historique, artistique ou scientifique, trouvés sur ou dans le sol du Canada, ou dans les limites de la mer territoriale, des eaux internes ou des autres eaux intérieures du Canada;

1995, c. 29, s. 21

38. Paragraph 18(2)(a) of the Act is replaced by the following:

(a) up to four other members shall be chosen from among residents of Canada who are or have been officers, members or employees of art galleries, museums, archives, libraries or other collecting institutions in Canada; and

R.S., c. E-4

Electricity and Gas Inspection Act

39. Paragraph 28(1)(n) of the *Electricity* and Gas Inspection Act is replaced by the following:

(n) providing for determination of the quantity, energy density or energy concentration of gas and establishing standards therefor;

(a) the infringement of the rights, referred to in section 3, to perform a work in public or to communicate it to the public by telecommunication; or

Loi sur les crimes contre l'humanité et les crimes de guerre

2000, ch. 24

36. L'article 43 de la version anglaise de la *Loi sur les crimes contre l'humanité et les crimes de guerre* est remplacé par ce qui suit :

43. The definition "offence" in section 183 of the *Criminal Code* is amended by adding, immediately after the reference to "Export and Import Permits Act,", a reference to "any offence under the *Crimes Against Humanity and War Crimes Act*,".

Loi sur l'exportation et l'importation de biens culturels

L.R., ch. C-51

37. L'alinéa 4(2)a) de la version française de la *Loi sur l'exportation et l'importation de biens culturels* est remplacé par ce qui suit :

a) les objets de toute valeur, présentant un intérêt archéologique, préhistorique, historique, artistique ou scientifique, trouvés sur ou dans le sol du Canada, ou dans les limites de la mer territoriale, des eaux internes ou des autres eaux intérieures du Canada;

38. L'alinéa 18(2)a) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

1995, ch. 29, art. 21

a) jusqu'à concurrence de quatre, parmi les personnes qui sont ou ont été des dirigeants ou membres du personnel de musées, archives, bibliothèques ou autres établissements qui constituent des collections sis au Canada;

Loi sur l'inspection de l'électricité et du gaz

L.R., ch. E-4

39. L'alinéa 28(1)n) de la Loi sur l'inspection de l'électricité et du gaz est remplacé par ce qui suit :

n) prévoir la détermination de la densité ou de la concentration énergétiques du gaz ou de la quantité de celui-ci, et établir des normes à cet effet:

1995, c. 44

Employment Equity Act

Loi sur l'équité en matière d'emploi

1995, ch. 44

40. Subsection 4(8) of the French version of the *Employment Equity Act* is replaced by the following:

Subdélégation

1996, c. 23

(8) Les délégataires visés au paragraphe (7) peuvent, compte tenu des conditions et modalités de la délégation, subdéléguer à une ou plusieurs autres personnes les attributions qui leur ont été ainsi conférées.

Employment Insurance Act

41. Paragraph 27(2)(c) of the English version of the *Employment Insurance Act* is replaced by the following:

(c) it is not in the claimant's usual occupation and is either at a lower rate of earnings or on conditions less favourable than those that the claimant might reasonably expect to obtain, having regard to the conditions that the claimant usually obtained in the claimant's usual occupation, or would have obtained if the claimant had continued to be so employed.

R.S., c. E-8

Energy Monitoring Act

- 42. The definition "Agency" in subsection 2(1) of the *Energy Monitoring Act* is repealed.
 - 43. Section 9 of the Act is repealed.

1994, c. 41, par. 38(1)(*b*)

- 44. The heading before section 16 and sections 16 to 29 of the Act are repealed.
- 45. The Act is amended by adding the following immediately after the heading "GENERAL" after section 15:

Reports Regarding Energy Commodities and Energy Enterprises

Reports

29. (1) Subject to subsection (2), the Minister may publish any reports that the Minister considers appropriate and necessary in respect of energy commodities and energy enterprises and their holdings and operations.

40. Le paragraphe 4(8) de la version française de la *Loi sur l'équité en matière d'emploi* est remplacé par ce qui suit :

(8) Les délégataires visés au paragraphe (7) peuvent, compte tenu des conditions et modalités de la délégation, subdéléguer à une ou plusieurs autres personnes les attributions qui leur ont été ainsi conférées.

Subdélégation

Loi sur l'assurance-emploi

1996, ch. 23

41. L'alinéa 27(2)c) de la version anglaise de la *Loi sur l'assurance-emploi* est remplacé par ce qui suit :

(c) it is not in the claimant's usual occupation and is either at a lower rate of earnings or on conditions less favourable than those that the claimant might reasonably expect to obtain, having regard to the conditions that the claimant usually obtained in the claimant's usual occupation, or would have obtained if the claimant had continued to be so employed.

Loi sur la surveillance du secteur énergétique

L.R., ch. E-8

- 42. La définition de « Agence », au paragraphe 2(1) de la *Loi sur la surveillance du secteur énergétique*, est abrogée.
 - 43. L'article 9 de la même loi est abrogé.
- 44. L'intertitre précédant l'article 16 et les articles 16 à 29 de la même loi sont abrogés.

1994, ch. 41, al. 38(1)b)

45. La même loi est modifiée par adjonction, après l'intertitre « DISPOSITIONS GÉNÉRALES » suivant l'article 15, de ce qui suit :

Rapports sur les produits énergétiques et les entreprises énergétiques

29. (1) Sous réserve du paragraphe (2), le ministre peut publier les rapports qu'il juge pertinents et nécessaires sur les produits énergétiques et sur les entreprises énergétiques et leurs avoirs en actions et leurs activités.

Rapports

Disclosure of certain information only (2) The Minister shall not disclose in any report published under subsection (1) any statistic, information or documentation obtained by the Minister under this Act or any other Act of Parliament that identifies or permits the identification of the individual, corporation, partnership, trust or organization to which the statistic, information or documentation relates without the written consent of that individual, corporation, partnership, trust or organization.

46. Section 33 of the Act is replaced by the following:

Privilege

33. The statistics, information and documentation obtained by the Minister under this Act, by the Energy Supplies Allocation Board under section 15 or by the persons referred to in paragraphs 34(*a*) and (*b*) are privileged and shall not knowingly be or be permitted to be communicated, disclosed or made available without the written consent of the person from whom they were obtained.

R.S., c. F-11

Financial Administration Act

1994, c. 41, s. 25

47. Schedule I.1 to the *Financial Administration Act* is amended by striking out, in column I, the reference to

Petroleum Monitoring Agency

Agence de surveillance du secteur pétrolier

and the corresponding reference in column II to "Minister of Natural Resources".

1992, c. 1, s. 72; SOR/95-17; 1995, c. 5, s. 28(F)

48. The reference to "Minister of Transport" in column II of Schedule I.1 to the Act, opposite the reference to "Northern Pipeline Agency", is replaced by a reference to "Minister for International Trade".

R.S., c. 24 (3rd Supp.), Part III

Hazardous Materials Information Review
Act

49. Subsection 11(3) of the French version of the *Hazardous Materials Information Review Act* is replaced by the following:

(2) Le ministre ne peut communiquer dans un rapport publié en vertu du paragraphe (1) des statistiques, renseignements ou documents qu'il a obtenus en vertu de la présente loi ou de toute autre loi fédérale et qui identifient ou permettent d'identifier la personne à laquelle ils se rapportent — qu'il s'agisse d'une personne physique ou morale, d'une société de personnes, d'une fiducie ou d'une organisation —, sauf sur autorisation écrite de celle-ci.

Communication de certains renseignements uniquement

46. L'article 33 de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

33. Les statistiques, renseignements et documents obtenus par le ministre en vertu de la présente loi, par l'Office de répartition des approvisionnements d'énergie en vertu de l'article 15 ou par les personnes visées aux alinéas 34a) et b) sont protégés. Nul ne peut sciemment les communiquer ou les laisser communiquer, les divulguer ou les transmettre à qui que ce soit, sauf sur autorisation écrite de la personne dont ils proviennent.

Renseignements protégés

Loi sur la gestion des finances publiques

47. L'annexe I.1 de la *Loi sur la gestion des*

finances publiques est modifiée par sup-

1994, ch. 41, art. 25

L.R., ch. F-11

pression, dans la colonne I, de ce qui suit : Agence de surveillance du secteur pétrolier

Petroleum Monitoring Agency

ainsi que de la mention « Le ministre des Ressources naturelles » placée, dans la colonne II, en regard de ce secteur.

48. Dans la colonne II de l'annexe I.1 de la même loi, « Le ministre des Transports », en regard du nom de secteur « Administration du pipe-line du Nord » à la colonne I, est remplacé par « Le ministre du Commerce international ».

1992, ch. 1, art. 72; DORS/95-17; 1995, ch. 5, art. 28(F)

Loi sur le contrôle des renseignements relatifs aux matières dangereuses L.R., ch. 24 (3^e suppl.), partie III

49. Le paragraphe 11(3) de la version française de la Loi sur le contrôle des renseignements relatifs aux matières dangereuses est remplacé par ce qui suit :

14

Modalités de la demande

(3) La demande de dérogation est présentée selon les modalités réglementaires et est accompagnée du droit prévu par règlement ou fixé de la manière réglementaire.

50. Subsection 12(2) of the French version of the Act is replaced by the following:

Avis

(2) L'avis visé à l'alinéa (1)a) contient une offre faite à toute partie touchée de présenter auprès de l'agent de contrôle des observations par écrit sur la demande de dérogation et la fiche signalétique ou l'étiquette en cause dans le délai qui est spécifié dans l'avis.

51. Subparagraph 23(1)(b)(i) of the French version of the Act is replaced by the following:

(i) du dossier de l'agent de contrôle dont la décision ou l'ordre est frappé d'appel,

R.S., c. I-9

Industrial Design Act

52. Section 19 of the *Industrial Design Act* and the heading "*Rules, Regulations and Forms*" before it are repealed.

1994, c. 22

Migratory Birds Convention Act, 1994

53. Paragraph 12(1)(k) of the English version of the *Migratory Birds Convention Act, 1994* is replaced by the following:

(k) authorizing the Minister to vary or suspend the application of any regulation made under this Act if the Minister considers it necessary to do so for the conservation of migratory birds.

R.S., c. N-3

National Arts Centre Act

- 54. (1) The definition "Director" in section 2 of the English version of the *National Arts Centre Act* is repealed.
- (2) Section 2 of the Act is amended by adding the following in alphabetical order:

"President" « président »

"President" means the President of the Centre appointed under subsection 6(1);

(3) La demande de dérogation est présentée selon les modalités réglementaires et est accompagnée du droit prévu par règlement ou fixé de la manière réglementaire.

Modalités de la demande

50. Le paragraphe 12(2) de la version française de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

(2) L'avis visé à l'alinéa (1)a) contient une offre faite à toute partie touchée de présenter auprès de l'agent de contrôle des observations par écrit sur la demande de dérogation et la fiche signalétique ou l'étiquette en cause dans le délai qui est spécifié dans l'avis.

Avis

51. Le sous-alinéa 23(1)b)(i) de la version française de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

(i) du dossier de l'agent de contrôle dont la décision ou l'ordre est frappé d'appel,

Loi sur les dessins industriels

L.R., ch. I-9

52. L'article 19 de la *Loi sur les dessins* industriels et l'intertitre « Règles, règlements et formules » le précédant sont abrogés.

Loi de 1994 sur la convention concernant les oiseaux migrateurs

1994, ch. 22

53. L'alinéa 12(1)k) de la version anglaise de la *Loi de 1994 sur la convention concernant les oiseaux migrateurs* est remplacé par ce qui suit :

(k) authorizing the Minister to vary or suspend the application of any regulation made under this Act if the Minister considers it necessary to do so for the conservation of migratory birds.

Loi sur le Centre national des Arts

L.R., ch. N-3

- 54. (1) La définition de « Director », à l'article 2 de la version anglaise de la *Loi sur le Centre national des Arts*, est abrogée.
- (2) L'article 2 de la même loi est modifié par adjonction, selon l'ordre alphabétique, de ce qui suit :
- « président » Le président du Centre, nommé en vertu du paragraphe 6(1).

« président » "President"

- 55. The Act is amended by replacing "Director" with "President" in the following provisions:
 - (a) the heading before section 6 and sections 6 and 7; and
 - (b) sections 13 and 14.
- 56. Subsection 7(2) of the French version of the Act is amended by replacing "direction" with "présidence".

Consequential amendment — SI/83-114

57. Item 59 of the schedule to the *Privacy Act Heads of Government Institutions Designation Order* is amended by replacing "Director General/*Directeur général*" in column II with "President/*Président*".

1997, c. 9

Nuclear Safety and Control Act

58. (1) Paragraph 21(1)(i) of the French version of the *Nuclear Safety and Control Act* is replaced by the following:

i) accréditer les personnes visées à l'alinéa 44(1)k) pour accomplir leurs fonctions, ou retirer leur accréditation;

(2) Paragraph 21(1)(j) of the Act is replaced by the following:

(*j*) authorize the return to work of persons whose dose of radiation has or may have exceeded the prescribed radiation dose limits.

59. Subsection 24(1) of the French version of the Act is replaced by the following:

Catégories

- **24.** (1) La Commission peut établir plusieurs catégories de licences et de permis; chaque licence ou permis autorise le titulaire à exercer celles des activités décrites aux alinéas 26a) à f) que la licence ou le permis mentionne, pendant la durée qui y est également mentionnée.
- 60. (1) Paragraph 37(2)(b) of the French version of the Act is replaced by the following:
 - b) accréditer les personnes visées à l'alinéa 44(1)k) pour accomplir leurs fonctions, ou retirer leur accréditation;

- 55. Dans les passages ci-après de la même loi, « directeur » est remplacé par « président » :
 - *a*) l'intertitre qui précède l'article 6 et les articles 6 et 7;
 - b) les articles 13 et 14.
- 56. Au paragraphe 7(2) de la version française de la même loi, « direction » est remplacé par « présidence ».

57. Dans la colonne II de l'article 75 de l'annexe du Décret sur la désignation des responsables d'institutions fédérales (Loi sur la protection des renseignements personnels), « Directeur général/Director General » est remplacé par « Président/President ».

Modification corrélative — TR/83-114

Loi sur la sûreté et la réglementation nucléaires

1997, ch. 9

- 58. (1) L'alinéa 21(1)i) de la version française de la Loi sur la sûreté et la réglementation nucléaires est remplacé par ce qui suit :
 - *i*) accréditer les personnes visées à l'alinéa 44(1)*k*) pour accomplir leurs fonctions, ou retirer leur accréditation:
- (2) L'alinéa 21(1)j) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

j) autoriser le retour au travail des personnes ayant reçu ou pouvant avoir reçu une dose de rayonnement supérieure à la limite réglementaire.

59. Le paragraphe 24(1) de la version française de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

24. (1) La Commission peut établir plusieurs catégories de licences et de permis; chaque licence ou permis autorise le titulaire à exercer celles des activités décrites aux alinéas 26*a*) à *f*) que la licence ou le permis mentionne, pendant la durée qui y est également mentionnée.

Catégories

60. (1) L'alinéa 37(2)b) de la version française de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

b) accréditer les personnes visées à l'alinéa 44(1)k) pour accomplir leurs fonctions, ou retirer leur accréditation:

C. 34

(2) Paragraph 37(2)(h) of the Act is replaced by the following:

(h) authorize the return to work of persons whose dose of radiation has or may have exceeded the prescribed radiation dose limits.

61. Paragraph 44(1)(l) of the French version of the Act is replaced by the following:

l) régir la procédure d'accréditation des personnes visées à l'alinéa *k*) ou de retrait de leur accréditation et fixer les droits applicables à l'obtention des certificats qui peuvent leur être remis;

62. The Act is amended by adding the following after section 68:

68.1 The accounts and financial transactions of the Commission shall be audited annually by the Auditor General of Canada and a report of the audit shall be made to the Commission and to the Minister.

R.S., c. P-4

Andit

Patent Act

1993, c. 15, s. 33

Requirements

governing

request

63. Subsection 28.4(2) of the *Patent Act* is replaced by the following:

(2) The request for priority must be made in accordance with the regulations and the applicant must inform the Commissioner of the filing date, country or office of filing and number of each previously regularly filed application on which the request is based.

1992, c. 46, Sch. II Pension Benefits Division Act

64. Section 14 of the *Pension Benefits* Division Act is replaced by the following:

Payment out of Consolidated Revenue Fund 14. All amounts payable under this Act shall be paid out of the Consolidated Revenue Fund and be charged to the Consolidated Revenue Fund, to a fund as defined in section 2 of the *Public Sector Pension Investment Board Act* or to an account or accounts in the accounts of Canada, as provided for by the regulations.

65. Paragraph 16(*j*) of the Act is replaced by the following:

(2) L'alinéa 37(2)h) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

h) autoriser le retour au travail des personnes ayant reçu ou pouvant avoir reçu une dose de rayonnement supérieure à la limite réglementaire.

61. L'alinéa 44(1)*l*) de la version française de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

l) régir la procédure d'accréditation des personnes visées à l'alinéa *k*) ou de retrait de leur accréditation et fixer les droits applicables à l'obtention des certificats qui peuvent leur être remis;

62. La même loi est modifiée par adjonction, après l'article 68, de ce qui suit :

68.1 Le vérificateur général du Canada examine chaque année les comptes et les opérations financières de la Commission et présente son rapport à la Commission et au ministre.

Vérification

Loi sur les brevets

63. Le paragraphe 28.4(2) de la *Loi sur les brevets* est remplacé par ce qui suit :

1993, ch. 15, art. 33

L.R., ch. P-4

Conditions

(2) Le demandeur la présente selon les modalités réglementaires; il doit aussi informer le commissaire du nom du pays ou du bureau où a été déposée toute demande de brevet sur laquelle la demande de priorité est fondée, ainsi que de la date de dépôt et du numéro de cette demande de brevet.

Loi sur le partage des prestations de retraite

1992, ch. 46, ann. II

64. L'article 14 de la *Loi sur le partage des prestations de retraite* est remplacé par ce qui suit :

14. Les sommes payables au titre de la présente loi sont prélevées sur le Trésor et portés au débit de celui-ci, d'un fonds au sens de l'article 2 de la *Loi sur l'Office d'investissement des régimes de pensions du secteur public*, ou d'un ou de plusieurs comptes ouverts parmi les comptes du Canada, selon ce qui est prévu par les règlements.

65. L'alinéa 16j) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

Paiements sur

le Trésor

(j) respecting the charging of amounts payable under this Act to the Consolidated Revenue Fund, to a fund as defined in section 2 of the Public Sector Investment Board Act or to any account or accounts in the accounts of Canada:

j) régir l'inscription au débit du Trésor, d'un fonds au sens de l'article 2 de la Loi sur l'Office d'investissement des régimes de pensions du secteur public, ou d'un ou de plusieurs comptes ouverts parmi les comptes du Canada, des sommes payables en vertu de la présente loi;

R.S., c. 32 (2nd Supp.) Pension Benefits Standards Act, 1985

Loi de 1985 sur les normes de prestation de pension

L.R., ch. 32 (2e suppl.)

1998, ch. 12,

par. 1(3)

1998, c. 12, s. 1(3)

66. The definitions "former member" and "member" in subsection 2(1) of the Pension Benefits Standards Act, 1985 are replaced by the following:

"former member « participant ancien »

"former member", in relation to a pension plan, means

- (a) except in sections 9.2 and 24, a person who, on or after January 1, 1987, has either ceased membership in the plan or retired.
- (a.1) in section 9.2, a person who has either ceased membership in the plan or retired and has not transferred their pension benefit credit under section 26 before termination of the plan, or
- (b) in section 24, a person who, before, on or after January 1, 1987, has either ceased membership in the plan or retired;

"member" « participant » "member", in relation to a pension plan, means a person who has become a member of the pension plan and has neither ceased membership in the plan nor retired;

1998, c. 12,

67. (1) Subsection 9.2(4) of the French version of the Act is replaced by the following:

Arbitrage

(4) Sous réserve du paragraphe (5), si plus de la moitié mais moins des deux tiers des membres de chacun des groupes visés au paragraphe (3) ont consenti, l'employeur peut ou doit, selon que l'on se trouve dans la période de validité du régime ou après sa cessation, soumettre la question à l'arbitrage. Il en informe dans tous les cas le surintendant et les personnes faisant partie de ces groupes.

66. Les définitions de « participant » et « participant ancien », au paragraphe 2(1) de la Loi de 1985 sur les normes de prestation de pension, sont respectivement remplacées

par ce qui suit:

« participant » S'entend, relativement à un régime de pension, d'une personne qui participe à celui-ci, qui n'a pas pris sa retraite et dont la participation n'a pas pris fin.

« participant » 'member

« participant

ancien »

"former member"

- « participant ancien » S'entend, selon le cas, relativement à un régime de pension :
 - a) sauf aux articles 9.2 et 24, d'une personne dont la participation a pris fin ou qui a pris sa retraite, le 1^{er} janvier 1987 ou après cette date;
 - a.1) pour l'application de l'article 9.2, d'une personne dont la participation a pris fin ou qui a pris sa retraite, mais qui n'a pas transféré ses droits à pension au titre de l'article 26 avant la cessation du régime de pension;
 - b) pour l'application de l'article 24, d'une personne dont la participation a pris fin ou qui a pris sa retraite, même avant le 1er janvier 1987.

67. (1) Le paragraphe 9.2(4) de la version française de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit:

(4) Sous réserve du paragraphe (5), si plus

de la moitié mais moins des deux tiers des

1998, ch. 12, art. 9

membres de chacun des groupes visés au paragraphe (3) ont consenti, l'employeur peut ou doit, selon que l'on se trouve dans la période de validité du régime ou après sa cessation, soumettre la question à l'arbitrage. Il en informe dans tous les cas le surintendant et les personnes faisant partie de ces groupes.

Arbitrage

suit:

art. 9

1998, ch. 12,

1998, c. 12, s. 9

(2) The portion of subsection 9.2(5) of the French version of the Act after paragraph (c) is replaced by the following:

L'employeur en informe le surintendant et les personnes faisant partie des groupes visés au paragraphe (3).

1998, c. 12, s. 9

(3) Subsection 9.2(7) of the French version of the Act is replaced by the following:

Arbitre

(7) L'arbitre est désigné par l'employeur et les personnes visées au paragraphe (3); en cas de désaccord au terme du délai prévu par règlement, la désignation est faite par le surintendant.

68. (1) The portion of paragraph 17(1)(a) of the French version of the Act before subparagraph (i) is replaced by the following:

a) au service d'une prestation de pension différée, qui tient compte de sa période d'emploi et de sa rémunération, jusqu'au moment où sa participation prend fin, dont le mode de calcul et les modalités de paiement sont les mêmes, sous réserve de toute cotisation facultative, que ceux de la prestation de pension immédiate à laquelle il aurait eu droit s'il avait atteint l'âge admissible:

(2) The portion of paragraph 17(1)(b) of the French version of the Act before subparagraph (i) is replaced by the following:

b) à toute autre prestation ou toute option, qui tiennent compte de sa période d'emploi et de sa rémunération jusqu'au moment où sa participation prend fin, dont le mode de calcul et les modalités de paiement sont les mêmes que ceux de la prestation ou de l'option auxquelles il aurait eu droit s'il avait maintenu sa participation jusqu'à l'âge admissible :

(3) The portion of subsection 17(3) of the French version of the Act before paragraph (a) is replaced by the following:

(2) Le passage du paragraphe 9.2(5) de la version française de la même loi suivant l'alinéa c) est remplacé par ce qui suit :

L'employeur en informe le surintendant et les personnes faisant partie des groupes visés au paragraphe (3).

(3) Le paragraphe 9.2(7) de la version française de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

1998, ch. 12, art. 9

(7) L'arbitre est désigné par l'employeur et les personnes visées au paragraphe (3); en cas de désaccord au terme du délai prévu par règlement, la désignation est faite par le surintendant.

68. (1) Le passage de l'alinéa 17(1)a) de la version française de la même loi précédant le sous-alinéa (i) est remplacé par ce qui

a) au service d'une prestation de pension différée, qui tient compte de sa période d'emploi et de sa rémunération, jusqu'au moment où sa participation prend fin, dont le mode de calcul et les modalités de paiement sont les mêmes, sous réserve de toute cotisation facultative, que ceux de la prestation de pension immédiate à laquelle il aurait eu droit s'il avait atteint l'âge admissible:

(2) Le passage de l'alinéa 17(1)b) de la version française de la même loi précédant le sous-alinéa (i) est remplacé par ce qui suit :

b) à toute autre prestation ou toute option, qui tiennent compte de sa période d'emploi et de sa rémunération jusqu'au moment où sa participation prend fin, dont le mode de calcul et les modalités de paiement sont les mêmes que ceux de la prestation ou de l'option auxquelles il aurait eu droit s'il avait maintenu sa participation jusqu'à l'âge admissible :

(3) Le passage du paragraphe 17(3) de la version française de la même loi précédant l'alinéa a) est remplacé par ce qui suit :

Arbitre

Acquisition

1^{er} janvier 1987

du droit

Acquisition du droit — 1^{er} janvier 1987 (3) Un régime de pension doit prévoir que tout participant, âgé d'au moins quarante-cinq ans, qui travaille de façon continue depuis dix ans pour l'employeur ou qui participe au régime depuis une période ininterrompue de dix ans a droit, à la fin de sa participation, au service d'une prestation de pension différée, qui tient compte de sa période d'emploi et de sa rémunération jusqu'au moment où sa participation prend fin, dont le mode de calcul et les modalités de paiement sont les mêmes, sous réserve de toute cotisation facultative, que ceux de la prestation de pension immédiate à laquelle il aurait eu droit s'il avait atteint l'âge admissible :

69. (1) Paragraph 18(1)(c) of the French version of the Act is replaced by the following:

c) que, sous réserve de l'article 26, une personne qui a droit à une prestation visée aux articles 16 ou 17, ou y aurait droit si elle prenait sa retraite ou si sa participation au régime prenait fin, ne peut retirer une partie de ses cotisations à celui-ci, versées en vue d'une telle prestation, sauf les cotisations facultatives, relativement à sa participation à compter du 1^{er} octobre 1967, et que toutes les sommes du fonds de pension imputables à ces cotisations doivent servir, conformément aux dispositions du régime, au service des prestations visées par l'un ou l'autre de ces articles, selon le cas.

(2) Paragraph 18(2)(a) of the French version of the Act is replaced by the following:

a) le paiement à un participant, à titre d'acquittement partiel de ses créances à compter de la date où sa participation au régime prend fin mais avant qu'il n'ait atteint l'âge admissible, d'un montant global d'au plus vingt-cinq pour cent de la valeur de la prestation de pension différée visée au paragraphe 17(3);

(3) Paragraph 18(2)(c) of the French version of the Act is replaced by the following:

c) que si la prestation de pension annuelle payable est inférieure à quatre pour

(3) Un régime de pension doit prévoir que tout participant, âgé d'au moins quarante-cinq ans, qui travaille de façon continue depuis dix ans pour l'employeur ou qui participe au régime depuis une période ininterrompue de dix ans a droit, à la fin de sa participation, au service d'une prestation de pension différée, qui tient compte de sa période d'emploi et de sa rémunération jusqu'au moment où sa participation prend fin, dont le mode de calcul et les modalités de paiement sont les mêmes, sous réserve de toute cotisation facultative, que ceux de la prestation de pension immédiate à laquelle il aurait eu droit s'il avait atteint l'âge admissible :

69. (1) L'alinéa 18(1)c) de la version française de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

c) que, sous réserve de l'article 26, une personne qui a droit à une prestation visée aux articles 16 ou 17, ou y aurait droit si elle prenait sa retraite ou si sa participation au régime prenait fin, ne peut retirer une partie de ses cotisations à celui-ci, versées en vue d'une telle prestation, sauf les cotisations facultatives, relativement à sa participation à compter du 1^{er} octobre 1967, et que toutes les sommes du fonds de pension imputables à ces cotisations doivent servir, conformément aux dispositions du régime, au service des prestations visées par l'un ou l'autre de ces articles, selon le cas.

(2) L'alinéa 18(2)a) de la version française de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

a) le paiement à un participant, à titre d'acquittement partiel de ses créances à compter de la date où sa participation au régime prend fin mais avant qu'il n'ait atteint l'âge admissible, d'un montant global d'au plus vingt-cinq pour cent de la valeur de la prestation de pension différée visée au paragraphe 17(3);

(3) L'alinéa 18(2)c) de la version française de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

c) que si la prestation de pension annuelle payable est inférieure à quatre pour

2000, ch. 12, art. 256

2000, c. 12, s. 256 cent — ou à tout autre pourcentage fixé par règlement — du maximum des gains annuels ouvrant droit à pension pour l'année civile au cours de laquelle le participant est décédé ou sa participation a pris fin, les droits à pension peuvent être payés au participant ou à son survivant, selon le cas.

70. Section 20 of the French version of the Act is replaced by the following:

Retrait d'argent par les participants 20. Un participant dont la participation à un régime de pension prend fin peut en retirer un montant équivalant à la somme de ses propres cotisations et des intérêts calculés conformément à l'article 19 pour toute période de participation pour laquelle il n'a pas droit à une prestation de pension prévue aux articles 16 ou 17.

71. Subsections 21(1) and (2) of the French version of the Act are replaced by the following:

Droits à pension minimaux 21. (1) Les droits à pension d'un participant à un régime à prestations déterminées doivent, dans le cas où le participant prend sa retraite ou meurt, ou dans le cas où sa participation prend fin, ou ceux de tout participant à un tel régime, dans le cas de la cessation totale ou partielle du régime, être au moins égaux au total des cotisations obligatoires qu'il a dû verser et des intérêts calculés conformément à l'article 19.

Cas particulier

(2) Sous réserve du paragraphe (3) et de l'alinéa 26(3)b), les prestations payables au participant à un régime à prestations déterminées sont augmentées du montant de la prestation de pension pouvant provenir de l'excédent éventuel du total, majoré des intérêts calculés conformément à l'article 19. des cotisations non facultatives versées par le participant après le 31 décembre 1986 sur cinquante pour cent des droits à pension afférents à sa participation après cette date, calculés sans tenir compte du paragraphe (1), si le participant prend sa retraite ou meurt ou si sa participation prend fin après deux années de participation continue. En cas de cessation totale ou partielle du régime, les dispositions de ce paragraphe s'appliquent à tout participant au régime.

cent — ou à tout autre pourcentage fixé par règlement — du maximum des gains annuels ouvrant droit à pension pour l'année civile au cours de laquelle le participant est décédé ou sa participation a pris fin, les droits à pension peuvent être payés au participant ou à son survivant, selon le cas.

70. L'article 20 de la version française de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

20. Un participant dont la participation à un régime de pension prend fin peut en retirer un montant équivalant à la somme de ses propres cotisations et des intérêts calculés conformément à l'article 19 pour toute période de participation pour laquelle il n'a pas droit à une prestation de pension prévue aux articles 16 ou 17.

Retrait d'argent par les participants

71. Les paragraphes 21(1) et (2) de la version française de la même loi sont remplacés par ce qui suit :

21. (1) Les droits à pension d'un participant à un régime à prestations déterminées doivent, dans le cas où le participant prend sa retraite ou meurt, ou dans le cas où sa participation prend fin, ou ceux de tout participant à un tel régime, dans le cas de la cessation totale ou partielle du régime, être au moins égaux au total des cotisations obligatoires qu'il a dû verser et des intérêts calculés conformément à l'article 19.

minimaux

(2) Sous réserve du paragraphe (3) et de l'alinéa 26(3)b), les prestations payables au participant à un régime à prestations déterminées sont augmentées du montant de la prestation de pension pouvant provenir de l'excédent éventuel du total, majoré des intérêts calculés conformément à l'article 19. des cotisations non facultatives versées par le participant après le 31 décembre 1986 sur cinquante pour cent des droits à pension afférents à sa participation après cette date, calculés sans tenir compte du paragraphe (1), si le participant prend sa retraite ou meurt ou si sa participation prend fin après deux années de participation continue. En cas de cessation totale ou partielle du régime, les dispositions de ce paragraphe s'appliquent à tout participant au régime.

Cas particulier

1998, c. 12, s. 15(1); 2000, c. 12, par. 264(*a*)

Décès antérieur à l'admission à la retraite anticipée

72. (1) Subsection 23(1) of the French version of the Act is replaced by the following:

23. (1) Le survivant du participant actuel ou ancien qui a droit à une prestation de pension différée au titre du paragraphe 17(1), ou du participant actuel qui y aurait droit si sa participation prenait fin, et qui meurt sans avoir droit à la prestation visée au paragraphe 16(2), a droit à la partie des droits à pension, calculés conformément à l'article 21, à laquelle le participant aurait eu droit, à la date de son décès, s'il avait cessé de travailler ce même jour et était toujours vivant, et qui correspond à sa participation au régime après le 31 décembre 1986.

1998, c. 12, s. 15(2)

(2) The portion of subsection 23(3) of the French version of the Act before paragraph (a) is replaced by the following:

Décès d'un participant admissible à la retraite (3) Le participant actuel ou ancien qui a droit à une prestation de pension différée au titre du paragraphe 17(1), ou le participant actuel qui y aurait droit si sa participation prenait fin, et qui meurt avant le début du service de sa prestation, mais a droit à la prestation visée au paragraphe 16(2), est réputé:

2000, c. 12, s. 259(2)

73. Subsection 25(4) of the French version of the Act is replaced by the following:

Pouvoir de cession au conjoint

- (4) Par dérogation au présent article ou au droit provincial des biens, le participant actuel ou ancien peut céder à son époux ou conjoint de fait ou à son ex-époux ou ancien conjoint de fait tout ou partie de ses prestations de pension ou autres ou de ses droits à pension que prévoit le régime, cette cession prenant effet lors du divorce, de l'annulation du mariage, de la séparation ou de l'échec de leur union de fait, selon le cas. Dans le cas d'une telle cession et pour l'application de la présente loi, sauf des paragraphes 21(2) à (6), et relativement à la partie des prestations ou droits cédés :
 - a) le cessionnaire est réputé avoir participé au régime;
 - b) la participation du cessionnaire est réputée avoir pris fin à compter du jour où la cession prend effet.

72. (1) Le paragraphe 23(1) de la version française de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

23. (1) Le survivant du participant actuel ou ancien qui a droit à une prestation de pension différée au titre du paragraphe 17(1), ou du participant actuel qui y aurait droit si sa participation prenait fin, et qui meurt sans avoir droit à la prestation visée au paragraphe 16(2), a droit à la partie des droits à pension, calculés conformément à l'article 21, à laquelle le participant aurait eu droit, à la date de son décès, s'il avait cessé de travailler ce même jour et était toujours vivant, et qui correspond à sa participation au régime après le 31

(2) Le passage du paragraphe 23(3) de la version française de la même loi précédant l'alinéa a) est remplacé par ce qui suit :

(3) Le participant actuel ou ancien qui a droit à une prestation de pension différée au titre du paragraphe 17(1), ou le participant actuel qui y aurait droit si sa participation prenait fin, et qui meurt avant le début du service de sa prestation, mais a droit à la prestation visée au paragraphe 16(2), est réputé:

ver- 73 ng: franc

décembre 1986.

73. Le paragraphe 25(4) de la version française de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

(4) Par dérogation au présent article ou au droit provincial des biens, le participant actuel ou ancien peut céder à son époux ou conjoint de fait ou à son ex-époux ou ancien conjoint de fait tout ou partie de ses prestations de pension ou autres ou de ses droits à pension que prévoit le régime, cette cession prenant effet lors du divorce, de l'annulation du mariage, de la séparation ou de l'échec de leur union de fait, selon le cas. Dans le cas d'une telle cession et pour l'application de la présente loi, sauf des paragraphes 21(2) à (6), et relativement à la partie des prestations ou droits cédés :

- *a*) le cessionnaire est réputé avoir participé au régime;
- b) la participation du cessionnaire est réputée avoir pris fin à compter du jour où la cession prend effet.

1998, ch. 12, par. 15(1); 2000, ch. 12, al. 264*a*)

Décès antérieur à l'admission à la retraite anticipée

1998, ch. 12, par. 15(2)

Décès d'un participant admissible à la retraite

2000, ch. 12, par. 259(2)

Pouvoir de cession au conjoint L'époux ou conjoint de fait que le cédant peut avoir à l'avenir n'a droit à aucune prestation de pension ou autres ni à aucun droit à pension prévus au régime relativement à la partie ainsi cédée.

1998, c. 12, s. 16(1); 2000, c. 12, par. 264(*d*)

Transfert avant l'admissibilité à la retraite

2000, c. 12, par. 264(*d*)

Admissibilité à la retraite

Autres dispositions optionnelles

2000, c. 12, par. 263(d)

74. (1) The portion of subsection 26(1) of the French version of the Act before paragraph (a) is replaced by the following:

26. (1) Le participant dont la participation a pris fin avant qu'il n'ait droit à la prestation visée au paragraphe 16(2), ou son survivant, dans le cas où le participant meurt avant d'y avoir droit, peut, s'il informe l'administrateur de son intention, en la forme réglementaire, dans les quatre-vingt-dix jours suivant l'événement en cause, ou si le surintendant accorde un délai supplémentaire au titre de l'alinéa 28(1)d), dans les soixante jours suivant la remise du relevé visé par cet alinéa:

(2) The portion of subsection 26(2) of the French version of the Act before paragraph (a) is replaced by the following:

(2) Le régime de pension peut permettre à un participant ou à son survivant, selon le cas, si, après être devenu admissible à la retraite au titre du paragraphe 16(2) mais avant le début du service de la prestation de pension, le participant meurt ou sa participation à un régime de pension prend fin :

(3) The portion of subsection 26(3) of the French version of the Act before paragraph (a) is replaced by the following:

(3) Le régime de pension peut prévoir que, dans le cas où, à un moment donné, un participant meurt ou sa participation prend fin :

75. Paragraph 28(1)(d) of the Act is replaced by the following:

(d) that, where a member of the plan retires, ceases to be a member of the plan or dies, or where the whole or part of the plan is terminated, the administrator shall give to that member (or, in the case of termination, each member) and to the member's spouse or common-law partner (and, in the case of the member's death, the member's legal representative) a written statement, in prescribed form, of the member's pension

L'époux ou conjoint de fait que le cédant peut avoir à l'avenir n'a droit à aucune prestation de pension ou autres ni à aucun droit à pension prévus au régime relativement à la partie ainsi cédée.

74. (1) Le passage du paragraphe 26(1) de la version française de la même loi précédant l'alinéa a) est remplacé par ce qui suit :

26. (1) Le participant dont la participation a pris fin avant qu'il n'ait droit à la prestation visée au paragraphe 16(2), ou son survivant, dans le cas où le participant meurt avant d'y avoir droit, peut, s'il informe l'administrateur de son intention, en la forme réglementaire, dans les quatre-vingt-dix jours suivant l'événement en cause, ou si le surintendant accorde un délai supplémentaire au titre de l'alinéa 28(1)d), dans les soixante jours suivant la remise du relevé visé par cet alinéa:

(2) Le passage du paragraphe 26(2) de la version française de la même loi précédant l'alinéa a) est remplacé par ce qui suit :

(2) Le régime de pension peut permettre à un participant ou à son survivant, selon le cas, si, après être devenu admissible à la retraite au titre du paragraphe 16(2) mais avant le début du service de la prestation de pension, le participant meurt ou sa participation à un régime de pension prend fin :

(3) Le passage du paragraphe 26(3) de la version française de la même loi précédant l'alinéa a) est remplacé par ce qui suit :

(3) Le régime de pension peut prévoir que, dans le cas où, à un moment donné, un participant meurt ou sa participation prend fin :

75. L'alinéa 28(1)d) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

d) l'administrateur doit remettre au participant, dans le cas où celui-ci prend sa retraite ou meurt, ou dans le cas où sa participation prend fin, ainsi qu'à son époux ou conjoint de fait et, dans le cas du décès du participant, à ses ayants droit, dans les trente jours de l'événement en cause, ou dans tout délai supplémentaire accordé par le surintendant, un relevé en la forme réglementaire indiquant les prestations de pension et autres 1998, ch. 12, par. 16(1); 2000, ch. 12, al. 264*d*)

Transfert avant l'admissibilité à la retraite

2000, ch. 12, al. 264d)

Admissibilité à la retraite

Autres dispositions optionnelles

2000, ch. 12, al. 263*d*)

benefits and other benefits payable under the plan, within thirty days, or such longer period as the Superintendent may allow, after the date of the retirement, cessation of membership, death or termination, as the case may be.

76. Paragraph 39(c) of the Act is replaced by the following:

(c) prescribing the conditions under which, on the cessation of a member's membership in a pension plan or on the termination or winding-up of a pension plan, pension benefit credits may be held in trust by the administrator of the plan, or transferred to the administrator of another pension plan or to a registered retirement savings plan of the prescribed kind or to the agency referred to in paragraph 6(1)(d);

77. Subsection 42(2) of the Act is replaced by the following:

Limitation

(2) Notwithstanding subsection (1), the Pension Benefits Standards Act and the regulations thereunder continue to apply to persons who have, before January 1, 1987, ceased membership in a pension plan or retired.

R.S., c. P-21

Privacy Act

78. The schedule to the Privacy Act is amended by striking out the following under the heading "Other Government Institutions":

Petroleum Monitoring Agency

Agence de surveillance du secteur pétrolier

R.S., c. P-36

Public Service Superannuation Act

1996, c. 18, s. 33

79. Subsection 40.1(1) of the Public Service Superannuation Act is replaced by the following:

Divestiture of service

40.1 (1) Where Her Majesty in right of Canada transfers or otherwise divests Herself of the administration of a service to any person or body, this Act and the regulations made under this Act apply, in the manner and to the extent provided in any regulations made under paragraph 42.1(1)(u), to any contributor who, prévues par le régime. En cas de cessation totale ou partielle d'un régime, l'administrateur a la même obligation à l'égard de tout participant au régime en cause, de son époux ou conjoint de fait et, en cas de décès du participant, de ses ayants droit.

76. L'alinéa 39c) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

c) prévoir les conditions dans lesquelles les droits à pension peuvent, si la participation du participant prend fin, ou s'il y a cessation ou liquidation d'un régime, être détenus en fiducie par l'administrateur du régime ou transférés à l'administrateur d'un autre régime, à un régime enregistré d'épargneretraite prévu par règlement ou à l'organisme visé à l'alinéa 6(1)d);

77. Le paragraphe 42(2) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

Restriction

(2) Par dérogation au paragraphe (1), la *Loi* sur les normes des prestations de pension et ses règlements d'application continuent de s'appliquer aux personnes dont la participation à un régime de retraite a pris fin ou qui ont pris leur retraite, antérieurement au 1er janvier 1987.

Loi sur la protection des renseignements personnels

L.R., ch. P-21

78. L'annexe de la Loi sur la protection des renseignements personnels est modifiée par suppression, sous l'intertitre « Autres institutions fédérales », de ce qui suit :

Agence de surveillance du secteur pétrolier

Petroleum Monitoring Agency

Loi sur la pension de la fonction publique

L.R., ch. P-36 1996, ch. 18,

79. Le paragraphe 40.1(1) de la Loi sur la pension de la fonction publique est remplacé par ce qui suit :

Cession de

art. 33

40.1 (1) Lorsque Sa Majesté du chef du Canada cède à une personne ou à un organisme l'administration d'un service, la présente loi et ses règlements s'appliquent, selon les modalités et dans la mesure prévues aux règlements pris en application de l'alinéa 42.1(1)u), au contributeur qui, du fait de la

service

C. 34

24

as a result of that transfer or divestiture, ceases to be employed in the Public Service and who, on or after that transfer or divestiture, becomes, directly or through an agent of that person or body, employed by the person or body to whom the service is transferred or divested.

1992, c. 46, s. 21(6)

80. Paragraph 42(1)(pp) of the Act is replaced by the following:

(pp) respecting the amount to be paid into the Superannuation Account or the Public Service Pension Fund by any Public Service corporation or other corporation referred to in section 37;

81. Part II of Schedule I to the Act is amended by striking out the following:

Petroleum Monitoring Agency

Agence de surveillance du secteur pétrolier

R.S., c. W-6

Weights and Measures Act

82. Section 14 of the *Weights and Measures Act* is replaced by the following:

Replacement or restoration of standards 14. If a local standard that is owned by Her Majesty in right of Canada or a reference standard is lost, destroyed, defaced or damaged, the Minister shall take such action as may be necessary to replace or restore the standard.

R.S., c. Y-3

Yukon Placer Mining Act

83. Paragraph 17(2)(g) of the Yukon Placer Mining Act is replaced by the following:

(g) within the boundaries of a city, town or village as defined by any ordinance of the Commissioner in Council, unless under regulations made by the Governor in Council: or

R.S., c. Y-4

Yukon Quartz Mining Act

1996, c. 27, par. 10(1)(*o*)

84. Subsection 43(1) of the *Yukon Quartz Mining Act* is replaced by the following:

Failure to comply with all formalities **43.** (1) Failure on the part of the locator of a mineral claim to comply in every respect with the provisions of this Part does not invalidate the location, if on the facts it

cession, cesse d'être employé dans la fonction publique et, le jour de la cession ou après, devient employé du cessionnaire directement ou par l'entremise du représentant de celui-ci.

80. L'alinéa 42(1)pp) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

1992, ch. 46, par. 21(6)

pp) prévoyant le montant à verser au compte de pension de retraite ou à la Caisse de retraite de la fonction publique par tout organisme de la fonction publique ou autre organisme mentionné à l'article 37;

81. La partie II de l'annexe I de la même loi est modifiée par suppression de ce qui suit :

Agence de surveillance du secteur pétrolier Petroleum Monitoring Agency

Loi sur les poids et mesures

L.R., ch. W-6

82. L'article 14 de la *Loi sur les poids et mesures* est remplacé par ce qui suit :

14. Le ministre est tenu de prendre les mesures nécessaires pour remplacer ou remettre en état, selon le cas, tout étalon local qui appartient à Sa Majesté du chef du Canada, ainsi que tout étalon de référence, qui a été perdu, détruit, altéré ou endommagé.

Remplacement ou remise en état des étalons

Loi sur l'extraction de l'or dans le Yukon

L.R., ch. Y-3

83. L'alinéa 17(2)g) de la *Loi sur l'extraction de l'or dans le Yukon* est remplacé par ce qui suit :

g) ceux compris dans les limites d'une ville ou d'un village, telles qu'elles sont déterminées par une ordonnance du commissaire en conseil, sauf sous le régime de règlements pris par le gouverneur en conseil;

Loi sur l'extraction du quartz dans le Yukon

L.R., ch. Y-4

84. Le paragraphe 43(1) de la *Loi sur l'extraction du quartz dans le Yukon* est remplacé par ce qui suit :

1996, ch. 27, al. 10(1)*o*)

43. (1) L'omission du localisateur d'un claim minier de satisfaire sous tous rapports aux dispositions de la présente partie n'invalide pas cette localisation, si, selon les faits, il

Diligence de la part du localisateur appears to the satisfaction of a mining recorder that the locator has staked out the location as nearly as possible in the required manner, that there has been on the part of the locator an honest attempt to comply with all the provisions of this Part and that the non-observance of any of the requirements of this Part is not likely to mislead other persons who desire to locate claims in the vicinity.

apparaît à la satisfaction du registraire minier que ce localisateur a, autant que possible, jalonné l'emplacement de la manière exigée, qu'il y a eu de sa part une tentative de bonne foi de se conformer à la présente partie, et que l'inobservation de l'une des exigences de la présente partie n'est pas susceptible d'induire en erreur d'autres personnes qui désirent localiser des claims dans les environs.

QUEEN'S PRINTER FOR CANADA © IMPRIMEUR DE LA REINE POUR LE CANADA OTTAWA. 2001

CHAPTER 35

CHAPITRE 35

AN ACT TO AMEND THE AIR CANADA PUBLIC PARTICIPATION ACT

LOI MODIFIANT LA LOI SUR LA PARTICIPATION PUBLIQUE AU CAPITAL D'AIR CANADA

SUMMARY

This enactment amends the Air Canada Public Participation Act to remove the individual shareholder ownership limit on the holding of voting shares of Air Canada by any one person or group of persons acting in concert.

SOMMAIRE

Le texte modifie la *Loi sur la participation publique au capital d'Air Canada* afin de supprimer la limite individuelle applicable aux actions avec droit de vote d'Air Canada que peut détenir une personne ou un groupe de personnes agissant de concert.

49-50 ELIZABETH II

49-50 ELIZABETH II

CHAPTER 35

CHAPITRE 35

An Act to amend the Air Canada Public Participation Act

[Assented to 18th December, 2001]

Loi modifiant la Loi sur la participation publique au capital d'Air Canada

[Sanctionnée le 18 décembre 2001]

Her Majesty, by and with the advice and consent of the Senate and House of Commons of Canada, enacts as follows:

AIR CANADA PUBLIC PARTICIPATION ACT

ment du Sénat et de la Chambre des communes du Canada, édicte :

Sa Majesté, sur l'avis et avec le consente-

R.S., c. 35 (4th Supp.)

AIR CANADA I OBLIC TARTICITATION ACT

LOI SUR LA PARTICIPATION PUBLIQUE AU CAPITAL D'AIR CANADA

L.R., ch. 35 (4e suppl.)

2000, c. 15, s. 17(1)

1. (1) Paragraph 6(1)(a) of the Air Canada Public Participation Act is repealed.

1. (1) L'alinéa 6(1)a) de la Loi sur la participation publique au capital d'Air Canada est abrogé.

par. 17(1)

2000, ch. 15.

1994, c. 24, par. 34(1)(a)(F) (2) Subsection 6(2) of the Act is replaced by the following:

(2) Le paragraphe 6(2) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

1994, ch. 24, al. 34(1)*a*)(F) Mise en vigueur des

restrictions

Enforcement of constraint provisions

(2) The regulations made pursuant to subsection 174(6) of the *Canada Business Corporations Act* apply, with any modifications that the circumstances require, in respect of the Corporation as if the constraints imposed pursuant to paragraph (1)(b) were a constraint referred to in paragraph 174(1)(a) of that Act.

(2) Les règlements d'application du paragraphe 174(6) de la *Loi canadienne sur les sociétés par actions* s'appliquent à la Société, avec les adaptations nécessaires, comme si les restrictions imposées en vertu de l'alinéa (1)*b*) étaient celles visées à l'alinéa 174(1)*a*) de la même loi.

o) a

(3) The portion of subsection 6(3) of the Act before paragraph (a) is replaced by the following:

pur(3) Aucune re
(1)b) ni aucun c

(3) Aucune restriction découlant de l'alinéa (1)b) ni aucun des règlements visés au paragraphe (2) ne s'appliquent aux actions avec droit de vote de la Société détenues :

(3) Le passage du paragraphe 6(3) de la même loi précédant l'alinéa a) est remplacé

Exceptions

(3) No provision imposing constraints pursuant to paragraph (1)(b) and no regulation referred to in subsection (2) apply in respect of voting shares of the Corporation that are held

(4) Subsections 6(4) and (5) of the Act are repealed.

(4) Les paragraphes 6(4) et (5) de la même loi sont abrogés.

Exceptions

C. 3

2

TRANSITIONAL PROVISION

- 2. (1) Any provisions of the articles of the Corporation, as that corporation is defined in the Air Canada Public Participation Act, that impose constraints described in paragraph 6(1)(a) of that Act, and any provisions of the by-laws that give effect to those constraints, are, as of the day on which this Act comes into force, deemed to have no further force or effect.
- (2) The articles of the Corporation may be restated under section 180 of the *Canada Business Corporations Act* as if they had been amended in accordance with subsection (1).

COMING INTO FORCE

Coming into force

3. This Act comes into force on a day to be fixed by order of the Governor in Council made on the recommendation of the Minister of Transport.

DISPOSITION TRANSITOIRE

- 2. (1) Toute disposition des statuts de la Société, au sens de la Loi sur la participation publique au capital d'Air Canada, imposant des restrictions en conformité avec l'alinéa 6(1)a) de cette loi, de même que toute disposition des règlements administratifs donnant effet à ces restrictions, cessent de s'appliquer dès l'entrée en vigueur de la présente loi.
- (2) Les statuts de la Société peuvent, en conformité avec l'article 180 de la *Loi canadienne sur les sociétés par actions*, être mis à jour en conséquence du paragraphe (1).

ENTRÉE EN VIGUEUR

3. La présente loi entre en vigueur à la date fixée par décret pris sur recommandation du ministre des Transports. Entrée en vigueur

QUEEN'S PRINTER FOR CANADA © IMPRIMEUR DE LA REINE POUR LE CANADA OTTAWA, $2001\,$

CHAPTER 36

CHAPITRE 36

AN ACT TO AMEND THE PARLIAMENT OF CANADA ACT (PARLIAMENTARY POET LAUREATE) LOI MODIFIANT LA LOI SUR LE PARLEMENT DU CANADA (POÈTE OFFICIEL DU PARLEMENT)

SUMMARY

This enactment creates the position of Parliamentary Poet Laureate.

SOMMAIRE

Ce texte crée le poste de poète officiel du Parlement.

49-50 ELIZABETH II

49-50 ELIZABETH II

CHAPTER 36

CHAPITRE 36

An Act to amend the Parliament of Canada Act (Parliamentary Poet Laureate)

[Assented to 18th December, 2001]

Loi modifiant la Loi sur le Parlement du Canada (poète officiel du Parlement)

[Sanctionnée le 18 décembre 2001]

Her Majesty, by and with the advice and consent of the Senate and House of Commons of Canada, enacts as follows: Sa Majesté, sur l'avis et avec le consentement du Sénat et de la Chambre des communes du Canada, édicte :

R.S., c. P-1

1. The *Parliament of Canada Act* is amended by adding the following after section 75:

Parliamentary Poet Laureate **75.1** (1) There is hereby established the position of Parliamentary Poet Laureate, the holder of which is an officer of the Library of Parliament.

Selection

- (2) The Speaker of the Senate and the Speaker of the House of Commons, acting together, shall select the Parliamentary Poet Laureate from a list of three names submitted in confidence by a committee chaired by the Parliamentary Librarian and also composed of the National Librarian, the National Archivist of Canada, the Commissioner of Official Languages for Canada and the Chair of the Canada Council.
- (3) The Parliamentary Poet Laureate holds office for a term not exceeding two years, at the pleasure of the Speaker of the Senate and the Speaker of the House of Commons acting together.

1. La *Loi sur le Parlement du Canada* est modifiée par adjonction, après l'article 75,

75.1 (1) Est créé le poste de poète officiel du Parlement, dont le titulaire est membre du personnel de la Bibliothèque du Parlement.

de ce qui suit :

Poète officiel du Parlement

Comité de

sélection

L.R., ch. P-1

- (2) Le président du Sénat et le président de la Chambre des communes, agissant de concert, choisissent le poète officiel du Parlement à partir d'une liste confidentielle de trois noms soumise par un comité présidé par le bibliothécaire parlementaire et composé par ailleurs de l'administrateur général de la Bibliothèque nationale, de l'archiviste national du Canada, du commissaire aux langues officielles du Canada et du président du Conseil des Arts du Canada.
- (3) Le poète officiel du Parlement occupe son poste à titre amovible pour un mandat maximal de deux ans, à la discrétion du président du Sénat et du président de la Chambre des communes agissant de concert.

Mandat

Term

2

Roles and responsibilities

- (4) The Parliamentary Poet Laureate may
- (a) write poetry, especially for use in Parliament on occasions of state;
- (b) sponsor poetry readings;
- (c) give advice to the Parliamentary Librarian regarding the collection of the Library and acquisitions to enrich its cultural holdings; and
- (d) perform such other related duties as are requested by either Speaker or the Parliamentary Librarian.

- (4) Le poète officiel du Parlement peut :
- Rôle et attribution
- a) rédiger des oeuvres de poésie, notamment aux fins des cérémonies officielles du Parlement:
- b) parrainer des séances de lecture de poésie;
- c) conseiller le bibliothécaire parlementaire sur la collection de la Bibliothèque et les acquisitions propres à enrichir celle-ci dans le domaine de la culture;
- d) assurer des fonctions connexes à la demande du président du Sénat ou de la Chambre des communes ou du bibliothécaire parlementaire.

QUEEN'S PRINTER FOR CANADA © IMPRIMEUR DE LA REINE POUR LE CANADA OTTAWA, 2001

CHAPTER 37

CHAPITRE 37

AN ACT TO AMEND THE CRIMINAL CODE (ALCOHOL IGNITION INTERLOCK DEVICE PROGRAMS)

LOI MODIFIANT LE CODE CRIMINEL (PROGRAMME D'UTILISATION D'ANTIDÉMARREURS AVEC ÉTHYLOMÈTRE)

SUMMARY

This enactment amends the *Criminal Code* to allow the court to authorize repeat offenders subject to driving prohibition orders to drive, if they register in a provincial alcohol ignition interlock device program. The enactment provides that no authorization has effect until a minimum period of prohibition has been completed of 3, 6 or 12 months for a first, second or subsequent offence, respectively.

Sommaire

Le texte modifie le *Code criminel* afin d'habiliter le tribunal à accorder aux contrevenants récidivistes assujettis à une interdiction de conduire la permission de conduire s'ils s'inscrivent à un programme provincial d'utilisation d'antidémarreurs avec éthylomètre. Il prévoit qu'une telle permission ne peut prendre effet qu'après une période minimale d'interdiction de conduire de trois mois pour la première infraction, de six mois pour la deuxième infraction et de douze mois pour chaque infraction subséquente.

49-50 ELIZABETH II

49-50 ELIZABETH II

CHAPTER 37

CHAPITRE 37

An Act to amend the Criminal Code (alcohol ignition interlock device programs)

[Assented to 18th December, 2001]

d'utilisation d'antidémarreurs avec éthylomètre)

[Sanctionnée le 18 décembre 2001]

Loi modifiant le Code criminel (programme

R.S., c. C-46

Her Majesty, by and with the advice and consent of the Senate and House of Commons of Canada, enacts as follows:

Sa Majesté, sur l'avis et avec le consentement du Sénat et de la Chambre des communes du Canada, édicte : L.R., ch. C-46

1999, ch. 32,

reurs avec éthylomètre

1999, c. 32, s. 5(1)

1. Subsection 259(1.1) of the *Criminal Code* is replaced by the following:

Alcohol ignition interlock device program (1.1) In making the order, the court may authorize the offender to operate a motor vehicle equipped with an alcohol ignition interlock device during the prohibition period if the offender registers in an alcohol ignition interlock device program established under the law of the province in which the offender resides.

Minimum absolute prohibition period

- (1.2) The authorization has no effect until the expiry of a period fixed by the court
 - (a) of at least 3 months, for a first offence;
 - (b) of at least 6 months, for a second offence; and
 - (c) of at least 12 months, for each subsequent offence.

Change of province of residence

(1.3) The authorization applies to an offender who becomes resident in another province and registers in a program referred to in subsection (1.1) in that province.

1. Le paragraphe 259(1.1) du *Code crimi*nel est remplacé par ce qui suit :

par. 5(1)

par. 5(1)

par. 5(1)

par. 4(1)

par. 5(1)

par. 5(1)

- (1.1) Dans son ordonnance, le tribunal peut accorder au contrevenant la permission de conduire, durant la période d'interdiction, un véhicule à moteur équipé d'un antidémarreur avec éthylomètre si ce dernier s'inscrit à un programme d'utilisation d'antidémarreurs avec éthylomètre institué sous le régime juridique de la province où il réside.
- (1.2) La permission ne peut prendre effet qu'après la période fixée par le tribunal, qui ne peut être inférieure à :

Période minimale d'interdiction

- a) trois mois, pour la première infraction;
- b) six mois, pour la deuxième infraction;
- c) douze mois, pour chaque infraction subséquente.
- (1.3) La permission s'applique au contrevenant qui devient résident d'une autre province s'il s'inscrit à un tel programme dans cette province.

Changement de résidence Authorization suspended

- (1.4) The authorization has no effect during any period that the offender is not registered in a program referred to in subsection (1.1).
- (1.4) La permission est sans effet durant toute période où le contrevenant n'est pas inscrit à un tel programme.

Permission sans effet

QUEEN'S PRINTER FOR CANADA © IMPRIMEUR DE LA REINE POUR LE CANADA OTTAWA, 2001

CHAPTER 38

CHAPITRE 38

AN ACT TO AMEND THE AERONAUTICS ACT

LOI MODIFIANT LA LOI SUR L'AÉRONAUTIQUE

49-50 ELIZABETH II

49-50 ELIZABETH II

CHAPTER 38

CHAPITRE 38

An Act to amend the Aeronautics Act

Loi modifiant la Loi sur l'aéronautique

[Assented to 18th December, 2001]

[Sanctionnée le 18 décembre 2001]

Sa Majesté, sur l'avis et avec le consente-

Her Majesty, by and with the advice and consent of the Senate and House of Commons of Canada, enacts as follows:

ment du Sénat et de la Chambre des communes du Canada, édicte:

R.S., c. A-2

1. The Aeronautics Act is amended by adding the following after section 4.8:

1. La Loi sur l'aéronautique est modifiée par adjonction, après l'article 4.8, de ce qui

Foreign states requiring information

4.83 (1) Despite section 5 of the *Personal* Information Protection and Electronic Documents Act, to the extent that that section relates to obligations set out in Schedule 1 to that Act relating to the disclosure of information, an operator of an aircraft departing from Canada or of a Canadian aircraft departing from any place outside Canada may, in accordance with the regulations, provide to a competent authority in a foreign state any information that is in its control relating to persons on board or expected to be on board the aircraft and that is required by the laws of the foreign state.

4.83 (1) Par dérogation à l'article 5 de la Loi sur la protection des renseignements personnels et les documents électroniques, dans la mesure où celui-ci a trait aux obligations énoncées dans l'annexe 1 de cette loi relativement à la communication de renseignements, l'utilisateur d'un aéronef en partance du Canada ou d'un aéronef canadien en partance de l'étranger peut, conformément aux règlements, communiquer à l'autorité compétente de tout État étranger les renseignements sous son contrôle exigés par la législation de cet État relativement à toute personne qui est ou sera vraisemblablement à bord de l'aéronef.

Restriction government institutions

- (2) No information provided under subsection (1) to a competent authority in a foreign state may be collected from that foreign state by a government institution, within the meaning of section 3 of the *Privacy Act*, unless it is collected for the purpose of protecting national security or public safety or for the purpose of defence, and any such information collected by the government institution may be used or disclosed by it only for one or more of those purposes.
- (2) Une institution fédérale, au sens de l'article 3 de la Loi sur la protection des renseignements personnels, ne peut recueillir d'un État étranger des renseignements fournis à une autorité compétente de celui-ci en vertu du paragraphe (1), sauf à des fins de protection de la sécurité nationale ou de la sécurité publique ou à des fins de défense; elle ne peut utiliser ou communiquer les renseignements ainsi recueillis qu'à l'une ou plusieurs de ces

Regulations

- (3) The Governor in Council may make regulations generally for carrying out the purposes of this section, including regulations
- a) régissant le genre ou les catégories de renseignements qui peuvent être communiqués;

(3) Le gouverneur en conseil peut prendre

des règlements pour l'application du présent

article, notamment des règlements :

(a) respecting the type or classes of information that may be provided; or

L.R., ch. A-2

Demande de renseignements par des États étrangers

institutions fédérales

Règlements

- (b) specifying the foreign states to which information may be provided.
- b) précisant les États étrangers à qui les renseignements peuvent être communiqués.

QUEEN'S PRINTER FOR CANADA © IMPRIMEUR DE LA REINE POUR LE CANADA OTTAWA, $2001\,$

49-50 ELIZABETH II

49-50 ELIZABETH II

CHAPTER 39

CHAPITRE 39

An Act for granting to Her Majesty certain sums of money for the public service of Canada for the financial year ending March 31, 2002

[Assented to 18th December, 2001]

MOST GRACIOUS SOVEREIGN,

Preamble

Whereas it appears by message from Her Excellency the Right Honourable Adrienne Clarkson, Governor General of Canada, and the Estimates accompanying that message, that the sums mentioned below are required to defray certain expenses of the public service of Canada, not otherwise provided for, for the financial year ending March 31, 2002, and for other purposes connected with the public service of Canada;

May it therefore please Your Majesty, that it may be enacted, and be it enacted by the Queen's Most Excellent Majesty, by and with the advice and consent of the Senate and House of Commons of Canada, that:

Short title

1. This Act may be cited as the *Appropriation Act No. 3, 2001-2002.*

\$4,829,997,679.00 granted for 2001-2002

2. From and out of the Consolidated Revenue Fund, there may be paid and applied a sum not exceeding in the whole four billion, eight hundred and twenty-nine million, nine hundred and ninety-seven thousand, six hundred and seventy-nine dollars towards defraying the several charges and expenses of the public service of Canada from April 1, 2001 to March 31, 2002, not otherwise provided for, and being the total of the amounts of the items set out in the Supplementary Estimates (A) for the fiscal year ending March 31, 2002, as contained in Schedules 1 and 2 Act.....\$4,829,997,679.00

Loi portant octroi à Sa Majesté de crédits pour l'administration publique fédérale pendant l'exercice se terminant le 31 mars 2002

[Sanctionnée le 18 décembre 2001]

TRÈS GRACIEUSE SOUVERAINE,

Attendu qu'il est nécessaire, comme l'indiquent le message de Son Excellence la très honorable Adrienne Clarkson, gouverneure générale du Canada, et le budget des dépenses qui y est joint, d'allouer les crédits ci-dessous précisés pour couvrir certaines dépenses de l'administration publique fédérale faites au cours de l'exercice se terminant le 31mars 2002 et auxquelles il n'est pas pourvu par ailleurs, ainsi qu'à d'autres fins d'administration publique,

Il est respectueusement demandé à Votre Majesté de bien vouloir édicter, sur l'avis et avec le consentement du Sénat et de la Chambre des communes du Canada, ce qui suit :

- 1. Titre abrégé : Loi de crédits nº 3 pour 2001-2002.

Préambule

Titre abrégé

4 829 997 679,00 \$ accordés pour 2001-2002 Purpose and effect of each item

2

3. (1) The amount authorized by this Act to be paid or applied in respect of an item may be paid or applied only for the purposes and subject to any terms and conditions specified in the item, and the payment or application of any amount pursuant to the item has such operation and effect as may be stated or described in the item.

Appropriation Act No. 3, 2001-2002

3. (1) Les crédits autorisés par la présente loi ne peuvent être affectés qu'aux fins et conditions énoncées dans le poste afférent, leur effet restant subordonné aux indications de celui-ci.

Objet et effet de chaque poste

Effective date

(2) The provisions of each item in Schedules 1 and 2 are deemed to have been enacted by Parliament on April 1, 2001.

Commitments

4. (1) Where an item in the Estimates referred to in section 2 purports to confer authority to enter into commitments up to an amount stated in the Estimates or increases the amount up to which commitments may be entered into under any other Act or where a commitment is to be entered into under subsection (2), the commitment may be entered into in accordance with the terms of that item or in accordance with subsection (2) if the amount of the commitment proposed to be entered into, together with all previous commitments entered into in accordance with this section or under that other Act, does not exceed the total amount of the commitment authority stated in that item or calculated in accordance with subsection (2).

(2) Les dispositions des postes figurant aux annexes 1 et 2 sont réputées avoir été

4. (1) Tout engagement découlant d'un poste

édictées par le Parlement le 1^{er} avril 2001.

Prise d'effet

du budget mentionné à l'article 2 ou fondé sur le paragraphe (2) – soit censément en ce qui touche l'autorisation correspondante à hauteur du montant qui y est précisé, soit en ce qui concerne l'augmentation du plafond permis sous le régime d'une autre loi – peut être pris conformément aux indications du poste ou à ce paragraphe, pourvu que le total de l'engagement et de ceux qui ont déjà été pris au titre du présent article ou de l'autre loi n'excède pas le plafond fixé par l'autorisation d'engagement à propos de ce poste ou calculé conformément au même

paragraphe.

Engagements

Commitments

- (2) Where an item in the Estimates referred to in section 2 or a provision of any Act purports to confer authority to spend revenues, commitments may be entered into in accordance with the terms of that item or provision up to an amount equal to the aggregate of
 - (a) the amount, if any, appropriated in respect of that item or provision, and
 - (b) the amount of revenues actually received or, in the case of an item in the Estimates, the estimated revenues set out in the details related to the item, whichever is greater.
- (2) Lorsque l'autorisation de procéder à des dépenses sur des recettes est censée découler d'un poste du budget mentionné à l'article 2 ou de toute autre disposition législative, le plafond des engagements pouvant être pris conformément aux indications de l'un ou l'autre est le chiffre obtenu par l'addition des éléments suivants :
 - *a*) le montant éventuellement voté à l'égard de ce poste ou de cette disposition;
 - b) le montant des recettes effectives ou, s'il est supérieur, celui des recettes estimatives correspondant à un poste de ce budget.

Engagements

ch. 39

3

Appropriation charged to the fiscal year ending March 31, 2002

5. An appropriation that is granted by this or any other Act and referred to in Schedule 1 may be charged after the end of the fiscal year for which the appropriation is granted at any time prior to the day on which the Public Accounts for that fiscal year are tabled in Parliament, for the purpose of making adjustments in the Accounts of Canada for the fiscal year that do not require payments out of the Consolidated Revenue Fund.

Appropriation charged to the following fiscal year ending March 31 6. (1) An appropriation that is granted by this or any other Act and referred to in Schedule 2 may be charged after the end of the fiscal year that is after the fiscal year for which the appropriation is granted at any time prior to the day on which the Public Accounts for that second fiscal year are tabled in Parliament, for the purpose of making adjustments in the Accounts of Canada for that second fiscal year that do not require payments out of the Consolidated Revenue Fund.

Amounts chargeable to the following fiscal year ending March 31

(2) Notwithstanding any other provision of this Act, amounts appropriated by this Act and set out in items of Schedule 2 may be paid and applied at any time on or before March 31, 2003, so long as every payment is charged first against the relevant amount appropriated under any Act that is earliest in time until that amount is exhausted, next against the relevant amount appropriated under any other Act, including this Act, that is next in time until that amount is exhausted and so on, and the balance of amounts so appropriated by this Act that have not been charged, subject to the adjustments referred to in section 37 of the Financial Administration Act, lapse at the end of the fiscal year following the fiscal year ending March 31, 2002.

Accounts to be rendered R.S., c. F-11 **7.** Amounts paid or applied under the authority of this Act shall be accounted for in the Public Accounts in accordance with section 64 of the *Financial Administration Act*.

- 5. En vue d'apporter aux Comptes du Canada pour un exercice donné des rectifications qui n'entraînent aucun prélèvement sur le Trésor, il est possible d'inscrire un crédit découlant de la présente loi ou de toute autre loi et prévu à l'annexe 1 après la clôture de l'exercice pour lequel il est attribué, mais avant le dépôt au Parlement des Comptes publics afférents à cet exercice.
- 6. (1) En vue d'apporter aux Comptes du Canada pour un exercice donné des rectifications qui n'entraînent aucun prélèvement sur le Trésor, il est possible d'inscrire un crédit découlant de la présente loi ou de toute autre loi et prévu à l'annexe 2 après la clôture de l'exercice suivant celui pour lequel il est attribué, mais avant le dépôt au Parlement des Comptes publics afférents à ce dernier exercice.
- (2) Par dérogation aux autres dispositions de la présente loi, les sommes affectées par celle-ci, telles qu'énoncées à l'annexe 2, peuvent être appliquées au plus tard le 31 mars 2003. Chaque paiement est imputé, selon l'ordre chronologique de l'affectation, d'abord sur la somme correspondante affectée en vertu de n'importe quelle loi jusqu'à épuisement de cette somme, puis sur la somme correspondante affectée en vertu de toute autre loi, y compris la présente loi, jusqu'à épuisement de cette somme. La partie non utilisée des sommes ainsi affectées par la présente loi est, sous réserve des rapprochements visés à l'article 37 de la Loi sur la gestion des finances publiques, annulée à la fin de l'exercice qui suit l'exercice se terminant le 31 mars 2002.
- 7. Les montants versés ou affectés sous le régime de la présente loi sont inscrits dans les Comptes publics, conformément à l'article 64 de la *Loi sur la gestion des finances publiques*.

Imputation pour rectification à l'exercice se terminant le 31 mars 2002

Imputation pour rectification à l'exercice suivant se terminant le 31 mars

Montants imputables sur l'exercice suivant se terminant le 31 mars

Comptes à rendre L.R., ch. F-11

SCHEDULE 1

Based on the Supplementary Estimates (A) 2001-2002, the amount hereby granted is \$4,484,236,584, being the total of the amounts of the items in those Estimates as contained in this Schedule.

Sums granted to Her Majesty by this Act for the financial year ending March 31, 2002 and the purposes for which they are granted.

Vote No.	Service	Amount (\$)	Total (\$)
	AGRICULTURE AND AGRI-FOOD AGRICULTURE ET AGROALIMENTAIRE		
	DEPARTMENT		
1a 5a 10a	Agriculture and Agri-Food – Operating expenditures Agriculture and Agri-Food – Capital expenditures. Agriculture and Agri-Food – Contributions.	62,092,007 11,924,923 589,368,913	
			663,385,843
	CANADIAN FOOD INSPECTION AGENCY		
25a 30a	Canadian Food Inspection Agency – Operating expenditures and contributions Canadian Food Inspection Agency – Capital expenditures	85,799,894 10,748,806	
			96,548,700
	CANADIAN HERITAGE PATRIMOINE CANADIEN		
	DEPARTMENT		
1a 5a	Canadian Heritage – Operating expenditures Canadian Heritage – The grants listed in the Estimates and contributions	29,319,978 39,799,262	
			69,119,240
	CANADA COUNCIL		
15a	Payments to the Canada Council under section 18 of the <i>Canada Council Act</i> , to be used for the furtherance of the objects set out in section 8 of that Act		25,900,000
	CANADIAN BROADCASTING CORPORATION		
20a	Payments to the Canadian Broadcasting Corporation for operating expenditures in providing a broadcasting service		62,500,000
	CANADIAN MUSEUM OF NATURE		
45a	Payments to the Canadian Museum of Nature for operating and capital expenditures		2,135,000

ANNEXE 1

D'après le Budget supplémentaire des dépenses (A) de 2001-2002, le montant accordé est de 4 484 236 584 \$, soit le total des montants des postes de ce budget figurant à la présente annexe.

Sommes accordées par la présente loi à Sa Majesté pour l'exercice se terminant le 31 mars 2002 et fins auxquelles elles sont accordées.

N° du crédit	Service	Montant (\$)	Total (\$)
credit	Service	Montant (\$)	Total (\$)
	AFFAIRES ÉTRANGÈRES ET COMMERCE INTERNATIONAL FOREIGN AFFAIRS AND INTERNATIONAL TRADE		
	MINISTÈRE		
1a 5a 10a	Affaires étrangères et Commerce international – Dépenses de fonctionnement	60 247 351 45 419 744	
	dépenses et contributions	107 743 160	213 410 255
	AGENCE CANADIENNE DE DÉVELOPPEMENT INTERNATIONAL		
20a 25a	Agence canadienne de développement international – Dépenses de fonctionnement	6 171 577	
23a	Agence canadienne de développement international – Subventions inscrites au Budget des dépenses	45 264 380	
			51 435 957
	SOCIÉTÉ POUR L'EXPANSION DES EXPORTATIONS		
36a	Société pour l'expansion des exportations – Paiement d'indemnisation pour les obligations contractées par le gouvernement et transférées à la Société concernant les employés de la Société pour l'expansion des exportations qui ont contribué au Compte de prestations de		2 000 000
	décès de la fonction publique		2 000 000
	CENTRE DE RECHERCHES POUR LE DÉVELOPPEMENT INTERNATIONAL		
40a	Versements au Centre de recherches pour le développement international		10 357 000
	COMMISSION MIXTE INTERNATIONALE		
45a	Commission mixte internationale – Dépenses du Programme		696 047

CANADIAN HERITAGE – Continued PATRIMOINE CANADIEN (suite) CANADIAN RADIO-TELEVISION AND TELECOMMUNICATIONS COMMISSION 50a Canadian Radio-television and Telecommunications Commission – Program expenditures.	
CANADIAN RADIO-TELEVISION AND TELECOMMUNICATIONS COMMISSION Canadian Radio-television and Telecommunications Commission – Program expenditures.	
COMMISSION Canadian Radio-television and Telecommunications Commission – Program expenditures	
	166,341
NATIONAL ARCHIVES OF CANADA	
55a National Archives of Canada – Program expenditures	2,589,223
NATIONAL BATTLEFIELDS COMMISSION	
65a National Battlefields Commission – Program expenditures	1,564,750
NATIONAL CAPITAL COMMISSION	
Payment to the National Capital Commission for operating expenditures – To authorize the transfer of \$1,107,000 from Canadian Heritage Vote 80, <i>Appropriation Act No. 2</i> , 2001-2002 for the purposes of this Vote and to provide a further amount of	
Payment to the National Capital Commission for capital expenditures	14,560,000
NATIONAL FILM BOARD	
85a National Film Board Revolving Fund – Operating loss	4,217,350
NATIONAL GALLERY OF CANADA	
90a Payments to the National Gallery of Canada for operating and capital expenditures	2,065,000
NATIONAL LIBRARY	
100a National Library – Program expenditures	4,895,502
PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION	
120a Public Service Commission – Program expenditures	10,439,880

Nº du crédit	Service	Montant (\$)	Total (\$)
	AFFAIRES INDIENNES ET DU NORD CANADIEN INDIAN AFFAIRS AND NORTHERN DEVELOPMENT		
	MINISTÈRE		
	PROGRAMME D'ADMINISTRATION		
1a	Administration – Dépenses du Programme	27 080 237	
5a 15a L20a	Affaires indiennes et inuites – Dépenses de fonctionnement	30 305 443 37 184 447 6 000 000	
	PROGRAMME DES AFFAIRES DU NORD		
35a 40a 45a	Affaires du Nord – Dépenses de fonctionnement	30 300 174 9 650 501	
	Affaires indiennes et du Nord canadien et la Société canadienne des postes dans le but de fournir le service aérien omnibus de colis destinés au Nord	8 000 000	148 520 802
	COMMISSION CANADIENNE DES AFFAIRES POLAIRES		
50a	Commission canadienne des affaires polaires – Dépenses du Programme		41 642
	AGRICULTURE ET AGROALIMENTAIRE AGRICULTURE AND AGRI-FOOD		
	MINISTÈRE		
1a 5a 10a	Agriculture et Agroalimentaire – Dépenses de fonctionnement Agriculture et Agroalimentaire – Dépenses en capital Agriculture et Agroalimentaire – Contributions	62 092 007 11 924 923 589 368 913	663 385 843
	AGENCE CANADIENNE D'INSPECTION DES ALIMENTS		
25a 30a	Agence canadienne d'inspection des aliments – Dépenses de fonctionnement et contributions Agence canadienne d'inspection des aliments – Dépenses en capital	85 799 894 10 748 806	
			96 548 700

Vote No.	Service	Amount (\$)	Total (\$)
125a	CANADIAN HERITAGE – Concluded PATRIMOINE CANADIEN (fin) STATUS OF WOMEN – OFFICE OF THE CO-ORDINATOR Status of Women – Office of the Co-ordinator – Operating expenditures		344,062
1a 5a 10a	CITOYENNETÉ ET IMMIGRATION DEPARTMENT Citizenship and Immigration – Operating expenditures Citizenship and Immigration – Capital expenditures Citizenship and Immigration – Contributions	87,846,838 1,765,000 472,833	90,084,671
15a	IMMIGRATION AND REFUGEE BOARD OF CANADA Immigration and Refugee Board of Canada – Program expenditures ENVIRONMENT ENVIRONMENT		8,966,050
1a 5a 10a	DEPARTMENT Environment – Operating expenditures Environment – Capital expenditures Environment – The grants listed in the Estimates and contributions	76,981,074 8,053,000 60,050,603	145,084,677
15a	CANADIAN ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT AGENCY Canadian Environmental Assessment Agency – Program expenditures		1,845,700

Nº du crédit	Service	Montant (\$)	Total (\$)
	ANCIENS COMBATTANTS VETERANS AFFAIRS PROGRAMME DES ANCIENS COMBATTANTS		
1a	Anciens combattants – Dépenses de fonctionnement – Pour autoriser le virement au présent crédit de 588 100 \$ du crédit 10 (Anciens combattants) de la <i>Loi de crédits nº 2 pour 2001-2002</i> et pour prévoir un montant supplémentaire de		77 008 431
	CITOYENNETÉ ET IMMIGRATION CITIZENSHIP AND IMMIGRATION		
	MINISTÈRE		
1a 5a 10a	Citoyenneté et Immigration – Dépenses de fonctionnement Citoyenneté et Immigration – Dépenses en capital Citoyenneté et Immigration – Contributions.	87 846 838 1 765 000 472 833	
			90 084 671
	COMMISSION DE L'IMMIGRATION ET DU STATUT DE RÉFUGIÉ DU CANADA		
15a	Commission de l'immigration et du statut de réfugié du Canada – Dépenses du Programme		8 966 050
	CONSEIL DU TRÉSOR TREASURY BOARD		
	SECRÉTARIAT		
1a 2a 10a 15a	Secrétariat du Conseil du Trésor – Dépenses de fonctionnement	59 550 883 1 786 702 26 367 049	
20a	publique y compris les membres de la GRC et des Forces canadiennes	382 281 000	
	l'assurance-emploi	5 084 000	475 069 634

Vote			
No.	Service	Amount (\$)	Total (\$)
	FINANCE FINANCES		
	DEPARTMENT		
	ECONOMIC, SOCIAL AND FINANCIAL POLICIES PROGRAM		
1a	Economic, Social and Financial Policies – Operating expenditures and authority to expend revenue received during the fiscal year	13,027,250	
2a	Forgiveness of certain debts and obligations due to Her Majesty in right of Canada amounting to \$17,900,000 owed by the Government of Jamaica	17,900,000	
3a	Forgiveness of certain debts and obligations due to Her Majesty in right of Canada amounting to \$4,900,000 owned by the Republics of Zambia, Madagascar and Cameroon	4,900,000	
	FEDERAL-PROVINCIAL TRANSFERS PROGRAM		
15a	Federal-Provincial Transfers – Transfer Payments to the Territorial Governments – Payments to the Government of each of the territories calculated in accordance with agreements, approved by the Governor in Council, entered into by the Minister of Finance and the respective territorial Minister of Finance; and authority to make interim payments for the current fiscal year to the Government of each of the territories prior to the signing of each such agreement, the total amount payable under each such agreement being reduced by the aggregate of interim payments made to the respective territorial		
	government in the current fiscal year	25,000,000	
			60,827,250
	AUDITOR GENERAL		
20a	Auditor General – Program expenditures		7,733,100
	CANADIAN INTERNATIONAL TRADE TRIBUNAL		
25a	Canadian International Trade Tribunal – Program expenditures		371,900
	FINANCIAL TRANSACTIONS AND REPORTS ANALYSIS CENTRE OF CANADA		
30a	Financial Transactions and Reports Analysis Centre of Canada – Program expenditures		3,331,524
	FISHERIES AND OCEANS PÊCHES ET OCÉANS		
1a 5a 10a	Fisheries and Oceans – Operating expenditures	86,901,249 7,946,677 128,560,140	
104	The grants used in the Estimates and contributions	120,300,140	223,408,066

N° du crédit	Service	Montant (\$)	Total (\$)
	CONSEIL PRIVÉ PRIVY COUNCIL		
	MINISTÈRE		
1a	Conseil privé – Dépenses du Programme		14 962 249
	CENTRE CANADIEN DE GESTION		
5a	Centre canadien de gestion – Dépenses du Programme		3 744 012
	SECRÉTARIAT DES CONFÉRENCES INTERGOUVERNEMENTALES CANADIENNES		
10a	Secrétariat des conférences intergouvernementales canadiennes – Dépenses du Programme		668 150
	BUREAU CANADIEN D'ENQUÊTE SUR LES ACCIDENTS DE TRANSPORT ET DE LA SÉCURITÉ DES TRANSPORTS		
15a	Bureau canadien d'enquête sur les accidents de transport et de la sécurité des transports – Dépenses du Programme		479 990
	COMMISSAIRE AUX LANGUES OFFICIELLES		
25a	Commissaire aux langues officielles – Dépenses du Programme		3 083 766
	BUREAU DU CANADA POUR LE MILLÉNAIRE		
30a 35a	Bureau du Canada pour le millénaire – Dépenses de fonctionnement	1 852 871 7 880 282	
			9 733 153
	BUREAU DU CANADA SUR LE RÈGLEMENT DES QUESTIONS DES PENSIONNATS AUTOCHTONES		
41a	Bureau du Canada sur le règlement des questions des pensionnats autochtones – Dépenses du programme, subventions inscrites au Budget des dépenses et contributions		52 995 602
	COMMISSION DES RELATIONS DE TRAVAIL DANS LA FONCTION PUBLIQUE		
45a	Commission des relations de travail dans la fonction publique – Dépenses du Programme		257 100

Vote			
No.	Service	Amount (\$)	Total (\$)
	FOREIGN AFFAIRS AND INTERNATIONAL TRADE AFFAIRES ÉTRANGÈRES ET COMMERCE INTERNATIONAL		
	DEPARTMENT		
1a 5a 10a	Foreign Affairs and International Trade – Operating expenditures	60,247,351 45,419,744 107,743,160	213,410,255
	CANADIAN INTERNATIONAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY		,
20a 25a	Canadian International Development Agency – Operating expenditures	6,171,577 45,264,380	51,435,957
	EXPORT DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION		31,433,737
36a	Export Development Corporation – Payment to compensate for transferred liabilities to the Corporation from the government in respect of Export Development Corporation employees who have contributed to the Public Service Death Benefit Account		2,000,000
	INTERNATIONAL DEVELOPMENT RESEARCH CENTRE		
40a	Payments to the International Development Research Centre		10,357,000
	INTERNATIONAL JOINT COMMISSION		
45a	International Joint Commission – Program expenditures		696,047
	GOVERNOR GENERAL GOUVERNEUR GÉNÉRAL		
1a	Governor General – Program expenditures		1,246,072
	HEALTH SANTÉ		
	DEPARTMENT		
1a 5a	Health – Operating expenditures Health – The grants listed in the Estimates and contributions	159,227,254 87,118,385	
			246,345,639

Nº du crédit	Service	Montant (\$)	Total (\$)
	DÉFENSE NATIONALE NATIONAL DEFENCE		
	MINISTÈRE		
1a 5a 10a	Défense nationale – Dépenses de fonctionnement	199 415 209 1 223 606 1	200 (29 91)
	DÉVELOPPEMENT DES RESSOURCES HUMAINES HUMAN RESOURCES DEVELOPMENT		200 638 816
	MINISTÈRE		
1a 5a 6a	Développement des ressources humaines – Dépenses de fonctionnement et autorisation d'effectuer des dépenses recouvrables au titre du Compte du Régime de pensions du Canada et du Compte d'assurance-emploi – Pour autoriser le virement au présent crédit de 47 551 251 \$ du crédit 5 (Développement des ressources humaines) de la <i>Loi de crédits nº 2 pour 2001-2002</i> Développement des ressources humaines – Subventions inscrites au Budget des dépenses Développement des ressources humaines – Conformément à l'article 25 de la <i>Loi sur la</i>	1 1	
	gestion des finances publiques, rembourser le Compte des rentes sur l'État à l'égard de 187 paiements en trop tirés sur le Compte ainsi que les intérêts, pour un montant total de 24 810,54 \$ — Pour autoriser le virement au présent crédit de 24 810 \$ du crédit 5 (Développement des ressources humaines) de la <i>Loi de crédits nº 2 pour 2001-2002</i>	1	3
	CONSEIL CANADIEN DES RELATIONS INDUSTRIELLES		, and the second
10a	Conseil canadien des relations industrielles – Dépenses du Programme		1 474 343
	CENTRE CANADIEN D'HYGIÈNE ET DE SÉCURITÉ AU TRAVAIL		
20a	Centre canadien d'hygiène et de sécurité au travail – Dépenses du Programme		248 864
	ENVIRONNEMENT ENVIRONMENT		
	MINISTÈRE		
1a 5a 10a	Environnement – Dépenses de fonctionnement	76 981 074 8 053 000 60 050 603	145 084 677
			145 004 077

Vote No.	Service	Amount (\$)	Total (\$)
	HEALTH – Concluded SANTÉ (suite et fin)		
	CANADIAN INSTITUTES OF HEALTH RESEARCH		
10a 15a	Canadian Institutes of Health Research – Operating expenditures	13,215,700 109,832,333	123,048,033
	HAZARDOUS MATERIALS INFORMATION REVIEW COMMISSION		
20a	Hazardous Materials Information Review Commission – Program expenditures		178,810
	HUMAN RESOURCES DEVELOPMENT DÉVELOPPEMENT DES RESSOURCES HUMAINES		
	DEPARTMENT		
1a 5a 6a	Human Resources Development – Operating expenditures and authority to make recoverable expenditures on behalf of the Canada Pension Plan Account and the Employment Insurance Account – To authorize the transfer of \$47,551,251 from Human Resources Development Vote 5, <i>Appropriation Act No. 2, 2001-2002</i> for the purposes of this Vote Human Resources Development – The grants listed in the Estimates	1	
	Vote 5, Appropriation Act No. 2, 2001-2002 for the purposes of this Vote	1	3
	CANADA INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS BOARD		
10a	Canada Industrial Relations Board – Program expenditures		1,474,343
	CANADIAN CENTRE FOR OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY		
20a	Canadian Centre for Occupational Health and Safety – Program expenditures		248,864

N° du crédit	Service	Montant (\$)	Total (\$)
	ENVIRONNEMENT (suite et fin) ENVIRONMENT – Concluded		
	AGENCE CANADIENNE D'ÉVALUATION ENVIRONNEMENTALE		
15a	Agence canadienne d'évaluation environnementale – Dépenses du Programme		1 845 700
	FINANCES FINANCE		
	MINISTÈRE		
1a	PROGRAMME DES POLITIQUES ÉCONOMIQUES, SOCIALES ET FINANCIÈRES Politiques économiques, sociales et financières — Dépenses de fonctionnement et autorisation de dépenser les recettes de l'exercice	13 027 250	
2a	Radier certaines créances dues à Sa Majesté du chef du Canada s'élevant au total à 17 900 000 \$ par le gouvernement de la Jamaïque	17 900 000	
3a	Radier certaines créances dues à Sa Majesté du chef du Canada s'élevant au total à 4 900 000 \$ par les Républiques de Zambie, de Madagascar et du Cameroun	4 900 000	
	PROGRAMME FÉDÉRAL DE TRANSFERTS AUX PROVINCES		
15a	Transferts fédéraux aux provinces – Paiements de transfert aux gouvernements territoriaux – Paiements au gouvernement de chaque territoire calculés conformément aux accords conclus par le ministre des Finances, avec l'approbation du gouverneur en conseil, et le ministre des Finances du territoire concerné; et autorisation de paiements provisoires pour l'exercice en cours au gouvernement de chaque territoire avant la signature d'un tel accord, le montant total payable en vertu de l'accord devant être réduit du total des		
	paiements provisoires au gouvernement territorial concerné pour l'exercice en cours	25 000 000	60 827 250
	VÉRIFICATEUR GÉNÉRAL		
20a	Vérificateur général – Dépenses du Programme		7 733 100
	TRIBUNAL CANADIEN DU COMMERCE EXTÉRIEUR		
25a	Tribunal canadien du commerce extérieur – Dépenses du Programme		371 900
	CENTRE D'ANALYSE DES OPÉRATIONS ET DÉCLARATIONS FINANCIÈRES DU CANADA		
30a	Centre d'analyse des opérations et déclarations financières du Canada – Dépenses de fonctionnement		3 331 524

Vote			
No.	Service	Amount (\$)	Total (\$)
	INDIAN AFFAIRS AND NORTHERN DEVELOPMENT AFFAIRES INDIENNES ET DU NORD CANADIEN		
	DEPARTMENT		
	ADMINISTRATION PROGRAM		
1a	Administration – Program expenditures	27,080,237	
	INDIAN AND INUIT AFFAIRS PROGRAM		
5a 15a	Indian and Inuit Affairs – Operating expenditures Indian and Inuit Affairs – The grants listed in the Estimates	30,305,443 37,184,447	
L20a	Loans to native claimants in accordance with terms and conditions approved by the Governor in Council for the purpose of defraying costs related to research, development and negotiation of claims	6,000,000	
35a 40a	NORTHERN AFFAIRS PROGRAM Northern Affairs – Operating expenditures Northern Affairs – The grants listed in the Estimates and contributions	30,300,174 9,650,501	
45a	Payments to Canada Post Corporation pursuant to an agreement between the Department of Indian Affairs and Northern Development and Canada Post Corporation for the purpose of providing Northern Air Stage Parcel Service	8,000,000	
			148,520,802
	CANADIAN POLAR COMMISSION		
50a	Canadian Polar Commission – Program expenditures		41,642
	INDUSTRY INDUSTRIE		
	DEPARTMENT		
1a	Industry – Operating expenditures, and authority to expend revenue received during the fiscal year related to Communications Research, Bankruptcy, Corporations and from services and regulatory processes, specifically pre-merger notification filings, advance ruling	20.72440	
5a	certificates, advisory opinions and photocopies, provided under the <i>Competition Act</i> . Industry – Contributions	88,536,142 23,015,991	111,552,133
	ATLANTIC CANADA OPPORTUNITIES AGENCY		111,002,100
20a	Atlantic Canada Opportunities Agency – Operating expenditures – To authorize the transfer of \$3,000,000 from Industry Vote 25, <i>Appropriation Act No. 2, 2001-2002</i> for the purposes of this Vote and to provide a further amount of		1,091,434

Nº du crédit	Service	Montant (\$)	Total (\$)
la	GOUVERNEUR GÉNÉRAL GOVERNOR GENERAL Gouverneur général – Dépenses du Programme		1 246 072
1a	MINISTÈRE Industrie – Dépenses de fonctionnement, et autorisation de dépenser les recettes produites durant l'exercice et provenant de la recherche en communications, des faillites, des		
5a	corporations de même que des services et processus de réglementation, notamment le dépôt d'avis de préfusion, les certificats de décision préalable, les avis consultatifs et les photocopies fournis en vertu de la <i>Loi sur la concurrence</i>	88 536 142 23 015 991	111 552 133
20a	AGENCE DE PROMOTION ÉCONOMIQUE DU CANADA ATLANTIQUE Agence de promotion économique du Canada atlantique – Dépenses de fonctionnement – Pour autoriser le virement au présent crédit de 3 000 000 \$ du crédit 25 (Industrie) de la Loi de crédits nº 2 pour 2001-2002 et pour prévoir un montant supplémentaire de		1 091 434
30a 35a 40a	AGENCE SPATIALE CANADIENNE Agence spatiale canadienne – Dépenses de fonctionnement	3 903 351 10 975 132 1	14 878 484
45a	COMMISSION CANADIENNE DU TOURISME Commission canadienne du tourisme – Dépenses du programme		5 000 000
50a	TRIBUNAL DE LA CONCURRENCE Tribunal de la concurrence – Dépenses du Programme		34 713
55a	COMMISSION DU DROIT D'AUTEUR Commission du droit d'auteur – Dépenses du Programme		421 750

Vote			
No.	Service	Amount (\$)	Total (\$)
	INDUSTRY – Continued INDUSTRIE (suite)		
	CANADIAN SPACE AGENCY		
30a 35a 40a	Canadian Space Agency – Operating expenditures	3,903,351 10,975,132	
			14,878,484
	CANADIAN TOURISM COMMISSION		
45a	Canadian Tourism Commission – Program expenditures		5,000,000
	COMPETITION TRIBUNAL		
50a	Competition Tribunal – Program expenditures		34,713
	COPYRIGHT BOARD		
55a	Copyright Board – Program expenditures		421,750
	ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AGENCY OF CANADA FOR THE REGIONS OF QUEBEC		
60a	Economic Development Agency of Canada for the Regions of Quebec – Operating expenditures – To authorize the transfer of \$4,808,799 from Industry Vote 65, <i>Appropriation Act No. 2, 2001-2002</i> for the purposes of this Vote	1	
65a	Economic Development Agency of Canada for the Regions of Quebec – The grants listed in the Estimates	1	
			2
	ENTERPRISE CAPE BRETON CORPORATION		
70a	Payments to the Enterprise Cape Breton Corporation pursuant to the Enterprise Cape Breton Corporation Act		3,000,000
	NATIONAL RESEARCH COUNCIL OF CANADA		
75a	National Research Council of Canada – Operating expenditures – To authorize the transfer of \$4,969,200 from Industry Vote 80, <i>Appropriation Act No. 2, 2001-2002</i> for the purposes		
85a	of this Vote and to provide a further amount of	6,783,099 12,000,000	
			18,783,099

Nº du crédit	Service	Montant (\$)	Total (\$)
	INDUSTRIE (suite) INDUSTRY – Continued		
	AGENCE DE DÉVELOPPEMENT ÉCONOMIQUE DU CANADA POUR LES RÉGIONS DU QUÉBEC		
60a	Agence de développement économique du Canada pour les régions du Québec – Dépenses de fonctionnement – Pour autoriser le virement au présent crédit de 4 808 799 \$ du crédit 65 (Industrie) de la <i>Loi de crédits n</i> ° 2 pour 2001-2002	1	
65a	Agence de développement économique du Canada pour les régions du Québec – Subventions inscrites au Budget des dépenses	1	2
	SOCIÉTÉ D'EXPANSION DU CAP-BRETON		2
70a	Paiements à la Société d'expansion du Cap-Breton en vertu de la Loi sur la Société d'expansion du Cap-Breton		3 000 000
	CONSEIL NATIONAL DE RECHERCHES DU CANADA		
75a 85a	Conseil national de recherches du Canada – Dépenses de fonctionnement – Pour autoriser le virement au présent crédit de 4 969 200 \$ du crédit 80 (Industrie) de la <i>Loi de crédits n° 2 pour 2001-2002</i> et pour prévoir un montant supplémentaire de	6 783 099 12 000 000	
	CONSEIL DE RECHERCHES EN SCIENCES NATURELLES ET EN GÉNIE		18 783 099
90a 95a	Conseil de recherches en sciences naturelles et en génie – Dépenses de fonctionnement Conseil de recherches en sciences naturelles et en génie – Subventions inscrites au Budget des	989 300	
, , ,	dépenses	5 695 850	6 685 150
	CONSEIL DE RECHERCHES EN SCIENCES HUMAINES		
100a 105a	Conseil de recherches en sciences humaines – Dépenses de fonctionnement	1 967 400 9 570 000	11 537 400
	CONSEIL CANADIEN DES NORMES		
110a	Paiements versés au Conseil canadien des normes aux termes de l'article 5 de la <i>Loi sur le Conseil canadien des normes</i>		1 531 000

Vote	Corrigo	Amount (C)	Total (\$)
No.	Service	Amount (\$)	Total (\$)
	INDUSTRY – Concluded INDUSTRIE (fin)		
	NATURAL SCIENCES AND ENGINEERING RESEARCH COUNCIL		
90a 95a	Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council – Operating expenditures Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council – The grants listed in the Estimates	989,300 5,695,850	((05.150
	SOCIAL SCIENCES AND HUMANITIES RESEARCH COUNCIL		6,685,150
100a 105a	Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council – Operating expenditures Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council – The grants listed in the Estimates	1,967,400 9,570,000	11.525.400
	STANDARDS COUNCIL OF CANADA		11,537,400
110a	Payments to the Standards Council of Canada pursuant to section 5 of the Standards Council of Canada Act		1,531,000
	STATISTICS CANADA		
115a	Statistics Canada – Program expenditures		21,891,151
	WESTERN ECONOMIC DIVERSIFICATION		
120a	Western Economic Diversification – Operating expenditures – To authorize the transfer of \$3,000,000 from Industry Vote 125, <i>Appropriation Act No. 2, 2001-2002</i> for the purposes of this Vote and to provide a further amount of		241,051
	JUSTICE JUSTICE		
	DEPARTMENT		
1a 5a	Justice – Operating expenditures Justice – The grants listed in the Estimates and contributions	158,624,269 68,314,146	226,938,415
	CANADIAN HUMAN RIGHTS COMMISSION		-,,
10a	Canadian Human Rights Commission – Program expenditures		2,754,220

ch. 39

21

N° du crédit	Service	Montant (\$)	Total (\$)
	INDUSTRIE (fin) INDUSTRY – Concluded		
	STATISTIQUE CANADA		
115a	Statistique Canada – Dépenses du Programme		21 891 151
	DIVERSIFICATION DE L'ÉCONOMIE DE L'OUEST CANADIEN		
120a	Diversification de l'économie de l'Ouest canadien – Dépenses de fonctionnement – Pour autoriser le virement au présent crédit de 3 000 000 \$ du crédit 125 (Industrie) de la <i>Loi de crédits n° 2 pour 2001-2002</i> et pour prévoir un montant supplémentaire de		241 051
	JUSTICE JUSTICE		
	MINISTÈRE		
1a 5a	Justice – Dépenses de fonctionnement	158 624 269 68 314 146	226 938 415
	COMMISSION CANADIENNE DES DROITS DE LA PERSONNE		
10a	Commission canadienne des droits de la personne – Dépenses du Programme		2 754 220
	TRIBUNAL CANADIEN DES DROITS DE LA PERSONNE		
15a	Tribunal canadien des droits de la personne – Dépenses du Programme		1 354 953
	COMMISSAIRE À LA MAGISTRATURE FÉDÉRALE		
20a 25a	Commissaire à la magistrature fédérale – Dépenses de fonctionnement	1 423 761	
	fonctionnement	21 479	1 445 240
	COUR FÉDÉRALE DU CANADA		
30a	Cour fédérale du Canada – Dépenses du Programme		5 026 775

C. 39

Vote			
No.	Service	Amount (\$)	Total (\$)
	JUSTICE – Concluded JUSTICE (suite et fin)		
	CANADIAN HUMAN RIGHTS TRIBUNAL		
15a	Canadian Human Rights Tribunal – Program expenditures		1,354,953
	COMMISSIONER FOR FEDERAL JUDICIAL AFFAIRS		
20a 25a	Commissioner for Federal Judicial Affairs – Operating expenditures Commissioner for Federal Judicial Affairs – Canadian Judicial Council – Operating	1,423,761	
	expenditures	21,479	1,445,240
	FEDERAL COURT OF CANADA		
30a	Federal Court of Canada – Program expenditures		5,026,775
	LAW COMMISSION OF CANADA		
35a	Law Commission of Canada – Program expenditures		143,050
	NATIONAL DEFENCE DÉFENSE NATIONALE		
	DEPARTMENT		
1a 5a 10a	National Defence – Operating expenditures National Defence – Capital expenditures National Defence – The grants listed in the Estimates	199,415,209 1,223,606 1	200,638,816
	NATURAL RESOURCES RESSOURCES NATURELLES		200,020,010
	DEPARTMENT		
1a 5a 10a	Natural Resources – Operating expenditures	70,167,446 936,108 58,150,000	
			129,253,554

N° du			
crédit	Service	Montant (\$)	Total (\$)
	JUSTICE (suite et fin) JUSTICE – Concluded		
	COMMISSION DU DROIT DU CANADA		
35a	Commission du droit du Canada – Dépenses du Programme		143 050
	PARLEMENT PARLIAMENT		
	SÉNAT		
1a	Sénat – Dépenses du Programme		2 646 000
	CHAMBRE DES COMMUNES		
5a	Chambre des communes – Dépenses du Programme		5 084 798
	BIBLIOTHÈQUE DU PARLEMENT		
10a	Bibliothèque du Parlement – Dépenses du Programme		1 691 600
	PATRIMOINE CANADIEN CANADIAN HERITAGE		
	MINISTÈRE		
1a 5a	Patrimoine canadien – Dépenses de fonctionnement	29 319 978 39 799 262	69 119 240
	CONSEIL DES ARTS DU CANADA		0, 11, 210
15a	Paiements au Conseil des Arts du Canada, aux termes de l'article 18 de la <i>Loi sur le Conseil des Arts du Canada</i> , devant servir aux fins générales prévues à l'article 8 de cette loi.		25 900 000
	SOCIÉTÉ RADIO-CANADA		
20a	Paiements à la Société Radio-Canada pour couvrir les dépenses de fonctionnement de son service de radiodiffusion		62 500 000

Vote			
No.	Service	Amount (\$)	Total (\$)
	NATURAL RESOURCES – Concluded RESSOURCES NATURELLES (suite et fin)		
	ATOMIC ENERGY OF CANADA LIMITED		
15a	Payments to Atomic Energy of Canada Limited for operating and capital expenditures		82,000,000
	CANADIAN NUCLEAR SAFETY COMMISSION		
20a	Canadian Nuclear Safety Commission – Program expenditures		5,531,578
	CAPE BRETON DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION		
25a	Payments to the Cape Breton Development Corporation for operating and capital expenditures		57,300,000
	NATIONAL ENERGY BOARD		
30a	National Energy Board – Program expenditures		1,267,300
	PARLIAMENT PARLEMENT		
	THE SENATE		
1a	The Senate – Program expenditures		2,646,000
	HOUSE OF COMMONS		
5a	House of Commons – Program expenditures		5,084,798
	LIBRARY OF PARLIAMENT		
10a	Library of Parliament – Program expenditures		1,691,600
	PRIVY COUNCIL CONSEIL PRIVÉ		
	DEPARTMENT		
1a	Privy Council – Program expenditures		14,962,249

N° du			
crédit	Service	Montant (\$)	Total (\$)
	PATRIMOINE CANADIEN (suite) CANADIAN HERITAGE – Continued		
	MUSÉE CANADIEN DE LA NATURE		
45a	Paiements au Musée canadien de la nature à l'égard des dépenses de fonctionnement et des dépenses en capital		2 135 000
	CONSEIL DE LA RADIODIFFUSION ET DES TÉLÉCOMMUNICATIONS CANADIENNES		
50a	Conseil de la radiodiffusion et des télécommunications canadiennes – Dépenses du Programme		166 341
	ARCHIVES NATIONALES DU CANADA		
55a	Archives nationales du Canada – Dépenses du Programme		2 589 223
	COMMISSION DES CHAMPS DE BATAILLE NATIONAUX		
65a	Commission des champs de bataille nationaux – Dépenses du Programme		1 564 750
	COMMISSION DE LA CAPITALE NATIONALE		
70a	Paiement à la Commission de la capitale nationale pour les dépenses de fonctionnement — Pour autoriser le virement au présent crédit de 1 107 000 \$ du crédit 80 (Patrimoine canadien) de la <i>Loi de crédits n° 2 pour 2001-2002</i> et pour prévoir un montant supplémentaire de	3 997 000	
75a	Paiement à la Commission de la capitale nationale pour les dépenses en capital	10 563 000	14 560 000
	OFFICE NATIONAL DU FILM		
85a	Fonds renouvelable de l'Office national du film – Déficit de fonctionnement		4 217 350
	MUSÉE DES BEAUX-ARTS DU CANADA		
90a	Paiements au Musée des beaux-arts du Canada à l'égard des dépenses de fonctionnement et des dépenses en capital		2 065 000
	BIBLIOTHÈQUE NATIONALE		
100a	Bibliothèque nationale – Dépenses du Programme		4 895 502

Vote			
No.	Service	Amount (\$)	Total (\$)
	PRIVY COUNCIL – Concluded CONSEIL PRIVÉ (suite et fin)		
	CANADIAN CENTRE FOR MANAGEMENT DEVELOPMENT		
5a	Canadian Centre for Management Development – Program expenditures		3,744,012
	CANADIAN INTERGOVERNMENTAL CONFERENCE SECRETARIAT		
10a	Canadian Intergovernmental Conference Secretariat – Program expenditures		668,150
	CANADIAN TRANSPORTATION ACCIDENT INVESTIGATION AND SAFETY BOARD		
15a	Canadian Transportation Accident Investigation and Safety Board – Program expenditures		479,990
	COMMISSIONER OF OFFICIAL LANGUAGES		
25a	Commissioner of Official Languages – Program expenditures		3,083,766
	MILLENNIUM BUREAU OF CANADA		
30a 35a	Millennium Bureau of Canada – Operating expenditures	1,852,871 7,880,282	
			9,733,153
	OFFICE OF INDIAN RESIDENTIAL SCHOOLS RESOLUTION OF CANADA		
41a	Office of Indian Residential Schools Resolution of Canada – Program expenditures, the grants listed in the Estimates and contributions		52,995,602
	PUBLIC SERVICE STAFF RELATIONS BOARD		
45a	Public Service Staff Relations Board – Program expenditures		257,100

Nº du crédit	Service	Montant (\$)	Total (\$)
	PATRIMOINE CANADIEN (fin) CANADIAN HERITAGE – Concluded		
	COMMISSION DE LA FONCTION PUBLIQUE		
120a	Commission de la fonction publique – Dépenses du Programme		10 439 880
	CONDITION FÉMININE – BUREAU DE LA COORDONNATRICE		
125a	Condition féminine – Bureau de la coordonnatrice – Dépenses de fonctionnement		344 062
	PÊCHES ET OCÉANS FISHERIES AND OCEANS		
1a 5a 10a	Pêches et Océans – Dépenses de fonctionnement	86 901 249 7 946 677 128 560 140	
10a	reches et Oceans – Suoventions inscrites au Budget des dépenses et contributions	128 300 140	223 408 066
	RESSOURCES NATURELLES NATURAL RESOURCES		
	MINISTÈRE		
1a 5a 10a	Ressources naturelles – Dépenses de fonctionnement	70 167 446 936 108 58 150 000	
	ÉNERGIE ATOMIQUE DU CANADA LIMITÉE		129 253 554
15a	Paiements à Énergie atomique du Canada limitée pour les dépenses de fonctionnement et les dépenses en capital		82 000 000
	COMMISSION CANADIENNE DE SÛRETÉ NUCLÉAIRE		
20a	Commission canadienne de sûreté nucléaire – Dépenses du Programme		5 531 578
	SOCIÉTÉ DE DÉVELOPPEMENT DU CAP-BRETON		
25a	Paiements à la Société de développement du Cap-Breton pour les dépenses de fonctionnement et les dépenses en capital		57 300 000

Vote			
No.	Service	Amount (\$)	Total (\$)
	PUBLIC WORKS AND GOVERNMENT SERVICES TRAVAUX PUBLICS ET SERVICES GOUVERNEMENTAUX		
	DEPARTMENT		
	GOVERNMENT SERVICES PROGRAM		
1a 5a 6a	Government Services – Operating expenditures	158,235,694 18,235,000	
			176,470,695
	COMMUNICATION CANADA		
15a	Program expenditures, the grants listed in the Estimates		2,587,100
	SOLICITOR GENERAL SOLLICITEUR GÉNÉRAL		
	DEPARTMENT		
1a 5a	Solicitor General – Operating expenditures	37,688,520 8,947,200	46,635,720
			10,033,720
	CANADIAN SECURITY INTELLIGENCE SERVICE		
10a	Canadian Security Intelligence Service – Program expenditures		11,842,379
	CORRECTIONAL SERVICE		
15a	Correctional Service – Penitentiary Service and National Parole Service – Operating expenditures – To authorize the transfer of \$14,200,000 from Solicitor General Vote 20, <i>Appropriation Act No. 2, 2001-2002</i> for the purposes of this Vote and to provide a further amount of		65,377,144
	NATIONAL PAROLE BOARD		
25a	National Parole Board – Program expenditures		4,477,187

N° du crédit	Service	Montant (\$)	Total (\$)
	RESSOURCES NATURELLES (suite et fin) NATURAL RESOURCES – Concluded OFFICE NATIONAL DE L'ÉNERGIE		
30a	Office national de l'énergie – Dépenses du Programme		1 267 300
	SANTÉ HEALTH		
	MINISTÈRE		
1a 5a	Santé – Dépenses de fonctionnement	159 227 254 87 118 385	246 345 639
	INSTITUTS DE RECHERCHE EN SANTÉ DU CANADA		
10a 15a	Instituts de recherche en santé du Canada – Dépenses de fonctionnement	13 215 700 109 832 333	123 048 033
	CONSEIL DE CONTRÔLE DES RENSEIGNEMENTS RELATIFS AUX MATIÈRES DANGEREUSES		
20a	Conseil de contrôle des renseignements relatifs aux matières dangereuses – Dépenses du Programme		178 810
	SOLLICITEUR GÉNÉRAL SOLICITOR GENERAL		
	MINISTÈRE		
1a 5a	Solliciteur général – Dépenses de fonctionnement	37 688 520 8 947 200	46 635 720
	SERVICE CANADIEN DU RENSEIGNEMENT DE SÉCURITÉ		055 720
10a	Service canadien du renseignement de sécurité – Dépenses du Programme		11 842 379

Vote			
No.	Service	Amount (\$)	Total (\$)
	SOLICITOR GENERAL – Concluded SOLLICITEUR GÉNÉRAL (suite et fin)		
	OFFICE OF THE CORRECTIONAL INVESTIGATOR		
30a	Office of the Correctional Investigator – Program expenditures		750,645
	ROYAL CANADIAN MOUNTED POLICE PUBLIC COMPLAINTS COMMISSION		
50a	Royal Canadian Mounted Police Public Complaints Commission – Program expenditures		600,005
	TRANSPORT TRANSPORTS		
	DEPARTMENT		
1a 5a 10a 25a	Transport – Operating expenditures Transport – Capital expenditures Transport – The grants listed in the Estimates and contributions Payments to VIA Rail Canada Inc. in respect of the costs of the management of the Company, payments for capital purposes and payments for the provision of rail passenger services	35,236,970 55,800,000 162,765,490	
	in Canada in accordance with contracts entered into pursuant to subparagraph (c)(i) of Transport Vote 52d, Appropriation Act No. 1, 1977	61,900,000	315,702,460
	CANADIAN TRANSPORTATION AGENCY		313,702,100
30a	Canadian Transportation Agency – Program expenditures		935,950
	CIVIL AVIATION TRIBUNAL		
35a	Civil Aviation Tribunal – Program expenditures		44,250
	TREASURY BOARD CONSEIL DU TRÉSOR		
	SECRETARIAT		
1a 2a 10a	Treasury Board Secretariat – Operating expenditures Treasury Board Secretariat – Contributions Government-Wide Initiatives	59,550,883 1,786,702 26,367,049	

Nº du crédit	Service	Montant (\$)	Total (\$)
	SOLLICITEUR GÉNÉRAL (suite et fin) SOLICITOR GENERAL – Concluded		
15a	SERVICE CORRECTIONNEL Service correctionnel – Service pénitentiaire et Service national des libérations conditionnelles – Dépenses de fonctionnement – Pour autoriser le virement au présent crédit de 14 200 000 \$ du crédit 20 (Solliciteur général) de la <i>Loi de crédits nº 2 pour 2001-2002</i> et pour prévoir un montant supplémentaire de		65 377 144
25a	COMMISSION NATIONALE DES LIBÉRATIONS CONDITIONNELLES Commission nationale des libérations conditionnelles – Dépenses du Programme		4 477 187
30a	BUREAU DE L'ENQUÊTEUR CORRECTIONNEL Bureau de l'enquêteur correctionnel – Dépenses du Programme		750 645
50a	COMMISSION DES PLAINTES DU PUBLIC CONTRE LA GENDARMERIE ROYALE DU CANADA Commission des plaintes du public contre la Gendarmerie royale du Canada – Dépenses du		
	Programme		600 005
1a 5a 10a 25a	MINISTÈRE Transports – Dépenses de fonctionnement	35 236 970 55 800 000 162 765 490 61 900 000	
	OFFICE DES TRANSPORTS DU CANADA	01 200 000	315 702 460
30a	Office des transports du Canada – Dépenses du Programme		935 950

$SCHEDULE \ 1-Concluded$

Vote No.	Service	Amount (\$)	Total (\$)
	TREASURY BOARD – Concluded CONSEIL DU TRÉSOR (suite et fin)		
	SECRETARIAT – Concluded		
15a	Compensation Adjustments – Subject to the approval of the Treasury Board, to supplement other appropriations, that may need to be partially or fully funded, as a result of adjustments made to terms and conditions of service or employment of the public service including members of the RCMP and the Canadian Forces	382,281,000	
20a	Public Service Insurance – Payments in respect of insurance, pension or benefit programs or other arrangements, or in respect of the administration of such programs, or arrangements, including premiums, contributions, benefits, fees and other expenditures, made in respect of the public service or any part thereof and for such other persons, as Treasury Board determines, and authority to expend any revenues or other amounts received in respect of such programs or arrangements to offset any such expenditures in respect of such programs or arrangements and to provide for the return to certain employees of their share of the premium reduction under subsection 96(3) of the		
	Employment Insurance Act	5,084,000	475,069,634
	VETERANS AFFAIRS ANCIENS COMBATTANTS		173,007,031
	VETERANS AFFAIRS PROGRAM		
1a	Veterans Affairs – Operating expenditures – To authorize the transfer of \$588,100 from Veterans Affairs Vote 10, <i>Appropriation Act No. 2, 2001-2002</i> for the purposes of this Vote and to provide a further amount of		77,008,431
			4,484,236,584

ANNEXE 1 (fin)

Nº du crédit	Service	Montant (\$)	Total (\$)
	TRANSPORTS (suite et fin) TRANSPORT – Concluded		
	TRIBUNAL DE L'AVIATION CIVILE		
35a	Tribunal de l'aviation civile – Dépenses du Programme		44 250
	TRAVAUX PUBLICS ET SERVICES GOUVERNEMENTAUX PUBLIC WORKS AND GOVERNMENT SERVICES		
	MINISTÈRE		
1a 5a 6a	PROGRAMME DES SERVICES GOUVERNEMENTAUX Services gouvernementaux — Dépenses de fonctionnement	158 235 694 18 235 000	
	renouvelables, L.R.C., ch. R-8, pour réduire de 200 000 000 \$ à 75 000 000 \$ la somme des dépenses effectuées aux fins du fonds qui peuvent excéder les recettes afférentes	1	176 470 695
	COMMUNICATION CANADA		
15a	Dépenses du Programme, subventions inscrites au Budget des dépenses		2 587 100
			4 484 236 584

SCHEDULE 2

Based on the Supplementary Estimates (A) 2001-2002, the amount hereby granted is \$345,761,095, being the total of the amounts of the items in those Estimates as contained in this Schedule.

Sums granted to Her Majesty by this Act for the financial year ending March 31, 2002, that may be charged to that fiscal year and the following fiscal year ending March 31 and the purposes for which they are granted.

Vote No.	Service	Amount (\$)	Total (\$)
1a 5a	CANADA CUSTOMS AND REVENUE AGENCY AGENCE DES DOUANES ET DU REVENU DU CANADA Canada Customs and Revenue Agency – Operating expenditures Canada Customs and Revenue Agency – Capital expenditures	287,870,689 9,776,000	297,646,689
	CANADIAN HERITAGE PATRIMOINE CANADIEN		
	PARKS CANADA AGENCY		
110a	Parks Canada Agency – Program expenditures		48,114,406
			345,761,095

ANNEXE 2

D'après le Budget supplémentaire des dépenses (A) de 2001-2002, le montant accordé est de 345 761 095 \$, soit le total des montants des postes de ce budget figurant à la présente annexe.

Sommes accordées par la présente loi à Sa Majesté pour l'exercice se terminant le 31 mars 2002, pouvant être imputées à l'exercice en cours et à l'exercice suivant se terminant le 31 mars, et fins auxquelles elles sont accordées.

N° du crédit	Service	Montant (\$)	Total (\$)
1a 5a	AGENCE DES DOUANES ET DU REVENU DU CANADA CANADA CUSTOMS AND REVENUE AGENCY Agence des douanes et du revenu du Canada – Dépenses de fonctionnement	287 870 689 9 776 000	297 646 689
	PATRIMOINE CANADIEN CANADIAN HERITAGE		
	AGENCE PARCS CANADA		
110a	Agence Parcs Canada – Dépenses du Programme		48 114 406
			345 761 095

QUEEN'S PRINTER FOR CANADA © IMPRIMEUR DE LA REINE POUR LE CANADA OTTAWA, 2001

CHAPTER 40

CHAPITRE 40

AN ACT TO AMEND THE INTERNATIONAL BOUNDARY WATERS TREATY ACT

LOI MODIFIANT LA LOI DU TRAITÉ DES EAUX LIMITROPHES INTERNATIONALES

SUMMARY

The purpose of this enactment is to better implement the Treaty relating to Boundary Waters and Questions arising along the Boundary between Canada and the United States by prohibiting the removal of boundary water from the water basins in which the boundary waters are located and requiring persons to obtain licences from the Minister of Foreign Affairs for water-related projects that affect the natural level or flow of waters on the United States side of the border.

SOMMAIRE

Le texte a pour objet d'aider à la mise en oeuvre du *Traité relatif aux eaux limitrophes et aux questions originant le long de la frontière entre le Canada et les États-Unis*, d'une part, en prohibant le captage et le transfert des eaux limitrophes hors de leur bassin hydrographique et, d'autre part, en assujettissant à l'obtention d'une licence auprès du ministre des Affaires étrangères les activités qui ont pour effet de modifier le débit ou le niveau naturels des eaux du côté américain de la frontière.

49-50 ELIZABETH II

49-50 ELIZABETH II

CHAPTER 40

CHAPITRE 40

An Act to amend the International Boundary Waters Treaty Act

[Assented to 18th December, 2001]

Loi modifiant la Loi du traité des eaux limitrophes internationales

[Sanctionnée le 18 décembre 2001]

R.S., c. I-17

Her Majesty, by and with the advice and consent of the Senate and House of Commons of Canada, enacts as follows:

1. The *International Boundary Waters Treaty Act* is amended by adding the following after section 9:

LICENCES AND PROHIBITIONS

Interpretation

Definitions

10. The definitions in this section apply in sections 11 to 26.

"boundary waters" « eaux limitrophes » "boundary waters" means boundary waters as defined in the treaty.

"licence" « licence » "licence" means a licence issued under section 16.

"Minister" « ministre »

"Minister" means the Minister of Foreign Affairs.

Licences

Boundary waters 11. (1) Except in accordance with a licence, no person shall use, obstruct or divert boundary waters, either temporarily or permanently, in a manner that affects, or is likely to affect, in any way the natural level or flow of the boundary waters on the other side of the international boundary.

Exceptions

(2) Subsection (1) does not apply in respect of the ordinary use of waters for domestic or sanitary purposes, or the exceptions specified in the regulations. Sa Majesté, sur l'avis et avec le consentement du Sénat et de la Chambre des communes du Canada, édicte :

1. La Loi du traité des eaux limitrophes internationales est modifiée par adjonction, après l'article 9, de ce qui suit :

LICENCES ET PROHIBITIONS

Définitions

10. Les définitions qui suivent s'appliquent aux articles 11 à 26.

« eaux limitrophes » S'entend au sens du traité.

« licence » Licence délivrée en vertu de l'article 16.

« ministre » Le ministre des Affaires étrangères.

Licences

11. (1) Nul ne peut, sauf en conformité avec une licence, utiliser, obstruer ou dériver, de façon temporaire ou permanente, des eaux limitrophes d'une manière qui modifie ou est susceptible de modifier, de quelque façon que ce soit, le débit ou le niveau naturels de ces eaux de l'autre côté de la frontière internationale.

(2) Le paragraphe (1) ne s'applique pas lorsque les eaux sont utilisées normalement à des fins domestiques ou sanitaires ni dans les cas d'exception prévus par règlement.

L.R., ch. I-17

Définitions

« eaux limitrophes » "boundary waters"

« licence » "licence"

« ministre » "Minister"

Eaux limitrophes

Exceptions

Autres cas

2

Other waters

12. (1) Except in accordance with a licence, no person shall construct or maintain, either temporarily or permanently, any remedial or protective work or any dam or other obstruction in waters flowing from boundary waters, or in downstream waters of rivers flowing across the international boundary, the effect of which is or is likely to raise in any way the natural level of waters on the other side of the international boundary.

Exceptions

(2) Subsection (1) does not apply in respect of the exceptions specified in the regulations.

Prohibition

Prohibition — water removal

13. (1) Despite section 11, no person shall use or divert boundary waters by removing water from the boundary waters and taking it outside the water basin in which the boundary waters are located.

Deeming

(2) For the purpose of subsection (1) and the application of the treaty, removing water from boundary waters and taking it outside the water basin in which the boundary waters are located is deemed, given the cumulative effect of removals of boundary waters outside their water basins, to affect the natural level or flow of the boundary waters on the other side of the international boundary.

Water basins

(3) Subsection (1) applies only in respect of the water basins described in the regulations.

Exceptions

(4) Subsection (1) does not apply in respect of the exceptions specified in the regulations.

General

Binding on Her Majesty **14.** Sections 11 to 13 are binding on Her Majesty in right of Canada or a province.

Application

15. Sections 11, 12 and 13 do not apply in respect of uses, obstructions or diversions in existence immediately before the respective coming into force of those sections, but those sections do apply in respect of such uses, obstructions or diversions if significant changes occur to them after their respective coming into force.

12. (1) Nul ne peut, sauf en conformité avec une licence, établir ou maintenir de façon temporaire ou permanente, dans des eaux qui sortent des eaux limitrophes ou dans des eaux en aval de la frontière internationale des rivières transfrontalières, des ouvrages de protection ou de réfection, ou des barrages — ou autres obstacles faisant obstruction — de nature à exhausser, de quelque façon que ce soit, le niveau naturel des eaux de l'autre côté de la frontière.

(2) Le paragraphe (1) ne s'applique pas dans les cas d'exception prévus par règlement.

Exceptions

Prohibition

13. (1) Malgré l'article 11, nul ne peut utiliser ou dériver des eaux limitrophes d'un bassin hydrographique en les captant et en les transférant à l'extérieur du bassin.

Prohibition: captage d'eau

(2) Pour l'application du paragraphe (1) et du traité, le captage et le transfert d'eaux limitrophes à l'extérieur de leur bassin hydrographique sont réputés, étant donné l'effet cumulatif de ce type d'activité sur les eaux limitrophes, modifier le débit ou le niveau naturels de ces eaux de l'autre côté de la frontière internationale.

Présomption

(3) Le paragraphe (1) ne s'applique qu'aux bassins hydrographiques décrits par règlement.

Bassins hydrographiques

(4) Il ne s'applique pas dans les cas d'exception prévus par règlement.

Exceptions

Dispositions générales

14. Les articles 11 à 13 lient Sa Majesté du chef du Canada ou d'une province.

Obligation de Sa Majesté

15. Les articles 11, 12 et 13 ne s'appliquent pas aux utilisations, dérivations ou obstructions antérieures à la date de leur entrée en vigueur respective, sauf en cas de modification importante de celles-ci après cette date.

Application

Powers of Minister

Licence

16. Subject to the regulations, the Minister may, on application, issue, renew or amend a licence to do any activity referred to in subsection 11(1) or 12(1), subject to any terms or conditions the Minister considers appropriate.

Transfer

17. A licence is not transferable except with the consent of the Minister.

Suspension and revocation of licence **18.** (1) The Minister may suspend or revoke a licence whenever the Minister believes on reasonable grounds that the licensee has contravened this Act or a condition of the licence, but the licensee must first be given notice in writing by the Minister of the reasons for the suspension or revocation and a reasonable opportunity to make representations to the Minister.

Consent of licensee

(2) The Minister may also suspend or revoke a licence with the consent of, or on application by, the licensee.

Ministerial

- **19.** (1) If a person contravenes subsection 11(1), 12(1) or 13(1), the Minister may
 - (a) order the person to remove or alter any obstruction or work to which the contravention relates; or
 - (b) order the person to refrain from proceeding with any construction or other work, or to cease the use or diversion, to which the contravention relates.

Powers of Minister (2) If the person fails to comply with an order made under paragraph (1)(a) or (b), the Minister may remove or alter anything referred to in paragraph (1)(a) or used in relation to any activity referred to in paragraph (1)(b) or order it to be forfeited to Her Majesty in right of Canada.

Disposition

(3) Anything forfeited under subsection (2) may be removed, destroyed or otherwise disposed of as the Minister directs.

Costs recoverable (4) The Minister's cost of removing or altering anything under subsection (2) and the costs of and incidental to the removal, destruction or disposition under subsection (3) of anything forfeited, less any sum that may be realized from its disposition, are recoverable

Pouvoirs du ministre

16. Sous réserve des règlements, le ministre peut, sur demande, délivrer, renouveler ou modifier une licence pour les activités visées aux paragraphes 11(1) ou 12(1) et l'assortir des conditions qu'il estime indiquées.

Licence

17. La licence n'est pas transférable sans le consentement du ministre.

Incessibilité

18. (1) S'il a des motifs raisonnables de croire que le titulaire d'une licence a contrevenu à la présente loi ou aux conditions de la licence, le ministre peut suspendre ou révoquer celle-ci après, d'une part, lui avoir donné un avis écrit motivant la prise de cette mesure et, d'autre part, lui avoir accordé la possibilité de lui présenter ses observations.

Suspension et révocation de licences

(2) Il peut en outre suspendre ou révoquer la licence sur demande du titulaire ou avec son consentement. Consentement du titulaire

19. (1) Dans les cas où une personne contrevient aux paragraphes 11(1), 12(1) ou 13(1), le ministre peut lui enjoindre :

Ordres ministériels

- *a*) d'enlever les ouvrages ou obstacles qui font l'objet de la contravention ou de les modifier;
- b) d'arrêter les travaux de construction ou autres ou l'utilisation ou la dérivation qui font l'objet de la contravention.
- (2) Si la personne n'obtempère pas, il peut soit modifier ou enlever, soit confisquer au profit de Sa Majesté du chef du Canada, toute chose visée à l'alinéa (1)a) ou ayant servi aux activités visées à l'alinéa (1)b).

Pouvoirs du ministre

- (3) Les choses confisquées peuvent être enlevées ou détruites ou il peut en être autrement disposé conformément aux instructions du ministre.
- (4) Les frais occasionnés par toute modification ou tout enlèvement au titre du paragraphe (2) ou par l'enlèvement, la destruction ou l'aliénation au titre du paragraphe (3), de même que tous frais connexes déduction faite

du produit éventuel de toute aliénation, cons-

Enlèvement, destruction

Recouvrement des frais by Her Majesty in right of Canada from the person who contravened the order made under subsection (1) as a debt due to Her Majesty in any court of competent jurisdiction.

International Boundary Waters Treaty

Agreements with provinces

4

20. The Minister may, with the approval of the Governor in Council, enter into an agreement or arrangement with the government of one or more provinces respecting the activities referred to in sections 11 to 13.

Regulations

Regulations

- 21. (1) The Governor in Council may, on the recommendation of the Minister, make regulations
 - (a) specifying what constitutes a use, obstruction, diversion or work for the purposes of this Act;
 - (b) defining, for the purposes of this Act, any word or expression used in sections 11 to 26 that is not defined in this Act;
 - (c) describing the water basins to which section 13 applies;
 - (d) specifying exceptions to the application of subsections 11(1), 12(1) and 13(1);
 - (e) prescribing classes of licences and determining the persons who are eligible to hold licences of any particular class;
 - (f) respecting applications for licences, including the form of the applications, the information to be provided in respect of the applications and the manner in which the applications are to be filed, processed and disposed of;
 - (g) respecting the form of licences and the information they must include and requiring licensees to publish or otherwise make them available for public inspection;
 - (h) prescribing fees, or the manner of calculating fees, in respect of licences and prescribing the manner in which the fees are to be paid;
 - (i) prescribing the duration of licences;
 - (j) respecting the renewal and amendment of licences;

tituent des créances de Sa Majesté du chef du Canada dont le recouvrement peut être poursuivi à ce titre contre la personne visée au paragraphe (1) devant toute juridiction compétente.

20. Le ministre peut, avec l'agrément du gouverneur en conseil, conclure avec une ou plusieurs provinces un accord ou une entente portant sur les activités visées aux articles 11 à 13.

Accords avec les provinces

Règlements

21. (1) Le gouverneur en conseil, sur recommandation du ministre, peut par règlement:

Règlements

- a) préciser ce qui constitue une utilisation ou un usage, une obstruction, un ouvrage ou une dérivation pour l'application de la présente loi;
- b) définir, pour l'application de la présente loi, les termes non définis des articles 11 à
- c) décrire les bassins hydrographiques pour l'application de l'article 13;
- d) prévoir les cas d'exception à l'application des paragraphes 11(1), 12(1) ou 13(1);
- e) établir les catégories de licences et déterminer les personnes pouvant en être titulaires;
- f) régir la demande de licence, notamment ses modalités de forme, de présentation, d'examen et de disposition, ainsi que les renseignements à fournir à son égard;
- g) régir la forme des licences ainsi que les renseignements devant y figurer, et exiger de leur titulaire leur publication ou leur mise à la disposition du public;
- h) fixer les droits à acquitter pour les licences - ou le mode de leur calcul - ainsi que les modalités de leur paie-
- i) préciser la période de validité de la licence:
- j) régir le renouvellement et la modification des licences;

- (k) prescribing uses, obstructions, diversions and works for which a licence may not be issued;
- (1) providing for inspections in respect of activities to which sections 11, 12 and 13 relate; and
- (m) generally for carrying out the purposes and provisions of this Act.

(2) For greater certainty, regulations made under paragraph (1)(a) do not restrict the ordinary meaning of the words "use", "obstruction", "diversion" or "work".

Aboriginal and Treaty Rights

Rights of aboriginal peoples

Ordinary

meaning

applies

21.1 For greater certainty, nothing in this Act shall be construed so as to abrogate or derogate from the protection provided for existing aboriginal or treaty rights of the aboriginal peoples of Canada by the recognition and affirmation of these rights in section 35 of the *Constitution Act*, 1982.

Offences and Punishment

Offences

- **22.** (1) Every person who contravenes subsection 11(1), 12(1) or 13(1) is guilty of an offence and liable
 - (a) on conviction on indictment, to a fine of not more than \$1,000,000 or to imprisonment for a term of not more than three years, or to both; or
 - (b) on summary conviction, to a fine of not more than \$300,000 or to imprisonment for a term of not more than six months, or to both

Continuing offences

(2) A contravention of subsection 11(1), 12(1) or 13(1) that is committed or continued on more than one day is deemed to constitute a separate offence for each day on which the contravention is committed or continued.

Additional fine

23. If a person is convicted of an offence of having contravened subsection 11(1), 12(1) or 13(1), the convicting court may, if satisfied that the person acquired monetary benefits or that monetary benefits accrued to the person as a result of committing the offence, order the person to pay an additional fine above the maximum amount of any fine that may otherwise be imposed under section 22, in an

- *k*) préciser les usages, utilisations, obstructions, ouvrages ou dérivations pour lesquels une licence ne peut être délivrée;
- *l*) prévoir un régime d'inspection en ce qui a trait aux activités visées aux articles 11, 12 et 13;
- *m*) prendre toute autre mesure nécessaire pour l'application de la présente loi.
- (2) Il est entendu qu'un règlement pris en vertu de l'alinéa (1)a) n'a pas pour effet de restreindre le sens normal des termes « utilisation », « usage », « obstruction », « ouvrage » ou « dérivation ».

Droits ancestraux et issus de traités

21.1 Il est entendu que la présente loi ne porte pas atteinte à la protection des droits existants — ancestraux ou issus de traités — des peuples autochtones du Canada découlant de leur reconnaissance et de leur confirmation au titre de l'article 35 de la *Loi constitutionnelle de 1982*.

Infractions et peines

22. (1) Quiconque contrevient aux paragraphes 11(1), 12(1) ou 13(1) commet une infraction et encourt, sur déclaration de culpabilité :

a) par mise en accusation, une amende maximale d'un million de dollars et un emprisonnement maximal de trois ans, ou l'une de ces peines;

- b) par procédure sommaire, une amende maximale de trois cent mille dollars et un emprisonnement maximal de six mois, ou l'une de ces peines.
- (2) Il est compté une infraction distincte pour chacun des jours au cours desquels se commet ou se continue toute contravention aux paragraphes 11(1), 12(1) ou 13(1).
- 23. Le tribunal saisi d'une poursuite pour contravention aux paragraphes 11(1), 12(1) ou 13(1) peut, s'il est convaincu que le contrevenant a tiré des avantages financiers de la perpétration de celle-ci, lui infliger, en plus de l'amende maximale qui peut être infligée en vertu de l'article 22, une amende supplémentaire d'un montant qu'il juge égal à ces avantages.

Sens normal

Droits des peuples autochtones

Infractions

Infractions

Amende supplémentaire

Dirigeants

morales

des personnes

amount equal to the court's finding of the amount of those monetary benefits.

Offences by corporate officers, etc

6

24. If a corporation commits an offence under this Act, an officer, director, agent or mandatary of the corporation who directed, authorized, assented to, acquiesced in or participated in the commission of the offence is a party to and guilty of the offence and is liable on conviction to the punishment provided for the offence, whether or not the corporation has been prosecuted.

Offences by employees, agents or mandataries

25. In any prosecution for an offence under this Act, it is sufficient proof of the offence to establish that it was committed by an employee, agent or mandatary of the accused, whether or not the employee, agent or mandatary is identified or has been prosecuted for the offence, unless the accused establishes that the accused exercised all due diligence to prevent the commission of the offence.

Injunctions

Injunctions

- **26.** (1) When, on the application of the Minister, it appears to a court of competent jurisdiction that a person has done or is about to do or is likely to do any act or thing constituting or directed toward the commission of an offence under this Act, the court may issue an injunction ordering any person named in the application
 - (a) to refrain from doing any act or thing that it appears to the court may constitute or be directed toward the commission of the offence: or
 - (b) to do any act or thing that it appears to the court may prevent the commission of the offence.
- (2) No injunction shall issue under subsection (1) unless 48 hours notice is given to the party or parties named in the application or the urgency of the situation is such that service of notice would not be in the public interest.

Coming into force

Notice

2. Section 1, or any provision enacted by that section, comes into force on a day or days to be fixed by order of the Governor in Council.

24. En cas de perpétration par une personne morale d'une infraction à la présente loi, ceux de ses dirigeants, administrateurs ou mandataires qui l'ont ordonnée ou autorisée ou qui y ont consenti ou participé, sont considérés comme des coauteurs de l'infraction et encourent, sur déclaration de culpabilité, la peine prévue, que la personne morale ait été ou non poursuivie.

25. Dans les poursuites pour infraction à la présente loi, il suffit, pour établir la responsabilité pénale de l'accusé, d'établir que l'infraction a été commise par son employé ou son mandataire, que celui-ci ait été ou non identifié ou poursuivi. L'accusé peut se disculper en prouvant qu'il avait pris les mesures nécessaires pour empêcher l'infraction.

Employés ou mandataires

Injonction

26. (1) Si, sur demande présentée par le ministre, il conclut à l'existence, l'imminence ou la probabilité d'un fait constituant une infraction à la présente loi, ou tendant à sa perpétration, le tribunal compétent peut, par ordonnance, enjoindre à la personne nommée dans la demande:

Injonction

- a) de s'abstenir de tout acte susceptible, selon lui, de constituer l'infraction ou de tendre à sa perpétration;
- b) d'accomplir tout acte susceptible, selon lui, d'empêcher la perpétration de l'infraction.
- (2) L'injonction est subordonnée à la signification d'un préavis d'au moins quarante-huit heures aux parties nommées dans la demande, sauf lorsque cela serait contraire à l'intérêt public en raison de l'urgence de la situation.
- 2. L'article 1, ou telle des dispositions édictées par cet article, entre en vigueur à la date ou aux dates fixées par décret.

Entrée en vigueur

Préavis

CHAPTER 41

CHAPITRE 41

ANTI-TERRORISM ACT

LOI ANTITERRORISTE

SUMMARY

This enactment amends the *Criminal Code*, the *Official Secrets Act*, the *Canada Evidence Act*, the *Proceeds of Crime (Money Laundering) Act* and a number of other Acts, and enacts the *Charities Registration (Security Information) Act*, in order to combat terrorism.

Part 1 amends the *Criminal Code* to implement international conventions related to terrorism, to create offences related to terrorism, including the financing of terrorism and the participation, facilitation and carrying out of terrorist activities, and to provide a means by which property belonging to terrorist groups, or property linked to terrorist activities, can be seized, restrained and forfeited. It also provides for the deletion of hate propaganda from public web sites and creates an offence relating to damage to property associated with religious worship.

Part 2 amends the Official Secrets Act, which becomes the Security of Information Act. It addresses national security concerns, including threats of espionage by foreign powers and terrorist groups, economic espionage and coercive activities against émigré communities in Canada. It creates new offences to counter intelligence-gathering activities by foreign powers and terrorist groups, as well as other offences, including the unauthorized communication of special operational information.

Part 3 amends the *Canada Evidence Act* to address the judicial balancing of interests when the disclosure of information in legal proceedings would encroach on a specified public interest or be injurious to international relations or national defence or security. The amendments impose obligations on parties to notify the Attorney General of Canada if they anticipate the disclosure of sensitive information or information the disclosure of which could be injurious to international relations or national defence or security, and they give the Attorney General the powers to assume carriage of a prosecution and to prohibit the disclosure of information in connection with a proceeding for the purpose of protecting international relations or national defence or security.

SOMMAIRE

Le texte modifie le Code criminel, la Loi sur les secrets officiels, la Loi sur la preuve au Canada, la Loi sur le recyclage des produits de la criminalité et plusieurs autres lois, et édicte la Loi sur l'enregistrement des organismes de bienfaisance (renseignements de sécurité), en vue de combattre le terrorisme.

La partie 1 modifie le *Code criminel* afin de mettre en oeuvre diverses conventions internationales relatives au terrorisme et de créer des infractions, notamment en ce qui a trait au financement du terrorisme et à la participation, la facilitation ou la conduite d'activités terroristes, et prévoit des mesures d'exécution pour saisir, bloquer ou confisquer des biens liés à de telles activités. Elle prévoit la suppression de la propagande haineuse des sites Internet publics et la création d'une infraction relative à l'endommagement de biens liés au culte religieux.

La partie 2 modifie la *Loi sur les secrets officiels*, qui devient la *Loi sur la protection de l'information*. Elle traite de questions de sécurité nationale, entre autres la menace d'espionnage par des puissances étrangères et des groupes terroristes, l'espionnage économique et l'exercice d'activités de coercition à l'égard des communautés d'émigrés vivant au Canada. Elle crée de nouvelles infractions, notamment pour faire échec aux activités de recherche de renseignements par des puissances étrangères ou des groupes terroristes et relativement à la communication non autorisée de renseignements opérationnels spéciaux

La partie 3 modifie la *Loi sur la preuve au Canada* pour permettre aux tribunaux de mettre en équilibre les intérêts en jeu lorsque la divulgation de renseignements dans le cadre d'une instance pourrait se révéler préjudiciable au regard de raisons d'intérêt public déterminées ou pourrait nuire aux relations internationales ou à la défense ou la sécurité nationales. Elle oblige les parties à l'instance à aviser le procureur général du Canada lorsqu'elles prévoient que pourraient être divulgués des renseignements sensibles ou potentiellement préjudiciables aux relations internationales ou à la défense ou la sécurité nationales, et donne à celui-ci le pouvoir d'assumer la poursuite et d'interdire la divulgation de ces renseignements en vue de protéger les relations internationales ainsi que la défense et la sécurité nationales.

Part 4 amends the *Proceeds of Crime (Money Laundering) Act*, which becomes the *Proceeds of Crime (Money Laundering) and Terrorist Financing Act*. The amendments will assist law enforcement and investigative agencies in the detection and deterrence of the financing of terrorist activities, facilitate the investigation and prosecution of terrorist activity financing offences, and improve Canada's ability to cooperate internationally in the fight against terrorism.

Part 5 amends the Access to Information Act, Canadian Human Rights Act, Canadian Security Intelligence Service Act, Corrections and Conditional Release Act, Federal Court Act, Firearms Act, National Defence Act, Personal Information Protection and Electronic Documents Act, Privacy Act, Seized Property Management Act and United Nations Act. The amendments to the National Defence Act clarify the powers of the Communications Security Establishment to combat terrorism.

Part 6 enacts the *Charities Registration (Security Information) Act*, and amends the *Income Tax Act*, in order to prevent those who support terrorist or related activities from enjoying the tax privileges granted to registered charities.

La partie 4 modifie la *Loi sur le recyclage des produits de la criminalité*, qui devient la *Loi sur le recyclage des produits de la criminalité et le financement des activités terroristes*. Les changements visent à aider les organismes chargés de l'application de la loi et des enquêtes pour la détection et la dissuasion en matière de financement de telles activités, à faciliter les enquêtes et les poursuites relatives aux infractions qui y sont liées et à donner au Canada des moyens d'intensifier sa coopération à l'échelle internationale dans la lutte contre ces activités.

La partie 5 modifie la Loi sur l'accès à l'information, la Loi canadienne sur les droits de la personne, la Loi sur les services canadiens du renseignement de sécurité, la Loi sur le système correctionnel et la mise en liberté sous condition, la Loi sur la Cour fédérale, la Loi sur les armes à feu, la Loi sur la défense nationale — notamment en ce qui touche la clarification des pouvoirs du Centre de la sécurité des télécommunications —, la Loi sur la protection des renseignements personnels et les documents électroniques, la Loi sur la protection des renseignements personnels, la Loi sur l'administration des biens saisis et la Loi sur les Nations Unies.

La partie 6 édicte la *Loi sur l'enregistrement des organismes de bienfaisance (renseignements de sécurité)* et modifie la *Loi de l'impôt sur le revenu* afin d'empêcher quiconque soutient des activités terroristes ou des activités connexes de profiter des avantages fiscaux conférés par le statut d'organisme de bienfaisance enregistré sous le régime de la *Loi de l'impôt sur le revenu*.

TABLE OF PROVISIONS

PROCEEDS OF CRIME (MONEY LAUNDERING) ACT

47-75. Amendments to the Proceeds of Crime (Money

Laundering) Act

TABLE ANALYTIQUE

LOI SUR LE RECYCLAGE DES PRODUITS DE LA

CRIMINALITÉ

47-75. Modification de la Loi sur le recyclage des produits de la

criminalité

ANTI-TERRORISM ACT LOI ANTITERRORISTE Preamble Préambule SHORT TITLE TITRE ABRÉGÉ 1. 1. Anti-terrorism Act Loi antiterroriste PART 1 PARTIE 1 CRIMINAL CODE CODE CRIMINEL Amendments to the Criminal Code Modification du Code criminel 2-23. 2-23. Consequential Amendment Modification corrélative 23.1 Identification of Criminals Act Loi sur l'identification des criminels 23.1 PART 2 PARTIE 2 OFFICIAL SECRETS ACT LOI SUR LES SECRETS OFFICIELS 24-30. Amendment to the Official Secrets Act 24-30. Modification de la Loi sur les secrets officiels Consequential Amendments Modifications corrélatives 31-34. Criminal Code 31-34. Code criminel 35. Identification of Criminals Act 35. Loi sur l'identification des criminels Patent Act Loi sur les brevets 36. 36. 37-38. Visiting Forces Act 37-38. Loi sur les forces étrangères présentes au Canada 39-42. Regulations 39-42. Règlements PART 3 PARTIE 3 CANADA EVIDENCE ACT LOI SUR LA PREUVE AU CANADA 43-44. Amendments to the Canada Evidence Act 43-44. Modification de la Loi sur la preuve au Canada Consequential Amendments Modifications corrélatives 45. Canadian Human Rights Act 45. Loi canadienne sur les droits de la personne 46. Immigration Act Loi sur l'immigration 46. PART 4 PARTIE 4

Consequential Amendments Modifications corrélatives 76. Access to Information Act Loi sur l'accès à l'information 77-79. Canada Post Corporation Act 77-79. Loi sur la Société canadienne des postes 80. Criminal Code 80. Code criminel 81-82. Personal Information Protection and Electronic 81-82. Loi sur la protection des renseignements personnels et les documents électroniques Documents Act 83-86. Seized Property Management Act 83-86. Loi sur l'administration des biens saisis PART 5 PARTIE 5 MODIFICATIONS À D'AUTRES LOIS AMENDMENTS TO OTHER ACTS 87. Access to Information Act 87. Loi sur l'accès à l'information 88. Canadian Human Rights Act 88. Loi canadienne sur les droits de la personne 89. Canadian Security Intelligence Service Act 89. Loi sur le Service canadien du renseignement de sécurité 90-94. Corrections and Conditional Release Act 90-94. Loi sur le système correctionnel et la mise en liberté sous condition 95. Federal Court Act 95. Loi sur la Cour fédérale 96. Firearms Act 96. Loi sur les armes à feu 97-102. National Defence Act 97-102. Loi sur la défense nationale Loi sur la protection des renseignements personnels et 103. Personal Information Protection and Electronic 103. Documents Act les documents électroniques 104. Privacy Act 104. Loi sur la protection des renseignements personnels 105-111. Seized Property Management Act 105-111. Loi sur l'administration des biens saisis 112. United Nations Act 112. Loi sur les Nations Unies PART 6 PARTIE 6 REGISTRATION OF CHARITIES — SECURITY ENREGISTREMENT DES ORGANISMES DE BIENFAISANCE INFORMATION (RENSEIGNEMENTS DE SÉCURITÉ) Édiction de la loi 113. Enactment of Act 113.

An Act respecting the registration of charities having regard to security and criminal intelligence information

Loi concernant l'enregistrement des organismes de bienfaisance au regard des renseignements en matière de sécurité ou de criminalité SHORT TITLE

TITRE ABRÉGÉ

	SHORT THEE		TITKE ADREGE
1.	Charities Registration (Security Information) Act	1.	Loi sur l'enregistrement des organismes de bienfaisance (renseignements de sécurité)
	PURPOSE AND PRINCIPLES		OBJET ET PRINCIPES
2.	Purpose	2.	Objet
	INTERPRETATION		DÉFINITIONS
2		2	T (5)
3.	Definitions	3.	Définitions
	CERTIFICATE BASED ON INTELLIGENCE		CERTIFICAT
4.	Signature by Ministers	4.	Signature par le ministre et le ministre du Revenu national
	JUDICIAL CONSIDERATION OF CERTIFICATE		EXAMEN JUDICIAIRE DU CERTIFICAT
5.	Notice	5.	Avis
5. 6.	Reference	6.	Examen judiciaire
0.	EVIDENCE	0.	PREUVE
	EVIDENCE		FREUVE
7.	Admissible information	7.	Renseignements pertinents
8.	Foreign information obtained in confidence	8.	Renseignements secrets obtenus de gouvernements étrangers
9.	Ineligibility or revocation	9.	Inadmissibilité ou révocation
	REVIEW OF CERTIFICATE		RÉVISION DU CERTIFICAT
10.	Review of certificate	10.	Demande de révision ministérielle
11.	Application for review	11.	Demande de révision judiciaire
12.	Publication of spent certificate	12.	Publication
13.	Term of a certificate	13.	Durée de validité
14.	Regulations	14.	Règlements
114-1	-	114-11	
			•
PART 7		PARTIE 7	
COORDINATING, REVIEW AND COMMENCEMENT PROVISIONS		DISPOSITIONS DE COORDINATION, DE RÉVISION ET D'ENTRÉE EN VIGUEUR	
	Coordinating Amendments		Dispositions de coordination
119-12	20. Proceeds of Crime (Money Laundering) and Terrorist Financing Act	119-12	0. Loi sur le recyclage des produits de la criminalité et le financement des activités terroristes
121.	Bill S-23	121.	Projet de loi S-23
122-12	28. Bill C-11	122-12	8. Projet de loi C-11
129.	Bill C-15B	129.	Projet de loi C-15B
130-13	38. Bill C-24	130-13	8. Projet de loi C-24
139-14	44. Bill C-30	139-14	4. Projet de loi C-30
Review and Report			Examen et rapport
145. Review		145.	Examen

Coming into Force

Entrée en vigueur

146. Coming into force

SCHEDULES 1 AND 2

146. Entrée en vigueur

ANNEXES 1 ET 2

49-50 ELIZABETH II

49-50 ELIZABETH II

CHAPITRE 41

Loi modifiant le Code criminel, la Loi sur les

secrets officiels, la Loi sur la preuve au

Canada, la Loi sur le recyclage des produits de la criminalité et d'autres lois,

et édictant des mesures à l'égard de

l'enregistrement des organismes de bienfaisance, en vue de combattre le

CHAPTER 41

An Act to amend the Criminal Code, the Official Secrets Act, the Canada Evidence Act, the Proceeds of Crime (Money Laundering) Act and other Acts, and to enact measures respecting the registration of charities, in order to combat terrorism

[Assented to 18th December, 2001]

[Sanctionnée le 18 décembre 2001]

Preamble

WHEREAS Canadians and people everywhere are entitled to live their lives in peace, freedom and security;

WHEREAS acts of terrorism constitute a substantial threat to both domestic and international peace and security;

WHEREAS acts of terrorism threaten Canada's political institutions, the stability of the economy and the general welfare of the nation:

WHEREAS the challenge of eradicating terrorism, with its sophisticated and trans-border nature, requires enhanced international cooperation and a strengthening of Canada's capacity to suppress, investigate and incapacitate terrorist activity;

WHEREAS Canada must act in concert with other nations in combating terrorism, including fully implementing United Nations and other international instruments relating to terrorism;

WHEREAS the Parliament of Canada, recognizing that terrorism is a matter of national concern that affects the security of the nation, is committed to taking comprehensive measures to protect Canadians against terrorist activity while continuing to respect and promote the values reflected in, and the rights and freedoms guaranteed by, the *Canadian Charter of Rights and Freedoms*;

Attendu:

terrorisme

Préambule

que les Canadiens et les citoyens des autres pays ont droit à la paix, à la liberté et à la sécurité;

que tout acte de terrorisme constitue une menace importante à la paix et à la sécurité tant nationales qu'internationales;

que les actes de terrorisme menacent les institutions politiques du Canada, la stabilité de son économie et le bien-être de la nation:

que le terrorisme déborde les frontières et dispose de moyens perfectionnés, de sorte que son éradication pose un défi et suppose une collaboration accrue entre les États et l'accroissement de la capacité du Canada de réprimer, de détecter et de désamorcer les activités terroristes;

que le Canada doit combattre le terrorisme de concert avec d'autres nations, notamment en mettant pleinement en oeuvre les instruments internationaux, en particulier ceux des Nations Unies, relatifs au terrorisme:

que le Parlement du Canada, reconnaissant que le terrorisme est une question d'intérêt national qui touche la sécurité de la nation, s'engage à prendre des mesures exhaustives destinées à protéger les Canadiens contre les activités terroristes tout en continuant à AND WHEREAS these comprehensive measures must include legislation to prevent and suppress the financing, preparation, facilitation and commission of acts of terrorism, as well as to protect the political, social and economic security of Canada and Canada's relations with its allies;

NOW, THEREFORE, Her Majesty, by and with the advice and consent of the Senate and House of Commons of Canada, enacts as follows:

promouvoir et respecter les droits et libertés garantis par la *Charte canadienne des droits et libertés* et les valeurs qui la sous-tendent; qu'au nombre de ces mesures figurent des mesures législatives visant à prévenir et supprimer le financement, la préparation et la commission d'actes de terrorisme et à protéger la sécurité nationale — sur les plans politique, social et économique — de même que les relations du Canada avec ses alliés,

Sa Majesté, sur l'avis et avec le consentement du Sénat et de la Chambre des communes du Canada, édicte :

SHORT TITLE

Short title

R.S., c. C-46

R.S., c. 2

(Sch. III.

s. 25(1));

s. 2(1)

1994, c. 44,

"Attorney

« procureur

General'

général »

(1st Supp.),

s. 2(1); 1993, c. 28, s. 78 **1.** This Act may be cited as the *Anti-terrorism Act*.

PART 1

CRIMINAL CODE

2. (1) The definition "Attorney General" in section 2 of the *Criminal Code* is replaced by the following:

"Attorney General"

- (a) subject to paragraphs (c) to (f), with respect to proceedings to which this Act applies, means the Attorney General or Solicitor General of the province in which those proceedings are taken and includes his or her lawful deputy,
- (b) with respect to the Yukon Territory, the Northwest Territories and Nunavut, or with respect to proceedings commenced at the instance of the Government of Canada and conducted by or on behalf of that Government in respect of a contravention of, a conspiracy or attempt to contravene, or counselling the contravention of, any Act of Parliament other than this Act or any regulation made under such an Act, means the Attorney General of Canada and includes his or her lawful deputy,

TITRE ABRÉGÉ

1. *Loi antiterroriste.*

Titre abrégé

PARTIE 1

CODE CRIMINEL

2. (1) La définition de « procureur général », à l'article 2 du *Code criminel*, est remplacée par ce qui suit :

« procureur général »

- a) Sous réserve des alinéas c) à f), à l'égard des poursuites ou procédures visées par la présente loi, le procureur général ou le solliciteur général de la province où ces poursuites sont intentées ou ces procédures engagées ou leur substitut légitime;
- b) le procureur général du Canada ou son substitut légitime, à l'égard :
 - (i) du territoire du Yukon, des Territoires du Nord-Ouest et du territoire du Nunavut,
 - (ii) des poursuites engagées à la demande du gouvernement du Canada et menées par ce dernier ou en son nom quant à une contravention à une loi fédérale autre que la présente loi ou à ses règlements d'application, une tentative ou un complot en vue d'y contrevenir ou le fait de conseiller une telle contravention;

L.R., ch. C-46

L.R., ch. 27 (1er suppl.), par. 2(1); 1993, ch. 28, art. 78, annexe III, par. 25(1); 1994, ch. 44, par. 2(1) « procureur général » "Attorney General"

"Atto

- (c) with respect to proceedings in relation to a terrorism offence or to an offence under section 57, 58, 83.12, 424.1 or 431.1 or in relation to an offence against a member of United Nations personnel or associated personnel under section 235, 236, 266, 267, 268, 269, 269.1, 271, 272, 273, 279 or 279.1, means either the Attorney General of Canada or the Attorney General or Solicitor General of the province in which those proceedings are taken and includes the lawful deputy of any of them,
- (d) with respect to proceedings in relation to
 - (i) an offence referred to in subsection 7(3.71), or
 - (ii) an offence referred to in paragraph (a) of the definition "terrorist activity" in subsection 83.01(1), where the act or omission was committed outside Canada but is deemed by virtue of subsection 7(2), (2.1), (2.2), (3), (3.1), (3.4), (3.6), (3.72) or (3.73) to have been committed in Canada,

means either the Attorney General of Canada or the Attorney General or Solicitor General of the province in which those proceedings are taken and includes the lawful deputy of any of them,

- (e) with respect to proceedings in relation to an offence where the act or omission constituting the offence
 - (i) constitutes a terrorist activity referred to in paragraph (b) of the definition "terrorist activity" in subsection 83.01(1), and
 - (ii) was committed outside Canada but is deemed by virtue of subsection 7(3.74) or (3.75) to have been committed in Canada.

means either the Attorney General of Canada or the Attorney General or Solicitor General of the province in which those proceedings are taken and includes the lawful deputy of any of them, and c) à l'égard des poursuites pour toute infraction de terrorisme ou infraction prévue aux articles 57, 58, 83.12, 424.1 ou 431.1, ou pour infraction prévue aux articles 235, 236, 266, 267, 268, 269, 269.1, 271, 272, 273, 279 ou 279.1 contre un membre du personnel des Nations Unies ou du personnel associé, le procureur général du Canada ou le procureur général ou le solliciteur général de la province où ces poursuites sont intentées ou le substitut légitime de l'un ou l'autre;

3

- d) à l'égard des poursuites soit pour toute infraction visée au paragraphe 7(3.71), soit pour toute infraction visée à l'alinéa a) de la définition de « activité terroriste » au paragraphe 83.01(1) dont l'élément matériel action ou omission a été commis à l'étranger mais est réputé commis au Canada aux termes des paragraphes 7(2), (2.1), (2.2), (3), (3.1), (3.4), (3.6), (3.72) ou (3.73), le procureur général du Canada ou le procureur général ou le solliciteur général de la province où ces poursuites sont intentées ou le substitut légitime de l'un ou l'autre;
- e) à l'égard des poursuites pour infraction dont l'élément matériel action ou omission constitue une activité terroriste visée à l'alinéa b) de la définition de « activité terroriste » au paragraphe 83.01(1) et est commis à l'étranger mais réputé, aux termes des paragraphes 7(3.74) ou (3.75), commis au Canada, le procureur général du Canada ou le procureur général ou le solliciteur général de la province où ces poursuites sont intentées ou le substitut légitime de l'un ou l'autre;
- f) à l'égard des procédures visées aux articles 83.13, 83.14, 83.28, 83.29 ou 83.3, le procureur général du Canada ou le procureur général ou le solliciteur général de la province où ces procédures sont engagées ou le substitut légitime de l'un ou l'autre.

(f) with respect to proceedings under section 83.13, 83.14, 83.28, 83.29 or 83.3, means either the Attorney General of Canada or the Attorney General or Solicitor General of the province in which those proceedings are taken and includes the lawful deputy of any of them:

(2) Section 2 of the Act is amended by adding the following in alphabetical order:

"associated personnel" means persons who

- (a) assigned by a government or an intergovernmental organization with the agreement of the competent organ of the United Nations,
- (b) engaged by the Secretary-General of the United Nations, by a specialized agency of the United Nations or by the International Atomic Energy Agency, or
- (c) deployed by a humanitarian non-governmental organization or agency under an agreement with the Secretary-General of the United Nations, by a specialized agency of the United Nations or by the International Atomic Energy Agency,

to carry out activities in support of the fulfilment of the mandate of a United Nations operation;

- "government or public facility" means a facility or conveyance, whether permanent or temporary, that is used or occupied in connection with their official duties by representatives of a state, members of a government, members of a legislature, members of the judiciary, or officials or employees of a state or of any other public authority or public entity, or by officials or employees of an intergovernmental organization;
- "justice system participant" means
 - (a) a member of the Senate, of the House of Commons, of a legislative assembly or of a municipal council, and

(2) L'article 2 de la même loi est modifié par adjonction, selon l'ordre alphabétique, de ce qui suit :

- « activité terroriste » S'entend au sens du paragraphe 83.01(1).
- « groupe terroriste » S'entend au sens du paragraphe 83.01(1).
- « infraction de terrorisme »
 - a) Infraction visée à l'un des articles 83.02 à 83.04 et 83.18 à 83.23;
 - b) acte criminel visé par la présente loi ou par une autre loi fédérale — commis au profit ou sous la direction d'un groupe terroriste, ou en association avec lui;
 - c) acte criminel visé par la présente loi ou par une autre loi fédérale et dont l'élément matériel acte ou omission constitue également une activité terroriste;
 - d) complot ou tentative en vue de commettre l'infraction visée à l'un des alinéas a) à c) ou, relativement à une telle infraction, complicité après le fait ou encouragement à la perpétration.
- « installation gouvernementale ou publique »
 Toute installation ou tout moyen de transport de caractère permanent ou temporaire qui est utilisé ou occupé par des représentants d'un État, des membres du gouvernement, du parlement ou de la magistrature, ou des agents ou personnels d'un État ou de toute autre autorité ou entité publique, ou par des agents ou personnels d'une organisation intergouvernementale, dans le cadre de leurs fonctions officielles.

« activité terroriste » "terrorist activity"

49-50 ELIZ. II

« groupe terroriste » "terrorist group" « infraction de terrorisme » "terrorism offence"

"government or public facility" « installation gouvernementale ou publique »

"associated

personnel"

associé »

« personnel

"justice system participant" « personne associée au système judiciaire » « installation gouvernementale ou publique » "government or public facility"

- (b) a person who plays a role in the administration of criminal justice, including
 - (i) the Solicitor General of Canada and a Minister responsible for policing in a province,
 - (ii) a prosecutor, a lawyer, a member of the Chambre des notaires du Québec and an officer of a court.
 - (iii) a judge and a justice,
 - (iv) a juror and a person who is summoned as a juror,
 - (v) an informant, a prospective witness, a witness under subpoena and a witness who has testified,
 - (vi) a peace officer within the meaning of any of paragraphs (b), (c), (d), (e) and (g) of the definition "peace officer",
 - (vii) a civilian employee of a police force,
 - (viii) a person employed in the administration of a court,
 - (ix) an employee of the Canada Customs and Revenue Agency who is involved in the investigation of an offence under an Act of Parliament,
 - (x) an employee of a federal or provincial correctional service, a parole supervisor and any other person who is involved in the administration of a sentence under the supervision of such a correctional service and a person who conducts disciplinary hearings under the *Corrections and Conditional Release Act*, and
 - (xi) an employee and a member of the National Parole Board and of a provincial parole board;

"terrorism offence" means

(a) an offence under any of sections 83.02 to 83.04 or 83.18 to 83.23,

« opération des Nations Unies » Opération constituée par l'organe compétent de l'Organisation des Nations Unies conformément à la Charte des Nations Unies et menée sous l'autorité et la surveillance des Nations Unies si elle vise à maintenir ou à rétablir la paix et la sécurité internationales ou si le Conseil de sécurité ou l'Assemblée générale a déclaré, pour l'application de la Convention sur la sécurité du personnel des Nations Unies et du personnel associé, qu'il existe un risque exceptionnel pour la sécurité du personnel participant à l'opération; est exclue l'opération des Nations Unies autorisée par le Conseil de sécurité en tant qu'action coercitive en vertu du chapitre VII de la Charte des Nations Unies dans le cadre de laquelle du personnel est engagé pour combattre des forces armées organisées et à laquelle s'applique le droit des conflits armés internationaux.

« personne associée au système judiciaire »

- *a*) Tout membre du Sénat, de la Chambre des communes, d'une législature ou d'un conseil municipal;
- b) toute personne qui joue un rôle dans l'administration de la justice pénale, notamment :
 - (i) le solliciteur général du Canada et tout ministre provincial chargé de la sécurité publique,
 - (ii) le poursuivant, l'avocat, le membre de la Chambre des notaires du Québec ou le fonctionnaire judiciaire,
 - (iii) le juge ou juge de paix,
 - (iv) la personne assignée ou choisie à titre de juré,
 - (v) l'informateur, la personne susceptible d'être assignée comme témoin, celle qui l'a été et celle qui a déjà témoigné,
 - (vi) l'agent de la paix visé aux alinéas b), c), d), e) ou g) de la définition de ce terme,

« opération des Nations Unies » "United Nations operation"

5

« personne associée au système judiciaire » "justice system participant"

"terrorism offence" « infraction de terrorisme »

- (b) an indictable offence under this or any other Act of Parliament committed for the benefit of, at the direction of or in association with a terrorist group.
- (c) an indictable offence under this or any other Act of Parliament where the act or omission constituting the offence also constitutes a terrorist activity, or
- (d) a conspiracy or an attempt to commit, or being an accessory after the fact in relation to, or any counselling in relation to, an offence referred to in paragraph (a), (b) or (c);
- "terrorist activity" has the same meaning as in subsection 83.01(1);
- "terrorist group" has the same meaning as in subsection 83.01(1);
- "United Nations operation" means an operation that is established by the competent organ of the United Nations in accordance with the Charter of the United Nations and is conducted under United Nations authority and control, if the operation is for the purpose of maintaining or restoring international peace and security or if the Security Council or the General Assembly of the United Nations has declared, for the purposes of the Convention on the Safety of United Nations and Associated Personnel. that there exists an exceptional risk to the safety of the personnel participating in the operation. It does not include an operation authorized by the Security Council as an enforcement action under Chapter VII of the Charter of the United Nations in which any of the personnel are engaged as combatants against organized armed forces and to which the law of international armed conflict applies;
- "United Nations personnel" means
 - (a) persons who are engaged or deployed by the Secretary-General of the United Nations as members of the military,

- (vii) le membre du personnel civil d'une force policière,
- (viii) le membre du personnel administratif d'un tribunal,
- (ix) le membre du personnel de l'Agence des douanes et du revenu du Canada qui participe à une enquête relative à une infraction à une loi fédérale,
- (x) l'employé d'un service correctionnel fédéral ou provincial, le surveillant de liberté conditionnelle ou toute autre personne qui participe à l'exécution des peines sous l'autorité d'un tel service ou la personne chargée, sous le régime de la Loi sur le système correctionnel et la mise en liberté sous condition, de la tenue des audiences relatives aux infractions disciplinaires,
- (xi) le membre ou l'employé de la Commission nationale des libérations conditionnelles ou d'une commission des libérations conditionnelles provinciale.
- « personnel associé » Les personnes ci-après qui exercent des activités dans le cadre d'une opération des Nations Unies :
 - a) les personnes affectées par un gouvernement ou une organisation intergouvernementale avec l'accord de l'organe compétent de l'Organisation des Nations Unies;
 - b) les personnes engagées par le Secrétaire général de l'Organisation des Nations Unies, par une institution spécialisée de cette organisation ou par l'Agence internationale de l'énergie atomique;
 - c) les personnes affectées par une organisation non gouvernementale humanitaire en vertu d'un accord avec le Secrétaire général de l'Organisation des Nations Unies, par une institution spécialisée de cette organisation ou par l'Agence internationale de l'énergie atomique.
- « personnel des Nations Unies » :

associé »
"associated
personnel"

« personnel

"United Nations personnel" « personnel des Nations Unies »

"terrorist

activity'

« activité terroriste »

"terrorist group"

« groupe

"United

Nations

Unies »

terroriste »

operation"

« opération

des Nations

« personnel des Nations Unies » "United Nations personnel" police or civilian components of a United Nations operation, or

(b) any other officials or experts who are on mission of the United Nations or one of its specialized agencies or the International Atomic Energy Agency and who are present in an official capacity in the area where a United Nations operation is conducted;

R.S., c. 27 (1st Supp.), s. 5(1)

Offence internationally protected

person

3. (1) The portion of subsection 7(3) of the Act before paragraph (a) is replaced by the following:

(3) Notwithstanding anything in this Act or any other Act, every one who, outside Canada, commits an act or omission against the person of an internationally protected person or against any property referred to in section 431 used by that person that, if committed in Canada, would be an offence against any of sections 235, 236, 266, 267, 268, 269, 269.1, 271, 272, 273, 279, 279.1, 280 to 283, 424 and 431 is deemed to commit that act or omission in Canada if

(2) Section 7 of the Act is amended by adding the following after subsection (3.7):

Offence against United Nations or associated personnel

- (3.71) Notwithstanding anything in this Act or any other Act, every one who, outside Canada, commits an act or omission against a member of United Nations personnel or associated personnel or against property referred to in section 431.1 that, if committed in Canada, would constitute an offence against, a conspiracy or an attempt to commit an offence against, or being an accessory after the fact or counselling in relation to an offence against, section 235, 236, 266, 267, 268, 269, 269.1, 271, 272, 273, 279, 279.1, 424.1 or 431.1 is deemed to commit that act or omission in Canada if
 - (a) the act or omission is committed on a ship that is registered or licensed, or for

- a) Les personnes engagées ou affectées par le Secrétaire général de l'Organisation des Nations Unies en tant que membres des éléments militaire, policier ou civil d'une opération des Nations Unies;
- b) les autres fonctionnaires et experts en mission pour l'Organisation des Nations Unies ou ses institutions spécialisées ou pour l'Agence internationale de l'énergie atomique qui sont présents à titre officiel dans la zone où une opération des Nations Unies est menée.

3. (1) Le passage du paragraphe 7(3) de la même loi précédant l'alinéa a) est remplacé par ce qui suit:

(1er suppl.), par. 5(1)

(3) Malgré toute autre disposition de la présente loi ou toute autre loi, tout acte commis par action ou omission, à l'étranger, contre une personne jouissant d'une protection internationale ou contre un bien qu'elle utilise, visé à l'article 431, et qui, s'il était commis au Canada, constituerait une infraction à l'un des articles 235, 236, 266, 267, 268, 269, 269.1, 271, 272, 273, 279, 279.1, 280 à 283, 424 et 431 est réputé commis au Canada dans les cas suivants :

(2) L'article 7 de la même loi est modifié par adjonction, après le paragraphe (3.7), de ce qui suit :

(3.71) Malgré toute autre disposition de la présente loi ou toute autre loi, quiconque commet, à l'étranger, un acte - action ou omission - contre un membre du personnel des Nations Unies ou du personnel associé ou contre des biens visés à l'article 431.1, qui, s'il était commis au Canada, constituerait une infraction aux articles 235, 236, 266, 267, 268, 269, 269.1, 271, 272, 273, 279, 279.1, 424.1 ou 431.1 ou, relativement à une telle infraction, un complot ou une tentative ou un cas de complicité après le fait ou d'encouragement à la perpétration, est réputé avoir commis l'acte au Canada dans les cas suivants :

a) l'acte est commis à bord d'un navire qui est immatriculé en conformité avec une loi L.R., ch. 27

Infraction contre une personne ionissant d'une protection internationale

Infraction: Nations Unies on personnel associé

- which an identification number has been issued, under an Act of Parliament;
- (b) the act or omission is committed on an aircraft
 - (i) registered in Canada under regulations made under the *Aeronautics Act*, or
 - (ii) leased without crew and operated by a person who is qualified under regulations made under the *Aeronautics Act* to be registered as owner of an aircraft in Canada under those regulations;
- (c) the person who commits the act or omission
 - (i) is a Canadian citizen, or
 - (ii) is not a citizen of any state and ordinarily resides in Canada;
- (d) the person who commits the act or omission is, after the commission of the act or omission, present in Canada;
- (e) the act or omission is committed against a Canadian citizen; or
- (f) the act or omission is committed with intent to compel the Government of Canada or of a province to do or refrain from doing any act.

Offence involving explosive or other lethal device

- (3.72) Notwithstanding anything in this Act or any other Act, every one who, outside Canada, commits an act or omission that, if committed in Canada, would constitute an offence against, a conspiracy or an attempt to commit an offence against, or being an accessory after the fact or counselling in relation to an offence against, section 431.2 is deemed to commit that act or omission in Canada if
 - (a) the act or omission is committed on a ship that is registered or licensed, or for which an identification number has been issued, under any Act of Parliament;
 - (b) the act or omission is committed on an aircraft
 - (i) registered in Canada under regulations made under the *Aeronautics Act*.
 - (ii) leased without crew and operated by a person who is qualified under regula-

- fédérale, ou à l'égard duquel un permis ou un numéro d'identification a été délivré en conformité avec une telle loi;
- b) l'acte est commis à bord d'un aéronef :
 - (i) soit immatriculé au Canada au titre des règlements d'application de la *Loi* sur l'aéronautique,
 - (ii) soit loué sans équipage et mis en service par une personne remplissant, aux termes des règlements d'application de la *Loi sur l'aéronautique*, les conditions d'inscription comme propriétaire d'un aéronef immatriculé au Canada sous le régime de ces règlements;
- c) l'auteur de l'acte :
 - (i) soit a la citoyenneté canadienne,
 - (ii) soit n'a la citoyenneté d'aucun État et réside habituellement au Canada;
- d) l'auteur de l'acte se trouve au Canada après la commission;
- e) l'acte est commis contre un citoyen canadien;
- f) l'acte est commis dans le but de contraindre le gouvernement du Canada ou d'une province à accomplir un acte quelconque ou à s'en abstenir.
- (3.72) Malgré toute autre disposition de la présente loi ou toute autre loi, quiconque commet, à l'étranger, un acte action ou omission qui, s'il était commis au Canada, constituerait une infraction à l'article 431.2 ou, relativement à une telle infraction, un complot ou une tentative ou un cas de complicité après le fait ou d'encouragement à la perpétration, est réputé avoir commis l'acte au Canada dans les cas suivants :
 - a) l'acte est commis à bord d'un navire qui est immatriculé en conformité avec une loi fédérale, ou à l'égard duquel un permis ou un numéro d'identification a été délivré en conformité avec une telle loi;
 - b) l'acte est commis à bord d'un aéronef :
 - (i) soit immatriculé au Canada en vertu des règlements d'application de la *Loi* sur l'aéronautique,

Infraction: engin explosif ou autre engin meurtrier

- tions made under the *Aeronautics Act* to be registered as owner of an aircraft in Canada under those regulations, or
- (iii) operated for or on behalf of the Government of Canada;
- (c) the person who commits the act or omission
 - (i) is a Canadian citizen, or
 - (ii) is not a citizen of any state and ordinarily resides in Canada;
- (d) the person who commits the act or omission is, after the commission of the act or omission, present in Canada;
- (e) the act or omission is committed against a Canadian citizen:
- (f) the act or omission is committed with intent to compel the Government of Canada or of a province to do or refrain from doing any act; or
- (g) the act or omission is committed against a Canadian government or public facility located outside Canada.
- Offence relating to financing of terrorism
- (3.73) Notwithstanding anything in this Act or any other Act, every one who, outside Canada, commits an act or omission that, if committed in Canada, would constitute an offence against, a conspiracy or an attempt to commit an offence against, or being an accessory after the fact or counselling in relation to an offence against, section 83.02 is deemed to commit the act or omission in Canada if
 - (a) the act or omission is committed on a ship that is registered or licensed, or for which an identification number has been issued, under an Act of Parliament:
 - (b) the act or omission is committed on an aircraft
 - (i) registered in Canada under regulations made under the *Aeronautics Act*, or
 - (ii) leased without crew and operated by a person who is qualified under regulations made under the *Aeronautics Act* to be registered as the owner of an aircraft in Canada under those regulations;

- (ii) soit loué sans équipage et mis en service par une personne remplissant, aux termes des règlements d'application de la *Loi sur l'aéronautique*, les conditions d'inscription comme propriétaire d'un aéronef immatriculé au Canada sous le régime de ces règlements,
- (iii) soit mis en service par le gouvernement du Canada ou pour son compte;
- c) l'auteur de l'acte :
 - (i) soit a la citoyenneté canadienne,
 - (ii) soit n'a la citoyenneté d'aucun État et réside habituellement au Canada;
- d) l'auteur de l'acte se trouve au Canada après la commission;
- e) l'acte est commis contre un citoyen canadien;
- f) l'acte est commis dans le but de contraindre le gouvernement du Canada ou d'une province à accomplir un acte quelconque ou à s'en abstenir;
- g) l'acte est commis contre une installation gouvernementale ou publique canadienne située à l'étranger.
- (3.73) Malgré toute autre disposition de la présente loi ou toute autre loi, quiconque commet, à l'étranger, un acte action ou omission qui, s'il était commis au Canada, constituerait une infraction à l'article 83.02 ou, relativement à une telle infraction, un complot ou une tentative ou un cas de complicité après le fait ou d'encouragement à la perpétration, est réputé avoir commis l'acte au Canada, dans les cas suivants :
 - a) l'acte est commis à bord d'un navire qui est immatriculé en conformité avec une loi fédérale, ou à l'égard duquel un permis ou un numéro d'identification a été délivré en conformité avec une telle loi;
 - b) l'acte est commis à bord d'un aéronef :
 - (i) soit immatriculé au Canada en vertu des règlements d'application de la *Loi* sur l'aéronautique,
 - (ii) soit loué sans équipage et mis en service par une personne remplissant, aux termes des règlements d'application

Infraction concernant le financement du terrorisme

- (c) the person who commits the act or omission
 - (i) is a Canadian citizen, or
 - (ii) is not a citizen of any state and ordinarily resides in Canada;
- (d) the person who commits the act or omission is, after its commission, present in Canada:
- (e) the act or omission is committed for the purpose of committing an act or omission referred to in paragraph 83.02(a) or (b) in order to compel the Government of Canada or of a province to do or refrain from doing any act;
- (f) the act or omission is committed for the purpose of committing an act or omission referred to in paragraph 83.02(a) or (b) against a Canadian government or public facility located outside Canada; or
- (g) the act or omission is committed for the purpose of committing an act or omission referred to in paragraph 83.02(a) or (b) in Canada or against a Canadian citizen.

Terrorism offence committed outside Canada

Terrorist

activity

outside

Canada

committed

- (3.74) Notwithstanding anything in this Act or any other Act, every one who commits an act or omission outside Canada that, if committed in Canada, would be a terrorism offence, other than an offence under section 83.02 or an offence referred to in paragraph (a) of the definition "terrorist activity" in subsection 83.01(1), is deemed to have committed that act or omission in Canada if the person
 - (a) is a Canadian citizen;
 - (b) is not a citizen of any state and ordinarily resides in Canada; or
 - (c) is a permanent resident within the meaning of subsection 2(1) of the *Immigration Act* and is, after the commission of the act or omission, present in Canada.
- (3.75) Notwithstanding anything in this Act or any other Act, every one who commits an act or omission outside Canada that, if committed in Canada, would be an indictable offence and would also constitute a terrorist activity referred to in paragraph (b) of the

de la *Loi sur l'aéronautique*, les conditions d'inscription comme propriétaire d'un aéronef immatriculé au Canada en vertu de ces règlements;

- c) l'auteur de l'acte:
 - (i) soit a la citoyenneté canadienne,
 - (ii) soit n'a la citoyenneté d'aucun État et réside habituellement au Canada;
- d) l'auteur de l'acte se trouve au Canada après la commission;
- e) l'acte est commis en vue de la perpétration d'un acte prévu aux alinéas 83.02a) ou b) dans le but de contraindre le gouvernement du Canada ou d'une province à accomplir un acte quelconque ou à s'en abstenir;
- f) l'acte est commis contre une installation gouvernementale ou publique canadienne située à l'étranger, en vue de commettre un acte prévu aux alinéas 83.02a) ou b);
- g) l'acte est commis en vue de commettre, au Canada ou contre un citoyen canadien, un acte prévu aux alinéas 83.02a) ou b).
- (3.74) Malgré toute autre disposition de la présente loi ou toute autre loi, quiconque commet à l'étranger un acte action ou omission qui, s'il était commis au Canada, constituerait une infraction de terrorisme à l'exception de l'infraction prévue à l'article 83.02 et de l'infraction visée à l'alinéa *a*) de la définition de « activité terroriste », au paragraphe 83.01(1) est réputé commettre l'acte au Canada si, selon le cas :
 - a) il a la citoyenneté canadienne;
 - b) il n'a la citoyenneté d'aucun État et réside habituellement au Canada;
 - c) il est un résident permanent du Canada au sens du paragraphe 2(1) de la *Loi sur l'immigration* et se trouve au Canada après la commission de l'acte.
- (3.75) Malgré toute autre disposition de la présente loi ou toute autre loi, quiconque commet à l'étranger un acte action ou omission qui, s'il était commis au Canada, constituerait à la fois un acte criminel et une activité terroriste visée à l'alinéa b) de la

terrorisme commise à l'étranger

Infraction de

Infraction de terrorisme commise à l'étranger

ch. 41

definition "terrorist activity" in subsection 83.01(1) is deemed to commit that act or omission in Canada if

- (a) the act or omission is committed against a Canadian citizen;
- (b) the act or omission is committed against a Canadian government or public facility located outside Canada; or
- (c) the act or omission is committed with intent to compel the Government of Canada or of a province to do or refrain from doing any act.

(3) Subsection 7(7) of the Act is replaced by the following:

If accused not Canadian citizen (7) If the accused is not a Canadian citizen, no proceedings in respect of which courts have jurisdiction by virtue of this section shall be continued unless the consent of the Attorney General of Canada is obtained not later than eight days after the proceedings are commenced.

(4) Subsection 7(10) of the Act is replaced by the following:

(3rd Supp.), s. 1(4); 1995, c. 5, par. 25(1)(g)

evidence

R.S., c. 30

(10) In any proceedings under this Act, a certificate purporting to have been issued by or under the authority of the Minister of Foreign Affairs is admissible in evidence without proof of the signature or authority of the person appearing to have signed it and, in the absence of evidence to the contrary, is proof of the facts it states that are relevant to the question of whether any person is a member of United Nations personnel, a member of associated personnel or a person who is entitled under international law to protection from attack or threat of attack against his or her person, freedom or dignity.

4. The Act is amended by adding the following after section 83:

définition de « activité terroriste » au paragraphe 83.01(1), est réputé commettre l'acte au Canada dans l'un ou l'autre des cas suivants :

- *a*) la personne contre laquelle l'acte est commis a la citoyenneté canadienne;
- b) l'acte est commis contre une installation gouvernementale ou publique canadienne située à l'étranger;
- c) l'acte est commis dans le but de contraindre le gouvernement du Canada ou d'une province à accomplir un acte quelconque ou à s'en abstenir.

(3) Le paragraphe 7(7) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

(7) Si l'accusé n'a pas la citoyenneté canadienne, il est mis fin aux poursuites à l'égard desquelles les tribunaux ont compétence aux termes du présent article, sauf si le procureur général du Canada donne son consentement au plus tard huit jours après qu'elles ont été engagées.

L'accusé n'est pas citoyen canadien

(4) Le paragraphe 7(10) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

(10) Lors de poursuites intentées en vertu de

L.R., ch. 30 (3^e suppl.), par. 1(4); 1995, ch. 5, al. 25(1)g)

la présente loi, tout certificat apparemment délivré par le ministre des Affaires étrangères ou en son nom est admissible en preuve, sans qu'il soit nécessaire de prouver l'authenticité de la signature qui y est apposée ou la qualité officielle du signataire, et fait foi jusqu'à preuve contraire des faits qu'il énonce et qui ont trait à la question de savoir si une personne fait partie du personnel des Nations Unies ou du personnel associé ou a droit, conformé-

4. La même loi est modifiée par adjonction, après l'article 83, de ce qui suit :

ment au droit international, à la protection

contre toute atteinte ou menace d'atteinte à sa

personne, à sa liberté ou à sa dignité.

Certificat du ministre des Affaires étrangères

PART II.1

TERRORISM

TERRORISME

PARTIE II.1

Interpretation

83.01 (1) The following definitions apply in this Part.

"Canadian" « Canadien »

Definitions

"Canadian" means a Canadian citizen or a permanent resident, within the meaning of subsection 2(1) of the Immigration Act, or a body corporate incorporated or continued under the laws of Canada or a province.

"entity" « entité »

ship or fund or an unincorporated association or organization.

"listed entity' « entité inscrite »

"terrorist activity' « activité terroriste » "entity" means a person, group, trust, partner-

"listed entity" means an entity on a list established by the Governor in Council under section 83.05.

"terrorist activity" means

- (a) an act or omission that is committed in or outside Canada and that, if committed in Canada, is one of the following offences:
 - (i) the offences referred to in subsection 7(2) that implement the Convention for the Suppression of Unlawful Seizure of Aircraft, signed at The Hague on December 16, 1970,
 - (ii) the offences referred to in subsection 7(2) that implement the Convention for the Suppression of Unlawful Acts against the Safety of Civil Aviation, signed at Montreal on September 23, 1971,
 - (iii) the offences referred to in subsection 7(3) that implement the Convention on the Prevention and Punishment of Crimes against Internationally Protected Persons, including Diplomatic Agents, adopted by the General Assembly of the United Nations on December 14, 1973,
 - (iv) the offences referred to in subsection 7(3.1) that implement the *Interna*tional Convention against the Taking of Hostages, adopted by the General

Définitions et interprétation

83.01 (1) Les définitions qui suivent s'appliquent à la présente partie.

« activité terroriste »

« activité terroriste » "terrorist activity"

Définitions

- a) Soit un acte action ou omission, commise au Canada ou à l'étranger - qui, au Canada, constitue une des infractions suivantes:
 - (i) les infractions visées au paragraphe 7(2) et mettant en oeuvre la Convention pour la répression de la capture illicite d'aéronefs, signée à La Haye le 16 décembre 1970,
 - (ii) les infractions visées au paragraphe 7(2) et mettant en oeuvre la Convention pour la répression d'actes illicites dirigés contre la sécurité de l'aviation civile, signée à Montréal le 23 septembre 1971,
 - (iii) les infractions visées au paragraphe 7(3) et mettant en oeuvre la Convention sur la prévention et la répression des infractions contre les personnes jouissant d'une protection internationale, y compris les agents diplomatiques, adoptée par l'Assemblée générale des Nations Unies le 14 décembre 1973.
 - (iv) les infractions visées au paragraphe 7(3.1) et mettant en oeuvre la Convention internationale contre la prise d'otages, adoptée par l'Assemblée générale des Nations Unies le 17 décembre 1979,
 - (v) les infractions visées aux paragraphes 7(3.4) ou (3.6) et mettant en oeuvre la Convention sur la protection physique des matières nucléaires. conclue à New York et Vienne le 3 mars 1980,
 - (vi) les infractions visées au paragraphe 7(2) et mettant en oeuvre le Protocole pour la répression des actes

- Assembly of the United Nations on December 17, 1979,
- (v) the offences referred to in subsection 7(3.4) or (3.6) that implement the *Convention on the Physical Protection of Nuclear Material*, done at Vienna and New York on March 3, 1980,
- (vi) the offences referred to in subsection 7(2) that implement the *Protocol* for the Suppression of Unlawful Acts of Violence at Airports Serving International Civil Aviation, supplementary to the Convention for the Suppression of Unlawful Acts against the Safety of Civil Aviation, signed at Montreal on February 24, 1988,
- (vii) the offences referred to in subsection 7(2.1) that implement the *Convention for the Suppression of Unlawful Acts against the Safety of Maritime Navigation*, done at Rome on March 10, 1988,
- (viii) the offences referred to in subsection 7(2.1) or (2.2) that implement the *Protocol for the Suppression of Unlawful Acts against the Safety of Fixed Platforms Located on the Continental Shelf*, done at Rome on March 10, 1988.
- (ix) the offences referred to in subsection 7(3.72) that implement the *International Convention for the Suppression of Terrorist Bombings*, adopted by the General Assembly of the United Nations on December 15, 1997, and
- (x) the offences referred to in subsection 7(3.73) that implement the *International Convention for the Suppression of the Financing of Terrorism*, adopted by the General Assembly of the United Nations on December 9, 1999, or
- (b) an act or omission, in or outside Canada,
 - (i) that is committed

- illicites de violence dans les aéroports servant à l'aviation civile internationale, complémentaire à la Convention pour la répression d'actes illicites dirigés contre la sécurité de l'aviation civile, signé à Montréal le 24 février 1988.
- (vii) les infractions visées au paragraphe 7(2.1) et mettant en oeuvre la *Convention pour la répression d'actes illicites contre la sécurité de la navigation maritime*, conclue à Rome le 10 mars 1988.
- (viii) les infractions visées aux paragraphes 7(2.1) ou (2.2) et mettant en oeuvre le *Protocole pour la répression d'actes illicites contre la sécurité des plates-formes fixes situées sur le plateau continental*, conclu à Rome le 10 mars 1988,
- (ix) les infractions visées au paragraphe 7(3.72) et mettant en oeuvre la *Convention internationale pour la répression des attentats terroristes à l'explosif*, adoptée par l'Assemblée générale des Nations Unies le 15 décembre 1997,
- (x) les infractions visées au paragraphe 7(3.73) et mettant en oeuvre la Convention internationale pour la répression du financement du terrorisme, adoptée par l'Assemblée générale des Nations Unies le 9 décembre 1999;
- b) soit un acte action ou omission, commise au Canada ou à l'étranger :
 - (i) d'une part, commis à la fois :
 - (A) au nom exclusivement ou non d'un but, d'un objectif ou d'une cause de nature politique, religieuse ou idéologique,
 - (B) en vue exclusivement ou non d'intimider tout ou partie de la population quant à sa sécurité, entre autres sur le plan économique, ou de contraindre une personne, un gouvernement ou une organisation nationale ou internationale à ac-

- (A) in whole or in part for a political, religious or ideological purpose, objective or cause, and
- (B) in whole or in part with the intention of intimidating the public, or a segment of the public, with regard to its security, including its economic security, or compelling a person, a government or a domestic or an international organization to do or to refrain from doing any act, whether the public or the person, government or organization is inside or outside Canada, and

(ii) that intentionally

- (A) causes death or serious bodily harm to a person by the use of violence,
- (B) endangers a person's life,
- (C) causes a serious risk to the health or safety of the public or any segment of the public,
- (D) causes substantial property damage, whether to public or private property, if causing such damage is likely to result in the conduct or harm referred to in any of clauses (A) to (C), or
- (E) causes serious interference with or serious disruption of an essential service, facility or system, whether public or private, other than as a result of advocacy, protest, dissent or stoppage of work that is not intended to result in the conduct or harm referred to in any of clauses (A) to (C).

and includes a conspiracy, attempt or threat to commit any such act or omission, or being an accessory after the fact or counselling in relation to any such act or omission, but, for greater certainty, does not include an act or omission that is committed during an armed conflict and that, at the time and in the place of its commission, is in accordance with customary international law or conventional international law appli-

- complir un acte ou à s'en abstenir, que la personne, la population, le gouvernement ou l'organisation soit ou non au Canada.
- (ii) d'autre part, qui intentionnellement, selon le cas :
 - (A) cause des blessures graves à une personne ou la mort de celle-ci, par l'usage de la violence,
 - (B) met en danger la vie d'une personne,
 - (C) compromet gravement la santé ou la sécurité de tout ou partie de la population,
 - (D) cause des dommages matériels considérables, que les biens visés soient publics ou privés, dans des circonstances telles qu'il est probable que l'une des situations mentionnées aux divisions (A) à (C) en résultera,
 - (E) perturbe gravement ou paralyse des services, installations ou systèmes essentiels, publics ou privés, sauf dans le cadre de revendications, de protestations ou de manifestations d'un désaccord ou d'un arrêt de travail qui n'ont pas pour but de provoquer l'une des situations mentionnées aux divisions (A) à (C).

Sont visés par la présente définition, relativement à un tel acte, le complot, la tentative, la menace, la complicité après le fait et l'encouragement à la perpétration; il est entendu que sont exclus de la présente définition l'acte — action 011 omission — commis au cours d'un conflit armé et conforme, au moment et au lieu de la perpétration, au droit international coutumier ou au droit international conventionnel applicable au conflit ainsi que les activités menées par les forces armées d'un État dans l'exercice de leurs fonctions officielles, dans la mesure où ces activités sont régies par d'autres règles de droit international.

cable to the conflict, or the activities undertaken by military forces of a state in the exercise of their official duties, to the extent that those activities are governed by other rules of international law.

"terrorist group" « groupe terroriste » "terrorist group" means

- (a) an entity that has as one of its purposes or activities facilitating or carrying out any terrorist activity, or
- (b) a listed entity,

and includes an association of such entities.

For greater certainty (1.1) For greater certainty, the expression of a political, religious or ideological thought, belief or opinion does not come within paragraph (b) of the definition "terrorist activity" in subsection (1) unless it constitutes an act or omission that satisfies the criteria of that paragraph.

Facilitation

(2) For the purposes of this Part, facilitation shall be construed in accordance with subsection 83.19(2).

Financing of Terrorism

Providing or collecting property for certain activities

- **83.02** Every one who, directly or indirectly, wilfully and without lawful justification or excuse, provides or collects property intending that it be used or knowing that it will be used, in whole or in part, in order to carry out
 - (a) an act or omission that constitutes an offence referred to in subparagraphs (a)(i) to (ix) of the definition of "terrorist activity" in subsection 83.01(1), or
 - (b) any other act or omission intended to cause death or serious bodily harm to a civilian or to any other person not taking an

- « Canadien » Citoyen canadien ou résident permanent, au sens du paragraphe 2(1) de la *Loi sur l'immigration*, ou personne morale constituée ou prorogée sous le régime d'une loi fédérale ou provinciale.
- « entité » Personne, groupe, fiducie, société de personnes ou fonds, ou organisation ou association non dotée de la personnalité morale.
- « entité inscrite » Entité inscrite sur la liste établie par le gouverneur en conseil en vertu de l'article 83.05.
- « groupe terroriste »
 - a) Soit une entité dont l'un des objets ou l'une des activités est de se livrer à des activités terroristes ou de les faciliter;
 - b) soit une entité inscrite.

Est assimilé à un groupe terroriste un groupe ou une association formé de groupes terroristes au sens de la présente définition.

- (1.1) Il est entendu que l'expression d'une pensée, d'une croyance ou d'une opinion de nature politique, religieuse ou idéologique n'est visée à l'alinéa b) de la définition de « activité terroriste » au paragraphe (1) que si elle constitue un acte action ou omission répondant aux critères de cet alinéa.
- (2) Pour l'application de la présente partie, faciliter s'interprète en conformité avec le paragraphe 83.19(2).

Financement du terrorisme

- **83.02** Est coupable d'un acte criminel passible d'un emprisonnement maximal de dix ans quiconque, directement ou non, fournit ou réunit, délibérément et sans justification ou excuse légitime, des biens dans l'intention de les voir utiliser ou en sachant qu'ils seront utilisés en tout ou en partie, en vue :
 - a) d'un acte action ou omission qui constitue l'une des infractions prévues aux sous-alinéas a)(i) à (ix) de la définition de « activité terroriste » au paragraphe 83.01(1);

« Canadien » "Canadian"

« entité »

« entité inscrite » "listed entity"

« groupe terroriste » "terrorist group"

Interprétation

Facilitation

Fournir ou réunir des biens en vue de certains actes active part in the hostilities in a situation of armed conflict, if the purpose of that act or omission, by its nature or context, is to intimidate the public, or to compel a government or an international organization to do or refrain from doing any act,

is guilty of an indictable offence and is liable to imprisonment for a term of not more than 10 years.

Providing, making available, etc., property or services for terrorist purposes

- **83.03** Every one who, directly or indirectly, collects property, provides or invites a person to provide, or makes available property or financial or other related services
 - (a) intending that they be used, or knowing that they will be used, in whole or in part, for the purpose of facilitating or carrying out any terrorist activity, or for the purpose of benefiting any person who is facilitating or carrying out such an activity, or
 - (b) knowing that, in whole or part, they will be used by or will benefit a terrorist group,

is guilty of an indictable offence and is liable to imprisonment for a term of not more than 10 years.

Using or possessing property for terrorist purposes

83.04 Every one who

- (a) uses property, directly or indirectly, in whole or in part, for the purpose of facilitating or carrying out a terrorist activity, or
- (b) possesses property intending that it be used or knowing that it will be used, directly or indirectly, in whole or in part, for the purpose of facilitating or carrying out a terrorist activity,

is guilty of an indictable offence and is liable to imprisonment for a term of not more than 10 years.

- b) de tout autre acte action ou omission destiné à causer la mort ou des dommages corporels graves à une personne qui ne participe pas directement aux hostilités dans une situation de conflit armé, notamment un civil, si, par sa nature ou son contexte, cet acte est destiné à intimider la population ou à contraindre un gouvernement ou une organisation internationale à accomplir ou à s'abstenir d'accomplir un acte quelconque.
- **83.03** Est coupable d'un acte criminel passible d'un emprisonnement maximal de dix ans quiconque, directement ou non, réunit des biens ou fournit ou invite une autre personne à le faire ou rend disponibles des biens ou des services financiers ou connexes :
 - a) soit dans l'intention de les voir utiliser — ou en sachant qu'ils seront utilisés —, en tout ou en partie, pour une activité terroriste, pour faciliter une telle activité ou pour en faire bénéficier une personne qui se livre à une telle activité ou la facilite:
 - b) soit en sachant qu'ils seront utilisés, en tout ou en partie, par un groupe terroriste ou qu'ils bénéficieront, en tout ou en partie, à celui-ci.
- **83.04** Est coupable d'un acte criminel passible d'un emprisonnement maximal de dix ans quiconque, selon le cas :
 - *a*) utilise directement ou non, en tout ou en partie, des biens pour une activité terroriste ou pour la faciliter;
 - b) a en sa possession des biens dans l'intention de les voir utiliser ou en sachant qu'ils seront utilisés directement ou non, en tout ou en partie, pour une activité terroriste ou pour la faciliter.

Fournir, rendre disponibles, etc. des biens ou services à des fins terroristes

Utiliser ou avoir en sa possession des biens à des fins terroristes

17

ch. 41

List of Entities

Establishment 83.05 (1) The Governor in Council may, by of list regulation, establish a list on which the Governor in Council may place any entity if,

on the recommendation of the Solicitor General of Canada, the Governor in Council is satisfied that there are reasonable grounds to believe that

- (a) the entity has knowingly carried out, attempted to carry out, participated in or facilitated a terrorist activity; or
- (b) the entity is knowingly acting on behalf of, at the direction of or in association with an entity referred to in paragraph (a).

Recommendation

(1.1) The Solicitor General may make a recommendation referred to in subsection (1) only if the Solicitor General has reasonable grounds to believe that the entity to which the recommendation relates is an entity referred to in paragraph (1)(a) or (b).

Application to Solicitor General

(2) On application in writing by a listed entity, the Solicitor General shall decide whether there are reasonable grounds to recommend to the Governor in Council that the applicant no longer be a listed entity.

Deeming

(3) If the Solicitor General does not make a decision on the application referred to in subsection (2) within 60 days after receipt of the application, the Solicitor General is deemed to have decided to recommend that the applicant remain a listed entity.

Notice of the decision to the applicant

(4) The Solicitor General must give notice without delay to the applicant of any decision taken or deemed to have been taken respecting the application referred to in subsection (2).

Judicial review

(5) Within 60 days after the receipt of the notice of the decision referred to in subsection (4), the applicant may apply to a judge for judicial review of the decision.

Reference

- (6) When an application is made under subsection (5), the judge shall, without delay
 - (a) examine, in private, any security or criminal intelligence reports considered in listing the applicant and hear any other evidence or information that may be presented by or on behalf of the Solicitor General and may, at the request of the

Inscription des entités

83.05 (1) Le gouverneur en conseil peut, par règlement, établir une liste sur laquelle il inscrit toute entité dont il est convaincu, sur la recommandation du solliciteur général du Canada, qu'il existe des motifs raisonnables de croire:

- a) que, sciemment, elle s'est livrée ou a tenté de se livrer à une activité terroriste, y a participé ou l'a facilitée;
- b) que, sciemment, elle agit au nom d'une entité visée à l'alinéa a), sous sa direction ou en collaboration avec elle.
- (1.1) Le solliciteur général ne fait la recommandation visée au paragraphe (1) que s'il a des motifs raisonnables de croire que l'entité en cause est visée aux alinéas (1)a) ou b).

(2) Le solliciteur général, saisi d'une demande écrite présentée par une entité inscrite, décide s'il a des motifs raisonnables de recommander ou non au gouverneur en conseil de radier celle-ci de la liste.

(3) S'il ne rend pas sa décision dans les soixante jours suivant la réception de la demande, il est réputé avoir décidé de ne pas recommander la radiation.

(4) Il donne sans délai au demandeur un avis de la décision qu'il a rendue ou qu'il est réputé avoir rendue relativement à la demande.

(5) Dans les soixante jours suivant la réception de l'avis, le demandeur peut présenter au juge une demande de révision de la décision.

(6) Dès qu'il est saisi de la demande, le juge procède de la façon suivante :

a) il examine à huis clos les renseignements en matière de sécurité ou de criminalité qui ont été pris en considération pour l'inscription du demandeur sur la liste et recueille les autres éléments de preuve ou d'information présentés par le solliciteur général ou

Établissement de la liste

Recommandation

Radiation

Présomption

Avis de la décision au demandeur

Contrôle judiciaire

Examen iudiciaire Solicitor General, hear all or part of that evidence or information in the absence of the applicant and any counsel representing the applicant, if the judge is of the opinion that the disclosure of the information would injure national security or endanger the safety of any person;

- (b) provide the applicant with a statement summarizing the information available to the judge so as to enable the applicant to be reasonably informed of the reasons for the decision, without disclosing any information the disclosure of which would, in the judge's opinion, injure national security or endanger the safety of any person;
- (c) provide the applicant with a reasonable opportunity to be heard; and
- (d) determine whether the decision is reasonable on the basis of the information available to the judge and, if found not to be reasonable, order that the applicant no longer be a listed entity.

Evidence

18

(6.1) The judge may receive into evidence anything that, in the opinion of the judge, is reliable and appropriate, even if it would not otherwise be admissible under Canadian law, and may base his or her decision on that evidence.

Publication

(7) The Solicitor General shall cause to be published, without delay, in the *Canada Gazette* notice of a final order of a court that the applicant no longer be a listed entity.

New application

(8) A listed entity may not make another application under subsection (2), except if there has been a material change in its circumstances since the time when the entity made its last application or if the Solicitor General has completed the review under subsection (9).

Review of list

(9) Two years after the establishment of the list referred to in subsection (1), and every two years after that, the Solicitor General shall review the list to determine whether there are still reasonable grounds, as set out in subsection (1), for an entity to be a listed entity and make a recommendation to the Governor in Council as to whether the entity should remain a listed entity. The review does not affect the validity of the list.

en son nom; il peut, à la demande de celui-ci, recueillir tout ou partie de ces éléments en l'absence du demandeur ou de son avocat, s'il estime que leur divulgation porterait atteinte à la sécurité nationale ou à la sécurité d'autrui:

- b) il fournit au demandeur un résumé de l'information dont il dispose sauf celle dont la divulgation pourrait, à son avis, porter atteinte à la sécurité nationale ou à la sécurité d'autrui afin de lui permettre d'être suffisamment informé des motifs de la décision:
- c) il donne au demandeur la possibilité d'être entendu:
- d) il décide si la décision est raisonnable compte tenu de l'information dont il dispose et, dans le cas où il décide que la décision n'est pas raisonnable, il ordonne la radiation.

(6.1) Le juge peut recevoir et admettre en preuve tout élément qu'il estime digne de foi et approprié — même si le droit canadien ne prévoit pas par ailleurs son admissibilité — et peut fonder sa décision sur cet élément.

Preuve

49-50 ELIZ. II

- (7) Une fois la décision ordonnant la radiation passée en force de chose jugée, le solliciteur général en fait publier avis sans délai dans la *Gazette du Canada*.
- (8) L'entité inscrite ne peut présenter une nouvelle demande de radiation en vertu du paragraphe (2) que si sa situation a évolué d'une manière importante depuis la présentation de sa dernière demande ou que si le solliciteur général a terminé l'examen mentionné au paragraphe (9).
- (9) Tous les deux ans à compter du deuxième anniversaire de l'établissement de la liste, le solliciteur général examine celle-ci pour savoir si les motifs visés au paragraphe (1) justifiant l'inscription d'une telle entité sur la liste existent toujours et recommande au gouverneur en conseil, selon le cas, de radier ou non cette entité de la liste. L'examen est sans effet sur la validité de la liste.

Publication

Nouvelle demande de radiation

Examen périodique de la liste

Fin de

l'examen

ch. 41

Completion of

(10) The Solicitor General shall complete the review as soon as possible and in any event, no later than 120 days after its commencement. After completing the review, the Solicitor General shall cause to be published, without delay, in the *Canada Gazette* notice that the review has been completed.

Definition of "judge"

(11) In this section, "judge" means the Chief Justice of the Federal Court or a judge of the Trial Division of that Court designated by the Chief Justice.

Admission of foreign information obtained in confidence

- **83.06** (1) For the purposes of subsection 83.05(6), in private and in the absence of the applicant or any counsel representing it,
 - (a) the Solicitor General of Canada may make an application to the judge for the admission of information obtained in confidence from a government, an institution or an agency of a foreign state, from an international organization of states or from an institution or an agency of an international organization of states; and
 - (b) the judge shall examine the information and provide counsel representing the Solicitor General with a reasonable opportunity to be heard as to whether the information is relevant but should not be disclosed to the applicant or any counsel representing it because the disclosure would injure national security or endanger the safety of any person.

Return of information

- (2) The information shall be returned to counsel representing the Solicitor General and shall not be considered by the judge in making the determination under paragraph 83.05(6)(*d*), if
 - (a) the judge determines that the information is not relevant;
 - (b) the judge determines that the information is relevant but should be summarized in the statement to be provided under paragraph 83.05(6)(b); or
 - (c) the Solicitor General withdraws the application.

(10) Il termine son examen dans les meilleurs délais mais au plus tard cent vingt jours après l'avoir commencé. Une fois l'examen terminé, il fait publier sans délai un avis à cet effet dans la *Gazette du Canada*.

19

(11) Au présent article, « juge » s'entend du juge en chef de la Cour fédérale ou du juge de la Section de première instance de ce tribunal désigné par le juge en chef.

Définition de « juge »

83.06 (1) Pour l'application du paragraphe 83.05(6), procédant à huis clos et en l'absence du demandeur ou de son avocat :

Renseignements secrets obtenus de gouvernements étrangers

- a) le solliciteur général du Canada peut présenter au juge une demande en vue de faire admettre en preuve des renseignements obtenus sous le sceau du secret du gouvernement d'un État étranger ou d'une organisation internationale d'États, ou de l'un de leurs organismes;
- b) le juge examine les renseignements et accorde à l'avocat du solliciteur général la possibilité de lui présenter ses arguments sur la pertinence des renseignements et le fait qu'ils ne devraient pas être communiqués au demandeur ou à son avocat parce que la communication porterait atteinte à la sécurité nationale ou à la sécurité d'autrui.
- (2) Ces renseignements sont renvoyés à l'avocat du solliciteur général et ne peuvent servir de fondement à la décision rendue au titre de l'alinéa 83.05(6)d) dans les cas suivants :
 - a) le juge décide qu'ils ne sont pas pertinents;
 - b) le juge décide qu'ils sont pertinents, mais qu'ils devraient faire partie du résumé à fournir au titre de l'alinéa 83.05(6)b);
 - c) le solliciteur général retire la demande.

Renvoi des renseignements Use of information

20

(3) If the judge decides that the information is relevant but that its disclosure would injure national security or endanger the safety of persons, the information shall not be disclosed in the statement mentioned in paragraph 83.05(6)(b), but the judge may base the determination under paragraph 83.05(6)(d) on

(3) Si le juge décide que ces renseignements sont pertinents, mais que leur communication au titre de l'alinéa 83.05(6)b) porterait atteinte à la sécurité nationale ou à la sécurité d'autrui, il les exclut du résumé, mais peut s'en servir comme fondement de la décision qu'il rend au titre de l'alinéa 83.05(6)d).

Utilisation renseignements

Mistaken identity

83.07 (1) An entity claiming not to be a listed entity may apply to the Solicitor General of Canada for a certificate stating that it is not a listed entity.

83.07 (1) L'entité qui prétend ne pas être une entité inscrite peut demander au solliciteur général du Canada de lui délivrer un certificat à cet effet.

Erreur sur la personne

Issuance of certificate

(2) The Solicitor General shall, within 15 days after receiving the application, issue a certificate if satisfied that the applicant is not a listed entity.

(2) S'il est convaincu que le demandeur n'est pas une entité inscrite, il délivre le certificat dans les quinze jours suivant la réception de la demande.

Délivrance du certificat

Freezing of Property

Freezing of property

- 83.08 (1) No person in Canada and no Canadian outside Canada shall knowingly
 - (a) deal directly or indirectly in any property that is owned or controlled by or on behalf of a terrorist group;
 - (b) enter into or facilitate, directly or indirectly, any transaction in respect of property referred to in paragraph (a); or

Blocage des biens

83.08 (1) Il est interdit à toute personne au Canada et à tout Canadien à l'étranger :

a) d'effectuer sciemment, directement ou

non, une opération portant sur des biens qui

appartiennent à un groupe terroriste, ou qui sont à sa disposition, directement ou non;

Blocage des

- (c) provide any financial or other related
- services in respect of property referred to in paragraph (a) to, for the benefit of or at the direction of a terrorist group.
- b) de conclure sciemment, directement ou non, une opération relativement à des biens visés à l'alinéa a) ou d'en faciliter sciemment, directement ou non, la conclusion;
- c) de fournir sciemment toute forme de services financiers ou connexes liés à des biens visés à l'alinéa a) à un groupe terroriste, pour son profit ou sur son ordre.

(2) Nul ne peut être poursuivi au civil pour avoir fait ou omis de faire quoi que ce soit dans le but de se conformer au paragraphe (1), s'il a agi raisonnablement et pris toutes les dispositions voulues pour se convaincre que le bien en cause appartient à un groupe terroriste

ou est à sa disposition, directement ou non.

Immunité

No civil

(2) A person who acts reasonably in taking, or omitting to take, measures to comply with subsection (1) shall not be liable in any civil action arising from having taken or omitted to take the measures, if the person took all reasonable steps to satisfy themself that the relevant property was owned or controlled by or on behalf of a terrorist group.

Exemptions

83.09 (1) The Solicitor General of Canada or a person designated by the Solicitor General may authorize any person in Canada or any Canadian outside Canada to carry out a specified activity or transaction that is prohibited by section 83.08, or a class of such activities or transactions.

83.09 (1) Le solliciteur général du Canada — ou toute personne qu'il désigne — peut autoriser toute personne au Canada ou tout Canadien à l'étranger à se livrer à toute opération ou activité — ou catégorie d'opérations ou d'activités — qu'interdit l'article 83.08.

Exemptions

Ministerial authorization

(2) The Solicitor General or a person designated by the Solicitor General may make the authorization subject to any terms and conditions that are required in their opinion, and may amend, suspend, revoke or reinstate it.

Existing equities maintained

(3) All secured and unsecured rights and interests in the frozen property that are held by persons, other than terrorist groups or their agents, are entitled to the same ranking that they would have been entitled to had the property not been frozen.

Third party involvement

(4) If a person has obtained an authorization under subsection (1), any other person involved in carrying out the activity or transaction, or class of activities or transactions, to which the authorization relates is not subject to sections 83.08, 83.1 and 83.11 if the terms or conditions of the authorization that are imposed under subsection (2), if any, are met.

Disclosure

- **83.1** (1) Every person in Canada and every Canadian outside Canada shall disclose forthwith to the Commissioner of the Royal Canadian Mounted Police and to the Director of the Canadian Security Intelligence Service
 - (a) the existence of property in their possession or control that they know is owned or controlled by or on behalf of a terrorist group; and
 - (b) information about a transaction or proposed transaction in respect of property referred to in paragraph (a).

Immunity

(2) No criminal or civil proceedings lie against a person for disclosure made in good faith under subsection (1).

Audit

- **83.11** (1) The following entities must determine on a continuing basis whether they are in possession or control of property owned or controlled by or on behalf of a listed entity:
 - (a) authorized foreign banks within the meaning of section 2 of the *Bank Act* in respect of their business in Canada, or banks to which that Act applies;

(2) Il peut assortir l'autorisation des conditions qu'il estime nécessaires; il peut également la modifier, la suspendre, la révoquer ou la rétablir.

(3) Le blocage ne porte pas atteinte au rang des droits et intérêts — garantis ou non — détenus sur les biens qui en font l'objet par des personnes qui ne sont pas des groupes terroristes ou des mandataires de ceux-ci.

Tiers participant

Rang

21

Autorisation

- (4) Dans le cas où une personne a obtenu une autorisation en vertu du paragraphe (1), toute autre personne qui participe à l'opération ou à l'activité—ou à la catégorie d'opérations ou d'activités—visée par l'autorisation est soustraite à l'application des articles 83.08, 83.1 et 83.11 si les conditions dont l'autorisation est assortie, le cas échéant, sont respectées.
- **83.1** (1) Toute personne au Canada et tout Canadien à l'étranger est tenu de communiquer sans délai au directeur du Service canadien du renseignement de sécurité et au commissaire de la Gendarmerie royale du Canada:
 - a) l'existence de biens qui sont en sa possession ou à sa disposition et qui, à sa connaissance, appartiennent à un groupe terroriste, ou qui sont à sa disposition, directement ou non:
 - b) tout renseignement portant sur une opération, réelle ou projetée, mettant en cause des biens visés à l'alinéa a).
- (2) Nul ne peut être poursuivi pour avoir fait de bonne foi une communication au titre du paragraphe (1).
- **83.11** (1) Il incombe aux entités ci-après de vérifier de façon continue l'existence de biens qui sont en leur possession ou à leur disposition et qui appartiennent à une entité inscrite ou sont à sa disposition, directement ou non :
 - a) les banques régies par la *Loi sur les banques* et les banques étrangères autorisées, au sens de l'article 2 de la *Loi sur les banques*, dans le cadre des activités que ces dernières exercent au Canada:

Communication

Immunité

Obligation de vérification

- (b) cooperative credit societies, savings and credit unions and caisses populaires regulated by a provincial Act and associations regulated by the *Cooperative Credit Associations Act*;
- (c) foreign companies within the meaning of subsection 2(1) of the *Insurance Companies Act* in respect of their insurance business in Canada;
- (c.1) companies, provincial companies and societies within the meaning of subsection 2(1) of the *Insurance Companies Act*;
- (c.2) fraternal benefit societies regulated by a provincial Act in respect of their insurance activities, and insurance companies and other entities engaged in the business of insuring risks that are regulated by a provincial Act;
- (d) companies to which the *Trust and Loan Companies Act* applies;
- (e) trust companies regulated by a provincial Act;
- (f) loan companies regulated by a provincial Act; and
- (g) entities authorized under provincial legislation to engage in the business of dealing in securities, or to provide portfolio management or investment counselling services.

Monthly report

22

- (2) Subject to the regulations, every entity referred to in paragraphs (1)(a) to (g) must report, within the period specified by regulation or, if no period is specified, monthly, to the principal agency or body that supervises or regulates it under federal or provincial law either
 - (a) that it is not in possession or control of any property referred to in subsection (1), or
 - (b) that it is in possession or control of such property, in which case it must also report the number of persons, contracts or accounts involved and the total value of the property.

- b) les coopératives de crédit, caisses d'épargne et de crédit et caisses populaires régies par une loi provinciale et les associations régies par la Loi sur les associations coopératives de crédit;
- c) les sociétés étrangères, au sens du paragraphe 2(1) de la *Loi sur les sociétés d'assurances*, dans le cadre des activités d'assurance qu'elles exercent au Canada;
- c.1) les sociétés, les sociétés de secours et les sociétés provinciales au sens du paragraphe 2(1) de la *Loi sur les sociétés d'assurances*;
- c.2) les sociétés de secours mutuel régies par une loi provinciale, dans le cadre de leurs activités d'assurance, et les sociétés d'assurances et autres entités régies par une loi provinciale qui exercent le commerce de l'assurance;
- d) les sociétés régies par la Loi sur les sociétés de fiducie et de prêt;
- e) les sociétés de fiducie régies par une loi provinciale;
- f) les sociétés de prêt régies par une loi provinciale;
- g) les entités autorisées en vertu de la législation provinciale à se livrer au commerce des valeurs mobilières, ou à la fourniture de services de gestion de portefeuille ou de conseils en placement.
- (2) Sous réserve des règlements, il incombe aux entités visées aux alinéas (1)a) à g) de rendre compte, selon la périodicité précisée dans le règlement ou, à défaut, chaque mois, à l'autorité ou à l'organisme principal de surveillance ou de réglementation dont elles relèvent sous le régime d'une loi fédérale ou provinciale:
 - a) soit du fait qu'elles n'ont pas en leur possession ni à leur disposition des biens visés au paragraphe (1);
 - b) soit du fait qu'elles en ont, auquel cas elles sont tenues d'indiquer le nombre de personnes, de comptes ou de contrats en cause et la valeur totale des biens.

Rapport

Immunity

(3) No criminal or civil proceedings lie against a person for making a report in good faith under subsection (2).

Regulations

- (4) The Governor in Council may make regulations
 - (a) excluding any entity or class of entities from the requirement to make a report referred to in subsection (2), and specifying the conditions of exclusion; and
 - (b) specifying a period for the purposes of subsection (2).

Offences freezing of property, disclosure or audit

- **83.12** (1) Every one who contravenes any of sections 83.08, 83.1 and 83.11 is guilty of an offence and liable
 - (a) on summary conviction, to a fine of not more than \$100,000 or to imprisonment for a term of not more than one year, or to both; or
 - (b) on conviction on indictment, to imprisonment for a term of not more than 10 years.

No contravention (2) No person contravenes section 83.1 if they make the disclosure referred to in that section only to the Commissioner of the Royal Canadian Mounted Police or the Director of the Canadian Security Intelligence Service.

Seizure and Restraint of Property

Seizure and restraint of

- **83.13** (1) Where a judge of the Federal Court, on an *ex parte* application by the Attorney General, after examining the application in private, is satisfied that there are reasonable grounds to believe that there is in any building, receptacle or place any property in respect of which an order of forfeiture may be made under subsection 83.14(5), the judge may issue
 - (a) if the property is situated in Canada, a warrant authorizing a person named therein or a peace officer to search the building, receptacle or place for that property and to seize that property and any other property in respect of which that person or peace officer believes, on reasonable grounds, that an order of forfeiture may be made under that subsection; or

(3) Nul ne peut être poursuivi pour avoir fait rapport de bonne foi au titre du paragraphe (2).

Immunité

23

(4) Le gouverneur en conseil peut, par règlement :

Règlements

Infraction —

blocage des

ou vérification

biens, communication

- a) soustraire, aux conditions qui y sont précisées, toute entité ou catégorie d'entités à l'obligation de rendre compte prévue au paragraphe (2);
- b) préciser la périodicité du rapport.
- **83.12** (1) Quiconque contrevient aux articles 83.08, 83.1 ou 83.11 commet une infraction et encourt, sur déclaration de culpabilité :
 - a) par procédure sommaire, une amende maximale de 100 000 \$ et un emprisonnement maximal de un an, ou l'une de ces peines;
 - b) par mise en accusation, un emprisonnement maximal de dix ans.
- (2) Ne contrevient pas à l'article 83.1 la personne qui ne communique l'information en cause qu'au directeur du Service canadien du renseignement ou qu'au commissaire de la Gendarmerie royale du Canada.

Aucune contravention

Saisie et blocage de biens

- **83.13** (1) Sur demande du procureur général présentée *ex parte* et entendue à huis clos, le juge de la Cour fédérale qui est convaincu qu'il existe des motifs raisonnables de croire qu'il se trouve dans un bâtiment, contenant ou lieu des biens qui pourraient faire l'objet d'une ordonnance de confiscation en vertu du paragraphe 83.14(5) peut :
 - a) dans le cas où les biens sont situés au Canada, délivrer un mandat autorisant la personne qui y est nommée ou un agent de la paix à perquisitionner dans ce bâtiment, contenant ou lieu et à saisir les biens en cause ainsi que tout autre bien dont cette personne ou l'agent de la paix a des motifs raisonnables de croire qu'il pourrait faire l'objet d'une telle ordonnance;
 - b) dans le cas où les biens sont situés au Canada ou à l'étranger, rendre une ordon-

Mandat spécial 24

(b) if the property is situated in or outside Canada, a restraint order prohibiting any person from disposing of, or otherwise dealing with any interest in, that property other than as may be specified in the order.

Contents of application

(1.1) An affidavit in support of an application under subsection (1) may be sworn on information and belief, and, notwithstanding the Federal Court Rules, 1998, no adverse inference shall be drawn from a failure to provide evidence of persons having personal knowledge of material facts.

Appointment of manager

- (2) On an application under subsection (1), at the request of the Attorney General, if a judge is of the opinion that the circumstances so require, the judge may
 - (a) appoint a person to take control of, and to manage or otherwise deal with, all or part of the property in accordance with the directions of the judge; and
 - (b) require any person having possession of that property to give possession of the property to the person appointed under paragraph (a).

Appointment of Minister of Public Works and Government Services

(3) When the Attorney General of Canada so requests, a judge appointing a person under subsection (2) shall appoint the Minister of Public Works and Government Services.

Power to manage

- (4) The power to manage or otherwise deal with property under subsection (2) includes
 - (a) in the case of perishable or rapidly depreciating property, the power to sell that property; and
 - (b) in the case of property that has little or no value, the power to destroy that property.

Application for destruction order

(5) Before a person appointed under subsection (2) destroys property referred to in paragraph (4)(b), he or she shall apply to a judge of the Federal Court for a destruction order.

nance de blocage interdisant à toute personne de se départir des biens précisés dans l'ordonnance ou d'effectuer des opérations sur les droits qu'elle détient sur ceux-ci, sauf dans la mesure prévue.

(1.1) L'affidavit qui accompagne la demande peut contenir des déclarations fondées sur ce que sait et croit le déclarant, mais, par dérogation aux Règles de la Cour fédérale (1998), le fait de ne pas offrir le témoignage de personnes ayant une connaissance personnelle des faits importants ne peut donner lieu à des conclusions défavorables.

Teneur de la demande

(2) Saisi d'une demande en vertu du paragraphe (1), le juge peut, à la demande du procureur général, s'il l'estime indiqué dans les circonstances:

Nomination d'un administrateur

- a) nommer un administrateur et lui ordonner de prendre en charge ces biens en tout ou en partie, de les administrer ou d'effectuer toute autre opération à leur égard conformément à ses directives:
- b) ordonner à toute personne qui a la possession des biens, à l'égard desquels un administrateur est nommé, de les remettre à celui-ci.
- (3) À la demande du procureur général du Canada, le juge nomme le ministre des Travaux publics et des Services gouvernementaux à titre d'administrateur visé au paragraphe (2).

Ministre des Travaux publics et des Services gouvernementaux

Administration

- (4) La charge d'administrer des biens ou d'effectuer toute autre opération à leur égard comprend notamment:
 - a) dans le cas de biens périssables ou qui se déprécient rapidement, le pouvoir de les vendre;
 - b) dans le cas de biens qui n'ont que peu ou pas de valeur, le pouvoir de les détruire.
- (5) Avant de détruire des biens visés à l'alinéa (4)b), la personne qui en a la charge est tenue de demander à un juge de la Cour fédérale de rendre une ordonnance de destruction.

d'ordonnance de destruction Notice

(6) Before making a destruction order in relation to any property, a judge shall require notice in accordance with subsection (7) to be given to, and may hear, any person who, in the opinion of the judge, appears to have a valid interest in the property.

Manner of giving notice

(7) A notice under subsection (6) shall be given in the manner that the judge directs or as provided in the rules of the Federal Court.

Order

(8) A judge may order that property be destroyed if he or she is satisfied that the property has little or no financial or other value.

When management order ceases to have effect

(9) A management order ceases to have effect when the property that is the subject of the management order is returned to an applicant in accordance with the law or forfeited to Her Majesty.

Application to vary

(10) The Attorney General may at any time apply to a judge of the Federal Court to cancel or vary an order or warrant made under this section, other than an appointment made under subsection (3).

Procedure

(11) Subsections 462.32(4) and (6), sections 462.34 to 462.35 and 462.4, subsections 487(3) and (4) and section 488 apply, with such modifications as the circumstances require, to a warrant issued under paragraph (1)(a).

Procedure

(12) Subsections 462.33(4) and (6) to (11) and sections 462.34 to 462.35 and 462.4 apply, with such modifications as the circumstances require, to an order issued under paragraph (1)(b).

Forfeiture of Property

Application for order of forfeiture

- **83.14** (1) The Attorney General may make an application to a judge of the Federal Court for an order of forfeiture in respect of
 - (a) property owned or controlled by or on behalf of a terrorist group; or
 - (b) property that has been or will be used, in whole or in part, to facilitate or carry out a terrorist activity.

(6) Avant de rendre une ordonnance de destruction, le juge exige que soit donné un préavis conformément au paragraphe (7) à quiconque, à son avis, semble avoir un droit sur les biens; le juge peut aussi entendre une telle personne.

(7) Le préavis est donné selon les modalités précisées par le juge ou prévues par les règles de la Cour fédérale.

Modalités du

Préavis

25

(8) Le juge ordonne la destruction des biens s'il est convaincu que ceux-ci n'ont que peu ou pas de valeur, financière ou autre.

Ordonnance

(9) L'ordonnance de prise en charge cesse d'avoir effet lorsque les biens qu'elle vise sont remis, conformément à la loi, à celui qui présente une demande en ce sens ou sont confisqués au profit de Sa Majesté.

Cessation d'effet de l'ordonnance de prise en charge

(10) Le procureur général peut demander à un juge de la Cour fédérale d'annuler ou de modifier un mandat délivré ou une ordonnance rendue en vertu du présent article, à l'exclusion de la nomination effectuée en vertu du paragraphe (3).

Demande de modification

(11) Les paragraphes 462.32(4) et (6), les articles 462.34 à 462.35 et 462.4, les paragraphes 487(3) et (4) et l'article 488 s'appliquent, avec les adaptations nécessaires, au mandat délivré en vertu de l'alinéa (1)*a*).

Dispositions applicables

(12) Les paragraphes 462.33(4) et (6) à (11) et les articles 462.34 à 462.35 et 462.4 s'appliquent, avec les adaptations nécessaires, à l'ordonnance rendue en vertu de l'alinéa (1)b).

Dispositions applicables

Confiscation des biens

83.14 (1) Le procureur général peut demander à un juge de la Cour fédérale une ordonnance de confiscation à l'égard :

Demande d'ordonnance

- a) de biens qui appartiennent à un groupe terroriste, ou qui sont à sa disposition, directement ou non;
- b) de biens qui ont été ou seront utilisés en tout ou en partie par quiconque pour se livrer à une activité terroriste ou pour la faciliter.

Contents of application

26

(2) An affidavit in support of an application by the Attorney General under subsection (1) may be sworn on information and belief, and, notwithstanding the *Federal Court Rules*, 1998, no adverse inference shall be drawn from a failure to provide evidence of persons having personal knowledge of material facts.

Respondents

(3) The Attorney General is required to name as a respondent to an application under subsection (1) only those persons who are known to own or control the property that is the subject of the application.

Notice

(4) The Attorney General shall give notice of an application under subsection (1) to named respondents in such a manner as the judge directs or as provided in the rules of the Federal Court.

Granting of forfeiture order

(5) If a judge is satisfied on a balance of probabilities that property is property referred to in paragraph (1)(a) or (b), the judge shall order that the property be forfeited to Her Majesty to be disposed of as the Attorney General directs or otherwise dealt with in accordance with the law.

Use of proceeds (5.1) Any proceeds that arise from the disposal of property under subsection (5) may be used to compensate victims of terrorist activities and to fund anti-terrorist initiatives in accordance with any regulations made by the Governor in Council under subsection (5.2).

Regulations

(5.2) The Governor in Council may make regulations for the purposes of specifying how the proceeds referred to in subsection (5.1) are to be distributed.

Order refusing forfeiture (6) Where a judge refuses an application under subsection (1) in respect of any property, the judge shall make an order that describes the property and declares that it is not property referred to in that subsection.

(2) L'affidavit qui accompagne la demande peut contenir des déclarations fondées sur ce que sait et croit le déclarant, mais, par dérogation aux *Règles de la Cour fédérale* (1998), le fait de ne pas offrir le témoignage de personnes ayant une connaissance personnelle des faits importants ne peut donner lieu à des conclusions défavorables.

Défendeurs

Teneur de la

demande

(3) Le procureur général est tenu de ne nommer à titre de défendeur à l'égard de la demande visée au paragraphe (1) que les personnes connues comme des personnes à qui appartiennent les biens visés par la demande ou qui ont ces biens à leur disposition.

Avis

(4) Le procureur général est tenu de donner un avis de la demande visée au paragraphe (1) aux défendeurs nommés de la façon que le juge ordonne ou tel qu'il est prévu par les règles de la Cour fédérale.

(5) S'il est convaincu, selon la prépondérance des probabilités, que les biens sont visés par les alinéas (1)a) ou b), le juge ordonne la confiscation des biens au profit de Sa Majesté; l'ordonnance prévoit qu'il est disposé de ces biens selon les instructions du procureur général ou autrement en conformité avec la loi.

Confiscation

(5.1) Le produit de la disposition de biens visée au paragraphe (5) peut être utilisé pour dédommager les victimes d'activités terroristes et financer les mesures antiterroristes, conformément aux règlements pris par le gouverneur en conseil en vertu du paragraphe (5.2).

Utilisation du produit de la disposition

(5.2) Le gouverneur en conseil peut, par règlement, prévoir le mode de distribution du produit mentionné au paragraphe (5.1).

Règlement

(6) Dans le cas où le juge refuse la demande visée au paragraphe (1) à l'égard de biens, il est tenu de rendre une ordonnance décrivant ces biens et les déclarant non visés par ce paragraphe.

Ordonnance de nonconfiscation Notice

(7) On an application under subsection (1), a judge may require notice to be given to any person who, in the opinion of the Court, appears to have an interest in the property, and any such person shall be entitled to be added as a respondent to the application.

Third party interests (8) If a judge is satisfied that a person referred to in subsection (7) has an interest in property that is subject to an application, has exercised reasonable care to ensure that the property would not be used to facilitate or carry out a terrorist activity, and is not a member of a terrorist group, the judge shall order that the interest is not affected by the forfeiture. Such an order shall declare the nature and extent of the interest in question.

Dwelling-house

- (9) Where all or part of property that is the subject of an application under subsection (1) is a dwelling-house, the judge shall also consider
 - (a) the impact of an order of forfeiture on any member of the immediate family of the person who owns or controls the dwellinghouse, if the dwelling-house was the member's principal residence at the time the dwelling-house was ordered restrained or at the time the forfeiture application was made and continues to be the member's principal residence; and
 - (b) whether the member appears innocent of any complicity or collusion in the terrorist activity.

Motion to vary or set aside (10) A person who claims an interest in property that was forfeited and who did not receive notice under subsection (7) may bring a motion to the Federal Court to vary or set aside an order made under subsection (5) not later than 60 days after the day on which the forfeiture order was made.

No extension of time

(11) The Court may not extend the period set out in subsection (10).

Disposition of property

83.15 Subsection 462.42(6) and sections 462.43 and 462.46 apply, with such modifications as the circumstances require, to property subject to a warrant or restraint order issued under subsection 83.13(1) or ordered forfeited under subsection 83.14(5).

(7) Saisi d'une demande en vertu du paragraphe (1), le juge peut exiger qu'en soit avisée toute personne qui, à son avis, semble avoir un droit sur les biens en cause. Celle-ci a le droit d'être nommée à titre de défendeur à l'égard de cette demande.

(8) Le juge, s'il est convaincu que la personne visée au paragraphe (7) a un droit sur les biens, a pris des précautions suffisantes pour que ces biens ne risquent pas d'être utilisés par quiconque pour se livrer à une activité terroriste ou la faciliter et n'est pas membre d'un groupe terroriste, déclare la nature et l'étendue de ce droit et rend une ordonnance selon laquelle l'ordonnance de confiscation ne porte pas atteinte à celui-ci.

(9) Dans le cas où les biens qui font l'objet d'une demande visée au paragraphe (1) sont constitués, en tout ou en partie, d'une maison d'habitation, le juge prend aussi en compte les facteurs suivants :

a) l'effet qu'aurait la confiscation à l'égard des membres de la famille immédiate de la personne à qui appartient la maison d'habitation ou qui l'a à sa disposition, s'il s'agissait de la résidence principale de l'intéressé avant qu'elle ne soit bloquée par ordonnance ou visée par la demande de confiscation, et qu'elle continue de l'être par la suite;

b) le fait que l'intéressé semble innocent ou non de toute complicité ou collusion à l'égard de l'activité terroriste.

(10) Dans les soixante jours suivant la date où une ordonnance est rendue en vertu du paragraphe (5), la personne qui prétend avoir un droit sur les biens confisqués et qui n'a pas reçu l'avis prévu au paragraphe (7) peut demander par requête à la Cour fédérale de modifier ou annuler l'ordonnance.

(11) La Cour ne peut proroger le délai visé au paragraphe (10).

83.15 Le paragraphe 462.42(6) et les articles 462.43 et 462.46 s'appliquent, avec les adaptations nécessaires, aux biens visés par le mandat délivré ou l'ordonnance de blocage rendue en vertu du paragraphe 83.13(1) ou confisqués en vertu du paragraphe 83.14(5).

Avis

27

Droits des

Facteurs : maison d'habitation

Requête pour modifier ou annuler l'ordonnance

Nulle prorogation de délai

Disposition des biens saisis Interim preservation rights

28

83.16 (1) Pending any appeal of an order made under section 83.14, property restrained under an order issued under section 83.13 shall continue to be restrained, property seized under a warrant issued under that section shall continue to be detained, and any person appointed to manage, control or otherwise deal with that property under that section shall continue in that capacity.

83.16 (1) Le blocage ou la saisie de biens sous le régime de l'article 83.13 restent tenants, et la personne nommée pour la prise

Appeal of refusal to grant order (2) Section 462.34 applies, with such modifications as the circumstances require, to an appeal taken in respect of a refusal to grant an order under subsection 83.14(5).

Appel du refus d'accorder l'ordonnance

Other forfeiture provisions unaffected **83.17** (1) This Part does not affect the operation of any other provision of this or any other Act of Parliament respecting the forfeiture of property.

Maintien de dispositions spécifiques

Priority for restitution to victims of crime (2) Property is subject to forfeiture under subsection 83.14(5) only to the extent that it is not required to satisfy the operation of any other provision of this or any other Act of Parliament respecting restitution to, or compensation of, persons affected by the commission of offences.

(2) Un bien ne peut être confisqué en vertu du paragraphe 83.14(5) que dans la mesure où il n'est pas requis pour l'application d'une autre disposition de la présente loi ou d'une autre loi fédérale en matière de restitution ou de dédommagement en faveur des victimes d'infractions criminelles.

en charge de ces biens en vertu du même

article continue d'agir à ce titre, jusqu'à ce

qu'il soit statué sur l'appel formé contre une

ordonnance rendue en vertu de l'article 83.14.

(2) L'article 462.34 s'applique, avec les

83.17 (1) La présente partie ne porte pas

atteinte aux autres dispositions de la présente

loi ou de toute autre loi fédérale qui visent la

adaptations nécessaires, aux appels interjetés

à l'égard du refus d'accorder une ordonnance

en vertu du paragraphe 83.14(5).

confiscation de biens.

Priorité aux victimes

Participating, Facilitating, Instructing and Harbouring

Participation in activity of terrorist group **83.18** (1) Every one who knowingly participates in or contributes to, directly or indirectly, any activity of a terrorist group for the purpose of enhancing the ability of any terrorist group to facilitate or carry out a terrorist activity is guilty of an indictable offence and liable to imprisonment for a term not exceeding ten years.

Participer, faciliter, donner des instructions et héberger

83.18 (1) Est coupable d'un acte criminel passible d'un emprisonnement maximal de dix ans quiconque, sciemment, participe à une activité d'un groupe terroriste, ou y contribue, directement ou non, dans le but d'accroître la capacité de tout groupe terroriste de se livrer à une activité terroriste ou de la faciliter.

Participation à une activité d'un groupe terroriste

Prosecution

- (2) An offence may be committed under subsection (1) whether or not
 - (a) a terrorist group actually facilitates or carries out a terrorist activity;
 - (b) the participation or contribution of the accused actually enhances the ability of a terrorist group to facilitate or carry out a terrorist activity; or
 - (c) the accused knows the specific nature of any terrorist activity that may be facilitated or carried out by a terrorist group.

(2) Pour que l'infraction visée au paragraphe (1) soit commise, il n'est pas nécessaire :

a) qu'une activité terroriste soit effectivement menée ou facilitée par un groupe terroriste:

- b) que la participation ou la contribution de l'accusé accroisse effectivement la capacité d'un groupe terroriste de se livrer à une activité terroriste ou de la faciliter;
- c) que l'accusé connaisse la nature exacte de toute activité terroriste susceptible d'être menée ou facilitée par un groupe terroriste.

Poursuite

Participation

contribution

ch. 41

Meaning of participating or contributing

- (3) Participating in or contributing to an activity of a terrorist group includes
 - (a) providing, receiving or recruiting a person to receive training;
 - (b) providing or offering to provide a skill or an expertise for the benefit of, at the direction of or in association with a terrorist group.
 - (c) recruiting a person in order to facilitate or commit
 - (i) a terrorism offence, or
 - (ii) an act or omission outside Canada that, if committed in Canada, would be a terrorism offence:
 - (d) entering or remaining in any country for the benefit of, at the direction of or in association with a terrorist group; and
 - (e) making oneself, in response to instructions from any of the persons who constitute a terrorist group, available to facilitate or commit
 - (i) a terrorism offence, or
 - (ii) an act or omission outside Canada that, if committed in Canada, would be a terrorism offence.

(4) In determining whether an accused participates in or contributes to any activity of a terrorist group, the court may consider,

among other factors, whether the accused

- (a) uses a name, word, symbol or other representation that identifies, or is associated with, the terrorist group;
- (b) frequently associates with any of the persons who constitute the terrorist group;
- (c) receives any benefit from the terrorist group; or
- (d) repeatedly engages in activities at the instruction of any of the persons who constitute the terrorist group.

Facilitating terrorist activity

Factors

83.19 (1) Every one who knowingly facilitates a terrorist activity is guilty of an indictable offence and liable to imprisonment for a term not exceeding fourteen years.

- (3) La participation ou la contribution à une activité d'un groupe terroriste s'entend notamment :
 - *a*) du fait de donner ou d'acquérir de la formation ou de recruter une personne à une telle fin;
 - b) du fait de mettre des compétences ou une expertise à la disposition d'un groupe terroriste, à son profit ou sous sa direction, ou en association avec lui, ou d'offrir de le faire:
 - c) du fait de recruter une personne en vue de faciliter ou de commettre une infraction de terrorisme ou un acte à l'étranger qui, s'il était commis au Canada, constituerait une telle infraction:
 - d) du fait d'entrer ou de demeurer dans un pays au profit ou sous la direction d'un groupe terroriste, ou en association avec lui:
 - e) du fait d'être disponible, sous les instructions de quiconque fait partie d'un groupe terroriste, pour faciliter ou commettre une infraction de terrorisme ou un acte à l'étranger qui, s'il était commis au Canada, constituerait une telle infraction.
- (4) Pour déterminer si l'accusé participe ou contribue à une activité d'un groupe terroriste, le tribunal peut notamment prendre en compte les faits suivants :
 - a) l'accusé utilise un nom, un mot, un symbole ou un autre signe qui identifie le groupe ou y est associé;
 - b) il fréquente quiconque fait partie du groupe terroriste;
 - c) il reçoit un avantage du groupe terroriste;
 - d) il se livre régulièrement à des activités selon les instructions d'une personne faisant partie du groupe terroriste.
- **83.19** (1) Est coupable d'un acte criminel passible d'un emprisonnement maximal de quatorze ans quiconque sciemment facilite une activité terroriste.

Facilitation d'une activité

terroriste

Facteurs

Facilitation

30

- (2) For the purposes of this Part, a terrorist activity is facilitated whether or not
 - (a) the facilitator knows that a particular terrorist activity is facilitated;
 - (b) any particular terrorist activity was foreseen or planned at the time it was facilitated; or
 - (c) any terrorist activity was actually carried out.

Commission of offence for terrorist group **83.2** Every one who commits an indictable offence under this or any other Act of Parliament for the benefit of, at the direction of or in association with a terrorist group is guilty of an indictable offence and liable to imprisonment for life.

Instructing to carry out activity for terrorist group **83.21** (1) Every person who knowingly instructs, directly or indirectly, any person to carry out any activity for the benefit of, at the direction of or in association with a terrorist group, for the purpose of enhancing the ability of any terrorist group to facilitate or carry out a terrorist activity, is guilty of an indictable offence and liable to imprisonment for life.

Prosecution

- (2) An offence may be committed under subsection (1) whether or not
 - (a) the activity that the accused instructs to be carried out is actually carried out;
 - (b) the accused instructs a particular person to carry out the activity referred to in paragraph (a);
 - (c) the accused knows the identity of the person whom the accused instructs to carry out the activity referred to in paragraph (a);
 - (d) the person whom the accused instructs to carry out the activity referred to in paragraph (a) knows that it is to be carried out for the benefit of, at the direction of or in association with a terrorist group;
 - (e) a terrorist group actually facilitates or carries out a terrorist activity;
 - (f) the activity referred to in paragraph (a) actually enhances the ability of a terrorist group to facilitate or carry out a terrorist activity; or

(2) Pour l'application de la présente partie, il n'est pas nécessaire pour faciliter une activité terroriste :

a) que l'intéressé sache qu'il se trouve à faciliter une activité terroriste en particulier:

- b) qu'une activité terroriste en particulier ait été envisagée au moment où elle est facilitée;
- c) qu'une activité terroriste soit effectivement mise à exécution.
- 83.2 Est coupable d'un acte criminel passible d'un emprisonnement à perpétuité quiconque commet un acte criminel prévu par la présente loi ou par une autre loi fédérale au profit ou sous la direction d'un groupe terroriste, ou en association avec lui.

83.21 (1) Est coupable d'un acte criminel passible d'un emprisonnement à perpétuité quiconque, sciemment, charge directement ou indirectement une personne de se livrer à une activité au profit ou sous la direction d'un groupe terroriste, ou en association avec lui, dans le but d'accroître la capacité de tout groupe terroriste de se livrer à une activité terroriste ou de la faciliter.

Charger une personne de se livrer à une activité pour un groupe terroriste

- (2) Pour que l'infraction visée au paragraphe (1) soit commise, il n'est pas nécessaire :
 - *a*) que l'activité à laquelle l'accusé charge quiconque de se livrer soit effectivement mise à exécution:
 - b) que l'accusé charge une personne en particulier de se livrer à l'activité;
 - c) que l'accusé connaisse l'identité de la personne qu'il charge de se livrer à l'activité.
 - d) que la personne chargée par l'accusé de se livrer à l'activité sache que celle-ci est censée être menée au profit ou sous la direction d'un groupe terroriste, ou en association avec lui:
 - e) qu'une activité terroriste soit effectivement menée ou facilitée par un groupe terroriste;
 - f) que l'activité visée à l'alinéa a) accroisse effectivement la capacité d'un groupe terro-

Infraction au profit d'un groupe terroriste

49-50 Eliz. II

Facilitation

Poursuite

(g) the accused knows the specific nature of any terrorist activity that may be facilitated or carried out by a terrorist group.

Instructing to carry out terrorist activity

83.22 (1) Every person who knowingly instructs, directly or indirectly, any person to carry out a terrorist activity is guilty of an indictable offence and liable to imprisonment for life.

Prosecution

- (2) An offence may be committed under subsection (1) whether or not
 - (a) the terrorist activity is actually carried
 - (b) the accused instructs a particular person to carry out the terrorist activity;
 - (c) the accused knows the identity of the person whom the accused instructs to carry out the terrorist activity; or
 - (d) the person whom the accused instructs to carry out the terrorist activity knows that it is a terrorist activity.

Harbouring or concealing

83.23 Every one who knowingly harbours or conceals any person whom he or she knows to be a person who has carried out or is likely to carry out a terrorist activity, for the purpose of enabling the person to facilitate or carry out any terrorist activity, is guilty of an indictable offence and liable to imprisonment for a term not exceeding ten years.

Proceedings and Aggravated Punishment

Attorney General's consent **83.24** Proceedings in respect of a terrorism offence or an offence under section 83.12 shall not be commenced without the consent of the Attorney General.

Jurisdiction

83.25 (1) Where a person is alleged to have committed a terrorism offence or an offence under section 83.12, proceedings in respect of that offence may, whether or not that person is in Canada, be commenced at the instance of the Government of Canada and conducted by the Attorney General of Canada or counsel acting on his or her behalf in any territorial division in Canada, if the offence is alleged to have occurred outside the province in which the proceedings are commenced, whether or not proceedings have previously been commenced elsewhere in Canada.

riste de se livrer à une activité terroriste ou de la faciliter:

- g) que l'accusé connaisse la nature exacte de toute activité terroriste susceptible d'être menée ou facilitée par un groupe terroriste.
- **83.22** (1) Est coupable d'un acte criminel passible d'un emprisonnement à perpétuité quiconque, sciemment, charge, directement ou non, une personne de se livrer à une activité terroriste.

Charger une personne de se livrer à une activité terroriste

Poursuite

- (2) Pour que l'infraction visée au paragraphe (1) soit commise, il n'est pas nécessaire :
 - a) que l'activité terroriste soit effectivement mise à exécution;
 - b) que l'accusé charge une personne en particulier de se livrer à l'activité terroriste;
 - c) que l'accusé connaisse l'identité de la personne qu'il charge de se livrer à l'activité terroriste;
 - d) que la personne chargée par l'accusé de se livrer à l'activité terroriste sache qu'il s'agit d'une activité terroriste.
- 83.23 Est coupable d'un acte criminel passible d'un emprisonnement maximal de dix ans quiconque héberge ou cache sciemment une personne dont il sait qu'elle s'est livrée à une activité terroriste ou est susceptible de le faire, afin de lui permettre de se livrer à une activité terroriste ou de la faciliter.

Héberger ou

Procédure et aggravation de peine

83.24 Il ne peut être engagé de poursuite à l'égard d'une infraction de terrorisme ou de l'infraction prévue à l'article 83.12 sans le consentement du procureur général.

Consentement du procureur général

83.25 (1) Les poursuites relatives à une infraction de terrorisme ou à une infraction prévue à l'article 83.12, peuvent, que l'accusé soit présent au Canada ou non, être engagées dans toute circonscription territoriale au Canada par le gouvernement du Canada et menées par le procureur général du Canada ou l'avocat agissant en son nom, dans le cas où l'infraction est censée avoir été commise à l'extérieur de la province dans laquelle les poursuites sont engagées, que des poursuites aient été engagées antérieurement ou non ailleurs au Canada.

Compétence

Trial and punishment

32

(2) An accused may be tried and punished in respect of an offence referred to in subsection (1) in the same manner as if the offence had been committed in the territorial division where the proceeding is conducted.

Sentences to be served consecutively

- **83.26** A sentence, other than one of life imprisonment, imposed on a person for an offence under any of sections 83.02 to 83.04 and 83.18 to 83.23 shall be served consecutively to
 - (a) any other punishment imposed on the person, other than a sentence of life imprisonment, for an offence arising out of the same event or series of events; and
 - (b) any other sentence, other than one of life imprisonment, to which the person is subject at the time the sentence is imposed on the person for an offence under any of those sections.

Punishment for terrorist activity **83.27** (1) Notwithstanding anything in this Act, a person convicted of an indictable offence, other than an offence for which a sentence of imprisonment for life is imposed as a minimum punishment, where the act or omission constituting the offence also constitutes a terrorist activity, is liable to imprisonment for life.

Offender must be notified (2) Subsection (1) does not apply unless the prosecutor satisfies the court that the offender, before making a plea, was notified that the application of that subsection would be sought.

Investigative Hearing

Definition of "judge"

83.28 (1) In this section and section 83.29, "judge" means a provincial court judge or a judge of a superior court of criminal jurisdiction.

Order for gathering evidence

(2) Subject to subsection (3), a peace officer may, for the purposes of an investigation of a terrorism offence, apply *ex parte* to a judge for an order for the gathering of information.

(2) L'accusé peut être jugé et puni à l'égard de l'infraction visée au paragraphe (1) comme si celle-ci avait été commise dans la circonscription territoriale où les poursuites sont menées.

83.26 La peine — sauf une peine d'emprisonnement à perpétuité — infligée à une personne pour une infraction prévue à l'un des articles 83.02 à 83.04 et 83.18 à 83.23 est purgée consécutivement :

- a) à toute autre peine sauf une peine d'emprisonnement à perpétuité sanctionnant une autre infraction basée sur les mêmes faits;
- b) à toute autre peine sauf une peine d'emprisonnement à perpétuité en cours d'exécution infligée à une personne pour une infraction prévue à l'un de ces articles.

83.27 (1) Malgré toute autre disposition de la présente loi, quiconque est déclaré coupable d'un acte criminel, à l'exception d'une infraction pour laquelle l'emprisonnement à perpétuité constitue la peine minimale, est passible de l'emprisonnement à perpétuité dans le cas où l'acte — acte ou omission — constituant l'infraction constitue également une activité terroriste.

(2) Le paragraphe (1) ne s'applique que si le poursuivant convainc le tribunal que le délinquant, avant de faire son plaidoyer, a été avisé que l'application de ce paragraphe serait demandée.

Investigation

83.28 (1) Au présent article et à l'article 83.29, « juge » s'entend d'un juge de la cour provinciale ou d'un juge d'une cour supérieure de juridiction criminelle.

(2) Sous réserve du paragraphe (3), l'agent de la paix peut, pour la conduite d'une enquête relative à une infraction de terrorisme, demander à un juge, en l'absence de toute autre partie, de rendre une ordonnance autorisant la recherche de renseignements.

Procès et

Peines consécutives

Aggravation de peine

Notification du délinquant

Définition de « juge »

Demande de collecte de renseignements Attorney General's consent (3) A peace officer may make an application under subsection (2) only if the prior consent of the Attorney General was obtained.

Making of order

- (4) A judge to whom an application is made under subsection (2) may make an order for the gathering of information if the judge is satisfied that the consent of the Attorney General was obtained as required by subsection (3) and
 - (a) that there are reasonable grounds to believe that
 - (i) a terrorism offence has been committed, and
 - (ii) information concerning the offence, or information that may reveal the whereabouts of a person suspected by the peace officer of having committed the offence, is likely to be obtained as a result of the order; or

(b) that

- (i) there are reasonable grounds to believe that a terrorism offence will be committed.
- (ii) there are reasonable grounds to believe that a person has direct and material information that relates to a terrorism offence referred to in subparagraph (i), or that may reveal the whereabouts of an individual who the peace officer suspects may commit a terrorism offence referred to in that subparagraph, and
- (iii) reasonable attempts have been made to obtain the information referred to in subparagraph (ii) from the person referred to in that subparagraph.

Contents of

- (5) An order made under subsection (4) may
- (a) order the examination, on oath or not, of a person named in the order;
- (b) order the person to attend at the place fixed by the judge, or by the judge designated under paragraph (d), as the case may be, for the examination and to remain in attendance until excused by the presiding judge;

(3) L'agent de la paix ne peut présenter la demande que s'il a obtenu le consentement préalable du procureur général.

- (4) Saisi de la demande, le juge peut rendre l'ordonnance s'il est convaincu que le consentement du procureur général a été obtenu en conformité avec le paragraphe (3) et :
 - *a*) ou bien il existe des motifs raisonnables de croire, à la fois :
 - (i) qu'une infraction de terrorisme a été commise,
 - (ii) que des renseignements relatifs à l'infraction ou susceptibles de révéler le lieu où se trouve un individu que l'agent de la paix soupçonne de l'avoir commise sont susceptibles d'être obtenus en vertu de l'ordonnance;
 - b) ou bien sont réunis les éléments suivants :
 - (i) il existe des motifs raisonnables de croire qu'une infraction de terrorisme sera commise,
 - (ii) il existe des motifs raisonnables de croire qu'une personne a des renseignements directs et pertinents relatifs à une infraction de terrorisme visée au sous-alinéa (i) ou de nature à révéler le lieu où se trouve l'individu que l'agent de la paix soupçonne d'être susceptible de commettre une telle infraction de terrorisme,
 - (iii) des efforts raisonnables ont été déployés pour obtenir les renseignements visés au sous-alinéa (ii) de la personne qui y est visée.
- (5) L'ordonnance peut contenir les dispositions suivantes :
 - a) l'ordre de procéder à l'interrogatoire, sous serment ou non, d'une personne dési gnée;
 - b) l'ordre à cette personne de se présenter au lieu que le juge ou le juge désigné au titre de l'alinéa d) fixe pour l'interrogatoire et de demeurer présente jusqu'à ce qu'elle soit libérée par le juge qui préside;

Consentement du procureur général

ch. 41

Ordonnance d'obtention d'éléments de preuve

Modalités de l'ordonnance

- (c) order the person to bring to the examination any thing in their possession or control, and produce it to the presiding judge;
- (d) designate another judge as the judge before whom the examination is to take place; and
- (e) include any other terms or conditions that the judge considers desirable, including terms or conditions for the protection of the interests of the person named in the order and of third parties or for the protection of any ongoing investigation.

Execution of order

(6) An order made under subsection (4) may be executed anywhere in Canada.

Variation of order (7) The judge who made the order under subsection (4), or another judge of the same court, may vary its terms and conditions.

Obligation to answer questions and produce things

(8) A person named in an order made under subsection (4) shall answer questions put to the person by the Attorney General or the Attorney General's agent, and shall produce to the presiding judge things that the person was ordered to bring, but may refuse if answering a question or producing a thing would disclose information that is protected by any law relating to non-disclosure of information or to privilege.

Judge to rule

(9) The presiding judge shall rule on any objection or other issue relating to a refusal to answer a question or to produce a thing.

No person excused from complying with subsection (8)

- (10) No person shall be excused from answering a question or producing a thing under subsection (8) on the ground that the answer or thing may tend to incriminate the person or subject the person to any proceeding or penalty, but
 - (a) no answer given or thing produced under subsection (8) shall be used or received against the person in any criminal proceedings against that person, other than a prosecution under section 132 or 136; and
 - (b) no evidence derived from the evidence obtained from the person shall be used or received against the person in any criminal proceedings against that person, other than a prosecution under section 132 or 136.

- c) l'ordre à cette personne d'apporter avec elle toute chose qu'elle a en sa possession ou à sa disposition afin de la remettre au juge qui préside;
- d) la désignation d'un autre juge pour présider l'interrogatoire;
- *e*) les modalités que le juge estime indiquées, notamment quant à la protection des droits de la personne que l'ordonnance vise ou de ceux des tiers, ou quant à la protection de toute investigation en cours.
- (6) L'ordonnance peut être exécutée en tout lieu au Canada.

Exécution

49-50 ELIZ. II

(7) Le juge qui a rendu l'ordonnance ou un autre juge du même tribunal peut modifier les conditions de celle-ci.

Modifications

(8) La personne visée par l'ordonnance répond aux questions qui lui sont posées par le procureur général ou son représentant, et remet au juge qui préside les choses exigées par l'ordonnance, mais peut refuser de le faire dans la mesure où la réponse aux questions ou la remise de choses révélerait des renseignements protégés par le droit applicable en matière de divulgation ou de privilèges.

Refus d'obtempérer

(9) Le juge qui préside statue sur toute objection ou question concernant le refus de répondre à une question ou de lui remettre une chose.

Effet non suspensif

- (10) Nul n'est dispensé de répondre aux questions ou de produire une chose aux termes du paragraphe (8) pour la raison que la réponse ou la chose remise peut tendre à l'incriminer ou à l'exposer à quelque procédure ou pénalité, mais :
 - a) la réponse donnée ou la chose remise aux termes du paragraphe (8) ne peut être utilisée ou admise contre lui dans le cadre de poursuites criminelles, sauf en ce qui concerne les poursuites prévues aux articles 132 ou 136:
 - b) aucune preuve provenant de la preuve obtenue de la personne ne peut être utilisée ou admise contre elle dans le cadre de poursuites criminelles, sauf en ce qui

Nul n'est dispensé de se conformer à l'ordonnance Right to counsel

(11) A person has the right to retain and instruct counsel at any stage of the proceedings.

Order for custody of thing (12) The presiding judge, if satisfied that any thing produced during the course of the examination will likely be relevant to the investigation of any terrorism offence, shall order that the thing be given into the custody of the peace officer or someone acting on the peace officer's behalf.

Arrest warrant

- **83.29** (1) The judge who made the order under subsection 83.28(4), or another judge of the same court, may issue a warrant for the arrest of the person named in the order if the judge is satisfied, on an information in writing and under oath, that the person
 - (a) is evading service of the order;
 - (b) is about to abscond; or
 - (c) did not attend the examination, or did not remain in attendance, as required by the order.

Execution of warrant (2) A warrant issued under subsection (1) may be executed at any place in Canada by any peace officer having jurisdiction in that place.

Person to be brought before judge (3) A peace officer who arrests a person in the execution of a warrant issued under subsection (1) shall, without delay, bring the person, or cause the person to be brought, before the judge who issued the warrant or another judge of the same court. The judge in question may, to ensure compliance with the order, order that the person be detained in custody or released on recognizance, with or without sureties.

Recognizance with Conditions

Attorney General's consent required to lay information **83.3** (1) The consent of the Attorney General is required before a peace officer may lay an information under subsection (2).

concerne les poursuites prévues aux articles 132 ou 136.

- (11) Toute personne a le droit d'engager un avocat et de lui donner des instructions en tout état de cause.
- Garde des choses remises

Droit à un

avocat

ch. 41

(12) Si le juge qui préside est convaincu qu'une chose remise pendant l'interrogatoire est susceptible d'être utile à l'enquête relative à une infraction de terrorisme, il peut ordonner que cette chose soit confiée à la garde de l'agent de la paix ou à une personne qui agit pour son compte.

Mandat d'arrestation

- **83.29** (1) Le juge qui a rendu l'ordonnance au titre du paragraphe 83.28(4) ou un autre juge du même tribunal peut délivrer un mandat autorisant l'arrestation de la personne visée par l'ordonnance à la suite d'une dénonciation écrite faite sous serment, s'il est convaincu :
 - a) soit qu'elle se soustrait à la signification de l'ordonnance;
 - b) soit qu'elle est sur le point de s'esquiver;
 - c) soit qu'elle ne s'est pas présentée ou n'est pas demeurée présente en conformité avec l'ordonnance.
- (2) Le mandat d'arrestation peut être exécuté en tout lieu au Canada par tout agent de la paix qui a compétence en ce lieu.

Ordonnance

Exécution

(3) L'agent de la paix qui arrête une personne en exécution du mandat la conduit ou la fait conduire immédiatement devant le juge qui a délivré le mandat ou un autre juge du même tribunal; le juge peut alors, afin de faciliter l'exécution de l'ordonnance, ordonner que cette personne soit mise sous garde ou libérée sur engagement, avec ou sans caution.

Engagement assorti de conditions

83.3 (1) Le dépôt d'une dénonciation au titre du paragraphe (2) est subordonné au consentement préalable du procureur général.

Consentement du procureur général Terrorist activity

- (2) Subject to subsection (1), a peace officer may lay an information before a provincial court judge if the peace officer
 - (a) believes on reasonable grounds that a terrorist activity will be carried out; and
 - (b) suspects on reasonable grounds that the imposition of a recognizance with conditions on a person, or the arrest of a person, is necessary to prevent the carrying out of the terrorist activity.

Appearance

(3) A provincial court judge who receives an information under subsection (2) may cause the person to appear before the provincial court judge.

Arrest without warrant

- (4) Notwithstanding subsections (2) and (3), if
 - (a) either
 - (i) the grounds for laying an information referred to in paragraphs (2)(a) and
 - (b) exist but, by reason of exigent circumstances, it would be impracticable to lay an information under subsection (2), or
 - (ii) an information has been laid under subsection (2) and a summons has been issued, and
 - (b) the peace officer suspects on reasonable grounds that the detention of the person in custody is necessary in order to prevent a terrorist activity,

the peace officer may arrest the person without warrant and cause the person to be detained in custody, to be taken before a provincial court judge in accordance with subsection

Duty of peace officer

- (5) If a peace officer arrests a person without warrant in the circumstance described in subparagraph (4)(a)(i), the peace officer shall, within the time prescribed by paragraph (6)(a) or (b),
 - (a) lay an information in accordance with subsection (2); or
 - (b) release the person.

(2) Sous réserve du paragraphe (1), l'agent de la paix peut déposer une dénonciation devant un juge de la cour provinciale si, à la fois :

Activité terroriste

- a) il a des motifs raisonnables de croire qu'une activité terroriste sera mise à exécution:
- b) il a des motifs raisonnables de soupçonner que l'imposition, à une personne, d'un engagement assorti de conditions ou son arrestation est nécessaire pour éviter la mise à exécution de l'activité terroriste.
- (3) Le juge qui reçoit la dénonciation peut faire comparaître la personne devant lui.

Comparution

Arrestation

sans mandat

- (4) Par dérogation aux paragraphes (2) et (3), l'agent de la paix, s'il a des motifs raisonnables de soupçonner que la mise sous garde de la personne est nécessaire afin de l'empêcher de mettre à exécution une activité terroriste, peut, sans mandat, arrêter la personne et la faire mettre sous garde en vue de la conduire devant un juge de la cour provinciale en conformité avec le paragraphe (6) dans l'un
 - a) l'urgence de la situation rend difficilement réalisable le dépôt d'une dénonciation au titre du paragraphe (2) et les motifs visés aux alinéas (2)a) et b) sont réunis;

ou l'autre des cas suivants :

- b) une dénonciation a été déposée au titre du paragraphe (2) et une sommation décernée.
- (5) Si, dans le cas visé à l'alinéa (4)a, l'agent de la paix arrête une personne sans mandat, il dépose une dénonciation au titre du paragraphe (2) au plus tard dans le délai prévu aux alinéas (6)a) ou b), ou met la personne en liberté.

Obligation de l'agent de la paix

ch. 41

When person to be taken before judge

- (6) A person detained in custody shall be taken before a provincial court judge in accordance with the following rules:
 - (a) if a provincial court judge is available within a period of twenty-four hours after the person has been arrested, the person shall be taken before a provincial court judge without unreasonable delay and in any event within that period, and
 - (b) if a provincial court judge is not available within a period of twenty-four hours after the person has been arrested, the person shall be taken before a provincial court judge as soon as possible,

unless, at any time before the expiry of the time prescribed in paragraph (a) or (b) for taking the person before a provincial court judge, the peace officer, or an officer in charge within the meaning of Part XV, is satisfied that the person should be released from custody unconditionally, and so releases the person.

How person dealt with

- (7) When a person is taken before a provincial court judge under subsection (6),
 - (a) if an information has not been laid under subsection (2), the judge shall order that the person be released; or
 - (b) if an information has been laid under subsection (2),
 - (i) the judge shall order that the person be released unless the peace officer who laid the information shows cause why the detention of the person in custody is justified on one or more of the following grounds:
 - (A) the detention is necessary to ensure the person's appearance before a provincial court judge in order to be dealt with in accordance with subsection (8),
 - (B) the detention is necessary for the protection or safety of the public, including any witness, having regard to all the circumstances including
 - (I) the likelihood that, if the person is released from custody, a terrorist activity will be carried out, and

- (6) La personne mise sous garde est conduite devant un juge de la cour provinciale selon les règles ci-après, à moins que, à un moment quelconque avant l'expiration du délai prévu aux alinéas *a*) ou *b*), l'agent de la paix ou le fonctionnaire responsable, au sens de la partie XV, étant convaincu qu'elle devrait être mise en liberté inconditionnellement, ne la mette ainsi en liberté:
 - a) si un juge de la cour provinciale est disponible dans un délai de vingt-quatre heures après l'arrestation, elle est conduite devant un juge de ce tribunal sans retard injustifié et, à tout le moins, dans ce délai;
 - b) si un juge de la cour provinciale n'est pas disponible dans un délai de vingt-quatre heures après l'arrestation, elle est conduite devant un juge de ce tribunal le plus tôt possible.
- (7) Dans le cas où la personne est conduite devant le juge au titre du paragraphe (6):
 - *a*) si aucune dénonciation n'a été déposée au titre du paragraphe (2), le juge ordonne qu'elle soit mise en liberté;
 - b) si une dénonciation a été déposée au titre du paragraphe (2) :
 - (i) le juge ordonne que la personne soit mise en liberté, sauf si l'agent de la paix qui a déposé la dénonciation fait valoir que sa mise sous garde est justifiée pour un des motifs suivants :
 - (A) sa détention est nécessaire pour assurer sa comparution devant un juge de la cour provinciale conformément au paragraphe (8),
 - (B) sa détention est nécessaire pour la protection ou la sécurité du public, notamment celle d'un témoin, eu égard aux circonstances, y compris :
 - (I) la probabilité que, si la personne est mise en liberté, une activité terroriste sera mise à exécution,
 - (II) toute probabilité marquée que la personne, si elle est mise en liberté, nuira à l'administration de la justice,
 - (C) il est démontré une autre juste cause et, sans préjudice de ce qui

Traitement de la personne

- (II) any substantial likelihood that the person will, if released from custody, interfere with the administration of justice, and
- (C) any other just cause and, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, that the detention is necessary in order to maintain confidence in the administration of justice, having regard to all the circumstances, including the apparent strength of the peace officer's grounds under subsection (2), and the gravity of any terrorist activity that may be carried out, and
- (ii) the judge may adjourn the matter for a hearing under subsection (8) but, if the person is not released under subparagraph (i), the adjournment may not exceed forty-eight hours.

précède, que sa détention est nécessaire pour ne pas miner la confiance du public envers l'administration de la justice, compte tenu de toutes les circonstances, notamment le fait que les motifs de l'agent de la paix au titre du paragraphe (2) paraissent fondés, et la gravité de toute activité terroriste qui peut être mise à exécution,

(ii) le juge peut ajourner la comparution prévue au paragraphe (8) mais, si la personne n'est pas mise en liberté, l'ajournement ne peut excéder quarantehuit heures.

Hearing before judge

- (8) The provincial court judge before whom the person appears pursuant to subsection (3)
 - (a) may, if satisfied by the evidence adduced that the peace officer has reasonable grounds for the suspicion, order that the person enter into a recognizance to keep the peace and be of good behaviour for any period that does not exceed twelve months and to comply with any other reasonable conditions prescribed in the recognizance, including the conditions set out in subsection (10), that the provincial court judge considers desirable for preventing the carrying out of a terrorist activity; and
 - (b) if the person was not released under subparagraph (7)(b)(i), shall order that the person be released, subject to the recognizance, if any, ordered under paragraph (a).

- (8) Le juge devant lequel la personne comparaît au titre du paragraphe (3) :
 - a) peut, s'il est convaincu par la preuve apportée que les soupçons de l'agent de la paix sont fondés sur des motifs raisonnables, ordonner que la personne contracte l'engagement de ne pas troubler l'ordre public et d'observer une bonne conduite pour une période maximale de douze mois, ainsi que de se conformer aux autres conditions raisonnables énoncées dans l'engagement, y compris celle visée au paragraphe (10), que le juge estime souhaitables pour prévenir la mise à exécution d'une activité terroriste:
 - b) si la personne n'a pas été mise en liberté au titre du sous-alinéa (7)b)(i), ordonne qu'elle soit mise en liberté, sous réserve, le cas échéant, de l'engagement imposé conformément à l'alinéa a).

Comparution devant le juge

ch. 41

Refusal to enter into recognizance (9) The provincial court judge may commit the person to prison for a term not exceeding twelve months if the person fails or refuses to enter into the recognizance. (9) Le juge peut infliger à la personne qui omet ou refuse de contracter l'engagement une peine de prison maximale de douze mois.

Refus de contracter un engagement

Conditions —

(10) Before making an order under paragraph (8)(a), the provincial court judge shall consider whether it is desirable, in the interests of the safety of the person or of any other person, to include as a condition of the recognizance that the person be prohibited from possessing any firearm, cross-bow, prohibited weapon, restricted weapon, prohibited device, ammunition, prohibited ammunition or explosive substance, or all of those things, for any period specified in the recognizance, and where the provincial court judge decides that it is so desirable, the provincial court judge shall add such a condition to the recognizance.

(10) Le juge qui, en vertu de l'alinéa (8)*a*), rend une ordonnance doit, s'il estime qu'il est souhaitable pour la sécurité de la personne, ou pour celle d'autrui, de lui interdire d'avoir en sa possession une arme à feu, une arbalète, une arme prohibée, une arme à autorisation restreinte, un dispositif prohibé, des munitions, des munitions prohibées ou des substances explosives, ordonner que la personne contracte l'engagement de n'avoir aucun des objets visés en sa possession pour la période indiquée dans l'engagement.

Conditions : armes à feu

Surrender, etc.

- (11) If the provincial court judge adds a condition described in subsection (10) to a recognizance, the provincial court judge shall specify in the recognizance the manner and method by which
 - (a) the things referred to in that subsection that are in the possession of the person shall be surrendered, disposed of, detained, stored or dealt with; and
 - (b) the authorizations, licences and registration certificates held by the person shall be surrendered.

(11) Le cas échéant, l'ordonnance prévoit la façon de remettre, de détenir ou d'entreposer les objets visés au paragraphe (10) qui sont en la possession de la personne, ou d'en disposer, et de remettre les autorisations, permis et certificats d'enregistrement dont la personne

est titulaire.

Remise

Reasons

(12) If the provincial court judge does not add a condition described in subsection (10) to a recognizance, the provincial court judge shall include in the record a statement of the reasons for not adding the condition.

Motifs

Variance of conditions

(13) The provincial court judge may, on application of the peace officer, the Attorney General or the person, vary the conditions fixed in the recognizance.

(13) Le juge peut, sur demande de l'agent de la paix, du procureur général ou de la personne, modifier les conditions fixées dans l'engagement.

(12) Le juge, s'il n'assortit pas l'ordonnan-

ce d'une condition prévue au paragraphe (10),

est tenu de donner ses motifs, qui sont

consignés au dossier de l'instance.

Modification des conditions

Other provisions to apply

(14) Subsections 810(4) and (5) apply, with any modifications that the circumstances require, to proceedings under this section.

(14) Les paragraphes 810(4) et (5) s'appliquent, avec les adaptations nécessaires, aux procédures engagées en vertu du présent article.

Autres dispositions applicables Annual report (sections 83.28 and 83.29)

40

C. 41

- **83.31** (1) The Attorney General of Canada shall prepare and cause to be laid before Parliament and the Attorney General of every province shall publish or otherwise make available to the public an annual report for the previous year on the operation of sections 83.28 and 83.29 that includes
 - (a) the number of consents to make an application that were sought, and the number that were obtained, by virtue of subsections 83.28(2) and (3);
 - (b) the number of orders for the gathering of information that were made under subsection 83.28(4); and
 - (c) the number of arrests that were made with a warrant issued under section 83.29.

Annual report (section 83.3)

- (2) The Attorney General of Canada shall prepare and cause to be laid before Parliament and the Attorney General of every province shall publish or otherwise make available to the public an annual report for the previous year on the operation of section 83.3 that includes
 - (a) the number of consents to lay an information that were sought, and the number that were obtained, by virtue of subsections 83.3(1) and (2);
 - (b) the number of cases in which a summons or a warrant of arrest was issued for the purposes of subsection 83.3(3);
 - (c) the number of cases where a person was not released under subsection 83.3(7) pending a hearing;
 - (d) the number of cases in which an order to enter into a recognizance was made under paragraph 83.3(8)(a), and the types of conditions that were imposed;
 - (e) the number of times that a person failed or refused to enter into a recognizance, and the term of imprisonment imposed under subsection 83.3(9) in each case; and
 - (f) the number of cases in which the conditions fixed in a recognizance were varied under subsection 83.3(13).

83.31 (1) Chaque année, le procureur général du Canada établit et fait déposer devant le Parlement, et le procureur général de chaque province publie — ou met à la disposition du public de toute autre façon —, un rapport sur l'application des articles 83.28 et 83.29, qui contient notamment les renseignements ci-après à l'égard de l'année précédente :

- *a*) le nombre de consentements à la présentation d'une demande demandés et obtenus au titre des paragraphes 83.28(2) et (3);
- b) le nombre d'ordonnances de recherche de renseignements rendues au titre du paragraphe 83.28(4);
- c) le nombre d'arrestations effectuées avec un mandat délivré au titre de l'article 83.29.
- (2) Chaque année, le procureur général du Canada établit et fait déposer devant le Parlement, et le procureur général de chaque province publie ou met à la disposition du public de toute autre façon —, un rapport sur l'application de l'article 83.3, qui contient notamment les renseignements ci-après à l'égard de l'année précédente :
 - a) le nombre de consentements au dépôt d'une dénonciation demandés et obtenus au titre des paragraphes 83.3(1) et (2);
 - b) le nombre de sommations ou de mandat d'arrestation délivrés pour l'application du paragraphe 83.3(3);
 - c) le nombre de cas où la personne n'a pas été en liberté au titre du paragraphe 83.3(7) en attendant sa comparution;
 - d) le nombre de cas où une ordonnance de contracter un engagement a été rendue au titre de l'alinéa 83.3(8)a) et la nature des conditions afférentes qui ont été imposées;
 - e) le nombre de refus de contracter un engagement et la durée de la peine d'emprisonnement infligée au titre du paragraphe 83.3(9) dans chacun des cas;
 - f) le nombre de cas où les conditions d'un engagement ont été modifiées au titre du paragraphe 83.3(13).

Rapport annuel: articles 83.28 et 83.29

Rapport annuel: article 83.3 Annual report (section 83.3)

- (3) The Solicitor General of Canada shall prepare and cause to be laid before Parliament and the Minister responsible for policing in every province shall publish or otherwise make available to the public an annual report for the previous year on the operation of section 83.3 that includes
 - (a) the number of arrests without warrant that were made under subsection 83.3(4) and the period of the arrested person's detention in custody in each case; and
 - (b) the number of cases in which a person was arrested without warrant under subsection 83.3(4) and was released
 - (i) by a peace officer under paragraph 83.3(5)(b), or
 - (ii) by a judge under paragraph 83.3(7)(a).

Limitation

- (4) The annual report shall not contain any information the disclosure of which would
 - (a) compromise or hinder an ongoing investigation of an offence under an Act of Parliament:
 - (b) endanger the life or safety of any person;
 - (c) prejudice a legal proceeding; or
 - (d) otherwise be contrary to the public interest.

Sunset provision **83.32** (1) Sections 83.28, 83.29 and 83.3 cease to apply at the end of the fifteenth sitting day of Parliament after December 31, 2006 unless, before the end of that day, the application of those sections is extended by a resolution — the text of which is established under subsection (2) — passed by both Houses of Parliament in accordance with the rules set out in subsection (3).

Order in Council (2) The Governor General in Council may, by order, establish the text of a resolution providing for the extension of the application of sections 83.28, 83.29 and 83.3 and specifying the period of the extension, which may not

- (3) Chaque année, le solliciteur général du Canada établit et fait déposer devant le Parlement, et le ministre responsable de la sécurité publique dans chaque province publie ou met à la disposition du public de toute autre façon —, un rapport sur l'application de l'article 83.3, qui contient notamment les renseignements ci-après à l'égard de l'année précédente :
 - a) le nombre d'arrestations effectuées sans mandat au titre du paragraphe 83.3(4) et la durée de la détention de la personne dans chacun des cas:
 - b) le nombre de cas d'arrestation sans mandat au titre du paragraphe 83.3(4) et de mise en liberté :
 - (i) par l'agent de la paix au titre de l'alinéa 83.3(5)b),
 - (ii) par un juge au titre de l'alinéa 83.3(7)*a*).
- (4) Sont exclus du rapport annuel les renseignements dont la divulgation, selon le cas :
 - a) compromettrait une enquête en cours relativement à une infraction à une loi fédérale ou nuirait à une telle enquête;
 - b) mettrait en danger la vie ou la sécurité d'une personne;
 - c) porterait atteinte à une procédure judiciaire;
 - d) serait contraire à l'intérêt public.
- **83.32** (1) Les articles 83.28, 83.29 et 83.3 cessent de s'appliquer à la fin du quinzième jour de séance postérieur au 31 décembre 2006, sauf si, avant la fin de ce jour, ces articles sont prorogés par résolution dont le texte est établi au titre du paragraphe (2) adoptée par les deux chambres du Parlement conformément aux règles prévues au paragraphe (3).
- (2) Le gouverneur en conseil peut, par décret, établir le texte de la résolution prévoyant la prorogation des articles 83.28, 83.29 et 83.3 et précisant la durée de la prorogation, à concurrence d'un maximum de cinq ans à

Rapport annuel: article 83.3

Réserve

Temporarisation

Décret

exceed five years from the first day on which the resolution has been passed by both Houses of Parliament.

Anti-terrorism

Rules

(3) A motion for the adoption of the resolution may be debated in both Houses of Parliament but may not be amended. At the conclusion of the debate, the Speaker of the House of Parliament shall immediately put every question necessary to determine whether or not the motion is concurred in.

Subsequent extensions

(4) The application of sections 83.28, 83.29 and 83.3 may be further extended in accordance with the procedure set out in this section, with the words "December 31, 2006" in subsection (1) read as "the expiration of the most recent extension under this section".

Definition of "sitting day Parliament"

(5) In subsection (1), "sitting day of Parliament" means a day on which both Houses of Parliament sit.

Transitional provision

83.33 (1) In the event that sections 83.28 and 83.29 cease to apply pursuant to section 83.32, proceedings commenced under those sections shall be completed if the hearing before the judge of the application made under subsection 83.28(2) began before those sections ceased to apply.

Transitional provision

- (2) In the event that section 83.3 ceases to apply pursuant to section 83.32, a person detained in custody under section 83.3 shall be released when that section ceases to apply, except that subsections 83.3(7) to (14) continue to apply to a person who was taken before a judge under subsection 83.3(6) before section 83.3 ceased to apply.
- 5. The definition "offence" in section 183 of the Act is amended
 - (a) by adding, immediately after the reference to "82 (possessing explosive),", a reference to "83.02 (providing or collecting property for certain activities), 83.03 (providing, making available, etc., property or services for terrorist purposes), 83.04 (using or possessing property for terrorist purposes), 83.18 (partici-

compter de la date à laquelle la deuxième chambre a adopté la résolution.

(3) La motion visant l'adoption de la résolution peut faire l'objet d'un débat dans les deux chambres du Parlement mais ne peut être amendée. Au terme du débat, le président de la chambre du Parlement met immédiatement aux voix toute question nécessaire pour décider de son agrément.

Règles

(4) L'application des articles 83.28, 83.29 et 83.3 peut être prorogée par la suite en conformité avec le présent article, la mention « au 31 décembre 2006 », au paragraphe (1), étant alors remplacée par « à la dernière prorogation adoptée conformément au présent article ».

Prorogations subséquentes

(5) Au paragraphe (1), « jour de séance » s'entend de tout jour où les deux chambres du Parlement siègent.

Définition de « iour de séance »

83.33 (1) Dans le cas où, conformément à 1'article 83.32, les articles 83.28 et 83.29 cessent de s'appliquer, les procédures engagées au titre de ces articles sont menées à terme si l'audition de la demande présentée au titre du paragraphe 83.28(2) a commencé avant la cessation d'effet de ces articles.

Disposition transitoire

articles 83.28

et 83.29

(2) Dans le cas où, conformément à l'article 83.32, l'article 83.3 cesse de s'appliquer, la personne mise sous garde au titre de cet article est mise en liberté à la date de cessation d'effet de cet article, sauf que les paragraphes 83.3(7) à (14) continuent de s'appliquer à la personne qui a été conduite devant le juge au titre du paragraphe 83.3(6) avant cette date.

- 5. La définition de « infraction », à l'article 183 de la même loi, est modifiée par :
 - a) adjonction, après la mention «82 (possession d'explosifs), », de la mention « 83.02 (fournir ou réunir des biens en vue de certains actes), 83.03 (fournir, rendre disponibles, etc. des biens ou services à des fins terroristes), 83.04 (utiliser ou avoir en sa possession des biens à des fins terroristes), 83.18 (parti-

Disposition transitoire article 83.3 of terrorist group), 83.19 (facilitating terrorist activity), 83.2 (commission of offence for terrorist group), 83.21 (instructing to carry out activity for terrorist group), 83.22 (instructing to carry out terrorist activity), 83.23 (harbouring or concealing),";

- (b) by adding, immediately after the reference to "424 (threat to commit offences against internationally protected person)," a reference to "424.1 (threat against United Nations or associated personnel),";
- (c) by adding, immediately after the reference to "431 (attack on premises, residence or transport of internationally protected person)," a reference to "431.1 (attack on premises, accommodation or transport of United Nations or associated personnel), 431.2 (explosive or other lethal device),"; and
- (d) by adding, at the end of the definition, the words ", or any other offence that there are reasonable grounds to believe is an offence described in paragraph (b) or (c) of the definition "terrorism offence" in section 2 of this Act;".

1997, c. 23, s. 4 6. Subsection 185(1.1) of the Act is replaced by the following:

Exception for criminal organizations and terrorism offences

- (1.1) Notwithstanding paragraph (1)(h), that paragraph does not apply where the application for an authorization is in relation
 - (a) an offence under section 467.1;
 - (b) an offence committed for the benefit of, at the direction of or in association with a criminal organization; or
 - (c) a terrorism offence.

cipation à une activité d'un groupe terroriste), 83.19 (facilitation d'une activité terroriste), 83.2 (infraction au profit d'un groupe terroriste), 83.21 (charger une personne de se livrer à une activité pour un groupe terroriste), 83.22 (charger une personne de se livrer à une activité terroriste), 83.23 (héberger ou cacher), »;

- b) adjonction, après la mention « 424 (menaces de commettre une infraction contre une personne jouissant d'une protection internationale), », de la mention « 424.1 (menaces contre le personnel des Nations Unies ou le personnel associé), »;
- c) adjonction, après la mention « 431 (attaque contre les locaux officiels, le logement privé ou les moyens de transport), », de la mention « 431.1 (attaque contre les locaux officiels, le logement privé ou les moyens de transport du personnel des Nations Unies ou du personnel associé), 431.2 (engin explosif ou autre engin meurtrier), »;
- d) adjonction, à la fin de la définition, de la mention «, ou toute autre infraction dont il y a des motifs raisonnables de croire qu'elle est une infraction visée aux alinéas b) ou c) de la définition de « infraction de terrorisme » à l'article 2 de la présente loi ».

6. Le paragraphe 185(1.1) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

- (1.1) L'alinéa (1)h) ne s'applique pas dans les cas où l'autorisation demandée vise :
 - a) une infraction prévue à l'article 467.1;
 - b) une infraction commise au profit ou sous la direction d'un gang, ou en association avec lui;
 - c) une infraction de terrorisme.

1997, ch. 23, art. 4

Exception dans le cas d'un gang ou d'une infraction de terrorisme 1997, c. 23, s. 5

6.1 Subsection 186(1.1) of the Act is replaced by the following:

Exception for criminal organizations and terrorism offences

- (1.1) Notwithstanding paragraph (1)(b), that paragraph does not apply where the judge is satisfied that the application for an authorization is in relation to
 - (a) an offence under section 467.1;
 - (b) an offence committed for the benefit of, at the direction of or in association with a criminal organization; or
 - (c) a terrorism offence.

1997, c. 23, s. 6

7. Section 186.1 of the Act is replaced by the following:

Time limitation in relation to criminal organizations and terrorism offences

- 186.1 Notwithstanding paragraphs 184.2(4)(e) and 186(4)(e) and subsection 186(7), an authorization or any renewal of an authorization may be valid for one or more periods specified in the authorization exceeding sixty days, each not exceeding one year, where the authorization is in relation to
 - (a) an offence under section 467.1;
 - (b) an offence committed for the benefit of, at the direction of or in association with a criminal organization; or
 - (c) a terrorism offence.

1997, c. 23, s. 7

8. Subsection 196(5) of the Act is replaced by the following:

Exception for criminal organizations and terrorism offences

- (5) Notwithstanding subsections (3) and 185(3), where the judge to whom an application referred to in subsection (2) or 185(2) is made, on the basis of an affidavit submitted in support of the application, is satisfied that the investigation is in relation to
 - (a) an offence under section 467.1,
 - (b) an offence committed for the benefit of, at the direction of or in association with a criminal organization, or
 - (c) a terrorism offence,

and is of the opinion that the interests of justice warrant the granting of the application, the judge shall grant an extension, or a subsequent extension, of the period, but no extension may exceed three years.

6.1 Le paragraphe 186(1.1) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

1997, ch. 23, art. 5

Exception

dans le cas

d'un gang ou

de terrorisme

d'une infraction

- (1.1) L'alinéa (1)b) ne s'applique pas dans les cas où le juge est convaincu que l'autorisation demandée vise :
 - a) une infraction prévue à l'article 467.1;
 - b) une infraction commise au profit ou sous la direction d'un gang, ou en association avec lui;
 - c) une infraction de terrorisme.

7. L'article 186.1 de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

1997, ch. 23, art. 6

186.1 Par dérogation aux alinéas 184.2(4)*e*) et 186(4)*e*) et au paragraphe 186(7), l'autorisation et le renouvellement peuvent être valides pour des périodes de plus de soixante jours précisées par l'autorisation et d'au plus un an chacune, dans les cas où l'autorisation vise :

Durée de validité dans le cas d'un gang ou d'une infraction de

terrorisme

- a) une infraction prévue à l'article 467.1;
- b) une infraction commise au profit ou sous la direction d'un gang, ou en association avec lui:
- c) une infraction de terrorisme.

8. Le paragraphe 196(5) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

1997, ch. 23, art. 7

- (5) Par dérogation aux paragraphes (3) et 185(3), le juge saisi de la demande visée aux paragraphes (2) ou 185(2) doit accorder une prolongation initiale ou ultérieure de la période, d'une durée maximale de trois ans, s'il est convaincu par l'affidavit appuyant la demande que l'autorisation vise les éléments suivants et que les intérêts de la justice justifient la prolongation :
 - a) une infraction prévue à l'article 467.1;
 - b) une infraction commise au profit ou sous la direction d'un gang, ou en association avec lui:
 - c) une infraction de terrorisme.

Exception dans le cas d'un gang ou d'une infraction de terrorisme

9. Section 231 of the Act is amended by adding the following after subsection (6):

Murder during terrorist activity (6.01) Irrespective of whether a murder is planned and deliberate on the part of a person, murder is first degree murder when the death is caused while committing or attempting to commit an indictable offence under this or any other Act of Parliament where the act or omission constituting the offence also constitutes a terrorist activity.

10. The Act is amended by adding the following after section 320:

Warrant of seizure

- **320.1** (1) If a judge is satisfied by information on oath that there are reasonable grounds for believing that there is material that is hate propaganda within the meaning of subsection 320(8) or data within the meaning of subsection 342.1(2) that makes hate propaganda available, that is stored on and made available to the public through a computer system within the meaning of subsection 342.1(2) that is within the jurisdiction of the court, the judge may order the custodian of the computer system to
 - (a) give an electronic copy of the material to the court;
 - (b) ensure that the material is no longer stored on and made available through the computer system; and
 - (c) provide the information necessary to identify and locate the person who posted the material.
- (2) Within a reasonable time after receiving the information referred to in paragraph (1)(c), the judge shall cause notice to be given to the person who posted the material, giving that person the opportunity to appear and be represented before the court and show cause why the material should not be deleted. If the person cannot be identified or located or does not reside in Canada, the judge may order the custodian of the computer system to post the text of the notice at the location where the material was previously stored and made available, until the time set for the appearance.

9. L'article 231 de la même loi est modifié par adjonction, après le paragraphe (6), de ce qui suit :

(6.01) Indépendamment de toute préméditation, le meurtre que commet une personne est assimilé à un meurtre au premier degré si la mort est causée au cours de la perpétration ou de la tentative de perpétration, visée par la présente loi ou une autre loi fédérale, d'un acte criminel dont l'élément matériel — action ou omission — constitue également une activité terroriste.

Meurtre : activité terroriste

Mandat de

ch. 41

10. La même loi est modifiée par adjonction, après l'article 320, de ce qui suit :

320.1 (1) Le juge peut, s'il est convaincu par une dénonciation sous serment qu'il y a des motifs raisonnables de croire qu'il existe une matière — qui constitue de la propagande haineuse au sens du paragraphe 320(8) ou contient des données, au sens du paragraphe 342.1(2), qui rendent la propagande haineuse accessible — qui est emmagasinée et rendue accessible au public au moyen d'un ordinateur au sens du paragraphe 342.1(2) situé dans le ressort du tribunal, ordonner au gardien de l'ordinateur :

- *a*) de remettre une copie électronique de la matière au tribunal;
- b) de s'assurer que la matière n'est plus emmagasinée ni accessible au moyen de l'ordinateur;
- c) de fournir les renseignements nécessaires pour identifier et trouver la personne qui a affiché la matière.
- (2) Dans un délai raisonnable après la réception des renseignements visés à l'alinéa (1)c), le juge fait donner un avis à la personne qui a affiché la matière, donnant à celle-ci l'occasion de comparaître et d'être représentée devant le tribunal et de présenter les raisons pour lesquelles la matière ne devrait pas être effacée. Si la personne ne peut être identifiée ou trouvée ou ne réside pas au Canada, le juge peut ordonner au gardien de l'ordinateur d'afficher le texte de l'avis à l'endroit où la matière était emmagasinée et rendue accessible, jusqu'à la date de comparution de la personne.

Avis à la personne qui a affiché la matière

Notice to person who posted the material Person who posted the material may appear (3) The person who posted the material may appear and be represented in the proceedings in order to oppose the making of an order under subsection (5).

Non-appearance

(4) If the person who posted the material does not appear for the proceedings, the court may proceed *ex parte* to hear and determine the proceedings in the absence of the person as fully and effectually as if the person had appeared.

Order

(5) If the court is satisfied, on a balance of probabilities, that the material is available to the public and is hate propaganda within the meaning of subsection 320(8) or data within the meaning of subsection 342.1(2) that makes hate propaganda available, it may order the custodian of the computer system to delete the material.

Destruction of copy

(6) When the court makes the order for the deletion of the material, it may order the destruction of the electronic copy in the court's possession.

Return of material (7) If the court is not satisfied that the material is available to the public and is hate propaganda within the meaning of subsection 320(8) or data within the meaning of subsection 342.1(2) that makes hate propaganda available, the court shall order that the electronic copy be returned to the custodian and terminate the order under paragraph (1)(b).

Other provisions to apply (8) Subsections 320(6) to (8) apply, with any modifications that the circumstances require, to this section.

When order takes effect

(9) No order made under subsections (5) to (7) takes effect until the time for final appeal has expired.

R.S., c. 27 (1st Supp.), s. 55

Threat against internationally protected person

11. Section 424 of the Act is replaced by the following:

424. Every one who threatens to commit an offence under section 235, 236, 266, 267, 268, 269, 269.1, 271, 272, 273, 279 or 279.1 against an internationally protected person or who threatens to commit an offence under section 431 is guilty of an indictable offence and liable to imprisonment for a term of not more than five years.

(3) La personne qui a affiché la matière peut comparaître et être représentée au cours de la procédure pour s'opposer à l'établissement d'une ordonnance en vertu du paragraphe (5).

(4) Si la personne qui a affiché la matière ne comparaît pas, le tribunal peut statuer sur la procédure, en l'absence de cette personne, aussi complètement et effectivement que si elle avait comparu.

Personne qui a affiché la matière : non comparution

Personne qui

comparution

a affiché la

matière :

(5) Si le tribunal est convaincu, selon la prépondérance des probabilités, que la matière est accessible au public et constitue de la propagande haineuse au sens du paragraphe 320(8) ou contient des données, au sens du paragraphe 342.1(2), qui rendent la propagande haineuse accessible, il peut ordonner au gardien de l'ordinateur de l'effacer.

Ordonnance

(6) Au moment de rendre une ordonnance en vertu du paragraphe (5), le tribunal peut ordonner la destruction de la copie électronique qu'il possède. Destruction de la copie électronique

(7) Si le tribunal n'est pas convaincu que la matière est accessible au public et constitue de la propagande haineuse au sens du paragraphe 320(8) ou contient des données, au sens du paragraphe 342.1(2), qui rendent la propagande haineuse accessible, il doit ordonner que la copie électronique soit remise au gardien de l'ordinateur et mettre fin à l'ordonnance visée à l'alinéa (1)b).

Sort de la matière

(8) Les paragraphes 320(6) à (8) s'appliquent, avec les adaptations nécessaires, au présent article.

Application d'autres dispositions

(9) L'ordonnance rendue en vertu de l'un des paragraphes (5) à (7) n'est pas en vigueur avant l'expiration de tous les délais d'appel.

Ordonnance en vigueur

11. L'article 424 de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

424. Est coupable d'un acte criminel passible d'un emprisonnement maximal de cinq ans quiconque menace de commettre, contre une personne jouissant d'une protection internationale, une infraction visée aux articles 235, 236, 266, 267, 268, 269, 269.1, 271, 272, 273, 279 ou 279.1 ou menace de commettre une infraction visée à l'article 431.

L.R., ch. 27 (1^{er} suppl.), art. 55

Menaces de commettre une infraction contre une personne jouissant d'une protection internationale Threat against United Nations or associated personnel **424.1** Every one who, with intent to compel any person, group of persons, state or any international or intergovernmental organization to do or refrain from doing any act, threatens to commit an offence under section 235, 236, 266, 267, 268, 269, 269.1, 271, 272, 273, 279 or 279.1 against a member of United Nations personnel or associated personnel or threatens to commit an offence under section 431.1 is guilty of an indictable offence and liable to imprisonment for a term of not more than ten years.

12. Section 430 of the Act is amended by adding the following after subsection (4):

Mischief relating to religious property

- (4.1) Every one who commits mischief in relation to property that is a building, structure or part thereof that is primarily used for religious worship, including a church, mosque, synagogue or temple, or an object associated with religious worship located in or on the grounds of such a building or structure, or a cemetery, if the commission of the mischief is motivated by bias, prejudice or hate based on religion, race, colour or national or ethnic origin,
 - (a) is guilty of an indictable offence and liable to imprisonment for a term not exceeding ten years; or
 - (b) is guilty of an offence punishable on summary conviction and liable to imprisonment for a term not exceeding eighteen months.

13. Section 431 of the Act is replaced by the following:

s. 58

Attack on premises, residence or transport of internationally protected

person

R.S., c. 27

(1st Supp.),

431. Every one who commits a violent attack on the official premises, private accommodation or means of transport of an internationally protected person that is likely to endanger the life or liberty of such a person is guilty of an indictable offence and liable to imprisonment for a term of not more than fourteen years.

424.1 Est coupable d'un acte criminel passible d'un emprisonnement maximal de dix ans quiconque, dans l'intention d'inciter une personne, un groupe de personnes, un État ou une organisation internationale ou intergouvernementale à faire ou à omettre de faire quelque chose, menace de commettre une infraction visée aux articles 235, 236, 266, 267, 268, 269, 269.1, 271, 272, 273, 279 ou 279.1 contre un membre du personnel des Nations Unies ou du personnel associé ou menace de commettre une infraction visée à

l'article 431.1. 12. L'article 430 de la même loi est modifié par adjonction, après le paragraphe (4), de ce qui suit :

(4.1) Quiconque, étant motivé par des préjugés ou de la haine fondés sur la religion, la race, la couleur ou l'origine nationale ou ethnique, commet un méfait à l'égard de tout ou partie d'un bâtiment ou d'une structure servant principalement au culte religieux — notamment une église, une mosquée, une synagogue ou un temple —, d'un objet lié au culte religieux se trouvant dans un tel bâtiment ou une telle structure, ou sur le terrain où ceux-ci sont érigés, ou d'un cimetière, est coupable :

- *a*) soit d'un acte criminel passible d'un emprisonnement maximal de dix ans;
- b) soit d'une infraction punissable sur déclaration de culpabilité par procédure sommaire et passible d'un emprisonnement maximal de dix-huit mois.

13. L'article 431 de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

431. Est coupable d'un acte criminel passible d'un emprisonnement maximal de quatorze ans quiconque porte une attaque accompagnée de violence aux locaux officiels, au logement privé ou aux moyens de transport d'une personne jouissant d'une protection internationale, de manière à mettre vraisemblablement la vie ou la liberté de cette personne en danger.

Menaces contre le personnel des Nations Unies ou le personnel associé

47

Méfait : culte religieux

L.R., ch. 27 (1^{er} suppl.), art. 58

Attaque contre les locaux officiels, le logement privé ou les moyens de transport d'une personne jouissant d'une protection internationale Attack on premises, accommodation or transport of United Nations or associated personnel

48

431.1 Every one who commits a violent attack on the official premises, private accommodation or means of transport of a member of United Nations personnel or associated personnel that is likely to endanger the life or liberty of such a person is guilty of an indictable offence and liable to imprisonment for a term of not more than fourteen years.

Definitions

431.2 (1) The following definitions apply in this section.

"explosive or other lethal device" « engin explosif ou autre engin meurtrier » "explosive or other lethal device" means

- (a) an explosive or incendiary weapon or device that is designed to cause, or is capable of causing, death, serious bodily injury or substantial material damage; or
- (b) a weapon or device that is designed to cause, or is capable of causing, death, serious bodily injury or substantial material damage through the release, dissemination or impact of toxic chemicals, biological agents or toxins or similar substances, or radiation or radioactive material.

"infrastructure facility" « infrastructure » "infrastructure facility" means a publicly or privately owned facility that provides or distributes services for the benefit of the public, including services relating to water, sewage, energy, fuel and communications.

"military forces of a state" means the armed

forces that a state organizes, trains and

equips in accordance with the law of the

state for the primary purpose of national de-

fence or national security, and every person

acting in support of those armed forces who

is under their formal command, control and

responsibility.

"military forces of a state" « forces armées d'un État »

- "place of public use" « lieu public »
- "place of public use" means those parts of land, a building, street, waterway or other location that are accessible or open to members of the public, whether on a continuous, periodic or occasional basis, and includes any commercial, business, cultural, historical, educational, religious, governmental,

431.1 Est coupable d'un acte criminel passible d'un emprisonnement maximal de quatorze ans quiconque porte une attaque accompagnée de violence aux locaux officiels, au logement privé ou aux moyens de transport d'un membre du personnel des Nations Unies ou du personnel associé, de manière à mettre vraisemblablement la vie ou la liberté de cette personne en danger.

431.2 (1) Les définitions qui suivent s'appliquent au présent article.

« engin explosif ou autre engin meurtrier » :

- a) Toute arme ou tout engin explosif ou incendiaire qui est conçu pour provoquer la mort, des dommages corporels graves ou d'importants dégâts matériels, ou qui en a la capacité;
- b) toute arme ou tout engin qui est conçu pour provoquer la mort, des dommages corporels graves ou d'importants dégâts matériels, ou qui en a la capacité, par l'émission, la dissémination ou l'impact de produits chimiques toxiques, d'agents biologiques, de toxines ou de substances analogues, ou de rayonnements ou de matières radioactives.
- « forces armées d'un État » Les forces qu'un État organise, entraîne et équipe conformément à son droit interne essentiellement pour la défense nationale ou la sécurité nationale, ainsi que les personnes qui agissent à l'appui de ces forces et qui sont placées officiellement sous leur commandement, leur autorité et leur responsabilité.
- « infrastructure » Toute installation publique ou privée servant à la fourniture de services publics, tels l'adduction d'eau, l'évacuation des eaux usées, l'approvisionnement en énergie ou en combustible et les communications.
- « lieu public » Les parties de tout bâtiment, terrain, voie publique, cours d'eau, ou autre lieu qui sont accessibles ou ouverts au public, de façon continue, périodique ou occa-

Attaque contre les locaux officiels, le logement privé ou les moyens de transport du personnel des Nations Unies ou du personnel associé

Définitions

« engin explosif ou autre engin meurtrier » "explosive or other lethal device"

« forces armées d'un État » "military forces of a state"

« infrastructure » "infrastructure facility"

« neu public » "place of public use"

ch. 41

entertainment, recreational or other place that is accessible or open to the public on such a basis.

"public transportation system" « système de transport public » "public transportation system" means a publicly or privately owned facility, conveyance or other thing that is used in connection with publicly available services for the transportation of persons or cargo.

Explosive or other lethal device

(2) Every one who delivers, places, discharges or detonates an explosive or other lethal device to, into, in or against a place of public use, a government or public facility, a public transportation system or an infrastructure facility, either with intent to cause death or serious bodily injury or with intent to cause extensive destruction of such a place, system or facility that results in or is likely to result in major economic loss, is guilty of an indictable offence and liable to imprisonment for life.

Armed forces

(3) For greater certainty, subsection (2) does not apply to an act or omission that is committed during an armed conflict and that, at the time and in the place of its commission, is in accordance with customary international law or conventional international law applicable to the conflict, or to activities undertaken by military forces of a state in the exercise of their official duties, to the extent that those activities are governed by other rules of international law.

1995, c. 39, s. 151(1)

- 14. (1) Subparagraph (a)(i) of the definition "enterprise crime offence" in section 462.3 of the Act is replaced by the following:
 - (i) section 83.12 (offences freezing of property, disclosure or audit),
 - (i.01) subsection 99(1) (weapons trafficking),
- (2) The definition "enterprise crime offence" in section 462.3 of the Act is amended by adding the following after paragraph (a):
 - (a.01) a terrorism offence.

sionnelle, y compris tout lieu à usage commercial, culturel, historique, éducatif, religieux, officiel, ludique, récréatif ou autre qui est ainsi accessible ou ouvert au public.

« système de transport public » Tous les équipements, véhicules et moyens, publics ou privés, qui sont utilisés dans le cadre de services de transport de personnes ou de marchandises accessibles au public. « système de transport public » "public transportation system"

(2) Est coupable d'un acte criminel passible d'un emprisonnement à perpétuité quiconque livre, pose, ou fait exploser ou détoner un engin explosif ou autre engin meurtrier dans ou contre un lieu public, une installation gouvernementale ou publique, un système de transport ou une infrastructure, soit dans l'intention de provoquer la mort ou des dommages corporels graves, soit dans l'intention de causer la destruction massive du lieu, de l'installation, du système ou de l'infrastructure, dans le cas où la destruction entraîne ou risque d'entraîner des pertes économiques considérables.

Engin explosif ou autre engin meurtrier

Forces

(3) Il est entendu que le paragraphe (2) ne s'applique pas à l'acte — action ou omission — commis au cours d'un conflit armé et conforme, au moment et au lieu de la perpétration, au droit international coutumier ou au droit international conventionnel applicable au conflit ni aux activités menées par les forces armées d'un État dans l'exercice de leurs fonctions officielles, dans la mesure où ces activités sont régies par d'autres règles de droit international.

a définition 1995, ch. 39, par. 151(1)

- 14. (1) Le sous-alinéa *a*)(i) de la définition de « infraction de criminalité organisée », à l'article 462.3 de la même loi, est remplacé par ce qui suit :
 - (i) article 83.12 (infraction blocage des biens, communication ou vérification),
 - (i.01) paragraphe 99(1) (trafic d'armes),
- (2) La définition de « infraction de criminalité organisée », à l'article 462.3 de la même loi, est modifiée par adjonction, après l'alinéa a), de ce qui suit :
 - a.01) une infraction de terrorisme:

15. Subsection 462.48(1) of the Act is amended by striking out the word "or" at the end of paragraph (b), by adding the word "or" at the end of paragraph (c) and by adding the following after paragraph (c):

(d) a terrorism offence.

1997, c. 16, ss. 6(2) and (3)

16. (1) Subsections 486(2.11) and (2.2) of the Act are replaced by the following:

Testimony outside court room

- (2.101) Notwithstanding section 650, where an accused is charged with an offence referred to in subsection (2.102), the presiding judge or justice, as the case may be, may order that any witness testify
 - (a) outside the court room, if the judge or justice is of the opinion that the order is necessary to protect the safety of the witness; and
 - (b) outside the court room or behind a screen or other device that would allow the witness not to see the accused, if the judge or justice is of the opinion that the order is necessary to obtain a full and candid account from the witness.

Offences

- (2.102) The offences for the purposes of subsection (2.101) are
 - (a) an offence under section 467.1;
 - (b) a terrorism offence;
 - (c) an offence under subsection 16(1) or (2), 17(1), 19(1), 20(1) or 22(1) of the *Security of Information Act*; and
 - (d) an offence under subsection 21(1) or section 23 of the *Security of Information Act* that is committed in relation to an offence referred to in paragraph (c).

Same procedure for opinion (2.11) Where the judge or justice is of the opinion that it is necessary for the complainant or witness to testify in order to determine whether an order under subsection (2.1) or (2.101) should be made in respect of that complainant or witness, the judge or justice shall order that the complainant or witness testify pursuant to that subsection.

15. Le paragraphe 462.48(1) de la même loi est modifié par adjonction, après l'alinéa c), de ce qui suit :

d) soit une infraction de terrorisme.

16. (1) Les paragraphes 486(2.11) et (2.2) de la même loi sont remplacés par ce qui suit :

1997, ch. 16, par. 6(2) et

Exclusion

- (2.101) Par dérogation à l'article 650, lorsqu'une personne est accusée d'une infraction mentionnée au paragraphe (2.102), le juge qui préside le procès ou le juge de paix peut ordonner qu'un témoin dépose :
 - a) soit à l'extérieur de la salle d'audience s'il est d'avis que cela est nécessaire pour assurer la protection du témoin;
 - b) soit à l'extérieur de la salle d'audience ou derrière un écran ou un dispositif qui permet au témoin de ne pas voir l'accusé s'il est d'avis que cela est nécessaire pour obtenir du témoin un récit complet et franc des faits.

(2.102) Les infractions visées par le paragraphe (2.101) sont les suivantes :

Infractions

- a) infraction à l'article 467.1;
- b) infraction de terrorisme;
- c) infraction aux paragraphes 16(1) ou (2), 17(1), 19(1), 20(1) ou 22(1) de la *Loi sur la protection de l'information*:
- d) infraction au paragraphe 21(1) ou à l'article 23 de cette loi commise à l'égard d'une infraction mentionnée à l'alinéa c).
- (2.11) Le juge ou le juge de paix qui estime devoir entendre le témoin ou le plaignant pour se faire une opinion sur la nécessité de l'ordonnance est toutefois tenu de procéder à l'audition de la manière prévue aux paragraphes (2.1) ou (2.101).

Audition du plaignant ou du témoin

Conditions de

l'exclusion

Condition of exclusion

(2.2) A complainant or witness shall not testify outside the court room pursuant to subsection (2.1), (2.101) or (2.11) unless arrangements are made for the accused, the judge or justice and the jury to watch the testimony of the complainant or witness by means of closed-circuit television or otherwise and the accused is permitted to communicate with counsel while watching the testimony.

1999, c. 25, s. 2(3)

(2) Subsection 486(4.1) of the Act is replaced by the following:

Ban on publication. etc.

(4.1) A judge or justice may, in any proceedings against an accused other than in respect of an offence set out in subsection (3), make an order directing that the identity of a victim or witness - or, in the case of an offence referred to in subsection (4.11), the identity of a justice system participant who is involved in the proceedings - or any information that could disclose their identity, shall not be published in any document or broadcast in any way, if the judge or justice is satisfied that the order is necessary for the proper administration of justice.

Offences

- (4.11) The offences for the purposes of subsection (4.1) are
 - (a) a criminal organization offence;
 - (b) a terrorism offence:
 - (c) an offence under subsection 16(1) or (2), 17(1), 19(1), 20(1) or 22(1) of the Security of Information Act; and
 - (d) an offence under subsection 21(1) or section 23 of the Security of Information Act that is committed in relation to an offence referred to in paragraph (c).

1999, c. 25, s. 2(3)

(3) Paragraphs 486(4.7)(b) to (e) of the Act are replaced by the following:

- risk that the victim, witness or justice system participant would suffer significant harm if their identity were disclosed;
- (c) whether the victim, witness or justice system participant needs the order for their security or to protect them from intimidation or retaliation;

(2.2) Le témoin ou le plaignant ne peut témoigner à l'extérieur de la salle d'audience conformément aux paragraphes (2.1), (2.101) ou (2.11) que si la possibilité est donnée à l'accusé ainsi qu'au juge ou au juge de paix et au jury d'assister au témoignage par télévision en circuit fermé ou par un autre moyen et si l'accusé peut communiquer avec son avocat pendant le témoignage.

(2) Le paragraphe 486(4.1) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

1999, ch. 25, par. 2(3)

Autres

(4.1) Le juge ou le juge de paix peut, dans toute procédure à l'égard d'une infraction autre que celles visées au paragraphe (3), rendre une ordonnance interdisant de publier ou de diffuser de quelque autre façon l'identité d'une victime ou d'un témoin, ou, dans le cas d'une infraction mentionnée au paragraphe (4.11), celle d'une personne associée au système judiciaire qui participe à la procédure, ou des renseignements qui permettraient de la découvrir, s'il est convaincu que la bonne administration de la justice l'exige.

publication

Infractions

ordonnances

limitant la

(4.11) Les infractions visées par le paragraphe (4.1) sont les suivantes :

a) acte de gangstérisme;

b) infraction de terrorisme:

leur identité est révélée;

- c) infraction aux paragraphes 16(1) ou (2), 17(1), 19(1), 20(1) ou 22(1) de la *Loi sur la* protection de l'information;
- d) infraction au paragraphe 21(1) ou à l'article 23 de cette loi commise à l'égard d'une infraction mentionnée à l'alinéa c).

(3) Les alinéas 486(4.7)*b*) à *e*) de la même loi sont remplacés par ce qui suit :

b) le risque sérieux d'atteinte au droit à la

vie privée de la victime, du témoin ou de la

personne associée au système judiciaire, si

par. 2(3)

- (b) whether there is a real and substantial
 - c) la nécessité d'assurer la sécurité de la victime, du témoin ou de la personne associée au système judiciaire et leur protection contre l'intimidation et les représailles;

1999, ch. 25,

(d) society's interest in encouraging the reporting of offences and the participation of victims, witnesses and justice system participants in the criminal justice process;

(e) whether effective alternatives are available to protect the identity of the victim, witness or justice system participant;

1999, c. 25, s. 2(3) (4) Paragraph 486(4.9)(c) of the Act is replaced by the following:

(c) any other information that could identify the person to whom the application relates as a victim, witness or justice system participant in the proceedings.

1998, c. 37, s. 15(2)

17. (1) Subparagraph (a)(i) of the definition "primary designated offence" in section 487.04 of the Act is replaced by the following:

- (i) section 75 (piratical acts),
- (i.01) section 76 (hijacking),
- (i.02) section 77 (endangering safety of aircraft or airport),
- (i.03) section 78.1 (seizing control of ship or fixed platform),
- (i.04) subsection 81(1) (using explosives),
- (i.05) section 83.18 (participation in activity of terrorist group),
- (i.06) section 83.19 (facilitating terrorist activity),
- (i.07) section 83.2 (commission of offence for terrorist group),
- (i.08) section 83.21 (instructing to carry out activity for terrorist group),
- (i.09) section 83.22 (instructing to carry out terrorist activity),
- (i.1) section 83.23 (harbouring or concealing),
- (i.11) section 151 (sexual interference),
- (2) Paragraph (a) of the definition "primary designated offence" in section 487.04 of the Act is amended by striking out the word "and" at the end of subparagraph

- d) l'intérêt de la société à encourager la dénonciation des infractions et la participation des victimes, des témoins et des personnes associées au système judiciaire;
- e) l'existence d'autres moyens efficaces permettant de protéger l'identité de la victime, du témoin ou de la personne associée au système judiciaire;

(4) L'alinéa 486(4.9)c) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

1999, ch. 25, par. 2(3)

c) tout autre renseignement qui permettrait de découvrir l'identité de la victime, du témoin ou de la personne associée au système judiciaire.

17. (1) Le sous-alinéa a)(i) de la définition de « infraction primaire », à l'article 487.04 de la même loi, est remplacé par ce qui suit :

(i) article 75 (actes de piraterie),

- (i.01) article 76 (détournement),
- (i.02) article 77 (atteinte à la sécurité des aéronefs ou des aéroports),
- (i.03) article 78.1 (prise d'un navire ou d'une plate-forme fixe),
- (i.04) paragraphe 81(1) (usage d'explosifs),
- (i.05) article 83.18 (participation à une activité d'un groupe terroriste),
- (i.06) article 83.19 (facilitation d'une activité terroriste),
- (i.07) article 83.2 (infraction au profit d'un groupe terroriste),
- (i.08) article 83.21 (charger une personne de se livrer à une activité pour un groupe terroriste),
- (i.09) article 83.22 (charger une personne de se livrer à une activité terroriste),
- (i.1) article 83.23 (héberger ou cacher),
- (i.11) article 151 (contacts sexuels),

(2) L'alinéa *a*) de la définition de « infraction primaire », à l'article 487.04 de la même loi, est modifié par adjonction, après le sous-alinéa (xvi), de ce qui suit :

1998, ch. 37, par. 15(2)

(xv) and by adding the following after subparagraph (xvi):

(xvii) section 279.1 (hostage taking),

(xviii) section 431 (attack on premises, residence or transport of internationally protected person),

(xix) section 431.1 (attack on premises, accommodation or transport of United Nations or associated personnel), and

(xx) subsection 431.2(2) (explosive or other lethal device),

(3) The definition "primary designated offence" in section 487.04 of the Act is amended by striking out the word "and" at the end of paragraph (c) and by adding the following after paragraph (c):

- (c.1) an offence under any of the following provisions of the *Security of Information Act*, namely,
 - (i) section 6 (approaching, entering, etc., a prohibited place),
 - (ii) subsection 20(1) (threats or violence), and
 - (iii) subsection 21(1) (harbouring or concealing), and

1998, c. 37, s. 15(2)

(4) Subparagraphs (a)(i) to (v) of the definition "secondary designated offence" in section 487.04 of the Act are repealed.

1998, c. 37, s. 15(2)

- (5) Subparagraph (a)(xx) of the definition "secondary designated offence" in section 487.04 of the Act is repealed.
- 18. Section 490.1 of the Act is amended by adding the following after subsection (1):

Offence relating to financing of terrorism

(1.1) For the purposes of this section and sections 490.2 to 490.9, a terrorism offence is deemed to be a criminal organization offence.

1996, c. 19, s. 93.3; 1999, c. 25, s. 8(3)

19. (1) Subsection 515(4.1) of the Act is replaced by the following:

(xvii) article 279.1 (prise d'otage),

(xviii) article 431 (attaque contre les locaux officiels, le logement privé ou les moyens de transport d'une personne jouissant d'une protection internationale),

(xix) article 431.1 (attaque contre les locaux officiels, le logement privé ou les moyens de transport du personnel des Nations Unies ou du personnel associé),

(xx) paragraphe 431.2(2) (engin explosif ou autre engin meurtrier);

(3) La définition de « infraction primaire », à l'article 487.04 de la même loi, est modifiée par adjonction, après l'alinéa c), de ce qui suit :

- c.1) soit créée par l'une des dispositions suivantes de la *Loi sur la protection de l'information*:
 - (i) article 6 (présence à proximité d'un endroit prohibé),
 - (ii) paragraphe 20(1) (menaces, accusations ou violence),
 - (iii) paragraphe 21(1) (hébergement ou dissimulation);

(4) Les sous-alinéas a)(i) à (v) de la définition de « infraction secondaire », à l'article 487.04 de la même loi, sont abrogés.

1998, ch. 37, par. 15(2)

1998, ch. 37,

par. 15(2)

(5) Le sous-alinéa a)(xx) de la définition de « infraction secondaire », à l'article 487.04 de la même loi, est abrogé.

18. L'article 490.1 de la même loi est modifié par adjonction, après le paragraphe (1), de ce qui suit :

(1.1) Pour l'application du présent article et des articles 490.2 à 490.9, l'infraction de terrorisme est réputée être un acte de gangstérisme.

Infractions concernant le financement du terrorisme

19. (1) Le paragraphe 515(4.1) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

1996, ch. 19, art. 93.3; 1999, ch. 25, par. 8(3) Condition prohibiting possession of firearms, etc.

54

- (4.1) When making an order under subsection (2), in the case of an accused who is charged with
 - (a) an offence in the commission of which violence against a person was used, threatened or attempted,
 - (a.1) a terrorism offence,
 - (b) an offence under section 264 (criminal harassment),
 - (c) an offence relating to the contravention of subsection 5(3) or (4), 6(3) or 7(2) of the *Controlled Drugs and Substances Act*,
 - (d) an offence that involves, or the subjectmatter of which is, a firearm, a cross-bow, a prohibited weapon, a restricted weapon, a prohibited device, ammunition, prohibited ammunition or an explosive substance, or
 - (e) an offence under subsection 20(1) of the Security of Information Act, or an offence under subsection 21(1) or 22(1) or section 23 of that Act that is committed in relation to an offence under subsection 20(1) of that Act,

the justice shall add to the order a condition prohibiting the accused from possessing a firearm, cross-bow, prohibited weapon, restricted weapon, prohibited device, ammunition, prohibited ammunition or explosive substance, or all those things, until the accused is dealt with according to law unless the justice considers that such a condition is not required in the interests of the safety of the accused or the safety and security of a victim of the offence or of any other person.

1999, c. 25, s. 8(4)

(2) The portion of subsection 515(4.2) of the Act before paragraph (a) is replaced by the following:

Additional conditions

(4.2) Before making an order under subsection (2), in the case of an accused who is charged with an offence referred to in subsection (4.3), the justice shall consider whether it is desirable, in the interests of the safety and security of any person, particularly a victim of or witness to the offence, to include as a condition of the order

(4.1) Lorsqu'il rend une ordonnance en vertu du paragraphe (2) dans le cas d'une infraction perpétrée avec usage, tentative ou menace de violence contre autrui, d'une infraction de terrorisme, de l'infraction visée à l'article 264 (harcèlement criminel), d'une infraction aux paragraphes 5(3) ou (4), 6(3) ou 7(2) de la Loi réglementant certaines drogues et autres substances, d'une infraction relative à une arme à feu, une arbalète, une arme prohibée, une arme à autorisation restreinte, un dispositif prohibé, des munitions, des munitions prohibées ou des substances explosives, d'une infraction visée au paragraphe 20(1) de la Loi sur la protection de l'information, ou d'une infraction visée aux paragraphes 21(1) ou 22(1) ou à l'article 23 de cette loi commise à l'égard d'une infraction visée au paragraphe 20(1) de cette loi, le juge de paix doit, s'il en arrive à la conclusion qu'il est souhaitable de le faire pour la sécurité du prévenu, de la victime ou de toute autre personne, assortir l'ordonnance d'une condition lui interdisant, jusqu'à ce qu'il soit jugé conformément à la loi, d'avoir en sa possession de tels objets ou l'un ou plusieurs de ceux-ci.

(2) Le passage du paragraphe 515(4.2) de la même loi précédant l'alinéa *a*) est remplacé par ce qui suit :

(4.2) Le juge de paix qui rend une ordonnance en vertu du paragraphe (2) dans le cas d'une infraction mentionnée au paragraphe (4.3) doit considérer s'il est souhaitable pour la sécurité de toute personne, en particulier celle des victimes et des témoins de l'infraction, d'imposer au prévenu, dans l'ordonnance, tout ou partie des obligations suivantes :

Condition additionnelle

1999, ch. 25, par. 8(4)

Opportunité d'assortir l'ordonnance d'une condition additionnelle

Infractions

55

ch. 41

(3) Section 515 of the Act is amended by adding the following after subsection (4.2):

Offences

- (4.3) The offences for the purposes of subsection (4.2) are
 - (a) a terrorism offence;
 - (b) an offence described in section 264;
 - (c) an offence in the commission of which violence against a person was used, threatened or attempted; and
 - (d) an offence under subsection 20(1) of the Security of Information Act, or an offence under subsection 21(1) or 22(1) or section 23 of that Act that is committed in relation to an offence under subsection 20(1) of that Act.
- (4) Paragraph 515(6)(a) of the Act is amended by striking out the word "or" at the end of subparagraph (i) and by adding the following after subparagraph (ii):
 - (iii) that is an offence under any of sections 83.02 to 83.04 and 83.18 to 83.23 or otherwise is alleged to be a terrorism offence,
 - (iv) an offence under subsection 16(1) or (2), 17(1), 19(1), 20(1) or 22(1) of the *Security of Information Act*, or
 - (v) an offence under subsection 21(1) or 22(1) or section 23 of the *Security of Information Act* that is committed in relation to on offence referred to in subparagraph (iv),
- 20. Paragraph 718.2(a) of the Act is amended by striking out the word "or" at the end of subparagraph (iii), by adding the word "or" at the end of subparagraph (iv) and by adding the following after subparagraph (iv):
 - (v) evidence that the offence was a terrorism offence
- 21. Section 743.6 of the Act is amended by adding the following after subsection (1.1):

(3) L'article 515 de la même loi est modifié par adjonction, après le paragraphe (4.2), de ce qui suit :

(4.3) Les infractions visées par le paragraphe (4.2) sont les suivantes :

- a) infraction de terrorisme;
- b) infraction visée à l'article 264;
- c) infraction perpétrée avec usage, tentative ou menace de violence;
- d) infraction visée au paragraphe 20(1) de la Loi sur la protection de l'information ou infraction visée aux paragraphes 21(1) ou 22(1) ou à l'article 23 de cette loi commise à l'égard d'une infraction visée au paragraphe 20(1) de cette loi.

(4) L'alinéa 515(6)a) de la même loi est modifié par adjonction, après le sous-alinéa (ii), de ce qui suit :

- (iii) ou bien qui est une infraction prévue à l'un des articles 83.02 à 83.04 et 83.18 à 83.23 ou une infraction de terrorisme présumée avoir été commise,
- (iv) ou bien qui est une infraction prévue aux paragraphes 16(1) ou (2), 17(1), 19(1), 20(1) ou 22(1) de la *Loi sur la protection de l'information*,
- (v) ou bien qui est une infraction prévue aux paragraphes 21(1) ou 22(1) ou à l'article 23 de cette loi commise à l'égard d'une infraction mentionnée au sous-alinéa (iv);

20. L'alinéa 718.2a) de la même loi est modifié par adjonction, après le sous-alinéa (iv), de ce qui suit :

- (v) que l'infraction perpétrée par le délinquant est une infraction de terrorisme;
- 21. L'article 743.6 de la même loi est modifié par adjonction, après le paragraphe (1.1), de ce qui suit :

Power of court to delay parole

(1.2) Notwithstanding section 120 of the Corrections and Conditional Release Act, where an offender receives a sentence of imprisonment of two years or more, including a sentence of imprisonment for life, on conviction for a terrorism offence, the court shall order that the portion of the sentence that must be served before the offender may be released on full parole is one half of the sentence or ten years, whichever is less, unless the court is satisfied, having regard to the circumstances of the commission of the offence and the character and circumstances of the offender, that the expression of society's denunciation of the offence and the objectives of specific and general deterrence would be adequately served by a period of parole ineligibility determined in accordance with the Corrections and Conditional Release Act.

sur le système correctionnel et la mise en liberté sous condition, le tribunal est tenu, sauf s'il est convaincu, compte tenu des circonstances de l'infraction et du caractère et des particularités du délinquant, que la réprobation de la société à l'égard de l'infraction commise et l'effet dissuasif de l'ordonnance auraient la portée voulue si la période d'inadmissibilité était déterminée conformément à cette loi, d'ordonner que le délinquant condamné à une peine d'emprisonnement d'au moins deux ans — y compris une peine d'emprisonnement à perpétuité — pour une infraction de terrorisme purge, avant d'être admissible à la libération conditionnelle tota-

(1.2) Par dérogation à l'article 120 de la Loi

Pouvoir judiciaire de retarder la libération conditionnelle

1997, c. 23, s. 19

Fear of criminal organization offence or terrorism offence

1997, c. 23, s. 19

Adjudication

1997, c. 23,

s. 27

22. (1) Subsection 810.01(1) of the Act is replaced by the following:

810.01 (1) A person who fears on reasonable grounds that another person will commit a criminal organization offence or a terrorism offence may, with the consent of the Attorney General, lay an information before a provincial court judge.

(2) Subsection 810.01(3) of the Act is replaced by the following:

(3) The provincial court judge before whom the parties appear may, if satisfied by the evidence adduced that the informant has reasonable grounds for the fear, order that the defendant enter into a recognizance to keep the peace and be of good behaviour for any period that does not exceed twelve months and to comply with any other reasonable conditions prescribed in the recognizance, including the conditions set out in subsection (5), that the provincial court judge considers desirable for preventing the commission of an offence referred to in subsection (1).

23. The portion of section 811 of the Act before paragraph (a) is replaced by the following:

22. (1) Le paragraphe 810.01(1) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

le, la moitié de sa peine jusqu'à concurrence

de dix ans.

810.01 (1) Quiconque a des motifs raisonnables de craindre qu'une personne commettra un acte de gangstérisme ou une infraction de terrorisme peut, avec le consentement du procureur général, déposer une dénonciation devant un juge d'une cour provinciale.

Crainte d'actes de gangstérisme ou d'infractions de terrorisme

1997, ch. 23,

art. 19

(2) Le paragraphe 810.01(3) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

art. 19
Décision

1997, ch. 23,

(3) Le juge devant lequel les parties comparaissent peut, s'il est convaincu, par la preuve apportée, que les craintes du dénonciateur sont fondées sur des motifs raisonnables, ordonner que le défendeur contracte l'engagement de ne pas troubler l'ordre public et d'observer une bonne conduite pour une période maximale de douze mois, ainsi que de se conformer aux autres conditions raisonnables énoncées dans l'engagement, y compris celles visées au paragraphe (5), que le juge estime souhaitables pour prévenir la perpétration d'une infraction visée au paragraphe (1).

23. Le passage de l'article 811 de la même loi précédant l'alinéa *a*) est remplacé par ce qui suit :

1997, ch. 23, art. 27

Breach of recognizance

811. A person bound by a recognizance under section 83.3, 810, 810.01, 810.1 or 810.2 who commits a breach of the recognizance is guilty of

811. Quiconque viole l'engagement prévu aux articles 83.3, 810, 810.01, 810.1 ou 810.2 est coupable:

Manquement à l'engagement

57

Consequential Amendment

Modification corrélative

R.S., c. I-1

Identification of Criminals Act

23.1 Subsection 2(1) of the *Identification* of Criminals Act is amended by striking out the word "or" at the end of paragraph (b), by adding the word "or" at the end of paragraph (c) and by adding the following after paragraph (c):

(d) any person who is in lawful custody pursuant to section 83.3 of the Criminal Code.

L.R., ch. I-1 Loi sur l'identification des criminels

23.1 Le paragraphe 2(1) de la Loi sur l'identification des criminels est modifié par adjonction, après l'alinéa c), de ce qui suit :

d) les personnes qui sont sous garde légale conformément à l'article 83.3 du Code criminel.

PARTIE 2

LOI SUR LES SECRETS OFFICIELS

secrets officiels est remplacé par ce qui suit :

24. Le titre intégral de la Loi sur les

PART 2

R.S. c. O-5

OFFICIAL SECRETS ACT

24. The long title of the Official Secrets Act is replaced by the following:

An Act respecting the security of information

Loi concernant la protection de l'information

25. Section 1 of the Act is replaced by the following:

Short title

- **1.** This Act may be cited as the Security of Information Act.
- 26. (1) The definition "senior police officer" in subsection 2(1) of the Act is repealed.
- (2) The definition "Attorney General" in subsection 2(1) of the Act is replaced by the following:

"Attorney General' « procureur général »

- "Attorney General" means the Attorney General of Canada and includes his or her lawful deputy;
- (3) Subsection 2(1) of the Act is amended by adding the following in alphabetical order:

"communicate"

- "communicate" includes to make available;
- "foreign economic entity" means

25. L'article 1 de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

1. *Loi sur la protection de l'information.*

Titre abrégé

L.R. ch O-5

- 26. (1) La définition de « agent de police supérieur », au paragraphe 2(1) de la même loi, est abrogée.
- (2) La définition de « procureur général », au paragraphe 2(1) de la même loi, est remplacée par ce qui suit :
- « procureur général » Le procureur général du Canada ou son substitut légitime.

« procureur général » "Attorney General'

- (3) Le paragraphe 2(1) de la même loi est modifié par adjonction, selon l'ordre alphabétique, de ce qui suit :
- « activité terroriste » S'entend au sens du paragraphe 83.01(1) du Code criminel.
- « communiquer » S'entend notamment du fait de rendre disponible.

« activité terroriste » "terrorist activity"

« communiquer » "communicate"

« communiquer »

"foreign economic entity" « entité économique étrangère »

- (a) a foreign state or a group of foreign states, or
- (b) an entity that is controlled, in law or in fact, or is substantially owned, by a foreign state or a group of foreign states;

"foreign entity" « entité étrangère » "foreign entity" means

- (a) a foreign power,
- (b) a group or association of foreign powers, or of one or more foreign powers and one or more terrorist groups, or
- (c) a person acting at the direction of, for the benefit of or in association with a foreign power or a group or association referred to in paragraph (b);

"foreign power" « puissance étrangère » "foreign power" means

- (a) the government of a foreign state,
- (b) an entity exercising or purporting to exercise the functions of a government in relation to a territory outside Canada regardless of whether Canada recognizes the territory as a state or the authority of that entity over the territory, or
- (c) a political faction or party operating within a foreign state whose stated purpose is to assume the role of government of a foreign state;

"foreign state" « État étranger »

"foreign state" means

- (a) a state other than Canada,
- (b) a province, state or other political subdivision of a state other than Canada, or
- (c) a colony, dependency, possession, protectorate, condominium, trust territory or any territory falling under the jurisdiction of a state other than Canada;

"terrorist activity" « activité terroriste » "terrorist activity" has the same meaning as in subsection 83.01(1) of the *Criminal Code*;

- « entité économique étrangère »
 - a) État étranger ou groupe d'États étrangers;
 - b) entité qui appartient, en totalité ou pour une partie importante, à un État étranger ou groupe d'États étrangers ou qui est contrôlée en droit ou de fait par un État étranger ou groupe d'États étrangers.

« entité étrangère »

- a) Puissance étrangère;
- b) groupe ou association formé de puissances étrangères ou d'une combinaison d'une ou de plusieurs puissances étrangères et d'un ou de plusieurs groupes terroristes;
- c) personne agissant sur l'ordre d'une puissance étrangère, ou d'un groupe ou d'une association visé à l'alinéa b), en collaboration avec lui ou pour son profit.
- « État étranger » État autre que le Canada. Sont assimilés à un État étranger ses provinces, États ou autres subdivisions politiques, ses colonies, dépendances, possessions, territoires gérés en condominium ou placés sous son protectorat, sa tutelle ou, d'une façon générale, sa dépendance.
- « groupe terroriste » S'entend au sens du paragraphe 83.01(1) du *Code criminel*.

« puissance étrangère »

- a) Gouvernement d'un État étranger;
- b) entité faisant ou prétendant faire fonction de gouvernement pour un territoire étranger, que le Canada reconnaisse ou non le territoire comme État ou l'autorité de l'entité sur celui-ci;
- c) faction ou parti politique exerçant son activité à l'étranger et dont le but avoué

« entité économique étrangère » "foreign economic entity"

« entité étrangère » "foreign entity"

« État étranger » "foreign state"

« groupe terroriste » "terrorist group"

« puissance étrangère » "foreign power" "terrorist group" « groupe terroriste » "terrorist group" has the same meaning as in subsection 83.01(1) of the *Criminal Code*.

est d'assumer le gouvernement d'un État étranger.

(4) Section 2 of the Act is amended by adding the following after subsection (3):

Facilitation

(4) For greater certainty, subsection 83.01(2) of the *Criminal Code* applies for the purposes of the definitions "terrorist activity" and "terrorist group" in subsection (1).

27. Section 3 of the Act is replaced by the following:

Prejudice to the safety or interest of the State

- **3.** (1) For the purposes of this Act, a purpose is prejudicial to the safety or interests of the State if a person
 - (a) commits, in Canada, an offence against the laws of Canada or a province that is punishable by a maximum term of imprisonment of two years or more in order to advance a political, religious or ideological purpose, objective or cause or to benefit a foreign entity or terrorist group;
 - (b) commits, inside or outside Canada, a terrorist activity;
 - (c) causes or aggravates an urgent and critical situation in Canada that
 - (i) endangers the lives, health or safety of Canadians, or
 - (ii) threatens the ability of the Government of Canada to preserve the sovereignty, security or territorial integrity of Canada:
 - (d) interferes with a service, facility, system or computer program, whether public or private, or its operation, in a manner that has significant adverse impact on the health, safety, security or economic or financial well-being of the people of Canada or the functioning of any government in Canada:
 - (e) endangers, outside Canada, any person by reason of that person's relationship with Canada or a province or the fact that the person is doing business with or on behalf of the Government of Canada or of a province;

(4) L'article 2 de la même loi est modifié par adjonction, après le paragraphe (3), de ce qui suit :

(4) Il est entendu que le paragraphe 83.01(2) du *Code criminel* s'applique aux définitions de « activité terroriste » et « groupe terroriste » au paragraphe (1).

27. L'article 3 de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

3. (1) Pour l'application de la présente loi, il existe un dessein de nuire à la sécurité ou aux intérêts de l'État dans les cas où la personne :

a) en vue de contribuer à la réalisation d'un objectif politique, religieux ou idéologique ou dans l'intérêt d'une entité étrangère ou d'un groupe terroriste, commet au Canada une infraction à une loi fédérale ou provinciale punissable d'une peine d'emprisonnement maximale de deux ans ou plus;

- b) se livre, même à l'étranger, à une activité terroriste;
- c) cause ou aggrave une situation critique et urgente au Canada qui, selon le cas :
 - (i) met en danger la vie, la santé ou la sécurité des Canadiens,
 - (ii) menace la capacité du gouvernement fédéral de garantir la souveraineté, la sécurité ou l'intégrité territoriale du pays;
- d) porte atteinte à des installations, à des services ou à des programmes d'ordinateurs, publics ou privés, d'une façon qui nuit gravement à la santé, à la sécurité ou au bien-être économique ou financier de la population canadienne ou au bon fonctionnement d'un gouvernement au Canada;
- e) met en danger des personnes à l'étranger en raison de leurs liens avec le Canada ou une province ou des relations d'affaires qu'elles entretiennent avec le gouvernement fédéral ou un gouvernement provincial ou pour le compte de l'un ou l'autre;

Facilitation

Dessein nuisible à la sécurité ou aux intérêts de l'État

- (f) damages property outside Canada because a person or entity with an interest in the property or occupying the property has a relationship with Canada or a province or is doing business with or on behalf of the Government of Canada or of a province;
- (g) impairs or threatens the military capability of the Canadian Forces, or any part of the Canadian Forces:
- (h) interferes with the design, development or production of any weapon or defence equipment of, or intended for, the Canadian Forces, including any hardware, software or system that is part of or associated with any such weapon or defence equipment;
- (i) impairs or threatens the capabilities of the Government of Canada in relation to security and intelligence;
- (j) adversely affects the stability of the Canadian economy, the financial system or any financial market in Canada without reasonable economic or financial justification:
- (k) impairs or threatens the capability of a government in Canada, or of the Bank of Canada, to protect against, or respond to, economic or financial threats or instability;
- (*l*) impairs or threatens the capability of the Government of Canada to conduct diplomatic or consular relations, or conduct and manage international negotiations;
- (m) contrary to a treaty to which Canada is a party, develops or uses anything that is intended or has the capability to cause death or serious bodily injury to a significant number of people by means of
 - (i) toxic or poisonous chemicals or their precursors,
 - (ii) a microbial or other biological agent, or a toxin, including a disease organism,
 - (iii) radiation or radioactivity, or
 - (iv) an explosion; or
- (n) does or omits to do anything that is directed towards or in preparation of the undertaking of an activity mentioned in any of paragraphs (a) to (m).

- f) endommage des biens à l'étranger en raison des liens de leur propriétaire ou détenteur avec le Canada ou une province ou des relations d'affaires qu'il entretient avec le gouvernement fédéral ou un gouvernement provincial ou pour le compte de l'un ou l'autre;
- g) compromet ou menace, en tout ou en partie, la capacité militaire des Forces canadiennes:
- h) gêne la conception, la mise au point ou la production d'armes ou de matériel de défense des Forces canadiennes ou destinés à celles-ci, y compris le matériel, les logiciels et les systèmes informatiques qui en font partie ou sont liés à leur fonctionnement;
- *i*) compromet ou menace la capacité du gouvernement fédéral en matière de sécurité ou de renseignement;
- *j*) nuit à la stabilité de l'économie canadienne, du système financier ou du marché financier au Canada, sans justification valable d'ordre économique ou financier;
- k) compromet ou menace la capacité d'un gouvernement au Canada ou de la Banque du Canada de prévenir les menaces d'ordre économique ou financier ou l'instabilité économique ou financière ou de lutter contre elles;
- *l*) compromet ou menace la capacité du gouvernement fédéral d'entretenir des relations diplomatiques et consulaires ou de mener des négociations internationales;
- m) met au point ou utilise, contrairement à un traité auquel le Canada est partie, toute chose destinée ou de nature à causer la mort ou des blessures graves à un grand nombre de personnes par l'un des moyens suivants :
 - (i) un produit chimique toxique ou délétère ou ses précurseurs,
 - (ii) un agent biologique ou une toxine, notamment tout agent microbien ou organisme pathogène,
 - (iii) des radiations ou de la radioactivité,
 - (iv) une explosion;

61

Harm to Canadian interests

(2) For the purposes of this Act, harm is caused to Canadian interests if a foreign entity or terrorist group does anything referred to in any of paragraphs (1)(a) to (n).

28. The Act is amended by adding the following before section 4:

Miscellaneous Offences

1992, c. 47, s. 80

29. Sections 6 to 15 of the Act are replaced by the following:

Approaching, entering, etc.. a prohibited

6. Every person commits an offence who, for any purpose prejudicial to the safety or interests of the State, approaches, inspects, passes over, is in the neighbourhood of or enters a prohibited place at the direction of, for the benefit of or in association with a foreign entity or a terrorist group.

Interference

7. Every person commits an offence who, in the vicinity of a prohibited place, obstructs, knowingly misleads or otherwise interferes with or impedes a peace officer or a member of Her Majesty's forces engaged on guard, sentry, patrol or other similar duty in relation to the prohibited place.

Special Operational Information and Persons Permanently Bound to Secrecy

Definitions

8. (1) The following definitions apply in this section and sections 9 to 15.

"department" « ministère »

- "department" means a department named in Schedule I to the Financial Administration Act, a division or branch of the public service of Canada set out in column I of Schedule I.1 to that Act and a corporation named in Schedule II to that Act.
- "government contractor' « partie à un contrat administratif »
- "government contractor" means a person who has entered into a contract or arrangement with Her Majesty in right of Canada, a department, board or agency of the Government of Canada or a Crown corporation as defined in subsection 83(1) of the Finan-

n) accomplit une action ou une omission en vue ou en préparation de l'accomplissement d'un acte mentionné à l'un des alinéas a) à m).

(2) Pour l'application de la présente loi, il y a atteinte aux intérêts canadiens dans les cas où l'entité étrangère ou le groupe terroriste, selon le cas, accomplit un acte ou une omission prévu à l'un des alinéas (1)a) à n).

Atteinte aux intérêts canadiens

28. La même loi est modifiée par adjonction, avant l'article 4, de ce qui suit :

Infractions diverses

29. Les articles 6 à 15 de la même loi sont remplacés par ce qui suit :

1992, ch. 47. art. 80

6. Commet une infraction à la présente loi quiconque, dans un dessein nuisible à la sécurité ou aux intérêts de l'État s'approche d'un endroit prohibé, l'inspecte, le traverse, se trouve dans son voisinage ou y pénètre sur l'ordre d'une entité étrangère ou d'un groupe terroriste, en collaboration avec lui ou pour son profit.

Présence à proximité d'un endroit prohibé

7. Commet une infraction à la présente loi quiconque, dans le voisinage d'un endroit prohibé, gêne, entrave ou induit sciemment en erreur un agent de la paix ou un membre des forces de Sa Majesté qui patrouille, monte la garde, est de faction, ou remplit d'autres fonctions semblables relativement à l'endroit prohibé.

Entraver les agents de la paix

Renseignements opérationnels spéciaux et personnes astreintes au secret à perpétuité

- 8. (1) Les définitions qui suivent s'appliquent au présent article et aux articles 9 à 15.
- « ministère » Ministère mentionné à l'annexe I de la Loi sur la gestion des finances publiques, secteur de l'administration publique fédérale mentionné à la colonne I de l'annexe I.1 de cette loi ou personne morale mentionnée à l'annexe II de cette loi.
- « partie à un contrat administratif » Personne qui a conclu un contrat, un protocole d'entente ou un marché public avec Sa Majesté du chef du Canada, un ministère, un organisme fédéral ou une société d'État au sens du paragraphe 83(1) de la Loi sur la gestion

Définitions

« ministère » "department"

« partie à un contrat administratif » "government contractor'

cial Administration Act, and includes an employee of the person, a subcontractor of the person and an employee of the subcontractor.

"person permanently bound to secrecy" « personne astreinte au secret à perpétuité »

"special

operational

information" « renseignements

opérationnels

spéciaux »

- "person permanently bound to secrecy" means
 - (a) a current or former member or employee of a department, division, branch or office of the public service of Canada, or any of its parts, set out in the schedule; or
 - (b) a person who has been personally served with a notice issued under subsection 10(1) in respect of the person or who has been informed, in accordance with regulations made under subsection 11(2), of the issuance of such a notice in respect of the person.

"special operational information" means information that the Government of Canada is taking measures to safeguard that reveals, or from which may be inferred,

- (a) the identity of a person, agency, group, body or entity that is or is intended to be, has been approached to be, or has offered or agreed to be, a confidential source of information, intelligence or assistance to the Government of Canada;
- (b) the nature or content of plans of the Government of Canada for military operations in respect of a potential, imminent or present armed conflict;
- (c) the means that the Government of Canada used, uses or intends to use, or is capable of using, to covertly collect or obtain, or to decipher, assess, analyse, process, handle, report, communicate or otherwise deal with information or intelligence, including any vulnerabilities or limitations of those means;
- (d) whether a place, person, agency, group, body or entity was, is or is

des finances publiques, ainsi que ses employés. Y sont assimilés le sous-traitant et ses employés.

« personne astreinte au secret à perpétuité »

- a) Soit le membre ou l'employé ancien ou actuel d'un ministère, d'un secteur ou d'un organisme de l'administration publique fédérale mentionné à l'annexe;
- b) soit la personne qui a reçu signification à personne de l'avis mentionné au paragraphe 10(1) ou qui a été informée de sa délivrance conformément aux règlements pris en vertu du paragraphe 11(2).
- « renseignements opérationnels spéciaux » Les renseignements à l'égard desquels le gouvernement fédéral prend des mesures de protection et dont la communication révélerait ou permettrait de découvrir, selon le cas :
 - a) l'identité d'une personne, d'un groupe, d'un organisme ou d'une entité qui est, a été ou est censé être une source confidentielle d'information ou d'assistance pour le gouvernement fédéral, ou à qui on a proposé ou qui a accepté ou proposé de le devenir;
 - b) la nature ou la teneur des plans du gouvernement fédéral en vue des opérations militaires relatives à un conflit armé

 — actuel ou éventuel;
 - c) les moyens que le gouvernement fédéral a mis, met ou entend ou pourrait mettre en oeuvre pour la collecte ou l'obtention secrètes, ou pour le déchiffrage, l'évaluation, l'analyse, le traitement, la communication ou toute autre utilisation d'information ou de renseignements, y compris, le cas échéant, les limites ou les failles de ces moyens;
 - d) le fait qu'il a mené, mène ou entend mener une enquête secrète ou des activi-

« personne astreinte au secret à perpétuité » "person permanently bound to secrecy"

« renseignements opérationnels spéciaux » "special operational information"

63

ch. 41

intended to be the object of a covert investigation, or a covert collection of information or intelligence, by the Government of Canada:

- (e) the identity of any person who is, has been or is intended to be covertly engaged in an information- or intelligence-collection activity or program of the Government of Canada that is covert in nature:
- (f) the means that the Government of Canada used, uses or intends to use, or is capable of using, to protect or exploit any information or intelligence referred to in any of paragraphs (a) to (e), including, but not limited to, encryption and cryptographic systems, and any vulnerabilities or limitations of those means; or
- (g) information or intelligence similar in nature to information or intelligence referred to in any of paragraphs (a) to (f) that is in relation to, or received from, a foreign entity or terrorist group.

Deputy head

- (2) For the purposes of subsections 10(1) and 15(5), the deputy head is
 - (a) for an individual employed in or attached or seconded to a department, the deputy head of the department;
 - (b) for an officer or a non-commissioned member of the Canadian Forces, the Chief of the Defence Staff;
 - (c) for a person who is a member of the exempt staff of a Minister responsible for a department, the deputy head of the department:
 - (d) for a government contractor in relation to a contract with
 - (i) the Department of Public Works and Government Services, the deputy head of that department or any other deputy head authorized for the purpose by the Minister of Public Works and Government Services.
 - (ii) any other department, the deputy head of that department, and

- tés secrètes de collecte d'information ou de renseignements relativement à un lieu, une personne, un groupe, un organisme ou une entité:
- e) l'identité de toute personne qui a mené, mène ou pourrait être appelée à mener secrètement des activités ou programmes de collecte d'information ou de renseignements du gouvernement fédéral;
- f) les moyens que le gouvernement fédéral a mis, met ou entend ou pourrait mettre en oeuvre pour la protection ou l'utilisation d'information ou de renseignements mentionnés à l'un des alinéas a) à e), notamment le chiffrement et les procédés de cryptographie, y compris, le cas échéant, les limites ou les failles de ces moyens;
- g) des éléments d'information de la nature de ceux mentionnés à l'un des alinéas a) à f), reçus d'une entité étrangère ou d'un groupe terroriste ou le concernant.
- (2) Pour l'application des paragraphes 10(1) et 15(5), l'administrateur général est :
 - a) à l'égard d'un fonctionnaire d'un ministère ou d'une personne affectée à celui-ci ou détachée auprès de lui, l'administrateur général du ministère;
 - b) à l'égard d'un officier ou d'un militaire du rang des Forces canadiennes, le chef d'état-major de la défense;
 - c) à l'égard des membres du personnel exempté d'un ministre fédéral dont relève un ministère, l'administrateur général du ministère;
 - d) à l'égard d'une partie à un contrat administratif conclu avec :
 - (i) le ministère des Travaux publics et des Services gouvernementaux, l'administrateur général de celui-ci ou tout autre administrateur général autorisé par le ministre des Travaux publics et des Services gouvernementaux,
 - (ii) tout autre ministère, l'administrateur général de celui-ci,

Administrateur général

- (iii) a Crown Corporation within the meaning of subsection 83(1) of the *Financial Administration Act*, the deputy head of the department of the minister responsible for the Crown Corporation; and
- (e) for any other person, the Clerk of the Privy Council or a person authorized for the purpose by the Clerk of the Privy Council.

Amending schedule

9. The Governor in Council may, by order, amend the schedule by adding or deleting the name of any current or former department, division, branch or office of the public service of Canada, or any of its parts, that, in the opinion of the Governor in Council, has or had a mandate that is primarily related to security and intelligence matters, or by modifying any name set out in the schedule.

Designation persons permanently bound to secrecy

- **10.** (1) The deputy head in respect of a person may, by notice in writing, designate the person to be a person permanently bound to secrecy if the deputy head is of the opinion that, by reason of the person's office, position, duties, contract or arrangement,
 - (a) the person had, has or will have authorized access to special operational information; and
 - (b) it is in the interest of national security to designate the person.

Contents

- (2) The notice must
- (a) specify the name of the person in respect of whom it is issued;
- (b) specify the office held, position occupied or duties performed by the person or the contract or arrangement in respect of which the person is a government contractor, as the case may be, that led to the designation; and
- (c) state that the person named in the notice is a person permanently bound to secrecy for the purposes of sections 13 and 14.

Exceptions

(3) The following persons may not be designated as persons permanently bound to secrecy, but they continue as such if they were persons permanently bound to secrecy before becoming persons referred to in this subsection:

- (iii) une société d'État, au sens du paragraphe 83(1) de la *Loi sur la gestion* des finances publiques, l'administrateur général du ministère qui relève du ministre responsable de la société;
- e) à l'égard de toute autre personne, le greffier du Conseil privé ou la personne qu'il autorise.

9. Le gouverneur en conseil peut, par décret, modifier l'annexe par adjonction, suppression ou remplacement du nom de tout ou partie d'un ministère, d'un secteur ou d'un organisme de l'administration publique fédérale — ancien ou actuel — dont il estime que les fonctions étaient ou sont principalement liées aux questions de sécurité et de renseignement.

Annexe

10. (1) L'administrateur général à l'égard d'une personne peut, par avis écrit, l'astreindre au secret à perpétuité s'il est d'avis que, en raison de sa charge, de ses fonctions ou de sa qualité de partie à un contrat administratif :

Avis: personne astreinte au secret à perpétuité

- a) d'une part, elle a eu, a ou aura légitimement accès à des renseignements opérationnels spéciaux;
- b) d'autre part, elle devrait être ainsi astreinte au secret dans l'intérêt de la sécurité nationale.
- (2) L'avis mentionne:

Teneur de l'avis

- a) le nom du destinataire;
- b) la charge ou les fonctions ou le contrat, protocole d'entente ou marché public qui justifient l'assujettissement au secret;
- c) le fait que le destinataire est une personne astreinte au secret à perpétuité pour l'application des articles 13 et 14.
- (3) Les personnes ci-après ne peuvent être astreintes au secret à perpétuité mais elles continuent d'y être astreintes si elles l'étaient préalablement à l'exercice de leurs fonctions :
 - a) le gouverneur général;
 - b) le lieutenant-gouverneur d'une province;

Exceptions

- (a) the Governor General;
- (b) the lieutenant governor of a province;
- (c) a judge receiving a salary under the Judges Act; and
- (d) a military judge within the meaning of subsection 2(1) of the National Defence

c) les juges rémunérés sous le régime de la Loi sur les juges;

d) les juges militaires au sens du paragraphe 2(1) de la Loi sur la défense nationale.

Service

11. (1) Subject to subsection (2), a person in respect of whom a notice is issued under subsection 10(1) is a person permanently bound to secrecy as of the moment the person is personally served with the notice or informed of the notice in accordance with the regulations.

11. (1) Sous réserve du paragraphe (2), la personne est astreinte au secret à perpétuité à compter soit de la signification à personne de l'avis prévu au paragraphe 10(1), soit de la notification de sa délivrance en conformité avec les règlements.

Prise d'effet de l'avis

Regulations

(2) The Governor in Council may make regulations respecting the personal service of notices issued under subsection 10(1) and regulations respecting personal notification of the issuance of a notice under that subsection when personal service is not practical.

(2) Le gouverneur en conseil peut, par règlement, régir la signification à personne de l'avis prévu au paragraphe 10(1) et la notification personnelle de la délivrance de l'avis dans

les cas où la signification à personne est difficilement réalisable.

Règlements

Certificate

12. (1) Subject to subsection (2), a certificate purporting to have been issued by or under the authority of a Minister of the Crown in right of Canada stating that a person is a person permanently bound to secrecy shall be received and is admissible in evidence in any proceedings for an offence under section 13 or 14, without proof of the signature or authority of the Minister appearing to have signed it, and, in the absence of evidence to the contrary, is proof of the fact so stated.

Certificat 12. (1) Sous réserve du paragraphe (2), le

certificat apparemment signé par un ministre fédéral ou en son nom, où il est déclaré qu'une personne est astreinte au secret à perpétuité, est admissible en preuve dans les poursuites engagées pour infraction aux articles 13 et 14, sans qu'il soit nécessaire de prouver l'authenticité de la signature qui y est apposée ou la qualité officielle du signataire; sauf preuve contraire, le certificat fait foi de son contenu.

Disclosure of

(2) The certificate may be received in evidence only if the party intending to produce it has, before the trial, served on the party against whom it is intended to be produced reasonable notice of that intention, together with a duplicate of the certificate.

(2) Le certificat n'est reçu en preuve que si

la partie qui a l'intention de le produire contre une autre en donne à celle-ci un préavis suffisant, avec copie du certificat.

Préavis

Purported communication

13. (1) Every person permanently bound to secrecy commits an offence who, intentionally and without authority, communicates or confirms information that, if it were true, would be special operational information.

13. (1) Commet une infraction la personne astreinte au secret à perpétuité qui, intentionnellement et sans autorisation, communique ou confirme des renseignements qui, s'ils étaient vrais, seraient des renseignements

Prétendue communication ou confirmation

Truthfulness of information

(2) For the purpose of subsection (1), it is not relevant whether the information to which the offence relates is true.

(2) Pour l'application du paragraphe (1), il y a infraction indépendamment de la véracité des renseignements.

opérationnels spéciaux.

Véracité des renseignements

Punishment

66

(3) Every person who commits an offence under subsection (1) is guilty of an indictable offence and is liable to imprisonment for a term of not more than five years less a day.

Unauthorized communication of special operational information **14.** (1) Every person permanently bound to secrecy commits an offence who, intentionally and without authority, communicates or confirms special operational information.

Punishment

(2) Every person who commits an offence under subsection (1) is guilty of an indictable offence and is liable to imprisonment for a term of not more than 14 years.

Public interest defence **15.** (1) No person is guilty of an offence under section 13 or 14 if the person establishes that he or she acted in the public interest.

Acting in the public interest

- (2) Subject to subsection (4), a person acts in the public interest if
 - (a) the person acts for the purpose of disclosing an offence under an Act of Parliament that he or she reasonably believes has been, is being or is about to be committed by another person in the purported performance of that person's duties and functions for, or on behalf of, the Government of Canada; and
 - (b) the public interest in the disclosure outweighs the public interest in non-disclosure.

Paragraph (2)(a) to be considered first

(3) In determining whether a person acts in the public interest, a judge or court shall determine whether the condition in paragraph (2)(a) is satisfied before considering paragraph (2)(b).

Factors to be considered

- (4) In deciding whether the public interest in the disclosure outweighs the public interest in non-disclosure, a judge or court must consider
 - (a) whether the extent of the disclosure is no more than is reasonably necessary to disclose the alleged offence or prevent the commission or continuation of the alleged offence, as the case may be;
 - (b) the seriousness of the alleged offence;
 - (c) whether the person resorted to other reasonably accessible alternatives before

(3) Quiconque commet l'infraction visée au paragraphe (1) est coupable d'un acte criminel passible d'un emprisonnement maximal de cinq ans moins un jour.

Peine

14. (1) Commet une infraction la personne astreinte au secret à perpétuité qui, intentionnellement et sans autorisation, communique ou confirme des renseignements opérationnels spéciaux.

Communication de renseignements opérationnels spéciaux

(2) Quiconque commet l'infraction visée au paragraphe (1) est coupable d'un acte criminel passible d'un emprisonnement maximal de quatorze ans.

Peine

15. (1) Nul ne peut être déclaré coupable d'une infraction prévue aux articles 13 ou 14 s'il établit qu'il a agi dans l'intérêt public.

Défense d'intérêt public

(2) Sous réserve du paragraphe (4), une personne agit dans l'intérêt public lorsque :

Intérêt public

- a) d'une part, croyant pour des motifs raisonnables qu'une infraction à une loi fédérale a été, est en train ou est sur le point d'être commise par une personne dans l'exercice effectif ou censé tel de ses fonctions pour le compte du gouvernement fédéral, elle agit en vue de révéler l'infraction;
- b) d'autre part, les motifs d'intérêt public en faveur de la révélation l'emportent sur ceux en faveur de la non-révélation.
- (3) Le juge ou tribunal ne se penche sur les exigences de l'alinéa (2)*b*) que s'il conclut à l'existence de celles de l'alinéa (2)*a*).

Procédure à

- (4) Pour décider de la prépondérance des motifs d'intérêt public en faveur de la révélation, le juge ou tribunal prend en considération.
 - a) le fait que celle-ci se limitait ou non à ce qui était raisonnablement nécessaire pour établir ou prévenir la commission de l'infraction ou y mettre fin, selon le cas;
 - b) la gravité de l'infraction;
 - c) le fait que la personne a utilisé ou non au préalable les solutions de rechange dont elle pouvait raisonnablement se prévaloir, et,

Facteurs à prendre en considération

Prior

disclosure to

authorities necessary ch. 41

- making the disclosure and, in doing so, whether the person complied with any relevant guidelines, policies or laws that applied to the person;
- (d) whether the person had reasonable grounds to believe that the disclosure would be in the public interest;
- (*e*) the public interest intended to be served by the disclosure;
- (f) the extent of the harm or risk of harm created by the disclosure; and
- (g) the existence of exigent circumstances justifying the disclosure.
- justifying the disclosure.

 (5) A judge or court may decide whether the public interest in the disclosure outweighs the

public interest in non-disclosure only if the

person has complied with the following:

- (a) the person has, before communicating or confirming the information, brought his or her concern to, and provided all relevant information in his or her possession to, his or her deputy head or, if not reasonably practical in the circumstances, the Deputy Attorney General of Canada; and
- (b) the person has, if he or she has not received a response from the deputy head or the Deputy Attorney General of Canada, as the case may be, within a reasonable time, brought his or her concern to, and provided all relevant information in the person's possession to,
 - (i) the Security Intelligence Review Committee, if the person's concern relates to an alleged offence that has been, is being or is about to be committed by another person in the purported performance of that person's duties and functions of service for, or on behalf of, the Government of Canada, other than a person who is a member of the Communications Security Establishment, and he or she has not received a response from the Security Intelligence Review Committee within a reasonable time, or
 - (ii) the Communications Security Establishment Commissioner, if the person's concern relates to an alleged offence that has been, is being or is about to be

- dans le cadre de celles-ci, a ou non respecté les lois, directives ou lignes directrices applicables;
- d) le fait que la personne avait ou non des motifs raisonnables de croire que la révélation était dans l'intérêt public;
- e) la nature de l'intérêt public qui a motivé la révélation;
- f) la gravité du préjudice ou du risque de préjudice causé par la révélation;
- g) l'existence d'une situation d'urgence justifiant la révélation.
- (5) Le juge ou le tribunal ne peut décider de la prépondérance des motifs d'intérêt public en faveur de la révélation que si la personne s'est conformée aux exigences suivantes :
 - a) la personne, avant la communication ou la confirmation, a informé de la question, avec tous les renseignements à l'appui en sa possession, l'administrateur général ou, si cela était difficilement réalisable dans les circonstances, le sous-procureur général du Canada;
 - b) dans le cas où elle n'a pas reçu de réponse de l'administrateur général ou du sous-procureur général du Canada dans un délai raisonnable, elle a informé de la question, avec tous les renseignements à l'appui en sa possession:
 - (i) soit le comité de surveillance des activités de renseignement de sécurité si la question porte sur une infraction qui a été, est en train ou est sur le point d'être commise par une personne autre qu'un membre du Centre de la sécurité des télécommunications dans l'exercice effectif ou censé tel de ses fonctions pour le compte du gouvernement fédéral et n'en a pas reçu de réponse dans un délai raisonnable,
 - (ii) soit le commissaire du Centre de la sécurité des télécommunications si la question porte sur une infraction qui a été, est en train ou est sur le point d'être commise par un membre du Centre de la sécurité des télécommunications dans l'exercice effectif ou censé tel de ses

Informer les autorités committed by a member of the Communications Security Establishment, in the purported performance of that person's duties and functions of service for, or on behalf of, the Communications Security Establishment, and he or she has not received a response from the Communications Security Establishment Commissioner within a reasonable time.

fonctions pour le compte de celui-ci, et n'en a pas reçu de réponse dans un délai raisonnable.

Exigent circumstances

(6) Subsection (5) does not apply if the communication or confirmation of the information was necessary to avoid grievous bodily harm or death.

(6) Le paragraphe (5) ne s'applique pas si la communication ou la confirmation des renseignements était nécessaire afin d'éviter des blessures graves ou la mort.

Situation d'urgence

Communications with Foreign Entities or Terrorist Groups

Communicating safeguarded information

- 16. (1) Every person commits an offence who, without lawful authority, communicates to a foreign entity or to a terrorist group information that the Government of Canada or of a province is taking measures to safeguard if
 - (a) the person believes, or is reckless as to is taking measures to safeguard; and
 - (b) the person intends, by communicating the information, to increase the capacity of a foreign entity or a terrorist group to harm Canadian interests or is reckless as to whether the communication of the information is likely to increase the capacity of a foreign entity or a terrorist group to harm Canadian interests.

whether, the information is information that the Government of Canada or of a province

Communicating safeguarded information

- (2) Every person commits an offence who, intentionally and without lawful authority, communicates to a foreign entity or to a terrorist group information that the Government of Canada or of a province is taking measures to safeguard if
 - (a) the person believes, or is reckless as to whether, the information is information that the Government of Canada or of a province is taking measures to safeguard; and
 - (b) harm to Canadian interests results.

Communication à des entités étrangères ou groupes terroristes

16. (1) Commet une infraction quiconque, sans autorisation légitime, communique à une entité étrangère ou à un groupe terroriste des renseignements à l'égard desquels le gouvernement fédéral ou un gouvernement provincial prend des mesures de protection si, à la fois:

Communication de renseignements protégés

- a) il croit que les renseignements font l'objet de telles mesures ou ne se soucie pas de savoir si tel est le cas;
- b) soit il les communique dans l'intention d'accroître la capacité d'une entité étrangère ou d'un groupe terroriste de porter atteinte aux intérêts canadiens, soit il ne se soucie pas de savoir si la communication aura vraisemblablement cet effet.
- (2) Commet une infraction quiconque, intentionnellement et sans autorisation légitime, communique à une entité étrangère ou à un groupe terroriste des renseignements à l'égard desquels le gouvernement fédéral ou un gouvernement provincial prend des mesures de protection si, à la fois :
 - a) il croit que les renseignements font l'objet de telles mesures ou ne se soucie pas de savoir si tel est le cas;
 - b) la communication porte atteinte aux intérêts canadiens.

Communication de renseignements protégés

Punishment

(3) Every person who commits an offence under subsection (1) or (2) is guilty of an indictable offence and is liable to imprisonment for life.

Communicating special operational information

17. (1) Every person commits an offence who, intentionally and without lawful authority, communicates special operational information to a foreign entity or to a terrorist group if the person believes, or is reckless as to whether, the information is special operational information.

Punishment

(2) Every person who commits an offence under subsection (1) is guilty of an indictable offence and is liable to imprisonment for life.

Breach of trust in respect of safeguarded information

18. (1) Every person with a security clearance given by the Government of Canada commits an offence who, intentionally and without lawful authority, communicates, or agrees to communicate, to a foreign entity or to a terrorist group any information that is of a type that the Government of Canada is taking measures to safeguard.

Punishment

(2) Every person who commits an offence under subsection (1) is guilty of an indictable offence and is liable to imprisonment for a term of not more than two years.

Economic Espionage

Use of trade secret for the benefit of foreign economic entity

- 19. (1) Every person commits an offence who, at the direction of, for the benefit of or in association with a foreign economic entity, fraudulently and without colour of right and to the detriment of Canada's economic interests, international relations or national defence or national security
 - (a) communicates a trade secret to another person, group or organization; or
 - (b) obtains, retains, alters or destroys a trade secret.

Punishment

(2) Every person who commits an offence under subsection (1) is guilty of an indictable offence and is liable to imprisonment for a term of not more than 10 years.

(3) Quiconque commet l'infraction prévue aux paragraphes (1) ou (2) est coupable d'un acte criminel passible de l'emprisonnement à perpétuité.

17. (1) Commet une infraction quiconque, intentionnellement et sans autorisation légitime, communique à une entité étrangère ou à un groupe terroriste des renseignements opérationnels spéciaux s'il les croit être de tels renseignements ou ne se soucie pas de savoir si tel est le cas.

Communication de renseignements opérationnels spéciaux

69

Peine

(2) Quiconque commet l'infraction prévue au paragraphe (1) est coupable d'un acte criminel passible de l'emprisonnement à perpétuité. Peine

18. (1) Commet une infraction le titulaire d'une habilitation de sécurité délivrée par le gouvernement fédéral qui, intentionnellement et sans autorisation légitime, communique des renseignements du type de ceux à l'égard desquels celui-ci prend des mesures de protection à une entité étrangère ou à un groupe terroriste ou accepte de les leur communiquer.

Acceptation de communiquer secrètement des renseignements à une entité étrangère

(2) Quiconque commet l'infraction prévue au paragraphe (1) est coupable d'un acte criminel passible d'un emprisonnement maximal de deux ans. Peine

Espionnage économique

- 19. (1) Commet une infraction quiconque, frauduleusement et sans apparence de droit, sur l'ordre d'une entité économique étrangère, en collaboration avec elle ou pour son profit et au détriment des intérêts économiques canadiens, des relations internationales ou de la défense ou de la sécurité nationales :
 - a) soit communique un secret industriel à une personne, à un groupe ou à une organisation;
 - b) soit obtient, retient, modifie ou détruit un secret industriel.
- (2) Quiconque commet l'infraction prévue au paragraphe (1) est coupable d'un acte criminel passible d'un emprisonnement maximal de dix ans.

Communication de secrets industriels

Peine

Defence

- (3) A person is not guilty of an offence under subsection (1) if the trade secret was
 - (a) obtained by independent development or by reason only of reverse engineering; or
 - (b) acquired in the course of the person's work and is of such a character that its acquisition amounts to no more than an enhancement of that person's personal knowledge, skill or expertise.

Meaning of "trade secret"

- (4) For the purpose of this section, "trade secret" means any information, including a formula, pattern, compilation, program, method, technique, process, negotiation position or strategy or any information contained or embodied in a product, device or mechanism that
 - (a) is or may be used in a trade or business;
 - (b) is not generally known in that trade or business;
 - (c) has economic value from not being generally known; and
 - (d) is the subject of efforts that are reasonable under the circumstances to maintain its secrecy.

Foreign-influenced or Terrorist-influenced Threats or Violence

Threats or violence

- **20.** (1) Every person commits an offence who, at the direction of, for the benefit of or in association with a foreign entity or a terrorist group, induces or attempts to induce, by threat, accusation, menace or violence, any person to do anything or to cause anything to be done
 - (a) that is for the purpose of increasing the capacity of a foreign entity or a terrorist group to harm Canadian interests; or
 - (b) that is reasonably likely to harm Canadian interests.

- (3) Nul ne commet l'infraction prévue au paragraphe (1) si :
 - *a*) soit le secret industriel a été acquis à la suite d'une mise au point indépendante ou uniquement en raison de la rétrotechnique;
 - b) soit le secret industriel a été acquis dans le cadre du travail de la personne et il est de telle nature que son acquisition n'équivaut à rien de plus qu'un enrichissement de ses compétences, de ses connaissances ou de son savoir-faire.
- (4) Pour l'application du présent article, « secret industriel » s'entend des renseignements notamment formule, modèle, compilation, programme, méthode, technique, procédé ou position ou stratégie de négociation, ou renseignements contenus dans un produit, un appareil ou un mécanisme ou incorporés à ceux-ci qui, à la fois :
 - *a*) sont ou peuvent être utilisés dans une industrie ou un commerce;
 - b) ne sont pas généralement connus dans cette industrie ou ce commerce;
 - c) ont une valeur économique du fait qu'ils ne sont pas généralement connus;
 - d) font l'objet de mesures raisonnables dans les circonstances pour en protéger le caractère confidentiel.

Menaces, accusations ou violence pour le compte d'une entité étrangère ou d'un groupe terroriste

- **20.** (1) Commet une infraction quiconque, sur l'ordre d'une entité étrangère ou d'un groupe terroriste, en collaboration avec lui ou pour son profit, incite ou tente d'inciter une personne par menaces, accusations ou violence, à accomplir ou à faire accomplir quelque chose :
 - *a*) soit en vue d'accroître la capacité d'une entité étrangère ou d'un groupe terroriste de porter atteinte aux intérêts canadiens;
 - b) soit qui y portera vraisemblablement atteinte.

Acquisition ou communication légitime

Définition de « secret industriel »

Menaces, accusations ou violence Application

(2) A person commits an offence under subsection (1) whether or not the threat, accusation, menace or violence occurred in Canada.

Punishment

(3) Every person who commits an offence under subsection (1) is guilty of an indictable offence and is liable to imprisonment for life.

Harbouring or Concealing

Harbouring or concealing

21. (1) Every person commits an offence who, for the purpose of enabling or facilitating an offence under this Act, knowingly harbours or conceals a person whom he or she knows to be a person who has committed or is likely to commit an offence under this Act.

Punishment

(2) Every person who commits an offence under subsection (1) is guilty of an indictable offence and is liable to imprisonment for a term of not more than 10 years.

Preparatory Acts

Preparatory acts

- **22.** (1) Every person commits an offence who, for the purpose of committing an offence under subsection 16(1) or (2), 17(1), 19(1) or 20(1), does anything that is specifically directed towards or specifically done in preparation of the commission of the offence, including
 - (a) entering Canada at the direction of or for the benefit of a foreign entity, a terrorist group or a foreign economic entity;
 - (b) obtaining, retaining or gaining access to any information;
 - (c) knowingly communicating to a foreign entity, a terrorist group or a foreign economic entity the person's willingness to commit the offence;
 - (d) at the direction of, for the benefit of or in association with a foreign entity, a terrorist group or a foreign economic entity, asking a person to commit the offence; and
 - (e) possessing any device, apparatus or software useful for concealing the content of information or for surreptitiously communicating, obtaining or retaining information.

(2) Il y a infraction aux termes du paragraphe (1) que les accusations, les menaces ou la violence aient ou non eu lieu au Canada.

(3) Quiconque commet l'infraction prévue au paragraphe (1) est coupable d'un acte criminel passible de l'emprisonnement à perpétuité.

Hébergement ou dissimulation

21. (1) Commet une infraction quiconque, afin de permettre ou de faciliter la perpétration d'une infraction à la présente loi, héberge ou cache sciemment une personne dont il sait qu'elle a commis ou commettra probablement une telle infraction.

(2) Quiconque commet l'infraction visée au paragraphe (1) est coupable d'un acte criminel passible d'un emprisonnement maximal de dix ans.

Actes préparatoires

- **22.** (1) Commet une infraction quiconque accomplit un acte en vue ou en préparation de la perpétration d'une infraction prévue à l'un des paragraphes 16(1) ou (2), 17(1), 19(1) ou 20(1), notamment :
 - a) entre au Canada sur l'ordre d'une entité étrangère, d'un groupe terroriste ou d'une entité économique étrangère ou pour son profit;
 - b) obtient ou retient des renseignements ou en obtient l'accès;
 - c) informe sciemment une entité étrangère, un groupe terroriste ou une entité économique étrangère qu'il est disposé à commettre l'infraction:
 - d) demande à une personne, sur l'ordre d'une entité étrangère, d'un groupe terroriste ou d'une entité économique étrangère, ou en collaboration avec lui ou pour son profit, de commettre l'infraction;
 - e) possède un instrument, du matériel ou un logiciel utile pour la dissimulation de la teneur de renseignements ou la communication, l'obtention ou la détention secrètes de renseignements.

Application

Peine

71

Hébergement ou dissimulation

Peine

Accomplissement d'actes préparatoires Punishment

72

(2) Every person who commits an offence under subsection (1) is guilty of an indictable offence and is liable to imprisonment for a term of not more than two years.

Conspiracy, Attempts, Etc.

Conspiracy, attempts, etc.

23. Every person commits an offence who conspires or attempts to commit, is an accessory after the fact in relation to or counsels in relation to an offence under this Act and is liable to the same punishment and to be proceeded against in the same manner as if he or she had committed the offence.

GENERAL

Attorney General's consent **24.** No prosecution shall be commenced for an offence against this Act without the consent of the Attorney General.

Jurisdiction

25. An offence against this Act may be tried, in any place in Canada, regardless of where in Canada the offence was committed.

Extraterritorial application

- **26.** (1) A person who commits an act or omission outside Canada that would be an offence against this Act if it were committed in Canada is deemed to have committed it in Canada if the person is
 - (a) a Canadian citizen;
 - (b) a person who owes allegiance to Her Majesty in right of Canada;
 - (c) a person who is locally engaged and who performs his or her functions in a Canadian mission outside Canada; or
 - (d) a person who, after the time the offence is alleged to have been committed, is present in Canada.

Jurisdiction

(2) If a person is deemed to have committed an act or omission in Canada, proceedings in respect of the offence may, whether or not the person is in Canada, be commenced in any territorial division in Canada, and the person may be tried and punished in respect of the offence in the same manner as if the offence had been committed in that territorial division.

(2) Quiconque commet l'infraction prévue au paragraphe (1) est coupable d'un acte criminel passible d'un emprisonnement maximal de deux ans.

Tentative, complicité, etc.

23. Quiconque se rend coupable de complot, de tentative ou de complicité après le fait à l'égard d'une infraction à la présente loi, ou en conseille la perpétration commet une infraction et est passible des mêmes peines et sujet aux mêmes poursuites que s'il avait commis l'infraction.

Tentative, complicité, etc

49-50 Eliz. II

Peine

DISPOSITIONS GÉNÉRALES

24. Il ne peut être engagé de poursuites pour infraction à la présente loi sans le consentement du procureur général.

Consentement du procureur général

25. Toute infraction à la présente loi peut être jugée en tout lieu au Canada, quel que soit le lieu au Canada où elle a été commise.

Compétence territoriale

26. (1) Quiconque commet à l'étranger un acte — par action ou omission — qui, au Canada, constitue une infraction à la présente loi — est réputé y avoir commis cet acte si, selon le cas :

Application extraterritoriale

- a) il a la citoyenneté canadienne;
- b) il doit allégeance à Sa Majesté du chef du Canada;
- c) il exerce ses fonctions dans une mission canadienne à l'étranger et il a été engagé sur place:
- d) après la commission présumée de l'infraction, il se trouve au Canada.
- (2) Dans les cas où, par application du paragraphe (1), une personne est réputée avoir commis un acte au Canada, les poursuites peuvent être engagées à l'égard de cette infraction dans toute circonscription territoriale au Canada, que cette personne soit ou non présente au Canada. Le procès peut être tenu et, en cas de condamnation, donner lieu au prononcé d'une peine comme si l'infraction avait été commise dans cette circonscription territoriale.

Compétence

Appearance of accused at trial

(3) For greater certainty, the provisions of the *Criminal Code* relating to requirements that a person appear at and be present during proceedings and the exceptions to those requirements apply in respect of proceedings commenced in a territorial division under subsection (2).

Person previously tried outside Canada (4) If a person is alleged to have committed an act or omission that is an offence by virtue of this section and the person has been tried and dealt with outside Canada in respect of the offence in a manner such that, if the person had been tried and dealt with in Canada, the person would be able to plead *autrefois acquit*, *autrefois convict* or pardon, the person shall be deemed to have been so tried and dealt with in Canada.

Punishment

- **27.** Unless this Act provides otherwise, a person who commits an offence under this Act is guilty of
 - (a) an indictable offence and liable to imprisonment for a term of not more than 14 years; or
 - (b) an offence punishable on summary conviction and liable to imprisonment for a term of not more than 12 months or to a fine of not more than \$2,000, or to both.

Part XII.2 of Criminal Code applicable

- **28.** The definitions "judge" and "proceeds of crime" in section 462.3 of the *Criminal Code*, and sections 462.32 to 462.5 of that Act, apply with any modifications that the circumstances require in respect of proceedings for an offence under subsection 4(1), (2), (3) or (4), section 6, subsection 13(1), 14(1), 16(1) or (2), 17(1), 18(1), 19(1), 20(1), 21(1) or 22(1) or section 23.
- 30. The Act is amended by adding, after section 28, the schedule set out in Schedule 1 to this Act.

Consequential Amendments

R.S. c. C-46

Criminal Code

31. The reference to "section 3 (spying) of the *Official Secrets Act*" in the definition "offence" in section 183 of the *Criminal Code* is replaced by the reference to "any offence under the *Security of Information Act*".

(3) Il est entendu que les dispositions du *Code criminel* concernant l'obligation pour un accusé d'être présent et de demeurer présent durant l'instance et les exceptions à cette obligation s'appliquent aux poursuites engagées dans une circonscription territoriale en conformité avec le paragraphe (2).

(4) Est réputée avoir été poursuivie et jugée au Canada la personne qui est accusée d'avoir commis un acte constituant une infraction et qui, à cet égard, a été poursuivie et jugée à l'étranger de telle manière que, si elle avait été poursuivie et jugée au Canada, elle pourrait invoquer les moyens de défense d'autrefois acquit, d'autrefois convict ou de pardon.

de l'accusé lors du procès

Comparution

73

Cas d'un jugement antérieur rendu à l'étranger

27. Sauf disposition contraire de la présente loi, la personne qui commet une infraction à la présente loi est coupable :

a) soit d'un acte criminel passible d'un emprisonnement maximal de quatorze ans;

- b) soit d'une infraction punissable sur déclaration de culpabilité par procédure sommaire passible d'une amende maximale de 2 000 \$ et d'un emprisonnement maximal d'un an, ou de l'une de ces peines.
- **28.** Les définitions de « juge » et « produits de la criminalité », à l'article 462.3 du *Code criminel*, et les articles 462.32 à 462.5 de cette loi s'appliquent, avec les adaptations nécessaires, aux poursuites engagées à l'égard des infractions visées aux paragraphes 4(1), (2), (3) ou (4), à l'article 6, aux paragraphes 13(1), 14(1), 16(1) ou (2), 17(1), 18(1), 19(1), 20(1), 21(1) ou 22(1) ou à l'article 23.
- 30. La même loi est modifiée par adjonction, après l'article 28, de l'annexe figurant à l'annexe 1 de la présente loi.

Modifications corrélatives

Code criminel

L.R., ch. C-46

31. La mention « l'article 3 (espionnage) de la *Loi sur les secrets officiels* », dans la définition de « infraction » à l'article 183 du *Code criminel*, est remplacée par la mention « toute infraction visée par la *Loi sur la protection de l'information* ».

Peines

Application de la partie XII.2 du Code criminel 1991, c. 43, s. 4

74

32. The heading before item 91 and items 91 to 93 of the schedule to Part XX.1 of the Act are replaced by the following:

SECURITY OF INFORMATION ACT

- 91. Subsection 4(1) wrongful communication, etc., of information
- 92. Subsection 4(2) communication of sketch, plan, model, etc.
- 93. Subsection 4(3) receiving code word, sketch, etc.
- 94. Subsection 4(4) retaining or allowing possession of document, etc.
- 95. Subsection 5(1) unauthorized use of uniforms, falsification of reports, forgery, personation and false documents
- Subsection 5(2) unlawful dealing with dies, seals, etc.
- 97. Section 6 approaching, entering, etc., a prohibited place
- 98. Section 7 interference
- Subsection 13(1) purported communication
- 100. Subsection 14(1) unauthorized communication of special operational information
- 101. Subsection 16(1) communicating safeguarded information
- 102. Subsection 16(2) communicating safeguarded information
- 103. Subsection 17(1) communicating special operational information
- 104. Subsection 18(1) breach of trust in respect of safeguarded information
- 105. Subsection 19(1) use of trade secret for the benefit of foreign economic entity
- 106. Subsection 20(1) threats or violence
- 107. Subsection 21(1) harbouring or concealing
- 108. Subsection 22(1) preparatory acts
- 109. Section 23 conspiracy attempt, etc.

32. L'intertitre précédant l'article 91 et les articles 91 à 93 de l'annexe de la partie XX.1 de la même loi sont remplacés par ce qui suit :

1991, ch. 43,

art. 4

LOI SUR LA PROTECTION DE L'INFORMATION

- 91. Paragraphe 4(1) Communication, etc. illicite de renseignements
- 92. Paragraphe 4(2) Communication du croquis, plan, modèle, etc.
- 93. Paragraphe 4(3) Réception du chiffre officiel, croquis, etc.
- 94. Paragraphe 4(4) Retenir ou permettre la possession de documents, etc.
- 95. Paragraphe 5(1) Port illicite d'un uniforme, falsification de rapports, faux, supposition de personne et faux documents
- 96. Paragraphe 5(2) Usage illicite de matrices, sceaux, etc.
- 97. Article 6 Présence à proximité d'un endroit prohibé
- 98. Article 7 Entraver les agents de la paix
- 99. Paragraphe 13(1) Prétendue communication ou confirmation
- 100. Paragraphe 14(1) Communication de renseignements opérationnels spéciaux
- 101. Paragraphe 16(1) Communication de renseignements protégés
- 102. Paragraphe 16(2) Communication de renseignements protégés
- 103. Paragraphe 17(1) Communication de renseignements opérationnels spéciaux
- 104. Paragraphe 18(1) Acceptation de communiquer secrètement des renseignements à une entité étrangère
- 105. Paragraphe 19(1) Communication de secrets industriels
- 106. Paragraphe 20(1) Menaces, accusations ou violence
- 107. Paragraphe 21(1) Hébergement ou dissimulation
- 108. Paragraphe 22(1) Accomplissement d'actes préparatoires
- 109. Article 23 Tentative complicité, etc.

1999, ch. 5,

art. 52

1999, c. 5, s. 52

33. Paragraph (b.1) of the definition "enterprise crime offence" in section 462.3 of the Act is replaced by the following:

(b.1) an offence against section 126.1 or 126.2 or subsection 233(1) or 240(1) of the *Excise Act*, section 153, 159, 163.1 or 163.2 of the *Customs Act*, subsection 52.1(9) of the *Competition Act* or subsection 4(1), (2), (3) or (4), section 6, subsection 13(1), 14(1), 16(1) or (2), 17(1), 18(1), 19(1), 20(1), 21(1) or 22(1) or section 23 of the *Security of Information Act*, or

R.S., c. 27 (1st Supp.), s. 203

34. Subsection 486(1) of the Act is replaced by the following:

Exclusion of public in certain cases

486. (1) Any proceedings against an accused shall be held in open court, but where the presiding judge, provincial court judge or justice, as the case may be, is of the opinion that it is in the interest of public morals, the maintenance of order or the proper administration of justice, or that it is necessary to prevent injury to international relations or national defence or national security, to exclude all or any members of the public from the court room for all or part of the proceedings, he or she may so order.

R.S., c. I-1

Identification of Criminals Act

1992, c. 47, s. 74(1)

35. Subparagraph 2(1)(a)(ii) of the *Identification of Criminals Act* is replaced by the following:

(ii) an offence under the Security of Information Act;

R.S., c. P-4

Patent Act

36. Subsection 20(6) of the *Patent Act* is replaced by the following:

Person making assignment and person having knowledge thereof (6) Any person who has made an assignment to the Minister of National Defence under this section, in respect of any covenants and agreements contained in such assignment for keeping the invention secret and otherwise

33. L'alinéa *b*.1) de la définition de « infraction de criminalité organisée », à l'article 462.3 de la même loi, est remplacé par ce qui suit :

b.1) une infraction visée aux articles 126.1 ou 126.2 ou aux paragraphes 233(1) ou 240(1) de la Loi sur l'accise, aux articles 153, 159, 163.1 ou 163.2 de la Loi sur les douanes, au paragraphe 52.1(9) de la Loi sur la concurrence ou aux paragraphes 4(1), (2), (3) ou (4), à l'article 6, aux paragraphes 13(1), 14(1), 16(1) ou (2), 17(1), 18(1), 19(1), 20(1), 21(1) ou 22(1) ou à l'article 23 de la Loi sur la protection de l'information;

34. Le paragraphe 486(1) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

L.R., ch. 27 (1er suppl.), art. 203 Procès à huis

clos dans

certains cas

486. (1) Les procédures dirigées contre un prévenu ont lieu en audience publique, mais lorsque le juge, le juge de la cour provinciale ou le juge de paix qui préside est d'avis qu'il est dans l'intérêt de la moralité publique, du maintien de l'ordre ou de la bonne administration de la justice d'exclure de la salle d'audience l'ensemble ou l'un quelconque des membres du public, pour tout ou partie de l'audience ou que cela est nécessaire pour éviter toute atteinte aux relations internationa-

Loi sur l'identification des criminels

les ou à la défense ou à la sécurité nationales.

il peut en ordonner ainsi.

35. Le sous-alinéa 2(1)a)(ii) de la *Loi sur l'identification des criminels* est remplacé par ce qui suit :

(ii) une infraction prévue par la *Loi sur la* protection de l'information;

Loi sur les brevets

L.R., ch. P-4

L.R., ch. I-1

1992, ch. 47,

par. 74(1)

36. Le paragraphe 20(6) de la *Loi sur les brevets* est remplacé par ce qui suit :

(6) Toute personne qui a fait au ministre de la Défense nationale une cession prévue au présent article, en ce qui concerne les engagements et conventions contenus dans cette cession aux fins de garder, notamment, l'inCédant et personne ayant connaissance de la cession in respect of all matters relating to that invention, and any other person who has knowledge of such assignment and of such covenants and agreements, shall be, for the purposes of the Security of Information Act, deemed to be persons having in their possession or control information respecting those matters that has been entrusted to them in confidence by any person holding office under Her Majesty, and the communication of any of that information by the first mentioned persons to any person other than one to whom they are authorized to communicate with, by or on behalf of the Minister of National Defence, is an offence under section 4 of the Security of Information Act.

R.S., c. V-2

Visiting Forces Act

37. The portion of section 20 of the Visiting Forces Act before paragraph (a) is replaced by the following:

Security of Information Act applicable

- 20. Subject to section 21, the Security of Information Act applies and shall be construed as applying in respect of a designated state as though
- 38. Section 21 of the Act is replaced by the following:

Exception

21. Section 26 of the Security of Information Act does not apply in respect of a designated state.

Regulations

References

- 39. Every reference to the "Official Secrets Act" is replaced by a reference to the "Security of Information Act" in the following provisions:
 - (a) subsection 27(1) of the Controlled Goods Regulations;
 - (b) section 2 of the Grosse Isle, P.Q., Prohibited Place Order;
 - (c) section 3 of the Exempt Personal Information Bank Order, No. 13 (RCMP);
 - (d) section 3 of the Exempt Personal Information Bank Order, No. 14 (CSIS).

vention secrète et en ce qui concerne toutes matières relatives à l'invention en question, et toute autre personne qui est au courant d'une telle cession et de ces engagements et conventions sont, pour l'application de la Loi sur la protection de l'information, réputées des personnes ayant en leur possession ou sous leur contrôle des renseignements sur ces matières qui leur ont été commis en toute confiance par une personne détenant un poste qui relève de Sa Majesté. La communication de l'un de ces renseignements par les personnes mentionnées en premier lieu à une personne autre que celle avec laquelle elles sont autorisées à communiquer par le ministre de la Défense nationale ou en son nom, constitue une infraction à l'article 4 de la Loi sur la protection de l'information.

Loi sur les forces étrangères présentes au Canada

L.R., ch. V-2

- 37. Le passage de l'article 20 de la Loi sur les forces étrangères présentes au Canada précédant l'alinéa a) est remplacé par ce aui suit:
- 20. Sous réserve de l'article 21, la Loi sur la protection de l'information s'applique et doit s'interpréter comme s'appliquant à l'égard d'un État désigné de la même manière que si :

Loi sur la protection de l'information s'applique

- 38. L'article 21 de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :
- 21. L'article 26 de la Loi sur la protection de l'information ne s'applique pas relativement à un État désigné.

39. Dans les dispositions ci-après, «Loi sur les secrets officiels » est remplacé par « Loi sur la protection de l'information » :

Règlements

- a) le paragraphe 27(1) du Règlement sur les marchandises contrôlées;
- b) l'article 2 du Décret déclarant Grosse Isle, P.Q., endroit prohibé;
- c) l'article 3 du Décret nº 13 sur les fichiers de renseignements personnels inconsultables (GRC);
- d) l'article 3 du Décret nº 14 sur les fichiers de renseignements personnels inconsultables (SCRS).

Mention

Exception

- 40. Section 3 of the *Exempt Personal Information Bank Order*, No. 25 (RCMP) is replaced by the following:
- **3.** For the purposes of paragraph 18(3)(b) of the *Privacy Act*, the laws concerned, in relation to those files that are contained in the exempt bank referred to in section 2 that consist predominantly of personal information described in subparagraph 22(1)(a)(ii) of that Act, are the *Criminal Code*, the *Security of Information Act*, the *Security Offences Act*, the *Royal Canadian Mounted Police Act* and the *Canadian Security Intelligence Service Act*.
- 41. Section 24 of the *Military Rules of Evidence* and the heading before it are replaced by the following:

Offences under Security of Information Act

- **24.** When a person is charged under section 130 of the *National Defence Act* with having committed an offence under section 6 of the *Security of Information Act*, the prosecutor may adduce evidence of that person's character.
- 42. Paragraph 22(2)(d) of the Statutory Instruments Regulations is repealed.

PART 3

R.S., c. C-5

CANADA EVIDENCE ACT

43. The heading before section 37 and sections 37 and 38 of the *Canada Evidence Act* are replaced by the following:

Interpretation

Definition of "official"

36.1 In sections 37 to 38.16, "official" has the same meaning as in section 118 of the *Criminal Code*.

- 40. L'article 3 du Décret nº 25 sur les fichiers de renseignements personnels inconsultables (GRC) est remplacé par ce qui suit :
- 3. Les lois dont il s'agit pour l'application de l'alinéa 18(3)b) de la Loi sur la protection des renseignements personnels, en ce qui concerne les dossiers du fichier inconsultable mentionné à l'article 2 dans chacun desquels dominent des renseignements personnels visés au sous-alinéa 22(1)a)(ii) de cette loi, sont les suivantes : le Code criminel, la Loi sur la protection de l'information, la Loi sur les infractions en matière de sécurité, la Loi sur la Gendarmerie royale du Canada et la Loi sur le Service canadien du renseignement de sécurité.
- 41. L'article 24 des *Règles militaires de la preuve* et l'intertitre le précédant sont remplacés par ce qui suit :

Infractions prévues par la Loi sur la protection de l'information

- **24.** Lorsqu'une personne est accusée, aux termes de l'article 130 de la *Loi sur la défense nationale*, d'avoir commis une infraction prévue à l'article 6 de la *Loi sur la protection de l'information*, le procureur à charge peut fournir une preuve concernant la réputation de cette personne.
- 42. L'alinéa 22(2)d) du Règlement sur les textes réglementaires est abrogé.

PARTIE 3

LOI SUR LA PREUVE AU CANADA

L.R., ch. C-5

43. L'intertitre précédant l'article 37 et les articles 37 et 38 de la *Loi sur la preuve au Canada* sont remplacés par ce qui suit :

Définition

36.1 Aux articles 37 à 38.16, « fonctionnaire » s'entend au sens de l'article 118 du *Code criminel*.

Définition de « fonctionnaire »

Specified Public Interest

Objection to disclosure of information

37. (1) Subject to sections 38 to 38.16, a Minister of the Crown in right of Canada or other official may object to the disclosure of information before a court, person or body with jurisdiction to compel the production of information by certifying orally or in writing to the court, person or body that the information should not be disclosed on the grounds of a specified public interest.

Obligation of court, person or body

(1.1) If an objection is made under subsection (1), the court, person or body shall ensure that the information is not disclosed other than in accordance with this Act.

Objection made to superior court

- Objection not made to superior court
- in accordance with this Act.

 (2) If an objection to the disclosure of information is made before a superior court,

that court may determine the objection.

- (3) If an objection to the disclosure of information is made before a court, person or body other than a superior court, the objection may be determined, on application, by
 - (a) the Federal Court—Trial Division, in the case of a person or body vested with power to compel production by or under an Act of Parliament if the person or body is not a court established under a law of a province; or
 - (b) the trial division or trial court of the superior court of the province within which the court, person or body exercises its jurisdiction, in any other case.

Limitation period

(4) An application under subsection (3) shall be made within 10 days after the objection is made or within any further or lesser time that the court having jurisdiction to hear the application considers appropriate in the circumstances.

Disclosure order (4.1) Unless the court having jurisdiction to hear the application concludes that the disclosure of the information to which the objection was made under subsection (1) would encroach upon a specified public interest, the court may authorize by order the disclosure of the information.

Renseignements d'intérêt public

37. (1) Sous réserve des articles 38 à 38.16, tout ministre fédéral ou tout fonctionnaire peut s'opposer à la divulgation de renseignements auprès d'un tribunal, d'un organisme ou d'une personne ayant le pouvoir de contraindre à la production de renseignements, en attestant verbalement ou par écrit devant eux que, pour des raisons d'intérêt public déterminées, ces renseignements ne devraient pas être divulgués.

(1.1) En cas d'opposition, le tribunal, l'organisme ou la personne veille à ce que les renseignements ne soient pas divulgués, sauf en conformité avec la présente loi.

(2) Si l'opposition est portée devant une cour supérieure, celle-ci peut décider la question.

- (3) Si l'opposition est portée devant un tribunal, un organisme ou une personne qui ne constituent pas une cour supérieure, la question peut être décidée, sur demande, par :
 - a) la Section de première instance de la Cour fédérale, dans le cas où l'organisme ou la personne investis du pouvoir de contraindre à la production de renseignements sous le régime d'une loi fédérale ne constituent pas un tribunal régi par le droit d'une province;
 - b) la division ou le tribunal de première instance de la cour supérieure de la province dans le ressort de laquelle le tribunal, l'organisme ou la personne ont compétence, dans les autres cas.
- (4) Le délai dans lequel la demande visée au paragraphe (3) peut être faite est de dix jours suivant l'opposition, mais le tribunal saisi peut modifier ce délai s'il l'estime indiqué dans les circonstances.
- (4.1) Le tribunal saisi peut rendre une ordonnance autorisant la divulgation des renseignements qui ont fait l'objet d'une opposition au titre du paragraphe (1), sauf s'il conclut que leur divulgation est préjudiciable au regard des raisons d'intérêt public déterminées.

Opposition à divulgation

Mesure intérimaire

Opposition devant une cour supérieure

Opposition devant une autre instance

Délai

Ordonnance de divulgation Disclosure

(5) If the court having jurisdiction to hear the application concludes that the disclosure of the information to which the objection was made under subsection (1) would encroach upon a specified public interest, but that the public interest in disclosure outweighs in importance the specified public interest, the court may, by order, after considering both the public interest in disclosure and the form of and conditions to disclosure that are most likely to limit any encroachment upon the specified public interest resulting from disclosure, authorize the disclosure, subject to any conditions that the court considers appropriate, of all of the information, a part or summary of the information, or a written admission of facts relating to the information.

Prohibition order

(6) If the court does not authorize disclosure under subsection (4.1) or (5), the court shall, by order, prohibit disclosure of the information.

Evidence

(6.1) The court may receive into evidence anything that, in the opinion of the court, is reliable and appropriate, even if it would not otherwise be admissible under Canadian law, and may base its decision on that evidence.

When determination takes effect (7) An order of the court that authorizes disclosure does not take effect until the time provided or granted to appeal the order, or a judgment of an appeal court that confirms the order, has expired, or no further appeal from a judgment that confirms the order is available.

Introduction into evidence

(8) A person who wishes to introduce into evidence material the disclosure of which is authorized under subsection (5), but who may not be able to do so by reason of the rules of admissibility that apply before the court, person or body with jurisdiction to compel the production of information, may request from the court having jurisdiction under subsection (2) or (3) an order permitting the introduction into evidence of the material in a form or subject to any conditions fixed by that court, as long as that form and those conditions comply with the order made under subsection (5).

- (5) Si le tribunal saisi conclut que la divulgation des renseignements qui ont fait l'objet d'une opposition au titre du paragraphe (1) est préjudiciable au regard des raisons d'intérêt public déterminées, mais que les raisons d'intérêt public qui justifient la divulgation l'emportent sur les raisons d'intérêt public déterminées, il peut par ordonnance, compte tenu des raisons d'intérêt public qui justifient la divulgation ainsi que de la forme et des conditions de divulgation les plus susceptibles de limiter le préjudice au regard des raisons d'intérêt public déterminées, autoriser, sous réserve des conditions qu'il estime indiquées, la divulgation de tout ou partie des renseignements, d'un résumé de ceux-ci ou d'un aveu écrit des faits qui y sont liés.
- (6) Dans les cas où le tribunal n'autorise pas la divulgation au titre des paragraphes (4.1) ou (5), il rend une ordonnance interdisant la divulgation.
- (6.1) Le tribunal peut recevoir et admettre en preuve tout élément qu'il estime digne de foi et approprié même si le droit canadien ne prévoit pas par ailleurs son admissibilité et peut fonder sa décision sur cet élément.
- (7) L'ordonnance de divulgation prend effet après l'expiration du délai prévu ou accordé pour en appeler ou, en cas d'appel, après sa confirmation et l'épuisement des recours en appel.
- (8) La personne qui veut faire admettre en preuve ce qui a fait l'objet d'une autorisation de divulgation prévue au paragraphe (5), mais qui ne pourrait peut-être pas le faire à cause des règles d'admissibilité applicables devant le tribunal, l'organisme ou la personne ayant le pouvoir de contraindre à la production de renseignements, peut demander au tribunal saisi au titre des paragraphes (2) ou (3) de rendre une ordonnance autorisant la production en preuve des renseignements, du résumé ou de l'aveu dans la forme ou aux conditions que celui-ci détermine, pourvu que telle forme ou telles conditions soient conformes à l'or-

donnance rendue au titre du paragraphe (5).

Divulgation modifiée

Ordonnance d'interdiction

Preuve

Prise d'effet de la décision

Admissibilité en preuve 80 Relevant

(9) For the purpose of subsection (8), the court having jurisdiction under subsection (2) or (3) shall consider all the factors that would be relevant for a determination of admissibility before the court, person or body.

Appeal to court of appeal

- **37.1** (1) An appeal lies from a determination under any of subsections 37(4.1) to (6)
 - (a) to the Federal Court of Appeal from a determination of the Federal Court—Trial Division; or
 - (b) to the court of appeal of a province from a determination of a trial division or trial court of a superior court of the province.

Limitation period for appeal (2) An appeal under subsection (1) shall be brought within 10 days after the date of the determination appealed from or within any further time that the court having jurisdiction to hear the appeal considers appropriate in the circumstances.

Limitation periods for appeals to Supreme Court of Canada

- **37.2** Notwithstanding any other Act of Parliament,
 - (a) an application for leave to appeal to the Supreme Court of Canada from a judgment made under subsection 37.1(1) shall be made within 10 days after the date of the judgment appealed from or within any further time that the court having jurisdiction to grant leave to appeal considers appropriate in the circumstances; and
 - (b) if leave to appeal is granted, the appeal shall be brought in the manner set out in subsection 60(1) of the *Supreme Court Act* but within the time specified by the court that grants leave.

Special rules

37.21 (1) A hearing under subsection 37(2) or (3) or an appeal of an order made under any of subsections 37(4.1) to (6) shall be heard in private.

(9) Pour l'application du paragraphe (8), le tribunal saisi au titre des paragraphes (2) ou (3) prend en compte tous les facteurs qui seraient pertinents pour statuer sur l'admissibilité en preuve devant le tribunal, l'organisme ou la personne.

Facteurs pertinents

49-50 Eliz. II

37.1 (1) L'appel d'une décision rendue en vertu des paragraphes 37(4.1) à (6) se fait :

Appels devant les tribunaux d'appel

- *a*) devant la Cour d'appel fédérale, s'agissant d'une décision de la Section de première instance de la Cour fédérale;
- b) devant la cour d'appel d'une province, s'agissant d'une décision de la division ou du tribunal de première instance d'une cour supérieure d'une province.
- (2) Le délai dans lequel l'appel prévu au paragraphe (1) peut être interjeté est de dix jours suivant la date de la décision frappée d'appel, mais le tribunal d'appel peut le proroger s'il l'estime indiqué dans les circonstances.

37.2 Nonobstant toute autre loi fédérale :

- a) le délai de demande d'autorisation d'en appeler à la Cour suprême du Canada du jugement rendu au titre du paragraphe 37.1(1) est de dix jours suivant ce jugement, mais le tribunal compétent pour autoriser l'appel peut proroger ce délai s'il l'estime indiqué dans les circonstances;
- b) dans le cas où l'autorisation est accordée, l'appel est interjeté conformément au paragraphe 60(1) de la *Loi sur la Cour suprême*, mais le délai qui s'applique est celui que fixe le tribunal ayant autorisé l'appel.
- **37.21** (1) Les audiences tenues dans le cadre des paragraphes 37(2) ou (3) et l'audition de l'appel d'une ordonnance rendue en application de l'un des paragraphes 37(4.1) à (6) sont tenues à huis clos.

Délai d'appel

Délai de demande d'autorisation d'en appeler à la Cour suprême du Canada

Règles spéciales Representations

- (2) The court conducting a hearing under subsection 37(2) or (3) or the court hearing an appeal of an order made under any of subsections 37(4.1) to (6) may give
 - (a) any person an opportunity to make representations; and
 - (b) any person who makes representations under paragraph (a) the opportunity to make representations ex parte.

Protection of right to a fair

37.3 (1) A judge presiding at a criminal trial or other criminal proceeding may make any order that he or she considers appropriate in the circumstances to protect the right of the accused to a fair trial, as long as that order complies with the terms of any order made under any of subsections 37(4.1) to (6) in relation to that trial or proceeding or any judgment made on appeal of an order made under any of those subsections.

Potential orders

- (2) The orders that may be made under subsection (1) include, but are not limited to, the following orders:
 - (a) an order dismissing specified counts of the indictment or information, or permitting the indictment or information to proceed only in respect of a lesser or included offence;
 - (b) an order effecting a stay of the proceedings; and
 - (c) an order finding against any party on any issue relating to information the disclosure of which is prohibited.

International Relations and National Defence and National Security

Definitions

38. The following definitions apply in this section and in sections 38.01 to 38.15.

"judge" « juge » "judge" means the Chief Justice of the Federal Court—
al Court or a judge of the Federal Court—
Trial Division designated by the Chief Justice to conduct hearings under section 38 04

"participant"
« participant »

"participant" means a person who, in connection with a proceeding, is required to dis(2) Le tribunal qui tient une audience au titre des paragraphes 37(2) ou (3) ou le tribunal saisi de l'appel d'une ordonnance rendue au titre de l'un des paragraphes 37(4.1) à (6) peut :

- *a*) donner à quiconque la possibilité de présenter des observations;
- b) donner à quiconque présente des observations au titre de l'alinéa a) la possibilité de les présenter en l'absence d'autres parties.

37.3 (1) Le juge qui préside un procès criminel ou une autre instance criminelle peut rendre l'ordonnance qu'elle estime indiquée dans les circonstances en vue de protéger le droit de l'accusé à un procès équitable, pourvu que telle ordonnance soit conforme à une ordonnance rendue au titre de l'un des paragraphes 37(4.1) à (6) relativement à ce procès ou à cette instance ou à la décision en appel portant sur une ordonnance rendue au titre de l'un ou l'autre de ces paragraphes.

ortant sur une ordonnance rendue au titre de un ou l'autre de ces paragraphes.

(2) L'ordonnance rendue au titre du para
Ordona

Ordonances éventuelles

Présentation

d'observations

Protection du

droit à un

procès équitable

- a) annuler un chef d'accusation d'un acte d'accusation ou d'une dénonciation, ou autoriser l'instruction d'un chef d'accusation ou d'une dénonciation pour une infraction moins grave ou une infraction incluse;
- b) ordonner l'arrêt des procédures;

graphe (1) peut notamment :

c) être rendue à l'encontre de toute partie sur toute question liée aux renseignements dont la divulgation est interdite.

Relations internationales et défense et sécurité nationales

- **38.** Les définitions qui suivent s'appliquent au présent article et aux articles 38.01 à 38.15.
- « instance » Procédure devant un tribunal, un organisme ou une personne ayant le pouvoir de contraindre la production de renseignements.
- « juge » Le juge en chef de la Cour fédérale ou le juge de la Section de première instance de ce tribunal désigné par le juge en chef pour statuer sur les questions dont est saisi le tribunal en application de l'article 38.04.

Définitions

« instance » "proceeding"

« juge » "judge" close, or expects to disclose or cause the disclosure of, information.

Anti-terrorism

"potentially injurious information' « renseignements potentiellement préiudiciables »

82

"potentially injurious information" means information of a type that, if it were disclosed to the public, could injure international relations or national defence or national se-

"proceeding" « instance »

"proceeding" means a proceeding before a court, person or body with jurisdiction to compel the production of information.

"prosecutor" « poursuivant » "prosecutor" means an agent of the Attorney General of Canada or of the Attorney General of a province, the Director of Military Prosecutions under the National Defence Act or an individual who acts as a prosecutor in a proceeding.

"sensitive information" « renseignements sensibles >

"sensitive information" means information relating to international relations or national defence or national security that is in the possession of the Government of Canada, whether originating from inside or outside Canada, and is of a type that the Government of Canada is taking measures to safeguard.

Notice to Attorney General of Canada

38.01 (1) Every participant who, in connection with a proceeding, is required to disclose, or expects to disclose or cause the disclosure of, information that the participant believes is sensitive information or potentially injurious information shall, as soon as possible, notify the Attorney General of Canada in writing of the possibility of the disclosure, and of the nature, date and place of the proceeding.

During a proceeding

(2) Every participant who believes that sensitive information or potentially injurious information is about to be disclosed, whether by the participant or another person, in the course of a proceeding shall raise the matter with the person presiding at the proceeding and notify the Attorney General of Canada in writing of the matter as soon as possible, whether or not notice has been given under subsection (1). In such circumstances, the person presiding at the proceeding shall ensure that the information is not disclosed other than in accordance with this Act.

- « participant » Personne qui, dans le cadre d'une instance, est tenue de divulguer ou prévoit de divulguer ou de faire divulguer des renseignements.
- « poursuivant » Représentant du procureur général du Canada ou du procureur général d'une province, particulier qui agit à titre de poursuivant dans le cadre d'une instance ou le directeur des poursuites militaires, au sens de la Loi sur la défense nationale.
- « renseignements potentiellement préjudiciables » Les renseignements qui, s'ils sont divulgués, sont susceptibles de porter préjudice aux relations internationales ou à la défense ou à la sécurité nationales.
- « renseignements sensibles » Les renseignements, en provenance du Canada ou de l'étranger, qui concernent les affaires internationales ou la défense ou la sécurité nationales, qui se trouvent en la possession du gouvernement du Canada et qui sont du type des renseignements à l'égard desquels celui-ci prend des mesures de protection.
- Avis an procureur général du Canada
- **38.01** (1) Tout participant qui, dans le cadre d'une instance, est tenu de divulguer ou prévoit de divulguer ou de faire divulguer des renseignements dont il croit qu'il s'agit de renseignements sensibles ou de renseignements potentiellement préjudiciables est tenu d'aviser par écrit, dès que possible, le procureur général du Canada de la possibilité de divulgation et de préciser dans l'avis la nature, la date et le lieu de l'instance.
- (2) Tout participant qui croit que des renseignements sensibles ou des renseignements potentiellement préjudiciables sont sur le point d'être divulgués par lui ou par une autre personne au cours d'une instance est tenu de soulever la question devant la personne qui préside l'instance et d'aviser par écrit le procureur général du Canada de la question dès que possible, que ces renseignements aient fait ou non l'objet de l'avis prévu au paragraphe (1). Le cas échéant, la personne qui préside l'instance veille à ce que les renseignements ne soient pas divulgués, sauf en conformité avec la présente loi.

« participant » "participant"

« poursuivant » "prosecutor"

« renseignements potentiellement préjudiciables » 'potentially information"

« renseignements sensibles » 'sensitive information"

Au cours d'une instance

ch. 41

Notice of disclosure from official (3) An official, other than a participant, who believes that sensitive information or potentially injurious information may be disclosed in connection with a proceeding may notify the Attorney General of Canada in writing of the possibility of the disclosure, and of the nature, date and place of the proceeding.

During a proceeding

(4) An official, other than a participant, who believes that sensitive information or potentially injurious information is about to be disclosed in the course of a proceeding may raise the matter with the person presiding at the proceeding. If the official raises the matter, he or she shall notify the Attorney General of Canada in writing of the matter as soon as possible, whether or not notice has been given under subsection (3), and the person presiding at the proceeding shall ensure that the information is not disclosed other than in accordance with this Act.

Military proceedings

(5) In the case of a proceeding under Part III of the *National Defence Act*, notice under any of subsections (1) to (4) shall be given to both the Attorney General of Canada and the Minister of National Defence.

Exception

- (6) This section does not apply when
- (a) the information is disclosed by a person to their solicitor in connection with a proceeding, if the information is relevant to that proceeding;
- (b) the information is disclosed to enable the Attorney General of Canada, the Minister of National Defence, a judge or a court hearing an appeal from, or a review of, an order of the judge to discharge their responsibilities under section 38, this section and sections 38.02 to 38.13, 38.15 and 38.16;
- (c) disclosure of the information is authorized by the government institution in which or for which the information was produced or, if the information was not produced in or for a government institution, the government institution in which it was first received; or

- (3) Le fonctionnaire à l'exclusion d'un participant qui croit que peuvent être divulgués dans le cadre d'une instance des renseignements potentiellement préjudiciables peut aviser par écrit le procureur général du Canada de la possibilité de divulgation; le cas échéant, l'avis précise la nature, la date et le lieu de l'instance.
- (4) Le fonctionnaire à l'exclusion d'un participant qui croit que des renseignements sensibles ou des renseignements potentiellement préjudiciables sont sur le point d'être divulgués au cours d'une instance peut soulever la question devant la personne qui préside l'instance; le cas échéant, il est tenu d'aviser par écrit le procureur général du Canada de la question dès que possible, que ces renseignements aient fait ou non l'objet de l'avis prévu au paragraphe (3) et la personne qui préside l'instance veille à ce que les renseignements ne soient pas divulgués, sauf en conformité avec la présente loi.
- (5) Dans le cas d'une instance engagée sous le régime de la partie III de la *Loi sur la défense nationale*, les avis prévus à l'un des paragraphes (1) à (4) sont donnés à la fois au procureur général du Canada et au ministre de la Défense nationale.
 - (6) Le présent article ne s'applique pas :
 - a) à la communication de renseignements par une personne à son avocat dans le cadre d'une instance, si ceux-ci concernent l'instance;
 - b) aux renseignements communiqués dans le cadre de l'exercice des attributions du procureur général du Canada, du ministre de la Défense nationale, du juge ou d'un tribunal d'appel ou d'examen au titre de l'article 38, du présent article, des articles 38.02 à 38.13 ou des articles 38.15 ou 38.16;
 - c) aux renseignements dont la divulgation est autorisée par l'institution fédérale qui les a produits ou pour laquelle ils ont été produits ou, dans le cas où ils n'ont pas été produits par ou pour une institution fédérale, par la première institution fédérale à les avoir reçus;

Avis par un fonctionnaire

Au cours d'une

Instances militaires

Exception

Exception

Exception

84

(d) the information is disclosed to an entity and, where applicable, for a purpose listed in the schedule.

- (7) Subsections (1) and (2) do not apply to a participant if a government institution referred to in paragraph (6)(c) advises the participant that it is not necessary, in order to prevent disclosure of the information referred to in that paragraph, to give notice to the Attorney General of Canada under subsection (1) or to raise the matter with the person presiding under subsection (2).
- Schedule

(8) The Governor in Council may, by order, add to or delete from the schedule a reference to any entity or purpose, or amend such a reference.

Disclosure prohibited

- **38.02** (1) Subject to subsection 38.01(6), no person shall disclose in connection with a proceeding
 - (a) information about which notice is given under any of subsections 38.01(1) to (4);
 - (b) the fact that notice is given to the Attorney General of Canada under any of subsections 38.01(1) to (4), or to the Attorney General of Canada and the Minister of National Defence under subsection 38.01(5);
 - (c) the fact that an application is made to the Federal Court—Trial Division under section 38.04 or that an appeal or review of an order made under any of subsections 38.06(1) to (3) in connection with the application is instituted; or
 - (d) the fact that an agreement is entered into under section 38.031 or subsection 38.04(6).
- Entities

(1.1) When an entity listed in the schedule, for any purpose listed there in relation to that entity, makes a decision or order that would result in the disclosure of sensitive information or potentially injurious information, the entity shall not disclose the information or cause it to be disclosed until notice of intention to disclose the information has been

- d) aux renseignements divulgués auprès de toute entité mentionnée à l'annexe et, le cas échéant, à une application figurant en regard d'une telle entité.
- (7) Les paragraphes (1) et (2) ne s'appliquent pas au participant si une institution gouvernementale visée à l'alinéa (6)c) l'informe qu'il n'est pas nécessaire, afin d'éviter la divulgation des renseignements visés à cet alinéa, de donner un avis au procureur général du Canada au titre du paragraphe (1) ou de soulever la question devant la personne présidant une instance au titre du paragraphe (2).
- (8) Le gouverneur en conseil peut, par décret, ajouter, modifier ou supprimer la mention, à l'annexe, d'une entité ou d'une application figurant en regard d'une telle entité.
- **38.02** (1) Sous réserve du paragraphe 38.01(6), nul ne peut divulguer, dans le cadre d'une instance :

Interdiction de divulgation

Annexe

- *a*) les renseignements qui font l'objet d'un avis donné au titre de l'un des paragraphes 38.01(1) à (4);
- b) le fait qu'un avis est donné au procureur général du Canada au titre de l'un des paragraphes 38.01(1) à (4), ou à ce dernier et au ministre de la Défense nationale au titre du paragraphe 38.01(5);
- c) le fait qu'une demande a été présentée à la Section de première instance de la Cour fédérale au titre de l'article 38.04, qu'il a été interjeté appel d'une ordonnance rendue au titre de l'un des paragraphes 38.06(1) à (3) relativement à une telle demande ou qu'une telle ordonnance a été renvoyée pour examen;
- d) le fait qu'un accord a été conclu au titre de l'article 38.031 ou du paragraphe 38.04(6).
- (1.1) Dans le cas où une entité mentionnée à l'annexe rend, dans le cadre d'une application qui y est mentionnée en regard de celle-ci, une décision ou une ordonnance qui entraînerait la divulgation de renseignements sensibles ou de renseignements potentiellement préjudiciables, elle ne peut les divulguer ou les faire divulguer avant que le procureur

Entités

Exceptions

ch. 41

given to the Attorney General of Canada and a period of 10 days has elapsed after notice was given.

Exceptions

- (2) Disclosure of the information or the facts referred to in subsection (1) is not prohibited if
 - (a) the Attorney General of Canada authorizes the disclosure in writing under section 38.03 or by agreement under section 38.031 or subsection 38.04(6); or
 - (b) a judge authorizes the disclosure under subsection 38.06(1) or (2) or a court hearing an appeal from, or a review of, the order of the judge authorizes the disclosure, and either the time provided to appeal the order or judgment has expired or no further appeal is available.

Authorization by Attorney General of Canada **38.03** (1) The Attorney General of Canada may, at any time and subject to any conditions that he or she considers appropriate, authorize the disclosure of all or part of the information and facts the disclosure of which is prohibited under subsection 38.02(1).

Military proceedings (2) In the case of a proceeding under Part III of the *National Defence Act*, the Attorney General of Canada may authorize disclosure only with the agreement of the Minister of National Defence.

Notice

(3) The Attorney General of Canada shall, within 10 days after the day on which he or she first receives a notice about information under any of subsections 38.01(1) to (4), notify in writing every person who provided notice under section 38.01 about that information of his or her decision with respect to disclosure of the information.

Disclosure agreement

38.031 (1) The Attorney General of Canada and a person who has given notice under subsection 38.01(1) or (2) and is not required to disclose information but wishes, in connection with a proceeding, to disclose any facts referred to in paragraphs 38.02(1)(b) to (d) or information about which he or she gave the notice, or to cause that disclosure, may, before the person applies to the Federal Court—Trial Division under paragraph 38.04(2)(c), enter into an agreement that permits the disclosure

général du Canada ait été avisé de ce fait et qu'il se soit écoulé un délai de dix jours postérieur à l'avis.

- (2) La divulgation des renseignements ou des faits visés au paragraphe (1) n'est pas interdite :
 - a) si le procureur général du Canada l'autorise par écrit au titre de l'article 38.03 ou par un accord conclu en application de l'article 38.031 ou du paragraphe 38.04(6);
 - b) si le juge l'autorise au titre de l'un des paragraphes 38.06(1) ou (2) et que le délai prévu ou accordé pour en appeler a expiré ou, en cas d'appel ou de renvoi pour examen, sa décision est confirmée et les recours en appel sont épuisés.

38.03 (1) Le procureur général du Canada peut, à tout moment, autoriser la divulgation de tout ou partie des renseignements ou des faits dont la divulgation est interdite par le paragraphe 38.02(1) et assortir son autorisation des conditions qu'il estime indiquées.

Autorisation de divulgation par le procureur général du Canada

Instances

militaires

(2) Dans le cas d'une instance engagée sous le régime de la partie III de la *Loi sur la défense nationale*, le procureur général du Canada ne peut autoriser la divulgation qu'avec l'assentiment du ministre de la Défense nationale.

Notification

(3) Dans les dix jours suivant la réception du premier avis donné au titre de l'un des paragraphes 38.01(1) à (4) relativement à des renseignements donnés, le procureur général du Canada notifie par écrit sa décision relative à la divulgation de ces renseignements à toutes les personnes qui ont donné un tel avis.

et la personne ayant donné l'avis prévu aux paragraphes 38.01(1) ou (2) qui n'a pas l'obligation de divulguer des renseignements dans le cadre d'une instance, mais veut divulguer ou faire divulguer les renseignements qui ont fait l'objet de l'avis ou les faits visés aux alinéas 38.02(1)b) à d), peuvent, avant que cette personne présente une deman-

de à la Section de première instance de la Cour

fédérale au titre de l'alinéa 38.04(2)c),

38.031 (1) Le procureur général du Canada

Accord de divulgation

tions.

of part of the facts or information or disclosure of the facts or information subject to condi-

Anti-terrorism

No application to

Federal Court

(2) If an agreement is entered into under subsection (1), the person may not apply to the Federal Court—Trial Division under paragraph 38.04(2)(c) with respect to the information about which he or she gave notice to the Attorney General of Canada under subsection 38.01(1) or (2).

Application to Federal Court — Attorney General of Canada **38.04** (1) The Attorney General of Canada may, at any time and in any circumstances, apply to the Federal Court—Trial Division for an order with respect to the disclosure of information about which notice was given under any of subsections 38.01(1) to (4).

Application to Federal Court — general

- (2) If, with respect to information about which notice was given under any of subsections 38.01(1) to (4), the Attorney General of Canada does not provide notice of a decision in accordance with subsection 38.03(3) or, other than by an agreement under section 38.031, authorizes the disclosure of only part of the information or disclosure subject to any conditions.
 - (a) the Attorney General of Canada shall apply to the Federal Court—Trial Division for an order with respect to disclosure of the information if a person who gave notice under subsection 38.01(1) or (2) is a witness;
 - (b) a person, other than a witness, who is required to disclose information in connection with a proceeding shall apply to the Federal Court—Trial Division for an order with respect to disclosure of the information; and
 - (c) a person who is not required to disclose information in connection with a proceeding but who wishes to disclose it or to cause its disclosure may apply to the Federal Court—Trial Division for an order with respect to disclosure of the information.

conclure un accord prévoyant la divulgation d'une partie des renseignements ou des faits ou leur divulgation assortie de conditions.

(2) Si un accord est conclu, la personne ne peut présenter de demande à la Section de première instance de la Cour fédérale au titre de l'alinéa 38.04(2)c) relativement aux renseignements ayant fait l'objet de l'avis qu'elle a donné au procureur général du Canada au titre des paragraphes 38.01(1) ou (2).

fédérale

Exclusion de

la demande à

la Cour

38.04 (1) Le procureur général du Canada peut, à tout moment et en toutes circonstances, demander à la Section de première instance de la Cour fédérale de rendre une ordonnance portant sur la divulgation de renseignements à l'égard desquels il a reçu un avis au titre de l'un des paragraphes 38.01(1) à (4).

Demande à la Cour fédérale : procureur général du Canada

(2) Si, en ce qui concerne des renseignements à l'égard desquels il a reçu un avis au titre de l'un des paragraphes 38.01(1) à (4), le procureur général du Canada n'a pas notifié sa décision à l'auteur de l'avis en conformité avec le paragraphe 38.03(3) ou, sauf par un accord conclu au titre de l'article 38.031, il a autorisé la divulgation d'une partie des renseignements ou a assorti de conditions son autorisation de divulgation :

- Demande à la Cour fédérale : dispositions générales
- a) il est tenu de demander à la Section de première instance de la Cour fédérale de rendre une ordonnance concernant la divulgation des renseignements si la personne qui l'a avisé au titre des paragraphes 38.01(1) ou (2) est un témoin;
- b) la personne à l'exclusion d'un témoin — qui a l'obligation de divulguer des renseignements dans le cadre d'une instance est tenue de demander à la Section de première instance de la Cour fédérale de rendre une ordonnance concernant la divulgation des renseignements;
- c) la personne qui n'a pas l'obligation de divulguer des renseignements dans le cadre d'une instance, mais qui veut en divulguer ou en faire divulguer, peut demander à la Section de première instance de la Cour fédérale de rendre une ordonnance concernant la divulgation des renseignements.

87

ch. 41

Notice to Attorney General of Canada

(3) A person who applies to the Federal Court—Trial Division under paragraph (2)(b)or (c) shall provide notice of the application to the Attorney General of Canada.

Court records

(4) An application under this section is confidential. Subject to section 38.12, the Administrator of the Federal Court may take any measure that he or she considers appropriate to protect the confidentiality of the application and the information to which it relates.

Procedure

- (5) As soon as the Federal Court—Trial Division is seized of an application under this section, the judge
 - (a) shall hear the representations of the Attorney General of Canada and, in the case of a proceeding under Part III of the National Defence Act, the Minister of National Defence, concerning the identity of all parties or witnesses whose interests may be affected by either the prohibition of disclosure or the conditions to which disclosure is subject, and concerning the persons who should be given notice of any hearing of the matter;
 - (b) shall decide whether it is necessary to hold any hearing of the matter;
 - (c) if he or she decides that a hearing should be held, shall
 - (i) determine who should be given notice of the hearing,
 - (ii) order the Attorney General of Canada to notify those persons, and
 - (iii) determine the content and form of the notice: and
 - (d) if he or she considers it appropriate in the
 - circumstances, may give any person the opportunity to make representations.
- (6) After the Federal Court—Trial Division is seized of an application made under paragraph (2)(c) or, in the case of an appeal from, or a review of, an order of the judge made under any of subsections 38.06(1) to (3) in connection with that application, before the appeal or review is disposed of,
 - (a) the Attorney General of Canada and the person who made the application may enter

- (3) La personne qui présente une demande à la Section de première instance au titre des alinéas (2)b) ou c) en notifie le procureur général du Canada.
- du procureur général

Notification

(4) Toute demande présentée en application du présent article est confidentielle. Sous réserve de l'article 38.12, l'administrateur de la Cour fédérale peut prendre les mesures qu'il estime indiquées en vue d'assurer la confidentialité de la demande et des renseignements sur lesquels elle porte.

Dossier du tribunal

(5) Dès que la Section de première instance de la Cour fédérale est saisie d'une demande présentée au titre du présent article, le juge :

Procédure

- a) entend les observations du procureur général du Canada — et du ministre de la Défense nationale dans le cas d'une instance engagée sous le régime de la partie III de la Loi sur la défense nationale — sur l'identité des parties ou des témoins dont les intérêts sont touchés par l'interdiction de divulgation ou les conditions dont l'autorisation de divulgation est assortie et sur les personnes qui devraient être avisées de la tenue d'une audience;
- b) décide s'il est nécessaire de tenir une audience;
- c) s'il estime qu'une audience est nécessai-
 - (i) spécifie les personnes qui devraient en être avisées,
 - (ii) ordonne au procureur général du Canada de les aviser,
 - (iii) détermine le contenu et les modalités de l'avis:
- d) s'il l'estime indiqué en l'espèce, peut donner à quiconque la possibilité de présenter des observations.
- (6) Après la saisine de la Section de première instance de la Cour fédérale d'une demande présentée au titre de l'alinéa (2)c) ou l'institution d'un appel ou le renvoi pour examen d'une ordonnance du juge rendue en vertu de l'un des paragraphes 38.06(1) à (3) relativement à cette demande, et avant qu'il soit disposé de l'appel ou de l'examen :

Accord de divulgation

Disclosure agreement

Fin de

l'examen

judiciaire

into an agreement that permits the disclosure of part of the facts referred to in paragraphs 38.02(1)(b) to (d) or part of the information, or disclosure of the facts or information subject to conditions; and

(b) if an agreement is entered into, the Court's consideration of the application or any hearing, review or appeal shall be terminated.

Termination of Court consideration, hearing, review or appeal (7) Subject to subsection (6), after the Federal Court—Trial Division is seized of an application made under this section or, in the case of an appeal from, or a review of, an order of the judge made under any of subsections 38.06(1) to (3) before the appeal or review is disposed of, if the Attorney General of Canada authorizes the disclosure of all or part of the information or withdraws conditions to which the disclosure is subject, the Court's consideration of the application or any hearing, appeal or review shall be terminated in relation to that information, to the extent of the authorization or the withdrawal.

Report relating to proceedings **38.05** If he or she receives notice of a hearing under paragraph 38.04(5)(c), a person presiding or designated to preside at the proceeding to which the information relates or, if no person is designated, the person who has the authority to designate a person to preside may, within 10 days after the day on which he or she receives the notice, provide the judge with a report concerning any matter relating to the proceeding that the person considers may be of assistance to the judge.

Disclosure order **38.06** (1) Unless the judge concludes that the disclosure of the information would be injurious to international relations or national defence or national security, the judge may, by order, authorize the disclosure of the information.

Disclosure order (2) If the judge concludes that the disclosure of the information would be injurious to international relations or national defence or national security but that the public interest in disclosure outweighs in importance the public interest in non-disclosure, the judge may by order, after considering both the public interest in disclosure and the form of and condi-

- a) le procureur général du Canada peut conclure avec l'auteur de la demande un accord prévoyant la divulgation d'une partie des renseignements ou des faits visés aux alinéas 38.02(1)b) à d) ou leur divulgation assortie de conditions:
- b) si un accord est conclu, le tribunal n'est plus saisi de la demande et il est mis fin à l'audience, à l'appel ou à l'examen.

(7) Sous réserve du paragraphe (6), si le procureur général du Canada autorise la divulgation de tout ou partie des renseignements ou supprime les conditions dont la divulgation est assortie après la saisine de la Section de première instance de la Cour fédérale aux termes du présent article et, en cas d'appel ou d'examen d'une ordonnance du juge rendue en vertu de l'un des paragraphes 38.06(1) à (3), avant qu'il en soit disposé, le tribunal n'est plus saisi de la demande et il est mis fin à l'audience, à l'appel ou à l'examen à l'égard de tels des renseignements dont la divulgation est autorisée ou n'est plus assortie de conditions.

Rapport sur

38.05 Si la personne qui préside ou est désignée pour présider l'instance à laquelle est liée l'affaire ou, à défaut de désignation, la personne qui est habilitée à effectuer la désignation reçoit l'avis visé à l'alinéa 38.04(5)c), elle peut, dans les dix jours, fournir au juge un rapport sur toute question relative à l'instance qu'elle estime utile à celui-ci.

38.06 (1) Le juge peut rendre une ordonnance autorisant la divulgation des renseignements, sauf s'il conclut qu'elle porterait préjudice aux relations internationales ou à la défense ou à la sécurité nationales.

Divulgation

(2) Si le juge conclut que la divulgation des renseignements porterait préjudice aux relations internationales ou à la défense ou à la sécurité nationales, mais que les raisons d'intérêt public qui justifient la divulgation l'emportent sur les raisons d'intérêt public qui justifient la non-divulgation, il peut par ordonnance, compte tenu des raisons d'intérêt

divulgation

Ordonnance

tions to disclosure that are most likely to limit any injury to international relations or national defence or national security resulting from disclosure, authorize the disclosure, subject to any conditions that the judge considers appropriate, of all of the information, a part or summary of the information, or a written admission of facts relating to the information.

Order confirming prohibition

(3) If the judge does not authorize disclosure under subsection (1) or (2), the judge shall, by order, confirm the prohibition of disclosure.

Evidence

(3.1) The judge may receive into evidence anything that, in the opinion of the judge, is reliable and appropriate, even if it would not otherwise be admissible under Canadian law, and may base his or her decision on that evidence.

Introduction into evidence

(4) A person who wishes to introduce into evidence material the disclosure of which is authorized under subsection (2) but who may not be able to do so in a proceeding by reason of the rules of admissibility that apply in the proceeding may request from a judge an order permitting the introduction into evidence of the material in a form or subject to any conditions fixed by that judge, as long as that form and those conditions comply with the order made under subsection (2).

Relevant factors

(5) For the purpose of subsection (4), the judge shall consider all the factors that would be relevant for a determination of admissibility in the proceeding.

Notice of order

38.07 The judge may order the Attorney General of Canada to give notice of an order made under any of subsections 38.06(1) to (3) to any person who, in the opinion of the judge, should be notified.

Automatic review **38.08** If the judge determines that a party to the proceeding whose interests are adversely affected by an order made under any of subsections 38.06(1) to (3) was not given the opportunity to make representations under paragraph 38.04(5)(d), the judge shall refer the order to the Federal Court of Appeal for review.

public qui justifient la divulgation ainsi que de la forme et des conditions de divulgation les plus susceptibles de limiter le préjudice porté aux relations internationales ou à la défense ou à la sécurité nationales, autoriser, sous réserve des conditions qu'il estime indiquées, la divulgation de tout ou partie des renseignements, d'un résumé de ceux-ci ou d'un aveu écrit des faits qui y sont liés.

(3) Dans le cas où le juge n'autorise pas la divulgation au titre des paragraphes (1) ou (2), il rend une ordonnance confirmant l'interdiction de divulgation.

(3.1) Le juge peut recevoir et admettre en preuve tout élément qu'il estime digne de foi et approprié — même si le droit canadien ne prévoit pas par ailleurs son admissibilité — et peut fonder sa décision sur cet élément.

(4) La personne qui veut faire admettre en preuve ce qui a fait l'objet d'une autorisation de divulgation prévue au paragraphe (2), mais qui ne pourra peut-être pas le faire à cause des règles d'admissibilité applicables à l'instance, peut demander à un juge de rendre une ordonnance autorisant la production en preuve des renseignements, du résumé ou de l'aveu dans la forme ou aux conditions que celui-ci détermine, dans la mesure où telle forme ou telles conditions sont conformes à l'ordonnance rendue au titre du paragraphe (2).

(5) Pour l'application du paragraphe (4), le juge prend en compte tous les facteurs qui seraient pertinents pour statuer sur l'admissibilité en preuve au cours de l'instance.

38.07 Le juge peut ordonner au procureur général du Canada d'aviser de l'ordonnance rendue en application de l'un des paragraphes 38.06(1) à (3) toute personne qui, de l'avis du juge, devrait être avisée.

38.08 Si le juge conclut qu'une partie à l'instance dont les intérêts sont lésés par une ordonnance rendue en application de l'un des paragraphes 38.06(1) à (3) n'a pas eu la possibilité de présenter ses observations au titre de l'alinéa 38.04(5)*d*), il renvoie l'ordonnance à la Cour d'appel fédérale pour examen.

Confirmation de l'interdiction

Preuve

Admissibilité

Facteurs pertinents

Avis de la décision

Examen automatique

Appeal to Federal Court of Appeal

90

38.09 (1) An order made under any of subsections 38.06(1) to (3) may be appealed to the Federal Court of Appeal.

Limitation period for appeal

(2) An appeal shall be brought within 10 days after the day on which the order is made or within any further time that the Court considers appropriate in the circumstances.

Limitation periods for appeals to Supreme Court of Canada

- **38.1** Notwithstanding any other Act of Parliament,
 - (a) an application for leave to appeal to the Supreme Court of Canada from a judgment made on appeal shall be made within 10 days after the day on which the judgment appealed from is made or within any further time that the Supreme Court of Canada considers appropriate in the circumstances; and
 - (b) if leave to appeal is granted, the appeal shall be brought in the manner set out in subsection 60(1) of the *Supreme Court Act* but within the time specified by the Supreme Court of Canada.

Special rules

38.11 (1) A hearing under subsection 38.04(5) or an appeal or review of an order made under any of subsections 38.06(1) to (3) shall be heard in private and, at the request of either the Attorney General of Canada or, in the case of a proceeding under Part III of the *National Defence Act*, the Minister of National Defence, shall be heard in the National Capital Region, as described in the schedule to the *National Capital Act*.

Ex parte representations

(2) The judge conducting a hearing under subsection 38.04(5) or the court hearing an appeal or review of an order made under any of subsections 38.06(1) to (3) may give any person who makes representations under paragraph 38.04(5)(d), and shall give the Attorney General of Canada and, in the case of a proceeding under Part III of the *National*

38.09 (1) Il peut être interjeté appel d'une ordonnance rendue en application de l'un des paragraphes 38.06(1) à (3) devant la Cour d'appel fédérale.

(2) Le délai dans lequel l'appel peut être interjeté est de dix jours suivant la date de l'ordonnance frappée d'appel, mais la Cour d'appel fédérale peut le proroger si elle

38.1 Malgré toute autre loi fédérale :

l'estime indiqué en l'espèce.

- a) le délai de demande d'autorisation d'en appeler à la Cour suprême du Canada est de dix jours suivant le jugement frappé d'appel, mais ce tribunal peut proroger le délai s'il l'estime indiqué en l'espèce;
- b) dans les cas où l'autorisation est accordée, l'appel est interjeté conformément au paragraphe 60(1) de la *Loi sur la Cour suprême*, mais le délai qui s'applique est celui qu'a fixé la Cour suprême du Canada.

Règles spéciales

- **38.11** (1) Les audiences prévues au paragraphe 38.04(5) et l'audition de l'appel ou de l'examen d'une ordonnance rendue en application de l'un des paragraphes 38.06(1) à (3) sont tenues à huis clos et, à la demande soit du procureur général du Canada, soit du ministre de la Défense nationale dans le cas des instances engagées sous le régime de la partie III de la *Loi sur la défense nationale*, elles ont lieu dans la région de la capitale nationale définie à l'annexe de la *Loi sur la capitale nationale*.
- (2) Le juge saisi d'une affaire au titre du paragraphe 38.04(5) ou le tribunal saisi de l'appel ou de l'examen d'une ordonnance rendue en application de l'un des paragraphes 38.06(1) à (3) donne au procureur général du Canada et au ministre de la Défense nationale dans le cas d'une instance engagée sous le régime de la partie III de la *Loi sur la*

Cour d'appel fédérale

Appel à la

Délai

Délai de demande d'autorisation d'en appeler à la Cour suprême du Canada

Présentation d'arguments en l'absence d'autres parties *Defence Act*, the Minister of National Defence, the opportunity to make representations *ex parte*.

Protective

38.12 (1) The judge conducting a hearing under subsection 38.04(5) or the court hearing an appeal or review of an order made under any of subsections 38.06(1) to (3) may make any order that the judge or the court considers appropriate in the circumstances to protect the confidentiality of the information to which the hearing, appeal or review relates.

Court records

(2) The court records relating to the hearing, appeal or review are confidential. The judge or the court may order that the records be sealed and kept in a location to which the public has no access.

Certificate of Attorney General of Canada **38.13** (1) The Attorney General of Canada may personally issue a certificate that prohibits the disclosure of information in connection with a proceeding for the purpose of protecting information obtained in confidence from, or in relation to, a foreign entity as defined in subsection 2(1) of the *Security of Information Act* or for the purpose of protecting national defence or national security. The certificate may only be issued after an order or decision that would result in the disclosure of the information to be subject to the certificate has been made under this or any other Act of Parliament.

Military proceedings (2) In the case of a proceeding under Part III of the *National Defence Act*, the Attorney General of Canada may issue the certificate only with the agreement, given personally, of the Minister of National Defence.

Service of certificate

- (3) The Attorney General of Canada shall cause a copy of the certificate to be served on
 - (a) the person presiding or designated to preside at the proceeding to which the information relates or, if no person is designated, the person who has the authority to designate a person to preside;
 - (b) every party to the proceeding;

défense nationale — la possibilité de présenter ses observations en l'absence d'autres parties. Il peut en faire de même pour les personnes qu'il entend en application de l'alinéa 38.04(5)d).

38.12 (1) Le juge saisi d'une affaire au titre du paragraphe 38.04(5) ou le tribunal saisi de l'appel ou de l'examen d'une ordonnance rendue en application de l'un des paragraphes 38.06(1) à (3) peut rendre toute ordonnance qu'il estime indiquée en l'espèce en vue de protéger la confidentialité des renseignements sur lesquels porte l'audience, l'appel ou l'examen.

Dossier

Ordonnance

confidentialité

(2) Le dossier ayant trait à l'audience, à l'appel ou à l'examen est confidentiel. Le juge ou le tribunal saisi peut ordonner qu'il soit placé sous scellé et gardé dans un lieu interdit au public.

Certificat

général du

Canada

du procureur

38.13 (1) Le procureur général du Canada peut délivrer personnellement un certificat interdisant la divulgation de renseignements dans le cadre d'une instance dans le but de protéger soit des renseignements obtenus à titre confidentiel d'une entité étrangère — au sens du paragraphe 2(1) de la Loi sur la protection de l'information — ou qui concernent une telle entité, soit la défense ou la sécurité nationales. La délivrance ne peut être effectuée qu'après la prise, au titre de la présente loi ou de toute autre loi fédérale, d'une ordonnance ou d'une décision qui entraînerait la divulgation des renseignements devant faire l'objet du certificat.

Instances

- (2) Dans le cas d'une instance engagée sous le régime de la partie III de la *Loi sur la défense nationale*, le procureur général du Canada ne peut délivrer de certificat qu'avec l'assentiment du ministre de la Défense nationale donné personnellement par celui-ci.
- (3) Le procureur général du Canada fait signifier une copie du certificat :
 - a) à la personne qui préside ou est désignée pour présider l'instance à laquelle sont liés les renseignements ou, à défaut de désignation, à la personne qui est habilitée à effectuer la désignation;
 - b) à toute partie à l'instance;

Signification

- (c) every person who gives notice under section 38.01 in connection with the proceeding;
- (d) every person who, in connection with the proceeding, may disclose, is required to disclose or may cause the disclosure of the information about which the Attorney General of Canada has received notice under section 38.01;
- (e) every party to a hearing under subsection 38.04(5) or to an appeal of an order made under any of subsections 38.06(1) to (3) in relation to the information;
- (f) the judge who conducts a hearing under subsection 38.04(5) and any court that hears an appeal from, or review of, an order made under any of subsections 38.06(1) to (3) in relation to the information; and
- (g) any other person who, in the opinion of the Attorney General of Canada, should be served.

Filing of certificate

- (4) The Attorney General of Canada shall cause a copy of the certificate to be filed
 - (a) with the person responsible for the records of the proceeding to which the information relates; and
 - (b) in the Registry of the Federal Court and the registry of any court that hears an appeal from, or review of, an order made under any of subsections 38.06(1) to (3).

Effect of certificate

(5) If the Attorney General of Canada issues a certificate, then, notwithstanding any other provision of this Act, disclosure of the information shall be prohibited in accordance with the terms of the certificate.

Statutory Instruments Act does not apply (6) The *Statutory Instruments Act* does not apply to a certificate issued under subsection (1).

Publication

(7) The Attorney General of Canada shall, without delay after a certificate is issued, cause the certificate to be published in the *Canada Gazette*.

Restriction

(8) The certificate and any matters arising out of it are not subject to review or to be restrained, prohibited, removed, set aside or otherwise dealt with, except in accordance with section 38.131.

- c) à toute personne qui donne l'avis prévu à l'article 38.01 dans le cadre de l'instance;
- d) à toute personne qui, dans le cadre de l'instance, a l'obligation de divulguer ou pourrait divulguer ou faire divulguer les renseignements à l'égard desquels le procureur général du Canada a été avisé en application de l'article 38.01;
- e) à toute partie aux procédures engagées en application du paragraphe 38.04(5) ou à l'appel d'une ordonnance rendue en application de l'un des paragraphes 38.06(1) à (3) en ce qui concerne les renseignements;
- f) au juge qui tient une audience en application du paragraphe 38.04(5) et à tout tribunal saisi de l'appel ou de l'examen d'une ordonnance rendue en application de l'un des paragraphes 38.06(1) à (3) en ce qui concerne les renseignements;
- g) à toute autre personne à laquelle, de l'avis du procureur général du Canada, une copie du certificat devrait être signifiée.
- (4) Le procureur général du Canada fait déposer une copie du certificat :

Dépôt du certificat

- *a*) auprès de la personne responsable des dossiers relatifs à l'instance:
- b) au greffe de la Cour fédérale et à celui de tout tribunal saisi de l'appel ou de l'examen d'une ordonnance rendue en application de l'un des paragraphes 38.06(1) à (3).
- (5) Une fois délivré, le certificat a pour effet, malgré toute autre disposition de la présente loi, d'interdire, selon ses termes, la divulgation des renseignements.

Effet du certificat

(6) La *Loi sur les textes réglementaires* ne s'applique pas aux certificats délivrés au titre du paragraphe (1).

Publication

Exclusion

(7) Dès que le certificat est délivré, le procureur général du Canada le fait publier dans la *Gazette du Canada*.

Restriction

(8) Le certificat ou toute question qui en découle n'est susceptible de révision, de restriction, d'interdiction, d'annulation, de rejet ou de toute autre forme d'intervention que sous le régime de l'article 38.131.

Durée de

Demande de

révision du

certificat

validité

93

ch. 41

Expiration

(9) The certificate expires 15 years after the day on which it is issued and may be reissued.

Application for review of certificate **38.131** (1) A party to the proceeding referred to in section 38.13 may apply to the Federal Court of Appeal for an order varying or cancelling a certificate issued under that section on the grounds referred to in subsection (8) or (9), as the case may be.

Notice to Attorney General of Canada

(2) The applicant shall give notice of the application to the Attorney General of Canada.

Military proceedings (3) In the case of proceedings under Part III of the *National Defence Act*, notice under subsection (2) shall be given to both the Attorney General of Canada and the Minister of National Defence.

Single judge

(4) Notwithstanding section 16 of the *Federal Court Act*, for the purposes of the application, the Federal Court of Appeal consists of a single judge of that Court.

Admissible information

(5) In considering the application, the judge may receive into evidence anything that, in the opinion of the judge, is reliable and appropriate, even if it would not otherwise be admissible under Canadian law, and may base a determination made under any of subsections (8) to (10) on that evidence.

Special rules and protective order (6) Sections 38.11 and 38.12 apply, with any necessary modifications, to an application made under subsection (1).

Expedited consideration (7) The judge shall consider the application as soon as reasonably possible, but not later than 10 days after the application is made under subsection (1).

Varying the certificate (8) If the judge determines that some of the information subject to the certificate does not relate either to information obtained in confidence from, or in relation to, a foreign entity as defined in subsection 2(1) of the *Security of Information Act*, or to national defence or

(9) Le certificat expire à la fin d'une période de quinze ans à compter de la date de sa délivrance et peut être délivré de nouveau.

38.131 (1) Toute partie à l'instance visée à l'article 38.13 peut demander à la Cour d'appel fédérale de rendre une ordonnance modifiant ou annulant un certificat délivré au titre de cet article pour les motifs mentionnés aux paragraphes (8) ou (9), selon le cas.

(2) Le demandeur en avise le procureur général du Canada.

général du Canada Instance militaire

Notification

du procureur

(3) Dans le cas d'une instance engagée sous le régime de la partie III de la *Loi sur la défense nationale*, l'avis prévu au paragraphe (2) est donné à la fois au procureur général du Canada et au ministre de la Défense nationale.

Juge seul

(4) Par dérogation à l'article 16 de la *Loi sur la Cour fédérale*, la Cour d'appel fédérale est constituée d'un seul juge de ce tribunal pour l'étude de la demande.

Renseignements pertinents

(5) Pour l'étude de la demande, le juge peut recevoir et admettre en preuve tout élément qu'il estime digne de foi et approprié — même si le droit canadien ne prévoit pas par ailleurs son admissibilité — et peut se fonder sur cet élément pour rendre sa décision au titre de l'un des paragraphes (8) à (10).

(6) Les articles 38.11 et 38.12 s'appliquent, avec les adaptations nécessaires, à la demande présentée au titre du paragraphe (1).

Règles spéciales et ordonnance de confidentialité

(7) Le juge étudie la demande le plus tôt possible, mais au plus tard dans les dix jours suivant la présentation de la demande au titre du paragraphe (1).

Traitement

expéditif

(8) Si le juge estime qu'une partie des renseignements visés par le certificat ne porte pas sur des renseignements obtenus à titre confidentiel d'une entité étrangère — au sens du paragraphe 2(1) de la *Loi sur la protection de l'information* — ou qui concernent une

Modification du certificat security, the judge shall make an order varying the certificate accordingly.

telle entité ni sur la défense ou la sécurité nationales, il modifie celui-ci en conséquence par ordonnance.

Cancelling the certificate

(9) If the judge determines that none of the information subject to the certificate relates to information obtained in confidence from, or in relation to, a foreign entity as defined in subsection 2(1) of the *Security of Information Act*, or to national defence or security, the judge shall make an order cancelling the certificate.

(9) Si le juge estime qu'aucun renseignement visé par le certificat ne porte sur des renseignements obtenus à titre confidentiel d'une entité étrangère — au sens du paragraphe 2(1) de la *Loi sur la protection de l'information* — ou qui concernent une telle entité, ni sur la défense ou la sécurité nationa-

Révocation du certificat

Confirming the certificate

(10) If the judge determines that all of the information subject to the certificate relates to information obtained in confidence from, or in relation to, a foreign entity as defined in subsection 2(1) of the *Security of Information Act*, or to national defence or security, the judge shall make an order confirming the certificate.

(10) Si le juge estime que tous les renseignements visés par le certificat portent sur des renseignements obtenus à titre confidentiel d'une entité étrangère — au sens du paragraphe 2(1) de la *Loi sur la protection de l'information* — ou qui concernent une telle entité, ou sur la défense ou la sécurité nationales, il confirme celui-ci par ordonnance.

les, il révoque celui-ci par ordonnance.

Confirmation du certificat

Determination is final

(11) Notwithstanding any other Act of Parliament, a determination of a judge under any of subsections (8) to (10) is final and is not subject to review or appeal by any court.

(11) La décision du juge rendue au titre de l'un des paragraphes (8) à (10) est définitive et, par dérogation à toute autre loi fédérale, non susceptible d'appel ni de révision judiciaire.

Caractère définitif de la décision

Publication

- (12) If a certificate is varied or cancelled under this section, the Attorney General of Canada shall, as soon as possible after the decision of the judge and in a manner that mentions the original publication of the certificate, cause to be published in the *Canada Gazette*
 - (a) the certificate as varied under subsection (8); or
 - (b) a notice of the cancellation of the certificate under subsection (9).

(12) Dès que possible après la décision du juge, le procureur général du Canada fait publier dans la *Gazette du Canada*, avec mention du certificat publié antérieurement :

a) le certificat modifié au titre du paragraphe (8);

b) un avis de la révocation d'un certificat au titre du paragraphe (9).

Publication

Protection of right to a fair trial **38.14** (1) The person presiding at a criminal proceeding may make any order that he or she considers appropriate in the circumstances to protect the right of the accused to a fair trial, as long as that order complies with the terms of any order made under any of subsections 38.06(1) to (3) in relation to that proceeding, any judgment made on appeal from, or review of, the order, or any certificate issued under section 38.13.

38.14 (1) La personne qui préside une instance criminelle peut rendre l'ordonnance qu'elle estime indiquée en l'espèce en vue de protéger le droit de l'accusé à un procès équitable, pourvu que telle ordonnance soit conforme à une ordonnance rendue en application de l'un des paragraphes 38.06(1) à (3) relativement à cette instance, a une décision en appel ou découlant de l'examen ou au certificat délivré au titre de l'article 38.13.

Protection du droit à un procès équitable

95

Ordonnances

éventuelles

Potential

- (2) The orders that may be made under subsection (1) include, but are not limited to, the following orders:
 - (a) an order dismissing specified counts of the indictment or information, or permitting the indictment or information to proceed only in respect of a lesser or included offence:
 - (b) an order effecting a stay of the proceedings; and
 - (c) an order finding against any party on any issue relating to information the disclosure of which is prohibited.

Fiat

38.15 (1) If sensitive information or potentially injurious information may be disclosed in connection with a prosecution that is not instituted by the Attorney General of Canada or on his or her behalf, the Attorney General of Canada may issue a fiat and serve the fiat on the prosecutor.

Effect of fiat

(2) When a fiat is served on a prosecutor, the fiat establishes the exclusive authority of the Attorney General of Canada with respect to the conduct of the prosecution described in the fiat or any related process.

Fiat filed in court

(3) If a prosecution described in the fiat or any related process is conducted by or on behalf of the Attorney General of Canada, the fiat or a copy of the fiat shall be filed with the court in which the prosecution or process is conducted.

Fiat constitutes conclusive proof

- (4) The fiat or a copy of the fiat
- (a) is conclusive proof that the prosecution described in the fiat or any related process may be conducted by or on behalf of the Attorney General of Canada; and
- (b) is admissible in evidence without proof of the signature or official character of the Attorney General of Canada.

Military proceedings (5) This section does not apply to a proceeding under Part III of the *National Defence Act*.

- (2) L'ordonnance rendue au titre du paragraphe (1) peut notamment :
 - a) annuler un chef d'accusation d'un acte d'accusation ou d'une dénonciation, ou autoriser l'instruction d'un chef d'accusation ou d'une dénonciation pour une infraction moins grave ou une infraction incluse;
 - b) ordonner l'arrêt des procédures;
 - c) être rendue à l'encontre de toute partie sur toute question liée aux renseignements dont la divulgation est interdite.

38.15 (1) Dans le cas où des renseignements sensibles ou des renseignements potentiellement préjudiciables peuvent être divulgués dans le cadre d'une poursuite qui n'est pas engagée par le procureur général du Canada ou pour son compte, il peut délivrer un fiat et le faire signifier au poursuivant.

Fiat du procureur général du Canada

(2) Le fiat établit la compétence exclusive du procureur général du Canada à l'égard de la poursuite qui y est mentionnée et des procédures qui y sont liées. Effet du fiat

(3) L'original ou un double du fiat est déposé devant le tribunal saisi de la poursuite — ou d'une autre procédure liée à celleci — engagée par le procureur général du Canada ou pour son compte.

Dépôt auprès du juge ou du

Preuve

(4) Le fiat ou le double de celui-ci :

a) est une preuve concluante que le procureur général du Canada ou son délégué a compétence pour mener la poursuite qui y est mentionnée ou les procédures qui y sont liées;

- b) est admissible en preuve sans qu'il soit nécessaire de prouver la signature ou la qualité officielle du procureur général du Canada.
- (5) Le présent article ne s'applique pas aux instances engagées sous le régime de la partie III de la *Loi sur la défense nationale*.

Instances militaires Regulations

96

38.16 The Governor in Council may make any regulations that the Governor in Council considers necessary to carry into effect the purposes and provisions of sections 38 to 38.15, including regulations respecting the notices, certificates and the fiat.

Confidences of the Queen's Privy Council for Canada

44. The Act is amended by adding, after section 54, the schedule set out in Schedule 2 to this Act.

Consequential Amendments

R.S., c. H-6

Canadian Human Rights Act

1998, c. 9, s. 30

45. Section 58 of the Canadian Human *Rights Act* is replaced by the following:

Application respecting disclosure of information

58. (1) Subject to subsection (2), if an investigator or a member or panel of the Tribunal requires the disclosure of any information and a minister of the Crown or any other interested person objects to its disclosure, the Commission may apply to the Federal Court for a determination of the matter and the Court may take any action that it considers appropriate.

Canada Evidence Act

- (2) An objection to disclosure shall be determined in accordance with the Canada Evidence Act if
 - (a) under subsection (1), a minister of the Crown or other official objects to the disclosure in accordance with sections 37 to 37.3 or section 39 of that Act;
 - (b) within 90 days after the day on which the Commission applies to the Federal Court, a minister of the Crown or other official objects to the disclosure in accordance with sections 37 to 37.3 or section 39 of that Act; or
 - (c) at any time, an objection to the disclosure is made, or a certificate is issued, in accordance with sections 38 to 38.13 of that Act.

38.16 Le gouverneur en conseil peut, par règlement, prendre les mesures qu'il estime nécessaires à l'application des articles 38 à 38.15, notamment régir les avis, certificats et fiat.

Règlements

Renseignements confidentiels du Conseil privé de la Reine pour le Canada

44. La même loi est modifiée par adjonction, après l'article 54, de l'annexe figurant à l'annexe 2 de la présente loi.

Modifications corrélatives

Loi canadienne sur les droits de la personne

L.R., ch. H-6

45. L'article 58 de la Loi canadienne sur les droits de la personne est remplacé par ce qui suit:

1998, ch. 9, art. 30

58. (1) Sous réserve du paragraphe (2), dans le cas où un ministre fédéral ou une autre personne intéressée s'oppose à la divulgation de renseignements demandée par l'enquêteur ou le membre instructeur, la Commission peut demander à la Cour fédérale de statuer sur la question et celle-ci peut prendre les mesures qu'elle juge indiquées.

Divulgation renseignements

- (2) Il est disposé de l'opposition à divulgation en conformité avec la Loi sur la preuve au Canada dans les cas suivants :

 - a) le ministre fédéral ou un fonctionnaire porte son opposition au titre du paragraphe (1) dans le cadre des articles 37 à 37.3 ou 39 de cette loi:
 - b) dans les quatre-vingt-dix jours suivant la demande de la Commission à la Cour fédérale, le ministre fédéral ou un fonctionnaire s'oppose à la divulgation dans le cadre des articles 37 à 37.3 ou 39 de cette loi;
 - c) en tout état de cause, l'opposition à divulgation est portée, ou un certificat est délivré, en conformité avec les articles 38 à 38.13 de cette loi.

Loi sur la preuve au Canada

L.R., ch. I-2

L.R., ch. 29

(4e suppl.),

par. 12(1)

Demande

d'annulation

l'ordonnance

R.S., c. I-2

R.S., c. 29 (4th Supp.), s. 12(1)

Application to have order quashed

Immigration Act

46. Subsection 103.1(8) of the *Immigration Act* is replaced by the following:

(8) Any person excluded by an order under subsection (7) from all or any part of the review under subsection (2) or (3) may apply to the Chief Justice of the Federal Court or to a judge of that Court designated by the Chief Justice for the purposes of this subsection to have the order quashed, and sections 37 to 38.16 of the *Canada Evidence Act* apply, with any modifications that the circumstances require, to such applications.

PART 4

2000, c. 17

PROCEEDS OF CRIME (MONEY LAUNDERING) ACT

47. The long title of the *Proceeds of Crime* (*Money Laundering*) *Act* is replaced by the following:

An Act to facilitate combatting the laundering of proceeds of crime and combatting the financing of terrorist activities, to establish the Financial Transactions and Reports Analysis Centre of Canada and to amend and repeal certain Acts in consequence

48. Section 1 of the Act is replaced by the following:

Short title

- 1. This Act may be cited as the *Proceeds of Crime (Money Laundering) and Terrorist Financing Act.*
- 49. (1) The definitions "client" and "courier" in section 2 of the Act are replaced by the following:

"client" « client » "client" means a person or an entity that engages in a financial transaction or activity with a person or an entity referred to in section 5, and includes a person or an entity on whose behalf the person or the entity that engages in the transaction or activity is acting.

"courier" " messager »

"courier" means a courier as defined by regulation.

Loi sur l'immigration

46. Le paragraphe 103.1(8) de la *Loi sur l'immigration* est remplacé par ce qui suit :

(8) Les personnes exclues de l'examen en application d'une ordonnance visée au paragraphe (7) peuvent demander au juge en chef de la Cour fédérale ou au juge de cette cour qu'il délègue pour l'application du présent paragraphe de l'annuler. Les articles 37 à 38.16 de la *Loi sur la preuve au Canada* s'appliquent à ces demandes, avec les adaptations nécessaires.

PARTIE 4

LOI SUR LE RECYCLAGE DES PRODUITS DE LA CRIMINALITÉ

2000, ch. 17

47. Le titre intégral de la *Loi sur le recyclage des produits de la criminalité* est remplacé par ce qui suit :

Loi visant à faciliter la répression du recyclage financier des produits de la criminalité et du financement des activités terroristes, constituant le Centre d'analyse des opérations et déclarations financières du Canada et modifiant et abrogeant certaines lois en conséquence

48. L'article 1 de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

1. Loi sur le recyclage des produits de la criminalité et le financement des activités terroristes.

Titre abrégé

49. (1) Les définitions de « client » et « messager », à l'article 2 de la même loi, sont respectivement remplacées par ce qui suit :

« client » Toute personne ou entité qui se livre à une opération ou à une activité financières avec une personne ou une entité visées à l'article 5, ainsi que toute personne ou entité pour le compte de qui elle agit. « client » "client"

« messager » S'entend au sens prévu par règlement. « messager » "courier"

de ce qui suit :

(2) Section 2 of the Act is amended by adding the following in alphabetical order:

"entity" means a body corporate, a trust, a partnership, a fund or an unincorporated association or organization.

"person" means an individual.

- "terrorist activity" has the same meaning as in subsection 83.01(1) of the *Criminal Code*.
- "terrorist activity financing offence" means an offence under section 83.02, 83.03 or 83.04 of the *Criminal Code* or an offence under section 83.12 of the *Criminal Code* arising out of a contravention of section 83.08 of that Act.
- "threats to the security of Canada" has the same meaning as in section 2 of the Canadian Security Intelligence Service Act.

Canada" « menaces envers la sécurité du Canada »

"entity"

« entité »

"person"

activity'

« activité

"terrorist

financing

 ${\it \ \, winfraction}$

financement

des activités

terroristes »

security of

"threats to the

offence'

terroriste »

« personne » "terrorist

« entité » Personne morale, fiducie, société de personnes ou fonds, ou organisation ou association non dotée de la personnalité mo-

(2) L'article 2 de la même loi est modifié

par adjonction, selon l'ordre alphabétique,

« activité terroriste » S'entend au sens du pa-

ragraphe 83.01(1) du Code criminel.

- « infraction de financement des activités terroristes » Toute infraction visée aux articles 83.02 à 83.04 du *Code criminel* ou une infraction visée à l'article 83.12 de cette loi découlant d'une contravention à l'article 83.08 de la même loi.
- « menaces envers la sécurité du Canada » S'entend au sens de l'article 2 de la *Loi sur le Service canadien du renseignement de* sécurité.

« personne » S'entend d'un particulier.

« activité terroriste » "terrorist

« entité » "entity"

« infraction de financement des activités terroristes » "terrorist activity financing offence"

« menaces envers la sécurité du Canada » "threats to the security of Canada"

« personne » "person"

50. (1) The portion of paragraph 3(a) of the Act before subparagraph (ii) is replaced by the following:

- (a) to implement specific measures to detect and deter money laundering and the financing of terrorist activities and to facilitate the investigation and prosecution of money laundering offences and terrorist activity financing offences, including
 - (i) establishing record keeping and client identification requirements for financial services providers and other persons or entities that engage in businesses, professions or activities that are susceptible to being used for money laundering or the financing of terrorist activities,

(2) Paragraph 3(c) of the Act is replaced by the following:

(c) to assist in fulfilling Canada's international commitments to participate in the

50. (1) Le passage de l'alinéa 3a) de la même loi précédant le sous-alinéa (ii) est remplacé par ce qui suit :

- a) de mettre en oeuvre des mesures visant à détecter et décourager le recyclage des produits de la criminalité et le financement des activités terroristes et à faciliter les enquêtes et les poursuites relatives aux infractions de recyclage des produits de la criminalité et aux infractions de financement des activités terroristes, notamment :
 - (i) imposer des obligations de tenue de documents et d'identification des clients aux fournisseurs de services financiers et autres personnes ou entités qui se livrent à l'exploitation d'une entreprise ou à l'exercice d'une profession ou d'activités susceptibles d'être utilisées pour le recyclage des produits de la criminalité ou pour le financement des activités terroristes.

(2) L'alinéa 3c) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

c) d'aider le Canada à remplir ses engagements internationaux dans la lutte contre le

fight against transnational crime, particularly money laundering, and the fight against terrorist activity.

51. (1) Paragraphs 5(g) to (j) of the Act are replaced by the following:

- (g) persons and entities authorized under provincial legislation to engage in the business of dealing in securities, or to provide portfolio management or investment counselling services;
- (h) persons and entities engaged in the business of foreign exchange dealing;
- (i) persons and entities engaged in a business, profession or activity described in regulations made under paragraph 73(1)(a);
- (j) persons and entities engaged in a business or profession described in regulations made under paragraph 73(1)(b), while carrying out the activities described in the regulations;

(2) Paragraph 5(m) of the Act is replaced by the following:

(m) for the purposes of section 7, employees of a person or entity referred to in any of paragraphs (a) to (l).

52. Section 7 of the Act is replaced by the following:

Transactions if reasonable grounds to suspect 7. In addition to the requirements of subsection 9(1), every person or entity shall report to the Centre, in the prescribed form and manner, every financial transaction that occurs in the course of their activities and in respect of which there are reasonable grounds to suspect that the transaction is related to the commission of a money laundering offence or a terrorist activity financing offence.

Disclosure

7.1 (1) In addition to the requirements of section 7 and subsection 9(1), every person or entity that is required to make a disclosure under section 83.1 of the *Criminal Code* shall also make a report on it to the Centre, in the prescribed form and manner.

crime transnational, particulièrement le recyclage des produits de la criminalité, et la lutte contre les activités terroristes.

51. (1) Les alinéas 5g) à j) de la même loi sont remplacés par ce qui suit :

- g) les personnes et les entités autorisées en vertu de la législation provinciale à se livrer au commerce des valeurs mobilières, ou à la fourniture de services de gestion de portefeuille et de conseils en placement;
- *h*) les personnes et les entités qui se livrent aux opérations de change;
- i) les personnes et les entités qui se livrent à l'exploitation d'une entreprise ou à l'exercice d'une profession ou d'activités visées par un règlement pris en vertu de l'alinéa 73(1)a);
- j) les personnes et les entités qui se livrent à l'exploitation d'une entreprise ou à l'exercice d'une profession visées par un règlement pris en vertu de l'alinéa 73(1)b) lorsqu'elles exercent les activités mentionnées aux règlements;

(2) L'alinéa 5m) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

m) les employés des personnes et entités visées à l'un des alinéas *a*) à *l*), pour l'application de l'article 7.

52. L'article 7 de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

7. Il incombe à toute personne ou entité de déclarer au Centre, selon les modalités réglementaires, en plus des opérations financières visées au paragraphe 9(1), les opérations financières effectuées dans le cours de ses activités et à l'égard desquelles il y a des motifs raisonnables de soupçonner qu'elles sont liées à la perpétration d'une infraction de recyclage des produits de la criminalité ou d'une infraction de financement des activités terroristes.

7.1 (1) En plus des exigences visées à l'article 7 et au paragraphe 9(1), il incombe à toute personne ou entité qui est tenue de communiquer des renseignements en vertu de l'article 83.1 du *Code criminel* de faire une déclaration au Centre selon les modalités réglementaires.

Opérations à déclarer

99

Communication

Limitation

(2) Subsection (1) does not apply to prescribed persons or entities, or prescribed classes of persons or entities, in respect of prescribed transactions or property, or classes of transactions or property, if the prescribed conditions are met.

53. Section 10 of the Act is replaced by the following:

Reports under

9.1 Subject to section 9, every person or entity that is required to make a report to the Centre under an Act of Parliament or any regulations under it shall make it in the form and manner prescribed under this Act for a report under that Act.

Immunity

10. No criminal or civil proceedings lie against a person or an entity for making a report in good faith under section 7, 7.1 or 9, or for providing the Centre with information about suspicions of money laundering or of the financing of terrorist activities.

54. (1) Subsection 12(1) of the Act is replaced by the following:

Currency and monetary instruments

12. (1) Every person or entity referred to in subsection (3) shall report to an officer, in accordance with the regulations, the importation or exportation of currency or monetary instruments of a value equal to or greater than the prescribed amount.

(2) Paragraph 12(3)(a) of the Act is replaced by the following:

(a) in the case of currency or monetary instruments in the actual possession of a person arriving in or departing from Canada, or that form part of their baggage if they and their baggage are being carried on board the same conveyance, by that person or, in prescribed circumstances, by the person in charge of the conveyance;

55. The portion of subsection 15(1) of the Act after paragraph (c) is replaced by the following:

if the officer suspects on reasonable grounds that the person has secreted on or about their person currency or monetary instruments that are of a value equal to or greater than the amount prescribed for the (2) Le paragraphe (1) ne s'applique pas aux personnes ou entités — ou aux catégories de personnes ou d'entités — visées par règlement à l'égard d'opérations, de catégories d'opérations, de biens ou de catégories de biens visés par règlement, si les conditions réglementaires sont remplies.

53. L'article 10 de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

9.1 Sous réserve de l'article 9, il incombe à toute personne ou entité qui est tenue de faire une déclaration au Centre sous le régime d'une loi fédérale de la faire selon les modalités réglementaires prescrites pour cette loi.

Immunité

10. Nul ne peut être poursuivi pour avoir fait de bonne foi une déclaration au titre des articles 7, 7.1 ou 9 ou pour avoir fourni au Centre des renseignements qui se rapportent à des soupçons de recyclage des produits de la criminalité ou de financement des activités terroristes.

54. (1) Le paragraphe 12(1) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

12. (1) Les personnes ou entités visées au paragraphe (3) sont tenues de déclarer à l'agent, conformément aux règlements, l'importation ou l'exportation des espèces ou effets d'une valeur égale ou supérieure au montant réglementaire.

(2) L'alinéa 12(3)a) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

a) la personne ayant en sa possession effective ou parmi ses bagages les espèces ou effets se trouvant à bord du moyen de transport par lequel elle est arrivée au Canada ou a quitté le pays ou la personne qui, dans les circonstances réglementaires, est responsable du moyen de transport;

55. Le passage du paragraphe 15(1) de la même loi précédant l'alinéa a) est remplacé par ce qui suit :

15. (1) S'il la soupçonne, pour des motifs raisonnables, de dissimuler sur elle ou près d'elle des espèces ou des effets d'une valeur égale ou supérieure au montant réglementaire prévu pour l'application du paragraphe 12(1)

Déclaration

Exemption

Déclaration

Fouille de personnes purpose of subsection 12(1) and that have not been reported in accordance with that subsection.

56. Section 16 of the Act is replaced by the following:

Search of conveyance

16. (1) If an officer suspects on reasonable grounds that there are, on or about a conveyance, currency or monetary instruments of a value equal to or greater than the amount prescribed for the purpose of subsection 12(1) and that have not been reported in accordance with that subsection, the officer may stop, board and search the conveyance, examine anything in or on it and open or cause to be opened any package or container in or on it and direct that the conveyance be moved to a customs office or other suitable place for the search, examination or opening.

Search of baggage

(2) If an officer suspects on reasonable grounds that there are, in baggage, currency or monetary instruments that are of a value equal to or greater than the amount prescribed for the purpose of subsection 12(1) and that have not been reported in accordance with that subsection, the officer may search the baggage, examine anything in it and open or cause to be opened any package or container in it and direct that the baggage be moved to a customs office or other suitable place for the search, examination or opening.

57. Subsection 17(1) of the Act is replaced by the following:

Examination and opening of mail 17. (1) An officer may examine any mail that is being imported or exported and open or cause to be opened any such mail that the officer suspects on reasonable grounds contains currency or monetary instruments of a value equal to or greater than the amount prescribed for the purpose of subsection 12(1).

58. Subsection 18(2) of the Act is replaced by the following:

Return of seized currency or monetary instruments (2) The officer shall, on payment of a penalty in the prescribed amount, return the seized currency or monetary instruments to the person from whom they were seized or to the lawful owner unless the officer has reasonable grounds to suspect that the currency or monetary instruments are proceeds of

et qui n'ont pas été déclarés en conformité avec ce paragraphe, l'agent peut fouiller :

56. L'article 16 de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

16. (1) S'il soupçonne, pour des motifs raisonnables, que des espèces ou des effets d'une valeur égale ou supérieure au montant réglementaire prévu pour l'application du paragraphe 12(1) se trouvent à bord d'un moyen de transport et n'ont pas été déclarés conformément à ce paragraphe, l'agent peut immobiliser le moyen de transport, monter à son bord et le fouiller, examiner toute chose qui s'y trouve et en ouvrir ou faire ouvrir tous colis ou contenants, et faire conduire le moyen de transport à un bureau de douane ou à tout autre lieu indiqué pour ces opérations.

Fouilles des bagages

Fouille d'un

moyen de

transport

(2) S'il soupçonne, pour des motifs raisonnables, que des espèces ou des effets d'une valeur égale ou supérieure au montant réglementaire prévu pour l'application du paragraphe 12(1) se trouvent parmi des bagages et n'ont pas été déclarés conformément à ce paragraphe, l'agent peut fouiller les bagages, examiner toute chose qui s'y trouve et en ouvrir ou faire ouvrir tous colis ou contenants, et faire conduire les bagages à un bureau de douane ou à tout autre lieu indiqué pour ces opérations.

57. Le paragraphe 17(1) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

17. (1) Un agent peut examiner tout envoi destiné à l'importation ou à l'exportation et ouvrir ou faire ouvrir ceux dont il soupçonne, pour des motifs raisonnables, qu'ils contiennent des espèces ou effets d'une valeur égale ou supérieure au montant réglementaire prévu pour l'application du paragraphe 12(1).

58. Le paragraphe 18(2) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

(2) Sur réception du paiement de la pénalité réglementaire, l'agent restitue au saisi ou au propriétaire légitime les espèces ou effets saisis sauf s'il soupçonne, pour des motifs raisonnables, qu'il s'agit de produits de la criminalité au sens de l'article 462.3 du *Code criminel* ou de fonds destinés au financement des activités terroristes.

Mainlevée

Examen du

courrier

crime within the meaning of section 462.3 of the *Criminal Code* or funds for use in the financing of terrorist activities.

59. Subsection 21(1) of the Act is replaced by the following:

Mail to be made available to an officer 21. (1) On request of an officer, any mail that is being sent from a place in Canada to a place in a foreign country and that contains or is suspected to contain currency or monetary instruments that are of a value equal to or greater than the amount prescribed for the purpose of subsection 12(1) shall be submitted by the Canada Post Corporation to an officer.

60. Section 22 of the Act is replaced by the following:

When forfeiture under s. 14(5)

22. (1) An officer who retains currency or monetary instruments forfeited under subsection 14(5) shall send the currency or monetary instruments to the Minister of Public Works and Government Services.

When seizure or payment of a penalty

(2) An officer who seizes currency or monetary instruments or is paid a penalty under subsection 18(2) shall send the currency or monetary instruments or the penalty, as the case may be, to the Minister of Public Works and Government Services.

61. Section 25 of the Act is replaced by the following:

Request for Minister's decision 25. A person from whom currency or monetary instruments were seized under section 18, or the lawful owner of the currency or monetary instruments, may within 90 days after the date of the seizure request a decision of the Minister as to whether subsection 12(1) was contravened, by giving notice in writing to the officer who seized the currency or monetary instruments or to an officer at the customs office closest to the place where the seizure took place.

62. Subsection 27(2) of the Act is replaced by the following:

Deferral of decision

(2) If charges are laid with respect to a money laundering offence or a terrorist activity financing offence in respect of the currency or monetary instruments seized, the Minister may defer making a decision but shall make it in any case no later than 30 days after the

59. Le paragraphe 21(1) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

21. (1) Sur demande d'un agent, les envois destinés à l'exportation sont soumis au contrôle douanier par la Société canadienne des postes s'ils contiennent ou si l'on soupçonne qu'ils contiennent des espèces ou effets d'une valeur égale ou supérieure au montant réglementaire prévu pour l'application du paragraphe 12(1).

Contrôle du

60. L'article 22 de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

22. (1) En cas de confiscation aux termes du paragraphe 14(5) des espèces ou effets retenus, l'agent les remet au ministre des Travaux publics et des Services gouvernementaux.

Confiscation aux termes du paragraphe 14(5)

(2) En cas de saisie d'espèces ou d'effets ou de paiement d'une pénalité réglementaire aux termes du paragraphe 18(2), l'agent les remet au ministre des Travaux publics et des Services gouvernementaux.

Saisie ou paiement d'une pénalité

61. L'article 25 de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

25. La personne entre les mains de qui ont été saisis des espèces ou effets en vertu de l'article 18 ou leur propriétaire légitime peut, dans les quatre-vingt-dix jours suivant la saisie, demander au ministre de décider s'il y a eu contravention au paragraphe 12(1) en donnant un avis écrit à l'agent qui les a saisis ou à un agent du bureau de douane le plus proche du lieu de la saisie.

Demande de révision

62. Le paragraphe 27(2) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

(2) Dans le cas où des poursuites pour infraction de recyclage des produits de la criminalité ou pour infraction de financement des activités terroristes ont été intentées relativement aux espèces ou effets saisis, le ministre peut reporter la décision, mais celle-

Report de la décision conclusion of all court proceedings in respect of those charges.

63. Subsection 32(1) of the Act is replaced by the following:

Interest as owner **32.** (1) If currency or monetary instruments have been seized as forfeit under this Part, any person, other than the person in whose possession the currency or monetary instruments were when seized, who claims an interest in the currency or monetary instruments as owner may, within 90 days after the seizure, apply by notice in writing to the court for an order under section 33.

64. Subsections 36(2) and (3) of the Act are replaced by the following:

Disclosure of information to a police force

(2) An officer who has reasonable grounds to suspect that information referred to in subsection (1) would be relevant to investigating or prosecuting a money laundering offence or a terrorist activity financing offence may disclose the information to the appropriate police force.

Disclosure of information to the Centre

(3) An officer may disclose to the Centre information referred to in subsection (1) if the officer has reasonable grounds to suspect that it would be of assistance to the Centre in the detection, prevention or deterrence of money laundering or of the financing of terrorist activities.

65. Paragraph 40(b) of the Act is replaced by the following:

(b) collects, analyses, assesses and discloses information in order to assist in the detection, prevention and deterrence of money laundering and of the financing of terrorist activities;

66. Paragraphs 54(a) and (b) of the Act are replaced by the following:

(a) shall receive reports made under section 7, 7.1, 9, 12 or 20, incomplete reports sent under subsection 14(5), reports referred to in section 9.1, information provided to the Centre by any agency of another country that has powers and duties similar to those of the Centre, information provided to the Centre by law enforcement agencies or

ci doit être prise dans les trente jours suivant l'issue des poursuites.

63. Le paragraphe 32(1) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

32. (1) En cas de saisie-confiscation effectuée en vertu de la présente partie, toute personne, autre que le saisi, qui revendique sur les espèces ou effets un droit en qualité de propriétaire peut, dans les quatre-vingt-dix jours suivant la saisie, requérir par avis écrit le tribunal de rendre l'ordonnance visée à l'article 33.

Droits de propriété

64. Les paragraphes 36(2) et (3) de la même loi sont remplacés par ce qui suit :

(2) L'agent peut communiquer les renseignements visés au paragraphe (1) aux forces policières compétentes s'il a des motifs raisonnables de soupçonner qu'ils seraient utiles aux fins d'enquête ou de poursuite relativement à une infraction de recyclage des produits de la criminalité ou à une infraction de financement des activités terroristes.

Communication aux forces policières

(3) L'agent peut communiquer au Centre les renseignements visés au paragraphe (1), s'il a des motifs raisonnables de soupçonner qu'ils seraient utiles pour la détection, la prévention ou la dissuasion en matière de recyclage des produits de la criminalité ou de financement des activités terroristes.

65. L'alinéa 40b) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

b) recueille, analyse, évalue et communique des renseignements utiles pour la détection, la prévention et la dissuasion en matière de recyclage des produits de la criminalité ou de financement des activités terroristes;

66. Les alinéas 54a) et b) de la même loi sont remplacés par ce qui suit :

a) recueille les rapports ou déclarations faits conformément aux articles 7, 7.1, 9, 12 ou 20 et les déclarations incomplètes qui lui sont transmises conformément au paragraphe 14(5), les rapports visés à l'article 9.1, les renseignements qui lui sont fournis soit par des organismes étrangers dont les attributions sont similaires aux siennes, soit

Communication au Centre government institutions or agencies, and other information voluntarily provided to the Centre about suspicions of money laundering or of the financing of terrorist activities:

(b) may collect information that the Centre considers relevant to money laundering activities or the financing of terrorist activities and that is publicly available, including commercially available databases, or that is stored in databases maintained by the federal or provincial governments for purposes related to law enforcement and in respect of which an agreement was entered into under subsection 66(1);

67. (1) The portion of subsection 55(1) of the Act before paragraph (a) is replaced by the following:

Disclosure by Centre prohibited

- **55.** (1) Subject to subsection (3), sections 52, 55.1 and 56.1, subsection 58(1) and section 65 and to subsection 12(1) of the *Privacy Act*, the Centre shall not disclose the following:
- (2) Subsection 55(1) of the Act is amended by adding the following after paragraph (a):
 - (a.1) information set out in a report made under section 7.1;
- (3) Subsection 55(1) of the Act is amended by adding the following after paragraph (b):
 - (b.1) information set out in a report referred to in section 9.1:
- (4) Paragraph 55(1)(d) of the Act is replaced by the following:
 - (d) information voluntarily provided to the Centre about suspicions of money laundering or of the financing of terrorist activities;

par des organismes chargés de l'application de la loi ou autres autorités publiques, ainsi que tout renseignement qui lui est transmis volontairement et qui se rapporte à des soupçons de recyclage des produits de la criminalité ou de financement des activités terroristes:

b) peut recueillir tout renseignement qu'il croit se rapporter à des activités de recyclage des produits de la criminalité ou au financement des activités terroristes et qui est accessible au public, notamment par les banques de données mises sur le marché, ou qui est contenu dans des bases de données tenues par les gouvernements fédéral ou provinciaux dans le cadre de l'application des lois et à l'égard desquelles un accord a été conclu en vertu du paragraphe 66(1);

67. (1) Le passage du paragraphe 55(1) de la même loi précédant l'alinéa a) est remplacé par ce qui suit :

55. (1) Sous réserve du paragraphe (3), des articles 52, 55.1 et 56.1, du paragraphe 58(1) et de l'article 65 de la présente loi et du paragraphe 12(1) de la *Loi sur la protection des renseignements personnels*, il est interdit au Centre de communiquer les renseignements :

Interdiction :

- (2) Le paragraphe 55(1) de la même loi est modifié par adjonction, après l'alinéa *a*), de ce qui suit :
 - a.1) contenus dans une déclaration visée à l'article 7.1:
- (3) Le paragraphe 55(1) de la même loi est modifié par adjonction, après l'alinéa b), de ce qui suit :
 - b.1) contenus dans une déclaration visée à l'article 9.1;
- (4) L'alinéa 55(1)d) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :
 - d) se rapportant à des soupçons de recyclage des produits de la criminalité ou de financement des activités terroristes qui lui sont transmis volontairement:

Renseignements

désignés

ch. 41

(5) The portion of subsection 55(3) of the Act before paragraph (a) is replaced by the following:

Disclosure of designated information

- (3) If the Centre, on the basis of its analysis and assessment under paragraph 54(c), has reasonable grounds to suspect that designated information would be relevant to investigating or prosecuting a money laundering offence or a terrorist activity financing offence, the Centre shall disclose the information to
- (6) Subsection 55(3) of the Act is amended by adding the word "and" at the end of paragraph (b) and by repealing paragraph (c).
- (7) Subsections 55(4) to (5.1) of the Act are replaced by the following:

Recording of reasons for decision

- (5.1) The Centre shall record in writing the reasons for all decisions to disclose information made under subsection (3).
- (8) The portion of subsection 55(7) of the Act before paragraph (a) is replaced by the following:

Definition of "designated information"

(7) For the purposes of subsection (3), "designated information" means, in respect of a financial transaction or an importation or exportation of currency or monetary instruments,

2001, c. 12,

- (9) Paragraph 55(7)(e) of the Act is replaced by the following:
 - (e) any other similar identifying information that may be prescribed for the purposes of this section.
- 68. Section 56 of the Act is replaced by the following:

Disclosure of information to the Canadian Security Intelligence Service

55.1 (1) If the Centre, on the basis of its analysis and assessment under paragraph 54(c), has reasonable grounds to suspect that designated information would be relevant to threats to the security of Canada, the Centre shall disclose that information to the Canadian Security Intelligence Service.

(5) Le passage du paragraphe 55(3) de la même loi précédant l'alinéa *a*) est remplacé par ce qui suit :

(3) S'il a des motifs raisonnables de soupçonner, à la lumière de son analyse et de son appréciation aux termes de l'alinéa 54c), qu'ils seraient utiles aux fins d'enquête ou de poursuite relativement à une infraction de recyclage des produits de la criminalité ou à une infraction de financement des activités terroristes, le Centre communique les renseignements désignés :

(6) L'alinéa 55(3)c) de la même loi est abrogé.

(7) Les paragraphes 55(4) à (5.1) de la même loi sont remplacés par ce qui suit :

(5.1) Le Centre consigne les motifs à l'appui de chaque décision de communiquer des renseignements en application du paragraphe (3).

Enregistrement des motifs

(8) Le passage du paragraphe 55(7) de la même loi précédant l'alinéa *a*) est remplacé par ce qui suit :

(7) Pour l'application du paragraphe (3), « renseignements désignés » s'entend, relativement à des opérations financières ou à l'importation ou l'exportation d'espèces ou d'effets, des renseignements suivants :

Définition de « renseignements désignés »

(9) L'alinéa 55(7)e) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

2001, ch. 12, art. 2

e) tout autre renseignement identificateur analogue désigné par règlement pour l'application du présent article.

68. L'article 56 de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

55.1 (1) S'il a des motifs raisonnables de soupçonner, à la lumière de son analyse et de son appréciation aux termes de l'alinéa 54c), que les renseignements désignés se rapporteraient à des menaces envers la sécurité du Canada, le Centre communique ces renseignements au Service canadien du renseignement de sécurité.

Communication des renseignements

106
Recording of reasons for decision

(2) The Centre shall record in writing the reasons for all decisions to disclose information made under subsection (1).

Definition of "designated information"

- (3) For the purposes of subsection (1), "designated information" means, in respect of a financial transaction or an importation or exportation of currency or monetary instruments,
 - (a) the name of the client or of the importer or exporter, or any person or entity acting on their behalf;
 - (b) the name and address of the place of business where the transaction occurred or the address of the customs office where the importation or exportation occurred, and the date the transaction, importation or exportation occurred;
 - (c) the amount and type of currency or monetary instruments involved or, in the case of a transaction, if no currency or monetary instruments are involved, the value of the transaction or the value of the funds that are the subject of the transaction;
 - (d) in the case of a transaction, the transaction number and the account number, if any; and
 - (e) any other similar identifying information that may be prescribed for the purposes of this section.

Agreements and arrangements **56.** (1) The Minister may enter into an agreement or arrangement, in writing, with the government of a foreign state, or an international organization established by the governments of foreign states regarding the exchange, between the Centre and any institution or agency of that state or organization that has powers and duties similar to those of the Centre, of information that the Centre, institution or agency has reasonable grounds to suspect would be relevant to investigating or prosecuting a money laundering offence or a terrorist activity financing offence, or an offence that is substantially similar to either offence.

(2) Le Centre consigne les motifs à l'appui de chaque décision de communiquer des renseignements en application du paragraphe

(3) Pour l'application du paragraphe (1), « renseignements désignés » s'entend, relativement à des opérations financières ou à l'importation ou l'exportation d'espèces ou d'effets, des renseignements suivants :

a) le nom du client ou de l'importateur ou exportateur des espèces ou effets, ou de toute personne ou entité agissant pour son compte;

- b) le nom et l'adresse du bureau où l'opération est effectuée et la date où elle a été effectuée, ou l'adresse du bureau de douane où les espèces ou effets sont importés ou exportés, ainsi que la date de leur importation ou exportation;
- c) la valeur et la nature des espèces ou effets ou, dans le cas d'une opération dans laquelle il n'y a pas d'espèce ou d'effet en cause, la valeur de l'opération ou celle des fonds sur lesquels porte l'opération;
- d) le numéro de l'opération effectuée et le numéro de compte, s'il y a lieu;
- *e*) tout autre renseignement identificateur analogue désigné par règlement pour l'application du présent article.

56. (1) Le ministre peut conclure par écrit un accord avec le gouvernement d'un État étranger ou une organisation internationale regroupant les gouvernements de plusieurs États étrangers concernant l'échange, entre le Centre et un organisme — relevant de ce pays étranger ou de cette organisation internationale — avant des attributions similaires à celles du Centre, de renseignements dont le Centre ou l'organisme a des motifs raisonnables de soupçonner qu'ils seraient utiles aux fins d'enquête ou de poursuite relativement à une infraction de recyclage des produits de la criminalité ou à une infraction de financement des activités terroristes, ou à une infraction essentiellement similaire.

Enregistrement des motifs

49-50 Eliz. II

Définition de « renseignements désignés »

Accord de collaboration

Agreements and arrangements — Centre (2) The Centre may, with the approval of the Minister, enter into an agreement or arrangement, in writing, with an institution or agency of a foreign state that has powers and duties similar to those of the Centre, regarding the exchange, between the Centre and the institution or agency, of information that the Centre, institution or agency has reasonable grounds to suspect would be relevant to investigating or prosecuting a money laundering offence or a terrorist activity financing offence, or an offence that is substantially similar to either offence.

Purposes

- (3) Agreements or arrangements entered into under subsection (1) or (2) must
 - (a) restrict the use of information to purposes relevant to investigating or prosecuting a money laundering offence or a terrorist activity financing offence, or an offence that is substantially similar to either offence; and
 - (b) stipulate that the information be treated in a confidential manner and not be further disclosed without the express consent of the Centre.

Disclosure to foreign agencies

- **56.1** (1) The Centre may disclose designated information to an institution or agency of a foreign state or of an international organization established by the governments of foreign states that has powers and duties similar to those of the Centre, if
 - (a) the Centre has reasonable grounds to suspect that the information would be relevant to the investigation or prosecution of a money laundering offence or a terrorist activity financing offence, or an offence that is substantially similar to either offence; and
 - (b) the Minister has, in accordance with subsection 56(1), entered into an agreement or arrangement with that foreign state or international organization regarding the exchange of such information.

(2) Le Centre peut, avec l'approbation du ministre, conclure par écrit, avec un organisme d'un État étranger ayant des attributions similaires à celles du Centre, un accord concernant l'échange de renseignements dont le Centre ou l'organisme a des motifs raisonnables de soupçonner qu'ils seraient utiles aux fins d'enquête ou de poursuite relativement à une infraction de recyclage des produits de la criminalité ou à une infraction de financement des activités terroristes, ou à une infraction essentiellement similaire.

(3) Les accords conclus :

lement similaire;

a) précisent les fins auxquelles les renseignements peuvent être utilisés, lesquelles doivent être utiles aux fins d'enquête ou de poursuite relativement à une infraction de recyclage des produits de la criminalité ou à une infraction de financement des activités terroristes, ou à une infraction essentiel-

b) prévoient que les renseignements seront traités de manière confidentielle et ne seront pas autrement communiqués sans le consentement exprès du Centre.

56.1 (1) Le Centre peut communiquer des renseignements désignés à un organisme d'un État étranger ou d'une organisation internationale regroupant les gouvernements de plusieurs États étrangers et ayant des attributions similaires aux siennes dans le cas suivant :

a) d'une part, il a des motifs raisonnables de soupçonner que les renseignements désignés seraient utiles aux fins d'enquête ou de poursuite relativement à une infraction de recyclage des produits de la criminalité ou à une infraction de financement des activités terroristes, ou à une infraction essentiellement similaire;

b) d'autre part, le ministre a, conformément au paragraphe 56(1), conclu un accord portant sur l'échange de tels renseignements avec l'État ou l'organisation internationale. Accord de collaboration — Centre

Fins d'utilisation

Communication à un organisme étranger Disclosure to foreign agencies

- (2) The Centre may disclose designated information to an institution or agency of a foreign state that has powers and duties similar to those of the Centre, if
 - (a) the Centre has reasonable grounds to suspect that the information would be relevant to the investigation or prosecution of a money laundering offence or a terrorist activity financing offence, or an offence that is substantially similar to either offence; and
 - (b) the Centre has, in accordance with subsection 56(2), entered into an agreement or arrangement with that institution or agency regarding the exchange of such information.

Request for information (2.1) For greater certainty, designated information may be disclosed to an institution or agency under subsection (1) or (2) in response to a request made by the institution or agency.

Other disclosure (3) In order to perform its functions under paragraph 54(c), the Centre may direct queries to an institution or agency in respect of which an agreement referred to in subsection (1) or (2) has been entered into, and in doing so it may disclose designated information.

Recording of reasons for decision

(4) The Centre shall record in writing the reasons for all decisions to disclose information made under paragraph (1)(a) or (2)(a).

Definition of "designated information"

- (5) For the purposes of this section, "designated information" means, in respect of a financial transaction or an importation or exportation of currency or monetary instruments,
 - (a) the name of the client or of the importer or exporter, or any person or entity acting on their behalf;
 - (b) the name and address of the place of business where the transaction occurred or the address of the customs office where the importation or exportation occurred, and the date the transaction, importation or exportation occurred;
 - (c) the amount and type of currency or monetary instruments involved or, in the

(2) Le Centre peut communiquer des renseignements désignés à un organisme d'un État étranger ayant des attributions similaires aux siennes dans le cas suivant :

a) d'une part, il a des motifs raisonnables de soupçonner que les renseignements désignés seraient utiles aux fins d'enquête ou de poursuite relativement à une infraction de recyclage des produits de la criminalité ou à une infraction de financement des activités terroristes, ou à une infraction essentiellement similaire;

- b) d'autre part, il a, conformément au paragraphe 56(2), conclu avec l'organisme un accord portant sur l'échange de tels renseignements.
- (2.1) Il est entendu que le Centre peut communiquer des renseignements désignés en vertu des paragraphes (1) et (2) pour répondre à la demande d'un organisme visé à ces paragraphes.
- (3) Dans le but d'accomplir ses fonctions en vertu de l'alinéa 54c), le Centre peut présenter des demandes de renseignements à un organisme partie à un accord visé aux paragraphes (1) ou (2) et, ce faisant, peut communiquer des renseignements désignés.
- (4) Le Centre consigne les motifs à l'appui de chaque décision de communiquer des renseignements en application des alinéas (1)a) et (2)a).
- (5) Pour l'application du présent article, « renseignements désignés » s'entend, relativement à des opérations financières ou à l'importation ou l'exportation d'espèces ou d'effets, des renseignements suivants :
 - *a*) le nom du client ou de l'importateur ou exportateur des espèces ou effets, ou de toute personne ou entité agissant pour son compte;
 - b) le nom et l'adresse du bureau où l'opération est effectuée et la date où elle a été effectuée, ou l'adresse du bureau de douane où les espèces ou effets sont importés ou exportés, ainsi que la date de leur importation ou exportation;

Communication à un organisme étranger

Précision

Autre communication

Enregistrement des motifs

Définition de « renseignements désignés »

- case of a transaction, if no currency or monetary instruments are involved, the value of the transaction or the value of the funds that are the subject of the transaction;
- (d) in the case of a transaction, the transaction number and the account number, if any; and
- (e) any other similar identifying information that may be prescribed for the purposes of this section.

69. Paragraphs 58(1)(a) to (c) of the Act are replaced by the following:

- (a) inform persons and entities that have provided a report under section 7, 7.1 or 9, or a report referred to in section 9.1, about measures that have been taken with respect to reports under those sections;
- (b) conduct research into trends and developments in the area of money laundering and the financing of terrorist activities and improved ways of detecting, preventing and deterring money laundering and the financing of terrorist activities; and
- (c) undertake measures to inform the public, persons and entities referred to in section 5, authorities engaged in the investigation and prosecution of money laundering offences and terrorist activity financing offences, and others, with respect to
 - (i) their obligations under this Act,
 - (ii) the nature and extent of money laundering in Canada,
 - (ii.1) the nature and extent of the financing of terrorist activities in Canada, and
 - (iii) measures that have been or might be taken to detect, prevent and deter money laundering and the financing of terrorist activities in Canada, and the effectiveness of those measures.

70. Subsection 59(1) of the Act is replaced by the following:

- c) la valeur et la nature des espèces ou effets ou, dans le cas d'une opération dans laquelle il n'y a pas d'espèce ou d'effet en cause, la valeur de l'opération ou celle des fonds sur lesquels porte l'opération;
- d) le numéro de l'opération effectuée et le numéro de compte, s'il y a lieu;
- *e*) tout autre renseignement identificateur analogue désigné par règlement pour l'application du présent article.

69. Les alinéas 58(1)a) à c) de la même loi sont remplacés par ce qui suit :

- *a*) informer des mesures prises les personnes ou entités qui ont présenté une déclaration en conformité avec les articles 7, 7.1 ou 9 ou une déclaration visée à l'article 9.1;
- b) faire des recherches sur les tendances et les développements en matière de recyclage des produits de la criminalité et de financement des activités terroristes et sur les meilleurs moyens de détection, de prévention et de dissuasion à l'égard de ces activités criminelles;
- c) prendre des mesures visant à sensibiliser le public, les personnes et les entités visées à l'article 5, les autorités chargées de procéder aux enquêtes et aux poursuites relatives aux infractions de recyclage des produits de la criminalité et aux infractions de financement des activités terroristes et tout intéressé, au sujet :
 - (i) des obligations prévues par la présente loi,
 - (ii) de la nature et de la portée du recyclage des produits de la criminalité au Canada,
 - (ii.1) de la nature et de la portée du financement des activités terroristes au Canada,
 - (iii) des mesures de détection, de prévention et de dissuasion qui ont été ou peuvent être prises, ainsi que de leur efficacité.

70. Le paragraphe 59(1) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

Immunity from compulsory processes

110

59. (1) Subject to section 36 of the Access to Information Act and section 34 of the Privacy Act, the Centre, and any person who has obtained or who has or had access to any information or documents in the course of exercising powers or performing duties and functions under this Act, other than Part 2, is required to comply with a subpoena, a summons, an order for production of documents, or any other compulsory process only if it is issued in the course of court proceedings in respect of a money laundering offence, a terrorist activity financing offence or an offence under this Act in respect of which an information has been laid or an indictment preferred or, in the case of an order for production of documents, if it is issued under section 60.1 for the purposes of an investigation in respect of a threat to the security of Canada.

2001, c. 12, s. 3

71. (1) Subsections 60(1) and (2) of the Act are replaced by the following:

information may be issued in respect of the

Centre only under subsection (4) or section

Limitation on orders for disclosure of information **60.** (1) Despite the provisions of any other Act, except sections 49 and 50 of the *Access to Information Act* and sections 48 and 49 of the *Privacy Act*, an order for disclosure of

60.1.

Purpose of application

(2) The Attorney General may, for the purposes of an investigation in respect of a money laundering offence or a terrorist activity financing offence, make an application under subsection (3) for an order for disclosure of information.

(2) Paragraph 60(3)(d) of the Act is replaced by the following:

(d) the facts relied on to justify the belief, on reasonable grounds, that the person referred to in paragraph (b) has committed or benefited from the commission of a money laundering offence or a terrorist activity financing offence and that the information or documents referred to in paragraph (c) are likely to be of substantial value, whether alone or together with other material, to an investigation in respect of that offence;

59. (1) Sous réserve de l'article 36 de la Loi sur l'accès à l'information et l'article 34 de la Loi sur la protection des renseignements personnels, le Centre, ainsi que toute personne qui a obtenu un renseignement ou document, ou y a ou a eu accès dans le cadre de l'exercice des attributions qui lui sont conférées sous le régime de la présente loi, à l'exception de la partie 2, ne peut être contraint, que ce soit par citation, assignation, sommation, ordonnance ou autre acte obligatoire, à comparaître ou à produire un tel document, sauf dans le cadre de poursuites intentées pour infraction de recyclage des produits de la criminalité, infraction de financement des activités terroristes ou infraction à la présente loi à l'égard desquelles une dénonciation ou une mise en accusation a été déposée ou dans le cadre d'une ordonnance de production de document rendue en vertu de l'article 60.1 aux fins d'enquête relativement à une menace envers le Canada.

71. (1) Les paragraphes 60(1) et (2) de la même loi sont remplacés par ce qui suit :

60. (1) Malgré les dispositions de toute autre loi, à l'exception des articles 49 et 50 de la *Loi sur l'accès à l'information* et des articles 48 et 49 de la *Loi sur la protection des renseignements personnels*, le Centre ne peut faire l'objet d'aucune ordonnance de communication autre que celles prévues au paragraphe (4) et à l'article 60.1.

(2) Le procureur général peut demander une ordonnance de communication dans le cadre d'une enquête sur une infraction de recyclage des produits de la criminalité ou une infraction de financement des activités terroristes.

(2) L'alinéa 60(3)d) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

d) les faits à l'origine des motifs raisonnables de croire que la personne mentionnée à l'alinéa b) a commis une infraction de recyclage des produits de la criminalité ou une infraction de financement des activités terroristes ou en a bénéficié, et que les renseignements ou documents demandés ont vraisemblablement une valeur importante, en soi ou avec d'autres éléments, pour l'enquête mentionnée dans la demande; Non-contraignabilité

2001, ch. 12, art. 3

Exception : ordonnance de communication

l'ordonnance

ch. 41

(3) Paragraph 60(8)(a) of the Act is replaced by the following:

(a) the Director is prohibited from disclosing the information or document by any bilateral or international treaty, convention or other agreement to which the Government of Canada is a signatory respecting the sharing of information related to a money laundering offence or a terrorist activity financing offence, or an offence that is substantially similar to either offence;

72. The Act is amended by adding the following after section 60:

Application for production order

Matters to be

specified in

application for production

order

- **60.1** (1) The Director of the Canadian Security Intelligence Service, or any employee of the Canadian Security Intelligence Service, may, for the purposes of an investigation in respect of a threat to the security of Canada, after having obtained the approval of the Solicitor General of Canada, make an application under subsection (2) to a judge for an order for disclosure of information.
- (2) An application shall be made *ex parte* in writing and be accompanied by an affidavit of the applicant deposing to the following matters:
 - (a) the person or entity in relation to whom the information or documents referred to in paragraph (b) are required;
 - (b) the type of information or documents whether in written form, in the form of a report or record or in any other form obtained by or on behalf of the Director in respect of which disclosure is sought;
 - (c) the facts relied on to justify the belief, on reasonable grounds, that a production order under this section is required to enable the Canadian Security Intelligence Service to investigate a threat to the security of Canada;
 - (d) a summary of any information already received from the Centre in respect of the threat to the security of Canada; and
 - (e) information respecting all previous applications brought under this section in respect of any person or entity being

(3) L'alinéa 60(8)a) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

a) soit qu'un accord bilatéral ou international en matière de partage de renseignements relatifs aux infractions de recyclage des produits de la criminalité ou aux infractions de financement des activités terroristes, ou à des infractions essentiellement similaires, que le gouvernement du Canada a signé, interdit au directeur de les communiquer;

72. La même loi est modifiée par adjonction, après l'article 60, de ce qui suit :

60.1 (1) Le directeur du Service canadien du renseignement de sécurité ou un employé de ce Service peut, après avoir obtenu l'approbation du solliciteur général du Canada et aux fins d'enquête relativement à une menace envers la sécurité du Canada, demander à un juge, en conformité avec le paragraphe (2), de rendre une ordonnance de communication de renseignements.

Demande d'ordonnance de production

(2) La demande d'ordonnance est présentée *ex parte* par écrit et accompagnée de l'affidavit du demandeur portant sur les points suivants :

Contenu de la demande

- a) désignation de la personne ou de l'entité visée par les renseignements ou les documents demandés;
- b) désignation du genre de renseignements ou de documents — notamment leur forme ou leur support — qu'a obtenus le directeur du Centre ou qui ont été obtenus en son nom et dont la communication est demandée;
- c) les faits sur lesquels le demandeur s'appuie pour avoir des motifs raisonnables de croire que l'ordonnance est nécessaire pour permettre au Service canadien du renseignement de sécurité d'enquêter sur une menace envers la sécurité du Canada;
- d) un sommaire des renseignements déjà reçus du Centre à l'égard de la menace envers la sécurité du Canada;
- e) les renseignements relatifs aux demandes présentées antérieurement en vertu du présent article à l'égard de toute personne ou toute entité qui fait l'objet d'une enquête sur la menace envers la sécurité du Canada.

investigated in relation to the threat to the security of Canada.

Anti-terrorism

Order for disclosure of information

- (3) Subject to the conditions that the judge considers advisable in the public interest, the judge to whom an application is made may order the Director or any person specially designated in writing by the Director for the purpose of this section to allow an employee of the Canadian Security Intelligence Service named in the order to have access to and examine all information and documents to which the application relates or, if the judge considers it necessary in the circumstances, to produce the information and documents to the employee and allow the employee to remove them, if the judge is satisfied
 - (a) of the matters referred to in subsection (2); and
 - (b) that there are reasonable grounds for believing that it is in the public interest to allow access to the information or documents, having regard to the benefit likely to accrue to the investigation if the access is obtained.

The order must be complied with within the period following the service of the order that the judge may specify.

Maximum duration of production order

Service of order

Extension of period for compliance with order

Objection to disclosure of information

- (4) A production order shall not be issued under subsection (3) for a period exceeding sixty days.
- (5) A copy of the order shall be served on the person or entity to whom it is addressed in the manner that the judge directs or as may be prescribed by rules of court.
- (6) A judge who makes an order under subsection (3) may, on application of the Director, extend the period within which it is to be complied with.
- (7) The Director or any person specially designated in writing by the Director for the purposes of this section may object to the disclosure of any information or document in respect of which an order under subsection (3) has been made by certifying orally or in writing that it should not be disclosed on the ground that
 - (a) the Director is prohibited from disclosing the information or document by any

- (3) Sous réserve des conditions qu'il estime indiquées dans l'intérêt public, le juge saisi de la demande peut ordonner au directeur ou à la personne que celui-ci a désignée expressément par écrit pour l'application du présent article de permettre à un employé du Service canadien du renseignement de sécurité nommé dans l'ordonnance d'avoir accès aux renseignements ou documents demandés et de les examiner ou, si le juge l'estime nécessaire dans les circonstances, de permettre à l'employé de les emporter, s'il est convaincu de l'existence :
 - *a*) d'une part, des faits mentionnés au paragraphe (2);
 - b) d'autre part, de motifs raisonnables de croire qu'il est dans l'intérêt public d'en permettre l'accès, compte tenu des avantages pouvant vraisemblablement en résulter pour l'enquête en question.

L'ordonnance doit être exécutée dans le délai, suivant la signification, que précise le juge.

- (4) Il ne peut être rendu d'ordonnance en vertu du paragraphe (3) que pour une période maximale de soixante jours.
- (5) Une copie de l'ordonnance est signifiée à la personne ou à l'entité qu'elle vise; la signification se fait selon les règles du tribunal ou de la façon que le juge ordonne.
- (6) Le juge qui rend une ordonnance en vertu du paragraphe (3) peut, à la demande du directeur, en prolonger la période d'exécution.
- (7) Le directeur ou la personne qu'il a désignée expressément par écrit pour l'application du présent article peut s'opposer à la communication des renseignements ou documents visés par une ordonnance rendue sous le régime du paragraphe (3) en attestant, oralement ou par écrit :
 - a) soit qu'un accord bilatéral ou international en matière de partage de renseignements relatifs aux infractions de recyclage

Ordonnance de communication

Durée maximale

Signification

Prolongation

Opposition à la communication bilateral or international treaty, convention or other agreement to which the Government of Canada is a signatory respecting the sharing of information related to a money laundering offence or a terrorist activity financing offence, or an offence that is substantially similar to either offence;

- (b) a privilege is attached by law to the information or document:
- (c) the information or document has been placed in a sealed package pursuant to law or an order of a court of competent jurisdiction; or
- (d) disclosure of the information or document would not, for any other reason, be in the public interest.

Determination of objection

(8) An objection made under subsection (7) may be determined, on application, in accordance with subsection (9), by the Chief Justice of the Federal Court, or by any other judge of that Court that the Chief Justice may designate to hear those applications.

Judge may examine information (9) A judge who is to determine an objection may, if the judge considers it necessary to determine the objection, examine the information or document in relation to which the objection is made. The judge shall grant the objection and order that disclosure be refused if the judge is satisfied of any of the grounds mentioned in subsection (7).

Limitation period

(10) An application under subsection (8) shall be made within 10 days after the objection is made or within such greater or lesser period as the Chief Justice of the Federal Court, or any other judge of that Court that the Chief Justice may designate to hear those applications, considers appropriate in the circumstances.

Appeal to Federal Court of Appeal (11) An appeal lies from a determination under subsection (8) to the Federal Court of Appeal.

Limitation period for appeal

(12) An appeal under subsection (11) shall be brought within 10 days after the date of the determination appealed from or within such further time as the Federal Court of Appeal considers appropriate in the circumstances.

des produits de la criminalité ou aux infractions de financement des activités terroristes, ou à des infractions essentiellement similaires, que le gouvernement du Canada a signé, interdit au directeur de les communiquer;

- b) soit que les renseignements ou documents sont protégés par la loi;
- c) soit que ces renseignements ou documents ont été placés sous scellés en conformité avec la loi ou sur l'ordre d'un tribunal compétent:
- d) soit que la communication des renseignements ou documents serait, pour toute autre raison, contraire à l'intérêt public.

(8) Il est statué, sur demande et conformément au paragraphe (9), sur la validité d'une opposition fondée sur le paragraphe (7) par le juge en chef de la Cour fédérale ou tout autre juge de cette cour que celui-ci charge de l'audition de ce genre de demande.

Juge en chef de la Cour fédérale

(9) Le juge saisi d'une opposition peut examiner les documents ou renseignements dont la communication est demandée, s'il l'estime nécessaire pour rendre sa décision, et doit déclarer l'opposition fondée et interdire la communication s'il constate l'existence d'un des cas prévus au paragraphe (7).

Décision

(10) La demande visée au paragraphe (8) doit être présentée dans les dix jours suivant l'opposition, mais le juge en chef de la Cour fédérale ou le juge de cette cour que celui-ci charge de l'audition de ce genre de demande peut modifier ce délai s'il l'estime indiqué dans les circonstances.

Délai

(11) La décision visée au paragraphe (8) est susceptible d'appel à la Cour d'appel fédérale.

Appel à la Cour d'appel fédérale

(12) L'appel doit être interjeté dans les dix jours suivant la date de la décision, mais la Cour d'appel fédérale peut proroger ce délai si elle l'estime indiqué dans les circonstances. Délai d'appel

Special rules for hearings (13) An application under subsection (8) or an appeal brought in respect of that application shall be heard in private and, on the request of the person objecting to the disclosure of the information or documents, be heard and determined in the National Capital Region described in the schedule to the *National Capital Act*.

(13) Les demandes visées au paragraphe (8) font, en premier ressort ou en appel, l'objet d'une audition à huis clos; celle-ci a lieu dans la région de la capitale nationale dont la description figure à l'annexe de la *Loi sur la capitale nationale* si l'auteur de l'opposition le demande.

l'audition, en première instance ou en appel et

sur demande, le droit de présenter des argu-

paragraphe (3) ou qu'elle est autorisée à les

examiner, celle-ci ou un employé du Centre

peut en faire ou en faire faire des copies; toute

copie faite en vertu du présent paragraphe fait

preuve de la nature et du contenu de l'original

et a la même valeur probante que celui-ci

aurait eue s'il avait été déposé en preuve de la

ments ex parte.

facon normale.

sécurité.

Règles spéciales

Ex parte representations

(14) During the hearing of an application under subsection (8) or an appeal brought in respect of that application, the person who made the objection in respect of which the application was made or the appeal was brought shall, on the request of that person, be given the opportunity to make representations *ex parte*.

(14) L'auteur de l'opposition qui fait l'objet d'une demande ou d'un appel a, au cours de desparte ex parte

Copies

(15) Where any information or document is examined or provided under subsection (3), the person by whom it is examined or to whom it is provided or any employee of the Centre may make, or cause to be made, one or more copies of it and any copy purporting to be certified by the Director or an authorized person to be a copy made under this subsection is evidence of the nature and content of the original information or document and has the same probative force as the original information or document would have had if it had been proved in the ordinary way.

(15) Si des renseignements ou documents sont remis à une personne en application du

Definition of "judge"

(16) In this section, "judge" means a judge of the Federal Court designated by the Chief Justice of the Federal Court for the purposes of the *Canadian Security Intelligence Service Act*.

(16) Au présent article, « juge » s'entend d'un juge de la Cour fédérale, nommé par son juge en chef, pour l'application de la *Loi sur le Service canadien du renseignement de*

Définition

Audition des

demandes

Hearing of applications **60.2** An application under subsection 60.1(2) to a judge for a production order, or an objection under subsection 60.1(7), shall be heard in private in accordance with regulations made under section 28 of the *Canadian Security Intelligence Service Act*.

60.2 La demande d'ordonnance présentée à un juge en vertu du paragraphe 60.1(2), ou une opposition en vertu du paragraphe 60.1(7), est entendue à huis clos en conformité avec les règlements pris en vertu de l'article 28 de la Loi sur le Service canadien du renseignement de sécurité.

73. (1) Paragraphs 73(1)(e.1) to (g) of the Act are replaced by the following:

- (e.1) specifying the information to be contained in a report under section 7 or 7.1 or subsection 9(1);
- (f) specifying measures that persons or entities are to take to identify any person or

73. (1) Les alinéas 73(1)e.1) à g) de la même loi sont remplacés par ce qui suit :

- *e*.1) préciser les renseignements qui doivent figurer dans la déclaration faite au titre des articles 7 ou 7.1 ou du paragraphe 9(1);
- f) préciser les mesures à prendre par les personnes ou entités afin de vérifier l'iden-

ch. 41

- entity in respect of which a record is required to be kept or a report made;
- (g) defining "casinos", "courier" and "monetary instruments";

(2) Subsections 73(2) and (3) of the Act are repealed.

74. Section 75 of the Act is replaced by the following:

Reporting — sections 7 and 7.1

- **75.** (1) Every person or entity that knowingly contravenes section 7 or 7.1 is guilty of an offence and liable
 - (a) on summary conviction,
 - (i) for a first offence, to a fine of not more than \$500,000 or to imprisonment for a term of not more than six months, or to both, and
 - (ii) for a subsequent offence, to a fine of not more than \$1,000,000 or to imprisonment for a term of not more than one year, or to both; or
 - (b) on conviction on indictment, to a fine of not more than \$2,000,000 or to imprisonment for a term of not more than five years, or to both.

Defence for employees (2) No employee of a person or an entity shall be convicted of an offence under subsection (1) in respect of a transaction or proposed transaction that they reported to their superior or in respect of property whose existence they reported to their superior.

75. Section 80 of the Act is replaced by the following:

Exemption

80. A peace officer or a person acting under the direction of a peace officer is not guilty of an offence under any of sections 74 to 77 if the peace officer or person does any of the things mentioned in those sections for the purpose of investigating a money laundering offence or a terrorist activity financing offence.

- tité des personnes ou entités pour lesquelles un document doit être tenu ou une déclaration faite;
- g) définir les termes « casino », « effets » et « messager »;
- (2) Les paragraphes 73(2) et (3) de la même loi sont abrogés.

74. L'article 75 de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

75. (1) Toute personne ou entité qui contrevient, sciemment, aux articles 7 ou 7.1 est coupable :

Déclarations : articles 7 et 7 1

- *a*) soit d'une infraction punissable sur déclaration de culpabilité par procédure sommaire et passible :
 - (i) s'il s'agit d'une première infraction, d'une amende maximale de 500 000 \$ et d'un emprisonnement maximal de six mois, ou de l'une de ces peines,
 - (ii) en cas de récidive, d'une amende maximale de 1 000 000 \$ et d'un emprisonnement maximal d'un an, ou de l'une de ces peines;
- b) soit d'un acte criminel passible d'une amende maximale de 2 000 000 \$ et d'un emprisonnement maximal de cinq ans, ou de l'une de ces peines.
- (2) Les employés d'une personne ou d'une entité ne peuvent être déclarés coupables d'une infraction visée au paragraphe (1) relative à une opération réelle ou projetée ou à des biens s'ils ont porté à la connaissance de leur supérieur l'opération en cause ou l'existence des biens.

75. L'article 80 de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

80. N'est pas coupable des infractions prévues aux articles 74 à 77 l'agent de la paix ni la personne agissant sous sa direction qui accomplit l'un des actes mentionnés à ces articles dans le cadre d'une enquête portant sur une infraction de recyclage des produits de la criminalité ou une infraction de financement des activités terroristes.

Exemption

Moyen de

défense pour

les employés

Consequential Amendments

Modifications corrélatives

R.S., c. A-1

Access to Information Act

76. Schedule II to the Access to Information Act is amended by replacing "Proceeds of Crime (Money Laundering) Act" with "Proceeds of Crime (Money Laundering) and Terrorist Financing Act".

R.S., c. C-10

Canada Post Corporation Act

R.S., c. 1 (2nd Supp.). s. 170(2)

77. Subsection 40(3) of the Canada Post Corporation Act, as enacted by section 86 of the Proceeds of Crime (Money Laundering) and Terrorist Financing Act, chapter 17 of the Statutes of Canada, 2000, is replaced by the following:

Liability to seizure

(3) Notwithstanding any other Act or law, but subject to this Act and the regulations and to the Canadian Security Intelligence Service Act, the Customs Act and the Proceeds of Crime (Money Laundering) and Terrorist Financing Act, nothing in the course of post is liable to demand, seizure, detention or retention.

R.S., c. 1 (2nd Supp), s. 171

78. Subsections 42(2) and (2.1) of the Act, as enacted by section 87 of the Proceeds of Crime (Money Laundering) and Terrorist Financing Act, chapter 17 of the Statutes of Canada, 2000, are replaced by the following:

Mail in the course of post

(2) All mail that is submitted to a customs officer under this section remains, for the purposes of this Act, in the course of post unless it is seized under the Customs Act or seized or retained under the Proceeds of Crime (Money Laundering) and Terrorist Financing Act.

Notice of seizure or detention

(2.1) If mail is seized or detained under the Customs Act or seized or retained under the Proceeds of Crime (Money Laundering) and Terrorist Financing Act, notice of the seizure, detention or retention shall be given in writing to the Corporation within sixty days after the seizure, detention or retention unless the mail Loi sur l'accès à l'information

L.R., ch. A-1

76. Dans l'annexe II de la Loi sur l'accès à l'information, « Loi sur le recyclage des produits de la criminalité » est remplacé par «Loi sur le recyclage des produits de la criminalité et le financement des activités terroristes ».

Loi sur la Société canadienne des postes

L.R., ch. C-10 L.R., ch. 1 (2e suppl.).

par. 170(2)

77. Le paragraphe 40(3) de la *Loi sur la* Société canadienne des postes, édicté par l'article 86 de la Loi sur le recyclage des produits de la criminalité et le financement des activités terroristes, chapitre 17 des Lois du Canada (2000), est remplacé par ce qui

Revendications

(3) Malgré toute autre loi ou règle de droit, mais sous réserve des autres dispositions de la présente loi et de ses règlements, de la Loi sur le Service canadien du renseignement de sécurité, de la Loi sur les douanes et de la Loi sur le recyclage des produits de la criminalité et le financement des activités terroristes, rien de ce qui est en cours de transmission postale n'est susceptible de revendication, saisie ou rétention.

> L.R., ch. 1 (2e suppl.), art. 171

- 78. Les paragraphes 42(2) et (2.1) de la même loi, édictés par l'article 87 de la Loi sur le recyclage des produits de la criminalité et le financement des activités terroristes, chapitre 17 des Lois du Canada (2000), sont remplacés par ce qui suit :
- (2) Les envois soumis au contrôle douanier prévu par le présent article demeurent, pour l'application de la présente loi, en cours de transmission postale, sauf s'ils sont saisis en vertu de la Loi sur les douanes ou retenus ou saisis en vertu de la Loi sur le recyclage des produits de la criminalité et le financement des activités terroristes.
- (2.1) En cas de saisie ou de rétention d'envois en vertu de la Loi sur les douanes ou de la Loi sur le recyclage des produits de la criminalité et le financement des activités terroristes, il doit en être donné avis par écrit à la Société dans les soixante jours, sauf si, avant l'expiration de ce délai, ils ont été remis à leur destinataire ou retournés à la Société.

Envois en transmission postale

Avis de saisie

ch. 41

has, before the expiry of that time, been delivered to the addressee of the mail or returned to the Corporation.

R.S., c. 1 (2nd Supp.), s. 172(1) 79. Section 48 of the Act, as enacted by section 88 of the *Proceeds of Crime (Money Laundering) and Terrorist Financing Act*, chapter 17 of the Statutes of Canada, 2000, is replaced by the following:

Opening mail

48. Every person commits an offence who, except where expressly authorized by or under this Act, the *Customs Act* or the *Proceeds of Crime (Money Laundering) and Terrorist Financing Act*, knowingly opens, keeps, secretes, delays or detains, or permits to be opened, kept, secreted, delayed or detained, any mail bag or mail or any receptacle or device authorized by the Corporation for the posting of mail.

R.S., c. C-46

Criminal Code

2000, c. 17, s. 89

80. Subsection 488.1(11) of the *Criminal Code* is replaced by the following:

Exception

(11) This section does not apply in circumstances where a claim of solicitor-client privilege may be made under the *Income Tax Act* or under the *Proceeds of Crime (Money Laundering) and Terrorist Financing Act.*

2000, c. 5

Personal Information Protection and Electronic Documents Act

- 81. Subsection 7(3) of the *Personal Information Protection and Electronic Documents Act* is amended by adding the following after paragraph (c.1):
 - (c.2) made to the government institution mentioned in section 7 of the *Proceeds of Crime (Money Laundering) and Terrorist Financing Act* as required by that section;
- 82. Subsection 9(2.3) of the Act is amended by striking out the word "or" at the end of paragraph (a) and by adding the following after paragraph (a):

79. L'article 48 de la même loi, édicté par l'article 88 de la Loi sur le recyclage des produits de la criminalité et le financement des activités terroristes, chapitre 17 des Lois du Canada (2000), est remplacé par ce qui suit :

Ouverture des envois

L.R., ch. 1

(2e suppl.),

par. 172(1)

48. Commet une infraction quiconque, sans y être expressément autorisé sous le régime de la présente loi, de la *Loi sur les douanes* ou de la *Loi sur le recyclage des produits de la criminalité et le financement des activités terroristes* et en connaissance de cause, ouvre, cache ou retient un contenant postal, un envoi ou un récipient ou un dispositif que la Société destine au dépôt ou permet que soient commises ces actions.

Code criminel

80. Le paragraphe 488.1(11) du *Code criminel* est remplacé par ce qui suit :

(11) Le présent article ne s'applique pas lorsque peut être invoqué le privilège des communications entre client et avocat en vertu de la *Loi de l'impôt sur le revenu* ou le secret professionnel du conseiller juridique en vertu de la *Loi sur le recyclage des produits de la criminalité et le financement des activités terroristes*.

Loi sur la protection des renseignements personnels et les documents électroniques

- 81. Le paragraphe 7(3) de la Loi sur la protection des renseignements personnels et les documents électroniques est modifié par adjonction, après l'alinéa c.1), de ce qui suit :
 - c.2) elle est faite au titre de l'article 7 de la Loi sur le recyclage des produits de la criminalité et le financement des activités terroristes à l'institution gouvernementale mentionnée à cet article:
- 82. Le paragraphe 9(2.3) de la même loi est modifié par adjonction, après l'alinéa *a*), de ce qui suit :

L.R., ch. C-46

2000, ch. 17, art. 89

Exception

2000, ch. 5

(a.1) the detection, prevention or deterrence of money laundering or the financing of terrorist activities; or

1993. c. 37

Seized Property Management Act

- 83. Subparagraph 3(b)(iv) of the Seized Property Management Act, as enacted by section 92 of the Proceeds of Crime (Money Laundering) and Terrorist Financing Act, chapter 17 of the Statutes of Canada, 2000, is replaced by the following:
 - (iv) forfeited under subsection 14(5), seized under subsection 18(1) or paid under subsection 18(2) of the *Proceeds of Crime (Money Laundering) and Terrorist Financing Act*;
- 84. Paragraph 4(1)(b.1) of the Act, as enacted by section 93 of the *Proceeds of Crime (Money Laundering) and Terrorist Financing Act*, chapter 17 of the Statutes of Canada, 2000, is replaced by the following:
 - (b.1) forfeited under subsection 14(5), seized under subsection 18(1) or paid under subsection 18(2) of the *Proceeds of Crime* (Money Laundering) and Terrorist Financing Act; or

1995, c. 22, s. 18 (Sch. IV, item 11)

- 85. Paragraph 9(e) of the Act, as enacted by section 94 of the *Proceeds of Crime* (Money Laundering) and Terrorist Financing Act, chapter 17 of the Statutes of Canada, 2000, is replaced by the following:
 - (e) notwithstanding subsection 734.4(2) of the *Criminal Code* and sections 125 and 126 of the *Excise Act*, if a fine, or any portion of a fine, imposed under subsection 462.37(3) of the *Criminal Code* in relation to proceedings commenced at the instance of the Government of Canada is paid or recovered or if a penalty is paid under subsection 18(2) of the *Proceeds of Crime (Money Laundering) and Terrorist Financing Act*, share the amount of the fine or penalty in accordance with this Act, the regulations and any agreement entered into under section 11;

a.1) à la détection, à la prévention ou à la dissuasion du recyclage des produits de la criminalité ou du financement des activités terroristes:

Loi sur l'administration des biens saisis

1993, ch. 37

- 83. Le sous-alinéa 3b)(iv) de la Loi sur l'administration des biens saisis, édicté par l'article 92 de la Loi sur le recyclage des produits de la criminalité et le financement des activités terroristes, chapitre 17 des Lois du Canada (2000), est remplacé par ce qui suit:
 - (iv) confisqués, saisis ou payés respectivement aux termes des paragraphes 14(5) ou 18(1) ou (2) de la Loi sur le recyclage des produits de la criminalité et le financement des activités terroristes;
- 84. L'alinéa 4(1)b.1) de la même loi, édicté par l'article 93 de la Loi sur le recyclage des produits de la criminalité et le financement des activités terroristes, chapitre 17 des Lois du Canada (2000), est remplacé par ce qui suit :
 - b.1) les biens confisqués, saisis ou payés respectivement aux termes des paragraphes 14(5) ou 18(1) ou (2) de la Loi sur le recyclage des produits de la criminalité et le financement des activités terroristes;
- 85. L'alinéa 9e) de la même loi, édicté par l'article 94 de la Loi sur le recyclage des produits de la criminalité et le financement des activités terroristes, chapitre 17 des Lois du Canada (2000), est remplacé par ce qui suit:
 - e) par dérogation au paragraphe 734.4(2) du Code criminel et aux articles 125 et 126 de la Loi sur l'accise, partager, conformément à la présente loi et à ses règlements ainsi qu'aux accords conclus sous le régime de l'article 11, tout ou partie d'amendes perçues sous le régime du paragraphe 462.37(3) du Code criminel à la suite de procédures engagées sur l'instance du gouvernement fédéral ou de pénalités payées en vertu du paragraphe 18(2) de la Loi sur le recyclage des produits de la criminalité et le financement des activités terroristes;

1995, ch. 22, art. 18, ann. IV, art. 11

ch. 41

86. Subsection 10(2) of the Act, as enacted by section 95 of the *Proceeds of Crime* (Money Laundering) and Terrorist Financing Act, chapter 17 of the Statutes of Canada, 2000, is replaced by the following:

Proceeds of Crime (Money Laundering) and Terrorist Financing Act (2) If the participation of a law enforcement agency in Canada has led to the forfeiture to Her Majesty of property under the *Proceeds of Crime (Money Laundering) and Terrorist Financing Act* or the payment of a penalty under subsection 18(2) of that Act, the Minister shall, in accordance with the regulations, share the proceeds of disposition of that forfeited property or the penalty, as the case may be.

PART 5

AMENDMENTS TO OTHER ACTS

R.S., c. A-1

Access to Information Act

87. The *Access to Information Act* is amended by adding the following after section 69:

Certificate under Canada Evidence Act **69.1** (1) Where a certificate under section 38.13 of the *Canada Evidence Act* prohibiting the disclosure of information contained in a record is issued before a complaint is filed under this Act in respect of a request for access to that information, this Act does not apply to that information.

Certificate following filing of complaint

- (2) Notwithstanding any other provision of this Act, where a certificate under section 38.13 of the *Canada Evidence Act* prohibiting the disclosure of information contained in a record is issued after the filing of a complaint under this Act in relation to a request for access to that information,
 - (a) all proceedings under this Act in respect of the complaint, including an investigation, appeal or judicial review, are discontinued;
 - (b) the Information Commissioner shall not disclose the information and shall take all necessary precautions to prevent its disclosure; and

86. Le paragraphe 10(2) de la même loi, édicté par l'article 95 de la *Loi sur le recyclage des produits de la criminalité et le financement des activités terroristes*, chapitre 17 des Lois du Canada (2000), est remplacé par ce qui suit :

(2) Si la participation d'un organisme chargé de l'application de la loi au Canada a contribué à la confiscation de biens au profit de Sa Majesté en vertu de la Loi sur le recyclage des produits de la criminalité et le financement des activités terroristes ou au paiement d'une pénalité aux termes du paragraphe 18(2) de cette loi, le ministre partage avec cet organisme, en conformité avec les règlements, le produit de l'aliénation des biens confisqués ou la pénalité, selon le cas.

Loi sur le recyclage des produits de la criminalité et le financement des activités terroristes

PARTIE 5

MODIFICATIONS À D'AUTRES LOIS

Loi sur l'accès à l'information

- 87. La *Loi sur l'accès à l'information* est modifiée par adjonction, après l'article 69, de ce qui suit :
- **69.1** (1) Dans le cas où a été délivré au titre de l'article 38.13 de la *Loi sur la preuve au Canada* un certificat interdisant la divulgation de renseignements contenus dans un document avant le dépôt d'une plainte au titre de la présente loi à l'égard d'une demande de communication de ces renseignements, la présente loi ne s'applique pas à ces renseignements.
- (2) Par dérogation aux autres dispositions de la présente loi, dans le cas où a été délivré au titre de l'article 38.13 de la *Loi sur la preuve au Canada* un certificat interdisant la divulgation de renseignements contenus dans un document après le dépôt d'une plainte au titre de la présente loi relativement à une demande de communication de ces renseignements:
 - a) toutes les procédures notamment une enquête, un appel ou une révision judiciaire prévues par la présente loi portant sur la plainte sont interrompues;

L.R., ch. A-1

Certificat en vertu de la Loi sur la preuve au Canada

Certificat postérieur au dépôt d'une plainte (c) the Information Commissioner shall, within 10 days after the certificate is published in the Canada Gazette, return the information to the head of the government

institution that controls the information.

b) le Commissaire à l'information ne peut divulguer les renseignements et prend les précautions nécessaires pour empêcher leur divulgation:

c) le Commissaire à l'information renvoie les renseignements au responsable de l'institution fédérale dont relève le document dans les dix jours suivant la publication du certificat dans la Gazette du Canada.

R.S., c. H-6

Canadian Human Rights Act

88. Subsection 13(2) of the Canadian Human Rights Act is replaced by the follow-

Interpretation

(2) For greater certainty, subsection (1) applies in respect of a matter that is communicated by means of a computer or a group of interconnected or related computers, including the Internet, or any similar means of communication, but does not apply in respect of a matter that is communicated in whole or in part by means of the facilities of a broadcasting undertaking.

R.S., c. C-23 Canadian Security Intelligence Service Act

> 89. Paragraph (c) of the definition "threats to the security of Canada" in section 2 of the Canadian Security Intelligence Service Act is replaced by the following:

> > (c) activities within or relating to Canada directed toward or in support of the threat or use of acts of serious violence against persons or property for the purpose of achieving a political, religious or ideological objective within Canada or a foreign state, and

1992, c. 20 Corrections and Conditional Release Act

1995, c. 42, s. 39

90. Subparagraph 125(1)(a)(ii) of the Corrections and Conditional Release Act is replaced by the following:

- (ii) an offence set out in Schedule I or a conspiracy to commit such an offence,
- (ii.1) an offence under section 83.02 (providing or collecting property for

Loi canadienne sur les droits de la personne

L.R., ch. H-6

Interprétation

88. Le paragraphe 13(2) de la Loi canadienne sur les droits de la personne est remplacé par ce qui suit :

(2) Il demeure entendu que le paragraphe (1) s'applique à l'utilisation d'un ordinateur, d'un ensemble d'ordinateurs connectés ou reliés les uns aux autres, notamment d'Internet, ou de tout autre moyen de communication semblable mais qu'il ne s'applique pas dans les cas où les services d'une entreprise de radiodiffusion sont utilisés.

> Loi sur le Service canadien du renseignement de sécurité

L.R., ch C-23

89. L'alinéa c) de la définition de « menaces envers la sécurité du Canada », à l'article 2 de la Loi sur le Service canadien du renseignement de sécurité, est remplacé par ce qui suit :

> c) les activités qui touchent le Canada ou s'y déroulent et visent à favoriser l'usage de la violence grave ou de menaces de violence contre des personnes ou des biens dans le but d'atteindre un objectif politique, religieux ou idéologique au Canada ou dans un État étranger;

Loi sur le système correctionnel et la mise en liberté sous condition

- 90. Le sous-alinéa 125(1)a)(ii) de la Loi sur le système correctionnel et la mise en liberté sous condition est remplacé par ce qui suit:
 - (ii) une infraction mentionnée à l'annexe I ou un complot en vue d'en commettre

1992, ch. 20

1995, ch. 42,

art. 39

certain activities), 83.03 (providing, making available, etc. property or services for terrorist purposes), 83.04 (using or possessing property for terrorist purposes), 83.18 (participation in activity of terrorist group), 83.19 (facilitating terrorist activity), 83.2 (to carry out activity for terrorist group), 83.21 (instructing to carry out activity for terrorist activity) or 83.23 (harbouring or concealing) of the *Criminal Code* or a conspiracy to commit such an offence,

91. Paragraph 1(a) of Schedule I to the Act is replaced by the following:

- (a) section 75 (piratical acts);
- (a.1) section 76 (hijacking);
- (a.2) section 77 (endangering safety of aircraft or airport);
- (a.3) section 78.1 (seizing control of ship or fixed platform);
- (a.4) paragraph 81(1)(a), (b) or (d) (use of explosives);
- (a.5) paragraph 81(2)(a) (causing injury with intent);

92. Section 1 of Schedule I to the Act is amended by adding the following after paragraph (*z*.2):

(z.21) section 279.1 (hostage taking);

93. Section 1 of Schedule I to the Act is amended by adding the following after paragraph (z.3):

- (z.31) subsection 430(2) (mischief that causes actual danger to life);
- (z.32) section 431 (attack on premises, residence or transport of internationally protected person);
- (z.33) section 431.1 (attack on premises, accommodation or transport of United Nations or associated personnel);

(ii.1) une infraction mentionnée aux articles 83.02 (fournir ou réunir des biens en vue de certains actes), 83.03 (fournir, rendre disponibles, etc. des biens ou services à des fins terroristes), 83.04 (utiliser ou avoir en sa possession des biens à des fins terroristes), 83.18 (participation à une activité d'un groupe terroriste), 83.19 (facilitation d'une activité terroriste), 83.2 (infraction au profit d'un groupe terroriste), 83.21 (charger une personne de se livrer à une activité pour un groupe terroriste), 83.22 (charger une personne de se livrer à une activité terroriste) ou 83.23 (héberger ou cacher) du Code criminel, ou un complot en vue d'en commettre une.

91. L'alinéa 1a) de l'annexe I de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

- a) article 75 (piraterie);
- a.1) article 76 (détournement d'un aéronef);
- a.2) article 77 (atteinte à la sécurité des aéronefs ou des aéroports);
- *a.*3) article 78.1 (prise d'un navire ou d'une plate-forme fixe);
- a.4) alinéas 81(1)a), b) ou d) (usage d'explosifs);
- a.5) alinéa 81(2)a) (causer intentionnellement des blessures);

92. L'article 1 de l'annexe I de la même loi est modifié par adjonction, après l'alinéa z.2), de ce qui suit :

z.21) article 279.1 (prise d'otages);

93. L'article 1 de l'annexe I de la même loi est modifié par adjonction, après l'alinéa z.3), de ce qui suit :

- z.31) paragraphe 430(2) (méfait qui cause un danger réel pour la vie des gens);
- z.32) article 431 (attaque contre les locaux officiels, le logement privé ou les moyens de transport d'une personne jouissant d'une protection internationale);
- z.33) article 431.1 (attaque contre les locaux officiels, le logement privé ou les moyens de transport du personnel des Nations Unies ou du personnel associé);

(z.34) subsection 431.2(2) (explosive or other lethal device);

Transitional provision

- 94. (1) The following provisions apply to an offender regardless of the day on which the offender was sentenced, committed or transferred to penitentiary:
 - (a) subparagraph 125(1)(a)(ii) of the Act as amended by section 90, if the offence was a conspiracy to commit an offence set out in Schedule I to the Act; and
 - (b) Schedule I to the Act as amended by sections 91 to 93.

Offenders referred to Board (2) Subsection (1) does not apply to an offender in respect of whom the National Parole Board has made a direction under section 126 of the Act before the coming into force of sections 90 to 93.

R.S., c. F-7

Federal Court Act

1992, c. 49, s. 127(1)

95. (1) Paragraph 5(1)(c) of the *Federal Court Act* is replaced by the following:

(c) not more than 44 other judges, 12 of whom shall be appointed to the Court of Appeal and shall be *ex officio* members of the Trial Division, and the remainder of whom shall be appointed to the Trial Division and shall be *ex officio* members of the Court of Appeal.

1992, c. 49, s. 127(2)

(2) Subsection 5(6) of the Act is replaced by the following:

Judges for the Province of Quebec (6) At least 15 of the judges shall be persons who have been judges of the Court of Appeal or of the Superior Court of the Province of Quebec, or have been members of the bar of that Province.

z.34) paragraphe 431.2(2) (engin explosif ou autre engin meurtrier);

94. (1) Les dispositions qui suivent s'appliquent, indépendamment de la date à laquelle le contrevenant a été condamné à une peine d'emprisonnement ou a été incarcéré ou transféré dans un pénitencier :

- a) le sous-alinéa 125(1)a)(ii) de la même loi, dans sa version modifiée par l'article 90, dans le cas du complot en vue de commettre une infraction mentionnée à l'annexe I de la même loi;
- b) l'annexe I de la même loi, dans sa version modifiée par les articles 91 à 93.

(2) Les dispositions énumérées au paragraphe (1) ne s'appliquent pas au contrevenant qui a fait l'objet d'une décision de la Commission nationale des libérations conditionnelles rendue sous le régime de l'article 126 de la même loi avant l'entrée en vigueur des articles 90 à 93.

Contrevenants visés par une décision de la Commission

Disposition

transitoire

Loi sur la Cour fédérale

fédérale est remplacé par ce qui suit :

95. (1) L'alinéa 5(1)c) de la *Loi sur la Cour*

1992, ch. 49, par. 127(1)

L.R., ch. F-7

c) quarante-quatre autres juges au plus, dont douze sont nommés à la Cour d'appel et sont membres de droit de la Section de première instance, les autres étant nommés à la Section de première instance et membres de droit de la Cour d'appel.

(2) Le paragraphe 5(6) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

1992, ch. 49, par. 127(2)

(6) Au moins quinze juges doivent avoir été juges de la Cour d'appel ou de la Cour supérieure du Québec ou membres du barreau de cette province.

Représentation du Québec 1995, c. 39

Firearms Act

Loi sur les armes à feu

1995, ch. 39

96. Section 97 of the *Firearms Act* is replaced by the following:

Exemptions — Governor in Council **97.** (1) Subject to subsection (4), the Governor in Council may exempt any class of non-residents from the application of any provision of this Act or the regulations, or from the application of any of sections 91 to 95, 99 to 101, 103 to 107 and 117.03 of the *Criminal Code*, for any period specified by the Governor in Council.

Exemptions federal Minister (2) Subject to subsection (4), the federal Minister may exempt any non-resident from the application of any provision of this Act or the regulations, or from the application of any of sections 91 to 95, 99 to 101, 103 to 107 and 117.03 of the *Criminal Code*, for any period not exceeding one year.

Exemptions provincial minister (3) Subject to subsection (4), a provincial minister may exempt from the application in that province of any provision of this Act or the regulations or Part III of the *Criminal Code*, for any period not exceeding one year, the employees, in respect of any thing done by them in the course of or for the purpose of their duties or employment, of any business that holds a licence authorizing the business to acquire prohibited firearms, prohibited weapons, prohibited devices or prohibited ammunition.

Public safety

(4) Subsections (1) to (3) do not apply if it is not desirable, in the interests of the safety of any person, that the exemption be granted.

Conditions

(5) The authority granting an exemption may attach to it any reasonable condition that the authority considers desirable in the particular circumstances and in the interests of the safety of any person.

R.S., c. N-5

National Defence Act

97. Subsection 2(1) of the *National Defence Act* is amended by adding the following in alphabetical order:

"terrorism offence" « infraction de terrorisme » "terrorism offence" means

96. L'article 97 de la *Loi sur les armes à feu* est remplacé par ce qui suit :

97. (1) Sous réserve du paragraphe (4), le gouverneur en conseil peut dispenser toute catégorie de non-résidents de l'application de toute autre disposition de la présente loi, de ses règlements ou des articles 91 à 95, 99 à 101, 103 à 107 et 117.03 du *Code criminel* pour la période qu'il spécifie.

Dispenses gouverneur en conseil

(2) Sous réserve du paragraphe (4), le ministre fédéral peut dispenser tout non-résident de l'application de toute autre disposition de la présente loi, de ses règlements ou des articles 91 à 95, 99 à 101, 103 à 107 et 117.03 du *Code criminel* pour une période maximale d'un an.

Dispenses ministre fédéral

(3) Sous réserve du paragraphe (4), le ministre provincial peut dispenser les employés d'une entreprise titulaire d'un permis l'autorisant à acquérir des armes à feu prohibées, des armes prohibées, des dispositifs prohibés ou des munitions prohibées, agissant dans le cadre de leurs fonctions, de l'application dans sa province de toute autre disposition de la présente loi, de ses règlements ou de la partie III du *Code criminel* pour une période maximale d'un an.

Dispenses ministre provincial

(4) Les paragraphes (1) à (3) ne s'appliquent pas lorsque la dispense n'est pas souhaitable pour la sécurité de quiconque.

Sécurité publique

(5) L'autorité accordant la dispense peut l'assortir des conditions raisonnables qu'elle estime souhaitables dans les circonstances et en vue de la sécurité de quiconque.

Conditions

Loi sur la défense nationale

L.R., ch. N-5

97. Le paragraphe 2(1) de la *Loi sur la défense nationale* est modifié par adjonction, selon l'ordre alphabétique, de ce qui suit :

« activité terroriste » S'entend au sens du paragraphe 83.01(1) du *Code criminel*.

« activité terroriste » "terrorist activity"

- (a) an offence under any of sections 83.02 to 83.04 or 83.18 to 83.23 of the *Criminal Code*,
- (b) an offence under this Act for which the maximum punishment is imprisonment for five years or more, or an offence punishable under section 130 that is an indictable offence under the *Criminal Code* or any other Act of Parliament, that is committed for the benefit of, at the direction of or in association with a terrorist group,
- (c) an offence under this Act for which the maximum punishment is imprisonment for five years or more, or an offence punishable under section 130 that is an indictable offence under the *Criminal Code* or any other Act of Parliament, where the act or omission constituting the offence also constitutes a terrorist activity, or
- (d) a conspiracy or an attempt to commit, being an accessory after the fact in relation to, or any counselling in relation to, an offence referred to in paragraph (a), (b) or (c);

"terrorist activity" has the same meaning as in subsection 83.01(1) of the *Criminal Code*;

"terrorist group" has the same meaning as in subsection 83.01(1) of the *Criminal Code*;

98. Section 140.4 of the Act is amended by adding the following after subsection (3):

(3.1) Notwithstanding section 120 of the *Corrections and Conditional Release Act*, where an offender receives a sentence of imprisonment of two years or more, including a sentence of imprisonment for life, on conviction under this Act for a terrorism offence, the court martial shall order that the portion of the sentence that must be served

before the offender may be released on full

« groupe terroriste » S'entend au sens du paragraphe 83.01(1) du *Code criminel*.

« infraction de terrorisme »

- a) Infraction visée à l'un des articles 83.02 à 83.04 et 83.18 à 83.23 du *Code criminel*;
- b) infraction visée par la présente loi, passible d'un emprisonnement maximal de cinq ans ou plus, ou par l'article 130 de cette loi constituant un acte criminel visé au *Code criminel* ou par une autre loi fédérale commise au profit ou sous la direction d'un groupe terroriste, ou en association avec lui;
- c) infraction visée par la présente loi, passible d'un emprisonnement maximal de cinq ans ou plus, ou par l'article 130 de cette loi constituant un acte criminel visé au *Code criminel* ou par une autre loi fédérale et dont l'élément matériel acte ou omission constitue également une activité terroriste;
- d) complot ou tentative en vue de commettre une infraction visée à l'un des alinéas a) à c) ou, relativement à une telle infraction, complicité après le fait ou encouragement à la perpétration.

98. L'article 140.4 de la même loi est modifié par adjonction, après le paragraphe (3), de ce qui suit :

(3.1) Par dérogation à l'article 120 de la *Loi sur le système correctionnel et la mise en liberté sous condition*, la cour martiale est tenue, sauf si elle est convaincue, compte tenu des circonstances de l'infraction et du caractère et des particularités du délinquant, que la réprobation de la société à l'égard de l'infraction commise et l'effet dissuasif de l'ordonnance auraient la portée voulue si la période

« groupe terroriste » "terrorist group"

« infraction de terrorisme » "terrorism offence"

Pouvoir

du temps

d'épreuve

d'augmentation

« groupe terroriste »

"terrorist

activity"

« activité terroriste »

"terrorist

group"

Power of court martial to delay parole parole is one half of the sentence or ten years, whichever is less, unless the court martial is satisfied, having regard to the circumstances of the commission of the offence and the character and circumstances of the offender, that the expression of society's denunciation of the offence and the objectives of specific and general deterrence would be adequately served by a period of parole ineligibility determined in accordance with the *Corrections and Conditional Release Act*.

99. The Act is amended by adding the following after section 149.1 as enacted by section 13 of chapter 43 of the Statutes of Canada, 1991:

Punishment for Certain Offences

Punishment for certain offences 149.2 (1) Notwithstanding anything in this Act, the *Criminal Code* or any other Act of Parliament, a person convicted of an offence under this Act for which the maximum punishment is imprisonment for five years or more, or an offence punishable under section 130 that is an indictable offence under the *Criminal Code* or any other Act of Parliament, other than an offence for which a sentence of imprisonment for life is imposed as a minimum punishment, where the act or omission constituting the offence also constitutes a terrorist activity, is liable to imprisonment for life.

Offender must be notified

- (2) Subsection (1) does not apply unless the Director of Military Prosecutions satisfies the court martial that the offender, before making a plea, was notified that the application of that subsection would be sought by reason of the act or omission constituting the offence also constituting a terrorist activity.
- 100. The definition "designated offence" in section 153 of the Act is amended by striking out the word "or" at the end of paragraph (c), by adding the word "or" at the end of paragraph (d) and by adding the following after paragraph (d):
 - (e) an offence under this Act that is a terrorism offence.

d'inadmissibilité était déterminée conformément à cette loi, d'ordonner que le délinquant condamné sous le régime de la présente loi à une peine d'emprisonnement d'au moins deux ans — y compris une peine d'emprisonnement à perpétuité — pour une infraction de terrorisme purge, avant d'être admissible à la libération conditionnelle totale, la moitié de sa peine jusqu'à concurrence de dix ans.

99. La même loi est modifiée par adjonction, après l'article 149.1 édicté par l'article 13 du chapitre 43 des Lois du Canada (1991), de ce qui suit :

Relèvement de peine

149.2 (1) Malgré toute autre disposition de la présente loi ou toute autre loi fédérale, est passible de l'emprisonnement à perpétuité la personne déclarée coupable d'une infraction visée à la présente loi passible d'un emprisonnement maximal de cinq ans ou plus ou d'une infraction visée à l'article 130 de la présente loi — constituant un acte criminel visé au Code criminel ou par une autre loi fédérale —, sauf une infraction pour laquelle la peine minimale est l'emprisonnement à perpétuité, dont l'élément matériel — acte ou omission — constitue également une activité terroriste.

(2) Le paragraphe (1) ne s'applique que si le poursuivant convainc la cour martiale que le délinquant, avant d'enregistrer son plaidoyer, a été avisé que l'application de ce paragraphe serait demandée.

100. La définition de «infraction désignée », à l'article 153 de la même loi, est modifiée par adjonction, après l'alinéa d), de ce qui suit :

e) une infraction prévue par la présente loi qui est une infraction de terrorisme.

Relèvement de peine

Notification du délinquant

- 101. Subsection 180(2) of the Act is amended by striking out the word "or" at the end of paragraph (a), by adding the word "or" at the end of paragraph (b) and by adding the following after paragraph (b):
- (c) to prevent injury to international relations.

102. The Act is amended by adding the following after section 273.6:

PART V.1

COMMUNICATIONS SECURITY **ESTABLISHMENT**

Definitions

273.61 The following definitions apply in this Part.

"Canadian" « Canadien »

- "Canadian" means
 - (a) a Canadian citizen or a permanent resident, within the meaning of subsection 2(1) of the *Immigration Act*; or
 - (b) a corporation incorporated under an Act of Parliament or of the legislature of a province.

"entity" « entité » "entity" means a person, group, trust, partnership or fund or an unincorporated association or organization and includes a state or a political subdivision or agency of a state.

"foreign intelligence" means information or

intelligence about the capabilities, inten-

tions or activities of a foreign individual,

state, organization or terrorist group, as

they relate to international affairs, defence

- "foreign intelligence" « renseigneétrangers »
- "global information infrastructure' « infrastructure mondiale d'information »

or security.

"global information infrastructure" includes electromagnetic emissions, communications systems, information technology systems and networks, and any data or technical information carried on, contained in or relating to those emissions, systems or networks.

101. Le paragraphe 180(2) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

(2) Lorsqu'elle le juge nécessaire soit dans l'intérêt de la sécurité publique, de la défense ou de la moralité publique, soit dans l'intérêt du maintien de l'ordre ou de la bonne administration de la justice militaire, soit pour éviter toute atteinte aux relations internationales, la cour martiale peut ordonner le huis clos total ou partiel.

102. La même loi est modifiée par adjonction, après l'article 273.6, de ce qui suit :

PARTIE V.1

CENTRE DE LA SÉCURITÉ DES **TÉLÉCOMMUNICATIONS**

273.61 Les définitions qui suivent s'appliquent à la présente partie.

- « Canadien » Citoyen canadien ou résident permanent, au sens du paragraphe 2(1) de la Loi sur l'immigration, ou toute personne morale constituée en vertu d'une loi fédérale ou provinciale.
- « communication privée » S'entend au sens de l'article 183 du Code criminel.
- « entité » Personne, groupe, fiducie, société de personnes ou fonds, ou organisation ou association non dotée de la personnalité morale. La présente définition vise également les États, leurs subdivisions politiques et leurs organismes.
- « infrastructure mondiale d'information » S'entend notamment des émissions électromagnétiques, des systèmes de communication, des systèmes et réseaux des techniques de l'information ainsi que des données et des renseignements techniques qu'ils transportent, qui s'y trouvent ou qui les concernent.
- « ministre » Le ministre de la Défense nationale ou le membre du Conseil privé de la

Exception

Définitions

« Canadien » "Canadian"

« communication privée » "private communication"

« entité » "entity"

« infrastructure mondiale d'information » "global information infrastructure"

« ministre » "Minister"

ch. 41

"Minister" « ministre »

"Minister" means the Minister of National Defence or such other member of the Queen's Privy Council as may be designated by the Governor in Council to be responsible for the Communications Security Establishment.

"private communication" « communication privée » "private communication" has the same meaning as in section 183 of the *Criminal Code*.

Communications Security Establishment continued **273.62** (1) The part of the public service of Canada known as the Communications Security Establishment is hereby continued.

Chief

(2) The Chief of the Communications Security Establishment, under the direction of the Minister or any person designated by the Minister, has the management and control of the Establishment and all matters relating to it.

Directions by Minister (3) The Minister may issue written directions to the Chief respecting the carrying out of the Chief's duties and functions.

Directions not statutory instruments

(4) Directions issued under subsection (3) are not statutory instruments within the meaning of the *Statutory Instruments Act*.

Appointment of Commissioner **273.63** (1) The Governor in Council may appoint a supernumerary judge or a retired judge of a superior court as Commissioner of the Communications Security Establishment to hold office, during good behaviour, for a term of not more than five years.

Duties

- (2) The duties of the Commissioner are
- (a) to review the activities of the Establishment to ensure that they are in compliance with the law:
- (b) in response to a complaint, to undertake any investigation that the Commissioner considers necessary; and
- (c) to inform the Minister and the Attorney General of Canada of any activity of the Establishment that the Commissioner believes may not be in compliance with the law.

Reine pour le Canada désigné par le gouverneur en conseil à l'égard du Centre de la sécurité des télécommunications.

« renseignements étrangers » Renseignements sur les moyens, les intentions ou les activités d'un étranger, d'un État étranger, d'une organisation étrangère ou d'un groupe terroriste étranger et qui portent sur les affaires internationales, la défense ou la sécurité.

« renseignements étrangers » "foreign intelligence"

273.62 (1) Est maintenu en vigueur le secteur de l'administration publique fédérale appelé Centre de la sécurité des télécommunications.

Maintien du Centre

(2) Le chef du Centre de la sécurité des télécommunications est chargé, sous la direction du ministre ou de toute personne désignée par le ministre, de la gestion du Centre et de tout ce qui s'y rattache.

Rôle du chef

(3) Le ministre peut donner par écrit au chef des instructions concernant l'exercice de ses fonctions.

Instructions du ministre

(4) Les instructions visées au paragraphe (3) ne sont pas des textes réglementaires au sens de la *Loi sur les textes réglementaires*.

Non-application de la *Loi* sur les textes réglementaires

273.63 (1) Le gouverneur en conseil peut nommer, à titre inamovible pour une période maximale de cinq ans, un juge à la retraite surnuméraire d'une juridiction supérieure qu'il charge de remplir les fonctions de commissaire du Centre de la sécurité des télécommunications.

Nomination du commissaire et durée du mandat

(2) Le commissaire a pour mandat :

Mandat

- *a*) de procéder à des examens concernant les activités du Centre pour en contrôler la légalité;
- b) de faire les enquêtes qu'il estime nécessaires à la suite de plaintes qui lui sont présentées;
- c) d'informer le ministre et le procureur général du Canada de tous les cas où, à son avis, le Centre pourrait ne pas avoir agi en conformité avec la loi.

Annual report

128

(3) The Commissioner shall, within 90 days after the end of each fiscal year, submit an annual report to the Minister on the Commissioner's activities and findings, and the Minister shall cause a copy of the report to be laid before each House of Parliament on any of the first 15 days on which that House is sitting after the Minister receives the report.

Powers of investigation

(4) In carrying out his or her duties, the Commissioner has all the powers of a commissioner under Part II of the *Inquiries Act*.

Employment of legal counsel, advisers, etc. (5) The Commissioner may engage the services of such legal counsel, technical advisers and assistants as the Commissioner considers necessary for the proper performance of his or her duties and, with the approval of the Treasury Board, may fix and pay their remuneration and expenses.

Directions

(6) The Commissioner shall carry out such duties and functions as are assigned to the Commissioner by this Part or any other Act of Parliament, and may carry out or engage in such other related assignments or activities as may be authorized by the Governor in Council.

Transitional

(7) The Commissioner of the Communications Security Establishment holding office immediately before the coming into force of this section shall continue in office for the remainder of the term for which he or she was appointed.

Mandate

- **273.64** (1) The mandate of the Communications Security Establishment is
 - (a) to acquire and use information from the global information infrastructure for the purpose of providing foreign intelligence, in accordance with Government of Canada intelligence priorities;
 - (b) to provide advice, guidance and services to help ensure the protection of electronic information and of information infrastructures of importance to the Government of Canada; and
 - (c) to provide technical and operational assistance to federal law enforcement and security agencies in the performance of their lawful duties.

(3) Le commissaire adresse au ministre, dans les quatre-vingt-dix jours suivant la fin de chaque exercice, un rapport sur l'exercice de ses activités. Le ministre dépose le rapport devant chacune des chambres du Parlement dans les quinze premiers jours de séance de celle-ci suivant sa réception.

Rapport annuel

(4) Dans l'exercice de son mandat, le commissaire a tous les pouvoirs conférés à un commissaire en vertu de la partie II de la *Loi sur les enquêtes*.

Loi sur les enquêtes

(5) Le commissaire peut retenir les services de conseillers juridiques ou techniques ou d'autres collaborateurs dont la compétence lui est utile dans l'exercice de ses fonctions; il peut fixer, avec l'approbation du Conseil du Trésor, leur rémunération et leurs frais.

Assistance

(6) Le commissaire exerce les attributions que lui confèrent la présente partie et toute autre loi fédérale; il peut en outre se livrer à toute activité connexe autorisée par le gouverneur en conseil.

Fonctions du commissaire

(7) La personne qui occupe, à l'entrée en vigueur du présent article, la charge de commissaire du Centre de la sécurité des télécommunications est maintenue en fonctions jusqu'à l'expiration de son mandat.

Disposition transitoire

273.64 (1) Le mandat du Centre de la sécurité des télécommunications est le suivant :

Mandat

- a) acquérir et utiliser l'information provenant de l'infrastructure mondiale d'information dans le but de fournir des renseignements étrangers, en conformité avec les priorités du gouvernement du Canada en matière de renseignement;
- b) fournir des avis, des conseils et des services pour aider à protéger les renseignements électroniques et les infrastructures d'information importantes pour le gouvernement du Canada;
- c) fournir une assistance technique et opérationnelle aux organismes fédéraux

ch. 41

Protection of Canadians

- (2) Activities carried out under paragraphs (1)(a) and (b)
 - (a) shall not be directed at Canadians or any person in Canada; and
 - (b) shall be subject to measures to protect the privacy of Canadians in the use and retention of intercepted information.

Limitations imposed by

(3) Activities carried out under paragraph (1)(c) are subject to any limitations imposed by law on federal law enforcement and security agencies in the performance of their duties.

Ministerial authorization

273.65 (1) The Minister may, for the sole purpose of obtaining foreign intelligence, authorize the Communications Security Establishment in writing to intercept private communications in relation to an activity or class of activities specified in the authorization.

Conditions for authorization

- (2) The Minister may only issue an authorization under subsection (1) if satisfied that
 - (a) the interception will be directed at foreign entities located outside Canada;
 - (b) the information to be obtained could not reasonably be obtained by other means;
 - (c) the expected foreign intelligence value of the information that would be derived from the interception justifies it; and
 - (d) satisfactory measures are in place to protect the privacy of Canadians and to ensure that private communications will only be used or retained if they are essential to international affairs, defence or security.

Ministerial authorization

(3) The Minister may, for the sole purpose of protecting the computer systems or networks of the Government of Canada from mischief, unauthorized use or interference, in the circumstances specified in paragraph 184(2)(c) of the *Criminal Code*, authorize the Communications Security Establishment in

chargés de l'application de la loi et de la sécurité, dans l'exercice des fonctions que la loi leur confère.

(2) Les activités mentionnées aux alinéas (1)a) ou b):

Protection des Canadiens

- *a*) ne peuvent viser des Canadiens ou toute personne au Canada;
- b) doivent être soumises à des mesures de protection de la vie privée des Canadiens lors de l'utilisation et de la conservation des renseignements interceptés.
- (3) Les activités mentionnées à l'alinéa (1)c) sont assujetties aux limites que la loi impose à l'exercice des fonctions des organismes fédéraux en question.

Autorisation ministérielle

Conditions

Limites

- 273.65 (1) Le ministre peut, dans le seul but d'obtenir des renseignements étrangers, autoriser par écrit le Centre de la sécurité des télécommunications à intercepter des communications privées liées à une activité ou une catégorie d'activités qu'il mentionne expressément.
- (2) Le ministre ne peut donner une autorisation que s'il est convaincu que les conditions suivantes sont réunies :
 - *a*) l'interception vise des entités étrangères situées à l'extérieur du Canada;
 - b) les renseignements à obtenir ne peuvent raisonnablement être obtenus d'une autre manière;
 - c) la valeur des renseignements étrangers que l'on espère obtenir grâce à l'interception justifie l'interception envisagée;
 - d) il existe des mesures satisfaisantes pour protéger la vie privée des Canadiens et pour faire en sorte que les communications privées ne seront utilisées ou conservées que si elles sont essentielles aux affaires internationales, à la défense ou à la sécurité.
- (3) Le ministre peut, dans le seul but de protéger les systèmes ou les réseaux informatiques du gouvernement du Canada de tout méfait ou de toute utilisation non autorisée ou de toute perturbation de leur fonctionnement, autoriser par écrit le Centre de la sécurité des télécommunications à intercepter, dans les cas

Autorisation ministérielle writing to intercept private communications in relation to an activity or class of activities specified in the authorization.

Conditions for authorization

- (4) The Minister may only issue an authorization under subsection (3) if satisfied that
 - (a) the interception is necessary to identify, isolate or prevent harm to Government of Canada computer systems or networks;
 - (b) the information to be obtained could not reasonably be obtained by other means;
 - (c) the consent of persons whose private communications may be intercepted cannot reasonably be obtained;
 - (d) satisfactory measures are in place to ensure that only information that is essential to identify, isolate or prevent harm to Government of Canada computer systems or networks will be used or retained; and
 - (e) satisfactory measures are in place to protect the privacy of Canadians in the use or retention of that information.

Ministerial conditions

(5) An authorization made under this section may contain any conditions that the Minister considers advisable to protect the privacy of Canadians, including additional measures to restrict the use and retention of, the access to, and the form and manner of disclosure of, information derived from the private communications.

Canadian Forces (6) The Minister of National Defence may issue directions for the Canadian Forces to support the Establishment in carrying out activities authorized under this section.

Directions not statutory instruments (7) Authorizations issued under subsections (1) and (3) and directions issued under subsection (6) are not statutory instruments within the meaning of the *Statutory Instruments Act*.

visés à l'alinéa 184(2)c) du *Code criminel*, des communications privées qui sont liées à une activité ou une catégorie d'activités qu'il mentionne expressément.

- (4) Le ministre ne peut donner une autorisation que s'il est convaincu que les conditions suivantes sont réunies :
 - a) l'interception est nécessaire pour identifier, isoler ou prévenir les activités dommageables visant les systèmes ou les réseaux informatiques du gouvernement du Canada;
 - b) les renseignements à obtenir ne peuvent raisonnablement être obtenus d'une autre manière;
 - c) le consentement des personnes dont les communications peuvent être interceptées ne peut raisonnablement être obtenu;
 - d) des mesures satisfaisantes sont en place pour faire en sorte que seuls les renseignements qui sont essentiels pour identifier, isoler ou prévenir les activités dommageables visant les systèmes ou les réseaux informatiques du gouvernement du Canada seront utilisés ou conservés;
 - *e*) des mesures satisfaisantes sont en place pour protéger la vie privée des Canadiens en ce qui touche l'utilisation et la conservation de ces renseignements.
- (5) Le ministre peut assortir une autorisation des modalités qu'il estime souhaitables pour protéger la vie privée des Canadiens, notamment des mesures additionnelles pour limiter l'utilisation et la conservation des renseignements provenant des communications privées interceptées, l'accès à ces renseignements et leur mode de divulgation.
- (6) Le ministre de la Défense nationale peut donner des instructions pour que les Forces canadiennes aident le Centre dans l'exercice des activités mentionnées au présent article.
- (7) Les autorisations données en vertu des paragraphes (1) et (3) et les instructions données en vertu du paragraphe (6) ne sont pas des textes réglementaires au sens de la *Loi sur les textes réglementaires*.

Conditions

Modalités

Forces canadiennes

Non-application de la *Loi* sur les textes réglementaires Review of authorizations (8) The Commissioner of the Communications Security Establishment shall review activities carried out under an authorization issued under this section to ensure that they are authorized and report annually to the Minister on the review.

Meaning of "Government of Canada" (9) In this section, "Government of Canada" means a federal institution, as defined in subsection 3(1) of the *Official Languages Act*.

Limits on

273.66 The Communications Security Establishment may only undertake activities that are within its mandate, consistent with ministerial direction and, if an authorization is required under section 273.65, consistent with the authorization.

Protection of persons **273.67** Notwithstanding any other law, every person or class of persons that is authorized to give effect to an authorization under section 273.65 or any person who assists such a person is justified in taking any reasonable action necessary to give effect to the authorization.

Effective period of authorization

273.68 (1) An authorization is valid for the period specified in it, and may be renewed for any period specified in the renewal. No authorization or renewal may be for a period longer than one year.

Variance or cancellation of authorization

(2) An authorization may be varied or cancelled in writing at any time.

Exclusion of Part VI of Criminal Code **273.69** Part VI of the *Criminal Code* does not apply in relation to an interception of a communication under the authority of an authorization issued under this Part or in relation to a communication so intercepted.

Crown Liability and Proceedings Act **273.7** No action lies under section 18 of the *Crown Liability and Proceedings Act* in respect of

(a) the use or disclosure under this Part of any communication intercepted under the authority of a Ministerial authorization under section 273.65; or

(8) Le commissaire du Centre de la sécurité des télécommunications est tenu de faire enquête sur les activités qui ont été exercées sous le régime d'une autorisation donnée en vertu du présent article pour en contrôler la conformité; il rend compte de ses enquêtes annuellement au ministre.

(9) Au présent article, « gouvernement du Canada » s'entend de toute institution fédérale, au sens du paragraphe 3(1) de la *Loi sur les langues officielles*.

Définition de « gouvernement du Canada »

Limites

Révision

131

273.66 Le Centre de la sécurité des télécommunications ne peut exercer une activité qui relève de son mandat que dans la mesure où elle est compatible avec les instructions ministérielles et, dans les cas où une autorisation est nécessaire en application de l'article 273.65, avec l'autorisation.

Protection des personnes

273.67 Par dérogation à toute autre règle de droit, les personnes qui sont autorisées, en vertu de l'article 273.65, à titre individuel ou au titre de leur appartenance à telle catégorie, à accomplir un geste pour mettre en oeuvre l'autorisation — ainsi que quiconque leur prête assistance — sont fondées à accomplir les actes nécessaires à cette mise en oeuvre.

273.68 (1) L'autorisation est valide pour la durée maximale de un an qui y est indiquée. Elle est renouvelable pour une durée maximale de un an qui doit y être indiquée.

Durée

(2) L'autorisation peut être modifiée ou annulée par écrit en tout temps.

Modification et annulation

273.69 La partie VI du *Code criminel* ne s'applique pas à l'interception de communications autorisée sous le régime de la présente partie ni à la communication elle-même.

Non-application de la partie VI du Code criminel

273.7 Aucune action ne peut être intentée sous le régime de l'article 18 de la *Loi sur la responsabilité civile de l'État et le contentieux administratif* à l'égard de :

Loi sur la responsabilité civile de l'État et le contentieux administratif

a) l'utilisation ou la divulgation, sous le régime de la présente partie, de communications interceptées en conformité avec une autorisation ministérielle donnée en vertu de l'article 273.65:

(b) the disclosure under this Part of the existence of such a communication.

b) la divulgation sous le régime de la présente partie de l'existence d'une telle communication.

2000, c. 5

Personal Information Protection and Electronic Documents Act

103. The Personal Information Protection and Electronic Documents Act is amended by adding the following after section 4:

Certificate under Canada Evidence Act

4.1 (1) Where a certificate under section 38.13 of the Canada Evidence Act prohibiting the disclosure of personal information of a specific individual is issued before a complaint is filed by that individual under this Part in respect of a request for access to that information, the provisions of this Part respecting that individual's right of access to his or her personal information do not apply to the information that is subject to the certificate.

Certificate following filing of complaint

- (2) Notwithstanding any other provision of this Part, where a certificate under section 38.13 of the Canada Evidence Act prohibiting the disclosure of personal information of a specific individual is issued after the filing of a complaint under this Part in relation to a request for access to that information:
 - (a) all proceedings under this Part in respect of that information, including an investigation, audit, appeal or judicial review, are discontinued:
 - (b) the Commissioner shall not disclose the information and shall take all necessary precautions to prevent its disclosure; and
 - (c) the Commissioner shall, within 10 days after the certificate is published in the Canada Gazette, return the information to the organization that provided the information.

Information not to be disclosed

(3) The Commissioner and every person acting on behalf or under the direction of the Commissioner, in carrying out their functions under this Part, shall not disclose information

Loi sur la protection des renseignements personnels et les documents électroniques

2000, ch. 5

103. La Loi sur la protection des renseignements personnels et les documents électroniques est modifiée par adjonction, après l'article 4, de ce qui suit :

4.1 (1) Dans le cas où a été délivré au titre de l'article 38.13 de la Loi sur la preuve au Canada un certificat interdisant la divulgation de renseignements personnels concernant un individu donné avant le dépôt par celui-ci d'une plainte au titre de la présente partie relative à la communication de ces renseignements, les dispositions de cette partie concernant le droit d'accès de l'individu aux renseignements personnels le concernant ne s'appliquent pas aux renseignements visés par le certificat.

preuve au . Canada

Certificat

plainte

postérieur au

dépôt d'une

Loi sur la

Certificat en vertu de la

(2) Par dérogation aux autres dispositions de la présente partie, dans le cas où a été délivré au titre de l'article 38.13 de la Loi sur la preuve au Canada un certificat interdisant la divulgation de renseignements personnels concernant un individu donné après le dépôt d'une plainte de refus d'accès au titre de la présente partie relativement à la demande de communication de ces renseignements :

- a) toute procédure notamment une enquête, une vérification, un appel ou une révision judiciaire — prévue par la présente partie et portant sur ces renseignements est interrompue;
- b) le commissaire ne peut communiquer les renseignements et prend les précautions nécessaires pour empêcher leur communication;
- c) le commissaire renvoie les renseignements à l'organisation qui les a fournis dans les dix jours suivant la publication du certificat dans la Gazette du Canada.
- (3) Dans l'exercice de leurs attributions prévues par la présente partie, le commissaire et les personnes agissant en son nom ou sous son autorité ne peuvent communiquer, et

Précaution à prendre

subject to a certificate issued under section 38.13 of the *Canada Evidence Act*, and shall take every reasonable precaution to avoid the disclosure of that information.

Power to delegate

(4) The Commissioner may not delegate the investigation of any complaint relating to information subject to a certificate issued under section 38.13 of the *Canada Evidence Act* except to one of a maximum of four officers or employees of the Commissioner specifically designated by the Commissioner for the purpose of conducting that investigation.

prennent toutes les précautions pour éviter que ne soient communiqués, les renseignements visés par un certificat délivré au titre de l'article 38.13 de la *Loi sur la preuve au Canada*.

(4) Le commissaire ne peut déléguer la tenue d'une enquête portant sur des renseignements visés par un certificat délivré au titre de l'article 38.13 de la *Loi sur la preuve au Canada* qu'à un de ses collaborateurs choisi parmi quatre des cadres ou employés du commissariat et qu'il désigne spécialement à cette fin.

Pouvoir de délégation

R.S., c. P-21

Privacy Act

104. The *Privacy Act* is amended by adding the following after section 70:

Certificate under Canada Evidence Act **70.1** (1) Where a certificate under section 38.13 of the *Canada Evidence Act* prohibiting the disclosure of personal information of a specific individual is issued before a complaint is filed by that individual under this Act in respect of a request for access to that information, the provisions of this Act respecting that individual's right of access to his or her personal information do not apply to the information that is subject to the certificate.

Certificate following filing of complaint

- (2) Notwithstanding any other provision of this Act, where a certificate under section 38.13 of the *Canada Evidence Act* prohibiting the disclosure of personal information of a specific individual is issued in respect of personal information after the filing of a complaint under this Act in relation to a request for access to that information,
 - (a) all proceedings under this Act in respect of that information, including an investigation, audit, appeal or judicial review, are discontinued:
 - (b) the Privacy Commissioner shall not disclose the information and shall take all necessary precautions to prevent its disclosure; and

Loi sur la protection des renseignements personnels

104. La Loi sur la protection des renseignements personnels est modifiée par ad-

jonction, après l'article 70, de ce qui suit :

70.1 (1) Dans le cas où a été délivré au titre de l'article 38.13 de la *Loi sur la preuve au Canada* un certificat interdisant la divulgation de renseignements personnels concernant un individu donné avant le dépôt par celui-ci d'une plainte au titre de la présente loi relative à la demande de communication de ces renseignements, les dispositions de cette loi concernant le droit d'accès de l'individu aux renseignements personnels le concernant ne s'appliquent pas aux renseignements visés par le certificat.

- (2) Par dérogation aux autres dispositions de la présente loi, dans le cas où a été délivré au titre de l'article 38.13 de la *Loi sur la preuve au Canada* un certificat interdisant la divulgation de renseignements personnels concernant un individu donné après le dépôt d'une plainte de refus d'accès au titre de la présente loi relative à la communication de ces renseignements :
 - a) toute procédure notamment une enquête, une vérification, un appel ou une révision judiciaire prévue par la présente loi et portant sur ces renseignements est interrompue;
 - b) le Commissaire à la protection de la vie privée ne peut communiquer les renseigne-

L.R., ch. P-21

Certificat en vertu de la Loi sur la preuve au Canada

Certificat postérieur au dépôt d'une plainte (c) the Privacy Commissioner shall, within 10 days after the certificate is published in the *Canada Gazette*, return the information to the head of the government institution that controls the information.

Information not to be disclosed (3) The Privacy Commissioner and every person acting on behalf or under the direction of the Privacy Commissioner, in carrying out their functions under this Act, shall not disclose information subject to a certificate issued under section 38.13 of the *Canada Evidence Act* and shall take every reasonable precaution to avoid the disclosure of that information.

Limited power of delegation (4) The Privacy Commissioner may not, nor may an Assistant Privacy Commissioner, delegate the investigation of any complaint respecting information subject to a certificate issued under section 38.13 of the *Canada Evidence Act* except to one of a maximum of four officers or employees of the Commissioner specifically designated by the Commissioner for the purpose of conducting that investigation.

1993, c. 37

Seized Property Management Act

1996, c. 19, s. 85 105. (1) The definitions "restrained property" and "seized property" in section 2 of the Seized Property Management Act are replaced by the following:

"restrained property" « biens bloqués » "restrained property" means any property that is the subject of a restraint order made under section 83.13 or 462.33 of the *Criminal Code*;

"seized property" « biens saisis »

"seized property" means any property seized under the authority of any Act of Parliament or pursuant to any warrant or any rule of law in connection with any designated substance offence, enterprise crime offence or terrorism offence;

(2) Section 2 of the Act is amended by adding the following in alphabetical order:

"terrorism offence" has the same meaning as in section 2 of the *Criminal Code*;

ments et prend les précautions nécessaires pour empêcher leur communication;

- c) le Commissaire à la protection de la vie privée renvoie les renseignements au responsable de l'institution fédérale de qui ils relèvent dans les dix jours suivant la publication du certificat dans la *Gazette du Canada*.
- (3) Dans l'exercice de leurs attributions prévues par la présente loi, le Commissaire à la protection de la vie privée et les personnes agissant en son nom ou sous son autorité ne peuvent communiquer, et prennent toutes les précautions pour éviter que ne soient communiqués, les renseignements visés par un certificat délivré au titre de l'article 38.13 de la *Loi sur la preuve au Canada*.
- (4) Le Commissaire à la protection de la vie privée ou un commissaire adjoint ne peuvent déléguer la tenue d'une enquête concernant des renseignements visés par un certificat délivré au titre de l'article 38.13 de la *Loi sur la preuve au Canada* qu'à un de leurs collaborateurs choisi parmi quatre des cadres ou employés du commissariat et que le Commissaire à la vie privée désigne spécialement à cette fin.

Pouvoir de délégation

Précautions à

prendre

Loi sur l'administration des biens saisis

105. (1) Les définitions de « biens bloqués » et « biens saisis », à l'article 2 de la *Loi sur l'administration des biens saisis*, sont respectivement remplacées par ce qui suit :

« biens bloqués » Biens visés par une ordonnance de blocage rendue sous le régime des articles 83.13 ou 462.33 du *Code criminel*.

« biens saisis » Biens saisis en vertu d'une loi fédérale ou saisis en vertu d'un mandat ou d'une règle de droit relativement à des infractions désignées, de criminalité organisée ou de terrorisme.

(2) L'article 2 de la même loi est modifié par adjonction, selon l'ordre alphabétique, de ce qui suit :

1993, ch. 37

1996, ch. 19, art. 85

> « biens bloqués » "restrained property"

« biens saisis » "seized property"

"terrorism offence" « infraction de terrorisme »

« infraction

par. 86(1)

1996, c. 19, s. 86(1)

106. (1) Paragraph 3(a) of the Act is replaced by the following:

(a) to authorize the Minister to provide consultative and other services to law enforcement agencies in relation to the seizure or restraint of property in connection with designated substance offences, enterprise crime offences or terrorism offences, or property that is or may be proceeds of crime or offence-related prop-

(2) Subparagraphs 3(b)(ii) and (iii) of the Act are replaced by the following:

- (ii) seized pursuant to a warrant issued under section 83.13 or 462.32 of the Criminal Code, or
- (iii) restrained pursuant to a restraint order made under section 83.13 or 462.33 of the Criminal Code:

1997, c. 18, s. 135(F)

107. (1) Paragraphs 4(1)(a) and (b) of the Act are replaced by the following:

- (a) seized pursuant to a warrant issued under section 83.13 or 462.32 of the Criminal Code on the application of the Attorney General;
- (b) subject to a restraint order made under section 83.13 or 462.33 of the Criminal Code on the application of the Attorney General, where the Minister is appointed pursuant to subsection 83.13(2) or subparagraph 462.33(3)(b)(i) of that Act to take control of and to manage or otherwise deal with the property; or

(2) Subsection 4(3) of the Act is replaced by the following:

Additional responsibility

(3) In addition to being responsible for the custody and management of property referred to in subsections (1) and (2), the Minister shall be responsible, until the property is disposed of, for the custody and management of all proceeds of crime, offence-related property « infraction de terrorisme » S'entend au sens de l'article 2 du Code criminel.

de terrorisme » "terrorism offence' 1996, ch. 19,

ch. 41

106. (1) L'alinéa 3a) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

a) d'autoriser le ministre à fournir aux différents organismes chargés de l'application de la loi des services consultatifs et autres concernant la saisie ou le blocage de biens relativement à des infractions désignées, de criminalité organisée ou de terrorisme, ou de biens qui sont ou pourraient être des biens infractionnels ou des produits de la criminalité;

(2) Les sous-alinéas 3b)(ii) et (iii) de la même loi sont remplacés par ce qui suit :

- (ii) saisis en vertu d'un mandat délivré sous le régime des articles 83.13 ou 462.32 du Code criminel,
- (iii) bloqués en vertu d'une ordonnance rendue sous le régime des articles 83.13 ou 462.33 du Code criminel;

107. (1) Les alinéas 4(1)*a*) et *b*) de la même loi sont remplacés par ce qui suit :

1997, ch. 18, art. 135(F)

- a) les biens saisis en vertu d'un mandat délivré à la demande du procureur général sous le régime des articles 83.13 ou 462.32 du Code criminel;
- b) les biens bloqués en vertu d'une ordonnance rendue à la demande du procureur général sous le régime des articles 83.13 ou 462.33 du Code criminel et confiés à l'administration du ministre en application du paragraphe 83.13(2) ou du sous-alinéa 462.33(3)b)(i) de cette loi avec mission d'en prendre la charge, de les administrer ou d'effectuer toute autre opération à leur égard;

(2) Le paragraphe 4(3) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

(3) Outre la garde et l'administration des biens visés aux paragraphes (1) et (2), le ministre est responsable, jusqu'à leur aliénation, de celles de l'ensemble des biens confisqués au profit de Sa Majesté, à la suite de toute procédure engagée par le procureur général, Responsabilité supplémentaire and property that was the subject of an application under section 83.14 of the *Criminal Code*, that were forfeited to Her Majesty as a result of proceedings conducted by the Attorney General and that were not in the possession or under the control of the Minister prior to their forfeiture.

108. Section 5 of the Act is amended by adding the following after subsection (2):

Transfer of property (3) Every person who has control of any property that is subject to a management order issued under subsection 83.13(2) of the *Criminal Code* shall, as soon as practicable after the order is issued, transfer the control of the property to the Minister, except for any property, or any part of the property, that is needed as evidence or is necessary for the purposes of an investigation.

1996, c. 19, s. 89(1)

109. Paragraph 9(a) of the Act is replaced by the following:

(a) provide consultative and other services to law enforcement agencies in relation to the seizure or restraint of any property in connection with designated substance offences, enterprise crime offences or terrorism offences, or of any property that is or may be proceeds of crime or offence-related property;

1997, c. 23,

110. Paragraph 10(a) of the Act is replaced by the following:

(a) the forfeiture to Her Majesty of property pursuant to section 83.14, subsection 462.37(1) or (2) or 462.38(2), subparagraph 462.43(c)(iii) or subsection 490.1(1) or 490.2(2) of the *Criminal Code* or subsection 16(1) or 17(2) of the *Controlled Drugs and Substances Act*;

1996, c. 19, s. 91

111. Subparagraph 11(a)(i) of the Act is replaced by the following:

(i) property forfeited to Her Majesty pursuant to section 83.14, subsection 462.37(1) or (2) or 462.38(2) or subparagraph 462.43(*c*)(iii) of the *Criminal Code* or subsection 16(1) or 17(2) of the *Controlled Drugs and Substances Act*, or

qui sont des biens infractionnels, des produits de la criminalité ou des biens confisqués en vertu de l'article 83.14 du *Code criminel* et dont, préalablement à leur confiscation, il n'avait pas la possession ou la charge.

108. L'article 5 de la même loi est modifié par adjonction, après le paragraphe (2), de ce qui suit :

(3) La personne qui a la charge de biens visés par une ordonnance de prise en charge rendue sous le régime du paragraphe 83.13(2) du *Code criminel* doit, dans les meilleurs délais possible après la prise de l'ordonnance, transférer au ministre la charge des biens, sauf de ceux requis, en tout ou en partie, aux fins de preuve ou d'enquête.

Transfert de

109. L'alinéa 9a) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

1996, ch. 19, par. 89(1)

a) fournir aux organismes chargés de l'application de la loi des services consultatifs et autre concernant la saisie ou le blocage de biens relativement à des infractions désignées, de criminalité organisée ou de terrorisme, ou de biens qui sont ou pourraient être des biens infractionnels ou de produits de la criminalité;

110. L'alinéa 10a) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

1997, ch. 23, art. 23

a) la confiscation de biens au profit de Sa Majesté en vertu de l'article 83.14, des paragraphes 462.37(1) ou (2) ou 462.38(2), du sous-alinéa 462.43c)(iii) ou des paragraphes 490.1(1) ou 490.2(2) du Code criminel ou des paragraphes 16(1) ou 17(2) de la Loi réglementant certaines drogues et autres substances;

111. L'alinéa 11a) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

1996, ch. 19, art. 91

a) le produit de l'aliénation des biens confisqués au profit de Sa Majesté en vertu de l'article 83.14, des paragraphes 462.37(1) ou (2) ou 462.38(2) ou du sousalinéa 462.43c)(iii) du *Code criminel* ou des paragraphes 16(1) ou 17(2) de la *Loi réglementant certaines drogues et autres*

R.S., c. U-2

United Nations Act

112. Section 3 of the *United Nations Act* is replaced by the following:

Offence and punishment

- **3.** (1) Any person who contravenes an order or regulation made under this Act is guilty of an offence and liable
 - (a) on summary conviction, to a fine of not more than \$100,000 or to imprisonment for a term of not more than one year, or to both;
 - (b) on conviction on indictment, to imprisonment for a term of not more than 10 years.

Forfeiture

(2) Any property dealt with contrary to any order or regulation made under this Act may be seized and detained and is liable to forfeiture at the instance of the Minister of Justice, on proceedings in the Federal Court, or in any superior court, and any such court may make rules governing the procedure on any proceedings taken before the court or a judge thereof under this section.

PART 6

REGISTRATION OF CHARITIES — SECURITY **INFORMATION**

113. The Charities Registration (Security *Information*) *Act* is enacted as follows:

An Act respecting the registration of charities having regard to security and criminal intelligence information

substances et de ceux qui sont ou ont été visés par une ordonnance de prise en charge et qui ont été confisqués au profit de Sa Majesté en vertu du paragraphe 490(9) du Code criminel, ainsi que sur le produit des biens qui ont été aliénés par les gouvernements étrangers;

Loi sur les Nations Unies

L.R., ch. U-2

Infraction et

112. L'article 3 de la Loi sur les Nations Unies est remplacé par ce qui suit :

- 3. (1) Quiconque contrevient à un décret ou à un règlement pris en application de la présente loi commet une infraction et encourt, sur déclaration de culpabilité :
 - a) par procédure sommaire, une amende maximale de 100 000 \$ et un emprisonnement maximal de un an, ou l'une de ces
 - b) par mise en accusation, un emprisonnement maximal de dix ans.
- (2) Les biens ayant servi ou donné lieu à une infraction aux décrets ou règlements pris en application de la présente loi peuvent être saisis et retenus et faire l'objet d'une confiscation sur instance introduite par le ministre de la Justice devant la Cour fédérale - ou toute autre juridiction supérieure —, laquelle peut établir les règles de procédure applicables à l'instance exercée devant elle ou l'un de ses juges.

PARTIE 6

ENREGISTREMENT DES ORGANISMES DE BIENFAISANCE (RENSEIGNEMENTS DE SÉCURITÉ)

113. Est édictée la Loi sur l'enregistrement des organismes de bienfaisance (renseignements de sécurité), dont le texte suit :

Loi l'enregistrement des concernant organismes de bienfaisance au regard des renseignements en matière de sécurité ou de criminalité

Confiscation

SHORT TITLE

Short title

1. This Act may be cited as the *Charities Registration (Security Information) Act.*

PURPOSE AND PRINCIPLES

Purpose

2. (1) The purpose of this Act is to demonstrate Canada's commitment to participating in concerted international efforts to deny support to those who engage in terrorist activities, to protect the integrity of the registration system for charities under the *Income Tax Act* and to maintain the confidence of Canadian taxpayers that the benefits of charitable registration are made available only to organizations that operate exclusively for charitable purposes.

Principles

- (2) This Act shall be carried out in recognition of, and in accordance with, the following principles:
 - (a) maintaining the confidence of taxpayers may require reliance on information that, if disclosed, would injure national security or endanger the safety of persons; and
 - (b) the process for relying on the information referred to in paragraph (a) in determining eligibility to become or remain a registered charity must be as fair and transparent as possible having regard to national security and the safety of persons.

INTERPRETATION

Definitions

3. The following definitions apply in this Act.

"applicant" « demandeur »

"applicant" means a corporation, an organization or a trust that applies to the Minister of National Revenue to become a registered charity.

"judge" « juge » "judge" means the Chief Justice of the Federal Court or a judge of the Trial Division of that Court designated by the Chief Justice.

"Minister" « ministre »

"Minister" means the Solicitor General of Canada.

"registered charity" « organisme de bienfaisance enregistré »

"registered charity" means a registered charity as defined in subsection 248(1) of the *Income Tax Act*.

TITRE ABRÉGÉ

1. Loi sur l'enregistrement des organismes de bienfaisance (renseignements de sécurité). Titre abrégé

OBJET ET PRINCIPES

- 2. (1) La présente loi a pour objet de traduire l'engagement du Canada à participer à l'effort concerté déployé à l'échelle internationale pour priver de soutien ceux qui s'adonnent à des activités terroristes, de protéger l'intégrité du système d'enregistrement des organismes de bienfaisance sous le régime de la *Loi de l'impôt sur le revenu* et de donner l'assurance aux contribuables canadiens que les avantages conférés par cet enregistrement ne profitent qu'à des organismes administrés exclusivement à des fins de bienfaisance.
- (2) La réalisation de l'objet de la présente loi repose sur les principes suivants :

a) pour donner cette assurance aux contribuables canadiens, on peut avoir à utiliser des renseignements dont la divulgation porterait atteinte à la sécurité nationale ou à la sécurité d'autrui:

b) l'utilisation des renseignements visés à l'alinéa a) pour déterminer l'admissibilité au statut d'organisme de bienfaisance enregistré ou le maintien de ce statut doit se faire de la façon la plus équitable et transparente possible, compte tenu de la sécurité nationale et de la sécurité d'autrui.

DÉFINITIONS

3. Les définitions qui suivent s'appliquent à la présente loi.

« demandeur » Personne morale, organisation ou fiducie qui demande au ministre du Revenu national le statut d'organisme de bienfaisance enregistré.

« juge » Le juge en chef de la Cour fédérale ou le juge de la Section de première instance de ce tribunal désigné par le juge en chef.

- « ministre » Le solliciteur général du Canada.
- « organisme de bienfaisance enregistré » S'entend au sens du paragraphe 248(1) de la Loi de l'impôt sur le revenu.

Objet

Principes

Définitions

« demandeur » "applicant"

« juge » "judge"

« ministre » "Minister" « organisme de bienfaisance enregistré »

"registered

charity'

Signature par

le ministre et

le ministre du

Revenu national

ch. 41

CERTIFICATE BASED ON INTELLIGENCE

Signature by Ministers

- **4.** (1) The Minister and the Minister of National Revenue may sign a certificate stating that it is their opinion, based on security or criminal intelligence reports, that there are reasonable grounds to believe
 - (a) that an applicant or registered charity has made, makes or will make available any resources, directly or indirectly, to an entity that is a listed entity as defined in subsection 83.01(1) of the *Criminal Code*;
 - (b) that an applicant or registered charity made available any resources, directly or indirectly, to an entity as defined in subsection 83.01(1) of the *Criminal Code* and the entity was at that time, and continues to be, engaged in terrorist activities as defined in that subsection or activities in support of them: or
 - (c) that an applicant or registered charity makes or will make available any resources, directly or indirectly, to an entity as defined in subsection 83.01(1) of the *Criminal Code* and the entity engages or will engage in terrorist activities as defined in that subsection or activities in support of them.

Statutory Instruments Act (2) A certificate is not a statutory instrument for the purposes of the *Statutory Instruments Act*.

JUDICIAL CONSIDERATION OF CERTIFICATE

Notice

5. (1) As soon as the Minister and the Minister of National Revenue have signed a certificate, the Minister, or a person authorized by the Minister, shall cause the applicant or registered charity to be served, personally or by registered letter sent to its last known address, with a copy of the certificate and a notice informing it that the certificate will be referred to the Federal Court not earlier than seven days after service and that, if the certificate is determined to be reasonable, the applicant will be ineligible to become a registered charity or the registration of the registered charity will be revoked, as the case may be.

CERTIFICAT

- **4.** (1) Le ministre et le ministre du Revenu national peuvent signer un certificat attestant qu'ils estiment, sur le fondement de renseignements en matière de sécurité ou de criminalité, avoir des motifs raisonnables de croire, selon le cas :
 - a) qu'un demandeur ou un organisme de bienfaisance enregistré a mis, met ou mettra, directement ou indirectement, des ressources à la disposition de quiconque est une entité inscrite au sens du paragraphe 83.01(1) du *Code criminel*;
 - b) d'une part, qu'un demandeur ou un organisme de bienfaisance enregistré a mis, directement ou indirectement, des ressources à la disposition d'une entité au sens du même paragraphe et, d'autre part, que cette entité se livrait à ce moment, et se livre encore, à des activités terroristes au sens de ce paragraphe ou à des activités de soutien à celles-ci;
 - c) d'une part, qu'un demandeur ou un organisme de bienfaisance enregistré met ou mettra, directement ou indirectement, des ressources à la disposition d'une telle entité et, d'autre part, que celle-ci se livre ou se livrera à des activités visées à l'alinéa b).
- (2) Le certificat n'est pas un texte réglementaire au sens de la *Loi sur les textes* réglementaires.

Loi sur les textes réglementaires

EXAMEN JUDICIAIRE DU CERTIFICAT

5. (1) Dès la signature du certificat par le ministre du Revenu national et le ministre, celui-ci ou son délégué est tenu de faire signifier au demandeur ou à l'organisme de bienfaisance enregistré — à personne ou sous pli recommandé à sa dernière adresse connue — une copie du certificat et un avis l'informant, d'une part, que le certificat sera déposé à la Cour fédérale au plus tôt sept jours après la signification, et, d'autre part, que si le certificat est jugé raisonnable, le demandeur sera inadmissible à l'enregistrement ou l'enregistrement de l'organisme de bienfaisance enregistré sera révoqué.

Avis

Restriction

(2) The certificate and any matters arising out of it are not subject to review or to be restrained, prohibited, removed, set aside or otherwise dealt with, except in accordance with this Act.

Non-publication or confidentiality order

- (3) Notwithstanding subsection (2), the applicant or registered charity may apply to a judge for an order
 - (a) directing that the identity of the applicant or registered charity not be published or broadcast in any way except in accordance with this Act; or
 - (b) that any documents to be filed with the Federal Court in connection with the reference be treated as confidential.

No appeal

(4) An order on an application referred to in subsection (3) is not subject to appeal or review by any court at the instance of a party to the application.

Filing in Federal Court

- (5) Seven days after service under subsection (1), or as soon afterwards as is practicable, the Minister or a person authorized by the Minister shall
 - (a) file a copy of the certificate in the Federal Court for it to make a determination under paragraph 6(1)(d); and
 - (b) cause the applicant or registered charity to be served, personally or by registered letter sent to its last known address, with a notice informing it of the filing of the certificate.

Reference

- **6.** (1) When the certificate is referred to the Federal Court, the judge shall, without delay,
 - (a) examine, in private, the security or criminal intelligence reports considered by the Minister and the Minister of National Revenue and hear any other evidence or information that may be presented by or on behalf of those Ministers and may, on the request of the Minister or the Minister of National Revenue, hear all or part of that evidence or information in the absence of the applicant or registered charity and any counsel representing it if the judge is of the opinion that disclosure of the information would injure national security or endanger the safety of any person;

(2) Le certificat, ou toute question liée à celui-ci, ne peut faire l'objet d'aucune mesure de contrôle, de restriction, de prohibition, d'évocation, d'annulation ni d'aucune autre intervention, sauf en conformité avec la présente loi.

(3) Toutefois, le demandeur ou l'organisme de bienfaisance enregistré peut demander au juge :

Non-publication ou confidentialité

Restriction

- a) de rendre une ordonnance interdisant la publication ou la diffusion de quelque façon que ce soit de son identité, sauf en conformité avec la présente loi;
- b) d'ordonner que les documents déposés auprès de la Cour fédérale en ce qui concerne l'examen judiciaire soient considérés comme confidentiels.
- (4) Les parties à la demande ne peuvent interjeter appel ni demander la révision judiciaire de l'ordonnance rendue au titre du paragraphe (3).

Interdiction de recours

Dépôt à la

Cour fédérale

- (5) Dès que possible après la signification de l'avis prévu au paragraphe (1), mais au plus tôt sept jours après celle-ci, le ministre ou son délégué est tenu :
 - a) de déposer une copie du certificat à la Cour fédérale pour qu'il en soit disposé conformément à l'alinéa 6(1)d);
 - b) de faire signifier au demandeur ou à l'organisme de bienfaisance enregistré à personne ou sous pli recommandé à sa dernière adresse connue un avis l'informant du dépôt.
- **6.** (1) Dès que la Cour fédérale est saisie du certificat, le juge procède de la façon suivante :
 - a) il examine à huis clos les renseignements en matière de sécurité ou de criminalité que le ministre et le ministre du Revenu national ont pris en considération et recueille les autres éléments de preuve ou d'information présentés par ces derniers ou en leur nom; il peut, à la demande du ministre ou du ministre du Revenu national, recueillir tout ou partie de ces éléments en l'absence du demandeur ou de l'organisme de bienfaisance enregistré et de son conseiller juridique, s'il estime que leur divulgation porte-

Examen judiciaire

- (b) provide the applicant or registered charity with a statement summarizing the information available to the judge so as to enable the applicant or registered charity to be reasonably informed of the circumstances giving rise to the certificate, without disclosing any information the disclosure of which would, in the judge's opinion, injure national security or endanger the safety of any person;
- (c) provide the applicant or registered charity with a reasonable opportunity to be heard; and
- (d) determine whether the certificate is reasonable on the basis of the information available to the judge and, if found not to be reasonable, quash it.

No appeal or review

(2) A determination under paragraph (1)(d) is not subject to appeal or review by any court.

EVIDENCE

Admissible information

7. For the purposes of subsection 6(1), the judge may, subject to section 8, admit any reliable and relevant information, whether or not the information is or would be admissible in a court of law, and base the determination under paragraph 6(1)(d) on that information.

Foreign information obtained in confidence

- **8.** (1) For the purposes of subsection 6(1), in private and in the absence of the applicant or registered charity or any counsel representing:
 - (a) the Minister or the Minister of National Revenue may make an application to the judge for the admission of information obtained in confidence from a government, an institution or an agency of a foreign state, from an international organization of states or from an institution or an agency of an international organization of states; and
 - (b) the judge shall examine the information and provide counsel representing the Minister or the Minister of National Revenue with a reasonable opportunity to be heard as to whether the information is relevant but should not be disclosed to the applicant or

- rait atteinte à la sécurité nationale ou à la sécurité d'autrui;
- b) il fournit au demandeur ou à l'organisme un résumé des renseignements dont il dispose sauf ceux dont la divulgation, à son avis, porterait atteinte à la sécurité nationale ou à la sécurité d'autrui afin de lui permettre d'être suffisamment informé des circonstances ayant donné lieu au certificat:
- c) il donne au demandeur ou à l'organisme la possibilité d'être entendu;
- d) il décide si le certificat est raisonnable compte tenu des renseignements dont il dispose et, dans la négative, l'annule.
- (2) La décision rendue au titre de l'alinéa (1)*d*) n'est susceptible ni d'appel ni de révision judiciaire.

Interdiction de recours

PREUVE

- 7. Pour l'application du paragraphe 6(1), le juge peut, sous réserve de l'article 8, admettre en preuve les renseignements dignes de foi et pertinents, indépendamment de leur recevabilité devant les tribunaux, et peut se fonder sur eux pour rendre sa décision au titre de l'alinéa 6(1)d).
- **8.** (1) Pour l'application du paragraphe 6(1), procédant à huis clos et en l'absence du demandeur ou de l'organisme de bienfaisance enregistré ou de son conseiller juridique :
 - a) le ministre ou le ministre du Revenu national peut présenter au juge une demande en vue de faire admettre en preuve des renseignements obtenus sous le sceau du secret du gouvernement d'un État étranger ou d'une organisation internationale d'États, ou de l'un de leurs organismes;
 - b) le juge examine les renseignements et accorde au conseiller juridique du ministre qui a présenté la demande la possibilité de lui présenter ses arguments sur la pertinence des renseignements et le fait qu'ils ne devraient pas être communiqués au demandeur ou à l'organisme ou à son conseiller

Renseignements pertinents

Renseignements secrets obtenus de gouvernements étrangers registered charity or any counsel representing it because the disclosure would injure national security or endanger the safety of any person.

Return of information

142

- (2) The information shall be returned to counsel representing the minister who made the application and shall not be considered by the judge in making the determination under paragraph 6(1)(d) if
 - (a) the judge determines that the information is not relevant;
 - (b) the judge determines that the information is relevant but should be summarized in the statement to be provided under paragraph 6(1)(b); or
 - (c) the minister withdraws the application.

Use of information

(3) If the judge decides that the information is relevant but that its disclosure would injure national security or endanger the safety of any person, the information shall not be disclosed in the statement mentioned in paragraph 6(1)(b), but the judge may base the determination under paragraph 6(1)(d) on it.

Ineligibility or revocation

9. (1) A certificate that is determined to be reasonable under paragraph 6(1)(d) is conclusive proof, in the case of an applicant, that it is ineligible to become a registered charity or, in the case of a registered charity, that it does not comply with the requirements to continue to be a registered charity.

Publication

(2) The Minister shall, without delay after a certificate is determined to be reasonable, cause the certificate to be published in the *Canada Gazette*.

REVIEW OF CERTIFICATE

Review of certificate 10. (1) An applicant or former registered charity in relation to which a certificate was determined to be reasonable under paragraph 6(1)(d) and that believes that there has been a material change in circumstances since that determination was made may apply in writing to the Minister for a review of the certificate by the Minister and the Minister of National Revenue.

juridique parce que cette communication porterait atteinte à la sécurité nationale ou à la sécurité d'autrui.

- (2) Ces renseignements sont renvoyés au conseil du ministre qui a présenté la demande et ne peuvent servir de fondement à la décision rendue au titre de l'alinéa 6(1)d) dans les cas suivants :
 - a) le juge décide qu'ils ne sont pas pertinents;
 - b) le juge décide qu'ils sont pertinents, mais qu'ils devraient faire partie du résumé à fournir au titre de l'alinéa 6(1)b);
 - c) la demande est retirée.
- (3) Si le juge décide que ces renseignements sont pertinents, mais que leur divulgation au titre de l'alinéa 6(1)b) porterait atteinte à la sécurité nationale ou à la sécurité d'autrui, il les exclut du résumé, mais peut s'en servir comme fondement à la décision qu'il rend au titre de l'alinéa 6(1)d).

Inadmissibilité ou révocation

Utilisation

renseignements

- **9.** (1) Le certificat jugé raisonnable au titre de l'alinéa 6(1)d) établit de façon concluante que le demandeur n'est pas admissible au statut d'organisme de bienfaisance enregistré ou que l'organisme de bienfaisance enregistré ne se conforme plus aux exigences relatives à son enregistrement, selon le cas.
- (2) Dès que le certificat est jugé raisonnable, le ministre le fait publier dans la *Gazette du Canada*.

RÉVISION DU CERTIFICAT

10. (1) Quiconque est visé par un certificat jugé raisonnable au titre de l'alinéa 6(1)d) et croit que la situation a évolué de façon marquée depuis ce jugement peut, en s'adressant par écrit au ministre, demander à celui-ci et au ministre du Revenu national de réviser le certificat.

Demande de révision ministérielle

Renvoi des renseignements

Publication

Notice to Minister of National

the Minister of National Revenue of an Revenue application for review.

Information for review

(3) For the purpose of a review, the Ministers may consider any submission made by the applicant or former registered charity that applied for the review and any security or criminal intelligence reports that are made available to the Ministers.

(2) The Minister shall, without delay, notify

Time for decision

Decision on

review

- (4) The Ministers shall make their decision on an application for review within 120 days after receipt of the application by the Minister.
- (5) The Ministers may decide that, since the time the certificate was determined to be reasonable.
 - (a) there has not been a material change in circumstances, in which case the Ministers shall deny the application; or
 - (b) there has been a material change in circumstances, in which case the Ministers shall determine whether there are reasonable grounds as provided in subsection 4(1) and, accordingly,
 - (i) continue the certificate in effect, or
 - (ii) cancel the certificate as of the date of the decision.

Automatic cancellation

(6) If no decision is made within a period of 120 days after receipt of the application, the certificate is cancelled on the expiration of that period.

Notice to applicant or charity

(7) As soon as a decision is made or the certificate is cancelled under subsection (6), the Minister or a person authorized by the Minister shall cause the applicant or former registered charity that applied for the review to be served, personally or by registered letter sent to its last known address, with notice of the decision or cancellation.

Application for review

11. (1) An applicant or former registered charity that applied for a review under subsection 10(1) may, after giving written notice to the Minister who in turn shall notify the Minister of National Revenue, apply to the Federal Court for a review of a decision made under paragraph 10(5)(a) or subparagraph 10(5)(b)(i).

(2) Le ministre notifie la demande au ministre du Revenu national sans délai.

Notification au ministre du Revenu national

Renseignements

(3) Afin de statuer sur la demande, les ministres peuvent prendre en compte les renseignements présentés par l'auteur de la demande et les renseignements en matière de sécurité et de criminalité qui sont mis à leur disposition.

(4) Les ministres prennent leur décision

Délai

(5) Ils peuvent décider que, depuis que le certificat a été jugé raisonnable :

dans les cent vingt jours suivant la réception

de la demande par le ministre.

Décision

- a) la situation n'a pas évolué de façon marquée, auquel cas ils rejettent la deman-
- b) la situation a évolué de façon marquée, auquel cas ils décident soit de maintenir le certificat en vigueur, soit de le révoquer sur-le-champ, le tout pour les motifs visés au paragraphe 4(1).
- (6) Si la décision n'est pas prise dans le délai de cent vingt jours suivant la réception de la demande, le certificat est révoqué à l'expiration de ce délai.

Révocation automatique

(7) Dès que la décision est prise ou que le certificat est révoqué au titre du paragraphe (6), le ministre ou son délégué fait signifier ce fait à l'auteur de la demande, à personne ou sous pli recommandé à sa dernière adresse connue.

Avis an demandeur

11. (1) L'auteur de la demande de révision prévue au paragraphe 10(1) peut demander à la Cour fédérale de réviser la décision prise au titre de l'alinéa 10(5)a) ou celle prise au titre de l'alinéa 10(5)b) et maintenant en vigueur le certificat. Il donne au ministre un préavis écrit de la demande et ce dernier en fait part au ministre du Revenu national.

Demande de révision judiciaire

Review by Court (2) The Court shall carry out the review in accordance with section 6, with any adaptations that may be required.

Referral to Ministers (3) If the Court quashes a decision of the Ministers made under paragraph 10(5)(a), it shall refer the application to the Ministers for a decision under paragraph 10(5)(b).

Cancellation of certificate

(4) If the Court quashes a decision of the Ministers made under subparagraph 10(5)(b)(i), the certificate is cancelled as of the date the decision is quashed.

No appeal

(5) The determination of the Court is not subject to appeal or judicial review.

Publication of spent certificate

- **12.** The Minister shall, in a manner that mentions the original publication of the certificate, cause to be published in the *Canada Gazette* notice of the cancellation of a certificate by reason of
 - (a) a decision made under subparagraph 10(5)(b)(ii);
 - (b) the operation of subsection 10(6); or
 - (c) a determination of the Federal Court referred to in subsection 11(4).

Term of a certificate

13. Unless it is cancelled earlier, a certificate is effective for a period of seven years beginning on the day it is first determined to be reasonable under paragraph 6(1)(d).

Regulations

14. The Governor in Council may make any regulations that the Governor in Council considers necessary for carrying out the purposes and provisions of this Act.

R.S., c. 1 (5th Supp.)

AMENDMENTS TO THE INCOME TAX ACT

114. Section 168 of the *Income Tax Act* is amended by adding the following after subsection (2):

Charities Registration (Security Information) Act (3) Notwithstanding subsections (1) and (2), if a registered charity is the subject of a certificate that is determined to be reasonable under paragraph 6(1)(d) of the *Charities Registration (Security Information) Act*, the registration of the charity is revoked as of the making of that determination.

(2) Le tribunal procède à la révision conformément à l'article 6, avec les adaptations nécessaires.

(3) Dans le cas où le tribunal annule la décision des ministres rendue au titre de l'alinéa 10(5)*a*), il leur renvoie la demande pour décision au titre de l'alinéa 10(5)*b*).

Effet de l'annulation

Modalités de

la révision

Renvoi

devant les

ministres

(4) Dans le cas où il annule la décision des ministres de maintenir le certificat en vigueur, celui-ci est révoqué sur-le-champ.

Interdiction de recours

(5) La décision du tribunal n'est susceptible ni d'appel ni de révision judiciaire.

Publication

12. Le ministre fait publier dans la *Gazette du Canada*, avec mention du certificat publié antérieurement, un avis :

- *a*) de la décision rendue au titre de l'alinéa 10(5)*b*) de révoquer le certificat;
- b) de la révocation du certificat en application du paragraphe 10(6);
- c) de la décision de la Cour fédérale visée au paragraphe 11(4).
- 13. La durée de validité du certificat est de sept ans à compter de la date à laquelle il est, en premier lieu, jugé raisonnable au titre de l'alinéa 6(1)d), sous réserve de révocation en conformité avec la présente loi.
- **14.** Le gouverneur en conseil peut prendre les règlements qu'il estime nécessaires à l'application de la présente loi.

validité

Durée de

Règlements

MODIFICATION DE LA LOI DE L'IMPÔT SUR LE REVENU

L.R., ch. 1 (5^e suppl.)

114. L'article 168 de la *Loi de l'impôt sur le revenu* est modifié par adjonction, après le paragraphe (2), de ce qui suit :

(3) Malgré les paragraphes (1) et (2), l'enregistrement d'un organisme de bienfaisance est révoqué dès qu'un certificat le concernant est jugé raisonnable au titre de l'alinéa 6(1)d) de la Loi sur l'enregistrement des organismes de bienfaisance (renseignements de sécurité).

Loi sur l'enregistrement des organismes de bienfaisance (renseignements de sécurité)

115. (1) Section 172 of the Act is amended by adding the following after subsection (3):

Exception — Charities Registration (Security Information) Act (3.1) Paragraphs (3)(a) and (a.1) do not apply to an applicant or a registered charity that is the subject of a certificate that has been determined to be reasonable under paragraph 6(1)(d) of the Charities Registration (Security Information) Act.

(2) The portion of subsection 172(4) of the Act after paragraph (f) is replaced by the following:

where the Minister has not notified the applicant of the disposition of the application within 180 days after the filing of the application with the Minister, and, in any such case, subject to subsection (3.1), an appeal from the refusal to the Federal Court of Appeal pursuant to subsection (3) may, notwithstanding subsection 180(1), be instituted under section 180 at any time by filing a notice of appeal in the Court

(3) Section 172 of the Act is amended by adding the following after subsection (4):

Exception — Charities Registration (Security Information) Act

- (4.1) An appeal referred to in subsection (3) or (4) is suspended when an applicant or a registered charity is, under subsection 5(1) of the *Charities Registration (Security Information) Act*, served with a copy of a certificate that has been signed under that Act, whether the appeal was instituted before or after the certificate was so signed, and the appeal is
 - (a) discontinued on the determination that the certificate is reasonable under paragraph 6(1)(d) of that Act; or
 - (b) reinstated as of the date the certificate is quashed under paragraph 6(1)(d) of that Act.

116. The description of A in paragraph 188(1)(a) of the Act is replaced by the following:

A is the total of all amounts each of which is the fair market value of an asset of the charity on the day (in this section referred to as

115. (1) L'article 172 de la même loi est modifié par adjonction, après le paragraphe (3), de ce qui suit :

(3.1) Les alinéas (3)a) et a.1) ne s'appliquent pas au demandeur ou à l'organisme de bienfaisance enregistré visé par un certificat jugé raisonnable au titre de l'alinéa 6(1)d) de la Loi sur l'enregistrement des organismes de bienfaisance (renseignements de sécurité).

Exception: Loi sur l'enregistrement des organismes de bienfaisance (renseignements de sécurité)

ch. 41

(2) Le passage du paragraphe 172(4) de la même loi suivant l'alinéa f) est remplacé par ce qui suit :

lorsqu'il n'a pas avisé le demandeur de sa décision concernant la demande dans les cent quatre-vingts jours suivant son dépôt; dans ce cas, sous réserve du paragraphe (3.1), un appel du refus peut, à tout moment malgré le paragraphe 180(1), être interjeté conformément au paragraphe (3) et en vertu de l'article 180, à la Cour d'appel fédérale par le dépôt d'un avis d'appel à cette cour.

(3) L'article 172 de la même loi est modifié par adjonction, après le paragraphe (4), de ce qui suit :

- (4.1) L'appel visé aux paragraphes (3) ou (4) est suspendu dès qu'est signifiée au demandeur ou à l'organisme de bienfaisance enregistré, en vertu du paragraphe 5(1) de la *Loi sur l'enregistrement des organismes de bienfaisance (renseignements de sécurité)*, une copie du certificat signé en vertu de cette loi, que l'appel ait été interjeté avant ou après la signature du certificat. L'appel suspendu est :
 - *a*) annulé dès que le certificat est jugé raisonnable au titre de l'alinéa 6(1)*d*) de cette loi;
 - b) rétabli à compter de l'annulation du certificat au titre de l'alinéa 6(1)d) de cette loi.

116. La description de l'élément A figurant à l'alinéa 188(1)a) de la même loi est remplacée par ce qui suit :

A représente le total des montants représentant chacun la juste valeur marchande d'un élément d'actif de l'organisme le cent-vingException:
Loi sur
l'enregistrement
des organismes
de bienfaisance
(renseignements
de sécurité)

the "valuation day") that is 120 days before the day on which

- (i) the notice of the Minister's intention to revoke the charity's registration is mailed, if the registration is revoked under subsection 168(2), or
- (ii) the charity is, under subsection 5(1) of the *Charities Registration* (Security Information) Act, served with a copy of a certificate, if the registration is revoked under subsection 168(3).

117. Paragraph 239(2.21)(b) of the Act is replaced by the following:

(b) who is an official to whom taxpayer information has been provided for a particular purpose under paragraph 241(4)(a), (d), (f), (f.1), (i) or (j.1)

118. Subsection 241(4) of the Act is amended by adding the following after paragraph (f):

(f.1) provide taxpayer information to an official solely for the purposes of the administration and enforcement of the Charities Registration (Security Information) Act;

PART 7

COORDINATING, REVIEW AND COMMENCEMENT PROVISIONS

Coordinating Amendments

Proceeds of Crime (Money Laundering) and Terrorist Financing Act

2000, c. 17

119. If section 95 of the *Proceeds of Crime* (Money Laundering) and Terrorist Financing Act (the "other Act") comes into force before section 110 of this Act, then, on the later of the coming into force of section 95 of the other Act and this section, section 110 of this Act is replaced by the following:

110. Paragraph 10(1)(a) of the Act is replaced by the following:

tième jour (appelé « jour de l'évaluation » au présent article) avant le jour :

- (i) de la mise à la poste de l'avis d'intention du ministre de révoquer l'enregistrement de l'organisme, dans le cas d'une révocation en vertu du paragraphe 168(2),
- (ii) de la signification d'une copie du certificat à l'organisme en vertu du paragraphe 5(1) de la *Loi sur l'enregistrement des organismes de bienfaisance (renseignements de sécurité)*, dans le cas d'une révocation en vertu du paragraphe 168(3).

117. L'alinéa 239(2.21)b) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

b) tout fonctionnaire à qui un renseignement confidentiel a été fourni à une fin précise en conformité avec les alinéas 241(4)a), d), f), f.1), i) ou j.1),

118. Le paragraphe 241(4) de la même loi est modifié par adjonction, après l'alinéa f), de ce qui suit :

f.1) fournir un renseignement confidentiel à un fonctionnaire uniquement pour l'application et le contrôle d'application de la Loi sur l'enregistrement des organismes de bienfaisance (renseignements de sécurité);

PARTIE 7

DISPOSITIONS DE COORDINATION, DE RÉVISION ET D'ENTRÉE EN VIGUEUR

Dispositions de coordination

Loi sur le recyclage des produits de la criminalité et le financement des activités terroristes

119. Si l'entrée en vigueur de l'article 95 de la Loi sur le recyclage des produits de la criminalité et le financement des activités terroristes précède celle de l'article 110 de la présente loi, à l'entrée en vigueur de cet article 95 ou à celle du présent article, la dernière en date étant à retenir, l'article 110 de la présente loi est remplacé par ce qui cuit.

110. L'alinéa 10(1)a) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

2000, ch. 17

(a) the forfeiture to Her Majesty of property pursuant to section 83.14, subsection 462.37(1) or (2) or 462.38(2), subparagraph 462.43(c)(iii) or subsection 490.1(1) or 490.2(2) of the *Criminal Code* or subsection 16(1) or 17(2) of the Controlled Drugs and Substances Act;

120. (1) If this Act receives royal assent before section 96 of the Proceeds of Crime (Money Laundering) and Terrorist Financing Act (the "other Act") comes into force, then, on the day of that assent, section 96 of the other Act is replaced by the following:

1997, c. 23, s. 24

96. Section 11 of the Act is replaced by the following:

Sharing outside

- 11. The Attorney General may, with the approval of the Governor in Council and in accordance with the regulations, enter into an agreement with the government of any foreign state respecting the reciprocal sharing of
 - (a) the proceeds of disposition of
 - (i) property forfeited to Her Majesty under subsection 462.37(1) or (2) or 462.38(2) or subparagraph 462.43(c)(iii) of the *Criminal Code*, subsection 16(1) or 17(2) of the Controlled Drugs and Substances Act or the Proceeds of Crime (Money Laundering) and Terrorist Financing Act, or
 - (ii) property that is or was the subject of a management order and that was forfeited under subsection 490(9) of the Criminal Code

and the proceeds arising from the disposition of property by that foreign state, and

(b) amounts paid or recovered on account of fines imposed under subsection 462.37(3) of the Criminal Code in relation to proceedings commenced at the instance of the Government of Canada, penalties paid under subsection 18(2) of the Proceeds of Crime (Money Laundering) and Terrorist Financing Act and amounts paid or recovered on account of fines imposed in lieu of

a) la confiscation de biens au profit de Sa Majesté en vertu de l'article 83.14, des paragraphes 462.37(1) ou (2) ou 462.38(2), du sous-alinéa 462.43c)(iii) ou des paragraphes 490.1(1) ou 490.2(2) du Code criminel ou des paragraphes 16(1) ou 17(2) de la Loi réglementant certaines drogues et autres substances;

120. (1) En cas de sanction de la présente loi avant que l'article 96 de la Loi sur le recyclage des produits de la criminalité et le financement des activités terroristes (appelée « autre loi » au présent article) entre en vigueur, à la date de cette sanction, l'article 96 de l'autre loi est remplacé par ce qui suit:

96. L'article 11 de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

1997, ch. 23, art. 24

Partage à 11. Le procureur général peut, avec l'agrél'étranger

ment du gouverneur en conseil et conformément aux règlements, conclure avec des gouvernements étrangers des accords de partage mutuel dans les cas où des organismes canadiens ou étrangers, selon le cas, chargés de l'application de la loi ont participé à des enquêtes dont le résultat est la confiscation de biens ou la condamnation à une amende ou ont participé à ce qui a mené à la confiscation de biens ou au paiement d'une pénalité aux termes de la Loi sur le recyclage des produits de la criminalité et le financement des activités terroristes. Le partage porte alors sur :

a) le produit de l'aliénation des biens confisqués au profit de Sa Majesté en vertu des paragraphes 462.37(1) ou (2) ou 462.38(2) ou du sous-alinéa 462.43*c*)(iii) du Code criminel, des paragraphes 16(1) ou 17(2) de la Loi réglementant certaines drogues et autres substances ou de la Loi sur le recyclage des produits de la criminalité et le financement des activités terroristes et de ceux qui sont ou ont été visés par une ordonnance de prise en charge et qui ont été confisqués au profit de Sa Majesté en vertu du paragraphe 490(9) du Code criminel, ainsi que le produit des biens qui ont été aliénés par les gouvernements étrangers;

Sharing

outside

forfeiture under the laws of that foreign state.

if law enforcement agencies of that foreign state, or of Canada, as the case may be, have participated in the investigation of the offence or offences that led to the forfeiture of the property or the imposition of the fine or if the law enforcement agencies' participation led to the forfeiture of the property or the payment of the penalty under the *Proceeds of Crime* (Money Laundering) and Terrorist Financing Act.

- (2) If section 96 of the other Act comes into force before the day on which this Act receives royal assent, then, on the day of that assent, section 11 of the *Seized Property Management Act* is replaced by the following:
- 11. The Attorney General may, with the approval of the Governor in Council and in accordance with the regulations, enter into an agreement with the government of any foreign state respecting the reciprocal sharing of
 - (a) the proceeds of disposition of
 - (i) property forfeited to Her Majesty under subsection 462.37(1) or (2) or 462.38(2) or subparagraph 462.43(c)(iii) of the Criminal Code, subsection 16(1) or 17(2) of the Controlled Drugs and Substances Act or the Proceeds of Crime (Money Laundering) and Terrorist Financing Act, or
 - (ii) property that is or was the subject of a management order and that was forfeited under subsection 490(9) of the *Criminal Code*

and the proceeds arising from the disposition of property by that foreign state, and

(b) amounts paid or recovered on account of fines imposed under subsection 462.37(3) of the *Criminal Code* in relation to proceedings commenced at the instance of the Government of Canada, penalties paid under subsection 18(2) of the *Proceeds of Crime (Money Laundering) and Terrorist Financing Act* and amounts paid or recovered on account of fines imposed in lieu of

- b) les amendes perçues en application du paragraphe 462.37(3) du Code criminel à la suite des procédures engagées sur l'instance du gouvernement fédéral et celles perçues par les gouvernements étrangers pour tenir lieu de la confiscation ainsi que les pénalités payées aux termes du paragraphe 18(2) de la Loi sur le recyclage des produits de la criminalité et le financement des activités terroristes.
- (2) En cas d'entrée en vigueur de l'article 96 de l'autre loi avant la sanction de la présente loi, à la sanction de la présente loi, l'article 11 de la *Loi sur l'administration des biens saisis* est remplacé par ce qui suit :
- 11. Le procureur général peut, avec l'agrément du gouverneur en conseil et conformément aux règlements, conclure avec des gouvernements étrangers des accords de partage mutuel dans les cas où des organismes canadiens ou étrangers, selon le cas, chargés de l'application de la loi ont participé à des enquêtes dont le résultat est la confiscation de biens ou la condamnation à une amende ou ont participé à ce qui a mené à la confiscation de biens ou au paiement d'une pénalité aux termes de la Loi sur le recyclage des produits de la criminalité et le financement des activités terroristes. Le partage porte alors sur :
 - a) le produit de l'aliénation des biens confisqués au profit de Sa Majesté en vertu des paragraphes 462.37(1) ou (2) ou 462.38(2) ou du sous-alinéa 462.43c)(iii) du Code criminel, des paragraphes 16(1) ou 17(2) de la Loi réglementant certaines drogues et autres substances ou de la Loi sur le recyclage des produits de la criminalité et le financement des activités terroristes et de ceux qui sont ou ont été visés par une ordonnance de prise en charge et qui ont été confisqués au profit de Sa Majesté en vertu du paragraphe 490(9) du Code criminel, ainsi que le produit des biens qui ont été aliénés par les gouvernements étrangers;

Partage à l'étranger forfeiture under the laws of that foreign state,

if law enforcement agencies of that foreign state, or of Canada, as the case may be, have participated in the investigation of the offence or offences that led to the forfeiture of the property or the imposition of the fine or if the law enforcement agencies' participation led to the forfeiture of the property or the payment of the penalty under the *Proceeds of Crime* (Money Laundering) and Terrorist Financing Act.

Bill S-23

- 121. (1) If Bill S-23, introduced in the 1st Session of the 37th Parliament and entitled An Act to amend the Customs Act and to make related amendments to other Acts (the "other Act"), receives royal assent, then the references to the "Proceeds of Crime (Money Laundering) Act" in subsection 107(3) and paragraphs 107(4)(b), (c) and (f) and 107(5)(k) of the Customs Act, as enacted by section 61 of the other Act, are replaced by references to the "Proceeds of Crime (Money Laundering) and Terrorist Financing Act".
- (2) Subsection (1) comes into force on the later of the day on which the other Act receives royal assent and the day on which this Act receives royal assent.

Bill C-11

- 122. (1) If Bill C-11, introduced in the 1st Session of the 37th Parliament and entitled the *Immigration and Refugee Protection Act* (the "other Act"), receives royal assent and paragraph 274(a) of the other Act comes into force before section 46 of this Act comes into force, then section 46 of this Act is repealed.
- (2) Subsection (1) comes into force on the day on which this Act receives royal assent, but only if that day is after the day on which paragraph 274(a) of the other Act comes into force.

b) les amendes perçues en application du paragraphe 462.37(3) du Code criminel à la suite des procédures engagées sur l'instance du gouvernement fédéral et celles perçues par les gouvernements étrangers pour tenir lieu de la confiscation ainsi que les pénalités payées aux termes du paragraphe 18(2) de la Loi sur le recyclage des produits de la criminalité et le financement des activités terroristes.

Projet de loi S-23

- 121. (1) En cas de sanction du projet de loi S-23, déposé au cours de la 1^{re} session de la 37^e législature et intitulé *Loi modifiant la Loi sur les douanes et d'autres lois en conséquence* (appelé « autre loi » au présent article), la mention « *Loi sur le recyclage des produits de la criminalité* » au paragraphe 107(3), aux alinéas 107(4)b), c) et f) et à l'alinéa 107(5)k) de la *Loi sur les douanes*, dans leur version édictée par l'article 61 de l'autre loi, est remplacée par « *Loi sur le recyclage des produits de la criminalité et le financement des activités terroristes* ».
- (2) Le paragraphe (1) entre en vigueur à la sanction de l'autre loi ou à celle de la présente loi, la dernière en date étant à retenir.

Projet de loi C-11

- 122. (1) En cas de sanction du projet de loi C-11, déposé au cours de la 1^{re} session de la 37^e législature et intitulé *Loi sur l'immigration et la protection des réfugiés* (appelé « autre loi » au présent article) et d'entrée en vigueur de l'alinéa 274a) de l'autre loi avant l'entrée en vigueur de l'article 46 de la présente loi, celui-ci est abrogé.
- (2) Le paragraphe (1) entre en vigueur à la date de sanction de la présente loi, mais seulement si cette date est postérieure à l'entrée en vigueur de l'alinéa 274a) de l'autre loi.

123. (1) If Bill C-11, introduced in the 1st Session of the 37th Parliament and entitled the *Immigration and Refugee Protection Act* (the "other Act"), receives royal assent, then section 270 of the other Act and the heading before it are replaced by the following:

Proceeds of Crime (Money Laundering) and Terrorist Financing Act

270. Paragraph 55(3)(d) of the *Proceeds* of Crime (Money Laundering) and Terrorist Financing Act is replaced by the following:

- (d) the Department of Citizenship and Immigration, if the Centre also determines that the information would promote the objective set out in paragraph 3(1)(i) of the *Immigration and Refugee Protection Act* and is relevant to determining whether a person is a person described in sections 34 to 42 of that Act or to an offence under any of sections 117 to 119, 126 or 127 of that Act.
- (2) Subsection (1) comes into force on the day on which this Act receives royal assent, but only if that day is before the day on which section 270 of the other Act comes into force.
- 124. (1) Subsections (2) and (3) apply if Bill C-11, introduced in the 1st Session of the 37th Parliament and entitled the *Immigration and Refugee Protection Act* (the "other Act"), receives royal assent.
- (2) On the later of the coming into force of section 76 of the other Act and section 44 of this Act, items 2 and 3 of the schedule to the *Canada Evidence Act* are replaced by the following:
- 2. A judge of the Federal Court, for the purposes of sections 6 and 7 of the *Charities Registration (Security Information) Act*, except where the hearing is open to the public
- A judge of the Federal Court, or the Immigration Division or Immigration Appeal Division of the Immigration and Refugee

123. (1) En cas de sanction du projet de loi C-11, déposé au cours de la 1^{re} session de la 37^e législature et intitulé *Loi sur l'immigration et la protection des réfugiés* (appelé « autre loi » au présent article), l'article 270 de l'autre loi et l'intertitre le précédant sont remplacés par ce qui suit :

Loi sur le recyclage des produits de la criminalité et le financement des activités terroristes

270. L'alinéa 55(3)d) de la Loi sur le recyclage des produits de la criminalité et le financement des activités terroristes est remplacé par ce qui suit :

- d) au ministère de la Citoyenneté et de l'Immigration, s'il estime en outre que les renseignements sont utiles pour promouvoir l'objectif visé à l'alinéa 3(1)i) de la Loi sur l'immigration et la protection des réfugiés et pour déterminer si une personne est une personne visée aux articles 34 à 42 de cette loi ou se rapportent à une infraction prévue aux articles 117 à 119, 126 et 127 de cette loi.
- (2) Le paragraphe (1) entre en vigueur à la date de sanction de la présente loi, mais seulement si cette date précède celle de l'entrée en vigueur de l'article 270 de l'autre loi.
- 124. (1) Les paragraphes (2) et (3) s'appliquent en cas de sanction du projet de loi C-11, déposé au cours de la 1^{re} session de la 37^e législature et intitulé *Loi sur l'immigration et la protection des réfugiés* (appelé « autre loi » au présent article).
- (2) À l'entrée en vigueur de l'article 76 de l'autre loi ou à celle de l'article 44 de la présente loi, la dernière en date étant à retenir, les articles 2 et 3 de l'annexe de la *Loi sur la preuve au Canada* sont remplacés par ce qui suit :
- 2. Un juge de la Cour fédérale, pour l'application des articles 6 et 7 de la *Loi sur l'enregistrement des organismes de bienfaisance (renseignements de sécurité)*, sauf dans le cas où l'audition est ouverte au public

151

Board, for the purposes of sections 77 to 87 of the *Immigration and Refugee Protection Act*

- (3) On the later of the coming into force of section 76 of the other Act and section 44 of this Act, items 4 to 8 of the schedule to the *Canada Evidence Act* are repealed.
- 125. (1) Subsections (2) to (9) apply if Bill C-11, introduced in the 1st Session of the 37th Parliament and entitled the *Immigration and Refugee Protection Act* (the "other Act"), receives royal assent.
- (2) Section 3 of the *Charities Registration* (Security Information) Act (the "new Act"), enacted by section 113 of this Act, is amended by adding the following in alphabetical order:

"information" « renseignements »

- "information" means security or criminal intelligence information and information that is obtained in confidence from a source in Canada, from the government of a foreign state, from an international organization of states or from an institution of such a government or organization.
- (3) The portion of subsection 4(1) of the new Act before paragraph (a) is replaced by the following:

Signature by Ministers

- **4.** (1) The Minister and the Minister of National Revenue may sign a certificate stating that it is their opinion, based on information, that there are reasonable grounds to believe
- (4) Paragraph 5(5)(a) of the new Act is replaced by the following:
 - (a) file a copy of the certificate in the Federal Court for it to make a determination under section 7; and
- (5) Sections 6 to 9 of the new Act are replaced by the following:

- 3. Le juge en chef de la Cour fédérale ou le juge de ce tribunal qu'il désigne pour l'application des article 77 à 87 de la Loi sur l'immigration et la protection des réfugiés
- (3) À l'entrée en vigueur de l'article 76 de l'autre loi ou à celle de l'article 44 de la présente loi, la dernière en date étant à retenir, les articles 4 à 8 de l'annexe de la *Loi sur la preuve au Canada* sont abrogés.
- 125. (1) Les paragraphes (2) à (9) s'appliquent en cas de sanction du projet de loi C-11, déposé au cours de la 1^{re} session de la 37^e législature et intitulé *Loi sur l'immigration et la protection des réfugiés* (appelé « autre loi » au présent article).
- (2) L'article 3 de la Loi sur l'enregistrement des organismes de bienfaisance (renseignements de sécurité), dans sa version édictée par l'article 113 de la présente loi (appelée « nouvelle loi » au présent article), est modifié par adjonction, selon l'ordre alphabétique, de ce qui suit :
- « renseignements » Les renseignements en matière de sécurité ou de criminalité et ceux obtenus, sous le sceau du secret, de source canadienne ou du gouvernement d'un État étranger, d'une organisation internationale mise sur pied par des États ou d'un de leurs organismes.

« renseignements » "information"

- (3) Le passage du paragraphe 4(1) de la nouvelle loi précédant l'alinéa *a*) est remplacé par ce qui suit :
- **4.** (1) Le ministre et le ministre du Revenu national peuvent signer un certificat attestant qu'ils estiment, sur le fondement de renseignements, avoir des motifs raisonnables de croire, selon le cas :

Signature par le ministre et le ministre du Revenu national

- (4) L'alinéa 5(5)a) de la nouvelle loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :
 - a) de déposer une copie du certificat à la Cour fédérale pour qu'il en soit disposé conformément à l'article 7;
- (5) Les articles 6 à 9 de la nouvelle loi sont remplacés par ce qui suit :

Judicial consideration

152

- **6.** The following provisions govern the determination:
 - (a) the judge shall hear the matter;
 - (b) the judge shall ensure the confidentiality of the information on which the certificate is based and of any other evidence that may be provided to the judge if, in the opinion of the judge, its disclosure would be injurious to national security or endanger the safety of any person;
 - (c) the judge shall deal with all matters as informally and expeditiously as the circumstances and considerations of fairness and natural justice permit;
 - (d) the judge shall, without delay after the matter is referred to the Federal Court, examine the information and any other evidence in private;
 - (e) on each request of the Minister or the Minister of National Revenue, the judge shall hear all or part of the information or evidence in the absence of the applicant or registered charity named in the certificate and their counsel if, in the opinion of the judge, its disclosure would be injurious to national security or endanger the safety of any person;
 - (f) the information or evidence described in paragraph (e) shall be returned to the Ministers and shall not be considered by the judge in determining whether the certificate is reasonable if either
 - (i) the judge determines that the information or evidence is not relevant or, if it is relevant, that it should be part of the summary, or
 - (ii) the matter is withdrawn;
 - (g) the information or evidence described in paragraph (e) shall not be included in the summary but may be considered by the judge in determining whether the certificate is reasonable if the judge determines that the information or evidence is relevant but that its disclosure would be injurious to

6. Les règles suivantes s'appliquent à l'affaire :

t à Examen judiciaire

- a) le juge entend l'affaire;
- b) le juge est tenu de garantir la confidentialité des renseignements justifiant le certificat et des autres éléments de preuve qui pourraient lui être communiqués et dont la divulgation porterait atteinte, selon lui, à la sécurité nationale ou à la sécurité d'autrui;
- c) il procède, dans la mesure où les circonstances et les considérations d'équité et de justice naturelle le permettent, sans formalisme et selon la procédure expéditive:
- d) dès que la Cour fédérale est saisie de l'affaire, il examine les renseignements et autres éléments de preuve à huis clos;
- e) à chaque demande du ministre ou du ministre du Revenu national, il examine, en l'absence du demandeur ou de l'organisme de bienfaisance enregistré et de son conseiller juridique, tout ou partie des renseignements ou autres éléments de preuve dont la divulgation porterait atteinte, selon lui, à la sécurité nationale ou à la sécurité d'autrui:
- f) ces renseignements ou autres éléments de preuve doivent être remis aux ministres et ne peuvent servir de fondement à l'affaire soit si le juge décide qu'ils ne sont pas pertinents ou, l'étant, devraient faire partie du résumé, soit en cas de retrait de la demande;
- g) si le juge décide que ces renseignements ou autres éléments de preuve sont pertinents, mais que leur divulgation porterait atteinte à la sécurité nationale ou à la sécurité d'autrui, ils ne peuvent faire partie du résumé, mais peuvent servir de fondement à l'affaire:
- h) le juge fournit au demandeur ou à l'organisme de bienfaisance enregistré, afin de lui permettre d'être suffisamment informé des circonstances ayant donné lieu au certificat, un résumé de la preuve ne comportant aucun élément dont la divulga-

- national security or endanger the safety of any person;
- (h) the judge shall provide the applicant or registered charity with a summary of the information or evidence that enables it to be reasonably informed of the circumstances giving rise to the certificate, but that does not include anything that in the opinion of the judge would be injurious to national security or endanger the safety of any person if disclosed;
- (i) the judge shall provide the applicant or registered charity with an opportunity to be
- (i) the judge may receive into evidence anything that, in the opinion of the judge, is reliable and appropriate, even if it is inadmissible in a court of law, and may base the decision on that evidence.

Determination whether certificate is reasonable

7. (1) The judge shall determine whether the certificate is reasonable on the basis of the information and evidence available.

Certificate quashed

Effect of

determination

- (2) The judge shall quash a certificate if the judge is of the opinion that it is not reasonable.
- **8.** (1) A certificate that is determined to be reasonable under subsection 7(1) is conclusive proof that, in the case of an applicant, it is ineligible to become a registered charity or, in the case of a registered charity, that it does not comply with the requirements to continue to be a registered charity.

No appeal or review

(2) The determination of the judge is final and is not subject to appeal or judicial review.

Publication

(3) The Minister shall, without delay after a certificate is determined to be reasonable, cause the certificate to be published in the Canada Gazette.

(6) Subsection 10(1) of the new Act is replaced by the following:

Ministerial review

10. (1) An applicant or former registered charity in relation to which a certificate was determined to be reasonable under subsection 7(1) and that believes that there has been a material change in circumstances since the determination made under that subsection

- tion porterait atteinte, selon lui, à la sécurité nationale ou à la sécurité d'autrui;
- i) il donne au demandeur ou à l'organisme de bienfaisance enregistré la possibilité d'être entendu;
- j) il peut recevoir et admettre en preuve tout élément qu'il estime digne de foi et utile — même inadmissible en justice — et peut fonder sa décision sur celui-ci.

7. (1) Le juge décide du caractère raisonnable du certificat, compte tenu des renseignements et des autres éléments de preuve dont il dispose.

Décision: caractère raisonnable

Annulation

(2) Il annule le certificat dont il ne peut conclure qu'il est raisonnable.

> Effet de la décision

> > Interdiction

de recours

- 8. (1) Le certificat jugé raisonnable au titre du paragraphe 7(1) établit de façon concluante que le demandeur n'est pas admissible au statut d'organisme de bienfaisance enregistré ou que l'organisme de bienfaisance enregistré ne se conforme plus aux exigences relatives à son enregistrement, selon le cas.
- (2) La décision du juge est définitive et n'est pas susceptible d'appel ou de contrôle judiciaire.
- (3) Dès que le certificat est jugé raisonnable, le ministre le fait publier dans la Gazette du Canada.

Publication

(6) Le paragraphe 10(1) de la nouvelle loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

10. (1) Quiconque est visé par un certificat jugé raisonnable au titre du paragraphe 7(1) et croit que la situation a évolué de façon marquée depuis ce jugement peut, en s'adressant par écrit au ministre, demander à celui-ci et au ministre du Revenu national de réviser le certificat.

Demande de révision ministérielle may apply in writing to the Minister for a review of the certificate by the Minister and the Minister of National Revenue.

(7) Subsection 10(3) of the new Act is replaced by the following:

Material to be considered

154

- (3) For the purpose of a review, the Ministers may consider any submission made by the applicant or former registered charity that applied for the review and any information that is made available to the Ministers.
- (8) Section 13 of the new Act is replaced by the following:

Term of a certificate

- **13.** Unless it is cancelled earlier, a certificate is effective for a period of seven years beginning on the day it is first determined to be reasonable under subsection 7(1).
- (9) Subsections (2) to (8) come into force on the later of the coming into force of Part 6 of this Act and section 76 of the other Act.
- 126. (1) Subsections (2) and (3) apply if Bill C-11, introduced in the 1st Session of the 37th Parliament and entitled the *Immigration and Refugee Protection Act* (the "other Act"), receives royal assent.
- (2) On the later of the coming into force of subsection 2(1) of the other Act and subsection 3(2) of this Act, paragraph 7(3.74)(c) of the *Criminal Code* is replaced by the following:
 - (c) is a permanent resident within the meaning of subsection 2(1) of the *Immigration and Refugee Protection Act* and is, after the commission of the act or omission, present in Canada.
- (3) On the later of the coming into force of paragraph 274(a) of the other Act and section 4 of this Act, the definition "Canadian" in subsection 83.01(1) of the *Criminal Code* is replaced by the following:

"Canadian" « Canadien »

"Canadian" means a Canadian citizen, a permanent resident within the meaning of subsection 2(1) of the *Immigration and Refugee Protection Act* or a body corporate incorporated and continued under the laws of Canada or a province.

(7) Le paragraphe 10(3) de la nouvelle loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

(3) Afin de statuer sur la demande, les ministres peuvent prendre en compte les éléments présentés par l'auteur de la demande et les renseignements qui sont mis à leur disposition.

Renseignements et autres éléments

Durée de

validité

49-50 ELIZ. II

(8) L'article 13 de la nouvelle loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

- **13.** La durée de validité du certificat est de sept ans à compter de la date à laquelle il est, en premier lieu, jugé raisonnable au titre du paragraphe 7(1), sous réserve de révocation en conformité avec la présente loi.
- (9) Les paragraphes (2) à (8) entrent en vigueur à l'entrée en vigueur de la partie 6 de la présente loi ou à celle de l'article 76 de l'autre loi, la dernière en date étant à retenir.
- 126. (1) Les paragraphes (2) et (3) s'appliquent en cas de sanction du projet de loi C-11, déposé au cours de la 1^{re} session de la 37^e législature et intitulé *Loi sur l'immigration et la protection des réfugiés* (appelé « autre loi » au présent article).
- (2) À l'entrée en vigueur du paragraphe 2(1) de l'autre loi ou à celle du paragraphe 3(2) de la présente loi, la dernière en date étant à retenir, l'alinéa 7(3.74)c) du *Code criminel* est remplacé par ce qui suit :
 - c) il est un résident permanent au sens du paragraphe 2(1) de la *Loi sur l'immigration* et la protection des réfugiés et se trouve au Canada après la commission de l'acte.
- (3) À l'entrée en vigueur de l'alinéa 274a) de l'autre loi ou à celle de l'article 4 de la présente loi, la dernière en date étant à retenir, la définition de « Canadien », au paragraphe 83.01(1) du *Code criminel*, est remplacée par ce qui suit :
- « Canadien » Citoyen canadien, résident permanent au sens du paragraphe 2(1) de la *Loi sur l'immigration et la protection des réfugiés* ou personne morale constituée ou pro-

« Canadien » "Canadian"

127. (1) Subsections (2) to (5) apply if Bill C-11, introduced in the 1st Session of the 37th Parliament and entitled the *Immigration and Refugee Protection Act* (the "other Act"), receives royal assent.

(2) Subsection 168(3) of the *Income Tax Act* is replaced by the following:

Charities Registration (Security Information)

Exception -

Registration (Security

Information)

Charities

(3) Notwithstanding subsections (1) and (2), if a registered charity is the subject of a certificate that is determined to be reasonable under subsection 7(1) of the *Charities Registration (Security Information) Act*, the registration of the charity is revoked as of the making of that determination.

(3) Subsection 172(3.1) of the *Income Tax Act* is replaced by the following:

(3.1) Paragraphs (3)(a) and (a.1) do not apply to an applicant or a registered charity that is the subject of a certificate that has been determined to be reasonable under subsection 7(1) of the *Charities Registration (Security Information) Act*.

(4) Paragraphs 172(4.1)(a) and (b) of the *Income Tax Act* are replaced by the following:

- (a) discontinued on the determination, under subsection 7(1) of that Act, that the certificate is reasonable; or
- (b) reinstated as of the date the certificate is, under subsection 7(2) of that Act, quashed.
- (5) Subsections (2) to (4) come into force on the later of the coming into force of Part 6 of this Act and section 76 of the other Act.

128. If Bill C-11, introduced in the 1st Session of the 37th Parliament and entitled the *Immigration and Refugee Protection Act* (the "other Act"), receives royal assent, then, on the later of the coming into force of paragraph 274(a) of the other Act and section 102 of this Act, the definition

rogée sous le régime d'une loi fédérale ou provinciale.

127. (1) Les paragraphes (2) à (5) s'appliquent en cas de sanction du projet de loi C-11, déposé au cours de la 1^{re} session de la 37^e législature et intitulé *Loi sur l'immigration et la protection des réfugiés* (appelé « autre loi » au présent article).

(2) Le paragraphe 168(3) de la *Loi de l'impôt sur le revenu* est remplacé par ce qui suit :

(3) Malgré les paragraphes (1) et (2), l'enregistrement d'un organisme de bienfaisance est révoqué dès qu'un certificat le concernant est jugé raisonnable au titre du paragraphe 7(1) de la Loi sur l'enregistrement des organismes de bienfaisance (renseignements de sécurité).

Loi sur
l'enregistrement
des organismes
de bienfaisance
(renseignements
de sécurité)

(3) Le paragraphe 172(3.1) de la même loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

(3.1) Les alinéas (3)a) et a.1) ne s'appliquent pas au demandeur ou à l'organisme de bienfaisance enregistré visé par un certificat jugé raisonnable au titre du paragraphe 7(1) de la Loi sur l'enregistrement des organismes de bienfaisance (renseignements de sécurité).

Exception: Loi sur l'enregistrement des organismes de bienfaisance (renseignements de sécurité)

(4) Les alinéas 172(4.1)a) et b) de la même loi sont remplacés par ce qui suit :

- *a*) annulé dès que le certificat est jugé raisonnable au titre du paragraphe 7(1) de cette loi;
- b) rétabli à compter de l'annulation du certificat au titre du paragraphe 7(2) de cette loi
- (5) Les paragraphes (2) à (4) entrent en vigueur à l'entrée en vigueur de la partie 6 de la présente loi ou à celle de l'article 76 de l'autre loi, la dernière en date étant à retenir.

128. En cas de sanction du projet de loi C-11, déposé au cours de la 1^{re} session de la 37^e législature et intitulé *Loi sur l'immigration et la protection des réfugiés* (appelé « autre loi » au présent article), à l'entrée en vigueur de l'alinéa 274a) de l'autre loi ou à celle de l'article 102 de la présente loi, la

"Canadian" in section 273.61 of the *National Defence Act* is replaced by the following:

"Canadian" « Canadien »

"Canadian" means a Canadian citizen, a permanent resident within the meaning of subsection 2(1) of the *Immigration and Refugee Protection Act* or a body corporate incorporated and continued under the laws of Canada or a province.

Bill C-15B

- 129. If Bill C-15B of the 1st Session of the 37th Parliament, entitled An Act to amend the Criminal Code (cruelty to animals and firearms) and the Firearms Act (the "other Act"), receives royal assent, then
 - (a) section 96 of this Act and the heading before it are repealed if section 52 of the other Act comes into force before section 96 of this Act comes into force; and
 - (b) section 52 of the other Act is repealed if section 96 of this Act comes into force before section 52 of the other Act comes into force.

Bill C-24

- 130. (1) Subsections (2) to (9) apply if Bill C-24, introduced in the 1st Session of the 37th Parliament and entitled An Act to amend the Criminal Code (organized crime and law enforcement) and to make consequential amendments to other Acts (the "other Act"), receives royal assent.
- (2) If subsection 1(5) of the other Act comes into force before subsection 2(2) of this Act, then, on the later of the day on which subsection 1(5) of the other Act comes into force and the day on which this Act receives royal assent, the definition "justice system participant" in section 2 of the *Criminal Code*, as enacted by subsection 2(2) of this Act, is repealed.
- (3) If subsection 12(2) of the other Act comes into force before section 14 of this Act, then section 14 of this Act is repealed on the later of the coming into force of subsection 12(2) of the other Act and the day on which this Act receives royal assent.

dernière en date étant à retenir, la définition de « Canadien », à l'article 273.61 de la *Loi* sur la défense nationale, est remplacée par ce qui suit :

« Canadien » Citoyen canadien, résident permanent au sens du paragraphe 2(1) de la *Loi sur l'immigration et la protection des réfugiés* ou personne morale constituée ou prorogée sous le régime d'une loi fédérale ou provinciale.

« Canadien » "Canadian"

Projet de loi C-15B

- 129. En cas de sanction du projet de loi C-15B de la 1^{re} session de la 37^e législature, intitulé *Loi modifiant le Code criminel* (cruauté envers les animaux et armes à feu) et la Loi sur les armes à feu (appelé « autre loi » au présent article) :
 - a) si l'article 52 de l'autre loi entre en vigueur avant l'article 96 de la présente loi, ce dernier article et l'intertitre le précédant sont abrogés;
 - b) si l'article 96 de la présente loi entre en vigueur avant l'article 52 de l'autre loi, ce dernier article est abrogé.

Projet de loi C-24

- 130. (1) Les paragraphes (2) à (9) s'appliquent en cas de sanction du projet de loi C-24, déposé au cours de la 1^{re} session de la 37^e législature et intitulé *Loi modifiant le Code criminel (crime organisé et application de la loi) et d'autres lois en conséquence* (appelé « autre loi » au présent article).
- (2) Si le paragraphe 1(5) de l'autre loi entre en vigueur avant le paragraphe 2(2) de la présente loi, à l'entrée en vigueur du paragraphe 1(5) de l'autre loi ou, si elle est postérieure, à la date de sanction de la présente loi, la définition de « personne associée au système judiciaire », au paragraphe 2(2) de la présente loi, est abrogée.
- (3) Si l'entrée en vigueur du paragraphe 12(2) de l'autre loi précède celle de l'article 14 de la présente loi, à l'entrée en vigueur du paragraphe 12(2) de l'autre loi ou, si elle est postérieure, à la date de sanction de la présente loi, l'article 14 de la présente loi est abrogé.

- (4) If subsection 12(2) of the other Act comes into force on the same day as section 14 of this Act, then subsection 12(2) of the other Act is deemed to have come into force before section 14 of this Act and subsection (3) applies.
- (5) If subsection 26(1) of the other Act comes into force before section 15 of this Act, then, on the later of the day on which subsection 26(1) of the other Act comes into force and the day on which this Act receives royal assent, section 15 of this Act is replaced by the following:
- 15. Subsection 462.48(1.1) of the Act is amended by striking out the word "or" at the end of paragraph (b), by adding the word "or" at the end of paragraph (c) and by adding the following after paragraph (c):
 - (d) a terrorism offence.
- (6) If section 30 of the other Act comes into force before section 18 of this Act, then, on the later of the day on which section 30 of the other Act comes into force and the day on which this Act receives royal assent, section 18 of this Act is repealed.
- (7) If section 30 of the other Act comes into force on the same day as section 18 of this Act, then section 30 of the other Act is deemed to have come into force before section 18 of this Act and subsection (6) applies.
- (7.1) If section 18 of this Act comes into force before section 30 of the other Act, then, on the day on which section 30 of the other Act comes into force, subsection 490.1(1.1) of the *Criminal Code* is repealed.
- (7.2) If subsection 12(2) of the other Act comes into force before section 28 of the Security of Information Act, as enacted by section 29 of this Act, then section 28 of the Security of Information Act is repealed on the later of the coming into force of subsection 12(2) of the other Act and the day on which this Act receives royal assent.

- (4) Si le paragraphe 12(2) de l'autre loi entre en vigueur en même temps que l'article 14 de la présente loi, le paragraphe 12(2) de l'autre loi est réputé être entré en vigueur avant l'article 14 de la présente loi et le paragraphe (3) s'applique.
- (5) Si le paragraphe 26(1) de l'autre loi entre en vigueur avant l'article 15 de la présente loi, à l'entrée en vigueur du paragraphe 26(1) de l'autre loi ou, si elle est postérieure, à la date de sanction de la présente loi, l'article 15 de la présente loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :
- 15. Le paragraphe 462.48(1.1) de la même loi est modifié par adjonction, après l'alinéa c), de ce qui suit :
 - d) soit une infraction de terrorisme.
- (6) Si l'entrée en vigueur de l'article 30 de l'autre loi précède celle de l'article 18 de la présente loi, à l'entrée en vigueur de l'article 30 de l'autre loi ou, si elle est postérieure, à la date de sanction de la présente loi, l'article 18 de la présente loi est abrogé.
- (7) Si l'article 30 de l'autre loi entre en vigueur en même temps que l'article 18 de la présente loi, l'article 30 de l'autre loi est réputé être entré en vigueur avant l'article 18 de la présente loi et le paragraphe (6) s'applique.
- (7.1) Si l'entrée en vigueur de l'article 18 de la présente loi précède celle de l'article 30 de l'autre loi, à l'entrée en vigueur de l'article 30 de l'autre loi, le paragraphe 490.1(1.1) du *Code criminel* est abrogé.
- (7.2) Si l'entrée en vigueur du paragraphe 12(2) de l'autre loi précède celle de l'article 28 de la *Loi sur la protection de l'information*, dans sa version édictée par l'article 29 de la présente loi, à l'entrée en vigueur du paragraphe 12(2) de l'autre loi ou, si elle est postérieure, à la date de sanction de la présente loi, l'article 28 de la *Loi sur la protection de l'information* est abrogé.

- (7.3) If subsection 12(2) of the other Act comes into force on the same day as, or on a day that is after, the day on which section 28 of the *Security of Information Act*, as enacted by section 29 of this Act, comes into force, then, on the day on which subsection 12(2) of the other Act comes into force, section 28 of the *Security of Information Act* is repealed.
- (8) If subsection 12(2) of the other Act comes into force before section 33 of this Act, then section 33 of this Act is repealed on the later of the coming into force of subsection 12(2) of the other Act and the day on which this Act receives royal assent.
- (9) If subsection 12(2) of the other Act comes into force on the same day as section 33 of this Act, then subsection 12(2) of the other Act is deemed to have come into force before section 33 of this Act and subsection (8) applies.
- 131. (1) Subsection (2) applies if Bill C-24, introduced in the 1st Session of the 37th Parliament and entitled An Act to amend the Criminal Code (organized crime and law enforcement) and to make consequential amendments to other Acts (the "other Act"), receives royal assent.
- (2) If subsection 2(2) of this Act comes into force before subsection 1(5) of the other Act, then, on the later of the day on which subsection 2(2) of this Act comes into force and the day on which the other Act receives royal assent,
 - (a) section 1 of the other Act is amended by adding the following after subsection (1):
- (1.1) The definition "justice system participant" in section 2 of the Act is amended by adding the following after subparagraph (b)(viii):
 - (viii.1) a public officer within the meaning of subsection 25.1(1) and a person acting at the direction of such an officer.
 - (b) subsection 1(5) of the other Act is replaced by the following:

- (7.3) Si le paragraphe 12(2) de l'autre loi entre en vigueur à la même date que l'article 28 de la *Loi sur la protection de l'information*, dans sa version édictée par l'article 29 de la présente loi, ou après cette date, l'article 28 de la *Loi sur la protection de l'information* est abrogé à l'entrée en vigueur du paragraphe 12(2) de l'autre loi.
- (8) Si l'entrée en vigueur du paragraphe 12(2) de l'autre loi précède celle de l'article 33 de la présente loi, à l'entrée en vigueur du paragraphe 12(2) de l'autre loi ou, si elle est postérieure, à la date de sanction de la présente loi, l'article 33 de la présente loi est abrogé.
- (9) Si le paragraphe 12(2) de l'autre loi entre en vigueur en même temps que l'article 33 de la présente loi, le paragraphe 12(2) de l'autre loi est réputé être entré en vigueur avant l'article 33 de la présente loi et le paragraphe (8) s'applique.
- 131. (1) Le paragraphe (2) s'applique en cas de sanction du projet de loi C-24, déposé au cours de la 1^{re} session de la 37^e législature et intitulé *Loi modifiant le Code criminel* (crime organisé et application de la loi) et d'autres lois en conséquence (appelé « autre loi » au présent article).
- (2) Si le paragraphe 2(2) de la présente loi entre en vigueur avant le paragraphe 1(5) de l'autre loi, à l'entrée en vigueur du paragraphe 2(2) ou, si elle est postérieure, à la date de sanction de l'autre loi :
 - a) l'article 1 de l'autre loi est modifié par adjonction, après le paragraphe (1), de ce qui suit :
- (1.1) La définition de « personne associée au système judiciaire », à l'article 2 de la même loi, est modifiée par adjonction, après le sous-alinéa b)(viii), de ce qui suit :
 - (viii.1) le fonctionnaire public, au sens du paragraphe 25.1(1), et la personne agissant sous sa direction,
 - b) le paragraphe 1(5) de l'autre loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

"serious

« infraction

offence

grave »

(5) Section 2 of the Act is amended by adding the following in alphabetical order:

"serious offence" has the same meaning as in subsection 467.1(1);

132. (1) If Bill C-24, introduced in the 1st Session of the 37th Parliament and entitled An Act to amend the Criminal Code (organized crime and law enforcement) and to make consequential amendments to other Acts (the "other Act"), receives royal assent, then section 70 of the other Act and the heading before it are replaced by the following:

Proceeds of Crime (Money Laundering) and Terrorist Financing Act

2000, c. 24, s. 76.1(1) 70. The definition "money laundering offence" in section 2 of the *Proceeds of Crime (Money Laundering) and Terrorist Financing Act* is replaced by the following:

"money laundering offence" means an offence under subsection 462.31(1) of the *Criminal Code*.

"money laundering offence" « infraction de recyclage des produits de la criminalité »

- (2) Subsection (1) comes into force on the day on which this Act receives royal assent, but only if that day is before the day on which section 70 of the other Act comes into force.
- 133. (1) Subsections (2) to (21) apply if Bill C-24, introduced in the 1st Session of the 37th Parliament and entitled An Act to amend the Criminal Code (organized crime and law enforcement) and to make consequential amendments to other Acts (the "other Act"), receives royal assent.
- (2) If section 4 of the other Act comes into force after section 5 of this Act, then, on the day on which section 4 of the other Act comes into force, the definition "offence" in section 183 of the *Criminal Code* is amended by

(5) L'article 2 de la même loi est modifié par adjonction, selon l'ordre alphabétique, de ce qui suit :

« infraction grave » S'entend au sens du paragraphe 467.1(1).

« infraction grave » "serious offence"

ch. 41

132. (1) En cas de sanction du projet de loi C-24, déposé au cours de la 1^{re} session de la 37^e législature et intitulé *Loi modifiant le Code criminel (crime organisé et application de la loi) et d'autres lois en conséquence* (appelé « autre loi » au présent article), l'article 70 de l'autre loi et l'intertitre le précédant sont remplacés par ce qui suit :

Loi sur le recyclage des produits de la criminalité et le financement des activités terroristes

70. La définition de « infraction de recyclage des produits de la criminalité », à l'article 2 de la Loi sur le recyclage des produits de la criminalité et le financement des activités terroristes, est remplacée par ce qui suit :

« infraction de recyclage des produits de la criminalité » L'infraction visée au paragraphe 462.31(1) du *Code criminel*.

2000, ch. 24, par. 76.1(1)

« infraction de recyclage des produits de la criminalité » "money laundering offence"

- (2) Le paragraphe (1) entre en vigueur à la date de sanction de la présente loi, mais seulement si cette date précède celle de l'entrée en vigueur de l'article 70 de l'autre loi.
- 133. (1) Les paragraphes (2) à (21) s'appliquent en cas de sanction du projet de loi C-24, déposé au cours de la 1^{re} session de la 37^e législature et intitulé *Loi modifiant le Code criminel (crime organisé et application de la loi) et d'autres lois en conséquence* (appelé « autre loi » au présent article).
- (2) Si l'article 4 de l'autre loi entre en vigueur après l'article 5 de la présente loi, à l'entrée en vigueur de l'article 4 de l'autre loi, la définition de « infraction », à l'article 183 du *Code criminel*, est modifiée par :

(a) adding the following after subparagraph (a)(xii):

(xii.1) section 83.02 (providing or collecting property for certain activities),

(xii.2) section 83.03 (providing, making available, etc., property or services for terrorist purposes),

(xii.3) section 83.04 (using or possessing property for terrorist purposes),

(xii.4) section 83.18 (participation in activity of terrorist group),

(xii.5) section 83.19 (facilitating terrorist activity),

(xii.6) section 83.2 (commission of offence for terrorist group),

(xii.7) section 83.21 (instructing to carry out activity for terrorist group),

(xii.8) section 83.22 (instructing to carry out terrorist activity),

(xii.9) section 83.23 (harbouring or concealing),

(b) adding the following after subparagraph (a)(lxxii):

(lxxii.1) section 424.1 (threat against United Nations or associated personnel),

(c) adding the following after subparagraph (a)(lxxv):

(lxxv.1) section 431.1 (attack on premises, accommodation or transport of United Nations or associated personnel),

(lxxv.2) subsection 431.2(2) (explosive or other lethal device),

(d) replacing the portion after paragraph (j) with the following:

and includes any other offence that there are reasonable grounds to believe is a criminal organization offence or any other offence that there are reasonable grounds to believe is an offence described in paragraph (b) or (c) of the definition "terrorism offence" in section 2;

a) adjonction, après le sous-alinéa a)(xii), de ce qui suit :

(xii.1) l'article 83.02 (fournir ou réunir des biens en vue de certains actes),

(xii.2) l'article 83.03 (fournir, rendre disponibles, etc. des biens ou services à des fins terroristes),

(xii.3) l'article 83.04 (utiliser ou avoir en sa possession des biens à des fins terroristes).

(xii.4) l'article 83.18 (participation à une activité d'un groupe terroriste),

(xii.5) l'article 83.19 (facilitation d'une activité terroriste),

(xii.6) l'article 83.2 (infraction au profit d'un groupe terroriste),

(xii.7) l'article 83.21 (charger une personne de se livrer à une activité pour un groupe terroriste),

(xii.8) l'article 83.22 (charger une personne de se livrer à une activité terroriste),

(xii.9) l'article 83.23 (héberger ou cacher),

b) adjonction, après le sous-alinéa a)(lxxii), de ce qui suit :

(lxxii.1) l'article 424.1 (menaces contre le personnel des Nations Unies ou le personnel associé),

c) adjonction, après le sous-alinéa a)(lxxv), de ce qui suit :

(lxxv.1) l'article 431.1 (attaque contre les locaux officiels, le logement privé ou les moyens de transport du personnel des Nations Unies ou du personnel associé),

(lxxv.2) le paragraphe 431.2(2) (engin explosif ou autre engin meurtrier),

d) remplacement du passage suivant l'alinéa j) par ce qui suit :

Est également visée par la présente définition toute autre infraction dont il y a des motifs raisonnables de croire qu'elle est une infraction d'organisation criminelle, ou toute autre infraction dont il y a des motifs

raisonnables de croire qu'elle est une infraction visée aux alinéas b) ou c) de la définition de « infraction de terrorisme » à l'article 2.

161

- (3) If section 4 of the other Act comes into force on the same day as section 5 of this Act, then section 5 of this Act is deemed to have come into force before section 4 of the other Act and subsection (2) applies.
- (4) If section 4 of the other Act comes into force before section 5 of this Act, then, on the later of the day on which section 4 of the other Act comes into force and the day on which this Act receives royal assent, section 5 of this Act is repealed and the definition "offence" in section 183 of the *Criminal Code* is amended by

(a) adding the following after subparagraph (a)(xii):

(xii.1) section 83.02 (providing or collecting property for certain activities),

(xii.2) section 83.03 (providing, making available, etc., property or services for terrorist purposes).

(xii.3) section 83.04 (using or possessing property for terrorist purposes),

(xii.4) section 83.18 (participation in activity of terrorist group),

(xii.5) section 83.19 (facilitating terrorist activity),

(xii.6) section 83.2 (commission of offence for terrorist group),

(xii.7) section 83.21 (instructing to carry out activity for terrorist group),

(xii.8) section 83.22 (instructing to carry out terrorist activity),

(xii.9) section 83.23 (harbouring or concealing),

(b) adding the following after subparagraph (a)(lxxii):

(lxxii.1) section 424.1 (threat against United Nations or associated personnel).

- (3) Si l'article 4 de l'autre loi entre en vigueur en même temps que l'article 5 de la présente loi, l'article 5 de la présente loi est réputé être entré en vigueur avant l'article 4 de l'autre loi et le paragraphe (2) s'applique.
- (4) Si l'article 4 de l'autre loi entre en vigueur avant l'article 5 de la présente loi, à la date d'entrée en vigueur de l'article 4 de l'autre loi ou, si elle est postérieure, à la date de sanction de la présente loi, l'article 5 de la présente loi est abrogé et la définition de « infraction », à l'article 183 du *Code criminel*, est modifiée par :

a) adjonction, après le sous-alinéa *a*)(xii), de ce qui suit :

- (xii.1) l'article 83.02 (fournir ou réunir des biens en vue de certains actes),
- (xii.2) l'article 83.03 (fournir, rendre disponibles, etc. des biens ou services à des fins terroristes),
- (xii.3) l'article 83.04 (utiliser ou avoir en sa possession des biens à des fins terroristes),
- (xii.4) l'article 83.18 (participation à une activité d'un groupe terroriste),
- (xii.5) l'article 83.19 (facilitation d'une activité terroriste),
- (xii.6) l'article 83.2 (infraction au profit d'un groupe terroriste),
- (xii.7) l'article 83.21 (charger une personne de se livrer à une activité pour un groupe terroriste),
- (xii.8) l'article 83.22 (charger une personne de se livrer à une activité terroriste),
- (xii.9) l'article 83.23 (héberger ou cacher).

b) adjonction, après le sous-alinéaa)(lxxii), de ce qui suit :

(c) adding the following after subparagraph (a)(lxxv):

(lxxv.1) section 431.1 (attack on premises, accommodation or transport of United Nations or associated personnel),

(lxxv.2) subsection 431.2(2) (explosive or other lethal device),

(d) replacing the portion after paragraph (j) with the following:

and includes any other offence that there are reasonable grounds to believe is a criminal organization offence or any other offence that there are reasonable grounds to believe is an offence described in paragraph (b) or (c) of the definition "terrorism offence" in section 2:

- (5) If section 4 of the other Act comes into force after section 31 of this Act, then, on the day on which section 4 of the other Act comes into force, paragraph (j) of the definition "offence" in section 183 of the *Criminal Code* is replaced by the following:
 - (j) any offence under the Security of Information Act,
- (6) If section 4 of the other Act comes into force on the same day as section 31 of this Act, then section 31 of this Act is deemed to have come into force before section 4 of the other Act and subsection (5) applies.
- (7) If section 4 of the other Act comes into force before section 31 of this Act, then, on the later of the day on which section 4 of the other Act comes into force and the day on which this Act receives royal assent,
 - (a) section 31 of this Act is repealed; and
 - (b) paragraph (j) of the definition "offence" in section 183 of the *Criminal Code* is replaced by the following:

(lxxii.1) l'article 424.1 (menaces contre le personnel des Nations Unies ou le personnel associé),

c) adjonction, après le sous-alinéa a)(lxxv), de ce qui suit :

(lxxv.1) l'article 431.1 (attaque contre les locaux officiels, le logement privé ou les moyens de transport du personnel des Nations Unies ou du personnel associé),

(lxxv.2) le paragraphe 431.2(2) (engin explosif ou autre engin meurtrier),

d) remplacement du passage suivant l'alinéa j) par ce qui suit :

Est également visée par la présente définition toute autre infraction dont il y a des motifs raisonnables de croire qu'elle est une infraction d'organisation criminelle, ou toute autre infraction dont il y a des motifs raisonnables de croire qu'elle est une infraction visée aux alinéas b) ou c) de la définition de « infraction de terrorisme » à l'article 2.

- (5) Si l'article 4 de l'autre loi entre en vigueur après l'article 31 de la présente loi, à l'entrée en vigueur de l'article 4 de l'autre loi, l'alinéa *j*) de la définition de « infraction », à l'article 183 du *Code criminel*, est remplacé par ce qui suit :
 - j) toute infraction visée à la Loi sur la protection de l'information;
- (6) Si l'article 4 de l'autre loi entre en vigueur en même temps que l'article 31 de la présente loi, l'article 4 de l'autre loi est réputé être entré en vigueur avant l'article 31 de la présente loi et le paragraphe (5) s'applique.
- (7) Si l'article 4 de l'autre loi entre en vigueur avant l'article 31 de la présente loi, à la date d'entrée en vigueur de l'article 4 de l'autre loi ou, si elle est postérieure, à la date de sanction de la présente loi :
 - a) l'article 31 de la présente loi est abrogé;
 - b) l'alinéa j) de la définition de « infraction », à l'article 183 du *Code criminel*, est remplacé par ce qui suit :

ch. 41

- (j) any offence under the Security of Information Act,
- (8) On the later of the coming into force of section 6 of this Act and section 5 of the other Act, subsection 185(1.1) of the *Criminal Code* is replaced by the following:

Exception for criminal organizations and terrorist groups

- (1.1) Notwithstanding paragraph (1)(h), that paragraph does not apply where the application for an authorization is in relation to
 - (a) an offence under section 467.11, 467.12 or 467.13;
 - (b) an offence committed for the benefit of, at the direction of or in association with a criminal organization; or
 - (c) a terrorism offence.
- (8.1) On the later of the coming into force of section 6.1 of this Act and section 6 of the other Act, subsection 186(1.1) of the *Criminal Code* is replaced by the following:

Exception for criminal organizations and terrorism offences

- (1.1) Notwithstanding paragraph (1)(b), that paragraph does not apply where the judge is satisfied that the application for an authorization is in relation to
 - (a) an offence under section 467.11, 467.12 or 467.13;
 - (b) an offence committed for the benefit of, at the direction of or in association with a criminal organization; or
 - (c) a terrorism offence.
- (9) On the later of the coming into force of section 7 of this Act and section 7 of the other Act, section 186.1 of the *Criminal Code* is replaced by the following:

- j) toute infraction visée à la Loi sur la protection de l'information;
- (8) À l'entrée en vigueur de l'article 6 de la présente loi ou à celle de l'article 5 de l'autre loi, la dernière en date étant à retenir, le paragraphe 185(1.1) du *Code criminel* est remplacé par ce qui suit :
- (1.1) L'alinéa (1)*h*) ne s'applique pas dans les cas où l'autorisation demandée vise :
 - *a*) une infraction prévue aux articles 467.11, 467.12 ou 467.13;
 - b) une infraction commise au profit ou sous la direction d'une organisation criminelle, ou en association avec elle:
 - c) une infraction de terrorisme.
- (8.1) À l'entrée en vigueur de l'article 6.1 de la présente loi ou à celle de l'article 6 de l'autre loi, la dernière en date étant à retenir, le paragraphe 186(1.1) du *Code criminel* est remplacé par ce qui suit :
- (1.1) L'alinéa (1)*b*) ne s'applique pas dans les cas où le juge est convaincu que l'autorisation demandée vise :
 - *a*) une infraction prévue aux articles 467.11, 467.12 ou 467.13;
 - b) une infraction commise au profit ou sous la direction d'une organisation criminelle, ou en association avec elle;
 - c) une infraction de terrorisme.
- (9) À l'entrée en vigueur de l'article 7 de la présente loi ou à celle de l'article 7 de l'autre loi, la dernière en date étant à retenir, l'article 186.1 du *Code criminel* est remplacé par ce qui suit :

Exception dans le cas d'une organisation criminelle ou d'une infraction de terrorisme

Exception dans le cas d'une organisation criminelle ou d'une infraction de terrorisme Time limitation in relation to criminal organizations and terrorism offences

- **186.1** Notwithstanding paragraphs 184.2(4)(e) and 186(4)(e) and subsection 186(7), an authorization or any renewal of an authorization may be valid for one or more periods specified in the authorization exceeding sixty days, each not exceeding one year, where the authorization is in relation to
 - (a) an offence under section 467.11, 467.12 or 467.13:
 - (b) an offence committed for the benefit of, at the direction of or in association with a criminal organization; or
 - (c) a terrorism offence.
- (10) On the later of the coming into force of section 8 of this Act and section 8 of the other Act, subsection 196(5) of the *Criminal Code* is replaced by the following:

Exception for criminal organizations and terrorist groups

- (5) Notwithstanding subsections (3) and 185(3), where the judge to whom an application referred to in subsection (2) or 185(2) is made, on the basis of an affidavit submitted in support of the application, is satisfied that the investigation is in relation to
 - (a) an offence under section 467.11, 467.12 or 467.13,
 - (b) an offence committed for the benefit of, at the direction of or in association with a criminal organization, or
 - (c) a terrorism offence,

and is of the opinion that the interests of justice warrant the granting of the application, the judge shall grant an extension, or a subsequent extension, of the period, but no extension may exceed three years.

- (11) If section 15 of this Act comes into force before subsection 26(1) of the other Act, then, on the day on which subsection 26(1) of the other Act comes into force, subsection 462.48(1.1) of the *Criminal Code*, as enacted by subsection 26(1) of the other Act, is amended by striking out the word "or" at the end of paragraph (b), by adding the word "or" at the end of paragraph (c) and by adding the following after paragraph (c):
 - (d) a terrorism offence.

186.1 Par dérogation aux alinéas 184.2(4)*e*) et 186(4)*e*) et au paragraphe 186(7), l'autorisation et le renouvellement peuvent être valides pour des périodes de plus de soixante jours précisées par l'autorisation et d'au plus un an chacune, dans les cas où l'autorisation vise :

Durée de validité dans le cas d'une organisation criminelle ou d'une infraction de terrorisme

- *a*) une infraction prévue aux articles 467.11, 467.12 ou 467.13:
- b) une infraction commise au profit ou sous la direction d'une organisation criminelle, ou en association avec elle:
- c) une infraction de terrorisme.
- (10) À l'entrée en vigueur de l'article 8 de la présente loi ou à celle de l'article 8 de l'autre loi, la dernière en date étant à retenir, le paragraphe 196(5) du *Code criminel* est remplacé par ce qui suit :
- (5) Par dérogation aux paragraphes (3) et 185(3), le juge saisi de la demande visée aux paragraphes (2) ou 185(2) doit accorder une prolongation initiale ou ultérieure de la période, d'une durée maximale de trois ans, s'il est convaincu par l'affidavit appuyant la demande que l'autorisation vise les éléments suivants et que les intérêts de la justice justifient la prolongation :
 - *a*) une infraction prévue aux articles 467.11, 467.12 ou 467.13;
 - b) une infraction commise au profit ou sous la direction d'une organisation criminelle, ou en association avec elle;
 - c) une infraction de terrorisme.
- (11) Si l'article 15 de la présente loi entre en vigueur avant le paragraphe 26(1) de l'autre loi, à l'entrée en vigueur du paragraphe 26(1) de l'autre loi, le paragraphe 462.48(1.1) du *Code criminel*, dans sa version édictée par le paragraphe 26(1) de l'autre loi, est modifié par adjonction, après l'alinéa c), de ce qui suit :
 - d) soit une infraction de terrorisme.

Exception dans le cas d'une organisation criminelle ou d'une infraction de terrorisme

ch. 41

(12) If subsection 29(2) of the other Act comes into force before subsection 16(1) of this Act, then, on the day on which subsection 16(1) of this Act comes into force, subsection 486(2.102) of the Criminal Code is replaced by the following:

Offences

- (2.102) The offences for the purposes of subsection (2.101) are
 - (a) an offence under section 423.1, 467.11, 467.12 or 467.13, or a serious offence committed for the benefit of, at the direction of, or in association with, a criminal organization;
 - (b) a terrorism offence;
 - (c) an offence under subsection 16(1) or (2), 17(1), 19(1), 20(1) or 22(1) of the Security of Information Act; and
 - (d) an offence under subsection 21(1) or section 23 of the Security of Information Act that is committed in relation to an offence referred to in paragraph (c).
- (13) If subsection 16(1) of this Act comes into force before subsection 29(2) of the other Act, then, on the day on which subsection 29(2) of the other Act comes into force, subsections 486(2.101) and (2.102) of the Criminal Code are replaced by the following:

Testimony outside court room

Offences

- (2.101)Notwithstanding section 650. where an accused is charged with an offence referred to in subsection (2.102), the presiding judge or justice, as the case may be, may order that any witness testify
 - (a) outside the court room, if the judge or justice is of the opinion that the order is necessary to protect the safety of the witness; and
 - (b) outside the court room or behind a screen or other device that would allow the witness not to see the accused, if the judge or justice is of the opinion that the order is necessary to obtain a full and candid account from the witness.
- (2.102) The offences for the purposes of subsection (2.101) are
 - (a) an offence under section 423.1, 467.11, 467.12 or 467.13, or a serious offence

- (12) Si le paragraphe 29(2) de l'autre loi entre en vigueur avant le paragraphe 16(1) de la présente loi, à la date d'entrée en vigueur du paragraphe 16(1) de la présente loi, le paragraphe 486(2.102) du Code criminel est remplacé par ce qui suit :
- (2.102) Les infractions visées par le paragraphe (2.101) sont les suivantes :
 - a) une infraction aux articles 423.1, 467.11, 467.12 ou 467.13 ou une infraction grave présumée avoir été commise au profit ou sous la direction d'une organisation criminelle, ou en association avec elle:
 - b) une infraction de terrorisme;
 - c) une infraction aux paragraphes 16(1) ou (2), 17(1), 19(1), 20(1) ou 22(1) de la Loi sur la protection de l'information;
 - d) une infraction au paragraphe 21(1) ou à l'article 23 de cette loi commise à l'égard d'une infraction mentionnée à l'alinéa c).
- (13) Si le paragraphe 16(1) de la présente loi entre en vigueur avant le paragraphe 29(2) de l'autre loi, à l'entrée en vigueur du paragraphe 29(2) de l'autre loi, les paragraphes 486(2.101) et (2.102) du *Code criminel* sont remplacés par ce qui suit :
- (2.101) Par dérogation à l'article 650, lorsqu'une personne est accusée d'une infraction mentionnée au paragraphe (2.102), le juge qui préside le procès ou le juge de paix peut ordonner qu'un témoin dépose :
 - a) à l'extérieur de la salle d'audience s'il est d'avis que cela est nécessaire pour assurer la protection du témoin;
 - b) à l'extérieur de la salle d'audience ou derrière un écran ou un dispositif qui permet au témoin de ne pas voir l'accusé s'il est d'avis que cela est nécessaire pour obtenir du témoin un récit complet et franc des faits.
- (2.102) Les infractions visées par le paragraphe (2.101) sont les suivantes :
 - a) une infraction aux articles 423.1, 467.11, 467.12 ou 467.13 ou une infraction grave

Infractions

Exclusion

Infractions

committed for the benefit of, at the direction of, or in association with, a criminal organization;

- (b) a terrorism offence;
- (c) an offence under subsection 16(1) or (2), 17(1), 19(1), 20(1) or 22(1) of the Security of Information Act; and
- (d) an offence under subsection 21(1) or section 23 of the *Security of Information Act* that is committed in relation to an offence referred to in paragraph (c).
- (14) On the later of the coming into force of subsection 16(2) of this Act and subsection 29(3) of the other Act, subsections 486(4.1) and (4.11) of the *Criminal Code* are replaced by the following:

Ban on publication, etc.

Offences

166

- (4.1) A judge or justice may, in any proceedings against an accused other than in respect of an offence set out in subsection (3), make an order directing that the identity of a victim or witness or, in the case of an offence referred to in subsection (4.11), the identity of a justice system participant who is involved in the proceedings or any information that could disclose their identity, shall not be published in any document or broadcast in any way, if the judge or justice is satisfied that the order is necessary for the proper administration of justice.
- (4.11) The offences for the purposes of subsection (4.1) are
 - (a) an offence under section 423.1 or a criminal organization offence;
 - (b) a terrorism offence;
 - (c) an offence under subsection 16(1) or (2), 17(1), 19(1), 20(1) or 22(1) of the Security of Information Act; and
 - (d) an offence under subsection 21(1) or section 23 of the *Security of Information Act* that is committed in relation to an offence referred to in paragraph (c).
- (15) On the later of the coming into force of subsection 19(1) of this Act and subsection 37(1) of the other Act, subsection 515(4.1) of the *Criminal Code* is replaced by the following:

présumée avoir été commise au profit ou sous la direction d'une organisation criminelle, ou en association avec elle;

- b) une infraction de terrorisme;
- c) une infraction aux paragraphes 16(1) ou (2), 17(1), 19(1), 20(1) ou 22(1) de la *Loi* sur la protection de l'information;
- d) une infraction au paragraphe 21(1) ou à l'article 23 de cette loi commise à l'égard d'une infraction mentionnée à l'alinéa c).
- (14) À l'entrée en vigueur du paragraphe 16(2) de la présente loi ou à celle du paragraphe 29(3) de l'autre loi, la dernière en date étant à retenir, les paragraphes 486(4.1) et (4.11) du *Code criminel* sont remplacés par ce qui suit :
- (4.1) Le juge ou le juge de paix peut, dans toute procédure à l'égard d'une infraction autre que celles visées au paragraphe (3), rendre une ordonnance interdisant de publier ou de diffuser de quelque autre façon l'identité d'une victime ou d'un témoin, ou, dans le cas d'une infraction mentionnée au paragraphe (4.11), celle d'une personne associée au système judiciaire qui participe à la procédure, ou des renseignements qui permettraient de la découvrir, s'il est convaincu que la bonne administration de la justice l'exige.

Autres ordonnances limitant la publication

- (4.11) Les infractions visées par le paragraphe (4.1) sont les suivantes :
 - *a*) infraction prévue à l'article 423.1 ou infraction d'organisation criminelle;
 - b) infraction de terrorisme;
 - c) infraction aux paragraphes 16(1) ou (2), 17(1), 19(1), 20(1) ou 22(1) de la Loi sur la protection de l'information;
 - d) infraction au paragraphe 21(1) ou à l'article 23 de cette loi, commise à l'égard d'une infraction mentionnée à l'alinéa c).
- (15) À l'entrée en vigueur du paragraphe 19(1) de la présente loi ou à celle du paragraphe 37(1) de l'autre loi, la dernière en date étant à retenir, le paragraphe 515(4.1) du *Code criminel* est remplacé par ce qui suit :

Infractions

Condition

additionnelle

Condition prohibiting possession of firearms, etc.

(4.1) When making an order under subsection (2), in the case of an accused who is charged with

Loi antiterroriste

- (a) an offence in the commission of which violence against a person was used, threatened or attempted,
- (a.1) a terrorism offence,
- (b) an offence under section 264 (criminal harassment),
- (b.1) an offence under section 423.1 (intimidation of a justice system participant),
- (c) an offence relating to the contravention of subsection 5(3) or (4), 6(3) or 7(2) of the Controlled Drugs and Substances Act,
- (d) an offence that involves, or the subjectmatter of which is, a firearm, a cross-bow, a prohibited weapon, a restricted weapon, a prohibited device, ammunition, prohibited ammunition or an explosive substance, or
- (e) an offence under subsection 20(1) of the Security of Information Act, or an offence under subsection 21(1) or 22(1) or section 23 of that Act that is committed in relation to on offence under subsection 20(1) of that

the justice shall add to the order a condition prohibiting the accused from possessing a firearm, cross-bow, prohibited weapon, restricted weapon, prohibited device, ammunition, prohibited ammunition or explosive substance, or all those things, until the accused is dealt with according to law unless the justice considers that such a condition is not required in the interests of the safety of the accused or the safety and security of a victim of the offence or of any other person.

(16) On the later of the coming into force of subsection 19(2) of this Act and subsection 37(2) of the other Act, the portion of subsection 515(4.2) of the Criminal Code before paragraph (a) is replaced by the following:

(4.1) Lorsqu'il rend une ordonnance en vertu du paragraphe (2) dans le cas d'une infraction perpétrée avec usage, tentative ou menace de violence contre autrui, d'une infraction de terrorisme, de l'infraction visée à l'article 264 (harcèlement criminel) ou 423.1 (intimidation d'une personne associée au système judiciaire), d'une infraction aux paragraphes 5(3) ou (4), 6(3) ou 7(2) de la Loi réglementant certaines drogues et autres substances, d'une infraction relative à une arme à feu, une arbalète, une arme prohibée, une arme à autorisation restreinte, un dispositif prohibé, des munitions, des munitions prohibées ou des substances explosives, d'une infraction visée au paragraphe 20(1) de la Loi sur la protection de l'information, ou d'une infraction visée aux paragraphes 21(1) ou 22(1) ou à l'article 23 de cette loi commise à l'égard d'une infraction visée au paragraphe 20(1) de cette loi, le juge de paix doit, s'il en arrive à la conclusion qu'il est souhaitable de le faire pour la sécurité du prévenu, de la victime ou de toute autre personne, assortir l'ordonnance d'une condition lui interdisant, jusqu'à ce qu'il soit jugé conformément à la loi, d'avoir en sa possession de tels objets ou l'un ou plusieurs de ceux-ci.

(16) À l'entrée en vigueur du paragraphe 19(2) de la présente loi ou à celle du paragraphe 37(2) de l'autre loi, la dernière en date étant à retenir, le passage du paragraphe 515(4.2) du Code criminel précédant l'alinéa a) est remplacé par ce qui suit:

Additional conditions

168

- (4.2) Before making an order under subsection (2), in the case of an accused who is charged with an offence referred to in subsection (4.3), the justice shall consider whether it is desirable, in the interests of the safety and security of any person, particularly a victim of or witness to the offence or a justice system participant, to include as a condition of the order
- (17) On the later of the coming into force of subsection 19(3) of this Act and subsection 37(2) of the other Act, paragraph 515(4.3)(b) of the *Criminal Code* is replaced by the following:
 - (b) an offence described in section 264 or 423.1;
- (18) On the later of the coming into force of section 21 of this Act and section 45 of the other Act, subsection 743.6(1.2) of the *Criminal Code* is replaced by the following:

Power of court to delay parole

- (1.2) Notwithstanding section 120 of the Corrections and Conditional Release Act, where an offender receives a sentence of imprisonment of two years or more, including a sentence of imprisonment for life, on conviction for a terrorism offence or an offence under section 467.11, 467.12 or 467.13, the court shall order that the portion of the sentence that must be served before the offender may be released on full parole is one half of the sentence or ten years, whichever is less, unless the court is satisfied, having regard to the circumstances of the commission of the offence and the character and circumstances of the offender, that the expression of society's denunciation of the offence and the objectives of specific and general deterrence would be adequately served by a period of parole ineligibility determined in accordance with the Corrections and Conditional Release Act.
- (19) On the later of the coming into force of subsection 22(1) of this Act and subsection 46(1) of the other Act, subsection 810.01(1) of the *Criminal Code* is replaced by the following:

- (4.2) Le juge de paix qui rend une ordonnance en vertu du paragraphe (2) dans le cas d'une infraction mentionnée au paragraphe (4.3) doit considérer s'il est souhaitable pour la sécurité de toute personne, en particulier celle des victimes, des témoins et des personnes associées au système judiciaire, d'imposer au prévenu, dans l'ordonnance, tout ou partie des obligations suivantes :
- (17) À l'entrée en vigueur du paragraphe 19(3) de la présente loi ou à celle du paragraphe 37(2) de l'autre loi, la dernière en date étant à retenir, l'alinéa 515(4.3)b) du Code criminel est remplacé par ce qui suit :
 - b) infraction visée aux articles 264 ou 423.1;
- (18) À l'entrée en vigueur de l'article 21 de la présente loi ou à celle de l'article 45 de l'autre loi, la dernière en date étant à retenir, le paragraphe 743.6(1.2) du *Code criminel* est remplacé par ce qui suit :
- (1.2) Par dérogation à l'article 120 de la Loi sur le système correctionnel et la mise en liberté sous condition, le tribunal est tenu, sauf s'il est convaincu, compte tenu des circonstances de l'infraction et du caractère et des particularités du délinquant, que la réprobation de la société à l'égard de l'infraction commise et l'effet dissuasif de l'ordonnance auraient la portée voulue si la période d'inadmissibilité était déterminée conformément à cette loi, d'ordonner que le délinquant condamné à une peine d'emprisonnement d'au moins deux ans — y compris une peine d'emprisonnement à perpétuité - pour une infraction de terrorisme ou une infraction prévue aux articles 467.11, 467.12 ou 467.13 purge, avant d'être admissible à la libération conditionnelle totale, la moitié de sa peine jusqu'à concurrence de dix ans.
- (19) À l'entrée en vigueur du paragraphe 22(1) de la présente loi ou à celle du paragraphe 46(1) de l'autre loi, la dernière en date étant à retenir, le paragraphe 810.01(1) du *Code criminel* est remplacé par ce qui suit :

Opportunité d'assortir l'ordonnance d'une condition additionnelle

judiciaire de retarder la libération conditionnelle

Pouvoir

Crainte de

infractions

certaines

ch. 41

Fear of certain

- **810.01** (1) A person who fears on reasonable grounds that another person will commit an offence under section 423.1, a criminal organization offence or a terrorism offence may, with the consent of the Attorney General, lay an information before a provincial court judge.
- (20) Subsection 22(2) of this Act is repealed if subsection 46(2) of the other Act comes into force before subsection 22(2) of this Act comes into force.
- (21) Subsection 46(2) of the other Act is repealed if subsection 22(2) of this Act comes into force before subsection 46(2) of the other Act comes into force.
- 134. (1) If Bill C-24, introduced in the 1st Session of the 37th Parliament and entitled An Act to amend the Criminal Code (organized crime and law enforcement) and to make consequential amendments to other Acts (the "other Act"), receives royal assent, then subsection 18(2) of the Proceeds of Crime (Money Laundering) and Terrorist Financing Act is replaced by the following:

Return of seized currency or monetary instruments

- (2) The officer shall, on payment of a penalty in the prescribed amount, return the seized currency or monetary instruments to the individual from whom they were seized or to the lawful owner unless the officer has reasonable grounds to suspect that the currency or monetary instruments are proceeds of crime within the meaning of subsection 462.3(1) of the *Criminal Code* or funds for use in the financing of terrorist activities.
- (2) Subsection (1) comes into force on the later of the coming into force of section 58 of this Act and subsection 12(1) of the other Act.
- 135. (1) Subsections (2) to (10) apply if Bill C-24, introduced in the 1st Session of the 37th Parliament and entitled An Act to amend the Criminal Code (organized crime and law enforcement) and to make consequential amendments to other Acts (the "other Act"), receives royal assent.

- **810.01** (1) Quiconque a des motifs raisonnables de craindre qu'une personne commettra une infraction prévue à l'article 423.1, une infraction d'organisation criminelle ou une infraction de terrorisme peut, avec le consentement du procureur général, déposer une dénonciation devant un juge d'une cour provinciale.
- (20) Si le paragraphe 46(2) de l'autre loi entre en vigueur avant le paragraphe 22(2) de la présente loi, ce dernier paragraphe est abrogé.
- (21) Si le paragraphe 22(2) de la présente loi entre en vigueur avant le paragraphe 46(2) de l'autre loi, ce dernier paragraphe est abrogé.
- 134. (1) En cas de sanction du projet de loi C-24, déposé au cours de la 1^{re} session de la 37^e législature et intitulé *Loi modifiant le Code criminel (crime organisé et application de la loi) et d'autres lois en conséquence* (appelé « autre loi » au présent article), le paragraphe 18(2) de la *Loi sur le recyclage des produits de la criminalité et le financement des activités terroristes* est remplacé par ce qui suit :
- (2) Sur réception du paiement de la pénalité réglementaire, l'agent restitue au saisi ou au propriétaire légitime les espèces ou effets saisis sauf s'il soupçonne, pour des motifs raisonnables, qu'il s'agit de produits de la criminalité au sens du paragraphe 462.3(1) du *Code criminel* ou de fonds destinés au financement des activités terroristes.
- (2) Le paragraphe (1) entre en vigueur à l'entrée en vigueur de l'article 58 de la présente loi ou à celle du paragraphe 12(1) de l'autre loi, la dernière en date étant à retenir.
- 135. (1) Les paragraphes (2) à (10) s'appliquent en cas de sanction du projet de loi C-24, déposé au cours de la 1^{re} session de la 37^e législature et intitulé *Loi modifiant le Code criminel (crime organisé et application de la loi) et d'autres lois en conséquence* (appelé « autre loi » au présent article).

Mainlevée

(2) On the later of the coming into force of the definition "restrained property" in section 2 of the Seized Property Management Act as enacted by subsection 105(1) of this Act and that definition as enacted by subsection 73(3) of the other Act, the definition "restrained property" in section 2 of the Seized Property Management Act is replaced by the following:

"restrained property" « biens bloqués »

170

- "restrained property" means any property that is the subject of a restraint order made under section 83.13, 462.33 or 490.8 of the *Criminal Code* or section 14 of the *Controlled Drugs and Substances Act*;
- (3) If the definition "seized property" in section 2 of the Seized Property Management Act as enacted by subsection 73(3) of the other Act comes into force before that definition as enacted by subsection 105(1) of this Act, then, on the coming into force of that definition as enacted by subsection 73(3) of the other Act, that definition as enacted by subsection 105(1) of this Act is repealed.
- (4) If subsection 74(1) of the other Act comes into force before subsection 106(1) of this Act, then, on the later of the coming into force of subsection 74(1) of the other Act and this section, subsection 106(1) of this Act is repealed.
- (5) On the later of the coming into force of subparagraph 3(b)(iii) of the Seized Property Management Act as enacted by subsection 106(2) of this Act and that subparagraph as enacted by subsection 74(2) of the other Act, subparagraph 3(b)(iii) of the Seized Property Management Act is replaced by the following:
 - (iii) restrained pursuant to a restraint order made under section 83.13, 462.33 or 490.8 of the *Criminal Code* or section 14 of the *Controlled Drugs and Substances Act*;

- (2) À l'entrée en vigueur de la définition de « biens bloqués » à l'article 2 de la Loi sur l'administration des biens saisis, dans sa version édictée par le paragraphe 105(1) de la présente loi ou à celle de la définition de ce terme, dans sa version édictée par le paragraphe 73(3) de l'autre loi, la dernière en date étant à retenir, la définition de « biens bloqués », à l'article 2 de la Loi sur l'administration des biens saisis, est remplacée par ce qui suit :
- « biens bloqués » Biens visés par une ordonnance de blocage rendue sous le régime des articles 83.13, 462.33 ou 490.8 du *Code criminel* ou de l'article 14 de la *Loi réglementant certaines drogues et autres substances*.
- « biens bloqués » "restrained property"
- (3) Si l'entrée en vigueur de la définition de « biens saisis » à l'article 2 de la Loi sur l'administration des biens saisis, dans sa version édictée par le paragraphe 73(3) de l'autre loi, précède celle de la définition de ce terme dans sa version édictée par le paragraphe 105(1) de la présente loi, à l'entrée en vigueur de la définition de ce terme dans sa version édictée par le paragraphe 73(3) de l'autre loi, la définition de ce terme dans sa version édictée par le paragraphe 105(1) de la présente loi est abrogée.
- (4) Si l'entrée en vigueur du paragraphe 74(1) de l'autre loi précède celle du paragraphe 106(1) de la présente loi, à l'entrée en vigueur du paragraphe 74(1) de l'autre loi ou à celle du présent article, la dernière en date étant à retenir, le paragraphe 106(1) de la présente loi est abrogé.
- (5) À l'entrée en vigueur du sous-alinéa 3b)(iii) de la Loi sur l'administration des biens saisis, dans sa version édictée par le paragraphe 106(2) de la présente loi, ou à celle de ce sous-alinéa dans sa version édictée par le paragraphe 74(2) de l'autre loi, la dernière en date étant à retenir, le sous-alinéa 3b)(iii) de la Loi sur l'administration des biens saisis est remplacé par ce qui suit :
 - (iii) bloqués en vertu d'une ordonnance rendue sous le régime des articles 83.13, 462.33 ou 490.8 du *Code criminel* ou de

- l'article 14 de la *Loi réglementant certai*nes drogues et autres substances;
- (6) On the later of the coming into force of paragraph 4(1)(a) of the Seized Property Management Act as enacted by subsection 107(1) of this Act and that paragraph as enacted by section 75 of the other Act, paragraph 4(1)(a) of the Seized Property Management Act is replaced by the following:
 - (a) seized under a warrant issued under section 83.13, 462.32 or 487 of the *Criminal Code* or section 11 of the *Controlled Drugs and Substances Act* on the application of the Attorney General and that the Minister is appointed to manage under subsection 83.13(3), 462.331(2) or 490.81(2) of the *Criminal Code* or subsection 14.1(2) of the *Controlled Drugs and Substances Act*, as the case may be;
- (7) On the later of the coming into force of paragraph 4(1)(b) of the *Seized Property Management Act* as enacted by subsection 107(1) of this Act and that paragraph as enacted by section 75 of the other Act, paragraph 4(1)(b) of the *Seized Property Management Act* is replaced by the following:
 - (b) subject to a restraint order made under section 83.13, 462.33 or 490.8 of the Criminal Code or section 14 of the Controlled Drugs and Substances Act on the application of the Attorney General and that the Minister is appointed to manage under subsection 83.13(3), 462.331(2) or 490.81(2) of the Criminal Code or subsection 14.1(2) of the Controlled Drugs and Substances Act, as the case may be;
- (8) If subsection 5(3) of the Seized Property Management Act as enacted by section 108 of this Act comes into force before subsection 5(1) of the Seized Property Management Act as enacted by section 76 of the

- (6) À l'entrée en vigueur de l'alinéa 4(1)a) de la Loi sur l'administration des biens saisis, dans sa version édictée par le paragraphe 107(1) de la présente loi, ou à celle de cet alinéa dans sa version édictée par l'article 75 de l'autre loi, la dernière en date étant à retenir, l'alinéa 4(1)a) de la Loi sur l'administration des biens saisis est remplacé par ce qui suit :
 - a) les biens saisis en vertu d'un mandat délivré à la demande du procureur général sous le régime des articles 83.13, 462.32 ou 487 du *Code criminel* ou de l'article 11 de la *Loi réglementant certaines drogues et autres substances* et confiés à l'administration du ministre en application, respectivement, des paragraphes 83.13(3), 462.331(2) ou 490.81(2) du *Code criminel* ou du paragraphe 14.1(2) de la *Loi réglementant certaines drogues et autres substances*;
- (7) À l'entrée en vigueur de l'alinéa 4(1)b) de la Loi sur l'administration des biens saisis, dans sa version édictée par le paragraphe 107(1) de la présente loi, ou à celle de cet alinéa dans sa version édictée par l'article 75 de l'autre loi, la dernière en date étant à retenir, l'alinéa 4(1)b) de la Loi sur l'administration des biens saisis est remplacé par ce qui suit :
 - b) les biens bloqués en vertu d'une ordonnance rendue à la demande du procureur général sous le régime des articles 83.13, 462.33 ou 490.8 du *Code criminel* ou de l'article 14 de la *Loi réglementant certaines drogues et autres substances* et confiés à l'administration du ministre en application, respectivement, des paragraphes 83.13(3), 462.331(2) ou 490.81(2) du *Code criminel* ou du paragraphe 14.1(2) de la *Loi réglementant certaines drogues et autres substances*;
- (8) Si l'entrée en vigueur du paragraphe 5(3) de la *Loi sur l'administration des biens saisis*, dans sa version édictée par l'article 108 de la présente loi, précède celle du paragraphe 5(1) de la *Loi sur l'administra-*

other Act, then, on the coming into force of section 108 of this Act, subsection 5(1) of the Seized Property Management Act as enacted by section 76 of the other Act is replaced by the following:

Transfer of property

172

- **5.** (1) Every person who has control of any property that is subject to a management order issued under subsection 83.13(2), 462.331(1) or 490.81(1) of the *Criminal Code*, subsection 14.1(1) of the *Controlled Drugs and Substances Act* or subsection 7(1) of this Act shall, as soon as practicable after the order is issued, transfer the control of the property to the Minister, except for any property or any part of the property that is needed as evidence or is necessary for the purposes of an investigation.
- (9) If subsection 5(1) of the Seized Property Management Act as enacted by section 76 of the other Act comes into force before subsection 5(3) of the Seized Property Management Act as enacted by section 108 of this Act, then, on the coming into force of subsection 5(1) of the Seized Property Management Act as enacted by section 76 of the other Act,
 - (a) subsection 5(1) of the Seized Property Management Act is replaced by the following:

Transfer of property

- **5.** (1) Every person who has control of any property that is subject to a management order issued under subsection 83.13(2), 462.331(1) or 490.81(1) of the *Criminal Code*, subsection 14.1(1) of the *Controlled Drugs and Substances Act* or subsection 7(1) of this Act shall, as soon as practicable after the order is issued, transfer the control of the property to the Minister, except for any property or any part of the property that is needed as evidence or is necessary for the purposes of an investigation.
 - (b) subsection 5(3) of the Seized Property Management Act is repealed.

tion des biens saisis, dans sa version édictée par l'article 76 de l'autre loi, à l'entrée en vigueur de l'article 108 de la présente loi, le paragraphe 5(1) de la *Loi sur l'administra*tion des biens saisis, dans sa version édictée par l'article 76 de l'autre loi, est remplacé par ce qui suit :

- 5. (1) La personne qui a la charge de biens visés par une ordonnance de prise en charge rendue sous le régime des paragraphes 83.13(2), 462.331(1) ou 490.81(1) du *Code criminel*, du paragraphe 14.1(1) de la *Loi réglementant certaines drogues et autres substances* ou du paragraphe 7(1) de la présente loi doit, dans les meilleurs délais possible après la prise de l'ordonnance, transférer au ministre la charge des biens, sauf de ceux requis, en tout ou en partie, aux fins de preuve ou d'enquête.
- (9) Si l'entrée en vigueur du paragraphe 5(1) de la Loi sur l'administration des biens saisis, dans sa version édictée par l'article 76 de l'autre loi, précède celle du paragraphe 5(3) de la Loi sur l'administration des biens saisis, dans sa version édictée par l'article 108 de la présente loi, à l'entrée en vigueur du paragraphe 5(1) de la Loi sur l'administration des biens saisis, dans sa version édictée par l'article 76 de l'autre loi:
 - a) le paragraphe 5(1) de la *Loi sur l'administration des biens saisis* est remplacé par ce qui suit :
- 5. (1) La personne qui a la charge de biens visés par une ordonnance de prise en charge rendue sous le régime des paragraphes 83.13(2), 462.331(1) ou 490.81(1) du *Code criminel*, du paragraphe 14.1(1) de la *Loi réglementant certaines drogues et autres substances* ou du paragraphe 7(1) de la présente loi doit, dans les meilleurs délais possible après la prise de l'ordonnance, transférer au ministre la charge des biens, sauf de ceux requis, en tout ou en partie, aux fins de preuve ou d'enquête.
 - b) le paragraphe 5(3) de la *Loi sur* l'administration des biens saisis est abrogé.

Transfert des

Transfert des biens

- (10) If section 78 of the other Act comes into force before section 109 of this Act, then, on the later of the coming into force of section 78 of the other Act and this section, section 109 of this Act is repealed.
- 136. If Bill C-24, introduced in the 1st Session of the 37th Parliament and entitled An Act to amend the Criminal Code (organized crime and law enforcement) and to make consequential amendments to other Acts, has not received royal assent on the later of the coming into force of section 96 of the Proceeds of Crime (Money Laundering) and Terrorist Financing Act and section 111 of this Act, then at that time subparagraph 11(a)(i) of the Seized Property Management Act is replaced by the following:
 - (i) property forfeited to Her Majesty under section 83.14, subsection 462.37(1) or (2) or 462.38(2) or subparagraph 462.43(c)(iii) of the *Criminal Code*, subsection 16(1) or 17(2) of the *Controlled Drugs and Substances Act* or the *Proceeds of Crime (Money Laundering) and Terrorist Financing Act*, or

- 137. (1) Subsections (2) to (4) apply if Bill C-24, introduced in the 1st Session of the 37th Parliament and entitled An Act to amend the Criminal Code (organized crime and law enforcement) and to make consequential amendments to other Acts (the "other Act"), receives royal assent.
- (2) If, on the later of the coming into force of section 111 of this Act and section 96 of the *Proceeds of Crime (Money Laundering)* and *Terrorist Financing Act*, section 79 of the other Act is not in force, then at that time section 80 of the other Act is repealed.

- (10) Si l'entrée en vigueur de l'article 78 de l'autre loi précède celle de l'article 109 de la présente loi, à l'entrée en vigueur de l'article 78 de l'autre loi ou à celle du présent article, la dernière en date étant à retenir, l'article 109 de la présente loi est abrogé.
- 136. Si le projet de loi C-24, déposé au cours de la 1^{re} session de la 37^e législature et intitulé *Loi modifiant le Code criminel* (crime organisé et application de la loi) et d'autres lois en conséquence, n'a pas reçu la sanction royale à l'entrée en vigueur de l'article 96 de la *Loi sur le recyclage des produits de la criminalité et le financement des activités terroristes* ou à celle de l'article 111 de la présente loi, la dernière en date étant à retenir, à la date de l'entrée en vigueur retenue, l'alinéa 11a) de la *Loi sur l'administration des biens saisis* est remplacé par ce qui suit :
 - a) le produit de l'aliénation des biens confisqués au profit de Sa Majesté en vertu l'article 83.14, des paragraphes 462.37(1) ou (2) ou 462.38(2) ou du sousalinéa 462.43c)(iii) du Code criminel ou des paragraphes 16(1) ou 17(2) de la Loi réglementant certaines drogues et autres substances ou en vertu de la Loi sur le recyclage des produits de la criminalité et le financement des activités terroristes et de ceux qui sont ou ont été visés par une ordonnance de prise en charge et qui ont été confisqués au profit de Sa Majesté en vertu du paragraphe 490(9) du Code criminel, ainsi que sur le produit des biens qui ont été aliénés par les gouvernements étrangers;
- 137. (1) Les paragraphes (2) à (4) s'appliquent en cas de sanction du projet de loi C-24, déposé au cours de la 1^{re} session de la 37^e législature et intitulé *Loi modifiant le Code criminel (crime organisé et application de la loi) et d'autres lois en conséquence* (appelé « autre loi » au présent article).
- (2) Si, à l'entrée en vigueur de l'article 111 de la présente loi ou à celle de l'article 96 de la Loi sur le recyclage des produits de la criminalité et le financement des activités terroristes, la dernière en date étant à

- (3) If, on the later of the coming into force of section 111 of this Act and section 79 of the other Act, section 96 of the *Proceeds of Crime (Money Laundering) and Terrorist Financing Act* is not in force, then at that time
 - (a) subparagraph 11(a)(i) of the Seized Property Management Act is replaced by the following:
 - (i) property forfeited to Her Majesty pursuant to section 83.14, subsection 462.37(1) or (2) or 462.38(2), subparagraph 462.43(c)(iii) or subsection 490.1(1) or 490.2(2) of the *Criminal Code* or subsection 16(1) or 17(2) of the *Controlled Drugs and Substances Act*, or
 - (b) section 80 of the other Act is repealed.

- (4) On the latest of the coming into force of section 111 of this Act, section 79 of the other Act and section 96 of the *Proceeds of Crime (Money Laundering) and Terrorist Financing Act*, subparagraph 11(a)(i) of the *Seized Property Management Act* is replaced by the following:
 - (i) property forfeited to Her Majesty under section 83.14, subsection 462.37(1) or (2) or 462.38(2), subparagraph 462.43(c)(iii) or subsection 490.1(1) or 490.2(2) of the *Criminal Code*, subsection 16(1) or 17(2) of the *Controlled Drugs and Substances Act* or the *Proceeds of Crime (Money Laundering) and Terrorist Financing Act*, or

retenir, l'article 79 de l'autre loi n'est pas en vigueur, à la date de l'entrée en vigueur retenue l'article 80 de l'autre loi est abrogé.

- (3) Si, à l'entrée en vigueur de l'article 111 de la présente loi ou à celle de l'article 79 de l'autre loi, la dernière en date étant à retenir, l'article 96 de la *Loi sur le recyclage des produits de la criminalité et le financement des activités terroristes* n'est pas en vigueur, à la date de l'entrée en vigueur retenue :
 - a) l'alinéa 11a) de la Loi sur l'administration des biens saisis est remplacé par ce qui suit :
 - a) le produit de l'aliénation des biens confisqués au profit de Sa Majesté en vertu l'article 83.14, des paragraphes 462.37(1) ou (2) ou 462.38(2), du sous-alinéa 462.43c)(iii) ou des paragraphes 490.1(1) ou 490.2(2) du Code criminel ou des paragraphes 16(1) ou 17(2) de la Loi réglementant certaines drogues et autres substances et de ceux qui sont ou ont été visés par une ordonnance de prise en charge et qui ont été confisqués au profit de Sa Majesté en vertu du paragraphe 490(9) du Code criminel, ainsi que sur le produit des biens qui ont été aliénés par les gouvernements étrangers;
 - b) l'article 80 de l'autre loi est abrogé.
- (4) À l'entrée en vigueur de l'article 96 de la Loi sur le recyclage des produits de la criminalité et le financement des activités terroristes, à celle de l'article 79 de l'autre loi ou à celle de l'article 111 de la présente loi, la dernière en date étant à retenir, l'alinéa 11a) de la Loi sur l'administration des biens saisis est remplacé par ce qui suit :
 - a) le produit de l'aliénation des biens confisqués au profit de Sa Majesté en vertu de l'article 83.14, des paragraphes 462.37(1) ou (2) ou 462.38(2), du sous-alinéa 462.43c)(iii) ou des paragraphes 490.1(1) ou 490.2(2) du Code criminel ou des paragraphes 16(1) ou 17(2) de la Loi réglementant certaines drogues et autres substances ou en vertu de la Loi sur le recyclage des produits de la criminalité et

138. If Bill C-24, introduced in the 1st Session of the 37th Parliament and entitled An Act to amend the Criminal Code (organized crime and law enforcement) and to make consequential amendments to other Acts (the "other Act"), receives royal assent, and if, on the day on which this Act receives royal assent, section 80 of the other Act has not had effect and section 111 of this

Act is not in force, then section 80 of the

other Act is replaced by the following:

80. On the later of the coming into force of subparagraph 11(a)(i) of the Seized Property Management Act, as enacted by section 96 of the Proceeds of Crime (Money Laundering) and Terrorist Financing Act, and section 79 of this Act, subparagraph 11(a)(i) of the Seized Property Management Act is replaced by the following:

(i) property forfeited to Her Majesty under subsection 462.37(1) or (2) or 462.38(2), subparagraph 462.43(c)(iii) or subsection 490.1(1) or 490.2(2) of the *Criminal Code*, subsection 16(1) or 17(2) of the *Controlled Drugs and Substances Act* or the *Proceeds of Crime (Money Laundering) and Terrorist Financing Act*, or

le financement des activités terroristes et de ceux qui sont ou ont été visés par une ordonnance de prise en charge et qui ont été confisqués au profit de Sa Majesté en vertu du paragraphe 490(9) du *Code criminel*, ainsi que sur le produit des biens qui ont été aliénés par les gouvernements étrangers;

138. En cas de sanction du projet de loi C-24, déposé au cours de la 1^{re} session de la 37^e législature et intitulé *Loi modifiant le Code criminel (crime organisé et application de la loi) et d'autres lois en conséquence* (appelé « autre loi » au présent article), si, à la date de sanction de la présente loi, l'article 80 de l'autre loi n'a pas eu d'effet et l'article 111 de la présente loi n'est pas en vigueur, l'article 80 de l'autre loi est remplacé par ce qui suit :

80. À l'entrée en vigueur de l'alinéa 11a) de la Loi sur l'administration des biens saisis, dans sa version édictée par l'article 96 de la Loi sur le recyclage des produits de la criminalité et le financement des activités terroristes, ou à celle de l'article 79 de la présente loi, la dernière en date étant à retenir, l'alinéa 11a) de la Loi sur l'administration des biens saisis est remplacé par ce qui suit :

a) le produit de l'aliénation des biens confisqués au profit de Sa Majesté en vertu des paragraphes 462.37(1) ou (2) ou 462.38(2) ou du sous-alinéa 462.43*c*)(iii) ou des paragraphes 490.1(1) ou 490.2(2) du Code criminel ou des paragraphes 16(1) ou 17(2) de la Loi réglementant certaines drogues et autres substances ou de la Loi sur le recyclage des produits de la criminalité et le financement des activités terroristes et de ceux qui sont ou ont été visés par une ordonnance de prise en charge et qui ont été confisqués au profit de Sa Majesté en vertu du paragraphe 490(9) du Code criminel, ainsi que sur le produit des biens qui ont été aliénés par les gouvernements étrangers;

Bill C-30

139. (1) If Bill C-30, introduced in the 1st Session of the 37th Parliament and entitled the *Courts Administration Service Act* (the "other Act"), receives royal assent, then section 161 of the other Act and the heading before it are replaced by the following:

Proceeds of Crime (Money Laundering) and Terrorist Financing Act

161. Subsection 30(2) of the *Proceeds of Crime (Money Laundering) and Terrorist Financing Act* is replaced by the following:

Ordinary action

176

- (2) The *Federal Courts Act* and the rules made under that Act that apply to ordinary actions apply to actions instituted under subsection (1) except as varied by special rules made in respect of such actions.
- (2) Subsection (1) comes into force on the day on which this Act receives royal assent, but only if that day is before the day on which section 161 of the other Act comes into force.
- 140. (1) If Bill C-30, introduced in the 1st Session of the 37th Parliament and entitled the *Courts Administration Service Act* (the "other Act"), receives royal assent, then paragraph 37(3)(a) of the *Canada Evidence Act* is replaced by the following:
 - (a) the Federal Court, in the case of a person or body vested with power to compel production by or under an Act of Parliament if the person or body is not a court established under a law of a province; or
- (2) Subsection (1) comes into force on the later of the coming into force of section 43 of this Act and paragraph 183(1)(b) of the other Act.

Projet de loi C-30

139. (1) En cas de sanction du projet de loi C-30, déposé au cours de la 1^{re} session de la 37^e législature et intitulé *Loi sur le Service administratif des tribunaux judiciaires* (appelé « autre loi » au présent article), l'article 161 de l'autre loi et l'intertitre le précédant sont remplacés par ce qui suit :

Loi sur le recyclage des produits de la criminalité et le financement des activités terroristes

- 161. Le paragraphe 30(2) de la Loi sur le recyclage des produits de la criminalité et le financement des activités terroristes est remplacé par ce qui suit :
- (2) La Loi sur les Cours fédérales et les règles prises aux termes de cette loi applicables aux actions ordinaires s'appliquent aux actions intentées en vertu du paragraphe (1), avec les adaptations nécessaires occasionnées par les règles propres à ces actions.
- (2) Le paragraphe (1) entre en vigueur à la date de sanction de la présente loi, mais seulement si cette date précède celle de l'entrée en vigueur de l'article 161 de l'autre loi.
- 140. (1) En cas de sanction du projet de loi C-30, déposé au cours de la 1^{re} session de la 37^e législature et intitulé *Loi sur le Service administratif des tribunaux judiciaires* (appelé « autre loi » au présent article), l'alinéa 37(3)a) de la *Loi sur la preuve au Canada* est remplacé par ce qui suit :
 - a) la Cour fédérale, dans les cas où l'organisme ou la personne investis du pouvoir de contraindre à la production de renseignements sous le régime d'une loi fédérale ne constituent pas un tribunal régi par le droit d'une province;
- (2) Le paragraphe (1) entre en vigueur à l'entrée en vigueur de l'article 43 de la présente loi ou à celle de l'alinéa 183(1)b) de l'autre loi, la dernière en date étant à retenir.

Action ordinaire

« juge »

- 141. (1) Subsections (2) to (7) apply if Bill C-30, introduced in the 1st Session of the 37th Parliament and entitled the *Courts Administration Service Act* (the "other Act"), receives royal assent.
- (2) If section 119 of the other Act comes into force before section 43 of this Act, then, on the later of the day on which this Act receives royal assent and the day on which section 119 of the other Act comes into force, paragraph 37.1(1)(a) of the Canada Evidence Act is replaced by the following:
 - (a) to the Federal Court of Appeal from a determination of the Federal Court; or
- (3) If section 43 of this Act comes into force before section 119 of the other Act, then, on the later of the day on which section 43 of this Act comes into force and the day on which the other Act receives royal assent,
 - (a) section 119 of the other Act is repealed; and
 - (b) paragraph 37.1(1)(a) of the Canada Evidence Act is replaced by the following:
 - (a) to the Federal Court of Appeal from a determination of the Federal Court; or
- (4) On the later of the coming into force of section 43 of this Act and section 16 of the other Act, the definition "judge" in section 38 of the *Canada Evidence Act* is replaced by the following:
- "judge" means the Chief Justice of the Federal Court or a judge of that Court designated by the Chief Justice to conduct hearings under section 38.04.
- (5) On the later of the coming into force of section 43 of this Act and section 16 of the other Act, paragraph 38.02(1)(c) of the Canada Evidence Act is replaced by the following:
 - (c) the fact that an application is made to the Federal Court under section 38.04 or that an appeal or review of an order made under any of subsections 38.06(1) to (3) in

- 141. (1) Les paragraphes (2) à (7) s'appliquent en cas de sanction du projet de loi C-30, déposé au cours de la 1^{re} session de la 37^e législature et intitulé *Loi sur le Service administratif des tribunaux judiciaires* (appelé « autre loi » au présent article).
- (2) Si l'article 119 de l'autre loi entre en vigueur avant l'article 43 de la présente loi, à l'entrée en vigueur de l'article 119 de l'autre loi ou, si elle est postérieure, à la date de sanction de la présente loi, l'alinéa 37.1(1)a) de la Loi sur la preuve au Canada est remplacé par ce qui suit :
 - *a*) devant la Cour d'appel fédérale, s'agissant d'une décision de la Cour fédérale;
- (3) Si l'article 43 de la présente loi entre en vigueur avant l'article 119 de l'autre loi, à l'entrée en vigueur de l'article 43 de la présente loi ou, si elle est postérieure, à la date de sanction de l'autre loi:
 - a) l'article 119 de l'autre loi est abrogé;
 - b) l'alinéa 37.1(1)a) de la *Loi sur la preuve* au *Canada* est remplacé par ce qui suit :
 - *a*) devant la Cour d'appel fédérale, s'agissant d'une décision de la Cour fédérale:
- (4) À l'entrée en vigueur de l'article 43 de la présente loi ou à celle de l'article 16 de l'autre loi, la dernière en date étant à retenir, la définition de « juge », à l'article 38 de la *Loi sur la preuve au Canada*, est remplacée par ce qui suit :
- « juge » Le juge en chef de la Cour fédérale ou le juge de ce tribunal désigné par le juge en chef pour statuer sur les questions dont est saisi le tribunal en application de l'article 38.04.
- (5) À l'entrée en vigueur de l'article 43 de la présente loi ou à celle de l'article 16 de l'autre loi, la dernière en date étant à retenir, l'alinéa 38.02(1)c) de la Loi sur la preuve au Canada est remplacé par ce qui suit :
 - c) le fait qu'une demande a été présentée à la Cour fédérale au titre de l'article 38.04, qu'il a été interjeté appel d'une ordonnance

"judge" « juge » connection with the application is instituted; or

(6) On the later of the coming into force of section 43 of this Act and section 16 of the other Act, section 38.031 of the *Canada Evidence Act* is replaced by the following:

Disclosure agreement **38.031** (1) The Attorney General of Canada and a person who has given notice under subsection 38.01(1) or (2) and is not required to disclose information but wishes, in connection with a proceeding, to disclose any facts referred to in paragraphs 38.02(1)(b) to (d) or information about which he or she gave the notice, or to cause that disclosure, may, before the person applies to the Federal Court under paragraph 38.04(2)(c), enter into an agreement that permits the disclosure of part of the facts or information or disclosure of the facts or information subject to conditions.

No application to Federal Court

- (2) If an agreement is entered into under subsection (1), the person may not apply to the Federal Court under paragraph 38.04(2)(c) with respect to the information about which he or she gave notice to the Attorney General of Canada under subsection 38.01(1) or (2).
- (7) On the later of the coming into force of section 43 of this Act and section 16 of the other Act, section 38.04 of the *Canada Evidence Act* is replaced by the following:

Application to Federal Court — Attorney General of Canada **38.04** (1) The Attorney General of Canada may, at any time and in any circumstances, apply to the Federal Court for an order with respect to the disclosure of information about which notice was given under any of subsections 38.01(1) to (4).

Application to Federal Court — general (2) If, with respect to information about which notice was given under any of subsections 38.01(1) to (4), the Attorney General of Canada does not provide notice of a decision in accordance with subsection 38.03(3) or,

rendue au titre de l'un des paragraphes 38.06(1) à (3) relativement à une telle demande ou qu'une telle ordonnance a été renvoyée pour examen;

(6) À l'entrée en vigueur de l'article 43 de la présente loi ou à celle de l'article 16 de l'autre loi, la dernière en date étant à retenir, l'article 38.031 de la *Loi sur la preuve au Canada* est remplacé par ce qui suit :

38.031 (1) Le procureur général du Canada et la personne ayant donné l'avis prévu aux paragraphes 38.01(1) ou (2) qui n'a pas l'obligation de divulguer des renseignements dans le cadre d'une instance, mais veut divulguer ou faire divulguer les renseignements qui ont fait l'objet de l'avis ou les faits visés aux alinéas 38.02(1)b) à d), peuvent, avant que cette personne présente une demande à la Cour fédérale au titre de l'alinéa 38.04(2)c), conclure un accord prévoyant la divulgation d'une partie des renseignements ou des faits ou leur divulgation assortie de

(2) Si un accord est conclu, la personne ne peut présenter de demande à la Cour fédérale au titre de l'alinéa 38.04(2)c) relativement aux renseignements ayant fait l'objet de l'avis qu'elle a donné au procureur général du Canada au titre des paragraphes 38.01(1) ou (2).

conditions.

Exclusion de la demande à la Cour fédérale

Accord de

divulgation

- (7) À l'entrée en vigueur de l'article 43 de la présente loi ou à celle de l'article 16 de l'autre loi, la dernière en date étant à retenir, l'article 38.04 de la *Loi sur la preuve au Canada* est remplacé par ce qui suit :
- **38.04** (1) Le procureur général du Canada peut, à tout moment et en toutes circonstances, demander à la Cour fédérale de rendre une ordonnance portant sur la divulgation de renseignements à l'égard desquels il a reçu un avis au titre de l'un des paragraphes 38.01(1) à (4).
- (2) Si, en ce qui concerne des renseignements à l'égard desquels il a reçu un avis au titre de l'un des paragraphes 38.01(1) à (4), le procureur général du Canada n'a pas notifié sa décision à l'auteur de l'avis en conformité

Demande à la Cour fédérale : procureur général du Canada

Demande à la Cour fédérale : dispositions générales

179

other than by an agreement under section 38.031, authorizes the disclosure of only part of the information or disclosure subject to any conditions.

- (a) the Attorney General of Canada shall apply to the Federal Court for an order with respect to disclosure of the information if a person who gave notice under subsection 38.01(1) or (2) is a witness;
- (b) a person, other than a witness, who is required to disclose information in connection with a proceeding shall apply to the Federal Court for an order with respect to disclosure of the information; and
- (c) a person who is not required to disclose information in connection with a proceeding but who wishes to disclose it or to cause its disclosure may apply to the Federal Court for an order with respect to disclosure of the information.

Notice to Attorney General of Canada (3) A person who applies to the Federal Court under paragraph (2)(b) or (c) shall provide notice of the application to the Attorney General of Canada.

Court records

(4) An application under this section is confidential. Subject to section 38.12, the Chief Administrator of the Courts Administration Service may take any measure that he or she considers appropriate to protect the confidentiality of the application and the information to which it relates.

Procedure

- (5) As soon as the Federal Court is seized of an application under this section, the judge
 - (a) shall hear the representations of the Attorney General of Canada and, in the case of a proceeding under Part III of the National Defence Act, the Minister of National Defence, concerning the identity of all parties or witnesses whose interests may be affected by either the prohibition of disclosure or the conditions to which disclosure is subject, and concerning the persons who should be given notice of any hearing of the matter;

avec le paragraphe 38.03(3) ou, sauf par un accord conclu au titre de l'article 38.031, il a autorisé la divulgation d'une partie des renseignements ou a assorti de conditions son autorisation de divulgation:

- a) il est tenu de demander à la Cour fédérale de rendre une ordonnance concernant la divulgation des renseignements si la personne qui l'a avisé au titre des paragraphes 38.01(1) ou (2) est un témoin;
- b) la personne à l'exclusion d'un témoin — qui a l'obligation de divulguer des renseignements dans le cadre d'une instance est tenue de demander à la Cour fédérale de rendre une ordonnance concernant la divulgation des renseignements;
- c) la personne qui n'a pas l'obligation de divulguer des renseignements dans le cadre d'une instance, mais qui veut en divulguer ou en faire divulguer, peut demander à la Cour fédérale de rendre une ordonnance concernant la divulgation des renseignements.
- (3) La personne qui présente une demande à la Cour fédérale au titre des alinéas (2)*b*) ou *c*) en notifie le procureur général du Canada.

Notification du procureur général

Dossier du

tribunal

- (4) Toute demande présentée en application du présent article est confidentielle. Sous réserve de l'article 38.12, l'administrateur en chef du Service administratif des tribunaux peut prendre les mesures qu'il estime indiquées en vue d'assurer la confidentialité de la demande et des renseignements sur lesquels elle porte.
- (5) Dès que la Cour fédérale est saisie d'une demande présentée au titre du présent article, le juge :
 - a) entend les observations du procureur général du Canada et du ministre de la Défense nationale dans le cas d'une instance engagée sous le régime de la partie III de la Loi sur la défense nationale sur l'identité des parties ou des témoins dont les intérêts sont touchés par l'interdiction de divulgation ou les conditions dont l'autorisation de divulgation est assortie et sur les personnes qui devraient être avisées de la tenue d'une audience;

Procédure

(b) shall decide whether it is necessary to hold any hearing of the matter;

Anti-terrorism

- (c) if he or she decides that a hearing should be held, shall
 - (i) determine who should be given notice of the hearing,
 - (ii) order the Attorney General of Canada to notify those persons, and
 - (iii) determine the content and form of the notice; and
- (d) if he or she considers it appropriate in the circumstances, may give any person the opportunity to make representations.

Disclosure agreement

- (6) After the Federal Court is seized of an application made under paragraph (2)(c) or, in the case of an appeal from, or a review of, an order of the judge made under any of subsections 38.06(1) to (3) in connection with that application, before the appeal or review is disposed of,
 - (a) the Attorney General of Canada and the person who made the application may enter into an agreement that permits the disclosure of part of the facts referred to in paragraphs 38.02(1)(b) to (d) or part of the information or disclosure of the facts or information subject to conditions; and
 - (b) if an agreement is entered into, the Court's consideration of the application or any hearing, review or appeal shall be terminated.

Termination of Court consideration. hearing, review or appeal

(7) Subject to subsection (6), after the Federal Court is seized of an application made under this section or, in the case of an appeal from, or a review of, an order of the judge made under any of subsections 38.06(1) to (3), before the appeal or review is disposed of, if the Attorney General of Canada authorizes the disclosure of all or part of the information or withdraws conditions to which the disclosure is subject, the Court's consideration of the application or any hearing, appeal or review shall be terminated in relation to that information, to the extent of the authorization or the withdrawal.

- b) décide s'il est nécessaire de tenir une audience:
- c) s'il estime qu'une audience est nécessai-
 - (i) spécifie les personnes qui devraient en être avisées.
 - (ii) ordonne au procureur général du Canada de les aviser,
 - (iii) détermine le contenu et les modalités de l'avis;
- d) s'il l'estime indiqué en l'espèce, peut donner à quiconque la possibilité de présenter des observations.
- (6) Après la saisine de la Cour fédérale d'une demande présentée au titre de l'alinéa (2)c) ou l'institution d'un appel ou le renvoi pour examen d'une ordonnance du juge rendue en vertu de l'un des paragraphes 38.06(1) à (3) relativement à cette demande, et avant qu'il soit disposé de l'appel ou de l'examen:
 - a) le procureur général du Canada peut conclure avec l'auteur de la demande un accord prévoyant la divulgation d'une partie des renseignements ou des faits visés aux alinéas 38.02(1)b) à d) ou leur divulgation assortie de conditions:
 - b) si un accord est conclu, le tribunal n'est plus saisi de la demande et il est mis fin à l'audience, à l'appel ou à l'examen.
- (7) Sous réserve du paragraphe (6), si le procureur général du Canada autorise la divulgation de tout ou partie des renseignements ou supprime les conditions dont la divulgation est assortie après la saisine de la Cour fédérale aux termes du présent article et, en cas d'appel ou d'examen d'une ordonnance du juge rendue en vertu de l'un des paragraphes 38.06(1) à (3), avant qu'il en soit disposé, le tribunal n'est plus saisi de la demande et il est mis fin à l'audience, à l'appel ou à l'examen à l'égard de tels des renseignements dont la divulgation est autorisée ou n'est plus assortie de conditions.

Fin de

judiciaire

Accord de

divulgation

142. (1) If Bill C-30, introduced in the 1st Session of the 37th Parliament and entitled the *Courts Administration Service Act* (the "other Act"), receives royal assent, then the definition "judge" in section 3 of the *Charities Registration (Security Information) Act*, as enacted by section 113 of this Act, is replaced by the following:

"judge" « *juge* »

- "judge" means the Chief Justice of the Federal Court or a judge of that Court designated by the Chief Justice.
- (2) Subsection (1) comes into force on the later of the day on which section 113 of this Act or section 13 of the other Act comes into force.
- 143. If Bill C-30, introduced in the 1st Session of the 37th Parliament and entitled the *Courts Administration Service Act* (the "other Act"), receives royal assent, then, on the later of the coming into force of section 16 of the other Act and section 4 of this Act, subsection 83.05(11) of the *Criminal Code* is replaced by the following:

Definition of "judge"

- (11) In this section, "judge" means the Chief Justice of the Federal Court or a judge of that Court designated by the Chief Justice.
- 144. (1) Subsections (2) to (4) apply if Bill C-30, introduced in the 1st Session of the 37th Parliament and entitled the *Courts Administration Service Act* (the "other Act"), receives royal assent.
- (2) If section 16 of the other Act comes into force after section 95 of this Act, then, on the day on which section 16 of the other Act comes into force,
 - (a) subsection 5(1) of the *Federal Courts Act* is replaced by the following:

- 142. (1) En cas de sanction du projet de loi C-30, déposé au cours de la 1^{re} session de la 37^e législature et intitulé *Loi sur le Service administratif des tribunaux judiciaires* (appelé « autre loi » au présent article), la définition de « juge », à l'article 3 de la *Loi sur l'enregistrement des organismes de bienfaisance (renseignements de sécurité*), édictée par l'article 113 de la présente loi, est remplacée par ce qui suit :
- « juge » Le juge en chef de la Cour fédérale ou le juge de ce tribunal désigné par le juge en chef.

« juge » "judge"

- (2) Le paragraphe (1) entre en vigueur à l'entrée en vigueur de l'article 113 de la présente loi ou à celle de l'article 13 de l'autre loi, la dernière en date étant à retenir.
- 143. En cas de sanction du projet de loi C-30, déposé au cours de la 1^{re} session de la 37^e législature et intitulé *Loi sur le Service administratif des tribunaux judiciaires* (appelé « autre loi » au présent article), à l'entrée en vigueur de l'article 16 de l'autre loi ou à celle de l'article 4 de la présente loi, la dernière en date étant à retenir, le paragraphe 83.05(11) du *Code criminel* est remplacé par ce qui suit :
- (11) Au présent article, « juge » s'entend du juge en chef de la Cour fédérale ou du juge de cette juridiction désigné par celui-ci.

Définition de « juge »

- 144. (1) Les paragraphes (2) à (4) s'appliquent en cas de sanction du projet de loi C-30, déposé au cours de la 1^{re} session de la 37^e législature et intitulé *Loi sur le Service administratif des tribunaux judiciaires* (appelé « autre loi » au présent article).
- (2) Si l'article 16 de l'autre loi entre en vigueur après l'article 95 de la présente loi, à l'entrée en vigueur de l'article 16 de l'autre loi :
 - a) le paragraphe 5(1) de la Loi sur les Cours fédérales est remplacé par ce qui suit :

Constitution of Federal Court of Appeal

182

5. (1) The Federal Court of Appeal consists of a chief justice called the Chief Justice of the Federal Court of Appeal, who is the president of the Federal Court of Appeal, and 12 other judges.

(b) subsection 5.1(1) of the Federal Courts Act is replaced by the following:

Constitution of Federal Court

- **5.1** (1) The Federal Court consists of a chief justice called the Chief Justice of the Federal Court, who is the president of the Federal Court, and 32 other judges.
- (3) If section 16 of the other Act comes into force on the same day as section 95 of this Act, then section 95 of this Act is deemed to have come into force before section 16 of the other Act and subsection (2) applies.
- (4) If section 16 of the other Act comes into force before section 95 of this Act, then, on the later of the day on which section 16 of the other Act comes into force and the day on which this Act receives royal assent,
 - (a) section 95 of this Act is repealed;
 - (b) subsection 5(1) of the Federal Courts Act is replaced by the following:

Constitution of Federal Court of Appeal **5.** (1) The Federal Court of Appeal consists of a chief justice called the Chief Justice of the Federal Court of Appeal, who is the president of the Federal Court of Appeal, and 12 other judges.

(c) subsection 5.1(1) of the Federal Courts Act is replaced by the following:

Constitution of Federal Court **5.1** (1) The Federal Court consists of a chief justice called the Chief Justice of the Federal Court, who is the president of the Federal Court, and 32 other judges.

(d) section 5.4 of the *Federal Courts Act* is replaced by the following:

Judges from Quebec **5.4** At least five of the judges of the Federal Court of Appeal and at least ten of the judges of the Federal Court must be persons who have been judges of the Court of Appeal or of the Superior Court of the Province of Quebec, or have been members of the bar of that Province.

5. (1) La Cour d'appel fédérale se compose du juge en chef, appelé juge en chef de la Cour d'appel fédérale, qui en est le président, et de douze autres juges.

Composition de la Cour d'appel fédérale

b) le paragraphe 5.1(1) de la *Loi sur les Cours fédérales* est remplacé par ce qui suit :

5.1 (1) La Cour fédérale se compose du juge en chef, appelé juge en chef de la Cour fédérale, qui en est le président, et de trentedeux autres juges.

Composition de la Cour fédérale

- (3) Si l'article 16 de l'autre loi entre en vigueur en même temps que l'article 95 de la présente loi, l'article 95 de la présente loi est réputé être entré en vigueur avant l'article 16 de l'autre loi et le paragraphe (2) s'applique.
- (4) Si l'article 16 de l'autre loi entre en vigueur avant l'article 95 de la présente loi, à la date d'entrée en vigueur de l'article 16 ou, si elle est postérieure, à la date de sanction de la présente loi :
 - a) l'article 95 de la présente loi est abrogé;
 - b) le paragraphe 5(1) de la *Loi sur les* Cours fédérales est remplacé par ce qui suit:
- **5.** (1) La Cour d'appel fédérale se compose du juge en chef, appelé juge en chef de la Cour d'appel fédérale, qui en est le président, et de douze autres juges.

Composition de la Cour d'appel fédérale

- c) le paragraphe 5.1(1) de la *Loi sur les* Cours fédérales est remplacé par ce qui suit :
- **5.1** (1) La Cour fédérale se compose du juge en chef, appelé juge en chef de la Cour fédérale, qui en est le président, et de trentedeux autres juges.

Composition de la Cour fédérale

d) l'article 5.4 de la *Loi sur les Cours* fédérales est remplacé par ce qui suit :

5.4 Au moins cinq juges de la Cour d'appel fédérale et dix juges de la Cour fédérale doivent avoir été juges de la Cour d'appel ou de la Cour supérieure du Québec ou membres du barreau de cette province.

Représentation du Québec

Review and Report

Review

145. (1) Within three years after this Act receives royal assent, a comprehensive review of the provisions and operation of this Act shall be undertaken by such committee of the Senate, of the House of Commons or of both Houses of Parliament as may be designated or established by the Senate or the House of Commons, or by both Houses of Parliament, as the case may be, for that purpose.

Report

(2) The committee referred to in subsection (1) shall, within a year after a review is undertaken pursuant to that subsection or within such further time as may be authorized by the Senate, the House of Commons or both Houses of Parliament, as the case may be, submit a report on the review to Parliament, including a statement of any changes that the committee recommends.

Coming into Force

Coming into force

146. (1) Subject to subsection (2), the provisions of this Act, other than sections 1, 24, 25, 47, 48, 76 to 86 and 119 to 145, and the provisions of any Act that are enacted by this Act come into force on a day or days to be fixed by order of the Governor in Council.

Part 6

(2) Part 6 comes into force on a day to be fixed by order of the Governor in Council.

Examen et rapport

145. (1) Dans les trois ans qui suivent la sanction de la présente loi, un examen approfondi des dispositions et de l'application de la présente loi doit être fait par le comité soit du Sénat, soit de la Chambre des communes, soit mixte, que le Parlement ou la chambre en question, selon le cas, désigne ou constitue à cette fin.

Rapport

Examen

(2) Dans l'année qui suit le début de son examen ou dans le délai supérieur que le Parlement ou la chambre en question, selon le cas, lui accorde, le comité visé au paragraphe (1) remet son rapport au Parlement, accompagné des modifications qu'il recommande.

Entrée en vigueur

146. (1) Sous réserve du paragraphe (2), les dispositions de la présente loi, à l'exception des articles 1, 24, 25, 47, 48, 76 à 86 et 119 à 145, ou celles de toute autre loi édictées par elle entrent en vigueur à la date ou aux dates fixées par décret.

Entrée en vigueur

(2) La partie 6 entre en vigueur à la date fixée par décret.

Partie 6

SCHEDULE 1 (Section 30)

SCHEDULE

(Subsection 8(1) and section 9)

Canadian Security Intelligence Service

Service canadien du renseignement de sécurité

Communications Branch of the National Research Council

Direction des télécommunications du Conseil national de recherches

Communications Security Establishment

Centre de la sécurité des télécommunications

Criminal Intelligence Program of the R.C.M.P.

Programme des renseignements criminels de la GRC

Office of the Communications Security Establishment Commissioner

Bureau du commissaire du Centre de la sécurité des télécommunications

Office of the Inspector General of the Canadian Security Intelligence Service

Bureau de l'Inspecteur général du Service canadien du renseignement de sécurité

Protective Operations Program of the R.C.M.P.

Programme des missions de protection de la GRC

R.C.M.P. Security Service

Service de sécurité de la GRC

Security Intelligence Review Committee

Comité de surveillance des activités de renseignement de sécurité

Technical Operations Program of the R.C.M.P.

Programme des opérations techniques de la GRC

ANNEXE 1 (article 30)

ANNEXE

(paragraphe 8(1) et article 9)

Bureau de l'Inspecteur général du Service canadien du renseignement de sécurité

Office of the Inspector General of the Canadian Security Intelligence Service

Bureau du commissaire du Centre de la sécurité des télécommunications

Office of the Communications Security Establishment Commissioner

Centre de la sécurité des télécommunications

Communications Security Establishment

Comité de surveillance des activités de renseignement de sécurité Security Intelligence Review Committee

Direction des télécommunications du Conseil national de recherches

Communication Branch of the National Research Council

Programme des missions de protection de la GRC

Protective Operations Program of the R.C.M.P.

Programme des opérations techniques de la GRC

Technical Operations Program of the R.C.M.P.

Programme des renseignements criminels de la GRC

Criminal Intelligence Program of the R.C.M.P.

Service canadien du renseignement de sécurité

Canadian Security Intelligence Service

Service de sécurité de la GRC

R.C.M.P. Security Service

SCHEDULE 2 (Section 44)

SCHEDULE

(Paragraph 38.01(6)(d) and subsection 38.01(8))

DESIGNATED ENTITIES

- 1. A judge of the Federal Court, for the purposes of section 21 of the *Canadian Security Intelligence Service Act*
- 2. A judge of the Federal Court, for the purposes of sections 6 to 8 of the *Charities Registration (Security Information) Act*, except where the hearing is open to the public
- 3. The Security Intelligence Review Committee established by subsection 34(1) of the *Canadian Security Intelligence Service Act*, for the purposes of sections 39 and 40 of the *Immigration Act*
- 4. The Security Intelligence Review Committee established by subsection 34(1) of the *Canadian Security Intelligence Service Act*, for the purposes of sections 81 and 82 of the *Immigration Act*
- A judge of the Federal Court, for the purposes of section 40.1 of the *Immigration Act*, except where the hearing is open to the public
- 6. A judge of the Federal Court or the Immigration Appeal Division of the Immigration and Refugee Board, for the purposes of subsection 77(3.2) of the *Immigration Act*
- 7. A judge of the Federal Court, for the purposes of subsection 82.1(10) of the *Immigration Act*
- 8. An adjudicator for the purposes of subsections 103.1(7) and (9) of the *Immigration Act*
- 9. A board of inquiry convened under section 45 of the *National Defence Act*
- A service tribunal or a military judge for the purposes of Part III of the National Defence Act
- 11. The Public Service Staff Relations Board established by section 11 of the *Public Service Staff Relations Act*, for the purposes of a grievance process under that Act with respect to an employee of the Canadian Security Intelligence Service, with the exception of any information provided to the board by the employee

ANNEXE 2 (article 44)

ANNEXE

(alinéa 38.01(6)d) et paragraphe 38.01(8))

ENTITÉS DÉSIGNÉES

- 1. Un juge de la Cour fédérale, pour l'application de l'article 21 de la *Loi sur le Service canadien du renseignement de sécurité*
- 2. Un juge de la Cour fédérale, pour l'application des articles 6 à 8 de la *Loi sur l'enregistrement des organismes de bienfaisance* (renseignements de sécurité), sauf dans le cas où l'audition est ouverte au public
- 3. Le comité de surveillance des activités de renseignement de sécurité constitué par le paragraphe 34(1) de la Loi sur le Service canadien du renseignement de sécurité, pour l'application des articles 39 et 40 de la Loi sur l'immigration
- 4. Le comité de surveillance des activités de renseignement de sécurité constitué par le paragraphe 34(1) de la *Loi sur le Service canadien du renseignement de sécurité*, pour l'application des articles 81 et 82 de la *Loi sur l'immigration*
- 5. Un juge de la Cour fédérale, pour l'application de l'article 40.1 de la *Loi sur l'immigration*, sauf dans le cas où l'audition est ouverte au public
- 6. Un juge de la Cour fédérale ou la section d'appel de la Commission de l'immigration et du statut du réfugié, pour l'application du paragraphe 77(3.2) de la *Loi sur l'immigration*
- 7. Un juge de la Cour fédérale, pour l'application du paragraphe 82.1(10) de la *Loi sur l'immigration*
- 8. Un arbitre, pour l'application des paragraphes 103.1(7) et (9) de la *Loi sur l'immigration*
- 9. Une commission d'enquête mise sur pied au titre de l'article 45 de la *Loi sur la défense nationale*
- 10. Un tribunal militaire ou un juge militaire, pour l'application de la partie III de la *Loi sur la défense nationale*
- 11. La Commission des relations de travail dans la fonction publique constituée par l'article 11 de la *Loi sur les relations de travail dans la fonction publique*, à l'égard d'un grief concernant un employé du Service canadien du renseignement de sécurité se déroulant dans le cadre de cette loi, à l'exception des renseignements communiqués à la commission par l'employé

- 12. The Information Commissioner, for the purposes of the *Access* to *Information Act*
- 13. The Privacy Commissioner, for the purposes of the Privacy Act
- 14. The Privacy Commissioner, for the purposes of the Personal Information Protection and Electronic Documents Act
- 15. A judge of the Federal Court, for the purposes of sections 41 and 42 of the *Access to Information Act*
- 16. A judge of the Federal Court, for the purposes of sections 41 to 43 of the *Privacy Act*
- 17. A judge of the Federal Court, for the purposes of sections 14 to 17 of the Personal Information Protection and Electronic Documents Act
- 18. The Security Intelligence Review Committee established by subsection 34(1) of the Canadian Security Intelligence Service Act, for the purposes of sections 41 and 42 of that Act, with the exception of any information provided to the committee by the complainant or an individual who has been denied a security clearance

- 12. Le Commissaire à l'information, pour l'application de la *Loi sur l'accès à l'information*
- 13. Le Commissaire à la protection de la vie privée, pour l'application de la Loi sur la protection des renseignements personnels
- 14. Le commissaire, pour l'application de la Loi sur la protection des renseignements personnels et les documents électroniques
- 15. Un juge de la Cour fédérale, pour l'application des articles 41 et 42 de la *Loi sur l'accès à l'information*
- 16. Un juge de la Cour fédérale, pour l'application des articles 41 à 43 de la *Loi sur la protection des renseignements personnels*
- 17. Un juge de la Cour fédérale, pour l'application des articles 14 à 17 de la *Loi sur la protection des renseignements personnels et les documents électroniques*
- 18. Le comité de surveillance des activités de renseignement de sécurité constitué par le paragraphe 34(1) de la Loi sur le Service canadien du renseignement de sécurité, pour l'application des articles 41 et 42 de cette loi, à l'exception des renseignements communiqués au comité par le plaignant ou par un individu à qui on a refusé une habilitation de sécurité

QUEEN'S PRINTER FOR CANADA © IMPRIMEUR DE LA REINE POUR LE CANADA OTTAWA, $2001\,$

PROCLAMATIONS OF CANADA AND ORDERS IN COUNCIL RELATING TO THE COMING INTO FORCE OF ACTS — 22 NOVEMBER, 2001 TO 19 DECEMBER, 2001

	Date in force	Canada Gazette Part II
Canada Business Corporations Act and the Canada Cooperatives Act and to amend other Acts in consequence, An Act to amend the, S.C. 2001, c. 14, in force	24 Nov., 2001	SI/2001-114 Vol. 135, p. 2806
Constitution Act, 1982, Constitution Amendment, 2001 (Newfoundland and Labrador), effective	6 Dec., 2001	SI/2001-117 Vol. 135, p. 2899 Extra No. 6, p. 1
Customs Act and to make related amendments to other Acts, An Act to amend the, S.C. 2001, c. 25, sections 1, 3 to 23, 31 to 35, 37 to 44, subsection 45(1), sections 46, 48 to 52, 54 to 62, 64 to 71, subsections 72(2) and 74(2), sections 75 to 87, subsections 88(1) and 91(1) and sections 99 to 111, in force	29 Nov., 2001	SI/2001-115 Vol. 135, p. 2896
Immigration and Refugee Protection Act, S.C. 2001, c. 27, sections 1 and 4, in force	6 Dec., 2001	SI/2001-119 Vol. 135, p. 2901

DÉCRETS D'ENTRÉE EN VIGUEUR DES LOIS ET PROCLAMATIONS DU CANADA : 22 NOVEMBRE 2001 — 19 DÉCEMBRE 2001

	Date d'entrée en vigueur	Gazette du Canada Partie II
Douanes et d'autres lois en conséquence, Loi modifiant la Loi sur les, L.C. (2001), ch. 25, les articles 1, 3 à 23, 31 à 35 et 37 à 44, le paragraphe 45(1), les articles 46, 48 à 52, 54 à 62 et 64 à 71, les paragraphes 72(2) et 74(2), les articles 75 à 87, les paragraphes 88(1) et 91(1) et les articles 99 à 111	29 nov. 2001	TR/2001-115 Vol. 135, p. 2896
Immigration et la protection des réfugiés, Loi sur l', L.C. (2001), ch. 27, les articles 1 et 4	6 déc. 2001	TR/2001-119 Vol. 135, p. 2901
Loi constitutionnelle de 1982, Modification constitutionnelle de 2001 (Terre-Neuve-et-Labrador)	6 déc. 2001	TR/2001-117 Vol. 135, p. 2899 Édition spéciale, n° 6, p. 1
Sociétés par actions et la Loi canadienne sur les coopératives ainsi que d'autres lois en conséquence, Loi canadienne sur les, L.C. (2001), ch. 14	24 nov. 2001	TR/2001-114 Vol. 135, p. 2806



Postage paid Lettermail

Port payé Poste-lettre

03159442 OTTAWA

If undelivered, return COVER ONLY to: Canadian Government Publishing Communication Canada Ottawa, Canada K1A 0S9

En cas de non-livraison, retourner cette COUVERTURE SEULEMENT à : Les Éditions du gouvernement du Canada Communication Canada Ottawa, Canada K1A 0S9

En vente : Les Éditions du gouvernement du Canada

Communication Canada

Ottawa, Canada K1A 0S9